Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience

Hiroshi Mitoma Mario Manto *Editors*

Neuroimmune Diseases

From Cells to the Living Brain



Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience

Series editor

Mario Manto, Department of Neurology, CHU-Charleroi, Charleroi, Belgium and Department of Neurosciences, University of Mons, Mons, Belgium

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/7678

Hiroshi Mitoma • Mario Manto Editors

Neuroimmune Diseases

From Cells to the Living Brain



Editors Hiroshi Mitoma Medical Education Promotion Center Tokyo Medical University Tokyo, Japan

Mario Manto Department of Neurology CHU-Charleroi Charleroi, Belgium

Department of Neurosciences University of Mons Mons, Belgium

Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience ISBN 978-3-030-19514-4 ISBN 978-3-030-19515-1 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019, Corrected Publication 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Bridge between basic and clinical neuroimmunology There are already published reviews and textbooks on basic immunology, clinical diagnosis, and treatment of neuroimmune diseases. Therefore, no one would question the existence of available scientific literature in the field. However, due to the enormous and growing information, beginners, such as students and trainees, find it difficult to capture the large picture of neuroimmune diseases and get access to the essential information, especially during the attempt to extract relevant information for a bedside purpose. Students and even experienced researchers often encounter difficulties in linking fundamental knowledge and the pathomechanisms underlying each disease. Furthermore, clinicians are facing a great challenge: to examine an increasing number of patients in shorter times, with a need to reach the right diagnosis and give the right therapies. Busy clinicians often lack time to explore textbooks when they need quick access to information. There is a clear need for a concise book that explains the relationships between fundamental aspects of neuroimmunology and daily therapeutics, with a pragmatic approach for both junior and experienced clinicians or scientists. Our book aims to create a bridge between basic and clinical neuroimmunology, easily accessible in the daily activities of laboratories or hospitals. In particular, we try to explain the common elemental pathomechanisms underlying a variety of common diseases encountered in daily clinical practice supported by helpful illustrations and tables.

Why is the pathophysiology essential in the field? Historically, new information in basic immunology has expanded the field of neuroimmune diseases and provided novel opportunities for immunotherapies. For example, Cruveilhier (1842) documented the clinical features of multiple sclerosis (MS) [1], and Charcot (1868) subsequently provided the link between clinical features and pathological changes [2]. Furthermore, Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) was described as acute ascending weakness by Landry (1859) [3]. However, the infection etiology was proposed for both diseases several decades later. The autoimmune pathogenesis has been confirmed from the pathological and clinical similarities in experimental allergic encephalitis in 1935 for MS [4] and experimental allergic neuritis in 1949 for GBS [5]. These histories highlight the importance of understanding and application of basic immunological methodologies in the unraveling of the pathogenesis of idiopathic neurological diseases. Many of the novel immunotherapies that were based on advancements in immunology provide promising benefits in autoimmune diseases.

Pathogenic fundamentals between "disorganized immune cells" and "living brain functions" In order to fill the gap between basic and clinical neuroimmunology, the pathogenic behaviors of immune cells will be discussed first. Second, the interactions between 'disorganized immune cells will be considered. The mechanisms of how these "disorganized immune cells" disrupt "living brain functions" will be explained, in order to enhance the understanding of nerve cell dysfunction and its relation to neural deficits in various neuroimmune categories.

Compared with autoimmune diseases in other organs, various autoimmune pathogenic processes are involved in the development of neuroimmune diseases. The apparent differences in clinical manifestations can be attributed to certain fundamental autoimmune processes. These elementary processes include "pathogenic roles of effecter T cells (Th1/17 cells and CD8 T cells) or autoantibodies," "autoimmune triggers by deficits in immune tolerance or molecular mimicry," "pathological permeability of blood-brain (BBB) or blood-nerve barrier (BNB)," and "exacerbation by local neural inflammation." This book aims to elucidate these elementary autoimmune mechanisms shared by divergent neuroimmune categories.

The rapid progress in the field of immunology has uncovered unexpected findings related to these key concepts. For example, identification of various cytokines has multiple actions, including inhibitory regulation of the immune systems, diverse actions on astrocytes and microglia, and secretion of molecular substances that can regulate the BBB or BNB, all of which constitute diverse and sophisticated immune systems. Thus, basic information is being continuously updated, which helps in understanding the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases of the brain including the roles of novel molecular and cellular substances.

Updated diagnosis and therapeutic strategies In the clinical chapters of this book, we provide the state of the art of diagnosis of each category, based on the background pathogenic process. Based on accumulated clinical evidence, the diagnostic criteria of various neuroimmune diseases have improved recently, allowing early diagnosis and helping in the differential diagnosis. This book will not only contribute to our appraisal of the autoimmune processes but also to appropriate application of immunotherapies. Immunotherapies can be divided into two major types: (1) therapies for the acute phase of the disease, which are designed to stop or halt the autoimmune-mediated destruction of the brain (induction therapies), and (2) disease-modifying therapies for the chronic phase, which serve to prevent relapses (maintenance therapies). The central and peripheral nerve systems have capacities for restoration and compensation, which can be termed the "nervous reserve." The concept of the reserve is based on various intracellular protective apparatuses and synaptic plasticity of the neural circuitry. Thus, early diagnosis and early administration of immunotherapies are important during the disease phase in which the "brain reserve" is still preserved. It is now possible to stop the progression of some diseases using newly developed immunosuppressive drugs.

During our academic practice, we have opportunities to teach residents and trainees, at a time where discovery and progress in neurological domain is constant. This book can be used to bridge the gap between basic and clinical neuroimmunology. It can also be used for board examinations or for the preparation of seminars.

We hope that this book will encourage young students, clinicians, and scientists to join in these exciting intellectual adventures, "from cell to living brain."

We are particularly grateful to our eminent colleagues who have devoted time to deliver excellent contributions. We are also thankful to the whole outstanding editorial team.

Tokyo, Japan Mons, Belgium Hiroshi Mitoma Mario Manto

References

- Cruveilhier J. Anatomie pathologique de corps humain ou descriptions avec figures lithographiées et coloriées des diverses alternations morbides dont le corps humain est susceptible. Paris: Bailliere; 1829–42.
- 2. Charcot JM. Exposé des titres scientifiques. Paris: Victor Goupy et Jourdan. 1983.
- 3. Landry JB. Note sur la paralysie ascendante aigue. Gaz Hedb Med Chir. 1859;6:472-4.
- Rivers T, Schwentker FF. Encephalomyelitis accompanied by myelin destruction experimentally produced in monkeys. J Exp Med. 1935;61:689–702.
- Haymaker W, Kernohan JW. The Landry-Guillain-Barré syndrome: clinicopathologic report of fifty fatal cases and a critique of the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 1949;28:59–141.

Contents

Part I Fundamental Mechanisms and General Principles	
Overview of Mechanisms Underlying Neuroimmune Diseases Sandip Ashok Sonar and Girdhari Lal	3
Roles of Effector T Cells in Neurological Autoimmunity Yuki Fujita and Toshihide Yamashita	63
The Role of Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesisof Neuroinflammatory DisordersArash Pourgholaminejad and Foozhan Tahmasebinia	83
Significance of Autoantibodies	109
Immune Tolerance in Autoimmune Central Nervous System Disorders. Sundararajan Jayaraman and Bellur S. Prabhakar	143
The Roles of Regulatory T Cells in Central Nervous System Autoimmunity Brooke A. Keating, Justin G. Lees, and Gila Moalem-Taylor	167
Disruption of the Blood-Brain Barrier During Neuroinflammatory and Neuroinfectious Diseases	195
Structural and Functional Characteristics of the Human Blood-Nerve Barrier with Translational Implications to Peripheral Nerve Autoimmune Disorders Eroboghene E. Ubogu	235
Multi-actions of Microglia Célestine Brunois and Laurence Ris	303

Autoimmune Astrocytopathy Jorge Correale and María I. Gaitán							
Genetic Factors in Neuroimmune Diseases							
General Principles of Immunotherapy in Neurological Diseases Paulus S. Rommer, Michael Hecker, Tobias Zrzavy, Nina Boxberger, and Uwe K. Zettl							
Part II Disorders: Diagnosis and Therapies							
Postinfectious Immune-Mediated Neurological Diseases Marios Hadjivassiliou and Panagiotis Zis	425						
Paraneoplastic Neurological Syndromes.	439						
Multiple Sclerosis	487						
Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder Samira Saadoun, Vincent T. W. Chang, and Marios C. Papadopoulos							
Atypical Inflammatory Demyelinating Syndromesof the Central Nervous SystemTodd A. Hardy	543						
Autoimmune Limbic Encephalitis. Shahar Shelly, Ram Narayan, and Divyanshu Dubey	567						
Autoimmune Ataxias. Marios Hadjivassiliou, Hiroshi Mitoma, and Mario Manto							
Stiff-Person Syndrome Spectrum Disorders José Fidel Baizabal-Carvallo and Marlene Alonso-Juarez							
Central Nervous System Vasculitis and Related Diseases Hiroshi Mitoma, Mario Manto, and Jordi Gandini							
Behçet's Syndrome and the Nervous System Involvement Ugur Uygunoglu and Aksel Siva	683						
Neuroinflammation and Sjogren's Syndrome Pasquale Annunziata	699						
Guillain-Barré Syndrome. Yhojan Rodríguez, Christopher Chang, Diana C. González-Bravo, M. Eric Gershwin, and Juan-Manuel Anaya	711						
Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyneuropathy Miki Suzuki and Gérard Said	737						

Myasthenia Gravis and Other Immune-Mediated	
Disorders of the Neuromuscular Junction	765
Nils Erik Gilhus	
Myositis	787
Liliana R. Santos and David Isenberg	
Index	809

Part I Fundamental Mechanisms and General Principles

Overview of Mechanisms Underlying Neuroimmune Diseases



Sandip Ashok Sonar and Girdhari Lal

Abstract The neuroimmune diseases are caused by autoimmune demyelination, opportunistic and neurotrophic infections, paraneoplastic conditions, neurodegeneration, and neuropsychiatric disorders. These diseases are multifactorial, complex, and heterogeneous with varied clinical and pathological features and often triggered by the interplay of genetics, environmental factors, and dysregulated immune activation. The molecular mimicry of neuronal antigens, generation of onconeural antigens, inflammation-induced neuronal antigen release, and cross-presentation are thought to activate the autoreactive T and B lymphocytes. The activation of several innate immune pathways, generation of effector T cells, production of autoantibodies, inflamed blood-brain barrier, and activated microglia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and neurons are known to contribute to the development of neuronal diseases. The majority of current research is focused on the genetic association, biomarker discovery, differential diagnosis, treatment choices, and identification of immunological and neurological basis of neuroimmune diseases. In this chapter, we discuss the clinical and pathological features of neuroimmune diseases and also present an overview of the current understanding of the immunological and neurological mechanisms. We also highlighted the cellular and molecular interactions in the generation of autoantibodies, inflammatory CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, reactive microglia and astrocytes, and importance of the blood-brain barrier in neuroinflammation and autoimmunity.

Keywords Autoimmune demyelination · Autoantibody · Autoreactive T cells · Blood-brain barrier · Neuroinflammation

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_1

S. A. Sonar · G. Lal (⊠) National Centre for Cell Science, Pune, India e-mail: glal@nccs.res.in

Abbreviations

AChR	acetylcholine receptor
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADEM	acute disseminated encephalomyelitis
ALS	amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AMPA	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
ANNA-1	anti-neuronal nuclear antibody type 1
AQP4	aquaporin 4
ASD	autism spectrum disorder
BBB	blood-brain barrier
BCSFB	blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier
BNB	blood-nerve barrier
Bregs	regulatory B cells
Caspr2	anti-contactin-associated protein 2
CNS	central nervous system
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
DAMPs	damage-associated molecular patterns
EAE	experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
GAD65	glutamic acid decarboxylase 65
HD	Huntington's disease
HSV	herpes simplex virus
HTT	huntingtin
LGI1	leucine-rich glioma-inactivated-1
MAG	myelin-associated glycoprotein
MBP	myelin basic protein
mGluR	metabotropic glutamate receptor
MOG	myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MS	multiple sclerosis
NMDA	anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate
NMOSD	neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders
PCA2	Purkinje cell cytoplasmic antibody 2
PD	Parkinson's disease
PML	progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy
PP-MS	primary progressive multiple sclerosis
RR-MS	relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis
SCLC	small-cell lung carcinoma
SLE	systemic lupus erythematosus
SOD1	superoxide dismutase 1
SP-MS	secondary progressive multiple sclerosis
SPS	stiff-person syndrome
Tregs	regulatory CD4 ⁺ T cells

TREM2	triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
Trm	tissue-resident memory T cells
VZV	varicella-zoster virus
WNV	West Nile virus

Introduction

Divergence and Convergence in Neuroimmune Diseases

The neuroimmune diseases comprise a group of heterogeneous disorders that involve the immune system to affect the functions of the central nervous system (CNS), peripheral nervous system (PNS), and autonomous nervous system (ANS). The immune activation against neuronal antigens forms the basis of almost all of the neuroimmune diseases. They are characterized mainly by inflammatory, autoimmune (cell-mediated or humoral), demyelinating, neurodegenerative, parainfectious, paraneoplastic, and traumatized neurological deficits [1]. The neuroinflammation is a prominent feature of the neuroimmune disorders, and various immunotherapeutic interventions show considerable clinical benefits [1, 2]. Based on the selective white or gray matter pathology, neuronal autoimmunities are categorized into acquired demyelinating syndromes or antibody-mediated autoimmune encephalopathies. Based on the pattern of pathological lesions caused in the nervous system, neuroimmune diseases are also stratified as a monofocal or multifocal neurological deficits. Further, depending on the nature of radiological findings, they are typified as lesional (focal areas of hyperintensity), black holes (regional loss of tissue), and atrophy (loss of brain volume). Despite these distinct pathological differences, several neuroimmune diseases share overlapping clinical features, radiological findings, and pathological mechanisms that often make the diagnosis, management of the associated disabilities, and monitoring the clinical progression complicated. The recent technological advances in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) coupled with the clinical and pathological findings have shown some promise in diagnosing a specific disorder with some precision.

Blood-Brain Barrier and Blood-Nerve Barrier

The nervous system is known to control almost all the vital voluntary and involuntary functions of the body and maintain homeostasis. The dynamic physiological barriers ensure the bare minimum immune reactions at different anatomic sites of the nervous system without hampering the immunosurveillance. The blood-brain barrier (BBB) and the blood-nerve barrier (BNB) actively maintain the homeostasis of the CNS and PNS, respectively. These barriers regulate the access of neuronal tissue to the circulating immune cells and inflammatory mediators [3, 4]. Additionally, blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB) controls the accumulation of inflammatory mediators and immune cells in the ventricles and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) draining compartments of the CNS and functions as a neuroprotective barrier [4, 5]. The biochemical and physiological properties of the BCSFB make them an active site for neuroimmune interaction and propagation of neuroinflammation [6]. Therefore, focused studies are needed to precisely understand the association of BCSFB-associated inflammation with the pathology of different neuroimmune disorders. Although these barriers sequester the neuronal antigens from the peripheral immune system, the molecular mimicry between microbial antigens and neuronal antigens represents a significant trigger for neuroinflammation in genetically susceptible individuals. The breakdown of the BBB and BNB and infiltration of effector lymphocytes, macrophages, and neurophils are the hallmarks of several neuroinflammatory conditions of the CNS and PNS [4, 7].

Local Immune Cascades

The local inflammatory cascades in the nervous system induce the neuronal antigen presentation to the infiltrating T and B cells and cause reactivation and differentiation of antigen-reactive T cells and generation of autoantibodies. The resulting neuroinflammation is further fueled by the production of the damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and infiltration of other inflammatory cells such as monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, dendritic cells, and antigen-non-specific lymphocytes that trigger the critical events of demyelination and axonal damage. The CNS-resident cells such as astrocytes and microglial cells also actively contribute to the inflammatory response in the local microenvironment [8].

Therapeutic Strategies of Neuroimmune Diseases

Interestingly, the conventional immunotherapeutic interventions, corticosteroids, and immunosuppressors provide a variable amount of clinical benefits in several neuroimmune disorders [9]. Furthermore, the precise targeting of the specific inflammatory pathways and immune cell activation and infiltration in the nervous system has been shown a promise to control the clinical course [10, 11]. Future studies may also highlight the critical role of immune-mediated cross talks and signaling pathways in several neuroimmune diseases. Numerous efforts are ongoing to define the strategies to block precisely the effector immune cells without disturbing the regulatory cells and the neuronal homeostasis, which requires the interdisciplinary efforts of basic and clinical scientists to better understand the cellular and molecular basis of neuroimmune interactions in the health and disease. The highlights of different tiologies and multiple immunopathological mechanisms are discussed in more detail in chapter "General Principles of Immunotherapy in Neurological Diseases".

Clinical Features of Neuroimmune Diseases

Lesion-Dependent Neurological Symptoms

The neuroimmune disease covers a wide variety of neurological disorders ranging from autoimmune demyelination, neuroinflammatory, neuroinfections, neoplastic, neurodegenerative, neuropsychiatric, and traumatic conditions. Depending on the specific areas affected in the nervous system, neuroimmune diseases exhibit an alteration in the nervous system homeostasis, loss of sensory and motor functions, neurodegeneration, and impaired cognitive and behavioral functions and social skills. Majority of neurological diseases follow a prodrome phase, ranging from few to several weeks, mainly characterized by symptoms such as fever, headache, malaise, anxiety, psychiatric changes, and mild infection. The typical symptoms of the neuroimmune diseases include painful nerve-joint and nerve-muscle connections, muscle weakness, paralysis and alterations in the locomotor functions, loss of coordinated movements, visual impairments, seizures, tremors, convulsions, depression, dementia, cognitive impairment, and social and behavioral changes.

Association of Other Neuroimmune Diseases

A given individual may have one type of neurological disorders or may develop other closely resembling neurological deficits. For example, a patient with optic neuritis, an inflammatory condition that affects the optic nerves may eventually develop demyelinating multiple sclerosis (MS) [12]. Similarly, some of the patients with the neuropsychiatric condition, anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor encephalitis with no signs of demyelination subsequently develop MS and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD). The MS and NMOSD are characterized by the presence of autoantibodies such as anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) and anti-aquaporin 4 (AQP4) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), respectively [13, 14].

Multifocal Lesions

A given neuroimmune disease may selectively restrict to the CNS, like MS pathology targets the brain and spinal cord, or the PNS, such as chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) which targets antigens explicitly on peripheral nerves. Notably, some of the clinical cases of neuroimmune disorders such as Guillain-Barre Syndrome (GBS), Bickerstaff brainstem encephalitis, and Miller Fisher /Fisher Syndrome have been shown to involve both CNS and PNS [15]. However, whether inflammation in the CNS and PNS occurs concurrently or sequentially is unclear. The involvements of distinct, shared, or secondary immune dysfunction mechanisms are also not clearly understood.

Divergent Immune Mechanisms

A given neuroimmune disorder may be a result of one type of immunological insult or may even involve more than one mechanism. Some of the neuroimmune diseases such as MS are multiphasic, constituting primary progressive MS (PP-MS), secondary progressive MS (SP-MS), and relapsing-remitting MS (RR-MS), where patients exhibit relapse (development of new focal lesion) and remission (resolution of active lesion) of neurological symptoms and some also show progressive relapsing MS (PR-MS) [16]. It has been broadly considered that approximately 80-85% of MS patients initially show RR-MS course, and about half of them subsequently develop irrevocable neurological symptoms without clinical relapse or development of new lesions in the CNS white matter and progress into SP-MS [16, 17]. The rest 15-20% of MS patients generally exhibit PP-MS course with progressive neurological deficits beginning with the onset of disease symptoms, and about 5% of MS patients who show clinical relapses during PP-MS course are referred as PR-MS. and this worsens the neurological deterioration [16, 17]. Such heterogeneous nature of immunopathogenesis may dictate the acute versus chronic disease progression and require different immunotherapeutic approaches. Although MS is a major demyelinating disease of the CNS, few other closely resembling diseases with atypical MRI findings and clinical course are often misdiagnosed as MS, which do not respond or instead deteriorate upon MS treatment are known as an atypical inflammatory demyelinating syndrome. This syndrome includes demyelinating conditions such as optic neuritis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD), acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), Balo's concentric sclerosis, Marburg's multiple sclerosis, and Schilder's diffuse myelinoclastic sclerosis [18, 19]. With some exceptions, individual neuroimmune diseases are rare. Nevertheless, collectively they pose a significant threat of morbidity, disability, and mortality as well as substantial clinical, social, and economic burden, and therefore, are increasingly recognized as of significant public health importance.

Fundamental Pathogenic Factors Determining Clinical Profiles

The neuroimmune diseases are acquired neurological and immunological disorders. The genetic and environmental factors and concurrent infections can influence the development and progression of neuroimmune disorders in a susceptible individual. Nonetheless, autism spectrum disorder (ASD), a neurodevelopmental and neuroinflammatory disorder characterized by impaired cognitive, learning, communication and social skills, and shows a strong association with the congenital anomalies [20, 21]. However, definitive evidence suggesting the acquired versus inborn nature of childhood autism is still lacking.

Autoantibody- and Cell-Mediated Immune Mechanisms

The autoimmune response to the antigens belonging to the CNS, PNS, and ANS is the major contributing factor for the development of neuroimmune diseases. The involvement of both the autoantibodies and autoreactive T cells have been extensively studied in the various neurological disorders. The autoantibodies may be directed toward the cell surface antigens and cytoplasmic or nuclear antigens. The autoantibodies against the neuronal glutamate receptors and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-B receptor are associated with limbic encephalitis. Anti-NMDA receptor is linked with encephalitis, and anti-P/Q and N-type calcium channels with encephalopathies and neuropathies. Anti-leucine-rich glioma-inactivated-1 (LGI1), a voltage-gated potassium channel complex, is associated with limbic encephalitis. Anti-muscle and neuronal ganglionic acetylcholine receptors (AChR) are associated with myasthenia gravis and encephalopathies or neuropathies, respectively [22–25]. The antibody against astrocytic water channel, AQP4, is linked with optic neuritis, NMOSD, and ADEM. Immune response against myelin antigens such as MOG, myelin basic protein (MBP), and myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG) induces MS, NMOSD, and transverse myelitis [26, 27].

Moreover, a strong association of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) polymorphism with disease susceptibility highlights the critical role of T cell-mediated immune responses in neuroimmune disorders. Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ effector T cells play an important role in the development and progression of MS, Rasmussen's encephalitis, a chronic pediatric neuroinflammatory condition with seizures, unihemispheric atrophy and unilateral locomotor dysfunction, and paraneoplastic syndromes [28, 29]. Additionally, T cell-mediated response also contributes to autoantibody-mediated neuroinflammatory disorders such as ADEM including optic neuritis and NMOSD, anti-NMDAR encephalitis, and stiff-person syndrome, a neurological disorder characterized by epilepsy, cerebellar ataxia, and limbic encephalitis [30].

Neuroinflammatory Cascades

The inflammatory response at the BBB of CNS microvessels is also known to associate with many neuroimmune conditions including CNS vasculitis [31]. The neuroinflammatory conditions are primarily thought to be caused by the autoreactive T cell and humoral response. The other infiltrated immune cells such as monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and neutrophils, and CNS-resident microglia and astrocytes are also known to induce an inflammatory response in the CNS. These cells recognize the DAMPs, myelin, and other neuronal antigens, secrete inflammatory mediators, and promote the inflammatory response and dictate the progression of clinical symptoms.

Additionally, some of the systemic chronic inflammatory diseases with variable manifestation of the neurological conditions such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) are associated with aseptic meningitis, cerebral venous sinus thrombosis, transverse myelitis, migraine, psychosis, anxiety, seizures, dementia, cognitive dysfunction, neuropathies, and myasthenia gravis [32, 33]. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) has also been shown to be associated with the cerebral vasculitis, peripheral neuropathies, brainstem and spinal cord compression, and stroke, whereas Sjogren's syndrome and scleroderma are associated with brain and spinal cord lesions, peripheral neuropathies, and trigeminal neuralgia, respectively [34, 35]. The exact pathophysiological mechanisms of these manifestations have not been understood completely. However, some of the studies have highlighted the role of systemic inflammation and altered BBB function allowing the influx of inflammatory molecules, effector innate and adaptive immune cells and the presence of autoantibodies in the CNS and PNS [36, 37].

Triggering of Autoimmunity: Parainfectious and Paraneoplastic Conditions

Infection in CNS Several viral, bacterial, fungal, and parasitic infections induce the CNS inflammation and promote immune-mediated inflammatory damage in the brain and spinal cord. Meningitis, an inflammatory condition affecting the meninges and subarachnoid space, is characterized by neck stiffness, diminished sensory functions, altered mental status, photophobia, and respiratory complications in young and adult individuals [38]. Depending on the nature of infectious cause, the condition is referred to as bacterial meningitis (Streptococcus pneumoniae, Neisseria meningitidis, Listeria monocytogenes, Haemophilus influenzae, and Treponema pallidum), viral meningitis (enteroviruses, herpes simplex virus-2 (HSV-2), varicella-zoster virus (VZV) and arboviruses), and fungal meningitis (Cryptococcus neoformans and C. gattii) [39-41]. The encephalitis is an inflammation of brain parenchyma, characterized by the BBB disruption and effector immune cell infiltration in the brain parenchyma. The infection-induced encephalitis possesses a significant threat associated with high morbidity and mortality if failed to diagnose and treat early. The HSV-1 and HSV-2 infection or reactivation represents the major cause and accounts for about 10-15% of cases of encephalitis [42]. The HSV and VZV remain latent in the basal root ganglia in the spinal cord, and their reactivation often leads to the development of myelitis, an inflammation of the spinal cord. Furthermore, the mosquito- and tick-borne viruses such as Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), West Nile virus (WNV), and tick-borne encephalitis virus are considered as significant encephalitis-causing agents in a post-monsoon, spring, and autumn season in the endemic regions [43, 44]. The patients with bacterial meningitis often develop encephalitis symptoms, involving cranial neuropathies, hemiataxia, seizures, sensory loss, muscle weakness, and loss of consciousness.

Infection in PNS Several infections are known to cause the development of the inflammatory dysfunction of PNS. The hepatitis C virus (HCV)-induced inflammation is the cause of infectious polyneuropathies with demyelinating and axonal pathology [45]. The Zika virus, a mosquito-borne arbovirus, manifests acute demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy characterized by ascending paralysis, sensory loss, and respiratory failure [46]. The reactivation of VZV in peripheral nerve ganglia leads to the development of radiculitis with the painful vesicular rashes [47]. The tick-borne *Borrelia burgdorferi*, which causes Lyme disease, is also known to involve in neuroinflammation with clinical meningitis and radiculoneuritis [48].

HIV The human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) itself causes the neurological complications in the infected individuals and also promotes opportunistic neurological infections. It is widely considered that HIV-1 uses Trojan horse mechanism to cross the BBB and infiltrates into the CNS through infected monocytes/macrophages, where it further acquires the ability to infect microglia and astrocytes [49, 50]. The HIV-1-associated CNS disorders involve a range of neurologic conditions such as meningoencephalitis, peripheral neuropathy, cranial neuropathy, dementia, and neurocognitive disorders and represent early manifestations of approximately 10-20% of symptomatic patients, while it goes more than 50% in patients with advanced cases [51]. Furthermore, HIV-1-associated immunodeficiency promotes several opportunistic infections having ability to cause neurological diseases such as progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML; John Cunningham (JC) virus, targets oligodendrocytes), CMV encephalitis, retinitis, and polyradiculitis (cytomegalovirus (CMV), targets almost all the components of CNS and PNS), cerebral toxoplasmosis (Toxoplasma gondii, targets CNS), cryptococcal meningitis (C. neoformans, targets meninges and subarachnoid space), and tuberculous meningitis (Mycobacterium tuberculosis, affects meninges) [52, 53].

Autoimmunity triggered by infections Although the exact trigger of autoimmune reactions to CNS antigens is not known, increasing evidence supports the hypothesis that infectious agents may provide an initial trigger to generate CNS autoimmune response. The data regarding the role of bacterial pathogens as a trigger for CNS autoimmunity is controversial. However, two murine viruses, Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) and mouse hepatitis virus (MHV), are capable of inducing demyelination, which resembles to MS [54]. Various pathogen-derived molecules show molecular mimicry to the myelin and other CNS antigens. The L2 protein of human papillomavirus 7, DNA polymerase of EBV and HSV, and hemagglutinin of influenza virus mimic human MBP₈₅₋₉₉ epitope [55], while DNA

polymerase of HBV mimics human MBP₆₆₋₇₅ [56]. Interestingly, human CMV capsid protein UL86 981–1003 mimics the rat MOG₃₅₋₅₅, and a drug transporter, ABCtransporter of *Clostridium perfringens*. Mimic AQP4₆₁₋₈₀, and there are the two immunodominant epitopes that initiate autoimmune demyelination in MS and neuromyelitis optica, respectively [57, 58]. Similarly, GBS patients show the presence of autoantibodies against neuronal components, and are produced due to the molecular mimicry of various bacterial (*Campylobactor jejuni*, *Mycoplasma pneumoniae*, and *Haemophilus influenzae*) and viral (CMV, HSV-1, HSV-2, VZV, and EBV) pathogens [59]. Other than the usual molecular mimicry, the superantigens and cryptic antigens, apoptotic and necrotic host cell death, and infection-induced bystander immune activation and collateral damage have also been shown to play a critical role in the initiation of the CNS autoimmune inflammation. These fundamental pathogenic factors in infection-related autoimmunity, molecular mimicry, epitope spreading, and bystander activation are shown in Fig. 1.

Autoimmunity triggered by neoplasms The paraneoplastic neurological disorders are rare neurological condition where tumor cells express onconeural antigens that closely resemble the neuronal antigens. The immune response directed against such onconeural antigens contributes to the neuronal tissue damage leading to the development of neuroimmune conditions. These tumors may be systemic or intrathecal, and primarily characterized by the autoantibody production against the neuronal antigens, and may also involve onconeural-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses [60, 61]. Depending upon the autoantibody produced against the various components of the neural cells, the disease manifests to CNS, PNS, or autonomous nervous system and exhibits cortical/limbic/brainstem encephalitis, cerebral ataxia, encephalopathies, peripheral neuropathies, myelitis, cerebellar degeneration, dermatomyositis, and chronic gastrointestinal pseudo-obstruction. The autoantibodies, anti-neuronal nuclear antibody type 1 (ANNA-1) and ANNA-2 are directed against the neuronal intracellular antigens Hu and Ri, respectively, and known to be associated with small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC), neuroblastoma, thymoma, lung carcinoma, and breast carcinoma [62, 63]. The SCLC and thymoma are also associated with the presence of anti-AChR (muscle, ganglionic), anti-voltage-gated potassium and calcium channel proteins, and Purkinje cell cytoplasmic antibody 2 (PCA-2) in the CSF. There are increasing cases of ovarian and lung cancer linked with anti-NMDA receptor and anti-glycine receptor antibodies, respectively [64]. The patients with paraneoplastic CNS disorders often show CSF abnormalities such as pleocytosis, increased protein levels, and oligoclonal bands. The other characterized onconeural autoantibodies involved in the pathology of paraneoplastic neurological disorders include anti-Yo (ovarian and breast cancer), anti-CV2 (SCLC, thymoma), anti-Ma2 (SCLC and testis cancer), anti-amphiphysin (SCLC and breast cancer), anti-glial nuclear antibody 1 (SCLC), anti- α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor (SCLC, ovarian and testes cancer), and anti-LGI1 (SCLC) and anti-GABA_B receptor (SCLC) [65–67].



Fig. 1 Mechanisms of neuroimmune diseases associated with neurotrophic infections and neurodegenerative processes. (A) Several neurotropic infectious agents enter into the CNS and induce autoimmune response leading to neuronal tissue damage. The infectious agent uses one or more of the four main entry ports to the CNS. (i) Trojan horse mechanism. Infected leukocytes directly cross the BBB and provide the gateway to the CNS parenchyma. The EBV-infected B cells, and HIV-1- or L. monocytogenes-infected monocytes are classic examples of Trojan horse mechanism. (ii) Infection to the BBB endothelium. Several pathogens such as JEV, EBV, JCV, HCMV, and HTLV-1 infect the brain endothelium, whereas some directly cross endothelium via paracellular (WNV, H. influenzae, and N. meningitidis) or transcellular (N. meningitidis, S. pneumoniae, L. monocytogenes, and M. tuberculosis) routes without infecting endothelium. In both cases, pathogens are released into the CSF-draining subarachnoid spaces in the CNS. (iii) Axonal transport. Various pathogens infect peripheral sensory or motor nerves and use either anterograde (HSV, VZV, and chikungunya virus) or retrograde (WNV, rabies virus, poliovirus, and L. monocytogenes) axonal transport mechanism to enter into the CNS. (iv) Dissemination through choroid plexus. Pathogens such as HIV-1, HTLV-1, H. influenzae, and N. meningitidis enter to the CNS parenchyma via infecting the choroid plexus epithelium and disseminating directly into the CSF through choroid plexus ependymal cells. (B) The microglial cells sense the pathogen via different pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) and toll-like receptors (TLRs), process and present pathogen-derived antigens to the sentinel T cells and induce a protective immune response. However, some of these antigens mimic the neuronal antigens and activate neuronal antigen-reactive effector T cells and promote molecular mimicry-induced autoimmunity. The CNS recruited professional antigen-presenting cells, such as dendritic cells, further present antigens to the T cells; these antigens are either cross-reactive pathogen-derived ones or may be obtained from CNS-resident cells (e.g., dying oligodendrocyte or neuron). This leads to the activation of autoreactive effector T cells specifically recognizing broad arrays of CNS autoantigens, a mechanism known as epitope spreading. Additionally, the inflammatory mediators and cytokines produced by antigen-presenting cells may activate a repertoire of T cells, which does not possess TCR specific to CNS antigens; instead, these bystander-activated cells fuel the neuroinflammation and promote tissue damage

Cross Talk Between the Immune System and Degenerative or Psychiatric Diseases

Several studies have suggested a strong correlation between neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. Some of these diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), Huntington's disease (HD) and frontotemporal lobar dementia (FTLD) are associated with reactive phenotype of microglia and astrocytes along with the presence of inflammatory mediators in the CNS [68]. However, substantial evidence suggesting the primary involvement of neuroinflammation in the neurodegenerative processes is still lacking. The signs of neuroinflammation are mainly attributed to the secondary damage to the neurons. It has been recognized that expression of mutant superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) in the neurons is associated with the development of ALS [69], whereas mutant α -synuclein in astrocyte is linked with the PD [70]. The mutation of triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) gene in microglia is associated with AD, PD, and a rare Nasu-Hakola disease [71] and suggests that alterations in the glial cell homeostasis may contribute to the development of neurodegeneration. Nonetheless, further clinical studies and basic mechanistic studies using genetic-deficient mouse models are required to understand the precise role of peripheral and CNS inflammation in the development and progression of neurodegenerative diseases.

Whether inflammation induces neuropsychiatric conditions such as mood and sleep disorders, depression, and schizophrenia is not well understood. However, the compelling data suggest the bi-directional association of sterile inflammation with various neuropsychiatric disorders [72]. The chronic psychological stress is linked with physiological imbalance with an increased level of DAMPs, such as heat shock proteins, extracellular ATP, oxidative radicles, circulating uric acid, and high mobility group box 1. Under chronic psychological stress, immune cells show the increased expression of surface Toll-like receptors (TLRs), intracellular NOD-like receptor 3 (NLRP3), and inflammasome activation with the concomitant increased secretion of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a), interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, and IL-10 [73, 74]. The patients with bipolar disorder, depressive disorders, and schizophrenia also show the involvement of CNS inflammation and microglia activation with increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, cytokine receptors, C-reactive protein, chemokines, and soluble cell adhesion molecules in the CSF and frontal cortex. Additionally, various clinical studies have suggested that early-life stress (childhood maltreatment) increases the risk of developing neuropsychiatric disorders in adult life. For example, children with maltreatment are more likely to develop a mood disorder, depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, anxiety, and substance abuse [75-77]. The autoimmune diseases such as SLE and RA are also known to manifest wide varieties of neuropsychological symptoms of the CNS and PNS including mood and anxiety disorders, cognitive dysfunction, seizures, myelopathy, autonomic and cranial neuropathy [78]. Overall various inflammatory mediators

and pathways, effector innate and adaptive immune cells and CNS-resident cells, reactive astrocytes, and microglia orchestrate the pathology of a given neuroimmune condition (see Fig. 1 for the basic mechanisms of neuroimmune diseases associated with neurodegenerative processes).

Mechanisms of Neuroimmune Diseases

Neuroinflammation is induced by the mounting of the immune response to neuronal antigens, alterations in the tissue homeostasis as in the case of neurodegenerative diseases, pathogen-induced immune response, and the oxidative stress and tissue damage during the traumatic conditions. The complex interaction of innate and adaptive immune cells, vascular inflammation, and CNS-resident astrocytes and microglia orchestrate the pathology of neuroimmune diseases.

Mechanisms of T Cell-Mediated Neuroinflammation and Autoimmunity

The cell-mediated autoimmune response is a hallmark of the majority of neuronal autoimmunity. The variations in the several genes associated with the adaptive immunity are linked with susceptibility to develop several CNS autoimmune diseases. Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes trigger the initiation and propagation of white and gray matter pathology and, in some cases, also promote the autoantibody response against neuronal antigens.

Breakdown of immune tolerance The negative selection mechanism of thymus eliminates the majority of the autoreactive T lymphocytes. However, some lowaffinity self-reactive T cells escape from the thymic central tolerance and mobilize to the peripheral lymphoid organs. The activation of these autoreactive T cells in response to the CNS insult is thought to induce neuronal T cell response. Since genetics and environmental factors also regulate the development of the neuronal autoimmunity, the molecular similarities between the antigens of the pathogenic microorganisms and the neuronal antigens may serve as an initial trigger to activate autoreactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells [79]. Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection or its reactivation is strongly associated with the risk of MS. It has been speculated that EBV shares homology with some of the CNS antigens [80]. This hypothesis also supports that initial priming and the activation of the autoreactive T cells occur outside of the CNS and local reactivation of these cells in the CNS augments the autoreactive T cell response during MS and EAE [81]. This highlights the role of immune tolerance breakdown in the pathogenesis of autoimmune demyelination, and the mechanisms that affect the function of regulatory CD4⁺ T cells and the peripheral tolerance in CNS disorders are discussed in more detail in chapter "Immune Tolerance in Autoimmune Central Nervous System Disorders".

Disruption of BBB/BNB The germ-free animal studies have revealed that functional gut microbiome is required for the development and maintenance of BBB integrity [82]. The loss of BBB integrity is a crucial event that occurs at early stages of several CNS autoimmune diseases such as MS, optic neuritis, NMOSD, and EAE [4]. The consequences of BBB breakdown and pathological basis of cell-mediated responses and humoral responses during CNS autoimmunity and paraneoplastic CNS diseases are shown in Fig. 2 and Fig. 3. In the MS, bone marrow-derived circulating monocytes breach the BBB and enter into the CNS parenchyma and serve as a source of mononuclear phagocytes in the inflamed CNS [83]. The cellular and molecular mechanisms of BBB dysfunction during neuroinflammation and autoimmunity are discussed in more detail in chapter "Disruption of the Blood-Brain Barrier During Neuroinflammatory and Neuroinfectious Diseases".

Amplification by the microglial cells and astrocytes The phagocytes and microglial cells are abundantly localized to the CNS lesions of the RR-MS, PP-MS, and SP-MS patients and induce the myelin and axonal damage possibly via secretion of oxidative and inflammatory molecules [84]. In EAE, an animal model of MS, the activation of microglial cells is often associated with the disruption of the BBB, subsequent infiltration of effector immune cells, and induction of several of inflammatory pathways, leading to demyelination and neuronal damage [4, 85]. It has been particularly noted that glia limitans, a basement membrane formed by astrocytic end-feet, also serves as a barrier at the face of the damaged BBB [85]. The activated astrocytes and microglia or macrophage-derived matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP2) and MMP9 help transit of T cells through this barrier. Astrocytes are the most abundant glial cell type in the CNS and contribute to the various inflammatory and regulatory functions. There are several immunopathological mechanisms that target astrocyte and promote neuroinflammation. The effector and regulatory roles of astrocytes during various T cell-mediated and antibody-dependent CNS autoimmune diseases are discussed in more detail in chapter "Autoimmune Astrocytopathy".

Role of the meningeal tertiary lymphoid structures In addition to the role of the peripheral inflammation in the activation and effector function of autoreactive T cells, the meningeal inflammation and contribution from the inflammatory meningeal stromal cells and the tertiary lymphoid structures have been shown to play a crucial role in the induction of CNS autoimmunity [86]. The meningeal tertiary lymphoid structures represent the local sites of the immune activation and facilitate the cell-to-cell interactions and reactivate the autoreactive T cells and B cells during EAE and MS [87, 88]. Interestingly, IFN- γ through STAT1 signaling promotes the BBB disruption and allows the directional migration of the CD4⁺ T cells from the luminal to the abluminal side of the brain endothelium [89]. Additionally, several important TNF receptor superfamily molecules have shown to increase the BBB permeability and promote neuroinflammation in CNS autoimmunity [90].



Fig. 2 Consequences of the blood-brain barrier breakdown – T cell-mediated immune response. The BBB breakdown is one of the critical events that lead to the development of autoimmune demyelination during MS and EAE. Myelin-reactive effector CD4+ T cells and inflammatory cytokines produced by these cells are key drivers in damaging the BBB. The altered BBB allows the entry of myelin-reactive effector CD4+T cells (Th1 and Th17) through a series of rolling, adherence, crawling, capture, and diapedesis steps. The transmigration of Th1 and Th17 cells occurs through either paracellular (through endothelial cell-cell junctions) or transcellular route (through endothelial cell body). In the inflamed CNS parenchyma, antigen-presenting cells such as dendritic cells, perivascular macrophages, and microglia present myelin or CNS antigens to the effector CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and reactivate them. (A) Under the influence of IL-12 or IFN- γ , CD4⁺ T cells acquire Th1 phenotype (T-bet, IFN- γ and TNF- α). Alternatively, IL-23 stabilizes the Th17 phenotype (ROR γ t, IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22). The IL-23 stimulation of myelin-reactive Th17 cells induces a Th1-like signature (T-bet, IFN- γ , and GM-CSF) in Th17 cells, which are highly encephalitogenic. The Th1 cytokines also influence the activation of monocytes, mononuclear phagocytes, M1-like macrophages, and M1-like microglia. The M1-like inflammatory cell types and other phagocytes induce neuronal and oligodendrocyte damage via phagocytosis, opsonization, and complement activation. Contrarily, Th17 response induces neutrophil infiltration predominantly in the brainstem and cerebellum. Neutrophils secrete various pro-inflammatory cytokines and cytotoxic molecules that drive demyelination and neuronal damage. Both Th1 and Th17 inflammatory cytokines involve directly or indirectly (via reactive astrocytes) in the process of BBB breakdown, which drives the infiltration of various lymphocytes and myeloid cells in the inflamed CNS. (B) CD8⁺ T cells reactivated in the inflamed CNS produce inflammatory cytokines, perforin, and granzyme that directly cause neuronal and oligodendrocyte damage and also activate mononuclear phagocytes and M1-like macrophages and microglial cells. The scavenger microglia and mononuclear phagocytes engulf the myelin and neuronal debris and present the CNS antigens to the cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells. The regulatory CD4⁺ T cells (Tregs) suppress the effector CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell activation and also inhibit inflammatory macrophages and microglial response, and the delicate balance between effector and regulatory cell types dictates the course of neuroinflammation. Most often, the inflammatory molecules tune the plasticity of these regulatory cells and promote them into effector lineage



Fig. 3 Consequences of the blood-brain barrier breakdown – the humoral immune response. Disrupted BBB allows the migration of inflammatory mediators, cross-reactive antibodies, autoantibodies, and immune cells in the CNS. (A) The CNS-infiltrated B cells form a cellular niche along with T helper (Th) and T follicular helper (Tfh) cells known as tertiary lymphoid structures. Meningeal tertiary lymphoid structures are common in MS, EAE, optic neuritis, and NMOSD. These local lymphoid structures support the autoantibody production that recognizes the myelin, neuronal, and astrocytic antigens. (B) The anti-AOP4 antibody recognizes the water channel protein in the astrocytic end-feet that establishes the physical contact with the brain endothelium. Anti-AOP4 disrupts the astrocyte-endothelium interaction, affects the astrocyte polarity and integrity of BBB, and also induces complement-dependent astrocyte damage leading to cellular infiltration and demyelination during optic neuritis, NMOSD, and MS. (C) Autoantibodies directed toward myelin antigens (anti-MOG/MBP/MAG) recognize the myelinated neurons and induce opsonization and complement activation-induced myelin sheath damage. Anti-neuronal receptor antibodies and activated M1-like macrophages, reactive microglial cells, and mononuclear phagocytes actively contribute to the inflammatory damage to myelin sheath and demyelination process during several autoimmune inflammatory demyelinating diseases such as MS, ADEM, optic neuritis, transverse myelitis, and NMOSD. (D) During paraneoplastic conditions, malignant cells induce the production of antibodies that cross-react to the neuronal antigens. The circulating antibodies may traverse to the CSF-draining spaces via choroid plexus, where they recognize the neurotransmitter receptors, molecules involved in synaptic transmission and vesicular transport. These autoantibodies affect the synaptic transmission and induce neuronal dysfunction, excitotoxicity and hyperexcitability and neuronal depolarization

Roles of Th1 and Th17 cells CD4⁺ T cells recognize CNS antigens presented by the antigen-presenting cells along with appropriate activation and co-stimulatory signals drive the differentiation of various effector and regulatory CD4⁺ T cell subsets, and these differentiated cells produce several pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines (Fig. 4). The myelin antigen-reactive CD4⁺ T cells and IFN- γ -expressing Th1 and IL-17A-expressing Th17 cells are capable of inducing CNS autoimmune demyelination in susceptible animal models [81, 91]. Similarly, Th1 and Th17 cells and their associated pro-inflammatory cytokines are abundantly present in the CSF and at the active CNS lesions of MS patients. Depending on the inflammatory mediators present in the inflamed microenvironment, autoreactive T cells are terminally differentiated cells that can acquire distinct and overlapping immune cell phenotypes [92]. The IFN- γ^{+} IL-17A⁺ or IFN- γ^{+} IL-17A⁺GM-CSF⁺ Th17 cells that co-express lineage-defining transcription factors, T-box transcription factor (TBX21 or T-bet), and retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gamma t (RORyt) are considered as highly pathogenic in MS [93-95]. Further, exTh17-Th1 cells, which express IFN-y and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and T-bet and derived from the previously IL-17A-expressing Th17 cells, are also shown to have an encephalitogenic function in mouse models of EAE [96, 97]. The IL-17A-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cell counterparts of the Th17 cells also share most of the pathogenic signature and have been reported to play an important role in the pathophysiology of the neuroinflammation [98]. Regardless of their cell phenotypes, autoreactive Th1 and Th17 cells have been shown to induce distinctive CNS pathology during EAE.

Th1-dominated diseases are mainly characterized by the infiltration of the monocytes and other mononuclear cells in the spinal cord and proceeds with typical ascending flaccid paralysis, as seen in MS patients. However, Th17-dominated settings show neutrophil infiltration into the brain and induce atypical EAE symptoms such as ataxia, axial rotation, and involvement of cerebellum [99, 100]. The CCR6 and CXCR3 are important chemokine receptors that drive the migration of the Th17 and Th1 cells in the CNS parenchyma via different vascular routes such as choroid plexus and BBB, respectively [101]. Interestingly, CCR6-dependent migration through the CCL20-expressing choroid plexus is considered as a first wave of the Th17 migration. IL-23-induced signaling changes the preference from CCR6 to CCR2 usage for Th17 migration into the CNS [102]. The importance of Th17 cells in the immunopathogenesis of neuroinflammatory disorders is discussed in more detail in chapter "The Role of Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesis of Neuroinflammatory Disorders").

Significant progress has been made in identifying and characterizing the role of effector and a regulatory subset of the CD4⁺ T cells in the CNS inflammation and autoimmunity (Table 1). The effector cytokines IL-17A, GM-CSF, TNF- α , and IFN- γ along with other inflammatory mediators orchestrate the neuroinflammation through activation of monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, astrocytes, and microg-



Fig. 4 Differentiation of autoreactive CD4+ T helper cells during CNS autoimmunity. Activation of autoreactive naive CD4⁺ T cells occurs in the secondary lymphoid organs during CNS autoimmune conditions. The environmental factors and genetic susceptibility play a key role in dictating the activation of neuronal antigen-specific T cells. The molecular mimicry of pathogenic antigens, bystander immune activation, cross-presentation, and altered CNS homeostasis are thought to provide the initial trigger for autoreactive T cell activation. The differentiated CD4⁺ T cells belong to two main functional categories, effector and regulatory subsets. The main effector cells include Th1. Th17, and Tfh cells. Th1 cells are polarized under the influence of IL-12 or IFN- γ signaling and induce classic EAE symptoms and predominant spinal cord inflammation, whereas TGF- β , IL-6, IL-1β, and IL-21 signaling promotes Th17 differentiation. Th17 cells induce neutrophil chemoattraction and atypical EAE symptoms. Tfh cells need TGF- β , IL-21 and ICOS signaling, and help in the production of autoantibodies. Th17 cells exhibit plasticity and undergo a transition to Th1-like Th17 cells and ex-Th17 Th1 cells under the influence of active IL-23 and IL-12 signaling. These cell types have highest encephalitic activity and are potent inducers of CNS autoimmunity. Contrarily, the regulatory cell types regulate the activation and differentiation process of autoreactive effector T cells and help in controlling the inflammation and tissue damage during CNS autoimmunity. TGF- β and IL-2 signaling promotes the Foxp3⁺-induced Tregs (iTregs) differentiation, which maintains peripheral tolerance, whereas tolerogenic dendritic cell and immunoregulatory cytokines induce T regulatory 1 (Tr1) cells, characterized by Foxp3 and c-Maf expression and production of immunoregulatory cytokines and cytotoxic molecules. The polarizing signals for T follicular regulatory (Tfr) cells are poorly characterized. Tfr possesses the functional characteristics of Tregs and Tfh and home to germinal center, where they actively regulate the Tfh response and autoantibody synthesis. The regulatory cells also exhibit phenotypic and functional plasticity and acquire suppressor or effector functions depending on the microenvironmental cues. Sustained IL-6 signaling induces the conversion of iTregs to Tregs/Th17 transition states or recently identified Tr17 cells. The fine balance between the effector and regulatory functions of primary differentiated CD4⁺ T cells and various transition states and secondary differentiated phenotypes may dictate the course and progression of CNS autoimmune disease

CD 4+	Lineage-				
CD4 ⁺	specific	Effector	Homing		
subset	factors	molecules	receptors	Functions	References
Th1	T-bet	IFN-γ, TNF-α,	CXCR3, CCR5	Immunity to intracellular pathogen, antitumor response, and CNS autoimmunity. Induce monocyte/macrophage infiltration in the spinal cord during EAE. Induce M1-like microglia activation in AD and PD mouse models and contribute to neurodegeneration	[100, 228]
Th2	GATA3	IL-4, IL-5, IL-13	CCR3, CCR4, CRTh2	Fight extracellular pathogens and parasitic infections, mostly associated with the recovery of neuroinflammation and autoimmunity. Induce M2-like microglial activation and dampen inflammation in AD and PD. Muscular AChR- specific Th2 cells contribute to myasthenia gravis pathology	[143, 181]
Th17 (less pathogenic)	RORγt	IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22, IL-10, CCL20 GM-CSF	CCR6	Defense against extracellular pathogens and fungal infections, maintain mucosal homeostasis. Do not induce EAE in the adoptive transfer models	[229, 230]
Th17 (highly pathogenic)	RORγt, T-bet	IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22, IFN-γ, GM-CSF	CCR6, CCR2	Associated with autoimmune demyelination during MS, EAE, optic neuritis, and NMOSD. Induce neutrophilic infiltration in the brain during EAE	[100, 102, 141, 142]
Natural Tregs (nTregs)	Foxp3, Helios	TGF-β, IL-10, CTLA-4, PD-1	?	Maintain self-tolerance and regulate the CNS inflammation and autoimmunity (most stable). However, studies show that Treg number and function are impaired in MS and EAE	[115, 231–233]

Table 1 The phenotype of various CD4+ T cell subsets and their role in CNS inflammation and autoimmunity

(continued)

CD4 ⁺ T cell subset Induced Tregs (iTregs)	Lineage- specific transcription factors Foxp3	Effector molecules TGF-β, IL-10, CTLA-4	Homing receptors CCR6	Functions Maintain self-tolerance and regulate the CNS inflammation and autoimmunity (less stable). However, studies show that Treg number and function are impaired in MS and	References [115, 231, 233, 234]
Th9	PU.1	IL-9, IL-10, IL-21	CCR3, CXCR3	Contribute to anti-helminth response, involved in the pathogenesis of asthma. Some reports show the pathogenic role of Th9 in MS and EAE. IL-9 stimulation induces inflammatory changes in astrocytes, microglia, and oligodendrocytes	[91, 235]
T follicular helper (Tfh)	BCL6	IL-21, BTLA, PD-1, ICOS	CXCR5	Help germinal center B cells to produce antibodies, affinity maturation, and class-switching of antibodies in periphery and the tertiary lymphoid structures in the inflamed CNS. Evidence suggest its pathogenic role during Th17-induced EAE	[236, 237]
T follicular regulatory (Tfr)	BCL6, Foxp3 Helios,	IL-10, CD28, ICOS, PD-1, CTLA4	CXCR5	Control the excessive antibody production, germinal center B cell and plasma cell response. Suppress Tfh cell proliferation. The imbalance of Tfh/Tfr function may contribute to the pathology of MS and SLE	[238, 239]
T regulatory 1 (Tr1)	Foxp3, cMaf, Ahr	TGF-β, IL-10, IL-21, perforin, granzyme, CTLA-4, PD-1	?	Dampen the tissue inflammation. Some evidence points to the regulatory role in CNS autoimmune diseases. Most of the MS patients shows defect in Tr1 cell number and function	[240-242]

Table 1 (continued)

lia, and contribute to the demyelination and axonal damage. The Th1 response through IFN- γ activates microglia and CNS-infiltrating macrophages and dendritic cells and also induces oligodendrocyte apoptosis. Further details of effector CD4⁺ T cells in neurological autoimmunity are discussed in detail in chapter "Roles of Effector T Cells in Neurological Autoimmunity".

Roles of Tregs The regulatory CD4+ T cells (Tregs) are marked by expression of transcription factor FoxP3 which plays an important role in maintaining the peripheral tolerance and prevents the activation of autoreactive T cells in the peripheral lymphoid tissues [103–105]. The environmental factors such as coincidental infection and inflammation are known to affect the Foxp3 expression and function of Tregs and influence the neuroinflammation [106-108]. For example, pertussis toxin help in the induction of clinical autoimmune demyelination in mice which are exposed to neuronal antigens by reducing the frequency and suppressive function of Tregs [109, 110] and promote the differentiation of Th17 cells [111]. The Tregs along with autoreactive Th17 cells are also known to enter the inflamed CNS through choroid plexus using chemokine receptor CCR6 [112]. Despite reducing the effector response of the autoreactive T cells during remission of the clinical symptoms [113], Tregs failed to control the proliferation of the autoreactive T cells during relapse leading to chronic inflammation in the CNS [114, 115]. These findings suggest that inflammatory microenvironment dominates over the suppressive Tregs and may transdifferentiate the Tregs into effector CD4⁺ T cells during neuroinflammation and autoimmunity. The role of Tregs and potential mechanisms subverting Treg function in the context of the CNS inflammatory and autoimmune diseases are discussed in chapter "The Roles of Regulatory T Cells in Central Nervous System Autoimmunity".

Class I MHC locus and CD8⁺ *T cells* The genetic polymorphism at class I MHC locus is associated with MS. It has been reported that at the CNS lesions, CSF, and peripheral blood, the frequency of CD8⁺ T cells is significantly higher than CD4⁺ T cells in the RR-MS patients [116]. Therefore, CD8⁺ T cells are also considered as a key player in autoimmune demyelination. A significant number of CD8⁺ T cells in the CSF of MS patients show effector memory phenotype. The cytotoxic granzyme B-expressing CD8⁺ T cells are often localized to the demyelinating plaques in the MS and Rasmussen's encephalitis patients [117, 118]. Furthermore, the number of cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells correlates with the severity of axonal damage in MS and unihemispheric atrophy during Rasmussen's encephalitis [118].

The CD8⁺ T cells are class I MHC restricted, and almost all of the CNS-resident cell types upregulate the surface expression of class I MHC molecules in MS and EAE suggesting the scope for activation of neuronal antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells. IL-17A-expressing CD8⁺ T cells, astrocytes, and oligodendrocyte have been reported in the CSF and CNS lesion of the MS patients [119]. The IL-17-expression in the CD8⁺ T cells are regulated via T-bet and eomesodermin-mediated transcrip-

tional programming and mostly restricted to CD161⁺CD8⁺ T cell subset [120]. The IL-17⁺CD8⁺ T cells are also shown to augment the clinical severity of the EAE by promoting Th17 response [121]. These studies suggest that autoreactive T cells are heterogeneous and employ diverse immunological mechanisms, and together with myeloid cells in the CNS contribute to the initiation and progression of neuronal inflammation and autoimmunity.

Roles of dendritic cells Dendritic cells (DCs) play a critical role in the priming, activation, and differentiation of the autoreactive T cells in the peripheral lymphoid organs as well as T cell reactivation in the inflamed CNS. Under steady state, the subsets of DCs such as $Clec9a^+CD8\alpha^+$ and $CD11c^+MHC-II^{hi}CD11b^+CD103^+$ conventional DCs (cDCs) are also present at the vascular barrier of the choroid plexus and meningeal vessels [122, 123]. During neuroinflammation, different subsets of DCs such as plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), $CD11b^+SIRP\alpha^+$ cDCs, monocyte-derived DCs (mo-DCs), and $CD11b^+CD103^+$ DCs infiltrate into the CNS [123].

The DCs perform a protective role during CNS infections, whereas they can also process and present neuronal antigens to the autoreactive T cells and fuel the CNS inflammation and tissue damage. The CNS-infiltrated DCs, particularly cDCs, are potent activators of the myelin-reactive Th1 and Th17 cells in mouse models of myelin antigen or Theiler's virus-induced encephalomyelitis [124, 125]. The CD8 α^+ cDCs promote the activation of cytotoxic CD8+ T cells and Th1 cells via IL-12- and IFN-y-dependent mechanisms. These DCs also exhibit antigen cross-presentation to CD8⁺ T cells and help in epitope spreading [126]. However, a study using DC depletion approach has also shown a protective role of cDCs via promoting the generation of PD1⁺ Tregs in autoimmune inflammation during EAE [127]. The mo-DCs are also capable of presenting myelin antigens to the CNS-infiltrated T cells and selectively promote Th17 differentiation program [128, 129]. The pDCs possess tolerogenic function, control graft-versus-host disease and allergic responses, and promote allograft tolerance. During EAE, pDCs inhibit the effector CD4+ T cell differentiation and conversely promote the Treg differentiation in both the lymphoid organs and inflamed CNS, and their depletion causes increased Th1 and Th17 response [130, 131].

The subsets of the DCs known as Tip-DCs which express CD11b, CD103, CD64, TNF- α , and iNOS cross-present the CNS antigens to the CD8⁺ T cells and activate the cytotoxic response, which contributes to the spreading the neuronal epitope during EAE [132]. In contrast, CNS-infiltrated pDCs have regulatory phenotype and inhibit autoreactive T cell response and promote tissue repair [131, 133].

Involvement of B cells in neuroinflammation and autoimmunity The autoantibodies produced by B cells against the neuronal antigens play a significant role in deciding the course and progression of the CNS autoimmune diseases. About 90% of the MS patients, regardless of their clinical course, show the presence of oligoclonal anti-myelin antibodies in the CSF [134]. The autoantibodies are directed against the myelin antigens such as MOG, MBP, and MAG and also against astrocytic contactin-2 and neuronal neurofascin [135, 136]. These autoantibodies induce various pathogenic mechanisms including antibody-dependent cell toxicity, complement-mediated cell lysis, increased phagocytosis, and opsonization by microglia and mononuclear phagocytes [136]. The B cells function as antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and also serve as a source of the effector cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- α , lymphotoxin- α (LT- α), and GM-CSF in several CNS autoimmunities [136]. The B cell-derived factors such as IL-15, CXCL13, B cell-activating factor (BAFF), and LT- α contribute to the formation and maintenance of the meningeal tertiary lymphoid structures during neuroinflammation [88]. Depletion of B cells using anti-CD20 mAb helps in reducing the severity of the neuronal autoimmunity. In contrast to the pathogenic function of B cells, a subset of B cells, is known to play a regulatory role in the CNS. These regulatory B cells (Bregs) produce anti-inflammatory cytokines such as TGF-\beta1, IL-10, and IL-35 and also express the inhibitory molecules that effectively help in controlling the neuroinflammation and autoimmunity [137]. Whether autoreactive T cell response or autoantibody response is a primary dominant mechanism of the CNS damage during the inflammation and autoimmunity is not clearly known. Nevertheless, it has been broadly considered that both these mechanisms contribute to the pathophysiology and progression of the clinical symptoms.

Mechanisms of Antibody-Mediated Neuroinflammation and Autoimmunity

The autoantibodies generated against the CNS antigens also play a crucial role in the induction of the several autoimmune demyelinating diseases.

Anti-AOP antibody The classic examples include the anti-MOG, anti-MAG, and anti-MBP antibodies in the MS patients and anti-AQP4 in NMOSD patients. The clinical presentation, lesional pathology, and immunological mechanism are somewhat similar in the MS and NMOSD patients except for the presence of anti-AQP4 IgG1 antibody in about 70-75% patients of optic neuritis and neuromyelitis optica [138]. The AOP4 is a water channel present in the astrocytes especially in the spinal cord gray matter and optic nerves. The anti-AQP4 induces astrocyte destruction via complement activation and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) mechanisms [139]. The anti-AOP4 also induces the internalization and proteolytic cleavage of the AQP4 in the astrocytes [140]. The AQP4 is also shown to form a complex with excitatory amino acid transporter-2 (EAAT2) and maintain glutamate homeostasis, and loss of this interaction in anti-AQP4-positive individuals leads to an alteration in the glutamate uptake and hyperactivation of glutamate receptors [140]. These events may form a basis of oligodendrocyte and axonal pathology in NMOSD. The BBB disruption is associated with the progression of the NMOSD, wherein CNS-infiltrated monocytes, macrophages, eosinophils, and neutrophils contribute to the pathology of the disease. Additionally, anti-AQP4-specific T cells secreting various cytokines such as IL-6, IL-10, and IL-17, and IFN- γ are reported in NMOSD [141]. The permease, an ATP-binding cassette transporter of *Clostridium perfringens*, shares about 90% homology with the astrocytic AQP4, emphasizing the molecular mimicry-induced anti-AQP4-reactive Th17 activation during NMOSD [58]. A detailed discussion about the causes of anti-AQP4 production and pathological mechanisms involved in optic neuritis and NMOSD is presented in chapter "Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder".

Anti-MOG antibody The anti-MOG antibody-mediated pathology forms a basis of ADEM, a monophasic demyelinating disease of the CNS. The anti-MOG antibodies induce myelin damage and axonal loss by ADCC, complement-mediated cell damage, Fc-receptor-mediated phagocytosis and activation of the immune system. In addition to anti-MOG antibodies, myelin and CNS antigen-specific Th1 and Th17 cells affect the pathophysiology of the ADEM [142], and in recovery phase dominated by IL-4-secreting Th2 cells [143].

Anti-GAD65 antibody The anti-GAD65 antibodies are associated with numerous neurological diseases including limbic encephalitis, stiff-person syndrome (SPS), cerebellar ataxia and epilepsy. The GAD65 is a glutamate decarboxylase that controls GABA biosynthesis. The patients with anti-GAD65 antibody capture GAD65 at the synapses and inhibit the association of GAD65 with the GABAergic vesicles and inhibit the synaptic transmission [144]. The antigen-specific T cells are also involved in anti-GAD65-associated neurological conditions. A shift from Th1 to Th2 dominance in the CSF occurs in anti-GAD65-mediated SPS. In SPS, TNF- α -and IFN- γ -expressing Th1 cells are prevalent in the early stages, whereas IL-4-, IL-5-, and IL-13-secreting Th2 cells takeover in the later stages of the disease [145].

Autoantibodies against neurotransmitter receptors The presence of the CSF and intrathecal autoantibodies against various CNS antigens is a characteristic of several autoimmune diseases. These autoantibodies may be directed toward or cross-react to surface neurotransmitter receptors or intracellular proteins involved in synaptic transmission. Figure 5 illustrates how autoantibodies to neurotransmitter receptors affect the synaptic transmission and induce neural dysfunction. The patients with antibody-mediated neurological diseases show a very good response to plasma exchange, intravenous immunoglobulins, and B cell-directed therapies, suggesting the pathogenic role of autoantibodies. Most of these diseases show the evidence of the intrathecal production of the autoantibodies without disturbing the BBB integrity. For example, the synthesis of anti-NMDA receptor antibodies occurs even with the intact BBB in the CNS in anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis [146]. The complement-mediated neuronal death characterizes the anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. However, in vitro studies have shown that anti-NMDA receptor, anti-AMPA receptor, and anti-GABA_A receptor antibodies decrease the surface expression and synaptic localization of NMDA receptor, AMPA receptor, and GABAA receptor, respectively, without inducing neuronal death [147-149]. The anti-NMDA receptor disrupts the interaction of NMDA receptor and ephrin receptor 2 (EphB2R) and induces excess levels of the glutamate [150]. The resulting bias in the excitatory


Fig. 5 Pathological mechanisms of autoantibody recognizing neurotransmitter receptors. Autoantibodies cross-reacting or directed toward neurotransmitter receptors are often found in CNS autoimmunity, paraneoplastic neurological complications, and neuropsychiatric diseases. The glutamate receptors, GABA receptors, and glycine receptors are the most common targets among the neurotransmitter receptors. (a) Autoantibodies, anti-NMDAR, anti-AMPAR, and antikainate receptor recognizing the glutamate receptor ion channels at the synapse region induce the vesicle-driven internalization of target antigens, NMDAR, AMPAR, and kainate receptors, respectively. This leads to the depolarization of postsynaptic glutamatergic neuron, and often causes neuronal excitability. The anti-GluR1 and anti-GluR5 recognize the glutamate receptor, a G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR), and induce Purkinje cell and hippocampal neuron dysfunction. Antiglutamate receptors induce broad ranges of neurological symptoms such as encephalitis, progressive cerebellar degeneration, neuropathy, cerebellar ataxia, seizures, and psychiatric disorders. (b) Anti-GABA antibodies target both GABA_A and GABA_B receptors on GABAergic postsynaptic neurons. Binding of the anti-GABA_A receptor to α , β , and γ subunit of heteropentameric GABA_A receptor chloride channel reduces levels of GABAA receptors at synapse via vesicle-driven receptor internalization leading to depolarization and hyperexcitability of the postsynaptic neuron. Anti-GABA_B receptor to GABA_{B1} subunit of GABA_B receptor (GPCR) blocks the cAMP-dependent signaling pathway and induces inhibitory synaptic currents in postsynaptic GABAergic neuron during stiff-person syndrome, limbic encephalitis, cerebellar degeneration, progressive encephalomyelitis, epilepsy, and seizures. (c) Anti-glycine receptor antibodies are most common in stiff-Person syndrome and progressive encephalomyelitis. The active postsynaptic glycine neuron is a pentameric chloride ion channel, which outflows the chloride ions into the synaptic regions. The binding of anti-glycine receptor blocks this chloride ion channel, increasing the intracellular chloride ion concentration, and induces neuronal excitability and affects the neurotransmission

and inhibitory neuronal transmission is thought to lead to the development of the seizures in the anti-AMPA receptor-positive limbic encephalitis patients [151]. The patients with limbic encephalitis, neuromyotonia, and Morvan's syndrome show the presence of anti-LGI1 antibodies (mainly of IgG4 subclass) in the CSF [25]. The secreted LGI1 has an important role in bridging the presynaptic voltagegated potassium channel protein, Kv1.1 with the post-synaptic AMPA receptor through interaction with the synaptic receptors ADAM22 and ADAM23 [152]. Anti-LGI1 alters the binding of LGI1 with the ADAM22, and therefore, decreases the post-synaptic levels of AMPA receptors leading to neuronal hyperexcitability [152]. The mechanistic studies show that anti-LGI1 induces complement activation and neuronal death [30]. The anti-glycin receptor antibodies were reported in the progressive encephalomyelitis patients which induce the internalization of the glycin receptors, and its high titers in the patients correlated with the increased GABA and decreased glutamate levels [153]. Together, autoantibody-mediated mechanism drives the development of autoimmune diseases of the nervous system, and compelling evidence suggests the important contribution of autoreactive T cell response is needed to form a full spectrum of the neuropathology. The significance of autoantibodies and its critical role in neuronal autoimmunity are broadly discussed in chapter "Significance of Autoantibodies".

Role of Infections in the Neuroinflammation and Autoimmunity

Divergent infectious strategies Both innate and adaptive immune responses play a crucial role in the protection from the neurotrophic infections. Various clinical observations have revealed that immunodeficiencies and lymphocyte-directed therapies in the MS and psoriasis patients have higher risk of developing neuronal infections such as progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) [154]. The neurotrophic pathogens use different strategies like retrograde transfer through infected immune cell transmigration, transendothelial migration across the BBB and axons, and transmigration through choroid plexus into neuronal tissue (i-iv Fig. 1). The viral and bacterial products are known to impair the BBB endothelial junctions and transit through paracellular route, whereas pathogen like Neisseria meningitidis adheres to the BBB endothelium and affects the cell polarity and tight junctions [155]. The Cryptococcus neoformans and Toxoplasma gondii are known to infect the brain endothelial cells before entering into the CNS. However, some neurotrophic arboviruses, JEV, WNV, and Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus, do not induce BBB damage; instead they induce type I IFN signaling in the BBB endothelium and strengthen the barrier. Nonetheless, the related dengue viral nonstructural protein 1 and HIV-1 Tat protein induce the BBB permeability [154]. Some patients with the *Plasmodium falciparum* infection are known to develop cerebral malaria, which is characterized by the sequestration of the parasite-infected RBCs and inflammation in the CNS microvessels. The P. falciparum-infected RBCs induce NF-kB-dependent intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), IL-6, IL-8, CXCL1, and CXCL2 in the human brain endothelial cells and cause BBB disruption during cerebral malaria [156].

Since the majority of the CNS-resident cells such as astrocytes, microglia, neurons, and oligodendrocytes express toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-like receptors (RLRs), and mitochondrial anti-viral sensors (MAVS) C-lectin receptors, they can induce and respond to the inflammatory reactions during neuronal infections [154]. Microglia are considered as one of the first cell types that react to the invasion of the pathogen in the CNS by activating several innate inflammatory pathways, including cyclic GMP-AMP synthase-stimulator of interferon genes (cGAS-STING) signaling, and promote the further recruitment of the neutrophils, monocytes, and lymphocytes [157].

Regional heterogeneity The regional heterogeneity in the neurons represents a decisive factor in the spatiotemporal extent of the viral replication and spread of infection in the CNS. The MAVS-mediated viral sensing by neurons induces cytotoxic death of the infected cells [158]. The cortical neurons are more permissive for WNV infection as compared to hindbrain. This difference is due to the expression of the innate immune signaling molecules, retinoic acid-inducible gene-1 (RIG-1), MDA5, an interferon-stimulated gene (ISG) 54, and ISG56 molecules on the neurons. Nonetheless, various pathogens have evolved unique mechanisms that subvert the innate immune response in the neuronal tissue. For example, WNV inhibits non-receptor tyrosine-protein kinase (TYK2), human Zika virus targets signal transducer and activator of transcription 2 (STAT2), and chromatin repressor complex induced during *T. gondii* infection inhibits the STAT1 and IFN- γ signaling in the infected neurons.

Neuroinflammation Recently, the meningeal lymphatic system was identified which helps in regulating the pathophysiology of the neuronal infection and inflammation [159]. The local inflammatory response generated in the nervous system by microglial and other perivascular macrophages induce the vascular inflammation at the BBB, meninges, and choroid plexus that facilitate the infiltration of the T and B lymphocytes in the neuronal tissues. The virus-specific and myelin-specific T cells use somewhat similar strategies to migrate into the inflamed CNS. The microglia, perivascular macrophages as well as CNS infiltrated monocyte-derived macrophages, and dendritic cells reactivate the lymphocytes and orchestrate the antipathogen protective immunity [160]. The CD4⁺ T cells expressing IFN- γ and TNF- α and CD8⁺ T cells expressing IFN- γ , TNF- α , perforin, and granzyme are the key players in controlling the parasitic, bacterial, fungal, and protozoan infections of the nervous system [154]. The CCL2-dependent recruitment of the monocytes is linked with the CNS pathology during WNV and HSV infection. The murine models of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus show increased CNS damage and aggravated

neurological symptoms [161]. Additionally, aberrant humoral response induced during the HSV encephalitis is often associated with the production of the anti-NMDA receptor antibodies that cause post-viral encephalitis syndrome.

Control of excessive neuroinflammation The tissue-resident memory T (Trm) lymphocytes, broadly identified by the expression of the cell surface molecules CD103 and CD69, are also known to play an important role in controlling the neuronal infection and its associated neuroinflammation and tissue repair [162]. Similarly, T cell-derived IL-10 and microglia- or macrophage-derived IL-27 are also known to control the excessive inflammatory response in the neuronal tissues and protect from the fatal pathologies, possibly by restraining the Th17 response [163, 164]. The increased number and function of the CD4⁺ Tregs during neurotropic viral infections control the effector T cell response and reduce the immunopathology. It also compromises the viral clearance [165]. Together, this suggests that both peripheral and local immune responses help in the protection from the neuronal infections. However, innate and adaptive neuroinflammatory reactions are also a cause of several infection-associated neuropathologies.

Autoimmunity triggered by infections The C. jejuni is the most predominant bacterial pathogen associated with GBS, an autoimmune neuropathy affecting both the CNS and PNS characterized either by acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy or by acute motor axonal neuropathy induced paralysis. About 30-40% GBS patients show C. *jejuni* infection [59]. The immunodominant glycoproteins of C. jejuni, lipooligosaccharides (LOS), and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) closely resemble the neuronal gangliosides such as GM1, GD1a, GM1/GD1 complex and induce cross-reactive autoantibodies and effector T cells [59, 166]. Interestingly, C. jejuni ganglioside-like LOS structures bind to siglec-7 (sialic acid-binding immunoglobulinlike lectin) present on microglia, oligodendrocytes, and Schwann cells [167]. The C. *jejuni* is a common food-borne pathogen, which after ingestion colonizes the intestinal wall and disturbs the gut immune tolerance and mounts a potent immune response against the closely resembling myelin antigens and gangliosides abundantly present on oligodendrocytes and neurons [168]. The presence of autoantibodies characterizes the GBS patients, complement C3 and membrane attack complex components along with huge perivascular lymphocytic and mononuclear infiltrates, suggesting a role of humoral complement-mediated and T cell-mediated pathology [59, 169]. The γδ T cells which recognize gangliosidic antigens via CD1b presentation manner are also well characterized in GBS patients and animal models [170]. Similarly, respiratory pathogens, M. pneumoniae (around 10-12% GBS cases) and H. influenzae (around 8-9% GBS cases), are associated with GBS, and the molecular mimicry of bacterial glycolipids with myelin galactocerebroside (Gal-C) is considered as a major trigger of autoimmune response in GBS patients with prior history of *M. pneumoniae* or *H. influenzae* infection [169]. There is evidence that links between *M. pneumoniae* infection and the presence of anti-GQ1b, anti-GM1,

anti-GD1b, and anti-GA1 in Bickerstaff brainstem encephalitis and Mille Fisher / Fisher syndrome patients [59, 169]. These autoantibodies are known to induce demyelination and neuropathic signs. Interestingly, studies with animal models of GBS, experimental allergic neuritis (EAN) showed that autoreactive T cells, cytokine-induced inflammatory pathways, and autoantibodies to neuronal and oligodendrocyte antigens form the basis of demyelinating and axonal neuropathy [171], and some of the disease-modifying strategies of MS work well in EAN models [172, 173]. The primary CMV infections and reactivation of the latent infection are shown to be associated with the GBS with predominant involvement of cranial nerves and sensory impairment [59]. The antibodies to CMV envelope glycoproteins crossreact with the GM2 and GD2 gangliosides on peripheral neurons and induce autoimmune neuropathy [174]. The CMV infection also promotes HLA-G expression on various immune cells of the myeloid lineage and induce immune tolerance state and Th2 cytokine bias, which supports autoantibody production [175]. Furthermore, similar molecular mimicry-induced autoantibody production and the bystander immune activation have been noted in GBS patients with HSV-1, HSV-2, VZV, EBV, and HIV-1 infections [59]. The EBV can directly infect peripheral nerves and induce neuritis symptoms, often characterized by the presence of anti-GO1b, perivascular lymphocytic infiltration, microgliosis, demyelination, and axonal damage with the involvement of vascular inflammation [176]. In contrast to these mechanisms, hepatitis viruses employ a different strategy to induce neuropathic conditions. The GBS patients also show the presence of HAV, HBV, HCV, and HEV [59]. The HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) immune complexes are shown to be deposited on the peripheral nerves leading to neuropathies, whereas HAV- and HCV-associated immune complexes get deposited on endothelial vasculature and cause vasculitis in perinervous areas [59]. The GBS patients with HEV infections show anti-GM1 and anti-GM2 antibodies [177].

Acute cerebellitis is a rare inflammatory disease characterized by cerebellar ataxia, reduced consciousness, severe headache, and dysmetria, etc. It occurs either due to primary infection or post-infectious or post-vaccination reasons [178]. Various viral and bacterial pathogens such as CMV, measles, mumps, rubella, EBV, HSV, VZV, poliovirus, Coxsackie virus, rotavirus, *B. burgdorferi*, *Bordetella pertussis, Coxiella burnetii*, group A streptococcus, *M. pneumoniae*, and *S. typhi* are known to be associated with acute cerebellitis [178]. Some of these infectious agents are recovered from the CSF of the acute cerebellitis patients [179]. Many of these patients are characterized by the presence of serum antibodies reactive to gangliosides of neurons and oligodendrocytes, while VZV-associated cerebellitis show antibodies against the components of the centrosomes [179].

These clinical and pathological findings suggest the molecular mimicry-induced autoantibody production as a major pathological mechanism; however, cerebellar damage and associated mechanisms of the innate immune activation are also thought to contribute to the pathology [178, 179] (Fig. 1).

Neuroimmune Mechanisms in Paraneoplastic Diseases

Association of neoplasm and neuroinflammation and autoimmunity Several clinical evidence have shown the presence of antibodies reactive against the neuronal antigens during malignant conditions leading to neurological manifestations. The association of paraneoplastic autoantibodies with neurological diseases and their possible pathophysiological roles are summarized in Table 2. Most of the neurological antibodies are synthesized in the neuronal tissues during paraneoplastic neurological disorders show clinical and pathological features similar to CNS autoimmune diseases. The immune activation in the majority of the paraneoplastic neurological disorders occurs due to homology between tumor and CNS antigens, leading to the generation of an immune response against neo-onconeural antigens. Additionally, some of the tumors interfere with the immune tolerance mechanisms and promote the autoimmune responses to neuronal antigen.

Breakdown of immune tolerance in paraneoplastic conditions The immune tolerance is an active state of immune unresponsiveness (lack of immune reaction) to the cells and molecules capable of inducing an immune response. It operates at the level of lymphocyte development and maturation in the primary lymphoid organs, thymus (T cells) and bone marrow (B cells) called the central tolerance and also at the level of lymphocyte activation in the peripheral lymphoid organs called the peripheral tolerance. The type of tumor associated with the particular paraneoplastic neuronal autoimmunity may alter the efficiency of immune tolerance mechanisms. The thymoma, thymic carcinoma, thymic metastasized tumors, and lymphoma are capable of affecting the central tolerance. The evidence suggests that thymoma allows the autoreactive T cells to escape from the negative thymic selection [180]. The acetylcholine receptor (AChR)-specific T and B cells are abundantly present within thymoma [180], and anti-AChR produced by these B cells and AChR-specific Th2 cells induce the myasthenia gravis, an autoimmune disease that affects the voluntary muscles [181]. Interestingly, surgical removal of thymoma leads to the improvement of clinical symptoms of myasthenia gravis. The tumors in such microenvironment can produce numerous neoantigens that are cross-reactive to neuronal ones. The altered thymic selection of lymphocytes reactive to these antigens can produce helper T cells supporting the autoantibody production against the neuronal antigens.

Additionally, subsets of malignant B cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia serve as APCs and provide co-stimulation (CD80/CD86-CD28) and activation (CD40-CD40L) signals to the autoreactive T cells residing in the secondary lymphoid organs in an anergic state and break the peripheral tolerance. Furthermore, decreased Treg number or activity is also an important mechanism, since increased levels of autoantibody production are often associated with the reduced Treg function. A study has shown that Qa-1-restricted CD8⁺ Tregs with mutant MHC molecule incapable of binding to the T cell receptor selectively inhibit its function [182]. These mice show delayed tumor growth with enhanced expansion of Tfh cells and

Autoantibody A					
Autoantibody A		Most common	Neurological		
	Antigen	cancers	complications	Pathological mechanisms	References
Autoantibodies a	ıgainst neurotransmi	itter receptors and ligan	d-gated ion channels invol	lved in synaptic transmission	
Anti-NMDA N receptor	IMDA receptor	Ovarian cancer, (90%), testicular cancer. lung cancer.	NMDAR (NMDR) encephalitis, cognitive dvsfunction. oral and	Anti-NMDA receptor targets obligatory GluN1 subunit of heterotetrameric ionotropic glutamate receptor and also disrupts NMDA recentor-EphrinB2 receptor	[147, 150]
		SCLC, breast cancer,	facial dyskinesia,	interaction leading to the internalization of glutamate	
		lymphoma	post-herpes simplex encephalitis	receptor at the synapse. This induces the defect in glutamate uptake and hyperactive glutamatergic pathways.	
Anti-AMPA A	MPA receptor	Breast cancer, lung	Limbic encephalitis,	Anti-AMPA receptor mainly targets GluA1 and GluA2	[148, 151]
receptor		cancer, thymoma, SCLC	cerebellar degeneration, neuropathy, ataxia,	subunit of heterotetrameric AMPA glutamate receptor. Induces internalization of AMPA receptor and decreases	
			seizures and psychiatric	receptor availability at synapse leading to imbalance of	
			disorders,	excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission. The anti-NMDA receptor, anti-LGI1, and anti-GABAB	
				receptor are also detected in the patient's CSF	
Anti- C	ilutamate receptor	Hodgkin's lymphoma	Cerebellar	The anti-metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 affects	[64, 66]
metabotropic 1	and glutamate		degeneration,	Purkinje cell excitability and also induces its death,	
glutamate r.	eceptor 5		progressive	while anti-glutamate receptor 5 interferes with synaptic	
receptor 1			encephalomyelitis,	transmission of hippocampal neurons. Both these	
			cerebellar ataxia.	annovuuss cause excess grutamate-mouced neuronal hyperexcitability	
Anti-GABA _A C	JABA _A receptor	Anti-GABA _A : till	Stiff-person syndrome,	These autoantibodies bind to α , β , and γ subunit of	[67, 149,
anti-GABA _B ro	sceptor	association with	cerebellar degeneration,	of GABA _B receptor (GPCR), respectively. Anti-GABA _A	[C+7
receptor	4	cancer found.	progressive	receptor reduces levels of GABAA receptors at synapse.	
		Anti-GABA _B /SCLC	encephalomyelitis,	Anti-GABA _B may block GABA _B -mediated inhibitory	
		(50%)	epilepsy, refractory seizures	synaptic currents. The patients also show the presence of anti-CRMP5 and anti-ANNA-1 and anti-ANNA-3	

 Table 2
 The autoantibodies and their pathological role in paraneoplastic neurological diseases

(continued)

Table 2 (conti	nued)				
Autoantibody	Antigen	Most common cancers	Neurological complications	Pathological mechanisms	References
Anti-glycine receptor	Glycine receptor	Thymoma, lymphoma	Stiff-person syndrome, progressive encephalomyelitis	These antibodies mainly target glycine receptor α subunit of pentameric glycine channels. Anti-glycine receptor induces internalization of glycine channel in transfected human embryonic kidney cells	[153, 243]
Anti-AChR	Acetylcholine receptor	Thymoma	Myasthenia gravis	About 90% myasthenia gravis patients show the presence of anti-AChR. The antibody induces the complement-mediated cell damage and inflammation at postsynaptic membrane. The AChR cross-linking induces its internalization and lysosomal degradation	[181]
Autoantibodie	s against neurotransmi	itter receptors and com	ponents of voltage-gated i	on channels involved in synaptic transmission	
Anti-LGI1 (voltage- gated potassium channel)	Leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1	Thymoma	Autoimmune encephalitis, limbic encephalitis, epilepsy, seizures, hippocampal atrophy	Anti-LGII binds various epitopes of LGI1. It disrupts the interaction of LGI1 with ADAM22 required to bridge Kv1.1 (presynaptic)-AMPA receptor (postsynaptic) connection and affects synaptic transmission	[152, 243]
Anti-Caspr2 (voltage- gated potassium channel)	Contactin- associated protein 2	Thymoma	Encephalopathy, limbic encephalitis, seizures, cerebellitis	It targets N-terminal discoidin and laminin G1 domain of Caspr2. It interferes with the clustering of Kv1.1/1.2 potassium channels and affects axonal excitability and also inhibits interneuron activity. The patients also show the presence of anti-LG11 and anti-DPP10	[243]
Anti-P-/ Q-type and N-type voltage-gated calcium channels	P-/Q-type voltage-gated calcium channel (Purkinje cells); N-type voltage- gated calcium channel (neuron)	Lung cancer (50%), breast cancer, and ovarian cancer	Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome, cerebellitis, cerebellar ataxia	Astrogliosis and microgliosis in the cortical and cerebellar regions, Perkinje cell (anti-P-/Q-type) and neuronal (anti-N-type) damage, very rare or no involvement of perivascular infiltrated mononuclear cells and lymphocytes	[244, 245]

34

	63, 246]	247-249]	250]	continued)
	The anti-ANNA-1 and anti-ANNA-2 recognize neuronal [RNA-binding proteins Hu (HuB, HuC, and HuD) and Ri (NOVA-1 and NOVA-2) antigen, respectively, and induce complement activation and apoptosis of primary neurons. The inflammatory CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells and activated microglia also contribute to anti-ANNA- induced inflammation	The inflammatory CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells and activated I microglia also contribute to anti-PCA1-induced inflammation. Autoreactive CD8 ⁺ T cell induces neuronal death in neurological conditions associated with anti-PCA1, anti-PCA, and anti-PCA-Tr	The inflammatory CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells and activated [microglia also contribute to anti-CRMP3/5-induced inflammation. Autoreactive CD8 ⁺ T cell induces neuronal death	
aptic transmission	Brainstem encephalitis, limbic encephalitis, cerebellar degeneration, myelitis, radiculopathy, sensory neuropathy, Lambert-Eaton syndrome, seizures	Limbic encephalitis, brainstem encephalitis, cerebellar degeneration, peripheral neuropathy, cerebellitis	Brainstem encephalitis, limbic encephalitis, myelitis, peripheral neuropathy, optic neuritis, radiculopathy	
proteins involved in syn	SCLC, breast cancer, lung cancer	Ovarian and breast cancer (PCA-1) SCLC (PCA-2) Hodgkin's lymphoma (PCA-Tr	SCLC, thymoma,	
s against intracellular	ANNA1: Neuronal nuclear RNA- binding proteins (HuB, HuC, and HuD) ANNA2: Neuro- oncological ventral antigen (NOVA)-1 and NOVA-2; RNA-binding and RNA-splicing regulators ANNA3: Unknown	PCA1: PCD17/ CDR2 (cerebellar degeneration- related protein 2) PCA2: Unknown PCA-Tr: Delta/ Notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor	Collapsin response mediator protein 3 and collapsin response mediator protein 5	
Autoantibodie.	Anti- ANNA-1, anti- ANNA-2, anti-ANNA-3	Anti-PCA 1, anti-PCA2, and anti-PCA-Tr	Anti-CRMP3 and anti-CRMP5	

Table 2 (conti	nued)				
Autoantibody	Antigen	Most common cancers	Neurological complications	Pathological mechanisms	References
Anti-Ma1/ Ma2	Ma1 and Ma2 proteins	Testicular cancer, ovarian cancer, breast cancer, lung cancer	Brainstem encephalitis, limbic encephalitis, encephalopathy,	Tumor expression of neuronal Ma1/Ma2 antigen induces anti-Ma1/Ma2 autoantibodies and autoreactive T cells. The inflammatory CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells and activated microglia also possibly contribute to anti-Ma1-/ anti-Ma2-induced inflammation	[251]
Anti- amphiphysin	Amphiphysin 1	SCLC, breast cancer	Limbic encephalitis, brainstem encephalitis, myelitis, sensory and motor neuropathy, stiff-person syndrome	Amphiphysin is intracellular trafficking protein, and antibody binding to it induces internalization of IgG-bound amphiphysin and alters GABAergic and glutamatergic synaptic transmission. Autoreactive CD8 ⁺ T cells also contribute to the neuronal death	[252]
Anti-GAD65	Glutamic acid decarboxylase	Thymom, breast, and colon cancer, pancreas cancer	Stiff-person syndrome, limbic encephalitis, brainstem encephalitis, epilepsy, progressive encephalomyelitis	Antibodies recognizing different epitopes of the secreted GAD65 in the synapse are observed. They disrupt the interaction of GAD65 and GABAergic synaptic vesicles leading to reduced inhibitory synaptic transmission. Autoreactive CD8 ⁺ T cells also contribute to the neuronal death	[144, 145]

germinal center B cells and increased levels of autoantibodies in the serum [182]. It is quite possible that similar mechanisms operate during the paraneoplastic neurologic disease, where downregulation of Treg function promotes increased autoreactive T cell and B cell response leading to the generation of autoantibodies reactive to neuronal antigens.

Autoantibodies toward neurotransmitter receptors or ion channels Several paraneoplastic neurological diseases are characterized by the presence of the autoantibodies against the ions channels and neurotransmitter receptors such as NMDA receptors, AMPA receptors, GABA_{Δ} receptor, α 1 and α 3 subunits of the AChR, glycine receptor, P/O-type voltage-gated calcium channels, Caspr2 and dipeptidylpeptidase-like protein 6 (DPPX) [183]. The mechanisms of neurological manifestations mainly depend on the type of antibodies produced and the nature of the target antigen. The anti-NMDA receptor, anti-AMPA receptor, and anti-GABAA receptor induce the target receptor internalization and reduce their synaptic localization, which affects the synaptic transmission and neuronal plasticity and excitability [147–149]. Depending on the anatomical areas where target antigens are abundantly present, these antibodies induce characteristic clinical symptoms. The anti-metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 and 5 affect the Purkinje cell in the cerebellar synapses and hippocampal neurons, respectively [64]. The anti-P/O-type voltage-gated calcium channels target peripheral neurons and also induce neuronal apoptosis [64]. The anti-amphiphysin and anti-GABA_A are known to induce the receptor internalization leading to an imbalance of glutamatergic and GABAergic synaptic transmission, whereas anti-gephyrin causes receptor internalization and neuronal death leading to alteration in the GABAergic and glycinergic synaptic transmission [183].

Autoantibodies toward intracellular antigens Additionally, the intracellular neuronal antigens are also targeted. The anti-ANNA-1, anti-ANNA-2, anti-Ma1/Ma2, anti-collapsin response mediator protein-2 (CRMP2), anti-CRMP5, anti-PCA-Tr, and anti-amphiphysin-associated neurological manifestations are mainly characterized by the CNS infiltration of CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, macrophage, and the microglial activation. The neuronal death is considered mostly due to cytotoxicity of the antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells [183]. However, substantial evidence is needed to pinpoint the role of the antigen-specific T cells in the induction of neuronal damage and associated neurological symptoms in the paraneoplastic conditions.

Neuroimmune Mechanisms in Vascular Inflammatory Diseases

The blood vascular inflammation affects almost all the blood vessels ranging from capillaries, arterioles, venules, arteries, and veins. The vasculitis is characterized by the thick, constricted and narrow blood vessels obstructing the blood flow leading to the tissue damage. The CNS vasculitis is a heterogeneous and rare disease and associated with clinical infections. The primary CNS vasculitis shows a headache,

motor deficits, and cognitive and memory dysfunction. The CNS vasculitis secondary to the infectious and autoimmune inflammation is often involved in proinflammatory cytokines and autoantibody-mediated BBB damage. For example, about 20–40% of SLE patients show the presence of the antiphospholipid antibody that induces complement-mediated neuronal damage [184].

BBB inflammation The BBB dysfunction is a hallmark of many neuroinflammatory conditions including MS, and endothelial cells of the BBB actively participate in the inflammatory process [4]. The type I activation of BBB endothelial cells is fast and marked with striking changes in the gene expression patterns, whereas type II activation is slower and induce multiple inflammatory signaling. Various inflammatory mediators have previously been shown to cause endothelial activation and BBB damage. The type I endothelial activation involves Rho activation, increased cytosolic Ca²⁺, and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent myosin light-chain kinase (MLCK) phosphorylation leading to adherence and tight junction remodeling [185]. In contrast, type II activation is driven by sustained inflammatory signals that stimulate MAPK-, ERK-, and STAT-dependent signaling pathways. Activation of these pathways upregulates the endothelial adhesion molecules, E- and P-selectins, integrins, and chemokines that help in the transmigration of effector immune cells across the BBB into the CNS parenchyma [185]. The CNS-infiltrating immune cells activate myriad of inflammatory signaling pathways leading to microglial and astrocytic activations which together cause oligodendrocytes and neuronal damage. The redox imbalance in the inflamed endothelial BBB also leads to the activation of inflammatory nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy) signaling that in synergy with other inflammatory cytokines induce inflammatory changes in the BBB endothelium [185]. Furthermore, inflammatory molecules also affect the endothelialglial interaction and induce BBB permeability. The calcium- and zinc-dependent matrix metalloproteinases, MMP2 and MMP9, cleave extracellular basement membrane proteins that anchor BBB endothelial cells to the astrocytic end-feet and also induce microglial IL-1β-dependent and astrocytic VEGF-A-dependent loss of BBB integrity during MS [186]. The levodopa (L-DOPA) administration in a mouse model of PD leads to the increase in VEGF-A expression in the astrocytes and induces BBB permeability dyskinesia [187], and recently, phase 3 trials of CVT-301 (levodopa inhalation powder) were concluded in the PD [188]. However, prostaglandins control the endothelial activation via prostaglandin I2 (PGI2) and prostaglandin F2 alpha (PGFa) signaling and cAMP production and promote barrier integrity in the CNS [189].

Neuroimmune Mechanisms in Neurodegenerative Diseases

The neuroinflammation is a characteristic hallmark of the neurodegenerative diseases and often considered as secondary to the neuronal DAMPs. The microglial cells are the major resident immune cell in the brain and spinal cord, which actively maintains the neuronal homeostasis and also performs the immunosurveillance and defense functions (Fig. 1).

Vulnerable factor in neuroinflammation Several genome-wide association studies have shown the association of microglial or mononuclear phagocytes molecules with the increased susceptibility to the development of neurodegenerative diseases. For example, TREM2, complement receptor 1, SIGLEC 3 (CD33), and myeloid cell-expressed membrane-spanning 4-domains subfamily A member 6A (MS4A6A) and MS4A4E are known to be associated with AD while CD14, TNF- α , TNF receptor 1, TREM2, and IL-1 β and IL-1 receptor antagonist with the PD [190–192]. The TREM2 has also recently been shown to be a risk factor for frontotemporal dementia [193, 194].

Roles of misfolded protein in autoimmunity Majority of the neurodegenerative diseases are characterized by the excessive accumulation of the misfolded protein aggregates or modified proteins, such as tau and amyloid- β in AD, α -synuclein in PD, mutant SOD1 and S100A9-S100A8 amyloidogenic protein complex in ALS, huntingtin (HTT) in HD [190]. The protein aggregates are either formed inside the neurons or deposited in the extracellular microenvironment. The intracellular aggregates directly affect the neuronal survival, whereas extracellular protein aggregates induce various signaling pathways and induce neuronal death and interfere with synaptic function. Microglial cells have capacity to sense the misfolded protein aggregates of tau and amyloid- β , α -synuclein, mutant SOD1, HTT, and S100A9-S100A8 complex released from degenerating neurons possibly through surface receptors, CD14, CD36, CD47, $\alpha_{6}\beta_{1}$ -integrin and TLR4 and intracellular sensors, nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), and NACHT, LRR and PYD domains-containing protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome activation [190, 195]. The microglial inflammatory response is generally characterized by the hyperproliferation, increased phagocytosis, secretion of prostaglandins, and excess production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, $TNF-\alpha$, IL-1 β , IL-18, IL-12p35, IL-12p40, and IL-23p19, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species, and NADPH oxidase in the AD and PD [190, 196]. The microglial cells in the brain phagocytose and clear the cellular debris via TREM-2-TYRO protein tyrosine kinase-binding protein (TYROBP)-induced signaling.

Specific autoimmunity in AD A mutation in TREM-2 has been shown to be associated with the increased risk of the AD [197]. The NLRP3-deficient or inflammasome component-deficient mouse model of AD shows reduced amyloid pathology [198]. The mitochondrial dysfunction in microglial cells is also shown to play a critical role in the pathophysiology of the AD. The evidence also suggests that microglia-induced inflammation contributes to the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (hyperphosphorylated tau) in the neurons after years from the deposition of amyloid- β aggregates during early stages of the AD. *Specific autoimmunity in PD* The role of microglia-induced neuroinflammation is also evident in the PD, where dopaminergic neurons were shown to be protected from the damage in microglia-restricted TLR4-deficient 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)-induced mouse models of PD [199].

Specific autoimmunity in ALS The ALS is a fatal neurodegenerative disease affecting the function of motor neurons, and mutation in the SOD1 gene is reported in an approximately 20% ALS patients. The reactive astrocytes, microglial, and CNSinfiltrated mononuclear myeloid cells are present in the CNS of SOD1^{G93A} transgenic mice [200, 201]. The induction of classical NF-kB signaling in these cells contributes to the neuronal pathology in a mutant SOD1 model of ALS. The microglia or astrocytes with mutant SOD1 exhibit activated phenotype, and activate neighboring glial cells, secrete inflammatory molecules, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, and cause neuronal damage [190]. The aggregates of mutant SOD1 derived from dying cells also activate NLRP3 inflammasome and promote neuroinflammation [202]. SOD1-mutated microglia show defect in the phagocytic clearance of dead and dying neurons. The intervention strategies comprising of giving minocycline, a broad-spectrum antibiotic or pioglitazone, an activator of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ), show beneficial results in animal models of ALS [203, 204]. These findings suggest the possible role of systemic inflammation.

Specific autoimmunity in HD The activated microglia and astrocytes are present in the early stages HD, an autosomal dominant neurodegenerative disease characterized by the presence of extended CAG trinucleotides in the HTT gene. The activated microglia has been shown to express increased IL-1ß and complement C3 and C9 proteins in the affected regions of the brain [205]. The increased level of circulating TNF- α also correlates with the HD progression. The activated microglia expressing mutant HTT induce neuronal death possibly via increased accumulation of ferritin and subsequent induction of inflammatory response characterized by increased IL-1 β , TNF- α , IFN- γ , and TGF- β 1 in the brain [190]. The activation of microglial cannabinoid receptor 2 leads to neuroprotection, whereas its deficiency in the microglial cells exacerbates disease symptoms in R6/2 mice model of HD [206]. Similarly, astrocyte-restricted mutant HTT expression leads to reduced glutamate uptake and neuronal dysfunction and shows age-dependent neurodegenerative signs [207]. The microglial intracellular TLR7 may sense the single-stranded RNA CAGrepeats generated from the Dicer-mediated cleavage of the CAG-trinucleotide repeats in the mutant HTT mRNA and induce neuroinflammation [208].

Vital roles of innate immune responses in degenerative diseases Although the contribution of the adaptive immune response to the neuroinflammation during the neurodegenerative diseases is not well established, recent evidence suggests that T cell-mediated response plays a crucial role in the neuroinflammatory processes during degenerative events [209]. The reduced Foxp3⁺CD4⁺ Treg number or activity has shown to reduce the neuroinflammation and improve the clearance of amyloid- β plaques and control the cognitive symptoms in AD [210]. The effector T cell response helps in the clearance of amyloid plaques while regulatory T cells induce the tissue repair function in the brain of AD patients [211]. During AD, loss of BBB integrity allows the infiltration of antigen-specific peripherally activated T cells in the brain and creates an inflamed milieu, and activated microglia promote amyloid antigen-specific T cell reactivation and neuroinflammation. It has been shown that the modified α -synuclein released by the dying neurons activates surrounding microglia and mononuclear phagocytes and supports activation of effector T cells in the brain [212]. These findings suggest that innate immune response, especially microglia- and astrocyte-induced neuroinflammation, plays a vital role in the development and clinical progression of neurodegenerative diseases.

Neuroimmune Mechanisms in Neuropsychiatric Diseases

Neuroimmune mechanisms underlying ASD The clinical evidence and studies in animal models suggest that maternal infections, allergies, asthma, and autoimmune disease, as well as early childhood infections, increase the risk of the development of ASD, bipolar and obsessive-compulsive disorder, and schizophrenia [213–215]. The exposure of influenza virus infection, bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), or polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) to the experimental animals during gestation has shown an increased risk of developing ASD and schizophrenia-like neuropsychiatric disorders [216]. The autoantibodies such as anti-NMDA receptors, anti-LGI1, anti-contactin-2, anti-contactin-associated protein 2 (Caspr2), anti-AMPA receptors, and anti-dopamine 2 receptor-induced neuronal apoptosis during CNS autoimmunity are associated with the development of the neuropsychiatric symptoms [217]. It has been shown that a higher percentage of the mothers of the autistic children have serum antibodies that directly react or cross-react with the neuronal antigens [215, 218].

Transplacental transfer of autoantibodies in ASD It is also thought that the motherto-fetal transfer of such antibodies may occur through crossing the relatively permissive fetal BBB. The presence of coincidental infections and systemic inflammation may direct the prenatal BBB disruption, allowing pathogenic autoantibodies to enter into the CNS. In support of this, several experimental studies with ASD animal models including nonhuman primates have shown that transplacental delivery of serum IgG from mothers of autistic animals during gestational periods leads to the development of motor and sensory deficits and behavioral and social alterations in the offsprings [219, 220]. It has been shown in rodents that maternal immune activation leads to changes in the serotonin and dopaminergic signaling in the offsprings [221]. However, not all maternal infections lead to the development of ASD or schizophrenia in the children, suggesting the involvement of the specific immunological trigger or the multiple immune activation pathways in addition to the genetic and environmental factors. A single injection of IL-2, IL-6, or IL-17A during gestational periods in mice leads to the development of ASD and schizophrenia in the offsprings, whereas overexpression of IL-10 or neutralization of IL-17A partially controls this [222], suggesting the importance of these cytokines during fetal development.

Peripheral autoimmunity contributes to neuropsychiatric diseases The SLE and RA-associated neuropsychological pathology involves a variety of inflammatory cells and pathways. The RA patients with cognitive dysfunction have also been characterized by increased levels of serum anti-MOG, anti-MBP, and anti-S100ß [223]. The human and mouse studies have shown that the subset of anti-DNA antibodies induced during SLE are present in the CSF and cross-react with the NR2 subunit of NMDA glutamate receptors on the neurons and induce their apoptosis leading to cognitive dysfunction [224, 225]. The systemic inflammation and increased levels of CSF pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , interferon (IFN)-α, IL-6, and IL-8 contribute to the breach of BBB allowing crossreactive antibodies to enter in the CNS [78]. The inflammation-induced activation of perivascular macrophages, microglia, and astrocytes further exacerbate the extent of neuronal apoptosis. The astrogliosis and astrocytopathy are considered as a critical factor contributing to the neuroinflammation during schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, anxiety, depression, and mood disorders [226]. Collectively, this suggests that maternal immune activation, coincidental infections, and systemic and neuroinflammation play a critical role in neuropsychiatric diseases possibly altering the neurotransmission and inducing neuronal apoptosis by antibody-dependent mechanisms, pro-inflammatory cytokine-induced BBB damage, and glial activation.

Future Perspective

Possible targets of immunotherapies In the past decades, substantial progress has been made in the diagnosis, clinical care, and disability management of the patients with the neuroimmune disease. Currently, our limited understanding of the mechanisms of neuroimmune diseases is hampering the development of more precise and safer treatment strategies. The mechanisms may involve predominantly autoreactive T cell response (MS), autoantibody (paraneoplastic neurological diseases), or a combination of both (optic neuritis and NMOSD). However, the clinical course of neuroimmune diseases is quite heterogeneous and may involve different neuroimmunological mechanisms and may need to be targeted at various cell types at different stages of the disease. Since the disease susceptibility is also influenced by the genetic factors, understanding the genetic association with the different clinical form of the diseases is of great importance. The advent in genomics techniques like whole-genome sequencing and exome sequencing would prove beneficial in identifying novel genetic regulators of the progressive phases of the neuroimmune diseases. Such studies would help in formulating strategies to restore the affected

immune pathways to control the difficult-to-treat diseases such as PP-MS and PR-MS.

Neuroinflammation-induced recovery processes Inflammation triggers the pathogen clearance, removes unwanted cells and debris, and repairs the damaged tissue. In the context of the neuroimmune diseases, we have achieved significant progress in understanding the cellular and molecular basis of the inflammatory tissue damage and pathology. However, we have very little understanding of inflammationtriggered disease recovery, remyelination, tissue reparative, and restorative function. Almost all the CNS-resident cells express TLR and DAMP sensors and respond to insult; still, the plasticity of the inflammatory and regulatory function of astrocytes, microglia, oligodendrocytes, neurons, and brain endothelial cells is not completely known. The single-cell omics approaches such as transcriptomics, proteomics, epigenomics, and metabolomics coupled with system-level analysis and functional studies would help in gaining more in-depth insight into the functional and phenotypic heterogeneity of astrocytes and microglia during homeostasis and a specific neuroinflammatory and neurodegenerative condition. Additionally, the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ memory T cells are known for their critical role in immunosurveillance, tissue homeostasis, and repair function. The carefully designed studies using human CSF, tissue specimens, and animal models are needed to look deeper and more closure at the frequency, anatomic localization, and function of memory T cells during demyelination, axonal damage, neurodegeneration, cognitive dysfunction, and reparative stages of neuroimmune diseases. These studies drive a way of controlling the inflammatory cells and promoting the reparative functions.

Although autoantibody produced against onconeural antigen forms a basis of paraneoplastic neuroimmune diseases, our understanding of the association of cancer with the neuroimmune disease is still in its infancy, and requires a vast multicentered clinical data collection across different ethnic groups to derive a conclusive association of a specific graded cancer with the presence of onconeural antigenspecific antibodies in the patients. Furthermore, we have been able to show a pathologic role of very few of the autoantibodies such as anti-NMDA receptor, anti-AMPA receptor, and anti-GAD65, and our understanding of the pathogenesis of other autoantibodies is incomplete. To gain a better insight of their pathologic mechanisms, the ability of purified antibody from patient-derived CSF to transfer the disease in animal models needs to be systematically tested. The primary limitation is that we lack animal models that mimic the pathology of a specific antibody-driven neuroimmune disease. Finally, more fundamental neuroimmunological studies are needed to investigate how a given cancer cell type edits its epitopes that resembles or crossreacts with the neuronal ones, and how a given autoantibody enter into the neuronal tissue and mediates autoimmune response.

Therapeutic strategies for paraneoplastic neurologic diseases The paraneoplastic neurological diseases can be controlled with the tumor resection. Since paraneoplastic neurologic autoimmunity and neuropathies are triggered mainly by autoantibody-mediated immune activation, the immunotherapy coupled with anti-

seizure or antipsychotic medication represents a valuable approach to control such pathologies. First-line immunotherapy may comprise of corticosteroids (reduction of neuroinflammation and autoimmune activation), plasma exchange or immunoadsorption (removal of circulating autoantibodies), and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg; outcompeting the circulating autoantibodies, targeting autoantibody (Fab) and (Fc) regions, etc.) therapy either alone or in combination. Previously, such firstline immunotherapeutic approaches showed good clinical improvements in nonparaneoplastic encephalitis (anti-NMDA receptor, anti-LGI1, anti-Caspr2), GBS, myasthenia gravis, NMOSD, and MS [227]. Patients who respond poorly to firstline choices and those showing relapses can be treated with second-line immunotherapeutic strategies, which include cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, azathioprine, and mycophenolate mofetil alone or coupled with any of the working first-line treatment options. Treatment with B cell-depleting rituximab (anti-CD20) may represent a more direct way of targeting autoantibody production and effector T cell activation and cytokine production; however, it increases the risk of opportunistic infections, such as PML, as previously reported in the case of RR-MS, RA, and SLE [154]. Therefore, considering rituximab or other such lymphocyte-targeting therapies needs careful evaluation and screening for high-risk infections.

The precise understanding of immune-mediated mechanisms would help in devising immunologic strategies to control neuroimmune diseases.

References

- Ransohoff RM, Schafer D, Vincent A, Blachere NE, Bar-Or A. Neuroinflammation: ways in which the immune system affects the brain. Neurotherapeutics. 2015;12(4):896–909. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13311-015-0385-3. Epub 2015/08/27. PubMed PMID: 26306439; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4604183.
- Golumbek P. Pharmacologic agents for pediatric neuroimmune disorders. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2010;17(4):245–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spen.2010.10.007. Epub 2010/12/25. PubMed PMID: 21183131.
- Reinhold AK, Rittner HL. Barrier function in the peripheral and central nervous systema review. Pflugers Arch. 2017;469(1):123–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-016-1920-8. Epub 2016/12/14. PubMed PMID: 27957611.
- Sonar SA, Lal G. Blood-brain barrier and its function during inflammation and autoimmunity. J Leukoc Biol. 2018;103(5):839–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.1RU1117-428R. Epub 2018/02/13. PubMed PMID: 29431873.
- Johanson CE, Stopa EG, McMillan PN. The blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier: structure and functional significance. Methods Mol Biol. 2011;686:101–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-938-3_4. Epub 2010/11/18. PubMed PMID: 21082368.
- Balusu S, Brkic M, Libert C, Vandenbroucke RE. The choroid plexus-cerebrospinal fluid interface in Alzheimer's disease: more than just a barrier. Neural Regen Res. 2016;11(4):534– 7. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.180372. Epub 2016/05/24. PubMed PMID: 27212900; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4870896.
- Weise G, Stoll G. Magnetic resonance imaging of blood brain/nerve barrier dysfunction and leukocyte infiltration: closely related or discordant? Front Neurol. 2012;3:178. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2012.00178. Epub 2012/12/26. PubMed PMID: 23267343; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3527731.

- Taipa R, Ferreira V, Brochado P, Robinson A, Reis I, Marques F, et al. Inflammatory pathology markers (activated microglia and reactive astrocytes) in early and late onset Alzheimer disease: a post mortem study. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2018;44(3):298–313. https://doi. org/10.1111/nan.12445. Epub 2017/10/19. PubMed PMID: 29044639.
- Hughes RA, Mehndiratta MM, Rajabally YA. Corticosteroids for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(11):CD002062. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002062.pub4. Epub 2017/12/01. PubMed PMID: 29185258.
- Lorscheider J, Benkert P, Lienert C, Hanni P, Derfuss T, Kuhle J, et al. Comparative analysis of natalizumab versus fingolimod as second-line treatment in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2018;24(6):777–85. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458518768433. Epub 2018/04/25. PubMed PMID: 29685071.
- Faissner S, Gold R. Efficacy and safety of the newer multiple sclerosis drugs approved since 2010. CNS Drugs. 2018;32(3):269–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-018-0488-6. Epub 2018/03/31. PubMed PMID: 29600441.
- Pihl-Jensen G, Frederiksen JL. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D levels in acute monosymptomatic optic neuritis: relation to clinical severity, paraclinical findings and risk of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. 2015;262(7):1646–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-015-7740-5. Epub 2015/05/02. PubMed PMID: 25929657.
- Titulaer MJ, Hoftberger R, Iizuka T, Leypoldt F, McCracken L, Cellucci T, et al. Overlapping demyelinating syndromes and anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2014;75(3):411–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24117. Epub 2014/04/05. PubMed PMID: 24700511; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4016175.
- Luo JJ, Lv H, Sun W, Zhao J, Hao HJ, Gao F, et al. Anti-N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis in a patient with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2016;8:74–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2016.05.002. Epub 2016/07/28. PubMed PMID: 27456878.
- Kamm C, Zettl UK. Autoimmune disorders affecting both the central and peripheral nervous system. Autoimmun Rev. 2012;11(3):196–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2011.05.012. Epub 2011/05/31. PubMed PMID: 21619947.
- Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sorensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. Neurology. 2014;83(3):278– 86. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000000560. Epub 2014/05/30. PubMed PMID: 24871874; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4117366.
- 17. Miller E. Multiple sclerosis. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;724:222–38. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0653-2_17. Epub 2012/03/14. PubMed PMID: 22411246.
- Hardy TA, Reddel SW, Barnett MH, Palace J, Lucchinetti CF, Weinshenker BG. Atypical inflammatory demyelinating syndromes of the CNS. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(9):967–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30043-6. Epub 2016/08/02. PubMed PMID: 27478954.
- Kurdi M, Ramsay D. Balo's concentric lesions with concurrent features of Schilder's disease in relapsing multiple sclerosis: neuropathological findings. Autops Case Rep. 2016;6(4):21– 6. https://doi.org/10.4322/acr.2016.058. Epub 2017/02/18. PubMed PMID: 28210570; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5304558.
- Rotem RS, Chodick G, Davidovitch M, Hauser R, Coull BA, Weisskopf MG. Congenital abnormalities of the male reproductive system and risk of autism spectrum disorders. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187(4):656–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx367. Epub 2018/02/17. PubMed PMID: 29452340; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5888926.
- Schieve LA, Shapira SK. Invited commentary: male reproductive system congenital malformations and the risk of autism spectrum disorder. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187(4):664–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx369. Epub 2018/02/17. PubMed PMID: 29452336; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5884740.
- Sinmaz N, Nguyen T, Tea F, Dale RC, Brilot F. Mapping autoantigen epitopes: molecular insights into autoantibody-associated disorders of the nervous system. J Neuroinflammation.

2016;13(1):219. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-016-0678-4. Epub 2016/09/01. PubMed PMID: 27577085; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5006540.

- Zuliani L, Zoccarato M, Gastaldi M, Iorio R, Evoli A, Biagioli T, et al. Diagnostics of autoimmune encephalitis associated with antibodies against neuronal surface antigens. Neurol Sci. 2017;38(Suppl 2):225–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-017-3032-4. Epub 2017/10/17. PubMed PMID: 29030767.
- Dalmau J, Graus F. Antibody-mediated encephalitis. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(9):840–51. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1708712. Epub 2018/03/01. PubMed PMID: 29490181.
- Lai M, Huijbers MG, Lancaster E, Graus F, Bataller L, Balice-Gordon R, et al. Investigation of LGI1 as the antigen in limbic encephalitis previously attributed to potassium channels: a case series. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(8):776–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70137-X. Epub 2010/06/29. PubMed PMID: 20580615; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3086669.
- Okumura A, Nakazawa M, Igarashi A, Abe S, Ikeno M, Nakahara E, et al. Anti-aquaporin 4 antibody-positive acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Brain Dev. 2015;37(3):339– 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.braindev.2014.04.013. Epub 2014/05/20. PubMed PMID: 24837901.
- Tanaka M, Tanaka K. Anti-MOG antibodies in adult patients with demyelinating disorders of the central nervous system. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;270(1–2):98–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneuroim.2014.03.001. Epub 2014/04/08. PubMed PMID: 24703097.
- Weissert R. Adaptive immunity is the key to the understanding of autoimmune and paraneoplastic inflammatory central nervous system disorders. Front Immunol. 2017;8:336. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00336. Epub 2017/04/08. PubMed PMID: 28386263; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5362596.
- Tekgul H, Polat M, Kitis O, Serdaroglu G, Tosun A, Terlemez S, et al. T-cell subsets and interleukin-6 response in Rasmussen's encephalitis. Pediatr Neurol. 2005;33(1):39–45. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2005.01.007. Epub 2005/05/07. PubMed PMID: 15876522.
- Bien CG, Vincent A, Barnett MH, Becker AJ, Blumcke I, Graus F, et al. Immunopathology of autoantibody-associated encephalitides: clues for pathogenesis. Brain J Neurol. 2012;135(Pt 5):1622–38. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws082. Epub 2012/04/28. PubMed PMID: 22539258.
- Shimizu F, Kanda T. Disruption of the blood-brain barrier in inflammatory neurological diseases. Brain Nerve. 2013;65(2):165–76. Epub 2013/02/13. PubMed PMID: 23399674.
- 32. Chen HA, Lin YJ, Chen PC, Chen TY, Lin KC, Cheng HH. Systemic lupus erythematosus complicated with posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome and intracranial vasculopathy. Int J Rheum Dis. 2010;13(4):e79–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-185X.2010.01545.x. Epub 2011/01/05. PubMed PMID: 21199460.
- 33. Kakati S, Barman B, Ahmed SU, Hussain M. Neurological manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus: a single Centre Study from North East India. J Clin Diagn Res. 2017;11(1):OC05–OC9. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2017/23773.9280. Epub 2017/03/10. PubMed PMID: 28273990; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5324435.
- Ozkul A, Yilmaz A, Akyol A, Kiylioglu N. Cerebral vasculitis as a major manifestation of rheumatoid arthritis. Acta Clin Belg. 2015;70(5):359–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/17843286. 2015.1131965. Epub 2016/01/09. PubMed PMID: 26743575.
- Bhattacharyya S, Helfgott SM. Neurologic complications of systemic lupus erythematosus, sjogren syndrome, and rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Neurol. 2014;34(4):425–36. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0034-1390391. Epub 2014/11/05. PubMed PMID: 25369438.
- Lvovich S, Goldsmith DP. Neurological complications of rheumatic disease. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2017;24(1):54–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spen.2016.12.007. Epub 2017/08/07. PubMed PMID: 28779866.
- 37. Zandman-Goddard G, Chapman J, Shoenfeld Y. Autoantibodies involved in neuropsychiatric SLE and antiphospholipid syndrome. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2007;36(5):297–315. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2006.11.003. Epub 2007/01/30. PubMed PMID: 17258299.

- Scarborough M, Thwaites GE. The diagnosis and management of acute bacterial meningitis in resource-poor settings. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(7):637–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70139-X. Epub 2008/06/21. PubMed PMID: 18565457.
- 39. Oordt-Speets AM, Bolijn R, van Hoorn RC, Bhavsar A, Kyaw MH. Global etiology of bacterial meningitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2018;13(6):e0198772. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198772. Epub 2018/06/12. PubMed PMID: 29889859; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5995389 performed under contract by Pallas Health Research and Consultancy, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. AMO, RB, and RCH are employees of Pallas Health Research and Consultancy, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. AB and MHK are employees of Sanofi-Pasteur. This does not alter our adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.
- McGill F, Griffiths MJ, Solomon T. Viral meningitis: current issues in diagnosis and treatment. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2017;30(2):248–56. https://doi.org/10.1097/QCO.00000000000355. Epub 2017/01/25. PubMed PMID: 28118219.
- Hakyemez IN, Erdem H, Beraud G, Lurdes M, Silva-Pinto A, Alexandru C, et al. Prediction of unfavorable outcomes in cryptococcal meningitis: results of the multicenter Infectious Diseases International Research Initiative (ID-IRI) cryptococcal meningitis study. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2018;37(7):1231–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-017-3142-1. Epub 2017/12/09. PubMed PMID: 29218468.
- Singh TD, Fugate JE, Hocker S, Wijdicks EFM, Aksamit AJ Jr, Rabinstein AA. Predictors of outcome in HSV encephalitis. J Neurol. 2016;263(2):277–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00415-015-7960-8. Epub 2015/11/17. PubMed PMID: 26568560.
- Anukumar B, Sapkal GN, Tandale BV, Balasubramanian R, West GD. Nile encephalitis outbreak in Kerala, India, 2011. J Clin Virol. 2014;61(1):152–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcv.2014.06.003. Epub 2014/07/06. PubMed PMID: 24985196.
- 44. Rudolf I, Betasova L, Blazejova H, Venclikova K, Strakova P, Sebesta O, et al. West Nile virus in overwintering mosquitoes, Central Europe. Parasit Vectors. 2017;10(1):452. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-017-2399-7. Epub 2017/10/04. PubMed PMID: 28969685; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5625652.
- 45. Chin RL, Sander HW, Brannagan TH 3rd, De Sousa E, Latov N. Demyelinating neuropathy in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. J Clin Neuromuscul Dis. 2010;11(4):209–12. https:// doi.org/10.1097/CND.0b013e3181b701c1. Epub 2010/06/03. PubMed PMID: 20516810.
- 46. Cleto TL, de Araujo LF, Capuano KG, Rego Ramos A, Prata-Barbosa A. Peripheral neuropathy associated with Zika virus infection. Pediatr Neurol. 2016;65:e1–2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2016.08.011. Epub 2016/10/13. PubMed PMID: 27729183.
- Conliffe TD, Dholakia M, Broyer Z. Herpes zoster radiculopathy treated with fluoroscopicallyguided selective nerve root injection. Pain Physician. 2009;12(5):851–3. Epub 2009/09/30. PubMed PMID: 19787010.
- Tuerlinckx D, Bodart E, Jamart J, Glupczynski Y. Prediction of Lyme meningitis based on a logistic regression model using clinical and cerebrospinal fluid analysis: a European study. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2009;28(5):394–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e318191f035. Epub 2009/03/20. PubMed PMID: 19295463.
- Llewellyn GN, Alvarez-Carbonell D, Chateau M, Karn J, Cannon PM. HIV-1 infection of microglial cells in a reconstituted humanized mouse model and identification of compounds that selectively reverse HIV latency. J Neurovirol. 2018;24(2):192–203. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13365-017-0604-2. Epub 2017/12/20. PubMed PMID: 29256041; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5910454.
- Gray LR, Turville SG, Hitchen TL, Cheng WJ, Ellett AM, Salimi H, et al. HIV-1 entry and trans-infection of astrocytes involves CD81 vesicles. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):e90620. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090620. Epub 2014/03/04. PubMed PMID: 24587404; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3938779.
- Nookala AR, Mitra J, Chaudhari NS, Hegde ML, Kumar A. An overview of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-associated common neurological complications: does aging pose

a challenge? J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;60(s1):S169–S93. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170473. Epub 2017/08/12. PubMed PMID: 28800335; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6152920.

- Cinque P, Koralnik IJ, Gerevini S, Miro JM, Price RW. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in HIV-1 infection. Lancet Infect Dis. 2009;9(10):625–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1473-3099(09)70226-9. Epub 2009/09/26. PubMed PMID: 19778765; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2919371.
- Mamidi A, DeSimone JA, Pomerantz RJ. Central nervous system infections in individuals with HIV-1 infection. J Neurovirol. 2002;8(3):158–67. https://doi. org/10.1080/13550280290049723. Epub 2002/06/08. PubMed PMID: 12053271.
- 54. Brahic M, Bureau JF, Michiels T. The genetics of the persistent infection and demyelinating disease caused by Theiler's virus. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2005;59:279–98. https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.59.030804.121242. Epub 2005/09/13. PubMed PMID: 16153171.
- Wucherpfennig KW, Strominger JL. Molecular mimicry in T cell-mediated autoimmunity: viral peptides activate human T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. Cell. 1995;80(5):695–705. Epub 1995/03/10. PubMed PMID: 7534214.
- Fujinami RS, Oldstone MB. Amino acid homology between the encephalitogenic site of myelin basic protein and virus: mechanism for autoimmunity. Science. 1985;230(4729):1043– 5. Epub 1985/11/29. PubMed PMID: 2414848.
- 57. Zheng MM, Zhang XH. Cross-reactivity between human cytomegalovirus peptide 981-1003 and myelin oligodendroglia glycoprotein peptide 35-55 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014;443(3):1118–23. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.12.122. Epub 2014/01/07. PubMed PMID: 24388990.
- Varrin-Doyer M, Spencer CM, Schulze-Topphoff U, Nelson PA, Stroud RM, Cree BA, et al. Aquaporin 4-specific T cells in neuromyelitis optica exhibit a Th17 bias and recognize Clostridium ABC transporter. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(1):53–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ana.23651. Epub 2012/07/19. PubMed PMID: 22807325; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3405197.
- Rodriguez Y, Rojas M, Pacheco Y, Acosta-Ampudia Y, Ramirez-Santana C, Monsalve DM, et al. Guillain-Barre syndrome, transverse myelitis and infectious diseases. Cell Mol Immunol. 2018;15(6):547–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2017.142. Epub 2018/01/30. PubMed PMID: 29375121; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6079071.
- Gebauer C, Pignolet B, Yshii L, Maure E, Bauer J, Liblau R. CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are both needed to induce paraneoplastic neurological disease in a mouse model. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(2):e1260212. Epub 2017/03/28. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1260212. PubMed PMID: 28344867; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5353919.
- 61. Sepulveda M, Sola-Valls N, Escudero D, Rojc B, Baron M, Hernandez-Echebarria L, et al. Clinical profile of patients with paraneoplastic neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder and aquaporin-4 antibodies. Mult Scler. 2018;24(13):1753–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458517731914. Epub 2017/09/19. PubMed PMID: 28920766; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5832634.
- Lucchinetti CF, Kimmel DW, Lennon VA. Paraneoplastic and oncologic profiles of patients seropositive for type 1 antineuronal nuclear autoantibodies. Neurology. 1998;50(3):652–7. Epub 1998/04/01. PubMed PMID: 9521251.
- Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Lennon VA. Anti-neuronal nuclear autoantibody type 2: paraneoplastic accompaniments. Ann Neurol. 2003;53(5):580–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.10518. Epub 2003/05/06. PubMed PMID: 12730991.
- Melzer N, Meuth SG, Wiendl H. Paraneoplastic and non-paraneoplastic autoimmunity to neurons in the central nervous system. J Neurol. 2013;260(5):1215–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-012-6657-5. Epub 2012/09/18. PubMed PMID: 22983427; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3642360.
- Hoftberger R, Rosenfeld MR, Dalmau J. Update on neurological paraneoplastic syndromes. Curr Opin Oncol. 2015;27(6):489–95. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCO.00000000000222. Epub 2015/09/04. PubMed PMID: 26335665; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4640358.

- Lancaster E, Dalmau J. Neuronal autoantigens pathogenesis, associated disorders and antibody testing. Nat Rev Neurol. 2012;8(7):380–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2012.99. Epub 2012/06/20. PubMed PMID: 22710628; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3718498.
- Boronat A, Sabater L, Saiz A, Dalmau J, Graus F. GABA(B) receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis and anti-GAD-associated neurologic disorders. Neurology. 2011;76(9):795– 800. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31820e7b8d. Epub 2011/03/02. PubMed PMID: 21357831; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3053332.
- Kuter K, Olech L, Glowacka U. Prolonged dysfunction of astrocytes and activation of microglia accelerate degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the rat substantia Nigra and block compensation of early motor dysfunction induced by 6-OHDA. Mol Neurobiol. 2018;55(4):3049–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-017-0529-z. Epub 2017/05/04. PubMed PMID: 28466266; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5842510.
- 69. Wang L, Popko B, Roos RP. An enhanced integrated stress response ameliorates mutant SOD1-induced ALS. Hum Mol Genet. 2014;23(10):2629–38. https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/ddt658. Epub 2013/12/26. PubMed PMID: 24368417; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3990163.
- Kruger R, Kuhn W, Muller T, Woitalla D, Graeber M, Kosel S, et al. Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Nat Genet. 1998;18(2):106–8. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ng0298-106. Epub 1998/02/14. PubMed PMID: 9462735.
- Jay TR, von Saucken VE, Landreth GE. TREM2 in neurodegenerative diseases. Mol Neurodegener. 2017;12(1):56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13024-017-0197-5. Epub 2017/08/05. PubMed PMID: 28768545; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5541421.
- 72. Morris G, Stubbs B, Kohler CA, Walder K, Slyepchenko A, Berk M, et al. The putative role of oxidative stress and inflammation in the pathophysiology of sleep dysfunction across neuropsychiatric disorders: focus on chronic fatigue syndrome, bipolar disorder and multiple sclerosis. Sleep Med Rev. 2018;41:255–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2018.03.007. Epub 2018/05/16. PubMed PMID: 29759891.
- Bhattacharya A, Derecki NC, Lovenberg TW, Drevets WC. Role of neuro-immunological factors in the pathophysiology of mood disorders. Psychopharmacology. 2016;233(9):1623–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-016-4214-0. Epub 2016/01/25. PubMed PMID: 26803500.
- Jones KA, Thomsen C. The role of the innate immune system in psychiatric disorders. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2013;53:52–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2012.10.002. Epub 2012/10/16. PubMed PMID: 23064447.
- Dvir Y, Ford JD, Hill M, Frazier JA. Childhood maltreatment, emotional dysregulation, and psychiatric comorbidities. Harv Rev Psychiatry. 2014;22(3):149–61. https://doi.org/10.1097/ HRP.0000000000000014. Epub 2014/04/08. PubMed PMID: 24704784; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4091823.
- Bland P. Depression in adults linked to maltreatment in childhood. Practitioner. 2017;261(1802):7. Epub 2017/11/16. PubMed PMID: 29139275.
- Aaltonen KI, Rosenstrom T, Baryshnikov I, Karpov B, Melartin T, Suominen K, et al. Mediating role of borderline personality disorder traits in the effects of childhood maltreatment on suicidal behaviour among mood disorder patients. Eur Psychiatry. 2017;44:53–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.03.011. Epub 2017/05/26. PubMed PMID: 28545009.
- Jeltsch-David H, Muller S. Autoimmunity, neuroinflammation, pathogen load: a decisive crosstalk in neuropsychiatric SLE. J Autoimmun. 2016;74:13–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaut.2016.04.005. Epub 2016/10/26. PubMed PMID: 27137989.
- Chastain EM, Miller SD. Molecular mimicry as an inducing trigger for CNS autoimmune demyelinating disease. Immunol Rev. 2012;245(1):227–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01076.x. Epub 2011/12/16. PubMed PMID: 22168423; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3586283.
- Wandinger K, Jabs W, Siekhaus A, Bubel S, Trillenberg P, Wagner H, et al. Association between clinical disease activity and Epstein-Barr virus reactivation in MS. Neurology. 2000;55(2):178–84. Epub 2000/07/26. PubMed PMID: 10908887.

- Sonar SA, Lal G. Differentiation and transmigration of CD4 T cells in neuroinflammation and autoimmunity. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1695. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01695. Epub 2017/12/15. PubMed PMID: 29238350; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5712560.
- Braniste V, Al-Asmakh M, Kowal C, Anuar F, Abbaspour A, Toth M, et al. The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(263):263ra158. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3009759. Epub 2014/11/21. PubMed PMID: 25411471; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4396848.
- Saijo K, Glass CK. Microglial cell origin and phenotypes in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(11):775–87. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3086. PubMed PMID: 22025055.
- Singh S, Metz I, Amor S, van der Valk P, Stadelmann C, Bruck W. Microglial nodules in early multiple sclerosis white matter are associated with degenerating axons. Acta Neuropathol. 2013;125(4):595–608. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1082-0. Epub 2013/01/29. PubMed PMID: 23354834; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3611040.
- Murphy AC, Lalor SJ, Lynch MA, Mills KH. Infiltration of Th1 and Th17 cells and activation of microglia in the CNS during the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Brain Behav Immun. 2010;24(4):641–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2010.01.014. PubMed PMID: 20138983.
- 86. Kwong B, Rua R, Gao Y, Flickinger J Jr, Wang Y, Kruhlak MJ, et al. T-bet-dependent NKp46(+) innate lymphoid cells regulate the onset of TH17-induced neuroinflammation. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(10):1117–27. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3816. Epub 2017/08/15. PubMed PMID: 28805812; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5605431.
- Pikor NB, Astarita JL, Summers-Deluca L, Galicia G, Qu J, Ward LA, et al. Integration of Th17- and lymphotoxin-derived signals initiates meningeal-resident stromal cell remodeling to propagate neuroinflammation. Immunity. 2015;43(6):1160–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. immuni.2015.11.010. Epub 2015/12/20. PubMed PMID: 26682987.
- Pikor NB, Prat A, Bar-Or A, Gommerman JL. Meningeal tertiary lymphoid tissues and multiple sclerosis: a gathering place for diverse types of immune cells during CNS autoimmunity. Front Immunol. 2015;6:657. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00657. Epub 2016/01/23. PubMed PMID: 26793195; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4710700.
- Sonar SA, Shaikh S, Joshi N, Atre AN, Lal G. IFN-gamma promotes transendothelial migration of CD4(+) T cells across the blood-brain barrier. Immunol Cell Biol. 2017;95(9):843–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2017.56. Epub 2017/07/07. PubMed PMID: 28682305.
- Sonar S, Lal G. Role of tumor necrosis factor superfamily in neuroinflammation and autoimmunity. Front Immunol. 2015;6:364. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00364. Epub 2015/08/11. PubMed PMID: 26257732; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4507150.
- Jager A, Dardalhon V, Sobel RA, Bettelli E, Kuchroo VK. Th1, Th17, and Th9 effector cells induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with different pathological phenotypes. J Immunol. 2009;183(11):7169–77. PubMed PMID: 19890056.
- Ronchi F, Basso C, Preite S, Reboldi A, Baumjohann D, Perlini L, et al. Experimental priming of encephalitogenic Th1/Th17 cells requires pertussis toxin-driven IL-1beta production by myeloid cells. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11541. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11541. Epub 2016/05/18. PubMed PMID: 27189410; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4873938.
- Kebir H, Ifergan I, Alvarez JI, Bernard M, Poirier J, Arbour N, et al. Preferential recruitment of interferon-gamma-expressing TH17 cells in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(3):390–402. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21748. PubMed PMID: 19810097.
- 94. Abromson-Leeman S, Bronson RT, Dorf ME. Encephalitogenic T cells that stably express both T-bet and ROR gamma t consistently produce IFNgamma but have a spectrum of IL-17 profiles. J Neuroimmunol. 2009;215(1–2):10–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2009.07.007. PubMed PMID: 19692128; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2761534.
- Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(6):560–7. https://doi. org/10.1038/ni.2027. PubMed PMID: 21516112.

- 96. Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M, Hornsby E, Li Y, Cua DJ, et al. Fate mapping of IL-17producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(3):255–63. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ni.1993. Epub 2011/02/01. PubMed PMID: 21278737; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3040235.
- Ghoreschi K, Laurence A, Yang XP, Hirahara K, O'Shea JJ. T helper 17 cell heterogeneity and pathogenicity in autoimmune disease. Trends Immunol. 2011;32(9):395–401. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.it.2011.06.007. Epub 2011/07/26. PubMed PMID: 21782512; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3163735.
- Malik S, Want MY, Awasthi A. The emerging roles of gamma-delta T cells in tissue inflammation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Front Immunol. 2016;7:14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00014. PubMed PMID: 26858718; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4731487.
- Stromnes IM, Cerretti LM, Liggitt D, Harris RA, Goverman JM. Differential regulation of central nervous system autoimmunity by T(H)1 and T(H)17 cells. Nat Med. 2008;14(3):337– 42. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1715. Epub 2008/02/19. PubMed PMID: 18278054; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2813727.
- 100. Kroenke MA, Carlson TJ, Andjelkovic AV, Segal BM. IL-12- and IL-23-modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. J Exp Med. 2008;205(7):1535–41. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20080159. PubMed PMID: 18573909; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2442630.
- 101. Korn T, Kallies A. T cell responses in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017;17(3):179–94. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.144. Epub 2017/02/01. PubMed PMID: 28138136.
- 102. Kara EE, McKenzie DR, Bastow CR, Gregor CE, Fenix KA, Ogunniyi AD, et al. CCR2 defines in vivo development and homing of IL-23-driven GM-CSF-producing Th17 cells. Nat Commun. 2015;6:8644. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9644. PubMed PMID: 26511769; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4639903.
- 103. Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science. 2003;299(5609):1057–61. PubMed PMID: 12522256.
- 104. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(4):330–6. PubMed PMID: 12612578.
- 105. Sethi A, Kulkarni N, Sonar S, Lal G. Role of miRNAs in CD4 T cell plasticity during inflammation and tolerance. Front Genet. 2013;4:8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2013.00008. Epub 2013/02/07. PubMed PMID: 23386861; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3560369.
- 106. Lal G, Zhang N, van der Touw W, Ding Y, Ju W, Bottinger EP, et al. Epigenetic regulation of Foxp3 expression in regulatory T cells by DNA methylation. J Immunol. 2009;182(1):259– 73. PubMed PMID: 19109157.
- 107. Lal G, Yin N, Xu J, Lin M, Schroppel S, Ding Y, et al. Distinct inflammatory signals have physiologically divergent effects on epigenetic regulation of foxp3 expression and treg function. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(2):203–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03389.x. Epub 2011/01/12. PubMed PMID: 21219575.
- 108. Kulkarni N, Sonar SA, Lal G. Plasticity of Th17 and Tregs and its clinical importance as therapeutic target in inflammatory bowel disease. Indian J Inflamm Res. 2018;1(1):R2.
- 109. Cassan C, Piaggio E, Zappulla JP, Mars LT, Couturier N, Bucciarelli F, et al. Pertussis toxin reduces the number of splenic Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2006;177(3):1552–60. PubMed PMID: 16849462.
- 110. Chen X, Winkler-Pickett RT, Carbonetti NH, Ortaldo JR, Oppenheim JJ, Howard OM. Pertussis toxin as an adjuvant suppresses the number and function of CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. Eur J Immunol. 2006;36(3):671–80. PubMed PMID: 16479542.
- 111. Chen X, Howard OM, Oppenheim JJ. Pertussis toxin by inducing IL-6 promotes the generation of IL-17-producing CD4 cells. J Immunol. 2007;178(10):6123–9. PubMed PMID: 17475838.
- 112. Villares R, Cadenas V, Lozano M, Almonacid L, Zaballos A, Martinez AC, et al. CCR6 regulates EAE pathogenesis by controlling regulatory CD4+ T-cell recruitment to target tis-

sues. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(6):1671–81. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200839123. PubMed PMID: 19499521.

- 113. Peelen E, Damoiseaux J, Smolders J, Knippenberg S, Menheere P, Tervaert JW, et al. Th17 expansion in MS patients is counterbalanced by an expanded CD39+ regulatory T cell population during remission but not during relapse. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;240–241:97–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.09.013. Epub 2011/11/01. PubMed PMID: 22035960.
- 114. Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. Loss of functional suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med. 2004;199(7):971–9. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20031579. Epub 2004/04/07. PubMed PMID: 15067033; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2211881.
- 115. Korn T, Reddy J, Gao W, Bettelli E, Awasthi A, Petersen TR, et al. Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. Nat Med. 2007;13(4):423–31. PubMed PMID: 17384649.
- 116. Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A, Lassmann H, Goebels N, Hohlfeld R, et al. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. J Exp Med. 2000;192(3):393–404. Epub 2000/08/10. PubMed PMID: 10934227; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2193223.
- 117. Schwab N, Bien CG, Waschbisch A, Becker A, Vince GH, Dornmair K, et al. CD8+ T-cell clones dominate brain infiltrates in Rasmussen encephalitis and persist in the periphery. Brain J Neurol. 2009;132(Pt 5):1236–46. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awp003. Epub 2009/01/31. PubMed PMID: 19179379.
- 118. Schneider-Hohendorf T, Mohan H, Bien CG, Breuer J, Becker A, Gorlich D, et al. CD8(+) T-cell pathogenicity in Rasmussen encephalitis elucidated by large-scale T-cell receptor sequencing. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11153. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11153. Epub 2016/04/05. PubMed PMID: 27040081; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4822013.
- 119. Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, et al. Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol. 2008;172(1):146–55. https://doi.org/10.2353/ ajpath.2008.070690. Epub 2007/12/25. PubMed PMID: 18156204; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2189615.
- Intlekofer AM, Banerjee A, Takemoto N, Gordon SM, Dejong CS, Shin H, et al. Anomalous type 17 response to viral infection by CD8+ T cells lacking T-bet and eomesodermin. Science. 2008;321(5887):408–11. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1159806. Epub 2008/07/19. PubMed PMID: 18635804; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2807624.
- 121. Huber M, Heink S, Pagenstecher A, Reinhard K, Ritter J, Visekruna A, et al. IL-17A secretion by CD8+ T cells supports Th17-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(1):247–60. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI63681. Epub 2012/12/12. PubMed PMID: 23221338; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3533283.
- 122. Quintana E, Fernandez A, Velasco P, de Andres B, Liste I, Sancho D, et al. DNGR-1(+) dendritic cells are located in meningeal membrane and choroid plexus of the noninjured brain. Glia. 2015;63(12):2231–48. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22889. Epub 2015/07/18. PubMed PMID: 26184558.
- 123. Prodinger C, Bunse J, Kruger M, Schiefenhovel F, Brandt C, Laman JD, et al. CD11cexpressing cells reside in the juxtavascular parenchyma and extend processes into the glia limitans of the mouse nervous system. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;121(4):445–58. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00401-010-0774-y. Epub 2010/11/16. PubMed PMID: 21076838.
- 124. Greter M, Heppner FL, Lemos MP, Odermatt BM, Goebels N, Laufer T, et al. Dendritic cells permit immune invasion of the CNS in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Nat Med. 2005;11(3):328–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1197. Epub 2005/03/01. PubMed PMID: 15735653.

- 125. McMahon EJ, Bailey SL, Castenada CV, Waldner H, Miller SD. Epitope spreading initiates in the CNS in two mouse models of multiple sclerosis. Nat Med. 2005;11(3):335–9. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nm1202. Epub 2005/03/01. PubMed PMID: 15735651.
- 126. den Haan JM, Lehar SM, Bevan MJ. CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross-prime cytotoxic T cells in vivo. J Exp Med. 2000;192(12):1685–96. Epub 2000/12/20. PubMed PMID: 11120766; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2213493.
- 127. Yogev N, Frommer F, Lukas D, Kautz-Neu K, Karram K, Ielo D, et al. Dendritic cells ameliorate autoimmunity in the CNS by controlling the homeostasis of PD-1 receptor(+) regulatory T cells. Immunity. 2012;37(2):264–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.025. PubMed PMID: 22902234.
- 128. Bailey SL, Schreiner B, McMahon EJ, Miller SD. CNS myeloid DCs presenting endogenous myelin peptides 'preferentially' polarize CD4+ T (H)-17 cells in relapsing EAE. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(2):172–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1430. Epub 2007/01/09. PubMed PMID: 17206145.
- 129. King IL, Dickendesher TL, Segal BM. Circulating Ly-6C+ myeloid precursors migrate to the CNS and play a pathogenic role during autoimmune demyelinating disease. Blood. 2009;113(14):3190–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-07-168575. Epub 2009/02/07. PubMed PMID: 19196868; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2665891.
- 130. Irla M, Kupfer N, Suter T, Lissilaa R, Benkhoucha M, Skupsky J, et al. MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation by plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibits T cellmediated autoimmunity. J Exp Med. 2010;207(9):1891–905. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20092627. Epub 2010/08/11. PubMed PMID: 20696698; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2931160.
- 131. Bailey-Bucktrout SL, Caulkins SC, Goings G, Fischer JA, Dzionek A, Miller SD. Cutting edge: central nervous system plasmacytoid dendritic cells regulate the severity of relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2008;180(10):6457–61. Epub 2008/05/06. PubMed PMID: 18453561; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2846244.
- 132. Ji Q, Castelli L, Goverman JM. MHC class I-restricted myelin epitopes are cross-presented by Tip-DCs that promote determinant spreading to CD8(+) T cells. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(3):254–61. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2513. Epub 2013/01/08. PubMed PMID: 23291597; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3581685.
- 133. Duraes FV, Lippens C, Steinbach K, Dubrot J, Brighouse D, Bendriss-Vermare N, et al. pDC therapy induces recovery from EAE by recruiting endogenous pDC to sites of CNS inflammation. J Autoimmun. 2016;67:8–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2015.08.014. PubMed PMID: 26341385; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4758828.
- 134. Link H, Huang YM. Oligoclonal bands in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid: an update on methodology and clinical usefulness. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;180(1–2):17–28. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.07.006. Epub 2006/09/02. PubMed PMID: 16945427.
- Mathey EK, Derfuss T, Storch MK, Williams KR, Hales K, Woolley DR, et al. Neurofascin as a novel target for autoantibody-mediated axonal injury. J Exp Med. 2007;204(10):2363– 72. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20071053. Epub 2007/09/12. PubMed PMID: 17846150; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2118456.
- 136. Lehmann-Horn K, Kinzel S, Weber MS. Deciphering the role of B cells in multiple sclerosistowards specific targeting of pathogenic function. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(10). https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms18102048. Epub 2017/09/28. PubMed PMID: 28946620; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5666730.
- Staun-Ram E, Miller A. Effector and regulatory B cells in multiple sclerosis. Clin Immunol. 2017;184:11–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2017.04.014. Epub 2017/05/04. PubMed PMID: 28461106.
- 138. Waters P, Jarius S, Littleton E, Leite MI, Jacob S, Gray B, et al. Aquaporin-4 antibodies in neuromyelitis optica and longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis. Arch Neurol. 2008;65(7):913–9. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.65.7.913. Epub 2008/07/16. PubMed PMID: 18625857.

- 139. Yick LW, Ma OK, Ng RC, Kwan JS, Chan KH. Aquaporin-4 autoantibodies from neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder patients induce complement-independent immunopathologies in mice. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1438. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01438. Epub 2018/07/11. PubMed PMID: 29988553; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6026644.
- 140. Hinson SR, Romero MF, Popescu BF, Lucchinetti CF, Fryer JP, Wolburg H, et al. Molecular outcomes of neuromyelitis optica (NMO)-IgG binding to aquaporin-4 in astrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(4):1245–50. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1109980108. Epub 2011/12/01. PubMed PMID: 22128336; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3268278.
- 141. Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Brill L, Kassis I, Petrou P, Ovadia H, Ben-Hur T, et al. T-cell responses to distinct AQP4 peptides in patients with neuromyelitis optica (NMO). Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2016;6:28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2015.12.004. Epub 2016/04/12. PubMed PMID: 27063619.
- 142. Kothur K, Wienholt L, Tantsis EM, Earl J, Bandodkar S, Prelog K, et al. B cell, Th17, and neutrophil related cerebrospinal fluid cytokine/chemokines are elevated in MOG antibody associated demyelination. PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0149411. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149411. Epub 2016/02/27. PubMed PMID: 26919719; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4769285.
- 143. Pohl-Koppe A, Burchett SK, Thiele EA, Hafler DA. Myelin basic protein reactive Th2 T cells are found in acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. 1998;91(1–2):19–27. Epub 1998/12/10. PubMed PMID: 9846815.
- 144. Manto M, Honnorat J, Hampe CS, Guerra-Narbona R, Lopez-Ramos JC, Delgado-Garcia JM, et al. Disease-specific monoclonal antibodies targeting glutamate decarboxylase impair GABAergic neurotransmission and affect motor learning and behavioral functions. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:78. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00078. Epub 2015/04/15. PubMed PMID: 25870548; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4375997.
- 145. Skorstad G, Hestvik AL, Vartdal F, Holmoy T. Cerebrospinal fluid T cell responses against glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 in patients with stiff person syndrome. J Autoimmun. 2009;32(1):24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2008.10.002. Epub 2008/11/26. PubMed PMID: 19027267.
- 146. Dalmau J, Gleichman AJ, Hughes EG, Rossi JE, Peng X, Lai M, et al. Anti-NMDAreceptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(12):1091–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70224-2. Epub 2008/10/15. PubMed PMID: 18851928; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2607118.
- 147. Hughes EG, Peng X, Gleichman AJ, Lai M, Zhou L, Tsou R, et al. Cellular and synaptic mechanisms of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2010;30(17):5866–75. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0167-10.2010. Epub 2010/04/30. PubMed PMID: 20427647; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2868315.
- 148. Lai M, Hughes EG, Peng X, Zhou L, Gleichman AJ, Shu H, et al. AMPA receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis alter synaptic receptor location. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(4):424–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21589. Epub 2009/04/02. PubMed PMID: 19338055; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2677127.
- 149. Ohkawa T, Satake S, Yokoi N, Miyazaki Y, Ohshita T, Sobue G, et al. Identification and characterization of GABA(A) receptor autoantibodies in autoimmune encephalitis. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2014;34(24):8151–63. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4415-13.2014. Epub 2014/06/13. PubMed PMID: 24920620.
- 150. Moscato EH, Peng X, Jain A, Parsons TD, Dalmau J, Balice-Gordon RJ. Acute mechanisms underlying antibody effects in anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2014;76(1):108–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24195. Epub 2014/06/12. PubMed PMID: 24916964; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4296347.
- 151. Peng X, Hughes EG, Moscato EH, Parsons TD, Dalmau J, Balice-Gordon RJ. Cellular plasticity induced by anti-alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor encephalitis antibodies. Ann Neurol. 2015;77(3):381–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ana.24293. Epub 2014/11/05. PubMed PMID: 25369168; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4365686.

- 152. Ohkawa T, Fukata Y, Yamasaki M, Miyazaki T, Yokoi N, Takashima H, et al. Autoantibodies to epilepsy-related LGI1 in limbic encephalitis neutralize LGI1-ADAM22 interaction and reduce synaptic AMPA receptors. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2013;33(46):18161–74. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3506-13.2013. Epub 2013/11/15. PubMed PMID: 24227725; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3828467.
- 153. Carvajal-Gonzalez A, Leite MI, Waters P, Woodhall M, Coutinho E, Balint B, et al. Glycine receptor antibodies in PERM and related syndromes: characteristics, clinical features and outcomes. Brain J Neurol. 2014;137(Pt 8):2178–92. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awu142. Epub 2014/06/22. PubMed PMID: 24951641; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4107739.
- 154. Klein RS, Hunter CA. Protective and pathological immunity during central nervous system infections. Immunity. 2017;46(6):891–909. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.012. Epub 2017/06/22. PubMed PMID: 28636958.
- 155. Coureuil M, Lecuyer H, Scott MG, Boularan C, Enslen H, Soyer M, et al. Meningococcus Hijacks a beta2-adrenoceptor/beta-Arrestin pathway to cross brain microvasculature endothelium. Cell. 2010;143(7):1149–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.035. Epub 2010/12/25. PubMed PMID: 21183077.
- 156. Tripathi AK, Sha W, Shulaev V, Stins MF, Sullivan DJ Jr. Plasmodium falciparum-infected erythrocytes induce NF-kappaB regulated inflammatory pathways in human cerebral endothelium. Blood. 2009;114(19):4243–52. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-06-226415. Epub 2009/08/29. PubMed PMID: 19713460; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2925626.
- 157. Reinert LS, Lopusna K, Winther H, Sun C, Thomsen MK, Nandakumar R, et al. Sensing of HSV-1 by the cGAS-STING pathway in microglia orchestrates antiviral defence in the CNS. Nat Commun. 2016;7:13348. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13348. Epub 2016/11/11. PubMed PMID: 27830700; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5109551.
- 158. Mukherjee P, Woods TA, Moore RA, Peterson KE. Activation of the innate signaling molecule MAVS by bunyavirus infection upregulates the adaptor protein SARM1, leading to neuronal death. Immunity. 2013;38(4):705–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.013. Epub 2013/03/19. PubMed PMID: 23499490; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4783152.
- 159. Louveau A, Herz J, Alme MN, Salvador AF, Dong MQ, Viar KE, et al. CNS lymphatic drainage and neuroinflammation are regulated by meningeal lymphatic vasculature. Nat Neurosci. 2018;21(10):1380–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0227-9. Epub 2018/09/19. PubMed PMID: 30224810.
- Durrant DM, Robinette ML, Klein RS. IL-1R1 is required for dendritic cell-mediated T cell reactivation within the CNS during West Nile virus encephalitis. J Exp Med. 2013;210(3):503– 16. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20121897. Epub 2013/03/06. PubMed PMID: 23460727; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3600909.
- 161. Kim JV, Kang SS, Dustin ML, McGavern DB. Myelomonocytic cell recruitment causes fatal CNS vascular injury during acute viral meningitis. Nature. 2009;457(7226):191–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07591. Epub 2008/11/18. PubMed PMID: 19011611; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2702264.
- 162. Wakim LM, Woodward-Davis A, Bevan MJ. Memory T cells persisting within the brain after local infection show functional adaptations to their tissue of residence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(42):17872–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1010201107. Epub 2010/10/07. PubMed PMID: 20923878; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2964240.
- 163. Trandem K, Zhao J, Fleming E, Perlman S. Highly activated cytotoxic CD8 T cells express protective IL-10 at the peak of coronavirus-induced encephalitis. J Immunol. 2011;186(6):3642–52. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1003292. Epub 2011/02/15. PubMed PMID: 21317392; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3063297.
- 164. Stumhofer JS, Laurence A, Wilson EH, Huang E, Tato CM, Johnson LM, et al. Interleukin 27 negatively regulates the development of interleukin 17-producing T helper cells during chronic inflammation of the central nervous system. Nat Immunol. 2006;7(9):937–45. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ni1376. Epub 2006/08/15. PubMed PMID: 16906166.

- 165. Zhao J, Zhao J, Perlman S. Virus-specific regulatory T cells ameliorate encephalitis by repressing effector T cell functions from priming to effector stages. PLoS Pathog. 2014;10(8):e1004279. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004279. Epub 2014/08/08. PubMed PMID: 25102154; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4125232.
- 166. Yuki N, Susuki K, Koga M, Nishimoto Y, Odaka M, Hirata K, et al. Carbohydrate mimicry between human ganglioside GM1 and Campylobacter jejuni lipooligosaccharide causes Guillain-Barre syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(31):11404–9. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0402391101. Epub 2004/07/28. PubMed PMID: 15277677; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC509213.
- 167. Avril T, Wagner ER, Willison HJ, Crocker PR. Sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectin 7 mediates selective recognition of sialylated glycans expressed on Campylobacter jejuni lipooligosaccharides. Infect Immun. 2006;74(7):4133–41. https://doi.org/10.1128/ IAI.02094-05. Epub 2006/06/23. PubMed PMID: 16790787; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1489752.
- 168. Jung S, Zimmer S, Luneberg E, Frosch M, Karch H, Korn T, et al. Lipooligosaccharide of Campylobacter jejuni prevents myelin-specific enteral tolerance to autoimmune neuritis – a potential mechanism in Guillain-Barre syndrome? Neurosci Lett. 2005;381(1–2):175–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2005.02.028. Epub 2005/05/11. PubMed PMID: 15882812.
- 169. Wakerley BR, Yuki N. Infectious and noninfectious triggers in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2013;9(7):627–39. https://doi.org/10.1586/17446 66X.2013.811119. Epub 2013/08/01. PubMed PMID: 23899233.
- 170. Cooper JC, Hughes S, Ben-Smith A, Savage CO, Winer JB. T cell recognition of a nonprotein antigen preparation of Campylobacter jejuni in patients with Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;72(3):413–4. Epub 2002/02/28. PubMed PMID: 11861714; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1737765.
- 171. Wang X, Zheng XY, Ma C, Wang XK, Wu J, Adem A, et al. Mitigated Tregs and augmented Th17 cells and cytokines are associated with severity of experimental autoimmune neuritis. Scand J Immunol. 2014;80(3):180–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/sji.12201. Epub 2014/06/10. PubMed PMID: 24910360.
- 172. Ambrosius B, Pitarokoili K, Schrewe L, Pedreiturria X, Motte J, Gold R. Fingolimod attenuates experimental autoimmune neuritis and contributes to Schwann cell-mediated axonal protection. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14(1):92. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-017-0864-z. Epub 2017/04/28. PubMed PMID: 28446186; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5406994.
- 173. Fagone P, Mazzon E, Chikovani T, Saraceno A, Mammana S, Colletti G, et al. Decitabine induces regulatory T cells, inhibits the production of IFN-gamma and IL-17 and exerts preventive and therapeutic efficacy in rodent experimental autoimmune neuritis. J Neuroimmunol. 2018;321:41–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.05.013. Epub 2018/06/30. PubMed PMID: 29957387.
- 174. Nakamura K, Irie S, Kanazawa N, Saito T, Tamai Y. Anti-GM2 antibodies in Guillain-Barre syndrome with acute cytomegalovirus infection. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1998;845:423. Epub 1998/07/21. PubMed PMID: 9668386.
- 175. Pangault C, Le Tulzo Y, Minjolle S, Le Page E, Sebti Y, Guilloux V, et al. HLA-G expression in Guillain-Barre syndrome is associated with primary infection with cytomegalovirus. Viral Immunol. 2004;17(1):123–5. https://doi.org/10.1089/088282404322875520. Epub 2004/03/17. PubMed PMID: 15018669.
- 176. Schnorf H, Rathgeb JP, Kohler A. Anti-GQ1b-positive Miller Fisher syndrome in a patient with acute Epstein-Barr virus infection and negative Campylobacter serology. Eur Neurol. 1998;40(3):177. Epub 1999/02/20. PubMed PMID: 10026022.
- 177. Maurissen I, Jeurissen A, Strauven T, Sprengers D, De Schepper B. First case of antiganglioside GM1-positive Guillain-Barre syndrome due to hepatitis E virus infection. Infection. 2012;40(3):323–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s15010-011-0185-6. Epub 2011/08/31. PubMed PMID: 21877179.
- 178. Kornreich L, Shkalim-Zemer V, Levinsky Y, Abdallah W, Ganelin-Cohen E, Straussberg R. Acute Cerebellitis in children: a many-faceted disease. J Child Neurol. 2016;31(8):991–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073816634860. Epub 2016/03/11. PubMed PMID: 26961264.

- Desai J, Mitchell WG. Acute cerebellar ataxia, acute cerebellitis, and opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome. J Child Neurol. 2012;27(11):1482–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073812450318. Epub 2012/07/19. PubMed PMID: 22805251.
- 180. Melms A, Luther C, Stoeckle C, Poschel S, Schroth P, Varga M, et al. Thymus and myasthenia gravis: antigen processing in the human thymus and the consequences for the generation of autoreactive T cells. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl. 2006;183:12–3. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1600-0404.2006.00636.x. Epub 2006/04/28. PubMed PMID: 16637920.
- 181. Nagvekar N, Moody AM, Moss P, Roxanis I, Curnow J, Beeson D, et al. A pathogenetic role for the thymoma in myasthenia gravis. Autosensitization of IL-4- producing T cell clones recognizing extracellular acetylcholine receptor epitopes presented by minority class II isotypes. J Clin Invest. 1998;101(10):2268–77. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI2068. Epub 1998/05/29. PubMed PMID: 9593783; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC508815.
- 182. Alvarez Arias DA, Kim HJ, Zhou P, Holderried TA, Wang X, Dranoff G, et al. Disruption of CD8+ Treg activity results in expansion of T follicular helper cells and enhanced antitumor immunity. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(3):207–16. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-13-0121. Epub 2014/04/30. PubMed PMID: 24778317; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4217219.
- 183. McKeon A, Pittock SJ. Paraneoplastic encephalomyelopathies: pathology and mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;122(4):381–400. https://doi.org/10.10007/s00401-011-0876-1. Epub 2011/09/23. PubMed PMID: 21938556.
- Barile-Fabris L, Hernandez-Cabrera MF, Barragan-Garfias JA. Vasculitis in systemic lupus erythematosus. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2014;16(9):440. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-014-0440-9. Epub 2014/07/16. PubMed PMID: 25023725.
- 185. Wu F, Liu L, Zhou H. Endothelial cell activation in central nervous system inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. 2017;101(5):1119–32. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.3RU0816-352RR. Epub 2017/02/16. PubMed PMID: 28196850.
- 186. Argaw AT, Asp L, Zhang J, Navrazhina K, Pham T, Mariani JN, et al. Astrocyte-derived VEGF-A drives blood-brain barrier disruption in CNS inflammatory disease. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(7):2454–68. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI60842. Epub 2012/06/02. PubMed PMID: 22653056; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3386814.
- 187. Ohlin KE, Francardo V, Lindgren HS, Sillivan SE, O'Sullivan SS, Luksik AS, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor is upregulated by L-dopa in the parkinsonian brain: implications for the development of dyskinesia. Brain J Neurol. 2011;134(Pt 8):2339–57. https://doi. org/10.1093/brain/awr165. Epub 2011/07/21. PubMed PMID: 21771855; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3155708.
- 188. LeWitt PA, Hauser RA, Pahwa R, Isaacson SH, Fernandez HH, Lew M, et al. Safety and efficacy of CVT-301 (levodopa inhalation powder) on motor function during off periods in patients with Parkinson's disease: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2019;18(2):145–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30405-8. Epub 2019/01/22. PubMed PMID: 30663606.
- 189. Birukova AA, Zagranichnaya T, Fu P, Alekseeva E, Chen W, Jacobson JR, et al. Prostaglandins PGE(2) and PGI(2) promote endothelial barrier enhancement via PKA- and Epac1/Rap1dependent Rac activation. Exp Cell Res. 2007;313(11):2504–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yexcr.2007.03.036. Epub 2007/05/12. PubMed PMID: 17493609; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1974901.
- 190. Heneka MT, Kummer MP, Latz E. Innate immune activation in neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(7):463–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3705. Epub 2014/06/26. PubMed PMID: 24962261.
- 191. Hollingworth P, Harold D, Sims R, Gerrish A, Lambert JC, Carrasquillo MM, et al. Common variants at ABCA7, MS4A6A/MS4A4E, EPHA1, CD33 and CD2AP are associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet. 2011;43(5):429–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.803. Epub 2011/04/05. PubMed PMID: 21460840; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3084173.
- 192. Hirsch EC, Hunot S. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: a target for neuroprotection? Lancet Neurol. 2009;8(4):382–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70062-6. Epub 2009/03/20. PubMed PMID: 19296921.

- 193. Rayaprolu S, Mullen B, Baker M, Lynch T, Finger E, Seeley WW, et al. TREM2 in neurodegeneration: evidence for association of the p.R47H variant with frontotemporal dementia and Parkinson's disease. Mol Neurodegener. 2013;8:19. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-8-19. Epub 2013/06/27. PubMed PMID: 23800361; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3691612.
- 194. Linnartz-Gerlach B, Bodea LG, Klaus C, Ginolhac A, Halder R, Sinkkonen L, et al. TREM2 triggers microglial density and age-related neuronal loss. Glia. 2019;67(3):539–50. https:// doi.org/10.1002/glia.23563. Epub 2018/12/15. PubMed PMID: 30548312.
- 195. Strowig T, Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Flavell R. Inflammasomes in health and disease. Nature. 2012;481(7381):278–86. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10759. Epub 2012/01/20. PubMed PMID: 22258606.
- 196. Shastri A, Bonifati DM, Kishore U. Innate immunity and neuroinflammation. Mediat Inflamm. 2013;2013:342931. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/342931. Epub 2013/07/12. PubMed PMID: 23843682; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3697414.
- 197. Jonsson T, Stefansson H, Steinberg S, Jonsdottir I, Jonsson PV, Snaedal J, et al. Variant of TREM2 associated with the risk of Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(2):107–16. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1211103. Epub 2012/11/16. PubMed PMID: 23150908; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3677583.
- 198. Heneka MT, Kummer MP, Stutz A, Delekate A, Schwartz S, Vieira-Saecker A, et al. NLRP3 is activated in Alzheimer's disease and contributes to pathology in APP/PS1 mice. Nature. 2013;493(7434):674–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11729. Epub 2012/12/21. PubMed PMID: 23254930; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3812809.
- 199. Noelker C, Morel L, Lescot T, Osterloh A, Alvarez-Fischer D, Breloer M, et al. Toll like receptor 4 mediates cell death in a mouse MPTP model of Parkinson disease. Sci Rep. 2013;3:1393. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep01393. Epub 2013/03/07. PubMed PMID: 23462811; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3589722.
- 200. Frakes AE, Ferraiuolo L, Haidet-Phillips AM, Schmelzer L, Braun L, Miranda CJ, et al. Microglia induce motor neuron death via the classical NF-kappaB pathway in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neuron. 2014;81(5):1009–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.013. Epub 2014/03/13. PubMed PMID: 24607225; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3978641.
- 201. Kefalakes E, Boselt S, Sarikidi A, Ettcheto M, Bursch F, Naujock M, et al. Characterizing the multiple roles of FGF-2 in SOD1(G93A) ALS mice in vivo and in vitro. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234(5):7395–410. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.27498. Epub 2018/10/30. PubMed PMID: 30370540.
- 202. Grottelli S, Mezzasoma L, Scarpelli P, Cacciatore I, Cellini B, Bellezza I. Cyclo(His-Pro) inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome cascade in ALS microglial cells. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2019;94:23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2018.11.002. Epub 2018/11/16. PubMed PMID: 30439413.
- 203. Schutz B, Reimann J, Dumitrescu-Ozimek L, Kappes-Horn K, Landreth GE, Schurmann B, et al. The oral antidiabetic pioglitazone protects from neurodegeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-like symptoms in superoxide dismutase-G93A transgenic mice. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci. 2005;25(34):7805–12. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2038-05.2005. Epub 2005/08/27. PubMed PMID: 16120782.
- 204. Kiaei M, Kipiani K, Chen J, Calingasan NY, Beal MF. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist extends survival in transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Exp Neurol. 2005;191(2):331–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.10.007. Epub 2005/01/15. PubMed PMID: 15649489.
- 205. Singhrao SK, Neal JW, Morgan BP, Gasque P. Increased complement biosynthesis by microglia and complement activation on neurons in Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol. 1999;159(2):362–76. https://doi.org/10.1006/exnr.1999.7170. Epub 1999/10/03. PubMed PMID: 10506508.
- 206. Palazuelos J, Aguado T, Pazos MR, Julien B, Carrasco C, Resel E, et al. Microglial CB2 cannabinoid receptors are neuroprotective in Huntington's disease excitotoxicity. Brain J Neurol. 2009;132(Pt 11):3152–64. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awp239. Epub 2009/10/07. PubMed PMID: 19805493.

- 207. Bradford J, Shin JY, Roberts M, Wang CE, Li XJ, Li S. Expression of mutant huntingtin in mouse brain astrocytes causes age-dependent neurological symptoms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(52):22480–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0911503106. Epub 2009/12/19. PubMed PMID: 20018729; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2799722.
- 208. Shin JY, Fang ZH, Yu ZX, Wang CE, Li SH, Li XJ. Expression of mutant huntingtin in glial cells contributes to neuronal excitotoxicity. J Cell Biol. 2005;171(6):1001–12. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200508072. Epub 2005/12/21. PubMed PMID: 16365166; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2171327.
- 209. Mosley RL. Adaptive immunity in neurodegenerative and neuropsychological disorders. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2015;10(4):522–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-015-9640-y. Epub 2015/10/27. PubMed PMID: 26496777.
- 210. Baruch K, Rosenzweig N, Kertser A, Deczkowska A, Sharif AM, Spinrad A, et al. Breaking immune tolerance by targeting Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells mitigates Alzheimer's disease pathology. Nat Commun. 2015;6:7967. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8967. Epub 2015/08/19. PubMed PMID: 26284939; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4557123.
- 211. Ghochikyan A, Mkrtichyan M, Petrushina I, Movsesyan N, Karapetyan A, Cribbs DH, et al. Prototype Alzheimer's disease epitope vaccine induced strong Th2-type anti-Abeta antibody response with Alum to Quil A adjuvant switch. Vaccine. 2006;24(13):2275–82. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.11.039. Epub 2005/12/22. PubMed PMID: 16368167; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2081151.
- McManus RM, Mills KH, Lynch MA. T cells-protective or pathogenic in Alzheimer's disease? J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2015;10(4):547–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-015-9612-2. Epub 2015/05/11. PubMed PMID: 25957956.
- 213. Blomstrom A, Karlsson H, Gardner R, Jorgensen L, Magnusson C, Dalman C. Associations between maternal infection during pregnancy, childhood infections, and the risk of subsequent psychotic disorder – a Swedish Cohort Study of nearly 2 million individuals. Schizophr Bull. 2016;42(1):125–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbv112. Epub 2015/08/26. PubMed PMID: 26303935; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4681563.
- 214. Knuesel I, Chicha L, Britschgi M, Schobel SA, Bodmer M, Hellings JA, et al. Maternal immune activation and abnormal brain development across CNS disorders. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10(11):643–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2014.187. Epub 2014/10/15. PubMed PMID: 25311587.
- Estes ML, McAllister AK. Maternal immune activation: implications for neuropsychiatric disorders. Science. 2016;353(6301):772–7. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aag3194. Epub 2016/08/20. PubMed PMID: 27540164; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5650490.
- 216. Meyer U. Prenatal poly(i:C) exposure and other developmental immune activation models in rodent systems. Biol Psychiatry. 2014;75(4):307–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2013.07.011. Epub 2013/08/14. PubMed PMID: 23938317.. PubMed PMID: 23938317.
- 217. Coutinho E, Vincent A. Autoimmunity in neuropsychiatric disorders. Handb Clin Neurol. 2016;133:269–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63432-0.00015-3. Epub 2016/04/27. PubMed PMID: 27112682.
- Brimberg L, Sadiq A, Gregersen PK, Diamond B. Brain-reactive IgG correlates with autoimmunity in mothers of a child with an autism spectrum disorder. Mol Psychiatry. 2013;18(11):1171–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.101. Epub 2013/08/21. PubMed PMID: 23958959.
- 219. Braunschweig D, Golub MS, Koenig CM, Qi L, Pessah IN, Van de Water J, et al. Maternal autism-associated IgG antibodies delay development and produce anxiety in a mouse gestational transfer model. J Neuroimmunol. 2012;252(1–2):56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.08.002. Epub 2012/09/07. PubMed PMID: 22951357; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4096980.
- 220. Martin LA, Ashwood P, Braunschweig D, Cabanlit M, Van de Water J, Amaral DG. Stereotypies and hyperactivity in rhesus monkeys exposed to IgG from mothers of children with autism. Brain Behav Immun. 2008;22(6):806–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2007.12.007. Epub 2008/02/12. PubMed PMID: 18262386; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3779644.

- 221. Gao R, Penzes P. Common mechanisms of excitatory and inhibitory imbalance in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders. Curr Mol Med. 2015;15(2):146–67. Epub 2015/03/04. PubMed PMID: 25732149; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4721588.
- 222. Choi GB, Yim YS, Wong H, Kim S, Kim H, Kim SV, et al. The maternal interleukin-17a pathway in mice promotes autism-like phenotypes in offspring. Science. 2016;351(6276):933–9. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad0314. Epub 2016/01/30. PubMed PMID: 26822608; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4782964.
- 223. Baptista TSA, Petersen LE, Molina JK, de Nardi T, Wieck A, do Prado A, et al. Autoantibodies against myelin sheath and S100beta are associated with cognitive dysfunction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2017;36(9):1959–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-017-3724-4. Epub 2017/06/29. PubMed PMID: 28656478.
- 224. DeGiorgio LA, Konstantinov KN, Lee SC, Hardin JA, Volpe BT, Diamond B. A subset of lupus anti-DNA antibodies cross-reacts with the NR2 glutamate receptor in systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Med. 2001;7(11):1189–93. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1101-1189. Epub 2001/11/02. PubMed PMID: 11689882.
- 225. Kowal C, Degiorgio LA, Lee JY, Edgar MA, Huerta PT, Volpe BT, et al. Human lupus autoantibodies against NMDA receptors mediate cognitive impairment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(52):19854–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0608397104. Epub 2006/12/16. PubMed PMID: 17170137; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1702320.
- 226. Kim R, Healey KL, Sepulveda-Orengo MT, Reissner KJ. Astroglial correlates of neuropsychiatric disease: from astrocytopathy to astrogliosis. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2018;87(Pt A):126–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.10.002. Epub 2017/10/11. PubMed PMID: 28989099; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5889368.
- 227. McKeon A. Immunotherapeutics for autoimmune encephalopathies and dementias. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2013;15(6):723–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11940-013-0251-8. Epub 2013/06/15. PubMed PMID: 23765510.
- 228. Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. Cell. 2000;100(6):655–69. PubMed PMID: 10761931.
- 229. McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, et al. TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain T(H)-17 cell-mediated pathology. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(12):1390–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1539. PubMed PMID: 17994024.
- 230. Peters A, Lee Y, Kuchroo VK. The many faces of Th17 cells. Curr Opin Immunol. 2011;23(6):702–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2011.08.007. Epub 2011/09/09. PubMed PMID: 21899997; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3232281.
- 231. Venken K, Hellings N, Thewissen M, Somers V, Hensen K, Rummens JL, et al. Compromised CD4+ CD25(high) regulatory T-cell function in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is correlated with a reduced frequency of FOXP3-positive cells and reduced FOXP3 expression at the single-cell level. Immunology. 2008;123(1):79–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2567.2007.02690.x. Epub 2007/09/28. PubMed PMID: 17897326; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2433271.
- 232. Huang YH, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Metz I, Buck D, Toyka KV, et al. Specific central nervous system recruitment of HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(2):171–83. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21705. Epub 2009/08/26. PubMed PMID: 19705413.
- 233. Frisullo G, Nociti V, Iorio R, Patanella AK, Caggiula M, Marti A, et al. Regulatory T cells fail to suppress CD4T+-bet+ T cells in relapsing multiple sclerosis patients. Immunology. 2009;127(3):418–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02963.x. Epub 2008/11/20. PubMed PMID: 19016907; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2712110.
- 234. Bailey-Bucktrout SL, Martinez-Llordella M, Zhou X, Anthony B, Rosenthal W, Luche H, et al. Self-antigen-driven activation induces instability of regulatory T cells during an inflammatory autoimmune response. Immunity. 2013;39(5):949–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. immuni.2013.10.016. PubMed PMID: 24238343; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3912996.

- Ding X, Cao F, Cui L, Ciric B, Zhang GX, Rostami A. IL-9 signaling affects central nervous system resident cells during inflammatory stimuli. Exp Mol Pathol. 2015;99(3):570–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2015.07.010. Epub 2015/07/29. PubMed PMID: 26216406.
- 236. Guo J, Zhao C, Wu F, Tao L, Zhang C, Zhao D, et al. T follicular helper-like cells are involved in the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Front Immunol. 2018;9:944. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00944. Epub 2018/06/06. PubMed PMID: 29867938; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5949363.
- 237. Quinn JL, Kumar G, Agasing A, Ko RM, Axtell RC. Role of TFH cells in promoting T helper 17-induced neuroinflammation. Front Immunol. 2018;9:382. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2018.00382. Epub 2018/03/15. PubMed PMID: 29535739; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5835081.
- Dhaeze T, Peelen E, Hombrouck A, Peeters L, Van Wijmeersch B, Lemkens N, et al. Circulating follicular regulatory T cells are defective in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2015;195(3):832– 40. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1500759. PubMed PMID: 26071562.
- 239. Liu C, Wang D, Song Y, Lu S, Zhao J, Wang H. Increased circulating CD4(+)CXCR5(+) FoxP3(+) follicular regulatory T cells correlated with severity of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Int Immunopharmacol. 2018;56:261–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. intimp.2018.01.038. Epub 2018/02/08. PubMed PMID: 29414660.
- 240. Mayo L, Cunha AP, Madi A, Beynon V, Yang Z, Alvarez JI, et al. IL-10-dependent Tr1 cells attenuate astrocyte activation and ameliorate chronic central nervous system inflammation. Brain. 2016;139(Pt 7):1939–57. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww113. PubMed PMID: 27246324; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4939696.
- 241. Astier AL, Meiffren G, Freeman S, Hafler DA. Alterations in CD46-mediated Tr1 regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(12):3252–7. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI29251. Epub 2006/11/14. PubMed PMID: 17099776; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1635165.
- 242. Wildbaum G, Netzer N, Karin N. Tr1 cell-dependent active tolerance blunts the pathogenic effects of determinant spreading. J Clin Invest. 2002;110(5):701–10. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI15176. Epub 2002/09/05. PubMed PMID: 12208871; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC151104.
- 243. Chefdeville A, Honnorat J, Hampe CS, Desestret V. Neuronal central nervous system syndromes probably mediated by autoantibodies. Eur J Neurosci. 2016;43(12):1535–52. https:// doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13212. Epub 2016/02/27. PubMed PMID: 26918657; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4914447.
- 244. Fukuda T, Motomura M, Nakao Y, Shiraishi H, Yoshimura T, Iwanaga K, et al. Reduction of P/Q-type calcium channels in the postmortem cerebellum of paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration with Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome. Ann Neurol. 2003;53(1):21–8. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ana.10392. Epub 2003/01/02. PubMed PMID: 12509844.
- 245. Kitanosono H, Shiraishi H, Motomura M. P/Q-type calcium channel antibodies in Lambert-Eaton Myasthenic Syndrome. Brain Nerve. 2018;70(4):341–55. https://doi.org/10.11477/ mf.1416201007. Epub 2018/04/11. PubMed PMID: 29632282.
- 246. Graus F, Keime-Guibert F, Rene R, Benyahia B, Ribalta T, Ascaso C, et al. Anti-Hu-associated paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis: analysis of 200 patients. Brain J Neurol. 2001;124(Pt 6):1138–48. Epub 2001/05/17. PubMed PMID: 11353730.
- Peterson K, Rosenblum MK, Kotanides H, Posner JB. Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. I. A clinical analysis of 55 anti-Yo antibody-positive patients. Neurology. 1992;42(10):1931– 7. Epub 1992/10/01. PubMed PMID: 1407575.
- Vernino S, Lennon VA. New Purkinje cell antibody (PCA-2): marker of lung cancer-related neurological autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2000;47(3):297–305. Epub 2000/03/15. PubMed PMID: 10716248.
- Graus F, Dalmau J, Valldeoriola F, Ferrer I, Rene R, Marin C, et al. Immunological characterization of a neuronal antibody (anti-Tr) associated with paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration and Hodgkin's disease. J Neuroimmunol. 1997;74(1–2):55–61. Epub 1997/04/01. PubMed PMID: 9119979.

- 250. Yu Z, Kryzer TJ, Griesmann GE, Kim K, Benarroch EE, Lennon VA. CRMP-5 neuronal autoantibody: marker of lung cancer and thymoma-related autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2001;49(2):146–54. Epub 2001/02/28. PubMed PMID: 11220734.
- 251. Rosenfeld MR, Eichen JG, Wade DF, Posner JB, Dalmau J. Molecular and clinical diversity in paraneoplastic immunity to Ma proteins. Ann Neurol. 2001;50(3):339–48. Epub 2001/09/18. PubMed PMID: 11558790.
- 252. Perego L, Previtali SC, Nemni R, Longhi R, Carandente O, Saibene A, et al. Autoantibodies to amphiphysin I and amphiphysin II in a patient with sensory-motor neuropathy. Eur Neurol. 2002;47(4):196–200. https://doi.org/10.1159/000057898. Epub 2002/05/31. PubMed PMID: 12037431.
Roles of Effector T Cells in Neurological Autoimmunity



Yuki Fujita and Toshihide Yamashita

Abstract Neurological autoimmunity is a mistargeted immune response to the central or peripheral nervous system. Multiple sclerosis (MS) is one of many neuroimmune diseases involving autoreactive T cells in the central nervous systems (CNS). In MS, immune cells infiltrate the CNS and attack myelin sheaths, leading to demyelination, axonal damage, and neurological disabilities (Trapp and Nave, Annu Rev Neurosci 31:247–269, 2008; Hauser and Oksenberg, Neuron 52:61–76, 2006; Baxter, Nat Rev Immunol 7:904–912, 2007). The role of CD4+ T helper cells in MS pathology has been widely studied using animal models such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Classically, it is considered that dysregulation of the balance between pro-inflammatory CD4+ T helper 1 (Th1) cells and anti-inflammatory Th2 cells plays an important role in MS development. More recent studies have provided evidence that interleukin (IL)-17-expressing Th17 cells are also essential for disease pathogenesis. Furthermore, CD8+ T cells are predominantly observed in human MS lesion sites. However, their functions in this disease are understudied. In this chapter, we summarize the roles of effector T cells in neuroimmune diseases focusing on findings from studies involving EAE and individuals with MS. Excess inflammatory responses can induce demyelination and progressive neuronal degeneration leading to functional disabilities. We also discuss

Y. Fujita

T. Yamashita (🖂)

Graduate School of Frontier Bioscience, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan

Department of Neuro-Medical Science, Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan e-mail: yamashita@molneu.med.osaka-u.ac.jp

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_2

Department of Molecular Neuroscience, Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan

WPI Immunology Frontier Research Center, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan e-mail: yuki-fujita@molneu.med.osaka-u.ac.jp

Department of Molecular Neuroscience, Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan

WPI Immunology Frontier Research Center, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan

approaches to modulate the immune system and attenuate neuronal degeneration as a therapeutic target for MS.

Keywords Multiple sclerosis · Autoimmune encephalomyelitis · CD4+ T cells · Neuronal degeneration

Introduction

The central nervous system (CNS) has traditionally been considered structurally and functionally unique, in which immune surveillance is limited compared to that in other organs [4]. In neuroimmune diseases, misguided immune responses affect normal nervous systems and cause various symptoms. Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic autoimmune disease of the CNS, in which immune cells infiltrate the CNS parenchyma, leading to demyelination and neurodegeneration [1-3, 5, 6]. Much emphasis has been placed on investigating pathogenetic, diagnostic, and therapeutic aspects of MS, and various animal models have been developed. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is widely accepted as a suitable animal model for MS and is frequently used to investigate the mechanisms of inflammation and neurodegeneration [7]. Many studies using these animal models and humans have demonstrated that CD4+ T helper (Th) cells are critical effector cells for CNS inflammation [8, 9]. Interferon-gamma (IFN- γ)-producing Th1 cells were initially considered a predominant subset of effector CD4+ T cells that induces the pathogenesis of MS. However, more recently, interleukin-23 (IL-23) has been shown to be required for MS pathogenesis [10] and the activation of IL-17-producing T helper 17 (Th17) cells. Specifically, IL-17, IL-17 receptor, or IL-23 receptor deficiency diminishes clinical signs in EAE [11-14]. These observations provided evidence that Th17 cells play important roles in the development of MS pathogenesis. However, another study reported that the inhibition of IL-17A does not prevent EAE development, raising the possibility that other factors or mechanisms might be involved in neurological autoimmunity [15]. Although the role of CD4+ T helper cells in the pathogenesis of MS has been widely studied, CD8+ T cells are the most abundant T cells in CNS lesions of MS and exhibit clonal expansion [16-19]. In recent years, the function and mechanism of CD8+ T cells in MS progression appear to have been elucidated.

It is widely recognized that inflammation causally correlates with demyelination and axonal damage and loss, leading to neurological disability [5, 20]. Furthermore, some studies suggest that neurodegeneration in MS might occur independently from inflammation and could even be the primary cause of MS [1]. Therefore, besides the modulation of immune cells, the inhibition of neurodegeneration and demyelination is possible strategy for MS treatment.

This section summarizes evidence of the pathogenic and regulatory functions of effector T cells in neuroimmune diseases. We mainly focus on MS and its animal model EAE and discuss the dysregulated interactions between the immune and central nervous systems.

Dysregulation of the Th1/Th2 Balance in MS

T lymphocytes play a major role in the pathogenesis of MS. The infiltration of both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells has been observed in MS lesions [21]. The deleterious effects of CNS antigen-activated T cells are evidenced by studies demonstrating that the adoptive transfer of myelin-activated CD4+ T cells can cause EAE [22, 23]. CD4+ T cells recognize peptides that are presented by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules on specialized antigen-presenting cells (APCs), and are usually derived from exogenous antigens ingested and processed by these cells [24]. Naïve Th cells differentiate into functional effector subsets based on their cytokine production pattern. Classically, two major subsets have been identified, namely Th1 and Th2 cells [25] (Fig. 1). Th1 cells produce large amounts of interferon (IFN)-y and interleukin (IL)-2 and are mainly involved in macrophage activation and host defense against intracellular pathogens. Uncommitted naïve T cells can become Th1 cells through IL-12-induced signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4) activation. Moreover, Th1 cells express the T-box transcription factor T-bet and secrete large amounts of IFN-y. In contrast, Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13, and mainly induce antibody production by B cells. IL-4-mediated STAT6 activation and GATA3 transcription contribute to Th2 differentiation. Th2 cells have key roles in host defense against helminths. Recently, additional Th cell subsets including Th17, T regulatory cells (Treg), Th9, Th22, and T follicular helper cells (Tfh) have been recognized [26–28].



Fig. 1 Differentiation of naïve T cells into CD4+ T cell subsets including Th1, Th2, Th17, or Treg. IL-12 induces Th1 polarization characterized by the expression of T-bet and IFN- γ , whereas IL-4 induces Th2 polarization through STAT6 and GATA-3 signaling. TGF- β and IL-6 promote Th17 commitment, characterized by the expression of IL-17, IL-21, and IL-22, as well as the transcriptional factor ROR γ t

These studies initially suggested the possible existence of deviations in T cell subsets in 1971. It was also reported that antigen modification via the acetoacetylation of flagellins reduces the antigenic properties of unmodified flagellin in rats [29]. In contrast, this modification also induced increases in delayed-type hypersensitivity responses [30]. These findings suggest an inverse association between antigenic responses and delayed-type hypersensitivity. Although subsequent studies supported the possibility that different T cell populations might exist, there were no available antibodies to detect cell-surface markers and cytokines to determine specific populations at that time [31, 32]. In the mid-1980s, two functionally distinct T cell subtypes were identified. IFN- γ - and IL-2-expressing Th1 cells were distinguished from Th2 cells, which produce T cell growth factor distinct from IL-2 [25]. Further, the addition of supernatants from Th2 cell clones to T cell-depleted mouse spleen cells stimulated with lipopolysaccharide increased IgE production, whereas the Th1 factor IFN- γ suppressed this effect [33].

The balance between Th1 and Th2 cells has long been considered required to regulate immune responses and disrupted in autoimmune diseases [34]. Th1 cells have been implicated in diseases associated with autoimmunity such as type 1 diabetes and multiple sclerosis [8, 35, 36]. Accordingly, the expression of Th1 cyto-kines was observed in both EAE and MS lesions [37, 38]. Moreover, the shift in Th1 cells toward a Th2 cytokine profile ameliorates EAE symptoms [39, 40], whereas the adoptive transfer of Th1 cells was shown to be sufficient to induce EAE [41–44]. Further, the genetic ablation of T-bet suppressed the development of EAE [45, 46]. In addition, the pathogenic roles of Th1-type immune responses have been reported in an experimental murine arthritis model and in rheumatoid arthritis [47–50]. Treatment with a neutralizing anti-IL-12 antibody prevented the development of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) not only in wild-type mice but also in IFN- γ receptor-knockout mice, suggesting that IL-12 promotes arthritis independent of IFN- γ production [51]. These observations indicate the deleterious potential of Th1 cells in autoimmunity.

Furthermore, a monoclonal antibody against IL-2 receptors inhibits the activation of T cells in EAE [52]. In addition, the adoptive transfer of Th1 cells contributes to the development of EAE [41]. Therefore, promoting the shift from Th1 toward Th2 cytokines could have a beneficial effect on the clinical symptoms of MS. A synthetic amino acid copolymer, namely, glatiramer acetate (Copaxone ®), which is an approved drug for the treatment of MS, reduces the frequency of relapses and the progression of disability [53]. The mechanism underlying these beneficial effects in animal models and patients seems to be the shift from Th1 to Th2 responses [54–60]. Moreover, glatiramer acetate induces Th2 cell development and increases IL-10 production through the modulation of dendritic cells [61] and patients treated with this drug exhibit a shift from Th1-biased to Th2 cytokine profiles [62–64]. These observations suggest that attenuating the Th1/Th2 cytokine imbalance could alleviate MS symptoms.

Despite this clear evidence showing the encephalitogenic roles of Th1 cells, other studies suggest opposite effects. Specifically, the administration of IFN- γ was found to ameliorate EAE severity, whereas treatment with a neutralizing antibody

against IFN- γ exacerbated EAE clinical disease severity [65–68]. Consistent with these findings, the deletion of IFN- γ or IFN- γ receptor rendered resistant strains susceptible to EAE induction [69–73]. Further, the genetic deletion of other Th1-related molecules such as STAT1 and IL-12 receptor β 2 enhances EAE disease severity [45, 74]. Taken together, Th1 responses appear to be not absolutely required for EAE induction.

Th17 Cells in MS/EAE

In 2000, a T cell subset other than Th1 and Th2 was reported [75]. Initially, IL-23 was linked to the differentiation of Th17 cells [76–78]. Since IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) expression is limited, it was found that a combination of IL-6 and TGF- β induces the differentiation of pathogenic Th17 cells from naïve T cells and stimulates the expression of retinoic acid-related orphan receptor- γ t (ROR γ t), which is a crucial transcriptional factor that triggers the expression of IL-23R [11, 79]. More detailed mechanisms underlying the definition and differentiation of Th17 cells, as well as their roles in neuroimmune diseases, are described in the later section by Pourgholaminejad [80].

Accumulating studies have shown that Th17 cells also contribute to the immunopathogenesis of MS. Deletion of Th1-related molecules also causes inflammatory autoimmune diseases. For example, IFN- γ -/- [81], IFN- γ R-/- [71], IL-12R β 2-/-[74], IL-12p35-/- [10, 82], and IL-18-/- mice [83] are susceptible to EAE. These findings suggest that reconsidering the involvement of Th1 cells in the pathogenesis of MS might be warranted. In addition to the important role of Th1 cells in MS, IL-17-expressing Th17 cells are known to be involved in MS immunopathogenesis [13, 84]. Passive transfer studies demonstrated that IL-23-dependent CD4+ T cells are highly pathogenic and play an essential role in the inflammation associated with CNS autoimmunity [77]. A subsequent study revealed that the pathology induced by Th17 cells differs from that of Th1 cells [85]. Th17 cells induce distinct chemokine profiles, and neutrophils are predominantly observed in IL-23-driven lesions, whereas Th1 cell-induced EAE is prominently associated with activated macrophages. These observations suggest that IL-23-mediated immune responses, as well as IFN- γ or IL-12, are critical for the development of EAE. In addition, various models of autoimmune diseases revealed a crucial role for Th17. The deletion of IL-17 suppressed immune induction in a collagen-induced mouse model of arthritis [86] and treatment with an IL-17R antagonist attenuated joint inflammation and bone erosion in a rat model of adjuvant-induced arthritis [87].

However, some studies have reported that IL-17 is not prominent during the development of MS [15, 88]. The IL-17 cytokine family consists of six isoforms, specifically IL-17A to IL17F. IL-17A is primarily produced by Th17 cells and IL-17F is most homologous to IL-17A. However, treating IL-17F-deficient mice with an antagonistic monoclonal antibody against IL-17A resulted in limited

beneficial effects on the development of EAE. These controversial results might be due to differences in protocols and strains of mice.

CD8 T Cells in MS/EAE

In general, T cells can be classified as CD4+ and CD8+. CD4+ T cells recognize peptides that are presented by MHC class II molecules on APCs. In contrast, CD8+ T cells recognize peptides that are presented by MHC class I molecules. Traditionally, CD4+ T cells mainly contribute to autoimmune pathogenesis. However, recent studies have provided increasing evidence for the possible pathological role of CD8+ T cells. Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II alleles, which mainly encode MHC class II molecules, have been reported to be associated with an increased risk of autoimmune diseases [89-93], and HLA-DRB1*15:01 showed the strongest association in European and US populations [94]. This genetic association was first reported for MS pathogenesis, followed by other autoimmune diseases such as type 1 diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis [95]. MHC class I molecules have also been suggested to be linked to MS [96-98], and more recent studies demonstrated positive and negative associations with MHC class I regions. Specifically, HLA-A*0301 was associated with a twofold increase in MS risk, whereas HLA-A *0201 showed a protective effect. The chapter of Multiple Sclerosis by Kira and Isobe more precisely described the genetic association between MHC regions and MS. These genetic associations support the involvement of CD8+ T cells in this disease.

Although the cause of MS is still unclear, the infiltration of immune cells into the CNS has been strongly associated with its pathogenesis [99–101]. Within the T cell population, CD8+ T cells are predominantly abundant in MS lesions [16, 17, 102-104] including human autopsy material from individuals with acute, chronic active, and inactive disease. Further, the micromanipulation and single-cell analysis of MS tissues revealed that CD8+ T cells might be more prevalent than CD4+ cells in various types of MS [17, 19, 105]. CD8+ T cells demonstrated a three to tenfold enrichment compared to CD4+ T cells in acute and chronic MS lesions [16, 17, 100]. CD8+ T cells were also found to be encephalitogenic in EAE [106]. Under pathological conditions, the expression of MHC class I molecules was found to be upregulated in the CNS cells including neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes, whereas the expression was limited to only vascular and meningeal cells under physiological conditions [107-109]. These observations suggest possible associations of CD8+ T cell infiltration with inflammatory lesions of MS. Recent studies reported that a portion of infiltrating CD8+ T cells in MS lesions show an activated cytotoxic phenotype, whereas the remaining cells have features of tissue-resident memory T cells, which might be focally reactivated in active lesions [103, 110]. Tissue-resident memory cells have been suggested to infiltrate tissues associated with acute inflammation as effector T cells and alter their phenotype to persist within the tissue as long-lived memory T cells. It is considered that tissue-resident memory T cells have important roles in protective immunity in site-specific inflammatory lesions of the lung and skin after viral infection [111–114]. Acute MS is associated with a high percentage of CD8+ T cells co-expressing CD103, which is a marker of tissue-resident memory T cells. CD8+ cells are also predominant in other inflammatory diseases such as Rasmussen's encephalitis [115]. Future studies will more precisely determine the role and characteristics of tissue-resident memory T cells in MS.

The findings that CD8+ T cells can directly damage axons also support the pathogenic role of CD8+ T cells in autoimmune diseases (Fig. 2). In biopsies derived from MS individuals, acute axonal injury, defined by the accumulation of amyloid precursor protein, correlates best with the number of CD8+ T cells and macrophage/microglia rather than CD4+ T cells [116, 117]. Furthermore, the adoptive transfer of myelin antigen-specific CD8+ T cells causes the development of EAE in mice [107, 118, 119]. Synthetic peptides 35–55 from myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) activate CD8+ T cells and induce encephalitis in C57BL/6 mice. Another study demonstrated that MOG37-46-specific CD8+ T cells also induce EAE. Further, the adoptive transfer of myelin basic protein 79–87 peptide-specific CD8+ T cells induces EAE symptoms in C3H mice. Since the co-injection of neutralizing antibody with IFN- γ was found to significantly reduce the severity



Fig. 2 The function of CD8+ cells in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis (MS) and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). CD8+ T cells induce demyelination and axon degeneration, leading to axonal loss. The pathogenetic significance of antigenic expression remains unclear, and pro-inflammatory cytokines including IFN- γ and IL-17 are mainly involved in the induction of MS/EAE

of disease, IFN- γ might be important for CD8+ T cell-mediated CNS autoimmune disease [107]. Macrophage/microglia are activated in the transgenic mouse model with constitutive IFN- γ expression, suggesting that microglia may promote demyelination through the activation of these cells [120].

In addition to CD4+ T cells, CD8+ cells were found to be equally immunostained for IL-17 in MS tissue. IL-17-producing CD8+ T cells were detected in the lymph nodes and CNS of MOG37-50-induced EAE mice [121]. Moreover, IL-17production in CD8+ T cells corresponded to decreased expression of granzyme B and IFN- γ , suggesting that these cells have diminished cytotoxic functions compared to classic cytotoxic CD8+ T cells. In addition, an increased number of IL-17expressing T cells have been observed in acute lesions of MS. Immunohistochemistry revealed that 70 to 80% of T cells in acute lesions or active areas of chronic lesions, but only 17% of those in inactive lesions, showed IL-17 immunoreactivity [122]. These observations suggest that IL-17-producing CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are involved in the induction of EAE. Furthermore, IL-17-producing CD8+ T cells support the infiltration of IL-17-producing CD4+ T cells in the CNS and the induction of EAE via the chemokine receptor CCR6 [123]. These results suggest the indirect contribution of IL-17-producing CD8+ T cells to the initiation of autoimmunity through the pathogenicity of Th17 cells.

In contrast, another group reported that the suppression of CD8+ T cell accumulation has no effect on disease signs and CD4+ T cell motility in MOG35-55induced EAE. In a further study, EAE was induced in lymphocyte-deficient Rag1-/- mice, which were replenished with only CD4+ T cells, only CD8+ T cells, or a mixture of both cell types, with the MOG35-55 peptide, and disease course was monitored. Mice without functional CD4+ T cells did not develop EAE, whereas mice without functional CD4+ T cells showed no significant difference compared to those with CD4+ CD8+ T cells [124]. Moreover, the in vivo CNS-cross-reactivation of CD8+ T cells was found to have no impact on disease progression in EAE [125]. Thus, the pathogenetic role of CD8+ T cells in the pathogenesis of MS is still under debate. Further studies assessing specific cell populations would be helpful to decipher their role in MS.

Possible Therapeutic Targets for Neurodegeneration and Demyelination in MS and EAE

Multifocal autoimmune-mediated demyelination and axonal loss are considered to have an autoimmune etiology. Therefore, neuroprotection could be a possible therapeutic target for MS. In the CNS, there are various myelin-derived proteins that inhibit axonal regeneration following neuronal damage, resulting in limiting functional recovery. These proteins are expressed mainly in myelin sheaths, which are formed by the oligodendrocyte plasma membrane wrapped around the axon. Three myelin-associated inhibitors—Nogo, myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), and oligodendrocyte-myelin glycoprotein (OMgp)—have been well characterized. These three structurally distinct proteins all bind the same receptor, specifically the Nogo receptor (NgR), and activate RhoA-mediated axon growth inhibition [126–129]. RhoA is one of the Rho family of small GTPases and regulates various cellular functions, including maintenance of neuronal morphology and neurite outgrowth inhibition. Since NgR is a GPI-anchored protein and has no intracellular domain, it is considered unable to transduce signals into neurons and requires a coreceptor(s). The low-affinity neurotrophin receptor p75NTR was found to be a signal transducer of MAG [130], and subsequent studies demonstrated that p75NTR associates with NgR to form a receptor complex for MAG, Nogo, and OMgp [131, 132] (Fig. 3). The CNS transmembrane protein leucine-rich repeat and Ig domain containing 1 (LINGO-1) was also identified as an additional component of the receptor complex of NgR and p75NTR [133]. p75NTR induces the release of RhoA from Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitor (RhoGDI), thus acting as a RhoGDI



Fig. 3 Representative molecular mechanisms associated with axonal growth inhibition. Myelinderived inhibitory factors MAG, Nogo, and OMgp bind NgR1, which induces Rho activity via interactions with NgR1 co-receptors, LINGO-1 and p75NTR. RGMa induces Rho activity via its receptor neogenin. Rho activation inhibits axon growth in neurons

dissociator [134]. Then, RhoA is able to change bound GDP for GTP, leading to gain its active conformation. LINGO-1 seems to also regulate the localization of RhoGDI and the activation of RhoA [135]. Further, MAG stimulation was found to mediate the activation of RhoA/ROCK signaling via these receptor complexes. Downstream of the RhoA/ROCK signaling pathway, the inactivation of collapsin response mediator protein-2 (CRMP-2), which interacts with tubulin heterodimers and facilitates microtubule assembly [136], leads to growth cone collapse and axon growth inhibition.

Particularly, LINGO-1 acts as a negative regulator of oligodendrocyte precursor cell differentiation [137]. Further, LINGO-1 antagonists or siRNA-mediated knockdown of this marker promotes oligodendrocyte differentiation, and LINGO-1knockout mice show early-onset CNS myelination. Furthermore, treatment with an anti-LINGO-1 antibody promotes spinal cord remyelination in MOG-induced EAE and a toxin-induced demyelination model [138, 139]. These findings imply that the inhibition of LINGO-1 could be therapeutically beneficial for the management of MS. Moreover, a humanized anti-LINGO-1 monoclonal antibody (opicinumab, BIIB033, Biogen) has been developed to promote remyelination in individuals with remitting-relapsing MS, and this has been subjected to clinical trials [140]. Although the phase 2b trial of the anti-LINGO-1 antibody failed, fairly strong effects were observed with an intermediate dose, among four doses of the anti-LINGO-1 antibody, with IFN β -1a (Avonex®) (NCT01864148) [141].

Repulsive guidance molecule (RGM) is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)anchored glycoprotein that is involved in the inhibition of axon growth following CNS injury [142, 143]. The binding of RGMa to its receptor neogenin regulates various functions including axon guidance, neuronal differentiation, and survival during the development of the CNS [144–146]. Although RGMa levels are relatively low in the adult CNS, its expression is increased following CNS damage such as ischemic stroke and spinal cord injury [147, 148]. In an animal model of spinal cord injury, treatment with a neutralizing antibody against RGMa at the lesion site was found to significantly enhance axon regeneration and motor function recovery in both rodents and primates [149, 150]. Because the stimulation of neurons with RGMa induces RhoA and Rho-associated coiled-coil-containing protein kinase (ROCK), resulting in axon growth inhibition, the effect of this antibody might be dependent on the inhibition of this signaling pathway.

In addition, RGMa is involved in the pathophysiology of the autoimmune diseases. The inhibition of RGMa using a neutralizing antibody reduces proinflammatory cytokine production, demyelination, and neurodegeneration and relieves neurological deficits in MS and EAE [151–154]. Further, treatment with an RGMa-specific antibody reduces T cell proliferation and pro-inflammatory cytokine production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from individuals with MS. Treatment with the anti-RGMa antibody also promotes axon regeneration and attenuates clinical manifestations in various EAE models such as MOG-induced and proteolipid protein-induced EAE in mice, Th17-cell-mediated EAE, and a focal model of EAE in rats. A humanized monoclonal antibody against RGMa also ameliorates EAE severity in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, a model of secondary progressive MS. Thus, RGMa is involved in T cell-mediated autoimmune processes and its inhibition exerts both anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects in EAE.

Recently, estrogen receptor ligand β (ER β) ligands have been shown to promote remyelination [155]. Treatment with selective ER β ligands such as diarylpropionitrile (DPN) or chloroindazole (IndCl) increased myelination in animal models of MS [156–158]. Optimized analogues of IndCl ameliorate disease severity in EAE and improved myelination through the reduced production of the oligodendrocyte toxic molecules IFN- γ and chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand, CXCL10 [159]. These findings suggest that ER β ligand β ligands might be attractive candidates for MS therapy.

Conclusion

Accumulating studies have demonstrated the pathobiological roles of effector T cells in neuroimmune diseases. Particularly, rodent EAE models have made important contributions to understanding the molecular mechanisms of inflammation and to preclinical drug development for MS. Potent drugs have been developed for the treatment of relapsing-remitting MS, including glatiramer acetate (Copaxone®), IFN- β (Avonex®, Betaseron®, Extavia®, Rebif®), fingolimod (Gilenya®), natalizumab (Tysabri®), and mitoxantrone (Novantrone®). Recent clinical trials also revealed that a B cell-targeting antibody (humanized anti-CD20 antibody), ocrelizumab (Ocrevus®), shows beneficial effects not only on relapsing forms of MS but also on primary progressive MS [160–162]. These findings led the US Food and Drug Administration to approve ocrelizumab as the first monoclonal antibody for primary progressive MS and secondary progressive MS.

The degeneration of axons might be the major cause of permanent neurological disability in MS. Therefore, manipulating this process could form the basis for MS therapeutics. Indeed, several molecules involved in neurodegeneration have been explored as therapeutic targets for MS. Despite evidence supporting links among inflammation, demyelination, axonal injury/loss, and neurological disability, whether autoimmune processes comprise a direct or indirect response to neurodegeneration needs to be elucidated. However, therapeutic treatment could be improved by a greater knowledge of the molecular mechanisms underlying both immune and neuronal alterations in neuroimmune diseases.

References

- 1. Trapp BD, Nave KA. Multiple sclerosis: an immune or neurodegenerative disorder? Annu Rev Neurosci. 2008;31:247–69.
- Hauser SL, Oksenberg JR. The neurobiology of multiple sclerosis: genes, inflammation, and neurodegeneration. Neuron. 2006;52:61–76.

- 3. Baxter AG. The origin and application of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7:904–12.
- Louveau A, Harris TH, Kipnis J. Revisiting the mechanisms of CNS immune privilege. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:569–77.
- Charcot JM. Lecons sur les maladies du systeme nerveux faites a la Salpetriere Paris. Paris; 1880. Cambridge University Press.
- Dutta R, Trapp BD. Mechanisms of neuronal dysfunction and degeneration in multiple sclerosis. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;93:1–12.
- 7. Pachner AR. Experimental models of multiple sclerosis. Curr Opin Neurol. 2011;24:291-9.
- Sospedra M, Martin R. Immunology of multiple sclerosis. Annu Rev Immunol. 2005;23:683–747.
- Weiner HL. Multiple sclerosis is an inflammatory T-cell-mediated autoimmune disease. Arch Neurol. 2004;61:1613–5.
- 10. Becher B, Durell BG, Noelle RJ. Experimental autoimmune encephalitis and inflammation in the absence of interleukin-12. J Clin Invest. 2002;110:493–7.
- 11. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature. 2006;441:235–8.
- Hu Y, Ota N, Peng I, Refino CJ, Danilenko DM, Caplazi P, Ouyang W. IL-17RC is required for IL-17A- and IL-17F-dependent signaling and the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2010;184:4307–16.
- Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Sudo K, Iwakura Y. IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2006;177:566–73.
- McGeachy MJ, Chen Y, Tato CM, Laurence A, Joyce-Shaikh B, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan TK, O'Shea JJ, Cua DJ. The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:314–24.
- 15. Haak S, Croxford AL, Kreymborg K, Heppner FL, Pouly S, Becher B, Waisman A. IL-17A and IL-17F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. J Clin Invest. 2009;119:61–9.
- Booss J, Esiri MM, Tourtellotte WW, Mason DY. Immunohistological analysis of T lymphocyte subsets in the central nervous system in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. 1983;62:219–32.
- 17. Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A, Lassmann H, Goebels N, Hohlfeld R, Friese M, Schroder R, Deckert M, Schmidt S, et al. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. J Exp Med. 2000;192:393–404.
- Jacobsen M, Cepok S, Quak E, Happel M, Gaber R, Ziegler A, Schock S, Oertel WH, Sommer N, Hemmer B. Oligoclonal expansion of memory CD8+ T cells in cerebrospinal fluid from multiple sclerosis patients. Brain. 2002;125:538–50.
- Junker A, Ivanidze J, Malotka J, Eiglmeier I, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, Meinl E, Hohlfeld R, Dornmair K. Multiple sclerosis: T-cell receptor expression in distinct brain regions. Brain. 2007;130:2789–99.
- Bjartmar C, Kidd G, Mork S, Rudick R, Trapp BD. Neurological disability correlates with spinal cord axonal loss and reduced N-acetyl aspartate in chronic multiple sclerosis patients. Ann Neurol. 2000;48:893–901.
- Lucchinetti C, Bruck W, Parisi J, Scheithauer B, Rodriguez M, Lassmann H. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. Ann Neurol. 2000;47:707–17.
- Ben-Nun A, Yossefi S. Reversal of autoimmune encephalomyelitis by membranes presenting myelin basic protein-associated class II MHC molecule as an approach to immunotherapy of organ-specific autoimmune diseases. Eur J Immunol. 1990;20:357–61.

- Pettinelli CB, McFarlin DE. Adoptive transfer of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in SJL/J mice after in vitro activation of lymph node cells by myelin basic protein: requirement for Lyt 1+ 2- T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 1981;127:1420–3.
- 24. Seder RA, Ahmed R. Similarities and differences in CD4+ and CD8+ effector and memory T cell generation. Nat Immunol. 2003;4:835–42.
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol. 1986;136:2348–57.
- Bouchery T, Kyle R, Ronchese F, Le Gros G. The differentiation of CD4(+) T-helper cell subsets in the context of helminth parasite infection. Front Immunol. 2014;5:487.
- Hirahara K, Nakayama T. CD4+ T-cell subsets in inflammatory diseases: beyond the Th1/Th2 paradigm. Int Immunol. 2016;28:163–71.
- Schmitt N, Ueno H. Regulation of human helper T cell subset differentiation by cytokines. Curr Opin Immunol. 2015;34:130–6.
- Parish CR. Immune response to chemically modified flagellin. I. Induction of antibody tolerance to flagellin by acetoacetylated derivatives of the protein. J Exp Med. 1971;134:1–20.
- 30. Parish CR. Immune response to chemically modified flagellin. II. Evidence for a fundamental relationship between humoral and cell-mediated immunity. J Exp Med. 1971;134:21–47.
- 31. Parish CR. Immune deviation: a historical perspective. Immunol Cell Biol. 1996;74:449-56.
- 32. Liew FY, Parish CR. Lack of a correlation between cell-mediated immunity to the carrier and the carrier-hapten helper effect. J Exp Med. 1974;139:779–84.
- Coffman RL, Carty J. A T cell activity that enhances polyclonal IgE production and its inhibition by interferon-gamma. J Immunol. 1986;136:949–54.
- Nicholson LB, Kuchroo VK. Manipulation of the Th1/Th2 balance in autoimmune disease. Curr Opin Immunol. 1996;8:837–42.
- Szabo SJ, Sullivan BM, Peng SL, Glimcher LH. Molecular mechanisms regulating Th1 immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol. 2003;21:713–58.
- 36. Christen U, von Herrath MG. Manipulating the type 1 vs type 2 balance in type 1 diabetes. Immunol Res. 2004;30:309–25.
- 37. Hofstetter HH, Targoni OS, Karulin AY, Forsthuber TG, Tary-Lehmann M, Lehmann PV. Does the frequency and avidity spectrum of the neuroantigen-specific T cells in the blood mirror the autoimmune process in the central nervous system of mice undergoing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis? J Immunol. 2005;174:4598–605.
- Krakowski ML, Owens T. The central nervous system environment controls effector CD4+ T cell cytokine profile in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Eur J Immunol. 1997;27:2840–7.
- Racke MK, Bonomo A, Scott DE, Cannella B, Levine A, Raine CS, Shevach EM, Rocken M. Cytokine-induced immune deviation as a therapy for inflammatory autoimmune disease. J Exp Med. 1994;180:1961–6.
- 40. Waisman A, Ruiz PJ, Hirschberg DL, Gelman A, Oksenberg JR, Brocke S, Mor F, Cohen IR, Steinman L. Suppressive vaccination with DNA encoding a variable region gene of the T-cell receptor prevents autoimmune encephalomyelitis and activates Th2 immunity. Nat Med. 1996;2:899–905.
- 41. McDonald AH, Swanborg RH. Antigen-specific inhibition of immune interferon production by suppressor cells of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 1988;140:1132–8.
- 42. Racke MK, Burnett D, Pak SH, Albert PS, Cannella B, Raine CS, McFarlin DE, Scott DE. Retinoid treatment of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. IL-4 production correlates with improved disease course. J Immunol. 1995;154:450–8.
- Nicholson LB, Greer JM, Sobel RA, Lees MB, Kuchroo VK. An altered peptide ligand mediates immune deviation and prevents autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunity. 1995;3:397–405.
- 44. Ando DG, Clayton J, Kono D, Urban JL, Sercarz EE. Encephalitogenic T cells in the B10. PL model of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE) are of the Th-1 lymphokine subtype. Cell Immunol. 1989;124:132–43.

- 45. Bettelli E, Sullivan B, Szabo SJ, Sobel RA, Glimcher LH, Kuchroo VK. Loss of T-bet, but not STAT1, prevents the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med. 2004;200:79–87.
- Nath N, Prasad R, Giri S, Singh AK, Singh I. T-bet is essential for the progression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunology. 2006;118:384–91.
- Simon AK, Seipelt E, Sieper J. Divergent T-cell cytokine patterns in inflammatory arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91:8562–6.
- 48. Dolhain RJ, van der Heiden AN, ter Haar NT, Breedveld FC, Miltenburg AM. Shift toward T lymphocytes with a T helper 1 cytokine-secretion profile in the joints of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1996;39:1961–9.
- Mosmann TR, Sad S. The expanding universe of T-cell subsets: Th1, Th2 and more. Immunol Today. 1996;17:138–46.
- Rocken M, Racke M, Shevach EM. IL-4-induced immune deviation as antigen-specific therapy for inflammatory autoimmune disease. Immunol Today. 1996;17:225–31.
- Matthys P, Vermeire K, Mitera T, Heremans H, Huang S, Billiau A. Anti-IL-12 antibody prevents the development and progression of collagen-induced arthritis in IFN-gamma receptordeficient mice. Eur J Immunol. 1998;28:2143–51.
- Hayosh NS, Swanborg RH. Autoimmune effector cells. IX. Inhibition of adoptive transfer of autoimmune encephalomyelitis with a monoclonal antibody specific for interleukin 2 receptors. J Immunol. 1987;138:3771–5.
- Simpson D, Noble S, Perry C. Glatiramer acetate: a review of its use in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs. 2002;16:825–50.
- 54. Sellner J, Greeve I, Findling O, Kamm CP, Minten C, Engelhardt B, Grandgirard D, Leib SL, Mattle HP. Effect of interferon-beta and atorvastatin on Th1/Th2 cytokines in multiple sclerosis. Neurochem Int. 2008;53:17–21.
- 55. Schrempf W, Ziemssen T. Glatiramer acetate: mechanisms of action in multiple sclerosis. Autoimmun Rev. 2007;6:469–75.
- 56. Sega S, Wraber B, Mesec A, Horvat A, Ihan A. IFN-beta1a and IFN-beta1b have different patterns of influence on cytokines. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2004;106:255–8.
- Duda PW, Schmied MC, Cook SL, Krieger JI, Hafler DA. Glatiramer acetate (Copaxone) induces degenerate, Th2-polarized immune responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2000;105:967–76.
- Farina C, Weber MS, Meinl E, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R. Glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis: update on potential mechanisms of action. Lancet Neurol. 2005;4:567–75.
- 59. Neuhaus O, Farina C, Yassouridis A, Wiendl H, Then Bergh F, Dose T, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R. Multiple sclerosis: comparison of copolymer-1- reactive T cell lines from treated and untreated subjects reveals cytokine shift from T helper 1 to T helper 2 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97:7452–7.
- 60. Krakauer M, Sorensen P, Khademi M, Olsson T, Sellebjerg F. Increased IL-10 mRNA and IL-23 mRNA expression in multiple sclerosis: interferon-beta treatment increases IL-10 mRNA expression while reducing IL-23 mRNA expression. Mult Scler. 2008;14:622–30.
- 61. Vieira PL, Heystek HC, Wormmeester J, Wierenga EA, Kapsenberg ML. Glatiramer acetate (copolymer-1, copaxone) promotes Th2 cell development and increased IL-10 production through modulation of dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2003;170:4483–8.
- 62. Ochi H, Feng-Jun M, Osoegawa M, Minohara M, Murai H, Taniwaki T, Kira J. Timedependent cytokine deviation toward the Th2 side in Japanese multiple sclerosis patients with interferon beta-1b. J Neurol Sci. 2004;222:65–73.
- 63. Johnson KP, Brooks BR, Cohen JA, Ford CC, Goldstein J, Lisak RP, Myers LW, Panitch HS, Rose JW, Schiffer RB. Copolymer 1 reduces relapse rate and improves disability in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: results of a phase III multicenter, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. The Copolymer 1 Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Neurology. 1995;45:1268–76.
- 64. Mancardi GL, Sardanelli F, Parodi RC, Melani E, Capello E, Inglese M, Ferrari A, Sormani MP, Ottonello C, Levrero F, et al. Effect of copolymer-1 on serial gadolinium-enhanced MRI in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1998;50:1127–33.

- 65. Billiau A, Heremans H, Vandekerckhove F, Dijkmans R, Sobis H, Meulepas E, Carton H. Enhancement of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in mice by antibodies against IFN-gamma. J Immunol. 1988;140:1506–10.
- 66. Steinman L. A brief history of T(H)17, the first major revision in the T(H)1/T(H)2 hypothesis of T cell-mediated tissue damage. Nat Med. 2007;13:139–45.
- 67. Voorthuis JA, Uitdehaag BM, De Groot CJ, Goede PH, van der Meide PH, Dijkstra CD. Suppression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by intraventricular administration of interferon-gamma in Lewis rats. Clin Exp Immunol. 1990;81:183–8.
- Duong TT, Finkelman FD, Singh B, Strejan GH. Effect of anti-interferon-gamma monoclonal antibody treatment on the development of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in resistant mouse strains. J Neuroimmunol. 1994;53:101–7.
- 69. Krakowski M, Owens T. Interferon-gamma confers resistance to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Eur J Immunol. 1996;26:1641–6.
- Tran EH, Prince EN, Owens T. IFN-gamma shapes immune invasion of the central nervous system via regulation of chemokines. J Immunol. 2000;164:2759–68.
- Willenborg DO, Fordham S, Bernard CC, Cowden WB, Ramshaw IA. IFN-gamma plays a critical down-regulatory role in the induction and effector phase of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 1996;157:3223–7.
- 72. Willenborg DO, Fordham SA, Staykova MA, Ramshaw IA, Cowden WB. IFN-gamma is critical to the control of murine autoimmune encephalomyelitis and regulates both in the periphery and in the target tissue: a possible role for nitric oxide. J Immunol. 1999;163:5278–86.
- 73. Furlan R, Brambilla E, Ruffini F, Poliani PL, Bergami A, Marconi PC, Franciotta DM, Penna G, Comi G, Adorini L, et al. Intrathecal delivery of IFN-gamma protects C57BL/6 mice from chronic-progressive experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by increasing apoptosis of central nervous system-infiltrating lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2001;167:1821–9.
- 74. Zhang GX, Gran B, Yu S, Li J, Siglienti I, Chen X, Kamoun M, Rostami A. Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in IL-12 receptor-beta 2-deficient mice: IL-12 responsiveness is not required in the pathogenesis of inflammatory demyelination in the central nervous system. J Immunol. 2003;170:2153–60.
- Infante-Duarte C, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Kamradt T. Microbial lipopeptides induce the production of IL-17 in Th cells. J Immunol. 2000;165:6107–15.
- Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL. Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:1910–4.
- 77. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med. 2005;201:233–40.
- Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD, Cua DJ. Divergent pro- and antiinflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med. 2003;198:1951–7.
- Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Wahl SM, Schoeb TR, Weaver CT. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. Nature. 2006;441:231–4.
- Tahmasebinia F, Pourgholaminejad A. The role of Th17 cells in auto-inflammatory neurological disorders. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2017;79:408–16.
- Ferber IA, Brocke S, Taylor-Edwards C, Ridgway W, Dinisco C, Steinman L, Dalton D, Fathman CG. Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). J Immunol. 1996;156:5–7.
- 82. Gran B, Zhang GX, Yu S, Li J, Chen XH, Ventura ES, Kamoun M, Rostami A. IL-12p35deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: evidence for redundancy in the IL-12 system in the induction of central nervous system autoimmune demyelination. J Immunol. 2002;169:7104–10.

- Gutcher I, Urich E, Wolter K, Prinz M, Becher B. Interleukin 18-independent engagement of interleukin 18 receptor-alpha is required for autoimmune inflammation. Nat Immunol. 2006;7:946–53.
- El-behi M, Rostami A, Ciric B. Current views on the roles of Th1 and Th17 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2010;5:189–97.
- Kroenke MA, Carlson TJ, Andjelkovic AV, Segal BM. IL-12- and IL-23-modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. J Exp Med. 2008;205:1535–41.
- Nakae S, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwakura Y. Suppression of immune induction of collageninduced arthritis in IL-17-deficient mice. J Immunol. 2003;171:6173–7.
- Bush KA, Farmer KM, Walker JS, Kirkham BW. Reduction of joint inflammation and bone erosion in rat adjuvant arthritis by treatment with interleukin-17 receptor IgG1 Fc fusion protein. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46:802–5.
- Kreymborg K, Etzensperger R, Dumoutier L, Haak S, Rebollo A, Buch T, Heppner FL, Renauld JC, Becher B. IL-22 is expressed by Th17 cells in an IL-23-dependent fashion, but not required for the development of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2007;179:8098–104.
- Bahlo M, Stankovich J, Danoy P, Hickey PF, Taylor BV, Browning SR, Australian, New Zealand Multiple Sclerosis Genetics C, Brown MA, Rubio JP. Saliva-derived DNA performs well in large-scale, high-density single-nucleotide polymorphism microarray studies. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2010;19:794–8.
- Baranzini SE, Wang J, Gibson RA, Galwey N, Naegelin Y, Barkhof F, Radue EW, Lindberg RL, Uitdehaag BM, Johnson MR, et al. Genome-wide association analysis of susceptibility and clinical phenotype in multiple sclerosis. Hum Mol Genet. 2009;18:767–78.
- 91. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics C, Wellcome Trust Case Control C, Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CC, Patsopoulos NA, Moutsianas L, Dilthey A, Su Z, et al. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. Nature. 2011;476:214–9.
- 92. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics C, Hafler DA, Compston A, Sawcer S, Lander ES, Daly MJ, De Jager PL, de Bakker PI, Gabriel SB, Mirel DB, et al. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:851–62.
- 93. Patsopoulos NA, Bayer Pharma MSGWG, Steering Committees of Studies Evaluating I-b, a CCRA, Consortium AN, GeneMsa, International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics C, Esposito F, Reischl J, Lehr S, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies novel multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci. Ann Neurol. 2011;70:897–912.
- 94. Sawcer S, Franklin RJ, Ban M. Multiple sclerosis genetics. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13:700-9.
- 95. Davidson A, Diamond B. Autoimmune diseases. N Engl J Med. 2001;345:340-50.
- Naito S, Namerow N, Mickey MR, Terasaki PI. Multiple sclerosis: association with HL-A3. Tissue Antigens. 1972;2:1–4.
- 97. Jersild C, Svejgaard A, Fog T. HL-A antigens and multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 1972;1:1240-1.
- Bertrams J, Kuwert E, Liedtke U. HL-A antigens and multiple sclerosis. Tissue Antigens. 1972;2:405–8.
- 99. Traugott U, Reinherz EL, Raine CS. Multiple sclerosis: distribution of T cell subsets within active chronic lesions. Science. 1983;219:308–10.
- 100. Hauser SL, Cazenave PA, Lyon-Caen O, Taguchi T, Huchet M, Nuret H, Changeux JP, Henderson CE. Immunoblot analysis of circulating antibodies against muscle proteins in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and other neurologic diseases. Neurology. 1986;36:1614–8.
- Hohlfeld R, Wekerle H. Immunological update on multiple sclerosis. Curr Opin Neurol. 2001;14:299–304.
- 102. Hayashi T, Morimoto C, Burks JS, Kerr C, Hauser SL. Dual-label immunocytochemistry of the active multiple sclerosis lesion: major histocompatibility complex and activation antigens. Ann Neurol. 1988;24:523–31.
- 103. van Nierop GP, van Luijn MM, Michels SS, Melief MJ, Janssen M, Langerak AW, Ouwendijk WJD, Hintzen RQ, Verjans G. Phenotypic and functional characterization of T cells in white matter lesions of multiple sclerosis patients. Acta Neuropathol. 2017;134:383–401.

- 104. Hauser SL, Bhan AK, Gilles F, Kemp M, Kerr C, Weiner HL. Immunohistochemical analysis of the cellular infiltrate in multiple sclerosis lesions. Ann Neurol. 1986;19:578–87.
- 105. Skulina C, Schmidt S, Dornmair K, Babbe H, Roers A, Rajewsky K, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R, Goebels N. Multiple sclerosis: brain-infiltrating CD8+ T cells persist as clonal expansions in the cerebrospinal fluid and blood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:2428–33.
- Steinman L. Myelin-specific CD8 T cells in the pathogenesis of experimental allergic encephalitis and multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med. 2001;194:F27–30.
- 107. Huseby ES, Liggitt D, Brabb T, Schnabel B, Ohlen C, Goverman J. A pathogenic role for myelin-specific CD8(+) T cells in a model for multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med. 2001;194:669–76.
- 108. Neumann H, Medana IM, Bauer J, Lassmann H. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes in autoimmune and degenerative CNS diseases. Trends Neurosci. 2002;25:313–9.
- Neumann H, Cavalie A, Jenne DE, Wekerle H. Induction of MHC class I genes in neurons. Science. 1995;269:549–52.
- 110. Machado-Santos J, Saji E, Troscher AR, Paunovic M, Liblau R, Gabriely G, Bien CG, Bauer J, Lassmann H. The compartmentalized inflammatory response in the multiple sclerosis brain is composed of tissue-resident CD8+ T lymphocytes and B cells. Brain. 2018;141:2066–82.
- 111. Mueller SN, Mackay LK. Tissue-resident memory T cells: local specialists in immune defence. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16:79–89.
- 112. Gebhardt T, Wakim LM, Eidsmo L, Reading PC, Heath WR, Carbone FR. Memory T cells in nonlymphoid tissue that provide enhanced local immunity during infection with herpes simplex virus. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:524–30.
- 113. Liu L, Zhong Q, Tian T, Dubin K, Athale SK, Kupper TS. Epidermal injury and infection during poxvirus immunization is crucial for the generation of highly protective T cell-mediated immunity. Nat Med. 2010;16:224–7.
- 114. Teijaro JR, Turner D, Pham Q, Wherry EJ, Lefrancois L, Farber DL. Cutting edge: tissueretentive lung memory CD4 T cells mediate optimal protection to respiratory virus infection. J Immunol. 2011;187:5510–4.
- Owens GC, Chang JW, Huynh MN, Chirwa T, Vinters HV, Mathern GW. Evidence for resident memory T cells in Rasmussen encephalitis. Front Immunol. 2016;7:64.
- Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Bunkowski S, Kuhlmann T, Bruck W. Acute axonal injury in multiple sclerosis. Correlation with demyelination and inflammation. Brain. 2000;123(Pt 6):1174–83.
- 117. Kuhlmann T, Lingfeld G, Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Bruck W. Acute axonal damage in multiple sclerosis is most extensive in early disease stages and decreases over time. Brain. 2002;125:2202–12.
- 118. Sun D, Whitaker JN, Huang Z, Liu D, Coleclough C, Wekerle H, Raine CS. Myelin antigenspecific CD8+ T cells are encephalitogenic and produce severe disease in C57BL/6 mice. J Immunol. 2001;166:7579–87.
- 119. Ford ML, Evavold BD. Specificity, magnitude, and kinetics of MOG-specific CD8+ T cell responses during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Eur J Immunol. 2005;35:76–85.
- Horwitz MS, Evans CF, McGavern DB, Rodriguez M, Oldstone MBA. Primary demyelination in transgenic mice expressing interferon-gamma. Nat Med. 1997;3:1037–41.
- 121. Huber M, Heink S, Grothe H, Guralnik A, Reinhard K, Elflein K, Hunig T, Mittrucker HW, Brustle A, Kamradt T, et al. A Th17-like developmental process leads to CD8(+) Tc17 cells with reduced cytotoxic activity. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39:1716–25.
- 122. Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, Fugger L. Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol. 2008;172:146–55.
- 123. Huber M, Heink S, Pagenstecher A, Reinhard K, Ritter J, Visekruna A, Guralnik A, Bollig N, Jeltsch K, Heinemann C, et al. IL-17A secretion by CD8+ T cells supports Th17-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:247–60.
- 124. Leuenberger T, Paterka M, Reuter E, Herz J, Niesner RA, Radbruch H, Bopp T, Zipp F, Siffrin V. The role of CD8+ T cells and their local interaction with CD4+ T cells in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein35-55-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2013;191:4960–8.

- 125. Reuter E, Gollan R, Grohmann N, Paterka M, Salmon H, Birkenstock J, Richers S, Leuenberger T, Brandt AU, Kuhlmann T, et al. Cross-recognition of a myelin peptide by CD8+ T cells in the CNS is not sufficient to promote neuronal damage. J Neurosci. 2015;35:4837–50.
- 126. Fournier AE, GrandPre T, Strittmatter SM. Identification of a receptor mediating Nogo-66 inhibition of axonal regeneration. Nature. 2001;409:341–6.
- 127. Domeniconi M, Cao Z, Spencer T, Sivasankaran R, Wang K, Nikulina E, Kimura N, Cai H, Deng K, Gao Y, et al. Myelin-associated glycoprotein interacts with the Nogo66 receptor to inhibit neurite outgrowth. Neuron. 2002;35:283–90.
- 128. Liu BP, Fournier A, GrandPre T, Strittmatter SM. Myelin-associated glycoprotein as a functional ligand for the Nogo-66 receptor. Science. 2002;297:1190–3.
- 129. Wang KC, Koprivica V, Kim JA, Sivasankaran R, Guo Y, Neve RL, He Z. Oligodendrocytemyelin glycoprotein is a Nogo receptor ligand that inhibits neurite outgrowth. Nature. 2002;417:941–4.
- Yamashita T, Higuchi H, Tohyama M. The p75 receptor transduces the signal from myelinassociated glycoprotein to Rho. J Cell Biol. 2002;157:565–70.
- 131. Wang KC, Kim JA, Sivasankaran R, Segal R, He Z. P75 interacts with the Nogo receptor as a co-receptor for Nogo, MAG and OMgp. Nature. 2002;420:74–8.
- 132. Wong ST, Henley JR, Kanning KC, Huang KH, Bothwell M, Poo MM. A p75(NTR) and Nogo receptor complex mediates repulsive signaling by myelin-associated glycoprotein. Nat Neurosci. 2002;5:1302–8.
- 133. Mi S, Lee X, Shao Z, Thill G, Ji B, Relton J, Levesque M, Allaire N, Perrin S, Sands B, et al. LINGO-1 is a component of the Nogo-66 receptor/p75 signaling complex. Nat Neurosci. 2004;7:221–8.
- 134. Yamashita T, Tohyama M. The p75 receptor acts as a displacement factor that releases Rho from Rho-GDI. Nat Neurosci. 2003;6:461–7.
- 135. Zhang Z, Xu X, Zhang Y, Zhou J, Yu Z, He C. LINGO-1 interacts with WNK1 to regulate nogo-induced inhibition of neurite extension. J Biol Chem. 2009;284:15717–28.
- 136. Fukata Y, Itoh TJ, Kimura T, Menager C, Nishimura T, Shiromizu T, Watanabe H, Inagaki N, Iwamatsu A, Hotani H, et al. CRMP-2 binds to tubulin heterodimers to promote microtubule assembly. Nat Cell Biol. 2002;4:583–91.
- 137. Mi S, Miller RH, Lee X, Scott ML, Shulag-Morskaya S, Shao Z, Chang J, Thill G, Levesque M, Zhang M, et al. LINGO-1 negatively regulates myelination by oligodendrocytes. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8:745–51.
- 138. Mi S, Hu B, Hahm K, Luo Y, Kam Hui ES, Yuan Q, Wong WM, Wang L, Su H, Chu TH, et al. LINGO-1 antagonist promotes spinal cord remyelination and axonal integrity in MOGinduced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Med. 2007;13:1228–33.
- 139. Mi S, Miller RH, Tang W, Lee X, Hu B, Wu W, Zhang Y, Shields CB, Zhang Y, Miklasz S, et al. Promotion of central nervous system remyelination by induced differentiation of oligo-dendrocyte precursor cells. Ann Neurol. 2009;65:304–15.
- 140. Rudick RA, Mi S, Sandrock AW Jr. LINGO-1 antagonists as therapy for multiple sclerosis: in vitro and in vivo evidence. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2008;8:1561–70.
- 141. Cadavid D, Balcer L, Galetta S, Aktas O, Ziemssen T, Vanopdenbosch L, Frederiksen J, Skeen M, Jaffe GJ, Butzkueven H, et al. Safety and efficacy of opicinumab in acute optic neuritis (RENEW): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16:189–99.
- 142. Siebold C, Yamashita T, Monnier PP, Mueller BK, Pasterkamp RJ. RGMs: structural insights, molecular regulation, and downstream signaling. Trends Cell Biol. 2017;27:365–78.
- 143. Yamashita T, Mueller BK, Hata K. Neogenin and repulsive guidance molecule signaling in the central nervous system. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2007;17:29–34.
- 144. Matsunaga E, Tauszig-Delamasure S, Monnier PP, Mueller BK, Strittmatter SM, Mehlen P, Chedotal A. RGM and its receptor neogenin regulate neuronal survival. Nat Cell Biol. 2004;6:749–55.
- 145. Rajagopalan S, Deitinghoff L, Davis D, Conrad S, Skutella T, Chedotal A, Mueller BK, Strittmatter SM. Neogenin mediates the action of repulsive guidance molecule. Nat Cell Biol. 2004;6:756–62.

- 146. Wilson NH, Key B. Neogenin interacts with RGMa and netrin-1 to guide axons within the embryonic vertebrate forebrain. Dev Biol. 2006;296:485–98.
- 147. Schwab JM, Conrad S, Monnier PP, Julien S, Mueller BK, Schluesener HJ. Spinal cord injuryinduced lesional expression of the repulsive guidance molecule (RGM). Eur J Neurosci. 2005;21:1569–76.
- 148. Schwab JM, Monnier PP, Schluesener HJ, Conrad S, Beschorner R, Chen L, Meyermann R, Mueller BK. Central nervous system injury-induced repulsive guidance molecule expression in the adult human brain. Arch Neurol. 2005;62:1561–8.
- 149. Hata K, Fujitani M, Yasuda Y, Doya H, Saito T, Yamagishi S, Mueller BK, Yamashita T. RGMa inhibition promotes axonal growth and recovery after spinal cord injury. J Cell Biol. 2006;173:47–58.
- 150. Nakagawa H, Ninomiya T, Yamashita T, Takada M. Treatment with the neutralizing antibody against repulsive guidance molecule-a promotes recovery from impaired manual dexterity in a primate model of spinal cord injury. Cereb Cortex. 2019;29:561–72.
- 151. Muramatsu R, Kubo T, Mori M, Nakamura Y, Fujita Y, Akutsu T, Okuno T, Taniguchi J, Kumanogoh A, Yoshida M, et al. RGMa modulates T cell responses and is involved in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Med. 2011;17:488–94.
- Tanabe S, Yamashita T. Repulsive guidance molecule-a is involved in Th17-cell-induced neurodegeneration in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Cell Rep. 2014;9:1459–70.
- 153. Tanabe S, Fujita Y, Ikuma K, Yamashita T. Inhibiting repulsive guidance molecule-a suppresses secondary progression in mouse models of multiple sclerosis. Cell Death Dis. 2018;9:1061.
- 154. Demicheva E, Cui YF, Bardwell P, Barghorn S, Kron M, Meyer AH, Schmidt M, Gerlach B, Leddy M, Barlow E, et al. Targeting repulsive guidance molecule A to promote regeneration and neuroprotection in multiple sclerosis. Cell Rep. 2015;10:1887–98.
- 155. Karim H, Kim SH, Lapato AS, Yasui N, Katzenellenbogen JA, Tiwari-Woodruff SK. Increase in chemokine CXCL1 by ERbeta ligand treatment is a key mediator in promoting axon myelination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115:6291–6.
- 156. Tiwari-Woodruff S, Morales LB, Lee R, Voskuhl RR. Differential neuroprotective and antiinflammatory effects of estrogen receptor (ER)alpha and ERbeta ligand treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:14813–8.
- 157. Moore SM, Khalaj AJ, Kumar S, Winchester Z, Yoon J, Yoo T, Martinez-Torres L, Yasui N, Katzenellenbogen JA, Tiwari-Woodruff SK. Multiple functional therapeutic effects of the estrogen receptor beta agonist indazole-Cl in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:18061–6.
- 158. Crawford DK, Mangiardi M, Song B, Patel R, Du S, Sofroniew MV, Voskuhl RR, Tiwari-Woodruff SK. Oestrogen receptor beta ligand: a novel treatment to enhance endogenous functional remyelination. Brain. 2010;133:2999–3016.
- 159. Karim H, Kim SH, Lauderdale K, Lapato AS, Atkinson K, Yasui N, Yamate-Morgan H, Sekyi M, Katzenellenbogen JA, Tiwari-Woodruff SK. Analogues of ERbeta ligand chloroindazole exert immunomodulatory and remyelinating effects in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. Sci Rep. 2019;9:503.
- Montalban X, Belachew S, Wolinsky JS. Ocrelizumab in primary progressive and relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:1694.
- 161. Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, de Seze J, Giovannoni G, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, et al. Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:209–20.
- 162. Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, Giovannoni G, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, Lublin F, Montalban X, Rammohan KW, Selmaj K, et al. Ocrelizumab versus interferon Beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:221–34.

The Role of Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesis of Neuroinflammatory Disorders



Arash Pourgholaminejad and Foozhan Tahmasebinia

Abstract Neuroinflammation, characterized by infiltration of immune cells such as T lymphocyte populations and other immune cells, is a prominent pathological feature of neurodegenerative disorders. However, consequence of neural injury during this inflammation is still unclear. Traditionally, CD4+ T helper (Th) cells have been categorized into various subsets. T helper 17 (Th17) cells are a Th subpopulation that plays an important role in the pathogenesis of neuroinflammatory diseases. The chronic forms of inflammatory milieu induce the Th17 cell polarization from their precursors and then secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-17 (IL-17), IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, and IL-6. Both interferon-γ (IFN-γ) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) from Th17 cells exacerbate the inflammation. Migrating autoreactive Th17 cells into the nervous system can elicit neuronal apoptosis directly via Fas/FasL interaction. Th17 cells increase migration of other immune cells such as neutrophils into the inflamed CNS through the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and trigger the inflammatory reactions that occasionally lead to irreversible neuronal damages. Therefore, it is not surprising that these cells are implicated in a wide range of neuroinflammatory and autoimmune disorders including multiple sclerosis (MS), Alzheimer disease (AD), Parkinson disease (PD), schizophrenia, and many other neuroimmune disorders. In this chapter, we describe the immunopathogenesis of Th17 cells in neuroinflammations and discuss the neuronal injuries induced by Th17 cells and other Th17-related immune cells.

Keywords Th17 cell · Neuroinflammation · Autoimmune disease · Neurodegenerative disorder

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Pourgholaminejad (🖂)

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Guilan University of Medical Sciences, Rasht, Iran

e-mail: pourgholaminejad@gums.ac.ir

F. Tahmasebinia

Department of Biological Sciences, Institute in Advanced Studies in Basic Sciences (IASBS), Zanjan, Iran

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_3

Introduction

Based on some immunological features such as cytokine profile, transcription factors, phenotypic characteristics, homing receptors and immunological functions, CD4+ T helper (Th) cells are subdivided into the four main subpopulation including Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells and regulatory T (Treg) cells. Other Th subsets such as TFH (T follicular helper), Th9, and Th22 cells have their phenotypic and functional properties [1]. Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells trigger and promote immune response from the different pathways, and these responses eliminate foreign antigens. These subsets alone or with collaboration of other immune cells such as macrophages, neutrophils, dendritic cells, and also B cells can cause inflammatory reactions that lead to hypersensitivity disorders and autoimmunity. Exclusively, Th1 and Th17 cells are involved in the immunopathogenesis of some autoimmune and other chronic inflammatory immune-mediated diseases, whereas Th2 cells play a central role in allergic or atopic diseases. On the other side, one function of Treg cells is to avoid autoimmune responses and to stop the effector reaction against antigens through modulation or regulation of immune cells, when the response itself becomes hazardous for the host [2, 3]. The existence of Th cells is thus critical for proper immunehomeostasis and host defense.

Historically, Mossman and Coffman identified two subpopulations of effector Th lymphocytes, Th1 and Th2 cells, in 1986. In 2000, the first report on Th17 lymphocytes mentioned the role of these cells in host immune response to the bacterial species of the spirochete class of the genus Borrelia, named B. burgdorferi [4]. Recently, Th17 cells have been the most studied Th subset distinct from Th1 and Th2 cells with particular phenotypic and functional properties. Despite the fact that Th17 cells were discovered more than 10 years ago, the roles of these cells are not adequately understood [5]. These cells produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17 (IL-17A), IL-17F, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, IL-6, TNF-α, IFN- γ , and also granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF). They play an important role in the pathogenesis of neuroinflammatory diseases [6, 7]. It can be stated that IL-17 cytokine family is a group of cytokines which includes six members: IL-17A, B, C, D, E (IL-25), and F [8]. Retinoic acid-related orphan receptor (RORC) (the human ortholog of mouse ROR-yt) is the specific transcription factor of Th17 cells. The chronic forms of inflammatory milieu induce the Th17 cell polarization from their precursors and intensify the inflammatory reactions in the nervous system [9, 10]. It has been demonstrated that generation of pathogenic/inflammatory IL-17-producing Th cells occurs in the presence of proinflammatory factors such as IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-23 [10]. These Th17 cells produce simultaneously both IL-17 and IFN- γ and co-express transcription factors T-bet (specific for Th1 cells) and RORC (specific for Th17 cells) [11, 12]. Hybrids of Th1 and Th17 cells are named Th17/1 cells [13]. Th17/1 cells are a new putative subtype of IL-17-secreting Th cells. Interestingly, the pattern of chemokine receptors expression on the surface of Th17/1 cells can isolate them from Th17 cells.

Th17 cells express C-C Chemokine Receptor type-6 (CCR6) and CCR4 whereas Th17/1 cells express CCR6 and CXCR3 [14]. Collectively, the precise origin of Th17/1 cells and their biological effects remain unclear. This research field requires more experiments.

Regarding the issue of Th17 cell differentiation, it has been shown that the transforming growth factor (TGF)- β acts as an anti-inflammatory. Treg-related cytokine is essential for the Th17 cell polarization [15]. Our own studies have also revealed that optimal differentiation of human Th17 cells occurs in the presence of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-23 independently of TGF- β and TGF- β -related signaling, with TGF- β being a negative regulator of human Th17 cell development [10]. We have shown that in the presence of TGF- β , the production/ expression of IL-17, IFN- γ , and IL-22 decreases and the expression of Foxp3 (specific transcription factor for Treg cells) increases (Fig. 1) [10].

Given the pro-inflammatory features of Th17 cells and their active role in neuroinflammation in neuroimmune and neurodegenerative disorders, we focus on the functions of Th17 cells and their mechanisms in Multiple Sclerosis (MS) and other neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson Disease (PD), Alzheimer Disease (AD) and Schizophrenia.



Fig. 1 Human Th17 cell differentiation. (**a**) Scheme of human Th17 cell polarization induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-23), independently of TGF-β and its related signaling. In the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, production of IL-17, IL-22, and IFN-γ is enhanced, while TGF-β decreases the production of IL-17, IL-22, and IFN-γ but upregulates Foxp3 expression. Using TGF-β signaling inhibitors (small molecules; SB-431542 and A83-01) reverse the situation. (**b**) Representative microimages are shown with different magnifications. Colonies of proliferating CD4+ T cells during Th17 cell polarization in the cell culture media are presented. (Courtesy of Dr. Pourgholaminejad, Guilan University of Medical Sciences, Rasht, Iran; [10])

The Role of Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesis of Multiple Sclerosis

Roles of Th1 and Th17 Cells in Pathogenesis of Multiple Sclerosis

MS is a multifactorial disease, and as well MS patients suffer from a variety of clinical indications including sensory loss, visual problems, muscle weakness, and difficulties in speech [16]. Clinically, MS is a heterogeneous disease, and most patients (>80%) experience initial relapsing-remitting (RRMS) period followed by the secondary progressive MS (SPMS) characterized by neurological disabilities [17]. MS initiates with the acute neuroinflammatory lesions characterized by disruption of BBB, and through these spaces, leukocytes especially T cells enter into the CNS. We can consider that MS is a T cell-mediated demyelinating disease of the human CNS with irreversible loss of myelin sheaths leading to chronic inflammation. In other words, MS is an autoimmune neurodegenerative disorder in which the underlying immunological mechanisms cause demyelination and progressive degeneration of gray and white matter [18]. The factors behind the initiation of inflammatory reactions remain unclear yet. Both innate and adaptive immune systems are implicated in the etiology of MS, and abnormality in the immune response is among the leading causes of MS, owing to the fact that the innate immunity along with adaptive immune cells particularly T lymphocytes could induce neurodegeneration by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines, enzymes, oxidative products, and reactive oxygen species (ROS) [19, 20].

Many findings point toward a central role of abnormal adaptive immune cells that are associated with immunopathogenesis of MS. Although the pathogenesis of MS remains elusive, recent studies have demonstrated that different Th subsets and Th-specific polarizing factors are also implicated in MS pathogenesis. Some systemic infections cause the upregulation of adhesion molecule expression on the surface of endothelium of the brain and spinal cord. This leads to the entering of leukocytes into the normally immunological privileged CNS. These inflammatory cells trigger other cascades of inflammatory events, resulting in the formation of CNS lesions and plaques [16]. CD4+ Th1 and Th17 cells are two inflammatory Th subsets that are considered as contributors in pathogenesis of MS through different mechanisms [21, 22]. Both Th1 and Th17 cells migrate to the CNS through endothelial cells. IL-17-induced Th cells attach to the brain endothelium better than IFN-y-secreting T cells. This is due to the CD49d, CD6 and melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM/CD146) expression on Th17 cell surface more than Th1 cells. Moreover, Th17 cells have a higher proliferative ability and are less susceptible to suppression than Th1 cells [23]. In another study, it has been shown that the expression of CCR6 is high in Th17 subsets that enhance infiltration of myelin-specific Th17 cells into the CNS. The CCR6 ligand (CCL20) is expressed on choroid plexus epithelial cells in mice and humans. The CCR6-CCL20 interaction is an important factor in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), and animal model of MS [24]. The pattern of CNS infiltration of Th17 cells is mediated by the integrin LFA-1 (α L β 2), whereas Th1 cells use the integrin VLA-4 (α 4 β 1) for their CNS migration. In the absence of VLA-4, Th17 cells could settle in the CNS [25]. Th17 cells through production of their hallmark pro-inflammatory cytokines disrupt BBB tight junctions and by CCR6-CCL20 interaction can infiltrate into the CNS (Fig. 2). Th17 cells show a high pathogenic potential in MS [6].



Fig. 2 Th17 cell functions in immunopathogenesis of neuroimmune disorders. Th17 cells by producing inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, IFN-γ, TNF-α, and GM-CSF can disrupt BBB tight junctions and through CCR6-CCL20 interaction migrate into the CNS. Th17 cell-derived cytokines enhance neutrophil infiltration, neutrophil enzymes, and their secretions in addition to BBB disruption. This causes neural damage and neuroinflammation. Autoreactive Th17 cells activate microglia to secrete other pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, TNF-α, and IL-6), complement proteins, and reactive oxygen species (ROS). These inflammatory factors can switch on apoptotic pathways in neurons. Also, Th17 cell-associated inflammation stimulates the expression of co-stimulatory and MHC molecules on microglia surfaces, leading to enhancement of TCR-MHC interaction between Th17-microglia cells. Moreover, Th17-neuronal interaction through Fas-FasL molecules induces neuronal apoptosis that finally lead to neural degeneration. (Courtesy of Dr. A. Pourgholaminejad, Guilan University of Medical Sciences, Rasht, Iran [7])

Actions of Divergent Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines

Myelin-specific T cell activation and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines are believed to have a crucial role in the development of MS pathogenesis. It was reported that the quantity of IL-17-producing T cells was elevated during clinical exacerbation in peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of MS patients [26]. Elevated levels of Th1- and Th17-derived cytokines including IL-2, IL-6, TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-22, and also IL-23 are found in progressive MS patients [27–29]. Recent data suggest that Th17 cells, Th17/1 cells, and also Th1 cells are involved in MS pathogenesis as well [30-32]. For the process of Th cell differentiation, the presence of the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) is essential [33]. According to Yang et al., inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cells are suppressed by the inhibition of IRF4. This leads to an increase in Treg cell infiltration and a decrease in Th1 and Th17 cell infiltration that eventually ameliorates MS symptoms in mice [34]. It is currently suggested that Th17 cells have a major role in the immunopathogenesis of MS because of the pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles including IL-17, IL-6, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, and TNF- α that could be associated with neuroinflammatory reaction, a primary feature of MS pathophysiology [35]. The frequency of autoreactive Th17 cells in the inflamed CNS is high in EAE [36]. The level of Th17 cells in the CSF of RRMS patients remains high when the patients are in the relapsing phase as compared to the remission phase [23]. In addition to Th17 cells, it is also believed that IL-17-secreting gamma-delta T ($\gamma\delta$ T) cells play a crucial pathogenic role in CNS inflammation in MS patients [37]. IL-17-secreting γδ T cells are a primary early source of IL-17 and IL-21 production that results in a considerable amount of IL-17 production by Th17 cells in autoimmune diseases [37]. Some studies have reported that brain autoimmunity specifically MS is associated with specific microbiota modifications and increased proliferation of Th17 cells in the intestine. Increased frequency of mucosal IL-17+, IL-22+, and Th17 cells correlates with high disease activity, and since the gut is an important environment for development of mucosal Th17 cells, myelin-specific autoreactive Th17 cells are driven in small intestinal mucosa and then migrate into the CNS [38].

Th17 Cell Plasticity

Since the autoreactive Th17 cells are the critical pathological cells in the pathophysiology of MS and EAE, CNS-resident natural killer (NK) cell enrichment ameliorates MS by interacting with microglia and suppressing myelin-reactive Th17 cells, which may substantiate Th17 cell key role in MS immunopathogenesis [39]. Some reports have demonstrated that IFN- γ -deficient mice, anti-IFN- γ -treated mice, and IFN- γ receptor-deficient mice develop EAE which is a classical Th1-associated disorder [40, 41]. Evidence suggests that IL-17- and IL-22-secreting Th cells are implicated in the early stages of MS [42]. The debate over the stability of Th17 cells was heated when it was reported that T cells express IL-17 and IFN- γ simultaneously under the inflammatory situations [43, 44]. It has also been reported that Th17/1 cells were present in the CNS of EAE mice and CNS of MS patients [27, 45], and circulating lymphocytes harvested from MS patients were found to have an increased propensity to polarize into IL-17/IFN- γ double secretors [27]. Kebir et al. have demonstrated that lymphocytes isolated from the blood of MS patients show considerable potential to expand into IFN- γ -secreting Th17 cells. Accordingly, IFN- γ + Th17 cells pass through the human BBB during the active phase of MS and accumulate in the CNS in mice [27]. This causes Th17 cells plasticity, impacts on phenotype instability and autoimmunity [30, 46]. IL-17-secreting Th cells that convert into IFN- γ producers (that so-called ex-Th17 cells) have been incriminated in the immunopathogenesis of EAE models [47]. About 15-20% of T cells in active MS injuries express GM-CSF, and the majority co-express IL-17 and IFN-y [47]. Langrish et al. have demonstrated that a more severe EAE occurs when Th17 cells are transferred as compared to Th1 cells [32]. Although autoreactive Th1 and Th17 cells induce similar disease, the pathology of the disease induced by these cells appears significantly different [48]. In fact, Th1- and Th17-mediated forms of EAE reveal different patterns of feedback to the same immunomodulatory agent [48].

Multiple Actions of IL-17

Since the hallmark cytokines of Th17 cells have pro-inflammatory effects, the consequences of the irreversible CNS damages are due to the high level of these cytokines in the CNS environment. IL-17 as a hallmark cytokine of Th17 cells affects a wide range of cells such as endothelial cells, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and myeloid cells. IL-17 stimulates and triggers production of other inflammatory factors such as endogenous pyrogens (IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α) and some chemoattractants including IL-8, CXCL1, CXCL6, and MIP-2 [49]. IL-4 (Th2-related factor) and IFN-y (Th1-related factor) negatively regulates IL-17 production from effector Th cells, and, also, neutralizing anti-IL-17 antibody suppressed chemokine expressions and leukocyte infiltrations in the CNS during EAE [50]. Furthermore, the development of EAE is inhibited in IL-17^{-/-} mice. These mice show delayed onset of disease, declined severity scores, improved histological changes and early recovery from disease [51]. IL-17 affects the function of myeloid cells such as neutrophils and microglia. The principal function of IL-17 is the breakdown of BBB. IL-17 selectively recruits neutrophils into the inflamed CNS via the release of neutrophilspecific chemokines [52]. Neutrophil-related enzymes such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), gelatinases, and other proteases can powerfully disrupt BBB (Fig. 2). The production of ROS, which is stimulated by IL-17, enhances endothelial cell adhesion molecule expression that leads to the infiltration of other inflammatory cells such as monocytes and macrophages [53]. Macrophage infiltration and delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH), predominated in Th1-mediated neuroinflammation, occur, whereas in the Th17-mediated damages, neutrophils are predominant [48].

Th17-Related Inflammation and the Neuronal Apoptosis

Brain-resident microglia/macrophage and CNS-infiltrated T cells play important roles in neuropathology of MS. Activated microglia and T cells can be found in close proximity in CNS lesions [54]. Resident microglia/macrophages are thought to play major roles in demyelinating lesion formation through re-stimulation of T cells within the CNS. They act as antigen-presenting cells to restimulate T lymphocytes in the CNS [55]. The recruitment of monocytes/macrophages is mediated by CCL2-CCR2 signaling. Hypertrophic astrocytes in active MS lesions produce CCL2, while CCR2 is expressed on monocytes/macrophages [56]. Thus, macrophages play major roles in antigen presentation. Microglia/macrophages express major histocompatibility complex (MHC class-I and MHC class-II) molecules along with several co-stimulatory molecules (such as B7.1 and B7.2) [57]. B7 molecules can interact with CD28 on T cell surfaces. B7-CD28 interaction causes T cell activation, proliferation, differentiation and cytokine production. Other costimulatory molecules such as OX40 ligand and CD40 ligand express on the microglia/macrophages that can re-activate auto-inflammatory infiltrated T cells. This microglia/macrophages-T cell interaction through MHC and co-stimulatory molecules leads to a cascade of inflammatory events resulting in neuronal damage [54].

Treatment of microglial cells with IL-17 increase production of nitric oxide (NO), IL-6, MIP-2, and neurotrophic factors. Amazingly, Kawanokuchi et al. have shown that IL-17 is produced by microglia in response to IL-23 or IL-1β. Theses authors showed that microglia produce IL-1ß and IL-23 itself. These cytokines may act in an autocrine manner to induce IL-17 secretion by microglial cells [58]. Infiltrated Th17 cells cause overexpression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules on microglia surfaces and, through the TCR-MHC interaction, activate microglial cells producing inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α), complement proteins, and ROS. This leads to enhancement of other immune cell migrations and CNS inflammation of MS patients (Fig. 2). These neuroinflammations ultimately lead to neuronal apoptosis and neural degeneration. Neuronal apoptosis is mediated by Fas/Fas-ligand interaction. The expression of Fas molecule is upregulated when the neurons are exposed to inflammatory situations such as inflammatory cytokines. It has been revealed that IFN- γ can upregulate the expression of Fas on the neuronal surfaces [59], and also the formation of immunological synapse between T cells and neurons through MHC-peptide and TCR complex promotes the polarized release of IFN-y, which would in turn enhance neuronal Fas expression and susceptibility to apoptosis [60]. In this regard, Th17 cells predominantly express Fas-L, and the neuronal apoptosis takes place through Fas/Fas-L interaction between neuron and Th17 cells (Fig. 2) [61]. IL-17 also interferes with re-myelination process, reducing survival and inducing oligodendrocyte apoptosis, the myelin-forming cells [62, 63]. Paintlia et al. have shown that synergistic activity of IL-17 and TNF- α increases oxidative stress-mediated oligodendrocyte apoptosis [63]. Another pathway of neuronal apoptosis that is mediated by Th17 cells is through the oxidative stress. Oxidative stress is the state of imbalance between the level of antioxidant defense mechanism and secretion of the ROS such as hydrogen peroxide, superoxide free radicals, and nitric oxide [64]. ROS generation is induced by Th17- and Th1-related cytokines and this leads to cytokine-induced oligodendrocyte/neuron apoptosis [63]. ROS also react with cellular macromolecules through oxidation and causes the neurons/oligodendrocyte undergo apoptosis. Inflammation-associated oxidative burst in activated microglia/macrophages has a critical function in demyelination and ROS-mediated CNS injury. Neuroinflammation can trigger oxidative stress by two mechanisms: secretion of ROS by activated microglia and astrocytes and arachidonic acid signaling through the cyclooxygenase pathway [65]. ROS contribute to many mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of MS. Upon interaction of immune cells such as monocytes with brain endothelium, ROS are produced which leads to BBB tight junction alterations, loss of BBB integrity and subsequent infiltration of leukocytes into the CNS. Furthermore, migratory leukocytes secrete ROS in high levels which induce neuronal and axonal injury [66, 67]. In contrast to the active functions of IL-17 to progression of MS and EAE, some reports have pointed out the negative or minor function of IL-17. IL-17-deficient mice are susceptible to the induction of EAE, and upregulation of IL-17 in murine T cells has no major effect on the development and severity of the disease [68].

Multiple Actions of IL-22, IL-23, and GM-CSF

IL-22 and IL-23 as well as Th17-derived factors play crucial functions in neuroimmune diseases such as MS. The production of IL-22 is induced by IL-23, increases during the peak of EAE, and decreases after neurological recovery [69]. IL-22 is also produced by Th22 cells, another Th cell subset involved in neuroinflammatory diseases [70, 71]. IL-17 together with IL-22 disrupt BBB tight junctions, because BBB expresses IL-17R and IL-22R. Autoreactive Th17 cells migrate toward the CNS through this cavities (Fig. 2) [72]. IL-23 is a member of IL-21 cytokine family, as an inducer of Th17 cell expansion. It helps the Th17 cell survival and maintenance of IL-17 production. Moreover, IL-23 has a role in late-stage differentiation and survival of Th17 cells. Like IL-12, IL-23 is produced by dendritic cells (DC) and other phagocytes. Monocyte-derived DCs secrete and express elevated amounts of IL-23 in MS patients [73]. IL-23R is expressed on the surface of Th17 cells. IL-23 acts as an autocrine factor. Moreover, development of Th17/1 cells is triggered by IL-23 and other inflammatory factors (Fig. 1) [74]. In the absence of IL-23, Th17 cell polarization is inhibited at the early activation stage. This leads to less proliferation and migration of Th17 cells toward the CNS from lymph nodes [75]. An important finding about the role of IL-23 in the pathogenesis of MS is that the anti-IL-23-specific antibody blocks the IL-23 function, leading to the inhibition of acute EAE. Furthermore, anti-IL-23 treatment reduces the serum level of IL-17, as well as CNS expression of IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-6, and TNF- α mRNA [76]. Blockade of IL-23 by monoclonal antibodies can be considered as an effective strategy of MS therapies. GM-CSF is another MS-related Th17-derived cytokine that has recently

gained more attention in the pathogenesis of MS. A recent study has indicated that encephalitogenicity of Th17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced secretion of the GM-CSF [77]. IL-23 and the transcription factor RORyt drive the expression of GM-CSF in Th17 cells. Autoreactive Th17 cells with lacking GM-CSF fail to initiate neuroinflammation. It has been shown that GM-CSF-producing Th cells with a deficiency of IL-17- and IFN- γ can induce EAE [78]. So, GM-CSF production by Th17 cells is critical for their capacity to induce MS/EAE. Moreover, GM-CSF helps the recruitment of other immune cells such as activated monocytes, macrophages, and granulocytes into the CNS [79].

Open Problems and Therapeutic Applications

Inflammation in the brain parenchyma is primarily induced by Th17 cells rather than Th1 which triggers substantial increase of IL-17. Spinal cord parenchyma inflammation may be caused by a wide range of Th17/Th1 ratio [80]. The number of Th1 cells remains constant in the peripheral blood of active MS patients, but the Th17 cells expand and increase [81]. Research findings pertaining to the importance of Th17 cells and its associated cytokines in the pathogenesis of MS have been confusing and contradictory. There are several studies pointing toward the crucial role of Th17 cells and their hallmark cytokines, IL-17, IL-22, and IL-23, in the pathogenesis of MS. However, other studies have demonstrated a minor role of IL-17 and IL-22 in the development of MS [68, 82]. Several factors such as differences in protocols, strains of mice, and immunization strategies could underlie these controversies. The concept of Th17 cells' role in CNS inflammation, specifically MS, is still a matter of debate.

Nowadays, different approaches directed against Th17 cells and their related cytokines, including IL-17, IL-23, and GM-CSF, have been developed. Some therapies are currently being tested in clinical trials. It has been proposed that IFN- β , one of the first-line MS-modifying agents, inhibits Th17 cell development. IFN-β has been used over the past 20 years as a primary therapy in RRMS, and the effect of IFN-β is multifactorial. IFN-β shifts the dendritic cells to produce anti-inflammatory factors such as IL-27 rather than the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 and IL-23 [83]. Also, IFN-β inhibits IL-17 production and induces IL-10 secretion. IFN-β directly suppresses human Th17 differentiation by inhibition of RORC expression in CD4+ CD45RA+ T cells [84]. FTY720 (Fingolimod) is a sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptor modulator that has shown efficacy in phase II and III clinical trials in MS patients. FTY720 suppresses lymphocyte egress from lymph nodes and spleen into the peripheral blood circulation. FTY720 reduces IL-17producing T cells in the blood circulation [85]. The fully humanized neutralizing anti-IL-17A antibody called AIN457 (Secukinumab) (clinicaltrial.gov) is already accepted for the first-line treatment of psoriasis. It showed a reduction by 63% of new MRI lesions compared with placebo-treated MS patients [86]. Ixekizumab is another anti-IL-17 monoclonal antibody with higher potential for the treatment of MS patients (clinicaltrial.gov). Ixekizumab is also currently tested in psoriasis [87]. Human monoclonal antibody against GM-CSF called MOR103 (clinicaltrial.gov) was tested in randomized phase 1 trial in MS patients. However, it did not show the expected efficacy [88]. The neutralizing antibody of p40 subunit of IL-12 and IL-23 (ustekinumab) (clinicaltrial.gov) has not shown the efficacy in reducing neuroin-flammation of MS patients in phase II clinical trial [89, 90]. Specific neutralizing antibodies of p19 subunit of IL-23, such as tildrakizumab, guselkumab, AMG-139, BI-655066, and LY-3074828, have been developed and are currently tested in other autoimmune diseases [86, 91]. Preclinical studies have been also conducted for MS treatment in animal models. Digoxin, a small molecule which binds ROR γ t, and its derivatives and also a component ursolic acid interfere with the transcription phenomenon leading to the suppression of murine Th17 cell differentiation and also reduction of EAE severity [92, 93]. These representative clinical and preclinical reports could lead to the design and development of new strategies aimed at modulating the immune response in MS.

The Role of Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesis of Alzheimer Disease

Link Between Immune System and Neurodegeneration

Alzheimer Disease (AD) is a chronic neurodegenerative disorder and the most common form of dementia [94]. It was estimated that approximately 47 million people worldwide were afflicted with AD in 2015 [95]. The pathogenesis of AD is considered to be multifactorial. Accumulation of amyloid plaques in the brain is one of the neuropathological hallmarks [96]. These plaques that are extracellular precipitations of the β -amyloid peptide (A β) are composed primarily of amyloid β peptide-40 $(A\beta-40)$ and amyloid β peptide-42 $(A\beta-42)$ derived from amyloid precursor protein (APP) by a proteolytic cleavage [97, 98]. In addition, A β oligomer species were found to be fundamental for neuropathogenesis of the AD [99]. Oxidative stress is elevated in the AD and contributes to the pathogenesis and disease progression leading to the inflammatory process and neuronal death [100]. Microglias, the immune cells of the brain are activated by the inflammatory process and upregulated. Microglia produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α [101]. Biometal dyshomeostasis and elevated concentrations of some redox-reactive metal ions such as iron and copper ions are also associated with AD. his dysregulated metal homeostasis may contribute to increasing the production of ROS and oxidative stress levels in the brain of AD patients [102]. According to our study, high concentrations of these metals cause morphological changes in β-amyloid aggregates which directly associated with AD neuropathogenesis [102].

The link between the immune system and neurodegeneration in AD is a topic that has recently attracted a lot of attention [103]. Most of the studies are about the role of innate immunity in the AD rather than adaptive immunity, and the precise role of

adaptive immune cells in the neuropathogenesis of AD has not been completely clarified [104]. Even though we will discuss more the role of adaptive immunity especially Th17 cells in the immunopathogenesis of the AD, to the best of our knowledge, there is no sufficient evidence available to suggest autoimmune nature of the AD. It is suggested that $A\beta$ deposits mediate inflammatory mechanisms by activating the complement pathway [105]. In order to develop therapeutic strategies, signaling pathways of the pro-inflammatory cytokines associated with AD should be clarified. Some studies investigated the neurodegenerative and neuroprotective roles of pro-inflammatory cytokines [101]. Inflammatory molecules produced by activated microglia and astrocytes, complement proteins, and ROS produce extracellular signals to neuronal cells, and consequently several intracellular signaling pathways evoked by these extracellular signals to neuronal cells trigger neurodegeneration [106]. High ROS levels within cells can cause nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB) to induce extra-production of cytokines associated with neuroinflammation [107]. According to several studies, the immune system plays an essential role in responding to AD by increasing level of cytokines, chemokines, and microgliosis in the AD brains [103, 108]. On the other hand, microglial cells phagocyte A β -plaques and initiate inflammatory cytokine release. So, they have a protective function because of clearing A β aggregates by phagocytosis [107].

Th17-Mediated Mechanisms in Alzheimer Disease

Although the total numbers of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells were not unchanged in AD patients, the amount of circulating immune cells particularly lymphocytes that secrete IL-17, IL-6, and IFN- γ is increased [109]. The role of Th17 cells in the AD has been studied but not entirely clarified completely. In a study by Zhang et al., a rat model of AD was established by Aβ-42 injection into the brain. The study has provided evidence of BBB disruption and Th17 cell infiltration into the brain parenchyma of AD rat model. These events may cause neuroinflammation by releasing inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17 and IL-22. Increased level of these cytokines in the CSF and serum were found [110]. Co-culturing A β -specific Th1 or Th17 cells with glial cells resulted in increased MHC-II expression and Aβ-induced cytokine generation. In addition, the expression of co-stimulatory molecules on the microglia was increased when it was co-cultured with Th1 or Th17 cells, because glial cells are antigen presenting cells (APC) for both Aβ-specific Th1 and Th17 cells [111]. The cytokines, specifically IL-21 released by Th17 cells, also bind to their receptors on neurons. IL-21R expression is upregulated in neurons. Cytokines ultimately switch on the apoptotic pathway and lead to neurodegeneration [112]. Kebir et al. have illustrated that Th17 cells migrate through the epithelial cells of BBB by producing IL-17 and IL-22. These cytokines bind to their receptors expressed in endothelial cells of BBB. Cytokines help Th17 cells to disrupt BBB tight junctions and promote their infiltration into the brain in inflammatory diseases [113]. Serum concentration of IL-17 and IL-23 is also elevated in Chinese AD patients [114]. Elevated levels of IL-1 β in the brains of AD mice may induce upregulation of IL-17 [115]. According to a meta-analysis on investigating peripheral blood cytokine level, several pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 are also increased in AD patients [116]. High level of TNF- α is observed in the CSF of AD patients [117, 118]. Zhang et al. have demonstrated that IL-6 and TNF- α and IL-1 β are decreased. The inhibited inflammatory responses might attenuate the neurodegeneration and ultimately improve learning and memory in AD rat models [119]. Not only Th17 cytokines including IL-17 and IL-23 are increased in AD brains, but also the level of transcription factor RORyt is elevated in the brain of AD rats. This is an indication of Th17 cells polarization [120]. In contrast, Treg-related cytokines, TGF-β and IL-35, are decreased in the brain of AD rats [120]. There is an imbalance in Th17/ Treg cytokines in the brain of AD rats. Another study has indicated that the concentration of IL-6, IL-21, and IL-23 and also RORyt is remarkably increased in the AD, which is associated with Th17 cell activity [121]. Fas/FasL direct interaction between neurons and the Th17 cell can switch on the apoptotic pathway [110, 122]. Moreover, Fas and FasL expression are significantly upregulated in the brain of AD rats [110]. Marciani et al. have claimed that promising AD vaccines should inhibit Aβ-induced Th1 and Th17 immunities without abrogating them and induce Th2 immunity in response to $A\beta$. So, it could limit or even prevent neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration [123].

The Role of Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesis of Parkinson Disease

Immune-Mediated Mechanisms in Parkinson Disease

Parkinson disease (PD) is a long-term progressing neurodegenerative and motor system disorder which is known as a second common inflammatory neurodegenerative disorder after AD [124]. PD presents clinically with tremor, rigidity, impairment of balance, and postural abnormalities [125]. It affects approximately 2-3% of the population of elderly people [126]. The symptoms result from abnormally low dopamine levels in the striatum and consequently profound loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra (SN) of the brain [127]. The histopathological hallmark of PD is the existence of intracellular alpha-synuclein (α -syn) in the form of Lewy bodies in susceptible neurons [128]. α -syn and posttranslationally modified α -syn are neuropathologically linked to PD because they are the major components of Lewy bodies [129, 130]. Their presence increase the production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, leading to subsequent activation of microglial cells and ultimately infiltration of T lymphocytes into substantia nigra and neuronal death [131]. Upregulated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and immune cells are found in CSF and brains of PD patients [132]. Components of both the innate and adaptive immune systems are involved in PD [133]. Microglia and CD4+ and CD8+ T cells have been found in the brain of postmortem human PD specimens [134]. Although several inflammatory immune cells and pro-inflammatory cytokines are implicated in the neuropathogenesis of PD, the autoimmune nature of the PD has not been demonstrated yet. PD is classified as an inflammatory neurode-generative disorder. Several subsets of T cells may be involved in the PD-associated neuroinflammation [135]. Each T cell subpopulation may have distinct impact, in particular, in terms of cytotoxicity on the neuronal cells in the brain of PD patients [135]. Various immunotherapeutic approaches should be developed in attempt to treat PD. Data on the neuroprotective and neurotoxic effects of T cells would be really helpful in for this approach [135]. According to the microarray studies conducted by Hu et al., Th17 cells, among all Th cell subsets, have a leading role in PD [136]. Experimental models have offered insights into the understanding the role of Th17 cells in neurodegeneration in the PD [137].

Th17 Cell Role in Parkinson Disease

PD is characterized by some autoimmune features against α -syn. Th17 cells might have an underestimated role in the etiology and immunopathogenesis of the PD [136]. Based on recent findings regarding upregulation of some of the effector molecules in PD, it has been suggested that Th17 cell immunological pathway is switched on in PD [136]. The number of Th17 cells may be different in normal conditions and in PD. However, Peng et al. posited that Th17 cells can exist in some specific regions of the brain even in the healthy brain [138]. Still, increased proportion of Th1 and Th17 cells have been reported in the PD patients [139]. Engagement of the Fas receptor by its Fas ligand would trigger neuronal apoptosis by a direct contact between Th17 cells and neurons, which results eventually in cell death [140]. Niwa et al. have shown that Th17 cells are not predominant in PD, without increased quantity in PD [141]. Pro-inflammatory cytokines released by Th17 cells bind specifically to their receptors on neuronal surfaces and transduce their apoptotic signals [112].

IL-17-producing T cells could trigger production of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , ultimately make up and promote both inflammatory reactions and neuronal apoptosis [135]. High levels of inflammatory cytokines, IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , have been also detected in serum, CSF, and brain of PD patients [136]. IL-6 and TNF- α produced by Th17 cells might also promote cytokine/chemokine secretion in an autocrine manner [136]. According to several studies, the pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL -1, IL-6, and TNF- α , are key cytokines that shape the development of Th17 cells [142, 143]. There is an association between overexpression of IL-1 and microglial activation which induces upregulates the secretion of free radicals (NO, superoxide, and hydrogen peroxide) from microglia, as well as inflammatory cytokines (IL-1, TNF α). This results in neuronal damage [135]. IL-1, TNF α , and IL-6 produced by Th17 cells can induce neural cells to go through Wallerian-like degeneration which may occur in many neurodegenerative diseases [136]. The aggregates of α -syn increases the production of molecular chaperones by neurons such as heat shock protein (HSP)-60 and HSP70 which ultimately induce cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α by triggering Toll-like receptors (TLR)-2, 4, 5, and 7 [136, 145]. Approximately, all HSPs are overexpressed in the brain of PD patients which can be recognized by upregulated TLR5 and TLR7 which induce Th17 cell immunity [136]. Not only both IL-17 and TGF- β receptors in Th17 cells are upregulated in PD, but also several Th17 cell-driven transcription factors such as CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (CEBP)- β , CEBP- γ , and ROR α are overexpressed in leukocytes of PD patients which are associated with Th17 cell immunopathogenesis [136]. The expression of RORyt which is the master transcription factor of IL-17 expression and Th17 cells has also been enhanced by pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 and IL-23 [146] promote inflammation. The presence of IL-32 suppresses NF-kB and STAT3 expression. Downregulation of IL-32 may induce expression of Th17related transcription factors NF-kB and STAT3 in PD [136]. Furthermore, upregulation of other effector molecules associated with Th17-related inflammations such as iNOS and cyclooxygenase has been reported in the brain of PD patients, which could switch on inflammatory pathways and ultimately lead to irreversible neural damage in PD [147].

The Role of Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesis of Schizophrenia Disease

Immunopathology of Schizophrenia Disease

Schizophrenia is a multifactorial mental disorder characterized by neurodevelopment impairment and neurodegeneration after illness onset [148, 149]. Although the etiopathology of schizophrenia is largely unknown, evidence powerfully indicates a major role of inflammation and immunity in the pathogenicity of schizophrenia. Schizophrenia could be considered to be a chronic inflammatory disease of the brain [150]. Recent studies demonstrate an immune system dysfunction such as alterations in the expression of immune-related cytokines in the brain and CSF of schizophrenia patients [151–155]. However, the etiopathology of the disease and the role of immune system in the pathogenicity of schizophrenia are still unknown [150, 156]. There is no clear evidence to indicate the primary autoimmune nature of the schizophrenia. According to a recent meta-analysis performed by Kesteren et al., the overall increase in gene expression and protein transcription level of proinflammatory cytokines is observed in patients. However, the levels of transcription and translation of anti-inflammatory cytokines are similar in schizophrenia and controls [157]. Immune system abnormality and dysfunction in nervous system might have a central role in schizophrenia development [158]. Neuroinflammation in CNS is evident in schizophrenia patients and [155, 159]. Overexpression of some inflammatory genes and schizophrenia-associated upregulated immune markers indicates an association between schizophrenia and neuroinflammation [160, 161]. According to a genome-wide expression analysis by Gardiner et al., there is a significant dysregulation of immunological pathways in schizophrenia [162] and specific cytokines in the peripheral blood of schizophrenia patients have been considered as trait markers which could provide insight into the exact role of immune system in the disease [163]. Impaired BBB and infiltration of T cells and B cells, and microglial activation may be associated with the disease pathophysiology [163]. Several studies have explored the roles of both innate and adaptive immunities [150, 164–167]. Alteration and disruption in dopaminergic signaling and population of peripheral immune cell have been observed in some schizophrenia patients [168]. Dopamine abnormalities have been reported in specific regions of the brain in schizophrenia patients. Dopamine is a neurotransmitter that has an important role in the risk and progression of this disorder. Dopamine is involved in the modulation of T cells trafficking and proliferation [150].

Immunopathology of Schizophrenia from Th17 Cell Viewpoint

The role of Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia has also been investigated [169–171]. Drexhage et al. have emphasized the role of activated T cell network in schizophrenia [171]. Th17-associated pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17 and IL-22 would disrupt the BBB and help Th17 cell infiltration, which may lead to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in schizophrenia [53, 170]. CCL20 chemokine is constitutively expressed by epithelial cells of choroid plexus, and its receptor CCR6 on Th17 cells facilitates Th17 cell infiltration into intact or inflamed CNS. This interaction appears to be actively involved in the role of immunity in schizophrenia [172]. IL-23 may also induce BBB disruption which helps the Th17 cell to enter the brain parenchyma [173]. Nevertheless, several reports have pointed out contradictory results about the role of Th17 cells in schizophrenia. Some studies have shown increased quantities of Th17 cells in schizophrenia, but others have underlined decreased levels of these cells. According to one study, the number of Th17 cells and the level of IFN- γ and IL-6 are higher in schizophrenia patients in comparison with healthy controls [169].

Th17 cells can cause microglial activation and production of IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6 locally [170]. By contrast, a report by Borovcanin et al. has demonstrated that the level of IL-17 and the ratio of IL-17/TGF- β and IFN- γ are decreased in schizophrenia patients. Elevated level of Th17-suppressing cytokines including IL-4 and IL-27 has been observed [174]. The concentration of IL-17 might decrease in patients with chronic antipsychotic medication rather than healthy controls [175]. Elevated levels of IL-6 and TNF- α have been described [176–178]. Overall, little is known about the precise role of Th17 cells and related pro-inflammatory cytokines in the immunopathogenesis of schizophrenia. Further investigations are clearly required.

Conclusion

Although emerging studies have demonstrated the roles of Th17 cells and their related cytokines in the pathogenesis of MS and other neuroinflammations such as AD, PD, and schizophrenia, our knowledge is still poor in this area. One major reason is that the pathophysiology of these neuroinflammations is multifactorial. Th17 cells are not the unique factor determining disease severity. Some therapeutic agents that target Th17 cells have not reduced neuroinflammation. On the other side, many reports have indicated the critical functions of Th17 cells in disease promotion. The specific targeted-therapy of Th17 cells by chemicals and monoclonal antibodies may regulate the neuroinflammation. Nowadays, the concept of Th17/Treg interplay and Th17/1 cells and the existence of anti-inflammatory Th17 cells (Treglike Th17 cells) in different environments extend our knowledge on the concept that Th17 cells are more complex than other Th cell subpopulations. Some studies report that the Th17 cells are more unstable than Th1 cells and the conversion of Th17 cells to the Tregs are more frequent. Hence, Th17/Treg interplay is currently an amazing research area. Th cells plasticity and their conversion from inflammatory to anti-inflammatory subsets occur via cytokines and other stimuli such as accessory immune cells and inflammation niche.

During the recent years, the issue of cell therapy in autoimmune and neuroimmunological diseases is highlighted. Pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-23; the cytokines necessary for Th17 cell differentiation) upregulate the immunomodulatory functions of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) [179]. MSCs are a population of adult stem cells with immunoregulatory properties and immunesuppression functions that could be used in cell-based therapy of degenerative and neuroinflammatory disorders. MSCs through production of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as TGF- β and cell-cell contact manner inhibit human Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation (unpublished data). MSCs induce Treg cells during differentiation process of Th1 or Th17 cells. MSCs as immunomodulatory stem cells can be used for cell therapy of autoimmune disorders such as MS and other neuroimmune diseases.

In summary, the role of Th17 cells as pathogenic inflammatory lymphocytes has been demonstrated in the pathogenesis of neuroinflammation, especially MS and other neurological immune-mediated disorders. There are many Th17-mediated mechanisms in the pathophysiology of these diseases such as promotion of inflammation through production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, enhancement of other immune cells migration into the CNS and causing neurodegeneration through induction of microglia activation and neuronal apoptosis. However, in spite of these findings, there are numerous unknown aspects of the Th17 cells properties and their role in immune-mediated inflammations, exclusively neuroimmune diseases. Further research is needed.
References

- 1. Zhu J, Paul WE. CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults. Blood. 2008;112(5):1557-69.
- 2. Cosmi L, et al. T helper cells plasticity in inflammation. Cytometry A. 2014;85(1):36-42.
- 3. Raphael I, et al. T cell subsets and their signature cytokines in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Cytokine. 2015;74(1):5–17.
- 4. Infante-Duarte C, et al. Microbial lipopeptides induce the production of IL-17 in Th cells. J Immunol. 2000;165(11):6107–15.
- 5. Annunziato F, et al. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med. 2007;204(8):1849–61.
- Rostami A, Ciric B. Role of Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of CNS inflammatory demyelination. J Neurol Sci. 2013;333(1–2):76–87.
- Tahmasebinia F, Pourgholaminejad A. The role of Th17 cells in auto-inflammatory neurological disorders. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2017;79:408–16.
- Moseley T, et al. Interleukin-17 family and IL-17 receptors. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2003;14(2):155–74.
- Waisman A, Hauptmann J, Regen T. The role of IL-17 in CNS diseases. Acta Neuropathol. 2015;129(5):625–37.
- 10. Pourgholaminejad A, et al. Is TGFβ as an anti-inflammatory cytokine required for differentiation of inflammatory TH17 cells? J Immunotoxicol. 2016;13(6):775–83.
- Ghoreschi K, et al. Generation of pathogenic T H 17 cells in the absence of TGF-β signalling. Nature. 2010;467(7318):967.
- 12. Unutmaz D. RORC2: the master of human Th17 cell programming. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(6):1452–5.
- Boniface K, et al. Human Th17 cells comprise heterogeneous subsets including IFN-γ–producing cells with distinct properties from the Th1 lineage. J Immunol. 2010;185:679–87. p. ji_1000366
- Chen Z, et al. Distinct regulation of interleukin-17 in human T helper lymphocytes. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(9):2936–46.
- Volpe E, et al. A critical function for transforming growth factor-β, interleukin 23 and proinflammatory cytokines in driving and modulating human T H-17 responses. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(6):650.
- Frohman EM, Racke MK, Raine CS. Multiple sclerosis—the plaque and its pathogenesis. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(9):942–55.
- 17. Lucchinetti C, Rodriguez M, Weinshenker B. Multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2000;343:938–52.
- Trapp BD, Nave K-A. Multiple sclerosis: an immune or neurodegenerative disorder? Annu Rev Neurosci. 2008;31:247–69.
- Denic A, Wootla B, Rodriguez M. CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2013;17(9):1053–66.
- Gandhi R, Laroni A, Weiner HL. Role of the innate immune system in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;221(1):7–14.
- El-behi M, Rostami A, Ciric B. Current views on the roles of Th1 and Th17 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2010;5(2):189–97.
- 22. Smith AW, et al. Regulation of Th1/Th17 cytokines and IDO gene expression by inhibition of calpain in PBMCs from MS patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;232(1):179–85.
- 23. Brucklacher-Waldert V, et al. Phenotypical and functional characterization of T helper 17 cells in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2009;132(12):3329–41.
- Reboldi A, et al. CC chemokine receptor 6–regulated entry of T H-17 cells into the CNS through the choroid plexus is required for the initiation of EAE. Nat Immunol. 2009;10(5):514.
- Rothhammer V, et al. Th17 lymphocytes traffic to the central nervous system independently of α4 integrin expression during EAE. J Exp Med. 2011;208:2465–76. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20110434.

- Matusevicius D, et al. Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in blood and CSF mononuclear cells is augmented in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 1999;5(2):101–4.
- Kebir H, et al. Preferential recruitment of interferon-γ–expressing TH17 cells in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(3):390–402.
- Fletcher J, et al. T cells in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010;162(1):1–11.
- 29. Severson C, Hafler DA. T-cells in multiple sclerosis. Results Probl Cell Differ. 2009;51:75–98.
- Carbajal KS, et al. Th cell diversity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2015;195(6):2552–9.
- Gross CC, et al. Distinct pattern of lesion distribution in multiple sclerosis is associated with different circulating T-helper and helper-like innate lymphoid cell subsets. Mult Scler J. 2017;23:1025–30. p. 1352458516662726
- 32. Langrish CL, et al. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med. 2005;201(2):233–40.
- Lohoff M, et al. Dysregulated T helper cell differentiation in the absence of interferon regulatory factor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2002;99(18):11808–12.
- 34. Yang C, et al. Inhibition of interferon regulatory factor 4 suppresses Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation and ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Scand J Immunol. 2015;82(4):345–51.
- Jadidi-Niaragh F, Mirshafiey A. Th17 cell, the new player of neuroinflammatory process in multiple sclerosis. Scand J Immunol. 2011;74(1):1–13.
- Hofstetter H, Gold R, Hartung H-P. Th17 cells in MS and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Int MS J. 2009;16(1):12–9.
- McGinley AM, et al. Th17cells, gammadelta T cells and their interplay in EAE and multiple sclerosis. J Autoimmun. 2018;87:97–108.
- Cosorich I, et al. High frequency of intestinal TH17 cells correlates with microbiota alterations and disease activity in multiple sclerosis. Sci Adv. 2017;3(7):e1700492.
- 39. Hao J, et al. Central nervous system (CNS)–resident natural killer cells suppress Th17 responses and CNS autoimmune pathology. J Exp Med. 2010;207(9):1907–21.
- Heremans H, et al. Chronic relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (CREAE) in mice: enhancement by monoclonal antibodies against interferon-γ. Eur J Immunol. 1996;26(10):2393–8.
- 41. Ferber IA, et al. Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). J Immunol. 1996;156(1):5–7.
- 42. Wing AC, et al. Interleukin-17-and interleukin-22-secreting myelin-specific CD4+ T cells resistant to corticoids are related with active brain lesions in multiple sclerosis patients. Immunology. 2016;147(2):212–20.
- Acosta-Rodriguez EV, et al. Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17–producing T helper memory cells. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(6):639–46.
- 44. Lee YK, et al. Developmental plasticity of Th17 and Treg cells. Curr Opin Immunol. 2009;21(3):274–80.
- 45. Abromson-Leeman S, Bronson RT, Dorf ME. Encephalitogenic T cells that stably express both T-bet and RORγt consistently produce IFNγ but have a spectrum of IL-17 profiles. J Neuroimmunol. 2009;215(1):10–24.
- 46. Lee YK, et al. Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. Immunity. 2009;30(1):92–107.
- 47. Fleisher TA, et al. Clinical immunology, principles and practice (Expert Consult-Online and Print), 4: Clinical immunology. Elsevier Health Sciences. Mosby: St. Louis.; 2013.
- Kroenke MA, et al. IL-12-and IL-23-modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. J Exp Med. 2008;205(7):1535–41.
- 49. Korn T, et al. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009;27:485–517.

- 50. Park H, et al. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. Nat Immunol. 2005;6(11):1133.
- Komiyama Y, et al. IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2006;177(1):566–73.
- 52. Witowski J, et al. IL-17 stimulates intraperitoneal neutrophil infiltration through the release of GRO α chemokine from mesothelial cells. J Immunol. 2000;165(10):5814–21.
- 53. Huppert J, et al. Cellular mechanisms of IL-17-induced blood-brain barrier disruption. FASEB J. 2010;24(4):1023–34.
- Strachan-Whaley M, Rivest S, Yong VW. Interactions between microglia and T cells in multiple sclerosis pathobiology. J Interf Cytokine Res. 2014;34(8):615–22.
- Lucchinetti CF, et al. Inflammatory cortical demyelination in early multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(23):2188–97.
- 56. Mahad DJ, Ransohoff RM. The role of MCP-1 (CCL2) and CCR2 in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Semin Immunol. 2003;15:23–32. Elsevier
- Almolda B, Gonzalez B, Castellano B. Antigen presentation in EAE: role of microglia, macrophages and dendritic cells. Front Biosci. 2011;16:1157–71.
- 58. Kawanokuchi J, et al. Production and functions of IL-17 in microglia. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;194(1-2):54-61.
- Medana IM, et al. MHC class I-restricted killing of neurons by virus-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes is effected through the Fas/FasL, but not the perforin pathway. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30(12):3623–33.
- 60. Liblau RS, et al. Neurons as targets for T cells in the nervous system. Trends Neurosci. 2013;36(6):315–24.
- Yshii L, et al. Neurons and T cells: understanding this interaction for inflammatory neurological diseases. Eur J Immunol. 2015;45(10):2712–20.
- 62. Kang Z, et al. Act1 mediates IL-17–induced EAE pathogenesis selectively in NG2+ glial cells. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16(10):1401.
- Paintlia MK, et al. Synergistic activity of interleukin-17 and tumor necrosis factor-α enhances oxidative stress-mediated oligodendrocyte apoptosis. J Neurochem. 2011;116(4):508–21.
- 64. Poh Loh K, et al. Oxidative stress: apoptosis in neuronal injury. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2006;3(4):327–37.
- Dringen R, Pawlowski PG, Hirrlinger J. Peroxide detoxification by brain cells. J Neurosci Res. 2005;79(1–2):157–65.
- 66. van der Goes A, et al. Reactive oxygen species are required for the phagocytosis of myelin by macrophages. J Neuroimmunol. 1998;92(1–2):67–75.
- 67. Ortiz GG, et al. Immunology and oxidative stress in multiple sclerosis: clinical and basic approach. Clin Dev Immunol. 2013;2013:1.
- 68. Haak S, et al. IL-17A and IL-17F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(1):61–9.
- 69. Almolda B, et al. Increase in Th17 and T-reg lymphocytes and decrease of IL22 correlate with the recovery phase of acute EAE in rat. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e27473.
- 70. Zhou C, et al. Comment and reply on: emerging role of Th22 and IL-22 in multiple sclerosis, an autoimmune disease in the central nervous system. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2013;17(11):1381–2.
- Zhang N, Pan H-F, Ye D-Q. Th22 in inflammatory and autoimmune disease: prospects for therapeutic intervention. Mol Cell Biochem. 2011;353(1–2):41–6.
- 72. Kebir H, et al. Human T H 17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Nat Med. 2007;13(10):1173.
- Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Balashov K, Weiner HL. IL-23 is increased in dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis and down-regulation of IL-23 by antisense oligos increases dendritic cell IL-10 production. J Immunol. 2006;176(12):7768–74.

- 74. Hirota K, et al. Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(3):255.
- 75. McGeachy MJ, et al. The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17–producing effector T helper cells in vivo. Nat Immunol. 2009;10(3):314.
- Chen Y, et al. Anti–IL-23 therapy inhibits multiple inflammatory pathways and ameliorates autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(5):1317–26.
- 77. El-Behi M, et al. The encephalitogenicity of T H 17 cells is dependent on IL-1-and IL-23induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(6):568.
- Codarri L, et al. RORγt drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(6):560.
- 79. Croxford AL, et al. The cytokine GM-CSF drives the inflammatory signature of CCR2+ monocytes and licenses autoimmunity. Immunity. 2015;43(3):502–14.
- Stromnes IM, et al. Differential regulation of central nervous system autoimmunity by TH1 and TH17 cells. Nat Med. 2008;14(3):337–42.
- Burelli L, et al. T-helper 17 cells expand in multiple sclerosis and are inhibited by interferon-β. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(5):499–509.
- Kreymborg K, et al. IL-22 is expressed by Th17 cells in an IL-23-dependent fashion, but not required for the development of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2007;179(12):8098–104.
- Sweeney CM, et al. IL-27 mediates the response to IFN-β therapy in multiple sclerosis patients by inhibiting Th17 cells. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;25(6):1170–81.
- 84. Ramgolam VS, et al. IFN-β inhibits human Th17 cell differentiation. J Immunol. 2009;183:5418–27. p. jimmunol. 0803227
- Mehling M, et al. Th17 central memory T cells are reduced by FTY720 in patients with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2010;75(5):403–10.
- Miossec P, Kolls JK. Targeting IL-17 and T H 17 cells in chronic inflammation. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012;11(10):763.
- 87. Bartlett HS, Million RP. Targeting the IL-17–T H 17 pathway. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14:11–12.
- 88. Constantinescu CS, et al. Randomized phase 1b trial of MOR103, a human antibody to GM-CSF, in multiple sclerosis. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2015;2(4):e117.
- 89. Segal BM, et al. Repeated subcutaneous injections of IL12/23 p40 neutralising antibody, ustekinumab, in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase II, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised, dose-ranging study. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(9):796–804.
- 90. Vollmer TL, et al. A phase 2, 24-week, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study examining the efficacy and safety of an anti-interleukin-12 and-23 monoclonal antibody in patients with relapsing–remitting or secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J. 2011;17(2):181–91.
- 91. Volpe E, Battistini L, Borsellino G. Advances in T helper 17 cell biology: pathogenic role and potential therapy in multiple sclerosis. Mediat Inflamm. 2015;2015:475158.
- Huh JR, et al. Digoxin and its derivatives suppress T H 17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORγt activity. Nature. 2011;472(7344):486.
- Xu T, et al. Ursolic acid suppresses interleukin-17 (IL-17) production by selectively antagonizing the function of RORγt protein. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(26):22707–10.
- Karantzoulis S, J.E. Galvin. Distinguishing Alzheimer's disease from other major forms of dementia. Expert Rev Neurother. 2014.
- 95. Wray S, Fox NC. Stem cell therapy for Alzheimer's disease: hope or hype? Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(2):133–5.
- 96. Gouras GK, Olsson TT, Hansson O. β-Amyloid peptides and amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease. Neurotherapeutics. 2015;12(1):3–11.
- 97. Lyons B, et al. Amyloid plaque in the human brain can decompose from A β (1-40/1-42) by spontaneous nonenzymatic processes. Anal Chem. 2016;88(5):2675–84.

- 98. Gu L, et al. A new structural model of Alzheimer's Aβ42 fibrils based on electron paramagnetic resonance data and Rosetta modeling. J Struct Biol. 2016;194(1):61–7.
- 99. Rudinskiy N, et al. Amyloid-beta oligomerization is associated with the generation of a typical peptide fragment fingerprint. Alzheimers Dement. 2016;12:996.
- 100. Mujahid M. Alzheimer disease: a review. World J Pharm Pharm Sci. 2016;5(6):649-66.
- Wang W-Y, et al. Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Transl Med. 2015;3(10):136.
- 102. Tahmasebinia F, Emadi S. Effect of metal chelators on the aggregation of beta-amyloid peptides in the presence of copper and iron. Biometals. 2017;30(2):285–93.
- 103. Czirr E, Wyss-Coray T. The immunology of neurodegeneration. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(4):1156–63.
- 104. Fehervari Z. Lymphocytes in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(4):355.
- 105. Xin N, et al. Exploring the role of interleukin-22 in neurological and autoimmune disorders. Int Immunopharmacol. 2015;28(2):1076–83.
- Niranjan R. Molecular basis of etiological implications in Alzheimer's disease: focus on neuroinflammation. Mol Neurobiol. 2013;48(3):412–28.
- 107. Myhre O, et al. Metal dyshomeostasis and inflammation in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases: possible impact of environmental exposures. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2013;2013:1.
- Perry VH, Nicoll JA, Holmes C. Microglia in neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010;6(4):193–201.
- 109. Agnes PK, Christiane S, Peter DB. T-cells show increased production of cytokines and activation markers in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Disord Ther. 2013;3(1):3–112.
- 110. Zhang J, et al. Th17 cell-mediated Neuroinflammation is involved in neurodegeneration of Aβ 1-42-induced Alzheimer's disease model rats. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e75786.
- 111. McQuillan K, Lynch MA, Mills KH. Activation of mixed glia by Aβ-specific Th1 and Th17 cells and its regulation by Th2 cells. Brain Behav Immun. 2010;24(4):598–607.
- 112. Tzartos JS, et al. IL-21 and IL-21 receptor expression in lymphocytes and neurons in multiple sclerosis brain. Am J Pathol. 2011;178(2):794–802.
- 113. Kebir H, et al. Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Nat Med. 2007;13(10):1173–5.
- 114. Chen J-M, et al. Increased serum levels of interleukin-18,-23 and-17 in chinese patients with Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2014;38(5–6):321–9.
- 115. Jin J-J, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent upregulation of cytokines in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neuroinflammation. 2008;5(1):1.
- 116. Swardfager W, et al. A meta-analysis of cytokines in Alzheimer's disease. Biol Psychiatry. 2010;68(10):930–41.
- Grammas P, Ovase R. Inflammatory factors are elevated in brain microvessels in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2001;22(6):837–42.
- Kothur K, et al. CSF cytokines/chemokines as biomarkers in neuroinflammatory CNS disorders: a systematic review. Cytokine. 2016;77:227–37.
- 119. Zhang Y-Y, et al. Atorvastatin attenuates the production of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α in the hippocampus of an amyloid β 1-42-induced rat model of Alzheimer's disease. Clin Interv Aging. 2013;8:103–10.
- 120. Zhang Y, et al. Matrine improves cognitive impairment and modulates the balance of Th17/ Treg cytokines in a rat model of Aβ1-42-induced Alzheimer's disease. Cent Eur J Immunol. 2016;40(4):411.
- 121. Saresella M, et al. Increased activity of Th-17 and Th-9 lymphocytes and a skewing of the post-thymic differentiation pathway are seen in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;25(3):539–47.
- 122. Giuliani F, et al. Vulnerability of human neurons to T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J Immunol. 2003;171(1):368–79.
- 123. Marciani DJ. Alzheimer's disease vaccine development: a new strategy focusing on immune modulation. J Neuroimmunol. 2015;287:54–63.

- 124. Delenclos M, et al. Biomarkers in Parkinson's disease: advances and strategies. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2016;22:S106–10.
- 125. Ito H. Symptoms and signs of Parkinson's disease and other movement disorders. In: Deep brain stimulation for neurological disorders. Cham: Springer; 2015. p. 21–37.
- 126. Williams-Gray CH, et al. Serum immune markers and disease progression in an incident Parkinson's disease cohort (ICICLE-PD). Mov Disord. 2016;31:995.
- 127. Schlachetzki JC, Winkler J. The innate immune system in Parkinson's disease: a novel target promoting endogenous neuroregeneration. Neural Regen Res. 2015;10(5):704.
- 128. Power JH, Barnes OL, Chegini F. Lewy bodies and the mechanisms of neuronal cell death in Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. Brain Pathol. 2017;27:3–12.
- 129. Allen Reish HE, Standaert DG. Role of α -synuclein in inducing innate and adaptive immunity in Parkinson disease. J Park Dis. 2015;5(1):1–19.
- Barrett PJ, Greenamyre JT. Post-translational modification of α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Brain Res. 2015;1628:247–53.
- 131. Harms AS, et al. MHCII is required for α-synuclein-induced activation of microglia, CD4 T cell proliferation, and dopaminergic neurodegeneration. J Neurosci. 2013;33(23):9592–600.
- 132. Perez A, Guan L, Sutherland K. Immune system and Parkinson's disease. Arch Med. 2016;8:2.
- 133. Benner EJ, et al. Nitrated α -Synuclein immunity accelerates degeneration of nigral dopaminergic neurons. PLoS One. 2008;3(1):e1376.
- 134. Brochard V, et al. Infiltration of CD4+ lymphocytes into the brain contributes to neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(1):182–92.
- 135. Appel SH. CD4+ T cells mediate cytotoxicity in neurodegenerative diseases. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(1):13–5.
- Hu W-C. Parkinson disease is a TH17 dominant autoimmune disorder against accumulated alpha-synuclein. arXiv preprint arXiv. 2013;1403:3256.
- 137. Reynolds AD, et al. Regulatory T cells attenuate Th17 cell-mediated nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurodegeneration in a model of Parkinson's disease. J Immunol. 2010;184(5):2261–71.
- 138. Peng Y-P, et al. Treg/Th17 imbalance-mediated neuroinflammation is involved in pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. 2013.
- 139. Storelli E, et al. Do Th17 lymphocytes and IL-17 contribute to Parkinson's disease? A systematic review of available evidence. Front Neurol.
- 140. Appel SH, Beers DR, Henkel JS. T cell-microglial dialogue in Parkinson's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: are we listening? Trends Immunol. 2010;31(1):7–17.
- 141. Niwa F, et al. Effects of peripheral lymphocyte subpopulations and the clinical correlation with Parkinson's disease. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2012;12(1):102–7.
- 142. Wahner AD, et al. Inflammatory cytokine gene polymorphisms and increased risk of Parkinson disease. Arch Neurol. 2007;64(6):836–40.
- 143. Blum-Degena D, et al. Interleukin-1β and interleukin-6 are elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid of Alzheimer's and de novo Parkinson's disease patients. Neurosci Lett. 1995;202(1):17–20.
- 144. Griffin WST, et al. Interleukin-1 mediates Alzheimer and Lewy body pathologies. J Neuroinflammation. 2006;3(1):1.
- 145. Asea A, et al. HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependant pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. Nat Med. 2000;6(4):435–42.
- 146. Mills KH. Induction, function and regulation of IL-17-producing T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(10):2636–49.
- 147. Gatto EM, et al. Neutrophil function, nitric oxide, and blood oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 1996;11(3):261–7.
- 148. Ripke S, et al. Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. Nature. 2014;511(7510):421.
- 149. Nasyrova RF, et al. Role of nitric oxide and related molecules in schizophrenia pathogenesis: biochemical, genetic and clinical aspects. Front Physiol. 2015;6:139.

- 150. Debnath M. Adaptive immunity in schizophrenia: functional implications of t cells in the etiology, course and treatment. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2015;10(4):610–9.
- 151. Andreassen OA, et al. Genetic pleiotropy between multiple sclerosis and schizophrenia but not bipolar disorder: differential involvement of immune-related gene loci. Mol Psychiatry. 2015;20(2):207–14.
- 152. Hyde TM, Bharadwaj RA. Molecular mechanisms and timing of cortical immune activation in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 2015;172(11):1052.
- 153. Patterson PH. Immune involvement in schizophrenia and autism: etiology, pathology and animal models. Behav Brain Res. 2009;204(2):313–21.
- 154. Avramopoulos D, et al. Infection and inflammation in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a genome wide study for interactions with genetic variation. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0116696.
- 155. Na K-S, Jung H-Y, Kim Y-K. The role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the neuroinflammation and neurogenesis of schizophrenia. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2014;48:277–86.
- 156. Khandaker GM, Dantzer R. Is there a role for immune-to-brain communication in schizophrenia? Psychopharmacology. 2016;233(9):1559–73.
- 157. Van Kesteren C, et al. Immune involvement in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia: a metaanalysis on postmortem brain studies. Transl Psychiatry. 2017;7(3):e1075.
- 158. Meyer U. Developmental immune activation models with relevance to schizophrenia. In: Immunology and psychiatry. Cham: Springer; 2015. p. 15–32.
- 159. Najjar S, Pearlman DM. Neuroinflammation and white matter pathology in schizophrenia: systematic review. Schizophr Res. 2015;161(1):102–12.
- 160. Fillman S, et al. Increased inflammatory markers identified in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of individuals with schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry. 2013;18(2):206–14.
- 161. Hwang Y, et al. Gene expression profiling by mRNA sequencing reveals increased expression of immune/inflammation-related genes in the hippocampus of individuals with schizophrenia. Transl Psychiatry. 2013;3(10):e321.
- 162. Gardiner EJ, et al. Gene expression analysis reveals schizophrenia-associated dysregulation of immune pathways in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Psychiatr Res. 2013;47(4):425–37.
- 163. Busse S, et al. Different distribution patterns of lymphocytes and microglia in the hippocampus of patients with residual versus paranoid schizophrenia: further evidence for disease course-related immune alterations? Brain Behav Immun. 2012;26(8):1273–9.
- 164. Müller N, et al. The immune system and schizophrenia: an integrative view. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;917(1):456–67.
- 165. Müller N, et al. Cellular and humoral immune system in schizophrenia: a conceptual reevaluation. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2000;1(4):173–9.
- 166. Mayilyan KR, Weinberger DR, Sim RB. The complement system in schizophrenia. Drug News Perspect. 2008;21(4):200.
- 167. Khandaker GM, et al. Inflammation and immunity in schizophrenia: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. Lancet Psychiatry. 2015;2(3):258–70.
- 168. Fernandez-Egea E, et al. Peripheral immune cell populations associated with cognitive deficits and negative symptoms of treatment-resistant schizophrenia. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0155631.
- Ding M, et al. Activation of Th17 cells in drug naïve, first episode schizophrenia. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2014;51:78–82.
- 170. Debnath M, Berk M. Th17 pathway-mediated immunopathogenesis of schizophrenia: mechanisms and implications. Schizophr Bull. 2014;40:1412–21. p. sbu049
- 171. Drexhage RC, et al. An activated set point of T-cell and monocyte inflammatory networks in recent-onset schizophrenia patients involves both pro-and anti-inflammatory forces. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2011;14(6):746–55.
- 172. Sallusto F, et al. T-cell trafficking in the central nervous system. Immunol Rev. 2012;248(1):216–27.

- 173. Gyülvészi G, Haak S, Becher B. IL-23-driven encephalo-tropism and Th17 polarization during CNS-inflammation in vivo. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(7):1864–9.
- 174. Borovcanin M, et al. Elevated serum level of type-2 cytokine and low IL-17 in first episode psychosis and schizophrenia in relapse. J Psychiatr Res. 2012;46(11):1421–6.
- 175. Dimitrov DH, et al. Differential correlations between inflammatory cytokines and psychopathology in veterans with schizophrenia: potential role for IL-17 pathway. Schizophr Res. 2013;151(1):29–35.
- 176. Lin A, et al. The inflammatory response system in treatment-resistant schizophrenia: increased serum interleukin-6. Schizophr Res. 1998;32(1):9–15.
- 177. Kowalski J, et al. Neuroleptics normalize increased release of interleukin-1 β and tumor necrosis factor- α from monocytes in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2001;50(3):169–75.
- 178. Spanakos G, et al. Cytokine serum levels, autologous mixed lymphocyte reaction and surface marker analysis in never medicated and chronically medicated schizophrenic patients. Schizophr Res. 2001;47(1):13–25.
- 179. Pourgholaminejad A, et al. The effect of pro-inflammatory cytokines on immunophenotype, differentiation capacity and immunomodulatory functions of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cytokine. 2016;85:51–60.

Significance of Autoantibodies



Christiane S. Hampe

Abstract The field of autoimmune neurological disorders is rapidly expanding, and novel autoantibodies and their neuronal antigens continue to be discovered. Autoimmunity targeting brain proteins is enigmatic, because traditionally, the central nervous system (CNS) is viewed as immune-privileged. However, the discovery of the lymphatic and glymphatic circulation in the CNS demonstrates the interaction between the CNS and the immune response. Furthermore, the barriers protecting the brain from direct exposure to the immune response can be compromised by inflammations, infection, or injury. A compromised blood-brain barrier, or bloodcerebrospinal fluid barrier, will allow egress of neuronal antigens to regional and peripheral lymphoid organs and may lead to the initiation of an autoimmune response. Peripheral autoantibodies or intrathecally produced autoantibodies can reenter the CNS. Besides being useful diagnostic markers, these autoantibodies may be involved in the pathogenesis of the disease by mechanisms such as complementdependent cytotoxicity (CDC), antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), and modulation of receptor function. The effect of a neural autoantibody depends not only on the nature of its antigen but also on the antibody's Ig isotype or IgG subclass. We will discuss different causes of neurological autoimmunity and pathogenic mechanisms involved in neurological autoimmune diseases. Finally, we will discuss naturally occurring IgM autoantibodies and IgG4 autoantibodies with protective and reparative functions and appropriate treatment options.

Keywords Autoantibodies \cdot Blood-brain barrier \cdot Blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier \cdot Neurological disorders

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

C. S. Hampe (⊠)

Department of Medicine, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: champe@u.washington.edu

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_4

Abbreviations

AChR	Acetylcholine receptor
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
AEBP1	Adipocyte enhancer-binding protein-1
AMPAR	α -Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic glutamate receptor
AQP4	Aquaporin-4
ASD	Autism spectrum disorder
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
CA	Cerebellar ataxia caspr: contactin-associated protein 1
CDC	Complement-dependent cell death
CDR2L	Cerebellar degeneration-related protein 2-like
CIDP	Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy
CNS	Central nervous system
CRMP	Collapsing response mediator protein
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
GAD65	65kda isoform of glutamate decarboxylase
GBS	Guillain–Barré syndrome
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
hnRNP-A1	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonuclear protein-A1
HSV-1	Herpes simplex virus-1
HSVE	HSV encephalitis
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LEMS	Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome
LRP4	Lipoprotein receptor-related protein 4
MAC	Membrane attack complex
MAG	Myelin-associated glycoprotein
MAR	Maternal autoantibody-related autism
MBP	Myelin basic protein
MG	Myasthenia gravis
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MuSK	Muscle-specific kinase
MYEOV2	Myeloma overexpressed gene 2
NMDAR	N-Methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor
NMDARE	NMDAR encephalitis
NMJ	Neuromuscular junction
NMO	Neuromyelitis optica
PCD	Paraneoplastic degeneration
PEM	Paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis
PNS	Paraneoplastic neurologic disorder
PSMD4	Proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 4
RE	Rasmussen's encephalitis

SCI	Spinal cord injury
SCLC	Small-cell lung cancer
SGPG	Sulfoglucuronosyl paragloboside
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SPS	Stiff person syndrome
STIP1	Stress-induced phosphoprotein 1
SUMPPs	Small myelin protein-derived peptides
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
TG	Transglutaminase
VGCC	Voltage-gated calcium channel
VGKC	Voltage-gated potassium channel

Introduction

The central nervous system (CNS) has long been viewed as immune-privileged, referring to an absence of an interaction between the immune response and the CNS [1, 2]. This view has however been challenged [3, 4], and today the consensus is that while there is considerably less interaction between the CNS and the immune response as compared to other organs, the immune privilege is not absolute. Particularly, there are areas of the brain that are less immune-privileged, including the ventricles and the meninges. In these regions, B cells can produce antibodies, from where the latter may diffuse to the parenchyma [4]. Inflammatory conditions lead to a dramatic increase of leukocyte numbers in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) [5], and B cells can make up 30% of the cell population residing within the CSF [6–8]. Notably, the migration of leukocytes into the CSF occurs across the choroid plexus, while migration from the blood into the parenchyma involves the blood–brain barrier (BBB). Because the BBB is more stringent than the blood–CSF barrier [9], most of the intrathecal antibody production stems from B cells residing in the CSF.

In addition to intrathecal antibody production, antibodies may also gain access to the brain by crossing the BBB. In humans, the BBB is maturing during fetal development [10], potentially allowing access antibodies and other components of the immune system to the fetal brain during early fetal development. Such a scenario has been suggested in a subset of autism spectrum disorders (see below). Even after the BBB is fully established, specific circumstances can allow the passage of large molecules, including antibodies [11]. These conditions include stress, trauma, infection, and inflammation [12–15] and more severe damage caused by traumatic brain injury or stroke [16, 17]. Even under regular conditions, the BBB is permeable to systemic circulating antibodies to some extent [18].

A compromised BBB allows increased access of immune cells and antibodies to the CNS and at the same time an increased egress of autoantigens from the CNS to secondary lymphoid tissue via blood and/or primitive lymphatics [19, 20]. Exposure of antigens to B cells residing in the CSF can initiate an autoimmune response within the brain, leading to intrathecal antibody production, while exposure of antigens to the peripheral immune system may trigger the peripheral immune system to react to CNS autoantigens, leading to the production of CNS-specific autoantibodies. These autoantibodies may gain access to brain tissue as discussed above. Intrathecal autoantibody production is indicated by the presence of oligoclonal bands in the CSF, although these are not always present. Typically, these autoantibodies recognize different antigens and/or antigen epitopes than autoantibodies present in the periphery. CNS autoantibodies may have a pathogenic effect and lead to neurological diseases or may simply serve as biomarkers for the associated disorder.

Theme A: Causes of Antibody Development

In the following section, we will discuss different triggers of development of autoantibodies directed against neuronal proteins and highlight each mechanism with a clinical example.

Paraneoplastic Neurologic Disorders (PNS)

In rare cases, cancer can trigger *paraneoplastic neurologic disorders* (PNS). In these disorders, the neurological symptoms are not caused by the tumor itself but rather by the immune system's response to the cancer. The neuronal target antigens are expressed by the tumor cell, and exposure of these proteins may initiate an autoimmune response. Thus, the associated autoantibody is often specific to the associated cancer. PNS typically develop in individuals with lung, ovarian, lymphatic, or breast cancer. As the neurological symptoms often occur prior to tumor detection, the diagnosis may aid in the identification of the underlying cancer. Examples for PNS are listed in Table 1.

Clinical Example

Anti-Yo Antibody-Associated Paraneoplastic Cerebellar Degenerations

Anti-Yo antibodies are present in patients with paraneoplastic cerebellar degenerations (PCD) associated with ovarian or breast carcinoma [21]. These antibodies recognize cytoplasmic proteins that are expressed in Purkinje cells in the cerebellum [22]. Importantly, at least one of these proteins (cerebellar degeneration-related protein 2-like, CDR2L) is found overexpressed in the majority on anti-Yo-positive ovarian carcinomas associated with PCD [23]. In these tumors, genetic alterations of the *CDR2L* gene and massive infiltration by immune cells can be observed [23– 26]. Further studies suggest that the overexpression of CDR2L triggers an autoimmune response, possibly through the expression of neo-epitopes [27]. This

Antigen	Neurological disorder	Cancer	References
Hu	Encephalitis, PCD, subacute sensory neuropathy	SCLC	[200]
CV2/CRMP5	Chorea, optic neuritis, PEM, peripheral neuropathy	SCLC, thymoma	[201]
Ма	Limbic, brainstem, and hypothalamic encephalitis	Testicular tumors	[202]
Yo	Cerebellar degeneration	Carcinoma of the ovary, breast, or uterus	[21]
Ri	Opsoclonus-myoclonus, PCD	Breast carcinoma, lung carcinoma	[203]
Amphiphysin	Stiff person syndrome, PEM	Breast carcinoma, SCLC	[204]
Glycine receptor	PCD	Lung carcinoma	[205]
VGCC	Lambert–Eaton myasthenic syndrome +/– cerebellar degeneration	SCLC	[206, 207]
Muscle AChR	Myasthenia gravis	Thymoma, SCLC	[208, 209]
Neuronal AChR	Autonomic neuropathy	Thymoma, SCLC	[210]
NMDAR	Anti-NMDAR encephalitis	Ovarian teratoma	[211]
AMPAR	Limbic encephalitis, atypical psychosis	SCLC, thymoma, breast cancer	[212]
GABA(B) receptor	Limbic encephalitis	SCLC	[213]
Anti-retinal bipolar cell	Retinopathy	Melanoma	[214]
LGI1	Limbic encephalitis	Thymoma, SCLC	[215]
Caspr2	Encephalitis, Morvan syndrome, and acquired neuromyotonia (Isaacs syndrome)	Thymoma	[215]
Anna-3	Cerebellar ataxia, limbic encephalopathy	Lung carcinoma, upper airway carcinoma	[216]

Table 1 Examples for PNS, associated autoantibodies, and associated cancer

Abbreviations: AChR, acetylcholine receptor; AMPAR, α -Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic glutamate receptor; NMDAR, N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor; PCD, paraneoplastic degeneration; PEM, paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis; SCLC, small-cell lung cancer; VGCC, voltage-gated calcium channel

autoimmune response is characterized by the presence of anti-Yo antibodies in both the periphery and the CSF. Anti-Yo antibodies in the cerebellum can be taken up by Purkinje cells [28–30], where they induce cell death [28, 29]. These studies suggest that anti-Yo antibodies play a direct role in the pathogenesis of cerebellar injury. The exact mechanism involved in the cell death is not yet fully understood. Studies by Schubert et al. suggest a perturbation of neuronal calcium homeostasis as a mechanism for anti-Yo cytotoxicity [27], while Hida et al. suggest that Purkinje cell death might be caused by an interference with protein synthesis [31], and yet other studies indicate that the antibodies may interfere with CDR2's interaction with c-Myc and subsequent disruption of c-Myc cytoplasmic pathways leading to accelerated neuronal apoptosis [32].

Infection

While in PNS the originating antigen is a neuronal autoantigen expressed by the tumor, in neuronal autoimmune disorders triggered by infections, the initial trigger of the immune response can also be a foreign antigen. Examples for infections that trigger neuronal autoimmune diseases include *Campylobacter jejuni*, *Streptococcus*, Mycoplasma pneumonia, and herpes simplex virus (Table 2). Infections may trigger autoimmunity through several mechanisms including molecular mimicry, bystander activation, presentation of cryptic antigens, or epitope spreading [33]. In molecular *mimicry*, the pathogen has properties similar to a self-antigen, and antibodies originally formed against the pathogen may be cross-reactive to the self. In bystander activation, the inflammatory environment evoked by the infection can activate autoimmune cells. Infection may also lead to the processing and presentation of "cryptic antigens," leading to the development of autoimmunity toward these epitopes that are usually hidden from the immune response [34]. Lastly, in *epitope spreading*, the infection damages host cells, leading to the release of self-antigen, which may trigger an autoimmune response. Examples for infections triggering neuronal autoimmunity are listed in Table 2.

Infectious agent	Autoantigen	Neurological disease	References
Campylobacter jejuni, Haemophilus influenzae	Myelin, ganglioside GM1, tubulin, GFAP	Guillain–Barré syndrome	[217–219]
Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1)	hnRNP-A1	HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis	[220]
Plasmodium falciparum	VGKC	Post-malaria neurological syndrome	[221]
HSV	NMDAR	Acute encephalitis (NMDAR)	[36]
Streptococcus pyogenes	Lysoganglioside, dopamine D2 receptor, tubulin	Sydenham's chorea	[222, 223]
Multiple viruses	multiple	MS	[224, 225]
Borrelia burgdorferi	MBP	Myelitis and peripheral neuropathy	[226, 227]
AS03-adjuvanted pH1N1 influenza vaccination, <i>Streptococcus pyogenes</i> , seasonal influenza A infections	Ganglioside GM3	Narcolepsy	[228–230]
<i>Treponema pallidum</i> subsp. <i>pallidum</i>	Phospholipid	Neurosyphilis	[231, 232]

 Table 2 Examples of neurological disorders associated with infectious agents

Abbreviations: GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; hnRNP-A1, heterogeneous nuclear ribonuclear protein-A1; MBP, myelin basic protein; NMDAR, N-Methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor; VGKC, voltage-gated potassium channel

Clinical Example

HSV-1 infections of the brain may cause HSV encephalitis (HSVE) either during the primary infection or after a reactivation of a latent virus [35]. In rare cases, relapsing neurologic symptoms occur in the absence of a reactivation of the virus. In these cases, an autoimmune-mediated etiology is suggested, supported by the presence of autoantibodies to the N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor (NMDAR) [36]. Upon binding of glutamate to the glutamate binding site, NMDAR ion channels open and allow the passage of cations across the membrane, causing a depolarization of the neuron. NMDARs are involved in processes of synaptic plasticity, critical in learning and memory. NMDAR antibody-positive encephalitis (NMDARE) is the most common antibody-associated acute autoimmune encephalitis (210). NMDAR autoantibodies are present both in the periphery and in the CSF of affected individuals (212-214) and recognize an extracellular, conformationdependent epitope region at the GluN1 subunit of the NMDAR. Binding of the autoantibody does not interfere with glutamate binding, but cross-links NMDAR, thereby initiating the internalization of the receptor. Reduced NMDAR density on the neuronal surface results in neuronal dysfunction [37] (see also section "Modulation of Receptor Function"). This process is reversible after removal of autoantibodies and may explain the good recovery of patients after immunotherapy [38]. Pathogenicity of the NMDAR autoantibodies has been established in passive transfer experiments, where CSF of patients with NMDAR-E was intraventricularly infused into the mice brain, causing a decrease in NMDAR density (233).

The mechanisms by which HSV-1 infection induces NMDAR antibodies are unclear. In cases where the initial HSV-1 infection affected the CNS, the development of NMDAR immunoreactivity may result from the release of neuronal antigen during the HSV-1-mediated brain injury that exposes NMDAR to the immune system [36]. However, a recent study of young patients with NMDARE without a clinical history of HSVE showed increased frequencies of circulating HSV-1 antibodies, suggesting a previous non-encephalitic HSV-1 infection. Based on these findings, non-encephalitic HSV-1 infections may trigger NMDAR antibody formation via molecular mimicry in the periphery [39].

Injuries to the CNS

Brain traumas including spinal cord injury (SCI) and traumatic brain injury (TBI) cause cell death and a compromise to the BBB integrity. In the first hours following the trauma, the immune response is focused on the recognition and removal of injured neurons. This initial immune response is characterized by the release of cytokines and development of neuroinflammation. This inflammatory milieu weakens the BBB, allowing the leakage of neuronal proteins into the blood and increased

leakage of brain interstitial fluid into the CSF [40, 41]. Thereby, brain antigens may enter cervical lymph nodes and other peripheral immune organs [20, 42–44] and potentially triggering an autoimmune response [45, 46]. Autoantibodies are a characteristic component of this autoimmune response [47] and can serve as biomarkers when they are correlated to injury severity [48, 49]. Examples of autoantibodies associated with injuries to the CNS are listed in Table 3.

Clinical Example

Long-Term Neurological and Systemic Complications in SCI Patients

After the initial SCI, the injured site is infiltrated by peripheral immune cells, and although the ensuing neuroinflammation is part of the natural healing process, it can also damage the neural tissue [50] and trigger a long-lasting neuroinflammation with a significant humoral involvement [51, 52]. The presence of B cells and autoantibodies in SCI-associated neuroinflammation is facilitated by the specific inflammatory milieu seen in SCI [53, 54].

B-cell-deficient mice show enhanced functional recovery after SCI, emphasizing the importance of B cells in complications following SCI [52]. Moreover, passive transfer of antibodies purified from SCI mice to the spinal cord of wild-type mice induces neurotoxicity similar to that observed in mice with SCI [52]. The targets of autoantibodies in SCI include a large number of CNS proteins (Table 3). The antibodies accumulate in the injured spinal cord and co-localize with astrocytes and neurons during the subacute phase of injury [51]. Mechanistically, B cell and their autoantibodies appear to be involved in mediating axonal and myelin pathology, involving complement activation and recruitment of FcR-bearing immune cells [52]. Other studies in humans show that autoantibodies against GM1 gangliosides may prevent functional recovery by inhibiting GM1 function.

Interestingly, the immune response induced by SCI is dependent on the level of the injury. While injuries at the mid-thoracic level induce the above pathogenic B-cell-mediated immune response [51], injuries at higher levels induce a profound

CNS		
injury	Autoantigen	References
TBI	S100B, phospholipids, AMPAR and NMDAR, GFAP	[48, 49, 233–238]
SCI	Galactocerebroside, MAG, AMPAR and NMDAR, tubulin, MBP, GFAP, GM1 ganglioside, S100B, PSMD4, AEBP1, and MYEOV2	[239–247]
Stroke	Neurofilaments, NMDAR, MBP, and S100β	[248, 249]

Table 3 CNS injuries and associated autoantigens

Abbreviations: AEBP1, adipocyte enhancer-binding protein; AMPAR, α -Amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic glutamate receptor; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; MAG, myelin-associated glycoprotein; MBP, myelin basic protein; MYEOV2, myeloma overexpressed gene; NMDAR, N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor; PSMD4, proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 4 immune suppression and diminished B-cell activation [55]. This may be caused by a disruption of sympathetic innervations of the lymphoid tissue [56, 57]. This disruption is referred to as SCI-induced immune deficiency syndrome (SCI-IDS) [58, 59], which may contribute to the increased susceptibility of SCI patients to infections.

Finally, autoantibodies directed against brain antigen can also be found in the CSF and sera of patients following a stroke [60, 61]. Examples of neuronal proteins targeted in stroke patients are listed in Table 3. The clinical relevance of these autoantibodies is uncertain, but specific autoantibodies such as NMDAR may have pathogenic effects as described below.

Transfer of Maternal Antibodies to the Fetal Brain

The passage of maternal IgG antibodies across the placenta to the fetus usually provides passive protection for the newborn child [62]. Until recently, it was believed that the fetal BBB is not fully mature, allowing access of maternal IgG to the fetal brain. However, this concept has since been disputed, and the BBB appears to be fully functional already at week 12 of gestation [63]. Animal studies in developing mice fetuses demonstrated that maternal antibodies are present in the fetal brain very early during development but that this transfer is progressively limited in later stages of gestation [64]. Thus, maternal antibodies (including autoantibodies) appear to have access to the fetal brain during the early stages of fetal development.

Well-established examples of pathogenic autoantibodies present in pregnant women that may impact fetal development and cause CNS abnormalities are acetylcholine receptor autoantibodies in myasthenia gravis [65] and NMDAR autoantibodies in mothers with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [66]. Unless the autoantibody persists or causes developmental defects, the neurological symptoms in the newborn are transient. These different scenarios and the involved autoantigens are listed in Table 4.

Recently, a role of maternal autoantibodies in the fetal brain development has been discussed in the development of autism spectrum disorder (ASD).

Neurological disorder	Autoantigens	References
Neonatal MG	AChR, MuSK, LRP4	[96]
Neonatal lupus erythematosus	Ro/SSA, La/SSB	[250–252]
ASD	Lactate dehydrogenase A and B, cypin, stress-induced phosphoprotein 1, collapsin response mediator proteins 1 and 2, and Y-box-binding protein	[72]

Table 4 Transfer of maternal pathogenic autoantibodies

Abbreviations: AChR, acetylcholine receptor; LRP4, lipoprotein receptor-related protein 4; MuSK, muscle-specific kinase

Clinical Example: ASD

The observation of an association of autism and maternal autoantibodies was made already in 1990 [67]. This association between autism and autoimmunity is further supported by a higher frequency of autoimmune diseases of mothers with children with ASD [68].

Autoantibodies directed against brain protein can be detected in children with ASD and their mothers [69–71]. So far, seven primary antigens associated with maternal autoantibody-related (MAR) autism have been identified as lactate dehydrogenase A and B (LDH), cypin, stress-induced phosphoprotein 1 (STIP1), collapsin response mediator proteins 1 and 2 (CRMP1, CRMP2), and Y-box-binding protein [72]. These proteins are expressed at significant levels in the human fetal brain and have established roles in neurodevelopment [73, 74]. In all, a total of 23% of mothers of children with ASD had autoantibodies directed to two or more of the target proteins [72]. In animal studies, passive transfer of these autoantibodies induced altered ASD-associated behavior, thus indicating that maternal autoantibodies may be of pathogenic significance related to the occurrence of ASD [75, 76]. Notably, different combinations of these autoantibodies are found in different phenotypes of ASD [77–80]. The mechanisms by which these autoantibodies are involved in the pathogenesis of ASD are currently under investigation.

Primary Autoimmune Disorders

In other cases of neurological autoimmune disorders, the trigger of the autoimmune response is unknown; these are primary, or idiopathic, autoimmune disorders. While many of these diseases can also be triggered by the above-discussed pathways, in the absence of a clinical history of infection, cancer, or CNS injury, an idiopathic etiology is assumed. Different neurological autoimmune disorders with unknown trigger are listed in Table 5.

Autoimmune disease	Autoantigen	References
MS	Synapsin 1, MOG, MAG, neurofascin and contactin-2, potassium channel (KIR4.1)	[253–260, 261, 262]
Neuropsychiatric SLE	Alpha-internexin, phospholipid, ribosomal P protein, NMDAR, ganglioside M1, GABA receptor	[263–266]
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	Desmin, LRP4, VGCC l-type, Fas receptor, GM1 ganglioside, SGPG	[267–272]
Stiff person syndrome	GAD65, amphiphysin, GABA receptor, gephyrin	[83, 273–275]

Table 5 Neurological autoimmune disorder without known triggers

Abbreviations: LPP4, LDL receptor-related protein 4; MAG, myelin-associated glycoprotein; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; NMDAR, N-Methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor; SGPG, sulfoglucuronosyl paragloboside; VGCC, voltage-gated calcium channel

Clinical Example

GAD65Ab in Stiff Person Syndrome

Stiff person syndrome (SPS) is an autoimmune CNS disease characterized by progressive muscle stiffness, trigger-induced spasms, spinal deformity, and autoantibodies directed against neuronal antigens, including the smaller isoform of glutamate decarboxylase-65 (GAD65) [81–83]. GAD65 is one of two enzymes that convert glutamate to gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA). GAD65 is also found in non-neuronal tissues such as the beta cells of pancreatic islets, testes, and oviducts. The physiologic role of GAD65 in these non-neuronal tissues is unclear.

GAD65Ab are found both in the periphery and the CSF of SPS patients [84], and an active intrathecal immune response is suggested by the presence of oligoclonal bands and epitope-specific GAD65Ab in the CSF [85]. The pathophysiology of SPS includes decreased concentrations of GABA in the brain and CSF [86]. Initially, a pathogenic role for GAD65Ab was disputed based on the intracellular location of GAD65, but uptake of GAD65Ab by Purkinje cells present in the cerebellum was demonstrated both in vivo and in vitro [87–89]. GAD65Ab may interfere with one or both roles of GAD65 in GABAergic neurotransmission, namely, the synthesis of GABA from glutamate and the axonal transport of GABAergic synaptic vesicles to the synaptic cleft [90, 91]. GAD65Ab in SPS interfere with both GAD65 enzyme activity [84] and the association of GAD65 with the cytosolic side of synaptic vesicles, necessary for the axonal transport [88], resulting in a decrease in vesicular GABA contents with low release probability [88]. This interference with GABAergic neurotransmission is consistent with the motor hyperexcitability, changes in behavior, and cognitive operations observed in animals intrathecally injected with GAD65Ab [88, 92, 93].

Theme B: Antibody Effector Mechanisms

In the following, we will discuss the different mechanisms by which antibodies exert their physiological effects in neurological disorders with relevant clinical examples (Fig. 1).

Complement-Dependent Cytotoxicity (CDC)

The deposition of immune complexes consisting of autoantibodies and autoantigens can trigger inflammatory responses through activation of complement [15]. There are three distinct complement pathways: the classical pathway, the lectin pathway, and the alternative pathway. Each of these pathways leads to the generation of anaphylatoxins (C3a and C5a), opsonins (C3b and C3d), and the terminal membrane



Fig. 1 Autoantibody-mediated effector mechanisms in neurological disorders. Antibodies mediate neurological dysfunction via different pathways They can:

Cross-link adjacent receptors, facilitating their endocytosis and degradation, and inactive ion channels, thereby reducing the amplitude of the incoming signal

Activate or inactivate neurotransmitter receptors,

Sequester neurotransmitters in the synaptic cleft and thereby reduce the transmitted signal Form immune complexes that are deposited

Interfere with the interaction of proteins in protein complexes

Bind and initiate the alternative complement pathway leading to cell lysis

Activate effector cells via binding of Fc receptors, inactive enzymes involved in neurotransmission

attack complex (MAC, C5b-9). Anaphylatoxins are proinflammatory molecules that attract and activate leukocytes, opsonins bind to antigen and thereby label it for phagocytosis, and the MAC inserts into cell membranes to form a pore, resulting in cell lysis. The classical pathway is activated by immune complexes consisting of IgM or IgG in complex with antigen. Binding of the Fc portion of the antibody by the complement molecule C1q triggers the complement cascade leading to the above effector molecules (Fig. 1). Of the five human Ig isotypes, only IgM and IgG can activate complement.

Clinical Example: Myasthenia Gravis

Myasthenia gravis (MG) is characterized by impaired synaptic transmission at the neuromuscular junction (NMJ), the site of synaptic transmission between motor neurons and muscle fibers [94–96]. Under healthy conditions, an action potential that reaches the nerve terminal triggers the release of the neurotransmitter acetyl-choline (ACh) from the nerve terminal into the synaptic cleft. ACh binds to its receptor (AChR) on the postsynaptic membrane, causing ion channels to open, eventually leading to muscle contraction.

The majority of patients with MG present autoantibodies directed against the AChR [97], which can inhibit the above-described signal transduction. The AChR is composed of four distinct membrane-spanning proteins, α , β , δ , and ε , which form the five subunits (two α -subunits and one copy of each of the three other distinct subunits). ACh binding sites are present on the α -subunits. AChR autoantibodies can block the binding of ACh to AChRs, accelerate the internalization of AChRs, and activate complement [94, 96]. In the classical complement pathway, AChR/ AChR antibody immune complexes are bound by C1q. The subsequent complement activation damages the postsynaptic membrane at the NMJ, reducing the overall membrane surface area and the number of AChRs [98, 99]. As a consequence, the patient develops the characteristic muscle weakness associated with MG [94].

Immune Complexes and Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity (ADCC)

Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) is the killing of an antibody-coated target cell by a cytotoxic effector cell through a nonphagocytic process, mediated by the release of the content of cytotoxic granules or by the expression of cell death-inducing molecules. In ADCC, the target antigen present on the cell surface is being bound by the antibody, which thus coats the cells and marks it as a target for the immune response. The Fc portion of the antibody is recognized by the Fc receptor present on effector cells. In the periphery, these effector cells include natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages, eosinophils, and neutrophils, while in the CNS, microglia take over most of these functions. Binding of the effector cells to the target cells induces receptor cross-linking on the effector cells, which triggers a signal transduction cascade, resulting in the release of cytotoxic granule content.

Clinical Example: Neuromyelitis Optica

Neuromyelitis optica (NMO), or NMOSD, is an inflammatory demyelinating autoimmune disease that affects mainly the spinal cord (myelitis) and the optic nerve (optica) [100–103]. Patients present with autoantibodies directed against aquaporin-4 (AQP4) [104, 105]. AQP4 is the main water channel in the brain and facilitates water movement across membranes. The protein is found at high concentrations expressed as a transmembrane protein in the end-feet expansions of astrocytes at the blood–brain barrier and in ependymal cells at brain–cerebrospinal interfaces [106]. AQP4 expression is particularly high in the optic nerve and spinal cord, the major tissues affected in NMO. Patients show damage of astrocytes, inflammation, macrophage infiltration, and deposition of activated complement. Notably, AQP4-Ab titers are directly associated with disease activity and decline after immunosuppressive therapy [101, 107, 108]. Binding of AQP4 by its autoantibody does not inhibit AQP4 water permeability [109–111] but activates both complement and ADCC [112–114], recruiting Fc receptor expressing neutrophils, eosinophils, and macrophages to NMO lesions [115, 116]. Animal studies supported the ADCC involvement and AQP4-IgG without ADCC effector function produced reduced NMO pathology in vivo, and Fc receptor knockout mice showed reduced pathology [116, 117].

Modulation of Receptor Function

Agonist Effect

Clinical Example: Certain Forms of Epilepsy, Specifically Rasmussen's Encephalitis

Roughly 30% of patients with autoimmune epilepsy present autoantibodies [118– 123], most commonly, patients with Rasmussen's encephalitis (RE), a rare and severe childhood epilepsy with unknown etiology [124]. One group of autoantibodies reacts against peptide B—aa 372–395 of the GluR3 subunit of the α -amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) glutamate receptors [120]. The AMPAR is an ionotropic glutamate receptor and constitutes a tetrameric ligandgated cation channels that induce depolarization of the postsynaptic membrane [125]. Dysfunctional AMPAR signaling has been implicated in epileptic seizures. Although the region differs from the glutamate binding site, binding of the GluR3 by the autoantibody leads to activation and opening of the receptor's ion channel [126–129] and results in the induction of excitotoxic neuronal death by allowing excessive Ca²⁺ influx through the receptor-operated cation channels [130, 131]. Mice immunized with Glu3R produce specific Glu3R antibodies, and the animals showed higher propensity to seizures and displayed higher anxiety [132].

Antagonist Effect

Clinical Example: MG

Another mechanism by which autoantibodies in MG affect the pathogenesis is through blockage of AChR. Serum IgG from MG patients has been shown to block the ACh binding sites of AChR in cultured mammalian muscle cells [133], inducing acute and severe muscle weakness in the absence of inflammation or necrosis [134, 135]. Whether this mechanism plays a role in human MG is unclear.

Internalization of Receptors

Antibodies can cross-link receptors via their two Fab fragments when one Fab fragment binds to one receptor and the other Fab fragment binds to an adjacent receptor. These antibody-linked receptors are rapidly endocytosed, internalized, and degraded. Through this mechanism, the number of receptors present on the cell surface is significantly decreased [136-138], and consequently, the neuron's ability to respond adequately to increased neurotransmitter signals is reduced.

Clinical Example: NMDAR Encephalitis

Patients with NMDAR encephalitis present with autoantibodies directed against the *N*-methyl-d-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) [139–141]. NMDARs are ionotrophic glutamate receptors presenting as heterotetramers consisting of two GluN1 subunits and two GluN2 subunits. NMDAR autoantibodies target the extracellular N-terminal domain of the GluNR1 subunits [142] and cause a significant reduction in NMDAR surface expression without neuronal loss in neuronal cultures [143, 144] and in vivo in animals after intrathecal administration [143–145]. This loss of receptor density on the surface is mediated by receptor internalization, and consequently, the neuron shows a reduced ability to respond to glutamate signaling, leading to the characteristic memory and behavioral alterations [143–145].

Ion Channel Function Modulation

Clinical Example: Lambert-Eaton Myasthenic Syndrome

LEMS is a paraneoplastic disorder, with a strong association to small-cell lung cancer tumor [146]. The disease is characterized by skeletal muscle weakness, malfunctions of the autonomic system, and reduced tendon reflexes [147]. Autoantibodies present in LEMS patients target multiple subunits of the voltage-gated P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channels [148] and facilitate the internalization and destruction of the Ca²⁺ channels. The reduction in the number of P/Q-type voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels at the presynaptic terminal of the NMJ [149, 150] causes a decrease in the amount of action potential-evoked ACh release and results in less effective initiation of muscle contraction, and patients with LEMS experience debilitating muscle weakness. Passive transfer of LEMS patient serum or IgG via intraperitoneal injections induces a significant reduction of presynaptic calcium channels in mice, supporting the above scenario [151].

Sequestering of Neurotransmitters

Hypothetically, autoantibodies directed against neurotransmitters could affect neurotransmission by reducing the level of the respective neurotransmitter in the synapsis. Only few examples for such a pathogenic mechanism have been reported so far, and none of them included human reports.

Example: Neuropathic Pain

Vetrile et al. describe the development of autoantibodies directed against neurotransmitters in rats in response to neuropathic pain [152]. These autoantibodies are inversely correlated with severity of neuropathic pain syndrome and may have protective activity [153].

Enzyme Inhibition

Only few neurological autoimmune disorders are associated with autoantibodies directed toward enzymes. In Stiff person syndrome, autoantibodies against GAD65 may be causal to the decreased GABA levels observed in these patients. The involved mechanisms are discussed in section "GAD65Ab in Stiff Person Syndrome."

Theme C: Determinants of Pathogenic Effects of Autoantibodies

When evaluating the pathogenic effect of an autoantibody, we need to recognize that the effectiveness of any given autoantibody depends on the nature and location of the antigen, the isotype and IgG subclass of the autoantibody, its titer and affinity, and the presence of effector cells. Titers of pathogenic autoantibodies do not necessarily correlate with severity of disease, even if a pathogenic role of the autoantibodies has been established [154–156]. This lack of correlation may be due to variabilities in epitope specificities, affinity, and/or immunoglobulin isotypes.

Epitope Specificity of Autoantibodies

AChR antibodies in MG can target different epitopes of the receptor [157]. Depending on the epitope specificity, these autoantibodies can facilitate receptor internalization via cross-linking [158], block ACh binding sites [135], or initiate complement-mediated cytotoxicity [159]. The relative frequency of the different antibody specificities will determine the dominant pathogenic mechanism and severity of symptoms. Similar observations have been made for epitope specificities of GAD65Ab associated with SPS, type 1 diabetes, and GAD65Ab-associated cerebellar ataxia [88, 92].

Ig Isotypes and IgG Subclasses: Effector Functions

Another parameter determining the effect of autoantibodies are the different Ig isotypes and IgG subclasses. Human immunoglobulins comprise of five isotypes (IgG, IgE, IgM, IgD, and IgA) with clearly defined functions. Four major IgG subclasses are identified (IgG1-4), which differ in their relative frequency in human serum, half-life, and effector function. Thus, the isotype and IgG subclass of an autoantibody are critical determinants of the antibody's effect. Much of the antibody's effect is dictated by the Fc receptors present of different effector cells. An in-depth discussion of IgG subclasses and their receptors is given elsewhere [160]. In the following, we will discuss examples of isotype and/or IgG subclass-dependent pathogenic mechanisms associated with specific autoantibodies. Most autoantibodies are of the IgG isotype, although neurological autoimmune disorder with autoantibodies of the IgM, IgA, and IgE isotypes has been described. Among the IgG isotype, the IgG1 subclass is the most frequent autoantibody subclass. Here, we highlight examples of autoantibodies of less frequent IgG subclasses and Ig isotypes. To date, no studies support a pathogenic role of autoantibodies of the IgG2 subclass or the IgD isotype in autoimmune neurological disorders. Different Ig isotypes and IgG subclasses and their effector function as relevant to neurological autoimmune disorders are listed in Table 6.

Clinical Examples

Autoantibodies of the IgG3 Subclass in Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyneuropathy

Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) is characterized by an acute Guillain-Barre-like phase, followed by a chronic phase with progressive symptoms. Patients show autoantibodies to components of the Ranvier protein complex that links the myelin sheath and the axon [161]. Of specific interest are autoantibodies directed against the Contactin-associated protein 1 (Caspr) because here, different IgG subclasses are associated with the different phases of the disease. IgG3 Caspr autoantibodies were found in patients who were tested during the acute

	IgM	IgE	IgA	IgG1	IgG2	IgG3	IgG4
Activation of traditional complement	+++			+++	+	+++	
Binding of activating FcR	++	+++	++	+++	+	+++	
Binding of inhibitory FcR							+++
Internalization of receptors				+++			
Block of protein-protein interaction							+++
Enzyme activity inhibition				+++			

 Table 6
 Effector functions of Ig isotypes and IgG subclasses relevant to autoimmune neurological disorders

GBS-like phase of CIDP, while IgG4 Caspr autoantibodies were present during the chronic phase of disease [162]. This finding supports the idea of a switch from IgG3 to IgG4 at the chronic phase of disease and may in part explain the IgG3-mediated complement activation during the acute phase [163], whereas autoantibodies of the IgG4 subclass block protein interactions in the paranode structure during the later disease stages [164].

Autoantibodies of the IgG4 Subclass in MG

In contrast to IgG subclasses 1–3, IgG4 cannot facilitate binding to protein C1q of the classic complement cascade [165], and shows a reduced binding to activating Fc γ receptors. However, it shows strong binding to the inhibitory Fc γ RIIb [166]. Without the ability to activate the classic complement pathway or activate immune cells, the only pathogenic mechanisms associated with IgG4 are Fc-independent, e.g., blockage of protein–protein interaction or activation/inactivation of enzymes or receptors [167]. An example for IgG4 autoantibodies in neurological disorders are muscle-specific kinase (MuSK) autoantibodies in MG. These IgG4 autoantibodies effectively block the interaction between MuSK and its ligand [168, 169].

IgA Autoantibodies in Gluten Ataxia

IgA antibodies against tissue transglutaminases are prevalent in patients with celiac disease (CD). Reactivity to gluten can also manifest itself as cerebellar disorders (gluten ataxia), even in the absence of intestinal symptoms. In these patients, the major target of IgA autoantibodies is transglutaminase 6 (TG6) [170], a transglutaminase expressed predominantly by neuronal cells [171]. Cerebellar IgA deposits that contained TG6 have been identified in postmortem tissue from patients with gluten ataxia, and a pathogenic role of these deposits has been suggested [170].

IgE Autoantibodies in MS

IgE antibodies bind to IgE-specific Fcɛ receptor (FcɛRI) expressed on mast cells and basophils, and cross-linking of the FcɛRI by IgE-antigen complexes initiates degranulation of these cells. Autoantibodies of the IgE isotype are rare but have been described in patients with MS [172]. These autoantibodies are directed against small myelin protein-derived peptides (SUMPPs) [172]. Mechanistically, IgE activate mast cells, and it is feasible that mast cell degranulation in the CNS might occur as a consequence of intravascular myelin-reactive IgE penetrating the BBB. However, the pathogenic relevance of this finding needs to be further investigated.

IgM Autoantibodies in Peripheral Neuropathy

Peripheral neuropathy is a frequent complication of IgM monoclonal gammopathy [173] and often presents with IgM autoantibodies directed against a number of neural antigens [174], including myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), sulfatide, chondroitin sulfate C, cytoskeletal proteins, and several gangliosides [175–177]. Most of these patients experience a chronic, progressive, symmetric, and predominantly distal neuropathy, consistent with dysfunction or loss of large myelinated fibers. Pathological studies on nerve biopsies show segmental demyelination with deposits of IgM and complement [178], and ultrastructural studies show a unique splitting of the outer myelin lamellae [179, 180]. Animal studies support complement-mediated demyelination of nerves [181], suggesting a pathogenic role of these autoantibodies in the disease.

Theme D: Protective and Reparative Autoantibodies

Until now, we focused on autoantibodies with potential pathogenic roles in autoimmune neurological disorders. However, autoantibodies can serve important regulatory functions and improve tissue repair in the CNS. Protective autoantibodies are mainly of the IgM isotype or the IgG4 subclass.

Natural IgM Autoantibodies

One class of beneficial autoantibodies is represented by natural IgM autoantibodies. As characteristic for IgM, they show few, if any, somatic mutations and are polyreactive with low affinity [182]. Importantly, IgM cross the BBB and localize to normal and injured CNS tissues [183]. Once in the CNS tissue, the antibodies bind to surface antigens [184] and activate cell signals that promote remyelination [185, 186]. Specific targets of the IgM were identified in mouse models of MS [187] and include surface glycolipid antigens [188, 189]. One of the proposed reparative mechanisms involves the induction of a transient Ca^{2+} influx in oligodendrocytes [190, 191], which in turn activates mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases and eventually downregulates caspase-3 and caspase-9 activation [192].

Another pathway of IgM autoantibodies may be the facilitation of the opsonization and clearance of injured and dying cells by macrophages [187]. This mechanism may also be employed by natural IgG autoantibodies. Within hours of CNS injury, IgG can be observed at the region surrounding a brain injury. These antibodies bind to neurons associated with the initial injury, which have been injured and are in advanced stages of cell death [193]. Oponization marks these cells for rapid clearance [194]. It has been suggested that these autoantibodies bind to neuronal proteins that have been modified or presented in an unusual position as part of cell death [195, 196].

Protective Autoantibodies of the IgG4 Subclass

As discussed above, the IgG4 subclass does not activate complement and binds preferably to the inhibitory $Fc\gamma RIIb$ [166]. These characteristics are consistent with the observation that IgG4 is associated with anti-inflammatory immune responses. IgG4 may to protect against antibodies of other IgG subclasses by competition for antigen without exerting an effector function, thus blocking the epitope to prevent the harmful effect of other antibody classes or subclasses. Animal studies support this assumption as IgG4 subclass autoantibodies against the AChR protect against the pathogenic effects of IgG1 of the same idiotype in rhesus monkeys [197].

Neutralization of Pathogenic Autoantibodies by Anti-idiotypic Antibodies

Another example of protective autoantibodies are anti-idiotype antibodies. Antiidiotypic antibodies recognize the idiotype of antibodies and may effectively neutralize autoantibodies.

Theme E: Treatment Options

Treatment of neurological autoimmune diseases with intrathecal autoantibody production and CNS inflammation is hindered because of the BBB, while systemic autoantibody-mediated diseases may show better treatment responses. Other determining factors are the involved pathogenic mechanisms and duration of disease. For some neurological autoimmune disorders, removal of the autoantibody is sufficient to improve symptoms, while in other diseases, extensive neuronal damage has occurred and the disease progress may only be halted, without the ability to restore lost function.

The first-line treatment of many of these autoimmune disorders is often a combination of corticosteroids with either plasma exchange or IVIG or both.

Corticosteroids are often employed, based on their efficient anti-inflammatory activity. However, some neurological disorders show further deterioration [198]. This may be due to corticosteroid-mediated upregulation of the Na⁺/K⁺ pump activity and the associated axonal hyperpolarization.

IVIg preparations combine IgG pooled from thousands of donors. The involved mechanisms include both Fc-mediated and Fc-independent effector functions. Fc-independent mechanisms include the anti-idiotypic antibody-mediated neutralization of pathogenic autoantibodies (see above). Fc-mediated mechanisms include Fc γ R blocking, induction of anti-inflammatory cytokine production, and blockade of complement proteins. IVIg has been successfully used in the treatment of Guillain–Barré syndrome, CIDP, multifocal motor neuropathy (MMN), and SPS.

In therapeutic *plasmapheresis*, the patient's blood components are separated, and plasma, including autoantibodies, is removed. Patients with MG, CIDP, GBS, SPS, and NMDAR-E often show good responses. However, symptoms may reappear together with increased autoantibody titers. Immunosuppression due to removal of plasma from the body can occur and patients are prone to systemic infections.

Another potent immunosuppressant is *cyclophosphamide*, mediated by its apoptotic effect on proliferating lymphocytes, but the often serious side effects need to be considered, particularly in long-term treatment.

A more targeted and potentially curative approach is achieved by *B*-cell depletion. B cells can be specifically targeted and depleted by a number of drugs. Rituximab is a monoclonal antibody targeting the B-cell marker CD20. CD20 is expressed on most B-cell stages and is lost during final maturation to plasma cells. Rituximab depletes B cells from the circulation; and importantly, rituximab is detectable also in the CSF after i.v. administration, thus depleting B cells both in the periphery and in the CNS. Rituximab treatment has been used successfully in MS patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis disease, NMO, MG (particularly in those with MuSK autoantibodies), and SPS. Plasma cells can also be targeted by a specific inhibition of proteasome function based on the strong need for protein production in these cells. Bortezomib inhibits proteasome function and is currently tested for treatment of NMDAR-E. Prevention of maturation of B cells into mature, antibody-secreting cells is in part facilitated by specific cytokines. IL-6 aids in the development of B cells into mature, antibody-secreting cells, and an anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibody has been used with promising results in the treatment of NMO and autoimmune encephalitis.

Experimental Approaches

Novel approaches that are currently being tested in clinical trials are listed in Table 7.

Disease Duration

The importance of an early diagnosis of disease in the successful treatment of neurological diseases cannot be emphasized enough and is exemplified by GAD65Abassociated cerebellar ataxia (CA) [199]. In GAD65Ab-associated CA, GAD65Ab impair GABA release by interfering with the packaging of this neurotransmitter into the synaptic terminal vesicles as well as shuttling of the vesicles to the synaptic cleft. The decrease in GABA neurotransmission induces an upregulation of glutamate release from neighboring synapses and subsequent neuronal cell death caused by continuous glutamate excess (excitotoxicity). To avoid the progression of cerebellar pathology, the correct diagnosis needs to be established as soon as possible.

Mechanism of action	Drug name	Disorder
Monoclonal antibody directed against complement C5 Inhibition of complement	Eculizumab	MG Guillain–Barré syndrome NMO
Fc fragment, blockage of FcRn	Efgartigimod	MG
Monoclonal antibody directed against the 26S proteasome Inhibition of protein metabolism	Bortezomib	NMO, NMDAR-E
Inhibitor or inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, inhibition of T- and B-cell proliferation	Mycophenolate mofetil	CIDP
Binding of BAFF, inhibition of B-cell activation	Belimumab	MG
Monoclonal antibody directed against selective adhesion molecule. Reduction of transmission of immune cells into CNS	Natalizumab	MS
Monoclonal antibody directed against CD52. Depletion of T and B lymphocytes	Alemtuzumab	CIPD, MS
Monoclonal anti-IL6 antibody. Prevention of maturation to plasma cells	Satralizumab	NMO

 Table 7
 Novel therapeutic approaches for the treatment of neurological autoimmune disorders

Immunotherapies have been shown to be beneficial when initiated during the early phases of disease due to the remarkable self-recovery capacities of the cerebellum. However, once a critical number of neurons have been destroyed, the condition can only be halted without restoration of lost function.

Conclusions

Neurological autoimmune diseases with autoantibody association are diverse regarding their antigenic targets, clinical phenotypes, pathogenic mechanisms, and initiating triggers. The design of an appropriate treatment plan is complicated by different triggers and different autoantibody mediated pathogeneses involved in the same disease. Moreover, a given autoantibody can be exhibited in a variety of clinical appearances, while a specific neurological symptom can be associated with different autoantibodies. At the same time, an early diagnosis is crucial for a favorable outcome. Current treatment options consist of traditional immune suppression and antibody and B-cell depletion. Further research is critical to develop novel treatment strategies that allow specific targeting of pathogenic pathways with minimal side effects.

References

- 1. MEDAWAR PB. Immunity to homologous grafted skin; the fate of skin homografts transplanted to the brain, to subcutaneous tissue, and to the anterior chamber of the eye. Br J Exp Pathol. 1948;29(1):58–69.
- 2. Widner H, Brundin P. Immunological aspects of grafting in the mammalian central nervous system. A review and speculative synthesis. Brain Res. 1988;472(3):287–324.
- 3. Bechmann I, Galea I, Perry VH. What is the blood-brain barrier (not)? Trends Immunol. 2007;28(1):5–11.
- 4. Galea I, Bechmann I, Perry VH. What is immune privilege (not)? Trends Immunol. 2007;28(1):12–8.
- Reiber H, Peter JB. Cerebrospinal fluid analysis: disease-related data patterns and evaluation programs. J Neurol Sci. 2001;184(2):101–22.
- Cepok S, et al. The immune response at onset and during recovery from Borrelia burgdorferi meningoradiculitis. Arch Neurol. 2003;60(6):849–55.
- 7. Cepok S, et al. Short-lived plasma blasts are the main B cell effector subset during the course of multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2005;128(Pt 7):1667–76.
- Kuenz B, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid B cells correlate with early brain inflammation in multiple sclerosis. PLoS One. 2008;3(7):e2559.
- 9. Wilson EH, Weninger W, Hunter CA. Trafficking of immune cells in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(5):1368–79.
- 10. Redzic Z. Molecular biology of the blood-brain and the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers: similarities and differences. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2011;8(1):3.
- Banks WA. Blood-brain barrier transport of cytokines: a mechanism for neuropathology. Curr Pharm Des. 2005;11(8):973–84.
- Coureuil M, et al. Meningococcus Hijacks a β2-adrenoceptor/β-Arrestin pathway to cross brain microvasculature endothelium. Cell. 2010;143(7):1149–60.
- Larochelle C, Alvarez JI, Prat A. How do immune cells overcome the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis? FEBS Lett. 2011;585(23):3770–80.
- Janigro D. Does leakage of the blood-brain barrier mediate epileptogenesis? Epilepsy Curr. 2007;7(4):105–7.
- 15. Shlosberg D, et al. Blood-brain barrier breakdown as a therapeutic target in traumatic brain injury. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010;6(7):393–403.
- Schoknecht K, David Y, Heinemann U. The blood-brain barrier-gatekeeper to neuronal homeostasis: clinical implications in the setting of stroke. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2015;38:35–42.
- 17. Alluri H, et al. Blood-brain barrier dysfunction following traumatic brain injury. Metab Brain Dis. 2015;30(5):1093–104.
- Bard F, et al. Peripherally administered antibodies against amyloid beta-peptide enter the central nervous system and reduce pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Nat Med. 2000;6(8):916–9.
- Knopf PM, et al. Antigen-dependent intrathecal antibody synthesis in the normal rat brain: tissue entry and local retention of antigen-specific B cells. J Immunol. 1998;161(2):692–701.
- 20. Cserr HF, Knopf PM. Cervical lymphatics, the blood-brain barrier and the immunoreactivity of the brain: a new view. Immunol Today. 1992;13(12):507–12.
- Furneaux HM, et al. Selective expression of Purkinje-cell antigens in tumor tissue from patients with paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. N Engl J Med. 1990;322(26):1844–51.
- 22. Eichler TW, et al. CDR2L antibodies: a new player in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. PLoS One. 2013;8(6):e66002.
- Small M, et al. Genetic alterations and tumor immune attack in Yo paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. Acta Neuropathol. 2018;135(4):569–79.
- 24. Ledermann JA, et al. Newly diagnosed and relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(Suppl 6):vi24–32.

- Peterson K, et al. Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. I. A clinical analysis of 55 anti-Yo antibody-positive patients. Neurology. 1992;42(10):1931–7.
- Storstein A, Krossnes BK, Vedeler CA. Morphological and immunohistochemical characterization of paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration associated with Yo antibodies. Acta Neurol Scand. 2009;120(1):64–7.
- 27. Schubert M, et al. Paraneoplastic CDR2 and CDR2L antibodies affect Purkinje cell calcium homeostasis. Acta Neuropathol. 2014;128(6):835–52.
- Greenlee JE, et al. Purkinje cell death after uptake of anti-Yo antibodies in cerebellar slice cultures. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2010;69(10):997–1007.
- 29. Greenlee JE, et al. Anti-Yo antibody uptake and interaction with its intracellular target antigen causes Purkinje cell death in rat cerebellar slice cultures: a possible mechanism for paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration in humans with gynecological or breast cancers. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0123446.
- Hill KE, et al. Cerebellar Purkinje cells incorporate immunoglobulins and immunotoxins in vitro: implications for human neurological disease and immunotherapeutics. J Neuroinflammation. 2009;6:31.
- Hida C, et al. Ultrastructural localization of anti-Purkinje cell antibody-binding sites in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. Arch Neurol. 1994;51(6):555–8.
- Okano HJ, et al. The cytoplasmic Purkinje onconeural antigen cdr2 down-regulates c-Myc function: implications for neuronal and tumor cell survival. Genes Dev. 1999;13(16):2087–97.
- Ercolini AM, Miller SD. The role of infections in autoimmune disease. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009;155(1):1–15.
- 34. Simitsek PD, et al. Modulation of antigen processing by bound antibodies can boost or suppress class II major histocompatibility complex presentation of different T cell determinants. J Exp Med. 1995;181:1957–63.
- 35. Riancho J, et al. Herpes simplex encephalitis: clinical presentation, neurological sequelae and new prognostic factors. Ten years of experience. Neurol Sci. 2013;34(10):1879–81.
- Armangue T, et al. Herpes simplex virus encephalitis is a trigger of brain autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2014;75(2):317–23.
- 37. Gresa-Arribas N, et al. Antibody titres at diagnosis and during follow-up of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a retrospective study. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(2):167–77.
- Titulaer MJ, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(2):157–65.
- Salovin A, et al. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis and nonencephalitic HSV-1 infection. Neurol Neuroinflamm. 2018;5(4):e458.
- 40. Okonkwo DO, et al. GFAP-BDP as an acute diagnostic marker in traumatic brain injury: results from the prospective transforming research and clinical knowledge in traumatic brain injury study. J Neurotrauma. 2013;30(17):1490–7.
- Auer LM, Walter GF, Mayer G. Brain edema in acute arterial hypertension III: fluorescence microscopic results. J Neurosurg Sci. 1979;23(4):243–8.
- 42. Yang Y, Rosenberg GA. Blood-brain barrier breakdown in acute and chronic cerebrovascular disease. Stroke. 2011;42(11):3323–8.
- 43. Weller RO, et al. Lymphatic drainage of the brain and the pathophysiology of neurological disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;117(1):1–14.
- 44. Carare RO, Hawkes CA, Weller RO. Afferent and efferent immunological pathways of the brain. Anatomy, function and failure. Brain Behav Immun. 2014;36:9–14.
- 45. Arbour RB. Traumatic brain injury: pathophysiology, monitoring, and mechanism-based care. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am. 2013;25(2):297–319.
- 46. Rudehill S, et al. Autoreactive antibodies against neurons and basal lamina found in serum following experimental brain contusion in rats. Acta Neurochir. 2006;148(2):199–205; discussion 205.
- 47. Diamond B, et al. Brain-reactive antibodies and disease. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:345-85.

- Marchi N, et al. Consequences of repeated blood-brain barrier disruption in football players. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e56805.
- 49. Zhang Z, et al. Human traumatic brain injury induces autoantibody response against glial fibrillary acidic protein and its breakdown products. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e92698.
- 50. Dekaban GA, Thawer S. Pathogenic antibodies are active participants in spinal cord injury. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(10):2881–4.
- Ankeny DP, et al. Spinal cord injury triggers systemic autoimmunity: evidence for chronic B lymphocyte activation and lupus-like autoantibody synthesis. J Neurochem. 2006;99(4):1073–87.
- 52. Ankeny DP, Guan Z, Popovich PG. B cells produce pathogenic antibodies and impair recovery after spinal cord injury in mice. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(10):2990–9.
- 53. Xu H, et al. IDO: a double-edged sword for T(H)1/T(H)2 regulation. Immunol Lett. 2008;121(1):1–6.
- Scott GN, et al. The immunoregulatory enzyme IDO paradoxically drives B cell-mediated autoimmunity. J Immunol. 2009;182(12):7509–17.
- 55. Lucin KM, et al. Impaired antibody synthesis after spinal cord injury is level dependent and is due to sympathetic nervous system dysregulation. Exp Neurol. 2007;207(1):75–84.
- Rosas-Ballina M, Tracey KJ. Cholinergic control of inflammation. J Intern Med. 2009;265(6):663–79.
- Iversen PO, et al. Depressed immunity and impaired proliferation of hematopoietic progenitor cells in patients with complete spinal cord injury. Blood. 2000;96(6):2081–3.
- Riegger T, et al. Spinal cord injury-induced immune depression syndrome (SCI-IDS). Eur J Neurosci. 2007;25(6):1743–7.
- 59. Riegger T, et al. Immune depression syndrome following human spinal cord injury (SCI): a pilot study. Neuroscience. 2009;158(3):1194–9.
- Roström B, Link B. Oligoclonal immunoglobulins in cerebrospinal fluid in acute cerebrovascular disease. Neurology. 1981;31(5):590–6.
- 61. Prüss H, et al. Evidence of intrathecal immunoglobulin synthesis in stroke: a cohort study. Arch Neurol. 2012;69(6):714–7.
- Garty BZ, et al. Placental transfer of immunoglobulin G subclasses. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 1994;1(6):667–9.
- Saunders NR, Liddelow SA, Dziegielewska KM. Barrier mechanisms in the developing brain. Front Pharmacol. 2012;3:46.
- Braniste V, et al. The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(263):263ra158.
- 65. Vincent A, et al. Arthrogryposis multiplex congenita with maternal autoantibodies specific for a fetal antigen. Lancet. 1995;346(8966):24–5.
- Lee JY, et al. Neurotoxic autoantibodies mediate congenital cortical impairment of offspring in maternal lupus. Nat Med. 2009;15(1):91–6.
- 67. Warren RP, et al. Detection of maternal antibodies in infantile autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1990;29(6):873–7.
- Atladottir HO, et al. Association of family history of autoimmune diseases and autism spectrum disorders. Pediatrics. 2009;124(2):687–94.
- Braunschweig D, et al. Autism: maternally derived antibodies specific for fetal brain proteins. Neurotoxicology. 2008;29(2):226–31.
- Cabanlit M, et al. Brain-specific autoantibodies in the plasma of subjects with autistic spectrum disorder. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2007;1107:92–103.
- 71. Zimmerman AW, et al. Maternal antibrain antibodies in autism. Brain Behav Immun. 2007;21(3):351–7.
- 72. Braunschweig D, et al. Autism-specific maternal autoantibodies recognize critical proteins in developing brain. Transl Psychiatry. 2013;3:e277.

- Jones KL, et al., Autism-specific maternal autoantibodies produce behavioral abnormalities in an endogenous antigen-driven mouse model of autism. Mol Psychiatry. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0126-1
- Jones KL, Van de Water J. Maternal autoantibody related autism: mechanisms and pathways. Mol Psychiatry. 2019;24(2):252–65.
- Martin LA, et al. Stereotypies and hyperactivity in rhesus monkeys exposed to IgG from mothers of children with autism. Brain Behav Immun. 2008;22(6):806–16.
- Singer HS, et al. Antibrain antibodies in children with autism and their unaffected siblings. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;178(1–2):149–55.
- 77. Braunschweig D, et al. Behavioral correlates of maternal antibody status among children with autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2012;42(7):1435–45.
- Piras IS, et al. Anti-brain antibodies are associated with more severe cognitive and behavioral profiles in Italian children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Brain Behav Immun. 2014;38:91–9.
- 79. Singer HS, et al. Antibodies against fetal brain in sera of mothers with autistic children. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;194(1–2):165–72.
- 80. Croen LA, et al. Maternal mid-pregnancy autoantibodies to fetal brain protein: the early markers for autism study. Biol Psychiatry. 2008;64(7):583–8.
- Levy LM, Dalakas MC, Floeter MK. The stiff-person syndrome: an autoimmune disorder affecting neurotransmission of gamma-aminobutyric acid. Ann Intern Med. 1999;131(7):522–30.
- Raju R, et al. Analysis of GAD65 autoantibodies in Stiff-Person syndrome patients. J Immunol. 2005;175(11):7755–62.
- Solimena M, et al. Autoantibodies directed against glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) in the cerebrospinal fluid and serum of a patient with Stiff-Man syndrome, epilepsy and type I diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1988;318:1012–20.
- Dinkel K, et al. Inhibition of gamma-aminobutyric acid synthesis by glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies in stiff-man syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1998;44(2):194–201.
- Dalakas MC, et al. Stiff person syndrome: quantification, specificity, and intrathecal synthesis of GAD65 antibodies. Neurology. 2001;57(5):780–4.
- Levy LM, et al. Brain gamma-aminobutyric acid changes in stiff-person syndrome. Arch Neurol. 2005;62(6):970–4.
- Hampe CS, et al. Monoclonal antibodies to 65kDa glutamate decarboxylase induce epitope specific effects on motor and cognitive functions in rats. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2013;8:82.
- 88. Manto M, et al. Disease-specific monoclonal antibodies targeting glutamate decarboxylase impair GABAergic neurotransmission and affect motor learning and behavioral functions. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:78.
- Mitoma H, Manto M, Hampe CS. Pathogenic roles of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 autoantibodies in cerebellar ataxias. J Immunol Res. 2017;2017:2913297.
- Kanaani J, et al. A palmitoylation cycle dynamically regulates partitioning of the GABAsynthesizing enzyme GAD65 between ER-Golgi and post-Golgi membranes. J Cell Sci. 2008;121(Pt 4):437–49.
- Baekkeskov S, Kanaani J. Palmitoylation cycles and regulation of protein function (Review). Mol Membr Biol. 2009;26(1):42–54.
- Manto MU, et al. Respective implications of glutamate decarboxylase antibodies in stiff person syndrome and cerebellar ataxia. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6:3.
- Hansen N, et al. Human Stiff person syndrome IgG-containing high-titer anti-GAD65 autoantibodies induce motor dysfunction in rats. Exp Neurol. 2013;239:202–9.
- Conti-Fine BM, Milani M, Kaminski HJ. Myasthenia gravis: past, present, and future. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(11):2843–54.
- 95. Berrih-Aknin S, Frenkian-Cuvelier M, Eymard B. Diagnostic and clinical classification of autoimmune myasthenia gravis. J Autoimmun. 2014;48–49:143–8.

- Gilhus NE, et al. Myasthenia gravis autoantibody characteristics and their implications for therapy. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12(5):259–68.
- Phillips WD, Vincent A. Pathogenesis of myasthenia gravis: update on disease types, models, and mechanisms. F1000Res. 2016;5.
- Engel AG, Lambert EH, Howard FM. Immune complexes (IgG and C3) at the motor endplate in myasthenia gravis: ultrastructural and light microscopic localization and electrophysiologic correlations. Mayo Clin Proc. 1977;52(5):267–80.
- Ruff RL, Lennon VA. How myasthenia gravis alters the safety factor for neuromuscular transmission. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;201–202:13–20.
- 100. Jacob A, et al. Neuromyelitis optica: changing concepts. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;187(1–2):126–38.
- 101. Matiello M, et al. Neuromyelitis optica. Curr Opin Neurol. 2007;20(3):255-60.
- 102. Kim W, Kim SH, Kim HJ. New insights into neuromyelitis optica. J Clin Neurol. 2011;7(3):115–27.
- Jarius S, Wildemann B. Aquaporin-4 antibodies, CNS acidosis and neuromyelitis optica: a potential link. Med Hypotheses. 2013;81(6):1090–5.
- Lennon VA, et al. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2004;364(9451):2106–12.
- 105. Waters P, et al. Aquaporin-4 antibodies in neuromyelitis optica and longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis. Arch Neurol. 2008;65(7):913–9.
- 106. Frigeri A, et al. Localization of MIWC and GLIP water channel homologs in neuromuscular, epithelial and glandular tissues. J Cell Sci. 1995;108(Pt 9):2993–3002.
- 107. Akman-Demir G, et al. Prognostic implications of aquaporin-4 antibody status in neuromyelitis optica patients. J Neurol. 2011;258(3):464–70.
- 108. Papadopoulos MC, Verkman AS. Aquaporin 4 and neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol. 2012;11(6):535–44.
- Verkman AS, Anderson MO, Papadopoulos MC. Aquaporins: important but elusive drug targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2014;13(4):259–77.
- 110. Melamud L, et al. Neuromyelitis Optica Immunoglobulin G present in sera from neuromyelitis optica patients affects aquaporin-4 expression and water permeability of the astrocyte plasma membrane. J Neurosci Res. 2012;90(6):1240–8.
- 111. Nicchia GP, et al. Aquaporin-4 orthogonal arrays of particles are the target for neuromyelitis optica autoantibodies. Glia. 2009;57(13):1363–73.
- 112. Vincent T, et al. Functional consequences of neuromyelitis optica-IgG astrocyte interactions on blood-brain barrier permeability and granulocyte recruitment. J Immunol. 2008;181(8):5730–7.
- 113. Ratelade J, et al. Neuromyelitis optica IgG and natural killer cells produce NMO lesions in mice without myelin loss. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(6):861–72.
- 114. Ratelade J, Verkman AS. Neuromyelitis optica: aquaporin-4 based pathogenesis mechanisms and new therapies. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2012;44(9):1519–30.
- Lucchinetti CF, et al. A role for humoral mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Devic's neuromyelitis optica. Brain. 2002;125(Pt 7):1450–61.
- 116. Ratelade J, Smith AJ, Verkman AS. Human immunoglobulin G reduces the pathogenicity of aquaporin-4 autoantibodies in neuromyelitis optica. Exp Neurol. 2014;255:145–53.
- 117. Ratelade J, et al. Involvement of antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in inflammatory demyelination in a mouse model of neuromyelitis optica. Acta Neuropathol. 2013;126(5):699–709.
- 118. Levite M. Glutamate receptor antibodies in neurological diseases: anti-AMPA-GluR3 antibodies, anti-NMDA-NR1 antibodies, anti-NMDA-NR2A/B antibodies, anti-mGluR1 antibodies or anti-mGluR5 antibodies are present in subpopulations of patients with either: epilepsy, encephalitis, cerebellar ataxia, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and neuropsychiatric SLE, Sjogren's syndrome, schizophrenia, mania or stroke. These autoimmune anti-glutamate receptor antibodies can bind neurons in few brain regions, activate glutamate receptors, decrease glutamate receptor's expression, impair glutamate-induced signaling

and function, activate blood brain barrier endothelial cells, kill neurons, damage the brain, induce behavioral/psychiatric/cognitive abnormalities and ataxia in animal models, and can be removed or silenced in some patients by immunotherapy. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2014;121(8):1029–75.

- 119. Wiendl H, et al. GluR3 antibodies: prevalence in focal epilepsy but no specificity for Rasmussen's encephalitis. Neurology. 2001;57(8):1511–4.
- 120. Mantegazza R, et al. Antibodies against GluR3 peptides are not specific for Rasmussen's encephalitis but are also present in epilepsy patients with severe, early onset disease and intractable seizures. J Neuroimmunol. 2002;131(1–2):179–85.
- 121. Ganor Y, et al. Autoimmune epilepsy: some epilepsy patients harbor autoantibodies to glutamate receptors and dsDNA on both sides of the blood-brain barrier, which may kill neurons and decrease in brain fluids after hemispherotomy. Clin Dev Immunol. 2004;11(3–4):241–52.
- 122. Ganor Y, et al. Autoimmune epilepsy: distinct subpopulations of epilepsy patients harbor serum autoantibodies to either glutamate/AMPA receptor GluR3, glutamate/NMDA receptor subunit NR2A or double-stranded DNA. Epilepsy Res. 2005;65(1–2):11–22.
- 123. Goldberg-Stern H, et al. Glutamate receptor antibodies directed against AMPA receptors subunit 3 peptide B (GluR3B) associate with some cognitive/psychiatric/behavioral abnormalities in epilepsy patients. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2014;40:221–31.
- 124. Rogers SW, et al. Autoantibodies to glutamate receptor GluR3 in Rasmussen's encephalitis. Science. 1994;265(5172):648–51.
- 125. Traynelis SF, et al. Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. Pharmacol Rev. 2010;62(3):405–96.
- 126. Basile AS, et al. IgG isolated from LP-BM5 infected mouse brain activates ionotropic glutamate receptors. Neurobiol Dis. 2001;8(6):1069–81.
- 127. Carlson NG, et al. Identification of amino acids in the glutamate receptor, GluR3, important for antibody-binding and receptor-specific activation. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(17):11295–301.
- 128. Twyman RE, et al. Glutamate receptor antibodies activate a subset of receptors and reveal an agonist binding site. Neuron. 1995;14(4):755–62.
- Gahring LC, Rogers SW. Autoimmunity to glutamate receptors in the central nervous system. Crit Rev Immunol. 2002;22(4):295–316.
- 130. Fujikawa DG. The role of excitotoxic programmed necrosis in acute brain injury. Comput Struct Biotechnol J. 2015;13:212–21.
- 131. Hardingham GE, Bading H. Coupling of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors to a CREB shut-off pathway is developmentally regulated. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2002;1600(1–2):148–53.
- 132. Ganor Y, et al. Glutamate receptor antibodies directed against AMPA receptors subunit 3 peptide B (GluR3B) can be produced in DBA/2J mice, lower seizure threshold and induce abnormal behavior. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2014;42:106–17.
- 133. Howard FM Jr, et al. Clinical correlations of antibodies that bind, block, or modulate human acetylcholine receptors in myasthenia gravis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1987;505:526–38.
- 134. Gomez CM, Richman DP. Anti-acetylcholine receptor antibodies directed against the alphabungarotoxin binding site induce a unique form of experimental myasthenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1983;80(13):4089–93.
- 135. Drachman DB, et al. Functional activities of autoantibodies to acetylcholine receptors and the clinical severity of myasthenia gravis. N Engl J Med. 1982;307(13):769–75.
- 136. St Pierre CA, et al. Antibodies to cell surface proteins redirect intracellular trafficking pathways. Exp Mol Pathol. 2011;91(3):723–32.
- 137. Wang Q, Villeneuve G, Wang Z. Control of epidermal growth factor receptor endocytosis by receptor dimerization, rather than receptor kinase activation. EMBO Rep. 2005;6(10):942–8.
- 138. Lee CW, et al. Crosslinking-induced endocytosis of acetylcholine receptors by quantum dots. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):e90187.
- Dalmau J, et al. Anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(12):1091–8.
- 140. Prüss H, et al. Retrospective analysis of NMDA receptor antibodies in encephalitis of unknown origin. Neurology. 2010;75(19):1735–9.
- 141. Irani SR, et al. N-methyl-D-aspartate antibody encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. Brain. 2010;133(Pt 6):1655–67.
- 142. Gleichman AJ, et al. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis antibody binding is dependent on amino acid identity of a small region within the GluN1 amino terminal domain. J Neurosci. 2012;32(32):11082–94.
- 143. Hughes EG, et al. Cellular and synaptic mechanisms of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. J Neurosci. 2010;30(17):5866–75.
- 144. Moscato EH, et al. Acute mechanisms underlying antibody effects in anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2014;76(1):108–19.
- 145. Planagumà J, et al. Human N-methyl D-aspartate receptor antibodies alter memory and behaviour in mice. Brain. 2015;138(Pt 1):94–109.
- 146. Titulaer MJ, Lang B, Verschuuren JJ. Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: from clinical characteristics to therapeutic strategies. Lancet Neurol. 2011;10(12):1098–107.
- 147. Titulaer MJ, et al. Clinical Dutch-English Lambert-Eaton Myasthenic syndrome (LEMS) tumor association prediction score accurately predicts small-cell lung cancer in the LEMS. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(7):902–8.
- 148. Hajela RK, Huntoon KM, Atchison WD. Lambert-Eaton syndrome antibodies target multiple subunits of voltage-gated Ca2+ channels. Muscle Nerve. 2015;51(2):176–84.
- 149. Lennon VA, et al. Calcium-channel antibodies in the Lambert-Eaton syndrome and other paraneoplastic syndromes. N Engl J Med. 1995;332(22):1467–74.
- 150. Vincent A, Lang B, Newsom-Davis J. Autoimmunity to the voltage-gated calcium channel underlies the Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome, a paraneoplastic disorder. Trends Neurosci. 1989;12(12):496–502.
- 151. Meriney SD, et al. Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: mouse passive-transfer model illuminates disease pathology and facilitates testing therapeutic leads. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2018;1412(1):73–81.
- 152. Evseev VA, et al. Autoantibodies against glutamate, gamma-aminobutyric acid, and norepinephrine in mechanisms of neuropathic pain syndrome. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2008;145(5):584–7.
- 153. Vetrile LA, et al. Immunobiological specificity of antibodies against glutamate and gammaaminobutyric acid. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2007;143(5):634–7.
- 154. Lindstrom J, et al. Experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis and myasthenia gravis: biochemical and immunochemical aspects. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1974;274:254–74.
- 155. Sanders D, et al. Does change in acetylcholine receptor antibody level correlate with clinical change in myasthenia gravis? Muscle Nerve. 2014;49(4):483–6.
- 156. Rakocevic G, Raju R, Dalakas MC. Anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with stiff-person syndrome: correlation with clinical severity. Arch Neurol. 2004;61(6):902–4.
- 157. Luo J, et al. Main immunogenic region structure promotes binding of conformation-dependent myasthenia gravis autoantibodies, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor conformation maturation, and agonist sensitivity. J Neurosci. 2009;29(44):13898–908.
- DB D, et al. Myasthenic antibodies cross-link acetylcholine receptors to accelerate degradation. N Engl J Med. 1978;298(20):1116–22.
- 159. Engel A, Arahata K. The membrane attack complex of complement at the endplate in myasthenia gravis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1987;505:326–32.
- 160. Guilliams M, et al. The function of Fcγ receptors in dendritic cells and macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(2):94–108.
- 161. Doppler K, et al. Destruction of paranodal architecture in inflammatory neuropathy with anticontactin-1 autoantibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86(7):720–8.

- 162. Doppler K, et al. Auto-antibodies to contactin-associated protein 1 (Caspr) in two patients with painful inflammatory neuropathy. Brain. 2016;139(Pt 10):2617–30.
- 163. Appeltshauser L, et al. Complement deposition induced by binding of anti-contactin-1 autoantibodies is modified by immunoglobulins. Exp Neurol. 2017;287(Pt 1):84–90.
- 164. Labasque M, et al. Specific contactin N-glycans are implicated in neurofascin binding and autoimmune targeting in peripheral neuropathies. J Biol Chem. 2014;289(11):7907–18.
- 165. Abe Y, et al. Masking of the Fc region in human IgG4 by constrained X-ray scattering modelling: implications for antibody function and therapy. Biochem J. 2010;432(1):101–11.
- 166. Bruhns P, et al. Specificity and affinity of human Fcgamma receptors and their polymorphic variants for human IgG subclasses. Blood. 2009;113(16):3716–25.
- 167. Koneczny I. A new classification system for IgG4 autoantibodies. Front Immunol. 2018;12(9):97.
- 168. Huijbers M, et al. MuSK IgG4 autoantibodies cause myasthenia gravis by inhibiting binding between MuSK and Lrp4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(51):20783–8.
- 169. Koneczny I, et al. MuSK myasthenia gravis IgG4 disrupts the interaction of LRP4 with MuSK but both IgG4 and IgG1-3 can disperse preformed agrin-independent AChR clusters. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e80695.
- Hadjivassiliou M, et al. Specificity and affinity of human Fcgamma receptors and their polymorphic variants for human IgG subclasses. Ann Neurol. 2008;64(3):332–43.
- 171. Thomas H, et al. Transglutaminase 6: a protein associated with central nervous system development and motor function. Amino Acids. 2013;44(1):161–77.
- 172. Mikol D, et al. Serum IgE reactive against small myelin protein-derived peptides is increased in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;180(1–2):40–9.
- 173. Kelly J. Peripheral neuropathies associated with monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance. Rev Neurol Dis. 2008;5(1):14–22.
- 174. Latov N, Hays A, Sherman W. Peripheral neuropathy and anti-MAG antibodies. Crit Rev Neurobiol. 1988;3(4):301–32.
- Nobile-Orazio E, et al. Frequency and clinical correlates of anti-neural IgM antibodies in neuropathy associated with IgM monoclonal gammopathy. Ann Neurol. 1994;36(3):416–24.
- 176. Pestronk A, et al. Sensory neuropathy with monoclonal IgM binding to a trisulfated heparin disaccharide. Muscle Nerve. 2003;27(2):188–95.
- 177. Latov N, et al. Plasma cell dyscrasia and peripheral neuropathy: identification of the myelin antigens that react with human paraproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1981;78(11):7139–42.
- 178. Monaco S, et al. Complement-mediated demyelination in patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathy and polyneuropathy. N Engl J Med. 1990;322(10):649–52.
- 179. Vital C, et al. Uncompacted myelin lamellae in peripheral nerve biopsy. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2003;27(1):1.
- Vallat J, et al. Diagnostic value of nerve biopsy for atypical chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: evaluation of eight cases. Muscle Nerve. 2003;27(4):478–85.
- 181. Tatum A. Experimental paraprotein neuropathy, demyelination by passive transfer of human IgM anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein. Ann Neurol. 1993;33(5):502–6.
- Coutinho A, Kazatchkine MD, Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies. Curr Opin Immunol. 1995;7(6):812–8.
- 183. Pirko I, et al. A human antibody that promotes remyelination enters the CNS and decreases lesion load as detected by T2-weighted spinal cord MRI in a virus-induced murine model of MS. FASEB J. 2004;18(13):1577–9.
- 184. Miller D, Rodriguez M. Spontaneous and induced remyelination in multiple sclerosis and the Theiler's virus model of central nervous system demyelination. Microsc Res Tech. 1995;32(3):230–45.
- 185. Warrington A, et al. Neuron-binding human monoclonal antibodies support central nervous system neurite extension. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2004;63(5):461–73.
- 186. Warrington A, et al. Human monoclonal antibodies reactive to oligodendrocytes promote remyelination in a model of multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(12):6820–5.

- 187. Asakura K, Rodriguez M. A unique population of circulating autoantibodies promotes central nervous system remyelination. Mult Scler. 1998;4(3):217–21.
- Fredman P, et al. Monoclonal antibody A2B5 reacts with many gangliosides in neuronal tissue. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1984;233(2):661–6.
- 189. Sommer I, Schachner M. Monoclonal antibodies (O1 to O4) to oligodendrocyte cell surfaces: an immunocytological study in the central nervous system. Dev Biol. 1981;83(2):311–27.
- 190. Paz Soldán MM, et al. Remyelination-promoting antibodies activate distinct Ca2+ influx pathways in astrocytes and oligodendrocytes: relationship to the mechanism of myelin repair. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2003;22(1):14–24.
- 191. Mitsunaga Y, et al. Direct evidence that a human antibody derived from patient serum can promote myelin repair in a mouse model of chronic-progressive demyelinating disease. FASEB J. 2002;16(10):1325–7.
- 192. Watzlawik J, et al. Human remyelination promoting antibody inhibits apoptotic signaling and differentiation through Lyn kinase in primary rat oligodendrocytes. Glia. 2010;58(15):1782–93.
- 193. Stein TD, Fedynyshyn JP, Kalil RE. Circulating autoantibodies recognize and bind dying neurons following injury to the brain. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2002;61(12):1100–8.
- 194. Platt N, da Silva RP, Gordon S. Recognizing death: the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. Trends Cell Biol. 1998;8(9):365–72.
- 195. Kay MM, Wyant T, Goodman J. Autoantibodies to band 3 during aging and disease and aging interventions. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1994;719:419–47.
- 196. Denecker G, et al. Phosphatidyl serine exposure during apoptosis precedes release of cytochrome c and decrease in mitochondrial transmembrane potential. FEBS Lett. 2000;465(1):47–52.
- 197. van der Neut Kolfschoten M, et al. Anti-inflammatory activity of human IgG4 antibodies by dynamic Fab arm exchange. Science. 2007;317(5844):1554–7.
- Parissis D, Syntila SA, Ioannidis P. Corticosteroids in neurological disorders: the dark side. J Clin Neurosci. 2017;44:1–5.
- 199. Mitoma H, Manto M, Hampe CS. Time is cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2018;17(4):387–91.
- Lövblad KO, et al. Autoantibodies in neurological paraneoplastic diseases. Schweiz Arch Neurol Psychiatr (1985). 1994;145(3):3–7.
- 201. Honnorat J, et al. Onco-neural antibodies and tumour type determine survival and neurological symptoms in paraneoplastic neurological syndromes with Hu or CV2/CRMP5 antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80(4):412–6.
- 202. Dalmau J, et al. Ma1, a novel neuron- and testis-specific protein, is recognized by the serum of patients with paraneoplastic neurological disorders. Brain. 1999;122(Pt 1):27–39.
- 203. Luque FA, et al. Anti-Ri: an antibody associated with paraneoplastic opsoclonus and breast cancer. Ann Neurol. 1991;29(3):241–51.
- 204. De Camilli P, et al. The synaptic vesicle-associated protein amphiphysin is the 128-kD autoantigen of Stiff-Man syndrome with breast cancer. J Exp Med. 1993;178(6):2219–23.
- 205. Kyskan R, et al. Antiglycine receptor antibody and encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM) related to small cell lung cancer. BMJ Case Rep. 2013;2013.
- 206. Newsom-Davis J. Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: a review. Monogr Allergy. 1988;25:116-24.
- 207. Bain PG, et al. Effects of intravenous immunoglobulin on muscle weakness and calcium-channel autoantibodies in the Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome. Neurology. 1996;47(3):678–83.
- 208. Lee JH, et al. A case of lambert-eaton myasthenic syndrome with small-cell lung cancer and transient increase in anti-acetylcholine-receptor-binding antibody titer. J Clin Neurol. 2012;8(4):305–7.
- 209. Kornfeld P, et al. Acetylcholine receptor antibodies in myasthenia gravis. Muscle Nerve. 1981;4(5):413–9.
- Vernino S, Cheshire WP, Lennon VA. Myasthenia gravis with autoimmune autonomic neuropathy. Auton Neurosci. 2001;88(3):187–92.

- 211. Dalmau J, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Ann Neurol. 2007;61(1):25–36.
- 212. Bataller L, et al. Reversible paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis associated with antibodies to the AMPA receptor. Neurology. 2010;74(3):265–7.
- Boronat A, et al. GABA(B) receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis and anti-GAD-associated neurologic disorders. Neurology. 2011;76(9):795–800.
- Milam AH, et al. Autoantibodies against retinal bipolar cells in cutaneous melanoma-associated retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 1993;34(1):91–100.
- Fleisher J, et al. Acquired neuromyotonia heralding recurrent thymoma in myasthenia gravis. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(10):1311–4.
- 216. Chan KH, Vernino S, Lennon VA. ANNA-3 anti-neuronal nuclear antibody: marker of lung cancer-related autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2001;50(3):301–11.
- 217. Matà S, et al. Anti-ganglioside antibodies and elevated CSF IgG levels in Guillain-Barré syndrome. Eur J Neurol. 2006;13(2):153–60.
- 218. Terryberry J, et al. Myelin- and microbe-specific antibodies in Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Clin Lab Anal. 1995;9(5):308–19.
- Simone IL, et al. Serum and CSF anti-GM1 antibodies in patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Sci. 1993;114(1):49–55.
- 220. Levin MC, et al. Cross-reactivity between immunodominant human T lymphotropic virus type I tax and neurons: implications for molecular mimicry. J Infect Dis. 2002;186(10):1514–7.
- 221. Poulet A, et al. Post-malaria neurological syndrome: imported case series and literature review to unscramble the auto-immune hypothesis. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2018.
- 222. Kirvan CA, et al. Mimicry and autoantibody-mediated neuronal cell signaling in Sydenham chorea. Nat Med. 2003;9(7):914–20.
- 223. Kirvan CA, et al. Tubulin is a neuronal target of autoantibodies in Sydenham's chorea. J Immunol. 2007;178(11):7412–21.
- 224. Fujinami RS. Can virus infections trigger autoimmune disease? J Autoimmun. 2001;16(3):229–34.
- Olson JK, Croxford JL, Miller SD. Virus-induced autoimmunity: potential role of viruses in initiation, perpetuation, and progression of T-cell-mediated autoimmune disease. Viral Immunol. 2001;14(3):227–50.
- 226. Sigal LH, Tatum AH. Lyme disease patients' serum contains IgM antibodies to Borrelia burgdorferi that cross-react with neuronal antigens. Neurology. 1988;38(9):1439–42.
- 227. Garcia-Monco JC, Coleman JL, Benach JL. Antibodies to myelin basic protein in Lyme disease. J Infect Dis. 1988;158(3):667–8.
- 228. Partinen M, et al. Narcolepsy as an autoimmune disease: the role of H1N1 infection and vaccination. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(6):600–13.
- Saariaho AH, et al. Autoantibodies against ganglioside GM3 are associated with narcolepsycataplexy developing after Pandemrix vaccination against 2009 pandemic H1N1 type influenza virus. J Autoimmun. 2015;63:68–75.
- Singh AK, Mahlios J, Mignot E. Genetic association, seasonal infections and autoimmune basis of narcolepsy. J Autoimmun. 2013;43:26–31.
- Hische EA, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid IgG and IgM indexes as indicators of active neurosyphilis. Clin Chem. 1988;34(4):665–7.
- 232. Levchik N, et al. Criteria for the diagnosis of neurosyphilis in cerebrospinal fluid: relationships with intrathecal immunoglobulin synthesis and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier dysfunction. Sex Transm Dis. 2013;40(12):917–22.
- Ngankam L, Kazantseva NV, Gerasimova MM. Immunological markers of severity and outcome of traumatic brain injury. Zh Nevrol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova. 2011;111(7):61–5.
- 234. Goryunova AV, et al. Glutamate receptor autoantibody concentrations in children with chronic post-traumatic headache. Neurosci Behav Physiol. 2007;37(8):761–4.

- 235. Puvenna V, et al. Significance of ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 elevations in athletes after sub-concussive head hits. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e96296.
- 236. Bazarian JJ, et al. Classification accuracy of serum Apo A-I and S100B for the diagnosis of mild traumatic brain injury and prediction of abnormal initial head computed tomography scan. J Neurotrauma. 2013;30(20):1747–54.
- 237. Kiechle K, et al. Subject-specific increases in serum S-100B distinguish sports-related concussion from sports-related exertion. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e84977.
- 238. Sorokina EG, et al. [S100B protein and autoantibodies to S100B protein in diagnostics of brain damage in craniocerebral trauma in children]. Zh Nevrol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova. 2010;110(8):30–5.
- Davies AL, Hayes KC, Dekaban GA. Clinical correlates of elevated serum concentrations of cytokines and autoantibodies in patients with spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;88(11):1384–93.
- Hayes KC, et al. Elevated serum titers of proinflammatory cytokines and CNS autoantibodies in patients with chronic spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma. 2002;19(6):753–61.
- 241. Mizrachi Y, et al. Systemic humoral factors participating in the course of spinal cord injury. Paraplegia. 1983;21(5):287–93.
- 242. Skoda D, et al. Antibody formation against beta-tubulin class III in response to brain trauma. Brain Res Bull. 2006;68(4):213–6.
- 243. Taranova NP, et al. [The production of autoantibodies to nerve tissue glycolipid antigens in patients with traumatic spinal cord injuries]. Zh Vopr Neirokhir Im N N Burdenko. 1992(4–5):21–4.
- 244. Zajarías-Fainsod D, et al. Autoreactivity against myelin basic protein in patients with chronic paraplegia. Eur Spine J. 2012;21(5):964–70.
- 245. Hergenroeder GW, et al. Identification of autoantibodies to glial fibrillary acidic protein in spinal cord injury patients. Neuroreport. 2016;27(2):90–3.
- 246. Wang R, et al. [Enzyme-linked immunoadsorbent assays for myelin basic protein and antibodies to myelin basic protein in serum and CSF of patients with diseases of the nervous system]. Hua Xi Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao. 1995;26(2):131–4.
- 247. Palmers I, et al. Antibody profiling identifies novel antigenic targets in spinal cord injury patients. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13(1):243.
- 248. Dambinova SA, et al. Blood test detecting autoantibodies to N-methyl-D-aspartate neuroreceptors for evaluation of patients with transient ischemic attack and stroke. Clin Chem. 2003;49(10):1752–62.
- 249. Weissman JD, et al. NR2 antibodies: risk assessment of transient ischemic attack (TIA)/ stroke in patients with history of isolated and multiple cerebrovascular events. J Neurol Sci. 2011;300(1–2):97–102.
- 250. Ayed K, et al. [Congenital heart block associated with maternal anti SSA/SSB antibodies: a report of four cases]. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2004;52(3):138–47.
- 251. Hon KL, Leung AK. Neonatal lupus erythematosus. Autoimmune Dis. 2012;2012:301274.
- 252. Buyon JP, Clancy RM. Neonatal lupus syndromes. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2003;15(5):535-41.
- 253. Bitsch A, et al. Autoantibody synthesis in primary progressive multiple sclerosis patients treated with interferon beta-1b. J Neurol. 2004;251(12):1498–501.
- Gitlits VM, et al. Synapsin I identified as a novel brain-specific autoantigen. J Investig Med. 2001;49(3):276–83.
- 255. Maetzler W, et al. Autoantibodies against amyloid and glial-derived antigens are increased in serum and cerebrospinal fluid of Lewy body-associated dementias. J Alzheimers Dis. 2011;26(1):171–9.
- 256. Tsuburaya RS, et al. Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies in a Japanese boy with recurrent optic neuritis. Brain and Development. 2015;37(1):145–8.
- 257. Wang H, et al. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies and multiple sclerosis in healthy young adults. Neurology. 2008;71(15):1142–6.
- 258. Baig S, et al. Multiple sclerosis: cells secreting antibodies against myelin-associated glycoprotein are present in cerebrospinal fluid. Scand J Immunol. 1991;33(1):73–9.

- 259. Sotgiu S, et al. A case of anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein polyneuropathy and multiple sclerosis: one disease instead of two? BMJ Case Rep. 2009:2009.
- Berger T, et al. Antimyelin antibodies as a predictor of clinically definite multiple sclerosis after a first demyelinating event. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(2):139–45.
- Derfuss T, et al. Contactin-2/TAG-1-directed autoimmunity is identified in multiple sclerosis patients and mediates gray matter pathology in animals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(20):8302–7.
- 262. Srivastava R, et al. Potassium channel KIR4.1 as an immune target in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(2):115–23.
- 263. Lu XY, et al. Anti-alpha-internexin autoantibody from neuropsychiatric lupus induce cognitive damage via inhibiting axonal elongation and promote neuron apoptosis. PLoS One. 2010;5(6):e11124.
- 264. Mostafa GA, et al. The role of measurement of serum autoantibodies in prediction of pediatric neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;227(1–2):195–201.
- Mundiyanapurath S, et al. GABA-B-receptor antibodies in paraneoplastic brainstem encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2013;259(1–2):88–91.
- 266. Tsuchiya H, et al. Identification of novel autoantibodies to GABA(B) receptors in patients with neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53(7):1219–28.
- 267. Niebroj-Dobosz I, Dziewulska D, Janik P. Auto-antibodies against proteins of spinal cord cells in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Folia Neuropathol. 2006;44(3):191–6.
- Tzartos JS, et al. LRP4 antibodies in serum and CSF from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2014;1(2):80–7.
- Offen D, et al. Antibodies from ALS patients inhibit dopamine release mediated by L-type calcium channels. Neurology. 1998;51(4):1100–3.
- 270. Yi FH, et al. In vitro induction of neuronal apoptosis by anti-Fas antibody-containing sera from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2000;109(2):211–20.
- 271. Pestronk A, et al. Serum antibodies to GM1 ganglioside in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurology. 1988;38(9):1457–61.
- 272. Li D, et al. Anti-sulfoglucuronosyl paragloboside antibody: a potential serologic marker of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. ASN Neuro. 2016;8(5).
- 273. Raju R, et al. Autoimmunity to GABAA-receptor-associated protein in stiff-person syndrome. Brain. 2006;129(Pt 12):3270–6.
- 274. Geis C, et al. Stiff person syndrome-associated autoantibodies to amphiphysin mediate reduced GABAergic inhibition. Brain. 2010;133(11):3166–80.
- 275. Butler MH, et al. Autoimmunity to gephyrin in Stiff-Man syndrome. Neuron. 2000;26(2):307–12.

Immune Tolerance in Autoimmune Central Nervous System Disorders



Sundararajan Jayaraman and Bellur S. Prabhakar

Abstract Multiple sclerosis (MS) afflicts genetically predisposed individuals and is associated with T lymphocyte-mediated damage to the myelin sheath of neurons in the central nervous system, resulting in severely impaired signal transmission. The mechanisms of the induction and manifestation of MS are not entirely understood. The control of autoimmune disorders is accomplished by both central tolerance in which autoreactive T lymphocytes are eliminated in the thymus and by tolerance mechanisms that operate in the periphery. Among the many mechanisms described, T regulatory (Treg) cells derived from the thymus (tTregs) and induced (iTregs) in the periphery as well as T regulatory type 1 cells (Tr1) are involved in many disease models. However, the precise details of the generation and perpetuation of these various Treg subsets and their relevance to the regulation of autoimmune diseases remain elusive. In this review, we critically analyze the current knowledge of the tolerance mechanisms involved in the regulation of MS and its animal model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.

Keywords Anergy · Autoimmune diseases · Blood-brain barrier · Central nervous system · Cerebrospinal fluid · Foxp3 · GM-CSF · Human leukocyte antigen · Interferon- γ · Interleukin 17 · Myelin basic protein · Multiple sclerosis · Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein · Neuromyelitis optica · Proteolipid protein · Th1 · Th17 · T regulatory cells · Trichostatin A · Tumor necrosis factor- α , Tolerance

S. Jayaraman

 B. S. Prabhakar (⊠)
Department of Microbiology & Immunology, University of Illinois College of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA
e-mail: Bprabhak@uic.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Surgery, University of Illinois College of Medicine, Peoria, IL, USA e-mail: anue2468@uic.edu

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_5

Introduction

The tenet of the immune system is the protection of the host against both invading pathogens and autoimmune diseases that arise in genetically susceptible individuals. For the former, it is essential to mount robust immune responses, both T-cellmediated immunity and antibody production, against a myriad of pathogens. After the elimination of the source of "foreign antigenic determinants," the adaptive immune responses must contrive to restore the normal clonal T- and B-cell repertoire. Activation-induced cell death or apoptosis is credited with the restoration of the clonal size of primarily antigen-activated T lymphocytes at the end of productive immune responses [1]. The failure to do so can result in overt immune responses which can cause more harm than benefit to the host. An example of overt immune responses causing damage to endogenous tissues is the production of the multipotent, noxious cytokine, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) in inflammatory conditions including sepsis [2]. In addition to the need to control these adaptive immune responses, autoimmune responses need to be kept in check to minimize or eliminate adverse reactions against the host tissues. CD4+ T lymphocytes systematically control these seemingly opposite versions of immune responses. The various regulatory mechanisms involved in controlling autoimmune diseases have been the subject of intense investigation over many decades [3-8].

Among the 80 known autoimmune diseases, only a few are specifically directed against the central nervous system (CNS). Although evidence for the involvement of autoimmunity in many CNS disorders is weak or nonexistent, indications of autoimmunity exist in some cases. Neuromyelitis optica (NMO) is an autoimmune, demyelinating disorder of the CNS with typical clinical manifestations of optic neuritis and acute transverse myelitis attacks [9]. Although NMO was believed to be a variant of MS, it is now considered as an independent disorder. NMO is characterized by the presence of antibodies against the water channel proteins aquaporin-4 and aquaporin-1 and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG). The characteristic phenotype is disruption of astrocyte function and demyelination of the spinal cord, optic nerves, and particular brain regions. Lack of self-tolerance to water channel proteins is likely to be the cause of NMO [10]. However, the underlying pathogenic mechanisms have not been fully elucidated. Alzheimer's disease is characterized by dementia, immunoglobulin in the brain parenchyma, and deposition of complement components in neurons [11]. The autoimmune encephalitis is a group of disorders characterized by autoantibodies directed to synaptic surface antigens (NMDA- and AMPA-type glutamate receptors, GABA (B) receptor, and LGI1) resulting in severe neurological symptoms [12]. Antibodies against glutamic acid decarboxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme for GABA synthesis, are associated with the autoimmune neurological syndromes, namely, stiff person syndrome, cerebellar ataxia, epilepsy, limbic encephalitis, and abnormal eye movements [13]. Whereas these characteristics are indicative of the underlying autoimmunity, detailed studies are required to fully understand the autoimmune nature of these diseases and importantly regulatory mechanisms useful for controlling these diseases. Importantly,

there is a paucity of experimental models to dissect the immunological mechanisms involved in these various neurological disorders.

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a well-characterized neuronal disorder with an underlying autoimmune basis [14–17]. Whether MS is a non-immunological disorder and primarily a neurodegenerative disease with unknown etiology is heavily debated over the years [18, 19]. Accounts of various T-cell tolerance mechanisms involved in immune responses to nominal antigens and self-determinants including neuronal antigens have been described previously [reviewed in Ref. 3–8]. In this chapter, we focus on MS and its animal model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), to highlight the underlying common regulatory mechanisms and point out the disparity between these systems. Finally, we discuss the limitations of the data obtained in various EAE models to their translation into clinical practice for treatment of differing forms of MS.

Effector T Cells and Pathology of Multiple Sclerosis

MS is a chronic disease lasting over many decades and has highly variable presentations [14–17]. After the initial diagnosis, clinically isolated syndrome, a majority (85%) of patients display the common relapsing-remitting form of MS. After 10-15 years of diagnosis, 50% of untreated patients develop secondary progressive MS, whereas in 15% of patients, the disease progresses without remission, referred to as primary, progressive MS. Most current treatments are directed to relapsingremitting MS, and none of them is effective on primary or secondary progressive MS [14, 16, 17, 20, 21]. These drugs are directed to cull the autoimmune component [14–17], whereas modalities to treat the neurodegenerative component of MS [18, 19] are scarce [20, 21]. The CNS is an immunologically privileged site and lacks a potent innate immune response in healthy individuals [22]. Immune cell infiltration across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) promotes inflammation, demyelination, gliosis, and neuroaxonal degeneration, resulting in disruption of neuronal signaling [14-17]. To better understand the impact of T-cell tolerance on MS, knowledge of the critical underlying pathological features is vital. MS is thought to be mediated by CD4+ T-cells, although CD8+ T cells and antibody-producing B cells are known to contribute to disease pathogenesis [14-17]. CNS-intrinsic events such as activation of microglia and astrocytes as well as chemokines have also been implicated in MS [23–25].

Autoreactive T lymphocytes are thought to mount aberrant immune responses against CNS autoantigens. Susceptibility to develop MS has been linked to the class II human leukocyte antigen HLA-DRB1*15:01 allele, which is expressed on antigen-presenting cells, implying a role for distinct antigen presentation to T lymphocytes necessary for disease induction [26]. Although the etiology of MS is unknown, poorly understood stochastic events and environmental factors influence the disease penetrance. Infiltration of immune cells from the periphery is prominent in relapsing-remitting MS, and T cells appear early in lesion formation. Inflammation

of the brain and spinal cord is evident in all MS patients, which declines with age and duration of the disease [14–17]. An open question is whether MS is triggered in the periphery such as in draining lymph nodes or originates in the CNS. Peripheral T lymphocytes specific to neuronal antigens are thought to be activated by "molecular mimicry" [26], and subsequent reactivation by the CNS resident antigenpresenting cells leads to a cascade of events resulting in neuronal damage [14–17, 27].

Although the specificity of autoreactive T cells in MS remains obscure, recognition of autoantigens such as MOG and myelin basic protein (MBP) by CD4⁺ T lymphocytes from both healthy individuals and MS patients has been demonstrated [28–30]. The relative frequency of these cells in healthy individuals and MS cases remains contentious. Thus, it is not clear whether the observed self-reactivity of T lymphocytes in MS patients reflects the underlying pathological events or a stochastic event resulting from molecular mimicry and breach of self-tolerance. Although earlier studies implicated interferon- γ (IFN- γ)-producing Th1 cells as the sole pathogenic T cells, recent investigations also support a role for Th17 cells expressing IL-17 as they are found in the peripheral blood, CNS, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of MS patients. Furthermore, Th cells with a mixed phenotype (double-producers) expressing both IFN- γ and interleukin 17A (IL-17A) have a higher capacity to infiltrate the CNS as inferred from studies of postmortem MS brain tissues [14–17, 31–33]. These results indicate a pivotal role of double producers in MS pathogenesis.

Interestingly, CD8⁺ T cells found in the active lesions of MS patients produce IL-17, similar to mucosal-associated invariant T cells [34]. In addition to the consistent participation of CD4⁺ T cells, B cells have been proposed to be strong candidates for autoimmune effector cells in MS [35]. Although significant differences in B cells were found in the CSF, they were neither predictive of disease and disease progression (EDSS, expanded disability status scale) nor conversion to clinically definite MS following diagnosis of the clinically isolated syndrome [36].

MS pathology is characterized by confluent demyelinated areas known as plaques or lesions in the white and gray matter of the brain and spinal cord, indicating a loss of myelin sheaths and oligodendrocytes [14–17]. Damage of axons and neurons correlates with disease severity. Astrocytes form multiple sclerotic glial scars in white matter lesions. Demyelination of the gray matter of the cortex, nuclei, and spinal cord is also associated with MS. Inflammation is more pronounced in acute than in chronic phase. Invading immune cells and macrophages indicates BBB leakage. Macrophages, CD8⁺ cells, CD4⁺ cells, B cells, and plasma cells are represented in descending proportions. In the early stages, little damage outside of the plaques, called normal-appearing white matter, is present in both the brain and spinal cord despite general brain atrophy. During disease progression, diffuse T-cell and B-cell infiltrates, microglia and astrocyte activation, and diffuse myelin reduction and axonal damage are evident. Although the numbers of T cells do not change, the frequencies of B cells and plasma cells increase, whereas microglia and macrophages remain in a chronic state of activation throughout the disease. In secondary,

progressive MS, tertiary lymphoid structures are evident in the meninges contributing to cortical demyelination and tissue damage at later stages [14–17].

Effector Mechanisms in EAE

The earliest description of EAE was the occurrence of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in monkeys repeatedly given intramuscular injections of normal rabbit brain emulsions and extracts [37]. This observation explained that the induction of encephalomyelitis observed earlier in humans vaccinated with rabies virus grown on rabbit spinal cord was due to the immune response triggered by the spinal cord contaminant of the vaccine [38]. Since then, monophasic EAE has been induced in guinea pigs, rats, mice, and primates by immunization with spinal cord homogenates or peptides derived from MOG, MBP, and PLP [see Ref. 14 for citations; [39–52]. Complete Freund's adjuvant along with pertussis toxin is required for EAE induction in guinea pigs, rats, and mice. However, incomplete adjuvant without *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* was sufficient to induce EAE in some strains of rats and marmosets.

Interestingly, EAE could be induced in the susceptible rat strain Dark Agouti without pertussis toxin. Several explanations have been put forward including breaching of BBB, breaking of self-tolerance, and enhancing immunogenicity of the inoculum to explain the dependence of pertussis toxin for EAE induction. Although questions were raised as to the validity of results obtained in EAE models for translation into the treatment of MS patients [53], arguments were also made in support of the fact that when used wisely EAE will provide beneficial information for clinical application [41].

Most rodent EAE models are characterized by ascending flaccid paralysis reflecting preferential targeting of inflammation to the spinal cord, referred to as classic EAE, which manifests in different forms. Immunization with the immunodominant MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide induced a mild, monophasic form of EAE in the C57BL/6 strain (H-2^b haplotype). In this model, the clinical symptoms peak around 9-12 days after immunization, followed by spontaneous resolution by 30 days [42, 43]. However, the pathology of monophasic EAE in C57BL/6 mice does not parallel that of an MS form [44, 45]. On the contrary, similar immunization induced a long-lasting (>75 days, Ref. 46–51), severe disease in NOD (H-2g7) mice characterized by paralysis of fore and hind limbs with [49–51] or without discernible remissions [46–48], respectively, representing secondary and primary progressive MS. Regardless, in NOD mice EAE occurs with a high frequency that shares unique features with MS including lifelong disease, prominent demyelination, axonal loss, and astrogliosis [46–51]. On the other hand, immunization with PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁ peptide induced relapsingremitting EAE in SJL/J (H-2^s) mice characterized by the appearance of clinical signs 6–20 days after priming and relapses first appearing at 30–45 days [52].

In the common classic EAE induced by various peptide antigens in mice, inflammation is preferentially targeted to the spinal cord. In a small number of antigen-specific models, brain rather than the spinal cord is selectively targeted, referred to as atypical EAE [54–56]. It was initially observed in C3H/HeJ mice immunized with PLP₁₉₀₋₂₀₉ peptide [54] and confirmed subsequently in IFN- γ knockout Balb/c mice immunized with MBP peptides and in C3HeB/FeJ mice immunized with MOG [54–56]. Atypical EAE is presented as a movement disorder, with proprioception defects, ataxia, spasticity, and axial rotation of the head and trunk, and characterized by predominant cerebellar or brainstem involvement. These various animal models are useful in gaining insights into the underlying immunological mechanisms of variant forms of MS. However, the display of complex and variable clinical features and spontaneous remission in certain models render the interpretation of results difficult. Since each variant of EAE recapitulates some but not all features of MS, it is useful to ascertain the efficacy of treatment procedures in a preclinical model that closely mimics the select form of MS in question.

Other models of demyelinating diseases include viral infections and administration of toxic substances [see Ref. 40 for citations]. Chronic demyelinating encephalomyelitis is induced by intracranial introduction of Theiler's virus (BeAn strain or Daniel's strain) or nasal infection with mouse hepatitis (Corona) virus. Inflammatory infiltrates consist of T cells and activated macrophages/microglia in the CNS. Although viral models may reflect critical features of MS-like inflammatory inflammation, it is complicated by the involvement of virus-induced immunemediated mechanisms. Importantly, evidence for the role of viruses in MS pathogenesis has not yet been obtained. Demyelination induced by toxic models using cuprizone, a copper chelator, is useful for understanding mechanisms of demyelination and remyelination but does not fully reflect aspects of MS pathology and pathogenesis [40].

Although the role of CD4⁺ T cells in EAE is well established, controversy exists as to the identity of T helper subsets involved. Whereas IFN- γ -producing Th1 cells have been shown to be crucial early during EAE, IL-17A-expressing Th17 cells participate at a later stage [57–58]. In contrast, Th17 cells and double producers, those expressing both IFN-y and IL-17A, migrate to the CNS before the arrival of Th1 cells [59] or ex-Th17 cells that lost the expression of IL-17A and gained IFN-y during clinical disease manifestation [60]. Other studies indicated that Th1 [57] or Th17 cells [61] alone could mediate EAE upon adoptive transfer into naïve mice. However, contamination of various degrees of IFN-y-producing cells in the Th17 cell preparations raised questions about the independent role of Th17 cells in EAE manifestation. In the primary, progressive EAE, Th1 cells were found in the spinal cord, whereas Th1 and Th17 cells but not Th1/Th17 cells infiltrated the spinal cord later during the disease [47]. However, Th1/Th17 cells were prominent in peripheral lymphoid tissues. The plasticity of Th17 cells further complicates the role of distinct T helper subsets in EAE manifestation [62]. Despite enormous effort to understand the role of various lymphokines, cytokines, and accessory cell-associated determinants, their roles in EAE pathogenesis remain obscure. Although Th17 cells have been dubbed as "encephalitogenic" T cells, neither IL-17A nor IL-17F contributes to EAE [63]. The only cytokine that has been attributed a role in EAE is GM-CSF [64]. In the primary progressive EAE model, amelioration of the disease by treatment with the most potent histone deacetylase inhibitor, trichostatin-A (TSA), was associated with repression of GM-CSF-producing CD4⁺ T cells in the secondary lymphoid organs and the CNS [47–48]. A closer analysis indicates that GM-CSF is dispensable for EAE induction but is essential for chronic tissue damage and neutrophil accumulation in the brain [48, 65, 66]. Blockade of the GM-CSF receptor α ameliorated relapses in mice [67]. Lesions from secondary progressive but not primary progressive MS patients contained GM-CSF receptor α^+ myeloid cells, indicating a possible target for disease intervention [67]. Collectively, these data suggest an essential role for GM-CSF in the effector arm of the inflammatory disease. The identity of the cytokines crucial for the induction of the autoimmune CNS disease remains to be delineated.

The pathological mechanisms varied with the EAE models [14, 39-41, 44-47, 49, 51]. The acute monophasic EAE was characterized by multifocal, confluent areas of mononuclear inflammatory infiltration and demyelination in the peripheral white matter of the spinal cord. In the brain, in addition to meningitis, perivascular inflammatory cuffing in the cerebellum and hindbrain white matter was prominent. In the relapsing-remitting EAE induced by PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁ immunization, lesions of the optic nerve, brainstem, spinal cord, cerebellum, and cerebral cortex along with perivascular and meningeal lymphocyte and neutrophil filtration were evident. Besides, white matter damage and gliosis and demethylated axons were observed. In the primary, progressive EAE induced by immunization of NOD mice, inflammatory cuffs around dilated blood vessels in the white matter with penetration into the gray matter were observed in the spinal cord during the acute phase of the disease [47]. The chronic phase was accompanied by severe damage of the periphery with numerous vacuoles in the dorsal and dorsolateral funiculus. Inflammatory cells were abundant in both the white and gray matter and in the subarachnoid space of ventral funiculus. Luxol fast blue staining indicated severe demyelination of neurons in the spinal cord. Bielschowsky's silver impregnation method unraveled lack of neurofilaments in both the white and gray matter, indicative of severe axonal loss during this form of EAE [47]. Although controversy exists as to whether macrophages play a pathogenic or protective role in classic EAE, increased accumulation of neutrophils during the acute phase of EAE was evident in the spinal cord of mice with primary, progressive EAE [48], a feature attributed to atypical EAE [54–56]. Thus, it appears that the pathological mechanisms involved in monophasic, relapsingremitting, primary, and secondary progressive EAE as well as atypical EAE are not remarkably distinct and seem to overlap.

Peripheral Immune Tolerance Mechanisms

Autoreactive T and B cells are deleted in the thymus, referred to as central tolerance, which accounts for the lack of overtly self-reactive lymphoid cells in apparently healthy individuals [68]. However, the deletional mechanism is not absolute, and a fraction of self-reactive T lymphocytes escape thymic selection and exit to the periphery. This may explain the presence of T cells specific to the MBP in the peripheral blood of asymptomatic relatives of MS patients [69, 70]. Similarly, MOG-specific CD4⁺ T cells were detected in the peripheral blood of healthy individuals albeit at a lower level compared to that of MS patients following in vitro expansion with a MOG peptide [71]. Although these self-reactive T cells can potentially trigger autoimmune diseases when appropriately activated by antigen presentation, they do not elicit autoimmunity in healthy people due to restraints imposed by peripheral tolerance mechanisms. Although reactivity to multiple neuronal determinants such as MBP, MOG, and PLP has been demonstrated in MS, the identity of the causative autoantigen involved in the induction of this disease remains obscure.

Similarly, the initiating autoantigen in most other autoimmune diseases including type 1 diabetes also remains unknown [72]. The lack of this critical information has negatively impacted on developing successful antigen-specific tolerance strategies for the manipulation of MS [73, 74]. However, the utility of other tolerance strategies to control the chronic neurodegenerative disease MS remains incompletely understood. Substantial data have been generated in EAE, a model of MS, supporting a role for immunoregulatory T cells in this autoimmune neurodegenerative disease. Although analogous CD4⁺ T-cell-mediated immunoregulation may operate in MS, the available data are limited and are often contentious. Herein, we discuss these data critically and evaluate their impact on MS.

One mechanism that was implicated in the prevention of autoimmune diseases is T-cell anergy, physical existence of T cells without displaying functional competence [75]. Exposure of cloned mouse Th1 cells expressing interleukin-2 (IL-2) and IFN-y to chemically modified antigen-presenting cells pulsed with antigenic peptide induced a state of unresponsiveness, termed anergy. These anergic Th1 cells were unable to produce IL-2 when challenged subsequently with unmodified antigen-presenting cells pulsed with the specific peptide antigen in vitro. Interestingly, this form of tolerance is transient since activation with IL-2 reversed anergy and restored the ability of anergic Th1 cells to respond in an antigen-specific manner [76] subsequently. Demonstration of peripheral blood T lymphocytes reactive to self-antigens such as MBP and MOG in asymptomatic relatives of MS patients exemplifies the existence of potentially autoreactive T cells in the absence of overt autoimmunity, akin to anergic T cells [69-71]. Notably, antigen presentation by cloned murine thymic macrophages induced anergy in Th1 cells without requiring chemical modification, indicating the possibility that specific native antigen-presenting cells are capable of inducing anergy despite the optimal expression of co-stimulatory determinants necessary for T-cell activation [77]. However, the transient and reversible nature of T-cell anergy imposes severe restrictions in applying antigen-specific tolerance strategy to silence the autoreactive T cells in vivo. Another primary mechanism of peripheral tolerance intensely studied during the 1970s and 1980s involved the participation of subsets of antigen-specific T suppressor (Ts) cells governed by idiotype-anti-idiotype interactions and influenced by the unresolved genetic restriction element, I-J [3, 4]. The ensuing result was suppression of antigen-specific immune responses as well as linked suppression of unrelated immune responses [78]. However, the lack of robust biochemical and molecular evidence discouraged further studies of antigen-driven Ts cells.

Tolerance by T Regulatory Cells

During the decline of interest in antigen-specific Ts cells, the concept of regulation of autoimmune responses by Foxp3-expressing CD4⁺ T lymphocytes derived from the thymus, termed the thymic T regulatory (tTreg) cells, emerged [79–83]. Also, a subset of Treg cells called the induced Treg (iTreg) generated during the activation of conventional CD4⁺ T cells with antigen, IL-2 and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) [84], and type 1 Treg (Tr1) cells [85] have been described. The relationship between these Treg subsets and antigen-specific Ts cells described earlier as well as their relative contribution to the regulation of immune responses to nominal antigens and autoimmunity remains incompletely understood.

The notion that immunoregulation is accomplished by T lymphocytes distinct from conventional effector CD4⁺ T cells was fueled by the critical observation that neonatal thymectomy led to the emergence of many autoimmune diseases in mice due to the depletion of CD4⁺CD25⁺ tTreg cells [79, 80]. Notably, autoimmune neuronal diseases were not among those unleashed by the removal of tTreg cells. The tTreg cells are enriched for T-cell receptors and exhibit high affinity for selfpeptides. The description of Foxp3 as the critical transcription factor for the development, function, and stability of Treg cells revitalized the study of tTreg cells in mice [81, 82] as well as humans [83]. Whereas tTreg cells control most autoimmune diseases [79, 80], iTreg cells generated from conventional CD4⁺ T cell with low affinity for self-antigens is thought to play a prominent role in general immune regulation [84]. Although these three Treg subsets are treated as distinct entities, confirmatory phenotypic features that can distinguish between them remain unknown [5-8, 79-86]. Although the Treg cells also exert non-specific immune suppression [87] similar to antigen-specific Ts cells [3, 78], the molecular nature of immunosuppression remains unclear in both cases.

Initially, the human counterparts of mouse Treg cells were identified in the thymus and peripheral blood of healthy individuals as CD4⁺CD25^{high} cells which function similar to mouse Treg cells [88, 89]. The frequency, phenotype, and function of Treg cells have been extensively studied in MS patients. In some studies, the frequency of CD4⁺CD25^{high} Treg cells in the peripheral blood of MS patients was similar to that of healthy individuals irrespective of the disease activity [90–93]. Notably, removal of IL-7 receptor⁺ (CD127⁺) cells from the analysis unraveled that both the number and function of Treg cells in MS patients did not differ from that of healthy individuals [93]. Paradoxically, the number of Treg cells was higher in the cerebrospinal fluid than in the peripheral blood of MS patients [94]. Chronic MS patients had a higher frequency of memory CD4⁺CD25⁺CD127^{lo}CD45RO⁺ Treg cells in the peripheral blood [95]. Surprisingly, CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3⁺ Treg cells were also significantly increased in MS patients when compared to healthy individuals [96]. On the contrary, in relapsing-remitting MS, the numbers of CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3⁺ Treg cells were reduced in the peripheral blood [97]. Interestingly, both CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3⁺ cells and *FOXP3* expression were lower during relapses than remission [98]. The numbers of CD31⁺ recent thymic emigrants of the CD4⁺CD25⁺CD45RA⁺CD45RO⁻FOXP3⁺ Treg phenotype within the peripheral blood decline with age and are significantly reduced in MS patients [99]. Interestingly, the Treg cells expressing CD39, an ectoenzyme that hydrolyzes ATP, were diminished in MS patients [100]. On the contrary, in another study the frequency of CD4⁺CD25⁺CD127¹⁰FOXP3⁺CD39⁺ Treg cells in MS patients was comparable to healthy controls [101]. To date, little consensus exists as to the phenotype and frequency of the Treg population in various clinical forms of MS, a disease that lasts for several decades. Longitudinal analysis of Treg cells using uniform phenotypic markers during different stages of the disease will help to delineate whether the Treg cell populations correlate with the clinical presentations.

The Complex Role of FOXP3 in Immunoregulation

The description of Foxp3 as a master regulator of tTreg cells led to its adoption as a surrogate marker of mouse [81, 82] and human Treg cells [7, 8, 83, 96–98, 100, 101]. The IPEX (immune regulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, and X-linked inheritance) syndrome is characterized by diarrhea, diabetes mellitus, hemolytic anemia, eczema, autodestruction of endocrine glands, and thyroiditis with absolutely no evidence of MS [102]. The IPEX syndrome is fatal and without aggressive immunosuppression or bone marrow transplantation, and male patients rarely survive beyond the second decade of life [103]. Although insulin-dependent diabetes was diagnosed in IPEX patients [102], association between variation of the *FOXP3* gene and the common type 1 diabetes was not subsequently found [104]. IPEX is associated with mutations of the human *FOXP3*, the ortholog of the gene mutated in scurfy mice that develop autoimmune disorders [105, 106].

On the other hand, MS is diagnosed as clinically isolated syndrome typically during the second or third decade of life and requires several decades for full manifestation [14]. Therefore, it is highly unlikely that IPEX patients can develop the full spectrum of MS symptoms within two decades of life. Another unexpected complication is that *FOXP3* mutation affects not only Treg cells but also the effector CD4⁺ T cells. This was indicated by the ability of CD4⁺CD25^{hi}FOXP3⁺ cells from IPEX patients to suppress the proliferation of normal but not autologous responder T cells [107]. Thus, IPEX syndrome is associated with the development of resistance in responder T cells to suppressor signals and not impaired suppressor function of Treg cells [107]. Although there is no evidence linking IPEX syndrome and MS, sharing of similar defective functions of Treg cells is likely serendipitous (vide infra).

Studies in experimental models unraveled that the role of Treg cells in immunoregulation is complex and complicated. No spontaneous CNS inflammation was observed in *Foxp3* mutant mice or after targeted depletion of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in wild-type mice [108], indicating that the loss of Treg function alone is insufficient to cause EAE. Paradoxically, the same group observed that targeted and acute depletion of Foxp3+ Treg cells resulted in limited autoimmune inflammation by controlling the T effector cell proliferation and mobility within the CNS [109], indicating a role for Treg cells in EAE regulation. This finding is in contrast to another study which showed that the Treg cells accumulated in the CNS at the peak of EAE but were unable to suppress the proliferation of CNS-derived T effector cells in vitro [110]. In several studies, anti-CD25 antibody administration was used to demonstrate the participation of Treg cells in EAE [43, 111].

Interestingly, anti-CD25 antibody administration repressed the secondary but not primary remission [112]. However, CD25 is not a bona fide marker of Treg cells since these antibodies persist in the circulation for an extended period and also could affect the activated T effectors cells expressing CD25 [109]. Moreover, neither the administration of the anti-CD25 antibody nor adoptive transfer of Treg cells obtained during the resolution of monophasic EAE was determined to be antigenspecific [43]. Thus, further analysis is required for a full evaluation of the role of Treg cells in EAE.

Many other complications impede the understanding of the role of Treg cells in EAE. The expression of Foxp3 is not sufficient for the full expression of the suppressor phenotype and requires several "partner proteins" including the transcription factors Gata-3, NFAT, and Runx1, which influence Treg cell functions [113]. The critical importance of partner proteins in immunoregulation was demonstrated in Foxp3 reporter NOD mice in which the disruption of the interaction between Foxp3 and cofactors such as the histone acetyltransferase Tip60, histone deacetylase 7 (HDAC7), and Eos accelerated the development of autoimmune diabetes [114]. Another difficult aspect of Treg cells is their "plasticity." In the peripheral blood of MS patients, increased frequency of CD4+CD25hiCD127how/- FOXP3+ IFN- γ^+ secreting Th1-like Treg cells with lower suppressive ability was observed, indicating the instability of human Treg cells [115]. The conversion of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells into IL-17-producing Th17 cells has been implicated in the pathogenesis of collagen-induced arthritis in mice and rheumatoid arthritis [116]. Use of a dual lineage tracing model indicated that the conversion of effector Treg cells into central Treg cells was accompanied by increased Foxp3 stability in vivo [117]. Also, acquisition of Th2-like Treg cells expressing Gata-3, activation of STA6, and secretion of IL-4 have been reported [118]. Although Treg cells appear to populate specific tissues including muscles, the skin, lungs, and the gastrointestinal tract, their involvement in tissue homeostasis remains speculative [119]. An additional complication of Treg cells is the so-called ex-Foxp3 cells, a small proportion of tTreg cells that lost Foxp3 expression during EAE induction and express IFN- γ and the ability to mediate EAE [120]. Although the levels of FOXP3 mRNA and protein are decreased in MS patients [121], it is unclear whether this reflects the transition to "ex-FOXP3 cells" during the disease pathogenesis. Thus, despite extensive investigations on the phenotypic and functional characteristics of CD4+FOXP3+ Treg cells, several key issues await further elucidation for a better understanding of how these cells contribute to immune homeostasis in humans.

Defective Function of Treg Cells in MS Patients and its Clinical Relevance

Regardless of the complex nature of the phenotype of the Treg subsets, some investigations indicated that these cells are functionally impaired in MS patients [90, 92, 96-98, 100, 101]. Although both CD39⁺ and CD39⁻ Treg subsets suppressed the proliferation of responder T cells and IFN-y production, interestingly only the CD39⁺ Treg subset suppressed IL-17 production, which is also defective in MS patients [100, 101]. Since IL-17-producing T cells are enriched in active MS lesions and considered crucial for MS pathogenesis [14, 122], these data suggest that compromised Treg cell function may exaggerate IL-17-mediated disease symptoms. This observation could provide possible mechanistic insights into the control of MS. Interestingly, impaired suppressor function of CD4+CD25^{hi} Treg cells was also noted without numerical reduction of these cells in the peripheral blood of some but not all MS patients [90, 92]. As mentioned above, impaired suppressor function correlated with diminished expression of FOXP3 protein and mRNA in MS patients [121]. Diminished suppression of MBP-induced proliferation of peripheral T cells observed in 45% of untreated MS patients was paradoxically associated with increased frequency of CD4+CD25^{intermediate} Treg cells [96].

Interestingly, the ability of CD4+CD25+ Treg cells was depressed in relapsingremitting but not secondary progressive MS patients, despite comparable number and phenotype of these cells [123]. However, the status of Treg cells in primary progressive MS in which neuronal deficits accrue without remission [14, 20] is currently not known. Thus, these studies suggest that despite the variability in number and phenotype, diminished suppressor function of Treg cells may have a significant impact on MS pathogenesis. However, the clinical value of depressed suppressor function of various Treg cells has been challenged [8, 124] and should be treated with caution. The uncertainty of the functional aspect of human Treg cells is attributed to technical issues associated with in vitro assay systems used for the functional assessment [8, 124]. These include the type of stimulation of responders (anti-CD3 antibody + antigen presenting cells along with anti-CD28 antibody vs. immobilized anti-CD3 antibody), blocking IL-2 production to maximize suppression in some cases, different cellular targets of suppression (responder T cells vs. antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells), requirement for enormous numbers of Tregs (1:1 ratio of Treg cells and responders), and the lack of suitable animal models to determine the suppressive activity of human Treg cells in vivo. Importantly, using autologous responder and Treg cells, it will be hard to distinguish between the acquisition of resistance in responder cells to Treg cell-mediated suppression and compromised suppressor function of Treg cells. These technical issues render the results of in vitro suppression assays somewhat uninterpretable [8, 124].

Disease-Modifying Therapies Failed to Impact Treg Cells

Since it is difficult to determine the impact of phenotype, defective number, and function of human Treg cells on disease progression during long duration such as in MS, a correlation was sought between these parameters and the health status of MS patients at specific time points. A majority of disease-modifying treatments available today are directed to relapsing-remitting MS, and there is a paucity of drugs to treat secondary and primary progressive MS [14, 20]. Treatment of MS patients with IFN-beta-1a reduces relapses without altering the circulating numbers of CD4+CD25hi Treg cells [95]. Another study demonstrated that treatment of relapsingremitting MS patients with IFN-beta-1a increased the proportion of CD4+CD25+GITR+ Treg cells above the baseline [125]. Glatiramer acetate treatment of relapsing-remitting MS patients reconstituted naïve Treg cells and increased total Treg cell numbers [126]. Combined treatment with IFN-beta-1a and glatiramer acetate reduced the numbers of naïve (CD4+CD25+CD127lowCD45RA+) Treg cells without affecting the memory type Treg cells (CD4+CD25+CD127lowCD45RO+) in chronic MS patients [96]. Glatiramer acetate treatment of MS patients improved the Treg cell function by expanding CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ T cells [96].

Interestingly, IFN-1a-beta treatment redistributed tTreg subset to central memory-like Treg population expressing CCR27 and the increased Tr1-like subset that expressed IL-10 and CD46 mRNA [127]. Natalizumab, a monoclonal humanized antibody targeting the α -4 chain of the very late antigen 4 (VLA-4) integrin, reduces relapses independent of alterations in Treg cell frequency or function [128]. Although these disease-modifying therapies (IFN-1a-beta, glatiramer acetate, and natalizumab) reduce relapses in MS patients, they do not provide robust protection against MS or reverse axonal degeneration [20]. It will be exciting and appropriate to determine the alteration of the number and function of Treg cells during various stages of the disease and after treatment with more effective disease-modifying drugs when they become available.

Pharmacological Modulation of Treg Cells

Posttranslational modifications of histones by acetylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitylation are powerful epigenetic modulations that have a substantial influence on gene expression [129]. Epigenetic markers including acetylation and methylation of histones and cytosine-guanosine (CpG) dinucleotide methylation have been reported at the *Foxp3* locus [130]. Naive CD4+CD25⁻ T cells, activated CD4+ T cells, and TGF- β -induced adaptive Treg cells, but not in natural Tregs, CpG dinucleotides are methylated at the *Foxp3* locus. It has been proposed that Treg cells can be manipulated via epigenetic modification of the transcription factor Foxp3 in mice. In support of this notion, it was shown that treatment of mice with TSA enhanced Treg cell-mediated suppression of homeostatic proliferation and decreased

inflammatory bowel disease [131]. In conjunction with low-dose rapamycin, TSA induced permanent Treg cell-dependent cardiac and islet allograft survival and donor-specific allograft tolerance [131].

In contrast to these data, attrition of the naturally occurring type 1 diabetes and primary, progressive EAE in autoimmune-prone NOD mice by TSA treatment was not associated with the modulation of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Treg cells or function [132, 47]. Global gene expression analysis indicated up- and downregulation of many genes in uninduced splenocytes from TSA-treated mice including novel proinflammatory genes specifically expressed in macrophages [133] but not Foxp3 transcription (unpublished data). On the contrary, TSA treatment induced histone hyperacetylation and reduced inflammation, demyelination, and axonal damage in the spinal cord [47]. Interestingly, drug treatment diminished the generation of CD4⁺ memory T cells and induced antigen-specific tolerance (Fig. 1) as indicated by abrogation of T-cell proliferation when draining lymph node cells and splenocytes were stimulated with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in vitro albeit normal proliferation to a T-cell mitogen. However, activation with IL-2 restored the ability of tolerized T cells to respond to antigen stimulation, indicating a reversal of anergy. Tolerance was characterized by the reduced antigen-induced production of IL-17A, IFN-y, and GM-CSF but not IL-4.

The consecutive appearance of double producers (IL-17A + IFN- γ) and Th1 cells occurred in peripheral lymphoid tissues and was susceptible to repression by TSA treatment. In the CNS, only Th1 cells appeared during the acute phase, while Th1 cells, Th17 cells, and GM-CSF-expressing cells were found in the chronic phase. Importantly, TSA treatment diminished the frequencies of these cells in the CNS



Fig. 1 Overview of mechanisms involved in the regulation of autoimmune neurodegeneration. In the experimental model of MS, drug-mediated histone hyperacetylation induces anergy in effector IFN- γ -producing Th1 cells, IL-17A-expressing Th17 cells, and cells with mixed phenotype (Th1/Th17). In addition, the neutrophil expansion is also subject to regulation by the epigenetic modifier. Together, they contribute to the amelioration of neurodegeneration in the mouse model. It remains to be determined whether similar manipulation of IL-17A- and IFN- γ -producing Th1/Th17 cells found in MS patients by pharmacological intervention could benefit patients with MS. Defective numbers and function of Treg cells have been reported in MS patients, suggesting a role for these cells in disease pathogenesis. Restoration of functional Treg populations in MS patients may potentially provide therapeutic advantages. A role for Tr1 cells in MS disease pathogenesis is also possible

[47]. In the primary, progressive EAE model, TSA treatment also reduced the abundance of mature CD11b⁺Ly-6G^{dim}-activated neutrophils in the secondary lymphoid tissues and their influx into the spinal cord [48]. Thus, in addition to myelin-specific T-cell tolerance induction, selective repression of mature neutrophils and PD-L1⁺ cells is critically involved in the epigenetic regulation of primary, progressive EAE. These data indicate that epigenetic regulation by histone acetylation ameliorates autoimmune diseases such as type 1 diabetes and EAE by modulating gene expression without involving the Treg population or *Foxp3* transcription.

Interestingly, treatment with various small molecule inhibitors of histone deacetylases increased the suppressive function of both freshly isolated and in vitroexpanded human Treg cells [134]. This functional change was accompanied by increased expression of the negative regulator of immune response, CTLA-4, indicating that epigenetic drugs can be promising pharmacologic agents that can improve the immunosuppressive potential of T lymphocytes. Since TSA, the most potent inhibitor of histone deacetylases is effective in reversing naturally occurring type 1 diabetes and immunization-induced EAE without causing undesirable side effects [132–134, 48], this strategy may be of potential use to treat patients with autoimmunity.

Administration of the lipid-lowering drug atorvastatin alleviated EAE without increasing IL-4-producing Th2 cells or Treg population, implicated in protection against neurodegeneration [135]. This observation is consistent with the ability of statins, inhibitors of cholesterol biosynthesis, to affect IL-17-producing Th17 cells [136]. Since Th17 cells are pivotal for MS pathogenesis [14], inhibition of IL-17 production by statins could be useful for the treatment of MS.

Antigen-Specific Tolerance-Inducing Strategies Failed to Block MS Progression

Since MS is considered as an autoimmune disease, induction of antigen-specific tolerance is the best approach to annihilate this debilitating disease via inactivation of autoreactive T cells without causing undesirable side effects. As MS is genetically predisposed, self-reactive T lymphocytes recognizing neuronal antigens in the context of HLA-DRB1 hypothetically escape thymic deletion (central tolerance), which can be subsequently reactivated by the peripheral antigen-presenting cells causing dire consequences. As discussed above, the induction of anergy could restrain these autoreactive T cells from causing neuronal destruction. Toward this goal, several clinical trials were conducted in MS patients by administering peptides derived from MBP, MOG, and PLP via various routes [Ref. 73, 74 and citations therein]. Also, complexes of HLA class II molecule HLA-DR2 and MOG₃₅₋₅₅, and myelin peptides (MBP₈₅₋₉₉, MOG₃₅₋₅₅, and PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁), a plasmid containing MBP protein, referred to as DNA vaccine, attenuated autologous T cells specific to MBP, MOG, and PLP were candidates for tolerance induction in MS patients. Furthermore, peripheral blood mononuclear cells coupled with seven myelin peptides (MOG₁₋₂₀, MOG₃₅₋₅₅, MBP₁₃₋₃₂, MBP₈₃₋₉₉, MBP₁₁₁₋₁₂₉, MBP₁₄₆₋₁₇₀, and PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₄) were also

tested for their efficacy to produce a favorable outcome in MS patients. Not surprisingly, oral administration of MBP failed to protect MS [73, 74], as observed previously in type 1 diabetes [137]. Altered ligand peptide analogs of immunogenic peptides that have been modified to interact with the T-cell receptor while retaining the ability to bind the HLA motifs proved fatal in clinical trials [138]. Although most of these approaches did not have safety issues, no breakthrough as to clinical benefits has been achieved. Recent efforts to establish an antigen-specific tolerance in autoimmune patients include administration of tolerogenic dendritic cells [139] and tolerogenic immune-modifying nanoparticles [140]. So far, successful "tolerance-inducing" strategies have not emerged as standard-of-care clinical use. The identification of the disease-instigating antigen(s) will pave the way for the successful design of antigen-specific tolerance for the treatment of the debilitating CNS disease.

The Future Perspectives

It is now well established that peripheral tolerance is of paramount importance in the homeostatic control of the T-cell repertoire and for curtailing autoimmunity. The concerted effort for over half a century has unraveled unexpectedly diverse types of Treg cells in the mouse. By analogy, Treg cells with multiple phenotypes have been reported in humans as well. Attempts to understand the mode of immunosuppression mediated by these cells yielded clues to several mechanisms that need to be carefully discerned. Limited studies conducted in EAE models do not support in vivo manipulation of Treg cells, mostly the thymic-derived, "naturally occurring" Treg cells, by epigenetic or pharmacological strategies (Fig. 1). Although diseasemodifying therapies provide some benefits to MS patients, it is unclear whether disease protection accompanies changes in the Treg cell number, phenotype, or function. Adoption of uniform parameters for evaluation of phenotypic markers may help to improve our understanding of the status of the Treg subsets during the variable and prolonged duration of chronic neurodegeneration. It is important to emphasize the need for refining in vitro conditions required for assessing the "suppressive" function of human Treg cells. The fact that the Treg cells are scarce in the brain lesions but abundant in the cerebrospinal fluid of MS patients [141] suggests that anatomical constraints are responsible for this uneven distribution of Treg cells. It is essential to know whether pharmacological intervention or administration of biologicals to improve MS symptoms may influence the Treg cell trafficking to the brain. Finally, since the Treg cells producing IL-10, type 1 Treg (Tr1), were also reported to be impaired in MS patients [127, 142], it will be informative whether disease-modifying treatments can also impact this cellular compartment.

Acknowledgments Arathi Jayaraman is acknowledged for comments on the manuscript.

References

- Alderson MR, Lynch DH. Receptors and ligands that mediate activation-induced death of T cells. Springer Semin Immunopathol. 1998;19(3):289–300. PMID:9540157
- Tracey KJ, Cerami A. Tumor necrosis factor: an updated review of its biology. Crit Care Med. 1993;21(10 Suppl):S415–22. PMID:8403979
- 3. Dorf ME, Benacerraf B. Suppressor cells and immunoregulation. Annu Rev Immunol. 1984;2:127–57. PMID:6242348
- Germain RN. Special regulatory T-cell review: A rose by any other name: from suppressor T cells to Tregs, approbation to unbridled enthusiasm. Immunology. 2008;123(1):20–7. PMID:18154615
- Kleinewietfeld M, Hafler DA. Regulatory T cells in autoimmune neuroinflammation. Immunol Rev. 2014;259(1):231–44. PMID:24712469
- Danikowski KM, Jayaraman S, Prabhakar BS. Regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis and myasthenia gravis. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14(1):117. PMID:28599652
- Dominguez-Villar M, Hafler DA. Regulatory T cells in autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol. 2018;19:665. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-018-0120-4. PMID:29925983
- Shevach EM. Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells: still many unanswered questions-A perspective after 20 years of study. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1048. PMID:29868011
- Jasiak-Zatonska M, Kalinowska-Lyszczarz A, Michalak S, Kozubski W. The immunology of neuromyelitis optica-current knowledge, clinical implications, controversies and future perspectives. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(3):273. PMID:26950113
- Bar-Or A, Steinman L, Behne JM, Benitez-Ribas D, Chin PS, Clare-Salzler M, et al. Restoring immune tolerance in neuromyelitis optica: Part II. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3(5):e277. PMID:27648464
- D'Andrea MR. Add Alzheimer's disease to the list of autoimmune diseases. Med Hypotheses. 2005;64(3):458–63. PMID:15617848
- Fukata M, Yokoi N, Fukata Y. Neurobiology of autoimmune encephalitis. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2018;48:1–8. PMID:28829986
- Alexopoulos H, Dalakas MC. Immunology of stiff person syndrome and other GAD-associated neurological disorders. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2013;9(11):1043–53. PMID:24168411
- Dendrou CA, Fugger L, Friese MA. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(9):545–58. PMID:26250739.
- 15. Legroux L, Arbour N. Multiple sclerosis and T Lymphocytes: an entangled story. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2015;10(4):528–46. PMID:25946987
- Lassmann H. Targets of therapy in progressive MS. Mult Scler. 2017;23(12):1593–9. PMID:29041864
- Correale J, Gaitán MI, Ysrraelit MC, Fiol MP. Progressive multiple sclerosis: from pathogenic mechanisms to treatment. Brain. 2017;140(3):527–46. PMID:27794524
- Chaudhuri A, Behan PO. Multiple sclerosis is not an autoimmune disease. Arch Neurol. 2004;61(10):1610–2. PMID:15477520
- Trapp BD, Nave KA. Multiple sclerosis: an immune or neurodegenerative disorder? Annu Rev Neurosci. 2008;31:247–69. PMID:18558855
- Wingerchuk DM, Carter JL. Multiple sclerosis: current and emerging disease-modifying therapies and treatment strategies. Mayo Clin Proc. 2014;89(2):225–40. PMID:24485135
- Tintore M, Vidal-Jordana A, Sastre-Garriga J. Treatment of multiple sclerosis success from bench to bedside. Nat Rev Neurol. 2019;15:53–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0082-z. PMID:30315270
- Engelhardt B, Vajkoczy P, Weller RO. The movers and shapers in immune privilege of the CNS. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(2):123–31. PMID:28092374
- Domingues HS, Portugal CC, Socodato R, Relvas JB. Oligodendrocyte, astrocyte, and microglia crosstalk in myelin development, damage, and repair. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2016;4:71. PMID:27551677

- 24. Scheu S, Ali S, Ruland C, Arolt V, Alferink J. The C-C chemokines CCL17 and CCL22 and their receptor CCR4 in CNS autoimmunity. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(11):pii:E2306. PMID:29099057
- 25. Parnell GP, Booth DR. The Multiple Sclerosis (MS) genetic risk factors indicate both acquired and innate immune cell subsets contribute to MS pathogenesis and identify novel therapeutic opportunities. Front Immunol. 2017;8:425. PMID:28458668
- Harkiolaki M, Holmes SL, Svendsen P, Gregersen JW, Jensen LT, McMahon R, et al. T cell-mediated autoimmune disease due to low-affinity crossreactivity to common microbial peptides. Immunity. 2009;30(3):348–57. Erratum in: Immunity. 2009;30(4):610. PMID:19303388
- Ramadan A, Lucca LE, Carrié N, Desbois S, Axisa PP, Hayder M, et al. In situ expansion of T cells that recognize distinct self-antigens sustains autoimmunity in the CNS. Brain. 2016;139.(Pt 5:1433–46.
- Fredrikson S, Söderström M, Hillert J, Sun JB, Käll TB, Link H. Multiple sclerosis: occurrence of myelin basic protein peptide-reactive T cells in healthy family members. Acta Neurol Scand. 1994;89(3):184–9. PMID:7518178
- Hellings N, Barée M, Verhoeven C, D'hooghe MB, Medaer R, Bernard CC, et al. T-cell reactivity to multiple myelin antigens in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy controls. J Neurosci Res. 2001;63(3):290–302. PMID:11170179
- Raddassi K, Kent SC, Yang J, Bourcier K, Bradshaw EM, Seyfert-Margolis V, et al. Increased frequencies of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein/MHC class II-binding CD4 cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2011;187(2):1039–46. PMID:21653833
- Kebir H, Ifergan I, Alvarez JI, Bernard M, Poirier J, Arbour N, et al. Preferential recruitment of interferon-gamma-expressing TH17 cells in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(3):390–402. PMID:19810097
- Alvermann S, Hennig C, Stüve O, Wiendl H, Stangel M. Immunophenotyping of cerebrospinal fluid cells in multiple sclerosis: in search of biomarkers. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(7):905– 12. PMID:24818670
- 33. van Langelaar J, van der Vuurst de Vries RM, Janssen M, Wierenga-Wolf AF, Spilt IM, Siepman TA, et al. T helper 17.1 cells associate with multiple sclerosis disease activity: perspectives for early intervention. Brain. 2018;141(5):1334–49. PMID:29659729
- 34. Willing A, Leach OA, Ufer F, Attfield KE, Steinbach K, Kursawe N, et al. CD8⁺ MAIT cells infiltrate into the CNS and alterations in their blood frequencies correlate with IL-18 serum levels in multiple sclerosis. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(10):3119–28. PMID:25043505
- Li R, Patterson KR, Bar-Or A. Reassessing B cell contributions in multiple sclerosis. Nat Immunol 2018. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-018-0135-x. [Epub ahead of print]. PMID:29925992.
- Wurth S, Kuenz B, Bsteh G, Ehling R, Di Pauli F, Hegen H, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid B cells and disease progression in multiple sclerosis – A longitudinal prospective study. PLoS One. 2017;12(8):e0182462. PMID:28777826
- Rivers TM, Sprunt DH, Berry GP. Observations on attempts to produce acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in monkeys. J Exp Med. 1933;58(1):39–53. PMID:19870180
- Sabin AB, Wright AM. Acute ascending myelitis following a monkey bite, with the isolation of a virus capable of reproducing the disease. J Exp Med. 1934;59(2):115–36. PMID:19870235
- Constantinescu CS, Farooqi N, O'Brien K, Gran B. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as a model for multiple sclerosis (MS). Br J Pharmacol. 2011;164(4):1079–106. PMID:21371012
- Lassmann H, Bradl M. Multiple sclerosis: experimental models and reality. Acta Neuropathol. 2017;133(2):223–44. PMID:27766432
- 41. Baker D, Amor S. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is a good model of multiple sclerosis if used wisely. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2014;3(5):555–64. PMID:26265267

- McGeachy MJ, Stephens LA, Anderton SM. Natural recovery and protection from autoimmune encephalomyelitis: contribution of CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells within the central nervous system. J Immunol. 2005;175(5):3025–32. PMID:16116190
- 43. Shetty A, Gupta SG, Varrin-Doyer M, Weber MS, Prod'homme T, Molnarfi N, et al. Immunodominant T-cell epitopes of MOG reside in its transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains in EAE. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2014;1(2):e22. PMID:25340074
- 44. Pham H, Doerrbecker J, Ramp AA, D'Souza CS, Gorasia DG, Purcell AW, Ayers MM, Orian JM. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in C57Bl/6 mice is not associated with astrogliosis. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;232(1–2):51–62. PMID:21056916
- 45. Kipp M, Nyamoya S, Hochstrasser T, Amor S. Multiple sclerosis animal models: a clinical and histopathological perspective. Brain Pathol. 2017;27(2):123–37. PMID:27792289
- 46. Basso AS, Frenkel D, Quintana FJ, Costa-Pinto FA, Petrovic-Stojkovic S, Puckett L, et al. Reversal of axonal loss and disability in a mouse model of progressive multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(4):1532–43. PMID:18340379
- 47. Jayaraman A, Soni A, Prabhakar BS, Holterman M, Jayaraman S. The epigenetic drug Trichostatin A ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis via T cell tolerance induction and impaired influx of T cells into the spinal cord. Neurobiol Dis. 2017;108:1–12. PMID:28736194
- Jayaraman A, Sharma M, Prabhakar B, Holterman M, Jayaraman S. Amelioration of progressive autoimmune encephalomyelitis by epigenetic regulation involves selective repression of mature neutrophils during the preclinical phase. Exp Neurol. 2018;304:14–20. PMID:29453977
- 49. Slavin A, Ewing C, Liu J, Ichikawa M, Slavin J, Bernard CC. Induction of a multiple sclerosis-like disease in mice with an immunodominant epitope of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein. Autoimmunity. 1998;28(2):109–20. PMID:9771980
- 50. Hidaka Y, Inaba Y, Matsuda K, Itoh M, Kaneyama T, Nakazawa Y, et al. Cytokine production profiles in chronic relapsing-remitting experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: IFN- γ and TNF- α are essential participants in the first attack but not in the relapse. J Neurol Sci. 2014;340(1–2):117–22. PMID:24655735
- Dang PT, Bui Q, D'Souza CS, Orian JM. Modelling MS: chronic-relapsing EAE in the NOD/ Lt mouse strain. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. 2015;26:143–77. PMID:26126592
- McRae BL, Kennedy MK, Tan LJ, Dal Canto MC, Picha KS, Miller SD. Induction of active and adoptive relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) using an encephalitogenic epitope of proteolipid protein. J Neuroimmunol. 1992;38(3):229–40. PMID:1376328
- Behan PO, Chaudhuri A. EAE is not a useful model for demyelinating disease. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2014;3(5):565–74.PMID:26265268.
- 54. Muller DM, Pender MP, Greer JM. A neuropathological analysis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with predominant brain stem and cerebellar involvement and differences between active and passive induction. Acta Neuropathol. 2000;100(2):174–82. PMID:10963365
- 55. Abromson-Leeman S, Bronson R, Luo Y, Berman M, Leeman R, Leeman J, et al. T-cell properties determine disease site, clinical presentation, and cellular pathology of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Am J Pathol. 2004;165(5):1519–33. PMID:15509523
- Stromnes IM, Cerretti LM, Liggitt D, Harris RA, Goverman JM. Differential regulation of central nervous system autoimmunity by T(H)1 and T(H)17 cells. Nat Med. 2008;14(3):337– 42. PMID:18278054
- 57. Lowther DE, Chong DL, Ascough S, Ettorre A, Ingram RJ, Boyton RJ, et al. Th1 not Th17 cells drive spontaneous MS-like disease despite a functional regulatory T cell response. Acta Neuropathol. 2013;126(4):501–15. PMID:23934116
- O'Connor RA, Prendergast CT, Sabatos CA, Lau CW, Leech MD, Wraith DC, et al. Cutting edge: Th1 cells facilitate the entry of Th17 cells to the central nervous system during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2008;181(6):3750–4. PMID:18768826

- Murphy AC, Lalor SJ, Lynch SJ, Mills KH. Infiltration of Th1 and Th17 cells and activation of microglia in the CNS during the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Brain Behav Immun. 2010;24(4):641–51. PMID:20138983
- Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M, Hornsby E, Li Y, Cua DJ, Ahlfors H, et al. Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(3):255–63. PMID:21278737
- 61. Codarri L, Gyülvészi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORγt drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(6):560–7. PMID:21516112
- 62. Stadhouders R, Lubberts E, Hendriks RW. A cellular and molecular view of T helper 17 cell plasticity in autoimmunity. J Autoimmun. 2018;87:1–15. PMID:29275836
- Haak S, Croxford AL, Kreymborg K, Heppner FL, Pouly S, Becher B, et al. IL-17A and IL-17F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(1):61–9. PMID:19075395
- 64. McQualter JL, Darwiche R, Ewing C, Onuki M, Kay TW, Hamilton JA, et al. Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor: a new putative therapeutic target in multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med. 2001;194(7):873–82. PMID:11581310
- 65. Pierson ER, Goverman JM. GM-CSF is not essential for experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis but promotes brain-targeted disease. JCI Insight. 2017;2(7):e92362. PMID:28405624
- 66. Duncker PC, Stoolman JS, Huber AK, Segal BM. GM-CSF promotes chronic disability in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by altering the composition of central nervous system-infiltrating cells, but is dispensable for disease induction. J Immunol. 2018;200(3):966–73. PMID:29288202
- 67. Ifergan I, Davidson TS, Kebir H, Xu D, Palacios-Macapagal D, Cann J, et al. Targeting the GM-CSF rece2017ptor for the treatment of CNS autoimmunity. J Autoimmun. 84:1–11. PMID:28641926
- Marrack P, Lo D, Brinster R, Palmiter R, Burkly L, Flavell RH, et al. The effect of thymus environment on T cell development and tolerance. Cell. 1988;53(4):627–34. PMID:3259471
- Fredrikson S, Söderström M, Hillert J, Sun JB, Käll TB, Link H. Multiple sclerosis: occurrence of myelin basic protein peptide-reactive T cells in healthy family members. Acta Neurol Scand. 1994;89(3):184–9. PMID:7518178
- Hellings N, Barée M, Verhoeven C, D'hooghe MB, Medaer R, Bernard CC, et al. T-cell reactivity to multiple myelin antigens in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy controls. J Neurosci Res. 2001;63(3):290–302. PMID:11170179
- Raddassi K, Kent SC, Yang J, Bourcier K, Bradshaw EM, Seyfert-Margolis V, et al. Increased frequencies of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein/MHC class II-binding CD4 cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2011;187(2):1039–46. PMID:21653833
- 72. Jayaraman S. Novel methods of type 1 diabetes treatment. Discov Med. 2014;17(96):347–55. PMID:24979255
- Lutterotti A, Martin R. Antigen-specific tolerization approaches in multiple sclerosis. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2014;23(1):9–20. PMID:24151958
- 74. Steinman L. The re-emergence of antigen-specific tolerance as a potential therapy for MS. Mult Scler. 2015;21(10):1223–38. PMID:25921045
- Schwartz RH, Mueller DL, Jenkins MK, Quill H. T-cell clonal anergy. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 1989;54 Pt 2:605–10. PMID:2534840
- 76. Beverly B, Kang SM, Lenardo MJ, Schwartz RH. Reversal of in vitro T cell clonal anergy by IL-2 stimulation. Int Immunol. 1992;4(6):661–71. PMID:1616898
- Jayaraman S, Luo Y, Dorf ME. Tolerance induction in T helper (Th1) cells by thymic macrophages. J Immunol. 1992;148(9):2672–81. PMID:1533409
- 78. Jayaraman S, Bellone CJ. Interaction of idiotype-specific T suppressor factor with the hapten-specific third-order T suppressor subset results in antigen-nonspecific suppression. Cell Immunol. 1986;101(1):72–81. PMID:3489537

- 79. Sakaguchi S, Fukuma K, Kuribayashi K, Masuda T. Organ-specific autoimmune diseases induced in mice by elimination of T cell subset. I. Evidence for the active participation of T cells in natural self-tolerance; deficit of a T cell subset as a possible cause of autoimmune disease. J Exp Med. 1985;161(1):72–87. PMID:3871469
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. J Immunol. 1995;155(3):1151–64. PMID:21422251
- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science. 2003;299(5609):1057–61. PMID:12522256
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(4):330–6. PMID: 12612578
- Miyara M, Yoshioka Y, Kitoh A, Shima T, Wing K, Niwa A, et al. Functional delineation and differentiation dynamics of human CD4+ T cells expressing the FoxP3 transcription factor. Immunity. 2009;30(6):899–911. PMID:19464196
- 84. Kanamori M, Nakatsukasa H, Okada M, Lu Q, Yoshimura A. Induced regulatory T cells: their development, stability, and applications. Trends Immunol. 2016;37(11):803–11. PMID:27623114
- Roncarolo MG, Bacchetta R, Bordignon C, Narula S, Levings MK. Type 1 T regulatory cells. Immunol Rev. 2001;182:68–79. PMID:11722624
- Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ. Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? Immunity. 2009;30(5):626–35. PMID:19464985
- Thornton AM, Shevach EM. Suppressor effector function of CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells is antigen nonspecific. J Immunol. 2000;164(1):183–90. PMID:10605010
- Baecher-Allan C, Brown JA, Freeman GJ, Hafler DA. CD4+CD25high regulatory cells in human peripheral blood. J Immunol. 2001;167(3):1245–53. PMID:11466340
- Stephens LA, Mottet C, Mason D, Powrie F. Human CD4 + CD25 + thymocytes and peripheral T cells have immune suppressive activity in vitro. Eur J Immunol. 2001;31(4):1247–54. PMID:11298351
- 90. Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. Loss of functional suppression by CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med. 2004;199(7):971– 9. PMID: 15067033
- Putheti P, Pettersson A, Soderstorm M, Link H, Huang YM. Circulating CD4 + CD25 + T regulatory cells are not altered in multiple sclerosis and unaffected by disease-modulating drugs. J Clin Immunol. 2004;24(2):155–61. PMID:15024182
- 92. Haas J, Hug A, Viehöver A, Fritzsching B, Falk CS, Filser A, et al. Reduced suppressive effect of CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells on the T cell immune response against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in patients with multiple sclerosis. Eur J Immunol. 2005;35(11):3343–52. PMID:16206232
- 93. Michel L, Berthelot L, Pettré S, Wiertlewski S, Lefrère F, Braudeau C, et al. Patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis have normal Treg function when cells expressing IL-7 receptor α-chain are excluded from the analysis. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(10):3411–9. PMID:18769633
- 94. Feger U, Luther C, Poeschel S, Melms A, Tolosa E, Wiendl H. Increased frequency of CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells in the cerebrospinal fluid but not in the blood of multiple sclerosis patients. Clin Exp Immunol. 2007;147(3):412–8. PMID:17302889
- 95. Venken K, Hellings N, Broekmans T, Hensen K, Rummens JL, Stinissen P. Natural naive CD4 + CD25 + CD127 low regulatory T cell (Treg) development and function are disturbed in multiple sclerosis patients: recovery of memory T reg homeostasis during disease progression. J Immunol. 2008;180(9):6411–20. PMID:18424765
- 96. Kumar M, Putzki N, Limmroth V, Remus R, Lindemann M, Knop D, et al. CD4 + CD25 + FoxP3 + T lymphocytes fail to suppress myelin basic protein-induced proliferation in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;180(1–2):178–84. PMID:17011048

- 97. Venken K, Hellings N, Thewissen M, Somers V, Hensen K, Rummens JL, et al. Compromised CD4 + CD25 high regulatory T-cell function in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is correlated with a reduced frequency of FOXP3-positive cells and reduced FOXP3 expression at the single-cell level. Immunology. 2008;123(1):79–89. PMID:17897326
- Frisullo G, Nociti V, Iorio R, Patanella AK, Caggiula M, Marti A, et al. Regulatory T cells fail to suppress CD4T+-bet+ T cells in relapsing multiple sclerosis patients. Immunology. 2009;127(3):418–28. PMID:19016907
- 99. Haas J, Fritzsching B, Trübswetter P, Korporal M, Milkova L, Fritz B, et al. Prevalence of newly generated naive regulatory T cells (T reg) is critical for T suppressive function and determines T reg dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2007;179(2):1322–30. PMID:17617625
- 100. Borsellino G, Kleinewietfeld M, Di Mitri D, Sternjak A, Diamantini A, Giometto R, et al. Expression of ectonucleotidase CD39 by Foxp3 + Treg cells: hydrolysis of extracellular ATP and immune suppression. Blood. 2007;110(4):1225–32. PMID: 17449799
- 101. Fletcher JM, Lonergan R, Costelloe L, Kinsella K, Moran B, O'Farrelly C, et al. CD39+Foxp3+ regulatory T Cells suppress pathogenic Th17 cells and are impaired in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2009;183(11):7602–10. PMID: 19917691
- Powell BR, Buist NR, Stenzel P. An X-linked syndrome of diarrhea, polyendocrinopathy, and fatal infection in infancy. J Pediar. 1982;100(5):731–7. PMID:7040622
- 103. Tan QKG, Louie RJ, Sleasman JW. IPEX Syndrome. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, LJH B, Stephens K, Amemiya A, editors. GeneReviews® [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington; 2004. Seattle; 1993–2018. [updated 2018 Jul 19]. PMID:20301297.
- 104. Zavattari P, Deidda E, Pitzalis M, Zoa B, Moi L, Lampis R, et al. No association between variation of the FOXP3 gene and common type 1 diabetes in the Sardinian population. Diabetes. 2004;53(7):1911–4. PMID:15220219
- 105. Wildin RS, Ramsdell F, Peake J, Faravelli F, Casanova JL, Buist N, et al. X-linked neonatal diabetes mellitus, enteropathy and endocrinopathy syndrome is the human equivalent of mouse scurfy. Nat Genet. 2001;27(1):18–20. PMID:11137992
- 106. Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, et al. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat Genet. 2001;27(1):20–1. PMID:11137993
- 107. Bacchetta R, Passerini L, Gambineri E, Dai M, Allan SE, Perroni L, et al. Defective regulatory and effector T cell functions in patients with FOXP3 mutations. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(6):1713–22. PMID:16741580
- 108. Krishnamoorthy G, Holz A, Wekerle H. Experimental models of spontaneous autoimmune disease in the central nervous system. J Mol Med (Berl). 2007;85(11):1161–73. PMID:17569024
- 109. Koutrolos M, Berer K, Kawakami N, Wekerle H, Krishnamoorthy G. Treg cells mediate recovery from EAE by controlling effector T cell proliferation and motility in the CNS. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2014;2:163.. PMID:25476447.
- 110. Korn T, Reddy J, Gao W, Bettelli E, Awasthi A, Petersen TR, et al. Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. Nat Med. 2007;13(4):423–31.
- 111. Montero E, Nussbaum G, Kaye JF, Perez R, Lage A, Ben-Nun A, Cohen IR. Regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by CD4+, CD25+ and CD8+ T cells: analysis using depleting antibodies. J Autoimmun. 2004;23(1):1–7. PMID:15236747
- 112. Gärtner D, Hoff H, Gimsa U, Burmester GR, Brunner-Weinzierl MC. CD25 regulatory T cells determine secondary but not primary remission in EAE: impact on long-term disease progression. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;172(1–2):73–84. PMID:16360886
- 113. Rudra D, de Roos P, Chaudhry A, Niec RE, Arvey A, Samstein RM, et al. Transcription factor Foxp3 and its protein partners form a complex regulatory network. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(10):1010–9. PMID:22922362

- 114. Bettini ML, Pan F, Bettini M, Finkelstein D, Rehg JE, Floess S, et al. Loss of epigenetic modification driven by the Foxp3 transcription factor leads to regulatory T cell insufficiency. Immunity. 2012;36(5):717–30. PMID:22579476
- 115. Dominguez-Villar M, Baecher-Allan CM, Hafler DA. Identification of T helper type 1-like, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. Nat Med. 2011;17(6):673–5. PMID:21540856
- 116. Komatsu N, Okamoto K, Sawa S, Nakashima T, Oh-hora M, Kodama T, et al. Pathogenic conversion of Foxp3 + T cells into T H 17 cells in autoimmune arthritis. Nat Med. 2014;20(1):62– 8. PMID: 24362934
- 117. Zhang Z, Zhang W, Guo J, Gu Q, Zhu X, Zhou X. Activation and functional specialization of regulatory T cells Lead to the generation of Foxp3 instability. J Immunol. 2017;198(7):2612– 25. PMID:28228556
- 118. Jin HS, Park Y, Elly C, Liu YC. Itch expression by Treg cells controls Th2 inflammatory responses. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(11):4923–34. PMID:24135136
- 119. Panduro M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Tissue Tregs. Annu Rev Immunol. 2016;34:609–33. PMID:27168246
- 120. Bailey-Bucktrout SL, Martinez-Llordella M, Zhou X, Anthony B, Rosenthal W, Luche H, et al. Self-antigen-driven activation induces instability of regulatory T cells during an inflammatory autoimmune response. Immunity. 2013;39(5):949–62. PMID:24238343
- 121. Huan J, Culbertson N, Spencer L, Bartholomew R, Burrows GG, Chou YK, et al. Decreased FoxP3 levels in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neurosci Res. 2005;81(1):45–52. PMID:15952173
- 122. Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, et al. Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol. 2008;172(1):146–55.
- 123. Venken K, Hellings N, Hensen K, Rummens JL, Medaer R, D'hooghe MB, et al. Secondary progressive in contrast to relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients show a normal CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell function and FoxP3 expression. J Neurosci Res. 2006;83(8):1432–46. PMID:16583400
- 124. Buckner JH. Mechanisms of impaired regulation by CD4(+)CD25(+)FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells in human autoimmune diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(12):849–59. PMID:21107346
- 125. de Andrés C, Aristimuño C, de Las Heras V, Martínez-Ginés ML, Bartolomé M, Arroyo R, et al. Interferon β-1a therapy enhances CD4 + regulatory T-cell function: an ex vivo and in vitro longitudinal study in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;182(1–2):204–11. PMID:17157927
- 126. Haas J, Korporal M, Balint B, Fritzsching B, Schwarz A, Wildemann B. Glatiramer acetate improves regulatory T-cell function by expansion of naive CD4(+)CD25(+)FoxP3(+) CD31(+) T-cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol. 2009;216(1–2):113–7. PMID:19646767
- 127. Chiarini M, Serana F, Zanotti C, Capra R, Rasia S, Rottoli M, et al. Modulation of the central memory and Tr1-like regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis patients responsive to interferonbeta therapy. Multi Scler. 2012;18(6):788–98. PMID:22086901
- 128. Stenner MP, Waschbisch A, Buck D, Doerck S, Einsele H, Toyka KV, et al. Effects of natalizumab treatment on Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. PLoS One. 2008;3(10):e3319.. PMID:18836525
- 129. Allis CD, Jenuwein T. The molecular hallmarks of epigenetic control. Nat Rev Genet. 2016;17(8):487–500. PMID:27346641
- Lal G, Bromberg JS. Epigenetic mechanisms of regulation of Foxp3 expression. Blood. 2009;114(18):3727–35. PMID:19641188
- 131. Tao R, de Zoeten EF, Ozkaynak E, Chen C, Wang L, Porrett PM, et al. Deacetylase inhibition promotes the generation and function of regulatory T cells. Nat Med. 2007;13(11):1299–307. PMID:17922010

- 132. Patel T, Patel V, Singh R, Jayaraman S. Chromatin remodeling resets the immune system to protect against autoimmune diabetes in mice. Immunol Cell Biol. 2011;89(5):640–9. PMID:21321581
- 133. Jayaraman S, Patel A, Jayaraman A, Patel V, Holterman M, Prabhakar B. Transcriptome analysis of epigenetically modulated genome indicates signature genes in manifestation of type 1 diabetes and its prevention in NOD mice. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e55074. PMID:23383062
- 134. Akimova T, Ge G, Golovina T, Mikheeva T, Wang L, Riley JL, et al. Histone/protein deacetylase inhibitors increase suppressive functions of human FOXP3+ Tregs. Clin Immunol. 2010;136(3):348–63. PMID:20478744
- 135. Weber MS, Prod'homme T, Youssef S, Dunn SE, Steinman L, Zamvil SS. Neither T-helper type 2 nor Foxp3+ regulatory T cells are necessary for therapeutic benefit of atorvastatin in treatment of central nervous system autoimmunity. J Neuroinflammation. 2014;11:29. PMID:24498870
- 136. Ulivieri C, Baldari CT. Statins: from cholesterol-lowering drugs to novel immunomodulators for the treatment of Th17-mediated autoimmune diseases. Pharmacol Res. 2014;88:41–52. PMID:24657239
- 137. Writing Committee for the Type 1 Diabetes TrialNet Oral Insulin Study Group, Krischer JP, Schatz DA, Bundy B, Skyler JS, Greenbaum CJ. Effect of Oral insulin on prevention of diabetes in relatives of patients with type 1 diabetes: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2017;318(19):1891–902. PMID:29164254
- 138. Bielekova B, Goodwin B, Richert N, Cortese I, Kondo T, Afshar G, et al. Encephalitogenic potential of the myelin basic protein peptide (amino acids 83-99) in multiple sclerosis: results of a phase II clinical trial with an altered peptide ligand. Nat Med. 2000;6(10):1167–75. PMID:11017150
- Phillips BE, Garciafigueroa Y, Trucco M, Giannoukakis N. Clinical Tolerogenic dendritic cells: exploring therapeutic impact on human autoimmune disease. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1279. PMID:29075262
- 140. Pearson RM, Podojil JR, Shea LD, King NJ, Miller SD, Getts DR. Overcoming challenges in treating autoimmuntity: development of tolerogenic immune-modifying nanoparticles. Nanomedicine. 2018; pii: S1549–9634(18)30538–0. PMID:30352312.
- 141. Fritzsching B, Haas J, König F, Kunz P, Fritzsching E, Pöschl J, et al. Intracerebral human regulatory T cells: analysis of CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ T cells in brain lesions and cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients. PLoS One. 2011;6(3):e17988. PMID:21437244
- 142. Martinez-Forero I, Garcia-Munoz R, Martinez-Pasamar S, Inoges S, Lopez-Diaz de Cerio A, Palacios R, et al. IL-10 suppressor activity and ex vivo Tr1 cell function are impaired in multiple sclerosis. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(2):576–86. PMID:18200504

The Roles of Regulatory T Cells in Central Nervous System Autoimmunity



Brooke A. Keating, Justin G. Lees, and Gila Moalem-Taylor

Abstract Regulatory T (Treg) cells are a population of T cells that can functionally supress an immune response and are fundamental in maintaining T cell tolerance to self-antigens and immune homeostasis in the healthy individual. They exert strong suppressive functions through a variety of mechanisms, including modulation of antigen-presenting cell maturation or function, metabolic disruption, the production and secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines and direct cytotoxicity. Treg cells are generally thought to have a beneficial role in most immune-mediated contexts, and a loss of suppressive capability and altered numbers in a variety of neurological conditions can occur. This review examines the role of Treg cells in the context of central nervous system (CNS) autoimmunity, and how they contribute to both relatively common and more rare diseases involving demyelination or degeneration of the CNS, including multiple sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, anti-NMDAR encephalitis, and narcolepsy with cataplexy. Although the role of Treg cells in some of these conditions is still very much in the preliminary stages, it is a feasible notion that with more research, harnessing the innate suppressive abilities of these potent immune cells will contribute to the development of novel therapeutics in autoimmune disorders of the CNS.

Keywords Regulatory T cells · Autoimmunity · Central nervous system · Anti-inflammatory · Suppressive

B. A. Keating · J. G. Lees · G. Moalem-Taylor (🖂)

Neuropathic Pain Research Group, Translational Neuroscience Facility, School of Medical Sciences, University of New South Wales (UNSW), Sydney, NSW, Australia

e-mail: b.keating@unsw.edu.au; justin.lees@unsw.edu.au; gila@unsw.edu.au

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_6

Abbreviations

ADEM	Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells
AQP4	Aquaporin 4
$A_{2A}R$	Adenosine receptor 2A
BBB	Blood–brain barrier
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CIS	Clinically isolated syndrome
CNS	Central nervous system
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4
DC	Dendritic cell
DEREG	DEpletion of REGulatory T cells
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
Ebi3	Epstein-Barr virus-induced gene 3
FoxP3	Forkhead box protein 3
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase
IFN	Interferon
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL	Interleukin
iTreg	Inducible regulatory T cell
LAG3	Lymphocyte-activation gene 3
LH	Lateral hypothalamus
MBP	Myelin basic protein
MG	Myasthenia gravis
MHV	Mouse hepatitis virus
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
MS	Multiple sclerosis
NMDAR	N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor
NMO	Neuromyelitis optica
NMOSD	Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders
nTreg	Natural regulatory T cell
NT1	Narcolepsy type 1
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PLP	Proteolipoprotein
PPMS	Primary progressive multiple sclerosis
RRMS	Relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis
SPMS	Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis
TCRs	T cell receptors
TGF	Transforming growth factor

Th	T helper cell
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
Treg	Regulatory T cell

Introduction

Regulatory T (Treg) cells are a small subset of lymphocytes with potent suppressive capacities that regulate most types of immune responses, including allergy, autoimmunity, inflammation, and reactions to microbes and tumours [1]. Treg cells maintain immunological self-tolerance and immune homeostasis via suppression of activation, proliferation, and effector functions on a myriad of immune cells, including T cells, B cells, antigen-presenting cells (APCs), and natural killer cells [2]. They constitute ~10% of CD4+ T cells in lymphoid organs, and ~2% of peripheral blood CD4+ T cells [3]. Emerging evidence indicates that Treg cells also reside in non-lymphoid tissues, and assist in resolving tissue inflammation and tissue healing [4]. Importantly, they play an essential role in the inhibition of autoimmunity, acting as an innate braking mechanism to ensure immune responses occur in synchrony with complementary beneficial inflammatory responses.

Treg cells are most commonly defined by their expression of the interleukin (IL)-2 receptor α chain (CD25) and the transcription factor, forkhead box protein 3 (FoxP3). Despite also being present in activated non-suppressive CD4+ T cells [5] and on subsets of macrophages [6], FoxP3 is considered the most specific Treg cell marker, and is fundamental for Treg cell function and development [7, 8]. Further, high-level FoxP3 expression is capable of eliciting a suppressive phenotype to normal non-Treg cells [1]. It is well established that FoxP3+ Treg cells may be further classified into two main subsets, thymus-derived natural Treg (nTreg) and inducible Treg (iTreg) cells [9]. FoxP3+ nTreg cells are derived as a functionally mature population from the thymus [10]. Following maturation, these cells migrate to the periphery, and are involved in regulating and preventing autoimmunity, with deleterious alterations initiating a myriad of autoimmune conditions in rodents, many of which share similarities to corresponding human diseases [11]. Conversely, iTreg cells differentiate from conventional CD4+ T cells in peripheral lymphoid tissue, can be generated in vitro and re-establish immunological tolerance, and are heavily involved in regulating immune responses to foreign antigens [12].

Autoimmune pathogenesis often involves autoreactive effector T helper (Th) cells, such as interferon (IFN)-γ-producing Th1 cells and IL-17-producing Th17 cells. Treg cells play an important role in controlling the expansion and activation of autoreactive effector T cells, as well as APCs. Treg cells exert immunosuppressive functions through a variety of mechanisms, including (i) modulation of dendritic cell (DC) maturation or function, (ii) metabolic disruption, (iii) production and secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines, and (iv) direct cytotoxicity [13]. Figure 1 summarises the mechanisms of Treg cell-mediated immunosuppression.



Fig. 1 Mechanisms underlying Treg-mediated immunosuppression. Treg cells control immune responses by suppressing the functions of effector T cells (Teff) and antigen-presenting cells (APCs) through diverse mechanisms, including (i) modulation of dendritic cell (DC) function and prevention of DC maturation by the interaction of CTLA4 and LAG3 expressed by Treg cells and the CD80/86 costimulatory molecules and MHC class II expressed by DC, respectively, leading to IDO production and prevention of Teff cell activation; (ii) metabolic disruption, Treg cells can disrupt metabolic functions by the expression of the ectoenzymes CD39/73 allowing adenosine generation and binding of adenosine to the adenosine receptor 2A (A_{2A}R) expressed on Teff cells, or by IL-2 deprivation; (iii) production and secretion of the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10, IL-35, and TGF-β that inhibit Th1 and Th17 immune responses and the production of IFN-γ and IL-17, respectively; and (iv) direct cytotoxicity, Treg cells can also induce direct killing of effector cells via the release of granzyme A, granzyme B, and perforin, which induce apoptosis in the target cells

Modulation of dendritic cell (DC) maturation or function Disruption of DC maturation or function has been proposed as a possible suppressive pathway through which Treg cells perform. In vivo studies utilising intravital microscopy have proposed that Treg cells interact directly with DCs, which are necessary for activation of effector T cells [13]. These studies showed Treg cell interaction with DCs in a cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4)-dependent manner, a co-stimulatory molecule constitutively expressed by Treg cells [14, 15]. Specifically, it has been shown that CTLA4-deficient Treg cells or the use of CTLA4-specific blocking antibodies in the absence of functional CTLA4 reduces Treg cell-mediated suppression of effector T cells via DCs [16, 17]. Research has also shown that Treg cells may condition DCs to express the potent regulatory molecule indoleamine

2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) [13]. IDO suppresses effector T cell responses by inducing catabolism of tryptophan, which produces pro-apoptotic metabolites via a mechanism reliant on interactions between CTLA4 and CD80 and/or CD86 [18, 19].

Studies suggest lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG3, also known as CD223) inhibits maturation of DCs. LAG3 is a CD4 homologue which binds to MHC class II molecules with high affinity, intrinsically limits Treg cell proliferation, and is essential for maximising Treg cell-mediated suppression [13, 20, 21]. Induction of an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif-mediated inhibitory signalling pathway following LAG3 binding to MHC class II molecules has been shown to suppress DC maturation and their ability to elicit stimulation of the immune system [22]. As well, neuropilin-1 facilitates prolonged interactions with immature DCs and Treg cells [23]. Treg cells differentially express neuropilin-1 and so this may be advantageous over naïve T cells for the modulation of DCs [13] and a suppression of immune responses.

Metabolic disruption Metabolic disruption of effector T cells has also been proposed as a mechanism through which Treg cells exert immunosuppression, including the induction of intra- and extracellular adenosine nucleosides [13]. Studies have shown that expression of the ectoenzymes CD39 and CD73 produces pericellular adenosine, and through the activation of the adenosine receptor 2A ($A_{2A}R$), can ameliorate effector T cell function [24–26]. Further, Zarek and colleagues demonstrated that binding of adenosine to $A_{2A}R$ both inhibits effector T cell responses and enhances the generation of iTreg cells through inhibition of IL-6 expression and promoting transforming growth factor (TGF)- β secretion [27]. IL-6 inhibits Treg cell differentiation, and as such, IL-6 inhibition has interesting implications regarding the maintenance of Treg cells. It has also been shown that Treg cells transfer the inhibitory secondary messenger cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) into effector T cells via membrane gap junctions [28], supporting metabolic disruption as a means through which Treg cells can reduce immune responses.

Cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis may also be a means through which Treg cells disrupt normal cellular metabolism, and induce immunosuppression. Disagreement within the field exists as to whether high expression of CD25 allows Treg cells to 'consume' local IL-2, in turn starving dividing effector T cells by depleting the IL-2 necessary for their survival [13, 29, 30]. This mechanism has been revisited in recent years following evidence that Treg cells do indeed induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis, specifically referring to IL-2. Pandiyan et al. showed that the pro-apoptotic protein Bim is essential for Treg cells had lower activation levels of the pro-survival kinase Akt, complemented with less phosphorylation of the pro-apoptotic protein Bad, while also confirming Treg cells do indeed 'starve' effector T cells by utilising IL-2 without producing it [31]. These findings lend credibility to the notion that cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis is a prominent inhibitory mechanism of Treg cells. However, a study using human Treg cells has concluded that IL-2 deprivation alone is not necessary for Treg cells to

suppress functioning of effector T cells [32], and so more research is clearly warranted to elucidate the precise mechanism through which Treg cells disrupt metabolism.

Production and secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines Treg cells produce the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10, IL-35, and TGF-B, and their production and secretion are common and well-supported proposed mechanisms of Treg cellmediated suppression. In animal models of allergy and asthma, research suggests that both nTreg and iTreg cells modulate disease through a mechanism that is partly dependent on IL-10 and TGF-B [33, 34]. Kearley and colleagues showed that, following allergen challenge, CD4+ effector T cells are stimulated to produce large quantities of IL-10 in the lung following adoptive transfer of Treg cells, and that this is sufficient to control disease and could be reversed upon administration of an IL-10 receptor-specific antibody [35]. It is important to note, however, that allergic inflammation and airway hyper-reactivity were still suppressed following the transfer of IL-10-deficient Treg cells and elevated IL-10 levels remained suggesting suppression of Th2-driven allergen responses is contingent on IL-10, yet production of IL-10 by Treg cells alone is not solely responsible for the observed suppression [13]. In contrast, Treg cell-specific ablation of IL-10 expression was shown to increase allergic inflammation and hyper-reactivity in the lung [36], highlighting the need for more research in this area. Numerous studies have shown beneficial and protective roles for IL-10-producing Treg cells in a variety of disease contexts [37-40], and while precise mechanisms may remain unclear, the advantageous role of IL-10 is undisputed.

Similarly, studies have shown that Treg cell-produced TGF- β may be directly involved in the suppression of effector T cells, and potentially general Treg cell maintenance [13]. For instance, in a mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), TGF- β -resistant effector T cells could not be suppressed by Treg cells [41]. TGF-β produced by Treg cells is also thought to be involved in limiting anti-tumour immunity in follicular lymphoma [42] and head and neck squamous-cell carcinoma [43]. While it is important to note that the exact importance of TGF- β for correct functioning of nTreg cells as opposed to iTreg cells remains to be confirmed [13], the therapeutic contributions of this anti-inflammatory cytokine are well documented in a variety of conditions. Kursar and colleagues showed that Treg cellproduced TGF- β is important in mediating the host immune response to M. tuberculosis [44], with similar beneficial roles observed in prevention of colitis in an IBD model [45] and the suppression of allergic responses [34]. Interestingly, TGF-β associated with tumour exosome membranes is thought to improve the suppressive capability of Treg cells and lead T cells away from typical effector functions in favour of a more regulatory phenotype [46], while ovalbumin-induced airway inflammation can be ameliorated by heme oxygenase-1 via membranetethered TGF- β and IL-10 [47].

IL-35 is the most recently discovered cytokine produced and secreted by Treg cells, and is required for their maximal suppressive function [48]. IL-35 is a member of the IL-12 heterodimeric cytokine family and is formed through the pairing of
Epstein–Barr virus-induced gene 3 (Ebi3) and p35 [13]. The importance of IL-35 for maximal suppressive capacity of Treg cells was initially highlighted by Collison et al. [48]. Here it was shown that both *Ebi3^{-/-}* and p35^{-/-} Treg cells were significantly restricted with regulatory functions in vitro, with a failure to resolve IBD and control homeostatic proliferation of effector T cells in vivo. Collison and colleagues also showed that IL-35 is sufficient to induce and maintain Treg cell activity as ectopic expression of IL-35 lends regulatory properties to naïve T cells, and recombinant IL-35 can suppress T cell proliferation in vitro [48]. Since its discovery, IL-35 as a potent modulator of immunity has been investigated in numerous disease contexts. IL-35-producing B cells are now known to be essential regulators of host immune responses in both autoimmune and infectious diseases, with mice lacking these cells losing their ability to recover from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a T cell-mediated demyelinating disorder closely resembling human multiple sclerosis (MS) [49]. Further, Treg cell stimulation with IL-35 has been shown to confer protection against collagen II-induced arthritis via the production of IL-10 [50]. The extensive literature investigating IL-35, as well as IL-10 and TGF- β , in healthy and pathogenic environments has shown that these inhibitory cytokines are key mediators of Treg cell function; however, more research is warranted to completely clarify the underlying mechanisms.

Direct cytotoxicity Direct cytotoxicity is yet another suggested mechanism through which Treg cells procure immune regulation and is thought to involve cytolysis through granzyme A- and B-dependent, and perforin-dependent killing mechanisms. In human Treg cells, an amalgamation of CD3 and CD46 stimulation has been shown to induce granzyme A, initiating apoptosis in activated target cells such as natural killer cells, APCs, and effector T cells [51], supporting cytolysis as a possible Treg cell-mediated suppressive pathway. Granzyme B is also thought to be involved in Treg cell-mediated suppression. Several research laboratories have shown that, upon activation, Treg cells can kill APCs or responder/effector T cells in vitro in a granzyme B-dependent manner [52, 53] and have identified increased levels of granzyme B in murine Treg cells [54]. Gondek et al. first demonstrated that granzyme B-deficient Treg cells are inhibited in their suppressive activity in vitro and that this effect appeared to be a perforin-independent result involving Treg cellinduced apoptosis of effector T cells [52], but studies have also shown a partially perforin-dependent mechanism through which Treg cells can induce apoptosis via granzyme B [53]. As well, in vivo studies reinforce cytolysis as a mechanism for Treg cell-mediated suppression as they show granzyme B is essential in preserving Treg cell-dependent skin graft tolerance [55].

Although the CNS is thought to be an immune-privileged site with minimal immune responses, emerging evidence in recent years has forced a review of this notion. The CNS is now known to undergo constant immune surveillance [56, 57], which is tightly regulated. However, in certain cases where peripheral tolerance is lost, autoimmune responses involving autoreactive T cells or auto-antibodies against CNS antigens ensue, leading to demyelination or neurodegeneration within the CNS. A critical player in these autoimmune disorders is the Treg cell, with evidence

indicating a defect in either the number or function of Treg cells isolated from the peripheral blood of patients [58] and some degree of Treg cell instability and plasticity [59]. While not a complete list, here we discuss the contribution of Treg cells in both common and rare autoimmune disorders of the CNS, including multiple sclerosis (MS), neuromyelitis optica (NMO), acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) antibody encephalitis, and narcolepsy with cataplexy.

Involvement of Treg Cells in Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the CNS and is most often characterised by widespread areas of demyelination, gliosis, neurodegeneration, and neuroinflammation within the brain and spinal cord. MS predominantly affects individuals in their early adult life [60] and is one of the most common CNS inflammatory disorders with an estimated prevalence of 2.5 million people affected globally [61]. The precise pathogenesis of MS remains largely unknown; however, evidence suggests that a compromise in the integrity of the blood–brain barrier (BBB) precedes an influx of myelin-specific autoreactive T cells into the CNS [2]. The entrance of these autoreactive cells is believed to prompt a chronic inflammatory response which promotes the formation of disease plaques, characterised by focal areas of demyelination, glial reactivity, immune cell infiltration, and axonal damage. The aetiology of MS also remains unknown, although metabolic abnormalities, environmental factors, including vitamin D deficiency and obesity, and a genetic predisposition coinciding with a non-genetic trigger (e.g. virus) are implicated [62].

There are several forms of MS, which may be categorised based upon clinical manifestation. These include clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS), primary progressive MS (PPMS), and secondary progressive MS (SPMS). RRMS remains the most prevalent form of the disease with approximately 85% of patients presenting with distinct episodes of neurological deficit [63]. This is due to focal white matter injury involving autoimmune targeting of myelin sheath components, infiltration of numerous immune cells, and activation of glial cells in the CNS [2]. Motor deficits, coordination problems, sensory disturbances, optic neuritis, and eye-movement aberrations are among the most common complications experienced by MS patients [64]. Periods of disease exacerbation are followed by periods of remission, before a subsequent relapse occurs. The physiology of clinical remission in MS is unknown, but resolution of inflammation, remyelination, and recovery of an immune balance are thought to be involved [65, 66]. In contrast, progressive MS is characterised by steadily worsening neurological function with diffuse tissue injury, including degeneration of chronically demyelinated axons, damage to or dysfunction of astrocytes, and microglial activation.

EAE is the most widely used animal model in MS research, sharing both clinical and pathological characteristics of the disease, including demyelination, neuronal

damage, and neuroinflammation [2]. EAE is induced through active immunisation with self-antigenic epitopes of myelin, such as proteolipoprotein (PLP), myelin basic protein (MBP), or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), and has contributed valuably to understanding various aspects of MS. EAE has been extensively implemented to investigate the contribution of Treg cells in the progression of the disease, and how their innate anti-inflammatory characteristics may be used in the development of novel therapeutics for MS [67]. Preclinical studies of MS utilising animal models have shown Treg cell number is elevated in the CNS during stages of clinical recovery [68–70], with the surrounding inflammatory milieu dictating their role in disease. For instance, it has been shown that antigen-specific FoxP3+ Treg cells accumulating centrally can inhibit IFN- γ production through CNS-derived effector cells [71] yet are incapable of modulating effector T cells that produce tumour necrosis factor (TNF) and IL-6 [68].

The importance of Treg cell function in EAE has also been highlighted using transgenic animals which allow the selective targeting and depletion of Treg cells. Using the transgenic DEpletion of REGulatory T cells (DEREG) mice, Koutrolos et al. selectively depleted animals of Treg cells 4 days post MOG_{35,55}-induced EAE disease onset and reported both intensified clinical symptoms and elevated T cell proliferation and pro-inflammatory cytokine production within the CNS of these EAE-affected animals [72]. Similarly, in a PLP-induced EAE model, intravenous adoptive transfer of CD4+ CD25+ cells previously isolated from naïve SJL mice ameliorated disease severity via IL-10. McGeachy and colleagues also showed that intravenous transfer of CD4+ CD25+ cells derived from the CNS of mice in the recovery stage of EAE into recipient animals protects the recipients from disease development [69]. Interestingly, in the latter study, the researchers also showed that transfer of the same number of naïve CD4+ CD25+ cells derived from lymph nodes elicits no effect in recipient animals, demonstrating the increased potency of Treg cells derived from the CNS, which in turn confirms the importance of centrally located Treg cells in the natural resolution of EAE [67].

There exists much evidence which confirms a therapeutic role of Treg cells in EAE, however, much debate continues about the beneficial role of Treg cells in human MS patients. Frequency of Treg cells in the blood of untreated MS patients has been reported to be both unchanged [73-75] and decreased [76, 77] in comparison to healthy controls. As well, it has been reported that untreated patients with RRMS have a reduced number of Treg cells and lower FoxP3 expression in the peripheral blood when compared to both healthy controls and untreated SPMS patients [58]. Periods of remission in RRMS are thought to coincide with increased levels of FoxP3+ Treg cells in the blood of patients not receiving treatment in the 3 months prior to their most recent relapse [67, 78]. Some researchers also contend that only a specific subset of Treg cells are decreased in the blood of RRMS patients. Fletcher et al. showed that both CD39+/- Treg cells (i.e. FoxP3+ CD39+/-) are able to suppress IFN-y production and T responder cell proliferation in vitro, but IL-17 production was only suppressed through the CD39+ population; interestingly, the CD39- population of Treg cells actually produced IL-17 [79]. Fletcher and colleagues also showed that the ability of residual CD39+ Treg cells from treatment-naïve MS patients to suppress IL-17 production from responder T cells is diminished when compared with healthy individuals. Despite this evidence, a recent metaanalysis concluded that the frequency of Treg cells is not a risk factor for the development of MS [80].

Treg cells isolated from patients with MS consistently display phenotypic alterations compared with healthy controls, and these may be involved in the development and maintenance of the disease. Studies have shown that regulation of effector T cell and antigen-specific T cell proliferation in untreated MS patients through Treg cell-dependent mechanisms is dysfunctional [73, 74], when compared with Treg cells isolated from healthy individuals. Similarly, elevated numbers of IFN- γ producing, Th1-like FoxP3+ Treg cells have been detected in patients with untreated RRMS [81], supporting the notion of a dysfunction within the Treg cell population in human MS patients. Treg cell suppression is known to decrease with age [67], yet Treg cells in a paediatric variant of MS displayed impaired regulatory properties in patients not receiving treatment with corticosteroids, compared to age-matched healthy controls, in the weeks preceding collection of Treg cells [82]. Taken together, a defect in numbers and/or function of Treg cells in MS patients seems plausible.

It is also worth noting that a recent study by Dombrowski and colleagues has revealed a new regenerative function of Treg cells within the CNS which is distinct from immunomodulation [83]. In this study, Treg cells were shown to promote oligodendrocyte differentiation and (re)myelination in a lysolecithin-mediated animal model of demyelination. By utilising this model along with other models with minimal peripheral immune influence, the authors showed that CCN3, a growth regulatory protein with bioactivity in extracellular, nuclear, and cytoplasmic compartments, is produced by Treg cells and is implicated in the regeneration of various tissue types [84–86]. It was determined that CCN3 within the CNS accelerates both oligodendrocyte differentiation and (re)myelination, thereby expanding the classically accepted function of Treg cells in nervous system pathologies and may contribute to therapies targeting tissue regeneration in a variety of disorders.

Involvement of Treg Cells in Neuromyelitis Optica

Neuromyelitis optica (NMO), also known as Devic's disease, is also a demyelinating disease of the CNS with a strong inflammatory component. NMO is characterised by severe attacks of myelitis and optic neuritis which differ from those typically seen in MS by commonly sparing the brain in the early stages [87]. These lesions are often large and necrotic, and typically affect the optic nerves and spinal cord [88]. Episodes of myelitis and optic neuritis among NMO patients are generally sequential rather than simultaneous, and the period between these episodes may be years or decades. Typical features of NMO include loss of vision with ocular pain, and myelitis with symmetric paraplegia, bladder dysfunction, sensory loss below the level of lesions, paroxysmal tonic spasms, and Lhermitte's phenomenon (an electric shock-like sensation that occurs as a result of flexion of the neck). Like MS, the majority of NMO patients are female, with researchers believing women are up to nine times more likely than men to develop the disease [89]. The median age of onset for NMO is thought to be around 40 years of age; however, the disease may also affect children and the elderly.

Also similar to MS, most patients presenting with NMO exhibit with relapsing episodes of optic neuritis and myelitis as opposed to a monophasic, progressive course, with relapse occurring within 3 years in 90% of patients. Once a maximum clinical deficit has been reached, remission generally occurs in the weeks or months following; however, recovery is typically incomplete [87]. Some researchers speculate that within 5 years of disease onset, more than 50% of presenting patients with relapsing NMO are blind in one or both eyes and/or require ambulatory help. NMO spectrum disorders (NMOSD) is a term that has been used to describe patients who do not meet the diagnostic criteria of NMO [90], and complex immune interactions are involved in all conditions. However, this review will specifically focus on the involvement of Treg cells in NMO.

NMO is a complex disorder and while the precise cause of the disorder is unknown, it is generally accepted that an interaction between genetic (e.g. human leukocyte antigen, HLA) and environmental factors is responsible [91]. A serum immunoglobulin G (IgG) auto-antibody, NMO-IgG, has previously been shown to be highly specific to NMO [92], and Lennon et al. have shown that NMO-IgG binds selectively to the aquaporin-4 (AOP4) water channel, the predominant water channel found on astrocytes within the CNS [93]. AQP4 is an essential protein in astrocytic plasma membranes and is present in high concentrations in foot process domains facing microvessels, where it interacts with dystrophin-associated proteins. However, there does exist a subset of NMO patients who exhibit seronegativity for anti-AOP4, suggesting the myelitis and optic neuritis seen in NMO may be caused by alternative mechanisms [91]. These alternative mechanisms are thought to include paraneoplastic disorders, infectious diseases, and connective tissue dysfunctions [94]. There is also a well-established association between NMO patients and multiple systemic autoimmune conditions, including myasthenia gravis (MG), systemic lupus erythematosus, and Sjögren syndrome, suggesting individuals living with NMO may have a genetic predisposition to abnormal, pathogenic autoimmunity [91].

Histopathological analyses of active NMO lesions show perivascular deposition of antibodies, with immune complexes also deposited along myelin sheaths [95] and typically degenerated penetrating spinal vessels associated with a neutrophil and macrophage-predominant inflammatory infiltrate. Various subsets of T cells are also thought to play a role in the development and maintenance of lesions in NMO. Researchers have demonstrated an elevated number of activated AQP4-specific and PLP-specific T cells in clinical relapses in AQP4-IgG positive NMO patients [91], and a direct correlation between NMO disease activity and severity and the level of T cell activation has also been established [96].

Treg dysfunction through an inability to suppress self-reactive T cells is thought to be a key component in the development of many autoimmune disorders, and studies exist to support this notion in the context of NMO. Uzawa et al. quantified levels of various cytokines and chemokines in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with clinically diagnosed NMO [97]. IL-10, a Treg-associated cytokine, was found to be elevated in the CSF of NMO cases as compared to patients with noninflammatory neurological disorders. The concurrence of NMO with MG, a peripheral autoimmune disease, has also been reported and T cell subsets are believed to be involved in this simultaneous development [98]. In this study, a decreasing frequency of Treg cells among peripheral CD4+ T cells was reported in patients with concurrent MG and NMO, and alterations in Treg cell number and regulatory function have been supported numerous times in the context of MG [99–101]. As well, examining AOP4-specific T cells reveals a significant decrease in frequency of Treg cells in NMO patients in response to recombinant human AOP4, but not to p61-80 (an immunodominant AOP4 T cell determinant) [102]. Recently, a distinctive Treg gene signature in the peripheral blood, as well as significantly decreased FoxP3 mRNA expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of NMO patients versus healthy controls was demonstrated [103]. Thus, it seems plausible that Treg cells, more specifically reduced cell numbers or a loss of suppressive function, may play a role in the pathogenesis of NMO.

As is the case with many neurological disorders, animal models in the context of NMO have allowed for greater understanding of the underlying pathological mechanisms of the condition. EAE is an animal model most widely used in MS research, but with slight modifications this model is also a useful tool in NMO settings. Bradl and colleagues induced EAE in rats through typical methods, but when first clinical symptoms presented, the immune system was supplemented with NMO-IgG containing AQP4-specific antibodies, which then entered the CNS [104–106]. These antibodies adhered to the surface of astrocytes in a pattern typically seen in the human condition and initiated the formation of astrocyte-destructive lesions. This NMO/EAE animal model demonstrates the involvement of T cells in the opening of the BBB, showing that T cells are required for the entry of these antibodies into the CNS [105, 107]. NMO/EAE studies further suggest Th17 cells may encourage lesions to localise to the optic nerve and spinal cord in NMO patients [108], and Th17 cells and IL-17 are increased in the peripheral blood of patients [109], and as such the suppressive capabilities of Treg cells upon this class of effector T cell may have potential as a therapeutic option within this context. Bar-Or et al. posit that adoptive transfer of AQP4-restricted Treg cells into NMO patients could modulate pathogenic immune cells and elicit a beneficial response [110], with animal models of colitis [111] and haemophilia [112] providing 'proof of concept'. The potential of Treg cell immunotherapy in NMO and NMOSD patients is unknown, but the known involvement of T cells in disease pathogenesis and preliminary data in other immune-based conditions suggests a promising avenue for future research.

Involvement of Treg Cells in Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis

Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) is usually an acute, monophasic, multifocal immune-mediated disorder of the CNS and most commonly affects the paediatric age group, with a mean age of 5-8 years [113, 114], but has also been reported in adults [115]. Symptoms typically include headache, nausea, vomiting, and fever, with a broad spectrum of neurological abnormalities also involved, affecting males and females almost equally [116]. These can include ataxia, depressed consciousness, meningeal aberrations, visual deficits, cerebellar disturbances, spinal cord abnormalities, and seizures [114, 117–119]. Grey matter involvement has also been recorded [115]. Due to a lack of clear diagnostic criteria, epidemiological evidence for ADEM must be interpreted with caution, particularly in adult populations. It is generally accepted that disorders such as transverse myelitis [120], disorders involving recurrences [121], or conditions affecting both the peripheral and central nervous systems have been incorrectly diagnosed as ADEM. As previously mentioned, this disorder most commonly affects paediatric patients, usually following a viral infection [115]. Lacking a biomarker and diagnostic criteria suitable for adult patients, diagnosis is generally based on a combination of clinical symptoms, imaging, and CSF testing, as well as elimination of other inflammatory and infectious neurological conditions.

Typical ADEM pathology involves perivenular sleeves of demyelination paired with pro-inflammatory infiltrates of T and B cells, myelin-laden macrophages, granulocytes and plasma cells [122]. ADEM generally develops following an infection (usually of the upper respiratory tract) or, in rare instances, following a vaccination [123]. The infectious aetiology of ADEM is supported by seasonal fluctuations in disease frequency, with peaks in winter and spring [114, 124]. The precise pathogenesis of ADEM is unknown but is thought to predominantly involve T cellmediated cross-activation and an immune response against myelin proteins (including MOG, MBP, and PLP), via molecular mimicry [125]. It has also been suggested that ADEM arises due to a non-specific self-sensitisation of reactive T cells against myelin proteins within the CNS, secondary to infections [123, 126, 127]. An autoimmune basis of the condition is supported by the presence of anti-MOG antibodies in the CSF of patients, and a reduction of these antibodies during disease resolution [128]. Despite this, it is not thought that anti-MOG antibodies are indicative of ADEM persistence or that there is a relationship between anti-MOG levels at disease onset and disease severity [123]. Inflammatory cells have also been confirmed within the CNS of ADEM patients, suggesting a disruption to the integrity of the BBB in this condition [127, 128].

Despite the uncertainties surrounding ADEM pathogenesis, there is no doubt that the immune system plays an intricate role. Martino and colleagues have elucidated on cytokine secretion and T cell activation in the various phases of ADEM [129]. During the hyperacute stage of ADEM, an elevation of various adhesion molecules typically expressed on endothelial cell membranes and leukocytes was found and believed to contribute to the breaching of the BBB seen in early ADEM. Serum concentrations of two metalloproteinases, enzymes produced by T cells, were also elevated during this stage. Interestingly, Th1 lymphocytes and their associated cyto-kines dominate the acute stage of ADEM [129]. IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, and IL-8 were found to be increased in the CSF and serum of ADEM patients during the acute stage, with a shift to a Th2/anti-inflammatory cell-predominant environment during clinical resolution. This stage of remission found an elevation of the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-10, and TGF- β , with a concurrent downregulation of the previously implicated adhesion molecules [129].

Treg cells in the specific context of ADEM have not been extensively explored, but Treg cell research in other autoimmune conditions may be able to illuminate a role for these cells in ADEM, particularly as demyelination is known to share pathogenic mechanisms regardless of a viral induction or autoimmune causes [130]. The suppressive effects of Treg cells are well documented, so it may be reasonable to expect these cells would be able to dampen host immune responses, and potentially alleviate disease. A transfer of bulk populations of Treg cells into mouse hepatitis virus (MHV)-affected C57BL/6 or RAG^{-/-} mice improved survival rates, decreased the amount of demyelination seen in affected animals, and reduced the number of CNS-infiltrating inflammatory cells [131, 132]. It has also been seen that Treg cell depletion prior to viral infection increases demyelination at later time points [133].

Investigations into paediatric MS may also allow for extrapolation in the context of ADEM, as the conditions also share some pathological features. A study assessing responses of T cell subsets in both adult and paediatric MS patients to MOG and MBP revealed preferential and comparable responses to particular antigenic epitopes across both groups [134]. It has also been shown that children with MS have fewer Treg cells than their healthy counterparts, and that the suppressive function of these Treg cells is also impaired [82].

Involvement of Treg Cells in Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis

The N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) is a mediator of glutamatergic neurotransmission, and is central to many processes thought to involve synaptic plasticity [135]. Anti-NMDAR encephalitis is a relatively newly described condition in which antibodies attack NMDA receptors at central neuronal synapses. It commonly affects young women and an ovarian teratoma is sometimes associated with the syndrome [136]. The condition may also develop in the weeks following a viral infection [137]. Further, men and children can develop the disorder, albeit less commonly. Affected patients typically develop a characteristic set of neurologic deficits, as well as prominent psychiatric manifestations. Symptoms include changes in mood, personality and behaviour, which can resemble acute psychosis, and clinically progress to include depressed level of consciousness, seizures, autonomic instability, dyskinesias, and hypoventilation [138–141]. An immune-mediated pathogenesis was suggested after it was noted that patients generally recovered

following immunotherapy and removal of the teratoma [142] and that all patients have antibodies within the CSF and serum that react with the cell surface of neurons [113].

NMDARs are heteromers of NR1 subunits that bind glycine, and NR2 subunits that bind glutamate [143]. Anti-NMDAR encephalitis has since been characterised as a disorder in which these NR1–NR2 heteromers are the target for antibodies [142], predominantly the extracellular region of the NR1 subunit. Dalmau and colleagues assessed the effect of antibodies from patients on neuronal cultures, in particular the effect of these antibodies on NR1 clusters [143] in postsynaptic dendrites. They showed that neurons treated with CSF from NMDAR encephalitis patients for 3 or 7 days had a reduction in the number of clusters per length of postsynaptic dendrite compared to neurons treated with CSF from healthy controls. Further, neurons treated for 3 days with patient CSF and then 4 days with control CSF had comparable numbers of NR1 clusters with neurons only treated with control CSF, demonstrating a selective yet reversible decrease of NR1 clusters in postsynaptic dendrites as a result of patient antibodies. Recovery from anti-NMDAR encephalitis is slow and subject to relapses, and CSF antibody titres require more time than those of serum to return to baseline during neurological improvement [141].

The inflammatory reaction of the CNS in the context of anti-NMDAR encephalitis has not been extensively researched with only a handful of immunopathology available from autopsy cases revealing gliosis, microglial cell proliferation and IgG deposits, with scarce mononuclear cells and some plasma cells and perivascular B lymphocytes [142, 144]. A similar case study reported perivascular inflammatory B cell accumulation, as well as macrophage and T cell infiltration into the brain parenchyma, which is indicative of an encephalitic process [145]. Treatment focuses on immunotherapy, which is already known to benefit patients with the condition [143]. NMDAR antagonists are a promising drug class in many neuronal disorders, and some researchers argue that through their modulation of T cell receptors (TCRs) and the T cell responses, these drugs may be a viable option for immunosuppression/modulation in anti-NMDAR encephalitis [146]. Repeated administration of a low dose of NMDAR antagonist to differentiating Th cells has been shown to decrease IL-2 and IFN-y production in Th1 cells, while concurrently increasing the production of IL-10 and IL-13, both known immunosuppressive cytokines involved in recovery in various neurological conditions [147, 148].

NMDAR antagonists are also able to target potassium channels, and this has been proposed as a potential mechanism through which Treg cells may be modulated in immune conditions to produce a desirable phenotype. It has been shown that inhibition of T cell function and migration can be induced by blocking the $K_v1.3$ and $K_{Ca}3.1$ potassium channels [146]. $K_v1.3$ is the main potassium channel on effector memory T cells, with $K_{Ca}3.1$ dominating both naïve and early memory T cells. Treg cells are known to express similar numbers of both $K_v1.3$ and $K_{Ca}3.1$ as naïve T cells [149, 150], as such NMDAR antagonists may potentially modulate Treg cell function as well. The role of Treg cells in anti-NMDAR encephalitis is largely unknown, yet given their fundamental roles and beneficial capacity in a myriad of other CNS autoimmune conditions, it seems feasible to expect an involvement of these cells in the current disorder. However, extensive research in this area in the context of anti-NMDAR encephalitis remains to be performed.

Involvement of Treg Cells in Narcolepsy with Cataplexy

Narcolepsy with cataplexy (referred to as narcolepsy type 1, NT1 onwards) is a neurological condition characterised by excessive daytime fatigue, hypnagogic hallucinations, sleep paralysis, cataplexy (muscle paralysis triggered by strong emotion), and disrupted nocturnal sleep patterns. The condition affects approximately 0.02% of the population worldwide [151] and typically initiates in adolescence or early adulthood [152]. Hypocretins, also known as orexins, remain one of the most important scientific breakthroughs in the search for the cause of narcolepsy [153– 155]. These molecules are synthesised exclusively in the lateral hypothalamus (LH) and derive from prepro-hypocretin, a single protein precursor [151]. NT1 is caused by defective neurotransmission via hypocretins, which results in irreversible selective loss of hypocretinergic neurons within the LH [156]. The precise aetiology of narcolepsy remains unknown, but the condition has a strong genetic association with the HLA-DOB1*06:02 allele, which has been reported in more than 98% of clinically diagnosed narcoleptic patients [157, 158]. HLA class I alleles and TCR- α polymorphisms have also been identified as narcolepsy-associated genes with relevance to immune responses [159–161], contributing to the shifting notion that narcolepsy is an autoimmune condition involving autoaggressive lymphocytes. Also supporting the autoimmune basis of NT1, autoantibodies have been identified in some patients with narcolepsy, although the pathogenic relevance of these remains to be determined [156, 162–165]. Further, the 2009 vaccination against the H1N1 influenza virus with the European preparation Pandemrix was directly associated with eliciting narcolepsy in people specifically carrying the HLA-DQB1*06:02 allele [166].

A T cell-mediated pathogenesis of narcolepsy with cataplexy in which hypocretin neurons are targeted in genetically susceptible individuals has been proposed by various researchers [167, 168]. Specific HLA-TCR interactions have been identified, which support this hypothesis [169]. A recent study by Latorre and colleagues revealed the existence of autoreactive CD4+ memory, and in some patients CD8+, T cells that target self-antigens on neurons that produce hypocretin [170]. This highlights the potentially pathogenic role of both CD8+ and CD4+ T cells in the context of NT1. It has been shown that CD8+ T cells are capable of directly killing hypocretin-producing neurons in the LH, leading to the development of sleep attacks, neuronal destruction, and cataplexy [171]. As is the case in other autoimmune disorders of the CNS, CD4+ T cells are thought to be involved in the disruption of the integrity of the BBB in NT1, initiating an influx of pathogenic antibodies and effector inflammatory cells, through the production of high levels of IFN- γ and GM-CSF (granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor) [172]. Treg cells have also been implicated in the development and maintenance of NT1. An elevated frequency and absolute count of CD4+ Treg cells in the peripheral blood of NT1 patients has previously been identified, and these cells were shown to be more activated, attributed to elevated levels of activated and memory effector CD4+ T cells [173]. It is suggested that a weak yet global inflammation in NT1 patients contributes to activation of all T cell subsets, including Treg cells, but that a defect in the ability of these Treg cells to maintain peripheral tolerance may be present. The prevailing defects of Treg cell populations in autoimmune conditions, including type 1 diabetes, lend credibility to this concept [174, 175]. Other studies have reported no significant changes regarding overall frequency of Treg cells in narcolepsy; however, it should be noted that the definition of Treg cells differs among the literature, which may account in some way for this [156].

Lecendreux et al. postulate the increase in Treg cell numbers they observed are an attempt for patients' bodies to dampen inflammation and restore tolerance, but there may be a variety of mechanisms through which this is impeded [173]. It is possible impaired suppression may be caused by Treg-intrinsic deficits or through effector T cell subsets developing resistance to Treg cell-mediated regulation. This regulation resistance is particularly true within the Th17 effector T cell subset. As well, microenvironment alterations, such as elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and altered functioning of APCs, can increase development of resistance to regulation via Treg cells [173]. Polymorphisms in TCR- α and β loci have been attributed to NT1 development, and in these patients lower polyclonality levels among altered Treg TCRs could also be a potential factor in the loss of tolerance seen in NT1 [173].

Conclusion

Treg cells are essential for maintaining self-tolerance and homeostasis [67], and their anti-inflammatory properties appear to strongly influence the pathogenic milieu in a variety of disorders involving autoimmunity within the CNS, including MS, NMO/NMOSD, ADEM, anti-NMDAR encephalitis, and NT1. Table 1 summarises the role of Treg cells in these conditions. Many studies demonstrate the beneficial roles of Treg cells in disease pathogenesis implicating defects in Treg cell number and/or function, and recent studies highlight newer concepts of Treg cell instability and plasticity contingent upon the surrounding environment, and potential roles of tissue-specific Treg cells in the CNS [59]. Thus, although Treg cells play a critical role in preventing autoimmunity, there are situations in which altered Treg cell activity suppresses protective immune responses in the CNS [67]. Overall, the potency of Treg cells makes them attractive targets for many CNS immune-mediated conditions; however, many challenges regarding clinical translation of Treg cellbased therapeutics remain. These include technical issues, such as antigen specificity, specific ex vivo expansion and isolation of the Treg population, and optimal timing and dosing of adoptive cell therapy. Moreover, developing antigen-specific

Human	Animal model	Involvement of Treg cells	Pafarancas
MG		Newsymmetry of the cents	Kelefences
MS	EAE	 Numerous reports of: Altered Treg cell numbers (e.g. elevated numbers in the CNS during stages of clinical recovery) and protective role of Treg cells in EAE. Decreased or unchanged frequency in the peripheral blood of MS patients. RRMS patients show decreased FoxP3 expression in peripheral blood. Altered Treg cell functions (e.g. IFN-γ-producing, Th1-like FoxP3+ Treg cells) in MS. 	[58, 68–70, 73–77, 81]
NMO	NMO/EAE: EAE supplemented with NMO-IgG containing AQP4-specific antibodies	 Reports suggestive of Treg cell dysfunction: IL-10 elevated in CSF of NMO patients. Decreased FoxP3 mRNA expression in PBMCs of NMO patients. Decreased frequency of peripheral Treg cells in patients with concurrent NMO and MG. 	[97, 98, 103]
ADEM	_	 Role of Treg cells is largely extrapolated from other diseases: Anti-inflammatory cell-predominant environment associated with clinical resolution in ADEM patients. Bulk transfer of Treg cells in MHV models decreased demyelination and decreased CNS-infiltrating inflammatory cell numbers. 	[129, 131, 132]
Anti- NMDAR encephalitis	-	Role of Treg cells is unknown, but treatment with NMDAR antagonists may modulate Treg cell cytokine secretion and Treg cell function through potassium channels.	[147, 148]
Narcolepsy with cataplexy	_	 Reports suggestive of Treg cell dysfunction, and altered numbers: Elevated or unchanged frequency of Treg cells in the peripheral blood of NT1 patients. Defect in Treg cells prevents regulation of global inflammation in NT1 patients. 	[173]

 Table 1
 Reported contributions of regulatory T cells in autoimmune conditions of the CNS

Treg cell therapy is likely to provide a more effective and safer approach than the use of polyclonal Treg cells (with broad undefined specificity), which can potentially suppress protective immunity against tumours and infectious diseases. A more comprehensive understanding of the mechanisms Treg cells play in autoimmune conditions of the CNS undoubtedly will lead to improved Treg-cell therapies.

References

- 1. Sakaguchi S, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ono M. Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance. Cell. 2008;133:775–87.
- Duffy SS, Lees JG, Moalem-Taylor G. The contribution of immune and glial cell types in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Int. 2014;2014:1–17.
- Wei S, Kryczek I, Zou W. Regulatory T-cell compartmentalization and trafficking. Blood. 2006;108:426–31.
- Sharma A, Rudra D. Emerging functions of regulatory T cells in tissue homeostasis. Front Immunol. 2018;9:883.
- Gavin MA, Torgerson TR, Houston E, Ho WY, Stray-pedersen A, Ocheltree EL, et al. Singlecell analysis of normal and FOXP3-mutant human T cells: FOXP3 expression without regulatory T cell development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;103(17):6659–64.
- Devaud C, Yong CSM, John LB, Westwood JA, Duong CPM, House CM, et al. Foxp3 expression in macrophages associated with RENCA tumors in mice. PLoS One. 2014;9(9) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108670.
- 7. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(4):330–6.
- Gavin MA, Rasmussen JP, Fontenot JD, Vasta V, Manganiello VC, Beavo JA, et al. Foxp3dependent programme of regulatory T-cell differentiation. Nature. 2007;445(February):771–5.
- 9. Gol-ara M, Jadidi-niaragh F, Sadria R, Azizi G, Mirshafiey A. The role of different subsets of regulatory T cells in immunopathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis. 2012;2012:805875.
- Lan R, Ansari A, Lian Z, Gershwin M. Regulatory T cells: development, function and role in autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev. 2005;4(6):351–63.
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Sakihama T, Itoh M, et al. Immunologic tolerance maintained by CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells: their common role in controlling autoimmunity, tumor immunity, and transplantation tolerance. Immunol Rev. 2001;182:18–32.
- Abdel-Gadir A, Massoud AH, Chatila TA. Antigen-specific Treg cells in immunological tolerance: implications for allergic diseases. F1000Res. 2018;7(38) https://doi.org/10.12688/ f1000research.12650.1.
- Vignali DAA, Collison LW, Workman CJ. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(7):523–32.
- 14. Takahashi T, Kuniyasu Y, Toda M, Sakaguchi N, Itoh M, Iwata M, et al. Immunologic selftolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state. Int Immunol. 1998;10(12):1969–80.
- Read S, Malmström V, Powrie F. Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen 4 Plays an Essential Role in the Function of Cd25⁺ Cd4⁺ Regulatory Cells That Control Intestinal Inflammation. J Exp Med. 2000;192(2):295–302.

- Oderup C, Cederbom L, Makowska A, Cilio CM, Ivars F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4dependent down-modulation of costimulatory molecules on dendritic cells in CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T-cell-mediated suppression. Immunology. 2006;118(2):240–9.
- Serra P, Amrani A, Yamanouchi J, Han B, Thiessen S, Utsugi T, et al. CD40 Ligation Releases Immature Dendritic Cells from the Control of Regulatory CD4+CD25+T Cells. Immunity. 2003;19(6):877–89.
- Mellor AL, Munn DH. IDO expression by dendritic cells: tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(10):762–74.
- 19. Fallarino F, Grohmann U, Hwang KW, Orabona C, Vacca C, Bianchi R, et al. Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(12):1206–12.
- Huang CT, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. Immunity. 2004;21(4):503–13.
- Workman CJ, Vignali DAA. Negative Regulation of T Cell Homeostasis by Lymphocyte Activation Gene-3 (CD223). J Immunol. 2005;174(2):688–95.
- Liang B, Workman C, Lee J, Chew C, Dale BM, Colonna L, et al. Regulatory T cells inhibit dendritic cells by lymphocyte activation gene-3 engagement of MHC class II. J Immunol. 2008;180(9):5916–26.
- Sarris M, Andersen KG, Randow F, Mayr L, Betz AG. Neuropilin-1 expression on regulatory T cells enhances their interactions with dendritic cells during antigen recognition. Immunity. 2008;28(3):402–13.
- Deaglio S, Dwyer KM, Gao W, Friedman D, Usheva A, Erat A, et al. Adenosine generation catalyzed by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. J Exp Med. 2007;204(6):1257–65.
- Borsellino G, Kleinewietfeld M, Di Mitri D, Sternjak A, Diamantini A, Giometto R, et al. Expression of ectonucleotidase CD39 by Foxp3+Treg cells: hydrolysis of extracellular ATP and immune suppression. Blood. 2007;110(4):1225–32.
- Kobie JJ, Shah PR, Yang L, Rebhahn JA, Fowell DJ, Mosmann TR. T regulatory and primed uncommitted CD4 T cells express CD73, which suppresses effector CD4 T cells by converting 5'-adenosine monophosphate to adenosine. J Immunol. 2006;177(10):6780–6.
- Zarek PE, Huang CT, Lutz ER, Kowalski J, Horton MR, Linden J, et al. A2Areceptor signaling promotes peripheral tolerance by inducing T-cell anergy and the generation of adaptive regulatory T cells. Blood. 2008;111(1):251–9.
- Bopp T, Becker C, Klein M, Klein-He
 ßling S, Palmetshofer A, Serfling E, et al. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate is a key component of regulatory T cell-mediated suppression. J Exp Med. 2007;204(6):1303–10.
- Thornton AM, Shevach EM. CD4⁺ CD25⁺ immunoregulatory T cells suppress polyclonal T cell activation in vitro by inhibiting interleukin 2 production. J Exp Med. 1998;188(2):287–96.
- de la Rosa M, Rutz S, Dorninger H, Scheffold A. Interleukin-2 is essential for CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell function. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34(9):2480–8.
- Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+T cells. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(12):1353–62.
- Oberle N, Eberhardt N, Falk CS, Krammer PH, Suri-Payer E. Rapid suppression of cytokine transcription in human CD4+CD25- T cells by CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells: independence of IL-2 consumption, TGF-, and various inhibitors of TCR signaling. J Immunol. 2007;179(6):3578–87.
- Hawrylowicz CM, O'Garra A. Potential role of interleukin-10-secreting regulatory T cells in allergy and asthma. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(4):271–83.
- 34. Joetham A, Takada K, Taube C, Miyahara N, Matsubara S, Koya T, et al. Naturally occurring lung CD4+CD25+ T cell regulation of airway allergic responses depends on IL-10 induction of TGF-β. J Immunol. 2007;178(3):1433–42.
- 35. Kearley J, Barker JE, Robinson DS, Lloyd CM. Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after in vivo transfer of CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent. J Exp Med. 2005;202(11):1539.

- Rubtsov YP, Rasmussen JP, Chi EY, Fontenot J, Castelli L, Ye X, et al. Regulatory T cell-derived interleukin-10 limits inflammation at environmental interfaces. Immunity. 2008;28(4):546–58.
- Loser K, Apelt J, Voskort M, Mohaupt M, Balkow S, Schwarz T, et al. IL-10 controls ultraviolet-induced carcinogenesis in mice. J Immunol. 2007;179(1):365–71.
- Erhardt A, Biburger M, Papadopoulos T, Tiegs G. IL-10, regulatory T cells, and Kupffer cells mediate tolerance in concanavalin A-induced liver injury in mice. Hepatology. 2007;45(2):475–85.
- Schumacher A, Wafula PO, Bertoja AZ, Sollwedel A, Thuere C, Wollenberg I, et al. Mechanisms of action of regulatory T cells specific for paternal antigens during pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2007;110(5):1137–45.
- Mann MK, Maresz K, Shriver LP, Tan Y, Dittel BN. B cell regulation of CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells and IL-10 via B7 is essential for recovery from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2007;178(6):3447–56.
- 41. Fahlén L, Read S, Gorelik L, Hurst SD, Coffman RL, Flavell RA, et al. T cells that cannot respond to TGF- β escape control by CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T cells. J Exp Med. 2005;201(5):737–46.
- 42. Hilchey SP, De A, Rimsza LM, Bankert RB, Bernstein SH. Follicular lymphoma intratumoral CD4+CD25+GITR+ regulatory T cells potently suppress CD3/CD28-costimulated autologous and allogeneic CD8+CD25- and CD4+CD25- T cells. J Immunol. 2007;178(7):4051–61.
- 43. Strauss L, Bergmann C, Szczepanski M, Gooding W, Johnson JT, Whiteside TL. A unique subset of CD4+CD25highFoxp3+ T cells secreting interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-β1 mediates suppression in the tumor microenvironment. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(15):4345–54.
- 44. Kursar M, Koch M, Mittrucker H-W, Nouailles G, Bonhagen K, Kamradt T, et al. Cutting edge: regulatory T cells prevent efficient clearance of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Immunol. 2007;178(5):2661–5.
- 45. Li MO, Wan YY, Flavell RA. T cell-produced transforming growth factor-β1 controls T cell tolerance and regulates Th1- and Th17-cell differentiation. Immunity. 2007;26(5):579–91.
- Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Human tumor-derived exosomes selectively impair lymphocyte responses to interleukin-2. Cancer Res. 2007;67(15):7458–66.
- 47. Xia ZW, Xu LQ, Zhong WW, Wei JJ, Li NL, Shao J, et al. Heme oxygenase-1 attenuates ovalbumin-induced airway inflammation by up-regulation of FoxP3 T-regulatory cells, interleukin-10, and membrane-bound transforming growth factor-β1. Am J Pathol. 2007;171(6):1904–14.
- 48. Collison LW, Workman CJ, Kuo TT, Boyd K, Wang Y, Vignali KM, et al. The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. Nature. 2007;450:566–9.
- Shen P, Roch T, Lampropoulou V, O'Connor RA, Stervbo U, Hilgenberg E, et al. IL-35producing B cells are critical regulators of immunity during autoimmune and infectious diseases. Nature. 2014;507(7492):366–70.
- Kochetkova I, Golden S, Holderness K, Callis G, Pascual DW. IL-35 stimulation of CD39+ regulatory T cells confers protection against collagen II-induced arthritis via the production of IL-10. J Immunol. 2010;184(12):7144–53.
- Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Barchet W, Colonna M, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Human T regulatory cells can use the perforin pathway to cause autologous target cell death. Immunity. 2004;21(4):589–601.
- Gondek DC, Lu L-F, Quezada SA, Sakaguchi S, Noelle RJ. Cutting edge: contact-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells involves a granzyme B-dependent, perforinindependent mechanism. J Immunol. 2005;174(4):1783–6.
- Zhao D-M, Thornton AM, DiPaolo RJ, Shevach EM. Activated CD4+CD25+ T cells selectively kill B lymphocytes. Blood. 2006;107:3925–32.
- Josefowicz SZ, Lu L-F, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30:531–64.

- 55. Gondek DC, DeVries V, Nowak EC, Lu L-F, Bennett KA, Scott ZA, et al. Transplantation survival is maintained by granzyme B+ regulatory cells and adaptive regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181(7):4752–60.
- 56. Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(9):623–35.
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. Nature. 2015;523(7560):337–41.
- 58. Venken K, Hellings N, Thewissen M, Somers V, Hensen K, Rummens J-L, et al. Compromised CD4⁺CD25^{high} regulatory T-cell function in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is correlated with a reduced frequency of FOXP3-positive cells and reduced FOXP3 expression at the single-cell level. Immunology. 2008;123(1):79–89.
- Dominguez-Villar M, Hafler DA. Regulatory T cells in autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol. 2018;19:665–73.
- 60. Rolak LA. Multiple sclerosis: it's not the disease you thought it was. Clin Med Res. 2003;1:57-60.
- Browning V, Joseph M, Sedrak M. Multiple sclerosis: a comprehensive review for the physician assistant. J Am Acad Phys Assist. 2012;25(8):24–9.
- 62. Ascherio A, Munger K. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: from risk factors to prevention. Semin Neurol. 2008;28(1):017–28.
- 63. Goldenberg MM. Multiple sclerosis review. P T. 2012;37(3):175-84.
- Frohman EM, Racke MK, Raine CS. Multiple sclerosis the plaque and its pathogenesis. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:942–55.
- Bjartmar C, Yin X, Trapp BD. Axonal pathology in myelin disorders. J Neurocytol. 1999;28(4–5):383–95.
- Steinman L. Immunology of relapse and remission in multiple sclerosis. Annu Rev Immunol. 2014;32:257–81.
- Duffy SS, Keating BA, Perera CJ, Moalem-Taylor G. The role of regulatory T cells in nervous system pathologies. J Neurosci Res. 2017;96(6):951–68.
- Korn T, Reddy J, Gao W, Bettelli E, Awasthi A, Petersen TR, et al. Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. Nat Med. 2007;13(4):423–31.
- McGeachy MJ, Stephens LA, Anderton SM. Natural recovery and protection from autoimmune encephalomyelitis: contribution of CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells within the central nervous system. J Immunol. 2005;175(5):3025–32.
- Matsushita T, Horikawa M, Iwata Y, Tedder TF. Regulatory B cells (B10 cells) and regulatory T cells have independent roles in controlling experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis initiation and late-phase immunopathogenesis. J Immunol. 2010;185(4):2240–52. https://doi. org/10.4049/jimmunol.1001307.
- O'Connor RA, Malpass KH, Anderton SM. The inflamed central nervous system drives the activation and rapid proliferation of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2007;179(2):958–66.
- Koutrolos M, Berer K, Kawakami N, Wekerle H, Krishnamoorthy G. Treg cells mediate recovery from EAE by controlling effector T cell proliferation and motility in the CNS. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2014;2:163.
- 73. Haas J, Hug A, Viehöver A, Fritzsching B, Falk CS, Filser A, et al. Reduced suppressive effect of CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells on the T cell immune response against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in patients with multiple sclerosis. Eur J Immunol. 2005;35(11):3343–52.
- 74. Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. Loss of functional suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med. 2004;199(7):971.
- Putheti P, Pettersson A, Soderstrom M, Link H, Huang YM. Circulating CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells are not altered in multiple sclerosis and unaffected by disease-modulating drugs. J Clin Immunol. 2004;24(2):155–61.

- 76. Bjerg L, Brosbol-Ravnborg A, Torring C, Dige A, Bundgaard B, Petersen T, et al. Altered frequency of T regulatory cells is associated with disability status in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2012;249(1–2):76–82.
- 77. Kouchaki E, Salehi M, Sharif MR, Nikoueinejad H, Akbari H. Numerical status of CD4 + CD25 + FoxP3 + and CD8 + CD28 - regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2014;17(3):250–5.
- Libera DD, Di Mitri D, Bergami A, Centonze D, Gasperini C, Grasso MG, et al. T regulatory cells are markers of disease activity in multiple sclerosis patients. PLoS One. 2011;6(6) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021386.
- Fletcher JM, Lonergan R, Costelloe L, Kinsella K, Moran B, O'Farrelly C, et al. CD39+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells suppress pathogenic Th17 cells and are impaired in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2009;183(11):7602–10.
- Noori-Zadeh A, Mesbah-Namin SA, Bistoon-Beigloo S, Bakhtiyari S, Abbaszadeh H-A, Darabi S, et al. Regulatory T cell number in multiple sclerosis patients: a meta-analysis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2016;5:73–6.
- Dominguez-Villar M, Baecher-Allan CM, Hafler DA. Identification of T helper type 1-like, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. Nat Med. 2011;17(6):673–5.
- Balint B, Haas J, Schwarz A, Jarius S, Fürwentsches A, Engelhardt K, et al. T-cell homeostasis in pediatric multiple sclerosis: old cells in young patients. Neurology. 2013;81(9):784–92.
- Dombrowski Y, O'Hagan T, DIttmer M, Penalva R, Mayoral SR, Bankhead P, et al. Regulatory T cells promote myelin regeneration in the central nervous system. Nat Neurosci. 2017;20(5):674–80.
- Leask A, Abraham DJ. All in the CCN family: essential matricellular signaling modulators emerge from the bunker. J Cell Sci. 2006;119(23):4803–10.
- Lin CG, Leu SJ, Chen N, Tebeau CM, Lin SX, Yeung CY, et al. CCN3 (NOV) is a novel angiogenic regulator of the CCN protein family. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(26):24200–8.
- Wang X, He H, Wu X, Hu J, Tan Y. Promotion of dentin regeneration via CCN3 modulation on Notch and BMP signaling pathways. Biomaterials. 2014;35(9):2720–9.
- Wingerchuk DM, Lennon VA, Lucchinetti CF, Pittock SJ, Weinshenker BG. The spectrum of neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6:805–15.
- 88. Bradl M, Lassmann H. Experimental models of neuromyelitis optica. Brain Pathol. 2014;24(1):74-82.
- Ghezzi A, Bergamaschi R, Martinelli V, Trojano M, Tola MR, Merelli E, et al. Clinical characteristics, course and prognosis of relapsing Devic's neuromyelitis optica. J Neurol. 2004;251(1):47–52.
- Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, Cabre P, Carroll W, Chitnis T, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Neurology. 2015;85:177–89.
- De Carvalho Jennings Pereira WL, EMV R, Kallaur AP, Kaimen-Maciel DR. Epidemiological, clinical, and immunological characteristics of neuromyelitis optica: a review. J Neurol Sci. 2015;355:7–17.
- 92. Takahashi T, Fujihara K, Nakashima I, Misu T, Miyazawa I, Nakamura M, et al. Antiaquaporin-4 antibody is involved in the pathogenesis of NMO: a study on antibody titre. Brain. 2007;130(5):1235–43.
- Lennon VA, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Verkman AS, Hinson SR. IgG marker of optic-spinal multiple sclerosis binds to the aquaporin-4 water channel. J Exp Med. 2005;202(4):473–7.
- 94. Jarius S, Paul F, Franciotta D, De Seze J, Münch C, Salvetti M, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders in patients with myasthenia gravis: ten new aquaporin-4 antibody positive cases and a review of the literature. Mult Scler J. 2012;18(8):1135–43.
- 95. Linhares UC, Schiavoni PB, Barros PO, Kasahara TM, Teixeira B, Ferreira TB, et al. The ex vivo production of IL-6 and IL-21 by CD4+ T cells is directly associated with neurological disability in neuromyelitis optica patients. J Clin Immunol. 2013;33(1):179–89.

- Matsuya N, Komori M, Nomura K, Nakane S, Fukudome T, Goto H, et al. Increased T-cell immunity against aquaporin-4 and proteolipid protein in neuromyelitis optica. Int Immunol. 2011;23(9):565–73.
- Uzawa A, Mori M, Arai K, Sato Y, Hayakawa S, Masuda S, et al. Cytokine and chemokine profiles in neuromyelitis optica: significance of interleukin-6. Mult Scler. 2010;16(12):1443–52.
- Ikeguchi R, Shimizu Y, Suzuki S, Shimizu S, Kabasawa C, Hashimoto S, et al. Japanese cases of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder associated with myasthenia gravis and a review of the literature. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2014;125:217–21.
- 99. Fattorossi A, Battaglia A, Buzzonetti A, Ciaraffa F, Scambia G, Evoli A. Circulating and thymic CD4+ CD25+ T regulatory cells in myasthenia gravis: effect of immunosuppressive treatment. Immunology. 2005;116(1):134–41.
- Zhang Y, Wang HB, Chi LJ, Wang WZ. The role of FoxP3+CD4+CD25hi Tregs in the pathogenesis of myasthenia gravis. Immunol Lett. 2009;122(1):52–7.
- Thiruppathi M, Rowin J, Ganesh B, Sheng JR, Prabhakar BS, Meriggioli MN. Impaired regulatory function in circulating CD4+CD25highCD127low/- T cells in patients with myasthenia gravis. Clin Immunol. 2012;145(3):209–23.
- 102. Varrin-Doyer M, Spencer CM, Schulze-Topphoff U, Nelson PA, Stroud RM, Bruce BA, et al. Aquaporin 4-specific T cells in neuromyelitis optica exhibit a Th17 bias and recognize Clostridium ABC transporter. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(1):53–64.
- Brill L, Lavon I, Vaknin Dembinsky A. Neuromyelitis optica and the role of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. ECTRIMS. 2018;24:836.
- Bennett JL, Lam C, Kalluri SR, Saikali P, Bautista K, Dupree C, et al. Intrathecal pathogenic anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies in early neuromyelitis optica. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(5):617–29.
- 105. Bradl M, Misu T, Takahashi T, Watanabe M, Mader S, Reindl M, et al. Neuromyelitis optica: pathogenicity of patient immunoglobulin in vivo. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(5):630–43.
- 106. Kinoshita M, Nakatsuji Y, Kimura T, Moriya M, Takata K, Okuno T, et al. Neuromyelitis optica: passive transfer to rats by human immunoglobulin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2009;386(4):623–7.
- 107. Ratelade J, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Intravenous neuromyelitis optica autoantibody in mice targets aquaporin-4 in peripheral organs and area postrema. PLoS One. 2011;6(11) https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027412.
- 108. Jones MV, Collongues N, De Seze J, Kinoshita M, Nakatsuji Y, Levy M. Review of animal models of neuromyelitis optica. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2012;1:174–9.
- Davoudi V, Keyhanian K, Bove RM, Chitnis T. Immunology of neuromyelitis optica during pregnancy. Neurol NeuroImmunol NeuroInflamm. 2016;3 https://doi.org/10.1212/ NXI.00000000000288.
- 110. Bar-Or A, Steinman L, Behne JM, Benitez-Ribas D, Chin PS, Clare-Salzler M, et al. Restoring immune tolerance in neuromyelitis optica. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3(5):e277.
- 111. Blat D, Zigmond E, Alteber Z, Waks T, Eshhar Z. Suppression of murine colitis and its associated cancer by carcinoembryonic antigen-specific regulatory T cells. Mol Ther. 2014;22(5):1018–28.
- 112. Kim YC, Zhang AH, Su Y, Rieder SA, Rossi RJ, Ettinger RA, et al. Engineered antigenspecific human regulatory T cells: immunosuppression of FVIII-specific T- and B-cell responses. Blood. 2015;125(7):1107–15.
- 113. Shimazaki H, Ando Y, Nakano I, Dalmau J. Reversible limbic encephalitis with antibodies against the membranes of neurones of the hippocampus. BMJ Case Rep. 2009;78(3) https:// doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2006.104513.
- 114. Dale RC, de Sousa C, Chong WK, Cox TC, Harding B, Neville BG. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, multiphasic disseminated encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis in children. Brain. 2000;123(Pt 12):2407–22.
- 115. Steiner I, Kennedy PGE. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: current knowledge and open questions. J Neurovirol. 2015;21(5):473–9.

- 116. Koelman DLH, Mateen FJ. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: current controversies in diagnosis and outcome. J Neurol. 2015;262:2013–24.
- 117. Tenembaum S, Chamoles N, Fejerman N. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: a long-term follow-up study of 84 pediatric patients. Neurology. 2002;59(8):1224–31.
- 118. Hynson JL, Kornberg AJ, Coleman LT, Shield L, Harvey AS, Kean MJ. Clinical and neuroradiologic features of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in children. Neurology. 2001;56(10):1308–12.
- 119. Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Husson B, Suissa S, Tardieu M. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis cohort study: prognostic factors for relapse. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2007;11(2):90–5.
- 120. Torisu H, Kira R, Ishizaki Y, Sanefuji M, Yamaguchi Y, Yasumoto S, et al. Clinical study of childhood acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, multiple sclerosis, and acute transverse myelitis in Fukuoka Prefecture, Japan. Brain Dev. 2010;32(6):454–62.
- 121. Cohen O, Steiner-Birmanns B, Biran I, Abramsky O, Honigman S, Steiner I. Recurrence of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis at the previously affected brain site. Arch Neurol. 2001;58(5):797–801.
- 122. Young NP, Weinshenker BG, Parisi JE, Scheithauer B, Giannini C, Roemer SF, et al. Perivenous demyelination: association with clinically defined acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and comparison with pathologically confirmed multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2010;133(2):333–48.
- 123. Esposito S, Di Pietro GM, Madini B, Mastrolia MV, Rigante D. A spectrum of inflammation and demyelination in acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) of children. Autoimmun Rev. 2015;14:923–9.
- 124. Erol I, Özkale Y, Alkan Ö, Alehan F. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in children and adolescents: a single center experience. Pediatr Neurol. 2013;49(4):266–73.
- Tenembaum S, Chitnis T, Ness J, Hahn JS, Group IPMSS. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. [Review] [157 refs]. Neurology. 2007:68.
- 126. Sabayan B, Zolghadrasli A. Vasculitis and rheumatologic diseases may play role in the pathogenesis of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM). Med Hypotheses. 2007;69(2):322–4.
- 127. Ishizu T, Minohara M, Ichiyama T, Kira R, Tanaka M, Osoegawa M, et al. CSF cytokine and chemokine profiles in acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;175(1–2):52–8.
- 128. Pröbstel AK, Dornmair K, Bittner R, Sperl P, Jenne D, Magalhaes S, et al. Antibodies to MOG are transient in childhood acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Neurology. 2011;77(6):580–8.
- 129. Martino D, Branson JA, Church AJ, Candler PM, Livrea P, Giovannoni G, et al. Soluble adhesion molecules in acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Pediatr Neurol. 2005;33(4):255–8.
- Perlman S, Zhao J. Roles of regulatory T cells and IL-10 in virus-induced demyelination. J Neuroimmunol. 2017;308:6–11.
- 131. Anghelina D, Zhao J, Trandem K, Perlman S. Role of regulatory T cells in coronavirusinduced acute encephalitis. Virology. 2009;385(2):358–67.
- Trandem K, Anghelina D, Zhao J, Perlman S. Regulatory T cells inhibit T cell proliferation and decrease demyelination in mice chronically infected with a coronavirus. J Immunol. 2010;184(8):4391–400.
- 133. De Aquino MTP, Puntambekar SS, Savarin C, Bergmann CC, Phares TW, Hinton DR, et al. Role of CD25+ CD4+ T cells in acute and persistent coronavirus infection of the central nervous system. Virology. 2013;447(1–3):112–20.
- 134. Correale J, Tenembaum SN. Myelin basis protein and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein T-cell repertoire in childhood and juvenile multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2006;12(4):412–20.
- 135. Lau CG, Zukin RS. NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2007;8:413–26.
- 136. Florance NR, Davis RL, Lam C, Szperka C, Zhou L, Ahmad S, et al. Anti-N-methyl-Daspartate receptor (NMDAR) encephalitis in children and adolescents. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(1):11–8.

- 137. Galli J, Clardy SL, Piquet AL. NMDAR encephalitis following herpes simplex virus encephalitis. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2017;19(1) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-017-0556-y.
- 138. Tonomura Y, Kataoka H, Hara Y, Takamure M, Naba I, Kitauti T, et al. Clinical analysis of paraneoplastic encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. J Neurooncol. 2007;84(3):287–92.
- 139. Sansing LH, Tüzün E, Ko MW, Baccon J, Lynch DR, Dalmau J. A patient with encephalitis associated with NMDA receptor antibodies. Nat Clin Pract Neurol. 2007;3(5):291–6.
- 140. Iizuka T, Sakai F, Ide T, Monzen T, Yoshii S, Iigaya M, et al. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis in Japan: long-term outcome without tumor removal. Neurology. 2008;70(7):504–11.
- 141. Seki M, Suzuki S, Iizuka T, Shimizu T, Nihei Y, Suzuki N, et al. Neurological response to early removal of ovarian teratoma in anti-NMDAR encephalitis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2008;79(3):324–6.
- 142. Dalmau J, Tüzün E, Wu H, Masjuan J. Paraneoplastic anti–N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Ann Neurol. 2007;61(1):25–36.
- 143. Dalmau J, Gleichman AJ, Hughes EG, Rossi JE, Peng X, Lai M, et al. Anti-NMDAreceptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(12):1091–8.
- 144. Tüzün E, Zhou L, Baehring JM, Bannykh S, Rosenfeld MR, Dalmau J. Evidence for antibodymediated pathogenesis in anti-NMDAR encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;118(6):737–43.
- 145. Camdessanché JP, Streichenberger N, Cavillon G, Rogemond V, Jousserand G, Honnorat J, et al. Brain immunohistopathological study in a patient with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Eur J Neurol. 2011;18(6):929–31.
- 146. Kahlfuß S, Simma N, Mankiewicz J, Bose T, Lowinus T, Klein-Hessling S, et al. Immunosuppression by *N* -methyl-d-aspartate receptor antagonists is mediated through inhibition of K_y 1.3 and K_{Ca} 3.1 channels in T cells. Mol Cell Biol. 2014;34(5):820–31.
- 147. Ozdemir C, Akdis M, Akdis CA. T regulatory cells and their counterparts: masters of immune regulation. Clin Exp Allergy. 2009;39:626–39.
- 148. Newcomb DC, Boswell MG, Zhou W, Huckabee MM, Goleniewska K, Sevin CM, et al. Human TH17 cells express a functional IL-13 receptor and IL-13 attenuates IL-17A production. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011;127(4):1006–13.
- 149. Varga Z, Csepany T, Papp F, Fabian A, Gogolak P, Toth A, et al. Potassium channel expression in human CD4+regulatory and naïve T cells from healthy subjects and multiple sclerosis patients. Immunol Lett. 2009;124(2):95–101.
- Reneer MC, Estes DJ, Vélez-Ortega AC, Norris A, Mayer M, Marti F. Peripherally induced human regulatory T cells uncouple Kv1.3 activation from TCR-associated signaling. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41(11):3170–5.
- 151. Mahlios J, De la Herrán-Arita AK, Mignot E. The autoimmune basis of narcolepsy. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2013;23:767–73.
- 152. Liblau RS. Put to sleep by immune cells. Nature. 2018;562(7725):46-8.
- 153. Sakurai T, Amemiya A, Ishii M, Matsuzaki I, Chemelli RM, Tanaka H, et al. Orexins and orexin receptors: a family of hypothalamic neuropeptides and G protein-coupled receptors that regulate feeding behavior. Cell. 1998;92(4):573–85.
- 154. de Lecea L, Kilduff TS, Peyron C, Gao X-B, Foye PE, Danielson PE, et al. The hypocretins: hypothalamus-specific peptides with neuroexcitatory activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(1):322–7.
- 155. Nevsimalova S, Pisko J, Buskova J, Kemlink D, Prihodova I, Sonka K, et al. Narcolepsy: clinical differences and association with other sleep disorders in different age groups. J Neurol. 2013;260(3):767–75.
- 156. Hartmann FJ, Bernard-Valnet R, Quériault C, Mrdjen D, Weber LM, Galli E, et al. Highdimensional single-cell analysis reveals the immune signature of narcolepsy. J Exp Med. 2016;213(12):2621–33.

- 157. Tafti M, Hor H, Dauvilliers Y, Lammers GJ, Overeem S, Mayer G, et al. DQB1 locus alone explains most of the risk and protection in narcolepsy with cataplexy in Europe. Sleep. 2014;37(1):19–U228.
- Mignot E, Hayduk R, Grumet FC. Narcolepsy HLA DQB 1 *0602 is associated with cataplexy in 509 narcoleptic patients. Sleep. 2018;20(10):12–1020.
- Tafti M, Lammers GJ, Dauvilliers Y, Overeem S, Mayer G, Nowak J, et al. Narcolepsyassociated HLA class I alleles implicate cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Sleep. 2016;39(3):581–7.
- 160. Ollila HM, Ravel JM, Han F, Faraco J, Lin L, Zheng X, et al. HLA-DPB1 and HLA class I confer risk of and protection from narcolepsy. Am J Hum Genet. 2015;96(1):136–46.
- 161. Han F, Faraco J, Dong XS, Ollila HM, Lin L, Li J, et al. Genome wide analysis of narcolepsy in China implicates novel immune loci and reveals changes in association prior to versus after the 2009 H1N1 influenza pandemic. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(10) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pgen.1003880.
- 162. Cvetkovic-Lopes V, Bayer L, Dorsaz S, Maret S, Pradervand S, Dauvilliers Y, et al. Elevated Tribbles homolog 2-specific antibody levels in narcolepsy patients. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(3):713–9.
- 163. Ahmed SS, Volkmuth W, Duca J, Corti L, Pallaoro M, Pezzicoli A, et al. Antibodies to influenza nucleoprotein cross-react with human hypocretin receptor 2. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7(294):294ra105.
- 164. Bergman P, Adori C, Vas S, Kai-Larsen Y, Sarkanen T, Cederlund A, et al. Narcolepsy patients have antibodies that stain distinct cell populations in rat brain and influence sleep patterns. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2014;111(35):E3735–44.
- 165. Saariaho AH, Vuorela A, Freitag TL, Pizza F, Plazzi G, Partinen M, et al. Autoantibodies against ganglioside GM3 are associated with narcolepsy-cataplexy developing after Pandemrix vaccination against 2009 pandemic H1N1 type influenza virus. J Autoimmun. 2015;63:68–75.
- 166. Nguyen XH, Saoudi A, Liblau RS. Vaccine-associated inflammatory diseases of the central nervous system: from signals to causation. Curr Opin Neurol. 2016;29:362–71.
- Liblau RS, Vassalli A, Seifinejad A, Tafti M. Hypocretin (orexin) biology and the pathophysiology of narcolepsy with cataplexy. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14(3):318–28.
- 168. Degn M, Kornum BR. Type 1 narcolepsy: a CD8+T cell-mediated disease? Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2015;1351(1):80–8.
- De la Herrán-Arita AK, García-García F. Narcolepsy as an immune-mediated disease. Sleep Disord. 2014;2014:1–6.
- 170. Latorre D, Kallweit U, Armentani E, Foglierini M, Mele F, Cassotta A, et al. T cells in patients with narcolepsy target self-antigens of hypocretin neurons. Nature. 2018;562:63–8.
- 171. Bernard-Valnet R, Yshii L, Quériault C, Nguyen X-H, Arthaud S, Rodrigues M, et al. CD8 T cell-mediated killing of orexinergic neurons induces a narcolepsy-like phenotype in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(39):10956–61.
- 172. Iijima N, Iwasaki A. Access of protective antiviral antibody to neuronal tissues requires CD4 T-cell help. Nature. 2016;533(7604):552–6.
- 173. Lecendreux M, Churlaud G, Pitoiset F, Regnault A, Tran TA, Liblau R, et al. Narcolepsy type 1 is associated with a systemic increase and activation of regulatory T cells and with a systemic activation of global T cells. PLoS One. 2017;12(1) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0169836.
- 174. Buckner JH. Mechanisms of impaired regulation by CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10:849–59.
- Lindley S, Dayan CM, Bishop A, Roep BO, Peatman M, Tree TIM. Defective suppressor function in CD4+CD25+ T-cells from patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2005;54(1):92–9.

Disruption of the Blood-Brain Barrier During Neuroinflammatory and Neuroinfectious Diseases



Hamid Salimi and Robyn S. Klein

Abstract As the organ of highest metabolic demand, utilizing over 25% of total body glucose utilization via an enormous vasculature with one capillary every 73 μ m, the brain evolves a barrier at the capillary and postcapillary venules to prevent toxicity during serum fluctuations in metabolites and hormones, to limit brain swelling during inflammation, and to prevent pathogen invasion. Understanding of neuroprotective barriers has since evolved to incorporate the neurovascular unit (NVU), the blood-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) barrier, and the presence of CNS lymphatics that allow leukocyte egress. Identification of the cellular and molecular participants in BBB function at the NVU has allowed detailed analyses of mechanisms that contribute to BBB dysfunction in various disease states, which include both autoimmune and infectious etiologies. This chapter will introduce some of the cellular and molecular components that promote barrier function but may be manipulated by inflammatory mediators or pathogens during neuroinflammation or neuroinfectious diseases.

Keywords Blood-brain barrier · Neuroinfectious diseases · Tight junctions · Innate immunity · Central nervous system

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Salimi

Departments of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA

R. S. Klein (🖂)

Departments of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA

Departments of Pathology and Immunology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA

Departments of Neuroscience, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA

Division of Biology and Biomedical Sciences, Center for Neuroimmunology & Neuroinfectious Diseases, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA e-mail: rklein@wustl.edu

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_7

2a

Abbreviations

AJ	Adherens junction
ANG-1	Angiopoietin-1
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
AQP4	Aquaporin 4
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BMEC	Brain microvascular endothelial cell
Cav-1	Caveolin-1
CBF	Cerebral blood flow
CHIKV	Chikungunya virus
CNS	Central nervous system
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CSPG	Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan
CTL	Cytotoxic T cell
DP1	Prostaglandin D2 receptor 1
dsRNA	Double-stranded ribonucleic acid
EC	Endothelial cell
ECM	Experimental cerebral malaria
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase
ET	Edema toxin
gd-MRI	Gadolinium MRI
GDNF	Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor
HiV	Hendra virus
HIV-1	Human immunodeficiency virus type 1
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Type I IFN receptor
IL	Interleukin
iRBC	Infected RBC
JEV	Japanese encephalitis virus
LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MAV-1	Mouse adenovirus type-1
MAVS	Mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation factor 5
MerTK	Tyrosine-protein kinase Mer
Mfsd2a	Major facilitator superfamily domain-containing protein
MHV	Mouse hepatitis virus
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging

MS	Multiple sclerosis
Msp	Meningococcal serine protease
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NiV	Nipah virus
NLR	Nucleotide oligomerization domain-like receptor
NMOSD	Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder
NVU	Neurovascular unit
OPN	Osteopontin
PAFR	Platelet-activating factor receptor
PDGF-BB	Platelet-derived growth factor BB
PDGFRβ	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor β
PECAM-1	Platelet-associated cell adhesion molecule 1
PG	Proteoglycan
PGD2	Prostaglandin D2
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase
pIgR	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor
PKB	Protein kinase B
PLC	Phospholipase C
PPMS	Primary progressive multiple sclerosis
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
RABV	Rabies virus
Rac-1	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate
RBC	Red blood cell
RhoA	Ras homolog gene family, member A
RLR	Retinoic acid-inducible gene 1 like receptor
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RRMS	Recovery and remission multiple sclerosis
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate
SAS	Subarachnoid space
sCD40L	Soluble CD40L
SHH	Sonic hedgehog
SPMS	Secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis
ssRNA	Single-stranded ribonucleic acid
TBEV	Tick-borne encephalitic virus
TEER	Transendothelial electrical resistance
TIMP	Endogenous tissue inhibitor of MMP
TJ	Tight junction
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TMEV	Theiler's murine encephalitis virus
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
VEEV	Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis virus
WNV	West Nile virus

Introduction to BBB Structure and Function

Over 100 years ago, a publication by Lina Stern, Professor and Head of the Department of Physiological Chemistry at the University of Geneva, coined the term "blood-brain barrier (BBB)" to describe the finding that systemically administered dyes are excluded from the developing mammalian brain [1]. Since then, physicians and scientists have appreciated the unique diffusion barrier between the blood and the brain and its stringent regulation of central nervous system (CNS) entry of molecules, immune cells, and pathogens [2–4]. The BBB occurs at the level of postcapillary venules and capillaries and is comprised of a variety of physical specializations including inter-endothelial tight and adherens junctions (TJ and AJ), endothelial cells with polarized expression of protein receptor influx and efflux transporters, and transcytosis systems limited to albumen and histones [5]. Vasculature at the BBB is enveloped by pericytes and astrocyte end feet, which leads to the development of dual basement membranes with a complicated extracellular matrix (ECM) separating blood contents from perivascular spaces within the CNS parenchyma. The CNS ECM is comprised of hyaluronic acid and proteoglycans (PG), mainly chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPG) [6]. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG), especially the negatively charged heparan sulfate (HS), bind and sequester pro-inflammatory molecules, including the endothelial cell-derived chemokine CXCL12 ([7] and see below), which regulates the recruitment and effector functions of leukocytes that infiltrate the CNS during neuroinflammatory diseases [8]. BBB TJ are heterodimeric proteins comprised of occludin and members of the claudin family of proteins, including claudin-3 or -5, that link to the cytoskeleton via the scaffolding and regulatory proteins ZO-1, -2, -3, and cingulin (reviewed in [9]). Similarly, AJ are comprised of E-cadherin proteins that link to actin filaments via α -, β -, and γ -catenin. The length of actin fibers, which are regulated by the activation of RhoGTPases, controls the integrity of both AJ and TJ complexes [10]. Activation of Rac1 promotes stabilization of TJ and AJ, while RhoA promotes destabilization. Junctional integrity is critical for two separate capacities of the BBB, termed "gate" and "fence" function [11]. Gate function refers to the importance of inter-endothelial junctional complexes in limiting the movement of molecules and cells from the blood to the brain parenchyma. RhoA activation may therefore reduce gate function and allow BBB penetration without loss of junctional proteins. Fence function refers to the role of TJ and AJ in the maintenance of BBB polarity, preventing the rotation and diffusion of proteins and other biomolecules within the cell membrane between abluminal and luminal surfaces. Thus, BBB permeability can also be increased without complete destruction of junctional proteins through alterations in the locations of proteins involved in transport or transcytosis.

The transcellular transport of macromolecules across endothelial barriers occurs in peripheral organs via a variety of pathways including macropinocytosis and clathrin- and caveolae-mediated endocytosis. The BBB, however, exhibits low levels of macropinocytosis and lack of clathrin expression. Caveolae-mediated transcytosis is strictly regulated at the BBB by the major facilitator superfamily domain-containing protein 2a (Mfsd2a), which is exclusively expressed on brain endothelial cells and induced by pericytes [12]. Consistently, $Mfsd2a^{-/-}$ mice exhibit increased BBB permeability, caused by enhanced caveolae-mediated transcytosis [12]. Caveolae are flask-shaped plasma membrane invagination enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids. They contain the major structural protein caveolin-1 (Cav-1), which undergoes extensive oligomerization prior to interacting with cavin-1 to form caveolae. Genetic ablation of either Cav-1 or cavin-1 results in a complete loss of caveolae in related tissues, suggesting their essential role in caveolae formation [13, 14]. Previous studies identified a close association between caveolae and stress fibers, a feature absent in clathrin-coated vesicles [15]. These interactions are critical for both stabilizing and entry of caveolae at the plasma membrane and are also regulated by the small RhoGTPases, including Ras homolog gene family, member A (RhoA) and Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate (Rac)-1 [15]. Caveolae internalization is further regulated by kinases and phosphatases. In general, BBB endothelial cells exhibit low level of formation of caveolae due to the effects of Mfsd2a. However, levels of this protein are decreased during intracranial hemorrhage, suggesting that serum inflammatory mediators might increase BBB permeability via their effects on caveolae-mediated transcytosis.

The polarized expression of proteins at the CNS vascular barriers is also important for normal immune surveillance of the CNS. There is a growing body of evidence that lymphocytes, including effector memory CD4 and CD8 T cells, normally reside within the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) compartment [16-22]. The CSF compartment includes both the subarachnoid space (SAS) and the ventricular system, the latter of which contains the choroid plexus, a plexus of microvessels with modified ependymal cells that form a barrier between its fenestrated capillaries and the CSF compartment (reviewed in [23]), which connects with lymphatics that provide mechanisms for leukocyte egress out of the CNS [24, 25]. The choroid plexus is the main producer of CSF, which circulates via a combination of directed bulk flow, and both pulsatile and continuous bidirectional movement at the BBB and at the borders between CSF and CNS interstitial spaces (reviewed in [26]). The SAS occurs between meningeal arachnoid and pia maters and contains fenestrated capillaries where immune cells may exit the blood and migrate along abluminal surfaces into perivascular spaces within the brain parenchyma at sites with BBB specializations. The localization of lymphocytes along CNS vasculature is accomplished via polarized expression of chemokines, including CXCL12 [27], which promotes interactions between T and perivascular antigen-presenting cells (APCs) in the setting of neuroinfectious diseases. Infiltrating T cells express CXCR4, a G protein-coupled signaling receptor of CXCL12 that is downregulated after T cell receptor activation, which allows T cell egress out of perivascular compartments [28, 29]. The abluminal localization of CXCL12 stands in stark contrast to its expression pattern at high endothelial venules within lymph nodes, where luminal CXCL12 promotes the homeostatic circulation of lymphocytes between the blood and lymphoid compartments [30], whereas BBB CXCL12 instead limits T cell entry into the CNS parenchyma [27, 28]. The level of CNS expression of CXCL12 vascular barriers is accomplished at both transcriptional and protein expression levels, the latter of which occurs via the CXCL12 scavenging receptor CXCR7 [31]. As the CXCR7 promoter contains eight NF-kB binding sites, multiple cytokines may alter the level of its expression at the BBB during neuroinflammation, including interleukin-1, -8, -17, and interferon- γ . Alterations in the patterns of localizing cues at the BBB could promote excessive leukocyte entry, which may lead to further alterations in the BBB functions.

Cellular Constituents of the NVU Regulate BBB Formation and Function

The NVU is comprised of brain microvascular endothelial cells (BMECs), abluminal pericytes, and astrocyte terminal processes, known as end feet, the latter of which receive neuronal signals that modulate BBB influx and efflux transporters in response to parenchymal demands or damage [5]. Pericapillary pericytes extend their processes along pre- and postcapillary vessels, receiving signals from BMECs, astrocytes, and neurons that induce them to form, maintain, and regulate BBB function [32]. Studies in pericyte-deficient and transgenic mice with aberrant signaling between endothelial-derived platelet-derived growth factor BB (PDGF-BB) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor β (PDGFR β) in pericytes have thus identified critical roles for these cells from embryonic development to adulthood [33]. *Pdgfb* and *Pdgfrb* homozygous knockout mice completely lack pericytes, which causes embryonic lethality via cerebral blood vessel rupture and microhemorrhages. While $Pdgfr\beta^{+/-}$ mice and mice with modified PDGF-BB bioavailability are viable, they exhibit reductions in pericyte coverage along vasculature, leading to poor maintenance of BBB function and increased permeability [33]. These mice also exhibit dysregulated cerebral blood flow (CBF) leading to eventual loss of neurons in the cortex and hippocampus. These data indicate the importance of maintaining adequate pericyte numbers for proper BBB function.

Both pericytes and astrocytes are important in the preservation of BMEC TJs through the regulation of junctional proteins occludin, claudin, and ZO-1. Astrocyte end feet also contact the abluminal surfaces of BMECs and enwrap neuronal synapses, enabling simultaneous modulation neuronal activity and blood flow in response to elevations in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels [34, 35]. Astrocyte end feet are also highly polarized and express specialized molecules such as Kir4.1 K⁺ channels and aquaporin 4 (AQP4), which each regulate BBB ionic concentrations, and protein transporters such as glucose transporter-1 and P-glycoprotein, the latter of which promotes the efflux of toxic substances away from brain parenchyma [36, 37]. Astrocytes may exchange signals through gap junctions forming a functional syncytium that coordinates BBB responses and communicates with neurons [38, 39]. Astrocytes critically develop and maintain BBB characteristics through the release of vascular endothelial growth factor

(VEGF), glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and angiopoietin (ANG)-1 [39, 40], which form TJ, promote enzymatic systems, and polarize expression of transporters [41].

The full integration of NVU responses that regulate and maintain BBB function relies on multiple signaling pathways and proteins that regulate TJ integrity, including calcium, protein kinase A, protein kinase C, G proteins, calmodulin, cAMP, and phospholipase C [42, 43]. Heterotrimeric G proteins and protein kinase C signaling pathways, in particular, act via altering intra- and/or extracellular levels of calcium, which promotes TJ integrity [44]. Phosphorylation additionally regulates transmembrane and accessory proteins of TJs. Both serine and threonine phosphorylation of occludin, which regulates its subcellular localization, are highly correlated with the reassembly of TJs following alterations in BBB integrity [45] The PAR3-PAR6-APKC pathway and the evolutionarily conserved signaling complex related to the Drosophila Stardust-Disc lost-Crumbs complex (equivalent to the mammalian Pals1-PATJ-Crumbs complex) [43] have also been implicated in regulation or modulation of TJ assembly. As PAR-complex APKC and PAR3 may be downregulated upon activation of NF-kB and, in turn, act to inhibit NF-kB-mediated signaling, these pathways may provide additional mechanisms for the alteration of BBB function during neuroinflammation.

In summary, the BBB has evolved numerous cellular, subcellular, and molecular mechanisms to stringently regulate the CNS access of solutes, molecules, cells, and pathogens. BBB function, however, may become dysfunctional or derailed via intrinsic and/or extrinsic effects in the setting of neuroinflammatory diseases, including those caused by autoimmune, infectious, or neurodegenerative processes.

Mechanisms of BBB Disruption During Pathological Conditions

During CNS disease, the NVU may undergo cytoarchitectural modulations that promote BBB permeability without significant alterations in structural integrity. TJs and their associated proteins are dynamically regulated and able to undergo alterations in transcription, translation, and posttranslational modifications, subcellular localization, and protein-protein interactions in normal and diseased states. Thus, acute and subtle changes in BBB permeability with accompanying mild elevations in CSF protein levels may occur without severe CNS symptoms. Prolonged alterations in NVU structure and function, however, can lead to complete TJ disruption leading to brain edema and neural cell damage and irreversible in brain injury. Here, we will discuss the role of primary or secondary BBB dysfunction in the etiology, progression, and repair of neuroinflammatory diseases.

BBB Disruption During CNS Autoimmunity

Failure of BBB function is a critical event during the development and progression of autoimmune diseases of the CNS, including neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD) and multiple sclerosis (MS). NMOSD are rare, relapsing immunemediated CNS disorders characterized by inflammation and demyelination of the optic nerves and spinal cord with evidence of BBB dysfunction in up to 70% of cases and two-thirds of patients exhibiting elevations in serum anti-AOP4 autoimmune IgG antibodies (classified as NMO patients) (reviewed in [46]). While patient serum levels of anti-AQP4 IgG are not a predictive biomarker for overall disease course [47], they are positively correlated with the extent of spinal lesions; BBB permeability, as assessed via albumin index; levels of CSF myelin basic protein concentration; and serum C3 [48]. Anti-AQP4 IgG contribute to pathogenesis via effects at astrocyte end feet within the NVU, which express AQP4, and bind to the abluminal surfaces of microvessels in NMO patients, in conjunction with lesions containing complement proteins, infiltrating neutrophils and eosinophils, and loss of AOP4 [49]. Human data are consistent with a significant role for anti-AQP4 IgG in the pathogenesis of NMO, which is further supported by the clinical efficacy of plasma exchange and B cell depletion [50]. In animal studies, targeted deletion of AQP4 or administration of anti-AQP4 IgG-positive sera plus complement from NMO patients leads to loss of BBB integrity and impaired water homeostasis within astrocyte end feet [51-53]. Similarly, using an in vitro human BBB model administration of human anti-AQP4 IgG and complement increased the migration of granulocytes across BMECs and led to astrocyte injury and decreased transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER) [54]. While the mechanism of anti-AQP4 IgG entry at the BBB, including access to astrocyte end feet, is unclear, endothelium-specific antibodies, VEGF, and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 are all elevated in NMO [52, 55]. Activation of BMECs via endothelium-specific antibodies may lead to concomitant upregulation of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 [52], promoting capture of leukocytes, and secretion of TNF and VEGF. The release of MMP-9 from infiltrating neutrophils could play a role in the degradation of the BBB ECM [55] by allowing anti-AQP4 IgG access to astrocyte AQP4. Further development of animal models of NMO could help identify therapeutic targets to prevent these effects.

The role of BBB dysfunction in the induction and progression of MS is a subject of controversy [56], mostly due to the lack of models that faithfully reproduce the diseases observed in patients. MS is a heterogeneous group of demyelinating syndromes in which patients may present with a relapsing-remitting form, characterized by periods of disease exacerbation followed by recovery and remission (RRMS). RRMS may be followed by the onset of continued progression of disease (i.e., secondary-progressive (SP)MS) or a primary progressive form in which patients continue to develop neurologic deficits without remission (PPMS) [57]. The characteristic CNS lesion observed in MS patients is a focal area of inflammatory-mediated demyelination surrounding postcapillary venules within white matter [58]. In severe cases of MS, patients may also exhibit demyelinating lesions within cortical gray matter, often adjacent to meninges. Defects in BBB function are observed in all lesions, with gadolinium extravasation observed using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). However, while frank TJ disruption is not observed in MS lesions, as assessed in early studies using electron microscopy [59], the exact mechanisms of BBB impairment are unclear, as is the timing of these events as primary or secondary to the effects of immune cells.

Evidence for primary causes of BBB dysfunction include altered BMEC expression of molecules involved in the stabilization of TJs, including sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 2 (S1P2) and claudin proteins [60, 61]. S1P2 is one of the five subtypes of G protein-coupled receptors (S1P1-5) that are targeted by S1P, a signaling, blood-borne sphingolipid that regulates angiogenesis, vascular stability, and permeability and may also be important in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases (reviewed in [62]). S1P also regulates the trafficking of T and B cells within lymphoid tissues and directly suppresses TLR-mediated immune responses from T cells [63]. At the BBB, S1P1 and S1P3 activation promote Rac1-mediated tightening of inter-endothelial junctions, while S1P2 leads to their disassembly via RhoA [64]. In murine models of RRMS, disassembly of BBB TJs and AJs is associated with loss of polarized expression of CXCL12 with increased capture and CNS entry of CXCR4-expressing T cells [61]. Patients with MS exhibit loss of BBB polarity within white matter lesions [65], and women with RRMS exhibit significantly higher levels of S1P2 at the NVU within hindbrain regions compared with male MS patients [61].

Loss of polarized expression of CXCL12 may also be the result of BMEC expression of the CXCL12 scavenger receptor CXCR7. Studies in animal models of MS suggest that interleukin(IL)-17-secreting CD4 and γδ T cells may drive CNS autoimmunity, especially with regard to access to CNS parenchyma from perivascular spaces [66]. $\gamma\delta$ T cells, which do not require antigen processing and major histocompatibility complex (MHC) presentation of peptide epitopes and instead may recognize lipid antigens, are also sources of IL-1 within the inflamed CNS [67, 68]. CXCR7 reporter mice exhibit expression of the receptor along postcapillary venules, which is increased during induction of CNS autoimmune disease, leading to loss of abluminal expression of CXCL12 and increased CNS access of myelinspecific T cells [31]. In vivo targeting of CXCR7 in animal studies using small molecule inhibitors maintains polarized expression of CXCL12 and limits the egress of immune cells out of perivascular spaces during induction of EAE. In vitro studies examining the regulation of CXCR7 expression on BMECs demonstrated that IL-17 and IL-1 increase the expression and activity of the receptor, respectively, consistent with in vivo studies demonstrating roles for these cytokines in driving neuropathology and the clinical effectiveness of therapies that target IL-17 or IL-1 in patients with autoimmune diseases [69-71]. Novel therapeutics targeting CXCR4 and/or CXCR7 are under development [72] and may prove beneficial for the treatment of MS.

Although BBB disruption is clearly evident on gadolinium (gd)-MRI of MS patients, the notion that this is due to direct alterations in TJ protein expression has been controversial. Early reports examining the levels of expression of claudin-5, a major component of CNS TJs, did not reveal differences in CNS specimens from patients with and without MS [73]. More recently, claudin-11, which co-localizes with claudin-5 in CNS capillaries, was found to be significantly decreased in CNS tissue of MS patients and of mice with EAE [60]. Multiple studies, however, show leakage of serum proteins including fibrinogen, albumen, and IgG, into CNS parenchyma within MS lesions [74, 75], which is consistent with the overall loss of BBB function. Whether this extravasation is the result of loss of gate and/or fence function, the latter of which might include alterations in BMEC intracellular endocytic pathways, remains to be determined.

BBB Disruption During Neuroinfectious Diseases

The meningeal barriers, which cover the surface of the brain and spinal cord and are comprised of the dura, arachnoid, and pia maters, effectively limit the ability of a majority of bacterial, fungal, and viral pathogens to gain access to the CNS parenchyma. Thus, only neurotropic viruses, molds, and certain parasites are able to cross the BBB and infect CNS parenchyma. Certain bacteria that gain access to the subarachnoid space within the meninges may also enter perivascular spaces of postcapillary venule, leading to BBB disruption and parenchymal infection. However, this extent of infection occurs late in the course of bacterial meningitis and is generally associated with severe and fatal outcomes. Here, we will delineate mechanisms of BBB disruption during neuroinfectious diseases, focusing on pathogens that infect immunocompetent hosts (Table 1).

Induction of BBB Disruption and Parenchymal Invasion by Bacteria

A variety of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria display a predilection for CNS invasion, predominantly spread hematogenously within the subarachnoid space into the CSF. Most bacterial infections lead to robust inflammatory responses leading to extensive neutrophilic infiltrates throughout the meninges and, if untreated, result in vasogenic edema, disruption of the BBB, coma, and death [76]. Although bacterial infections within the CNS generally cause meningitis and are limited to the CSF compartment, host inflammatory responses and, in some cases, bacterial products may lead to BBB disruption with bacterial invasion of the CNS parenchyma. With few exceptions, most bacteria are unable to invade neural cells, leading instead to their encapsulation by glial elements and abscess formation [77]. Here, we will discuss the specific mechanisms by which bacteria interact with subarachnoid vasculature and the molecular events that may lead to parenchymal invasion.

Pathogens	Mechanisms of BBB disruption	References
Group B Streptococcus (GBS)	GBS activates ERK1/2/MAPK signaling pathway in BMECs, leading to the induction of host transcriptional repressor Snail1, which in turn suppresses the expression of TJ proteins	[238]
Listeria monocytogenes	Bacterial proteins InIA and InIB interact with host cellular receptors E-cadherin and MET, respectively, on choroid plexus epithelium and brain endothelium, respectively	[86]
Bacillus anthracis	Reduce the expression of ZO-1 induced by bacterial edema toxin (ET) Bacterial toxins also reduce the expression of VE-cadherin by inhibiting Rab11/Sec15-dependent endocytic recycling pathway	[239, 240]
Haemophilus influenzae	Porin, OmpP2 causes endothelial damage via binding to the common carboxy-terminal domain of LR, and pili interact with platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR), both expressed by BMECs	[95, 96]
Neisseria meningitidis	Degradation of TJ proteins and ECM via the induction of MMP8 Delocalization of TJ proteins in BMECs induced by bacterial pili	[241–243]
WNV (Flavivirus)	Degradation of TJ and AJ proteins mediated by virus- induced elevation of MMP-1,-3, and-9	[104, 244]
JEV (Flavivirus)	Disruption of TJ complexes by virus-induced inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IP-10 and $TNF\alpha$) in the CNS	[109]
TBEV (Flavivirus)	Virus-induced cytokine/chemokine overproduction in the brain	[172]
HIV-1 (<i>Retrovirus</i>)	Inducing lesion in brain ECs and activation of MMPs by gp120 Release of s-CD40L by Tat-induced platelet activation	[135, 136, 245]
HeV and NiV (<i>Henipavirus</i>)	Syncytium formation in brain ECs. Induction of inflammatory cytokines in the brain and peripheral tissues	[129–131]
VEEV (Alphavirus)	Increased expression of MMP9 Monocytes infiltration and release of inflammatory cytokines	[102, 105]
RABV (Lyssavirus)	Downregulation of TJs mediated by IFN- γ from infiltrating CD4 T cells	[182]
MHV3 (Coronavirus)	Reduced expression of TJ and AJ proteins due to impaired production of IFN- β by infected BMECs	[111]
LCMV (Arenavirus)	CTL-mediated recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes into the CNS leads to vascular damage	[181]
Influenza A virus (Orthomyxovirus)	Disruption of tight junction protein ZO-1, likely by virus-induced inflammatory cytokines	[246, 247]
TMEV (Cardiovirus)	Degradation of TJs by perforin secreted from CD8 T cells	[184]
HSV-1 (Simplexvirus)	Virus-induced upregulation of MMP9	[248]

 Table 1
 Mechanisms of BBB disruption by various pathogens, including bacteria, viruses, and parasites, depicted in pink, blue, and gray, respectively

(continued)

Pathogens	Mechanisms of BBB disruption	References
P. falciparum (HCM)	Parasite-induced structural change in the membrane of iRBC makes them adherent to vascular endothelium, resulting in apoptosis and disruption of TJ proteins in BMECs	[193]
P. berghei ANKA (ECM)	Platelets deposition and leukocyte arrest on brain vascular endothelium Degradation of TJs and extracellular matrix by CD8 T cells	[204–206]
Toxoplasma gondii	Upregulation of CAMs and inflammatory cytokines in the CNS. Sustain and intense interaction/adherence of leukocytes with brain endothelium Production of nitric oxide and MMPs in the CNS	[35–38]
Trypanosoma brucei	Enhanced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by activated microglial and astrocytes. T cell-mediated activation of MMPs	[219]
Acanthamoeba	Degradation of TJ proteins. Induction of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in BMECs through activation of PI3K	[228]

Table 1 (continued)

Streptococcus pneumoniae (aka Pneumococcus)

S. pneumoniae are Gram-positive, facultative anaerobic bacteria that reside in the respiratory tract. There are over 90 serotypes of S. pneumoniae that differ in virulence and susceptibility to antimicrobials. Pneumococcal infections generally originate in the nasal cavities but, in young children and the elderly, may become invasive, with hematogenous spread to multiple organs including the CNS. Within the subarachnoid space, S. pneumoniae may adhere to fenestrated endothelium via a number of interactions between bacterial and host proteins. Thus, the major adhesion protein of S. pneumoniae pilus-1, RrgA, binds both polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR) and platelet-associated cell adhesion molecule (PECAM)-1 on endothelial cells, while the bacterial choline-binding protein (PspC) binds only pIgR [78]. These interactions trigger Toll-like receptor-mediated expression of inflammatory mediators by meningeal endothelial cells including interleukins (IL)-1, -6, -10, tumor necrosis factors (TNF), and cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC)-1 [79, 80]. The recruitment of neutrophils and lymphocytes heralds the onset of meningitis symptoms, including fever, photophobia, and meningismus [81]. Untreated, inflammatory infiltrates may gain access to the CNS parenchyma via migration along venules from the meningeal compartment. Neutrophils and macrophages secrete barrier destabilizing cytokines, IL-1, and TNF, which activate RhoA within BBB endothelial cells, which disrupts TJs [15]. In severe infections, S. pneumoniae may also gain access to the brain parenchyma, as animal studies demonstrate that pneumococcal pneumolysin may damage endothelial cell membranes or TJs [82].

Listeria monocytogenes

Listeria monocytogenes is a facultative intracellular bacterium that is tenfold more effective at invading the CNS other than neuroinvasive Gram-positive bacteria [83]. L. monocytogenes spreads hematogenously from the gastrointestinal tract after the consumption of contaminated food, gaining access to the CNS parenchyma through a variety of routes including invasion of meningeal endothelium, transportation across the BBB within infected monocyte, or retrograde migration along cranial nerve axons [84, 85]. Bacterial proteins, including internalins (InIA and InIB), interact with host cellular receptors E-cadherin and mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET), respectively, and are expressed by choroid plexus epithelium and brain endothelium, respectively [86]. Listeriolysin O (LLO), a pore forming toxin, activates NF-kB within brain endothelial cells in vitro, leading to increased expression of P- and E-selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, as well as IL-6, -8, and CCL2, which may promote the adhesion and recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes [87]. Invasion and infection of brain endothelial cells with the ensuing activation of glial cells and recruitment of leukocytes in patients with severe CNS L. monocytogenes infections may lead to abscess formation or cerebritis [88].

Bacillus anthracis

Bacillus anthracis, a spore-forming Gram-positive bacterium, causes the disease anthrax, which has three clinical forms: cutaneous, inhalational, and gastrointestinal [89]. Untreated, anthrax disseminates hematogenously to the CNS, causing fatal hemorrhagic meningitis. Anthrax toxins, such as InhA and BsIA, induce destruction of brain endothelial cell TJs, leading to increased BBB permeability and hemorrhage [90, 91]. BsIA has also been demonstrated to act as an adherence factor for all endothelial cells and to be required for CNS infection [92]. Finally, the anthrax toxin pXO1 downregulates innate immune responses, allowing dissemination of the pathogen throughout the CNS [93].

Haemophilus influenzae

Haemophilus influenzae is a Gram-negative bacterium that was a leading cause of childhood meningitis until its near eradication through the introduction of a the highly effective conjugate HiB vaccine [94]. In vitro studies have implicated *H. influenzae* porin, OmpP2, in endothelial damage via binding to the common carboxy-terminal domain of LR, and *H. influenzae* pili have also been shown to interact with platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR), which are both expressed by BMECs [95, 96]. In vivo studies have shown that targeting leukocyte CD11/CD18 integrins in conjunction with systemic treatment with corticosteroids reduces life-threatening CNS inflammation and prevents TJ disruption [97], the latter of which is now standard of care in the treatment of patients with *H. influenzae* meningitis [98].

Neisseria meningitidis

Neisseria meningitidis, a Gram-negative bacterium that may colonize the oropharynx and genital tract, causes fulminant meningococcemia and meningococcal meningitis, which often occur together [99]. *N. meningitidis* adheres to host endothelial cells via pili surface proteins Opa and Opc followed by bacterial adhesin PilQ interaction with the common carboxy-terminal domain of LR [96]. Additional determinants of host cell binding include complex protein ACP and the autotransporter meningococcal serine protease (Msp) A [100, 101].

In summary, while bacterial invasion of the CNS is primarily limited to the meningeal compartment, numerous species exhibit pili surface proteins that are able to interact with BMECs via binding to pIgR and/or LR, which lead to endothelial cell activation, with upregulation of PAFr, CD31, and/or intercellular adhesion molecules [95]. PAFr activation leads to dilation of vessels, aggregation of platelets, and increased BBB permeability, which are all terminal events during bacterial meningitis.

Effects of Viruses on BBB Structure and Function

Many neurotropic viruses with barrier disrupting properties (e.g., Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), West Nile virus (WNV), Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV)) enter the CNS in the absence of BBB opening, suggesting that barrier disruption results from the local virus replication in the CNS [102–106]. Viruses can compromise the integrity of BBB by either infecting or inducing cellular damage to the NVU or by eliciting innate and adaptive immune responses leading to neuroinflammation. Thus, a combination of host and virus-related factors contributes to BBB opening during neurotropic viral infection.

Virus Factors that Impact BBB

Infection of mice with mouse adenovirus type-1 (MAV-1) induces BBB disruption in the absence of inflammation, suggesting that the barrier loss is primarily caused by viral infection rather than inflammatory responses [107]. MAV-1 infects brain vascular endothelium in vivo [108] and dampens expression of TJ proteins in vitro [107]. Indeed, reduced expression of TJ and AJ proteins is a characteristic feature of BBB disruption by neurotropic viruses such as JEV, WNV, and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) in vivo [104, 109, 110]. Viruses accomplish this either by downregulating transcription levels of TJ mRNA or promoting protein degradation [104, 111].

Disruption of TJ complexes is often associated with enhanced generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Viral infection in target cells can induce mitochondrial damage or NADPH oxidase activation, resulting in robust ROS generation [112, 113]. While low levels of ROS are required for normal cell function, unchecked

level of these reactive intermediates can exert detrimental effects. Indeed, ROS can target virtually all biological molecules, including lipid, protein, and nucleic acid, resulting in the release of various cytokines and proteases that damage vasculature. Cellular component of NVU can be a source and target of ROS. While brain endothelial cells are highly susceptible to oxidative stress, astrocytes are less prone to such damages. However, exposure to viral proteins (e.g., HIV-1 Nef) augments astrocyte sensitivity to redox insults [114]. Activation of metalloproteinases (MMPs) is one of the mechanisms by which ROS dysregulate TJ complexes [115–117]. Elevated levels of MMPs have been reported in brain tissue of mice infected with neurotropic viruses such as WNV, JEV, and VEEV [104, 105, 118] and in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of human patients infected with WNV [118]. Infected microglia and astrocytes robustly elevate the expression of MMP-2 and -9 in vitro and in vivo [119, 120]. MMPs are known to disrupt the BBB integrity by cleaving TJ proteins, AJ proteins, and the extracellular matrix (ECM) [115]. Activity of these MMPs is controlled by regulating gene expression, activation, and inhibition mediated by endogenous tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs) [121]. Nonetheless, viral infection (e.g., HIV-1) can perturb the fine balance between MMPs and TIMPs, resulting in enhanced MMP levels and BBB leakage [122]. Consistently, pharmacological blockage or genetic ablation of MMPs is reported to protect BBB integrity upon viral infection in murine models [118, 123].

Additionally, ROS trigger the small GTPase RhoA, PI3 kinase, and protein kinase B (PKB/Akt) signaling pathways. This results in the reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton, altered localization of TJ proteins, and consequently increased BBB permeability [124, 125]. Furthermore, ROS can cause barrier dysfunction by activating inflammasome via signaling pathways involving mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) and extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases 1 and 2 (ERK1/2) [126].

Viruses can also infect brain endothelial cells and induce syncytium resulting in vascular damage and hemorrhage [127, 128]. For instance, Nipah and Hendra viruses (NiV and HeV, respectively) invade the CNS by infecting brain endothelial cells. Virus infection induces syncytium in brain endothelium resulting in extensive vascular damage associated with influx of inflammatory cells [129-131]. Additionally, neurotropic viruses induce apoptosis in brain endothelial cells causing BBB dysfunction in vitro [132]. Secretory viral proteins also trigger barrier permeability. For instance, HIV-1 Tat protein is actively released from the infected cells and crosses the cellular membrane [133]. Intravenous injection of mice with HIV-1 Tat reduces the expression of TJ proteins in brain vasculature, partly by upregulating cyclooxygenase-2 expression [134]. Additionally, HIV-1 Tat enhances serum levels of soluble CD40L (sCD40L) by activating platelets [135, 136], a phenomenon also observed in HIV-infected patients [137, 138]. sCD40L alters barrier permeability by increasing the expression of cell adhesion molecules on brain endothelial cells in a JNK-dependent manner [139]. This culminates in enhanced leukocyte adhesion to brain endothelium leading to BBB dysfunction [135].

In summary, evidence indicates that neurotropic viruses can directly induce BBB permeability by disrupting TJs and AJs between brain endothelial cells. This is
mainly achieved by inducing ROS generation in the CNS, which in turn activates several tyrosine kinases, MMPs, and small GTPase RhoA. The cumulative effect of these activities leads to the loss of BBB function.

Innate Immune Responses to Viruses that Impact BBB Function

Microbes possess pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that are recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene 1 (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs), nucleotide oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), and cytosolic DNA sensors. These PRRs are expressed by various cell types in the CNS (reviewed in [140]). Viruses contain single- or double-stranded RNA molecules (dsRNS and ssRNA, respectively), present either in the viral genome or generated during virus replication. Recognition of viral PAMPs by TLR3 (dsRNA) or TLR-7 (ssRNA) triggers signaling pathway related to NF-kB, resulting in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and type I interferons (IFNs). Similarly, RLRs, which include RIG-I and melanoma differentiation factor (MDA)-5, are activated by dsRNA and ssRNA sequences con-RLR activation stimulates mitochondrial taining 5'-triphosphate [141]. antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS), which in turn elicits the expression of inflammatory cytokines via induction of the NF-kB signaling pathway. While PRRinduced expression of type I IFNs restricts virus replication in the CNS [142, 143], enhanced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines can lead to neuroinflammation. Studies have shown that TLR3 signaling contributes to both enhancement and protection of CNS inflammation during WNV infection in murine models [144, 145]. Similarly, TLR3 signaling has been associated with neuropathogenesis of rabies virus (RABV) in mice [146] while limiting infection of herpes simplex virus (HSV)-2 in the CNS through the activation of IFNAR signaling in astrocytes [142].

The NLR family is involved in the maturation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, produced by other PRRs (e.g., TLRs and RLRs) in response to viral infection. Viral sensing by NLRs triggers the assembly and activation of inflammasome complex, resulting in the maturation and release of interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and IL-18 from infected cells (reviewed in [140]). Seemingly, IL-1β acts in synergy with type I IFNs to suppress virus replication in cortical neurons, thus providing protection against lethal WNV infection in mice [147]. In contrast, enhanced production of IL-1 β is linked to neuropathology associated with JEV infection in murine models [148]. IL-1β also abrogates the protective effect of astrocytes on BBB integrity by suppressing astrocytic expression of sonic hedgehog (SHH), a protein that upregulates the expression of TJs in BMECs [149]. Additionally, IL-1β and IL-18 activate microglia and astrocytes to generate more inflammatory molecules potentiating inflammation. Activation of microglia is often reported during encephalitic viral infection [104, 150–153], which is regulated by IFNAR signaling in astrocytes and neurons [154]. While microglia play a crucial role in viral clearance in the CNS [154-156], uncontrolled gliosis can disrupt BBB integrity through induction of pro-inflammatory

cytokines and matrix metalloproteases [153]. Similarly, astrocytes mount a strong innate immune response upon recognition of viral PAMPs via RLR and TLR signaling pathways. In fact, astrocytes are the main producers of type I IFNs during infection with several distinct neurotropic viruses, including La Crosse virus, rabies virus (RABV), vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), and Theiler's murine encephalitis virus (TMEV) [157, 158]. Deletion of *IFNAR* signaling specifically in astrocytes results in severe encephalomyelitis and mortality during otherwise nonlethal mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) [159]. Nonetheless, activated astrocytes can release excess amount of IP-10 during encephalitic viral infection [109]. IP-10 enhances the expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) in a JNK-dependent manner, leading to barrier disruption [109]. Consistently, injection of mice with neutralizing antibodies against IP-10 [109] or TNF- α ameliorated the decrease in TJ proteins and improved BBB integrity during JEV infection [160].

Alternatively, viral-induced inflammasome activation triggers pyroptosis, a highly inflammatory form of programmed cell death [161]. Although pyroptosis plays a crucial role in controlling virus spread [162], it can cause neuronal necrosis and gliosis [163], features associated with BBB disruption. In the CNS, inflammasome activity is regulated by mechanisms involving osteopontin (OPN) and prostaglandin D2 (PGD2), upon viral infection [164, 165]. OPN inhibits the caspase-1-dependent inflammasome activation by reducing the expression of inflammasome components in the brain [165]. However, PGD2 can exert both pro- and anti-inflammatory effects depending on the receptor involved. Engagement of D-prostanoid receptor 1(DP1) on microglia by PGD2 upregulates PYDC3 (an inflammasome inhibitor), which protects against IL-1β-mediated neuroinflammation [164]. Deficiency in DP1 also correlates with reduced expression of IFN-I and -III, augmenting viral titer in the brain. Interestingly, upon viral infections, IFNAR signaling in BMECs reduces expression of IL-16 [15], likely via inhibition of inflammasome activity [166]. Additionally, type I IFNs act in synergy with MerTK (a member of TAM receptor tyrosine kinases) to activate Rac-1, which in turn improves TJ integrity [167].

Taken altogether, these studies suggest that innate immunity plays a central role in restricting viral replication in the CNS. This has the potential to be protective or detrimental, depending on the virus and magnitude of host immune response. The protective effect is mainly attributed to IFNAR signaling in CNS residential cells that not only limits local virus replication but also restricts additional viral entry or leukocyte infiltration by retaining BBB integrity.

Adaptive Immune Responses to Viruses that Impact BBB Function

Leukocyte migration across the BBB requires expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on brain endothelial cells (ECs). As mentioned above, under normal conditions, these molecules are expressed minimally on brain ECs to restrict immune cell interaction and extravasation into the CNS. However, elevated expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 has been frequently observed in infection with several neurotropic viruses [168–172]. Altered expression of these adhesion molecules mainly results from the activation of NF- κ B by ROS or ERK signaling pathway. For instance, HIV-1 Tat protein induces NADPH oxidase in astrocytes, which results in the upregulation of CAMs expression via NF- κ B signaling [173, 174]. Similarly, JEV infection augments ICAM-1 expression on brain endothelial cells through activation of ERK signaling pathway [171]. Interestingly, expression of CAMs on brain endothelium is downregulated by IFNAR signaling in astrocytes, which promotes BBB integrity during encephalitic viral infection [170]. Additionally, IFNAR signaling in astrocytes influences the composition of inflammatory cells recruited to the CNS upon viral infection [159].

Although immune cell infiltration is crucial for viral clearance in the CNS [147, 175, 176], it can cause BBB disruption and neuronal damage by potentiating neuroinflammation [104]. Studies have shown that immune cell infiltration precedes BBB disruption in mice infected with VEEV and tick-borne encephalitic virus (TBEV) [102, 172]. This is associated with increased expression of RANTES, CCL2, IP-10, ICAM-1, TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β in brain tissues [172]. Similarly, enhanced levels of CCL2 and RANTES have been reported in serum samples of TBE-infected human patients [177]. Activated monocytes produce CCL2 in response to viral infections, which promotes barrier permeability via alteration in the actin cytoskeleton and localization of TJ proteins [178, 179]. Additionally, infiltrating neutrophils and monocytes produce high levels of MMP8, which promotes myelomonocytic cell extravasation and vascular leakage upon infection with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) [180]. Consistently, depletion of both monocytes and neutrophils in LCMV-infected mice promotes BBB integrity and prolonged survival [181]. Notably, individual depletion of either cell type does not protect against vascular permeability.

As with monocytes, infiltrating lymphocytes can also induce BBB disruption by secreting inflammatory cytokines. Infected neurons produce CXCL10, which is a chemoattractant for CD4 and CD8 T cells [176]. Upon infection with rabies virus, CD4 T cells infiltrate into the CNS and differentiate into Th1 and Th17 that produce IFN- γ and IL-17, respectively [182, 183]. While IFN- γ reduces the expression of TJ proteins (i.e., occludin, claudin-5, and ZO-1), elevated levels of IL-17 disrupt TJ complexes in infected mice [182]. Consistently, blockage of IFN-y ameliorated BBB integrity in vivo, presumably by restoring expression of TJ proteins in brain endothelial cells [182]. Administration of IFN-y-neutralizing antibody also alleviated BBB disruption in JEV-infected mice [103]. CD8 T cells are also involved in vascular leakage during viral infection. They promote BBB disruption during infection with TMEV (Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus), by releasing perforin that disrupts TJ proteins [184]. Additionally, it has been suggested that interaction of CD8 T cells with neurons upregulates VEGF, which in turn promotes barrier dysfunction by dysregulating TJ complexes [184, 185]. Another mechanism by which cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) can cause vascular leakage involves degradation of the basal membrane via secretion of granzyme B. This allows CTLs to extravagate across brain vasculatures [186]. Upon extravasation, CD8 T cells release several

chemoattractants (e.g., CCL2, CCL3, and CCL4), which recruit monocytes and neutrophils to the CNS, thus indirectly leading to the loss of BBB function during viral infection [181].

Notably, physical interaction of infiltrating leukocytes with ICAM-1 on brain endothelium per se can promote vascular permeability by triggering generation of ROS in a NADPH oxidase and Rac-1-dependent manner [187–189]. Enhanced generation of ROS activates downstream tyrosine kinases (e.g., c-Src and PYK2), resulting in phosphorylation of VE-cadherin. This phosphorylation dissociates interaction of VE-cadherin with the actin cytoskeleton resulting in the disruption of adherent junctions. Likewise, TNF α and VEGF that are generated during viral infection [109, 120] trigger Rac-1-mediated ROS generation. ROS in turn promotes phosphorylation and internalization of VE-cadherin, leading to barrier dysfunction [188, 190, 191].

Collectively, the above studies suggest that upon viral infection, CNS residential cells release inflammatory cytokines/chemokines, which activate brain endothelium allowing immune cell infiltration. Infiltrating leukocytes provide microglia with costimulatory signals to eliminate infected cells. Additionally, cytotoxic T cells can directly kill infected cells contributing to viral clearance. Nonetheless, an excessive immune cell infiltration imposes severe structural damages to the cells of NVU, leading to barrier dysfunction.

Effects of Parasites on BBB Structure and Function

As with other pathogens, neurotropic parasites have evolved several strategies to disrupt the BBB promoting their entry into the brain. These include infection and lysis of brain ECs (e.g., *Toxoplasma gondii*), secretion of proteases and toxins (e.g., *trypanosoma* and a*canthamoeba*), and induction of inflammatory cytokines or matrix metalloproteinases [192].

Cerebral Malaria and BBB Function

Plasmodium falciparum, the causative agent of human cerebral malaria (HCM), is associated with disruption of BBB and severe vasculopathy. Infection of red blood cells (RBCs) by *P. falciparum* induces structural changes in their membrane that make them adhesive to other cell types. This results in the formation of mircoaggregates that can obstruct blood flow, leading to hypoxia, hypertension, and alteration of metabolites in the CNS [192]. Additionally, infected RBC (iRBC) can directly interact with brain vascular endothelium and promote BBB dysfunction. Indeed, adhesion and sequestration of iRBCs in brain vasculature are linked to the loss of BBB function in humans [193, 194]. In vitro studies also have shown that adherence of iRBCs to brain endothelium triggers barrier permeability via induction of apoptosis and disruption of TJ proteins (e.g., ZO-1) [195–197]. In mouse models of experimental cerebral malaria (ECM), BBB dysfunction correlates with platelet deposition and leukocyte arrest on the endothelium of postcapillary venules [198, 199]. Activated platelets augment BBB permeability by potentiating vascular damage induced by iRBC and impairing vascular repair. Similarly, leukocyte arrest, along with increased production of vasoconstrictive factors, impairs venous efflux from the CNS. This results in enhanced intracranial hypertension, vascular leakage, and hemorrhages [200, 201]. Among leukocytes, antigen-specific CD8 T cells and ICAM-1⁺ macrophages are particularly involved in the development of ECM [198]. Plasmodium species upregulate the expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, P-, and E-selectins both in human and mice, thus promoting immune cell extravasation into the CNS [202, 203]. Antigen-specific CD8 T cells trigger BBB permeability by secreting granzyme B and perforin that target TJ proteins and induce apoptosis in brain endothelial cells [204–206]. Nonetheless, endothelial cell death is not correlated with barrier dysfunction or development of ECM in other studies [198, 199]. Instead, BBB disruption is related to increased paracellular or transcellular transport, mediated by the interaction of leukocytes with postcapillary venules [199]. Furthermore, antigen-specific CD8 T cells activate brain endothelial cells by releasing IFN-y [207], which upregulates the expression of adhesion and antigenpresenting molecules selectively on cerebrovascular ECs but not peripheral ECs [207, 208]. Consistently, deficiency in IFN- γ or depletion of CD8 T cells results in complete protection against ECM by preventing barrier permeability and vascular hemorrhage [207, 209]. Likewise, co-infection with chikungunya virus (CHIKV) protects mice from ECM mortality by preventing pathogenic CD8 T cells from migration into the CNS [210].

Toxoplasmosis

Toxoplasmosis is one of the most common parasitic diseases that is caused by Toxoplasma gondii. In healthy individuals, infection is either mild or asymptomatic; however, it can cause life-threatening CNS complications in developing fetus or immunocompromised patient [211]. Upon infection, T. gondii can enter CNS via Trojan horse as well as direct infection of brain endothelial cells [192, 212]. During acute phase, the parasite induces an exacerbated inflammatory response, which then subsides during the chronic phase. Inflammatory response upregulates expression of VCAM-1 on brain endothelium to promote migration of CD4 T cells into the CNS, which is required for controlling parasite replication [213]. Nonetheless, sustained and intense leukocyte-endothelium interaction in postcapillary venules leads to the formation of plugging, which can interfere with blood flow and cause cerebral hypoperfusion [214, 215]. Additionally, T. gondii can infect, lyse, and induce structural and functional defects in brain endothelial cells [192, 215]. Furthermore, elevated levels of MMPs, inflammatory cytokines, and nitric oxide are reported during parasite infection, features associated with BBB disruption [216, 217].

Trypanosomiasis

Human African trypanosomiasis (HAT), also known as "sleeping sickness," is caused by Trypanosoma brucei. HAT is divided into two clinical stages: during the first stage, parasite replicates in the blood and lymphatic system. This is followed by a second stage when the parasite enters and establishes infection in the CNS, which can cause meningoencephalitis [218]. T. brucei initially enters the CNS through choroid plexus and circumventricular organs, likely by secreting a protease that degrades the basal lamina [219, 220]. During the early phase of CNS infection, production of IL-6 and IL-10 protects against neuroinflammation [221]. However, later in disease, activated microglia and astrocytes produce high levels of inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β , CXCL-8, CCL-2, and TNF- α), which can lead to severe neuropathology [222]. These inflammatory cytokines upregulate the expression of cells adhesion molecules (i.e., ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin) on brain endothelial cells, which promotes leukocyte migration into the CNS. Infiltrating lymphocytes are particularly involved in the entry of parasite across BBB. They secret IFN- γ , which in turn activates MMP9, a protease that degrades astrocytic basement membrane allowing paracellular entry of parasite into the CNS [219]. Consistently, enhanced expression of MMPs is reported during Trypanosoma infection [223, 224]. Additionally, IFN- γ augments the expression of CXCL-10 by astrocytes, which recruits more lymphocytes into the CNS [225]. Furthermore, T. brucei releases cysteine proteases that trigger protease-activated receptors (PARs) on BMECs, thereby promoting BBB dysfunction through enhancement of intracellular calcium level [226]. Interestingly, production of nitric oxide by perivascular macrophages restricts the entry of both parasites and activated T cells into the CNS by preserving BBB integrity [224].

Amoebic Encephalitis and BBB Effects

Acanthamoeba castellanii is a fatal infection of immunocompromised individuals and is associated with BBB dysfunction and has been shown to cause granulomatous encephalitis in immunocompromised patients. It invades the CNS through hematogenous pathway following disruption of the BBB [227]. A. castellanii interacts with BMECs through a mannose-binding protein that is expressed on the surface of its trophozoites. These interactions trigger degradation of TJ proteins (e.g., occludin and ZO-1) in a Rho kinase-dependent manner [228]. Additionally, parasite interaction can induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis through activation of phosphatidylinositol 3 kinases (PI3K) and inhibition of proteins that are involved in cell cycle progression [229, 230]. Similarly, cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of brain endothelial cells have been reported for *Balamuthia mandrillaris*, another parasite that is known to cause fatal amoebic meningoencephalitis [231]. Notably, host immune response plays a major role in the disruption of BBB during infection with *A. castellanii* and *Naegleria fowleri* [227, 232]. Since these amoebae are relatively large in size, they elicit an amplified immune response that not only compromises the BBB integrity but also causes neuronal damage [232].

Neurotropic parasites (e.g., *Trypanosoma*, *Acanthamoeba*, *and Balamuthia* species) are also known to produce and release a variety of proteases (e.g., cysteine and serine proteases and metalloproteinases) that target TJ proteins and the basal membrane of the BBB, leading to barrier dysfunction [233–236]. Proteases interact with protease-activated receptors on BMEC and stimulate calcium release from intracellular stores by activating phospholipase C (PLC) [226]. Increased calcium levels result in calmodulin activation of myosin light chain, which in turn augments intracellular contraction, leading to disruption of TJs between brain ECs [237].

Future Perspectives

Since the initial demonstration and appreciation of the specialized nature of the CNS microvasculature, researchers have learned that it is less an impermeable barrier and more a dynamic interface that senses and responds to the periphery. These responses are generally neuroprotective, such as the IFNAR-mediated increase in TJ integrity during viral invasion or the stringent regulation of T cell access that can promote efficient clearance of pathogens, such as T. gondii, without excessive immunopathology. Pathogens have evolved various mechanisms to exploit cellular and molecular processes that control the CNS access, such as the reduction in expression of ZO-1 induced by the B. anthracis edema toxin (ET). Host responses, in turn, regulate immune cell infiltration into the CNS via antigen-specific events that allow leukocyte localization, interactions, and egress from perivascular spaces such that inflammation is efficiently directed at pathogen elimination. The interaction of immune cells with BMECs destabilizes junctional molecules via cytokinemediated signaling events that alter the structural properties of these cells. Thus, the most severe outcomes in the context of neuroinfectious diseases that enter the CNS via the BBB arise from host inflammatory responses rather than due to direct effects of pathogens themselves. This is particularly evident in the context of autoimmune diseases of the CNS where leukocytes gain inappropriate access to the CNS and cause extensive damage without acute infection.

While we continue to improve our understanding of these processes, the challenge will be to better identify mechanisms that promote efficiency in immunemediated pathogen clearance while enhancing the CNS' own neuroprotective mechanisms. The use of animal models of neuroinfectious diseases that focus on various aspects of these processes in conjunction with the development of methods to isolate cellular participants, such as RiboTag or single cell RNA sequencing, in conjunction with cell-specific gene deletion strategies will permit cell-type-specific evaluation of mRNA expression and protein functions during the course of in vivo pathogen invasion, infection, and clearance. The advent of techniques in which human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) can be differentiated into all members of the NVU which are then incorporated into three-dimensional, fluid-based models of the human BBB also holds promise for identifying molecular players in this process and validating results in human systems. Future studies are likely to uncover novel neuroimmune pathways that may be safely targeted to prevent or treat infections of the CNS while also providing strategies for manipulating BBB function for the purposes of drug delivery or immunotherapies for noninfectious neurologic diseases.

References

- 1. Battelli F, Stern L. Die Oxydationsfermente. Ergeb Physiol. 1912;12:96-268.
- Barker RA, Widner H. Immune problems in central nervous system cell therapy. NeuroRx. 2004;1(4):472–81. https://doi.org/10.1602/neurorx.1.4.472. PubMed PMID: 15717048; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC534953.
- Medawar PB. Immunity to homologous grafted skin; the fate of skin homografts transplanted to the brain, to subcutaneous tissue, and to the anterior chamber of the eye. Br J Exp Pathol. 1948;29(1):58–69. PubMed PMID: 18865105; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2073079.
- Wilson EH, Weninger W, Hunter CA. Trafficking of immune cells in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(5):1368–79. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI41911. PubMed PMID: 20440079; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2860945.
- Liebner S, Dijkhuizen RM, Reiss Y, Plate KH, Agalliu D, Constantin G. Functional morphology of the blood-brain barrier in health and disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2018;135(3):311–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-018-1815-1. PubMed PMID: 29411111.
- Gottschall PE, Howell MD. ADAMTS expression and function in central nervous system injury and disorders. Matrix Biol. 2015;44–46:70–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2015.01.014. PubMed PMID: 25622912; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5068130.
- Laguri C, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Lortat-Jacob H. Relationships between glycosaminoglycan and receptor binding sites in chemokines-the CXCL12 example. Carbohydr Res. 2008;343(12):2018–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carres.2008.01.047. PubMed PMID: 18334249.
- Zhang X, Wang B, Li JP. Implications of heparan sulfate and heparanase in neuroinflammation. Matrix Biol. 2014;35:174–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2013.12.009. PubMed PMID: 24398134.
- Komarova YA, Kruse K, Mehta D, Malik AB. Protein interactions at endothelial junctions and signaling mechanisms regulating endothelial permeability. Circ Res. 2017;120(1):179– 206. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.306534. PubMed PMID: 28057793; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5225667.
- Ramos CJ, Antonetti DA. The role of small GTPases and EPAC-Rap signaling in the regulation of the blood-brain and blood-retinal barriers. Tissue Barriers. 2017;5(3):e1339768. https://doi.org/10.1080/21688370.2017.1339768. PubMed PMID: 28632993; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5571780.
- Wolburg H, Noell S, Mack A, Wolburg-Buchholz K, Fallier-Becker P. Brain endothelial cells and the glio-vascular complex. Cell Tissue Res. 2009;335(1):75–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00441-008-0658-9. PubMed PMID: 18633647.
- Liu L, Brown D, McKee M, Lebrasseur NK, Yang D, Albrecht KH, et al. Deletion of Cavin/ PTRF causes global loss of caveolae, dyslipidemia, and glucose intolerance. Cell Metab. 2008;8(4):310–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.07.008. PubMed PMID: 18840361; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2581738.
- Echarri A, Del Pozo MA. Caveolae mechanosensitive membrane invaginations linked to actin filaments. J Cell Sci. 2015;128(15):2747–58. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.153940. PubMed PMID: 26159735.

- Razani B, Lisanti MP. Caveolin-deficient mice: insights into caveolar function human disease. J Clin Invest. 2001;108(11):1553–61. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI14611. PubMed PMID: 11733547; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC201001.
- Daniels BP, Holman DW, Cruz-Orengo L, Jujjavarapu H, Durrant DM, Klein RS. Viral pathogen-associated molecular patterns regulate blood-brain barrier integrity via competing innate cytokine signals. MBio. 2014;5(5):e01476–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01476-14. PubMed PMID: 25161189; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4173776.
- Baruch K, Schwartz M. CNS-specific T cells shape brain function via the choroid plexus. Brain Behav Immun. 2013;34:11–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2013.04.002. PubMed PMID: 23597431.
- Brynskikh A, Warren T, Zhu J, Kipnis J. Adaptive immunity affects learning behavior in mice. Brain Behav Immun. 2008;22(6):861–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2007.12.008. PubMed PMID: 18249087.
- Derecki NC, Cardani AN, Yang CH, Quinnies KM, Crihfield A, Lynch KR, et al. Regulation of learning and memory by meningeal immunity: a key role for IL-4. J Exp Med. 2010;207(5):1067–80. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20091419. PubMed PMID: 20439540; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2867291.
- Derecki NC, Quinnies KM, Kipnis J. Alternatively activated myeloid (M2) cells enhance cognitive function in immune compromised mice. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;25(3):379– 85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2010.11.009. PubMed PMID: 21093578; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3039052.
- Kipnis J. Multifaceted interactions between adaptive immunity and the central nervous system. Science. 2016;353(6301):766–71. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aag2638. PubMed PMID: 27540163; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5590839.
- Kipnis J, Cohen H, Cardon M, Ziv Y, Schwartz M. T cell deficiency leads to cognitive dysfunction: implications for therapeutic vaccination for schizophrenia and other psychiatric conditions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(21):8180–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0402268101. PubMed PMID: 15141078; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC419577.
- 22. Radjavi A, Smirnov I, Derecki N, Kipnis J. Dynamics of the meningeal CD4(+) T-cell repertoire are defined by the cervical lymph nodes and facilitate cognitive task performance in mice. Mol Psychiatry. 2014;19(5):531–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.79. PubMed PMID: 23752249; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3773254.
- Engelhardt B, Carare RO, Bechmann I, Flugel A, Laman JD, Weller RO. Vascular, glial, and lymphatic immune gateways of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;132:317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1606-5. PubMed PMID: 27522506.
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. Nature. 2015;523(7560):337–41. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14432. PubMed PMID: 26030524; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4506234.
- Aspelund A, Antila S, Proulx ST, Karlsen TV, Karaman S, Detmar M, et al. A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules. J Exp Med. 2015;212(7):991–9. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20142290. PubMed PMID: 26077718; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4493418.
- Brinker T, Stopa E, Morrison J, Klinge P. A new look at cerebrospinal fluid circulation. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2014;11:10. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-8118-11-10. PubMed PMID: 24817998; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4016637.
- McCandless EE, Wang Q, Woerner BM, Harper JM, Klein RS. CXCL12 limits inflammation by localizing mononuclear infiltrates to the perivascular space during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2006;177(11):8053–64. PubMed PMID: 17114479.
- McCandless EE, Zhang B, Diamond MS, Klein RS. CXCR4 antagonism increases T cell trafficking in the central nervous system and improves survival from West Nile virus encephalitis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(32):11270–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0800898105. PubMed PMID: 18678898; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2495012.

- Durrant DM, Daniels BP, Klein RS. IL-1R1 signaling regulates CXCL12-mediated T cell localization and fate within the central nervous system during West Nile Virus encephalitis. J Immunol. 2014;193(8):4095–106. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1401192. PubMed PMID: 25200953; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4340598.
- Okada T, Ngo VN, Ekland EH, Forster R, Lipp M, Littman DR, et al. Chemokine requirements for B cell entry to lymph nodes and Peyer's patches. J Exp Med. 2002;196(1):65–75. PubMed PMID: 12093871; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2194009.
- Cruz-Orengo L, Holman DW, Dorsey D, Zhou L, Zhang P, Wright M, et al. CXCR7 influences leukocyte entry into the CNS parenchyma by controlling abluminal CXCL12 abundance during autoimmunity. J Exp Med. 2011;208(2):327–39. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20102010. PubMed PMID: 21300915; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3039853.
- Daneman R, Zhou L, Kebede AA, Barres BA. Pericytes are required for blood-brain barrier integrity during embryogenesis. Nature. 2010;468(7323):562–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature09513. PubMed PMID: 20944625; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3241506.
- 33. Nikolakopoulou AM, Zhao Z, Montagne A, Zlokovic BV. Regional early and progressive loss of brain pericytes but not vascular smooth muscle cells in adult mice with disrupted plateletderived growth factor receptor-beta signaling. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0176225. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176225. PubMed PMID: 28441414; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5404855.
- Maragakis NJ, Rothstein JD. Mechanisms of Disease: astrocytes in neurodegenerative disease. Nat Clin Pract Neurol. 2006;2(12):679–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpneuro0355. PubMed PMID: 17117171.
- Zonta M, Angulo MC, Gobbo S, Rosengarten B, Hossmann KA, Pozzan T, et al. Neuron-toastrocyte signaling is central to the dynamic control of brain microcirculation. Nat Neurosci. 2003;6(1):43–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn980. PubMed PMID: 12469126.
- Abbott NJ, Ronnback L, Hansson E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2006;7(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1824. PubMed PMID: 16371949.
- Nag S. Morphology and properties of astrocytes. Methods Mol Biol. 2011;686:69–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-938-3_3. PubMed PMID: 21082367.
- Theis M, Sohl G, Eiberger J, Willecke K. Emerging complexities in identity and function of glial connexins. Trends Neurosci. 2005;28(4):188–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tins.2005.02.006. PubMed PMID: 15808353.
- Alvarez JI, Katayama T, Prat A. Glial influence on the blood brain barrier. Glia. 2013;61(12):1939–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22575. PubMed PMID: 24123158; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4068281.
- Lee SW, Kim WJ, Choi YK, Song HS, Son MJ, Gelman IH, et al. SSeCKS regulates angiogenesis and tight junction formation in blood-brain barrier. Nat Med. 2003;9(7):900–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm889. PubMed PMID: 12808449.
- Cabezas R, Avila M, Gonzalez J, El-Bacha RS, Baez E, Garcia-Segura LM, et al. Astrocytic modulation of blood brain barrier: perspectives on Parkinson's disease. Front Cell Neurosci. 2014;8:211. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00211. PubMed PMID: 25136294; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4120694.
- Balda MS, Gonzalez-Mariscal L, Contreras RG, Macias-Silva M, Torres-Marquez ME, Garcia-Sainz JA, et al. Assembly and sealing of tight junctions: possible participation of G-proteins, phospholipase C, protein kinase C and calmodulin. J Membr Biol. 1991;122(3):193–202. PubMed PMID: 1920385.
- 43. Matter K, Balda MS. Signalling to and from tight junctions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2003;4(3):225–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1055. PubMed PMID: 12612641.
- Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M. The blood-brain barrier: an overview: structure, regulation, and clinical implications. Neurobiol Dis. 2004;16(1):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nbd.2003.12.016. PubMed PMID: 15207256.

- 45. Andreeva AY, Piontek J, Blasig IE, Utepbergenov DI. Assembly of tight junction is regulated by the antagonism of conventional and novel protein kinase C isoforms. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2006;38(2):222–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2005.09.001. PubMed PMID: 16257565.
- 46. Borisow N, Mori M, Kuwabara S, Scheel M, Paul F. Diagnosis and treatment of NMO spectrum disorder and MOG-encephalomyelitis. Front Neurol. 2018;9:888. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00888. PubMed PMID: 30405519; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6206299.
- 47. Kessler RA, Mealy MA, Jimenez-Arango JA, Quan C, Paul F, Lopez R, et al. Anti-aquaporin-4 titer is not predictive of disease course in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: a multicenter cohort study. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2017;17:198–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msard.2017.08.005. PubMed PMID: 29055457.
- 48. Wang Y, Zhu M, Liu C, Han J, Lang W, Gao Y, et al. Blood brain barrier permeability could be a biomarker to predict severity of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: a retrospective analysis. Front Neurol. 2018;9:648. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00648. PubMed PMID: 30131763; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6090143.
- Saikali P, Cayrol R, Vincent T. Anti-aquaporin-4 auto-antibodies orchestrate the pathogenesis in neuromyelitis optica. Autoimmun Rev. 2009;9(2):132–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. autrev.2009.04.004. PubMed PMID: 19389490.
- Papadopoulos MC, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Treatment of neuromyelitis optica: state-of-theart and emerging therapies. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10(9):493–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrneurol.2014.141. PubMed PMID: 25112508; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4229040.
- Asgari N, Berg CT, Morch MT, Khorooshi R, Owens T. Cerebrospinal fluid aquaporin-4immunoglobulin G disrupts blood brain barrier. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2015;2(8):857–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.221. PubMed PMID: 26339679; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4554446.
- 52. Shimizu F, Sano Y, Takahashi T, Haruki H, Saito K, Koga M, et al. Sera from neuromyelitis optica patients disrupt the blood-brain barrier. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83(3):288–97. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2011-300434. PubMed PMID: 22100760.
- 53. Tomizawa Y, Yokoyama K, Saiki S, Takahashi T, Matsuoka J, Hattori N. Blood-brain barrier disruption is more severe in neuromyelitis optica than in multiple sclerosis and correlates with clinical disability. J Int Med Res. 2012;40(4):1483–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/147323001204000427. PubMed PMID: 22971500.
- 54. Vincent T, Saikali P, Cayrol R, Roth AD, Bar-Or A, Prat A, et al. Functional consequences of neuromyelitis optica-IgG astrocyte interactions on blood-brain barrier permeability and granulocyte recruitment. J Immunol. 2008;181(8):5730–7. PubMed PMID: 18832732.
- 55. Hosokawa T, Nakajima H, Doi Y, Sugino M, Kimura F, Hanafusa T, et al. Increased serum matrix metalloproteinase-9 in neuromyelitis optica: implication of disruption of blood-brain barrier. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;236(1–2):81–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.04.009. PubMed PMID: 21621856.
- Spencer JI, Bell JS, DeLuca GC. Vascular pathology in multiple sclerosis: reframing pathogenesis around the blood-brain barrier. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2018;89(1):42–52. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2017-316011. PubMed PMID: 28860328.
- Filippi M, Bar-Or A, Piehl F, Preziosa P, Solari A, Vukusic S, et al. Multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4(1):43. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-018-0041-4. PubMed PMID: 30410033.
- Lassmann H. Multiple sclerosis pathology. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2018;8(3). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a028936. PubMed PMID: 29358320.
- Claudio L, Raine CS, Brosnan CF. Evidence of persistent blood-brain barrier abnormalities in chronic-progressive multiple sclerosis. Acta Neuropathol. 1995;90(3):228–38. PubMed PMID: 8525795.
- 60. Uchida Y, Sumiya T, Tachikawa M, Yamakawa T, Murata S, Yagi Y, et al. Involvement of claudin-11 in disruption of blood-brain, -spinal cord, and -arachnoid barriers in multiple sclerosis. Mol Neurobiol. 2018;56:2039. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1207-5. PubMed PMID: 29984400.

- Cruz-Orengo L, Daniels BP, Dorsey D, Basak SA, Grajales-Reyes JG, McCandless EE, et al. Enhanced sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 expression underlies female CNS autoimmunity susceptibility. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(6):2571–84. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI73408. PubMed PMID: 24812668; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4089451.
- Motyl J, Strosznajder JB. Sphingosine kinase 1/sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors dependent signalling in neurodegenerative diseases. The promising target for neuroprotection in Parkinson's disease. Pharmacol Rep. 2018;70(5):1010–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pharep.2018.05.002. PubMed PMID: 30138818.
- 63. Tsai HC, Han MH. Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P) and S1P signaling pathway: therapeutic targets in autoimmunity and inflammation. Drugs. 2016;76(11):1067–79. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40265-016-0603-2. PubMed PMID: 27318702.
- Healy LM, Antel JP. Sphingosine-1-Phosphate receptors in the central nervous and immune systems. Curr Drug Targets. 2016;17(16):1841–50. PubMed PMID: 26424391.
- 65. McCandless EE, Piccio L, Woerner BM, Schmidt RE, Rubin JB, Cross AH, et al. Pathological expression of CXCL12 at the blood-brain barrier correlates with severity of multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol. 2008;172(3):799–808. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2008.070918. PubMed PMID: 18276777; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2258272.
- McGinley AM, Edwards SC, Raverdeau M, Mills KHG. Th17cells, gammadelta T cells and their interplay in EAE and multiple sclerosis. J Autoimmun. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaut.2018.01.001. PubMed PMID: 29395738.
- McCandless EE, Budde M, Lees JR, Dorsey D, Lyng E, Klein RS. IL-1R signaling within the central nervous system regulates CXCL12 expression at the blood-brain barrier and disease severity during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2009;183(1):613– 20. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0802258. PubMed PMID: 19535637; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2892701.
- Champagne E. gammadelta T cell receptor ligands and modes of antigen recognition. Arch Immunol Ther Exp. 2011;59(2):117–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00005-011-0118-1. PubMed PMID: 21298486; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3317888.
- 69. Axtell RC, de Jong BA, Boniface K, van der Voort LF, Bhat R, De Sarno P, et al. T helper type 1 and 17 cells determine efficacy of interferon-beta in multiple sclerosis and experimental encephalomyelitis. Nat Med. 2010;16(4):406–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2110. PubMed PMID: 20348925; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3042885.
- Toplak N, Blazina S, Avcin T. The role of IL-1 inhibition in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: current status and future perspectives. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2018;12:1633–43. https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S114532. PubMed PMID: 29922038; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5996857.
- Kim BS, Park YJ, Chung Y. Targeting IL-17 in autoimmunity and inflammation. Arch Pharm Res. 2016;39(11):1537–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-016-0823-8. PubMed PMID: 27576555.
- Hanes MS, Salanga CL, Chowdry AB, Comerford I, McColl SR, Kufareva I, et al. Dual targeting of the chemokine receptors CXCR4 and ACKR3 with novel engineered chemokines. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(37):22385–97. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.675108. PubMed PMID: 26216880; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4566214.
- 73. van Horssen J, Brink BP, de Vries HE, van der Valk P, Bo L. The blood-brain barrier in cortical multiple sclerosis lesions. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2007;66(4):321–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/nen.0b013e318040b2de. PubMed PMID: 17413323.
- Akaishi T, Takahashi T, Nakashima I. Oligoclonal bands and periventricular lesions in multiple sclerosis will not increase blood-brain barrier permeability. J Neurol Sci. 2018;387:129–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2018.02.020. PubMed PMID: 29571849.
- Lee NJ, Ha SK, Sati P, Absinta M, Luciano NJ, Lefeuvre JA, et al. Spatiotemporal distribution of fibrinogen in marmoset and human inflammatory demyelination. Brain. 2018;141(6):1637–49. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy082. PubMed PMID: 29688408; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5972667.

- Lucas MJ, Brouwer MC, van de Beek D. Neurological sequelae of bacterial meningitis. J Infect. 2016;73(1):18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2016.04.009. PubMed PMID: 27105658.
- 77. Neal JW, Gasque P. How does the brain limit the severity of inflammation and tissue injury during bacterial meningitis? J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2013;72(5):370–85. https://doi. org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e3182909f2f. PubMed PMID: 23584204.
- Iovino F, Engelen-Lee JY, Brouwer M, van de Beek D, van der Ende A, Valls Seron M, et al. pIgR and PECAM-1 bind to pneumococcal adhesins RrgA and PspC mediating bacterial brain invasion. J Exp Med. 2017;214(6):1619–30. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20161668. PubMed PMID: 28515075; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5461002.
- Barichello T, dos Santos I, Savi GD, Simoes LR, Silvestre T, Comim CM, et al. TNF-alpha, IL-1beta, IL-6, and cinc-1 levels in rat brain after meningitis induced by Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;221(1–2):42–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.02.009. PubMed PMID: 20202693.
- Barichello T, Generoso JS, Silvestre C, Costa CS, Carrodore MM, Cipriano AL, et al. Circulating concentrations, cerebral output of the CINC-1 and blood-brain barrier disruption in Wistar rats after pneumococcal meningitis induction. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012;31(8):2005–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-011-1533-2. PubMed PMID: 22302624.
- Storz C, Schutz C, Tluway A, Matuja W, Schmutzhard E, Winkler AS. Clinical findings and management of patients with meningitis with an emphasis on Haemophilus influenzae meningitis in rural Tanzania. J Neurol Sci. 2016;366:52–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jns.2016.04.044. PubMed PMID: 27288776.
- Zysk G, Schneider-Wald BK, Hwang JH, Bejo L, Kim KS, Mitchell TJ, et al. Pneumolysin is the main inducer of cytotoxicity to brain microvascular endothelial cells caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae. Infect Immun. 2001;69(2):845–52. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.2.845-852.2001. PubMed PMID: 11159977; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC97961.
- Coureuil M, Lecuyer H, Bourdoulous S, Nassif X. A journey into the brain: insight into how bacterial pathogens cross blood-brain barriers. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2017;15(3):149–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.178. PubMed PMID: 28090076.
- 84. Drevets DA, Dillon MJ, Schawang JS, Van Rooijen N, Ehrchen J, Sunderkotter C, et al. The Ly-6Chigh monocyte subpopulation transports Listeria monocytogenes into the brain during systemic infection of mice. J Immunol. 2004;172(7):4418–24. PubMed PMID: 15034057.
- Drevets DA, Leenen PJ, Greenfield RA. Invasion of the central nervous system by intracellular bacteria. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2004;17(2):323–47. PubMed PMID: 15084504; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC387409.
- 86. Grundler T, Quednau N, Stump C, Orian-Rousseau V, Ishikawa H, Wolburg H, et al. The surface proteins InIA and InIB are interdependently required for polar basolateral invasion by Listeria monocytogenes in a human model of the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier. Microbes Infect. 2013;15(4):291–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2012.12.005. PubMed PMID: 23376167.
- Kayal S, Lilienbaum A, Join-Lambert O, Li X, Israel A, Berche P. Listeriolysin O secreted by Listeria monocytogenes induces NF-kappaB signalling by activating the IkappaB kinase complex. Mol Microbiol. 2002;44(5):1407–19. PubMed PMID: 12028384.
- Bartt R. Listeria and atypical presentations of Listeria in the central nervous system. Semin Neurol. 2000;20(3):361–73. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2000-9398. PubMed PMID: 11051300.
- Inglesby TV, O'Toole T, Henderson DA, Bartlett JG, Ascher MS, Eitzen E, et al. Anthrax as a biological weapon, 2002: updated recommendations for management. JAMA. 2002;287(17):2236–52. PubMed PMID: 11980524.
- Ramarao N, Lereclus D. The InhA1 metalloprotease allows spores of the B. cereus group to escape macrophages. Cell Microbiol. 2005;7(9):1357–64. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00562.x. PubMed PMID: 16098222.
- Ebrahimi CM, Kern JW, Sheen TR, Ebrahimi-Fardooee MA, van Sorge NM, Schneewind O, et al. Penetration of the blood-brain barrier by Bacillus anthracis requires the pXO1-encoded BslA protein. J Bacteriol. 2009;191(23):7165–73. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00903-09. PubMed PMID: 19820089; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2786561.

- Kern J, Schneewind O. BslA, the S-layer adhesin of B. anthracis, is a virulence factor for anthrax pathogenesis. Mol Microbiol. 2010;75(2):324–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2958.2009.06958.x. PubMed PMID: 19906175; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2828814.
- Moayeri M, Leppla SH, Vrentas C, Pomerantsev AP, Liu S. Anthrax pathogenesis. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2015;69:185–208. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-091014-104523. PubMed PMID: 26195305.
- Scheifele D. Hib conjugate vaccines: lessons learned. Int J Clin Pract Suppl. 2001;(118):8–9. PubMed PMID: 11715364.
- Al-Obaidi MMJ, Desa MNM. Mechanisms of blood brain barrier disruption by different types of bacteria, and bacterial-host interactions facilitate the bacterial pathogen invading the brain. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2018;38(7):1349–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-018-0609-2. PubMed PMID: 30117097.
- 96. Orihuela CJ, Mahdavi J, Thornton J, Mann B, Wooldridge KG, Abouseada N, et al. Laminin receptor initiates bacterial contact with the blood brain barrier in experimental meningitis models. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(6):1638–46. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI36759. PubMed PMID: 19436113; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2689107.
- 97. Saez-Llorens X, Jafari HS, Severien C, Parras F, Olsen KD, Hansen EJ, et al. Enhanced attenuation of meningeal inflammation and brain edema by concomitant administration of anti-CD18 monoclonal antibodies and dexamethasone in experimental Haemophilus meningitis. J Clin Invest. 1991;88(6):2003–11. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115527. PubMed PMID: 1684364; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC295788.
- Roos KL. Acute bacterial meningitis. Semin Neurol. 2000;20(3):293–306. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-2000-9393. PubMed PMID: 11051294.
- 99. Oordt-Speets AM, Bolijn R, van Hoorn RC, Bhavsar A, Kyaw MH. Global etiology of bacterial meningitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2018;13(6):e0198772. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198772. PubMed PMID: 29889859; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5995389 performed under contract by Pallas Health Research and Consultancy, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. AMO, RB, and RCH are employees of Pallas Health Research and Consultancy, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. AB and MHK are employees of Sanofi-Pasteur. This does not alter our adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.
- 100. Sa ECC, Griffiths NJ, Murillo I, Virji M. Neisseria meningitidis Opc invasin binds to the cytoskeletal protein alpha-actinin. Cell Microbiol. 2009;11(3):389–405. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01262.x. PubMed PMID: 19016781; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2688670.
- 101. Virji M. Pathogenic neisseriae: surface modulation, pathogenesis and infection control. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2009;7(4):274–86. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2097. PubMed PMID: 19287450.
- 102. Cain MD, Salimi H, Gong Y, Yang L, Hamilton SL, Heffernan JR, et al. Virus entry and replication in the brain precedes blood-brain barrier disruption during intranasal alphavirus infection. J Neuroimmunol. 2017;308:118–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.04.008. PubMed PMID: 28501330; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5694394.
- 103. Li F, Wang Y, Yu L, Cao S, Wang K, Yuan J, et al. Viral infection of the central nervous system and neuroinflammation precede blood-brain barrier disruption during Japanese encephalitis virus infection. J Virol. 2015;89(10):5602–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00143-15. PubMed PMID: 25762733; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4442524.
- 104. Roe K, Kumar M, Lum S, Orillo B, Nerurkar VR, West VS. Nile virus-induced disruption of the blood-brain barrier in mice is characterized by the degradation of the junctional complex proteins and increase in multiple matrix metalloproteinases. J Gen Virol. 2012;93(Pt 6):1193–203. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.040899-0. PubMed PMID: 22398316; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3755517.
- 105. Schafer A, Brooke CB, Whitmore AC, Johnston RE. The role of the blood-brain barrier during Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus infection. J Virol. 2011;85(20):10682–90. https:// doi.org/10.1128/JVI.05032-11. PubMed PMID: 21849461; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3187510.

- 106. Salimi H, Cain MD, Klein RS. Encephalitic arboviruses: emergence, clinical presentation, and neuropathogenesis. Neurotherapeutics. 2016;13(3):514–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-016-0443-5. PubMed PMID: 27220616; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4965410.
- 107. Gralinski LE, Ashley SL, Dixon SD, Spindler KR. Mouse adenovirus type 1-induced breakdown of the blood-brain barrier. J Virol. 2009;83(18):9398–410. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVI.00954-09. PubMed PMID: 19570856; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2738240.
- 108. Kajon AE, Brown CC, Spindler KR. Distribution of mouse adenovirus type 1 in intraperitoneally and intranasally infected adult outbred mice. J Virol. 1998;72(2):1219–23. PubMed PMID: 9445021; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC124599.
- 109. Wang K, Wang H, Lou W, Ma L, Li Y, Zhang N, et al. IP-10 promotes blood-brain barrier damage by inducing tumor necrosis factor alpha production in Japanese encephalitis. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1148. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01148. PubMed PMID: 29910805; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5992377.
- Dallasta LM, Pisarov LA, Esplen JE, Werley JV, Moses AV, Nelson JA, et al. Blood-brain barrier tight junction disruption in human immunodeficiency virus-1 encephalitis. Am J Pathol. 1999;155(6):1915–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65511-3. PubMed PMID: 10595922; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1866950.
- 111. Bleau C, Filliol A, Samson M, Lamontagne L. Brain invasion by mouse hepatitis virus depends on impairment of tight junctions and beta interferon production in brain microvascular endothelial cells. J Virol. 2015;89(19):9896–908. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01501-15. PubMed PMID: 26202229; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4577898.
- 112. Song HY, Ju SM, Seo WY, Goh AR, Lee JK, Bae YS, et al. Nox2-based NADPH oxidase mediates HIV-1 Tat-induced up-regulation of VCAM-1/ICAM-1 and subsequent monocyte adhesion in human astrocytes. Free Radic Biol Med. 2011;50(5):576–84. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.12.019. PubMed PMID: 21172429.
- 113. Keck F, Brooks-Faulconer T, Lark T, Ravishankar P, Bailey C, Salvador-Morales C, et al. Altered mitochondrial dynamics as a consequence of Venezuelan Equine encephalitis virus infection. Virulence. 2017;8(8):1849–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/21505594.2016.1276690. PubMed PMID: 28075229; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5810500.
- 114. Masanetz S, Lehmann MH. HIV-1 Nef increases astrocyte sensitivity towards exogenous hydrogen peroxide. Virol J. 2011;8:35. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-35. PubMed PMID: 21255447; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3038946.
- 115. Louboutin JP, Agrawal L, Reyes BA, Van Bockstaele EJ, Strayer DS. HIV-1 gp120induced injury to the blood-brain barrier: role of metalloproteinases 2 and 9 and relationship to oxidative stress. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2010;69(8):801–16. https://doi. org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181e8c96f. PubMed PMID: 20613638; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4707960.
- 116. Thangaraj A, Periyasamy P, Liao K, Bendi VS, Callen S, Pendyala G, et al. HIV-1 TATmediated microglial activation: role of mitochondrial dysfunction and defective mitophagy. Autophagy. 2018;14(9):1596–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2018.1476810. PubMed PMID: 29966509; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6135576.
- 117. Wang T, Campbell RV, Yi MK, Lemon SM, Weinman SA. Role of Hepatitis C virus core protein in viral-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. J Viral Hepat. 2010;17(11):784–93. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2893.2009.01238.x. PubMed PMID: 20002299; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2970657.
- 118. Wang P, Dai J, Bai F, Kong KF, Wong SJ, Montgomery RR, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase 9 facilitates West Nile virus entry into the brain. J Virol. 2008;82(18):8978–85. https:// doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00314-08. PubMed PMID: 18632868; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2546894.
- 119. Ashley SL, Pretto CD, Stier MT, Kadiyala P, Castro-Jorge L, Hsu TH, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase activity in infections by an encephalitic virus, mouse adenovirus type 1. J Virol. 2017;91(6). https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01412-16. PubMed PMID: 28053109; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5331797.

- Chang CY, Li JR, Chen WY, Ou YC, Lai CY, Hu YH, et al. Disruption of in vitro endothelial barrier integrity by Japanese encephalitis virus-Infected astrocytes. Glia. 2015;63(11):1915– 32. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22857. PubMed PMID: 25959931.
- 121. Loffek S, Schilling O, Franzke CW. Series "matrix metalloproteinases in lung health and disease": biological role of matrix metalloproteinases: a critical balance. Eur Respir J. 2011;38(1):191–208. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00146510. PubMed PMID: 21177845.
- 122. Xing Y, Shepherd N, Lan J, Li W, Rane S, Gupta SK, et al. MMPs/TIMPs imbalances in the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid are associated with the pathogenesis of HIV-1-associated neurocognitive disorders. Brain Behav Immun. 2017;65:161–72. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.04.024. PubMed PMID: 28487203; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5793222.
- Schafer A, Whitmore AC, Konopka JL, Johnston RE. Replicon particles of Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus as a reductionist murine model for encephalitis. J Virol. 2009;83(9):4275– 86. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02383-08. PubMed PMID: 19225006; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2668494.
- 124. Andras IE, Pu H, Tian J, Deli MA, Nath A, Hennig B, et al. Signaling mechanisms of HIV-1 Tat-induced alterations of claudin-5 expression in brain endothelial cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2005;25(9):1159–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600115. PubMed PMID: 15815581.
- 125. Aghajanian A, Wittchen ES, Campbell SL, Burridge K. Direct activation of RhoA by reactive oxygen species requires a redox-sensitive motif. PLoS One. 2009;4(11):e8045. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008045. PubMed PMID: 19956681; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2778012.
- 126. Harijith A, Ebenezer DL, Natarajan V. Reactive oxygen species at the crossroads of inflammasome and inflammation. Front Physiol. 2014;5:352. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphys.2014.00352. PubMed PMID: 25324778; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4179323.
- 127. Afonso PV, Ozden S, Cumont MC, Seilhean D, Cartier L, Rezaie P, et al. Alteration of bloodbrain barrier integrity by retroviral infection. PLoS Pathog. 2008;4(11):e1000205. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000205. PubMed PMID: 19008946; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2575404.
- Park BH, Lavi E, Blank KJ, Gaulton GN. Intracerebral hemorrhages and syncytium formation induced by endothelial cell infection with a murine leukemia virus. J Virol. 1993;67(10):6015– 24. PubMed PMID: 8396666; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC238022.
- 129. Erbar S, Maisner A. Nipah virus infection and glycoprotein targeting in endothelial cells. Virol J. 2010;7:305. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-7-305. PubMed PMID: 21054904; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2991316.
- Rockx B, Brining D, Kramer J, Callison J, Ebihara H, Mansfield K, et al. Clinical outcome of henipavirus infection in hamsters is determined by the route and dose of infection. J Virol. 2011;85(15):7658–71. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00473-11. PubMed PMID: 21593160; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3147900.
- 131. Wong KT, Robertson T, Ong BB, Chong JW, Yaiw KC, Wang LF, et al. Human Hendra virus infection causes acute and relapsing encephalitis. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2009;35(3):296–305. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2990.2008.00991.x. PubMed PMID: 19473296.
- 132. Al-Obaidi MMJ, Bahadoran A, Har LS, Mui WS, Rajarajeswaran J, Zandi K, et al. Japanese encephalitis virus disrupts blood-brain barrier and modulates apoptosis proteins in THBMEC cells. Virus Res. 2017;233:17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2017.02.012. PubMed PMID: 28279803.
- 133. Westendorp MO, Frank R, Ochsenbauer C, Stricker K, Dhein J, Walczak H, et al. Sensitization of T cells to CD95-mediated apoptosis by HIV-1 Tat and gp120. Nature. 1995;375(6531):497– 500. https://doi.org/10.1038/375497a0. PubMed PMID: 7539892.

- 134. Pu H, Hayashi K, Andras IE, Eum SY, Hennig B, Toborek M. Limited role of COX-2 in HIV Tat-induced alterations of tight junction protein expression and disruption of the bloodbrain barrier. Brain Res. 2007;1184:333–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2007.09.063. PubMed PMID: 17976544.
- 135. Davidson DC, Hirschman MP, Sun A, Singh MV, Kasischke K, Maggirwar SB. Excess soluble CD40L contributes to blood brain barrier permeability in vivo: implications for HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e51793. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051793. PubMed PMID: 23251626; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3520914.
- 136. Jones LD, Jackson JW, Maggirwar SB. Modeling HIV-1 induced neuroinflammation in mice: role of platelets in mediating blood-brain barrier dysfunction. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0151702. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151702. PubMed PMID: 26986758; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4795798.
- 137. Corrales-Medina VF, Simkins J, Chirinos JA, Serpa JA, Horstman LL, Jy W, et al. Increased levels of platelet microparticles in HIV-infected patients with good response to highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;54(2):217–8. https://doi. org/10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181c8f4c9. PubMed PMID: 20505474.
- 138. Sui Z, Sniderhan LF, Schifitto G, Phipps RP, Gelbard HA, Dewhurst S, et al. Functional synergy between CD40 ligand and HIV-1 Tat contributes to inflammation: implications in HIV type 1 dementia. J Immunol. 2007;178(5):3226–36. PubMed PMID: 17312171.
- 139. Vibin M, Siva Priya SG, NR B, Sasikala V, Sahasranamam V, Abraham A. Broccoli regulates protein alterations and cataractogenesis in selenite models. Curr Eye Res. 2010;35(2):99– 107. https://doi.org/10.3109/02713680903428991. PubMed PMID: 20136419.
- 140. Carty M, Reinert L, Paludan SR, Bowie AG. Innate antiviral signalling in the central nervous system. Trends Immunol. 2014;35(2):79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2013.10.012. PubMed PMID: 24316012.
- 141. Errett JS, Suthar MS, McMillan A, Diamond MS, Gale M Jr. The essential, nonredundant roles of RIG-I and MDA5 in detecting and controlling West Nile virus infection. J Virol. 2013;87(21):11416–25. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01488-13. PubMed PMID: 23966395; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3807316.
- 142. Reinert LS, Harder L, Holm CK, Iversen MB, Horan KA, Dagnaes-Hansen F, et al. TLR3 deficiency renders astrocytes permissive to herpes simplex virus infection and facilitates establishment of CNS infection in mice. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(4):1368–76. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI60893. PubMed PMID: 22426207; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3314467.
- 143. Suthar MS, Ma DY, Thomas S, Lund JM, Zhang N, Daffis S, et al. IPS-1 is essential for the control of West Nile virus infection and immunity. PLoS Pathog. 2010;6(2):e1000757. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000757. PubMed PMID: 20140199; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2816698.
- 144. Wang T, Town T, Alexopoulou L, Anderson JF, Fikrig E, Flavell RA. Toll-like receptor 3 mediates West Nile virus entry into the brain causing lethal encephalitis. Nat Med. 2004;10(12):1366–73. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1140. PubMed PMID: 15558055.
- 145. Daffis S, Samuel MA, Suthar MS, Gale M, Jr., Diamond MS. Toll-like receptor 3 has a protective role against West Nile virus infection. J Virol 2008;82(21):10349–10358. doi: https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00935-08. PubMed PMID: 18715906; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2573187.
- 146. Menager P, Roux P, Megret F, Bourgeois JP, Le Sourd AM, Danckaert A, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) plays a major role in the formation of rabies virus Negri Bodies. PLoS Pathog. 2009;5(2):e1000315. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000315. PubMed PMID: 19247444; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2642728.
- 147. Ramos HJ, Lanteri MC, Blahnik G, Negash A, Suthar MS, Brassil MM, et al. IL-1beta signaling promotes CNS-intrinsic immune control of West Nile virus infection. PLoS Pathog. 2012;8(11):e1003039. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003039. PubMed PMID: 23209411; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3510243.

- 148. Kaushik DK, Gupta M, Kumawat KL, Basu A. NLRP3 inflammasome: key mediator of neuroinflammation in murine Japanese encephalitis. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e32270. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0032270. PubMed PMID: 22393394; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3290554.
- 149. Wang Y, Jin S, Sonobe Y, Cheng Y, Horiuchi H, Parajuli B, et al. Interleukin-1beta induces blood-brain barrier disruption by downregulating Sonic hedgehog in astrocytes. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e110024. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0110024. PubMed PMID: 25313834; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4196962.
- 150. Marques CP, Hu S, Sheng W, Lokensgard JR. Microglial cells initiate vigorous yet nonprotective immune responses during HSV-1 brain infection. Virus Res. 2006;121(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2006.03.009. PubMed PMID: 16621100.
- 151. Sun J, Zheng JH, Zhao M, Lee S, Goldstein H. Increased in vivo activation of microglia and astrocytes in the brains of mice transgenic for an infectious R5 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 provirus and for CD4-specific expression of human cyclin T1 in response to stimulation by lipopolysaccharides. J Virol. 2008;82(11):5562–72. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVI.02618-07. PubMed PMID: 18353948; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2395169.
- 152. Vasek MJ, Garber C, Dorsey D, Durrant DM, Bollman B, Soung A, et al. A complementmicroglial axis drives synapse loss during virus-induced memory impairment. Nature. 2016;534(7608):538–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature18283. PubMed PMID: 27337340.
- 153. da Fonseca AC, Matias D, Garcia C, Amaral R, Geraldo LH, Freitas C, et al. The impact of microglial activation on blood-brain barrier in brain diseases. Front Cell Neurosci. 2014;8:362. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00362. PubMed PMID: 25404894; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4217497.
- 154. Chhatbar C, Detje CN, Grabski E, Borst K, Spanier J, Ghita L, et al. Type I interferon receptor signaling of neurons and astrocytes regulates microglia activation during viral encephalitis. Cell Rep. 2018;25(1):118–29 e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.09.003. PubMed PMID: 30282022.
- 155. Fekete R, Cserep C, Lenart N, Toth K, Orsolits B, Martinecz B, et al. Microglia control the spread of neurotropic virus infection via P2Y12 signalling and recruit monocytes through P2Y12-independent mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol. 2018;136(3):461–82. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00401-018-1885-0. PubMed PMID: 30027450; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6096730.
- 156. Wheeler DL, Sariol A, Meyerholz DK, Perlman S. Microglia are required for protection against lethal coronavirus encephalitis in mice. J Clin Invest. 2018;128(3):931–43. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI97229. PubMed PMID: 29376888; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5824854.
- 157. Kallfass C, Ackerman A, Lienenklaus S, Weiss S, Heimrich B, Staeheli P. Visualizing production of beta interferon by astrocytes and microglia in brain of La Crosse virus-infected mice. J Virol. 2012;86(20):11223–30. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01093-12. PubMed PMID: 22875966; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3457137.
- Pfefferkorn C, Kallfass C, Lienenklaus S, Spanier J, Kalinke U, Rieder M, et al. Abortively infected astrocytes appear to represent the main source of interferon beta in the virus-infected brain. J Virol. 2016;90(4):2031–8. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02979-15. PubMed PMID: 26656686; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4733997.
- 159. Hwang M, Bergmann CC. Alpha/beta interferon (IFN-alpha/beta) signaling in astrocytes mediates protection against viral encephalomyelitis and regulates IFN-gamma-dependent responses. J Virol. 2018;92(10) https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01901-17. PubMed PMID: 29491163; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5923078.
- 160. Ye J, Jiang R, Cui M, Zhu B, Sun L, Wang Y, et al. Etanercept reduces neuroinflammation and lethality in mouse model of Japanese encephalitis. J Infect Dis. 2014;210(6):875–89. https:// doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu179. PubMed PMID: 24652493.
- 161. Man SM, Karki R, Kanneganti TD. Molecular mechanisms and functions of pyroptosis, inflammatory caspases and inflammasomes in infectious diseases. Immunol Rev. 2017;277(1):61–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12534. PubMed PMID: 28462526; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5416822.

- 162. Yogarajah T, Ong KC, Perera D, Wong KT. AIM2 inflammasome-mediated pyroptosis in enterovirus A71-infected neuronal cells restricts viral replication. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):5845. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-05589-2. PubMed PMID: 28724943; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5517550.
- 163. de Sousa JR, Azevedo R, Martins Filho AJ, de Araujo MTF, Cruz E, Vasconcelos BCB, et al. In situ inflammasome activation results in severe damage to the central nervous system in fatal Zika virus microcephaly cases. Cytokine. 2018;111:255–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cyto.2018.08.008. PubMed PMID: 30199767.
- 164. Vijay R, Fehr AR, Janowski AM, Athmer J, Wheeler DL, Grunewald M, et al. Virus-induced inflammasome activation is suppressed by prostaglandin D2/DP1 signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(27):E5444–E53. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1704099114. PubMed PMID: 28630327; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5502630.
- 165. Bortell N, Flynn C, Conti B, Fox HS, Marcondes MCG. Osteopontin impacts West Nile virus pathogenesis and resistance by regulating inflammasome components and cell death in the central nervous system at early time points. Mediat Inflamm. 2017;2017:7582437. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/7582437. PubMed PMID: 28811681; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5547729.
- 166. Guarda G, Braun M, Staehli F, Tardivel A, Mattmann C, Forster I, et al. Type I interferon inhibits interleukin-1 production and inflammasome activation. Immunity. 2011;34(2):213– 23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.02.006. PubMed PMID: 21349431.
- 167. Miner JJ, Daniels BP, Shrestha B, Proenca-Modena JL, Lew ED, Lazear HM, et al. The TAM receptor Mertk protects against neuroinvasive viral infection by maintaining blood-brain barrier integrity. Nat Med. 2015;21(12):1464–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3974. PubMed PMID: 26523970; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4674389.
- 168. Gupta N, Rao PV. Transcriptomic profile of host response in Japanese encephalitis virus infection. Virol J. 2011;8:92. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-92. PubMed PMID: 21371334; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3058095.
- 169. Sharma A, Bhomia M, Honnold SP, Maheshwari RK. Role of adhesion molecules and inflammation in Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus infected mouse brain. Virol J. 2011;8:197. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-8-197. PubMed PMID: 21529366; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3113303.
- 170. Daniels BP, Jujjavarapu H, Durrant DM, Williams JL, Green RR, White JP, et al. Regionally distinct astrocyte interferon signaling promotes blood-brain barrier integrity and limits immunopathology during neurotropic viral infection. J Clin Invest. 2017 (in press).
- 171. Lai CY, Ou YC, Chang CY, Pan HC, Chang CJ, Liao SL, et al. Endothelial Japanese encephalitis virus infection enhances migration and adhesion of leukocytes to brain microvascular endothelia via MEK-dependent expression of ICAM1 and the CINC and RANTES chemokines. J Neurochem. 2012;123(2):250–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07889.x. PubMed PMID: 22845610.
- 172. Ruzek D, Salat J, Singh SK, Kopecky J. Breakdown of the blood-brain barrier during tickborne encephalitis in mice is not dependent on CD8+ T-cells. PLoS One. 2011;6(5):e20472. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020472. PubMed PMID: 21629771; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3100324.
- 173. Song M, Jin J, Lim JE, Kou J, Pattanayak A, Rehman JA, et al. TLR4 mutation reduces microglial activation, increases Abeta deposits and exacerbates cognitive deficits in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neuroinflammation. 2011;8:92. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-92. PubMed PMID: 21827663; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3169468.
- 174. Song HY, Ryu J, Ju SM, Park LJ, Lee JA, Choi SY, et al. Extracellular HIV-1 Tat enhances monocyte adhesion by up-regulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 gene expression via ROSdependent NF-kappaB activation in astrocytes. Exp Mol Med. 2007;39(1):27–37. https://doi. org/10.1038/emm.2007.4. PubMed PMID: 17334226.
- 175. Phares TW, Kean RB, Mikheeva T, Hooper DC. Regional differences in blood-brain barrier permeability changes and inflammation in the apathogenic clearance of virus from the central nervous system. J Immunol. 2006;176(12):7666–75. PubMed PMID: 16751414.

- 176. Klein RS, Lin E, Zhang B, Luster AD, Tollett J, Samuel MA, et al. Neuronal CXCL10 directs CD8+ T-cell recruitment and control of West Nile virus encephalitis. J Virol. 2005;79(17):11457–66. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.79.17.11457-11466.2005. PubMed PMID: 16103196; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1193600.
- 177. Michalowska-Wender G, Losy J, Szczucinski A, Biernacka-Lukanty J, Wender M. Effect of methylprednisolone treatment on expression of sPECAM-1 and CXCL10 chemokine in serum of MS patients. Pharmacol Rep. 2006;58(6):920–3. PubMed PMID: 17220550.
- Song L, Pachter JS. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 alters expression of tight junctionassociated proteins in brain microvascular endothelial cells. Microvasc Res. 2004;67(1):78– 89. PubMed PMID: 14709405.
- 179. Stamatovic SM, Shakui P, Keep RF, Moore BB, Kunkel SL, Van Rooijen N, et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 regulation of blood-brain barrier permeability. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2005;25(5):593–606. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600055. PubMed PMID: 15689955.
- 180. Moseman EA, McGavern DB. The great balancing act: regulation and fate of antiviral T-cell interactions. Immunol Rev. 2013;255(1):110–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12093. PubMed PMID: 23947351; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3748617.
- 181. Kim JV, Kang SS, Dustin ML, McGavern DB. Myelomonocytic cell recruitment causes fatal CNS vascular injury during acute viral meningitis. Nature. 2009;457(7226):191–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07591. PubMed PMID: 19011611; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2702264.
- 182. Chai Q, He WQ, Zhou M, Lu H, Fu ZF. Enhancement of blood-brain barrier permeability and reduction of tight junction protein expression are modulated by chemokines/cytokines induced by rabies virus infection. J Virol. 2014;88(9):4698–710. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVI.03149-13. PubMed PMID: 24522913; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3993813.
- 183. Phares TW, Fabis MJ, Brimer CM, Kean RB, Hooper DC. A peroxynitrite-dependent pathway is responsible for blood-brain barrier permeability changes during a central nervous system inflammatory response: TNF-alpha is neither necessary nor sufficient. J Immunol. 2007;178(11):7334–43. PubMed PMID: 17513784.
- 184. Johnson HL, Jin F, Pirko I, Johnson AJ. Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus as an experimental model system to study the mechanism of blood-brain barrier disruption. J Neurovirol. 2014;20(2):107–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13365-013-0187-5. PubMed PMID: 23857332; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3894260.
- 185. Suidan GL, Dickerson JW, Johnson HL, Chan TW, Pavelko KD, Pirko I, et al. Preserved vascular integrity and enhanced survival following neuropilin-1 inhibition in a mouse model of CD8 T cell-initiated CNS vascular permeability. J Neuroinflammation. 2012;9:218. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-9-218. PubMed PMID: 22985494; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3489603.
- Prakash MD, Munoz MA, Jain R, Tong PL, Koskinen A, Regner M, et al. Granzyme B promotes cytotoxic lymphocyte transmigration via basement membrane remodeling. Immunity. 2014;41(6):960–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.11.012. PubMed PMID: 25526309.
- 187. Allingham MJ, van Buul JD, Burridge K. ICAM-1-mediated, Src- and Pyk2-dependent vascular endothelial cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation is required for leukocyte transendothelial migration. J Immunol. 2007;179(6):4053–64. PubMed PMID: 17785844.
- Mittal M, Siddiqui MR, Tran K, Reddy SP, Malik AB. Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2014;20(7):1126–67. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ars.2012.5149. PubMed PMID: 23991888; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3929010.
- 189. Turowski P, Martinelli R, Crawford R, Wateridge D, Papageorgiou AP, Lampugnani MG, et al. Phosphorylation of vascular endothelial cadherin controls lymphocyte emigration. J Cell Sci. 2008;121(Pt 1):29–37. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.022681. PubMed PMID: 18096689; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3810954.
- 190. Gavard J, Gutkind JS. VEGF controls endothelial-cell permeability by promoting the betaarrestin-dependent endocytosis of VE-cadherin. Nat Cell Biol. 2006;8(11):1223–34. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncb1486. PubMed PMID: 17060906.

- 191. Monaghan-Benson E, Burridge K. The regulation of vascular endothelial growth factorinduced microvascular permeability requires Rac and reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(38):25602–11. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.009894. PubMed PMID: 19633358; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2757962.
- 192. Konradt C, Ueno N, Christian DA, Delong JH, Pritchard GH, Herz J, et al. Endothelial cells are a replicative niche for entry of Toxoplasma gondii to the central nervous system. Nat Microbiol. 2016;1:16001. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.1. PubMed PMID: 27572166; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4966557.
- Medana IM, Turner GD. Human cerebral malaria and the blood-brain barrier. Int J Parasitol. 2006;36(5):555–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2006.02.004. PubMed PMID: 16616145.
- 194. Brown H, Rogerson S, Taylor T, Tembo M, Mwenechanya J, Molyneux M, et al. Blood-brain barrier function in cerebral malaria in Malawian children. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2001;64(3– 4):207–13. PubMed PMID: 11442219.
- 195. Hora R, Kapoor P, Thind KK, Mishra PC. Cerebral malaria clinical manifestations and pathogenesis. Metab Brain Dis. 2016;31(2):225–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-015-9787-5. PubMed PMID: 26746434.
- 196. Zougbede S, Miller F, Ravassard P, Rebollo A, Ciceron L, Couraud PO, et al. Metabolic acidosis induced by Plasmodium falciparum intraerythrocytic stages alters blood-brain barrier integrity. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;31(2):514–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jcbfm.2010.121. PubMed PMID: 20683453; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3049507.
- 197. Pino P, Vouldoukis I, Dugas N, Hassani-Loppion G, Dugas B, Mazier D. Redox-dependent apoptosis in human endothelial cells after adhesion of Plasmodium falciparum-infected erythrocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003;1010:582–6. PubMed PMID: 15033796.
- 198. Nacer A, Movila A, Sohet F, Girgis NM, Gundra UM, Loke P, et al. Experimental cerebral malaria pathogenesis – hemodynamics at the blood brain barrier. PLoS Pathog. 2014;10(12):e1004528. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004528. PubMed PMID: 25474413; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4256476.
- 199. Nacer A, Movila A, Baer K, Mikolajczak SA, Kappe SH, Frevert U. Neuroimmunological blood brain barrier opening in experimental cerebral malaria. PLoS Pathog. 2012;8(10):e1002982. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002982. PubMed PMID: 23133375; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3486917.
- 200. Machado FS, Desruisseaux MS, Nagajyothi, Kennan RP, Hetherington HP, Wittner M, et al. Endothelin in a murine model of cerebral malaria. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2006;231(6):1176–81. PubMed PMID: 16741072.
- 201. Dai M, Freeman B, Bruno FP, Shikani HJ, Tanowitz HB, Weiss LM, et al. The novel ETA receptor antagonist HJP-272 prevents cerebral microvascular hemorrhage in cerebral malaria and synergistically improves survival in combination with an artemisinin derivative. Life Sci. 2012;91(13–14):687–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2012.07.006. PubMed PMID: 22820174; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3523882.
- 202. de Souza JB, Hafalla JC, Riley EM, Couper KN. Cerebral malaria: why experimental murine models are required to understand the pathogenesis of disease. Parasitology. 2010;137(5):755– 72. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182009991715. PubMed PMID: 20028608.
- 203. Li J, Chang WL, Sun G, Chen HL, Specian RD, Berney SM, et al. Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 is important for the development of severe experimental malaria but is not required for leukocyte adhesion in the brain. J Investig Med. 2003;51(3):128–40. https://doi.org/10.1136/jim-51-03-15. PubMed PMID: 12769195.
- 204. Howland SW, Poh CM, Renia L. Activated brain endothelial cells cross-present malaria antigen. PLoS Pathog. 2015;11(6):e1004963. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004963. PubMed PMID: 26046849; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4457820.
- 205. Haque A, Best SE, Unosson K, Amante FH, de Labastida F, Anstey NM, et al. Granzyme B expression by CD8+T cells is required for the development of experimental cerebral malaria. J Immunol. 2011;186(11):6148–56. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1003955. PubMed PMID: 21525386.

- 206. Huggins MA, Johnson HL, Jin F, N Songo A, Hanson LM, LaFrance SJ, et al. Perforin expression by CD8 T cells is sufficient to cause fatal brain edema during experimental cerebral malaria. Infect Immun. 2017;85(5) https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00985-16. PubMed PMID: 28264905; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5400849.
- 207. Swanson PA, 2nd, Hart GT, Russo MV, Nayak D, Yazew T, Pena M, et al. CD8+T cells induce fatal brainstem pathology during cerebral malaria via luminal antigen-specific engagement of brain vasculature. PLoS Pathog 2016;12(12):e1006022. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.1006022. PubMed PMID: 27907215; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5131904.
- 208. Van den Steen PE, Deroost K, Van Aelst I, Geurts N, Martens E, Struyf S, et al. CXCR3 determines strain susceptibility to murine cerebral malaria by mediating T lymphocyte migration toward IFN-gamma-induced chemokines. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(4):1082–95. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200737906. PubMed PMID: 18383042.
- 209. Claser C, Malleret B, Gun SY, Wong AY, Chang ZW, Teo P, et al. CD8+ T cells and IFNgamma mediate the time-dependent accumulation of infected red blood cells in deep organs during experimental cerebral malaria. PLoS One. 2011;6(4):e18720. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018720. PubMed PMID: 21494565; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3073989.
- 210. Teo TH, Howland SW, Claser C, Gun SY, Poh CM, Lee WW, et al. Co-infection with Chikungunya virus alters trafficking of pathogenic CD8(+) T cells into the brain and prevents Plasmodium-induced neuropathology. EMBO Mol Med. 2018;10(1):121–38. https:// doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201707885. PubMed PMID: 29113976; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5760855.
- 211. Feustel SM, Meissner M, Liesenfeld O. Toxoplasma gondii and the blood-brain barrier. Virulence. 2012;3(2):182–92. https://doi.org/10.4161/viru.19004. PubMed PMID: 22460645; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3396697.
- 212. Ueno N, Harker KS, Clarke EV, McWhorter FY, Liu WF, Tenner AJ, et al. Real-time imaging of Toxoplasma-infected human monocytes under fluidic shear stress reveals rapid translocation of intracellular parasites across endothelial barriers. Cell Microbiol. 2014;16(4):580–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/cmi.12239. PubMed PMID: 24245749; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4141879.
- 213. Sa Q, Ochiai E, Sengoku T, Wilson ME, Brogli M, Crutcher S, et al. VCAM-1/alpha4beta1 integrin interaction is crucial for prompt recruitment of immune T cells into the brain during the early stage of reactivation of chronic infection with Toxoplasma gondii to prevent toxoplasmic encephalitis. Infect Immun. 2014;82(7):2826–39. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01494-13. PubMed PMID: 24752515; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4097612.
- 214. Estato V, Stipursky J, Gomes F, Mergener TC, Frazao-Teixeira E, Allodi S, et al. The neurotropic parasite toxoplasma gondii induces sustained neuroinflammation with microvascular dysfunction in infected mice. Am J Pathol. 2018;188(11):2674–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajpath.2018.07.007. PubMed PMID: 30121257.
- 215. Silva NM, Manzan RM, Carneiro WP, Milanezi CM, Silva JS, Ferro EA, et al. Toxoplasma gondii: the severity of toxoplasmic encephalitis in C57BL/6 mice is associated with increased ALCAM and VCAM-1 expression in the central nervous system and higher blood-brain barrier permeability. Exp Parasitol. 2010;126(2):167–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2010.04.019. PubMed PMID: 20434443.
- 216. Clark RT, Nance JP, Noor S, Wilson EH. T-cell production of matrix metalloproteinases and inhibition of parasite clearance by TIMP-1 during chronic Toxoplasma infection in the brain. ASN Neuro. 2011;3(1):e00049. https://doi.org/10.1042/AN20100027. PubMed PMID: 21434872; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3024837.
- 217. Dincel GC, Atmaca HT. Nitric oxide production increases during Toxoplasma gondii encephalitis in mice. Exp Parasitol. 2015;156:104–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2015.06.009. PubMed PMID: 26115941.

- 218. Masocha W, Kristensson K. Human African trypanosomiasis: how do the parasites enter and cause dysfunctions of the nervous system in murine models? Brain Res Bull. 2019;145:18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2018.05.022. PubMed PMID: 29870779.
- 219. Laperchia C, Palomba M, Seke Etet PF, Rodgers J, Bradley B, Montague P, et al. Trypanosoma brucei invasion and T-cell infiltration of the brain parenchyma in experimental sleeping sickness: timing and correlation with functional changes. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10(12):e0005242. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005242. PubMed PMID: 28002454; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5217973.
- 220. Mogk S, Meiwes A, Shtopel S, Schraermeyer U, Lazarus M, Kubata B, et al. Cyclical appearance of African trypanosomes in the cerebrospinal fluid: new insights in how trypanosomes enter the CNS. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e91372. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091372. PubMed PMID: 24618708; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3950183.
- 221. Sternberg JM, Rodgers J, Bradley B, Maclean L, Murray M, Kennedy PG. Meningoencephalitic African trypanosomiasis: brain IL-10 and IL-6 are associated with protection from neuroinflammatory pathology. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;167(1–2):81–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneuroim.2005.06.017. PubMed PMID: 16054238.
- 222. Courtioux B, Boda C, Vatunga G, Pervieux L, Josenando T, M'Eyi PM, et al. A link between chemokine levels and disease severity in human African trypanosomiasis. Int J Parasitol. 2006;36(9):1057–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2006.04.011. PubMed PMID: 16765963.
- 223. Medeiros NI, Fares RC, Franco EP, Sousa GR, Mattos RT, Chaves AT, et al. Differential expression of matrix metalloproteinases 2, 9 and cytokines by neutrophils and monocytes in the clinical forms of chagas disease. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11(1):e0005284. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005284. PubMed PMID: 28118356; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5261563.
- 224. Olivera GC, Ren X, Vodnala SK, Lu J, Coppo L, Leepiyasakulchai C, et al. Nitric oxide protects against infection-induced neuroinflammation by preserving the stability of the blood-brain barrier. PLoS Pathog. 2016;12(2):e1005442. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.1005442. PubMed PMID: 26915097; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4767601.
- 225. Amin DN, Rottenberg ME, Thomsen AR, Mumba D, Fenger C, Kristensson K, et al. Expression and role of CXCL10 during the encephalitic stage of experimental and clinical African trypanosomiasis. J Infect Dis. 2009;200(10):1556–65. https://doi.org/10.1086/644597. PubMed PMID: 19827943.
- 226. Grab DJ, Garcia-Garcia JC, Nikolskaia OV, Kim YV, Brown A, Pardo CA, et al. Protease activated receptor signaling is required for African trypanosome traversal of human brain microvascular endothelial cells. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2009;3(7):e479. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0000479. PubMed PMID: 19621073; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2707606.
- 227. Siddiqui R, Emes R, Elsheikha H, Khan NA. Area 51: how do Acanthamoeba invade the central nervous system? Trends Parasitol. 2011;27(5):185–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pt.2011.01.005. PubMed PMID: 21507718.
- 228. Khan NA, Siddiqui R. Acanthamoeba affects the integrity of human brain microvascular endothelial cells and degrades the tight junction proteins. Int J Parasitol. 2009;39(14):1611– 6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2009.06.004. PubMed PMID: 19580812.
- 229. Jayasekera S, Matin A, Sissons J, Maghsood AH, Khan NA. Balamuthia mandrillaris stimulates interleukin-6 release in primary human brain microvascular endothelial cells via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent pathway. Microbes Infect. 2005;7(13):1345–51. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2005.05.001. PubMed PMID: 16027019.
- 230. Sissons J, Kim KS, Stins M, Jayasekera S, Alsam S, Khan NA. Acanthamoeba castellanii induces host cell death via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent mechanism. Infect Immun. 2005;73(5):2704–8. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.73.5.2704-2708.2005. PubMed PMID: 15845472; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1087316.

- 231. Matin A, Siddiqui R, Jayasekera S, Khan NA. Increasing importance of Balamuthia mandrillaris. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2008;21(3):435–48. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00056-07. PubMed PMID: 18625680; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2493082.
- 232. Baig AM. Pathogenesis of amoebic encephalitis: are the amoebae being credited to an 'inside job' done by the host immune response? Acta Trop. 2015;148:72–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actatropica.2015.04.022. PubMed PMID: 25930186.
- 233. Alsam S, Sissons J, Jayasekera S, Khan NA. Extracellular proteases of Acanthamoeba castellanii (encephalitis isolate belonging to T1 genotype) contribute to increased permeability in an in vitro model of the human blood-brain barrier. J Infect. 2005;51(2):150–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jinf.2004.09.001. PubMed PMID: 16038767.
- 234. Iqbal J, Naeem K, Siddiqui R, Khan NA. In vitro inhibition of protease-activated receptors 1, 2 and 4 demonstrates that these receptors are not involved in an Acanthamoeba castellanii keratitis isolate-mediated disruption of the human brain microvascular endothelial cells. Exp Parasitol. 2014;145(Suppl):S78–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2014.03.023. PubMed PMID: 24703976.
- Lonsdale-Eccles JD, Grab DJ. Trypanosome hydrolases and the blood-brain barrier. Trends Parasitol. 2002;18(1):17–9. PubMed PMID: 11850009.
- 236. Sissons J, Alsam S, Goldsworthy G, Lightfoot M, Jarroll EL, Khan NA. Identification and properties of proteases from an Acanthamoeba isolate capable of producing granulomatous encephalitis. BMC Microbiol. 2006;6:42. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-6-42. PubMed PMID: 16672059; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1464133.
- 237. Shen L, Black ED, Witkowski ED, Lencer WI, Guerriero V, Schneeberger EE, et al. Myosin light chain phosphorylation regulates barrier function by remodeling tight junction structure. J Cell Sci. 2006;119(Pt 10):2095–106. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02915. PubMed PMID: 16638813.
- Kim BJ, Hancock BM, Bermudez A, Del Cid N, Reyes E, van Sorge NM, et al. Bacterial induction of Snail1 contributes to blood-brain barrier disruption. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(6):2473–83. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI74159. PubMed PMID: 25961453; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4497739.
- Ebrahimi CM, Sheen TR, Renken CW, Gottlieb RA, Doran KS. Contribution of lethal toxin and edema toxin to the pathogenesis of anthrax meningitis. Infect Immun. 2011;79(7):2510– 8. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00006-11. PubMed PMID: 21518787; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3191953.
- 240. Guichard A, McGillivray SM, Cruz-Moreno B, van Sorge NM, Nizet V, Bier E. Anthrax toxins cooperatively inhibit endocytic recycling by the Rab11/Sec15 exocyst. Nature. 2010;467(7317):854–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09446. PubMed PMID: 20944747; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5831355.
- 241. Coureuil M, Lecuyer H, Scott MG, Boularan C, Enslen H, Soyer M, et al. Meningococcus Hijacks a beta2-adrenoceptor/beta-Arrestin pathway to cross brain microvasculature endothelium. Cell. 2010;143(7):1149–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.035. PubMed PMID: 21183077.
- 242. Coureuil M, Mikaty G, Miller F, Lecuyer H, Bernard C, Bourdoulous S, et al. Meningococcal type IV pili recruit the polarity complex to cross the brain endothelium. Science. 2009;325(5936):83–7. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1173196. PubMed PMID: 19520910; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3980637.
- 243. Schubert-Unkmeir A, Konrad C, Slanina H, Czapek F, Hebling S, Frosch M. Neisseria meningitidis induces brain microvascular endothelial cell detachment from the matrix and cleavage of occludin: a role for MMP-8. PLoS Pathog. 2010;6(4):e1000874. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000874. PubMed PMID: 20442866; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2861698.
- 244. Verma S, Kumar M, Gurjav U, Lum S, Nerurkar VR. Reversal of West Nile virus-induced blood-brain barrier disruption and tight junction proteins degradation by matrix metalloproteinases inhibitor. Virology. 2010;397(1):130–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2009.10.036. PubMed PMID: 19922973; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3102050.

- 245. Louboutin JP, Strayer DS. Blood-brain barrier abnormalities caused by HIV-1 gp120: mechanistic and therapeutic implications. ScientificWorldJournal. 2012;2012:482575. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/482575. PubMed PMID: 22448134; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3289936.
- 246. Chaves AJ, Vergara-Alert J, Busquets N, Valle R, Rivas R, Ramis A, et al. Neuroinvasion of the highly pathogenic influenza virus H7N1 is caused by disruption of the blood brain barrier in an avian model. PLoS One. 2014;9(12):e115138. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0115138. PubMed PMID: 25506836; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4266681.
- 247. Hosseini S, Wilk E, Michaelsen-Preusse K, Gerhauser I, Baumgartner W, Geffers R, et al. Long-term neuroinflammation induced by influenza A virus infection and the impact on hippocampal neuron morphology and function. J Neurosci. 2018;38(12):3060–80. https://doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1740-17.2018. PubMed PMID: 29487124.
- Zhou Y, Lu ZN, Guo YJ, Mei YW. Favorable effects of MMP-9 knockdown in murine herpes simplex encephalitis using small interfering RNA. Neurol Res. 2010;32(8):801–9. https:// doi.org/10.1179/016164110X12644252260556. PubMed PMID: 20483026.



Structural and Functional Characteristics of the Human Blood-Nerve Barrier with Translational Implications to Peripheral Nerve Autoimmune Disorders

Eroboghene E. Ubogu

Abstract Peripheral nerves and nerve roots comprise of three structural compartments: the outer epineurium consisting of longitudinal arrays of collagen fibers responsible for structural integrity and the inner perineurium consisting of multiple concentric layers of specialized epithelioid myofibroblasts that surround the innermost endoneurium which consists of myelinated and unmyelinated axons embedded in a looser mesh of collagen fibers. Axons are responsible for signal transduction to and from the central nervous system required for normal physiological processes and are targeted by the immune system in autoimmune disorders. A highly regulated endoneurial microenvironment is required for normal axonal function. This is achieved by tight junction-forming endoneurial microvessels that control ion, solute, water, nutrient, macromolecule and leukocyte influx and efflux between the bloodstream and endoneurium, and the innermost layers of the perineurium that control interstitial fluid component flux between the epineurium and endoneurium. Endoneurial microvascular endothelium is considered the blood-nerve barrier (BNB) due to direct communication with circulating blood. The mammalian BNB is considered the second most restrictive vascular system after the blood-brain barrier (BBB). Guided by human in vitro studies using primary and immortalized endoneurial endothelial cells that form the BNB, in situ studies in normal and pathologic human peripheral nerves, and representative animal models of peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders, knowledge is emerging on human BNB molecular and functional characteristics, including its array of cytokines/cytokine receptors, selectins, and cellular adhesion and junctional complex molecules that may be employed during normal immune surveillance and altered in autoimmune diseases, providing potential targets of efficacious immunotherapy.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

E. E. Ubogu (🖂)

Neuromuscular Immunopathology Research Laboratory, Division of Neuromuscular Disease, Department of Neurology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, USA e-mail: ubogu@uab.edu

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_8

Keywords BNB \cdot Endoneurium \cdot Immune system \cdot Leukocyte trafficking \cdot Peripheral nerve

Abbreviations

BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BNB	Blood-nerve barrier
CIDP	Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy
DSP	Distal sensory polyneuropathy
EAN	Experimental autoimmune neuritis
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GBS	Guillain-Barré syndrome
GDNF	Glial-derived neurotrophic factor
HIFs	Hypoxia-inducing factors
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IFN-γ	Interferon- γ
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
IL-2	Interleukin-2
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
RET	"rearranged upon transformation"
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SAPP	Spontaneous autoimmune peripheral polyneuropathy
TEER	Transendothelial electrical resistance
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial cell growth factor
ZO	Zonula occludens

Anatomy of Human Peripheral Nerves

Human peripheral nerves serve to facilitate afferent and efferent communication between the central nervous system (brain and spinal cord) and the periphery (internal and external organs, such as the gastrointestinal tract and skin, respectively, secretory organs, and muscle) required for normal physiological processes needed to healthy bodily function. Human peripheral nerves comprise of three compartments: the outer epineurium which consists of longitudinal arrays of collagen fibers that are important for maintaining the structural integrity of the peripheral nerve, the inner perineurium which consists of a looser mesh of collagen fibers. A nerve



Fig. 1 Digital light photomicrograph of a normal adult sural nerve (plastic embedded semi-thin axial section stained with Toluidine Blue and counterstained with basic fuchsin) showing the three compartments in peripheral nerves and endoneurial microvessels (EMV) that form the BNB (**a**) and an indirect fluorescent digital photomicrograph of a normal adult sural nerve (cryostat thick section stained with fluoresceinated *Ulex europaeus* agglutinin-1) showing epineurial macrovessels (solid arrow) and endoneurial microvessels (broken arrow) (**b**)

fascicle consists of the endoneurium and its surrounding perineurium, initially described in 1876 (Fig. 1a) [1–4].

The epineurium consists of arteries, arterioles, venules, and veins that are considered collectively as epineurial macrovessels. The macrovessels are derived from and communicate with the extrinsic vascular supply to individual peripheral nerves known as the vasa nervorum. Lymphatic vessels are also present within the epineurium. The perineurium consists of specialized epithelioid myofibroblasts that form concentric layers, consisting of single cells, around the endoneurium (1–15 layers dependent on nerve diameter), forming fascicles, as well as smaller diameter macrovessels that communicate with the epineurium and endoneurium. The endoneurium consists of axons that are responsible for electrical impulse signal transduction to and from the central nervous system. These axons are myelinated or unmyelinated, are dependent on axonal size and function, and are aligned in the longitudinal axis of the peripheral nerve [1-5].

Schwann cells are the glial cells in peripheral nerves responsible for myelinating segments of large and small diameter axons needed to facilitate rapid salutatory action potential conduction, or surround bundles of small diameter unmyelinated axons (known as a Remak bundle), providing physiological support to these axons [6]. Motor neurons (axonal cell bodies) are located in the brain (for cranial nerves) and spinal cord (for somatic nerves), while sensory neurons are located in collections

of cell bodies called ganglia (e.g., dorsal root ganglia for somatic nerves). The endoneurium also consists of capillary-like microvessels that lack smooth muscle walls (Fig. 1b), as well as rare resident leukocytes (macrophages and mast cells) and fibroblasts [1-5].

The sciatic nerve is the largest nerve in mammals, compromising of 50–80 fascicles in adult humans in the mid-thigh region (and as many as 140 fascicles in the gluteal region) [2, 7, 8] and 1–4 fascicles in adult mice and rats [9–11]. The commonly studied human sural nerve typically consists of 8–10 fascicles in adults [12]. It is important to recognize the rodent sciatic nerve consists of a thin epineurial layer with loose connective tissue in contrast with the more extensive and fibrous human epineurium. This significant structural difference between human and rodent peripheral nerves is important when extrapolating in vivo or in situ experimental observations made in rodents to human peripheral nerves, particularly with reference to nerve injury and local drug delivery (e.g., anesthetics and analgesics).

Identification and Definition of Blood-Nerve Barrier

The importance of maintaining a highly regulated ionic microenvironment to facilitate axonal impulse conduction in peripheral nerves is intuitive and led to the proposal of a blood-nerve barrier (BNB) akin to the blood-brain barrier (BBB). In vivo permeability studies performed in different animal species following intravenous Evans blue albumin and fluoresceinated albumin or dextran administration demonstrated restricted macromolecules within endoneurial microvessel lumens without extravasation into the endoneurium despite diffuse entry into the epineurium (which was in contrast with the diffuse lack of brain parenchymal entry), implying that restrictive interfaces exist in peripheral nerves and nerve roots [13–17].

Subsequent ultrastructural assessment of human peripheral nerves demonstrated that the impermeable endoneurial microvessels consist of endothelial cells that form tight intercellular junctions and share their basement membrane with surrounding pericytes, lack fenestrations, and possess very few 50–100 nm pinocytic vesicles. This was in contrast with permeable epineurial macrovessels that contain a layer of endothelial cells that possess fenestrations and are surrounded by a smooth muscle wall. Furthermore, the innermost concentric perineurial cell layers (i.e., closest to the endoneurium) are connect by intercellular tight junctions, lack fenestrations, and possess pinocytic vesicles (with higher density in the outermost layers). Thus, the internal microenvironment of the endoneurium is deemed to be regulated by tight junction-forming endoneurial endothelial cells and the cell layers of the innermost perineurium [2, 3, 5].

Endoneurial endothelial cells are in direct contact with circulating blood, including hematogenous leukocytes, while perineurial cells are in contact with interstitial fluid from the epineurium and endoneurium. As a consequence, endoneurial endothelial cells form the BNB, while perineurial cells form critical interfaces between the endoneurial and epineurial interstitial fluid compartments which are also important for maintaining peripheral nerve homeostasis. Since cross-talk between the systemic immune system and peripheral nerves largely depends on hematogenously derived circulating leukocytes, it is important to understand the structural, molecular, and functional characteristics of the human BNB in health in order to elucidate biologically relevant alterations that may occur in disease states such as peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders.

Characteristics of the Human BNB in Health

Basic knowledge of the structural, molecular, and functional characteristics of the human BNB in health and disease is emerging, guided by data from the human BBB and studies performed on peripheral nerve biopsies in situ and primary and immortalized human endoneurial endothelial cells in vitro; however, our knowledge is far from complete. Structurally, human endoneurial endothelial cells that form the BNB possess electron-dense intercellular tight junctions in situ and in vitro (Fig. 2) [3, 7]. In vitro, these tight junctions consist of occludin, members of the claudin family such as claudin-5, as well as cytoplasmic adaptors such as members of the zonula occludens (ZO) family, e.g., ZO-1 and ZO-2 (also known as tight junction proteins 1 and 2, respectively), based on immunocytochemistry of confluent cultures [7, 18–20], while claudin-5 and ZO-1 had been previously demonstrated in situ [21–23]. Data has emerged over the past 15 years on the importance of the



Fig. 2 Digital electron ultramicrographs from an adult sural nerve (**a**) and cultured semipermeable transwell inserts (**b**) showing human endoneurial endothelial cells with electron-dense intercellular tight junctions (black arrows). A red blood cell (RBC) is present in the lumen of the endoneurial microvessel

intercellular junctional complex, consisting of tight, adherens, and gap junctions and their associated adaptor proteins and interacting cytoskeletal components in normal specialized endothelial and epithelial cell function [22, 24–29].

Recent work elucidating the normal adult human BNB transcriptome based on conserved transcripts expressed by early- and late-passage primary human endoneurial endothelial cells and laser-capture microdissected endoneurial microvessels from four histologically normal adult sural nerve biopsies demonstrated expression of 133 intercellular junctional complex molecules (22 tight junction or junction-associated, 45 adherens junction or junction-associated, and 52 cell junction-associated or adaptor molecules), with in situ protein expression of α 1 catenin, cadherin-5, cadherin-6, claudin-4, claudin-5, crumbs cell polarity complex component lin-7 homolog A, gap junction protein A1, multiple PDZ domain crumbs cell polarity complex component, protocadherin-1, vezatin, ZO-1, and zyxin demonstrated on endoneurial microvessels by indirect fluorescent immunohistochemistry [22]. This complexity may exist to provide significant molecular redundancy needed to maintain a structurally normal BNB due to its essential homeostatic role in normal peripheral nerve function.

Restrictive intercellular tight junction formation is a critical observation that differentiates endoneurial microvascular endothelial cells from epineurial macrovascular endothelial cells in human peripheral nerves. Endoneurial endothelial cells express receptors for specific mitogens such as glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF, GFRα1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF, VEGFR2), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF, FGFR1), transforming growth factor-β (TGFβ, TGFRI/II), and glucocorticoids (GR) [18, 19, 30–32], implying that autocrine or paracrine mitogen secretion by endothelial cells, Schwann cells, pericytes, mast cells, or endoneurial fibroblasts could regulate BNB composition and function in health. Schwann cells, the glial cells of the peripheral nervous system present in the endoneurium, have been shown to secrete GDNF in vitro and in vivo [33, 34], and GDNF has been demonstrated to influence restrictive human BNB characteristics in vitro at low nanomolar concentrations in a dose-dependent manner via RETtyrosine kinase-mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling and enhance murine BNB restrictive characteristics in vivo following non-transecting nerve injury using a tamoxifen-inducible conditional knockout model [30, 35]. This suggests that GDNF is an essential paracrine regulator of BNB formation that may also have an important role during BNB formation during development and maintenance in health, with some redundancy demonstrated in vitro by other less efficacious mitogens, such as basic fibroblast growth factor.

In addition to the junctional complex, specialized influx and efflux transporters that regulate ionic, water, molecular, nutrient, drug, and xenobiotic entry into or removal from the peripheral nerve endoneurium exist at the human BNB, controlling the endoneurial microenvironment. In vitro, these include alkaline phosphatase, glucose transporter-1 (also known as SLC2A1), monocarboxylate transporter-1 (also known as SLC2A3), arge amino acid transporter-1 (also known as SLC7A5), γ -glutamyl transpeptidase, and p-glycoprotein (also known as ABCB1) expressed by primary and immortalized

human endoneurial endothelial cells (messenger RNA or protein) [7, 32], with glucose transporter-1 previously demonstrated on human endoneurial microvessels in situ [36].

The human BNB transcriptome demonstrated 509 transporter transcripts, including 196 members of the solute carrier transport family, 76 cation channel, 33 members of the ATP-binding cassette family, 14 zinc transporter, 13 anion channel, 4 solute carrier organic transporter, and 3 aquaporin molecules. ABCA8, ABCB1, AOP1, SLC1A1, SLC2A1, SLC3A2, SLC5A6, SLC16A1, and SLC19A2 were demonstrated on BNB-forming endoneurial endothelial cells in normal human sural nerve biopsies by indirect immunohistochemistry in situ [22]. The extensive repertoire of transcripts that comprise the healthy human BNB cellular components (i.e., cell junction, cell part, extracellular matrix, extracellular region, macromolecular complex, membrane, organelle, and synapse) and their protein classes has been recently published, recognizing that not all transcripts undergo translation to functional protein. Although there are major similarities, structural differences and molecular heterogeneity in the composition of the BNB probably exist between different species [5, 37], limiting the degree of extrapolation feasible between data derived from animal models in vitro and in vivo and the human BNB. Figure 3 depicts a schematic figure summarizing essential structural and molecular components of the human BNB.



Fig. 3 Schematic figure showing the structural and essential molecular components of the human BNB

Human BNB Physiology

The human BNB, similar to other specialized tight junction-forming microvascular systems such as the BBB, blood-retina barrier, and blood-testis barrier, is expected to possess high transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER), low permeability to solutes and macromolecules, and low transendothelial water flux (hydraulic conductivity). In support of this, comparative animal studies have determined that the BNB is the second most restrictive microvascular tissue barrier in mammals, after the BBB. Unlike the human BBB, supported by the glia limitans (which consists of astrocyte and microglial foot processes), there is no physical support of the BNB by Schwann cells. It has not been conclusively established whether endoneurial microvascular pericytes (that lack intercellular junctions and share a basement membrane with endoneurial endothelial cells) provide trophic support to the human BNB.

The human BNB TEER in vivo is unknown; however, it is expected to be >1500 Ω .cm², based on BBB data [38–41]. Similarly, its permeability coefficients and hydraulic conductivity in vivo are also unknown, although some work has been published in other mammalian and nonmammalian species evaluating solute permeability and interstitial fluid flux in peripheral nerves following intravenous electrolyte and tracer injections, followed by timed nerve procurement [17, 42–44]. Human BNB TEER has been measured to be as high as ~180 Ω .cm² in confluent cultures by a voltohmmeter applying a direct current across transwell inserts and as high as ~900 Ω when recorded in specialized culture wells with gold electrodes using a fixed alternating current at 4000 Hz via electrical cell impedance sensing [7, 20, 32, 35].

Solute permeability to sodium fluorescein (molecular mass 376 Da) and 70 KDa fluoresceinated dextran (dextran-70-FITC) across primary and immortalized human endoneurial endothelial cells is typically <5% of input at 15 minutes using static transwell systems in vitro, with higher values (~3–15-fold) seen with sodium fluorescein when directly compared to dextran-70-FITC using the same batch of endothelial cells in concurrent experiments [7, 20, 32]. Human BNB transendothelial water flux under the influence of hydrostatic pressure, otherwise known as hydraulic conductivity, has been measured in vitro (~2.0 × 10⁻⁷ cm/s/cm H₂O) using a customized transwell diffusion chamber-bubble track system [45]. Consistent with prior observations, the human BNB was the second most restrictive human or mammalian microvascular endothelial cell type after the BBB in terms of water flux [17, 43–45].

Hematogenous leukocyte trafficking across microvascular endothelium in vivo (based on intravital microscopy) or in vitro under flow is a sequential coordinated process that involves leukocyte attraction from circulating blood to the endothelial cell luminal surface (mediated by specific chemokines bound to glycosaminoglycans on the endothelium and chemokine receptors expressed by leukocytes), rolling (mediated by selectins expressed on the endothelium and their glycoproteins or carbohydrate moiety counterligands expressed on leukocytes), leukocyte arrest and haptotaxis on the endothelial cell surface (mediated by chemokines and chemokine receptors), integrin activation and firm adhesion (via leukocyte integrin binding to endothelial cell adhesion molecules) that induces a conformation change in leukocyte shape from round to flat with formation of pseudopodia, and leukocyte transmigration via the paracellular (i.e., through intercellular junctions) or transcellular (i.e., through endothelial cells) routes followed by basement membrane disruption at the abluminal surface (via secretion of specific matrix metalloproteases) required for complete passage into tissues [46–52]. There is in vitro data using a flow-dependent leukocyte-BNB trafficking model providing evidence that this sequential process (also known as the multistep paradigm of leukocyte trafficking) occurs in peripheral nerves [53–55].

The presence of rare endoneurial macrophages, mast cells, and T lymphocytes in normal human peripheral nerve endoneurium implies some physiological cross talk between the systemic immune compartment and peripheral nerves at the BNB. The human BNB transcriptome supports the expression of human leukocyte antigen (or major histocompatibility complex) class I and II molecules in normal healthy endoneurial microvessels in situ [22], suggesting that the human BNB may directly participate in innate and adaptive immune responses in peripheral nerves (Tables 1 and 2). Furthermore, specific chemokine transcripts were also expressed by the normal healthy adult BNB based on this transcriptome. These include CCL2, CCL14, CCL28, CXCL3, CXCL12, CXCL16, and CX3CL1 [22].

These chemokines could facilitate the interaction of hematogenous monocytes (CCL2, CCL14, CX3CL1), T lymphocytes (CCL2, CX3CL1), natural killer T cells (CXCL16), and neutrophils (CXCL3) with endoneurial microvascular cells during normal immunosurveillance or part of an early immune response to injury, while CXCL12 and CCL28 may be important in endothelial cell migration and vascular repair. A more complex array of chemokines including CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 that facilitate CXCR3+ CD4+ T-helper 1 lymphocyte migration were expressed by the basal human BNB in vitro [22, 55], implying some degree of endothelial cell activation in vitro or dysregulated chemokine expression in situ.

Endoneurial microvascular endothelial cells also express selectins (e.g., P-selectin, E-selectin) and cell adhesion molecules (e.g., intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), fibronectin Type III connecting segment) under basal conditions that were upregulated or underwent alternative splicing following stimulus with physiological concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines tissue necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) in vitro (Fig. 4) [55]. The constitutive expression of these cell adhesion molecules known to facilitate leukocyte adhesion and transmigration supports the notion the endoneurial microvessels participate in cross talk between subsets of circulating leukocytes that are components of systemic immune compartment and peripheral nerves.

physiological cross-talk between the systemic i.	mmune compartment	t and peripheral nerve	endoneurium and in peripheral	nerve autoimmune disorders
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9066IUniProtKB = P16885	ENSG00000197943	1-Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate phosphodiesterase gamma-2; PLCG2; ortholog	1-PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL 4,5-BISPHOSPHATE PHOSPHODIESTERASE GAMMA-2 (PTHR10336:SF25)	Calcium-binding protein(PC00060); guanyl- nucleotide exchange factor(PC00113); phospholipase(PC00186); signaling molecule(PC00207)
HUMANIHGNC = 9553IUniProtKB = P62333	ENSG0000100519	26S protease regulatory subunit 10B; PSMC6; ortholog	26S PROTEASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 10B (PTHR23073:SF31)	Hydrolase(PC00121)
HUMANIHGNC = 9547lUniProtKB = P62191	ENSG00000100764	26S protease regulatory subunit 4; PSMC1; ortholog	26S PROTEASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 4 (PTHR23073:SF24)	Hydrolase(PC00121)
HUMANIHGNC = 9549IUniProtKB = P17980	ENSG00000165916	26S protease regulatory subunit 6A; PSMC3; ortholog	26S PROTEASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 6A (PTHR23073:SF7)	Hydrolase(PC00121)
HUMANIHGNC = 9551IUniProtKB = P43686	ENSG0000013275	26S protease regulatory subunit 6B; PSMC4; ortholog	26S PROTEASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 6B (PTHR23073:SF8)	Hydrolase(PC00121)
HUMANIHGNC = 9548IUniProtKB = P35998	ENSG00000161057	26S protease regulatory subunit 7; PSMC2; ortholog	26S PROTEASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 7 (PTHR23073:SF13)	Hydrolase(PC00121)
HUMANIHGNC = 9552lUniProtKB = P62195	ENSG0000087191	26S protease regulatory subunit 8; PSMC5; ortholog	26S PROTEASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 8 (PTHR23073:SF12)	Hydrolase(PC00121)

Table 1 List of known molecules involved in the innate immune response expressed by the human BNB transcriptome in health that may be relevant in

GNC = 9555UniProtKB = 075832meguinory submit 1; PSMD1; orthologTUTT (FTHR 10943:SF2)GNC = 9555UniProtKB = 075832ENSG0000101843265 proteasome regulatory submit 10; PSMD10; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD11; ortholog265 proteasome PTHR2126:SF24)265 proteasome PSMD11; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD13; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD13; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD11; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD13; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD13; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD11; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD113; ortholog265 proteasome PSMD12; ortholog265 proteasome <b< th=""><th>ΛNIHGNC = 9554IUniProtKB = Q99460</th><th>ENSG00000173692</th><th>26S proteasome</th><th>26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY</th><th>Enzyme modulator(PC00095)</th></b<>	Λ NIHGNC = 9554IUniProtKB = Q99460	ENSG00000173692	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
INC = 9555 IUniProt RB = 075832 ISO000101843 ISO Proteasome ATPASE RECILATORY REUNIT 10 $ IOD - ATPase Parabolic enclose ATPASE RECILATORY Suburit 10, PTRASE RECILATORY Suburit 10, PTRASE RECILATORY Suburit 10, PTRASE RECILATORY REGULATORY REGULATORY REGULATORY Parabolic Proteosome ATPASE RECILATORY REGULATORY Regulatory subunit 11, PTR 10678: SP2 4) IOD - ATPase ATPASE RECULATORY REGULATORY REGULAT$			regulatory subunit 1; PSMD1; ortholog	SUBUNIT 1 (PTHR10943:SF2)	
GNC = 9556UniProtKB = 000231ENG0000108671Don-AIPtase regulatory subuni 10; SUBUNIT 10AIPASE REGULATIORY FUTHR24126:SF24)AIPASE REGULATIORY SUBUNIT 10GNC = 9556UniProtKB = 000231ENSG0000108671265 Proteasome regulatory subuni 11; SUBUNIT 11 (PTHR10678:SF2)265 ProtEASOME NON- 	GNC = 9555 UniProtKB = 075832	ENSG00000101843	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME NON-	
The regulatory subunit 10; SMD10, orthologRUBUNIT 10; FYTR2415.SF24)RUBUNIT 10 FTR2415.SF24) $3NC = 95561UniProtKB = 000231ENSG0000108671265 Proteasomenon-ATPASE REGULATORYPSMD11; ortholog265 ProTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORYSUBUNIT 11 (PTHR 10678.SF2)3NC = 95571UniProtKB = 000232ENSG0000197170265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 ProTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 12 (PTHR 10678.SF2)3NC = 95571UniProtKB = 000232ENSG0000197170265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 ProTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 12 (PTHR 10658.SF1)3NC = 95581UniProtKB = 09UNM6ENSG0000185627265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 ProTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 12 (PTHR 10855.SF1)3NC = 95581UniProtKB = 09UNM6ENSG0000185627265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 13 (PTHR 10539.SF0)3NC = 95581UniProtKB = 0904877ENSG000011533265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 13 (PTHR 10539.SF0)3NC = 95581UniProtKB = 0004877ENSG000011533265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 14 (PTHR 10410.SF5)3NC = 95591UniProtKB = 013200ENSG000011516265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 14 (PTHR 10410.SF5)3NC = 95591UniProtKB = 013200ENSG000017516265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON-BUBUNIT 2 (PTHR 10410.SF5)3NC = 95591UniProtKB = 013200ENSG000017516265 proteasomeTAPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON-BUJUNIT 14 (PTHR 10410.SF5)3NC = 95591UniProtKB = 013200ENSG000017516265 proteasomeTAPASE$			non-ATPase	ATPASE REGULATORY	
BNC = 9556IUniProtKB = 000231ENSG000010867126S proteasome non-ATPase26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY BUNIT 11 (PTHR 10678:SF2)BNC = 9557IUniProtKB = 000232ENSG000019717026S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)BNC = 9557IUniProtKB = 000232ENSG000019717026S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)BNC = 9558IUniProtKB = 000232ENSG000019717026S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)BNC = 9558IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG000018567726S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)BND = 9558IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG000018567726S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)BND = 9558IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG000011523326S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYBND = 16889IUniProtKB = 000481ENSG000011521826S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYBND = 000487ENSG000011521326S Proteasome ATPASE26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYBND = 000488ENSG000011521626S Proteasome ATPASE26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYBND = 000488ENSG000011516826S Proteasome ATPASE26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEMetalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYBND = 000488ENSG000011516826S Proteasome ATPASE26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153			regulatory subunit 10; PSMD10; ortholog	SUBUNIT 10 (PTHR24126:SF24)	
The section of the s	3NC = 9556 UniProtKB = 000231	ENSG00000108671	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME NON-	
The section of the sectin of the section of the section of the s			non-ATPase	ATPASE REGULATORY	
			regulatory subunit 11;	SUBUNIT 11 (PTHR10678:SF2)	
GNC = 9557IUniProtKB = 000232ENSG0000197170265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)GNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6ENSG0000185627265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)GNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6ENSG0000185627265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)GNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6ENSG0000185627265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153)GNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG0000115233265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYGNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG0000115233265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- 			PSMD11; ortholog		
GNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6non-ATPase regulatory subunit 12; PSMD12; orthologATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNTT 12 (PTHR 10855:SF1)GNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6ENSG0000185627265 Proteasome ATPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYGNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 00487ENSG0000115233265 Proteasome ATPASE REGULATORY265 PROTEASOME NON- MEUNTT 13 (PTHR 10539:SF0)GNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 00487ENSG0000115233265 Proteasome ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 00487ENSG0000115233265 Proteasome ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 00487ENSG0000115233265 Proteasome ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = 013200ENSG0000175166265 Proteasome ATPASE REGULATORYBrayme modulator(PC000218) transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 Proteasome PSMD14; ortholog265 PROTEASOME NON- BUDNTT 14 (PTHR 10410:SF5)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 Proteasome PSMD14; ortholog265 PROTEASOME NON- BUDNTT 2 (PTHR 10943:SF1)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 Proteasome PSMD14; ortholog265 PROTEASOME NON- BUDNTT 2 (PTHR 10943:SF1)	GNC = 9557 UniProtKB = 000232	ENSG00000197170	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME NON-	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
SNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6regulatory subunit 12; PSMD12; orthologSUBUNIT 12 (PTHR10855:SF1)GNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6ENSG0000185627265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYGNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG0000115233265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095); Regulatory subunit 13; SUBUNIT 13 (PTHR10539:SF0)GNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG0000115233265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG0000115233265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG00001152166265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095); transcription factor(PC00095); PAMD14; orthologGNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYGNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYGNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEGNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasome265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEGNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasomeGNC			non-ATPase	ATPASE REGULATORY	
			regulatory subunit 12;	SUBUNIT 12 (PTHR 10855:SF1)	
BYC = 958 UniProtKB = Q9UNM6ENSG000018562726S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)BYC = 16889 UniProtKB = 000487ENSG000011523326S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC0153);BYC = 16889 UniProtKB = 000487ENSG000011523326S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC00153);BYC = 16889 UniProtKB = 000487ENSG000011523326S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEMetalloprotease(PC00153); Mandet 14, PTHR10410:SF5)BYC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEMetalloprotease(PC00153); Mandet 400087BYC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEEnzyme modulator(PC00095); PROMD14; orthologBYC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEEnzyme modulator(PC00095); PROMD14; orthologBYC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEEnzyme modulator(PC00095);BYC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEEnzyme modulator(PC00095);BYC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEEnzyme modulator(PC00095);BYC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEEnzyme modulator(PC00095);			PSMD12; ortholog		
NC = 16889IUniProtKB = 000487non-ATPase regulatory subunit 13, PSMD13; orthologATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 13 (PTHR10539:SF0)AtPASE REGULATORY Metalloprotease(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYAtPASE REGULATORY Metalloprotease(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYSNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG00001152166265 proteasome DSMD14; ortholog265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC00153); ATPASE REGULATORYSNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasome DSMD14; ortholog265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYMetalloprotease(PC00153); Metalloprotease(PC00051); Metalloprotease(PC00153);SNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG0000175166265 proteasome DSMD14; ortholog265 PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095); DME and	3NC = 9558lUniProtKB = Q9UNM6	ENSG00000185627	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME NON-	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
interminter			non-ATPase	ATPASE REGULATORY	
$\label{eq:integral} \text{PSMD13; ortholog} \\ \text{PSMD13; ortholog} \\ \text{PSMD13; ortholog} \\ \text{PSMD14; ortholog} \\ \text{PSMD15233} \\ \text{26S proteasome} \\ \text{PSMD14; ortholog} \\ \text{PSM14; ortholog} \\ PSM14; ortholo$			regulatory subunit 13;	SUBUNIT 13 (PTHR10539:SF0)	
GNC = 16889IUniProtKB = 000487ENSG000011523326S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPaseMetalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPaseEnzyme modulator(PC00218)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPaseEnzyme modulator(PC00095)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORYEnzyme modulator(PC00095)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENSG000017516626S proteasome26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASEEnzyme modulator(PC00095)GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200ENCENCENC26S PROTEASOME NON-Enzyme modulator(PC00095)			PSMD13; ortholog		
NC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200NC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200 <td>3NC = 16889 UniProtKB = O00487</td> <td>ENSG00000115233</td> <td>26S proteasome</td> <td>26S PROTEASOME NON-</td> <td>Metalloprotease(PC00153);</td>	3NC = 16889 UniProtKB = O00487	ENSG00000115233	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME NON-	Metalloprotease(PC00153);
3NC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200 ENSG0000175166 regulatory subunit 14; SUBUNIT 14 (PTHR10410:SF5) 3NC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200 ENSG0000175166 26S proteasome			non-ATPase	ATPASE REGULATORY	transcription factor(PC00218)
GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200 ENSG0000175166 26S proteasome 26S PROTEASOME NON- Enzyme modulator(PC00095) GNC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200 ENSG0000175166 26S proteasome 26S PROTEASOME NON- Enzyme modulator(PC00095) Figulatory subunit 2; PSMD2; ortholog PSMD2; ortholog PSMD2; ortholog PSMD2; ortholog			regulatory subunit 14;	SUBUNIT 14 (PTHR10410:SF5)	
3NC = 9559IUniProtKB = Q13200 ENSG0000175166 26S proteasome 26S PROTEASOME NON- Enzyme modulator(PC00095) non-ATPase arrPASE REGULATORY regulatory subunit 2; SUBUNIT 2 (PTHR10943:SF1) PSMD2; ortholog			PSMD14; ortholog		
non-ATPase ATPASE REGULATORY regulatory subunit 2; SUBUNIT 2 (PTHR10943:SF1) PSMD2; ortholog PSMD2	GNC = 9559 UniProtKB = Q13200	ENSG00000175166	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME NON-	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
regulatory subunit 2; SUBUNIT 2 (PTHR10943:SF1) PSMD2; ortholog			non-ATPase	ATPASE REGULATORY	
PSMD2; ortholog			regulatory subunit 2;	SUBUNIT 2 (PTHR10943:SF1)	
			PSMD2; ortholog		
Table 1 (continued)					
--------------------------------------	----------------	--	--	---------------------------	
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class	
HUMANIHGNC = 9560IUniProtKB = 043242	ENSG0000108344	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 3; PSMD3; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 3 (PTHR10758:SF2)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)	
HUMANIHGNC = 95611UniProtKB = P55036	ENSG0000159352	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 4; PSMD4; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 4 (PTHR10223:SF0)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9563IUniProtKB = Q16401	ENSG0000095261	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 5; PSMD5; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 5 (PTHR13554:SF10)		
HUMANIHGNC = 95641UniProtKB = Q15008	ENSG0000163636	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 6; PSMD6; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 6 (PTHR14145:SF1)		
HUMANIHGNC = 9565IUniProtKB = P51665	ENSG0000103035	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 7; PSMD7; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 7 (PTHR10540:SF7)	Metalloprotease(PC00153)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9566IUniProtKB = P48556	ENSG0000099341	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 8; PSMD8; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 8 (PTHR12387:SF0)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9567lUniProtKB = 000233	ENSG0000110801	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 9; PSMD9; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON- ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 9 (PTHR12651:SF1)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)	

SSITIDE-Annexin(PC00050);ROTEINcalmodulin(PC00061);ATEDnon-receptor serine/threoninei63)protein kinase(PC00167);transfer/carrierprotein(PC00219)	SHOCK DCHONDRIAL 3)	EAT DOMAIN- PROTEIN 17 1)	SSOCIATED Cysteine protease(PC00081); ROTEIN protease inhibitor(PC00191) A CARD 203)	LIAP REPEAT- PROTEIN 2 79)	LIAP REPEAT- PROTEIN 3 99)	IN-2 Enzyme modulator(PC00095) 20)	(continued
3-PHOSPHOIN DEPENDENT P KINASE 1-REL (PTHR24356:SF	60 KDA HEAT S PROTEIN, MITC (PTHR45633:SF	ANKYRIN REP CONTAINING I (PTHR23206:SF	APOPTOSIS-AS SPECK-LIKE PI CONTAINING / (PTHR10454:SF	BACULOVIRAI CONTAINING F (PTHR10044:SF	BACULOVIRAI CONTAINING F (PTHR10044:SF	BETA-ARREST (PTHR11792:SF	
3-Phosphoinositide- dependent protein kinase 1; PDPK1; ortholog	60 kDa heat shock protein, mitochondrial; HSPD1; ortholog	Ankyrin repeat domain-containing protein 17; ANKRD17; ortholog	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD; PYCARD; ortholog	Baculoviral IAP repeat-containing protein 2; BIRC2; ortholog	Baculoviral IAP repeat-containing protein 3; BIRC3; ortholog	Beta-arrestin-2; ARRB2; ortholog	
ENSG0000140992	ENSG00000144381	ENSG0000132466	ENSG0000103490	ENSG0000110330	ENSG0000023445	ENSG00000141480	
HUMANIHGNC = 8816lUniProtKB = 015530	HUMANIHGNC = 5261 UniProtKB = P10809	HUMANIHGNC = 23575IUniProtKB = 075179	HUMANIHGNC = 166081UniProtKB = Q9ULZ3	HUMANIHGNC = 5901UniProtKB = Q13490	HUMANIHGNC = 5911UniProtKB = Q13489	HUMANIHGNC = 712IUniProtKB = P32121	

Structural and Functional Characteristics of the Human Blood-Nerve Barrier...

		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 29938IUniProtKB = Q8WUQ7	ENSG0000105298	Cactin; CACTIN; ortholog	CACTIN (PTHR21737:SF6)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9380lUniProtKB = P17612	ENSG0000072062	cAMP-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit alpha; PRKACA; ortholog	CAMP-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE CATALYTIC SUBUNIT ALPHA (PTHR24353:SF82)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9381IUniProtKB = P22694	ENSG0000142875	cAMP-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit beta; PRKACB; ortholog	CAMP-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE CATALYTIC SUBUNIT BETA (PTHR24353:SF116)	
HUMANIHGNC = 163931UniProtKB = Q9BXL7	ENSG0000198286	Caspase recruitment domain-containing protein 11; CARD11; ortholog	CASPASE RECRUITMENT DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEIN 11 (PTHR14559:SF4)	
HUMANIHGNC = 16391IUniProtKB = Q9H257	ENSG00000187796	Caspase recruitment domain-containing protein 9; CARD9; ortholog	CASPASE RECRUITMENT DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEIN 9 (PTHR14559:SF3)	
HUMANIHGNC = 1509IUniProtKB = Q14790	ENSG0000064012	Caspase-8; CASP8; ortholog	CASPASE-8 (PTHR10454:SF162)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 2527IUniProtKB = P07858	ENSG00000164733	Cathepsin B; CTSB; ortholog	CATHEPSIN B (PTHR12411:SF16)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 2536IUniProtKB = P43235	ENSG0000143387	Cathepsin K; CTSK; ortholog	CATHEPSIN K (PTHR12411:SF55)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); protease inhibitor(PC00191)

HUMANIHGNC = 25371UniProtKB = P07711	ENSG00000135047	Cathepsin L1; CTSL; ortholog	CATHEPSIN L1 (PTHR12411:SF411)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 2545IUniProtKB = P25774	ENSG0000163131	Cathepsin S; CTSS; ortholog	CATHEPSIN S (PTHR12411:SF525)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 1527lUniProtKB = Q03135	ENSG0000105974	Caveolin-1; CAV1; ortholog	CAVEOLIN-1 (PTHR10844:SF18)	G-protein modulator(PC00022); membrane traffic protein(PC00150); structural protein(PC00211); transmembrane receptor regulatory/adaptor protein(PC00226)
HUMANIHGNC = 16016 UniProtKB = Q5KU26	ENSG00000158270	Collectin-12; COLEC12; ortholog	COLLECTIN-12 (PTHR24023:SF910)	
HUMANIHGNC = 1243IUniProtKB = Q07021	ENSG0000108561	Complement component 1 Q subcomponent- binding protein, mitochondrial; C1QBP; ortholog	COMPLEMENT COMPONENT 1 Q SUBCOMPONENT- BINDING PROTEIN, MITOCHONDRIAL (PTHR10826:SF1)	
HUMANIHGNC = 2348IUniProtKB = Q92793	ENSG0000005339	CREB-binding protein; CREBBP; ortholog	(PTHR13808:SF1)	Acetyltransferase(PC00038); chromatin/chromatin-binding protein(PC00077); transcription cofactor(PC00217)
				(continued)

		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 13257lUniProtKB = Q9UMR7	ENSG00000111729	C-type lectin domain family 4 member A;	C-TYPE LECTIN DOMAIN FAMILY 4 MEMBER A	Cell adhesion molecule(PC00069);
		CLEC4A; ortholog	(PTHR22802:SF357)	immunoglobulin receptor superfamily(PC00124)
HUMAN HGNC = 2551 UniProtKB = Q13616	ENSG0000055130	Cullin-1; CUL1; ortholog	CULLIN-1 (PTHR11932:SF81)	Ubiquitin-protein ligase(PC00234)
HUMANIHGNC = 21367lUniProtKB = Q8N884	ENSG0000164430	Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase; MB21D1; ortholoo	CYCLIC GMP-AMP SYNTHASE (PTHR10656:SF35)	0
HUMANIHGNC = 2577IUniProtKB = P13498	ENSG0000051523	Cytochrome b-245 light chain; CYBA; ortholog	CYTOCHROME B-245 LIGHT CHAIN (PTHR15168:SF0)	
HUMANIHGNC = 17294 UniProtKB = Q5VWQ8	ENSG00000136848	Disabled homolog 2-interacting protein; DAB2IP; ortholog	DISABLED HOMOLOG 2-INTERACTING PROTEIN (PTHR10194:SF26)	G-protein modulator(PC00022)
HUMANIHGNC = 215IUniProtKB = P78325	ENSG0000151651	Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 8; ADAM8; ortholog	DISINTEGRIN AND METALLOPROTEINASE DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEIN 8 (PTHR11905:SF20)	Metalloprotease(PC00153)
HUMANIHGNC = 6846IUniProtKB = P52564	ENSG0000108984	Dual specificity mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 6; MAP2K6; ortholog	DUAL SPECIFICITY MITOGEN-ACTIVATED PROTEIN KINASE KINASE 6 (PTHR24361:SF40)	

HUMANIHGNC = 138901UniProtKB = Q96.02	ENSG00000078747	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase Itchy homolog; ITCH; ortholog	E3 UBIQUITIN-PROTEIN LIGASE ITCHY HOMOLOG (PTHR11254:SF66)	Ubiquitin-protein ligase(PC00234)
HUMANIHGNC = 88271UniProtKB = Q96FA3	ENSG00000197329	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase pellino homolog 1; PELI1; ortholog	E3 UBIQUITIN-PROTEIN LIGASE PELLINO HOMOLOG 1 (PTHR12098:SF4)	
HUMANIHGNC = 592IUniProtKB = P98170	ENSG0000101966	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase XIAP; XIAP; ortholog	E3 UBIQUITIN-PROTEIN LIGASE XIAP (PTHR10044:SF115)	Protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 12028lUniProtKB = P14625	ENSG00000166598	Endoplasmin; HSP90B1; ortholog	ENDOPLASMIN (PTHR11528:SF54)	Hsp90 family chaperone(PC00028)
HUMANIHGNC = 15842lUniProtKB = Q96RT1	ENSG00000112851	Erbin; ERBIN; ortholog	ERBIN (PTHR45752:SF47)	
HUMANIHGNC = 3573IUniProtKB = Q13158	ENSG0000168040	FAS-associated death domain protein; FADD; ortholog	FAS-ASSOCIATED DEATH DOMAIN PROTEIN (PTHR15077:SF9)	
HUMANIHGNC = 136071UniProtKB = Q9UKB1	ENSG0000072803	F-box/WD repeat- containing protein 11; FBXW11; ortholog	F-BOX/WD REPEAT- CONTAINING PROTEIN 11 (PTHR44129:SF4)	
HUMANIHGNC = 1144IUniProtKB = Q9Y297	ENSG0000166167	F-box/WD repeat- containing protein 1A; BTRC; ortholog	F-BOX/WD REPEAT- CONTAINING PROTEIN 1A (PTHR19854:SF16)	G-protein-coupled receptor(PC00021)
HUMANIHGNC = 3757IUniProtKB = 075955	ENSG00000137312	Flotillin-1; FLOT1; ortholog	FLOTILLIN-1 (PTHR13806:SF16)	
HUMANIHGNC = 3758IUniProtKB = Q14254	ENSG00000132589	Flotillin- 2;FLOT2;ortholog	FLOTILLIN-2 (PTHR13806:SF20)	
				(continued)

Table 1 (continued)				
		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 6570lUniProtKB = 000182	ENSG0000168961	Galectin-9; LGALS9; ortholog	GALECTIN-9 (PTHR11346:SF80)	Cell adhesion molecule(PC0069); signaling molecule(PC00207)
HUMANIHGNC = 5395IUniProtKB = Q16666	ENSG0000163565	Gamma-interferon- inducible protein 16; IF116; ortholog	GAMMA-INTERFERON- INDUCIBLE PROTEIN 16 (PTHR12200:SF5)	Transcription factor(PC00218)
HUMANIHGNC = 5173lUniProtKB = P01112	ENSG00000174775	GTPase HRas; HRAS; ortholog	GTPASE HRAS (PTHR24070:SF385)	Small GTPase(PC00208)
HUMANIHGNC = 6407lUniProtKB = P01116	ENSG00000133703	GTPase KRas; KRAS; ortholog	GTPASE KRAS (PTHR24070:SF388)	Small GTPase(PC00208)
HUMANIHGNC = 7989 UniProtKB = P01111	ENSG00000213281	GTPase NRas; NRAS; ortholog	GTPASE NRAS (PTHR24070:SF189)	Small GTPase(PC00208)
HUMANIHGNC = 5232IUniProtKB = P0DMV8	ENSG0000204389	Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1A; HSPA1A; ortholog	HEAT SHOCK 70 KDA PROTEIN 1A-RELATED (PTHR19375:SF223)	
HUMANIHGNC = 5233IUniProtKB = P0DMV9	ENSG0000204388	Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1B; HSPA1B; ortholog	HEAT SHOCK 70 KDA PROTEIN 1A-RELATED (PTHR19375:SF223)	
HUMANIHGNC = 36111UniProtKB = P30273	ENSG0000158869	High-affinity immunoglobulin epsilon receptor subunit gamma; FCER1G; ortholog	HIGH AFFINITY IMMUNOGLOBULIN EPSILON RECEPTOR SUBUNIT GAMMA (PTHR16803:SF0)	
		-		

Table 1 (continued)				
		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 6116IUniProtKB = P10914	ENSG00000125347	Interferon regulatory factor 1; IRF1; ortholog	INTERFERON REGULATORY FACTOR 1 (PTHR11949:SF3)	Nucleic acid binding(PC00171); winged helix/forkhead transcription factor(PC00246)
HUMANIHGNC = 6118IUniProtKB = Q14653	ENSG0000126456	Interferon regulatory factor 3; IRF3; ortholog	INTERFERON REGULATORY FACTOR 3 (PTHR11949:SF1)	Nucleic acid binding(PC00171); winged helix/forkhead transcription factor(PC00246)
HUMANIHGNC = 6122IUniProtKB = Q92985	ENSG00000185507	Interferon regulatory factor 7; IRF7; ortholog	INTERFERON REGULATORY FACTOR 7 (PTHR11949:SF2)	Nucleic acid binding(PC00171); winged helix/forkhead transcription factor(PC00246)
HUMANIHGNC = 18873 UniProtKB = Q9BYX4	ENSG00000115267	Interferon-induced helicase C domain- containing protein 1; IFIH1; ortholog	INTERFERON-INDUCED HELICASE C DOMAIN- CONTAINING PROTEIN 1 (PTHR14074:SF14)	
HUMANIHGNC = 6112lUniProtKB = P51617	ENSG0000184216	Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1; IRAK1; ortholog	INTERLEUKIN-I RECEPTOR- ASSOCIATED KINASE 1 (PTHR24419:SF1)	
HUMANIHGNC = 170201UniProtKB = Q9Y616	ENSG0000090376	Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 3; IRAK3; ortholog	INTERLEUKIN-I RECEPTOR- ASSOCIATED KINASE 3 (PTHR24419:SF7)	

VTERLEUKIN-1 RECEPTOR- SSOCIATED KINASE 4 VTHR24419:SF22)	EGUMAIN (PTHR12000:SF3) Cysteine protease(PC00081)	EUCINE-RICH REPEAT- ONTAINING G-PROTEIN OUPLED RECEPTOR 4 THR24372:SF67)	IAP KINASE-ACTIVATED Non-motor microtubule ROTEIN KINASE 2 binding protein(PC00166); THR24349:SF63) non-receptor serine/threonine protein kinase(PC00167)	IAP KINASE-ACTIVATED Non-motor microtubule ROTEIN KINASE 3 binding protein(PC00166); THR24349:SF64) non-receptor serine/threonine protein kinase(PC00167)	IITOCHONDRIAL NTIVIRAL-SIGNALING ROTEIN (PTHR21446:SF6)	ITTOGEN-ACTTVATED ROTEIN KINASE KINASE INASE 1 (PTHR24361:SF414)	(continued)
Interleukin-1 I receptor-associated A kinase 4; IRAK4; () ortholog	Legumain; LGMN; I	Leucine-rich 1 repeat-containing 6 G-protein-coupled 6 receptor 4; LGR4; ()	MAP kinase-activated N protein kinase 2; F MAPKAPK2; (MAP kinase-activated N protein kinase 3; F MAPKAPK3; (Mitochondrial Nativiral-signaling P protein; MAVS; F ortholog	Mitogen-activated N protein kinase kinase F kinase 1; MAP3K1; K ortholog	
ENSG0000198001	ENSG0000100600	ENSG0000205213	ENSG0000162889	ENSG0000114738	ENSG0000088888	ENSG0000095015	
HUMANIHGNC = 179671UniProtKB = Q9NWZ3	HUMANIHGNC = 9472IUniProtKB = Q99538	HUMANIHGNC = 13299lUniProtKB = Q9BXB1	HUMANIHGNC = 6887lUniProtKB = P49137	HUMANIHGNC = 6888IUniProtKB = Q16644	HUMANIHGNC = 29233IUniProtKB = Q7Z434	HUMANIHGNC = 6848 UniProtKB = Q13233	

Table 1 (continued)				
		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 6859lUniProtKB = O43318	ENSG00000135341	Mitogen-activated	MITOGEN-ACTIVATED	
		kinase 7; MAP3K7;	KINASE 7 (PTHR46716:SF1)	
		ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 1628 UniProtKB = P08571	ENSG00000170458	Monocyte	MONOCYTE	
		differentiation antigen	DIFFERENTIATION ANTIGEN	
		CD14; CD14; ortholog	CD14 (PTHR10630:SF3)	
HIMANIHCNC = 6810II I B tVB = 001 IIV 28	ENISCOMMOTITS	Musses accorded	MITCOS & SOCIATED	Custoine anotococ(DC0001)
$\frac{1}{10} \frac{1}{10} \frac$	C/ 17/ 1000000000	Ivertical association	I VMPHOID TISSI IF	Cystemie protease(r.C.00061)
		tymphono ussue		
		Iympnoma	LIMPHUMA	
		translocation protein	TRANSLOCATION PROTEIN 1	
		1; MALT1; ortholog	(PTHR22576:SF29)	
HUMAN HGNC = 7562 UniProtKB = Q99836	ENSG00000172936	Myeloid	MYELOID DIFFERENTIATION	
		differentiation primary	PRIMARY RESPONSE	
		response protein	PROTEIN MYD88	
		MyD88; MYD88;	(PTHR15079:SF3)	
		ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 59611UniProtKB = Q9Y6K9	ENSG0000269335	NF-kappa-B essential	NF-KAPPA-B ESSENTIAL	
		modulator; IKBKG;	MODULATOR	
		ortholog	(PTHR31553:SF3)	
HUMANIHGNC = 7797 UniProtKB = P25963	ENSG0000100906	NF-kappa-B inhibitor	NF-KAPPA-B INHIBITOR	
		alpha; NFKBIA;	ALPHA (PTHR46680:SF1)	
		ortholog		

HUMANIHGNC = 7800IUniProtKB = Q9UBC1	ENSG0000204498	NF-kappa-B inhibitor-like protein 1; NFKBIL1; ortholog	NF-KAPPA-B INHIBITOR-LIKE PROTEIN 1 (PTHR15263:SF1)	
HUMANIHGNC = 298901UniProtKB = Q86UT6	ENSG0000160703	NLR family member X1; NLRX1; ortholog	NLR FAMILY MEMBER X1 (PTHR24106:SF152)	Nucleic acid binding(PC00171); serine protease(PC00203); transcription cofactor(PC00217)
HUMANIHGNC = 7794IUniProtKB = P19838	ENSG0000109320	Nuclear factor NF-kappa-B p105 subunit; NFKB1; ortholog	NUCLEAR FACTOR NF-KAPPA-B P105 SUBUNIT (PTHR24169:SF9)	
HUMANIHGNC = 7962lUniProtKB = P20393	ENSG0000126368	Nuclear receptor subfamily 1 group D member 1; NR1D1; ortholog	NUCLEAR RECEPTOR SUBFAMILY 1 GROUP D MEMBER 1 (PTHR24082:SF113)	C4 zinc finger nuclear receptor(PC00169); nucleic acid binding(PC00171); receptor(PC00197)
HUMANIHGNC = 163901UniProtKB = Q9Y239	ENSG0000106100	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 1; NOD1; ortholog	NUCLEOTIDE-BINDING OLIGOMERIZATION DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEIN I (PTHR24106:SF18)	Nucleic acid binding(PC00171); serine protease(PC00203); transcription cofactor(PC00217)
HUMANIHGNC = 53311UniProtKB = Q9HC29	ENSG0000167207	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2; NOD2; ortholog	NUCLEOTIDE-BINDING OLIGOMERIZATION DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEIN 2 (PTHR24106:SF64)	Nucleic acid binding(PC00171); serine protease(PC00203); transcription cofactor(PC00217)
				(continued)

Structural and Functional Characteristics of the Human Blood-Nerve Barrier...

Table 1 (continued)				
		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 7966 UniProtKB = Q13133	ENSG00000025434	Oxysterols receptor	OXYSTEROLS RECEPTOR	C4 zinc finger nuclear
		LXR-alpha; NR1H3;	LXR-ALPHA	receptor(PC00169); nucleic
		ortholog	(PTHR24082:SF259)	acid binding(PC00171);
				receptor(PC00197)
HUMANIHGNC = 19353 lUniProtKB = Q96ST3	ENSG00000169375	Paired amphipathic	PAIRED AMPHIPATHIC HELIX	Chromatin/chromatin-binding
		helix protein Sin3a;	PROTEIN SIN3A	protein(PC00077);
		SIN3A; ortholog	(PTHR12346:SF2)	deacetylase(PC00087);
				transcription factor(PC00218)
HUMAN HGNC = 8974 UniProtKB = Q8NEB9	ENSG0000078142	Phosphatidylinositol	PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITOL	Kinase(PC00137)
		3-kinase catalytic	3-KINASE CATALYTIC	
		subunit type 3;	SUBUNIT TYPE 3	
		PIK3C3; ortholog	(PTHR10048:SF7)	
HUMAN HGNC = 8982 UniProtKB = Q99570	ENSG00000196455	Phosphoinositide	PHOSPHOINOSITIDE	
		3-kinase regulatory	3-KINASE REGULATORY	
		subunit 4; PIK3R4;	SUBUNIT 4 (PTHR17583:SF0)	
		ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 1663lUniProtKB = P16671	ENSG00000135218	Platelet glycoprotein	PLATELET GLYCOPROTEIN 4	Receptor(PC00197)
		4; CD36; ortholog	(PTHR11923:SF12)	
HUMANIHGNC = 12463lUniProtKB = P0CG47	ENSG00000170315	Polyubiquitin-B;	POLYUBIQUITIN-B	Ribosomal protein(PC00202)
		UBB; ortholog	(PTHR10666:SF165)	
HUMANIHGNC = 12468 IUniProtKB = P0CG48	ENSG00000150991	Polyubiquitin-C;	POLYUBIQUITIN-C	Ribosomal protein(PC00202)
		UBC; ortholog	(PTHR10666:SF277)	

HUMANIHGNC = 19102 UniProtKB = 095786	ENSG0000107201	Probable ATP- dependent RNA helicase DDX58; DDX58: ortholog	ATP-DEPENDENT RNA HELICASE DDXS8-RELATED (PTHR14074:SF31)	
HUMANIHGNC = 25942lUniProtKB = Q8IY21	ENSG0000137628	Probable ATP- dependent RNA helicase DDX60; DDX60; ortholog	ATP-DEPENDENT RNA HELICASE DDX60-RELATED (PTHR44533:SF3)	
HUMANIHGNC = 29517lUniProtKB = Q96C10	ENSG0000108771	Probable ATP- dependent RNA helicase DHX58; DHX58; ortholog	ATP-DEPENDENT RNA HELICASE DHX58-RELATED (PTHR14074:SF7)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9568IUniProtKB = Q06323	ENSG0000092010	Proteasome activator complex subunit 1; PSME1; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 1 (PTHR10660:SF5)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9569IUniProtKB = Q9UL46	ENSG00000100911	Proteasome activator complex subunit 2; PSME2; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 2 (PTHR10660:SF6)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9570 UniProtKB = P61289	ENSG00000131467	Proteasome activator complex subunit 3; PSME3; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 3 (PTHR10660:SF4)	
HUMANIHGNC = 20635IUniProtKB = Q14997	ENSG0000068878	Proteasome activator complex subunit 4; PSME4; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 4 (PTHR32170:SF3)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9571IUniProtKB = Q92530	ENSG00000125818	Proteasome inhibitor PI31 subunit; PSMF1; ortholog	PROTEASOME INHIBITOR PI31 SUBUNIT (PTHR13266:SF1)	Protease inhibitor(PC00191)
				(continued)

Table 1 (continued)				
{	}	Gene name/gene	-	
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9530lUniProtKB = P25786	ENSG0000129084	Proteasome subunit alpha type-1; PSMA1; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-RELATED (PTHR11599:SF12)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9531IUniProtKB = P25787	ENSG0000106588	Proteasome subunit alpha type-2; PSMA2; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-2 (PTHR11599:SF16)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9532lUniProtKB = P25788	ENSG00000100567	Proteasome subunit alpha type-3; PSMA3; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-3 (PTHR11599:SF10)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9533IUniProtKB = P25789	ENSG0000041357	Proteasome subunit alpha type-4; PSMA4; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-4 (PTHR11599:SF13)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9534IUniProtKB = P28066	ENSG00000143106	Proteasome subunit alpha type-5; PSMA5; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-5 (PTHR11599:SF14)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9535IUniProtKB = P60900	ENSG0000100902	Proteasome subunit alpha type-6; PSMA6; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-6 (PTHR11599:SF11)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9536IUniProtKB = 014818	ENSG0000101182	Proteasome subunit alpha type-7; PSMA7; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-7 (PTHR11599:SF40)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9537IUniProtKB = P20618	ENSG0000008018	Proteasome subunit beta type-1; PSMB1; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-1 (PTHR11599:SF59)	Protease(PC00190)

HUMANIHGNC = 9538lUniProtKB = P40306	ENSG00000205220	Proteasome subunit beta type-10;	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-10	Protease(PC00190)
		PSMB10; ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF41)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9539lUniProtKB = P49721	ENSG00000126067	Proteasome subunit	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Protease(PC00190)
		beta type-2; PSMB2;	BETA TYPE-2	
		ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF6)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9540lUniProtKB = P49720	ENSG00000277791	Proteasome subunit	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Protease(PC00190)
		beta type-3; PSMB3;	BETA TYPE-3	
		ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF62)	
HUMANIHGNC = 95411UniProtKB = P28070	ENSG00000159377	Proteasome subunit	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Protease(PC00190)
		beta type-4; PSMB4;	BETA TYPE-4	
		ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF5)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9543lUniProtKB = P28072	ENSG00000142507	Proteasome subunit	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Protease(PC00190)
		beta type-6; PSMB6;	BETA TYPE-6	
		ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF46)	
HUMAN HGNC = 9544 UniProtKB = Q99436	ENSG00000136930	Proteasome subunit	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Protease(PC00190)
		beta type-7; PSMB7;	BETA TYPE-7	
		ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF42)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9545lUniProtKB = P28062	ENSG00000204264	Proteasome subunit	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Protease(PC00190)
		beta type-8; PSMB8;	BETA TYPE-8	
		ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF53)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9546lUniProtKB = P28065	ENSG00000240065	Proteasome subunit	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Protease(PC00190)
		beta type-9; PSMB9;	BETA TYPE-9	
		ortholog	(PTHR11599:SF50)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11968 UniProtKB = Q9BT09	ENSG00000137161	Protein canopy	PROTEIN CANOPY	
		homolog 3; CNPY3;	HOMOLOG 3 (PTHR 15382:SF2)	
		ortholog		
				(continued)

Table 1 (continued)				
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9399IUniProtKB = Q05655	ENSG0000163932	Protein kinase C delta type; PRKCD; ortholog	PROTEIN KINASE C DELTA TYPE (PTHR24356:SF322)	Annexin(PC00050); calmodulin(PC00061); non-receptor serine/threonine protein kinase(PC00167); transfer/carrier protein(PC00219)
HUMANIHGNC = 9401IUniProtKB = Q02156	ENSG0000171132	Protein kinase C epsilon type; PRKCE; ortholog	PROTEIN KINASE C EPSILON TYPE (PTHR24356:SF159)	Annexin(PC00050); calmodulin(PC00061); non-receptor serine/threonine protein kinase(PC00167); transfer/carrier protein(PC00219)
HUMANIHGNC = 24489IUniProtKB = Q8ND56	ENSG0000257103	Protein LSM14 homolog A; LSM14A; ortholog	PROTEIN LSM14 HOMOLOG A (PTHR13586:SF2)	RNA-binding protein(PC00031)
HUMANIHGNC = 13481IUniProtKB = Q9H1C4	ENSG00000110057	Protein unc-93 homolog B1; UNC93B1; ortholog	PROTEIN UNC-93 HOMOLOG B1 (PTHR46744:SF1)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11283 UniProtKB = P12931	ENSG00000197122	Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src; SRC; ortholog	PROTO-ONCOGENE TYROSINE-PROTEIN KINASE SRC (PTHR24418:SF53)	
HUMANIHGNC = 14957IUniProtKB = Q14671	ENSG0000134644	Pumilio homolog 1; PUM1; ortholog	PUMILIO HOMOLOG 1 (PTHR12537:SF1)	mRNA processing factor(PC00147); translation factor(PC00223)

mRNA processing factor(PC00147); translation factor(PC00223)			3)	0			Receptor(PC00197)	(continued)
PUMILIO HOMOLOG 2 (PTHR12537:SF52)	RADICAL S-ADENOSYL METHIONINE DOMAIN- CONTAINING PROTEIN 2 (PTHR21339:SF0)	RAF PROTO-ONCOGENE SERINE/THREONINE- PROTEIN KINASE (PTHR44329:SF22)	RAFTLIN (PTHR17601:SF3	RECEPTOR-INTERACTING SERINE/THREONINE- PROTEIN KINASE 1 (PTHR44329:SF6)	RIBOSOMAL PROTEIN S6 KINASE ALPHA-3 (PTHR24351:SF58)	RIBOSOMAL PROTEIN S6 KINASE ALPHA-5 (PTHR24351:SF115)	SCAVENGER RECEPTOR CLASS A MEMBER 3 (PTHR24020:SF10)	
Pumilio homolog 2; PUM2; ortholog	Radical S-adenosylmethionine domain-containing protein 2; RSAD2; ortholog	RAF proto-oncogene serine/threonine- protein kinase; RAF1; ortholog	Raftlin; RFTN1; ortholog	Receptor-interacting serine/threonine- protein kinase 1; RIPK1; ortholog	Ribosomal protein S6 kinase alpha-3; RPS6KA3; ortholog	Ribosomal protein S6 kinase alpha-5; RPS6KA5; ortholog	Scavenger receptor class A member 3; SCARA3; ortholog	_
ENSG0000055917	ENSG0000134321	ENSG0000132155	ENSG00000131378	ENSG0000137275	ENSG00000177189	ENSG0000100784	ENSG00000168077	
HUMANIHGNC = 14958IUniProtKB = Q8TB72	HUMANIHGNC = 30908IUniProtKB = Q8WXG1	HUMANIHGNC = 9829IUniProtKB = P04049	HUMANIHGNC = 30278lUniProtKB = Q14699	HUMANIHGNC = 10019lUniProtKB = Q13546	HUMANIHGNC = 10432lUniProtKB = P51812	HUMANIHGNC = 10434 UniProtKB = 075582	HUMANIHGNC = 19000 UniProtKB = Q6AZY7	

Table 1 (continued)				
		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 10698lUniProtKB = Q92503	ENSG00000129657	SEC14-like protein 1; SEC14L1; ortholog	SEC14-LIKE PROTEIN 1 (PTHR23324:SF51)	
HUMANIHGNC = 8590lUniProtKB = Q13153	ENSG00000149269	Serine/threonine-	SERINE/THREONINE-	
		protein kinase PAK 1;	PROTEIN KINASE PAK 1	
		PAK1; ortholog	(PTHR24361:SF232)	
HUMANIHGNC = 8591IUniProtKB = Q13177	ENSG0000180370	Serine/threonine-	SERINE/THREONINE-	
		protein kinase PAK 2;	PROTEIN KINASE PAK 2	
		PAK2; ortholog	(PTHR24361:SF281)	
HUMANIHGNC = 8592lUniProtKB = 075914	ENSG0000077264	Serine/threonine-	SERINE/THREONINE-	
		protein kinase PAK 3;	PROTEIN KINASE PAK 3	
		PAK3; ortholog	(PTHR24361:SF250)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11584 UniProtKB = Q9UHD2	ENSG00000183735	Serine/threonine-	SERINE/THREONINE-	Non-receptor serine/threonine
		protein kinase TBK1;	PROTEIN KINASE TBK1	protein kinase(PC00167)
		TBK1; ortholog	(PTHR22969:SF14)	
HUMANIHGNC = 10899lUniProtKB = P63208	ENSG00000113558	S-phase kinase-	S-PHASE KINASE-	
		associated protein 1;	ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 1	
		SKP1; ortholog	(PTHR11165:SF24)	
HUMANIHGNC = 17074 UniProtKB = Q6SZW1	ENSG0000004139	Sterile alpha and TIR	STERILE ALPHA AND TIR	
		motif-containing	MOTIF-CONTAINING	
		protein 1; SARM1;	PROTEIN 1 (PTHR22998:SF1)	
		ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 27962 lUniProtKB = $Q86WV6$	ENSG0000184584	Stimulator of	STIMULATOR OF	
		interferon genes	INTERFERON GENES	
		protein; TMEM173;	PROTEIN (PTHR34339:SF1)	
		ortholog		

TETRASPANIN-6 (PTHR19282:SF169)	d TGF-BETA-ACTIVATED Kinase inhibitor(PC00139); KINASE 1 AND MAP3K7- BINDING PROTEIN 1 (PTHR13832:SF533)	d TGF-BETA-ACTIVATED KINASE 1 AND MAP3K7- BINDING PROTEIN 2 (PTHR46253:SF2)	d TGF-BETA-ACTIVATED KINASE 1 AND MAP3K7- BINDING PROTEIN 3 (PTHR46253:SF3)	TIR DOMAIN-CONTAINING ADAPTER MOLECULE 1 M1; (PTHR47230:SF1)	TNF RECEPTOR-ASSOCIATED Signaling molecule(PC00207) FACTOR 3 (PTHR10131:SF76)	ing TNFAIP3-INTERACTING PROTEIN 1 (PTHR31882:SF3)	(barrent and a second
Tetraspanin-6; TSPAN6; ortholog	TGF-beta-activatec kinase 1 and MAP3K7-binding protein 1; TAB1; ortholog	TGF-beta-activatec kinase 1 and MAP3K7-binding protein 2; TAB2; ortholog	TGF-beta-activatec kinase 1 and MAP3K7-binding protein 3; TAB3; ortholog	TIR domain- containing adapter molecule 1; TICAN ortholog	TNF receptor- associated factor 3: TRAF3; ortholog	TNFAIP3-interacti protein 1; TNIP1; ortholog	
ENSG000000003	ENSG0000100324	ENSG0000055208	ENSG0000157625	ENSG0000127666	ENSG0000131323	ENSG0000145901	
HUMANIHGNC = 11858 UniProtKB = 043657	HUMANIHGNC = 18157IUniProtKB = Q15750	HUMANIHGNC = 17075IUniProtKB = Q9NYJ8	HUMANIHGNC = 306811UniProtKB = Q8N5C8	HUMANIHGNC = 18348lUniProtKB = Q8IUC6	HUMANIHGNC = 12033lUniProtKB = Q13114	HUMANIHGNC = 16903 UniProtKB = Q15025	

Table 1 (continued)				
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 19118IUniProtKB = Q8NFZ5	ENSG00000168884	TNFAIP3-interacting protein 2; TNIP2; ortholog	TNFAIP3-INTERACTING PROTEIN 2 (PTHR31882:SF6)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11850lUniProtKB = 000206	ENSG00000136869	Toll-like receptor 4; TLR4; ortholog	TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 4 (PTHR24365:SF521)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11851IUniProtKB = 060602	ENSG00000187554	Toll-like receptor 5; TLR5; ortholog	TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 5 (PTHR24365:SF525)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11562 UniProtKB = Q92844	ENSG00000136560	TRAF family member-associated	TRAF FAMILY MEMBER- ASSOCIATED NF-KAPPA-B	
		NF-kappa-B activator; TANK; ortholog	ACTIVATOR (PTHR15249:SF0)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9955IUniProtKB = Q04206	ENSG00000173039	Transcription factor p65; RELA; ortholog	TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR P65 (PTHR24169:SF1)	P53-like transcription factor(PC00253); Rel
				homology transcription factor(PC00252); nucleic acid binding(PC00171)
HUMANIHGNC = 9956 UniProtKB = Q01201	ENSG0000104856	Transcription factor RelB; RELB; ortholog	TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR RELB (PTHR24169:SF18)	P53-like transcription factor(PC00253); Rel
				homology transcription factor(PC00252); nucleic acid binding(PC00171)
HUMANIHGNC = 24552lUniProtKB = Q3LXA3	ENSG00000149476	Triokinase/FMN cyclase; TKFC; ortholog	TRIOKINASE/FMN CYCLASE (PTHR28629:SF4)	
HUMANIHGNC = 16276IUniProtKB = Q9C035	ENSG00000132256	Tripartite motif- containing protein 5; TRIM5; ortholog	TRIPARTITE MOTIF- CONTAINING PROTEIN 5 (PTHR24103:SF426)	

(continued)				
	(F11K1000055200)	ortholog		
	PROTEIN S27A	ribosomal protein		
Ribosomal protein(PC00202)	UBIQUITIN-40S RIBOSOMAL	Ubiquitin-40S	ENSG00000143947	HUMANIHGNC = 10417lUniProtKB = P62979
		ortholog		
	OTULIN (PTHR33662:SF2)	otulin; OTULIN;		
	UBIQUITIN THIOESTERASE	Ubiquitin thioesterase	ENSG00000154124	HUMAN HGNC = 25118 UniProtKB = Q96BN8
		ortholog		
	CYLD (PTHR11830:SF15)	CYLD; CYLD;		
ribosomal protein(PC00202)	TERMINAL HYDROLASE	terminal hydrolase		,
Cvsteine protease(PC00081):	UBIOUITIN CARBOXYL-	Ubiquitin carboxvl-	ENSG0000083799	HUMANIHGNC = 2584 IUniProtKB = $09NOC7$
	(PTHR10677:SF16)	UBQLN1; ortholog		
	UBIQUILIN-1	Ubiquilin-1;	ENSG00000135018	HUMANIHGNC = 12508lUniProtKB = Q9UMX0
		ortholog		
	(PTHR24416:SF517)	TYRO3; TYRO3;		
	RECEPTOR TYRO3	kinase receptor		
	TYROSINE-PROTEIN KINASE	Tyrosine-protein	ENSG0000002445	HUMANIHGNC = 12446IUniProtKB = Q06418
		ortholog		
	LYN (PTHR24418:SF42)	tyrosine-protein kinase Lyn; LYN;	100407000000000	P(1) =
		ortholog		
	FYN (PTHR24418:SF44)	kinase Fyn; FYN;		
	TYROSINE-PROTEIN KINASE	Tyrosine-protein	ENSG0000010810	HUMANIHGNC = 4037lUniProtKB = P06241
protease(PC00081)	(PTHR13367:SF3)	3; TNFAIP3; ortholog		
protein(PC0009); cysteine	ALPHA-INDUCED PROTEIN 3	alpha-induced protein		
DNA-binding	TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR	Tumor necrosis factor	ENSG00000118503	HUMANIHGNC = 11896 UniProtKB = P21580

Table 1 (continued)				
		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 12458lUniProtKB = P62987	ENSG00000221983	Ubiquitin-60S	UBIQUITIN-60S RIBOSOMAL	Ribosomal protein(PC00202)
		ribosomal protein	PROTEIN L40	
		L40; UBA52; ortholog	(PTHR10666:SF268)	
HUMANIHGNC = 12475IUniProtKB = P62837	ENSG00000131508	Ubiquitin-conjugating	UBIQUITIN-CONJUGATING	Ligase(PC00142)
		enzyme E2 D2;	ENZYME E2 D2	
		UBE2D2; ortholog	(PTHR24068:SF40)	
HUMANIHGNC = 12476lUniProtKB = P61077	ENSG0000109332	Ubiquitin-conjugating	UBIQUITIN-CONJUGATING	Ligase(PC00142)
		enzyme E2 D3;	ENZYME E2 D3	
		UBE2D3; ortholog	(PTHR24068:SF48)	
HUMANIHGNC = 12492lUniProtKB = P61088	ENSG00000177889	Ubiquitin-conjugating	UBIQUITIN-CONJUGATING	
		enzyme E2 N;	ENZYME E2 N	
		UBE2N; ortholog	(PTHR24068:SF152)	
HUMANIHGNC = 12494 UniProtKB = Q13404	ENSG00000244687	Ubiquitin-conjugating	HCG2044781-RELATED	
		enzyme E2 variant 1;	(PTHR24068:SF169)	
		UBE2V1; ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 204511UniProtKB = Q8IWB7	ENSG00000085449	WD repeat and FYVE	WD REPEAT AND FYVE	
		domain-containing	DOMAIN-CONTAINING	
		protein 1; WDFY1;	PROTEIN 1 (PTHR46189:SF2)	
		ortholog		

Table 2List of known molecules involved in antigein physiological cross-talk between the systemic imit	en processing and pres mune compartment and	entation expressed by the peripheral nerve endo	ne human BNB transcriptome neurium and in peripheral ner	in health that may be relevant ve autoimmune disorders
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene svmbol	Panther familv/subfamilv	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9553IUniProtKB = P62333	ENSG00000100519	26S protease	26S PROTEASE	Hvdrolase(PC00121)
		regulatory subunit	REGULATORY SUBUNIT	
		10B; PSMC6;	10B (PTHR23073:SF31)	
		ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 9547lUniProtKB = P62191	ENSG00000100764	26S protease	26S PROTEASE	Hydrolase(PC00121)
		regulatory subunit 4; PSMC1 · ortholog	REGULATORY SUBUNIT 4 (PTHR73073·SF74)	
	ENECTRONOT LEDIC	Solomo (LOTAL)		11-14-1(DC00101)
HUMANIHUNC = 334910 miptoins = $P1/980$	EINSCOUDULOS 10	205 protease	200 FRUIEASE	Hydrolase(FCUU121)
		regulatory subunit 6A: PSMC3:	REGULATORY SUBUNIT 6A (PTHR23073:SF7)	
		ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 95511UniProtKB = P43686	ENSG00000013275	26S protease	26S PROTEASE	Hydrolase(PC00121)
		regulatory subunit	REGULATORY SUBUNIT	
		6B; PSMC4;	6B (PTHR23073:SF8)	
		ortholog		
HUMANIHGNC = 9548lUniProtKB = P35998	ENSG00000161057	26S protease	26S PROTEASE	Hydrolase(PC00121)
		regulatory subunit 7;	REGULATORY SUBUNIT	
		PSMC2; ortholog	7 (PTHR23073:SF13)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9552IUniProtKB = P62195	ENSG0000087191	26S protease	26S PROTEASE	Hydrolase(PC00121)
		regulatory subunit 8;	REGULATORY SUBUNIT	
		PSMC5; ortholog	8 (PTHR23073:SF12)	
HUMAN HGNC = 9554 UniProtKB = Q99460	ENSG00000173692	26S proteasome	26S PROTEASOME	Enzyme
		non-ATPase	NON-ATPASE	modulator(PC0005)
		regulatory subunit 1;	REGULATORY SUBUNIT	
		PSMD1; ortholog	1 (PTHR10943:SF2)	

(continued)

		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9555IUniProtKB = 075832	ENSG0000101843	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 10; PSMD10; ortholoo	26S PROTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 10 (PTHR24126:SF24)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9556IUniProtKB = 000231	ENSG0000108671	26S proteasome 26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 11; PSMD11; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 11 (PTHR10678:SF2)	
HUMAN HGNC = 9557 UniProtKB = 000232	ENSG0000197170	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 12; PSMD12; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 12 (PTHR10855:SF1)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
HUMANIHGNC = 9558IUniProtKB = Q9UNM6	ENSG0000185627	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 13; PSMD13; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 13 (PTHR10539:SF0)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
HUMANIHGNC = 168891UniProtKB = 000487	ENSG0000115233	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 14; PSMD14; ortholog	26S PROTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 14 (PTHR10410:SF5)	Metalloprotease(PC00153); transcription factor(PC00218)

Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9566IUniProtKB = P48556	ENSG000009341	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 8; PSMD8; ortholog	265 PROTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 8 (PTHR12387:SF0)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
HUMANIHGNC = 9567IUniProtKB = 000233	ENSG00000110801	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 9; PSMD9; ortholog	265 PROTEASOME NON-ATPASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT 9 (PTHR12651:SF1)	Enzyme modulator(PC00095)
HUMANIHGNC = 652lUniProtKB = P84077	ENSG00000143761	ADP-ribosylation factor 1; ARF1; ortholog	ADP-RIBOSYLATION FACTOR 1 (PTHR11711:SF308)	
HUMANIHGNC = 1671UniProtKB = P61163	ENSG00000138107	Alpha-centractin; ACTR1A; ortholog	ALPHA-CENTRACTIN (PTHR11937:SF370)	Actin and actin-related protein(PC00039)
HUMANIHGNC = 2707IUniProtKB = P12821	ENSG00000159640	Angiotensin- converting enzyme; ACE; ortholog	ANGIOTENSIN- CONVERTING ENZYME (PTHR10514:SF25)	Metalloprotease(PC00153)
HUMANIHGNC = 43lUniProtKB = Q03518	ENSG0000168394	Antigen peptide transporter 1; TAP1; ortholog	ANTIGEN PEPTIDE TRANSPORTER 1 (PTHR24221:SF249)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); serine protease(PC00203)
HUMANIHGNC = 44IUniProtKB = Q03519	ENSG0000204267	Antigen peptide transporter 2; TAP2; ortholog	ANTIGEN PEPTIDE TRANSPORTER 2 (PTHR24221:SF428)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); serine protease(PC00203)
HUMANIHGNC = 554 lUniProtKB = Q10567	ENSG0000100280	AP-1 complex subunit beta-1; AP1B1; ortholog	AP-1 COMPLEX SUBUNIT BETA-1 (PTHR11134:SF3)	Membrane traffic protein(PC00150)
HUMANIHGNC = 555IUniProtKB = 043747	ENSG00000166747	AP-1 complex subunit gamma-1; AP1G1; ortholog	AP-1 COMPLEX SUBUNIT GAMMA-1 (PTHR22780:SF26)	Transmembrane receptor regulatory/adaptor protein(PC00226)

HUMANIHGNC = 13667lUniProtKB = Q9BXS5	ENSG00000072958	AP-1 complex	AP-1 COMPLEX	Extracellular matrix
		subunit mu-1;	SUBUNIT MU-1	glycoprotein(PC00100);
		AP1M1; ortholog	(PTHR10529:SF257)	receptor(PC00197)
HUMANIHGNC = 560lUniProtKB = P56377	ENSG00000182287	AP-1 complex	AP-1 COMPLEX	Vesicle coat
		subunit sigma-2;	SUBUNIT SIGMA-2	protein(PC00235)
		AP1S2; ortholog	(PTHR11753:SF19)	
HUMANIHGNC = $18971IUniProtKB = Q96PC3$	ENSG00000152056	AP-1 complex	AP-1 COMPLEX	Vesicle coat
		subunit sigma-3;	SUBUNIT SIGMA-3	protein(PC00235)
		AP1S3; ortholog	(PTHR11753:SF18)	
HUMANIHGNC = 5611UniProtKB = 095782	ENSG00000196961	AP-2 complex	AP-2 COMPLEX	Transmembrane receptor
		subunit alpha-1;	SUBUNIT ALPHA-1	regulatory/adaptor
		AP2A1; ortholog	(PTHR22780:SF4)	protein(PC00226)
HUMANIHGNC = 562IUniProtKB = 094973	ENSG0000183020	AP-2 complex	AP-2 COMPLEX	Transmembrane receptor
		subunit alpha-2;	SUBUNIT ALPHA-2	regulatory/adaptor
		AP2A2; ortholog	(PTHR22780:SF30)	protein(PC00226)
HUMAN HGNC = 563 UniProtKB = P63010	ENSG0000006125	AP-2 complex	AP-2 COMPLEX	Membrane traffic
		subunit beta; AP2B1;	SUBUNIT BETA	protein(PC00150)
		ortholog	(PTHR11134:SF9)	
HUMAN HGNC = 564 UniProtKB = Q96CW1	ENSG0000161203	AP-2 complex	AP-2 COMPLEX	Extracellular matrix
		subunit mu; AP2M1;	SUBUNIT MU	glycoprotein(PC00100);
		ortholog	(PTHR10529:SF236)	receptor(PC00197)
HUMANIHGNC = 565IUniProtKB = P53680	ENSG0000042753	AP-2 complex	AP-2 COMPLEX	Vesicle coat
		subunit sigma;	SUBUNIT SIGMA	protein(PC00235)
		AP2S1; ortholog	(PTHR11753:SF6)	
HUMANIHGNC = 566IUniProtKB = 000203	ENSG00000132842	AP-3 complex	AP-3 COMPLEX	Membrane traffic
		subunit beta-1;	SUBUNIT BETA-1	protein(PC00150)
		AP3B1; ortholog	(PTHR11134:SF10)	
				(continued)

Table 2 (continued)				
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 568lUniProtKB = 014617	ENSG0000065000	AP-3 complex subunit delta-1; AP3D1; ortholog	AP-3 COMPLEX SUBUNIT DELTA-1 (PTHR22781:SF12)	Transporter(PC00227)
HUMANIHGNC = 16608IUniProtKB = Q9ULZ3	ENSG0000103490	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD; PYCARD; ortholog	APOPTOSIS- ASSOCIATED SPECK- LIKE PROTEIN CONTAINING A CARD (PTHR10454:SF203)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 501UniProtKB = Q9NP78	ENSG0000150967	ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 9; ABCB9; ortholog	ATP-BINDING CASSETTE SUB-FAMILY B MEMBER 9 (PTHR24221:SF242)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); serine protease(PC00203)
HUMANIHGNC = 16695IUniProtKB = P51572	ENSG0000185825	B-cell receptor- associated protein 31; BCAP31; ortholog	B-CELL RECEPTOR- ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 31 (PTHR12701:SF15)	Membrane traffic protein(PC00150); transporter(PC00227)
HUMANIHGNC = 914lUniProtKB = P61769	ENSG00000166710	Beta-2- microglobulin; B2M; ortholog	BETA-2- MICROGLOBULIN (PTHR19944:SF62)	Major histocompatibility complex antigen(PC00149)
HUMANIHGNC = 168IUniProtKB = P42025	ENSG00000115073	Beta-centractin; ACTR1B; ortholog	BETA-CENTRACTIN (PTHR11937:SF195)	Actin and actin-related protein(PC00039)
HUMANIHGNC = 1473IUniProtKB = P27824	ENSG00000127022	Calnexin; CANX; ortholog	CALNEXIN (PTHR11073:SF11)	Calcium-binding protein(PC00060); chaperone(PC00072)
HUMANIHGNC = 1455IUniProtKB = P27797	ENSG00000179218	Calreticulin; CALR; ortholog	CALRETICULIN (PTHR11073:SF16)	Calcium-binding protein(PC00060)
HUMANIHGNC = 2529IUniProtKB = P07339	ENSG00000117984	Cathepsin D; CTSD; ortholog	CATHEPSIN D (PTHR13683:SF230)	Aspartic protease(PC00053)

(continued)				
(/ CIUUTH)ntetore	CHAIN 2 (PTHR12442:SF37)	2; DYNC112; ortholog		
cytoskeletal	1 INTERMEDIATE	1 intermediate chain		
Microtubule family	CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN	Cytoplasmic dynein	ENSG00000077380	HUMANIHGNC = 2964 IUniProtKB = Q13409
	(PTHR12442:SF34)	ortholog		
protein(PC00157)	CHAIN 1	1; DYNCII1;		
cytoskeletal	1 INTERMEDIATE	1 intermediate chain		
Microtubule family	CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN	Cytoplasmic dynein	ENSG00000158560	HUMANIHGNC = 2963lUniProtKB = 014576
protein(PC00156)	(PTHR10676:SF314)	DYNC1H1; ortholog		
microtubule-binding motor	1 HEAVY CHAIN 1	1 heavy chain 1;		
Hydrolase(PC00121);	CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN	Cytoplasmic dynein	ENSG00000197102	HUMANIHGNC = $2961IUniProtKB = Q14204$
	(PTHR15168:SF0)	ortholog		
	LIGHT CHAIN	light chain; CYBA;		
	CYTOCHROME B-245	Cytochrome b-245	ENSG0000051523	HUMANIHGNC = 2577 UniProtKB = P13498
	(PTHR10639:SF1)			
protein(PC00235)	CHAIN A	A; CLTA; ortholog		
Vesicle coat	CLATHRIN LIGHT	Clathrin light chain	ENSG00000122705	HUMANIHGNC = 2090lUniProtKB = P09496
	(PTHR10292:SF7))		
protein(PC00235)	CHAIN 1	1; CLTC; ortholog		
Vesicle coat	CLATHRIN HEAVY	Clathrin heavy chain	ENSG00000141367	HUMANIHGNC = 2092 UniProtKB = Q00610
protease inhibitor(PC00191)	(PTHR12411:SF525)	ortholog		
Cysteine protease(PC00081);	CATHEPSIN S	Cathepsin S; CTSS;	ENSG00000163131	HUMANIHGNC = 2545IUniProtKB = P25774
protease inhibitor(PC00191)	(PTHR12411:SF411)	CTSL; ortholog		
Cysteine protease(PC00081);	CATHEPSIN L1	Cathepsin L1;	ENSG00000135047	HUMANIHGNC = 2537lUniProtKB = P07711
protease inhibitor(PC00191)	(PTHR12411:SF444)	ortholog		
Cysteine protease(PC00081);	CATHEPSIN F	Cathepsin F; CTSF;	ENSG00000174080	HUMANIHGNC = 2531IUniProtKB = Q9UBX1

Gene ID	Manned IDs	Gene name/gene symhol	Panther familv/subfamilv	Panther protein class
	err poddniu	100mge	finitions fraint forman	raining provin viasa
HUMANIHGNC = 2966IUniProtKB = 043237	ENSG00000135720	Cytoplasmic dynein 1 light intermediate	CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN 1 LIGHT	Enzyme modulator(PC00095);
		chain 2; DYNC1LI2;	INTERMEDIATE CHAIN	microtubule family
		ortholog	2 (PTHR12688:SF1)	cytoskeletal
		I		protein(PC00157)
HUMANIHGNC = 2962lUniProtKB = Q8NCM8	ENSG00000187240	Cytoplasmic dynein	CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN	Hydrolase(PC00121);
		2 heavy chain 1;	2 HEAVY CHAIN 1	microtubule-binding motor
		DYNC2H1; ortholog	(PTHR10676:SF352)	protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 24595IUniProtKB = Q8TCX1	ENSG00000138036	Cytoplasmic dynein	CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN	Microtubule family
		2 light intermediate	2 LIGHT	cytoskeletal
		chain 1; DYNC2L11;	INTERMEDIATE CHAIN	protein(PC00157)
		ortholog	1 (PTHR13236:SF0)	
HUMANIHGNC = 27111UniProtKB = Q14203	ENSG00000204843	Dynactin subunit 1;	DYNACTIN SUBUNIT 1	Non-motor microtubule-
		DCTN1; ortholog	(PTHR18916:SF40)	binding protein(PC00166)
HUMAN HGNC = 2712 UniProtKB = Q13561	ENSG00000175203	Dynactin subunit 2;	DYNACTIN SUBUNIT 2	Microtubule-binding motor
		DCTN2; ortholog	(PTHR15346:SF0)	protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 2713lUniProtKB = 075935	ENSG00000137100	Dynactin subunit 3;	DYNACTIN SUBUNIT 3	
		DCTN3; ortholog	(PTHR28360:SF1)	
HUMANIHGNC = 15518 UniProtKB = Q9UJW0	ENSG00000132912	Dynactin subunit 4;	DYNACTIN SUBUNIT 4	
		DCTN4; ortholog	(PTHR13034:SF2)	
HUMANIHGNC = 24594lUniProtKB = Q9BTE1	ENSG00000166847	Dynactin subunit 5;	DYNACTIN SUBUNIT 5	
		DCTN5; ortholog	(PTHR46126:SF1)	
HUMANIHGNC = 2974lUniProtKB = P50570	ENSG00000079805	Dynamin-2; DNM2;	DYNAMIN-2	Hydrolase(PC00121);
		ortholog	(PTHR11566:SF23)	microtubule family
				cytoskeletal
				protein(PC00157); small
				GTPase(PC00208)

HAIN Enzyme modulator(PC0005); microtubule family cytoskeletal protein(PC00157)	HAIN Enzyme modulator(PC00095); microtubule family cytoskeletal protein(PC00157)	OTEIN	E 1 Metalloprotease(PC00153)	E 2 Metalloprotease(PC00153)	BRON- Reductase(PC00198) DL	(continued
DYNEIN LIGHT CH 1, CYTOPLASMIC (PTHR11886:SF52)	DYNEIN LIGHT CH 2, CYTOPLASMIC (PTHR11886:SF35)	E3 UBIQUITIN-PR(LIGASE MARCH1 (PTHR45981:SF1)	ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM AMINOPEPTIDASI (PTHR11533:SF156	ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM AMINOPEPTIDASI (PTHR11533:SF239	GAMMA-INTERFE INDUCIBLE LYSOSOMAL THIC REDUCTASE (PTHR13234:SF8)	
Dynein light chain 1, cytoplasmic; DYNLL1; ortholog	Dynein light chain 2, cytoplasmic; DYNLL2; ortholog	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase MARCH1; MARCH1; ortholog	Endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase 1; ERAP1; ortholog	Endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase 2; ERAP2; ortholog	Gamma-interferon- inducible lysosomal thiol reductase; IFI30; ortholog	
ENSG0000088986	ENSG0000264364	ENSG0000145416	ENSG0000164307	ENSG00000164308	ENSG0000216490	
HUMANIHGNC = 15476 UniProtKB = P63167	HUMANIHGNC = 24596IUniProtKB = Q96FJ2	HUMANIHGNC = 26077/UniProtKB = Q8TCQ1	HUMANIHGNC = 18173IUniProtKB = Q9NZ08	HUMANIHGNC = 29499IUniProtKB = Q6P179	HUMANIHGNC = 5398IUniProtKB = P13284	

Table 2 (continued)				
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 10535lUniProtKB = Q9Y6B6	ENSG0000152700	GTP-binding protein SAR1b; SAR1B; ortholog	GTP-BINDING PROTEIN SAR1B (PTHR45684:SF2)	
HUMANIHGNC = 4886IUniProtKB = Q30201	ENSG00000010704	Hereditary hemochromatosis protein; HFE; ortholog	HEREDITARY HEMOCHROMATOSIS PROTEIN (PTHR16675:SF172)	
HUMANIHGNC = 36111UniProtKB = P30273	ENSG0000158869	High-affinity immunoglobulin epsilon receptor subunit gamma; FCERIG; ortholog	HIGH AFFINITY IMMUNOGLOBULIN EPSILON RECEPTOR SUBUNIT GAMMA (PTHR16803:SF0)	
HUMANIHGNC = 4963lUniProtKB = P30511	ENSG0000204642	HLA class I histocompatibility antigen, alpha chain F; HLA-F; ortholog	HLA CLASS I HISTOCOMPATIBILITY ANTIGEN, ALPHA CHAIN F (PTHR16675:SF187)	
HUMANIHGNC = 4932lUniProtKB = Q31612	ENSG0000234745	HLA class I histocompatibility antigen, B-73 alpha chain; HLA-B; ortholog	HLA CLASS I HISTOCOMPATIBILITY ANTIGEN, B-73 ALPHA CHAIN (PTHR16675:SF248)	
HUMANIHGNC = 1697IUniProtKB = P04233	ENSG0000019582	HLA class II histocompatibility antigen gamma chain; CD74; ortholog	HLA CLASS II HISTOCOMPATIBILITY ANTIGEN GAMMA CHAIN (PTHR14093:SF17)	Protease inhibitor(PC00191)

8067 ENSG0000204257 HLA class II HLA CLASS II Major histocompatibility 8067 ENSG0000204257 HLA class II Major histocompatibility Major histocompatibility 8067 antigen, DM alpha ANTIGEN, DM ALPHA complex antigen(PC00149) 8067 Chain; HLA-DMA; CHAIN complex antigen(PC00149) 9 ortholog (PTHR19944:SF50) complex antigen(PC00149)	8068 ENSG0000242574 HLA class II HLA CLASS II Major histocompatibility histocompatibility HISTOCOMPATIBILITY complex antigen(PC00149) antigen, DM beta ANTIGEN, DM BETA chain; HLA-DMB; chain; HLA-DMB; CHAIN ortholog (PTHR19944:SF65)	0036 ENSG0000231389 HLA class II HLA CLASS II Major histocompatibility histocompatibility HISTOCOMPATIBILITY complex antigen(PC00149) antigen, DP alpha 1 ANTIGEN, DP ALPHA 1 chain; HLA-DPA1; CHAIN ortholog (PTHR19944:SF64)	4440 ENSG0000223865 HLA class II HLA CLASS II Major histocompatibility histocompatibility hISTOCOMPATIBILITY complex antigen(PC00149) antigen, DP beta 1 ANTIGEN, DP BETA 1 complex antigen(PC00149) chain; HLA-DPB1; CHAIN complex antigen(PC00149) ortholog ortholog (PTHR19944:SF46)	1909ENSG0000196735HLA class IIHLA CLASS IIMajor histocompatibilityhistocompatibilityhistocompatibilityHISTOCOMPATIBILITYcomplex antigen(PC00149)antigen, DQ alpha 1ANTIGEN, DQ ALPHA 1complex antigen(PC00149)chain, HLA-DQA1;CHAINcomplex (PTHR19944:SF59)ortholog(PTHR19944:SF59)	(continued)
ENSG00002	ENSG00002	ENSG00002	ENSG00002	ENSG00001	
HUMANIHGNC = 4934lUniProtKB = P28067	HUMANIHGNC = 4935IUniProtKB = P28068	HUMANIHGNC = 4938lUniProtKB = P20036	HUMANIHGNC = 4940lUniProtKB = P04440	HUMANIHGNC = 4942lUniProtKB = P01909	

Structural and Functional Characteristics of the Human Blood-Nerve Barrier...

		i		
		Gene name/gene		
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 4947IUniProtKB = P01903	ENSG00000204287	HLA class II	HLA CLASS II	Major histocompatibility
		histocompatibility	HISTOCOMPATIBILITY	complex antigen(PC00149)
		antigen, DR alpha	ANTIGEN, DR ALPHA	
		chain; HLA-DRA;	CHAIN	
		ortholog	(PTHR19944:SF63)	
HUMANIHGNC = 4953IUniProtKB = Q30154	ENSG00000198502	HLA class II	HLA CLASS II	Major histocompatibility
		histocompatibility	HISTOCOMPATIBILITY	complex antigen(PC00149)
		antigen, DR beta 5	ANTIGEN, DR BETA 4	~)
		chain; HLA-DRB5;	CHAIN-RELATED	
		ortholog	(PTHR19944:SF56)	
HUMANIHGNC = 4948lUniProtKB = P01911	ENSG00000196126	HLA class II	HLA CLASS II	Major histocompatibility
		histocompatibility	HISTOCOMPATIBILITY	complex antigen(PC00149)
		antigen, DRB1-15	ANTIGEN, DR BETA 4	
		beta chain;	CHAIN-RELATED	
		HLA-DRB1;	(PTHR19944:SF56)	
		ortholog		
HUMAN HGNC = 3621 UniProtKB = P55899	ENSG00000104870	IgG receptor FcRn	IGG RECEPTOR FCRN	
		large subunit p51;	LARGE SUBUNIT P51	
		FCGRT; ortholog	(PTHR16675:SF3)	
HUMANIHGNC = 6150lUniProtKB = P06756	ENSG00000138448	Integrin alpha-V;	INTEGRIN ALPHA-V	
		ITGAV; ortholog	(PTHR23220:SF4)	
HUMAN HGNC = 6160 UniProtKB = P18084	ENSG0000082781	Integrin beta-5;	INTEGRIN BETA-5	Cell adhesion
		ITGB5; ortholog	(PTHR10082:SF26)	molecule(PC00069);
				extracellular matrix
				glycoprotein(PC00100);
				receptor(PC00197)

HUMANIHGNC = 5344IUniProtKB = P05362	ENSG0000090339	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1; ICAM1; ortholog	INTERCELLULAR ADHESION MOLECULE 1 (PTHR13771:SF9)	
HUMANIHGNC = 6323IUniProtKB = Q12840	ENSG0000155980	Kinesin heavy chain isoform 5A; KIF5A; ortholog	KINESIN HEAVY CHAIN ISOFORM 5A (PTHR24115:SF317)	Microtubule-binding motor protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 63871UniProtKB = Q07866	ENSG0000126214	Kinesin light chain 1; KLC1; ortholog	KINESIN LIGHT CHAIN 1 (PTHR45783:SF7)	
HUMANIHGNC = 20716 UniProtKB = Q9H0B6	ENSG00000174996	Kinesin light chain 2; KLC2; ortholog	KINESIN LIGHT CHAIN 2 (PTHR45783:SF2)	
HUMANIHGNC = 17060 UniProtKB = Q92845	ENSG0000075945	Kinesin-associated protein 3; KIFAP3; ortholog	KINESIN-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 3 (PTHR15605:SF2)	Microtubule-binding motor protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 6388IUniProtKB = P52732	ENSG00000138160	Kinesin-like protein KIF11; KIF11; ortholog	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN KIF11 (PTHR24115:SF105)	Microtubule-binding motor protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 6391IUniProtKB = Q14807	ENSG0000079616	Kinesin-like protein KIF22; KIF22; ortholog	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN KIF22 (PTHR24115:SF462)	Microtubule-binding motor protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 6392IUniProtKB = Q02241	ENSG00000137807	Kinesin-like protein KIF23; KIF23; ortholog	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN KIF23 (PTHR24115:SF467)	Microtubule-binding motor protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 20226 UniProtKB = Q9ULJ4	ENSG0000066735	Kinesin-like protein KIF26A; KIF26A; ortholog	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN KIF26A (PTHR24115:SF407)	Microtubule-binding motor protein(PC00156)
				(continued)
Table 2 (continued)				
---	-----------------	---	-----------------------------------	---
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 6318lUniProtKB = 000139	ENSG0000068796	Kinesin-like protein KIF7A·KIF7A·	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN KIF7A	Microtubule-binding motor
		ortholog	(PTHR24115:SF486)	
HUMAN HGNC = 6319 UniProtKB = Q9Y496	ENSG00000131437	Kinesin-like protein	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN	Microtubule-binding motor
		KIF3A; KIF3A; ortholog	KIF3A (PTHR24115:SF472)	protein(PC00156)
HUMANIHGNC = 6320lUniProtKB = 015066	ENSG0000101350	Kinesin-like protein	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN	Microtubule-binding motor
		KIF3B; KIF3B;	KIF3B	protein(PC00156)
		ortholog	(PTHR24115:SF744)	
HUMANIHGNC = 6321IUniProtKB = 014782	ENSG0000084731	Kinesin-like protein	KINESIN-LIKE PROTEIN	Microtubule-binding motor
		KIF3C; KIF3C;	KIF3C	protein(PC00156)
		ortholog	(PTHR24115:SF734)	
HUMAN HGNC = 9472 UniProtKB = Q99538	ENSG00000100600	Legumain; LGMN;	LEGUMAIN	Cysteine protease(PC00081)
		ortholog	(PTHR12000:SF3)	
HUMANIHGNC = 6656 UniProtKB = Q9UIQ6	ENSG00000113441	Leucyl-cystinyl	LEUCYL-CYSTINYL	Metalloprotease(PC00153)
		aminopeptidase;	AMINOPEPTIDASE	
		LNPEP; ortholog	(PTHR11533:SF42)	
HUMAN HGNC = 4975 UniProtKB = Q95460	ENSG00000153029	Major	MAJOR	
		histocompatibility	HISTOCOMPATIBILITY	
		complex class	COMPLEX CLASS	
		I-related gene	I-RELATED GENE	
		protein; MR1;	PROTEIN	
		ortholog	(PTHR16675:SF241)	
HUMANIHGNC = 40lUniProtKB = P08183	ENSG00000085563	Multidrug resistance protein 1; ABCB1;	MULTIDRUG RESISTANCE PROTEIN 1	Cysteine protease(PC00081); serine protease(PC00203)
		ortholog	(PTHR24221:SF251)	

Table 2 (continued)				
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 1663lUniProtKB = P16671	ENSG0000135218	Platelet glycoprotein 4; CD36; ortholog	PLATELET GLYCOPROTEIN 4 (PTHR11923:SF12)	Receptor(PC00197)
HUMANIHGNC = 2535IUniProtKB = P09668	ENSG0000103811	Pro-cathepsin H; CTSH; ortholog	PRO-CATHEPSIN H (PTHR12411:SF572)	Cysteine protease(PC00081); protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 9568lUniProtKB = Q06323	ENSG0000092010	Proteasome activator complex subunit 1; PSME1; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 1 (PTHR10660:SF5)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9569lUniProtKB = Q9UL46	ENSG0000100911	Proteasome activator complex subunit 2; PSME2; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 2 (PTHR10660:SF6)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9570lUniProtKB = P61289	ENSG0000131467	Proteasome activator complex subunit 3; PSME3; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 3 (PTHR10660:SF4)	
HUMANIHGNC = 20635IUniProtKB = Q14997	ENSG0000068878	Proteasome activator complex subunit 4; PSME4; ortholog	PROTEASOME ACTIVATOR COMPLEX SUBUNIT 4 (PTHR32170:SF3)	
HUMANIHGNC = 95711UniProtKB = Q92530	ENSG0000125818	Proteasome inhibitor PI31 subunit; PSMF1; ortholog	PROTEASOME INHIBITOR PI31 SUBUNIT (PTHR13266:SF1)	Protease inhibitor(PC00191)
HUMANIHGNC = 9530lUniProtKB = P25786	ENSG0000129084	Proteasome subunit alpha type-1; PSMA1; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT ALPHA TYPE-RELATED (PTHR11599:SF12)	Protease(PC00190)

(continued)				
Protease(PC00190)	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-2 (PTHR11599:SF6)	Proteasome subunit beta type-2; PSMB2; ortholog	ENSG00000126067	HUMANIHGNC = 9539lUniProtKB = P49721
	BETA TYPE-10 (PTHR11599:SF41)	beta type-10; PSMB10; ortholog		
Protease(PC00190)	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Proteasome subunit	ENSG00000205220	HUMANIHGNC = 9538lUniProtKB = P40306
	(PTHR11599:SF59)	ortholog		
Protease(PC00190)	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-1	Proteasome subunit beta type-1; PSMB1;	ENSG00000008018	HUMANIHGNC = 9537IUniProtKB = P20618
	(PTHR11599:SF40)	PSMA7; ortholog		
	ALPHA TYPE-7	alpha type-7;		
	ALPHA TYPE-6	alpha type-6; DSMA6: outbolog		
Protease(PC00190)	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Proteasome subunit	ENSG0000100902	HUMANIHGNC = 9535IUniProtKB = P60900
	(PTHR11599:SF14)	PSMA5; ortholog		
	ALPHA TYPE-5	alpha type-5;		
Protease(PC00190)	PROTEASOME SUBLINIT	Protessome subunit	ENSG0000143106	HIIMANHGNC = 9534IIIniProtKB = P28066
	ALPHA TYPE-4 (PTHR11599:SF13)	alpha type-4; PSMA4; ortholog		
Protease(PC00190)	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Proteasome subunit	ENSG00000041357	HUMANIHGNC = 9533IUniProtKB = P25789
	(PTHR11599:SF10)	PSMA3; ortholog		
Procease (PC00190)	ALPHA TYPE-3 ALPHA TYPE-3	Proteasome subunit alpha type-3;	100001000000	$HUMANHONC = 300210 \text{ mirtor } \mathbf{AB} = \mathbf{F}_{2018}$
	(0176:99511)	PDIMAZ; UTUI010g		
	ALPHA TYPE-2	alpha type-2;		
Protease(PC00190)	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT	Proteasome subunit	ENSG00000106588	HUMANIHGNC = 9531IUniProtKB = P25787

Table 2 (continued)				
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9540 UniProtKB = P49720	ENSG00000277791	Proteasome subunit beta type-3; PSMB3; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-3 (PTHR11599:SF62)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9541 UniProtKB = P28070	ENSG00000159377	Proteasome subunit beta type-4; PSMB4; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-4 (PTHR11599:SF5)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9543lUniProtKB = P28072	ENSG00000142507	Proteasome subunit beta type-6; PSMB6; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-6 (PTHR11599:SF46)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9544 UniProtKB = $Q9436$	ENSG00000136930	Proteasome subunit beta type-7; PSMB7; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-7 (PTHR11599:SF42)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9545lUniProtKB = P28062	ENSG0000204264	Proteasome subunit beta type-8; PSMB8; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-8 (PTHR11599:SF53)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 9546lUniProtKB = P28065	ENSG00000240065	Proteasome subunit beta type-9; PSMB9; ortholog	PROTEASOME SUBUNIT BETA TYPE-9 (PTHR11599:SF50)	Protease(PC00190)
HUMANIHGNC = 4606lUniProtKB = P30101	ENSG00000167004	Protein disulfide- isomerase A3; PDIA3; ortholog	PROTEIN DISULFIDE- ISOMERASE A3 (PTHR18929:SF191)	
HUMANIHGNC = 10697IUniProtKB = P55735	ENSG00000157020	Protein SEC13 homolog; SEC13; ortholog	PROTEIN SEC13 HOMOLOG (PTHR11024:SF2)	Membrane trafficking regulatory protein(PC00151)
HUMANIHGNC = 10701 IUniProtKB = Q15436	ENSG0000100934	Protein transport protein Sec23A; SEC23A; ortholog	PROTEIN TRANSPORT PROTEIN SEC23A (PTHR11141:SF7)	G-protein modulator(PC00022)

(continued)				
	(PTHR24073:SF511)	ortholog		
	RAB-27A	Rab-27A; RAB27A;		
	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	Ras-related protein	ENSG0000069974	HUMANIHGNC = 9766lUniProtKB = P51159
	(PTHR24073:SF483)	ortholog		
	RAB-10	Rab-10; RAB10;		
	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	Ras-related protein	ENSG0000084733	HUMANIHGNC = 9759lUniProtKB = P61026
	(PTHR17601:SF3)	ortholog		
	RAFTLIN	Raftlin; RFTN1;	ENSG00000131378	HUMAN HGNC = 30278 UniProtKB = Q14699
	(PTHR21502:SF7)	RILP; ortholog		
binding(PC00171)	LYSOSOMAL PROTEIN	lysosomal protein;		
Nucleic acid	RAB-INTERACTING	Rab-interacting	ENSG00000167705	HUMANIHGNC = 30266IUniProtKB = Q96NA2
1	(PTHR13923:SF23)	SEC31A; ortholog		
protein(PC00235)	PROTEIN SEC31A	protein Sec31A;		
Vesicle coat	PROTEIN TRANSPORT	Protein transport	ENSG00000138674	HUMANIHGNC = 17052lUniProtKB = 094979
1	(PTHR13803:SF6)	SEC24D; ortholog		
protein(PC00235)	PROTEIN SEC24D	protein Sec24D;		
Vesicle coat	PROTEIN TRANSPORT	Protein transport	ENSG00000150961	HUMAN HGNC = 10706 UniProtKB = 094855
	(PTHR13803:SF5)	SEC24C; ortholog		
protein(PC00235)	PROTEIN SEC24C	protein Sec24C;		
Vesicle coat	PROTEIN TRANSPORT	Protein transport	ENSG00000176986	HUMANIHGNC = 10705IUniProtKB = P53992
	(PTHR13803:SF4)	SEC24B; ortholog		
protein(PC00235)	PROTEIN SEC24B	protein Sec24B;		
Vesicle coat	PROTEIN TRANSPORT	Protein transport	ENSG00000138802	HUMANIHGNC = 10704lUniProtKB = 095487
	(PTHR13803:SF1)	SEC24A; ortholog		
protein(PC00235)	PROTEIN SEC24A	protein Sec24A;		
Vesicle coat	PROTEIN TRANSPORT	Protein transport	ENSG00000113615	HUMANIHGNC = 10703IUniProtKB = 095486

Table 2 (continued)				
Gene ID	Mapped IDs	Gene name/gene symbol	Panther family/subfamily	Panther protein class
HUMANIHGNC = 9772lUniProtKB = Q13637	ENSG00000118508	Ras-related protein Rab-32; RAB32;	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN RAB-32	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF862)	
HUMANIHGNC = 16519 UniProtKB = Q9BZG1	ENSG00000109113	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-34; RAB34; ortholog	RAB-34 (PTHR24073:SF468)	
HUMAN HGNC = 9774 UniProtKB = Q15286	ENSG00000111737	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-35; RAB35;	RAB-35	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF933)	
HUMAN HGNC = 9778 UniProtKB = P20337	ENSG00000169213	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-3B; RAB3B;	RAB-3B	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF396)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9781lUniProtKB = P20338	ENSG0000168118	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-4A; RAB4A;	RAB-4A	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF450)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9784lUniProtKB = P61020	ENSG00000111540	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-5B; RAB5B;	RAB-5B	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF555)	
HUMAN HGNC = 9786 UniProtKB = P20340	ENSG00000175582	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-6A; RAB6A;	RAB-6A	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF421)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9788IUniProtKB = P51149	ENSG0000075785	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-7a; RAB7A;	RAB-7A	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF556)	
HUMANIHGNC = 30273 UniProtKB = Q92930	ENSG0000166128	Ras-related protein	RAS-RELATED PROTEIN	
		Rab-8B; RAB8B;	RAB-8B	
		ortholog	(PTHR24073:SF22)	

HUMANIHGNC = 11276 UniProtKB = 015020	ENSG00000173898	Spectrin beta chain,	SPECTRIN BETA CHAIN,	
		non-erythrocytic 2;	NON-ERYTHROCYTIC 2	
		SPTBN2; ortholog	(PTHR11915:SF325)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11566 UniProtKB = 015533	ENSG00000231925	Tapasin; TAPBP;	TAPASIN	Immunoglobulin receptor
		ortholog	(PTHR23411:SF5)	superfamily (PC00124)
HUMANIHGNC = 30683 lUniProtKB = Q9BX59	ENSG00000139192	Tapasin-related	TAPASIN-RELATED	Immunoglobulin receptor
		protein; TAPBPL;	PROTEIN	superfamily(PC00124)
		ortholog	(PTHR23411:SF7)	
HUMANIHGNC = 11785IUniProtKB = P07996	ENSG00000137801	Thrombospondin-1;	THROMBOSPONDIN-1	
		THBS1; ortholog	(PTHR10199:SF78)	
HUMANIHGNC = 9956lUniProtKB = Q01201	ENSG00000104856	Transcription factor	TRANSCRIPTION	P53-like transcription
		RelB; RELB;	FACTOR RELB	factor(PC00253); Rel
		ortholog	(PTHR24169:SF18)	homology transcription
				factor(PC00252); nucleic
				acid binding(PC00171)
HUMANIHGNC = 127311UniProtKB = P42768	ENSG0000015285	Wiskott-Aldrich	WISKOTT-ALDRICH	Actin family cytoskeletal
		syndrome protein;	SYNDROME PROTEIN	protein(PC00041)
		WAS; ortholog	(PTHR23202:SF35)	
HUMANIHGNC = 910lUniProtKB = P25311	ENSG00000160862	Zinc-alpha-2-	ZINC-ALPHA-2-	
		glycoprotein;	GLYCOPROTEIN	
		AZGP1; ortholog	(PTHR16675:SF198)	



Fig. 4 Composite indirect fluorescent digital photomicrographs showing cellular adhesion molecule expression by confluent primary human endoneurial endothelial cells under basal and physiological cytokine-activated states in vitro (B indicates expression under basal culture conditions; CA indicates expression following cytokine activation with 10 U/mL TNF-α and 20 U/mL IFN-γ for 24 hours) A, C, E, G and I indicate cellular adhesion molecule expression under basal cultures conditions, while B, D, F, H and J indicate upregulated expression following physiological cytokine stimulus in vitro

Structural and Functional Changes at the BNB Associated with Autoimmune Disorders

Increased permeability of or leukocyte trafficking at the human BNB, commonly cited as "BNB breakdown," has been pathologically associated with peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders, with a paper reporting downregulation of BNB tight junction protein claudin-5 and translocation of ZO-1 by immunohistochemistry in sural nerve biopsies of patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP), without change in occludin expression [21]. It is important to recognize that claudin-5 was also expressed on epineurial macrovessels that do not form the restrictive tight junctions [21], as well as immature endoneurial microvessels during development [23], calling to question its role in mediating restrictive junction barrier function in human peripheral nerves. Importantly, this commonly held viewpoint implies that the human BNB is relatively passive during autoimmune disorders affecting peripheral nerves.

Recent data demonstrating the complexity of the restrictive junction components and possible redundancy of tight junction-forming molecules involved in the human BNB [22] suggest that downregulation of a single tight junction-forming molecule or reduction in TEER or increase in solute permeability demonstrated in vitro following administration of sera from GBS or CIDP patients [56–58] may be an insufficient structural or functional change at the human BNB in vivo during autoimmune disorders. In support of this, physiological cytokine stimulus of confluent primary human endoneurial endothelial cells grown on transwell inserts with TNF- α and IFN-y over a 100-fold range did not alter TEER in vitro [55]. Ultrastructural examination of endoneurial microvessels within the inflammatory milieu from patients with GBS and CIDP demonstrates intact electron-dense intercellular tight junctions, with similar electron-dense contacts between infiltrating leukocytes and endothelial cells (Fig. 5) [59, 60]. These observations should provide the impetus for further studies to better understand biologically relevant structural and functional alterations at the human BNB during peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders relative to healthy nerves.



Fig. 5 Composite digital electron ultramicrographs demonstrating intact electron-dense intercellular tight junctions (solid black arrows) between endoneurial endothelial cells within the inflammatory milieu in a GBS (a) and CIDP (b) patient sural nerve biopsy, with electron-dense intercellular contacts observed between infiltrating leukocytes and endothelial cells (c, white arrows) and endoneurial microvessel basement membrane duplication (d, black asterisk)

Endoneurial microvessel basement membrane thickening/duplication (Fig. 5d) has been described in association with CIDP and peripheral nerve vasculitis (which typically affects epineurial arteries or arterioles and rarely involves endoneurial capillary-like vessels with resultant endoneurial ischemia) [60–62]. The functional implications of the basement membrane alterations are undetermined; however, this may reflect an adaptive or maladaptive response to chronic and persistent endothe-lial cell/pericyte pro-inflammatory cytokine exposure or hypoxia/ischemia as a compensatory or reactive means of maintaining BNB functional integrity.

BNB Endothelial-Leukocyte Interactions in Immune-Mediated Neuropathies

While it is unresolved whether systemic immune system activation (e.g., by infections, minor surgery or trauma) with primary attack of peripheral nerves and nerve roots (through the process of "molecular mimicry") [63, 64] or endogenous activation of the innate immune system in peripheral nerves (e.g., by viruses) [65] with secondary selective adaptive immune system activation in genetically susceptible individuals is responsible for tissue-specific autoimmunity, or whether suspected circulating polyclonal anti-myelin protein, anti-axonal nodal protein, and antiganglioside or anti-glycolipid autoantibodies can cross the human BNB in vivo, a pathologic hallmark of autoimmune neuropathies is the infiltration of subpopulations of hematogenous leukocytes in peripheral nerves and nerve roots, commonly demonstrated in situ on patient nerve biopsies [61].

In GBS and CIDP, leukocyte infiltration is associated with demyelination, axonal degeneration, or both. In peripheral nerve vasculitis, leukocyte infiltration is associated with vascular wall infiltration, transmural vasonecrosis, and endoneurial ischemia. In HIV-associated distal sensory polyneuropathy (DSP), although not considered an autoimmune neuropathy, clusters of leukocytes are also seen within the endoneurium, associated with axonal loss. Since endoneurial microvessels that form the BNB provide the main route of entry for hematogenous leukocytes from circulation into the endoneurium, leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions are important in the pathogenesis of peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders. In support of this, hematogenous leukocytes interacting with the endoneurial microvessels that form the BNB have been observed in untreated patients with GBS, CIDP, and HIV-DSP in situ (Fig. 6).

Using a flow-dependent leukocyte-BNB trafficking model in vitro, untreated GBS, CIDP, and HIV-DSP patient peripheral blood mononuclear leukocytes (PBMLs) firmly adhere to the surface of confluent primary endoneurial endothelial cells and undergo paracellular transmigration at higher rates that normal healthy donor PBMLs in vitro [53, 55], supporting the notion that leukocyte trafficking at the BNB is pathogenically relevant to autoimmune peripheral neuropathies and potentially HIV-DSP.



Fig. 6 Composite digital indirect fluorescent photomicrographs showing interaction between hematogenous leukocytes and endoneurial microvessels in GBS (a; CD11b+), CIDP (b; CD49d+), and HIV-DSP (c; CD68+ CCR5+) patient sural nerve biopsies (yellow cells shown with white arrows). S100 β + myelinating Schwann cells associated with axons (green) are also depicted in **a**. The outline of an endoneurial microvessel in longitudinal section is shown with the white lines in **c**

Subpopulation Leukocyte Infiltration in Immune-Mediated Neuropathies

The major challenges in definitively ascertaining the phenotypic characteristics of infiltrating leukocytes in autoimmune neuropathies include disease heterogeneity, the scarcity of pathologic patient biopsies for large-scale comparative analyses, the frequent analysis of sural nerves that may be partially involved in the disease process but practically safer to biopsy in patients rather than clinically and electrophysiologically affected motor nerves, the paucity or multifocal nature of inflammatory infiltrates reducing the likelihood of detecting pathogenic leukocytes in small specimens, and the selection and ascertainment biases intrinsic to immuno-histochemistry studies.

The expression of HLA class II molecules, interleukin 1-beta (IL-1 β), IFN- γ , TNF- α , CCL2, CXCL10, and ICAM-1 on endoneurial endothelial cells has been described in peripheral nerve biopsies of GBS patients. Similarly, HLA-DR, interleukin-2 (IL-2), IFN- γ , TNF- α , CXCL10, and ICAM-1 have also been expressed at the human BNB in situ in CIDP patient nerve biopsies at higher levels compared to

control nerves, supporting the notion that local activation of the adaptive immune response at the BNB may be pathogenically significant in GBS and CIDP [66–76]. In a single study, chemokine receptors CCR1 and CCR5 were demonstrated on endoneurial macrophages with CCR2, CCR4, and CXCR3 expressed on infiltrating T lymphocytes in GBS and CIDP patient sural nerve biopsies [76]. Another study demonstrated increased numbers of CCR2+ mononuclear cells in GBS patient nerve biopsies [69].

Guided by in vitro observations implying a role for leukocyte integrin CD11b (also known as α_{M} -integrin or Mac-1)-ICAM-1 interactions in mediating pathogenic leukocyte trafficking at the human BNB under hydrodynamic forces mimicking in vivo capillary flow rates [55], expression of clusters of infiltrated CD11b+ leukocytes interacting with endoneurial endothelial cells that accumulate within untreated GBS patient sural nerve biopsy endoneurium has been shown (Fig. 7) [59]. Similarly, CD49d+ (also known as α_4 -integrin or very late antigen-4) mononuclear leukocytes in CIDP patient sural nerve biopsy endoneurium [53] and CCR5+ and CD11d+ (also known as α_{D} -integrin) mononuclear leukocytes in untreated HIV-DSP patient sural nerve biopsies have been demonstrated (Fig. 6), consistent with a prior report indicating a predominance of CCR5-dependent and macrophage tropic HIV-1 virus based on sequence analysis and evaluation of infectious recombinant viruses containing peripheral nerve-derived C2V3 sequences in autopsied sural and peroneal nerves in decedent HIV+ individuals [77].

Peripheral nerve vasculitis is typically associated with leukocyte infiltration of epineurial macrovascular endothelium walls, rather than direct involvement with endoneurial microvessels that form the BNB. However, strong expression of HLA class I and class II molecules on affected vascular endothelial cells has been described, typically associated with prominent CD4+ and fewer CD8+ T lymphocytes and CD68+ macrophages. CD22+ B lymphocytes and CD16+ natural killer cells are less commonly observed in vasculitic neuropathy than T lymphocytes and macrophages. T lymphocyte infiltrates in vasculitic neuropathy are heterogeneous based on T-cell receptor V β utilization, similar to descriptions in CIDP, supporting the polyclonal nature of these conditions [74, 75, 78–81].

Expression of CD58 (also known as lymphocyte function-associated antigen-3; a cell adhesion molecule typically expressed on antigen-presenting cells such as macrophages and binds to CD2 on T lymphocytes) and CD86 (a protein expressed on antigen-presenting cells that provides costimulatory signals necessary for T-cell activation and survival) on affected vascular endothelial cells have also been described, with the former also expressed by Schwann cells [75]. Variable focal expression of hypoxia-inducing factors (HIFs), HIF-1 α , HIF-1 β , and HIF-2 α , as well as VEGF, VEGFR, and erythropoietin receptor was seen on endoneurial microvessels in a small percentage of nerve biopsies from patients with vasculitic neuropathy at higher rates than control sural nerve biopsies [82, 83].

Recent work elucidating the normal adult BNB transcriptome provides molecular targets putatively involved in cross-talk between the innate (Table 1) and adaptive (Table 2) immune responses in peripheral nerves. Validation of these proposed molecules and their associated signaling networks, as well as future single cell tran-



Fig. 7 Composite digital indirect fluorescent photomicrographs depicting subpopulations of hematogenous leukocytes that have infiltrated into sural nerve endoneurium in untreated GBS (a-d)-, CIDP (e, f)-, and HIV-DSP (g-j)-affected patients, the sciatic nerves of representative murine GBS (k, l) and CIDP (m, n) animal models, and the effect of targeted molecular inhibition in the mouse models. Clusters of infiltrated monocytes/macrophages (a), T lymphocytes (b), B lymphocytes (c), and CD11b+ leukocytes in a region of demyelination (d; green depicts $S100\beta$ + myelinating Schwann cells associated with axons) are shown in GBS patients, and clusters of infiltrated monocytes/macrophages (e) and CD49d+ leukocytes (f) are shown in CIDP patients, with CCR5+ monocytes/macrophages (g), CD4+ T lymphocytes (h), CD8+ T lymphocytes (i), and CD11d+ leukocytes (j) shown in HIV-DSP patients. The sciatic nerve of an untreated severe EANaffected mouse shows intense endoneurial infiltrates of CD11b+ leukocytes (k) with a significant reduction in infiltrates seen in another mouse treated with a function-neutralizing rat anti-mouse CD11b monoclonal antibody (I). The sciatic nerve of an untreated SAPP-affected mouse shows intense CD45+ leukocyte infiltrates (\mathbf{m}) that are significantly reduced in another mouse treated with a fibronectin-connecting segment 1 peptide (n) early in the disease course. Examples of infiltrated leukocytes are depicted with either black or white arrows in the photomicrographs

scriptomics and proteomics studies, could provide avenues to more comprehensively elucidate molecular changes at the human BNB in situ and characterize the different infiltrated leukocyte subpopulations associated with specific peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders required to better understand the pathogenesis of these conditions and also understand how HIV-infected leukocytes could gain access into peripheral nerves. The ultimate goal is to devise targeted efficacious molecular therapies for autoimmune neuropathies and prevent the development of consequential chronic neuropathic pain.

Animal Models and Targeted Inhibition of Pathogenic Leukocyte Trafficking

Despite the limitations of autoimmune neuropathy animal models and species differences in BNB function and the inflammatory cascade [84, 85], experimental observations made in representative animal models guided by data derived from human in situ leukocyte-BNB interactions in autoimmune neuropathies could provide further insights into the pathogenesis of these disorders and the adaptive or pathological changes that occur at the BNB during autoimmunity. Animal models could also aid dissect the mechanisms by which the systemic immune system engages with peripheral nerves and nerve roots during normal physiologic states and the earliest signaling pathways associated with tissue-specific autoimmune disorders.

Experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN, an established model of GBS) in the Lewis rat implicated important roles of CD11a (also known as α_L -integrin or lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1) in disease induction [86] and CCL3 and partially CCL2 in pathogenic leukocyte trafficking [87]. Pharmacologic blockade and germline gene knockout of CCR2 (expressed by monocytes/macrophages and a subset of T lymphocytes which most commonly binds to CCL2) ameliorated disease in a severe murine EAN model associated with markedly attenuated leukocyte trafficking into the sciatic nerves [9], while germline CCR5 knockout did not modulate disease in a less severe murine EAN model associated with compensatory increase in sciatic nerve CCL4 and CXCL10 expression [88]. Integrin blockade with a depleting function-neutralizing rat anti-mouse CD11b monoclonal antibody administered after clinically discernible disease onset was efficacious in the severe murine EAN model (Fig. 7) [59], providing further insight into the molecular determinants of pathogenic leukocyte trafficking in acute autoimmune neuropathies in vivo.

Chronic relapsing EAN animal models have been employed to understand CIDP pathogenesis; however, these models are generally limited by variable disease onset and severity. A severe murine chronic demyelinating neuritis model has been established in the autoimmune disease-susceptible CD86 (also known as B7-2)-deficient non-obese diabetic mouse strain, known as spontaneous autoimmune peripheral polyneuropathy (SAPP) that recapitulates features of severe CIDP [89, 90]. In this model associated with a cell and humoral autoimmune response to myelin protein zero [91], peptide blockade of fibronectin connecting segment 1 (which serves as an endothelial counterligand for CD49d or α_4 -integrin) ameliorated disease to a similar magnitude as functional neutralizing rat anti-mouse monoclonal CD49d and VCAM-1 antibodies, associated with reduced leukocyte infiltration into the sciatic nerves (Fig. 7) [53], providing further insight into the molecular determinants of pathogenic leukocyte trafficking in chronic autoimmune neuropathies in vivo.

Future Directions

The human BNB, formed by endoneurial microvascular endothelial cells, is a critical interface hypothetically essential to the cross-talk between components of the systemic immune system and peripheral nerves and nerve roots in health during normal immune surveillance and in disease states that manifest as autoimmune neuropathies. The molecular determinants and signaling pathways responsible for hematogenous leukocyte interaction with and trafficking across the human BNB in health and disease are incompletely understood, with advances being made using a near-physiological flow-dependent leukocyte-endothelial cell trafficking model and animal models of peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders, critically supported by observational in situ data obtained from human peripheral nerve biopsies. Applying bioinformatics analyses to transcriptomic and proteomic data derived from normal and pathologic peripheral nerves at the batch or single cell level to establish biologically relevant networks/signaling pathways could accelerate our knowledge of the essential structural and functional characteristics of the human BNB in health, alterations, or adaptations in autoimmune disorders and aid discover molecular targets for disease-specific therapeutic modulation in this group of disorders that takes into account the unique biology of the BNB and the peripheral nervous system.

Acknowledgments and Funding Special thanks to past and current employees of the Shin J Oh Muscle and Nerve Histopathology Laboratory, the University of Alabama at Birmingham, for processing human tissue and generating histopathology slides from which digital photomicrographs are shown and current and past members and collaborators of the Neuromuscular Immunopathology Research Laboratory (NIRL) for digital photomicrographs and ultramicrographs of human cells and tissues and mouse tissues. Work described from the NIRL was supported by National Institutes of Health Grants R21 NS073702 (2011–2014), R21 NS078226 (2012–2015), R01 NS075212 (2012–2018), and a Creative and Novel Ideas in HIV Research Subaward P30 AI27767 (2012-2015), as well as institutional support from the Department of Neurology, the University of Alabama at Birmingham. The content is solely the responsibility of the author and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

References

- 1. Olsson Y. Microenvironment of the peripheral nervous system under normal and pathological conditions. Crit Rev Neurobiol. 1990;5:265–311.
- Reina MA, Lopez A, Villanueva MC, de Andres JA, Leon GI. [Morphology of peripheral nerves, their sheaths, and their vascularization]. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. 2000;47:464–475.
- 3. Reina MA, Lopez A, Villanueva MC, De Andres JA, Maches F. [The blood-nerve barrier in peripheral nerves]. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. 2003;50:80–86.
- Mizisin AP, Weerasuriya A. Homeostatic regulation of the endoneurial microenvironment during development, aging and in response to trauma, disease and toxic insult. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;121:291–312.
- 5. Bell MA, Weddell AG. A descriptive study of the blood vessels of the sciatic nerve in the rat, man and other mammals. Brain J Neurol. 1984;107(Pt 3):871–98.

- Monk KR, Feltri ML, Taveggia C. New insights on Schwann cell development. Glia. 2015;63:1376–93.
- Yosef N, Xia RH, Ubogu EE. Development and characterization of a novel human in vitro blood-nerve barrier model using primary endoneurial endothelial cells. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2010;69:82–97.
- Sladjana UZ, Ivan JD, Bratislav SD. Microanatomical structure of the human sciatic nerve. Surg Radiol Anat. 2008;30:619–26.
- 9. Yuan F, Yosef N, Lakshmana Reddy C, Huang A, Chiang SC, Tithi HR, Ubogu EE. CCR2 gene deletion and pharmacologic blockade ameliorate a severe murine experimental autoimmune neuritis model of Guillain-Barre syndrome. PLoS One. 2014;9:e90463.
- Tanaka K, Webster HD. Myelinated fiber regeneration after crush injury is retarded in sciatic nerves of aging mice. J Comp Neurol. 1991;308:180–7.
- Christensen MB, Tresco PA. Differences exist in the left and right sciatic nerves of naive rats and cats. Anat Rec (Hoboken). 2015;298:1492–501.
- 12. Ochoa J, Mair WG. The normal sural nerve in man. I. Ultrastructure and numbers of fibres and cells. Acta Neuropathol. 1969;13:197–216.
- Olsson Y. Studies on vascular permeability in peripheral nerves. I. Distribution of circulating fluorescent serum albumin in normal, crushed and sectioned rat sciatic nerve. Acta Neuropathol. 1966;7:1–15.
- 14. Olsson Y. Topographical differences in the vascular permeability of the peripheral nervous system. Acta Neuropathol. 1968;10:26–33.
- Olsson Y. Studies on vascular permeability in peripheral nerves. IV. Distribution of intravenously injected protein tracers in the peripheral nervous system of various species. Acta Neuropathol. 1971;17:114–26.
- Hultstrom D, Malmgren L, Gilstring D, Olsson Y. FITC-Dextrans as tracers for macromolecular movements in the nervous system. A freeze-drying method for dextrans of various molecular sizes injected into normal animals. Acta Neuropathol. 1983;59:53–62.
- 17. Poduslo JF, Curran GL, Berg CT. Macromolecular permeability across the blood-nerve and blood-brain barriers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91:5705–9.
- Shimizu F, Sano Y, Abe MA, Maeda T, Ohtsuki S, Terasaki T, Kanda T. Peripheral nerve pericytes modify the blood-nerve barrier function and tight junctional molecules through the secretion of various soluble factors. J Cell Physiol. 2011;226:255–66.
- Shimizu F, Sano Y, Saito K, Abe MA, Maeda T, Haruki H, Kanda T. Pericyte-derived glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor increase the expression of claudin-5 in the blood-brain barrier and the blood-nerve barrier. Neurochem Res. 2012;37:401–9.
- 20. Ubogu EE. The molecular and biophysical characterization of the human blood-nerve barrier: current concepts. J Vasc Res. 2013;50:289–303.
- 21. Kanda T, Numata Y, Mizusawa H. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: decreased claudin-5 and relocated ZO-1. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004;75:765–9.
- 22. Palladino SP, Helton ES, Jain P, Dong C, Crowley MR, Crossman DK, Ubogu EE. The human blood-nerve barrier transcriptome. Sci Rep. 2017;7:17477.
- Pummi KP, Heape AM, Grenman RA, Peltonen JT, Peltonen SA. Tight junction proteins ZO-1, occludin, and claudins in developing and adult human perineurium. J Histochem Cytochem. 2004;52:1037–46.
- 24. Muller WA. Leukocyte-endothelial-cell interactions in leukocyte transmigration and the inflammatory response. Trends Immunol. 2003;24:327–34.
- 25. Hartsock A, Nelson WJ. Adherens and tight junctions: structure, function and connections to the actin cytoskeleton. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2008;1778:660–9.
- Dejana E, Orsenigo F, Molendini C, Baluk P, McDonald DM. Organization and signaling of endothelial cell-to-cell junctions in various regions of the blood and lymphatic vascular trees. Cell Tissue Res. 2009;335:17–25.
- 27. Cichon C, Sabharwal H, Ruter C, Schmidt MA. MicroRNAs regulate tight junction proteins and modulate epithelial/endothelial barrier functions. Tissue Barriers. 2014;2:e944446.
- Stamatovic SM, Johnson AM, Keep RF, Andjelkovic AV. Junctional proteins of the bloodbrain barrier: new insights into function and dysfunction. Tissue Barriers. 2016;4:e1154641.

- 29. Sluysmans S, Vasileva E, Spadaro D, Shah J, Rouaud F, Citi S. The role of apical cell-cell junctions and associated cytoskeleton in mechanotransduction. Biol Cell. 2017;109:139–61.
- Yosef N, Ubogu EE. GDNF restores human blood-nerve barrier function via RET tyrosine kinase-mediated cytoskeletal reorganization. Microvasc Res. 2012;83:298–310.
- Reddy CL, Yosef N, Ubogu EE. VEGF-A165 potently induces human blood-nerve barrier endothelial cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and wound healing in vitro. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2013;33:789–801.
- Yosef N, Ubogu EE. An immortalized human blood-nerve barrier endothelial cell line for in vitro permeability studies. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2013;33:175–86.
- Trupp M, Ryden M, Jornvall H, Funakoshi H, Timmusk T, Arenas E, Ibanez CF. Peripheral expression and biological activities of GDNF, a new neurotrophic factor for avian and mammalian peripheral neurons. J Cell Biol. 1995;130:137–48.
- 34. Naveilhan P, ElShamy WM, Ernfors P. Differential regulation of mRNAs for GDNF and its receptors Ret and GDNFR alpha after sciatic nerve lesion in the mouse. Eur J Neurosci. 1997;9:1450–60.
- 35. Dong C, Ubogu EE. GDNF enhances human blood-nerve barrier function in vitro via MAPK signaling pathways. Tissue Barriers 2018;6(4):1–22.
- 36. Muona P, Jaakkola S, Salonen V, Peltonen J. Expression of glucose transporter 1 in adult and developing human peripheral nerve. Diabetologia. 1993;36:133–40.
- Latker CH, Shinowara NL, Miller JC, Rapoport SI. Differential localization of alkaline phosphatase in barrier tissues of the frog and rat nervous systems: a cytochemical and biochemical study. J Comp Neurol. 1987;264:291–302.
- Cohen-Kashi Malina K, Cooper I, Teichberg VI. Closing the gap between the in-vivo and invitro blood-brain barrier tightness. Brain Res. 2009;1284:12–21.
- Lippmann ES, Azarin SM, Kay JE, Nessler RA, Wilson HK, Al-Ahmad A, Palecek SP, Shusta EV. Derivation of blood-brain barrier endothelial cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2012;30:783–91.
- Lippmann ES, Al-Ahmad A, Azarin SM, Palecek SP, Shusta EV. A retinoic acid-enhanced, multicellular human blood-brain barrier model derived from stem cell sources. Sci Rep. 2014;4:4160.
- Wang YI, Abaci HE, Shuler ML. Microfluidic blood-brain barrier model provides in vivo-like barrier properties for drug permeability screening. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2017;114:184–94.
- 42. Poduslo JF, Curran GL, Dyck PJ. Increase in albumin, IgG, and IgM blood-nerve barrier indices in human diabetic neuropathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988;85:4879–83.
- Rechthand E, Rapoport SI. Regulation of the microenvironment of peripheral nerve: role of the blood-nerve barrier. Prog Neurobiol. 1987;28:303–43.
- 44. Rechthand E, Smith QR, Rapoport SI. Transfer of nonelectrolytes from blood into peripheral nerve endoneurium. Am J Physiol. 1987;252:H1175–82.
- 45. Helton ES, Palladino S, Ubogu EE. A novel method for measuring hydraulic conductivity at the human blood-nerve barrier in vitro. Microvasc Res. 2017;109:1–6.
- 46. Ley K, Laudanna C, Cybulsky MI, Nourshargh S. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7:678–89.
- 47. Man S, Ubogu EE, Ransohoff RM. Inflammatory cell migration into the central nervous system: a few new twists on an old tale. Brain Pathol. 2007;17:243–50.
- 48. Muller WA. How endothelial cells regulate transmigration of leukocytes in the inflammatory response. Am J Pathol. 2014;184:886–96.
- Mempel TR, Scimone ML, Mora JR, von Andrian UH. In vivo imaging of leukocyte trafficking in blood vessels and tissues. Curr Opin Immunol. 2004;16:406–17.
- Pai S, Danne KJ, Qin J, Cavanagh LL, Smith A, Hickey MJ, Weninger W. Visualizing leukocyte trafficking in the living brain with 2-photon intravital microscopy. Front Cell Neurosci. 2012;6:67.
- Teixeira MM, Vilela MC, Soriani FM, Rodrigues DH, Teixeira AL. Using intravital microscopy to study the role of chemokines during infection and inflammation in the central nervous system. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;224:62–5.

- 52. Zenaro E, Rossi B, Angiari S, Constantin G. Use of imaging to study leukocyte trafficking in the central nervous system. Immunol Cell Biol. 2013;91:271–80.
- 53. Dong C, Greathouse KM, Beacham RL, Palladino SP, Helton ES, Ubogu EE. Fibronectin connecting segment-1 peptide inhibits pathogenic leukocyte trafficking and inflammatory demyelination in experimental models of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Exp Neurol. 2017;292:35–45.
- 54. Greathouse KM, Palladino SP, Dong C, Helton ES, Ubogu EE. Modeling leukocyte trafficking at the human blood-nerve barrier in vitro and in vivo geared towards targeted molecular therapies for peripheral neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13:3.
- 55. Yosef N, Ubogu EE. alpha(M)beta(2)-integrin-intercellular adhesion molecule-1 interactions drive the flow-dependent trafficking of Guillain-Barre syndrome patient derived mononuclear leukocytes at the blood-nerve barrier in vitro. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227:3857–75.
- Kanda T. Biology of the blood-nerve barrier and its alteration in immune mediated neuropathies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84:208–12.
- 57. Kanda T, Yamawaki M, Mizusawa H. Sera from Guillain-Barre patients enhance leakage in blood-nerve barrier model. Neurology. 2003;60:301–6.
- 58. Shimizu F, Sawai S, Sano Y, Beppu M, Misawa S, Nishihara H, Koga M, Kuwabara S, Kanda T. Severity and patterns of blood-nerve barrier breakdown in patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: correlations with clinical subtypes. PLoS One. 2014;9:e104205.
- 59. Dong C, Palladino SP, Helton ES, Ubogu EE. The pathogenic relevance of alphaM-integrin in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;132:739–52.
- 60. Bosetti F, Galis ZS, Bynoe MS, Charette M, Cipolla MJ, Del Zoppo GJ, Gould D, Hatsukami TS, Jones TL, Koenig JI, Lutty GA, Maric-Bilkan C, Stevens T, Tolunay HE, Koroshetz W. Small Blood Vessels: Big Health Problems Workshop P: "Small Blood Vessels: Big Health Problems?": Scientific Recommendations of the National Institutes of Health Workshop. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016:5.
- 61. Ubogu EE. Inflammatory neuropathies: pathology, molecular markers and targets for specific therapeutic intervention. Acta Neuropathol. 2015;130:445–68.
- 62. Earnes RA, Lange LS. Clinical and pathological study of ischaemic neuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1967;30:215–26.
- 63. Dalakas MC. Pathogenesis of immune-mediated neuropathies. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1852:658–66.
- 64. Mathey EK, Park SB, Hughes RA, Pollard JD, Armati PJ, Barnett MH, Taylor BV, Dyck PJ, Kiernan MC, Lin CS. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: from pathology to phenotype. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;
- 65. Ziganshin RH, Ivanova OM, Lomakin YA, Belogurov AA Jr, Kovalchuk SI, Azarkin IV, Arapidi GP, Anikanov NA, Shender VO, Piradov MA, Suponeva NA, Vorobyeva AA, Gabibov AG, Ivanov VT, Govorun VM. The pathogenesis of the demyelinating form of Guillain-Barre Syndrome (GBS): proteo-peptidomic and immunological profiling of physiological fluids. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2016;15:2366–78.
- Matsumuro K, Izumo S, Umehara F, Osame M. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: histological and immunopathological studies on biopsied sural nerves. J Neurol Sci. 1994;127:170–8.
- 67. Mitchell GW, Williams GS, Bosch EP, Hart MN. Class II antigen expression in peripheral neuropathies. J Neurol Sci. 1991;102:170–6.
- Steck AJ, Kinter J, Renaud S. Differential gene expression in nerve biopsies of inflammatory neuropathies. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2011;16(Suppl 1):30–3.
- Orlikowski D, Chazaud B, Plonquet A, Poron F, Sharshar T, Maison P, Raphael JC, Gherardi RK, Creange A. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 and chemokine receptor CCR2 productions in Guillain-Barre syndrome and experimental autoimmune neuritis. J Neuroimmunol. 2003;134:118–27.

- Mathey EK, Pollard JD, Armati PJ. TNF alpha, IFN gamma and IL-2 mRNA expression in CIDP sural nerve biopsies. J Neurol Sci. 1999;163:47–52.
- Pollard JD, Baverstock J, McLeod JG. Class II antigen expression and inflammatory cells in the Guillain-Barre syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1987;21:337–41.
- Pollard JD, McCombe PA, Baverstock J, Gatenby PA, McLeod JG. Class II antigen expression and T lymphocyte subsets in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neuroimmunol. 1986;13:123–34.
- Putzu GA, Figarella-Branger D, Bouvier-Labit C, Liprandi A, Bianco N, Pellissier JF. Immunohistochemical localization of cytokines, C5b-9 and ICAM-1 in peripheral nerve of Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurol Sci. 2000;174:16–21.
- Lindenlaub T, Sommer C. Cytokines in sural nerve biopsies from inflammatory and noninflammatory neuropathies. Acta Neuropathol. 2003;105:593–602.
- Van Rhijn I, Van den Berg LH, Bosboom WM, Otten HG, Logtenberg T. Expression of accessory molecules for T-cell activation in peripheral nerve of patients with CIDP and vasculitic neuropathy. Brain J Neurol. 2000;123(Pt 10):2020–9.
- 76. Kieseier BC, Tani M, Mahad D, Oka N, Ho T, Woodroofe N, Griffin JW, Toyka KV, Ransohoff RM, Hartung HP. Chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammatory demyelinating neuropathies: a central role for IP-10. Brain J Neurol. 2002;125:823–34.
- Jones G, Zhu Y, Silva C, Tsutsui S, Pardo CA, Keppler OT, McArthur JC, Power C. Peripheral nerve-derived HIV-1 is predominantly CCR5-dependent and causes neuronal degeneration and neuroinflammation. Virology. 2005;334:178–93.
- Bosboom WM, Van den Berg LH, Mollee I, Sasker LD, Jansen J, Wokke JH, Logtenberg T. Sural nerve T-cell receptor Vbeta gene utilization in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy and vasculitic neuropathy. Neurology. 2001;56:74–81.
- 79. Collins MP, Arnold WD, Kissel JT. The neuropathies of vasculitis. Neurol Clin. 2013;31:557-95.
- Engelhardt A, Lorler H, Neundorfer B. Immunohistochemical findings in vasculitic neuropathies. Acta Neurol Scand. 1993;87:318–21.
- Leppert D, Hughes P, Huber S, Erne B, Grygar C, Said G, Miller KM, Steck AJ, Probst A, Fuhr P. Matrix metalloproteinase upregulation in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy and nonsystemic vasculitic neuropathy. Neurology. 1999;53:62–70.
- Oka N, Kawasaki T, Mizutani K, Sugiyama H, Akiguchi I. Hypoxia-inducible factor lalpha may be a marker for vasculitic neuropathy. Neuropathology. 2007;27:509–15.
- Probst-Cousin S, Neundorfer B, Heuss D. Microvasculopathic neuromuscular diseases: lessons from hypoxia-inducible factors. Neuromuscul Disord. 2010;20:192–7.
- Meyer zu Horste G, Hartung HP, Kieseier BC. From bench to bedside experimental rationale for immune-specific therapies in the inflamed peripheral nerve. Nat Clin Pract Neurol. 2007;3:198–211.
- Schafflick D, Kieseier BC, Wiendl H, Meyer Zu Horste G. Novel pathomechanisms in inflammatory neuropathies. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14:232.
- Archelos JJ, Maurer M, Jung S, Miyasaka M, Tamatani T, Toyka KV, Hartung HP. Inhibition of experimental autoimmune neuritis by an antibody to the lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1. Lab Invest. 1994;70:667–75.
- 87. Zou LP, Pelidou SH, Abbas N, Deretzi G, Mix E, Schaltzbeerg M, Winblad B, Zhu J. Dynamics of production of MIP-1alpha, MCP-1 and MIP-2 and potential role of neutralization of these chemokines in the regulation of immune responses during experimental autoimmune neuritis in Lewis rats. J Neuroimmunol. 1999;98:168–75.
- Duan RS, Chen Z, Bao L, Quezada HC, Nennesmo I, Winblad B, Zhu J. CCR5 deficiency does not prevent P0 peptide 180-199 immunized mice from experimental autoimmune neuritis. Neurobiol Dis. 2004;16:630–7.

- Salomon B, Rhee L, Bour-Jordan H, Hsin H, Montag A, Soliven B, Arcella J, Girvin AM, Padilla J, Miller SD, Bluestone JA. Development of spontaneous autoimmune peripheral polyneuropathy in B7-2-deficient NOD mice. J Exp Med. 2001;194:677–84.
- Ubogu EE, Yosef N, Xia RH, Sheikh KA. Behavioral, electrophysiological, and histopathological characterization of a severe murine chronic demyelinating polyneuritis model. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2012;17:53–61.
- 91. Louvet C, Kabre BG, Davini DW, Martinier N, Su MA, DeVoss JJ, Rosenthal WL, Anderson MS, Bour-Jordan H, Bluestone JA. A novel myelin P0-specific T cell receptor transgenic mouse develops a fulminant autoimmune peripheral neuropathy. J Exp Med. 2009;206:507–14.

Multi-actions of Microglia



Célestine Brunois and Laurence Ris

Abstract Microglia designate the innate immune cells of the central nervous system (CNS). Their morphology is closely related to their function, from the highly ramified resting phenotype in the healthy brain to the amoeboid-like morphology of the activated typical state of pathological conditions. Indeed, microglial cells act as resident macrophages of the brain in order to respond to injury or pathogens. Recent studies have underlined the function of microglia in physiological conditions, especially via the secretion of several cytokines which have an important impact on synaptic plasticity and cognition. We will discuss the origin, the discovery, and the different activation states of microglia during CNS development, immune surveillance and their implication in neuronal networks and synaptic plasticity in both physiological conditions. Microglia could represent a genuine potential therapeutic target in the context of neuroimmune diseases.

Keywords Resident macrophages · Cytokines · Synaptic plasticity · Neuroinflammation · Phagocytosis

Abbreviations

¹¹C-PK11195 ¹¹C-1-(2-chlorophenyl)-N-[¹¹C]methyl-N-(1-methylpropyl)-3-isoquinoline carboxamide AD Alzheimer's disease

C. Brunois (🖂) · L. Ris

Department of Neuroscience, Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy, University of Mons, Mons, Belgium

UMONS Research Institute for Health Sciences and Technology, Mons, Belgium e-mail: celestine.brunois@umons.ac.be; laurence.ris@umons.ac.be

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_9

AMPA	A-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
Arg1	Arginase 1
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Αβ	Amyloid beta
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
CaMK	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase
CCL	Chemokine ligand
CCR	Chemokine receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CNS	Central nervous system
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CSF-1	Colony-stimulating factor-1
CX3CL1	C-X3-C chemokine ligand 1
CX3CR1	C-X3-C chemokine receptor 1
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular patterns
DAP12	DNAX-activating protein of 12 kDa
DC	Dendritic cell
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalitis
EGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
ERK	Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase
GABA	Γ-Aminobutyric acid
GAD65	Glutamate decarboxylase 65
Gal-1	Galectin-1
GDNF	Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GluR2	GluR2 subunit of AMPA receptor
Iba1	Ionised calcium-binding adapter molecule 1
IdU	5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTP	Long-term potentiation
Ly6C	Lymphocyte Antigen 6C
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
M-CSF	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor
MHC class II	Major histocompatibility complex class II
MS	Multiple sclerosis

MW151	$\label{eq:2.1} 4-Methyl-6-phenyl-3-(4-pyrimidin-2-ylpiperazin-1-yl) pyridazine$
	(minozac)
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NFKB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NO	Nitric oxide
NR2B	NR2B subunit of NMDA receptor
P2RY12	Purinergic receptor P2Y 12
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PD	Parkinson's disease
PET	Positron-emission tomography
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PKA	Protein kinase A
PKC	Protein kinase C
PLC-γ	Phospholipase C gamma
PSD-95	Postsynaptic density 95
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TMEM119	Transmembrane protein 119
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TREM2	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
TrkB	Tropomyosin receptor kinase B
TSPO	Translocator protein

Introduction

Microglial cells represent the innate immune cells of the central nervous system (CNS) and play crucial roles in both physiological and pathological conditions. In the context of neuroimmune diseases, microglia are rapidly activated and represent the first line of defence in the CNS. Microglial cells are known to act as resident macrophages of the brain and are considered to be supervisors in the maintenance of CNS homeostasis. Besides these immune functions, they participate actively in the development and maintenance of neuronal networks. Through their essential role in synaptic circuits, they are modulators of neuronal function and have an important impact on synaptic plasticity and cognition [26, 27, 103]. We review the discovery and origin of microglia, and then discuss more extensively the numerous cellular characteristics and functions of these cells, in both healthy and pathological conditions.

Discovery of Microglia

The contributions from many talented researchers, and new staining techniques' developments, led to the discovery of microglia at the beginning of the twentieth century. At that time, Ramon y Cajal was considered to be one of the world leaders in the field of neuroanatomy. Thanks to his numerous contributions to science, he was awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine, along with the Italian Camillo Golgi, in 1906. Ramon y Cajal was the first to report on neuroglia. He explained that neuroglia preserved neuronal circuits and prevented incorrect contacts [71].

One of his students, Nicolas Achúcarro, was interested in neuroglia and especially in the "rod cells" discovered by Franz Nissl in 1898. These cells contain fatty degeneration products and are visualised around necrotic foci. Achúcarro hypothesised that these "granuloadipose cells" had a phagocytic activity [2]. Later, he acquired and improved Ramon y Cajal's staining techniques to develop his own version [3]. Using a tannin and ammoniacal silver technique, he clearly distinguished two cell types: a first population of phagocytic, non-fibrous and granuloadipose rod cells and a second constituted of fibrous cells with a stellar morphology and vascular end-feet [4]. These two cell types correspond, respectively, to our current knowledge of microglia and astrocytes.

These observations pushed Ramon y Cajal to improve the detection method in order to enhance the visualisation of these cells. He developed the formol uranium nitrate and sublimated gold chloride technique [72]. In 1913, he introduced the term "third element" of the CNS, after neurons and astrocytes. Under this controversial appellation, he described the "third element" as a population of small apolar cells of the white matter with a perivascular and perineuronal location which has a mesodermal origin.

Achúcarro became severely ill and another neuroanatomist, Pio del Rio Hortega, was designated by Ramon y Cajal to take over the research. He carried out modifications to the methods designed by his two mentors and developed an ammoniacal silver carbonate stain. The latter allowed him to identify two cell types: microglia and interstitial cells (later named oligodendrocytes). He characterised microglia as having a "small, dark nucleus enveloped by scant protoplasm and its ramified expansions adorned with lateral spines" [76–78]. He also proposed that microglia were dynamic, migratory cells, in contrast to astrocytes. Del Rio Hortega's experiments did not support the "third element" theory of Ramon y Cajal, which considered that oligodendrocytes and microglia belong to the same class. Del Rio Hortega's experiments continued and allowed the origin of different cells to be determined. Although all the aforementioned scientists participated in the discovery of microglia, Del Rio Hortega was the first to describe clearly these cells; microglia are also called Del Rio Hortega cells.

Cellular Origin of Microglia

Ontogenesis, Invasion and Proliferation of Microglia

Ramon y Cajal proposed the mesodermic origin of the "third element" [72]. Indeed, the embryogenic origin of microglia is distinct from other cell types (glia and neurons). Our current knowledge in embryology has formally confirmed that primitive macrophages from the yolk sac blood islands colonise the neuroepithelium from E9.0 to E9.5, giving rise to the embryonic microglia in mice. This is especially demonstrated by yolk sac progenitor staining before E7.5 [25]. These cells use the blood circulation to reach their location in the absence of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) at this stage of development. These precursors are observed near the fourth ventricle at E13 in mice. In humans, progenitors are detected at 13 weeks of gestation, and ramified microglia appear 8 weeks later. Well-differentiated microglia are detected close to term, at 35 weeks. Microglia proliferate and colonise the whole CNS until adulthood. Nonetheless, beyond this mesodermic origin, it is also known that peripheral macrophages can enter the brain parenchyma in the context of inflammatory conditions [25, 39].

Lifetime and Turnover of Microglia

To shed light on the implication of microglia in brain function, a comprehension of their turnover capacity is necessary. In homeostatic conditions, microglial density remains stable and is maintained by highly dynamic turnover and apoptosis [10]. Indeed, microglia maintain their self-renewing capacity over the entire lifespan. Whereas it is well established that microglia are not replenished by infiltrating macrophages in the healthy brain, their lifetime remains a matter of debate.

The Cx3Cr1^{CreER}:IDTR system was developed by Bruttger et al. (2015) to understand the origin and the self-renewal capacity of microglia [15]. Microglial repopulation appears after 5 days of depletion, and exclusively comes from a pool of internal resident cells. This phenomenon is independent of infiltration of peripheral cells but requires IL-1 signalling. However, under pathological conditions, infiltration of monocyte-derived macrophages is triggered [6]. Askew et al. (2017) estimated microglial turnover at about 95 days in mice and showed that an average of 0.69% of microglia is in S phase at a given time, more than previously indicated in a study by Lawson et al. (1992) with a turnover rate of approximately 0.05% [48]. In another recent study, Füger et al. (2017) showed that neocortical resident microglia had a median lifetime of about 30 months and that approximately half of the microglial population survived the mouse's lifespan [23]. The turnover can increase in neurodegenerative diseases, such as in the APPPS1 model [23].

It remains difficult to infer microglia dynamic from animals to humans that have different lifespans, and which generally live in pathogen-free conditions. Higher rates (2%) of turnover have been suggested in humans, leading to an estimation of 100 cycles over 80 years of life [10]. Réu et al. (2017) showed that a large part of microglia in the healthy human cortex were renewed at a median rate of 0.08% per day and had an average age of 4.2 years. It represents a lower rate than previously estimated by IdU incorporation (0.14% per day) [73].

All these findings show divergences in estimations of the term of microglia lifetime that may be due to the utilisation of different protocols. Further investigations in both rodents and humans are required.

Similarities and Differences Between Microglia and Macrophages

Microglia are considered to be resident macrophages of the brain and the spinal cord. They are exclusively present in the CNS. In the healthy brain, they ensure the surveillance and protection of their microenvironment. However, under pathological conditions, and especially when the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is damaged, monocyte-derived macrophages can replenish microglia [6]. In this review, these macrophages are called "infiltrating macrophages". Resident and infiltrating macrophages present similitudes and differences in terms of localisation, cellular origin and expression levels of specific markers (Table 1).

Microglia come from yolk sac progenitors while macrophages originate from hematopoietic stem cells [25]. These two cellular types are distinguished by their levels of expression of specific markers. Both express the CX3C chemokine receptor

	Microglia	
Characteristics	"Resident macrophages"	"Infiltrating macrophages"
Location	CNS	From periphery to the CNS
Cellular origin	Yolk sac progenitors	Hematopoietic stem cells
Levels of expression		
CX3CR1	Yes (High)	Yes (Low)
CD45	Yes (Low)	Yes (High)
CD11b	Yes	Yes
Iba1	Yes	Yes
CSF-1	Yes	Yes
F4/80	Yes	Yes
CD39	Yes	No
TMEM119	Yes	No
P2RY12	Yes	No
Ly6C	No	Yes
CCR2	No	Yes

Table 1 Comparison between resident and infiltrating macrophages

Microglia and infiltrating macrophages differ in terms of location, cellular origin and levels of expression of different molecules

1 (CX3CR1) and CD45, but microglia are CX3CR1^{hi}CD45^{lo} and macrophages are CX3CR1^{lo}CD45^{hi} [25, 109]. In addition, both are positive for CD11b, Iba1, CSF-1 and F4/80 markers. However, only microglia express CD39, P2Y purinoceptor 12 (P2RY12) and TMEM119. In contrast, the expression of Ly6C and CCR2 is specific for infiltrating macrophages [5, 25, 39, 81]. Moreover, some comparative studies have allowed infiltrating macrophages CX3CR1^{lo}Ly6C⁺CCR2⁺ and peripheral monocytes CX3CR1^{hi}Ly6C⁻CCR2⁻ to be distinguished [24, 109].

Morphology Related to Activation States and Phenotypes of Microglia

Morphology Related to Activation States

The morphology of microglia is intimately related to their functional state. Under physiological conditions, microglia are ramified cells with a small nucleus, regularly extending and retracting these fine processes while the small cellular body remains in place (Fig. 1a). Studies using Iba1-EGFP or CX3CR1^{GFP+} transgenic mice have revealed this exceptional morphology constituted of highly motile processes, which have the capacity to reach and contact other cells of the CNS [35, 38]. This "resting" phenotype is thought to be inactive for a long time. In reality, these cells are not quiescent. They are highly dynamic and are continually scanning the



Fig. 1 Morphologies of microglia. Ramified (**a**) and amoeboid (**b**) morphologies of Iba1+ microglia in hippocampal organotypic slices incubated with specific glutamate decarboxylase 65 (GAD65) antibodies. (Courtesy of C. Hampe, University of Washington. Images obtained by confocal microscopy in the Department of Neuroscience of the University of Mons (Belgium). Scale bar: 25 microns)

environment. Indeed, this "resting state" allows them to survey their environment and interact with other cells and synapses. Therefore, they play a central role to ensure CNS maintenance, synapse pruning and CNS functionality [61].

Under pathological conditions such as injury, microglia can be rapidly modified into an "activated" state, characterised by a larger cell body, shorter processes and an amoeboid-like morphology (Fig. 1b). This morphological modification allows them to migrate to damaged sites and play specific roles, such as phagocytosis and antigen presentation. This phenotype is found in pathological conditions, as well as during development in the healthy brain [27, 100].

Microglial activation depends on their receptor expression and is modulated by a very large number of signals, such as cytokines, chemokines, complement system, PAMPs, DAMPs, integrins, immunoglobulins, neurotransmitters and growth factors [9].

Different Phenotypes of Microglial Activation

During the activation of microglia, cells are polarised to a pro-inflammatory (M1 or classically activated) or an anti-inflammatory phenotype (M2 or alternatively activated). The M1 phenotype (CCR7+ CD40+ CD74+ CD86+) is characterised by a high production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and reactive oxygen or nitrogen species, which are important for host defence. However, these elements can exacerbate neuroinflammation and provoke tissue damage. The M1 phenotype is mostly observed after stimulation by LPS or IFN- γ [46, 57, 63]. On the other hand, the M2 phenotype (Arg1+ CD206+ CCL22+) has a global antiinflammatory effect. This large group is subdivided into three categories. First, the M2a phenotype, which is induced by IL-4 and IL-13, downregulates proinflammatory mediators and upregulates factors implicated in tissue repair (Arg1, IGF-1). Second, the M2b phenotype, produced after IL-1ß or LPS stimulation, secretes high levels of IL-10 and interestingly also several pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α). Finally, the M2c phenotype, induced by IL-10 and TGFβ, downregulates the production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF- α). Thus, the M2a-c subtypes seem to play a protective role and to promote tissue repair [46, 57, 63].

It was initially proposed that microglial cells acquire only one of these phenotypes, but recent studies have demonstrated that at a given time, microglia may simultaneously exhibit M1 and M2 markers and adopt inflammatory and restorative functions. These phenotypes are not permanent. Microglia may alternate from one activation state to another. Thus, cells may have the possibility of providing a large range of immune responses, depending on the stimulus intensity and the activation context [21, 101].

Physiological Role of Microglia in the CNS

Generalities

In terms of functions, it was initially considered that the roles of microglia were restricted to those assigned to macrophages, such as phagocytosis of cell debris. Recent studies demonstrate that microglia are not limited to this role but are also involved in physiological brain functions [94].

Functions

Development and Maintenance of Neuronal Networks

During CNS development, microglia seem to be a key element in the creation of correct neuronal networks by regulating apoptosis and the survival of neurons. The release of diffusible factors and phagocytosis underlie these functions. Microglia phagocytose dead, dying and some living cells in the developing and adult brain. Phagocytosis is indeed an important phenomenon for maintaining brain homeostasis. It avoids the release of toxic and pro-inflammatory elements from apoptotic cells (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Physiological effects of microglia. Microglia are implicated in the development and maintenance of neuronal networks through the production of diffusible and neurotrophic factors. Microglia also contribute in synaptic plasticity by their production of cytokines acting as neuromodulators Microglia are located near apoptotic neurons in order to eliminate cellular debris. They especially participate in apoptosis by the release of superoxide ion by CD11b integrin and DAP12 immunoreceptor after microglial contact with the target neuron. The implication of microglia in programmed cell death has been proven by in vitro studies which have demonstrated that this function was performed without inducing an inflammatory phenotype [98].

Furthermore, microglia are essential in the installation of neuronal networks to promote neuronal survival via the secretion of neurotrophic factors [94]. The experiments of Ueno et al. (2013) showed the importance of IGF-1 in neuronal survival and revealed a decrease in the production of this beneficial factor in CX3CR1-deficient mice. They also demonstrated an increase in apoptosis especially in layer V subcerebral and callosal projection neurons via the inactivation of microglia by minocycline or the transient deletion of microglia in transgenic mice. Microglia are also involved in synaptic pruning during the post-natal period. This process is mediated through the phagocytosis of synapses and can be altered by the loss of CX3CR1 [65].

By activating several signalling pathways (PLC- γ , PI3kinase and MAP/ERK) in neurons via TrkB, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a crucial mediator in neuronal survival. Although the major source of BDNF is neurons, it can also be secreted by other cell types, such as microglia, being able to promote emergence and maintenance of dendrites and dendritic spines [105]. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that the suppression of microglial BDNF has a negative impact on dendritic spines [66].

Microglia are also involved in the maturation of synapses. It has been observed that microglia establish direct contact with pre- and postsynaptic components. By in vivo two-photon imaging of fluorescent-labelled microglia and neurons, Wake et al. (2009) observed that microglial processes establish direct contacts with neuronal synapses which are neuron activity-dependent and last 4–5 minutes once per hour. After transient cerebral ischemia, it has been shown that the contacts between microglia and synapses are remarkably prolonged (about 1 hour) and are regularly followed by the loss of the presynaptic element [97].

Besides their functions in the development and maturation of neuronal networks, microglia are also implicated in the vascularisation of the CNS. Their role in the vascular network formation is especially demonstrated by a decreased number of vascular branching points in the retina in CSF1-deficient mice which do not have retinal microglia [20, 44]. Rymo et al. (2011) also showed that vascular network is impaired in the genetic absence of microglia and that their angiogenic effect can be restored by microglia supplementation [80].

Contribution in Synaptic Plasticity in the Healthy Brain

In physiological conditions, it has been demonstrated that microglia extend long motile processes able to contact neurons and to modulate their activity. This action is performed without the displacement of microglia soma [51, 52]. Physiological

levels of cytokines are secreted by microglia in the healthy brain. These molecules act as neuromodulators via receptors located at the surface of neurons and play an important role in the neuronal viability and function (Fig. 2).

IL-1 β has been identified as a crucial cytokine in the long-term potentiation (LTP) processes under physiological conditions. It allows both the induction and the maintenance of LTP in the hippocampus. IL-1ß stimulates the expression of AMPA receptors and induces the phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit of NMDA receptors in hippocampal neurons. The increase in glutamatergic receptor activity promotes calcium entry into neurons, which contributes to the LTP. The liberation of glutamate by the presynaptic element is also fostered in these conditions. Moreover, the activation of NMDA receptors stimulates the insertion of IL-1 receptors in the cell membrane. Spulber et al. (2009) observed an increase of IL-1 expression in the hippocampus during spatial or contextual learning. This cytokine seems to be necessary in the memory processes [86]. An alteration of cognitive functions is detected in animals with a pharmacological inhibition of IL-1 receptors or in IL-1 receptor knock-out mice [11, 29]. Avital et al. (2003) observed a longer latency to reach the platform in the Morris water maze, a decreased freezing in the contextual fear conditioning and no LTP in the dentate gyrus in IL-1 receptor-deficient mice. The administration of IL-1 receptor antagonists during prenatal development has a negative impact on the memory of adult mice [29].

Furthermore, fractalkine (CX3CL1), a chemokine expressed by neurons, might impact on the synaptic plasticity via microglia. Indeed, Sheridan et al. (2013) observed that the activation of CX3CR1 (fractalkine receptor) on microglia induces the release of adenosine, which activates $A2_A$ receptors located on microglia [84]. This activation leads to the liberation of D-serine acting as a co-agonist of NMDA receptors. We can also notice that CX3CR1 knock-out mice present an increase in both IL-1 β and TNF- α levels, and associative and spatial memory impairment [79].

TNF- α represents another relevant cytokine with an effect on homeostatic synaptic plasticity [42], which allows the maintenance of the excitatory/inhibitory balance when neuronal activity is either increased or decreased. Its presence is not essential in the LTP process, but its expression ameliorates the excitatory transmission via the insertion of AMPA receptors (without the GluR2 subunit) into the postsynaptic membrane, and the liberation of glutamate by astrocytes and the presynaptic element [88]. It also regulates the inhibitory transmission by downregulating cellsurface level of GABA_A receptors. Thus, TNF- α seems to induce a higher excitatory/inhibitory ratio [70, 88]. Stellwagen and Malenka (2006) proposed that synaptic scaling occurring after a chronic blockade of synaptic transmission in cultured hippocampal slices is mediated by TNF- α [89]. On the other hand, a study performed by Lewitus et al. (2014) revealed that TNF- α promotes the internalisation of AMPA receptors in the mouse dorsolateral striatum causing a decrease in corticostriatal synaptic strength [50].

Finally, Parkhust et al. (2013) showed that, like neuronal BDNF, microglial BDNF seems to modulate the excitatory synaptic transmission [74] and the inhibitory synaptic transmission in the hippocampus [111] or the spinal cord [18] via BDNF-TrkB signalling.





Involvements of Neuroimmune Interactions Between Neurons, Microglia and Astrocytes in Synaptic Plasticity

Inside the CNS, electrical activity is unidirectionally directed from one neuron (presynaptic element) to another (postsynaptic element) through neurotransmitter release. However, other cell types are involved in the neuronal function, microglia and astrocytes, creating the quadripartite synapse represented in Fig. 3. This schematisation exhibits the numerous neuroimmune interactions and mechanisms involved in synaptic function. First of all, the excitatory glutamate is released by the presynaptic element in the synaptic cleft and reaches both AMPA and NMDA receptors to induce synaptic plasticity phenomena which include activation of several calcium-dependent signalling pathways, such as MAPK, PKC, PKA, PI3K and CaMK. They promote phosphorylation and expression of surface AMPA receptors. From the postsynaptic neuron, NO acts as a retrograde messenger and can stimulate the neurotransmitter release. Moreover, glucose from blood vessels provides an important source of energy for neurons, via astrocytes. A glutamate-glutamine cycle between neurons and astrocytes allows the recapture of extracellular glutamate and its transfer to the presynaptic neuron providing a stock of neurotransmitters. Astrocytes also reduce extracellular potassium levels coming from the neuronal activity through inward rectifying potassium channel, and release other important factors such as BDNF, ATP, glycine and D-serine. In addition, astrocytes exhibit neurotransmitter receptors and GAP junctions to modulate and transmit their activity from an astrocyte to another. In the quadripartite synapse, the last element is microglia, which secrete different cytokines modulating the synaptic transmission. They express numerous molecules such as MHC class II, CD45, CD11b, and receptors (CX3CR1 and CSF1R) to interact with neurons. The neuronal activity also mediates microglial activity through their expression of neurotransmitter receptors. Thus, microglia, and also astrocytes, release pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators which have significant impacts on the synaptic plasticity [42, 74, 79, 88].

Physiopathological Roles of Microglia in the CNS

Generalities

Microglia are well-known for their numerous roles in pathological situations. Cells acquire another morphology, adapted to their specific functions especially in pathological states. Besides their roles in immune defence, microglia, and their secreted molecules, have a multitude of impacts on the neuronal networks and synaptic plasticity in response to pathological events [9].

Functions

Immune Surveillance

In a pathological context, microglia adopt an activated state, express a M1 or M2 polarisation, and secrete high levels of diffusible factors. This activation is characterised by morphological modifications and the acquisition of migration capacity. Cells acquire an amoeboid form and retracted processes. This morphology allows them to migrate in the direction of damaged sites to proliferate and also to phagocyte pathogens and cell debris [63].

M1 and M2 phenotypes have distinct roles. On the one hand, the pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype secretes cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-6, IL-12, IL-17 and IL-23 and also chemokines and glutamate. They also express highly inducible NO synthase (iNOS), NADPH oxidase and MHC-II molecules. These elements aim to combat infections and eliminate toxic stimuli but can cause secondary damage in the cerebral tissue. Cytokines are implicated in astrogliosis, the activation of T and B lymphocytes, the alteration of BBB integrity, the production of chemokines and the amplification of inflammatory responses. Moreover, the release of glutamate by microglia promotes the excitotoxicity phenomenon. On the other hand, the anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype secretes cytokines (IL-4, IL-10, IL-13 TGF- β) and growth factors (BDNF, GDNF, NGF, IGF-1). They promote tissue repair, homeostasis restoration, and the inhibition of the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Growth factors are extremely important in neurogenesis, remyelination and the growth of both axons and dendrites [21, 46, 57, 63, 101].

According to the activation of microglia and the acquisition of these two different phenotypes, cells have both protective and noxious effects. The M1 phenotype releases pro-inflammatory factors, which provide a negative environment for neurons. To counterbalance these detrimental effects, the M2 phenotype brings antiinflammatory molecules, which play protective and restorative roles in the brain parenchyma. However, as previously mentioned, the M1-M2 dichotomy is an oversimplified classification. Microglia are able to express both M1 and M2 phenotypes and exhibit inflammatory and protective effects [46, 63].

Impacts on Synaptic Plasticity and Induction of Cell Death in the Pathological Brain

Any modification in the CNS homeostasis that implies microglia causes a compensatory mechanism and a neuroinflammation may affect the synaptic plasticity. Thus, during CNS inflammation, activated microglia interact and modify the survival of other cell types such as neurons and have an impact on their functions.

In neuroimmune diseases, excessive stimulation of microglia results in a dramatical increase in cytokine production and a decrease in anti-inflammatory and neurotrophic factors which are susceptible to induce cognitive troubles [108].

	Physiological conditions	Pathological conditions
IL-1β	Induction and maintenance of the LTP Enhancement of glutamatergic transmission Stimulation of the expression of AMPA receptors Stimulation of the phosphorylation of NR2B subunit (NDMA receptors)	Cognitive impairment (learning and spatial memory) Neuronal death (direct effects or induction of neurotoxic factor production by astrocytes)
TNF-α	Maintenance of the excitatory/inhibitory balance Enhancement of glutamatergic transmission Improvement of the insertion of AMPA receptors in the postsynaptic element Increase of glutamate liberation (from presynaptic neurons and astrocytes) Regulation of GABAergic transmission	Cognitive impairment (LTP) Neuronal death (direct effects or induction of neurotoxic factor production by astrocytes)

Table 2 Comparison between IL-1 β and TNF- α effects under physiological and pathological conditions

These two cytokines have distinct effects in the healthy and pathological brain

The two pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF- α and IL-1 β , have been extensively studied in both physiological and pathological contexts (Table 2). Pathological levels of TNF- α seem to impair LTP in the CA1 region of the hippocampus in a model of peripheral nerve injury. Surprisingly, LTP is improved at C-fiber synapses in the spinal dorsal horn in this model [54, 56] and in the dentate gyrus after a pretreatment of hippocampal slices with TNF- α [99]. It has also been shown that the increase in IL-1β levels in a model of cerebral lesion results in learning and spatial memory impairment in rodents [17]. Similar results have been obtained after administration of exogenous IL-1 β , and in transgenic mice overexpressing this cytokine [32, 59]. Hippocampal LTP seems also to be impaired in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) which is an inflammatory model [19]. The same authors describe that LTP inhibition and behavioural alterations were recovered by suppressing microglia activation. Indeed, it is well-known that an activation of both microglia and astrocytes occurs during the course of EAE. The activation of microglia appears even as a major component in EAE pathogenesis [106, 110]. Moreover, TNF- α and IL-1 β may cause neuronal death by their direct effects on neurons or by induction of neurotoxic factor production by astrocytes [93]. However, despite all experiments studying TNF- α and IL-1 β , today, it remains difficult to generalise the effects of these cytokines on synaptic plasticity. Moreover, damaged neurons can secrete neurotoxic factors exacerbating these phenomena. In activated microglia, cytokines can also induce production of ROS and NO, and an elevated extracellular glutamate concentration by stimulating its liberation from presynaptic neurons and microglia, and by decreasing its recapture by astrocytes. Thus, more than just an alteration of synaptic plasticity, a chronic inflammatory state can be installed which induces important neuronal damages and excitotoxicity leading up to neurodegeneration [95, 108].
Phagocytosis

Like infiltrating macrophages, microglia are phagocytic cells able to eliminate bacteria, dying or dead neurons, and other debris. Phagocytosis is an extremely important phenomenon in neurodegenerative diseases. The phagocytic function of resident macrophages is considered as a protective mechanism, especially in the phagocytosis of myelin debris and axons in MS [43], and amyloid β (A β) proteins in the case of Alzheimer's disease (AD) [7]. It has been demonstrated that CX3CR1 knock-out mice present a default in myelin product removal, affecting the axonal integrity and myelin sheaths, and resulting in an inefficient remyelination in MS [47], as observed by electron microscopy imaging of Iba1-positive microglial cells. Moreover, wildtype microglia show an accumulation of myelin debris internalised by endosomes and cholesterol crystals inside their cytoplasm. In contrary, in CX3CR1-deficient mice, microglia were almost lacking endosomes, myelin debris, and cholesterol crystals, suggesting a reduced phagocytic activity. Together, these results suggest that CX3CR1 deficiency has an important impact on the phagocytic activity of microglia [47, 53].

In addition, in CX3CR1 knock-out mice, the expression of TREM2 (triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2), a protein also implicated in the phagocytic activity, is reduced [91]. Downregulation of TREM2 in microglia causes an impaired phagocytosis of apoptotic neurons and an overexpression of pro-inflammatory factors (TNF- α and iNOS). Moreover, in EAE, administration of TREM2-blocking antibodies before EAE induction revealed an exacerbation of the disease severity [68]. In this MS experimental model, it has also been showed that transplantation of myeloid precursors overexpressing TREM2 at the peak of EAE increases myelin debris clearance and anti-inflammatory cytokines production and reduces pro-inflammatory factor expression in the spinal cord [92].

Antigen Presentation

In normal conditions, microglia are the only one's immune cells of the brain parenchyma. However, a small number of T cells, dendritic cells and macrophages can be observed near blood vessels, choroid plexus, circumventricular structures and meninges which are strategical locations to protect brain parenchyma [8, 28].

Neuroimmune diseases such as MS are characterised by T cell infiltration, recruitment of dendritic cells (DC) and macrophages in the CNS. In this situation, development of inflammatory lesions, axonal damages and demyelination may be observed [30, 58]. In addition to MS, T cell infiltration is also observed in postmortem brain tissue of AD and PD patients [14, 22].

In this context, antigen presentation constitutes an immune process that allows the recognition of fragmented antigens which are presented on antigen-presenting cells (APC) by specific T cell receptors. Dendritic cells are known to be an important cell type for antigen presentation. However, during neuroimmune diseases such as MS and its animal model, the CNS contains other populations of APC. Indeed, the expression levels of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules revealed the ability to present antigen and indicate the maturation state of different APC. Microglia, expressing both MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules, are shown to be effective CNS-resident APC to the infiltrating CD11c⁺ cells [104]. The overexpression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules by microglia induced by infiltrated Th17 promotes the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, ROS and complement proteins which enhance neuroinflammation. In addition to the brain parenchyma, meninges also represent an important site of antigen presentation to T cells (CD4+) by microglia and dendritic cells during autoimmune diseases [40]. Moreover, it has been shown that CD4⁺ T cells have an important impact on PD pathology, especially through MHC class II expression in microglia [75].

Neuroprotection Versus Neurotoxicity

Microglia activation was thought to be a negative phenomenon for a long time. However, a large number of studies revealed their neuroprotective and beneficial effects (Fig. 4). Microglia activation is a well-controlled phenomenon particularly regulated by their interactions with neurons and astrocytes. These cells maintain the process under control and ensure phagocytosis of pathogens and debris clearance, tissue repair, spontaneous disappearance of inflammation and brain homeostasis recovery. Thus, in a normal context, a large proportion of secreted factors by microglia have beneficial effects on the brain. However, in the case of injury or chronic inflammatory disease, a strong elevated activation can appear due to a disruption in the system of regulation or an excessive stimulation. In this situation, microglia maintain a highly activated state which becomes deleterious for the brain



Fig. 4 Neuroprotection versus neurotoxicity. Microglia present either beneficial or deleterious effects in the function of the stimulation context

parenchyma and generates irreversible tissue damage due to the uncontrolled production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and neurotoxic factors. The high expression of these molecules is a detrimental element for the tissue and the synaptic plasticity [13, 29, 95, 108].

Translation from Animal Studies to Humans

The large majority of research on microglia is performed in animal models, in particular on rodents, due to the difficulty to study their human counterparts. Despite the very little research on humans, we know that rodent and human microglia show important similarities, as well as several relevant differences. However, important similarities justify the use of these models, as does the fact that rodent models are largely employed in this domain. Based on this, evaluating the functional impact of molecules in rodent models remains essential, but differences due to species must be taken into account, especially when these characteristics are associated with neurological disorders.

Human and rodent microglia colonise the CNS over an analogous timeline. In both rodents and humans, many factors are similarly expressed, such as Iba1, M-CSF receptor and DAP12. The activation of these cells into M1 and M2 phenotypes also seems to show no difference between species. However, for instance, human microglia seem to have a higher level of IL-10 production. Moreover, the implication of TGF- β 1 seems to be more important in mice than in humans, as well as the production of NO. Thus, we understand that there is a strong need to interpret results obtained from animals before extrapolating in human [16, 85, 90].

Recently, in vivo imaging of microglia performed by positron emission tomography (PET) has been revealed as a new tool to evaluate the participation of activated microglia in neuroimmune diseases. Indeed, neuroinflammation observed in human or in in vivo models is now largely studied by PET scanning and particularly by the detection of the translocator protein (TSPO) radioligand ¹¹C-PK11195. TSPO is a protein located in the outer mitochondrial membrane which is normally expressed in healthy cells and is highly expressed in reactive cells, such as microglia, macrophages and astrocytes, which are key elements in neuroinflammation. This exciting technique allows the pathology progression to be followed and the efficacy of treatments tested in neuroinflammatory diseases to be evaluated. The technique is largely used in multiple sclerosis (MS), Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Huntington's disease [69, 96]. Recently, Horti and collaborators (2019) developed a new PET radiotracer. This (11C)CPPC ligand is specific for CSF1R which is only expressed by microglia and infiltrating macrophages, and is upregulated under inflammatory conditions. This PET ligand resolves well-known limitations from TSPO such as detection of astrocytes and endothelial cells beyond microglia [36].

One exciting alternative method to investigate human microglia is the recent technology of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). Patient-derived iPSCs repre-

sent a renewable source of specific cells to investigate their functions in both healthy and pathological conditions [1]. Microglia-like cells exhibit numerous features of microglia such as expression of specific markers (CX3CR1, Iba1, CD45 and CD11b), ramified or amoeboid morphology, production of cytokines, and phagocytosis function [1, 31, 60, 64]. Thus, the generation of microglia-like cells from iPSCs allows the study of their implication in neurological diseases, such as AD [1].

Microglia as a Potential Therapeutic Target and Methods to Counterbalance Their Activation

Glucose is a key element for microglial function and activation. Recently, the expression of high levels of glucose transporter (GLUT1) in activated microglia has been revealed in a study of Wang and collaborators (2019) under physiopathological conditions. They showed that glucose uptake in microglia is supported mainly by this transporter. In a pathological context, microglia seem to upregulate the expression of GLUT1 to promote glucose uptake and anaerobic glycolysis. Therefore, blocking GLUT1 could represent a new approach to control microglial activation and to increase glucose availability to neurons [102].

Some therapeutic methods aim to deactivate or modulate the M1 phenotype. Indeed, galectin-1 (gal-1) is able to modulate the M1 phenotype, and especially control iNOS and CCL2 expression via p38 and NF-KB signalling pathways. Gal-1 is also known to ameliorate the disease course of EAE [87].

Minocycline is a well-known and characterised molecule inhibiting microglial activation, in particular M1 polarisation. An in vivo study of Kobayashi et al. (2013) showed that the administration of minocycline reduced the expression of M1 phenotype while the M2 phenotype was not affected [41]. However, Scott et al. (2018) revealed that the antibiotic minocycline attenuated chronic microglial activation but increased neurodegeneration in a model of traumatic brain injury. These results suggest that microglial activation could provide beneficial and reparative functions in the chronic phase of traumatic brain injury [82].

One natural product especially known for its anti-inflammatory properties is ginseng. In China, Japan and Korea, it is considered as one of the most precious of all traditional medicinal herbs and is used not only for its anti-inflammatory effects but also for its potential benefits as antioxidant, anti-tumour and anti-fatigue [33, 49]. Ginsenosides, which are molecular components of ginseng implicated in these beneficial effects, are categorised into two different structural groups. These two classes, the 20 (S)-protopanaxadiol and the 20 (S)-protopanaxatriol conformations, include, respectively, Ra₁₋₃, Rb₁₋₂, Rb₃, Rc, Rd, Rg₃, Rh₂ and Re, Rf, Rg₁₋₂, Rh₁ molecules [62]. Experiments on aged mice revealed that the administration of ginsenoside Rg1 improves the spatial memory and upregulates the expression of several synaptic plasticity-associated proteins in the hippocampus, such as synaptophysin, NR1 subunit of NMDA receptors, postsynaptic density protein 95 (PSD-95) and CaMKII α [107]. Moreover, it has been shown that a ginsenoside Rg1 pretreatment of LPS-induced BV-2 microglial cells may activate the phospholipase C signalling pathway and modulate the expression of TNF- α , IL-1 β , iNOS, COX-2 and NF- κ B [112]. Ginsenoside Rh3 was also shown to decrease the expression of TNF- α , iNOS and IL-6 [49, 83]. In the same line of evidence, ginsenoside Rh1 inhibited the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the expression of iNOS, COX-2, but it increased the expression of an anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10) in LPS-stimulated microglia [37]. Rb1 represents another ginsenoside component known to improve spatial learning and memory and to increase cell survival but not proliferation in the hippocampus [55]. It may also present a beneficial role in AD by modulating neurofibrillary tangle formation and tau hyperphosphorylation [101]. This phosphorylation state is also reduced by Rd components, as showed on cultured cortical neurons and AD rats [55]. Together, these results indicate that several ginseng components possess anti-inflammatory effects by modulating the activation of microglia.

Ginseng and minocycline have been simultaneously experimented in a study of Kumar et al. (2014). It was shown that animals exposed to brain traumatic injury and to a rehabilitation period presented a cognitive impairment, revealed by an increase in escape latency and total distance travelled to reach the platform in the Morris water maze. Moreover, animals presented an important increase in oxidative stress and pro-inflammatory markers. However, after a ginseng and minocycline treatment, behavioural troubles and inflammatory factor levels were attenuated. Thus, the combination of low doses of ginseng and minocycline seems to potentiate their beneficial and anti-inflammatory effects [45]. A study performed in humans also demonstrated that AD patients with a high dose of ginseng showed a significant improvement on the Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale and Clinical Dementia Rating after 12 weeks of therapy [34].

MW151 is a molecule that suppresses upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines but does not block the synthesis of anti-inflammatory cytokines in inflammatory diseases or after injury. It has been demonstrated that MW151 suppresses IL-1 β overproduction but does not affect proliferation, migration and phagocytosis of microglia after traumatic brain injury. In an amyloid beta infusion model, the administration of MW151 resulted in a significant suppression of IL-1 β production correlated with a practically complete recuperation of cognitive function and a reduction of neuronal dysfunction markers [12]. So, MW151 seems to improve neurological outcomes where pro-inflammatory cytokines are key elements of the physiopathological progression.

Finally, it has been observed that voluntary physical exercise constitutes a natural method to maintain microglia and brain homeostasis. Indeed, exercise induces an increase in neurotrophic factor and anti-inflammatory cytokine production, a reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokine levels and microglial activation. By these multiple beneficial effects, it seems to have a global anti-inflammatory effect in the brain [67].

References

- Abud EM, Ramirez RN, Martinez ES, Healy LM, Nguyen CHH, Newman SA, Yeromin AV, Scarfone VM, Marsh SE, Fimbres C, et al. iPSC-derived human microglia-like cells to study neurological diseases. Neuron. 2017;94:278–293.e9.
- Achucarro N. Cellules allongées et Stäbchenzellen: cellules neurogliques et cellules granuloadipeuses à la corne dammon du lapin. Trab Lab Invest Biol Univ Madrid. 1909;4:2–15.
- Achúcarro N. Nuevo método para el estudio de la neuroglia y del tejido conjuntivo. Bol Soc Esp Biol. 1911;1(7):139–41.
- 4. Achucarro N. Notas sobre la estructura y funciones de la neuroglia y en particular de la neuroglia de la corteza cerebral humana. Trab Lab Invest Biol Univ Madrid. 1913;3:1–31.
- Ajami B, Bennett JL, Krieger C, Tetzlaff W, Rossi FMV. Local self-renewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. Nat Neurosci. 2007;10:1538–43.
- Ajami B, Bennett JL, Krieger C, McNagny KM, Rossi FMV. Infiltrating monocytes trigger EAE progression, but do not contribute to the resident microglia pool. Nat Neurosci. 2011;14:1142–9.
- Almeida CG, Tampellini D, Takahashi RH, Greengard P, Lin MT, Snyder EM, Gouras GK. Beta-amyloid accumulation in APP mutant neurons reduces PSD-95 and GluR1 in synapses. Neurobiol Dis. 2005;20:187–98.
- 8. Aloisi F. Immune function of microglia. Glia. 2001;36:165-79.
- Arcuri C, Mecca C, Bianchi R, Giambanco I, Donato R. The pathophysiological role of microglia in dynamic surveillance, phagocytosis and structural remodeling of the developing CNS. Front Mol Neurosci. 2017;10:191.
- Askew K, Li K, Olmos-Alonso A, Garcia-Moreno F, Liang Y, Richardson P, Tipton T, Chapman MA, Riecken K, Beccari S, et al. Coupled proliferation and apoptosis maintain the rapid turnover of microglia in the adult brain. Cell Rep. 2017;18:391–405.
- Avital A, Goshen I, Kamsler A, Segal M, Iverfeldt K, Richter-Levin G, Yirmiya R. Impaired interleukin-1 signaling is associated with deficits in hippocampal memory processes and neural plasticity. Hippocampus. 2003;13:826–34.
- Bachstetter AD, Zhou Z, Rowe RK, Xing B, Goulding DS, Conley AN, Sompol P, Meier S, Abisambra JF, Lifshitz J, et al. MW151 inhibited IL-1β levels after traumatic brain injury with no effect on microglia physiological responses. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0149451.
- 13. Bilbo SD, Schwarz JM. The immune system and developmental programming of brain and behavior. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2012;33:267–86.
- 14. Brochard V, Combadière B, Prigent A, Laouar Y, Perrin A, Beray-Berthat V, Bonduelle O, Alvarez-Fischer D, Callebert J, Launay J-M, et al. Infiltration of CD4+ lymphocytes into the brain contributes to neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. J Clin Investig. 2009;119(1):182–92.
- Bruttger J, Karram K, Wörtge S, Regen T, Marini F, Hoppmann N, Klein M, Blank T, Yona S, Wolf Y, et al. Genetic cell ablation reveals clusters of local self-renewing microglia in the mammalian central nervous system. Immunity. 2015;43:92–106.
- Butovsky O, Jedrychowski MP, Moore CS, Cialic R, Lanser AJ, Gabriely G, Koeglsperger T, Dake B, Wu PM, Doykan CE, et al. Identification of a unique TGF-β–dependent molecular and functional signature in microglia. Nat Neurosci. 2014;17:131–43.
- 17. Clausen F, Hånell A, Björk M, Hillered L, Mir AK, Gram H, Marklund N. Neutralization of interleukin-1β modifies the inflammatory response and improves histological and cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury in mice. Eur J Neurosci. 2009;30:385–96.
- Coull JAM, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, Gravel C, Salter MW, De Koninck Y. BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature. 2005;438:1017–21.
- 19. Di Filippo M, Sarchielli P, Picconi B, Calabresi P. Neuroinflammation and synaptic plasticity: theoretical basis for a novel, immune-centred, therapeutic approach to neurological disorders. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2008;29:402–12.

- 20. Fantin A, Vieira JM, Gestri G, Denti L, Schwarz Q, Prykhozhij S, Peri F, Wilson SW, Ruhrberg C. Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF-mediated endothelial tip cell induction. Blood. 2010;116:829–40.
- Fenn AM, Hall JCE, Gensel JC, Popovich PG, Godbout JP. IL-4 signaling drives a unique arginase+/IL-1 + microglia phenotype and recruits macrophages to the inflammatory CNS: consequences of age-related deficits in IL-4R after traumatic spinal cord injury. J Neurosci. 2014;34:8904–17.
- 22. Ferretti MT, Merlini M, Späni C, Gericke C, Schweizer N, Enzmann G, Engelhardt B, Kulic L, Suter T, Nitsch RM. T-cell brain infiltration and immature antigen-presenting cells in transgenic models of Alzheimer's disease-like cerebral amyloidosis. Brain Behav Immun. 2016;54:211–25.
- 23. Füger P, Hefendehl JK, Veeraraghavalu K, Wendeln A-C, Schlosser C, Obermüller U, Wegenast-Braun BM, Neher JJ, Martus P, Kohsaka S, et al. Microglia turnover with aging and in an Alzheimer's model via long-term in vivo single-cell imaging. Nat Neurosci. 2017;20:1371–6.
- Geissmann F, Jung S, Littman DR. Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. Immunity. 2003;19:71–82.
- Ginhoux F, Greter M, Leboeuf M, Nandi S, See P, Gokhan S, Mehler MF, Conway SJ, Ng LG, Stanley ER, et al. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. Science. 2010;330:841–5.
- Ginhoux F, Lim S, Hoeffel G, Low D, Huber T. Origin and differentiation of microglia. Front Cell Neurosci. 2013;7:45.
- Gomez-Nicola D, Perry VH. Microglial dynamics and role in the healthy and diseased brain: a paradigm of functional plasticity. Neuroscientist. 2015;21:169–84.
- González H, Elgueta D, Montoya A, Pacheco R. Neuroimmune regulation of microglial activity involved in neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;274:1–13.
- Goshen I, Kreisel T, Ounallah-Saad H, Renbaum P, Zalzstein Y, Ben-Hur T, Levy-Lahad E, Yirmiya R. A dual role for interleukin-1 in hippocampal-dependent memory processes. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2007;32:1106–15.
- Goverman J. Autoimmune T cell responses in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:393–407.
- 31. Haenseler W, Sansom SN, Buchrieser J, Newey SE, Moore CS, Nicholls FJ, Chintawar S, Schnell C, Antel JP, Allen ND, et al. A highly efficient human pluripotent stem cell microglia model displays a neuronal-co-culture-specific expression profile and inflammatory response. Stem Cell Reports. 2017;8:1727–42.
- 32. Hein AM, Stasko MR, Matousek SB, Scott-McKean JJ, Maier SF, Olschowka JA, Costa ACS, O'Banion MK. Sustained hippocampal IL-1β overexpression impairs contextual and spatial memory in transgenic mice. Brain Behav Immun. 2010;24:243–53.
- 33. Helms S. Cancer prevention and therapeutics: Panax ginseng. Altern Med Rev. 2004;9:259–74.
- Heo J-H, Lee S-T, Chu K, Oh MJ, Park H-J, Shim J-Y, Kim M. An open-label trial of Korean red ginseng as an adjuvant treatment for cognitive impairment in patients with Alzheimers disease. Eur J Neurol. 2008;15:865–8.
- Hirasawa T, Ohsawa K, Imai Y, Ondo Y, Akazawa C, Uchino S, Kohsaka S. Visualization of microglia in living tissues using Iba1-EGFP transgenic mice. J Neurosci Res. 2005;81:357–62.
- 36. Horti AG, Naik R, Foss CA, Minn I, Misheneva V, Du Y, Wang Y, Mathews WB, Wu Y, Hall A, et al. PET imaging of microglia by targeting macrophage colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1R). Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2019;116:1686–91.
- 37. Jung J-S, Shin JA, Park E-M, Lee J-E, Kang Y-S, Min S-W, Kim D-H, Hyun J-W, Shin C-Y, Kim H-S. Anti-inflammatory mechanism of ginsenoside Rh1 in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated microglia: critical role of the protein kinase A pathway and hemeoxygenase-1 expression: anti-inflammatory mechanism of Rh1 in brain. J Neurochem. 2010;115:1668–80.

- Jung S, Aliberti J, Graemmel P, Sunshine MJ, Kreutzberg GW, Sher A, Littman DR. Analysis of fractalkine receptor CX(3)CR1 function by targeted deletion and green fluorescent protein reporter gene insertion. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20:4106–14.
- 39. Kierdorf K, Erny D, Goldmann T, Sander V, Schulz C, Perdiguero EG, Wieghofer P, Heinrich A, Riemke P, Hölscher C, et al. Microglia emerge from erythromyeloid precursors via Pu.1and Irf8-dependent pathways. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16:273–80.
- 40. Kivisäkk P, Imitola J, Rasmussen S, Elyaman W, Zhu B, Ransohoff RM, Khoury SJ. Localizing central nervous system immune surveillance: meningeal antigen-presenting cells activate T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Ann Neurol. 2009;65:457–69.
- 41. Kobayashi K, Imagama S, Ohgomori T, Hirano K, Uchimura K, Sakamoto K, Hirakawa A, Takeuchi H, Suzumura A, Ishiguro N, et al. Minocycline selectively inhibits M1 polarization of microglia. Cell Death Dis. 2013;4:e525.
- 42. Konefal SC, Stellwagen D. Tumour necrosis factor-mediated homeostatic synaptic plasticity in behavioural models: testing a role in maternal immune activation. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2017;372:20160160.
- Kotter MR. Myelin impairs CNS remyelination by inhibiting oligodendrocyte precursor cell differentiation. J Neurosci. 2006;26:328–32.
- 44. Kubota Y, Takubo K, Shimizu T, Ohno H, Kishi K, Shibuya M, Saya H, Suda T. M-CSF inhibition selectively targets pathological angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. J Exp Med. 2009;206:1089–102.
- 45. Kumar A, Rinwa P, Dhar H. Microglial inhibitory effect of ginseng ameliorates cognitive deficits and neuroinflammation following traumatic head injury in rats. Inflammopharmacology. 2014;22:155–67.
- Kumar A, Alvarez-Croda D-M, Stoica BA, Faden AI, Loane DJ. Microglial/macrophage polarization dynamics following traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2016;33:1732–50.
- Lampron A, Larochelle A, Laflamme N, Préfontaine P, Plante M-M, Sánchez MG, Yong VW, Stys PK, Tremblay M-È, Rivest S. Inefficient clearance of myelin debris by microglia impairs remyelinating processes. J Exp Med. 2015;212:481–95.
- Lawson LJ, Perry VH, Gordon S. Turnover of resident microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. Neuroscience. 1992;48:405–15.
- 49. Lee MS, Yang EJ, Kim J-I, Ernst E. Ginseng for cognitive function in Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. J Alzheimers Dis. 2009;18:339–44.
- 50. Lewitus GM, Pribiag H, Duseja R, St-Hilaire M, Stellwagen D. An adaptive role of TNF in the regulation of striatal synapses. J Neurosci. 2014;34:6146–55.
- Li T, Pang S, Yu Y, Wu X, Guo J, Zhang S. Proliferation of parenchymal microglia is the main source of microgliosis after ischaemic stroke. Brain. 2013;136:3578–88.
- 52. Li Y, Du X, Liu C, Wen Z, Du J. Reciprocal regulation between resting microglial dynamics and neuronal activity in vivo. Dev Cell. 2012;23:1189–202.
- 53. Lindberg OR, Brederlau A, Kuhn HG. Epidermal growth factor treatment of the adult brain subventricular zone leads to focal microglia/macrophage accumulation and angiogenesis. Stem Cell Reports. 2014;2:440–8.
- Liu X-G, Zhou L-J. Long-term potentiation at spinal C-fiber synapses: a target for pathological pain. Curr Pharm Des. 2014;21:895–905.
- 55. Liu L, Hoang-Gia T, Wu H, Lee M-R, Gu L, Wang C, Yun B-S, Wang Q, Ye S, Sung C-K. Ginsenoside Rb1 improves spatial learning and memory by regulation of cell genesis in the hippocampal subregions of rats. Brain Res. 2011;1382:147–54.
- 56. Liu Y, Zhou L-J, Wang J, Li D, Ren W-J, Peng J, Wei X, Xu T, Xin W-J, Pang R-P, et al. TNF-α differentially regulates synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus and spinal cord by microglia-dependent mechanisms after peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci. 2017;37:871–81.
- Martinez FO, Sica A, Mantovani A, Locati M. Macrophage activation and polarization. Front Biosci. 2008;13:453–61.
- McFarland HF, Martin R. Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:913–9.

- 59. Moore AH, Wu M, Shaftel SS, Graham KA, O'Banion MK. Sustained expression of interleukin-1 β in mouse hippocampus impairs spatial memory. Neuroscience. 2009;164:1484–95.
- Muffat J, Li Y, Yuan B, Mitalipova M, Omer A, Corcoran S, Bakiasi G, Tsai L-H, Aubourg P, Ransohoff RM, et al. Efficient derivation of microglia-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Med. 2016;22:1358–67.
- Nimmerjahn A, Kirchhoff F, Helmchen F. Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. Science. 2005;308:1314–8.
- 62. Ong W-Y. Protective effects of ginseng on neurological disorders. Front Aging Neurosci. 2015;7:129.
- 63. Orihuela R, McPherson CA, Harry GJ. Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states: microglia bioenergetics with acute polarization. Br J Pharmacol. 2016;173:649–65.
- 64. Pandya H, Shen MJ, Ichikawa DM, Sedlock AB, Choi Y, Johnson KR, Kim G, Brown MA, Elkahloun AG, Maric D, et al. Differentiation of human and murine induced pluripotent stem cells to microglia-like cells. Nat Neurosci. 2017;20:753–9.
- 65. Paolicelli RC, Bolasco G, Pagani F, Maggi L, Scianni M, Panzanelli P, Giustetto M, Ferreira TA, Guiducci E, Dumas L, et al. Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. Science. 2011;333:1456–8.
- 66. Parkhurst CN, Yang G, Ninan I, Savas JN, Yates JR, Lafaille JJ, Hempstead BL, Littman DR, Gan W-B. Microglia promote learning-dependent synapse formation through brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Cell. 2013;155:1596–609.
- 67. Petersen AMW, Pedersen BK. The anti-inflammatory effect of exercise. J Appl Physiol. 2005;98:1154–62.
- Piccio L, Buonsanti C, Mariani M, Cella M, Gilfillan S, Cross AH, Colonna M, Panina-Bordignon P. Blockade of TREM-2 exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37:1290–301.
- 69. Politis M. Imaging of microglia in patients with neurodegenerative disorders. Front Pharmacol. 2012;3:96.
- Pribiag H, Stellwagen D. TNF- downregulates inhibitory neurotransmission through protein phosphatase 1-dependent trafficking of GABAA receptors. J Neurosci. 2013;33:15879–93.
- Ramón y Cajal S. Algo sobre la significación fisiológica de la neuroglia. Revista Trimestral Micrografía. 1897;1:3–47.
- Ramón y Cajal S. Contribución al conocimiento de la neuroglia del cerebro humano. Trab Lab Invest Biol XI. 1913;11:255–315.
- 73. Réu P, Khosravi A, Bernard S, Mold JE, Salehpour M, Alkass K, Perl S, Tisdale J, Possnert G, Druid H, et al. The lifespan and turnover of microglia in the human brain. Cell Rep. 2017;20:779–84.
- 74. Rex CS, Lin C-Y, Kramar EA, Chen LY, Gall CM, Lynch G. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor promotes long-term potentiation-related cytoskeletal changes in adult hippocampus. J Neurosci. 2007;27:3017–29.
- Reynolds AD, Banerjee R, Liu J, Gendelman HE, Lee Mosley R. Neuroprotective activities of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. J Leukoc Biol. 2007;82:1083–94.
- Río-Hortega P. El "tercer elemento de los centros nerviosos". IV. Poder fagocitario y movilidad de la microglía. Bol Soc Esp Biol. 1919;VIII:155–66.
- Río-Hortega P. El "tercer elemento" de los centros nerviosos. III. Naturaleza probable de la microglía. Bol Soc Esp Biol. 1919;VIII:108–15.
- Río-Hortega P. El "tercer elemento" de los centros nerviosos. I. La microglía en estado normal. II. Intervención de la microglía en los procesos patológicos (células en bastoncito y cuerpos gránulo-adiposos). Bol. Soc. Esp. Biol. 1919;VIII:69–109.
- Rogers JT, Morganti JM, Bachstetter AD, Hudson CE, Peters MM, Grimmig BA, Weeber EJ, Bickford PC, Gemma C. CX3CR1 deficiency leads to impairment of hippocampal cognitive function and synaptic plasticity. J Neurosci. 2011;31:16241–50.

- Rymo SF, Gerhardt H, Wolfhagen Sand F, Lang R, Uv A, Betsholtz C. A two-way communication between microglial cells and angiogenic sprouts regulates angiogenesis in aortic ring cultures. PLoS One. 2011;6:e15846.
- Satoh J, Kino Y, Asahina N, Takitani M, Miyoshi J, Ishida T, Saito Y. TMEM119 marks a subset of microglia in the human brain: human microglial marker TMEM119. Neuropathology. 2016;36:39–49.
- Scott G, Zetterberg H, Jolly A, Cole JH, De Simoni S, Jenkins PO, Feeney C, Owen DR, Lingford-Hughes A, Howes O, et al. Minocycline reduces chronic microglial activation after brain trauma but increases neurodegeneration. Brain. 2018;141:459–71.
- Seo J-W, Yang E-J, Kim SH, Choi I-H. An inhibitory alternative splice isoform of Tolllike receptor 3 is induced by type I interferons in human astrocyte cell lines. BMB Rep. 2015;48:696–701.
- Sheridan GK, Murphy KJ. Neuron-glia crosstalk in health and disease: fractalkine and CX3CR1 take centre stage. Open Biol. 2013;3:–130181.
- 85. Smith AM, Dragunow M. The human side of microglia. Trends Neurosci. 2014;37:125-35.
- Spulber S, Mateos L, Oprica M, Cedazo-Minguez A, Bartfai T, Winblad B, Schultzberg M. Impaired long term memory consolidation in transgenic mice overexpressing the human soluble form of IL-1ra in the brain. J Neuroimmunol. 2009;208:46–53.
- Starossom SC, Mascanfroni ID, Imitola J, Cao L, Raddassi K, Hernandez SF, Bassil R, Croci DO, Cerliani JP, Delacour D, et al. Galectin-1 deactivates classically activated microglia and protects from inflammation-induced neurodegeneration. Immunity. 2012;37:249–63.
- Stellwagen D. Differential regulation of AMPA receptor and GABA receptor trafficking by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Neurosci. 2005;25:3219–28.
- Stellwagen D, Malenka RC. Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNF-alpha. Nature. 2006;440:1054–9.
- 90. Streit WJ, Xue Q-S, Tischer J, Bechmann I. Microglial pathology. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2014;2:142.
- Takahashi K, Rochford CDP, Neumann H. Clearance of apoptotic neurons without inflammation by microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2. J Exp Med. 2005;201:647–57.
- Takahashi K, Prinz M, Stagi M, Chechneva O, Neumann H. TREM2-transduced myeloid precursors mediate nervous tissue debris clearance and facilitate recovery in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. PLoS Med. 2007;4:e124.
- Thornton P, Pinteaux E, Gibson RM, Allan SM, Rothwell NJ. Interleukin-1-induced neurotoxicity is mediated by glia and requires caspase activation and free radical release. J Neurochem. 2006;98:258–66.
- Ueno M, Fujita Y, Tanaka T, Nakamura Y, Kikuta J, Ishii M, Yamashita T. Layer V cortical neurons require microglial support for survival during postnatal development. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16:543–51.
- Vezzani A, Viviani B. Neuromodulatory properties of inflammatory cytokines and their impact on neuronal excitability. Neuropharmacology. 2015;96:70–82.
- Vivash L, OBrien TJ. Imaging microglial activation with TSPO PET: lighting up neurologic diseases? J Nucl Med. 2016;57:165–8.
- Wake H, Moorhouse AJ, Jinno S, Kohsaka S, Nabekura J. Resting microglia directly monitor the functional state of synapses in vivo and determine the fate of ischemic terminals. J Neurosci. 2009;29:3974–80.
- Wakselman S, Bechade C, Roumier A, Bernard D, Triller A, Bessis A. Developmental neuronal death in hippocampus requires the microglial CD11b integrin and DAP12 immunoreceptor. J Neurosci. 2008;28:8138–43.
- 99. Wall AM, Mukandala G, Greig NH, O'Connor JJ. Tumor necrosis factor-α potentiates longterm potentiation in the rat dentate gyrus after acute hypoxia: TNF-α Increases LTP Post Hypoxia. J Neurosci Res. 2015;93:815–29.

- Walter L, Neumann H. Role of microglia in neuronal degeneration and regeneration. Semin Immunopathol. 2009;31:513–25.
- 101. Wang G, Zhang J, Hu X, Zhang L, Mao L, Jiang X, Liou AK-F, Leak RK, Gao Y, Chen J. Microglia/macrophage polarization dynamics in white matter after traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2013;33:1864–74.
- Wang L, Pavlou S, Du X, Bhuckory M, Xu H, Chen M. Glucose transporter 1 critically controls microglial activation through facilitating glycolysis. Mol Neurodegener. 2019;14:2.
- 103. Weinhard L, di Bartolomei G, Bolasco G, Machado P, Schieber NL, Neniskyte U, Exiga M, Vadisiute A, Raggioli A, Schertel A, et al. Microglia remodel synapses by presynaptic trogocytosis and spine head filopodia induction. Nat Commun. 2018;9:1228.
- 104. Włodarczyk A, Løbner M, Cédile O, Owens T. Comparison of microglia and infiltrating CD11c+ cells as antigen presenting cells for T cell proliferation and cytokine response. J Neuroinflammation. 2014;11:57.
- 105. Wu Y-C, Williamson R, Li Z, Vicario A, Xu J, Kasai M, Chern Y, Tongiorgi E, Baraban JM. Dendritic trafficking of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA: regulation by translin-dependent and -independent mechanisms: dendritic trafficking of BDNF mRNA. J Neurochem. 2011;116:1112–21.
- Wu X, Hsuchou H, Kastin AJ, Mishra PK, Pan W. Upregulation of astrocytic leptin receptor in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Mol Neurosci. 2013;49:446–56.
- 107. Yang L, Zhang J, Zheng K, Shen H, Chen X. Long-term ginsenoside Rg1 supplementation improves age-related cognitive decline by promoting synaptic plasticity associated protein expression in C57BL/6J mice. J Gerontol Ser A Biol Med Sci. 2014;69A:282–94.
- Yirmiya R, Goshen I. Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;25:181–213.
- 109. Yona S, Kim K-W, Wolf Y, Mildner A, Varol D, Breker M, Strauss-Ayali D, Viukov S, Guilliams M, Misharin A, et al. Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis. Immunity. 2013;38:79–91.
- Ziehn MO, Avedisian AA, Tiwari-Woodruff S, Voskuhl RR. Hippocampal CA1 atrophy and synaptic loss during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EAE. Lab Investig. 2010;90:774–86.
- 111. Zheng K, An JJ, Yang F, Xu W, Xu Z-QD, Wu J, Hokfelt TGM, Fisahn A, Xu B, Lu B. TrkB signaling in parvalbumin-positive interneurons is critical for gamma-band network synchronization in hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2011;108:17201–6.
- 112. Zong Y, Ai Q-L, Zhong L-M, Dai J-N, Yang P, He Y, Sun J, Ling E-A, Lu D. Ginsenoside Rg1 attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses via the phospholipase C-γ1 signaling pathway in murine BV-2 microglial cells. Curr Med Chem. 2012;19:770–9.

Autoimmune Astrocytopathy



Jorge Correale and María I. Gaitán

Abstract Astrocytes are the most abundant and heterogeneous type of glial cell in the Central Nervous System. In addition to their role maintaining physiological conditions stable in the CNS, they are recognized as early and highly active players in immune responses in the CNS, and their dysfunction is believed to contribute to neuroimmune disease.

Perhaps one of the most important discoveries in recent years has been the identification of IgG-NMO, a specific pathogenic antibody directed against water channel aquaporin-4 (AQP4). IgG-NMO has not only made neuromyelitis optica diagnosis easier but has allowed differential diagnoses to be established more clearly and lead to the design of better therapeutic alternatives. Likewise, a novel autoantibody directed against GFAP has been identified as biomarker of a relapsing autoimmune form of meningoencephalomyelitis, responsive to steroids, often associated with tumors. Similarly, in Rasmussen's encephalitis, CD8⁺ T lymphocytes cause astrocyte apoptosis and loss in affected areas, altering normal neuron function. Reactive astrocytes also play an important role in different CNS infections, not only during acute phases of disease but also long term, and may condition the development of post-infectious sequelae. Finally, multiple mechanisms mediated by astrocytes are known to participate in both the genesis and the progression of MS and in processes of remyelination. Overall, these observations indicate astrocytes actively participate in both pathological and in repair mechanisms, observed in CNS neuroimmune diseases.

Keywords Anti-AQP4 · Anti-GFAP · Astrocytes · Multiple sclerosis · Neuromyelitis optica · Rasmussen's encephalitis

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. Correale (🖂) · M. I. Gaitán

Department of Neurology, FLENI, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: jcorreale@fleni.org.ar

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_10

Abbreviations

AMPA	α-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
AQP4	Aquaporin 4
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
B4GALT5	4-Galactosyltransferase 5
BAFF	B-cell activating factor
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
C1q	Complement component subunit 1q
CNS	Central Nervous System
CNTF	Ciliary neurotrophic factor
CSPGs	Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans
Cx	Connexin
DAMPS	Danger-associated molecules patterns
EAAT2	Excitatory amino acid transporter 2
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EPH	Ephrins
Fas-L	Fas ligand
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FoxP3	Forkhead box P3
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GLAST	Glutamate/aspartate transporter
GLT-1	Glutamate transporter-1
GluR3	Glutamate receptor 3
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GS	Glutamine synthetase
HMGB1	High-mobility box-1
ICAM 1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IFNs	Interferons
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IRF-1	Interferon regulatory factor 1
ISGs	Interferon-stimulated genes
LacCer	Lactosylceramide
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
M-CSF	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinases
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NG2	Neuron-glial antigen 2
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NMO	Neuromyelitis optica

NMOSD	Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders
NO	Nitric oxide
ONOO-	Peroxinitrate
OPCs	Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end products
RE	Rasmussen's encephalitis
RLRs	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-like receptors
\$100β	S100 calcium-binding protein
TGF	Transforming growth factor
Th	T helper cell
Tim-3	T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 3
TIMPs	Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases
TLR	Toll-like receptor
Tr1	Type 1 regulatory T cells
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion protein 1
VLA-4	Very late antigen 4

Introduction

Astrocytes comprise the most abundant population of glial cells in the Central Nervous System (CNS) of mammals. They are crucial for the good health and proper function of the nervous system, as they provide important metabolic and trophic support to neurons [1]. Classic neuroanatomy studies established two groups of astrocytes based on their morphology and location [2]: (a) fibrous astrocytes with small cell bodies associated with myelinated axonal tracts, presenting elongated morphology, and in contact with the nodes of Ranvier [3]; and (b) protoplasmic astrocytes, with more primary processes, as well as a higher degree of branching compared to fibrous astrocytes, located in gray matter [4]. The latter, envelop neuronal synapses through their fine perisynaptic processes, which originate from secondary and tertiary branches [5] and are in direct contact with blood vessels through end-feet [6]. Even though all astrocytes have a number of characteristics in common, physiological and gene expression studies have revealed astrocytes are a far more diverse cell population than was previously believed. Morphologically and functionally different astrocytes populations develop at different times in varying locations [7]. Consequently, astrocytes can no longer be considered a single homogeneous group of cells. Much of this diversity is related to structural and functional interactions with the microenvironment, including neurons on one side and blood vessels on the other, or to pia matter and/or the ventricular space [8]. Two hypotheses have been proposed to explain when this heterogeneity is established: one suggests that individual astrocyte fate and specific characteristics are determined early during the patterning of the neuroepithelium and, the second, that astrocyte



Fig. 1 Immunofluorescence staining with GFAP of mouse cerebral cortex astrocytes. (Courtesy Dr. Javier Ramos)

precursors are generated in the neuroepithelium and specific subtypes determined later, either during migration or at the site where the cells finally reside [9].

Astrocytes have at least two different origins: (i) direct from radial glial cells and (ii) indirect, from a proliferative and migratory population located in the subventricular zone [10–12]. New astrocytes may arise either from proliferation of mature astrocytes or from differentiation of progenitors. Notably, there is little evidence to indicate that mature astrocytes divide in the uninjured brain [13]. By contrast, very active proliferation is associated with scar formation following CNS injury.

Astrocytes can be visualized by immunocytochemical labeling of certain antigens restricted to these cells. Expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) has become the classical marker used to identify astrocytes within the CNS (Figs. 1 and 2). However, expression patterns differ across anatomical regions [14]. Moreover, other CNS-resident cells such as NG2 cells and pericytes also show GFAP positivity [15]. For this reason, several other antibodies directed against intermediate filament proteins, including either cytoplasmic or membrane markers, such as: vimentin, nestin, S100 calcium-binding protein (S100 β), glutamine synthetase (GS) or glutamate/aspartate transporter (GLAST) are also commonly used to label normal and reactive astrocytes [14]. However, a significant drawback of current immunohistochemistry techniques is that no reliable markers exist to identify astrocyte subtypes, making it hard to establish whether any given behavior observed corresponds to astrocytes in general, or is characteristic of a particular subtype only. Fig. 2 Immunofluorescent staining of mouse activated astrocytes stained with GFAP (green), and TLRA4 (red). (Courtesy Dr. Javier Ramos)



Biological and Immunological Functions of Astrocytes

Biological Functions

Many key regulatory functions maintaining brain homeostasis have been linked to astrocytes. Astrocytes functionally connected to each other via gap junctions, and to oligodendrocytes via heterotypic gap junctions, form a large syncytium-like glial network. Adjacent astrocytes present homomeric gap junctions at the cytoplasmic level made up of connexins (Cx) 43 and 30, through which molecules such as K⁺ and glutamate are dissipated and intracellular Ca²⁺ waves propagated [16].

Astrocytic end-feet processes play a crucial role in the formation and maintenance of the blood-brain barrier (BBB). The BBB is extremely selective and protects the brain from entry of toxic substances and influx of ions such as K⁺ and Ca²⁺, thereby regulating the extracellular environment [17]. Astrocytes also control the dynamics of cerebral blood flow, by increasing oxygen and glucose availability, thereby regulating cell metabolism as a function of changes in neuronal activity [18]. When neuronal activity levels are high, astrocytes also maintain pH levels normal within the CNS, during fluctuations in ion concentrations [19]. Astrocytes are the only cells in the CNS which store glycogen. These deposits may serve as a source of energy under conditions of hypoglycemia, during which neuron energy requirements increase [10]. Because the BBB is impermeable to many lipid-soluble molecules including cholesterol and lipoproteins, synthesis of sterols and lipoproteins by astrocytes is also key, to supply energy to other CNS cells [20]. In addition, astrocytes secrete neurotrophic factors [21] and participate in the synthesis of neurosteroids within the CNS such as allopregnanolone, estrogen, and dehydroepiandrosterone [22], which modulate neuronal excitability, promote remyelination, and dampen proinflammatory responses. Astrocytes also play an active role in both synapsis development and neuronal remodeling, regulating the plasticity of different neural circuits [23].

Roles of Astrocytes in Immune Regulations

In addition to maintaining stable physiological conditions in the CNS, astrocytes are recognized as early and highly active participants in immune responses occurring in the CNS. Innate immune cell responses to diverse stimuli are triggered by an array of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that bind to diverse pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). PRRs also recognize self molecules, known as danger-associated molecule patterns (DAMPS) including heat shock proteins, double-stranded DNA, and purinergic metabolites [15]. Responses to endogenous host molecules may trigger inflammatory reactions, and therefore participate in the development of autoimmunity.

Astrocytes can mediate innate and adaptive immune responses through several mechanisms. First, they directly affect cell entry to the CNS via the BBB, by regulating the expression of adhesion molecules, particularly VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 that bind to lymphocyte receptors VLA-4 and LFA-1, respectively [24, 25]. In addition, through production of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) or of their inhibitors (tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), astrocytes may induce increased or decreased BBB permeability.

Second, astrocytes secrete different chemokines such as CCL-2, CCL-5, IP-10, CXCL12, and IL-8, which attract both peripheral immune cells and resident CNS cells (microglia) to lesion sites [26].

Third, astrocytes may affect the number and phenotype of T cells in the CNS. Cytokines produced by astrocytes have the potential of committing T cells to a proinflammatory phenotype (Th1 and Th17) or to a regulatory phenotype (Foxp3⁺ or Tr1 cells). Under conditions of inflammation, astrocytes express IL-12/IL-23 as well as CD24, favoring the development of Th1 and Th17 cells in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model, thereby affecting its severity [27, 28]. Furthermore, astrocytes drive IL-15 production, which has been observed in MS lesions, and shown to have an important role in the development of encephalitogenic activity of CD8⁺ T cells [29]. By contrast, astrocytes can also terminate autoreactive T cell activity, through the action of Fas-L, highly expressed on astrocyte end-feet [28] or through interactions between Galectin-9 and its ligand Tim-3, expressed on Th1 and CD8⁺ T cells [30].

Fourth, in the inflamed CNS, reactive astrocytes may contribute to B cell maturation, survival and proliferation as well as immunoglobulin production by generating B-cell activating factor (BAFF). Likewise, production of IL-6 and IL-15 also contribute to B cell survival [31].

Fifth, astrocytes modulate microglia and macrophage activity through two separate mechanisms: (i) inducing their recruitment into CNS lesions by producing chemotactic factors, and (ii) by secreting GM-CSF, M-CSF and TGF- β , which regulate microglial phagocytosis [32].

Finally, astrocytes can act as antigen-presenting cells (APCs). However, although they express MHC Class I and MHC Class II molecules and are capable of presenting myelin antigens in vitro, controversy persists over their capacity to express costimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD80, and CD86 in vivo, particularly in humans [33, 34].

Recent studies have demonstrated that different injuries can elicit at least two types of reactive astrocytes. Based on their transcriptome profile, they have been categorized as either "A1" or "A2" [35]. This terminology parallels the "M1" and "M2" nomenclature applied to macrophages and microglia. Transcriptome analysis shows that "A1" neuroinflammatory, reactive astrocytes upregulate many genes previously shown to be destructive for the synapse, therefore exerting a "deleterious" effect. Conversely, ischemia-induced "A2" reactive astrocytes upregulate both neurotrophic factors, promoting neuronal growth and survival, and thrombospondins, promoting synapse repair, suggesting they may "contribute" to neuronal regeneration [35]. It is important to consider that in the same way that microglia have multiple simultaneous reactive profiles, "A1" and "A2" astrocyte phenotypes represent extremes of a continuous spectrum of reactive profiles. Emerging evidence has shown the importance of bidirectional communication between microglia and astrocytes [36]. Both in vitro and in vivo findings have identified a role for activated microglia in inducing "A1" astrocytes, via secretion of IL-1 α , TNF- α , and complement component 1q (C1q) [35].

Figure 3 summarizes the main biological and immunological functions of astrocytes.

Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders

Neuromyelitis optica (NMO; also known as Devic's disease) is a demyelinating disease of the CNS, preferentially affecting the optic nerve and spinal cord (Fig. 4). Detection of a highly specific and pathogenic serum antibody marker (NMO-IgG), in the serum of these patients [37], further broadened the clinical and neuro-imaging spectrum of NMO. NMO-IgG binds to aquoporin-4 (AQP-4), which is the main channel regulating water homeostasis in the CNS. In 2007, the term NMO spectrum disorders (NMOSD) was introduced to include AQP4-IgG serum-positive patients with limited initial forms of NMO, who were at risk of suffering future attacks. NMOSD is also used to encompass cerebral, diencephalic, and brainstem lesions observed in some NMO patients [38].

Aquaporins, also known as "water channels proteins", are a family of membrane proteins that facilitate trans-membrane water movement [39]. At present, 13 aquaporin isoforms are known, of which AQP4 is the predominant form expressed in rodent brain, although small amounts of AQP1 and AQP9 have also been detected [40]. There are two major isoforms of AQP4 generated by alternative gene splicing, a longer M1-AQP4 isoform and a shorter M23-AQP4 isoform [41]. Electron microscopy studies have established that AQP4 is largely confined to astrocytes and ependymal cells [42]. Microscopically, AQP4 is expressed on the perivascular end-feet of astrocytes throughout the brain, while AQP1 is predominantly found on processes and end-feet of fibrous astrocytes [43].



Fig. 3 Several studies have demonstrated diverse roles of astrocytes in lesion development during the course of MS. Activation of astrocytes and loss of end-feet around small vessels are early events in lesion development, associated with loss of BBB function and consequently with CNS inflammation (1). Astrocytes mediate innate immune responses through several mechanisms. They modulate cell entry into the CNS by regulating adhesion molecule expression profiles, particularly of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 (1). Astrocytes may also affect the number and phenotype of T cells in the CNS, committing T cells to a proinflammatory or regulatory phenotype. By contrast, astrocytes may also terminate T cell response, either by induction of apoptosis, or induction of Galectin-9. Furthermore, production of IL-15 or of BAFF drives immune responses mediated by

Antibodies against AQP4 are generated in the periphery, although why this occurs is not known. Outside the CNS, AQP4 is present in distal renal tubules, gastric parietal cells, muscle fibers, and in the placenta. It is believed that antibodies enter the CNS at the level of the circumventricular organs, which do not present a classic BBB, but express high amounts of AQP4 and extensive vascularization, ideal conditions for contact between serum AQP4-IgG and AQP4-expressing astrocyte foot processes [44].

Once inside the CNS, AOP4-IgG binds to astrocytic AOP4, activating several mechanisms contributing to tissue injury. First, astrocytes produce chemokines such as CCL-5 and IL-8, which facilitate eosinophil and neutrophil infiltration, ultimately responsible for the necrosis frequently observed in advanced NMO lesions [45]. However, it is important to note that eosinophil presence is observed early in NMO lesions, prior even to onset of astrocytic injury and demyelination, suggesting an important role in initial lesion development, through mechanisms preceding chemotactic effects. Eosinophils are also essential for T cell polarization to a Th2 phenotype [46]. Pathogenic T cell generation in the CNS increases BBB permeability, amplifying the inflammatory process and increasing astrocyte destruction. Second, in regions rich in AOP4 M23 isoforms, complement activation occurs, causing further destruction of astrocytes [47]. In regions rich in M1 isoforms, AOP4 is internalized, and while activation of complement is prevented, water transport is altered, causing tissue and myelin vacuolization and/or edema in lesions [47]. Notably, AQP4-IgG may alter several neighboring or coupling components of the astrocyte membrane, like Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, affecting not only water regulation but also K⁺ homeostasis [48]. This in turn may modify different physiological processes such as membrane potential preservation, or voltage-gated transporter inactivation. Furthermore, AQP4 is functionally coupled to the major excitatory amino acid transporter 2 (EAAT2), and AQP4-IgG depletes astrocyte membranes of EAAT2. This prevents glutamate reuptake, which contributes to astrocyte excitotoxicity and causes oligodendrocyte death, resulting in demyelination [49].

Fig. 3 (continued) cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells or by B cells (2). Activated astrocytes secrete different chemokines, which attract both peripheral immune cells and microglia to MS lesions (2, 3). In the EAE model, astrocytes produce LacCer during the chronic phase, leading to induction of GM-CSF and CCL2 genes, and to subsequent microglial activation and monocyte infiltration (4). Astrocytes respond to injuries by forming a glial scar that inhibits remyelination and axonal regeneration. These effects are mediated through secretion of fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) and of inhibitory extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules, such as chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) and ephrins (5). Old age adversely affects astrocyte viability and self-renewal capacity, resulting in the generation of senescent and/or dysfunctional cells, evidenced in the form of cell fragmentation (6). Senescent astrocytes appear to be in a state of chronic activation, associated with proinflammatory cytokine and prostaglandins secretion



Fig. 4 (**a–c**) Twenty-five-year-old woman who developed AQP4(+) bilateral optic neuritis. (**a**) Axial T2-weighted, and (**b**) T2-FLAIR weighted, arrows are pointing to a hyperintense lesion of the chiasm and bilateral posterior optic nerve parte. (**c**) Extensive area of gadolinium-enhancement in the bilateral posterior part of the optic nerve/chiasm. (**d–g**) Forty years old woman with recurrent longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis (LETM) AQP4(+). (**d**) Sagittal T2-weighted, arrows point to a cervical and a thoracic LETM. (**e**) T1-weighted post contrast, arrows showing enhancement of same lesions. (**f**) LETM (eight segments), with extensive area of contrast enhancement (**g**)

Autoimmune Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein Astrocytopathy

Autoimmune encephalitis and encephalomyelitis are inflammatory diseases of the CNS associated with binding of IgG antibodies to intracellular or plasma membrane neuronal cell antigens. Autoantibody detection in serum and in CSF contributes to diagnosis, allowing administration of appropriate treatment [50]. An early publication from the Mayo Clinic reported presence of autoantibodies to GFAP in patients with well-defined clinical meningoencephalomyelitis [51], which caused unique immunofluorescent staining patterns when placed on sections of mouse nervous

system. In this model, immunostaining was confined to pia, subpia, midbrain foci, periventricular areas and the rostral migratory stream. Enteric ganglia and nerves with mucosal penetrating filaments also showed prominent immunoreactive elements in the periphery. Along the spinal cord, immunoreactive filaments were prominent around the central canal and in gray matter, radiating to the pia. Identification of GFAP as the autoantigen was established using Western blot, on which a 50 kDa protein band was detected, and with mass spectroscopy. Antigen specificity was further confirmed by GFAP-transfected HEK293 cell-based assay [51, 52]. Patients with GFAP-IgGs reacted with mature (α , the predominant intermediate filament protein in adult astrocytes) and immature (δ/ϵ predominant in neural progenitor cells and immature astrocytes) GFAP isoforms [53].

Two publications from a single center reported on 102 patients in whom the predominant clinical manifestation in 81% of cases was either meningitis, encephalitis, myelitis, meningoencephalomyelitis, or a combination of the above [51, 52]. Their findings, subsequently confirmed by other studies [54, 55], indicated that 88% of patients presented significantly elevated white cell counts in CSF, and 54% showed elevated oligoclonal band numbers in CSF exclusively, confirming the inflammatory nature of the syndrome. Although these changes may also occur as a result of meningoencephalitis secondary to infection [56, 57] or neoplasms [51, 52], anti-GFAP antibody presence helps to distinguish between these alternative etiologies and alerts to the existence of an immune-mediated, steroid-responsive syndrome. Likewise, striking abnormalities on MRI, particularly intense periventricular radial linear enhancement, mimicking immunofluorescence-binding patterns observed in mouse brain tissue were also found [51, 52]. In some patients, there was even evidence of intrathecal antibody synthesis. Antibody testing in CSF may therefore be more sensitive than serum, as is the case with antibodies against the NMDA receptor [58] and the opposite to what has been observed for antibodies against AOP4 in MNOSD [59]. No false-positive results were detected in CSF testing of GFAPtransfected cells. All findings were subsequently confirmed in a prospective 1-year follow-up of 90 patients [56].

The relatively homogeneous neurologic spectrum ascertained in blind screening would indicate that GFAP-specific IgG seropositivity will distinguish autoimmune GFAP meningoencephalitis or meningoencephalomyelitis from other disorders commonly considered in the differential diagnosis, such as infectious, granulomatous, or inflammatory demyelinating disorders; lymphoma; carcinomatosis; and vasculitis [52].

Compelling evidence suggests that autoantibodies binding to extracellular domains of cell-surface-expressed neuronal or glial proteins, like the NMDA receptor or AQP4, have pathogenic potential [60, 61] while antibodies specific to intracellular antigens are not pathogenic, but rather surrogate markers of an underlying cytotoxic, cell-mediated autoimmune response [62]. GFAP is a cytoplasmic protein not accessible to IgG in intact glial cells. Thus, in autoimmune GFAP meningoencephalitis, GFAP-derived peptides on the plasma membrane presented by MHC Class I molecules and up-regulated on inflamed meningeal astrocytes are plausible targets for attack by cytotoxic-T cells [51]. In line with this concept, GFAP-peptide

specific cytotoxic T cells were shown to be pathogenic in a mouse model of autoimmunity [63]. Furthermore, pathology specimens from four patients revealed extensive inflammation, with prominent perivascular B and T cell infiltrates, and loss or decreased expression of GFAP antigens, further emphasizing the specificity of this autoimmune disorder [64].

As observed in other autoimmune diseases [50], patients with autoimmune GFAP meningoencephalomyelitis have other associated autoimmune disorders or autoantibodies, particularly NMDA receptor and anti-AQP4 autoimmunity [51, 52, 65]. Systemic neoplasms, most often ovarian teratomas, were found in 34% of GFAP-specific IgG-positive patients [52]. These findings contrast with an 18% tumor incidence in patients with GFAP-negative serology from the same center [66] and are consistent with a possible paraneoplastic origin of GFAP autoimmunity. In this context, cancer screening, appropriate for age, sex and risk factors is recommended for GFAP-specific IgG positive patients [51]. These observations acquire even more relevance when anti-GFAP-IgG is accompanied by both anti-NMDA receptor and anti-AQP4 antibody presence. In these circumstances, the positive predictive value observed for teratomas was high (71%) [52].

Astrocytes During Infectious Diseases of the Central Nervous System

Infectious agents can cross the BBB through several mechanisms including a paracellular route, transcytosis, receptor hijacking or infected leukocytes [67]. After entering brain parenchyma, they are met by astroglial cells. Astrocytes express several receptors for PAMPs, and can recognize different infectious agents. After infection, astroglial cells can either mount an astrogliotic defensive response, which is associated with neuroinflammation, or undergo pathological remodeling which may mediate pathological progression or generate a reservoir for infection.

Many bacteria which cause brain infections interact with astroglia, (e.g., *Streptococcus pneumonia, Neisseria meningitidis*, and *Borrelia burgdorferi*), triggering astroglia reactivity. This activation results in significant increase in proinflammatory cytokine secretion including IL-6, TNF- α , IL-8, CXCL-1, and CXCL-10. In this context, astroglial reactivity exerts a defensive role. Indeed, in mice lacking GFAP, spread of infection and neurological damage is exacerbated [68]. Likewise, bacterial infections can result in down-regulation of connexins, decreasing syncytial connectivity between astroglial cells. This decrease in gap junction connections may reflect a defense mechanism limiting the spread of infection [69].

Certain parasites such as *Toxoplasma gondii* show affinity for astroglial cells, and can activate them. Production of proinflammatory cytokines, particularly IL-6, limits infection progress [70]. Similarly, astrocytes can modify the course of cerebral malaria caused by *Plasmodium falciparum*. In early stages of infection, $TNF-\alpha$

production by astrocytes can limit the course of the disease, while in later stages, loss of astrocytes and their protective function can cause BBB failure and spread of infection [71].

Neurotropic viral infections of the CNS often elicit serious chronic impairment. Although antiviral lymphocytes and myeloid cells recruited are generally efficient and successful in clearing viral pathogens, their actions may impact resident CNS cells, altering their functional and morphological characteristics. Astrocyte activation and its effects on the immune response have been implicated in the pathogenesis of different viral infections, as well as in the persistence of neurological complications following acute infections.

Toll like receptors (TLRs) and retinoic acid-inducible gene-like receptors (RLRs) are examples of PPRs activated by viral PAMPs. TLRs and RLR activation contribute to neuronal damage, maintaining glial activation and generating different cytokines such as type I interferons (IFNs) [72]. Type I IFNs along with other innate cytokines including IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-1 β regulate BBB integrity through different mechanisms, including activation of MMP-9, and regulation of Rho GTPases [73]. Furthermore, viral proteins can alter potassium channels and glutamate uptake by astrocytes resulting in BBB breakdown and increased penetration of viruses and/ or infiltrating immune cells [74].

As occurs with microglia, astrocytes participate in innate immune responses via PRR detection of viral PAMPS, Nod-like receptors, C-type lectin receptors and cytokine receptors, promoting interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) contributing to viral infection control by limiting viral replication and inflammatory cell infiltration into the CNS. ISG expression has been associated with increased inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production in astrocytes, including TNF and CXCL-10 [75]. CXCL-10 is considered the principal driver of antibody-secreting cell production, vital for ultimate virus clearance and prevention of persistence [76]. Furthermore, CXCL-10 is an important ligand for CXCR3 on CD8⁺ T cells, recruitment of which leads to viral infection control. Moreover, both in vitro and animal models of viral infection show increased levels of MHC Class I molecules, which are involved in CD8⁺ T cell activation [77].

Although astrocyte activation during acute infection is critical for viral control and clearance, persistence of activation has been implicated in long-term neurological impairment after infections. Damage resulting from activated astrocytes causes: increased neuronal cell death and inhibition of proliferation, decreased neurogenesis, altered synaptic transmission, and greater synapse elimination. The main effects of viral infections in astrocytes are illustrated in Fig. 5.

Rasmussen's Encephalitis

Rasmussen's encephalitis (RE) is a rare progressive neurological disorder mostly affecting children and associated with hemispheric atrophy, focal epilepsy, cognitive deterioration and progressive neurological deficit [78] (Fig. 6). Pathology



Fig. 5 During viral infections, astrocytes can exert beneficial or deleterious effects. Additionally, chronic accumulation of viral particles within astrocytes can result in neuronal impairments and long-term neurological symptoms. (Adapted from Soung and Klein [129])

findings in RE show lymphocytic infiltrates, microglial nodules, loss of neurons and astrocytes and gliosis in affected hemispheres [79]. Active brain inflammatory lesions contain a large number of T lymphocytes, recruited early within lesions, and corresponding mainly to granzyme B-containing CD8+ T cells, in direct apposition to MHC Class I neurons and astrocytes [79–81]. Several pathophysiological mechanisms have been proposed for this disease. Early studies pointed to different viral infections; however, no conclusive link was ever established. Initial studies showed immunization of rabbits with Glutamate receptor 3 (GluR3) produced a disease resembling RE, and serum samples of patients with RE contained anti-GluR3 antibodies [82, 83]. These antibodies could activate GluR [84] or destroy neurons and astrocytes either by excess stimulation of the receptor or through complementmediated death [85, 86]. Nevertheless, these findings have not been reproduced by other groups [87, 88]). Later studies demonstrated cytotoxic T cells filled with granzyme B granules present around blood vessels and on the border of lesions in which astrocytes were dead or dying [81]. The major reason explaining the presence of astrocyte-depleted lesions was finding areas specifically lacking GFAP or S100^β



Fig. 6 Twenty-five-year-old man diagnosed with Rasmussen's encephalitis. (a) Coronal T1-weighted images showing right hemispheric atrophy, white arrows pointing to widened frontal sulci and right ventricle horn enlargement. (b) Coronal T2-flair, white arrows show hyperintensity signal in the white matter. (c) Axial T2-weighted, black arrows point to hemispheric atrophy and lateral horn enlargement

protein, with apoptotic astrocytes at the borders. Immunohistochemistry staining also showed astrocyte casapse3 level was upregulated in RE, and GFAP degradation, suggesting GFAP itself is a caspase 3 substrate. Oligodendrocytes and microglial cells were found in normal numbers [81]. Thus, astrocyte degeneration in RE is believed to result from a specific attack by cytotoxic T cells, ultimately causing neuronal dysfunction, seizure induction and finally enhanced neuronal death. Antigen specificity of brain infiltrating lymphocytes, however, remains unknown.

CNS specimens from RE showed clonal T-cell expansions, which support the hypothesis of an antigen-driven, T cell-mediated autoimmune process, as opposed to a random secondary immune response attraction of cells. Notably, these clonal expansions in the brain shared a CD8⁺ T-peripheral cell repertoire, while no shared expansion was detected in the CD4⁺ T cell compartment [87]. Interestingly, CD8⁺ T cell clones stay expanded for over 1 year, possibly fostering sustained survival of pathogenic CD8⁺ T cell clones, detectable in peripheral blood of RE patients. Exposure to either a CNS-derived autoantigen(s) or persisting viral infection might be the underlying mechanism through which this occurs [87].

Recently, the role of TLRs and of HMGB1 (endogenous high-mobility group box-1) in RE pathogenesis was evaluated [89]. HMGB1 is a DNA-binding protein that participates in nucleosome formation and in the regulation of gene transcription, including proinflammatory gene expression [90, 91]. HMGB1 is secreted by macrophages, natural killer cells, myeloid dendritic cells, and astrocytes in response

to inflammatory stimuli, binding to the receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) and to TLRs [92]. Astrocytes release HMGB1, which promotes secretion of a specific subset of inflammatory factors, such as MMP-9, cyclo-oxygenase-2 and other chemokines favoring monocyte infiltration [93]. Perhaps HMGB1-TLR-RAGE represents a novel proinflammatory axis which becomes active after brain injury [93]. Further analysis of RE has shown (i) cytoplamsic translocation of HMGB1 in neurons, reactive astrocytes and reactive microglial cells, (ii) increased HGMB1 immunoreactivity in reactive astrocyte cytoplasm, and (iii) intralesional expression of RAGE, TLR4, and TLR2 in reactive astrocytes, neurons, and microglial cells. Overall, these findings provide evidence of a chronic inflammatory state involving these pathways particularly in astrocytes [89, 94].

The Role of Astrocytes in Multiple Sclerosis

Astrocyte-Mediated Exacerbation in Local Neural Inflammation

Astrocytes are increasingly recognized as cells critically contributing to the development of MS lesions. They not only participate at a late post-inflammatory stage by forming a glial scar, but are now considered early active players in lesion pathology [95]. In murine EAE, for example, astrocytes in early lesions show activation before significant immune cell infiltration in the parenchyma is observed [96]. In the same model, astrocyte activation and loss of end-feet around small vessels was recorded at the beginning of lesion development and found to be linked to loss of BBB function, subsequent CNS inflammation, and perivascular edema [95]. Likewise, uptake of damaged myelin by astrocytes, induced chemokine secretion, leading to astrocyte-mediated influx of lymphocytes also during this stage [97]. In addition, BAFF production by reactive astrocytes may contribute to MS pathogenesis by promoting B cell survival and proliferation in the CNS [98]. BAFF expression has also been described in reactive astrocytes adjacent to inflammatory cells expressing the BAFF receptor [31].

Nitric Oxide and Peroxynitrite In most areas where myelin breakdown occurs, activated astrocytes secrete compounds with toxic effects on neurons, axons and oligodendrocytes/myelin, including reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, glutamate and ATP [95]. In rodents, astrocytes stimulated with IFN- γ , IL-17, or LPS induce nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [99]. Likewise, IL-1 β as well as combined treatment with TGF- β plus IFN- γ increases the percentage of astrocyte-secreted nitric oxide (NO), which is one of the most prominent damage-inducing molecules in neurodegeneration [100]. Remarkably, the predominant contribution of NO to excitotoxicity depends on increased superoxide ion O₂⁻ production, which reacts with NO, forming peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) resulting in neuronal necrosis or apoptosis, depending on its concentration [101]. ONOO also inactivates glutamate transporters in astrocytes, directly damaging myelin, oligodendrocytes, and axons [102].

Decreased uptake of glutamate by astrocyte transporters could contribute to abnormal increase of extracellular glutamate levels, which are directly toxic to oligodendrocytes, axons and neurons [103]. Indeed, knockdown of glutamate transporters GLAST and GLT-1, using antisense oligonucleotides, causes neurotoxicity in mice [104]. Excitotoxicity is caused mainly by sustained activation of glutamate receptors and massive subsequent influx of Ca⁺⁺ into viable neurons. Calcium, which is the primary signaling agent involved in excitotoxic injury, enters cells through various mechanisms, but the most important is entrance through ion channels coupled to NMDA receptors and AMPA/kainate glutamate receptors [105, 106]. Studies have shown glutamate can also be toxic to white matter oligodendrocytes and myelin, via mechanisms triggered by AMPA/kainate receptors [107]. Indeed, treatment with glutamate receptor antagonists protects oligodendrocytes from damage, ameliorating EAE [108]. Thus, proper function of glutamate uptake in astrocytes is critical to preclude brain cell damage, and strict regulation of extracellular glutamate levels appears to be a very promising therapeutic strategy to prevent neurodegeneration in MS.

Purine/Pyridine Metabolites Extracellular purine/pyrimidine metabolites are also exogenous signals playing important destructive/protective roles in neuron-to-glia or glia-to-glia communication within normal or injured brain tissue. They activate membrane-bound ionotropic or metabotropic P2 receptors. Astrocytes express various types of metabotropic P2Y, and ionotropic P2X purinoreceptors. Studies in MS lesions have shown preferential expression of P2X7 receptor on astrocytes [109]. Although expression is low in resting human fetal astrocytes, P2X7 is upregulated in response to IL-1 β in vitro, and in reactive astrocytes around MS lesions [110]. Functionally, upregulation of P2X7 results in increased responsiveness to ATP, formation of membrane pores, and increased Ca⁺⁺ influx [111]. Furthermore, purinergic signaling through P2X7 receptors stimulates IL-1 β -induced upregulation of NO synthase [110]. Thus, activation of the P2X7 receptor in EAE can trigger toxic effects on oligodendrocytes, axons, and neurons through different mechanisms, producing in vivo lesions reminiscent of MS plaques, displaying oligodendrocyte death, demyelination, and axonal damage.

Involvements of Astrocytes in Chronic Stage

Signal Molecules In addition to their role in the initial development of lesions, astrocytes in EAE also contribute to the chronic phase of disease. Deleterious effects of astrocytes are mediated by preferential expression of 4-galactosyltransferases 5 and 6 (B4GALT5 and B4GALT6) [112]. Notably, in human MS lesions, B4GALT6 expressed by reactive astrocytes synthesizes the signaling molecule lactosylce-ramide (LacCer), the expression of which is significantly increased in CNS during EAE progression. Intraperitoneal administration of LacCer also exacerbates existing signs of EAE. LacCer promotes astrocyte activation in an autocrine manner, via

NF- κ B and IRF-1 pathways [112], inducing GM-CSF activating microglia, and CCL2 genes causing infiltration of blood monocytes. Remarkably, inhibition or knockout of B4GALT6 in mice suppresses disease progression, local innate immunity in the CNS and neurodegeneration in EAE, and interferes with human astrocyte activation in vitro [112].

Glial Scar Astrocytes also inhibit remyelination and axon regeneration by forming glial scar. It is important to remember that although some aspects of glial reactivity are likely to be protective, others may contribute to disease progression. Scars are composed primarily of astrocytes; however, in severe lesions, interaction with other cell types including oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs) and fibromeningeal cells also occurs [113]. Several specific molecular and morphological features have been observed in astrocytes during reactive astrogliosis, both in human disease and in animal models [114], of which upregulation of GFAP, vimentin, nestin, and the less investigated synemin are hallmarks. A number of other molecules, such as TGF- α , ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), LIF, and oncostatin M, trigger astrocyte activation in the rodent brain [115]. It is also conceivable that at least some of these molecules exert effects on astrocytes through other cell types such as microglia, neurons or endothelial cells.

Glial scar rigidity results in inhibition of remyelination and axonal regeneration, both negative effects mediated through different mechanisms. First, astrocytes may be detrimental for remyelination by oversecreting FGF-2 which in turn promotes oligodendrocyte progenitor cell (OPC) proliferation and survival, but prevents maturation [116]. Another molecule that appears to play an important role in preventing OPC maturation is the glycosaminoglycan, hyaluronan, which is found throughout the extracellular matrix (ECM) and in CNS white matter [117]. Hyaluronan is produced by astrocytes, and interacts with CD44, a receptor present on OPCs, astrocytes, and T cells in both MS and EAE CNS tissue [118]. Oligodendrocytes colocalizing with hyaluronan express immature phenotype, and treatment of OPCs with hyaluronan in vitro prevents maturation [119]. Astrocytes release inhibitory ECM molecules known as chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) in injured areas [120]. CSPGs are a family of molecules characterized by a protein core to which highly sulfated glycosaminoglycan (GAG) chains are attached. Three types of CSPGs are preferentially localized to astrocytes in vivo: neurocan, brevican, and NG2. Neurocan (secreted) and brevican (cell bound) are the major proteoglycans produced by astrocytes in vitro, and both have been shown to inhibit axon growth, following CNS damage [121]. There is clear evidence that CSPGs are produced in excess by astrocytes when they become reactive and that CSPG inhibitory activity depends on the GAG component, as removal of GAG chains from the protein core eliminates inhibition [121, 122]. After injury, CSPGs expression is rapidly upregulated by reactive astrocytes, forming an inhibitory gradient that is highest at the center of lesions and diminishes gradually toward the periphery [123]. Meanwhile, NG2 is most often considered a marker of OPCs in adult CNS tissue. Along the borders of glial scars, NG2+ cells are found in great numbers. While many of these cells are regarded as OPCs, evidence indicates that NG2+ cells can also become astrocytes in vivo [124]. Therefore, NG2-derived astrocytes may provide inhibitory signals, suppressing axon regeneration. In vitro studies have demonstrated that NG2 inhibits axonal growth, an inhibition that can be overcome by anti-NG2 antibody treatment [125]. CSPG-mediated inhibition could severely affect both cytoskeleton and membrane components of growth cone architecture.

Aside from CSPGs, there are other less studied inhibitory molecules expressed by astrocytes that suppress axonal growth. Ephrins (EPH) and their receptors for example are secreted by normal astrocytes and increased in MS lesions [126]. Evidence indicates that astrocyte-derived ephrins create a basal lamina around areas of injury, contributing to scar formation. Additionally, ephrins induce collapse of the axonal growth cone through activation of axon-bound EPH tyrosine-receptor kinase [127].

It is important to point out the dual role of astrocytes, not only aiding in axonal degeneration and demyelination, but also creating a permissive environment promoting remyelination (Table 1). Astrocyte impact on the pathogenesis and repair of inflammatory processes will therefore be dependent on a number of factors including timing after injury, type of lesion and surrounding microenvironment, as well as interactions with other cell types and factors affecting activation [36, 128].

-	
Deleterious role	Protective/remyelinating role
Recruitment of T cells, macrophages, and microglia cells to CNS lesion Chemokine production Modulation of adhesion molecules (VCAM-1 and ICAM-1) Modulation of BBB integrity (VEGF-A and HIF-1) Secretion of MMPs	Modulation of BBB integrity: secretion of TIMPs
Activation of immune response Secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, IL-17, IL-23; TNF- α) IL-15-driven cytotoxic activity of CD8+ T cells Production of BAFF contributing to B-cell dependent autoimmunity	Termination of the immune response Induction of apoptosis (Gal 9-Tim-3 interaction) Support differentiation of Treg cells (TGF- β , IL-10, IL-27) Secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10, TGF- β , IL-27) Microglia inhibition (Gal-1)
Inhibition of axonal regeneration Secretion of CSPGs NOGO-NgR-TROY-LINGO interactions Secretion of ephrins	Viability of neurons: secretion of NT-3, BDNF, and CNTF

Table 1 The dual role of astrocytes in the pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis

(continued)

Deleterious role	Protective/remyelinating role
Secretion of cytotoxic factors: NO, ROS, purinergic metabolites	Prevention of excitotoxicity by glutamate uptake
Inhibition of remyelination Regulation of NG2/OPC migration (glial scar) ^a Secretion of FGF-2 prevents OPC maturation Production of semaphorin 3A produces OPC repulsion Notch/Jagged 1 interaction arrests OPC in immature state	Promotion of remyelination Glial scar formation ^a Modulation of NG2/OPCs survival, proliferation and differentiation into Oligodendrocytes (IL-6, IL-11, LIF, IGF-1, FGF-2) Production of semaphorin 3F producing OPC attraction Myelin breakdown clearance (phagocytosis) ^b
Secretion of LacCer Induces activation of microglia (GM-CSF) Induces chemotaxis of monocytes (chemokine CCL2)	
TGF-β production induces a SASP phenotype	
Release of HMGB1 (secretion of MMP-9, cyclo-oxigenase2 and chemokines	
Antigen-presenting cell function (?) ^b	

Table 1 (continued)

BAFF B-cell activating factor, BBB blood-brain-barrier, BDNF brain derived neurotrophic factor, CNS Central Nervous System, CNTF ciliary neurotrophic factor, CSPGs chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans, FGF fibroblast growth factor, Gal galectin, GM-CSF granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor, HIF-1 hypoxia inducible factor-1, HMGB1 high mobility group box-1, ICAM-1 intercellular adhesion molecule-1, IGF-1 insulin growth factor, LacCer lactosylceramide, LIF leukemia inhibitory factor, MMPs metalloproteinases, NG2 neuron glial antigen, NgR NOGO receptor, NO nitric oxide, NT-3 neurotrophin-3, OPC oligodendrocyte precursor cells, ROS reactive oxygen species, SASP senescence-associated secretory phenotype, Tim T cell immunoglobulin domain, TIMPs tissue inhibitors, Treg regulatory T cell, VCAM-1 vascular adhesion molecule-1, VEGF-A vascular endothelial growth factor A

^aGlial scar can impact both beneficially and detrimentally on surrounding neuronal and non-neuronal cells

^bWhether antigen-presenting cell function and phagocytosis by astrocytes occurs in vivo under physiological conditions remains unclear

Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Astrocytes are the most abundant and heterogeneous type of glial cell in the CNS. Many key regulatory functions such as maintaining brain homeostasis as well as other specific effects are known to be carried out by astrocytes. In recent years, research has shown they play a critical role in regulating immune responses occurring within the CNS and in providing neurotrophic support. Given the pleiotropic nature of astrocyte function, it is not surprising their dysfunction contributes so importantly to neurological disease. Indeed, in some cases astrocyte dysfunction

can be the primary cause of disease. One of the most important aspects of astrocytes in relation to disease is the fact that these cells can exert protective as well as deleterious effects, i.e., completely divergent properties which may become manifest, depending on injury severity, presence or absence of other signaling molecules in the extracellular milieu, or stage of disease. Adding further complication to this context, particular molecules secreted by astrocytes may cause detrimental effects during one phase of disease and beneficial ones during others. Therefore, targeting astrocytes for treatment of neurological diseases may generate opposing, compensatory, or off-target effects on neurons, or blood vessels, dampening the sought-after benefit. Although potential scope exists for treatment of neurological disorders through astrocyte manipulation, future work will need to consider the complex interactions occurring in vivo between different astrocyte cell populations.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by an unrestricted grant from FLENI.

The authors thank Dr. Ismael Calandri for preparation of some figures.

References

- Banker GA. Trophic interactions between astroglial cells and hippocampal neurons in culture. Science. 1980;209(4458):809–10.
- Kettenmann H, Verkhratsky A. Neuroglia: the 150 years after. Trends Neurosci. 2008;31(12):653–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2008.09.003.
- Butt AM, Duncan A, Berry M. Astrocyte associations with nodes of Ranvier: ultrastructural analysis of HRP-filled astrocytes in the mouse optic nerve. J Neurocytol. 1994;23(8):486–99.
- Bushong EA, Martone ME, Ellisman MH. Maturation of astrocyte morphology and the establishment of astrocyte domains during postnatal hippocampal development. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2004;22(2):73–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2003.12.008.
- Witcher MR, Kirov SA, Harris KM. Plasticity of perisynaptic astroglia during synaptogenesis in the mature rat hippocampus. Glia. 2007;55(1):13–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20415.
- Foo LC, Allen NJ, Bushong EA, Ventura PB, Chung WS, Zhou L, et al. Development of a method for the purification and culture of rodent astrocytes. Neuron. 2011;71(5):799–811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.07.022.
- Farmer WT, Murai K. Resolving astrocyte heterogeneity in the CNS. Front Cell Neurosci. 2017;11:300. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00300.
- Wolburg H, Noell S, Mack A, Wolburg-Buchholz K, Fallier-Becker P. Brain endothelial cells and the glio-vascular complex. Cell Tissue Res. 2009;335(1):75–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00441-008-0658-9.
- Milosevic A, Goldman JE. Potential of progenitors from postnatal cerebellar neuroepithelium and white matter: lineage specified vs. multipotent fate. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2004;26(2):342– 53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2004.02.008.
- Wang DD, Bordey A. The astrocyte odyssey. Prog Neurobiol. 2008;86(4):342–67. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2008.09.015.
- Molofsky AV, Krencik R, Ullian EM, Tsai HH, Deneen B, Richardson WD, et al. Astrocytes and disease: a neurodevelopmental perspective. Genes Dev. 2012;26(9):891–907. https://doi. org/10.1101/gad.188326.112.
- Tsai HH, Li H, Fuentealba LC, Molofsky AV, Taveira-Marques R, Zhuang H, et al. Regional astrocyte allocation regulates CNS synaptogenesis and repair. Science. 2012;337(6092):358– 62. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1222381.

- Lundgaard I, Osorio MJ, Kress BT, Sanggaard S, Nedergaard M. White matter astrocytes in health and disease. Neuroscience. 2014;276:161–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroscience.2013.10.050.
- 14. Sun D, Jakobs TC. Structural remodeling of astrocytes in the injured CNS. Neuroscientist. 2012;18(6):567–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858411423441.
- 15. Bo L. The histopathology of grey matter demyelination in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl. 2009;120(189):51–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0404.2009.01216.x.
- Seifert G, Schilling K, Steinhauser C. Astrocyte dysfunction in neurological disorders: a molecular perspective. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2006;7(3):194–206. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrn1870.
- 17. Abbott NJ, Ronnback L, Hansson E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2006;7(1):41–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1824.
- Iadecola C, Nedergaard M. Glial regulation of the cerebral microvasculature. Nat Neurosci. 2007;10(11):1369–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn2003.
- 19. Chesler M, Kaila K. Modulation of pH by neuronal activity. Trends Neurosci. 1992;15(10):396–402.
- Dietschy JM, Turley SD. Thematic review series: brain lipids. Cholesterol metabolism in the central nervous system during early development and in the mature animal. J Lipid Res. 2004;45(8):1375–97. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R400004-JLR200.
- Magistretti PJ. Neuron-glia metabolic coupling and plasticity. J Exp Biol. 2006;209.(Pt 12:2304–11. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02208.
- Akwa Y, Sananes N, Gouezou M, Robel P, Baulieu EE, Le Goascogne C. Astrocytes and neurosteroids: metabolism of pregnenolone and dehydroepiandrosterone. Regulation by cell density. J Cell Biol. 1993;121(1):135–43.
- Allen NJ, Eroglu C. Cell biology of astrocyte-synapse interactions. Neuron. 2017;96(3):697– 708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.09.056.
- Gimenez MA, Sim JE, Russell JH. TNFR1-dependent VCAM-1 expression by astrocytes exposes the CNS to destructive inflammation. J Neuroimmunol. 2004;151(1–2):116–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.02.012.
- 26. Dong Y, Benveniste EN. Immune function of astrocytes. Glia. 2001;36(2):180-90.
- Miljkovic D, Momcilovic M, Stojanovic I, Stosic-Grujicic S, Ramic Z, Mostarica-Stojkovic M. Astrocytes stimulate interleukin-17 and interferon-gamma production in vitro. J Neurosci Res. 2007;85(16):3598–606. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21453.
- Zhou Y, Sonobe Y, Akahori T, Jin S, Kawanokuchi J, Noda M, et al. IL-9 promotes Th17 cell migration into the central nervous system via CC chemokine ligand-20 produced by astrocytes. J Immunol. 2011;186(7):4415–21. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1003307.
- Saikali P, Antel JP, Pittet CL, Newcombe J, Arbour N. Contribution of astrocyte-derived IL-15 to CD8 T cell effector functions in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2010;185(10):5693– 703. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1002188.
- Zhu C, Anderson AC, Kuchroo VK. TIM-3 and its regulatory role in immune responses. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2011;350:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/82_2010_84.
- Krumbholz M, Theil D, Derfuss T, Rosenwald A, Schrader F, Monoranu CM, et al. BAFF is produced by astrocytes and up-regulated in multiple sclerosis lesions and primary central nervous system lymphoma. J Exp Med. 2005;201(2):195–200. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20041674.
- DeWitt DA, Perry G, Cohen M, Doller C, Silver J. Astrocytes regulate microglial phagocytosis of senile plaque cores of Alzheimer's disease. Exp Neurol. 1998;149(2):329–40. https:// doi.org/10.1006/exnr.1997.6738.
- Chastain EM, Duncan DS, Rodgers JM, Miller SD. The role of antigen presenting cells in multiple sclerosis. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1812(2):265–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbadis.2010.07.008.

- Satoh J, Lee YB, Kim SU. T-cell costimulatory molecules B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) are expressed in human microglia but not in astrocytes in culture. Brain Res. 1995;704(1):92–6.
- Liddelow SA, Guttenplan KA, Clarke LE, Bennett FC, Bohlen CJ, Schirmer L, et al. Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. Nature. 2017;541(7638):481–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21029.
- Jha MK, Jo M, Kim JH, Suk K. Microglia-astrocyte crosstalk: an intimate molecular conversation. Neuroscientist. 2019;25(3):227–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858418783959.
- Lennon VA, Wingerchuk DM, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Fujihara K, et al. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2004;364(9451):2106–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17551-X.
- Wingerchuk DM, Lennon VA, Lucchinetti CF, Pittock SJ, Weinshenker BG. The spectrum of neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6(9):805–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1474-4422(07)70216-8.
- Agre P, Sasaki S, Chrispeels MJ. Aquaporins: a family of water channel proteins. Am J Phys. 1993;265(3. Pt 2):F461. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.1993.265.3.F461.
- Zelenina M. Regulation of brain aquaporins. Neurochem Int. 2010;57(4):468–88. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuint.2010.03.022.
- Rossi A, Pisani F, Nicchia GP, Svelto M, Frigeri A. Evidences for a leaky scanning mechanism for the synthesis of the shorter M23 protein isoform of aquaporin-4: implication in orthogonal array formation and neuromyelitis optica antibody interaction. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(7):4562–9. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.069245.
- 42. Amiry-Moghaddam M, Williamson A, Palomba M, Eid T, de Lanerolle NC, Nagelhus EA, et al. Delayed K+ clearance associated with aquaporin-4 mislocalization: phenotypic defects in brains of alpha-syntrophin-null mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(23):13615–20. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2336064100.
- Arcienega II, Brunet JF, Bloch J, Badaut J. Cell locations for AQP1, AQP4 and 9 in the non-human primate brain. Neuroscience. 2010;167(4):1103–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroscience.2010.02.059.
- 44. Popescu BF, Lennon VA, Parisi JE, Howe CL, Weigand SD, Cabrera-Gomez JA, et al. Neuromyelitis optica unique area postrema lesions: nausea, vomiting, and pathogenic implications. Neurology. 2011;76(14):1229–37. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e318214332c.
- 45. Lucchinetti CF, Guo Y, Popescu BF, Fujihara K, Itoyama Y, Misu T. The pathology of an autoimmune astrocytopathy: lessons learned from neuromyelitis optica. Brain Pathol. 2014;24(1):83–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12099.
- 46. Blanchard C, Rothenberg ME. Biology of the eosinophil. Adv Immunol. 2009;101:81–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2776(08)01003-1.
- 47. Hinson SR, Romero MF, Popescu BF, Lucchinetti CF, Fryer JP, Wolburg H, et al. Molecular outcomes of neuromyelitis optica (NMO)-IgG binding to aquaporin-4 in astrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(4):1245–50. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1109980108.
- Illarionova NB, Gunnarson E, Li Y, Brismar H, Bondar A, Zelenin S, et al. Functional and molecular interactions between aquaporins and Na,K-ATPase. Neuroscience. 2010;168(4):915–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.11.062.
- Hinson SR, Roemer SF, Lucchinetti CF, Fryer JP, Kryzer TJ, Chamberlain JL, et al. Aquaporin-4-binding autoantibodies in patients with neuromyelitis optica impair glutamate transport by down-regulating EAAT2. J Exp Med. 2008;205(11):2473–81. https://doi. org/10.1084/jem.20081241.
- 50. Iorio R, Lennon VA. Neural antigen-specific autoimmune disorders. Immunol Rev. 2012;248(1):104–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01144.x.
- Fang B, McKeon A, Hinson SR, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Aksamit AJ, et al. Autoimmune glial fibrillary acidic protein astrocytopathy: a novel meningoencephalomyelitis. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73(11):1297–307. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.2549.
- Flanagan EP, Hinson SR, Lennon VA, Fang B, Aksamit AJ, Morris PP, et al. Glial fibrillary acidic protein immunoglobulin G as biomarker of autoimmune astrocytopathy: analysis of 102 patients. Ann Neurol. 2017;81(2):298–309. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24881.

- Middeldorp J, Hol EM. GFAP in health and disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;93(3):421–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.01.005.
- 54. Yang X, Liang J, Huang Q, Xu H, Gao C, Long Y, et al. Treatment of autoimmune glial fibrillary acidic protein astrocytopathy: follow-up in 7 cases. Neuroimmunomodulation. 2017;24(2):113–9. https://doi.org/10.1159/000479948.
- 55. Iorio R, Damato V, Evoli A, Gessi M, Gaudino S, Di Lazzaro V, et al. Clinical and immunological characteristics of the spectrum of GFAP autoimmunity: a case series of 22 patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2018;89(2):138–46. https://doi.org/10.1136/ jnnp-2017-316583.
- Dubey D, Hinson SR, Jolliffe EA, Zekeridou A, Flanagan EP, Pittock SJ, et al. Autoimmune GFAP astrocytopathy: prospective evaluation of 90 patients in 1 year. J Neuroimmunol. 2018;321:157–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.04.016.
- Li J, Xu Y, Ren H, Zhu Y, Peng B, Cui L. Autoimmune GFAP astrocytopathy after viral encephalitis: a case report. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2018;21:84–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msard.2018.02.020.
- Gresa-Arribas N, Titulaer MJ, Torrents A, Aguilar E, McCracken L, Leypoldt F, et al. Antibody titres at diagnosis and during follow-up of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a retrospective study. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(2):167–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70282-5.
- Majed M, Fryer JP, McKeon A, Lennon VA, Pittock SJ. Clinical utility of testing AQP4-IgG in CSF: guidance for physicians. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3(3):e231. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.0000000000231.
- 60. Dalmau J, Gleichman AJ, Hughes EG, Rossi JE, Peng X, Lai M, et al. Anti-NMDAreceptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(12):1091–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70224-2.
- 61. Zekeridou A, Lennon VA. Aquaporin-4 autoimmunity. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2015;2(4):e110. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000110.
- Darnell RB, Posner JB. Paraneoplastic syndromes involving the nervous system. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(16):1543–54. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra023009.
- Sasaki K, Bean A, Shah S, Schutten E, Huseby PG, Peters B, et al. Relapsing-remitting central nervous system autoimmunity mediated by GFAP-specific CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2014;192(7):3029–42. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1302911.
- Long Y, Liang J, Xu H, Huang Q, Yang J, Gao C, et al. Autoimmune glial fibrillary acidic protein astrocytopathy in Chinese patients: a retrospective study. Eur J Neurol. 2018;25(3):477– 83. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.13531.
- 65. Yang X, Xu H, Ding M, Huang Q, Chen B, Yang H, et al. Overlapping autoimmune syndromes in patients with glial fibrillary acidic protein antibodies. Front Neurol. 2018;9:251. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00251.
- McKeon A, Lennon VA, LaChance DH, Klein CJ, Pittock SJ. Striational antibodies in a paraneoplastic context. Muscle Nerve. 2013;47(4):585–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.23774.
- Klein RS, Hunter CA. Protective and pathological immunity during central nervous system infections. Immunity. 2017;46(6):891–909. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.012.
- 68. Stenzel W, Soltek S, Schluter D, Deckert M. The intermediate filament GFAP is important for the control of experimental murine Staphylococcus aureus-induced brain abscess and Toxoplasma encephalitis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2004;63(6):631–40.
- 69. Esen N, Shuffield D, Syed MM, Kielian T. Modulation of connexin expression and gap junction communication in astrocytes by the gram-positive bacterium S. aureus. Glia. 2007;55(1):104–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20438.
- Wilson EH, Hunter CA. The role of astrocytes in the immunopathogenesis of toxoplasmic encephalitis. Int J Parasitol. 2004;34(5):543–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2003.12.010.
- Medana IM, Day NP, Hien TT, Mai NT, Bethell D, Phu NH, et al. Axonal injury in cerebral malaria. Am J Pathol. 2002;160(2):655–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64885-7.
- Crill EK, Furr-Rogers SR, Marriott I. RIG-I is required for VSV-induced cytokine production by murine glia and acts in combination with DAI to initiate responses to HSV-1. Glia. 2015;63(12):2168–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22883.

- Daniels BP, Holman DW, Cruz-Orengo L, Jujjavarapu H, Durrant DM, Klein RS. Viral pathogen-associated molecular patterns regulate blood-brain barrier integrity via competing innate cytokine signals. MBio. 2014;5(5):e01476–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/ mBio.01476-14.
- Cisneros IE, Ghorpade A. HIV-1, methamphetamine and astrocyte glutamate regulation: combined excitotoxic implications for neuro-AIDS. Curr HIV Res. 2012;10(5):392–406.
- 75. Hu X, Chakravarty SD, Ivashkiv LB. Regulation of interferon and toll-like receptor signaling during macrophage activation by opposing feedforward and feedback inhibition mechanisms. Immunol Rev. 2008;226:41–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00707.x.
- Lin MT, Hinton DR, Marten NW, Bergmann CC, Stohlman SA. Antibody prevents virus reactivation within the central nervous system. J Immunol. 1999;162(12):7358–68.
- Hamo L, Stohlman SA, Otto-Duessel M, Bergmann CC. Distinct regulation of MHC molecule expression on astrocytes and microglia during viral encephalomyelitis. Glia. 2007;55(11):1169–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20538.
- Rasmussen T, Olszewski J, Lloydsmith D. Focal seizures due to chronic localized encephalitis. Neurology. 1958;8(6):435–45.
- Farrell MA, Droogan O, Secor DL, Poukens V, Quinn B, Vinters HV. Chronic encephalitis associated with epilepsy: immunohistochemical and ultrastructural studies. Acta Neuropathol. 1995;89(4):313–21.
- Bien CG, Granata T, Antozzi C, Cross JH, Dulac O, Kurthen M, et al. Pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment of Rasmussen encephalitis: a European consensus statement. Brain. 2005;128(Pt 3):454–71. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh415.
- Bauer J, Elger CE, Hans VH, Schramm J, Urbach H, Lassmann H, et al. Astrocytes are a specific immunological target in Rasmussen's encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2007;62(1):67–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21148.
- Rogers SW, Andrews PI, Gahring LC, Whisenand T, Cauley K, Crain B, et al. Autoantibodies to glutamate receptor GluR3 in Rasmussen's encephalitis. Science. 1994;265(5172):648–51.
- Andrews PI, Dichter MA, Berkovic SF, Newton MR, McNamara JO. Plasmapheresis in Rasmussen's encephalitis. Neurology. 1996;46(1):242–6.
- Twyman RE, Gahring LC, Spiess J, Rogers SW. Glutamate receptor antibodies activate a subset of receptors and reveal an agonist binding site. Neuron. 1995;14(4):755–62.
- Whitney KD, McNamara JO. GluR3 autoantibodies destroy neural cells in a complementdependent manner modulated by complement regulatory proteins. J Neurosci. 2000;20(19):7307–16.
- Levite M, Hermelin A. Autoimmunity to the glutamate receptor in mice a model for Rasmussen's encephalitis? J Autoimmun. 1999;13(1):73–82. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jaut.1999.0297.
- Schwab N, Bien CG, Waschbisch A, Becker A, Vince GH, Dornmair K, et al. CD8+ T-cell clones dominate brain infiltrates in Rasmussen encephalitis and persist in the periphery. Brain. 2009;132.(Pt 5:1236–46. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awp003.
- Mantegazza R, Bernasconi P, Baggi F, Spreafico R, Ragona F, Antozzi C, et al. Antibodies against GluR3 peptides are not specific for Rasmussen's encephalitis but are also present in epilepsy patients with severe, early onset disease and intractable seizures. J Neuroimmunol. 2002;131(1–2):179–85.
- Luan G, Gao Q, Zhai F, Chen Y, Li T. Upregulation of HMGB1, toll-like receptor and RAGE in human Rasmussen's encephalitis. Epilepsy Res. 2016;123:36–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2016.03.005.
- Bianchi ME, Manfredi AA. Immunology. Dangers in and out. Science. 2009;323(5922):1683– 4. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1172794.
- Park JS, Arcaroli J, Yum HK, Yang H, Wang H, Yang KY, et al. Activation of gene expression in human neutrophils by high mobility group box 1 protein. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2003;284(4):C870–9. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00322.2002.
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. Nature. 2002;418(6894):191–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature00858.
- Maroso M, Balosso S, Ravizza T, Liu J, Aronica E, Iyer AM, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 and high-mobility group box-1 are involved in ictogenesis and can be targeted to reduce seizures. Nat Med. 2010;16(4):413–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2127.
- 94. Walker L, Sills GJ. Inflammation and epilepsy: the foundations for a new therapeutic approach in epilepsy? Epilepsy Curr. 2012;12(1):8–12. https://doi.org/10.5698/1535-7511-12.1.8.
- Brosnan CF, Raine CS. The astrocyte in multiple sclerosis revisited. Glia. 2013;61(4):453– 65. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22443.
- Pham H, Ramp AA, Klonis N, Ng SW, Klopstein A, Ayers MM, et al. The astrocytic response in early experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis occurs across both the grey and white matter compartments. J Neuroimmunol. 2009;208(1–2):30–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneuroim.2008.12.010.
- Ponath G, Ramanan S, Mubarak M, Housley W, Lee S, Sahinkaya FR, et al. Myelin phagocytosis by astrocytes after myelin damage promotes lesion pathology. Brain. 2017;140(2):399– 413. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww298.
- Michel L, Touil H, Pikor NB, Gommerman JL, Prat A, Bar-Or A. B cells in the multiple sclerosis central nervous system: trafficking and contribution to CNS-compartmentalized inflammation. Front Immunol. 2015;6:636. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00636.
- Bal-Price A, Brown GC. Inflammatory neurodegeneration mediated by nitric oxide from activated glia-inhibiting neuronal respiration, causing glutamate release and excitotoxicity. J Neurosci. 2001;21(17):6480–91.
- 100. Hamby ME, Hewett JA, Hewett SJ. TGF-beta1 potentiates astrocytic nitric oxide production by expanding the population of astrocytes that express NOS-2. Glia. 2006;54(6):566–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20411.
- 101. Kumar S, Singh BK, Prasad AK, Parmar VS, Biswal S, Ghosh B. Ethyl 3',4',5'-trimethoxythionocinnamate modulates NF-kappaB and Nrf2 transcription factors. Eur J Pharmacol. 2013;700(1–3):32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2012.12.004.
- 102. Rossi S, Motta C, Studer V, Barbieri F, Buttari F, Bergami A, et al. Tumor necrosis factor is elevated in progressive multiple sclerosis and causes excitotoxic neurodegeneration. Mult Scler. 2014;20(3):304–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458513498128.
- Matute C, Sanchez-Gomez MV, Martinez-Millan L, Miledi R. Glutamate receptor-mediated toxicity in optic nerve oligodendrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(16):8830–5.
- Rothstein JD, Dykes-Hoberg M, Pardo CA, Bristol LA, Jin L, Kuncl RW, et al. Knockout of glutamate transporters reveals a major role for astroglial transport in excitotoxicity and clearance of glutamate. Neuron. 1996;16(3):675–86.
- 105. Ouardouz M, Coderre E, Basak A, Chen A, Zamponi GW, Hameed S, et al. Glutamate receptors on myelinated spinal cord axons: I. GluR6 kainate receptors. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(2):151–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21533.
- 106. Ouardouz M, Coderre E, Zamponi GW, Hameed S, Yin X, Trapp BD, et al. Glutamate receptors on myelinated spinal cord axons: II. AMPA and GluR5 receptors. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(2):160–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21539.
- Salter MG, Fern R. NMDA receptors are expressed in developing oligodendrocyte processes and mediate injury. Nature. 2005;438(7071):1167–71. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04301.
- Pitt D, Werner P, Raine CS. Glutamate excitotoxicity in a model of multiple sclerosis. Nat Med. 2000;6(1):67–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/71555.
- 109. Franke H, Illes P. Pathological potential of astroglial purinergic receptors. Adv Neurobiol. 2014;11:213–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08894-5_11.
- Narcisse L, Scemes E, Zhao Y, Lee SC, Brosnan CF. The cytokine IL-1beta transiently enhances P2X7 receptor expression and function in human astrocytes. Glia. 2005;49(2):245– 58. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20110.
- 111. Matute C, Torre I, Perez-Cerda F, Perez-Samartin A, Alberdi E, Etxebarria E, et al. P2X(7) receptor blockade prevents ATP excitotoxicity in oligodendrocytes and ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurosci. 2007;27(35):9525–33. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0579-07.2007.

- 112. Mayo L, Trauger SA, Blain M, Nadeau M, Patel B, Alvarez JI, et al. Regulation of astrocyte activation by glycolipids drives chronic CNS inflammation. Nat Med. 2014;20(10):1147–56. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3681.
- 113. Bundesen LQ, Scheel TA, Bregman BS, Kromer LF. Ephrin-B2 and EphB2 regulation of astrocyte-meningeal fibroblast interactions in response to spinal cord lesions in adult rats. J Neurosci. 2003;23(21):7789–800.
- 114. Robel S, Berninger B, Gotz M. The stem cell potential of glia: lessons from reactive gliosis. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2011;12(2):88–104. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2978.
- 115. Balasingam V, Tejada-Berges T, Wright E, Bouckova R, Yong VW. Reactive astrogliosis in the neonatal mouse brain and its modulation by cytokines. J Neurosci. 1994;14(2):846–56.
- 116. Sherman LS, Struve JN, Rangwala R, Wallingford NM, Tuohy TM, Kuntz C. Hyaluronatebased extracellular matrix: keeping glia in their place. Glia. 2002;38(2):93–102.
- 117. Soilu-Hanninen M, Laaksonen M, Hanninen A, Eralinna JP, Panelius M. Downregulation of VLA-4 on T cells as a marker of long term treatment response to interferon beta-1a in MS. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;167(1–2):175–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.06.022.
- Back SA, Tuohy TM, Chen H, Wallingford N, Craig A, Struve J, et al. Hyaluronan accumulates in demyelinated lesions and inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor maturation. Nat Med. 2005;11(9):966–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1279.
- Johnson-Green PC, Dow KE, Riopelle RJ. Characterization of glycosaminoglycans produced by primary astrocytes in vitro. Glia. 1991;4(3):314–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/ glia.440040309.
- 120. Bradbury EJ, Moon LD, Popat RJ, King VR, Bennett GS, Patel PN, et al. Chondroitinase ABC promotes functional recovery after spinal cord injury. Nature. 2002;416(6881):636–40. https://doi.org/10.1038/416636a.
- 121. Yin HH, Knowlton BJ. The role of the basal ganglia in habit formation. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2006;7(6):464–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1919.
- Zhu X, Bergles DE, Nishiyama A. NG2 cells generate both oligodendrocytes and gray matter astrocytes. Development. 2008;135(1):145–57. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.004895.
- 123. Fidler PS, Schuette K, Asher RA, Dobbertin A, Thornton SR, Calle-Patino Y, et al. Comparing astrocytic cell lines that are inhibitory or permissive for axon growth: the major axon-inhibitory proteoglycan is NG2. J Neurosci. 1999;19(20):8778–88.
- 124. Sobel RA. Ephrin A receptors and ligands in lesions and normal-appearing white matter in multiple sclerosis. Brain Pathol. 2005;15(1):35–45.
- 125. Wahl S, Barth H, Ciossek T, Aktories K, Mueller BK. Ephrin-A5 induces collapse of growth cones by activating Rho and Rho kinase. J Cell Biol. 2000;149(2):263–70.
- 126. Satoh J, Tabunoki H, Yamamura T, Arima K, Konno H. TROY and LINGO-1 expression in astrocytes and macrophages/microglia in multiple sclerosis lesions. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2007;33(1):99–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2990.2006.00787.x.
- 127. Fujita Y, Takashima R, Endo S, Takai T, Yamashita T. The p75 receptor mediates axon growth inhibition through an association with PIR-B. Cell Death Dis. 2011;2:e198. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2011.85.
- Williams A, Piaton G, Lubetzki C. Astrocytes friends or foes in multiple sclerosis? Glia. 2007;55(13):1300–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20546.
- Soung A, Klein RS. Viral encephalitis and neurologic diseases: focus on astrocytes. Trends Mol Med. 2018;24:950–62.

Genetic Factors in Neuroimmune Diseases



Alessandro Didonna and Ester Cantó

Abstract Neuroimmune diseases consist of a heterogeneous group of neurological disorders characterized by aberrant immune responses against either the central or the peripheral nervous system. Unlike monogenic diseases, neuroimmune disorders do not follow Mendelian patterns of inheritance, and their genetic basis has been elusive for decades. It has been only recently that novel methodologies of analysis, such as the genome-wide association study (GWAS) paradigm, have provided the tools for deciphering the complex genetic architecture proper of these disorders. Indeed, immunogenetic and epidemiological data suggest a polygenic model of inheritance in which the interplay between multiple genetic and environmental factors is crucial for disease risk. Among the different genetic determinants, the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) locus accounts for the highest component of genetic risk for the vast majority of neuroimmune disorders, suggesting that dysfunctions in the antigen presentation process likely play a pivotal role in their pathophysiology. However, further studies will be necessary to fully describe the multifactorial nature of such complex diseases and discover all the molecular pathways associated with the different risk variants.

Keywords Neuroimmune diseases \cdot Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) \cdot Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) \cdot Genome-wide association study (GWAS) \cdot Autoimmunity

Introduction

Neuroimmune diseases are a complex group of demyelinating, inflammatory, parainfectious and post-infectious disorders characterized by heterogeneous pathological mechanisms and clinical manifestations, often associated with fundamental

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

A. Didonna (🖂) · E. Cantó

Department of Neurology and Weill Institute for Neurosciences, University of California at San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: alessandro.didonna@ucsf.edu

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_11

derangement in immune regulation [1]. Through the years, a considerable effort has been put toward the elucidation of the molecular mechanisms underpinning immune-mediated neurological impairment, but a complete and coherent model of pathogenesis is still missing.

From a genetic standpoint, neuroimmune diseases do not follow Mendelian patterns of inheritance. This explains why standard genetic investigation has failed to highlight any genes convincingly associated with these neurologic conditions. Yet, family studies support the involvement of a genetic component in their etiology. In fact, the risk of developing such disorders is greater in siblings or offspring of affected individuals. Also, the evidence that disease prevalence often varies among ethnic groups further corroborates the notion that specific genetic determinants likely influence the susceptibility to disease. However, the fact that disease concordance is not absolute even in genetically identical monozygotic twins pinpoints at a multifactorial etiology with genetic and environmental factors both acting in concert to determine the total risk.

In the last decade, the advances in genomic research and in DNA analysis technologies have provided for the first time the theoretical and practical tools to start deciphering the genetic makeup of these complex disorders and ultimately gain insight into their pathophysiology. The current working model to explain their heritability is the "common variant-common disease" paradigm. According to this hypothesis, disease susceptibility is the result of the cumulative effects of multiple alleles common in the population (with minor allele frequency or MAF > 5%), each one contributing a small portion to the overall risk [2]. Remarkably, genetic variation in the major histocompatibility complex (*MHC*) locus accounts for the biggest component of the risk for virtually all neuroimmune diseases, rooting their etiology in the aberrant regulation of antigen presentation function. However, other cellular pathways are being discovered as important for pathogenesis. In this chapter, we review the current knowledge about the genetics of this class of disorders, with an emphasis on key findings which have deepened our understanding of the interactions between the nervous and the immune systems in health and disease.

Genomic Approaches for Studying Complex Diseases

In the pre-genomic era, linkage analysis represented the primary tool to map genetic loci of disease genes. This method relies on tracking across generations the co-segregation of specific genetic markers of known chromosomal location with the trait of interest in families with more than one member affected. If both the marker and the gene responsible for that particular trait are located on the same segment of DNA, their co-transmission will be proportional to the physical distance between them, allowing the mapping of the gene [3]. Different types of molecular markers have been developed through the years to saturate the genome and increase the resolution of genetic maps – restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) were initially adopted, followed by simple sequence length polymorphisms (SSLPs),

sequence-tagged sites (STSs), and ultimately single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), which represent by far the most abundant form of genetic variation in the human genome [4–7]. Family-based linkage analysis has been extremely successful in identifying genes that contribute to Mendelian disorders with high penetrance and monogenic patterns of inheritance. In contrast, this approach resulted largely inadequate to explain the genetic architecture of complex diseases, urging for new analytical tools to tackle this group of disorders. However, a paradigm shift in the field was made possible only when chip-based platforms capable of genotyping hundred thousand SNPs at affordable prices became commercially available. These new technologies indeed set the stage for the first genome-wide association studies (GWASs), leading genetic research into the genomic era.

GWAS is a hypothesis-free experimental design in which a dense set of SNPs covering the entire genome is tested for association with a specific trait in casecontrol cohorts of genetically unrelated subjects [8]. The possibility to analyze much larger datasets considerably increases both resolution and statistical power of the association, making GWAS screenings particularly suited for detecting small effect size disease risk loci. Since their introduction, GWASs have helped characterizing several complex diseases for which linkage studies had previously failed [9]. However, it should be noted that this method does not directly address the biological mechanisms underlying the genetic association signals. In fact, GWAS hits are usually proxy SNPs for the real causative variants. This is mainly due to the extensive linkage disequilibrium (LD) of the human genome – a phenomenon describing the non-random statistical association of alleles in physical proximity [10]. LD forces nearby SNPs to be inherited in large blocks (haplotypes), complicating the discrimination of biologically meaningful associations. On the other hand, LD allows reducing genotyping costs as fewer SNPs are needed in order to capture the genetic variation across a specific locus.

In parallel, the Human Genome Project inspired novel DNA sequencing chemistries and analysis tools. These joint efforts resulted in the unprecedented possibility to sequence the whole genome of an individual (or part of it) in a single run, by generating millions of short overlapping reads and using computers to reconstruct the original sequence [11]. In the context of complex genetic diseases, nextgeneration sequencing (NGS) technologies have been exploited for the analysis of genetic variation that cannot be interrogated by GWAS. This includes structural variants (such as repeated regions and indels) as well as high-impact variants with low-frequency in the population.

The Major Histocompatibility Complex

The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) locus encodes a large group of proteins governing both adaptive and innate immune responses in vertebrates. Initially studied for its role in transplantation, the MHC locus has been later found involved virtually in all autoimmune diseases. In humans, where it is named human leukocyte antigen (*HLA*), the locus maps to the short arm of chromosome 6 (6p21.3) and contains approximately 165 protein-coding genes spanning 5 megabases (Mb). From a functional standpoint, *MHC* genes are grouped into three classes which also reflect their clustered genomic organization (Fig. 1). Genes belonging to class I and II encode cell surface glycoproteins involved in antigen presentation while class III genes specify several critical mediators of inflammation [12].

The *HLA* class I cluster comprises the highly polymorphic classical genes *HLA*-*A*, *HLA*-*B*, and *HLA*-*C* as well as the less polymorphic non-classical *HLA*-*E*, *HLA*-*F*, and *HLA*-*G*. Both classical and non-classical proteins exist as heterodimers with the invariant β 2-microglobulin chain on the membrane of all nucleated cells in the organism. Their main function is to present endogenous antigens (such as peptides from virus infected or neoplastic cells) for recognition by cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells through T cell receptor (TCR) binding. Additionally, they can be sensed by killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) on natural killer (NK) cells, and by leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptors (LILRs) on monocytes [13]. Similar to class I, the class II cluster contains three pairs of α - and β -chain classical genes (*HLA-DP*, *HLA-DQ*, and *HLA-DR*) and two pairs of the non-classical ones (*HLA-DM* and *HLA-DO*). Unlike the ubiquitous class I molecules, classical II proteins form $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers only on the membrane of professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as B cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells, where they display pathogen-



Fig. 1 Genomic structure of the human *MHC* locus. Schematic map of the principal genes forming the three *MHC* clusters on chromosome 6. The class I cluster is the most distal and comprehends the classical genes *HLA-A*, *HLA-B*, and *HLA-C* and the non-classical *HLA-E*, *HLA-F*, and *HLA-G*. The class II cluster is instead the most proximal to the centromere and includes the classical genes *HLA-DQ*, *HLA-DP*, and *HLA-DR* and the non-classical *HLA-DM* and *HLA-DO*. This region also includes genes involved in the processing and presentation of antigen to the immune system, such as low molecular weight polypeptide 2 and 7 (*LMP2* and *LMP7*) and transporter associated with antigen processing protein 1 and 2 (*TAP1* and *TAP2*). Lastly, the class III cluster is located in between the other two and contains genes encoding complement proteins (C2, C4, and factor B) as well as cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) and lymphotoxin β (LT β)

derived exogenous antigens to CD4⁺ T cells. Non-classical HLA II molecules are not expressed on the cell surface but they instead enable peptide exchange and loading of classical II molecules in the endosomal compartment [14]. Lastly, class III cluster contains genes encoding components of the complement cascade (C2, C4A, and C4B), cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), and other nonimmune-related proteins such as heat shock proteins [15].

Both class I and II genes are the most polymorphic loci in the human genome, with the highest degree of variation concentrated at the level of the peptide-binding pocket. Almost 20,000 alleles have been identified to date and the number is likely to increase as the sequencing and typing technologies progress. According to the standard nomenclature, each *HLA* allele is defined by a unique number corresponding to up to four sets of digits separated by colons (such as *HLA-A*02:04* or *HLA-DRB1*15:03*). The first digits before the colon indicate the type, which often corresponds to the serological antigen carried by an allotype. The next two digits are used instead to list the subtypes differing in the amino acid sequence (http://hla. alleles.org/nomenclature/index.html).

Several *HLA* alleles have been found implicated in the predisposition toward the vast majority of neuroimmune diseases. Complex association patterns including intricate allelic hierarchical lineages and cis/trans haplotypic effects have been described. Protective effects have been documented as well. Hereafter, we will detail the principal genetic associations for both common and rare disorders, inside and outside the *MHC* locus.

Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease affecting the central nervous system (CNS), characterized by lymphocyte infiltration in the brain parenchyma, focal demyelination, gliosis, and variable grades of axonal degeneration [16]. MS clinical course typically starts with episodic inflammatory relapses followed by complete or partial recovery (relapsing-remitting MS or RR-MS). Over time, in the majority of the afflicted individuals, it evolves into a progressive phase dominated by irreversible deterioration of both motor and cognitive functions as a consequence of neuro-degenerative processes (secondary progressive MS or SP-MS). However, up to 15% of MS patients show a progressive course from disease onset, without experiencing initial relapses and remissions (primary progressive MS or PP-MS) [17].

MS affects almost 2.5 million of people worldwide and represents the first cause of neurological disability among young adults, with women being more affected than men. Its prevalence varies with geography and ancestry. People of northern European descent living in northern Europe and North America show the highest susceptibility to the disease, with a lifetime risk of approximately 0.1–0.2%. In contrast, MS is less common in Asian countries and native populations across the Americas and Oceania, and almost not existent in African blacks [18]. Similar to other autoimmune diseases, cases of MS cluster in families [19]. Siblings of affected

individuals have 2–4% risk of developing the disease while the risk in monozygotic twins increases up to 30%; spouses and adoptees hold instead the same risk of general population [20–22]. Altogether, this epidemiological evidence undisputedly recognizes the genetic basis of the disease and provides a solid rationale for genetic research in MS.

HLA Alleles in MS

The *MHC* locus represents the most prominent genetic determinant connected to MS susceptibility. The first evidence of association was found in the 1970s, when the class I alleles *HLA-A*03* and *HLA-B*07* were demonstrated to be enriched in MS patient lymphocytes by means of serological methods [23, 24]. Subsequent investigations have independently confirmed the *HLA* association in either RR-MS or PP-MS cohorts with various sample sizes. Moreover, improvements in *HLA* typing eventually revealed that the class I alleles initially identified were part of an extended haplotype in which the class II *HLA-DRB1* locus is the pivotal signal [25]. In particular, the allele *HLA-DRB1*15:01* shows the strongest association in European populations, with an average odds ratio (OR, a common statistical measure of effect size) of 3.08. The association with *HLA-DRB1*15:01* explains up to 10.5% of the genetic variance underlying risk and follows an additive model, with clear dose responses to 0, 1, and 2 copies of the risk allele [26].

In addition to *HLA-DRB1**15:01, other *HLA* alleles have been proposed through the years for association with MS risk. However, a systematic investigation across the region has remained challenging due to the complex structure of the MHC locus and the pervasive LD. It was only through the coordinated efforts of multiple research groups worldwide that the fine mapping of the association within the whole MHC region was possible. For example, a study of the International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC) using GWAS SNP data from 5,091 cases and 9,595 controls identified 11 statistically independent signals in the region: four risk (HLA-DRB1*15:01, HLA-DRB1*03:01, HLA-DRB1*13:03, HLA-DRB1*04:04) and two protective alleles (HLA-DRB1*04:01 and HLA-DRB1*14:01) were mapped to the HLA-DRB1 locus; one risk allele to the HLA-DPB1 locus (HLA-DPB1*03:01); one protective allele to the HLA-A locus (HLA-A*02:01); one risk and one protective allele to the HLA-B locus (HLA-B*37:01 and HLA-B*38:01, respectively); and one tagging a region in the class III cluster in between MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence B (MICB) and leukocyte-specific transcript 1 (LST1) genes [27]. A follow-up study highlighted two additional risk alleles (HLA-DRB1*08:01 and HLA-DQB1*03:02) and two novel protective associations (HLA-B*44:02 and HLA-B*55:01). Moreover, the first evidence of pairwise epistatic interactions was reported between the class II alleles HLA-DQA1*01:01-HLA-DRB1*15:01 and HLA-DQB1*03:01-HLA-DQB1*03:02 [28]. More recently, the last GWAS meta-analysis performed by the IMSGC on 47,351 MS subjects and 68,284 controls, confirmed the prior *HLA* variants and extended the association map to uncover a total of 32 statistically independent effects within the *MHC* locus [29].

The vast majority of MS genetic research has been carried out on cohorts of European ancestry, given the higher incidence of the disease in this ethnicity and the relative facility to collect larger datasets. However, a number of studies have been conducted on other ethnic groups. Despite their lower statistical power, such investigations have been important to gain insights into *HLA* risk variants specific for those populations. For instance, *HLA-DRB1*04:05* is associated in Japanese population with a clinical variant of MS characterized by earlier age of onset and reduced severity [30]. *HLA-DRB1*15:01* is still the top risk allele in Japanese individuals without *HLA-DRB1*04:05* as well as in Han Chinese population [31]. The allele *HLA-DRB1*09* instead confers protection in both Japanese and Chinese populations [32, 33]. In African Americans, *HLA-DRB1*15:03* and *HLA-DRB1*04:05* represent secondary risk variants after *HLA-DRB1*15:01* whereas *HLA-DRB1*11:01* and *HLA-DRB1*04:01* are protective alleles along with class I *HLA-A*02* [34, 35].

Non-MHC Variants in MS

The GWAS paradigm has been instrumental not only to refine MS association with specific HLA alleles, but also to identify risk variants outside the MHC locus. In the pre-GWAS era, although several loci showed a suggestive association with the disease, none of them reached formal statistical significance. Only in 2007, in concomitance with the first GWAS conducted by the IMSGC on 931 family trios (patients with MS and unaffected parents), the first two non-MHC loci exceeded the genome-wide threshold set a priori to $P < 10^{-8}$. They were the previously reported interleukin-7 receptor α (*IL7RA*) locus and a newly identified region containing the interleukin-2 receptor α (*IL2RA*) gene, both displaying odd ratios around 1.2 [36]. After these encouraging results, several GWASs and meta-analyses with increasing numbers of subjects have been carried out, allowing the detection of progressively smaller effects. Among them, the collaborative 2011 GWAS between the IMSGC and the Welcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (WTCCC2) employed nearly 10,000 cases and extended the list of genome-wide significant MS loci to 52 [26]. The subsequent study adopted instead a custom genotype array design and detected additional 48 risk variants, screening over 80,000 cases [37]. The most recent and largest meta-analysis from the IMSGC included over 40,000 MS patients and was able to identify 200 autosomal risk variants outside the MHC and one chromosome X variant, with ORs as small as 1.05 [29]. Functional annotation of the genes mapping at the susceptibility loci has revealed a significant overrepresentation in immunologically relevant genes. This confirms that MS is, at its core, a disease of the immune system.

Altogether, the *HLA* and non-*HLA* variants so far identified account only for 20–30% of the total heritability, while a substantial part of it still remains unex-

plained. This so-called "missing heritability" may be due to gene–gene and gene– environment interactions or to rare variants with high penetrance. In this regard, a recent whole-exome sequencing effort by the IMSGC on 32,367 MS cases and 36,012 controls detected seven low-frequency coding variants in six genes outside the *MHC* locus: galactosylceramidase (*GALC*), tyrosine kinase 2 (*TYK2*), perforin 1 (*PRF1*), interferon-inducible double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase activator A (*PRKRA*), NLR family pyrin domain containing 8 (*NLRP8*), and histone deacetylase 7 (*HDAC7*) – collectively, these rare variants explain as much as 5% of MS heritability [38].

Functional Interpretation of MS Risk Loci

The first mechanistic explanation for MS genetic susceptibility was the discovery that the risk SNP rs6897932 alters the levels of soluble and membrane-bound iso-forms of interleukin-7 receptor α by disrupting a splicing acceptor site in exon 6 of *IL7RA* gene [39]. A similar mechanism was later described for the risk SNP rs1800693 which drives the skipping of exon 6 in the gene encoding tumor necrosis factor receptor super family 1A (*TNFRSF1A*). In this case, the alternative splicing event produces a novel soluble form of the receptor with the ability to block TNF α signaling in immune cells – a phenomenon that resembles the exacerbating effects of TNF-blocking drugs on MS course [40].

A few other risk variants have been convincingly characterized at the functional level [41]. Overall, this experimental evidence suggests a "transcriptional hypothesis" where MS risk is principally driven by aberrant expression of a restricted set of genes. However, our picture of the molecular mechanisms underlying MS susceptibility still remains superficial and further investigation is needed to fill the gaps in our knowledge about the specific biological functions affected upon disease.

Neuromyelitis Optica

Neuromyelitis optica (NMO) is an autoimmune inflammatory disorder of the CNS characterized by severe demyelination and axonal loss that predominantly target the optic nerve and spinal cord. Initially classified as a subtype of MS, it has been considered a separate entity for a number of years. One of the main features that separates NMO from MS is the presence of circulating IgG1 autoantibodies against aquaporin 4 (AQP4) in about 80% of NMO patients [42]. AQP4 is a water channel that is primarily expressed in the CNS by astrocytes, but it is also found in other organs such as the kidneys and the gastrointestinal and respiratory tracts. NMO affects principally women (85% of the cases) and its prevalence varies between 0.52 and 10 for each 100,000 individuals in the population, depending on their ethnicity and geographical region [43, 44]. In general, people of Northern European are

considered at a lower risk as compared to people from West Indies and Asia. Around 3% of patients show a familial form of the disease [45].

HLA Alleles in NMO

Although phenotypically similar, the genetic overlap between NMO and MS is limited, corroborating the notion that they are two different diseases. For instance, the main MS risk allele *HLA DRB1*15:01* was not found associated with NMO susceptibility [46]. Other *HLA* alleles have been instead linked to disease risk in different ethnic groups. In populations with higher NMO prevalence such as Japanese and southern Han Chinese, *HLA-DPB1*05:01* seems to be the main predisposing allele while *HLA-DRB1*09:01* confers protection [33, 47, 48]. Other risk alleles in Asian populations include *HLA-DPB1*03:01*, *HLA-DRB1*12* and *HLA-DRB1*16:02* [32, 33, 49]. Conversely, *HLA-DRB1*03:01* is the main risk allele in Europeans, Brazilian mulattos, and Afro-Caribbeans [50]. A recent GWAS in a European ancestry cohort has replicated the association with *HLA-DRB1*03:01* but only in those patients positive for AQP4 autoantibodies [51]. The same study also identified a SNP downstream *HLA-DQA1* (rs28383224) as the top signal in all NMO patients, regardless of their anti-AQP4 antibody status [51].

Non-MHC Alleles in NMO

Given the central role of AQP4 autoantibodies in NMO pathogenesis, the possible contribution of genetic variation in the *AQP4* gene has been subjected to intense investigation. However, no *AQP4* genetic variants have been convincingly associated with NMO susceptibility [52, 53]. Subsequent studies have instead highlighted suggestive association with several immune-related genes including cluster of differentiation 58 (*CD58*), Fc receptor-like 3 (*FCRL3*), interleukin 7 (*IL7*), interleukin 7 receptor alpha (*IL7RA*) and interleukin 17 (*IL17*) [54–57]. Additionally, a recent whole-genome sequencing screening has identified a significant association in AQP4 antibody-seropositive NMO patients with copy number variation (CNV) in the genomic locus annotated for the complement component 4 (*C4*) genes [51].

Behçet's Syndrome

Behçet's syndrome (BS) is a rare systemic vasculitis disorder of unknown origin. It typically manifests with acute inflammatory attacks resulting in oral and genital ulcers as well as skin and ocular lesions. Less frequently, the disease also targets the cardiovascular system, the gastrointestinal tract, and the central nervous system.

Neuro-BS occurs in 5–10% of patients and can affect brainstem or basal ganglia causing meningoencephalitis (parenchymal subtype) or can be characterized by cerebral venous thromboses (non-parenchymal subtype) [58]. The prevalence of BS varies between less than 1 and 20 for each 100,000 individuals depending on the geographical region, with a significant presence in Asian countries 30° – 40° north of the Equator from the Mediterranean to Japan [59]. Familial aggregation of BS has been reported in 18% of a Turkish cohort, especially in juvenile patients [60].

HLA Alleles in BS

The class I HLA-B51 antigen represents the stronger genetic marker for BS and its association with disease has been consistently confirmed in independent studies across different ethnic groups. Its contribution to overall BS risk has been estimated to be around 20% with an OR of 5.78 [61]. Among all the known HLA-B51 sub-types, *HLA-B*51:01* has been found the major risk allele associated with BS in all the populations studied [62–65]. Although the association of HLA-B51 with BS has been known since the 1970s, the exact mechanism by which it contributes to the disease is still not fully clear. However, studies in transgenic animals suggest this molecule may be responsible for the neutrophil hyperfunction observed in BS patients [66].

Several other *HLA* alleles have been proposed as additional risk factors for BS but their level of confidence is generally low due to small sample size and the strong LD with *HLA-B*51:01*. Only approaches encompassing conditioning analysis or employing *HLA-B*51* non-carrier cohorts have been able to identify truly independent associations. They include either risk alleles such as *HLA-A*26*, *HLA-B*15*, *HLA-B*27* and *HLA-B*57* or protective alleles like *HLA-A*03* and *HLA-B*49* [67, 68].

Non-HLA Alleles in BS

A number of GWASs have been conducted on BS, resulting in several hits outside the *MHC* region. Among them, the interleukin 10 (*IL10*) locus and the intergenic region between interleukin 23 receptor (*IL23R*) and interleukin 12 receptor β 2 (*IL12RB2*) have been cross-validated in two independent large GWASs in distinct populations [69, 70]. Notably, these genes encode cytokines involved in the regulation of the immune response – IL-23 is a heterodimeric cytokine that promotes Th17 cell development and induces the production of proinflammatory cytokines; IL10 is instead a potent suppressor of inflammatory cytokine production and inhibits T cell and NK cell activation [71, 72].

A subsequent GWAS in 1,209 Turkish BS patients identified novel associations with loci containing the genes C-C motif chemokine receptor 1 (CCR1), signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4), and killer cell lectin-like receptor C4 (KLRC4). Two exonic SNPs in the endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase 1 (ERAP1) genes were also found associated with BS risk following a recessive model. Interestingly, an epistatic interaction between ERAP1 and HLA-B*51 was also detected [73]. Additional risk loci have been reported in smaller GWASs or candidate gene studies such as the GTPases of immunity-associated protein (GIMAP), TNF alpha-induced protein 3 (TNFAIP3), fucosyltransferase 2 (FUT2), and interleukin 12 subunit alpha (IL12A) [74-77]. Rare nonsynonymous risk variants in IL23R, toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2), and familial Mediterranean fever gene (*MEFV*) have been also identified in a recent targeted resequencing effort [78]. Although the molecular mechanisms by which these genes cause BS are not well understood, their functions suggest that both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system concur to disease susceptibility.

Guillain-Barré Syndrome

Guillain–Barré syndrome (GBS) is a peripheral neuropathy that causes acute neuromuscular failure. It is usually preceded by an infection that later evolves into an autoimmune response targeting peripheral nerves and their spinal roots, characterized by autoantibody production, complement activation as well as T cell reactivity [79]. This phenomenon suggests that molecular mimicry between microbial and nerve antigens may be the driving force of GBS. The prevalence of the disease calculated in the latest studies on European populations is estimated to be between 0.8 and 1.9 for each 100,000 persons, with rare reports of familial cases [80, 81].

HLA Alleles in GBS

Considering that infections represent a plausible environmental trigger for GBS, the involvement of the *MHC* locus in the etiology of the disease has been early postulated and many efforts have been undertaken to experimentally verify this connection. However, the vast majority of the studies have dismissed any associations between *HLA* alleles and GBS risk, including a recent meta-analysis which investigated the role of *HLA-DQB1* polymorphisms in Caucasian and Asian populations [82]. Although *HLA-DQB1* is not a general susceptibility factor, it may influence disease trajectory since higher frequencies of the *HLA-DQB1*05:01* allele have been reported in a cluster of GBS patients with a severe phenotype [83]. A subgroup-specific effect was also reported for *HLA-DRB1*07:01* as this allele seems to increase the risk of GBS only in those patients with preceding infection [40].

Interestingly, associations with the KIR inhibitory pairs KIR-2DL2/HLA-C2 and KIR-3DL1/HLA-Bw4-T have been also described, supporting a possible contribution of NK cell dysregulation to GBS pathogenesis [84].

Non-HLA Alleles in GBS

In addition to *HLA*, other immune genes have been evaluated for possible associations with GBS susceptibility. Among them, one of the most investigated is $TNF\alpha$ – a cytokine involved in the response against bacterial infections. Several studies have shown that a polymorphism in the *TNF* promoter region (-308 G > A) increases $TNF\alpha$ serum levels and is associated with GBS risk [85, 86]. These results have been confirmed in a recent meta-analysis [87]. Following a similar mechanism, two exonic polymorphisms enhancing the expression of interleukin 17 (*IL17*) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (*ICAM1*) genes have been also found associated with GBS [88].

Another class of immune molecules that aroused interest in the context of GBS are the immunoglobulin G Fc gamma receptors (Fc γ Rs). These proteins are essential for host defense as they confer potent cellular effector functions to the specificity of IgGs [89]. Three Fc γ R subclasses exhibit biallelic functional polymorphisms that determine efficacy of the cellular immune response (Fc γ RIIa: R131-H131; Fc γ RIIIa: 158V-158F; Fc γ RIIIb: NA1-NA2). A number of studies suggested that the R131-H131 polymorphism could be involved in GBS risk and severity [90–92]. However, subsequent investigations were not able to confirm such association [93].

Myasthenia Gravis

Myasthenia gravis (MG) is a relatively rare autoimmune disease characterized by fluctuating weakness and fatigability of skeletal and extraocular muscles. MG shows a high level of clinical and biological heterogeneity, usually associated with the presence of autoantibodies against proteins of the post-synaptic membrane at the neuromuscular junction. The majority of these autoantibodies are directed against the acetylcholine receptor (AChR) (present in about 85% of patients), but muscle-specific kinase (MuSK) and lipoprotein-related protein 4 (LRP4) are also targets [94]. The prevalence of MG is around 3–30 per 100,000 individuals, depending on the geographic region [95]. A few cases of familial MG have been documented as well [96, 97].

HLA Alleles in MG

The association between the *MHC* locus and MG is well established and several class I and II *HLA* alleles have been found enriched in different patient subgroups, possibly explaining the wide spectrum of MG clinical manifestations. Among them, the extended haplotype HLA-A1~HLA-B8~HLA-DR3~HLA-DQ2 (also known as ancestral haplotype AH8.1) has been consistently associated with early-onset MG (EOMG) in Caucasians, while the haplotype HLA-B7~HLA-DR2 seems to be more prevalent in the MG patients with late onset (LOMG) [98, 99]. More recent investigations in different European cohorts have also highlighted *HLA-DRB1*15:01*, *HLA-DQB1*05:02*, and *HLA-DRB1*16* as additional risk alleles for LOMG; *HLA-DRB1*13:01* was instead shown to exert protective effects for both EOMG and LOMG [100, 101]. Notably, the HLA-DR3 and HLA-DR7 serotypes exert opposite effects on MG phenotypes – the former being positively associated with EOMG and negatively with LOMG and the latter showing the opposite trend [102]. In Asian populations, an association with HLA-DR9 was reported in both Chinese and Japanese cohorts [103, 104].

Different GWASs have been carried out on GM, confirming known associations and finding novel ones. The first GWAS on 649 EOMG cases of European descent replicated *HLA-B*08* as the strongest risk allele for this subgroup [105]. A subsequent GWAS by the same group on LOMG cases found three new different peaks of association corresponding to *MHC* class II, *HLA-A* and *MHC* class III, while *HLA-DQA1*05:01* resulted protective [106]. In contrast, a GWAS on both subgroups identified two independent signals at *HLA-DQA1* for EOMG and LOMG, respectively [107].

In addition to disease onset, antibody-specific GM subgroups have shown distinct genetic patterns as well. The most consistent finding is the association between the *HLA-DQ5* serotype and MuSK antibody-positive MG patients, which was replicated in four independent studies [108–111]. An association with *HLA-DRB1*14* and *HLA-DRB1*15* was also detected in a Turkish cohort of anti-MuSK MG patients [110].

Non-HLA Alleles in MG

A number of associations outside the *MHC* locus have been identified through candidate gene studies and GWASs, some offering clues to address MG pathogenesis. For example, the first GWAS in EOMG confirmed the previous association with a missense coding variant (rs2476601) in protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22 (*PTPN22*) and reported the new association with another nonsynonymous SNP (rs2233290) in the TNFAIP3-interacting protein 1 (*TNIP1*) gene [105]. Interestingly, PTPN22 exerts immunomodulatory functions and the same missense SNP found in MG is associated with susceptibility to multiple autoimmune diseases [112]. TNIP1 works instead as an inhibitor of the NF κ B pathway and its ablation also leads to autoimmunity in animal models [113].

The GWAS on LOMG cases detected with genome-wide significance only the zinc finger and BTB domain containing 10 (ZBTB10) locus and reported suggestive associations for PTPN22 and TNF receptor superfamily member 11a (TNFRSF11A) [106]. The latter was independently replicated in the GWAS on combined MG subgroups, which also identified cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated 4 (CTLA4) as an additional risk locus for all MG patients [107]. Other candidate genes associated with MG susceptibility include galectin 1 (LGALS1), fork head/winged-helix transcription factor 3 (FOXP3), cathepsin L2 (CTSL2), TNF, interleukin 4 receptor α (IL4RA), interleukin 10 (IL10), interleukin receptor 26 (ILR2B), and muscle nicotinic acetylcholine receptor α -subunit (CHRNA1) [114–120]. For several of these genes, risk variants map to their promoter regions, suggesting transcriptional dysregulation as a possible mechanism of action. This is the case of CHRNA1, a gene of particular interest as its product is the major target of MG autoantibodies. The risk SNP rs16862847 (-478 A > G) was indeed demonstrated to alter CHRNA1 promoter activity by disrupting the binding site for the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) [121].

Other Neuroimmune Diseases

In this section, we will group those neuroimmune disorders whose genetic characterization is less developed. This is mainly due to their rarity and to the limited number of available studies. They include autoimmune encephalitis (AE), chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP), and stiff-man syndrome (SMS).

Genetics of AE

AE refers to an inflammatory process of the CNS mediated by autoantibodies against neuronal epitopes. The most common targets of AE autoantibodies include cell surface and synaptic proteins such as leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1 (LGI1) or the NMDA and AMPA receptors [122]. On the basis of a few small studies showing enrichment in specific *HLA* alleles, a complex etiology has been postulated for this class of brain disorders [123, 124]. However, no clear environmental or genetic risk factors have been associated with AE risk for long time. Only recently, a GWAS with 1,194 controls and 150 patients with anti-NMDAR or anti-LGI1 AE has identified for the first time a strong association with the class II haplotype *HLA-DRB1**07:01~*HLA-DQA1**02:01~*HLA-DQB1**02:02 for anti-LGI1 AE, and with the class I allele *HLA-B**07:02 for anti-NMDAR AE. Outside the *MHC* region, suggestive associations were also found for anti-LGI1 AE with the

doublecortin-like kinase 2 (*DCLK2*) locus and with a cluster of zinc-finger genes of unclear biological function [125].

Genetics of CIDP

CIDP is a neuropathy closely related to GBS, which is often considered its acute counterpart. CIDP etiology is autoimmune, mediated by humoral and cellular responses against Schwann cell antigens in the peripheral nervous system (PNS). However, unlike GBS, no infectious agent has been consistently linked with initiation of disease. In its typical form, CIDP clinical manifestation is characterized by a slowly progressive onset and symmetrical, sensorimotor involvement [126].

A number of candidate genes have been studied for their possible involvement in CIDP pathology. Early investigations reported an enrichment in the HLA-Aw30, HLA-B8, and HLA-Dw3 antigens among CIDP patients [127]. Significant associations were also highlighted with *HLA-DRB1*13* in a cohort of Tunisian patients, and with *HLA-DRB1*15* in CIDP patients positive for anti-neurofascin 155 (NF155) antibodies [128, 129]. Interestingly, a recent study has found that the frequency of the combination between KIR-3DL1 and its ligand HLA-Bw4l is greater in CIPD than controls, raising the possibility of NK cell function being an important factor for disease pathogenesis [130]. In addition to *HLA* genes, an association with the alpha-1 antitrypsin (*SERPINA1*) type M3 allele has been reported [131].

Genetics of SMS

SMS is a rare disorder of the CNS characterized by progressive rigidity of the truncal muscles, superimposed spasms, and an exquisite sensitivity to external stimuli. SPS pathology is associated with the presence of high titers of autoantibodies against the enzyme glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), which cause synaptic dysfunctions in GABAergic neurons by blocking GABA synthesis [132]. An early study highlighted a strong association with class II allele *HLA-DQB1*02:01* while the presence of *HLA-DQB1*06:02* or other *HLA-DQB1*06* alleles may be associated with a reduced prevalence of diabetes among patients with SMS [133].

Classic Neurodegenerative Diseases

The GWAS unbiased approach has radically changed our understanding of several brain disorders which had been thought for decades to be purely neurodegenerative. This is the case of common proteinopathies caused by the misfolding and aggregation of specific proteins such as $A\beta$ and tau in Alzheimer's disease (AD), or

 α -synuclein in Parkinson's disease (PD) [134]. In addition to non-*MHC* loci, a number of *HLA* alleles have been found associated with these diseases, pinpointing at the possible involvement of immune-mediated processes in their pathophysiology.

HLA Alleles in AD

Although suggestive associations with different class I and II HLA alleles (such as HLA-A*02 and HLA-DRB1*03) had been proposed through the years, the first convincing connection between the MHC locus and AD was obtained in a meta-analysis of four GWASs of European ancestry adding a total of 17,008 cases and 37,154 controls. A noncoding variant (rs9271192) tagging the HLA-DRB5-HLA-DRB1 locus was found associated with late-onset AD risk, and the same results were independently replicated in the Northern Han Chinese population [135, 136]. Interestingly, this SNP may function as an expression quantitative trait locus (eQTL) for HLA in the brain. In fact, rs9271192 is associated with increased levels of HLA-DRB1 transcript in the temporal cortex and cerebellum [137]. More recently, a finemapping effort on 5,919 AD cases and 5,771 controls of European origin has identified the extended haplotype HLA-A*03:01~HLA-B*07:02~HLA-DRB1*15:01~HLA-DQA1*01:02~HLA-DQB1*06:02 as a risk factor for patients negative for apolipoprotein (APOE) ɛ4 allele – APOE is the principal susceptibility locus in AD. Additionally, the class I haplotype HLA-A*03:01~HLA-B*07:02 was found correlated with higher cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) amyloid levels, while the class II haplotype HLA-DRB1*15:01~HLA-DQA1*01:02~HLA-DQB1*06:02 was associated with faster cognitive decline in a dose-dependent fashion [138].

HLA Alleles in PD

The first study to highlight an association between the *MHC* locus and PD risk was a GWAS on 2,000 cases and 1,986 unaffected controls of European ancestry which reported a noncoding variant (rs3129882) in *HLA-DRA* as the top peak [139]. A subsequent meta-analysis of five GWASs on American and European cohorts identified another significant association with an intronic SNP (rs32588205) in *HLA-DRB5* [140]. Attempts to replicate these findings have generated conflicting results, possibly reflecting the less polymorphic nature of *HLA-DRA* and the low diffusion of the *HLA-DRB5* allele across the population. In this regard, a case-control study on ethnically homogeneous French cohorts found an association with rs660895 within the highly polymorphic *HLA-DRB1*, which was argued to represent a more legitimate candidate than the previously reported alleles [141]. However, a more recent investigation on the structural and regulatory variants in the *MHC* locus has shown that rs3129882 and the closely linked SNPs rs9268515 and rs2395163

remained significant irrespective of *HLA* alleles. Considering that rs3129882 and rs2395163 are both eQTLs for *HLA-DR* and *HLA-DQ*, the authors suggested that *HLA* gene expression might influence PD pathology [142].

Concluding Remarks and Future Perspectives

A decade of GWASs has proven the efficacy of this methodology in decoding the complex genetic architecture of several immune-mediated neurological diseases. A number of genetic loci, inside and outside the *MHC* region, are now known to be associated with disease susceptibility or disease trajectory (Table 1). Coordinated efforts involving multiple research groups worldwide and the creation of multicenter consortia have been instrumental for collecting sufficiently large datasets to reach adequate statistical power and analyze the genome with increasing resolution. In the future, it will be important to extend such winning strategy also to the investigation of the rarer disorders, which traditionally suffer from limited sample size.

In parallel, it will be crucial to translate this growing amount of genetic data into biologically meaningful information. However, interpreting GWAS statistical associations at the functional level is not an easy task and necessarily requires an experimental follow-up. This is because, in addition to the confounding effects of LD, the vast majority of GWAS hits map to the regulatory regions of the genome (promoters, enhancers, silencers, and other transcription factor binding sites), which are often located several Mb away from their real targets. As clearly seen in MS, most risk variants are believed to trigger disease by affecting the expression of determined genes rather than damaging the functionality of their protein products.

To pursue this aim, it will be first necessary to refine the association within established risk loci in order to identify the most plausible candidate risk variants for subsequent functional studies. Fine-mapping efforts employing batteries of genetic markers saturating the regions of interest will serve the scope. In addition, transancestral studies exploring the association in population characterized by different LD patterns could be extremely informative to narrow down the association signals. In recent times, with the accumulation of publicly available datasets from "omics" screenings, systems biology approaches have been also adopted to gain functional insights into genetic associations. One of the first attempts in this direction took advantage of large protein interaction networks (PIN), showing that the proteins encoded by genes mapping at MS risk loci are more likely to physically interact as they belong to the same or related pathways [143]. More sophisticated approaches integrate functional data coming from different sources in order to score all the SNPs in a given locus for their regulatory potential and identify their most biologically plausible targets. In this regard, there is a constant need of novel analytical methods with the capability of handling multiple layers of big data with increasing size.

Lastly, a new generation of in vivo models is required to validate the best candidate variants in a complex biological environment. To this end, the most recent tools

Disease	HLA alleles	Non-MHC loci	References
Multiple sclerosis (MS)	Risk: HLA-DRB1*15:01, HLA-DRB1*03:01, HLA- DRB1*13:03, HLA-DRB1*04:04, HLA-DRB1*08:01, HLA- DPB1*03:01, HLA-DQB1*03:02, HLA-B*37:01, HLA- DRB1*04:05, HLA-DRB1*15:03 Protective: HLA-A*02:01, HLA-B*44:02, HLA-B*55:01, HLA-B*38:01, HLA-DRB1*09, HLA-DRB1*11:01, HLA- DRB1*04:01, HLA-DRB1*14:01	Risk: >200 variants including <i>IL7RA</i> and <i>IL2RA</i>	[26, 27, 29, 30, 32–37]
Neuromyelitis optica (NMO)	Risk: <i>HLA-DPB1</i> *05:01, <i>HLA-DPB1</i> *03:01, <i>HLA-</i> <i>DRB1</i> *12, <i>HLA-DRB1</i> *16:02, <i>HLA-DRB1</i> *03:01, <i>HLA-DQA1</i> Protective: <i>HLA-DRB1</i> *09:01	Risk: <i>CD58, FCRL3,</i> <i>IL7, IL7R, IL17</i>	[32, 33, 47–50, 54–57]
Behçet's syndrome (BS)	Risk: <i>HLA-B</i> *51:01, <i>HLA-A</i> *26, <i>HLA-B</i> *15, <i>HLA-B</i> *27, <i>HLA-B</i> *57 Protective: <i>HLA-A</i> *03, <i>HLA-B</i> *49	Risk: <i>IL10</i> , intergenic region between <i>IL23R</i> and <i>IL12R</i> , <i>CCR1</i> , <i>STAT4</i> , <i>KLRC4</i> , <i>ERAP1</i> , <i>GIMAP</i> , <i>TNFAIP3</i> , <i>FUT2</i> , <i>IL12A</i>	[62–65, 67–70, 73–77]
Guillain–Barré syndrome (GBS)	Risk: <i>HLA-DRB1</i> *07:01	Risk: TNF, IL17, ICAM1	[40, 85–88]
Myasthenia gravis (MG)	Risk: HLA-B*08, HLA- A1~HLA-B8~HLA- DR3~HLA-DQ2 haplotype, HLA-DRB1*15:01, HLA- DQB1*05:02, HLA-DRB1*16, HLA-B7~HLA-DR2 haplotype, HLA-A, HLA-DQA1 Protective: HLA-DRB1*13:01, HLA-DQA1*05:01	Risk: PTDN22, TNIP1, TNFRSF11A, ZBTB10, CTLA4, LGALS1, TNF, FOXP3, CTSL2, IL4RA, IL10, ILR2B, CHRNA1	[98–101, 105–107, 114–120]
Autoimmune encephalitis (AE)	Risk: <i>HLA-DRB1</i> *07:01~ <i>HLA-DQA1</i> *02:01~ <i>HLA-DQB1</i> *02:02 haplotype, <i>HLA-B</i> *07:02	Risk: DCLK2	[125]
Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP)	Risk: HLA-Aw30, HLA-B8, HLA-Dw3, <i>HLA-DRB1*13</i> , <i>HLA-DRB1*15</i>	Risk: SERPINA1	[127–129, 131]

 Table 1
 Principal genetic associations with neuroimmune diseases

(continued)

Disease	HLA alleles	Non-MHC loci	References
Stiff-man syndrome (SMS)	Risk: <i>HLA-DQB1</i> *02:01	-	[133]
Alzheimer's disease (AD)	Risk: <i>HLA-DRB5–HLA-DRB1</i> locus, <i>HLA-A*03:01~HLA-</i> <i>B*07:02~HLA-</i> <i>DRB1*15:01~HLA-</i> <i>DQA1*01:02~HLA-DQB1*06:02</i> haplotype	Risk: ABCA7, APOE, BIN1, CLU, CR1, CD2AP, EPHA1, MS4A6A–MS4A4E, PICALM, INPP5D, MEF2C, NME8, ZCWPW1, PTK2B, CELF1, SORL1, FERMT2, SLC24A4, CASS4	[135, 138]
Parkinson's disease (PD)	Risk: HLA-DRA, HLA-DRB5	Risk: MAPT, SNCA, BST1, GAK, LRRK2, ACMSD, STK39, MCCC1–LAMP3, SYT11, CCDC62–HIP1R	[139, 140]

Table 1 (continued)

for genomic editing such as the CRISPR/Cas9 technology have provided unprecedented opportunities to model human diseases, allowing the precise modification of the host genome at the single nucleotide level as well as the humanization of whole genomic fragments [144]. Single or multiple variants can now be routinely inserted in almost any genetic background and their functional impact can be assessed in more physiological conditions as compared to traditional transgenic models. The possibility to introduce long sequences of exogenous DNA into the recipient genome also facilitates the study of long-range effects of putative regulatory variants.

In summary, after decades of unsuccessful attempts, we have finally started characterizing the genetic factors underlying neuroimmune diseases, fueled by new methods of genetic investigation. In the post-genomic era, the greatest challenge will be to fit such genetic associations into a coherent biological framework. This will allow a deeper understanding of the cellular pathways that are dysregulated upon disease and will likely provide novel targets for developing more effective therapeutic strategies.

Acknowledgments AD holds a Marilyn Hilton Award for Innovation in MS Research from the Conrad N. Hilton Foundation (#17323). The work was also supported by FISM-Fondazione Italiana Sclerosi Multipla Senior Research Fellowships Cod. 2014/B/1 and Cod. 2017/B/3 to AD and financed or co-financed with the "5 per mille" public funding.

References

- Wells E, Hacohen Y, Waldman A, Tillema JM, Soldatos A, Ances B, Benseler S, Bielekova B, Dale RC, Dalmau J, Gaillard W, Gorman M, Greenberg B, Hyslop A, Pardo CA, Tasker RC, Yeh EA, Bar-Or A, Pittock S, Vanderver A, Banwell B. Neuroimmune disorders of the central nervous system in children in the molecular era. Nat Rev Neurol. 2018;14(7):433–45. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0024-9.
- Schork NJ, Murray SS, Frazer KA, Topol EJ. Common vs. rare allele hypotheses for complex diseases. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2009;19(3):212–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2009.04.010.
- 3. Pulst SM. Genetic linkage analysis. Arch Neurol. 1999;56(6):667–72.
- Botstein D, White RL, Skolnick M, Davis RW. Construction of a genetic linkage map in man using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. Am J Hum Genet. 1980;32(3):314–31.
- Olson M, Hood L, Cantor C, Botstein D. A common language for physical mapping of the human genome. Science. 1989;245(4925):1434–5.
- Hearne CM, Ghosh S, Todd JA. Microsatellites for linkage analysis of genetic traits. Trends Genet. 1992;8(8):288–94.
- Bush WS, Moore JH. Chapter 11: Genome-wide association studies. PLoS Comput Biol. 2012;8(12):e1002822. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002822.
- Manolio TA. Genomewide association studies and assessment of the risk of disease. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(2):166–76. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0905980.
- Hirschhorn JN, Daly MJ. Genome-wide association studies for common diseases and complex traits. Nat Rev Genet. 2005;6(2):95–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1521.
- Slatkin M. Linkage disequilibrium--understanding the evolutionary past and mapping the medical future. Nat Rev Genet. 2008;9(6):477–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2361.
- Metzker ML. Sequencing technologies the next generation. Nat Rev Genet. 2010;11(1):31– 46. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2626.
- Horton R, Wilming L, Rand V, Lovering RC, Bruford EA, Khodiyar VK, Lush MJ, Povey S, Talbot CC Jr, Wright MW, Wain HM, Trowsdale J, Ziegler A, Beck S. Gene map of the extended human MHC. Nat Rev Genet. 2004;5(12):889–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1489.
- Kulski JK, Shiina T, Anzai T, Kohara S, Inoko H. Comparative genomic analysis of the MHC: the evolution of class I duplication blocks, diversity and complexity from shark to man. Immunol Rev. 2002;190:95–122.
- Ting JP, Trowsdale J. Genetic control of MHC class II expression. Cell. 2002;(109 Suppl):S21–33.
- Milner CM, Campbell RD. Genetic organization of the human MHC class III region. Front Biosci. 2001;6:D914–26.
- Hauser SL, Goodin DS. Multiple sclerosis and other demyelinating diseases. In: Harrison's principle of internal medicine., 18th Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2012.
- Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2008;372(9648):1502–17. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7.
- 18. Rosati G. The prevalence of multiple sclerosis in the world: an update. Neurol Sci. 2001;22(2):117–39.
- Koch M, Kingwell E, Rieckmann P, Tremlett H. The natural history of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2009;73(23):1996–2002. https://doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181c5b47f.
- 20. Sadovnick AD, Baird PA. The familial nature of multiple sclerosis: age-corrected empiric recurrence risks for children and siblings of patients. Neurology. 1988;38(6):990–1.
- Willer CJ, Dyment DA, Risch NJ, Sadovnick AD, Ebers GC, Canadian Collaborative Study Group. Twin concordance and sibling recurrence rates in multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(22):12877–82. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1932604100.
- Robertson NP, Fraser M, Deans J, Clayton D, Walker N, Compston DA. Age-adjusted recurrence risks for relatives of patients with multiple sclerosis. Brain. 1996;119(Pt 2):449–55.

- Naito S, Namerow N, Mickey MR, Terasaki PI. Multiple sclerosis: association with HL-A3. Tissue Antigens. 1972;2(1):1–4.
- 24. Jersild C, Svejgaard A, Fog T. HL-A antigens and multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 1972;1(7762):1240-1.
- Haines JL, Terwedow HA, Burgess K, Pericak-Vance MA, Rimmler JB, Martin ER, Oksenberg JR, Lincoln R, Zhang DY, Banatao DR, Gatto N, Goodkin DE, Hauser SL. Linkage of the MHC to familial multiple sclerosis suggests genetic heterogeneity. The Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Group. Hum Mol Genet. 1998;7(8):1229–34.
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC), Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (WTCCC2). Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. Nature. 2011;476(7359):214–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature10251.
- 27. Patsopoulos NA, Barcellos LF, Hintzen RQ, Schaefer C, van Duijn CM, Noble JA, Raj T, Imsgc A, Gourraud PA, Stranger BE, Oksenberg J, Olsson T, Taylor BV, Sawcer S, Hafler DA, Carrington M, De Jager PL, de Bakker PI. Fine-mapping the genetic association of the major histocompatibility complex in multiple sclerosis: HLA and non-HLA effects. PLoS Genet. 2013;9(11):e1003926. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003926.
- 28. Moutsianas L, Jostins L, Beecham AH, Dilthey AT, Xifara DK, Ban M, Shah TS, Patsopoulos NA, Alfredsson L, Anderson CA, Attfield KE, Baranzini SE, Barrett J, Binder TM, Booth D, Buck D, Celius EG, Cotsapas C, D'Alfonso S, Dendrou CA, Donnelly P, Dubois B, Fontaine B, Lar Fugger L, Goris A, Gourraud PA, Graetz C, Hemmer B, Hillert J, International IBDGC, Kockum I, Leslie S, Lill CM, Martinelli-Boneschi F, Oksenberg JR, Olsson T, Oturai A, Saarela J, Sondergaard HB, Spurkland A, Taylor B, Winkelmann J, Zipp F, Haines JL, Pericak-Vance MA, Spencer CC, Stewart G, Hafler DA, Ivinson AJ, Harbo HF, Hauser SL, De Jager PL, Compston A, McCauley JL, Sawcer S, McVean G, International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC). Class II HLA interactions modulate genetic risk for multiple sclerosis. Nat Genet. 2015;47(10):1107–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3395.
- 29. Patsopoulos N, Baranzini SE, Santaniello A, Shoostari P, Cotsapas C, Wong G, Beecham AH, James T, Replogle J, Vlachos I, McCabe C, Pers T, Brandes A, White C, Keenan B, Cimpean M, Winn P, Panteliadis I-P, Robbins A, Andlauer TFM, Zarzycki O, Dubois B, Goris A, Bach Sondergaard H, Sellebjerg F, Soelberg Sorensen P, Ullum H, Wegner Thoerner L, Saarela J, Cournu-Rebeix I, Damotte V, Fontaine B, Guillot-Noel L, Lathrop M, Vukusik S, Berthele A, Biberacher V, Buck D, Gasperi C, Graetz C, Grummel V, Hemmer B, Hoshi M, Knier B, Korn T, Lill CM, Luessi F, Muhlau M, Zipp F, Dardiotis E, Agliardi C, Amoroso A, Barizzone N, Benedetti MD, Bernardinelli L, Cavalla P, Clarelli F, Comi G, Cusi D, Esposito F, Ferre L, Galimberti D, Guaschino C, Leone MA, Martinelli V, Moiola L, Salvetti M, Sorosina M, Vecchio D, Zauli A, Santoro S, Zuccala M, Mescheriakova J, van Duijn C, Bos SD, Celius EG, Spurkland A, Comabella M, Montalban X, Alfredsson L, Bomfim IL, Gomez-Cabrero D, Hillert J, Jagodic M, Linden M, Piehl F, Jelcic I, Martin R, Sospedra M, Baker A, Ban M, Hawkins C, Hysi P, Kalra S, Karpe F, Khadake J, Lachance G, Molyneux P, Neville M, Thorpe J, Bradshaw E, Caillier SJ, Calabresi P, Cree BAC, Cross A, Davis MF, de Bakker P, Delgado S, Dembele M, Edwards K, Fitzgerald K, Frohlich IY, Gourraud P-A, Haines JL, Hakonarson H, Kimbrough D, Isobe N, Konidari I, Lathi E, Lee MH, Li T, An D, Zimmer A, Lo A, Madireddy L, Manrique CP, Mitrovic M, Olah M, Patrick E, Pericak-Vance MA, Piccio L, Schaefer C, Weiner H, Lage K, Compston A, Hafler D, Harbo HF, Hauser SL, Stewart G, D'Alfonso S, Hadjigeorgiou G, Taylor B, Barcellos LF, Booth D, Hintzen R, Kockum I, Martinelli-Boneschi F, McCauley JL, Oksenberg JR, Oturai A, Sawcer S, Ivinson AJ, Olsson T, De Jager PL. The Multiple Sclerosis Genomic Map: role of peripheral immune cells and resident microglia in susceptibility. bioRxiv. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1101/143933.
- McElroy JP, Isobe N, Gourraud PA, Caillier SJ, Matsushita T, Kohriyama T, Miyamoto K, Nakatsuji Y, Miki T, Hauser SL, Oksenberg JR, Kira J. SNP-based analysis of the HLA locus in Japanese multiple sclerosis patients. Genes Immun. 2011;12(7):523–30. https://doi. org/10.1038/gene.2011.25.

- Qiu W, James I, Carroll WM, Mastaglia FL, Kermode AG. HLA-DR allele polymorphism and multiple sclerosis in Chinese populations: a meta-analysis. Mult Scler. 2011;17(4):382– 8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458510391345.
- 32. Isobe N, Matsushita T, Yamasaki R, Ramagopalan SV, Kawano Y, Nishimura Y, Ebers GC, Kira J. Influence of HLA-DRB1 alleles on the susceptibility and resistance to multiple sclerosis in Japanese patients with respect to anti-aquaporin 4 antibody status. Mult Scler. 2010;16(2):147–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458509355067.
- Yoshimura S, Isobe N, Yonekawa T, Matsushita T, Masaki K, Sato S, Kawano Y, Yamamoto K, Kira J, South Japan Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium. Genetic and infectious profiles of Japanese multiple sclerosis patients. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e48592. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048592.
- 34. Oksenberg JR, Barcellos LF, Cree BA, Baranzini SE, Bugawan TL, Khan O, Lincoln RR, Swerdlin A, Mignot E, Lin L, Goodin D, Erlich HA, Schmidt S, Thomson G, Reich DE, Pericak-Vance MA, Haines JL, Hauser SL. Mapping multiple sclerosis susceptibility to the HLA-DR locus in African Americans. Am J Hum Genet. 2004;74(1):160–7. https://doi. org/10.1086/380997.
- 35. Isobe N, Gourraud PA, Harbo HF, Caillier SJ, Santaniello A, Khankhanian P, Maiers M, Spellman S, Cereb N, Yang S, Pando MJ, Piccio L, Cross AH, De Jager PL, Cree BA, Hauser SL, Oksenberg JR. Genetic risk variants in African Americans with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2013;81(3):219–27. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31829bfe2f.
- 36. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC), Hafler DA, Compston A, Sawcer S, Lander ES, Daly MJ, De Jager PL, de Bakker PI, Gabriel SB, Mirel DB, Ivinson AJ, Pericak-Vance MA, Gregory SG, Rioux JD, McCauley JL, Haines JL, Barcellos LF, Cree B, Oksenberg JR, Hauser SL. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(9):851–62. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa073493.
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC). Analysis of immunerelated loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. Nat Genet. 2013;45(11):1353–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2770.
- 38. Mitrovic M, Patsopoulos N, Beecham A, Dankowski T, Goris A, Dubois B, Dhooghe M-B, Lemmens R, Van Damme P, Fitzgerald K, Bach Sondergaard H, Sellebjerg F, Sorensen PS, Ullum H, Wegner Thoerner L, Werge T, Saarela J, Cournu-Rebeix I, Damotte V, Fontaine B, Guillot-Noel L, Lathrop M, Vukusik S, Gourraud P-A, Andlauer T, Pongratz V, Buck D, Gasperi C, Graetz C, Bayas A, Heesen C, Kumpfel T, Linker R, Paul F, Stangel M, Tackenberg B, Then Bergh F, Warnke C, Wiendl H, Wildemann B, Zettl U, Ziemann U, Tumani H, Gold R, Grummel V, Hemmer B, Knier B, Lill C, Luessi E, Dardiotis E, Agliardi C, Barizzone N, Mascia E, Bernardinelli L, Comi G, Cusi D, Esposito F, Ferre L, Comi C, Galimberti D, Leone M, Sorosina M, Mescheriakova JY, Hintzen R, Van Duijn C, Bos S, Myhr K-M, Celius EG, Lie B, Spurkland A, Comabella M, Montalban X, Alfredsson L, Stridh P, Hillert J, Jagodic M, Piehl F, Jelcic I, Martin R, Sospedra M, Ban M, Hawkins C, Hysi P, Kalra S, Karpe F, Khadake J, Lachance G, Neville M, Santaniello A, Caillier S, Calabresi P, Cree B, Cross A, Davis M, Haines J, de Bakker P, Delgado S, Dembele M, Edwards K, Hakonarson H, Konidari I, Lathi E, Manrique C, Pericak-Vance M, Piccio L, Schaefer C, McCabe C, Weiner H, Olsson T, Hadjigeorgiou G, Taylor B, Tajoori L, Charlesworth J, Booth D, Harbo HF, Ivinson A, Hauser S, Compston A, Stewart G, Zipp F, Barcellos L, Baranzini S, Martinelli Boneschi F, D'Alfonso S, Ziegler A, Oturai A, McCauley J, Sawcer S, Oksenberg J, De Jager P, Kockum I, Hafler D, Cotsapas C. Low frequency and rare coding variation contributes to multiple sclerosis risk. Cell. 2018;175(6):1679-1687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2018.09.049.
- 39. Gregory SG, Schmidt S, Seth P, Oksenberg JR, Hart J, Prokop A, Caillier SJ, Ban M, Goris A, Barcellos LF, Lincoln R, McCauley JL, Sawcer SJ, Compston DA, Dubois B, Hauser SL, Garcia-Blanco MA, Pericak-Vance MA, Haines JL, Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Group. Interleukin 7 receptor alpha chain (IL7R) shows allelic and functional association with multiple sclerosis. Nat Genet. 2007;39(9):1083–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng2103.

- 40. Gregory AP, Dendrou CA, Attfield KE, Haghikia A, Xifara DK, Butter F, Poschmann G, Kaur G, Lambert L, Leach OA, Promel S, Punwani D, Felce JH, Davis SJ, Gold R, Nielsen FC, Siegel RM, Mann M, Bell JI, McVean G, Fugger L. TNF receptor 1 genetic risk mirrors outcome of anti-TNF therapy in multiple sclerosis. Nature. 2012;488(7412):508–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11307.
- Didonna A, Oksenberg JR. Genetic determinants of risk and progression in multiple sclerosis. Clin Chim Acta. 2015;449:16–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2015.01.034.
- Lennon VA, Wingerchuk DM, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Fujihara K, Nakashima I, Weinshenker BG. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2004;364(9451):2106–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17551-X.
- Wingerchuk DM, Lennon VA, Lucchinetti CF, Pittock SJ, Weinshenker BG. The spectrum of neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6(9):805–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1474-4422(07)70216-8.
- 44. Hor JY, Lim TT, Chia YK, Ching YM, Cheah CF, Tan K, Chow HB, Arip M, Eow GB, Easaw PES, Leite MI. Prevalence of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder in the multi-ethnic Penang Island, Malaysia, and a review of worldwide prevalence. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2018;19:20–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2017.10.015.
- Matiello M, Kim HJ, Kim W, Brum DG, Barreira AA, Kingsbury DJ, Plant GT, Adoni T, Weinshenker BG. Familial neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. 2010;75(4):310–5. https://doi. org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ea9f15.
- 46. Matiello M, Schaefer-Klein J, Brum DG, Atkinson EJ, Kantarci OH, Weinshenker BG, NMO Genetics Collaborators. HLA-DRB1*1501 tagging rs3135388 polymorphism is not associated with neuromyelitis optica. Mult Scler. 2010;16(8):981–4. https://doi. org/10.1177/1352458510374340.
- 47. Matsushita T, Matsuoka T, Isobe N, Kawano Y, Minohara M, Shi N, Nishimura Y, Ochi H, Kira J. Association of the HLA-DPB1*0501 allele with anti-aquaporin-4 antibody positivity in Japanese patients with idiopathic central nervous system demyelinating disorders. Tissue Antigens. 2009;73(2):171–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0039.2008.01172.x.
- Wang H, Dai Y, Qiu W, Zhong X, Wu A, Wang Y, Lu Z, Bao J, Hu X. HLA-DPB1 0501 is associated with susceptibility to anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies positive neuromyelitis optica in southern Han Chinese. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;233(1–2):181–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneuroim.2010.11.004.
- 49. Fukazawa T, Kikuchi S, Miyagishi R, Miyazaki Y, Yabe I, Hamada T, Sasaki H. HLAdPB1*0501 is not uniquely associated with opticospinal multiple sclerosis in Japanese patients. Important role of DPB1*0301. Mult Scler. 2006;12(1):19–23. https://doi.org/10.1 191/135248506ms12520a.
- Deschamps R, Paturel L, Jeannin S, Chausson N, Olindo S, Bera O, Bellance R, Smadja D, Cesaire D, Cabre P. Different HLA class II (DRB1 and DQB1) alleles determine either susceptibility or resistance to NMO and multiple sclerosis among the French Afro-Caribbean population. Mult Scler. 2011;17(1):24–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458510382810.
- 51. Estrada K, Whelan CW, Zhao F, Bronson P, Handsaker RE, Sun C, Carulli JP, Harris T, Ransohoff RM, McCarroll SA, Day-Williams AG, Greenberg BM, MacArthur DG. A wholegenome sequence study identifies genetic risk factors for neuromyelitis optica. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):1929. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04332-3.
- Matiello M, Schaefer-Klein JL, Hebrink DD, Kingsbury DJ, Atkinson EJ, Weinshenker BG, NMO Genetics Collaborators. Genetic analysis of aquaporin-4 in neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. 2011;77(12):1149–55. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31822f045b.
- Crane JM, Rossi A, Gupta T, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Orthogonal array formation by human aquaporin-4: examination of neuromyelitis optica-associated aquaporin-4 polymorphisms. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;236(1–2):93–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.05.001.

- 54. Kim JY, Bae JS, Kim HJ, Shin HD. CD58 polymorphisms associated with the risk of neuromyelitis optica in a Korean population. BMC Neurol. 2014;14:57. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2377-14-57.
- 55. Wang X, Yu T, Yan Q, Wang W, Meng N, Li X, Luo Y. Significant association between Fc receptor-like 3 polymorphisms (-1901A>G and -658C>T) and neuromyelitis optica (NMO) susceptibility in the Chinese population. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53(1):686–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-014-9036-7.
- 56. Zhuang JC, Wu L, Qian MZ, Cai PP, Liu QB, Zhao GX, Li ZX, Wu ZY. Variants of interleukin-7/interleukin-7 receptor alpha are associated with both neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis among Chinese Han population in southeastern China. Chin Med J. 2015;128(22):3062–8. https://doi.org/10.4103/0366-6999.169093.
- 57. Wang H, Zhong X, Wang K, Qiu W, Li J, Dai Y, Hu X. Interleukin 17 gene polymorphism is associated with anti-aquaporin 4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica in the southern Han Chinese--a case control study. J Neurol Sci. 2012;314(1–2):26–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jns.2011.11.005.
- Al-Araji A, Kidd DP. Neuro-Behcet's disease: epidemiology, clinical characteristics, and management. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8(2):192–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1474-4422(09)70015-8.
- Mendes D, Correia M, Barbedo M, Vaio T, Mota M, Goncalves O, Valente J. Behcet's disease--a contemporary review. J Autoimmun. 2009;32(3–4):178–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaut.2009.02.011.
- Gul A, Inanc M, Ocal L, Aral O, Konice M. Familial aggregation of Behcet's disease in Turkey. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000;59(8):622–5.
- 61. de Menthon M, Lavalley MP, Maldini C, Guillevin L, Mahr A. HLA-B51/B5 and the risk of Behcet's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of case-control genetic association studies. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(10):1287–96. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24642.
- Mizuki N, Inoko H, Ando H, Nakamura S, Kashiwase K, Akaza T, Fujino Y, Masuda K, Takiguchi M, Ohno S. Behcet's disease associated with one of the HLA-B51 subantigens, HLA-B*5101. Am J Ophthalmol. 1993;116(4):406–9.
- 63. Mizuki N, Ohno S, Ando H, Chen L, Palimeris GD, Stavropoulos-Ghiokas E, Ishihara M, Goto K, Nakamura S, Shindo Y, Isobe K, Ito N, Inoko H. A strong association between HLA-B*5101 and Behcet's disease in Greek patients. Tissue Antigens. 1997;50(1):57–60.
- 64. Gonzalez-Escribano MF, Rodriguez MR, Walter K, Sanchez-Roman J, Garcia-Lozano JR, Nunez-Roldan A. Association of HLA-B51 subtypes and Behcet's disease in Spain. Tissue Antigens. 1998;52(1):78–80.
- 65. Kera J, Mizuki N, Ota M, Katsuyama Y, Pivetti-Pezzi P, Ohno S, Inoko H. Significant associations of HLA-B*5101 and B*5108, and lack of association of class II alleles with Behcet's disease in Italian patients. Tissue Antigens. 1999;54(6):565–71.
- 66. Takeno M, Kariyone A, Yamashita N, Takiguchi M, Mizushima Y, Kaneoka H, Sakane T. Excessive function of peripheral blood neutrophils from patients with Behcet's disease and from HLA-B51 transgenic mice. Arthritis Rheum. 1995;38(3):426–33.
- 67. Ombrello MJ, Kirino Y, de Bakker PI, Gul A, Kastner DL, Remmers EF. Behcet diseaseassociated MHC class I residues implicate antigen binding and regulation of cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(24):8867–72. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1406575111.
- Meguro A, Inoko H, Ota M, Katsuyama Y, Oka A, Okada E, Yamakawa R, Yuasa T, Fujioka T, Ohno S, Bahram S, Mizuki N. Genetics of Behcet disease inside and outside the MHC. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(4):747–54. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2009.108571.
- 69. Mizuki N, Meguro A, Ota M, Ohno S, Shiota T, Kawagoe T, Ito N, Kera J, Okada E, Yatsu K, Song YW, Lee EB, Kitaichi N, Namba K, Horie Y, Takeno M, Sugita S, Mochizuki M, Bahram S, Ishigatsubo Y, Inoko H. Genome-wide association studies identify IL23R-IL12RB2 and IL10 as Behcet's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet. 2010;42(8):703–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.624.

- 70. Remmers EF, Cosan F, Kirino Y, Ombrello MJ, Abaci N, Satorius C, Le JM, Yang B, Korman BD, Cakiris A, Aglar O, Emrence Z, Azakli H, Ustek D, Tugal-Tutkun I, Akman-Demir G, Chen W, Amos CI, Dizon MB, Kose AA, Azizlerli G, Erer B, Brand OJ, Kaklamani VG, Kaklamanis P, Ben-Chetrit E, Stanford M, Fortune F, Ghabra M, Ollier WE, Cho YH, Bang D, O'Shea J, Wallace GR, Gadina M, Kastner DL, Gul A. Genome-wide association study identifies variants in the MHC class I, IL10, and IL23R-IL12RB2 regions associated with Behcet's disease. Nat Genet. 2010;42(8):698–702. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.625.
- IwakuraY, Ishigame H. The IL-23/IL-17 axis in inflammation. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(5):1218– 22. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI28508.
- Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Vieira P, Mosmann TR, Howard M, Moore KW, O'Garra A. IL-10 acts on the antigen-presenting cell to inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells. J Immunol. 1991;146(10):3444–51.
- 73. Kirino Y, Bertsias G, Ishigatsubo Y, Mizuki N, Tugal-Tutkun I, Seyahi E, Ozyazgan Y, Sacli FS, Erer B, Inoko H, Emrence Z, Cakar A, Abaci N, Ustek D, Satorius C, Ueda A, Takeno M, Kim Y, Wood GM, Ombrello MJ, Meguro A, Gul A, Remmers EF, Kastner DL. Genomewide association analysis identifies new susceptibility loci for Behcet's disease and epistasis between HLA-B*51 and ERAP1. Nat Genet. 2013;45(2):202–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2520.
- 74. Lee YJ, Horie Y, Wallace GR, Choi YS, Park JA, Choi JY, Song R, Kang YM, Kang SW, Baek HJ, Kitaichi N, Meguro A, Mizuki N, Namba K, Ishida S, Kim J, Niemczyk E, Lee EY, Song YW, Ohno S, Lee EB. Genome-wide association study identifies GIMAP as a novel susceptibility locus for Behcet's disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(9):1510–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-200288.
- 75. Li H, Liu Q, Hou S, Du L, Zhou Q, Zhou Y, Kijlstra A, Li Z, Yang P. TNFAIP3 gene polymorphisms confer risk for Behcet's disease in a Chinese Han population. Hum Genet. 2013;132(3):293–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-012-1250-7.
- 76. Xavier JM, Shahram F, Sousa I, Davatchi F, Matos M, Abdollahi BS, Sobral J, Nadji A, Oliveira M, Ghaderibarim F, Shafiee NM, Oliveira SA. FUT2: filling the gap between genes and environment in Behcet's disease? Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(3):618–24. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204475.
- 77. Kappen JH, Medina-Gomez C, van Hagen PM, Stolk L, Estrada K, Rivadeneira F, Uitterlinden AG, Stanford MR, Ben-Chetrit E, Wallace GR, Soylu M, van Laar JA. Genome-wide association study in an admixed case series reveals IL12A as a new candidate in Behcet disease. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0119085. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119085.
- 78. Kirino Y, Zhou Q, Ishigatsubo Y, Mizuki N, Tugal-Tutkun I, Seyahi E, Ozyazgan Y, Ugurlu S, Erer B, Abaci N, Ustek D, Meguro A, Ueda A, Takeno M, Inoko H, Ombrello MJ, Satorius CL, Maskeri B, Mullikin JC, Sun HW, Gutierrez-Cruz G, Kim Y, Wilson AF, Kastner DL, Gul A, Remmers EF. Targeted resequencing implicates the familial Mediterranean fever gene MEFV and the toll-like receptor 4 gene TLR4 in Behcet disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(20):8134–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1306352110.
- Hughes RA, Cornblath DR. Guillain-Barre syndrome. Lancet. 2005;366(9497):1653–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67665-9.
- Sejvar JJ, Baughman AL, Wise M, Morgan OW. Population incidence of Guillain-Barre syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuroepidemiology. 2011;36(2):123–33. https://doi.org/10.1159/000324710.
- Geleijns K, Brouwer BA, Jacobs BC, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, van Duijn CM, van Doorn PA. The occurrence of Guillain-Barre syndrome within families. Neurology. 2004;63(9):1747–50.
- 82. Jin PP, Sun LL, Ding BJ, Qin N, Zhou B, Xia F, Li L, Liu LJ, Liu XD, Zhao G, Wang W, Deng YC, Hou SX. Human leukocyte antigen DQB1 (HLA-DQB1) polymorphisms and the risk for Guillain-Barre syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0131374. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131374.

- Schirmer L, Worthington V, Solloch U, Loleit V, Grummel V, Lakdawala N, Grant D, Wassmuth R, Schmidt AH, Gebhardt F, Andlauer TF, Sauter J, Berthele A, Lunn MP, Hemmer B. Higher frequencies of HLA DQB1*05:01 and anti-glycosphingolipid antibodies in a cluster of severe Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurol. 2016;263(10):2105–13. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00415-016-8237-6.
- Blum S, Csurhes P, Reddel S, Spies J, McCombe P. Killer immunoglobulin-like receptor and their HLA ligands in Guillain-Barre Syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;267(1–2):92–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.12.007.
- Zhang J, Dong H, Li B, Li CY, Guo L. Association of tumor necrosis factor polymorphisms with Guillain-Barre syndrome. Eur Neurol. 2007;58(1):21–5. https://doi.org/10.1159/000102162.
- Jahan I, Ahammad RU, Farzana KS, Khalid MM, Islam MB, Rahman MI, Nahar S, Kabir Y, Mohmmad QD, Islam Z. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha -863C/A polymorphism is associated with Guillain-Barre syndrome in Bangladesh. J Neuroimmunol. 2017;310:46–50. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.06.005.
- Liu J, Lian Z, Chen H, Shi Z, Feng H, Du Q, Zhang Q, Zhou H. Associations between tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene polymorphisms and the risk of Guillain-Barre syndrome and its subtypes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neuroimmunol. 2017;313:25–33. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.10.003.
- Kharwar NK, Prasad KN, Singh K, Paliwal VK, Modi DR. Polymorphisms of IL-17 and ICAM-1 and their expression in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Int J Neurosci. 2017;127(8):680– 7. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207454.2016.1231186.
- Van Sorge NM, Van Der Pol W-L, Van De Winkel JGJ. FcγR polymorphisms: implications for function, disease susceptibility and immunotherapy. Tissue Antigens. 2003;61(3):189– 202. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-0039.2003.00037.x.
- 90. van Sorge NM, van der Pol WL, Jansen MD, Geleijns KP, Kalmijn S, Hughes RA, Rees JH, Pritchard J, Vedeler CA, Myhr KM, Shaw C, van Schaik IN, Wokke JH, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC, van de Winkel JG, van den Berg LH. Severity of Guillain-Barre syndrome is associated with Fc gamma receptor III polymorphisms. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;162(1–2):157–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.01.016.
- Vedeler CA, Raknes G, Myhr KM, Nyland H. IgG Fc-receptor polymorphisms in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology. 2000;55(5):705–7.
- 92. van der Pol WL, van den Berg LH, Scheepers RH, van der Bom JG, van Doorn PA, van Koningsveld R, van den Broek MC, Wokke JH, van de Winkel JG. IgG receptor IIa alleles determine susceptibility and severity of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology. 2000;54(8):1661–5.
- Dourado MEJ, Ferreira LC, Freire-Neto FP, Jeronimo SM. No association between FCGR2A and FCGR3A polymorphisms in Guillain-Barre Syndrome in a Brazilian population. J Neuroimmunol. 2016;298:160–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2016.07.020.
- Meriggioli MN, Sanders DB. Autoimmune myasthenia gravis: emerging clinical and biological heterogeneity. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8(5):475–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1474-4422(09)70063-8.
- Carr AS, Cardwell CR, McCarron PO, McConville J. A systematic review of population based epidemiological studies in Myasthenia Gravis. BMC Neurol. 2010;10:46. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2377-10-46.
- Lavrnic D, Nikolic A, De Baets M, Verschuuren J, Verduyn W, Losen M, Stojanovic V, Stevic Z, Hajdukovic L, Apostolski S. Familial occurrence of autoimmune myasthenia gravis with different antibody specificity. Neurology. 2008;70(21):2011–3. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000312514.66164.88.
- Corda D, Deiana GA, Mulargia M, Pirastru MI, Serra M, Piluzza MG, Carcassi C, Sechi G. Familial autoimmune MuSK positive myasthenia gravis. J Neurol. 2011;258(8):1559–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-011-5964-6.
- Vandiedonck C, Beaurain G, Giraud M, Hue-Beauvais C, Eymard B, Tranchant C, Gajdos P, Dausset J, Garchon HJ. Pleiotropic effects of the 8.1 HLA haplotype in patients with

autoimmune myasthenia gravis and thymus hyperplasia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(43):15464–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0406756101.

- 99. Janer M, Cowland A, Picard J, Campbell D, Pontarotti P, Newsom-Davis J, Bunce M, Welsh K, Demaine A, Wilson AG, Willcox N. A susceptibility region for myasthenia gravis extending into the HLA-class I sector telomeric to HLA-C. Hum Immunol. 1999;60(9):909–17.
- 100. Maniaol AH, Elsais A, Lorentzen AR, Owe JF, Viken MK, Saether H, Flam ST, Brathen G, Kampman MT, Midgard R, Christensen M, Rognerud A, Kerty E, Gilhus NE, Tallaksen CM, Lie BA, Harbo HF. Late onset myasthenia gravis is associated with HLA DRB1*15:01 in the Norwegian population. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e36603. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036603.
- 101. Testi M, Terracciano C, Guagnano A, Testa G, Marfia GA, Pompeo E, Andreani M, Massa R. Association of HLA-DQB1 *05:02 and DRB1 *16 alleles with late-onset, nonthymomatous, AChR-Ab-positive myasthenia gravis. Autoimmune Dis. 2012;2012:541760. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/541760.
- 102. Giraud M, Beaurain G, Yamamoto AM, Eymard B, Tranchant C, Gajdos P, Garchon HJ. Linkage of HLA to myasthenia gravis and genetic heterogeneity depending on anti-titin antibodies. Neurology. 2001;57(9):1555–60.
- 103. Chen WH, Chiu HC, Hseih RP. Association of HLA-Bw46DR9 combination with juvenile myasthenia gravis in Chinese. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1993;56(4):382–5.
- 104. Matsuki K, Juji T, Tokunaga K, Takamizawa M, Maeda H, Soda M, Nomura Y, Segawa M. HLA antigens in Japanese patients with myasthenia gravis. J Clin Invest. 1990;86(2):392–9. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI114724.
- 105. Gregersen PK, Kosoy R, Lee AT, Lamb J, Sussman J, McKee D, Simpfendorfer KR, Pirskanen-Matell R, Piehl F, Pan-Hammarstrom Q, Verschuuren JJ, Titulaer MJ, Niks EH, Marx A, Strobel P, Tackenberg B, Putz M, Maniaol A, Elsais A, Tallaksen C, Harbo HF, Lie BA, Raychaudhuri S, de Bakker PI, Melms A, Garchon HJ, Willcox N, Hammarstrom L, Seldin MF. Risk for myasthenia gravis maps to a (151) Pro-->Ala change in TNIP1 and to human leukocyte antigen-B*08. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(6):927–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ana.23691.
- 106. Seldin MF, Alkhairy OK, Lee AT, Lamb JA, Sussman J, Pirskanen-Matell R, Piehl F, Verschuuren J, Kostera-Pruszczyk A, Szczudlik P, McKee D, Maniaol AH, Harbo HF, Lie BA, Melms A, Garchon HJ, Willcox N, Gregersen PK, Hammarstrom L. Genome-wide association study of late-onset myasthenia gravis: confirmation of TNFRSF11A and identification of ZBTB10 and three distinct HLA associations. Mol Med. 2016;21(1):769–81. https://doi.org/10.2119/molmed.2015.00232.
- 107. Renton AE, Pliner HA, Provenzano C, Evoli A, Ricciardi R, Nalls MA, Marangi G, Abramzon Y, Arepalli S, Chong S, Hernandez DG, Johnson JO, Bartoccioni E, Scuderi F, Maestri M, Gibbs JR, Errichiello E, Chio A, Restagno G, Sabatelli M, Macek M, Scholz SW, Corse A, Chaudhry V, Benatar M, Barohn RJ, McVey A, Pasnoor M, Dimachkie MM, Rowin J, Kissel J, Freimer M, Kaminski HJ, Sanders DB, Lipscomb B, Massey JM, Chopra M, Howard JF Jr, Koopman WJ, Nicolle MW, Pascuzzi RM, Pestronk A, Wulf C, Florence J, Blackmore D, Soloway A, Siddiqi Z, Muppidi S, Wolfe G, Richman D, Mezei MM, Jiwa T, Oger J, Drachman DB, Traynor BJ. A genome-wide association study of myasthenia gravis. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(4):396–404. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.4103.
- Niks EH, Kuks JB, Roep BO, Haasnoot GW, Verduijn W, Ballieux BE, De Baets MH, Vincent A, Verschuuren JJ. Strong association of MuSK antibody-positive myasthenia gravis and HLA-DR14-DQ5. Neurology. 2006;66(11):1772–4. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000218159.79769.5c.
- 109. Bartoccioni E, Scuderi F, Augugliaro A, Chiatamone Ranieri S, Sauchelli D, Alboino P, Marino M, Evoli A. HLA class II allele analysis in MuSK-positive myasthenia gravis suggests a role for DQ5. Neurology. 2009;72(2):195–7. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000339103.08830.86.

- 110. Alahgholi-Hajibehzad M, Yilmaz V, Gulsen-Parman Y, Aysal F, Oflazer P, Deymeer F, Saruhan-Direskeneli G. Association of HLA-DRB1*14, -DRB1*16 and -DQB1*05 with MuSK-myasthenia gravis in patients from Turkey. Hum Immunol. 2013;74(12):1633–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humimm.2013.08.271.
- 111. Nikolic AV, Andric ZP, Simonovic RB, Rakocevic Stojanovic VM, Basta IZ, Bojic SD, Lavrnic DV. High frequency of DQB1*05 and absolute absence of DRB1*13 in musclespecific tyrosine kinase positive myasthenia gravis. Eur J Neurol. 2015;22(1):59–63. https:// doi.org/10.1111/ene.12525.
- 112. Zheng J, Ibrahim S, Petersen F, Yu X. Meta-analysis reveals an association of PTPN22 C1858T with autoimmune diseases, which depends on the localization of the affected tissue. Genes Immun. 2012;13(8):641–52. https://doi.org/10.1038/gene.2012.46.
- 113. Nanda SK, Venigalla RK, Ordureau A, Patterson-Kane JC, Powell DW, Toth R, Arthur JS, Cohen P. Polyubiquitin binding to ABIN1 is required to prevent autoimmunity. J Exp Med. 2011;208(6):1215–28. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20102177.
- 114. Viken MK, Sollid HD, Joner G, Dahl-Jorgensen K, Ronningen KS, Undlien DE, Flato B, Selvaag AM, Forre O, Kvien TK, Thorsby E, Melms A, Tolosa E, Lie BA. Polymorphisms in the cathepsin L2 (CTSL2) gene show association with type 1 diabetes and earlyonset myasthenia gravis. Hum Immunol. 2007;68(9):748–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. huminm.2007.05.009.
- 115. Zhang J, Chen Y, Jia G, Chen X, Lu J, Yang H, Zhou W, Xiao B, Zhang N, Li J. FOXP3-3279 and IVS9+459 polymorphisms are associated with genetic susceptibility to myasthenia gravis. Neurosci Lett. 2013;534:274–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2012.11.048.
- 116. Pal Z, Antal P, Millinghoffer A, Hullam G, Paloczi K, Toth S, Gabius HJ, Molnar MJ, Falus A, Buzas EI. A novel galectin-1 and interleukin 2 receptor beta haplotype is associated with autoimmune myasthenia gravis. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;229(1–2):107–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.07.015.
- 117. Pal Z, Varga Z, Semsei A, Remenyi V, Rozsa C, Falus A, Illes Z, Buzas EI, Molnar MJ. Interleukin-4 receptor alpha polymorphisms in autoimmune myasthenia gravis in a Caucasian population. Hum Immunol. 2012;73(2):193–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. humimm.2011.11.001.
- Alseth EH, Nakkestad HL, Aarseth J, Gilhus NE, Skeie GO. Interleukin-10 promoter polymorphisms in myasthenia gravis. J Neuroimmunol. 2009;210(1–2):63–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2009.02.009.
- 119. Huang DR, Pirskanen R, Matell G, Lefvert AK. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha polymorphism and secretion in myasthenia gravis. J Neuroimmunol. 1999;94(1–2):165–71.
- 120. Heckmann JM, Morrison KE, Emeryk-Szajewska B, Strugalska H, Bergoffen J, Willcox N, Newsom-Davis J. Human muscle acetylcholine receptor alpha-subunit gene (CHRNA1) association with autoimmune myasthenia gravis in black, mixed-ancestry and Caucasian subjects. J Autoimmun. 1996;9(2):175–80. https://doi.org/10.1006/jaut.1996.0021.
- 121. Giraud M, Taubert R, Vandiedonck C, Ke X, Levi-Strauss M, Pagani F, Baralle FE, Eymard B, Tranchant C, Gajdos P, Vincent A, Willcox N, Beeson D, Kyewski B, Garchon HJ. An IRF8-binding promoter variant and AIRE control CHRNA1 promiscuous expression in thymus. Nature. 2007;448(7156):934–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06066.
- Dalmau J, Rosenfeld MR. Autoimmune encephalitis update. Neuro-Oncology. 2014;16(6):771–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nou030.
- 123. van Sonderen A, Roelen DL, Stoop JA, Verdijk RM, Haasnoot GW, Thijs RD, Wirtz PW, Schreurs MW, Claas FH, Sillevis Smitt PA, Titulaer MJ. Anti-LGI1 encephalitis is strongly associated with HLA-DR7 and HLA-DRB4. Ann Neurol. 2017;81(2):193–8. https://doi. org/10.1002/ana.24858.
- 124. Kim TJ, Lee ST, Moon J, Sunwoo JS, Byun JI, Lim JA, Shin YW, Jun JS, Lee HS, Lee WJ, Yang AR, Choi Y, Park KI, Jung KH, Jung KY, Kim M, Lee SK, Chu K. Anti-LGI1 encephalitis is associated with unique HLA subtypes. Ann Neurol. 2017;81(2):183–92. https://doi. org/10.1002/ana.24860.

- 125. Mueller SH, Farber A, Pruss H, Melzer N, Golombeck KS, Kumpfel T, Thaler F, Elisak M, Lewerenz J, Kaufmann M, Suhs KW, Ringelstein M, Kellinghaus C, Bien CG, Kraft A, Zettl UK, Ehrlich S, Handreka R, Rostasy K, Then Bergh F, Faiss JH, Lieb W, Franke A, Kuhlenbaumer G, Wandinger KP, Leypoldt F, German Network for Research on Autoimmune Encephalitis (GENERATE). Genetic predisposition in anti-LGI1 and anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2018;83(4):863–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25216.
- Koller H, Kieseier BC, Jander S, Hartung HP. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(13):1343–56. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra041347.
- 127. Stewart GJ, Pollard JD, McLeod JG, Wolnizer CM. HLA antigens in the Landry-Guillain-Barre syndrome and chronic relapsing polyneuritis. Ann Neurol. 1978;4(3):285–9. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ana.410040317.
- 128. Mrad M, Fekih-Mrissa N, Mansour M, Seyah A, Riahi A, Gritli N, Mrissa R. Association of HLA-DR/DQ polymorphism with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP) in Tunisian patients. Transfus Apher Sci. 2013;49(3):623–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.transci.2013.07.024.
- 129. Martinez-Martinez L, Lleixa MC, Boera-Carnicero G, Cortese A, Devaux J, Siles A, Rajabally Y, Martinez-Pineiro A, Carvajal A, Pardo J, Delmont E, Attarian S, Diaz-Manera J, Callegari I, Marchioni E, Franciotta D, Benedetti L, Lauria G, de la Calle Martin O, Juarez C, Illa I, Querol L. Anti-NF155 chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy strongly associates to HLA-DRB15. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14(1):224. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-017-0996-1.
- 130. Blum S, Csurhes P, McCombe P. The frequencies of Killer immunoglobulin-like receptors and their HLA ligands in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy are similar to those in Guillian Barre syndrome but differ from those of controls, suggesting a role for NK cells in pathogenesis. J Neuroimmunol. 2015;285:53–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jneuroim.2015.05.017.
- 131. McCombe PA, Clark P, Frith JA, Hammond SR, Stewart GJ, Pollard JD, McLeod JG. Alpha-1 antitrypsin phenotypes in demyelinating disease: an association between demyelinating disease and the allele PiM3. Ann Neurol. 1985;18(4):514–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ana.410180417.
- 132. Ali F, Rowley M, Jayakrishnan B, Teuber S, Gershwin ME, Mackay IR. Stiff-person syndrome (SPS) and anti-GAD-related CNS degenerations: protean additions to the autoimmune central neuropathies. J Autoimmun. 2011;37(2):79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaut.2011.05.005.
- 133. Pugliese A, Solimena M, Awdeh ZL, Alper CA, Bugawan T, Erlich HA, De Camilli P, Eisenbarth GS. Association of HLA-DQB1*0201 with stiff-man syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1993;77(6):1550–3. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.77.6.8263140.
- Ross CA, Poirier MA. Protein aggregation and neurodegenerative disease. Nat Med. 2004;10. Suppl:S10–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1066.
- 135. Lambert JC, Ibrahim-Verbaas CA, Harold D, Naj AC, Sims R, Bellenguez C, DeStafano AL, Bis JC, Beecham GW, Grenier-Boley B, Russo G, Thorton-Wells TA, Jones N, Smith AV, Chouraki V, Thomas C, Ikram MA, Zelenika D, Vardarajan BN, Kamatani Y, Lin CF, Gerrish A, Schmidt H, Kunkle B, Dunstan ML, Ruiz A, Bihoreau MT, Choi SH, Reitz C, Pasquier F, Cruchaga C, Craig D, Amin N, Berr C, Lopez OL, De Jager PL, Deramecourt V, Johnston JA, Evans D, Lovestone S, Letenneur L, Moron FJ, Rubinsztein DC, Eiriksdottir G, Sleegers K, Goate AM, Fievet N, Huentelman MW, Gill M, Brown K, Kamboh MI, Keller L, Barberger-Gateau P, McGuiness B, Larson EB, Green R, Myers AJ, Dufouil C, Todd S, Wallon D, Love S, Rogaeva E, Gallacher J, St George-Hyslop P, Clarimon J, Lleo A, Bayer A, Tsuang DW, Yu L, Tsolaki M, Bossu P, Spalletta G, Proitsi P, Collinge J, Sorbi S, Sanchez-Garcia F, Fox NC, Hardy J, Deniz Naranjo MC, Bosco P, Clarke R, Brayne C, Galimberti D, Mancuso M, Matthews F, European Alzheimer's Disease Initiative (EADI), Genetic and Environmental Risk in Alzheimer's Disease (GERAD), Alzheimer's Disease Genetic Consortium (ADGC), Cohorts for Heart and Aging Research in Genomic Epidemiology (CHARGE), Moebus S,

Mecocci P, Del Zompo M, Maier W, Hampel H, Pilotto A, Bullido M, Panza F, Caffarra P, Nacmias B, Gilbert JR, Mayhaus M, Lannefelt L, Hakonarson H, Pichler S, Carrasquillo MM, Ingelsson M, Beekly D, Alvarez V, Zou F, Valladares O, Younkin SG, Coto E, Hamilton-Nelson KL, Gu W, Razquin C, Pastor P, Mateo I, Owen MJ, Faber KM, Jonsson PV, Combarros O, O'Donovan MC, Cantwell LB, Soininen H, Blacker D, Mead S, Mosley TH Jr, Bennett DA, Harris TB, Fratiglioni L, Holmes C, de Bruijn RF, Passmore P, Montine TJ, Bettens K, Rotter JI, Brice A, Morgan K, Foroud TM, Kukull WA, Hannequin D, Powell JF, Nalls MA, Ritchie K, Lunetta KL, Kauwe JS, Boerwinkle E, Riemenschneider M, Boada M, Hiltuenen M, Martin ER, Schmidt R, Rujescu D, Wang LS, Dartigues JF, Mayeux R, Tzourio C, Hofman A, Nothen MM, Graff C, Psaty BM, Jones L, Haines JL, Holmans PA, Lathrop M, Pericak-Vance MA, Launer LJ, Farrer LA, van Duijn CM, Van Broeckhoven C, Moskvina V, Seshadri S, Williams J, Schellenberg GD, Amouyel P. Meta-analysis of 74,046 individuals identifies 11 new susceptibility loci for Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet. 2013;45(12):1452–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2802.

- 136. Jiao B, Liu X, Zhou L, Wang MH, Zhou Y, Xiao T, Zhang W, Sun R, Waye MM, Tang B, Shen L. Polygenic analysis of late-onset Alzheimer's disease from Mainland China. PLoS One. 2015;10(12):e0144898. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144898.
- 137. Allen M, Kachadoorian M, Carrasquillo MM, Karhade A, Manly L, Burgess JD, Wang C, Serie D, Wang X, Siuda J, Zou F, Chai HS, Younkin C, Crook J, Medway C, Nguyen T, Ma L, Malphrus K, Lincoln S, Petersen RC, Graff-Radford NR, Asmann YW, Dickson DW, Younkin SG, Ertekin-Taner N. Late-onset Alzheimer disease risk variants mark brain regulatory loci. Neurol Genet. 2015;1(2):e15. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXG.000000000000012.
- 138. Steele NZ, Carr JS, Bonham LW, Geier EG, Damotte V, Miller ZA, Desikan RS, Boehme KL, Mukherjee S, Crane PK, Kauwe JS, Kramer JH, Miller BL, Coppola G, Hollenbach JA, Huang Y, Yokoyama JS. Fine-mapping of the human leukocyte antigen locus as a risk factor for Alzheimer disease: a case-control study. PLoS Med. 2017;14(3):e1002272. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002272.
- 139. Hamza TH, Zabetian CP, Tenesa A, Laederach A, Montimurro J, Yearout D, Kay DM, Doheny KF, Paschall J, Pugh E, Kusel VI, Collura R, Roberts J, Griffith A, Samii A, Scott WK, Nutt J, Factor SA, Payami H. Common genetic variation in the HLA region is associated with late-onset sporadic Parkinson's disease. Nat Genet. 2010;42(9):781–5. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.642.
- 140. International Parkinson Disease Genomics Consortium (IPDGC). Imputation of sequence variants for identification of genetic risks for Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. Lancet. 2011;377(9766):641–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(10)62345-8.
- 141. Ahmed I, Tamouza R, Delord M, Krishnamoorthy R, Tzourio C, Mulot C, Nacfer M, Lambert JC, Beaune P, Laurent-Puig P, Loriot MA, Charron D, Elbaz A. Association between Parkinson's disease and the HLA-DRB1 locus. Mov Disord. 2012;27(9):1104–10. https:// doi.org/10.1002/mds.25035.
- 142. Wissemann WT, Hill-Burns EM, Zabetian CP, Factor SA, Patsopoulos N, Hoglund B, Holcomb C, Donahue RJ, Thomson G, Erlich H, Payami H. Association of Parkinson disease with structural and regulatory variants in the HLA region. Am J Hum Genet. 2013;93(5):984– 93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.10.009.
- 143. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC). Network-based multiple sclerosis pathway analysis with GWAS data from 15,000 cases and 30,000 controls. Am J Hum Genet. 2013;92(6):854–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.019.
- 144. Birling MC, Herault Y, Pavlovic G. Modeling human disease in rodents by CRISPR/ Cas9 genome editing. Mamm Genome. 2017;28(7–8):291–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00335-017-9703-x.

General Principles of Immunotherapy in Neurological Diseases



Paulus S. Rommer, Michael Hecker, Tobias Zrzavy, Nina Boxberger, and Uwe K. Zettl

Abstract Immunotherapy has changed the prognosis and outcome of many neuroimmunological diseases. In neurology, Immunotherapy aims to suppress or modulate the immune system. Due to the heterogeneity of immunological diseases, not all of the therapeutics are equally suited for different disorders. Thus, it is of importance to understand the pathophysiological and immunological background of the underlying disease as well as the mode of action of the various therapeutic agents. The aim of this chapter is to give an overview on the fundamental principles of the immune system. Selected diseases are presented to show the variety of the respective pathophysiological concepts. The last part describes the immunotherapies that are frequently used in neuroimmunological diseases with the mode of action and effects on the immune system. This chapter is addressed to clinicians who treat neuroimmunological disorders and shall facilitate the decision to find the right drug for the right patient.

Keywords Neuroimmunology · Immunotherapy · Innate immune system · Adaptive immune system · Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation · Anti-CD20 antibodies · Alemtuzumab · Glucocorticosteroids · Mycophenolate mofetil · Azathioprine · Cyclophosphamide · Tocilizumab · Cladribine · Dimethyl fumarate · Teriflunomide · IVIg · Plasma exchange · Interferon beta · Glatiramer acetate · Tocilizumab · Natalizumab

M. Hecker · N. Boxberger · U. K. Zettl

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

P. S. Rommer (🖂) · T. Zrzavy

Department of Neurology, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria e-mail: Paulus.Rommer@meduniwien.ac.at

Department of Neurology, Neuroimmunological Section, University of Rostock, Rostock, Germany

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_12

Introduction

Scientific progress in neurology and especially in neuroimmunology has revolutionized the management of neuroimmunological disorders. The emergence of immunotherapeutics has changed the course of disorders. Whereas in general, immunotherapy is defined as a therapy that aims to stimulate or suppress the immune system to fight infection or disease [1], in neuroimmunological diseases immunotherapy aims to reduce the inflammatory processes. Glucocorticosteroids [GCS] have been used in autoimmune diseases and in neuroimmunological diseases since the 1940s of the last century [2]. Since the approval of interferon beta [INF-ß] for the treatment of multiple sclerosis [MS] almost 25 years ago [3], tremendous changes have been observed in the treatment regimes used in neuroimmunological disorders [4]. Nowadays, a dozen drugs are approved for the treatment of MS [5]. With the emergence of agents with specific points of targets, a shift from unspecific to specific therapy has been achieved. Currently, these immunotherapeutics are used in plenty of neuroimmunological disorders [4].

At the beginning of this chapter, the fundamentals of the immune system will be briefly summarized (part I). Part II will deal with autoimmunity and basic pathophysiological pathways in selected disorders. Part III will summarize approved immunotherapeutics that are utilized in neurology. Fundamental knowledge of the immune system is required to understand the principles of immunotherapy. The chapter will close with concluding remarks.

Part I. Fundamentals of the Immune System

Two basic strategies in the immune defense can be differentiated: the innate and the adaptive immune response. The innate system is established at birth, whereas the adaptive immune system will "adapt" over time to various pathogens. The innate immune system is fast reacting. Its defense spectrum is broad, but not specific. This is in contrast to the adaptive immune system with specific defense mechanisms [6].

Main components of the innate immune system are barriers (skin, gastrointestinal tract, respiratory airways, nasopharynx, eyes, blood-brain barrier [BBB], and mucous membranes), phagocytes, dendritic cells, mast cells, natural killer [NK] cells, and complement [7]. Components of the innate immune system derive from a common myeloid progenitor [colony-forming unit – granulocyte, erythrocyte, monocyte/macrophage, megakaryocyte (CFU-GEMM) [8]] with exception of NK cells [9], whereas cells of the adaptive immune system have a common lymphoid progenitor as the origin. Progenitor cells are ascending from hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow. Figure 1 gives an overview of the development of the various immune cells. The differentiation of B cells takes place in the bursa equivalent and secondary lymphoid organs such as gut-associated lymphoid tissue [GALT] in humans, whereas T cells egress and differentiate in the thymus [6].



Fig. 1 Overview of the development of immune cells. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) differentiate, via multipotent progenitor cells, into progenitors of the myeloid lineage (CMP) and progenitors of the lymphoid lineage (CLP). The progenitor cells specialize further into mature cells. Most cells of the innate immune system belong to the myeloid lineage, but innate lymphoid cells (ILC) and natural killer (NK) cells arise from the lymphoid lineage

Besides its tasks as the first line of defense, the innate immune system activates the adaptive immune system. NK cells are part of the innate immune system [10], whereas NKT cells possess as type I NKT cells properties of the innate immune system and as type II NKT cells share similarities with adaptive immune cells [11]. The complement system needs further activation by cytokines and antibodies [10]. Thus, it is a good example for the links between innate and adaptive immune system.

The first step for provoking the adaptive immune system is the activation of antigen-presenting cells [APC]. Lymphocytes are activated by antigens leading to clones of antigen-specific cells that are responsible for the acquired immunity. Through rearrangements of B and T cell receptors [BCR and TCR] and antibodies, the acquired immune system creates an enormous diversity [12]. One of the main tasks of the acquired immune system is the differentiation of self- from non-self. In response to pathogenic (non-self) antigens, specific antibodies will be released from B cells: IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG, and IgM. Antibodies are circulating in the blood of patients, thus they are part of the humoral immune system [6]. Those antibodies neutralize pathogens, catalyze phagocytosis, and activate complement. T cells belong to the cell-mediated defense strategy. Cytotoxic T cells (CD8+ T cells) recognize pathogenic antigens expressed on infected cells, leading to their cell death. Other parts are T helper cells [Th] (CD4+ T cells). Th cells are activated by antigen presentation via APCs. Th cells do not have phagocytic or cytolytic characteristics, still they mediate the immune response and activate the further immune cascade [13]. Whereas Th1 and Th2 cells might activate the immune system, regulatory T cells [Tregs] suppress the immune system. Th cells are an important player in balancing the immune reaction. T and B cells release cytokines leading to the activation of macrophages, and further activation of B or T cells. Cytokines, however, belong to the humoral immune response. After the activation of B and T cells, memory B and T cells will evolve [14]. This is the consequence of clonal expansion of lymphocytes. Memory cells outlive the pathogenic antigen and are responsible for the specific and fast response to a second exposure to the antigen. This is called immunological memory [7]. Figures 2 and 3 give an overview of the development of B and T cells.

Both immune strategies comprise parts of the cell-mediated and humoral immunity. In the literature, the classification as humoral immune response is based on the release of interleukins and cytokines. Components of the cell-mediated immune system are phagocytes (macrophages, granulocytes, dendritic cells), lymphoid cells, mast cells, NK cells, and T cells. The humoral immune response comprises the complement system and interleukins released from components of the innate immune or adaptive system. The cell-mediated immune system comprises especially the T cells, whereas the humoral immunity is particularly based on B cells [6, 7]. Figure 4 gives an overview of the different T cell subtypes, their major immune functions, and respective proliferation/activation pathways [15–21].


Fig. 2 Overview of the development of B cells and of therapeutic agents that target B cells in distinct stages. In the bone marrow, common lymphoid progenitor cells (CLP) differentiate into pro-B cells (Pro-BC). Once they express a precursor B cell receptor, they become pre-BC. The first IgM-expressing B cells are called immature BC. They migrate into the periphery, spleen or lymph nodes as transitional BC. Upon antigen recognition with the help of T cells and cytokine signaling, mature BC proliferate and differentiate into memory BC or plasma cells



Fig. 3 Overview of the development of T cells. In the thymus, common lymphoid progenitor cells (CLP) develop, via various progenitor-T cell stages, into double-positive immature thymocytes that express the T cell receptor. Upon differentiation into single-positive cells, either naive CD8+TC or naive CD4+TC, they migrate into the periphery, spleen, and lymph nodes. Upon recognition of major histocompatibility complex-bound antigens and cytokine signaling, naive cells specialize into memory TC and effector TC



Fig. 4 Overview of effector T cells and their major immune functions. Most T cell (TC) subsets that are distinguished develop from naive CD4+ or CD8+ TC that express the $\alpha\beta$ T cell receptor (TCR). Natural killer (NK) TC develop from an earlier stage of $\alpha\beta$ TCR-positive thymocytes. TC that express the $\gamma\delta$ TCR are called $\gamma\delta$ TC and they develop separately from the Pro-T2 or Pro-T3 stages. The various effector TC are characterized by distinct markers, and they mediate distinct immune functions in the defense against different pathogens. Tfh, follicular helper T cells

Part II. Pathophysiology of Neuroimmunological Disorders

In neuroimmunological diseases, autoimmune processes are mostly responsible for the reaction of the immune system against the host. In this case, the immune system attacks components of the central nervous system [CNS] or peripheral nervous system [PNS]. For most of the diseases, e.g., MS, the cause is not clear, but in others, an underlying malignancy, as in paraneoplastic disorders, is the triggering event. An imbalance of regulatory and inflammatory cells is the basis for the autoimmune reaction.

Autoimmunity

Autoimmunity refers to an immune response against cells and tissue of the host (autoantigens). Immunological tolerance is a key factor for that self-antigens are recognized and no immunological response is triggered. Central and peripheral tolerance prevents reactivity to self-antigens. If an immune system is tolerant to antigens, infections may occur, but in case of impaired tolerance, autoimmunity can be the consequence. Tregs, especially CD4 + CD25 + Foxp3+ Tregs, control autoreactive T and B cells [12]. Besides Tregs, also mesenchymal stem cells [MSC], interleukin-10 [IL], and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 [CTLA-4] are players in the elimination of autoreactive cells [22]. Furthermore, intracellular

communication networks can be dysfunctional and result in excessive cytokine, chemokine, and antibody release [12]. Each of these checkpoints is of importance in autoimmunity and a breakdown of these mechanisms will result in autoimmune processes [23].

Central immune tolerance prevents naive T cells with self-antigens and recognizes autoreactive cells. Autoreactive T cells are normally eliminated by negative selection in the thymus, and also in lymphoid organs. Likewise, autoreactive B cells are eliminated in the spleen or in lymph nodes [12, 24]. Autoreactive T cells that are not eliminated in the thymus are subject to further mechanisms to protect from selfreactivity (by deletion, suppression, and clonal anergy). The importance of the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) in the elimination of self-reactive T cells has been elucidated. Mutations in the AIRE gene can result in autoimmune disorders [25].

Immune reactions in autoimmune diseases are specific (adaptive immune system). Autoimmunity may be organ-specific or systemic (like diabetes mellitus on the one side, and systemic lupus erythematodes on the other side). Environmental and genetic factors as well as the sex influence the susceptibility to autoimmune diseases. Genetic variations seem to be important in autoimmune processes that relate to immunoglobulins, TCRs, and the major histocompatibility complex [MHC]. Especially the HLA-alleles HLA B27, DR2, DR3, DR4, and DR5 are crucial [26]. However, discordance rates between monozygotic twins vary from 11% in SLE to 67% for psoriasis [27]. Classical studies in MS showed that the concordance rate is between 14% [28] and 50% [29]. A French study showed that up to 30% of twins (independent of zygosity) have signs of clinical or radiological affection [30]. More recent studies suggest that the familial risk for MS is lower than previously assumed [31]. The fact that the concordance rate is about 20% in a recent study [32] shows that besides genetic factors, environmental factors including infections, diet, stress, aging, drugs, and chemicals trigger epigenetic alterations [27].

Furthermore, infections, caused by viruses – of special importance are viruses in the genesis of autoimmunity and for the development and maintanance of autoreactive cells [33–35] – and bacteria, hormones, cytokines and genetic variations might trigger autoimmune responses. Epitope spreading, bystander activation, and polyclonal activation of B and T cells are of importance in this context [36]. The association of the immune response to self-antigens may be caused by pathogens by molecular mimicry. An immune response to antigens might be sustained due to molecular mimicry with similarities between exogenous and endogenous epitopes [12]. Self-reacting B and T cells that are not eliminated by apoptosis (non-self) can cause immune (self) reactions. Autoimmune diseases show abnormal clonally expanded T cells and antibody production; thus, an antigen-driven process is assumed. Self-antigens and exogenous antigens that are able to induce autoimmune processes are of utmost interest.

Some organs are privileged regions: the BBB protects the CNS from the migration of autoreactive lymphocytes. The CNS is one of these privileged regions, but by far not absolutely privileged [37]. Antigens may migrate to the CNS and induce an immune reaction. Some of the epitopes that may induce an immune reaction within the CNS have been investigated in animal models, e.g., experimental autoimmune encephalitis [EAE]. Myelin-derived antigens such as myelin basic protein [MBP] and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induce EAE. Their pathogenic role in human disease has been well established [24, 38]. Damage to host cells is the consequence of autoreactive antibodies, complement reactions, or local inflammations.

Immune tolerance also plays a key factor in pregnancy. Alloimmunity, an immune response to non-self-antigens from members of the same species, can occur if immune tolerance is lost during pregnancy. This might explain why the disease course for most autoimmune diseases is different during pregnancy [39, 40]. To give an overview on the broad range of neuroimmunological disorders, we present five distinct disorders with varying pathomechanisms.

Multiple Sclerosis

MS is an immune-mediated and neurodegenerative disease. More women than men are affected. The etiology of MS is not elucidated although environmental factors, such as infections, and genetic factors are discussed [41]. An autoimmune genesis is assumed. Autoreactive T and B cells escape from negative selection in the thymus [42, 43]. In the lymph node, Th cells are activated by APC in the presence of autoantigens or similar non-self-antigens. The activated T cells egress the lymph nodes and circulate in the peripheral blood [44]. Integrins facilitate cell-matrix-adhesion as well as the rolling and entering of leukocytes through the inflamed endothelium of the BBB [45]. Autoreactive lymphocytes are thus able to penetrate the BBB, enter the CNS, and trigger inflammatory reactions. Cytokines and chemokines are released. Autoreactive cells clonally expand intrathecally and further inflammatory cells are recruited to the CNS [46]. Besides T cells, also the importance of B cells is suggested by the presence of oligoclonal bands and B cells in the cerebrospinal fluid [CSF] of patients [47, 48] and the treatment response to B cell depletion therapy [49, 50]. So far, the triggering antigen has not been elucidated [51]. Cell-mediated and humoral immune responses are of importance in the pathophysiology of MS.

Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder

In contrast to MS, in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders [NMOSD], a distinct antibody targeting water-channel aquaporin 4 [52] has been shown to be specific for NMO in a majority of patients [53] and responsible for disease progression [52, 54]. After the detection of NMO-IgG, NMOSD can now be distinguished from MS, and is considered a separate disease entity. Passive transfer of human NMO-IgG in EAE led to severe neurological disability and has proven the pathogenic potential in animals [55]. Based on these results and on clinical experience with B cell depletion treatment [56], humoral autoimmunity is thought to be responsible for disease exacerbations.

Autoimmune Encephalitis

Autoimmune encephalitis is a heterogeneous group of immune-mediated disorders leading to a wide range of neurological symptoms including movement disorders, epileptic seizures, and cognitive impairment [57]. Psychiatric symptoms like limbic encephalitis are frequently reported [58]. An association with malignancies is described but not exclusively limited to an existing tumor [59]. Onconeural (intracellular) antibodies (e.g., anti-Yo, Hu, Ri, CV2, MA2) that are usually released in the presence of an existing malignancy can be differentiated from antibodies against surface antigens (e.g., anti-NMDAR, LGI1, CASPR2, IGLON5, AMPAR, GlyR) that are found in patients with varying rates of coexisting malignancies [59]. Whereas most of the antibodies against surface antigens seem to be of pathological relevance, this has not been proven for onconeural antibodies. In patients with onconeural antibodies neurodegeneration is assumed to be more driven by T cells [60]. Coexisting tumors triggering immune responses, e.g., ovarian teratomas in anti-NMDAR encephalitis, have to be removed and treated. Besides humoral immune responses, also cell-mediated mechanisms are seen.

Guillain-Barré Syndrome

Guillain-Barré syndrome [GBS] is an inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy. In up to 70% of the patients, anamnesis reveals an infection up to 6 weeks prior to neurological onset [61]. It is considered a post-infectious disorder, most frequently following gastrointestinal or respiratory infections [62]. Molecular mimicry is suggested, and, for instance, epitopes of *Campylobacter jejuni* are similar to the gangliosides of the peripheral nerve membrane [63]. It is an antibody-mediated disease, and antibodies targeting GQ1B, GD1a, and GM1 can be found in a subset of patients of GBS or their variants [61]. Humoral immune responses are the main players in the pathophysiological concepts.

Myasthenia Gravis

Myasthenia gravis [MG] is an autoimmune disorder leading to neuromuscular dysfunctions. Myasthenia syndromes are a group of disorders that are antibody mediated [64]. In most cases (up to 80% of the patients), antibodies against acetylcholine receptor [AchR] can be found (Ig subclass IgG1, IgG3) leading to complement reactions and AchR crosslinking and internalization. Muscle-specific kinase [MuSK] antibodies are of IgG4 class (and less IgG1 to IgG3) and can be detected in a subset of patients who are negative for antibodies against AchR [65]. In addition, also antibodies against lipoprotein receptor 4 [LRP4] can be found [64]. A failed negative T cell selection in the thymus seems to be causative for the immune processes [65]. Humoral immune aspects seem to be the main players, but links to the innate immune system (complement) and cell-mediated immune responses are observed.

Part III. Overview of Immunotherapies in Neurology: Mode of Action

Immunotherapy in neuroimmunological disorders aims to reduce the inflammatory processes. It is of importance to understand the pathophysiological mechanisms of diseases, and to have background knowledge of the therapeutic agents. Agents that have either been approved or commonly used for the treatment of neurological disorders are presented. Agents exert their effects by cell-mediated or humoral pathways, or by a combination of them. The mode of action is presented for all drugs in the following section. Therapeutic agents are presented in alphabetic order (see Table 1).

Substance	Mechanism of action	Innate	Adaptive	Utilized for		
Anti-CD20	B cell depletion		+	AIE, MG, MS, NMOSD, vasculitis	i.v.	Various dosage regimens, 600 mg every 6 months (ocrelizumab)
ALT	Lymphocyte depletion, repopulation of lymphocytes		+	MS	i.v.	First year: 12 mg on five consecutive days Second year: 12 mg on three consecutive days
aHSCT	Lymphoid and myeloid cells↓, repopulation of immune system	+	+	MG, MS		
AZA	Lymphocytes ↓ myeloid cells ↓	+	+	AIE, CIDP, GBS, MG, MS, NMOSD	p.o.	2–3 mg/kg daily
CLAD	Lymphocytes ↓		+	MS	p.o.	3.5 mg/kg over 2 years Two cycles consisting of two treatment weeks
СҮС	Lymphocytes ↓; TH1 → TH2 shift		+	AIE, MS, NMOSD, vasculitis	i.v.	600 – 1600 mg/m ² every 4–8 weeks

 Table 1
 Overview of biological effects, main application areas and most common dosages of immunotherapies in neurological diseases

Substance	Mechanism of action	Innate	Adaptive	Utilized for		
DMF	Nrf2↑, antioxidant proteins ↑, neuroprotection ↑, BBB migration ↓, TH1 → TH2 shift, proinflammatory macrophage activation ↓	+	+	MS	p.o.	240 mg twice daily
ECU	Complement ↓	+		MG, NMOSD	i.v.	900 mg weekly (induction) 1200 mg biweekly (maintenance)
GA	Tregs \uparrow , TH1 \rightarrow TH2 shift, competition for MHC	+	+	MS	s.c.	20 mg daily or 40 mg thrice weekly
GCS	Lymphocyte activation↓, BBB migration ↓, macrophage activation ↓	+	+	Universal	i.v.	Relapse treatment (MS): 0.5–1 g (2 g in case of escalation) for 3–5 days
IFN-ß	Proinflammatory lymphocyte activation ↓, anti-inflammatory activation↑, lymphocyte migration↓	+	+	MS	i.m./ s.c.	22–44 mcg thrice weekly ^a 250 mcg every other day ^b 30 mcg weekly ^c 125 mcg biweekly ^d
IVIg	Lymphocyte activation ↓, cytokine production ↓, complement activation ↓, macrophage activation↓	+	+	AIE, CIDP, GBS, MG, MS	i.v./ s.c.	Acute treatment 2 g/kg Maintenance treatment: 0.2/kg monthly
MMF	Lymphocyte proliferation \downarrow , macrophage activation \downarrow	+	+	AIE, CIDP, GBS, MG, MS, NMOSD	p.o.	750–3000 mg/day
MTX	Lymphocyte and macrophage proliferation↓; antigen presentation↓, antibody production↓, proinflammatory cytokine secretion↓	+	+	MS	i.v.	12 mg/m ² every 3 months
NTZ	Lymphocyte migration↓		+	MS	i.v.	300 mg every 4 weeks
PLEX/ IAD	Antibodies↓, complement↓		+	AIE, GBS, MG, MS, NMOSD	i.v.	

 Table 1 (continued)

Substance	Mechanism of action	Innate	Adaptive	Utilized for		
S1P	Lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs ↓, cytotoxicity ↓, remyelination ↑		+	MS	p.o.	0.5 mg daily
TERI	Lymphocyte proliferation ↓		+	MS	p.o.	7 or 14 mg daily ^e
TOC	IL6↓	+	+	Giant cell arteritis, NMOSD	i.v.	6–8 mg/kg monthly

Table 1 (continued)

Abbreviations: anti-CD20 anti-CD20 antibodies (rituximab, ocrelizumab, ofatumumab), ALT alemtuzumab, aHSCT autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, AZA azathioprine, CLAD cladribine, CYC cyclophosphamide, DMF dimethyl fumarate, ECU eculizumab, GA glatiramer acetate, GCS glucocorticosteroids, IFN- β interferon beta, IVIg intravenous immunoglobulins, MMF mycophenolate mofetil, MTX mitoxantrone, NTZ natalizumab, PLEX/IAD plasma exchange/immune adsorption, S1P sphingosine-1-phosphat receptor modulator (fingolimod, siponimod), TERI teriflunomide, TOC tocilizumab

Route of administration: i.m. intramuscular, i.v. intravenous, p.o. orally, s.c. subcutaneous

Disorders: AIE autoimmune encephalitis, *CIDP* chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, *GBS* Guillain-Barré syndrome, *MG* myasthenia gravis, *MS* multiple sclerosis, *NMOSD* neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders

^aIFN-β-1a s.c., ^bIFN-β-1b, ^cIFN-β-1a i.m., ^dPegylated-IFN-β-1a s.c., ^e7 and 14 mg approved in the United States, 14 mg approved in EU

Anti-CD20 Antibodies

The chimeric monoclonal antibody rituximab and the humanized monoclonal antibody ocrelizumab bind to the CD20 antigen on B cells. Rituximab is approved for rheumatological and hematological disorders, but not for any neurological disorder [4], although its use in neuroimmunological disorders is common. Ocrelizumab, however, is the first CD20 antibody approved for neurological disorders (primary progressive and relapsing MS). Complement-dependent cytolysis [CDC] and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytolysis [ADCC] lead to the depletion of B cells [66]. Whereas rituximab acts more via CDC, ocrelizumab's effects are more driven by ADCC. Currently, a full human CD20 monoclonal antibody – of atumumab – is tested in MS (NCT02792231, NCT03249714) [67, 68]. The route of administration – intravenously for rituximab and ocrelizumab, and subcutaneously for ofatumumab - and administered doses seem to be of importance. In patients with rheumatological disorders, it has been shown that low doses are sufficient to achieve a complete B cell depletion; however, B cell repopulation was earlier as compared with high doses [69, 70]. Experimental data suggest that subcutaneously administered agents target not only circulating B cells but also B cells sequestered in lymph nodes, whereas intravenously administered CD20 antibodies show more effects on circulating B cells and sequestered ones in the spleen. Moreover, repopulated B cells from the bone marrow show again pathogenic activation [70]. Depletion of B cells effects the production of antibodies, but in the short run, the roles of B cells as APC and in the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF, lymphotoxin- α , granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor [GM-CSF] \downarrow) needed for activation of other immune cells – such as T cells but also Tregs – are assumed to be more important. B cells also secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines; thus, their depletion will especially be effective in the presence of "pathogenic" B cells [71]. Thus, B cells are of utmost importance in immune responses and will have effects on humoral and cell-mediated immune responses.

Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab is a humanized IgG1-monoclonal antibody and utilized in the treatment of hematological malignancies and in MS patients. It binds the CD52 antigen on the surface of most mature lymphocytes - especially B and T cells - and to a lower extent of monocytes and macrophages [72]. The effects of alemtuzumab are dependent on the expression of CD52 on the various subtypes. Whereas on B and T cells CD52 is highly expressed, expression is lower on NK cells and basophils [73, 74]. The binding to CD52 leads to rapid and long-lasting depletion of B and T cells via ADCC and CDC [75]. After 7 days, almost complete depletion of CD4+ T cells has been observed [76]. Additionally, besides these immunosuppressive effects, immunomodulation during the repopulation of lymphocytes contributes to the long-lasting effects [75]. Time of repopulation differs for the various subsets of immune cells. Tregs, TGF-β1-, IL-10-, and IL-4-producing cells expand within the CD4+ subset during repopulation, whereas the ratio of Th1 and Th17 cells is decreased [76]. Levels of monocytes are restored by month 3, whereas repopulation of B cells takes longer but shows an overshoot at month 12, and CD8+ T cells will restore by year 3 and CD4+ T cells by year 5 [77, 78]. Secondary autoimmune disorders are reported in patients treated with alemtuzumab. The causes have not been elucidated in detail so far. However, in animal studies, it was shown that depletion of CD52+ B cells was less marked in lymphoid organs than in peripheral blood. After depletion, B cells will repopulate more quickly, but in the absence of Tregs cells. Thus, their regulatory effects on B cell differentiation are missing [79]. It has been shown that alemtuzumab has effects on dendritic cells in MS patients [80]. Alemtuzumab affects the innate and adaptive immune system and cell-mediated and humoral immune responses. The long-lasting effects may mirror a rebalancing of the immune system.

Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation

Besides treatments that suppress or modify the immune system, autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation [aHSCT] aims to alter the immune system. It has been tested in MS patients with severe disease course [81, 82]. Bone marrow transplantation has been used for some hematological malignancies, but also nonmalignant diseases including autoimmune disorders [83]. Hematopoietic progenitor cells – hematopoietic stem cells [HSC] – shall reestablish the immune system with non-autoreactive immune responses. aHSCT, implemented in MS, mean that HSC are taken from the patient himself prior to eradication of immune cells (autologous) [81, 82, 84].

HSC are mobilized into the peripheral blood with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor [G-CSF]. In a second step, CD34+ cells are derived from peripheral blood of patients, collected and cryopreserved. Eradication of all autoreactive lymphocytes is essential to establish long-lasting effects [85]. High-dose immunosuppression – the eradication of all autoreactive lymphocytes and memory cells – is also called the conditioning regimen [86] and is followed by aHSCT [87]. For immunosuppression, various therapeutics or combinations of them may be used. In MS, cyclophosphamide [CYC], busulfan, and rabbit antithymocyte globulin [86], carmustine, cytarabine, and melphalan [82] are utilized. After the immune system in the patient has been eradicated, HSC are re-infunded. A reset of the immune system is aimed [82]. Clinical response in highly aggressive MS was good. Side effects are common, and deaths have been reported in the follow-up period [82, 86].

The aims of aHSCT in MS are manifold: Depletion of (autoreactive) lymphocytes, and induction of a more tolerant immune system without clonal expansion of pathogenic T and B cells. Indeed, the TCR repertoire is changed in MS patients. Long-lasting effects have been reported, thus supporting the theoretical concepts. It is important that pathogenic lymphocytes are eradicated during the aHCST procedure. For reaching lymphocytes beyond the BBB, therapeutics that are being able to cross the BBB might be more efficacious. CD4+ memory cells repopulate and reach baseline values within 18-24 months, and CD8+ cells repopulate within the first months with the predominance of memory cells. B cells will reach baseline values within 9 months [87]. The increased presence of small DNA circles in T cells called T cell receptor excision circle [TREC] suggests altered thymic output with a new CD4+ T cell population. Increased numbers of circulating CD4+/CD25high/ FoxP3+ Tregs are reported; maybe the consequence of a thymic renewal [87]. Central memory T cells are replaced by naive T cells with a more tolerant and less autoimmune profile [88]. The numbers of Tregs increase and reach normal values in MS patients compared with controls. Proliferation of tolerant B cells was reported. Secondary autoimmunity is less compared to alemtuzumab. Proinflammatory T cells are decreased, the Treg repertoire is expanded. Similarly, a shift from proinflammatory to anti-inflammatory cytokines was demonstrated [87].

The innate and adaptive immune systems are affected by aHSCT. Humoral and cell-mediated immune responses are modified. It is an intervention with the aim of resetting the immune system. However, severe (life-threatening) side effects may occur.

Azathioprine

Azathioprine is an immunosuppressive drug, and it is used in a wide range of autoimmune disorders such as MG, MS, and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy [CIDP] [89–92]. Its mode of action is based on the disruption of DNA and RNA by inhibiting purine synthesis [89] leading to decreased levels of white blood cells. This decrease is responsible for the immunosuppressive effects [93]. 6-Mercaptopurine - a metabolite of azathioprine - is an atypical nucleotide and interferes with DNA and RNA synthesis [94] of B and T cells [95, 96]. Apoptosis of activated T cells and monocytes is observed, as the synthesis of the mitochondrial transmembrane molecule B cell lymphoma-extra large [Bcl-xL] is blocked. Side effects include infections, nausea, vomiting, hair loss, and changes in the composition of the blood (anemia and bone marrow suppression are often reported) [97]. Azathioprine is cancerogenic and hematological malignancies have been reported during and after treatment [98, 99]. Co-medication with allopurinol should be avoided as the risk for agranulocytosis is increased. The enzyme thiopurine S-methyltransferase [TPMT] is of importance in the mode of action of azathioprine. In patients with a genetic deficiency for TPMT, the risk for severe leukopenia is increased [100]. Additionally, the common missense variant in NUDT15, rs116855232, should be tested, as it is strongly associated with leukopenia in azathioprine-treated patients [101]. Azathioprine has effects on both the innate and the adaptive immune systems. Humoral as well as cell-mediated immune responses are modified.

Cladribine

Cladribine [2-chloro-2'-deoxyadenosine] is approved for the treatment of MS, and it has been used for the treatment of hairy cell leukemia [5]. It is a nucleoside adenosine, but is prevented from degradation through adenosine deaminases by substitution of a chlorine atom in the purine ring [102]. Consequently, it accumulates intracellularly. There it is phosphorylated and metabolized into its active form: 2-Chloro-2'-desoxyadenosintriphosphate. The phosphorylation is dependent on the ratio of certain enzymes - desoxycytidine kinase, adenosine-monophosphate kinase and nucleoside-diphosphate kinase [103]. The ratio is responsible for its preferential activation in peripheral B and T lymphocytes. Other immunological cells are less affected [104, 105]. As nucleoside analogue, it interferes with DNA synthesis leading to cell death. It leads to the rapid depletion of B and T cells with more depletion of B cells compared with T cells (more pronounced effects for CD4+ than for CD8+ cells) [106]. Repopulation is more rapid for B cells than for T cells. Less pronounced effects are observed for NK cells, neutrophils, and thrombocytes. Longlasting effects seem to be mediated by a slight recovery of memory Tregs [107]. In vitro inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine secretion was reported [108]. In contrast to other immunotherapies, such as mycophenolate mofetil [MMF] and azathioprine, cladribine is administered in cycles, thus the immune system reconstitutes over time [106]. Cladribine is able to cross the BBB and will reach concentrations in the CSF 25% of those in the plasma [109]. Effects on the adaptive and to a lesser extent on the innate immune system have been reported.

Cyclophosphamide

CYC has been used for decades in the treatment of malignancies and autoimmune disorders. It is an alkylating agent, and its active metabolite - phosphoramide mustard – triggers its effects [110]. Immunosuppressive and immunomodulatory effects are associated with CYC treatment. Inter- and intrastrand crosslinking induces cell death. It predominantly affects rapidly dividing cells [111]. Cell-mediated as well as humoral immune responses are affected with a rapid decrease in T and B lymphocyte counts and reduced IgG production [112]. Besides apoptosis, immunomodulatory effects have been observed. A shift to type Th2 immune response has been reported with increased levels of IL-4, -5, -10. IL-12 release from monocytes is also decreased [111]. Depleting effects on the innate immune system are less prominent, although some grade of depletion has been reported for granulocytes, but not for monocytes [113]. However, at low doses, CYC might even work as immunostimulator [110]. CYC is able to cross the BBB [114]. This may contribute to its effects in progressive MS [115], but also has been suggested as the main effect for positive results in autoimmune encephalitis [116]. Reported side effects include bladder cancer, hemorrhagic cystitis, and transient myelosuppression [111].

Dimethyl Fumarate

Dimethyl fumarate [DMF] has been used in psoriasis for years. It has been approved for relapsing forms of MS. DMF has immunomodulatory and antioxidant properties. Proliferation of autoreactive T cells is inhibited. DMF is highly lipophilic, penetrates into cells and reacts with thiols [117, 118] to monomethyl-fumarate.

DMF activates the nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 [Nrf-2] pathway leading to immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties. Neuroprotective properties may also be the result of the Nrf-2 activation. Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells [NF-kB]-related cellular responses are inhibited by DMF [119]. Antigen presentation is modified, leading to less activated T cells. The absolute count of lymphocytes in the blood is decreased, but not all subpopulations are affected equally. Effects on CD4+, CD8+, effector and memory T cells, Th17 cells, and B cells are more prominent [120]. The frequency of circulating CD56^{bright}NK cells, Th2 cells, and Tregs is increased [121–124]. Proinflammatory cytokine production is reduced. A shift to Th2 immune responses is observed.

Cytokine release of B cells is altered, and apoptosis of B and T cells is induced [119, 124, 125]. Effects on cells within the CNS are seen with a decreased inflammatory cytokine/chemokine production (IL-6, CXCL10, CCL2) [126]. The active metabolite is able to cross the BBB and may exert additional effects within the CNS [127]. Cases of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy [PML] have been described under treatment of DMF [5].

Eculizumab

Eculizumab is a monoclonal antibody targeting C5 protein of the complement system, inhibiting the activation of the membrane attack complex (C5b-9) [128]. By doing so, complement-mediated immune reactions are halted [129]. Based on the results from a phase III trial [130], it has been approved for patients with generalized MG with antibodies against AChR and who were therapy-refractory under conventional treatment [131, 132]. The significantly increased risk for meningococcal infections has to be taken into account [129], and vaccination prior to treatment is obligatory [131]. It has also been investigated in GBS and NMO [133].

Fingolimod

Fingolimod is approved for disease modification of MS [5]. Fingolimod is a sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor [S1P] modulator preventing lymphocytes from egressing the lymph nodes. Five S1P receptors are distinguished. S1P-1 is mainly involved in immune mechanisms [134]. Fingolimod targets S1P-1, 3, 4, 5 [135]. Adverse effects like lowering of the heart rate are explained by the receptors targeted by fingolimod. Viral infections in patients treated with fingolimod were more often seen than compared with placebo-treated patients [136, 137]. Fingolimod is an analogue of sphingosine and it is phosphorylated by sphingosine kinases (mostly 2) into fingolimod-phosphate. S1P receptors are internalized after binding and by these means certain lymphocyte populations are kept within the lymph nodes. Especially, CD4+ and CD8+ naive lymphocytes, central memory T cells and B cells are retained in the secondary lymphoid organs [134, 136, 137]. APCs are shifted into less immunogenic properties [138]. Fingolimod has effects on the composition of B and T cells with reduced levels of memory B cells but increased levels of naive B cells. Elevated levels of memory conventional T and Tregs are reported [139, 140]. These changes may contribute to the disease-modifying effects in MS. Effects on peripheral blood subpopulations show great variability between patients [140, 141]. Fingolimod is able to cross the BBB and stimulates the repair process of glial cells. The effects on glial cells, neurons, and endothelial cells with S1P receptors on their surface are not well understood [142–144].

Currently, derivates of fingolimod that target fewer S1P receptors are in development.

Glatiramer Acetate

Glatiramer acetate [GA] is an immunomodulating drug and has been approved for the treatment of relapsing MS and has now been used for decades in MS. In contrast to other discussed therapeutic agents, GA is only used in MS, which is not surprising, when taking into account the mode of action. The chemical structure – a polymer of amino acids – resembles the amino acid composition of MBP and was developed to induce EAE [5]. EAE could not be induced, but surprisingly GA suppressed the development of EAE [145].

The mode of action is not elucidated in detail, but GA has effects on the cellmediated and humoral immune responses. GA binds to receptors on APC, and by doing so, prevents other antibodies directed against MBP from binding by TCR and BCR antagonism. GA binds to class II MHC molecules and inhibits T cell responses to myelin antigens [146, 147]. As a consequence, the numbers of myelin-reactive T cells are decreased and those of Tregs are increased, also through activation of transcription factor FoxP3 [148]. GA affects T cells, also macrophages and microglia, and anti-inflammatory responses are seen. Secretion of TNF α and cathepsin-B is decreased. GA reduces the numbers of B cells, plasmablasts, and memory B cells [149]. A shift from Th1 to Th2 immune function is reported. Th2 cells may cross the BBB and secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines [150]. GA modifies the release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor [BDNF] [150, 151]. Moreover, cytokine release from B cells is modulated into more anti-inflammatory properties [147]. Although GA only shows moderate efficacy, it is still widely used in MS patients, due to its good safety profile [5].

Glucocorticosteroids

GCS are hormones that possess anti-inflammatory properties. Their antiinflammatory effects have been discovered in the 1940s. It is estimated that 1% of the adult population of the United Kingdom receives oral GCS treatment at any time [152]. They have been widely used in autoimmune diseases such as MS, CIDP, and rheumatological disorders [2]. GCS bind to the GCS receptor, thereby triggering the expression of anti-inflammatory proteins [153]. The receptor is a hormone-activated transcription factor [154] and downregulates the expression of proinflammatory proteins. Besides these genomic effects, nongenomic effects are responsible for efficacy. These nongenomic effects are based on the activation of signaling pathways (e.g., PI3K, TCR signaling), resulting in reduced inflammation [2, 153, 155]. Genomic anti-inflammatory effects are established by the increased release of Annexin-1, secretory leukoprotease inhibitor [SLPI], mitogen-activated kinase phosphatase-1 (MAKP-1), inhibitor of NF-kappa B (NF- κ B), and glucocorticoidinduced leucine zipper protein (GILZ). NF- κ B interacts with co-activator molecules such as cyclic AMP response element binding protein [CBP] and leads to reduced release of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, inflammatory enzymes, proteins, and receptors [155]. Moreover, lipocortin-1 is synthetized in response to GCS and suppresses phospholipase A2 as well as cyclooxygenase/PGE isomerase (COX-1 and COX-2) [154, 155]. IL-1, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-11, IL-12, IL-13, IL-16, IL-17, and IL-18 and TNF- α and GM-CSF are reduced in expression in response to GCS. The levels of chemokines such as IL-8, but also macrophage inflammatory protein 1- α , and monocyte chemoattractant protein [MCP1, 3, 4] are decreased [155]. As adhesion molecules are decreased, GCS inhibits the rolling, adhesion, and activation of neutrophils at endothelia. This effect is based on the reduced expression of endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule 1 [ELAM-1] and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 [ICAM-1] [156], and activated lymphocytes are prevented from migration to inflammatory spots.

Nongenomic effects are mainly responsible for the rapid effects of GCS treatment [2]. Binding to membrane-bound receptors leads at least in high doses to apoptosis. These effects on apoptosis of T cells have been shown in humans [157]. Reduced stability of mRNA is induced by GCS. Some of the inflammatory proteins are regulated by stable mRNA. As a consequence, inflammatory proteins expression is rapidly broken down [155].

In summary, GCS have a broad range of effects. Humoral as well as cell-mediated immune responses are affected. Effects are seen on B and T cells. Cell-mediated immune effects are reduced by inhibition of proinflammatory cytokines (i.e., IL-2, IFN- Υ) and upregulation of anti-inflammatory cytokines. Cell death of T cells is seen at least at high doses. Effects on the humoral immunity are established by the apoptosis of B cells. Additional effects on immunosuppression on B cells are mediated via the inhibition of NF- κ B, a key transcriptional factor for cytokines and proteins involved in the immune response.

Interferon Beta

INF- β preparations (interferon beta-1a, interferon beta-1b) have been the first approved immunomodulatory agents in MS in the 1990s. They mediate antiviral, antiproliferative, and immunomodulatory effects [158]. Interferons are cytokines and act as signaling proteins. INF- β belongs to type I interferons. The mode of action is not completely elucidated.

Recombinant INF-ß binds to type I interferon receptors on cells inducing a downstream of proinflammatory pathways. The effects are mediated through Janus kinases/signal transducer and activator of transcription protein signaling pathways [JAK/STAT] [159]. T cell activation is decreased via reduced antigen presentation. In addition, IFNß has effects on CCR7 expression on T cells. Some CCR7 T cells are preferentially shifted to secondary lymphoid organs, and thus prevented from entering the CNS. The number of activated T cells is decreased by inhibition of costimulatory processes. A shift from Th1 to Th2 immune responses is observed. The release of chemokines is altered with increased levels of anti-inflammatory

cytokines and chemokines (IL-10, IL-4 \uparrow ; IL-12, IFNY, TNF α , MMP-9, osteopontin \downarrow). The number of CD56^{bright} NK cells is expanded. They release IL-10 and may also show anti-inflammatory properties [159]. TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand [TRAIL] genes are increased leading to apoptosis of T cells [159]. The IL-12/ IL-10 ratio is significantly altered to a more anti-inflammatory cytokine milieu. Treatment with INF- β has led to a decrease of Th17 cells in peripheral blood [160].

There are also effects on B cells. The expression of BAFF is increased. Nevertheless, anti-inflammatory effects – neurotrophic cytokines are secreted from B cells under IFNß therapy but also increased levels of naive B cell and decreased levels of plasmablasts and memory B cells – may outweigh effects from B cell activation. However, due to its effects on BAFF, INF-ß preparation should be avoided in NMOSD [161, 162]. INF-ß seems to alter the composition of MMPs leading to less migration of leukocytes into the CNS [86]. Soluble VCAM-1 is increased under IFNß therapy, thus competitive blocking with endothelial bound adhesion molecules might be the consequence. Beyond a modulation of the BBB, interferon pathways lead to a more anti-inflammatory cytokine release from activated microglia. In addition, activation of macrophages is reduced. In summary, the effects of INF-ß are specific with the pathophysiology of MS. The safety profile of the drug is good. Increased liver enzymes and thyroid level abnormalities have been reported. In a subset of patients, neutralizing antibodies to INF-ß may lead to ineffectiveness [5].

Intravenous Immunoglobulins

Immunoglobulin therapy is widely used in medicine and in autoimmune disorders [163]. They are used in neuroimmunological diseases such as GBS and its variants, where its use seems to be as effective as plasma exchange [PLEX]. They are intravenously administered. However, recently subcutaneously administered immunoglobulin therapy has become available [164]. Intravenous immunoglobulins [IVIg] are used in CIDP, MG, and multifocal motor neuropathy and in M paraproteinassociated neuropathy, inclusion body myositis, and autoimmune encephalitis as well as in MS under special circumstances [165–168]. IVIg are polyclonal human IgG, purified from human plasma. As they are human proteins, anaphylactic and allergic reactions may occur. In response to this therapy, aseptic meningitis and headache have also been reported as side effects [163, 166]. Its mode of action is not elucidated in detail, but multifactorial mechanisms are discussed. IgG consist of a constant region $F_{\rm c}$ and the antigen binding region $F_{\rm ab}$. Both are important for the effects established by IVIgs [169]. The F_{ab} regions block cellular receptors and neutralize cytokines, complement, and autoantibodies. Immune complexes between autoantibodies and IVIg are formed. Such immune complexes bind to F_c receptors on APCs and promote the release of anti-inflammatory cytokines. Complement activation leads to the removal of autoantibodies. Moreover, there are reports on the interaction between IVIg and activated T cells, and microglia activation with reduced levels of TNF α and IL-10 [170].

The F_c fragment blocks receptors on cells of the innate immune system as well as on B cells [169]. Inhibitory and activating effects are modulated. The lifetime of host IgGs is halved, as it depends on the neonatal F_c receptor [F_cRn]. F_c fragments of immunoglobulins will block them, and elimination of autoantibodies is observed [166]. Upregulation of inhibitory factors on APCs and vice versa downregulation of B cell activating factors [BAFF] are reported [166]. Differences of efficacy have been observed dependent on autoimmune disease [171]. In diseases with a distinct antibody-driven pathology, efficacy of IVIg is more prominent [169]. In conclusion, with IVIg treatment intervention in the humoral immune response is marked. It is a good example of the complexity of immunological networks as effects on the innate and adaptive immune system and on humoral and cell-mediated immune responses are the consequences.

Mitoxantrone

Mitoxantrone belongs to the group of anthracenedione antineoplastic agents and has been used for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer and acute myeloid leukemia. In neurology, it has been used for the treatment of MS. Mitoxantrone is an immunosuppressive drug that suppresses B and T cells [172]. It is a type II topoisomerase inhibitor and disrupts DNA synthesis by intercalation [173]. Lysis and apoptosis of T and B cells are observed [174, 175]. It has anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects. Migration of monocytes is decreased and a shift to Th2 responses has been reported [176]. The number of circulating B cells is decreased by approximately 30% after one infusion. Thus, its main effects may be explained by effects on humoral immunity [177]. Due to its side effects – especially cardiomyopathy [178] – it is only used in a subset of patients [179]. Cumulative mitoxantrone dose should not exceed 140 mg/m² body surface [180]. Cell-mediated and humoral immune responses are modified. The adaptive immune system is affected, and the innate immune system at least indirectly because of decreased migration of monocytes to inflammatory spots.

Mycophenolate Mofetil

MMF is a prodrug, which has to be metabolized to mycophenolic acid [MPA]. MPA inhibits inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase [IMPDH], thereby blocking synthesis of guanosine-5'-monophosphate [GMP] from inosine-5'-monophosphate [IMP]. Proliferation of B and T cells is dependent on the synthesis of purines [181]. Whereas most other cell types can use an alternative way of purine synthesis, MMF predominantly inhibits proliferation of lymphocytes [182] and consequently the production of antibodies. In addition, it causes decreased expression of glycoproteins and adhesion molecules that are needed for the recruitment of monocytes and

lymphocytes to the sites of inflammation [183, 184]. Activated lymphocytes are decreased by necrotic cell death [182]. Further effects on Tregs and Th1 cells have been described [182]. Maturation of dendritic cells is also suppressed. Thus, activation of T cells is inhibited [185]. MMF has been used for rheumatological diseases [90, 92, 186] and in neurology for MG [185]. MMF has effects on the innate and adaptive immune system; cell-mediated and humoral immune responses are modified.

Natalizumab

Natalizumab is approved for relapsing forms of MS. Natalizumab is a humanized IgG4 monoclonal antibody. It targets the α 4-chain of integrin [α 4 β 1-integrin], also known as very late activating antigen-4 [VLA-4]. Binding of VLA-4 to VCAM-1 and fibronectin [FN] is blocked. These adhesion molecules are upregulated in inflammatory processes. Integrins are cell surface glycoproteins enabling adhesion, rolling and migration through the BBB. It prevents (autoreactive) lymphocytes from migrating in the CNS. Consequently, inflammatory processes are decreased within the CNS. In peripheral blood, CD4+, CD8+, and CD19 cells are expanded under treatment of natalizumab. However, the peripheral CD4/CD8 ratio remains within the normal range [187]. CSF findings under treatment of natalizumab show that the ratio within the CNS is significantly altered [188]. This may explain the increased risk for PML under treatment of natalizumab [5]. Natalizumab is also used in Crohn's disease [189]. Effects on the adaptive immune system establish efficacy.

Plasma Exchange

PLEX has been utilized in immunological diseases for decades [190]. During PLEX, the blood of the patients is separated, exchanged with donor plasma (containing albumin), and afterward re-infunded [191]. By doing so, inflammatory components are removed. It is currently used in GBS, CIDP, polyneuropathy with monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance, autoimmune encephalitis, MG, fulminant demyelinating CNS disease, chronic or secondary MS, relapses in MS, Sydenham chorea, and acute obsessive-compulsive disorder and tics in pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorder associated with group A streptococci [PANDAS] [191, 192].

PLEX removes autoantibodies and immune complexes in autoimmune disorders, thus having effects on the humoral immune system, whereas effects on the cellmediated immune system are not that obvious. Total numbers of circulating lymphocytes are not generally affected, although the frequency of Th cells was shown to be decreased and those of T suppressor cells to be increased after PLEX. Clinical effects were not impressive in T cell-driven disorders [190]. In contrast to PLEX, immunoadsorption only resolves immunoglobulins from the plasma of patients, thus other components stay in the patient [193]. In patients with side effects resulting from PLEX, immunoadsorption is an adequate substitute [194].

Teriflunomide

Teriflunomide is approved for the treatment of relapsing forms of MS. It is the active metabolite of leflunomide. It inhibits the mitochondrial enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase [DHODH] affecting pyrimidine synthesis, and interfering with the de-novo synthesis of uridine monophosphate [UMP]. Consequently, DNA synthesis is inhibited. Reproduction is impaired in rapidly dividing cells such as highly proliferating T and B lymphocytes. This pathway explains side effects such as hair thinning. Resting T cells are not affected by teriflunomide as they do not need DHODH for synthesis. A shift to Tregs and a reduction of clonal diversity of CD4+ cells is reported [195]. Teriflunomide is able to cross the BBB [195]. Effects on resident cells in the CNS have been observed with decreased microglia proliferation in vitro [196]. The levels of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-17, TNF α as well as protein tyrosine kinases are reduced. Antibody production from B cells is decreased [197, 198]. The NF- κ B pathway is modulated and shows less inflammatory cell responses. Oligodendrocyte differentiation was promoted in vitro [199]. Cell-mediated as well as humoral immune responses are modified.

Tocilizumab

Tocilizumab is used in the treatment of rheumatological disorders. It is a humanized monoclonal antibody targeting IL-6 receptor. IL-6 is a cytokine with proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory properties. It is released by macrophages and supports the proliferation of B cells and it is antagonistic to Tregs [200]. The IL-6 receptor is a type I cytokine receptor found on the surface of B and T cells [201], but also on cells of the innate immune system [202]. Tocilizumab leads to a variety of effects – including decreased expression of adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 and matrix metalloproteinases [MMP]-2 and MMP-9 as well as inhibition of the signaling pathways MAPK and translocation of the transcription factor NF- κ B [203]. Together with Th17, that are secreting IL-6, IL-6 seems to be of importance in many autoimmune diseases [204]. IL-6 seems to promote the survival of plasmablasts and to be associated with antibody secretion in NMO [205]. Recently, its efficacy has been shown in neuromyelitis optica (NMO) [206, 207]. It has recently been approved for the treatment of giant cell arteritis [208, 209]. Effects have been established on the innate immune system and the adaptive immune system. Humoral immune responses and indirectly cell-mediated one are modified.

Emerging Treatments

Some examples for emerging treatments include atacicept, belimumab, bortezomib, eculizumab, efgartigimod, and satralizumab. These agents are not commonly used, but trials are ongoing, or they are used in certain conditions. Atacicept is a recombinant fusion protein binding to BAFF and a proliferation-inducing ligand [APRIL]. As a consequence, B cell differentiation and survival is inhibited [210, 211]. Surprisingly, increased disease activity was reported for MS patients treated with atacicept [212] mirroring the complexity of B cell immunology. Belimumab is a human monoclonal IgG1 antibody targeting BAFF. Binding to BAFF leads to inhibition of B cell activation [213, 214]. It has been tested in 18 MG patients in a phase II study [215]. Bortezomib is a proteasome inhibitor leading ultimately to cell death of plasma cells. Proteasome activity is blocked in plasma cells, thus proteolytic pathways are inhibited, protein is accumulated in cells and cell death occurs [216]. First promising experiences with this agent have been collected in a patient with (severe) MG [217] and in five patients with therapy-refractory autoimmune encephalitis [218]. Efgartigimod is a human IgG1-derived Fc fragment fusion protein that binds to FcRn leading to decreased levels of IgG (blocking of recycling of IgG and increasing the clearance of IgG) [219, 220]. It is currently tested in a multicenter phase III study in patients with MG (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03669588). Satralizumab is a humanized IgG2 monoclonal antibody targeting IL-6, and thereby preventing plasma cells from maturation [221]. It is currently tested as monotherapy and as add-on therapy in two respective phase III studies in NMO and NMOSD (NCT02073279, NCT02028884).

Conclusion

The availability of a broad range of immunotherapies allows the clinician to treat a variety of immune-mediated neurological diseases. These options go hand in hand with the difficulty to find the right medication for the right disease for the right patient at the right time.

For choosing the right drug, it is necessary to understand its mode of action and its targets. Figure 4 gives an overview on the main immune functions of effector T cells that may be targeted, and Table 1 summarizes therapeutic agents commonly used in neuroimmunological diseases and their effects on the immune system.

Knowing the immunological background of the various diseases is important for choosing the right drug. As most immunosuppressive drugs have modulating effects, and on the other side immunomodulating drugs will have effects on the ability to defend against pathogens, the dichotomy of immunosuppression and immunomodulation is blurring.

The treating clinician should choose the therapeutic agents according to their properties. Are there effects on the innate and/or on the adaptive immune system?

Are the main effects established by cell-mediated or humoral immune responses? Will the active agent reach the CNS and is it able to cross the BBB? What are the known side effects? Do these effects fit with known immune mechanisms of the various disorders?

It is important for the clinician to visualize the various ways the immune system are affected by immunotherapies:

- First, the direct effects of drugs such as immunosuppression and the risk of (opportunistic) infections.
- Second, the indirect effects of drugs such as autoimmunity as seen for alemtuzumab. The mechanisms beyond these phenomena are not understood in detail.
- Third, the effects on the complex network of immunological pathways, which are only scarcely understood.

References

- 1. Definition of Immunotherapy [Internet]. MedicineNet. [cited 2018 Oct 8]. Available from: https://www.medicinenet.com/script/main/art.asp?articlekey=7824
- Gold R, Buttgereit F, Toyka KV. Mechanism of action of glucocorticosteroid hormones: possible implications for therapy of neuroimmunological disorders. J Neuroimmunol. 2001;117(1–2):1–8.
- Drug Approval Package: Betaseron Interferon BETA-1B Subcutaneous (Generic Name) NDA # 103471 [Internet]. [cited 2018 Nov 12]. Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/pre96/103471s0000TOC.cfm
- Rommer PS, Patejdl R, Zettl UK. Monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of neuroimmunological diseases. Curr Pharm Des. 2012;18(29):4498–507.
- Rommer PS, Zettl UK. Managing the side effects of multiple sclerosis therapy: pharmacotherapy options for patients. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2018;19(5):483–98.
- 6. Parkin J, Cohen B. An overview of the immune system. Lancet. 2001;357(9270):1777-89.
- Marshall JS, Warrington R, Watson W, Kim HL. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2018;14(Suppl 2):49.
- Carow CE, Hangoc G, Broxmeyer HE. Human multipotential progenitor cells (CFU-GEMM) have extensive replating capacity for secondary CFU-GEMM: an effect enhanced by cord blood plasma. Blood. 1993;81(4):942–9.
- 9. Kawamoto H, Minato N. Myeloid cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2004;36(8):1374-9.
- 10. Chaplin DD. Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125(2 Suppl 2):S3–23.
- 11. Mattner J. Natural killer T (NKT) cells in autoimmune hepatitis. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013;25(6):697–703.
- 12. Perl A. Pathogenesis and spectrum of autoimmunity. Methods Mol Biol. 2012;900:1-9.
- Warrington R, Watson W, Kim HL, Antonetti FR. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2011;7(Suppl 1):S1.
- 14. LeBien TW, Tedder TF. B lymphocytes: how they develop and function. Blood. 2008;112(5):1570–80.
- Di Cesare A, Di Meglio P, Nestle FO. The IL-23/Th17 axis in the immunopathogenesis of psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol. 2009;129(6):1339–50.
- Golubovskaya V, Wu L. Different subsets of T cells, memory, effector functions, and CAR-T immunotherapy. Cancer. 2016;8(3)

- Shibata K. Close link between development and function of gamma-delta T cells. Microbiol Immunol. 2012;56(4):217–27.
- Shibata K, Yamada H, Nakamura M, Hatano S, Katsuragi Y, Kominami R, et al. IFN-γproducing and IL-17-producing γδ T cells differentiate at distinct developmental stages in murine fetal thymus. J Immunol. 2014;192(5):2210–8.
- Wiede F, Dudakov JA, Lu K-H, Dodd GT, Butt T, Godfrey DI, et al. PTPN2 regulates T cell lineage commitment and αβ versus γδ specification. J Exp Med. 2017;214(9):2733–58.
- Cellular and molecular immunology 9th edition [Internet]. [cited 2018 Dec 4]. Available from: https://www.elsevier.com/books/cellular-and-molecular-immunology/ abbas/978-0-323-47978-3
- Reinhardt RL, Liang H-E, Locksley RM. Cytokine-secreting follicular T cells shape the antibody repertoire. Nat Immunol. 2009;10(4):385–93.
- Yang S-H, Gao C-Y, Li L, Chang C, Leung PSC, Gershwin ME, et al. The molecular basis of immune regulation in autoimmunity. Clin Sci. 2018;132(1):43–67.
- Khan U, Ghazanfar H. T lymphocytes and autoimmunity. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol. 2018;341:125–68.
- von Boehmer H, Melchers F. Checkpoints in lymphocyte development and autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(1):14–20.
- Passos GA, Speck-Hernandez CA, Assis AF, Mendes-da-Cruz DA. Update on Aire and thymic negative selection. Immunology. 2018;153(1):10–20.
- 26. Murphy KM, Travers P, Walport M. Janeway's immunobiology (immunobiology: the immune system (Janeway)).
- 27. Xiang Z, Yang Y, Chang C, Lu Q. The epigenetic mechanism for discordance of autoimmunity in monozygotic twins. J Autoimmun. 2017;83:43–50.
- Kinnunen E, Juntunen J, Ketonen L, Koskimies S, Konttinen YT, Salmi T, et al. Genetic susceptibility to multiple sclerosis. A co-twin study of a nationwide series. Arch Neurol. 1988;45(10):1108–11.
- Williams A, Eldridge R, McFarland H, Houff S, Krebs H, McFarlin D. Multiple sclerosis in twins. Neurology. 1980;30(11):1139–47.
- 30. Multiple sclerosis in 54 twinships: concordance rate is independent of zygosity. French Research Group on Multiple Sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 1992;32(6):724–7.
- Westerlind H, Ramanujam R, Uvehag D, Kuja-Halkola R, Boman M, Bottai M, et al. Modest familial risks for multiple sclerosis: a registry-based study of the population of Sweden. Brain J Neurol. 2014;137(Pt 3):770–8.
- O'Gorman C, Lin R, Stankovich J, Broadley SA. Modelling genetic susceptibility to multiple sclerosis with family data. Neuroepidemiology. 2013;40(1):1–12.
- 33. Yu P. The potential role of retroviruses in autoimmunity. Immunol Rev. 2016;269(1):85–99.
- Correale J, Gaitán MI. Multiple sclerosis and environmental factors: the role of vitamin D, parasites, and Epstein-Barr virus infection. Acta Neurol Scand. 2015;132(199):46–55.
- 35. Pane JA, Coulson BS. Lessons from the mouse: potential contribution of bystander lymphocyte activation by viruses to human type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2015;58(6):1149–59.
- Floreani A, Leung PSC, Gershwin ME. Environmental basis of autoimmunity. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2016;50(3):287–300.
- Wekerle H. Brain autoimmunity and intestinal microbiota: 100 trillion game changers. Trends Immunol. 2017;38(7):483–97.
- Ramanathan S, Dale RC, Brilot F. Anti-MOG antibody: the history, clinical phenotype, and pathogenicity of a serum biomarker for demyelination. Autoimmun Rev. 2016;15(4):307–24.
- Confavreux C, Hutchinson M, Hours MM, Cortinovis-Tourniaire P, Moreau T. Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. Pregnancy in multiple sclerosis group. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(5):285–91.
- 40. Fischer-Betz R, Specker C. Pregnancy in systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid syndrome. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2017;31(3):397–414.
- Reich DS, Lucchinetti CF, Calabresi PA. Multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(2):169–80.

- 42. Bar-Or A. The immunology of multiple sclerosis. Semin Neurol. 2008;28(1):29-45.
- 43. Kinnunen T, Chamberlain N, Morbach H, Cantaert T, Lynch M, Preston-Hurlburt P, et al. Specific peripheral B cell tolerance defects in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(6):2737–41.
- Frohman EM, Racke MK, Raine CS. Multiple sclerosis the plaque and its pathogenesis. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(9):942–55.
- 45. Luster AD, Alon R, von Andrian UH. Immune cell migration in inflammation: present and future therapeutic targets. Nat Immunol. 2005;6(12):1182–90.
- 46. Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(9):623–35.
- Kabat EA, Moore DH, Landow H. An electrophoretic study of the protein components in cerebrospinal fluid and their relationship to the serum proteins. J Clin Invest. 1942;21(5):571–7.
- Cepok S, Rosche B, Grummel V, Vogel F, Zhou D, Sayn J, et al. Short-lived plasma blasts are the main B cell effector subset during the course of multiple sclerosis. Brain J Neurol. 2005;128(Pt 7):1667–76.
- Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, Giovannoni G, Hartung H-P, Hemmer B, et al. Ocrelizumab versus interferon Beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(3):221–34.
- Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, et al. Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(3):209–20.
- Reindl M, Khalil M, Berger T. Antibodies as biological markers for pathophysiological processes in MS. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;180(1–2):50–62.
- 52. Takahashi T, Fujihara K, Nakashima I, Misu T, Miyazawa I, Nakamura M, et al. Antiaquaporin-4 antibody is involved in the pathogenesis of NMO: a study on antibody titre. Brain J Neurol. 2007;130(Pt 5):1235–43.
- Lennon VA, Wingerchuk DM, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Fujihara K, et al. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2004;364(9451):2106–12.
- Jarius S, Aboul-Enein F, Waters P, Kuenz B, Hauser A, Berger T, et al. Antibody to aquaporin-4 in the long-term course of neuromyelitis optica. Brain J Neurol. 2008;131(Pt 11):3072–80.
- Saini H, Rifkin R, Gorelik M, Huang H, Ferguson Z, Jones MV, et al. Passively transferred human NMO-IgG exacerbates demyelination in mouse experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. BMC Neurol. 2013;13:104.
- 56. Stellmann J-P, Krumbholz M, Friede T, Gahlen A, Borisow N, Fischer K, et al. Immunotherapies in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: efficacy and predictors of response. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2017;88(8):639–47.
- Leypoldt F, Wandinger K-P, Bien CG, Dalmau J. Autoimmune encephalitis. Eur Neurol Rev. 2013;8(1):31–7.
- Graus F, Saiz A. Limbic encephalitis: a probably under-recognized syndrome. Neurologia. 2005;20(1):24–30.
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(4):391–404.
- Gebauer C, Pignolet B, Yshii L, Mauré E, Bauer J, Liblau R. CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are both needed to induce paraneoplastic neurological disease in a mouse model. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(2):e1260212.
- Nguyen TP, Taylor RS. Guillain Barre syndrome. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island: StatPearls Publishing; 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 26]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK532254/
- 62. Sinha S, Prasad KN, Jain D, Pandey CM, Jha S, Pradhan S. Preceding infections and antiganglioside antibodies in patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome: a single Centre prospective case-control study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2007;13(3):334–7.
- Goodfellow JA, Willison HJ. Guillain-Barré syndrome: a century of progress. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12(12):723–31.
- 64. Gilhus NE. Myasthenia gravis. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(26):2570-81.

- Cetin H, Vincent A. Pathogenic mechanisms and clinical correlations in autoimmune myasthenic syndromes. Semin Neurol. 2018;38(3):344–54.
- 66. Rommer PS, Stüve O, Goertsches R, Mix E, Zettl UK. Monoclonal antibodies in the therapy of multiple sclerosis: an overview. J Neurol. 2008;255(Suppl 6):28–35.
- 67. Sorensen PS, Lisby S, Grove R, Derosier F, Shackelford S, Havrdova E, et al. Safety and efficacy of ofatumumab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2 study. Neurology. 2014;82(7):573–81.
- Home ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. [cited 2018 Nov 2]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/
- 69. Genovese MC, Kaine JL, Lowenstein MB, Del Giudice J, Baldassare A, Schechtman J, et al. Ocrelizumab, a humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, in the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a phase I/II randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging study. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(9):2652–61.
- Greenberg BM, Graves D, Remington G, Hardeman P, Mann M, Karandikar N, et al. Rituximab dosing and monitoring strategies in neuromyelitis optica patients: creating strategies for therapeutic success. Mult Scler. 2012;18(7):1022–6.
- Lehmann-Horn K, Kinzel S, Weber MS. Deciphering the role of B cells in multiple sclerosistowards specific targeting of pathogenic function. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(10)
- Buggins AGS, Mufti GJ, Salisbury J, Codd J, Westwood N, Arno M, et al. Peripheral blood but not tissue dendritic cells express CD52 and are depleted by treatment with alemtuzumab. Blood. 2002;100(5):1715–20.
- 73. Ginaldi L, De Martinis M, Matutes E, Farahat N, Morilla R, Dyer MJ, et al. Levels of expression of CD52 in normal and leukemic B and T cells: correlation with in vivo therapeutic responses to Campath-1H. Leuk Res. 1998;22(2):185–91.
- 74. Rao SP, Sancho J, Campos-Rivera J, Boutin PM, Severy PB, Weeden T, et al. Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells exhibit heterogeneous CD52 expression levels and show differential sensitivity to alemtuzumab mediated cytolysis. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e39416.
- 75. Ruck T, Bittner S, Wiendl H, Meuth SG. Alemtuzumab in multiple sclerosis: mechanism of action and beyond. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(7):16414–39.
- 76. Zhang X, Tao Y, Chopra M, Ahn M, Marcus KL, Choudhary N, et al. Differential reconstitution of T cell subsets following immunodepleting treatment with alemtuzumab (anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody) in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2013;191(12):5867–74.
- 77. Coles AJ, Cox A, Le Page E, Jones J, Trip SA, Deans J, et al. The window of therapeutic opportunity in multiple sclerosis: evidence from monoclonal antibody therapy. J Neurol. 2006;253(1):98–108.
- Thompson SAJ, Jones JL, Cox AL, Compston DAS, Coles AJ. B-cell reconstitution and BAFF after alemtuzumab (Campath-1H) treatment of multiple sclerosis. J Clin Immunol. 2010;30(1):99–105.
- 79. von Kutzleben S, Pryce G, Giovannoni G, Baker D. Depletion of CD52-positive cells inhibits the development of central nervous system autoimmune disease, but deletes an immunetolerance promoting CD8 T-cell population. Implications for secondary autoimmunity of alemtuzumab in multiple sclerosis. Immunology. 2017;150(4):444–55.
- Ziemssen T, Thomas K. Alemtuzumab in the long-term treatment of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: an update on the clinical trial evidence and data from the real world. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2017;10(10):343–59.
- Atkins HL, Bowman M, Allan D, Anstee G, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, et al. Immunoablation and autologous haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation for aggressive multiple sclerosis: a multicentre single-group phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2016;388(10044):576–85.
- Nash RA, Hutton GJ, Racke MK, Popat U, Devine SM, Steinmiller KC, et al. High-dose immunosuppressive therapy and autologous HCT for relapsing-remitting MS. Neurology. 2017;88(9):842–52.
- Burt RK, Loh Y, Pearce W, Beohar N, Barr WG, Craig R, et al. Clinical applications of blood-derived and marrow-derived stem cells for nonmalignant diseases. JAMA. 2008;299(8):925–36.

- 84. Armitage JO. Bone marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med. 1994;330(12):827-38.
- Blanco Y, Saiz A, Carreras E, Graus F. Autologous haematopoietic-stem-cell transplantation for multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol. 2005;4(1):54–63.
- Yong VW, Chabot S, Stuve O, Williams G. Interferon beta in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: mechanisms of action. Neurology. 1998;51(3):682–9.
- Massey JC, Sutton IJ, Ma DDF, Moore JJ. Regenerating immunotolerance in multiple sclerosis with autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Front Immunol. 2018;9:410.
- Collins F, Kazmi M, Muraro PA. Progress and prospects for the use and the understanding of the mode of action of autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2017;13(6):611–22.
- Invernizzi P, Benedetti MD, Poli S, Monaco S. Azathioprine in multiple sclerosis. Mini Rev Med Chem. 2008;8(9):919–26.
- Rajabally YA. Unconventional treatments for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurodegener Dis Manag. 2017;7(5):331–42.
- 91. Friedman AB, Sparrow MP, Gibson PR. The role of thiopurine metabolites in inflammatory bowel disease and rheumatological disorders. Int J Rheum Dis. 2014;17(2):132–41.
- Wagner M, Earley AK, Webster AC, Schmid CH, Balk EM, Uhlig K. Mycophenolic acid versus azathioprine as primary immunosuppression for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;(12):CD007746.
- Pelin M, De Iudicibus S, Londero M, Spizzo R, Dei Rossi S, Martelossi S, et al. Thiopurine biotransformation and pharmacological effects: contribution of oxidative stress. Curr Drug Metab. 2016;17(6):542–9.
- 94. Elion GB. The purine path to chemotherapy. Science. 1989;244(4900):41-7.
- Schwartz R, Stack J, Dameshek W. Effect of 6-mercaptopurine on antibody production. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1958;99(1):164–7.
- Lord JD, Shows DM. Thiopurine use associated with reduced B and natural killer cells in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(18):3240–51.
- Duley JA, Florin THJ. Thiopurine therapies: problems, complexities, and progress with monitoring thioguanine nucleotides. Ther Drug Monit. 2005;27(5):647–54.
- Ertz-Archambault N, Kosiorek H, Taylor GE, Kelemen K, Dueck A, Castro J, et al. Association of therapy for autoimmune disease with myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(7):936–43.
- 99. Kwong Y-L. Azathioprine: association with therapy-related myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. J Rheumatol. 2010;37(3):485–90.
- Katara P, Kuntal H. TPMT polymorphism: when shield becomes weakness. Interdiscip Sci Comput Life Sci. 2016;8(2):150–5.
- 101. Yang S-K, Hong M, Baek J, Choi H, Zhao W, Jung Y, et al. A common missense variant in *NUDT15* confers susceptibility to thiopurine-induced leukopenia. Nat Genet. 2014;46(9):1017–20.
- Leist TP, Weissert R. Cladribine: mode of action and implications for treatment of multiple sclerosis. Clin Neuropharmacol. 2011;34(1):28–35.
- 103. Kawasaki H, Carrera CJ, Piro LD, Saven A, Kipps TJ, Carson DA. Relationship of deoxycytidine kinase and cytoplasmic 5'-nucleotidase to the chemotherapeutic efficacy of 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine. Blood. 1993;81(3):597–601.
- 104. Carson DA, Wasson DB, Taetle R, Yu A. Specific toxicity of 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine toward resting and proliferating human lymphocytes. Blood. 1983;62(4):737–43.
- 105. Lotfi K, Juliusson G, Albertioni F. Pharmacological basis for cladribine resistance. Leuk Lymphoma. 2003;44(10):1705–12.
- 106. Wiendl H. Cladribine an old newcomer for pulsed immune reconstitution in MS. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13(10):573–4.
- 107. Ceronie B, Jacobs BM, Baker D, Dubuisson N, Mao Z, Ammoscato F, et al. Cladribine treatment of multiple sclerosis is associated with depletion of memory B cells. J Neurol. 2018;265(5):1199–209.

- Laugel B, Borlat F, Galibert L, Vicari A, Weissert R, Chvatchko Y, et al. Cladribine inhibits cytokine secretion by T cells independently of deoxycytidine kinase activity. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;240–241:52–7.
- 109. Liliemark J. The clinical pharmacokinetics of cladribine. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1997;32(2):120-31.
- Sistigu A, Viaud S, Chaput N, Bracci L, Proietti E, Zitvogel L. Immunomodulatory effects of cyclophosphamide and implementations for vaccine design. Semin Immunopathol. 2011;33(4):369–83.
- 111. Awad A, Stüve O. Cyclophosphamide in multiple sclerosis: scientific rationale, history and novel treatment paradigms. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2009;2(6):50–61.
- 112. Stankiewicz JM, Kolb H, Karni A, Weiner HL. Role of immunosuppressive therapy for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Neurotherapeutics. 2013;10(1):77–88.
- 113. Ficken MD, Barnes HJ. Effect of cyclophosphamide on selected hematologic parameters of the Turkey. Avian Dis. 1988;32(4):812–7.
- 114. Unger C, Eibl H, von Heyden HW, Krisch B, Nagel GA. Blood-brain barrier and the penetration of cytostatic drugs. Klin Wochenschr. 1985;63(12):565–71.
- 115. Zephir H, de Seze J, Duhamel A, Debouverie M, Hautecoeur P, Lebrun C, et al. Treatment of progressive forms of multiple sclerosis by cyclophosphamide: a cohort study of 490 patients. J Neurol Sci. 2004;218(1–2):73–7.
- Kanter IC, Huttner HB, Staykov D, Biermann T, Struffert T, Kerling F, et al. Cyclophosphamide for anti-GAD antibody-positive refractory status epilepticus. Epilepsia. 2008;49(5):914–20.
- 117. Lehmann JCU, Listopad JJ, Rentzsch CU, Igney FH, von Bonin A, Hennekes HH, et al. Dimethylfumarate induces immunosuppression via glutathione depletion and subsequent induction of heme oxygenase 1. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127(4):835–45.
- Schmidt TJ, Ak M, Mrowietz U. Reactivity of dimethyl fumarate and methylhydrogen fumarate towards glutathione and N-acetyl-L-cysteine – preparation of S-substituted thiosuccinic acid esters. Bioorg Med Chem. 2007;15(1):333–42.
- 119. Dubey D, Kieseier BC, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, Warnke C, Menge T, et al. Dimethyl fumarate in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: rationale, mechanisms of action, pharmacokinetics, efficacy and safety. Expert Rev Neurother. 2015;15(4):339–46.
- 120. Mills EA, Ogrodnik MA, Plave A, Mao-Draayer Y. Emerging understanding of the mechanism of action for dimethyl fumarate in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Front Neurol. 2018;9:5.
- 121. Smith MD, Calabresi PA, Bhargava P. Dimethyl fumarate treatment alters NK cell function in multiple sclerosis. Eur J Immunol. 2018;48(2):380–3.
- 122. Wu Q, Wang Q, Mao G, Dowling CA, Lundy SK, Mao-Draayer Y. Dimethyl fumarate selectively reduces memory T cells and shifts the balance between Th1/Th17 and Th2 in multiple sclerosis patients. J Immunol. 2017;198(8):3069–80.
- Diebold M, Sievers C, Bantug G, Sanderson N, Kappos L, Kuhle J, et al. Dimethyl fumarate influences innate and adaptive immunity in multiple sclerosis. J Autoimmun. 2018;86:39–50.
- 124. Holm Hansen R, Højsgaard Chow H, Sellebjerg F, Rode von Essen M. Dimethyl fumarate therapy suppresses B cell responses and follicular helper T cells in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2018;1352458518790417.
- 125. Smith MD, Martin KA, Calabresi PA, Bhargava P. Dimethyl fumarate alters B-cell memory and cytokine production in MS patients. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2017;4(5):351–5.
- Galloway DA, Williams JB, Moore CS. Effects of fumarates on inflammatory human astrocyte responses and oligodendrocyte differentiation. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2017;4(6):381–91.
- 127. Brennan MS, Matos MF, Richter KE, Li B, Scannevin RH. The NRF2 transcriptional target, OSGIN1, contributes to monomethyl fumarate-mediated cytoprotection in human astrocytes. Sci Rep. 2017;7:42054.
- 128. Rother RP, Rollins SA, Mojcik CF, Brodsky RA, Bell L. Discovery and development of the complement inhibitor eculizumab for the treatment of paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. Nat Biotechnol. 2007;25(11):1256–64.

- 129. Jordan A, Freimer M. Recent advances in understanding and managing myasthenia gravis. F1000Res. 2018;7.
- 130. Howard JF, Utsugisawa K, Benatar M, Murai H, Barohn RJ, Illa I, et al. Safety and efficacy of eculizumab in anti-acetylcholine receptor antibody-positive refractory generalised myasthenia gravis (REGAIN): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre study. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(12):976–86.
- 131. Soliris | European Medicines Agency [Internet]. [cited 2018 Dec 6]. Available from: https:// www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/soliris#overview-section
- 132. Soliris (eculizumab) FDA Approval History [Internet]. Drugs.com. [cited 2018 Dec 6]. Available from: https://www.drugs.com/history/soliris.html
- 133. Pilch KS, Spaeth PJ, Yuki N, Wakerley BR. Therapeutic complement inhibition: a promising approach for treatment of neuroimmunological diseases. Expert Rev Neurother. 2017;17(6):579–91.
- 134. Matloubian M, Lo CG, Cinamon G, Lesneski MJ, Xu Y, Brinkmann V, et al. Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. Nature. 2004;427(6972):355–60.
- 135. Schwab SR, Cyster JG. Finding a way out: lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(12):1295–301.
- Kappos L, Antel J, Comi G, Montalban X, O'Connor P, Polman CH, et al. Oral fingolimod (FTY720) for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(11):1124–40.
- Cohen JA, Barkhof F, Comi G, Hartung H-P, Khatri BO, Montalban X, et al. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(5):402–15.
- 138. Luessi F, Kraus S, Trinschek B, Lerch S, Ploen R, Paterka M, et al. FTY720 (fingolimod) treatment tips the balance towards less immunogenic antigen-presenting cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2015;21(14):1811–22.
- 139. Claes N, Dhaeze T, Fraussen J, Broux B, Van Wijmeersch B, Stinissen P, et al. Compositional changes of B and T cell subtypes during fingolimod treatment in multiple sclerosis patients: a 12-month follow-up study. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e111115.
- 140. Serpero LD, Filaci G, Parodi A, Battaglia F, Kalli F, Brogi D, et al. Fingolimod modulates peripheral effector and regulatory T cells in MS patients. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2013;8(5):1106–13.
- 141. Sato DK, Nakashima I, Bar-Or A, Misu T, Suzuki C, Nishiyama S, et al. Changes in Th17 and regulatory T cells after fingolimod initiation to treat multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;268(1–2):95–8.
- 142. Yamagata K, Tagami M, Torii Y, Takenaga F, Tsumagari S, Itoh S, et al. Sphingosine 1-phosphate induces the production of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor and cellular proliferation in astrocytes. Glia. 2003;41(2):199–206.
- Edsall LC, Pirianov GG, Spiegel S. Involvement of sphingosine 1-phosphate in nerve growth factor-mediated neuronal survival and differentiation. J Neurosci. 1997;17(18):6952–60.
- 144. Colombo E, Di Dario M, Capitolo E, Chaabane L, Newcombe J, Martino G, et al. Fingolimod may support neuroprotection via blockade of astrocyte nitric oxide. Ann Neurol. 2014;76(3):325–37.
- 145. Teitelbaum D, Meshorer A, Hirshfeld T, Arnon R, Sela M. Suppression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by a synthetic polypeptide. Eur J Immunol. 1971;1(4):242–8.
- 146. Aharoni R, Teitelbaum D, Arnon R, Sela M. Copolymer 1 acts against the immunodominant epitope 82-100 of myelin basic protein by T cell receptor antagonism in addition to major histocompatibility complex blocking. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(2):634–9.
- 147. Ireland SJ, Guzman AA, O'Brien DE, Hughes S, Greenberg B, Flores A, et al. The effect of glatiramer acetate therapy on functional properties of B cells from patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(11):1421–8.
- 148. Hong J, Li N, Zhang X, Zheng B, Zhang JZ. Induction of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by copolymer-I through activation of transcription factor Foxp3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(18):6449–54.

- 149. Kuerten S, Jackson LJ, Kaye J, Vollmer TL. Impact of glatiramer acetate on B cell-mediated pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs. 2018;32(11):1039–51.
- 150. Farina C, Weber MS, Meinl E, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R. Glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis: update on potential mechanisms of action. Lancet Neurol. 2005;4(9):567–75.
- 151. Ruggieri M, Avolio C, Livrea P, Trojano M. Glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis: a review. CNS Drug Rev. 2007;13(2):178–91.
- 152. Coutinho AE, Chapman KE. The anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids, recent developments and mechanistic insights. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2011;335(1):2–13.
- 153. Buttgereit F, Wehling M, Burmester GR. A new hypothesis of modular glucocorticoid actions: steroid treatment of rheumatic diseases revisited. Arthritis Rheum. 1998;41(5):761–7.
- 154. Liberman AC, Budziñski ML, Sokn C, Gobbini RP, Steininger A, Arzt E. Regulatory and mechanistic actions of glucocorticoids on T and inflammatory cells. Front Endocrinol. 2018;9:235.
- 155. Barnes PJ. Molecular mechanisms and cellular effects of glucocorticosteroids. Immunol Allergy Clin N Am. 2005;25(3):451–68.
- 156. Cronstein BN, Kimmel SC, Levin RI, Martiniuk F, Weissmann G. A mechanism for the antiinflammatory effects of corticosteroids: the glucocorticoid receptor regulates leukocyte adhesion to endothelial cells and expression of endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule 1 and intercellular adhesion molecule 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(21):9991–5.
- 157. Leussink VI, Jung S, Merschdorf U, Toyka KV, Gold R. High-dose methylprednisolone therapy in multiple sclerosis induces apoptosis in peripheral blood leukocytes. Arch Neurol. 2001;58(1):91–7.
- 158. Zhang J, Hutton G, Zang Y. A comparison of the mechanisms of action of interferon beta and glatiramer acetate in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Clin Ther. 2002;24(12):1998–2021.
- 159. Kieseier BC. The mechanism of action of interferon-β in relapsing multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs. 2011;25(6):491–502.
- 160. Kavrochorianou N, Markogiannaki M, Haralambous S. IFN-β differentially regulates the function of T cell subsets in MS and EAE. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2016;30:47–54.
- 161. Wang K-C, Lin K-H, Lee T-C, Lee C-L, Chen S-Y, Chen S-J, et al. Poor responses to interferon-beta treatment in patients with neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis with long spinal cord lesions. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e98192.
- 162. Palace J, Leite MI, Nairne A, Vincent A. Interferon Beta treatment in neuromyelitis optica: increase in relapses and aquaporin 4 antibody titers. Arch Neurol. 2010;67(8):1016–7.
- 163. Cherin P, Marie I, Michallet M, Pelus E, Dantal J, Crave J-C, et al. Management of adverse events in the treatment of patients with immunoglobulin therapy: a review of evidence. Autoimmun Rev. 2016;15(1):71–81.
- 164. Bittner B, Richter W, Schmidt J. Subcutaneous administration of biotherapeutics: an overview of current challenges and opportunities. BioDrugs. 2018;32(5):425–40.
- 165. Patwa HS, Chaudhry V, Katzberg H, Rae-Grant AD, So YT. Evidence-based guideline: intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of neuromuscular disorders: report of the therapeutics and technology assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of neurology. Neurology. 2012;78(13):1009–15.
- Hughes RAC, Swan AV, van Doorn PA. Intravenous immunoglobulin for Guillain-Barré syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(9):CD002063.
- 167. Lancaster E. The diagnosis and treatment of autoimmune encephalitis. J Clin Neurol. 2016;12(1):1–13.
- 168. Winkelmann A, Rommer PS, Hecker M, Zettl UK. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in multiple sclerosis: a prospective, rater-blinded analysis of relapse rates during pregnancy and the postnatal period. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2019;25(1):78–85.
- 169. Lünemann JD, Nimmerjahn F, Dalakas MC. Intravenous immunoglobulin in neurologymode of action and clinical efficacy. Nat Rev Neurol. 2015;11(2):80–9.
- Janke AD, Yong VW. Impact of IVIg on the interaction between activated T cells and microglia. Neurol Res. 2006;28(3):270–4.

- 171. Lünemann JD, Quast I, Dalakas MC. Efficacy of intravenous immunoglobulin in neurological diseases. Neurotherapeutics. 2016;13(1):34–46.
- 172. Vollmer T, Stewart T, Baxter N. Mitoxantrone and cytotoxic drugs' mechanisms of action. Neurology. 2010;74(Suppl 1):S41–6.
- 173. Thomas X, Archimbaud E. Mitoxantrone in the treatment of acute myelogenous leukemia: a review. Hematol Cell Ther. 1997;39(4):63–74.
- 174. Chan A, Weilbach FX, Toyka KV, Gold R. Mitoxantrone induces cell death in peripheral blood leucocytes of multiple sclerosis patients. Clin Exp Immunol. 2005;139(1):152–8.
- 175. Neuhaus O, Wiendl H, Kieseier BC, Archelos JJ, Hemmer B, Stüve O, et al. Multiple sclerosis: mitoxantrone promotes differential effects on immunocompetent cells in vitro. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;168(1–2):128–37.
- 176. Kopadze T, Dehmel T, Hartung H-P, Stüve O, Kieseier BC. Inhibition by mitoxantrone of in vitro migration of immunocompetent cells: a possible mechanism for therapeutic efficacy in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol. 2006;63(11):1572–8.
- 177. Putzki N, Kumar M, Kreuzfelder E, Grosse-Wilde H, Diener HC, Limmroth V. Mitoxantrone does not restore the impaired suppressive function of natural regulatory T cells in patients suffering from multiple sclerosis. A longitudinal ex vivo and in vitro study. Eur Neurol. 2009;61(1):27–32.
- 178. Kingwell E, Koch M, Leung B, Isserow S, Geddes J, Rieckmann P, et al. Cardiotoxicity and other adverse events associated with mitoxantrone treatment for MS. Neurology. 2010;74(22):1822–6.
- Cocco E, Marrosu MG. The current role of mitoxantrone in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Expert Rev Neurother. 2014;14(6):607–16.
- 180. Research C for DE and. Postmarket drug safety information for patients and providers mitoxantrone hydrochloride (marketed as Novantrone and generics) – Healthcare Professional Sheet text version [Internet]. [cited 2018 Nov 14]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/ Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/ucm126445. htm
- Xiong W, Lahita RG. Pragmatic approaches to therapy for systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2014;10(2):97–107.
- 182. Staatz CE, Tett SE. Pharmacology and toxicology of mycophenolate in organ transplant recipients: an update. Arch Toxicol. 2014;88(7):1351–89.
- 183. Ginzler EM, Aranow C. Mycophenolate mofetil in lupus nephritis. Lupus. 2005;14(1):59-64.
- 184. Felten R, Scher F, Sibilia J, Chasset F, Arnaud L. Advances in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus: from back to the future, to the future and beyond. Joint Bone Spine. 2018. pii: S1297-319X(18)30304-X.
- Villarroel MC, Hidalgo M, Jimeno A. Mycophenolate mofetil: an update. Drugs Today (Barc). 2009;45(7):521–32.
- Gotterer L, Li Y. Maintenance immunosuppression in myasthenia gravis. J Neurol Sci. 2016;369:294–302.
- 187. Stüve O, Cravens PD, Frohman EM, Phillips JT, Remington GM, von Geldern G, et al. Immunologic, clinical, and radiologic status 14 months after cessation of natalizumab therapy. Neurology. 2009;72(5):396–401.
- 188. Stüve O, Marra CM, Bar-Or A, Niino M, Cravens PD, Cepok S, et al. Altered CD4+/CD8+ T-cell ratios in cerebrospinal fluid of natalizumab-treated patients with multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol. 2006;63(10):1383–7.
- 189. Pagnini C, Arseneau KO, Cominelli F. Natalizumab in the treatment of Crohn's disease patients. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2017;17(11):1433–8.
- 190. Tsokos GC, Balow JE. Immunosuppressive agents and plasmapheresis in immunological disorders. J Immunopharmacol. 1985;7(1):1–15.
- 191. Cortese I, Chaudhry V, So YT, Cantor F, Cornblath DR, Rae-Grant A. Evidence-based guideline update: plasmapheresis in neurologic disorders: report of the therapeutics and technology assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of neurology. Neurology. 2011;76(3):294–300.

- 192. Gwathmey K, Balogun RA, Burns T. Neurologic indications for therapeutic plasma exchange: 2011 update. J Clin Apher. 2012;27(3):138–45.
- 193. Lazaridis K, Dalianoudis I, Baltatzidi V, Tzartos SJ. Specific removal of autoantibodies by extracorporeal immunoadsorption ameliorates experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. J Neuroimmunol. 2017;312:24–30.
- 194. Faissner S, Nikolayczik J, Chan A, Hellwig K, Gold R, Yoon M-S, et al. Plasmapheresis and immunoadsorption in patients with steroid refractory multiple sclerosis relapses. J Neurol. 2016;263(6):1092–8.
- 195. Miller AE. Oral teriflunomide in the treatment of relapsing forms of multiple sclerosis: clinical evidence and long-term experience. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2017;10(12):381–96.
- 196. Wostradowski T, Prajeeth CK, Gudi V, Kronenberg J, Witte S, Brieskorn M, et al. In vitro evaluation of physiologically relevant concentrations of teriflunomide on activation and proliferation of primary rodent microglia. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13(1):250.
- 197. Manna SK, Aggarwal BB. Immunosuppressive leflunomide metabolite (A77 1726) blocks TNF-dependent nuclear factor-kappa B activation and gene expression. J Immunol. 1999;162(4):2095–102.
- 198. González-Alvaro I, Ortiz AM, Domínguez-Jiménez C, Aragón-Bodi A, Díaz Sánchez B, Sánchez-Madrid F. Inhibition of tumour necrosis factor and IL-17 production by leflunomide involves the JAK/STAT pathway. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(10):1644–50.
- 199. Groh J, Hörner M, Martini R. Teriflunomide attenuates neuroinflammation-related neural damage in mice carrying human PLP1 mutations. J Neuroinflammation. 2018;15(1):194.
- Araki M. Blockade of IL-6 signaling in neuromyelitis optica. Neurochem Int. 2018. pii: S0197-0186(18)30358-9.
- Zola H, Flego L. Expression of interleukin-6 receptor on blood lymphocytes without in vitro activation. Immunology. 1992;76(2):338–40.
- 202. Regulation of interleukin 6 receptor expression in human monocytes and monocytederived macrophages. Comparison with the expression in human hepatocytes. J Exp Med. 1989;170(5):1537–49.
- 203. Wu T-C, Chiang C-Y, Chan J-S, Lee C-Y, Leu H-B, Huang P-H, et al. Tocilizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody against the interleukin-6 receptor, inhibits high glucose-induced vascular smooth muscle cell migration through mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. J Interf Cytokine Res. 2018;38(11):510–6.
- 204. Lin J, Xue B, Li X, Xia J. Monoclonal antibody therapy for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: current and future. Int J Neurosci. 2017;127(8):735–44.
- 205. Chihara N, Aranami T, Sato W, Miyazaki Y, Miyake S, Okamoto T, et al. Interleukin 6 signaling promotes anti-aquaporin 4 autoantibody production from plasmablasts in neuromyelitis optica. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(9):3701–6.
- 206. Araki M, Matsuoka T, Miyamoto K, Kusunoki S, Okamoto T, Murata M, et al. Efficacy of the anti-IL-6 receptor antibody tocilizumab in neuromyelitis optica: a pilot study. Neurology. 2014;82(15):1302–6.
- 207. Ringelstein M, Ayzenberg I, Harmel J, Lauenstein A-S, Lensch E, Stögbauer F, et al. Longterm therapy with interleukin 6 receptor blockade in highly active neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(7):756–63.
- Villiger PM, Adler S, Kuchen S, Wermelinger F, Dan D, Fiege V, et al. Tocilizumab for induction and maintenance of remission in giant cell arteritis: a phase 2, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10031):1921–7.
- Stone JH, Tuckwell K, Dimonaco S, Klearman M, Aringer M, Blockmans D, et al. Trial of tocilizumab in giant-cell arteritis. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(4):317–28.
- 210. Cogollo E, Cogollo E, Silva MA, Isenberg D. Profile of atacicept and its potential in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2015;9:1331–9.
- Harvey PR, Gordon C. B-cell targeted therapies in systemic lupus erythematosus: successes and challenges. BioDrugs. 2013;27(2):85–95.

- 212. Kappos L, Hartung H-P, Freedman MS, Boyko A, Radü EW, Mikol DD, et al. Atacicept in multiple sclerosis (ATAMS): a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(4):353–63.
- 213. Vigolo M, Chambers MG, Willen L, Chevalley D, Maskos K, Lammens A, et al. A loop region of BAFF controls B cell survival and regulates recognition by different inhibitors. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):1199.
- 214. Stohl W, Hiepe F, Latinis KM, Thomas M, Scheinberg MA, Clarke A, et al. Belimumab reduces autoantibodies, normalizes low complement levels, and reduces select B cell populations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(7):2328–37.
- 215. Hewett K, Sanders DB, Grove RA, Broderick CL, Rudo TJ, Bassiri A, et al. Randomized study of adjunctive belimumab in participants with generalized myasthenia gravis. Neurology. 2018;90(16):e1425–34.
- 216. Guptill JT, Soni M, Meriggioli MN. Current treatment, emerging translational therapies, and new therapeutic targets for autoimmune myasthenia gravis. Neurotherapeutics. 2016;13(1):118–31.
- 217. Schneider-Gold C, Reinacher-Schick A, Ellrichmann G, Gold R. Bortezomib in severe MuSK-antibody positive myasthenia gravis: first clinical experience. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2017;10(10):339–41.
- Scheibe F, Prüss H, Mengel AM, Kohler S, Nümann A, Köhnlein M, et al. Bortezomib for treatment of therapy-refractory anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Neurology. 2017;88(4):366–70.
- Musette P, Bouaziz JD. B cell modulation strategies in autoimmune diseases: new concepts. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 5];9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5908887/
- 220. Roopenian DC, Akilesh S. FcRn: the neonatal fc receptor comes of age. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7(9):715–25.
- 221. Kaplon H, Reichert JM. Antibodies to watch in 2018. MAbs. 2018;10(2):183-203.

Part II Disorders: Diagnosis and Therapies

Postinfectious Immune-Mediated Neurological Diseases



Marios Hadjivassiliou and Panagiotis Zis

Abstract Infection may trigger immune-mediated neurological dysfunction. In some specific examples, the pathogenesis has been clearly delineated, with a detrimental effect of the immune response to infection. This chapter will cover immunemediated neurological diseases where infection is the antigenic trigger. Postinfectious cerebellitis, Miller Fisher syndrome, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, vasculitis and Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) are discussed, from the clinical presentation to therapies. Presentation may be monophasic (e.g. GBS) or sometimes evolve into a chronic condition (e.g. vasculitis). In some cases, the prognosis is excellent with full recovery. In others, patients will develop permanent neurological deficits. Therapies are often based on steroids, plasma exchange and intravenous immunoglobulins. Despite a favourable clinical course, postinfectious cerebellitis may rarely require surgical decompression due to oedema of the posterior fossa. Treatment should be initiated as fast as possible.

Keywords Postinfectious · Cerebellitis · Vasculitis · Miller Fisher syndrome · Guillain-Barré syndrome · Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis · ADEM

Introduction

The immune system has a critical role in host defence against various infective pathogens. However, under certain circumstances, activation of the immune system by an infection may prove detrimental to the host. This may be the result of a general immune activation secondary to the infection or due to a targeted immune response to a specific host antigen. Most patients who suffer from an acute infection expect a period of convalescence before regaining full health. For a minority, recovery from the symptoms of the infection is followed by a new illness as a result of

M. Hadjivassiliou (🖂) · P. Zis

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Academic Department of Neurosciences, Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK e-mail: m.hadjivassiliou@sheffield.ac.uk

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_13

inappropriate activation of the immune system. One assumes that this group of patients may be more susceptible to autoimmunity in general; yet, most of these patients tend to follow a monophasic illness with little chance of recurrence.

In a large prospective cohort study involving 176 patients with postinfectious neurological syndromes, 70% of patients had a monophasic illness [1]. The neurological manifestations occurred within 30 days after vaccination or systemic infection. Factors that predicted poor recovery included older age and more severe initial presentation. Persistent infections may continue to drive the immune response resulting in chronic inflammation and the development of an autoimmune process resulting in a more protracted and ultimately permanently damaged nervous system. It is also likely that patients with genetic susceptibilities to immune regulation may be vulnerable to infection-driven autoimmune diseases. This chapter will cover some postinfectious neurological syndromes including postinfectious cerebellitis, Miller Fisher syndrome, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, postinfectious vasculitis and Guillain-Barré syndrome (Table 1).

Postinfectious Cerebellitis

Postinfectious cerebellitis (PIC) refers to an immune-mediated ataxia that usually follows a bacterial or viral infection. The term is usually confined to those cases where the cerebellum is exclusively affected, but sometimes, such involvement may also involve the brainstem (rhombencephalitis/brainstem encephalitis), and thus patients may develop brainstem signs in addition to cerebellar signs.

PIC accounts for as much as 0.4% of neurological presentations in children but is less common in adults. The first paediatric case series were published in 1905, and the infective agent was measles, *Bordetella pertussis* and scarlet fever [2]. There have been numerous reports of PIC, predominantly in children, associated with specific infections, commonly viral illnesses. Primary sites of infections are the gastro-intestinal and respiratory tracts, such as influenza, parainfluenza, mumps, measles, rubella, poliomyelitis, variola, cytomegalovirus, vaccinia, ECHO, coxsackie, varicella, herpes simplex, herpes zoster, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and epidemic encephalitis. PIC has also been associated with bacterial infections such as Bordetella pertussis, typhoid fever, scarlet fever, Q fever, diphtheria, leptospirosis, mycoplasma, Legionnaire's disease and even falciparum malaria parasitaemia.

PIC accounts for up to 50% of all neurological sequelae of varicella infection and is thus very common in children [3]. It is estimated that 0.1% of patients with varicella infection will develop neurological dysfunction [3]. A large series of 73 patients with acute cerebellitis in childhood reported varicella virus as the most common infective agent seen in 26% of patients [4]. In adults, the most common preceding infection was EBV or mycoplasma [5].

Viral cultures of the cerebrospinal fluid are seldom positive and it is thought that the cerebellitis is immunologically mediated. This is supported by isolated involvement of the cerebellum with sparing of other parts of the brain, the presence of

Table 1 Summa	ry of the clinical features of post-inf	ectious neurological dis	eases		
	Postinfectious cerebellitis	Miller Fisher syndrome	Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis	Infection and neurological vasculitis	Guillain-Barré syndrome
Lesion site	Central nervous system	-			Peripheral nervous system
Infection triggering the autoimmunity	Varicella, herpes simplex (HSV), influenza, parainfluenza, mumps, measles, rubella, poliomyelitis, variola, cytomegalovirus (CMV), Echo virus, coxsackie, Epstein- Barr virus (EBV), Bordetella pertussis, typhoid, scarlet fever, Q fever, diphtheria, leptospirosis, mycoplasma, Legionella pneumophilia, falciparum malaria, parasitaemia, vaccines: varicella, hepatitis B, rabies, meningococcal group C, human papilloma virus	A viral (respiratory) or bacterial (usually <i>Campylobacter</i>) infection	Measles, influenza, enterovirus, mumps, rubella, varicella, EBV, CMV, HSV, hepatitis A, coxsackie virus, mycoplasma, borrelia, leptospira, streptococci, measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine	There are several subtypes. For example, in a case of polyarteritis nodosa; hepatitis B and cryoglobulinaemia in the context of hepatitis C, less association with HIV, CMV, varicella and HTLV-1	Campylobacter jejuni Mycoplasma pneumoniae, CMV, Zika virus
Clinical manifestations	Cerebellar ataxia Patients may exhibit brainstem deficits	Ophthalmoplegia, cerebellar ataxia and areflexia	Fever, headache, stiff neck and focal neurological dysfunction often with reduced level of consciousness, sometimes also with seizures	focal neurological deficits	Bilateral weakness, ascending and starting distally, Association with various degrees of sensory symptoms, neuropathic pain, burning sensations and autonomic dysfunction
Clinical courses	Mean latency: 9.9 days Self-limiting	Median latency: 8 days Self-limiting	Self-limiting	Infection can reactivate the vasculitis	Usually, 2–3 weeks' latency

Table 1 Summary of the clinical features of post-infectious neurological diseases

(continued)

		Miller Fisher	Acute disseminated	Infection and neurological	Guillain-Barré
	Postinfectious cerebellitis	syndrome	encephalomyelitis	vasculitis	syndrome
Evidence for	Presence of oligoclonal bands	Anti-GQ1b antibody	Presence of oligoclonal	Prophylactic antibiotics	Antibodies against
the	Elevation of TNF, IL5, IL2	Immunoreactivities	bands	are effective to avoid	GM1 and GD1a
autoimmunity	Antineuronal antibodies	in the cerebellar	Pathologies similar to	reactivation of vasculitis	gangliosides
		molecular layer	experimental allergic		Response to
			encephalomyelitis		immunotherapies
			(infiltration of		(plasmapheresis and
			lymphocytes and		intravenous
			macrophages)		immunoglobulins
					(IVIG))

 Table 1 (continued)
oligoclonal bands and the good prognosis even in cases where no specific treatment was given. In one study describing 12 patients with a self-limiting cerebellar dysfunction following an attack of falciparum malaria, the authors found elevated serum concentrations of tumour necrosis factor, interleukin 6 and interleukin 2 [6]. These levels were much higher whilst the patients were ataxic than during recovery. Similar findings were observed in the patients' cerebrospinal fluid. Another study demonstrated the presence of antineuronal antibodies in PIC following EBV infection [7].

As the course of this illness is on the whole benign, there is very limited information from the post-mortem examination on the neuropathology of this condition. Isolated case reports of fatal cerebellitis are usually due to severe swelling and brain herniation. The swelling is usually confined to the cerebellum but may sometimes be asymmetrical, also known as hemicerebellitis (Fig. 1). T2 signal hyperintensities on MR imaging can be seen affecting the cerebellar cortex. Whilst in the majority of cases such changes may resolve, in some cases, cerebellar atrophy develops thereafter. It is debatable if such cases represent examples of primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia rather than PIC. The neuropathological findings seen in some of these reports are compatible with an acute meningoencephalitis, whilst other reports are more in favour of a postinfectious immune reaction similar to acute disseminated encephalomyelitis [8]. Such reports need to be treated with caution as they are atypical given the fulminant course which is unlike most of the cases of PIC where full recovery is the norm.



Fig. 1 Asymmetrical swelling of the cerebellum in a 30-year-old patient with acute postinfective cerebellitis

The clinical features in a series of paediatric cases showed remarkable uniformity and were consisted with predominantly gait and lower limb ataxia with a peak incidence at 3 years of age [4]. Thirty four percent of the children had severe ataxia causing inability to walk. Nystagmus was present in 13.7% of the cases. The mean latency from the onset of prodromal illness to the onset of ataxia was 9.9 days (range, 1-43). The recovery period averaged at 2 months with the majority of the patients (88%) making a full recovery. In the adult series the clinical features were very similar to those encountered in children, with the addition of oculomotor disturbances in 73% (broken pursuit being the commonest) [5]. The latency from the onset of prodromal illness to the development of ataxia was longer than what was encountered in children at 3.5 weeks. Complete recovery was observed in the majority of patients and occurred within a mean of 12 weeks. Cerebrospinal fluid examination showed elevation of white cell count, predominantly lymphocytes, in 50% and high protein in 30% of patients. Brain imaging tended to be normal but in few cases demonstrated cerebellar swelling. In those patients where recovery was incomplete, there was cerebellar atrophy evident on MRI. The differential diagnosis includes ADEM, acute labyrinthitis and other immune-mediated ataxias.

There is no evidence to suggest that treatment of the underlying infective agent alters the neurological course. Management is supportive in the form of physiotherapy and occupational therapy during the symptomatic phase of the illness. Rarely, the severity of cerebellar swelling may necessitate posterior fossa decompression to avoid brain herniation.

Miller Fisher Syndrome

In 1956 Miller Fisher reported three patients with clinical features characterised by acute onset of ophthalmoplegia, ataxia and areflexia suggesting that this was a distinct clinical entity [9]. In clinical practice, ataxia and ophthalmoplegia tend to be the dominant presenting feature of Miller Fisher syndrome (MFS) with the neuropathy being mild and axonal. MFS accounts for about 5% of all cases of acute inflammatory polyneuropathies (Guillain-Barré syndrome – see below). The incidence can therefore be estimated to be about 1 per million per year.

In one of the largest reported series, comprising 50 consecutive patients with MFS, a viral (respiratory) or bacterial (usually *Campylobacter*) infection preceded the neurological illness in up to 80% of cases [10]. The median interval between infection and development of neurological symptoms was 8 days. The longest reported interval between prodromal illness and the onset of symptoms is 5 weeks. The initial symptoms consist of diplopia, ptosis, gait ataxia with only minor sensory symptoms. The ophthalmoplegia usually evolves as a symmetrical failure initially of upgaze followed by loss of lateral gaze and last by downgaze [11]. The ataxia is often prominent and disabling. Deep tendon reflexes are depressed or absent in 82% of cases. Cranial nerves other than the oculomotor nerves are involved in more than half the cases (facial 32%, bulbar dysfunction 26%). By 6 months, all patients reported in the above series had made a full recovery, and no deaths were reported.

Nerve conduction studies may be normal, though evidence of peripheral neuropathy (axonal or demyelinating, primarily affecting sensory nerves) is often found. Cerebrospinal fluid protein is often elevated. Imaging of the brain and the cerebellum is usually normal although enhancing lesions visible on magnetic resonance imaging of the brain in the spinocerebellar tracts at the level of the lower medulla have been reported [12]. These lesions disappeared with resolution of the symptoms.

The origin of the ataxia in patients with MFS has always been a source of debate. The original study by Miller Fisher proposed selective involvement of Ia-afferent neurons. Subsequent work suggested that a disparity between proprioceptive information from muscle spindles and kinaesthetic information from joints may be the cause of the ataxia [13]. Direct involvement of the cerebellum has, however, been supported by a number of studies. An FDG-PET study in 10 patients with MFS showed hypermetabolism in the cerebellum and brainstem [14]. A study using sera from patients with MFS demonstrated selective immunocytochemical staining of the molecular layer of the human cerebellum and loss of Purkinje cells has also been reported [15, 16]. MR spectroscopy of the cerebellum during the illness can be abnormal with full resolution after clinical improvement [17].

High titres of anti-GQ1b IgG antiganglioside antibodies have been observed in up to 90% of patients with MFS. The pathogenic impact of this antibody is likely to depend on many factors, including its specificity and the integrity of the bloodnerve barrier. Antibodies to GQ1b cross-react with epitopes contained in the liposaccharide of MFS-associated *Campylobacter jejuni* strains suggesting the possibility of molecular mimicry [18]. They remain a useful diagnostic marker for patients with suspected MFS. This is particularly useful in some atypical cases where the ophthalmoplegia is less prominent and bulbar dysfunction predominates. Anti-GQ1b antibodies are associated with more severe damage to sensory rather than motor nerves [19].

Prognosis is usually considered to be excellent, though it may be slow, with a full recovery expected within 6 months. Recurrent episodes have been described but they are rare. MFS is overall a mild and usually self-limiting condition that does not require immunomodulatory treatment. Whilst there are anecdotal reports of response to steroids, intravenous immunoglobulin and plasmapheresis a retrospective study comparing intravenous immunoglobulins, plasmapheresis and no treatment showed no difference in the speed of recovery or the final outcome [20].

Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis

Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) is an inflammatory demyelinating disorder of the central nervous system that is usually monophasic and associated with an antecedent or concomitant infection (usually viral). North America epidemiological data in children suggest an estimated incidence of 0.2/100,000 [21]. ADEM accounts for 10% of all known cases of encephalitis. ADEM is more common in children although it can occur at any age. Clear evidence of a preceding infection is usually seen in 2/3 of children and in about half of all adult cases [22].

ADEM can also be triggered by vaccination (postvaccination encephalomyelitis). Viral triggers include infections such as influenza, enterovirus, measles, mumps, rubella, varicella-zoster, EBV, cytomegalovirus, HSV, hepatitis A and coxsackie virus. Bacterial triggers include mycoplasma, borrelia, leptospira and streptococci. Measles infection in particular can result in an acute immune-mediated encephalitis in up to 1 in 1000 children and produces a more severe phenotype. It is the most frequent CNS complication of measles infection. Incidences of ADEM after varicella-zoster and rubella infections are much less common at 1 in 10,000 and 1 in 20,000, respectively [22]. The measles, mumps, rubella vaccine is most commonly associated with postvaccination encephalomyelitis with an incidence of 1–2 per million vaccinations. Still this incidence is less than the 1 in 1000 seen in the context of measles infection.

The onset of ADEM usually occurs in the wake of a febrile prodromal illness or immunisation and is often associated with constitutional signs in addition to the encephalopathy. Thus, patients with ADEM usually present acutely with fever, headache, stiff neck and focal neurological dysfunction often with reduced level of consciousness, sometimes also with seizures. As a result, such patients are usually admitted acutely to medical, infectious diseases or neurology units, initially treated for meningitis or infective encephalitis. What distinguishes ADEM from viral infective encephalitis or other autoimmune encephalitides is the imaging findings of multiple areas of abnormal white matter. These areas are usually found in the subcortical and central white matter but also in the cortical grey-white matter junction of the hemispheres, cerebellum, brainstem and spinal cord. ADEM lesions are usually larger (occasionally resulting in mass effect) and have a tendency to be extensive and symmetrical by comparison to MS lesions. Cerebrospinal fluid shows increased white cells and protein but no evidence of viral or bacterial infection. Over 50% will have evidence of oligoclonal bands but sometimes this is a transient phenomenon unlike what is seen in multiple sclerosis.

The hallmark pathological findings in ADEM are areas of perivenous demyelination with infiltration with lymphocytes and macrophages [23]. These pathological findings are very similar to what is seen in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE). EAE can be induced experimentally in animals by exposing them to a myelin antigen. The existing evidence therefore suggests that ADEM results from a transient autoimmune response, possibly via molecular mimicry between virus and myelin antigens. Both B and T cell-mediated reactions are responsible for generating CNS inflammatory damage in ADEM [22].

There is no standard treatment for ADEM because it is rare and usually selflimiting. No large clinical trials have been conducted so far. Its immune nature prompts the use of immunosuppression in the form of steroids, plasma exchange and intravenous immunoglobulins. Spontaneous recovery is the rule, usually over a course of weeks to months. The initial presentation is rather severe, but in long term, the outcome is much better when compared to MS. Historically, fatal disease was reported as common, but the current data dispute this. In a series of 150 children with ADEM, no deaths were reported, but in a series of 40 adult patients with ADEM, 2 mortalities were reported possibly suggesting a worse prognosis for adult cases [24].

Infection and Neurological Vasculitis

Vasculitis can affect the nervous system primarily in three possible ways: central nervous system vasculitis that usually takes the form of multiple strokes affecting large or small cerebral arteries; peripheral nervous system vasculitis that usually manifests with mononeuropathy multiplex; granulomatous angitis characterised by granuloma formation affecting brain parenchyma or the meninges. Neurological vasculitis can exist in isolation (e.g. granulomatous angitis of the nervous system or isolated vasculitis of the peripheral nervous system) but more often than not the nervous system is involved in the context of a more systemic disease. Vasculitis can be seen in the context of connective tissue diseases (e.g. primary Sjogren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis) or can be primary in the context of ANCA-associated vasculitis or in granulomatous angitis such as Wegener's granulomatosis.

The relationship between infection and systemic vasculitis is complex [25]. Historical evidence for its existence comes from diseases such as syphilitic aortitis and vasculitis in the context of tuberculosis (Fig. 2) [26]. A causal relationship with specific infections has only been established through epidemiological data. Examples include polyarteritis nodosa (PAN) in the context of hepatitis B and cryo-globulinaemia in the context of Hepatitis C [27, 28]. Less robust association between vasculitis and infection exists with HIV, CMV, varicella-zoster and HTLV-1 [29].

In Wegener's granulomatosis, infection can reactivate the vasculitis, and sometimes prophylactic antibiotics are used to avoid such scenario. Cerebral vasculitis

Fig. 2 Vasculitis and perivascular inflammation of the large arteries of the circle of Willis in a patient with TB meningitis. Steroids in addition to anti-TB treatment resulted in complete recovery



can also complicate bacterial meningitis often requiring the use of high-dose steroids in conjunction with appropriate antibiotics. Finally, some bacteria, fungi or parasites can also cause vasculitis mainly by direct invasion of the blood vessels or septic embolisation.

There are a number of immune mechanisms that may result in vasculitis in the context of infection [30]. Molecular mimicry refers to the activation of autoreactive T cells by microbial peptides that have sufficient structural similarity to self-peptides and is thought to be a common immune mechanism. Other mechanisms included the enhanced presentation of autoantigens by antigen-presenting cells that are recruited in the vicinity of the inflammatory site, followed by priming of autoreactive lymphocytes. Bystander activation is another mechanism that refers to the expansion of previously activated T cells at the inflammatory site. Finally, viral infection of lymphocytes may result in enhanced antibody production and the formation of circulating immune complexes.

Recognition of infection as the trigger for some vasculitides is of great importance as the treatment strategies differ from those applied to primary vasculitidies. Effective antimicrobial drugs are mandatory in treating bacterial infections, and antiviral drugs have proven to be effective in the treatment of hepatitis B-related vasculitis [29]. Similarly, treatment of hepatitis C-related cryoglobulinaemic vasculitis involves the use of antiviral drugs for disease control [29]. It is also important to note that unlike primary vasculitides, successful treatment of infection-related vasculitis with elimination of the infective agent is not usually associated with recurrence.

Guillain-Barré Syndrome

Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) is an acute, rapidly progressive, polyradiculoneuropathy. The annual incidence of GBS is estimated to be 0.8–1.9 cases per 100.000 people [31]. Based on the incidence rate and life expectancy, the overall estimated lifetime risk of developing GBS for any individual is less than one in 1000 [31].

GBS is usually preceded by a gastrointestinal or other infection (2–3 weeks before the onset of GBS) that induces an abnormal autoimmune response targeting the peripheral nervous system (peripheral nerves and spinal roots). Molecular mimicry between microbial and nerve antigens plays clearly a critical role, at least in the case of *Campylobacter jejuni* infection. However, unwanted autoimmunity does not arise in the vast majority (more than 99%) of patients exposed to infections that can lead to a GBS [32]. Increasing age and male gender are established risk factors for GBS. However, further genetic and environmental factors that affect an individual's susceptibility to develop GBS are still not known.

A variety of clinical phenotypes of GBS exist but all present with rapidly progressive neurological symptomatology of the peripheral nervous system that stabilises within 3–4 weeks of onset. In typical GBS, bilateral weakness is the key presenting complaint. Such weakness is described as ascending, starting distally. Unlike the chronic axonal neuropathies, where a dying back phenomenon occurs, in GBS, the weakness is usually global, affecting proximal muscles as well [33]. Bilateral facial nerve involvement is not uncommon as the disease progresses. Up to one-third of patients will develop respiratory failure and will need ventilation at an intensive care unit [34].

The majority of patients with GBS experience neuropathic sensory symptoms; however, the degree of sensory involvement varies from none (in pure motor forms of GBS) to very significant. Small fibre dysfunction in GBS is common and manifests with neuropathic pain, burning sensations and autonomic dysfunction [35, 36]. Rarer variants of GBS that affect predominantly facial and bulbar muscles are the pharyngeal-cervical-brachial variant and the Miller Fischer syndrome, which has been described above.

Clinical features needed for the diagnosis of GBS include the progressive weakness and the absent or decreased tendon reflexes particularly in the limbs affected. Typically, a lumbar puncture and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis will reveal the increased protein content with usually normal CSF white blood cell count. Serological antibody response directed against certain gangliosides can help with the diagnosis. For example, *Campylobacter jejuni* infections are usually associated with a pure motor axonal form of Guillain-Barré syndrome, more severe limb weakness and antibodies against GM1 and GD1a gangliosides [31]. Neurophysiological assessment is needed to confirm the diagnosis and determine the GBS type: Acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (AIDP) is the most common. It is characterised by demyelinating features on nerve conduction studies (NCS), such as slow conduction velocities and conduction block. One of the earliest features is the prolongation of the minimal F-wave latencies, even before the slowing of the conduction velocities, suggesting that the inflammation of the nerve roots occurs earlier in the course of the disease. This may be the reason why patients often complain of radicular sounding pain.

In acute motor axonal neuropathy (AMAN) there is no evidence of sensory impairment and the NCS show reduced compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs). In acute motor and sensory axonal neuropathy (AMSAN), apart from the changes seen in AMAN, there is additional sensory impairment with evidence of reduced sensory nerve action potentials (SNAPs).

Plasmapheresis and intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG) are currently the only two effective treatments for GBS. Both treatments are equally effective; however, IVIG is usually preferred because of its less invasive nature. Treatment should be initiated as soon as possible after diagnosis to prevent further neural damage [37].

The nature of the preceding infection affects the clinical phenotype and prognosis. For example, *Campylobacter jejuni* infections are usually associated with the AMAN type; these patients generally have a poorer outcome [31]. Other poor prognostic factors include age and intensive care requirement. Mortality in GBS has dropped dramatically over the last years, since effective treatments exist and the provision of intensive care is more widely available. It is estimated that the mortality of GBS is about 10%, with the majority of deaths occurring because of infections, pulmonary embolism and cardiac rhythm disturbances [38].

References

- Marchioni E, Ravaglia S, Montomoli C, et al. Postinfectious neurologic syndromes: a prospective cohort study. Neurology. 2013;80:882–900.
- 2. Batten FE. Ataxia in childhood. Brain. 1905;87:141-52.
- 3. Kennedy PGE. Neurological complications of varicella zoster virus. In: Kennedy PGE, Johnson RT, editors. Infections of the nervous system. London: Butterworths; 1987. p. 177–208.
- 4. Connolly AM, Dodson WE, Prensky AL, et al. Course and outcome of acute cerebellar ataxia. Ann Neurol. 1994;35:673–9.
- 5. Klockgether T, Döller G, Wüllner U, et al. Cerebellar encephalitis in adults. J Neurol. 1993;240:17–20.
- De Silva HJ, Hoang P, Dalton H, et al. Immune activation during cerebellar dysfunction following Plasmodium falciparum malaria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1992;86:129–31.
- Ito H, Sayama S, Irie S, et al. Antineuronal antibodies in acute ataxia following Epstein-Barr infection. Neurology. 1994;44:1506–7.
- 8. Sawaishi Y, Takada G. Acute cerebellitis. Cerebellum. 2002;1:223-8.
- Fisher CM. An unusual variant of acute idiopathic polyneuritis (syndrome of ophthalmoplegia, ataxia and areflexia). N Engl J Med. 1956;255:57–65.
- Mori M, Kuwabara S, Fukutake T, et al. Clinical features and prognosis of Miller Fisher syndrome. Neurology. 2001;56:1104–6.
- Al-Din SN, Anderson M, Eeg-Olofsson O, et al. Neuro-ophthalmic manifestations of the syndrome of ophthalmoplegia, ataxia and areflexia: a review. Acta Neurol Scand. 1994;89:157–63.
- Urushitani M, Udaka F, Kameyama M. Miller Fisher Guillain-Barre overlap syndrome with enhancing lesions in the spinocerebellar tracts. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1995;58:241–3.
- 13. Lo YL. Clinical and immunological spectrum of the Miller Fisher syndrome. Muscle Nerve. 2007;36:615–27.
- Kim YK, Kim JS, Jeong SH, et al. Cerebral glucose metabolism in Fisher syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80:512–7.
- Kornberg AJ, Pestronk A, Blume GM, et al. Selective staining of the cerebellar molecular layer by serum of Miller Fisher and related syndromes. Neurology. 1996;47:1317–20.
- Berlit P, Rakicky J. The Miller Fisher syndrome. Review of the literature. J Clin Neuroophthalmol. 1992;12:57–63.
- Sandler RD, Hoggard N, Hadjivassiliou M. Miller-Fisher syndrome: is the ataxia central or peripheral? Cerebellum Ataxias. 2015;2:3.
- 18. Hahn AF. Guillain-Barre syndrome. Lancet. 1998;352:635-41.
- O'Leary CP, Willison HJ. Autoimmune ataxic neuropathies (sensory ganglionopathies). Curr Opin Neurol. 1997;10:366–70.
- Mori M, Kuwabara S, Fukutake T, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy for Miller Fisher syndrome. Neurology. 2007;68:1144–6.
- Banwell B, Kennedy J, Sadovnick D, et al. Incidence of acquired demyelination of the CNS in Canadian children. Neurology. 2009;72(3):232–9.
- Benneto L, Scolding N. Inflammatory/post-infectious encephalomyelitis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004;75:i22–8.
- Young NP, Weinshenker BG, Parisi JE, et al. Perivenous demyelination: association with clinically defined acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and comparison with pathologically confirmed multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2010;133:333–48.
- 24. Schwarz S, Mohr A, Knauth M, et al. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. A follow up study of 40 adult patients. Neurology. 2001;56:1313–8.
- 25. Pleister A, Eckels DD. Cryptic infection and autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev. 2003;2:126-32.
- Belizna CC, Hamidou MA, Levesque H, et al. Infection and vasculitis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2009;48:475–82.

- 27. Guillevin L, Lhote F, Leon A, Feuvelle F, et al. Treatment of polyarteritis nodosa related to hepatitis B virus with short term steroid therapy associated with antiviral agents and plasma exchanges. A prospective trial in 33 patients. J Rheumatol. 1993;20:289–98.
- Cacoub P, Maisonobe T, Thibault V, et al. Systemic vasculitis in patients with hepatitis C. Rheumatology. 2001;28:109–18.
- Pagnoux C, Cohen P, Guillevin L. Vasculitides secondary to infections. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2006;24:S71–81.
- Wucherpfenning KW. Mechanisms for the induction of autoimmunity by infectious agents. J Clin Invest. 2001;108:1097–104.
- Willison HJ, Jacobs BC, van Doorn PA. Guillain-Barré syndrome. Lancet. 2016;388(10045):717–27.
- 32. Huizinga R, van den Berg B, van Rijs W, Tio-Gillen AP, Fokkink WJ, Bakker-Jonges LE, Geleijns K, Samsom JN, van Doorn PA, Laman JD, Jacobs BC. Innate immunity to Campylobacter jejuni in Guillain-Barré syndrome. Ann Neurol. 2015;78(3):343–54.
- 33. Winer JB. Guillain-Barré syndrome. BMJ. 2008;337:a671. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.a671.
- 34. Fokke C, van den Berg B, Drenthen J, Walgaard C, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC. Diagnosis of Guillain-Barré syndrome and validation of Brighton criteria. Brain. 2014;137:33–43.
- Artemiadis AK, Zis P. Neuropathic Pain in Acute and Subacute Neuropathies: A Systematic Review. Pain Physician. 2018;21(2):111–20.
- 36. Winer JB, Hughes RA. Identification of patients at risk of arrhythmia in the Guillain-Barré syndrome. Quart J Med. 1988;68:735–9.
- Verboon C, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC. Treatment dilemmas in Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2017;88(4):346–52.
- Rees JH, Thompson RD, Smeeton NC, Hughes RA. Epidemiological study of Guillain-Barré syndrome in south east England. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1998;64:74–7.

Paraneoplastic Neurological Syndromes



Sergio Muñiz-Castrillo and Jérôme Honnorat

Abstract Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes (PNS) are immune-mediated disorders associated with cancer. PNS usually appear in a subacute manner and may affect any level of the nervous system. They generally develop before cancer and PNS recognition leads to cancer diagnosis. Prompt tumor treatment is important to stabilize or improve PNS symptoms. Although PNS may sometimes occur without antibodies, two major groups are identified depending on the antibodies present in the serum or the CSF. Antibodies against intracellular antigens (also called onconeural antibodies) seem to play no direct role in neurological symptoms (with exceptions) but are good markers of cancer, so their detection is very useful to classify a neurological syndrome as paraneoplastic. Although these antibodies are thought to have no pathogenic effect, the immune system still plays a major role, probably mediated by cytotoxic T cells. PNS with onconeural antibodies respond poorly to immunotherapy, with the exception of anti-Ma2 PNS. A second group of antibodies against synaptic and cell surface proteins occur in well-defined neurological syndromes, which are not always PNS and may appear in younger patients without cancer. These antibodies alter the location or function of their antigens, generating the neuronal dysfunction that is the underlying cause of these PNS. Early

SynatAc Team, NeuroMyoGene Institute, INSERM U1217/CNRS UMR5310, Lyon, France

Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France

S. Muñiz-Castrillo

French Reference Center on Paraneoplastic Neurological Syndromes, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Hôpital Neurologique, Bron, France

SynatAc Team, NeuroMyoGene Institute, INSERM U1217/CNRS UMR5310, Lyon, France

Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France

J. Honnorat (🖂)

French Reference Center on Paraneoplastic Neurological Syndromes, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Hôpital Neurologique, Bron, France

Neuro-oncology department, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Hôpital Neurologique, Bron, France e-mail: jerome.honnorat@chu-lyon.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_14

immunotherapy improves prognosis at least in the most frequent disorders (anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, anti-LGI1 encephalitis). In all PNS, irrespective of the group, appropriate tumor screening should be undertaken. The work-up should include the search for the most common cancers reported in PNS patients according to the age and the associated autoantibodies.

Keywords Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes \cdot Autoimmune encephalitis \cdot Autoantibodies \cdot Onconeural antibodies \cdot Cell surface synaptic antigens \cdot Immunotherapy

Introduction

Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes (PNS) appear in patients with cancer but are not caused by metastases or neoplastic infiltration. They represent "remote" effects of cancer on organs usually not affected by the primary tumor. They may have different causes or mechanisms in other tissues, but PNS are well-defined immunemediated disorders [1]. This immunological basis is supported by the presence of antibodies or T cells against neuronal antigens that are also expressed by tumor cells, along with inflammatory abnormalities in the CSF and anatomopathological studies [2, 3].

The association with antibodies against neural antigens is the hallmark of PNS, even though seronegativity does not exclude a PNS diagnosis [2]. Two major groups of PNS are recognized depending on the target of these antibodies [2, 3]: (1) Nuclear or cytoplasmic antigens are not accessible to autoantibodies, which are probably not pathogenic but are good markers of cancer. These PNS are thought to be mainly mediated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes, leading to an irreversible neuronal loss with poor response to immunotherapy; (2) cell surface and synaptic antigens can be reached by autoantibodies that disrupt their function or location within the synapse in a reversible manner, with prompt treatment often resulting in better outcomes. Detection of such antibodies is not as useful as those directed against intracellular antigens to establish a PNS diagnosis, as the association with cancer is weaker and other triggers may exist. For example, herpes simplex encephalitis has been reported in N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-receptor encephalitis [4]. It has been suggested that some PNS related to intracellular antigens involved in synaptic function may have an intermediate pathogeny [5].

PNS may affect any part of the nervous system. Patients may present with multifocal involvement. Some PNS are more specifically associated with a certain antibody and type of cancer, for instance, Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS) with antibodies against voltage-gated calcium channels and small cell lung cancer (SCLC), whereas others have a broader spectrum. Neurological symptoms and signs usually appear before cancer in a subacute manner, with PNS diagnosis leading to tumor detection. In order to improve PNS outcome, cancer remission must be achieved. Immunotherapy may also play a role in PNS treatment, especially in those that are antibody-mediated [2, 3, 5].

Epidemiology

No large epidemiological studies concerning PNS are available, but it has been estimated that they affect only 0.01% of patients with cancer [1]. PNS associated with lymphomas are probably more uncommon than among solid cancers [6]. In a multicenter European study lasting 8 years [7], 979 patients with PNS were recruited, without including the more recently described syndromes associated with antibodies against synaptic/cell-surfaces antigens. The most common PNS of the central nervous system was paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration (PCD: 24.3% of the total), followed by limbic encephalitis (LE; 10%), paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis (PEM; 5.6%) and brainstem encephalitis (5.6%). Sensory neuronopathy was as frequent as PCD (SNN; 24.3%). Other less common PNS of the peripheral nervous system were dysautonomia (5.2%) and LEMS (4.4%). Paraproteinemic neuropathies and myasthenia gravis were excluded. From the same series [7], the types of cancer most frequently associated with PNS were SCLC (38.4%), ovary (10.5%), breast (9.7%), and non-SCLC (7.9%). Anti-Hu (also called antineuronal nuclear antibody 1, ANNA-1), followed by anti-Yo (also called Purkinje cell antibody 1, PCA-1) were the most common antibodies [7, 8].

Recently, the incidence and prevalence of autoimmune encephalitis (AE) have been estimated to be 0.8/100,000 person-years and 13.7/100,000, respectively. These values are relatively similar to those of infectious encephalitis [9]. Twentyone percent of AE were paraneoplastic [9]. It has been shown that NMDA-R encephalitis is more frequent in young people than viral etiologies [10]. An underlying tumor is detected in nearly 40% of NMDA-R encephalitis [11]. NMDA-R encephalitis is followed in frequency by encephalitis with antibodies against the voltage-gated potassium channel (VGKC) complex [12], which includes leucinerich glioma-inactivated protein 1 (LGI1) and contactin-associated protein-2 (Caspr2) [13].

Clinical Manifestations

General Clinical Approach

PNS may resemble more common diseases but there are some clues that should raise suspicion. Family or personal history of cancer or autoimmune diseases and smoking are risk factors [2]. Age and sex may also be important. For example, in NMDA-R encephalitis, only 6% of males have an underlying tumor compared to 46% of females [11]. In addition, most of ovarian teratomas (the main tumor associated with NMDA-R encephalitis) occur in patients aged between 12 and 45 years [11]. Anti-Hu antibodies indicate an underlying SCLC in more than 70% of adult patients with PNS [14], whereas 75% of pediatric cases that associate anti-Hu antibodies and neurological disease are non-paraneoplastic [15].

PNS usually develop in an acute or subacute manner, and therefore they must be suspected in case of rapid and/or atypical progression of neurological signs and symptoms. They may affect any level of the central or peripheral nervous system, and involvement of different areas is another characteristic feature but infrequent (<10%) [7]. PNS may manifest as many different neurological syndromes, but those called "classical PNS" (Table 1) are so strongly associated with cancer that diagnosis should lead to tumor screening, even when no antibody is detected [16]. Besides, depending on the clinical presentation, certain antibodies (Table 2) and thus particular cancer (Tables 3 and 4) should be suspected. Therefore, an appropriate clinical classification is an essential first step to PNS diagnosis [5].

Neuromuscular Disorders

Paraneoplastic neuromuscular disorders (NMD) are more common than PNS of the central nervous system, especially if we consider myasthenia gravis and some inflammatory neuropathies that are often excluded from PNS reviews. Many paraneoplastic NMD are clinically identical to those not associated with cancer [17]. Only dermatomyositis, LEMS, chronic gastrointestinal pseudo-obstruction and sensory neuronopathy are specific enough to be considered classical PNS [16].

	Classical PNS	Nonclassical PNS	
Neuromuscular disorders	Subacute sensory neuronopathy Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome Chronic gastrointestinal peaudo obstruction	Necrotizing myopathy Myasthenia gravis Peripheral nerve hyperexcitability Autonomic autoimmune	
	Dermatomyositis	Vasculitic neuropathy Demyelinating neuropathies Polyneuropathies with monoclonal gammopathies Sensorimotor neuropathies Motor neuron diseases	
Central nervous system disorders	Encephalomyelitis Opsoclonus-myoclonus Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration Limbic encephalitis	Paraneoplastic isolated myelopathy Stiff-person syndrome Brainstem encephalitis Chorea	

 Table 1
 Main clinical syndromes observed in paraneoplastic neurological diseases [16]

Clinical syndrome	Associated antibodies	
Myopathy [18]	TIF1 gamma, NXP-2, HMCGR	
Neuromuscular junction disorder [25, 38]	muscular Ach-R, VGGC, SOX1	
Neuromyotonia/Morvan syndrome [13, 50]	Caspr2, Netrin-1	
Autonomic neuronopathy [14, 52, 57]	ganglionic Ach-R, Hu, CV2/CRMP5	
Vasculitic neuropathy [60]	None	
Polyneuropathy [66, 71]	MAG (gammopathy), Hu, CV2/CRMP5	
Sensory neuronopathy [14, 53, 72, 81]	Hu, CV2/CRMP5, amphiphysin	
Motor neuron disease [82–84]	Usually none; Hu, Ma2, ANNA2/Ri	
Myelopathy [87, 91, 94]	CV2/CRMP5, amphiphysin, GFAP, AQP4	
Stiff-person syndrome [96, 100]	Amphiphysin, GAD	
PERM [107, 112]	Glycine-R, DPPX	
Encephalomyelitis [14, 52, 81, 94, 114]	Hu, CV2/CRMP5, amphiphysin, ANNA2/Ri, GFAP	
Opsoclonus-myoclonus [114]	ANNA-2/Ri	
Cerebellar degeneration [123, 124]	PCA-1(Yo), Hu, Zic4, Tr/DNER, mGluR1	
Brainstem encephalitis [114, 132, 136]	Ma2, Hu, ANNA-2/Ri	
Limbic encephalitis [139, 140]	Hu, Ma2, LGI1, GABAb-R, AMPA-R	
Encephalitis with movement disorders [137, 183, 184]	NMDA-R, CV2/CRMP5, D2-R	

 Table 2
 Main associated autoantibodies according the clinical syndrome

Myopathies

Autoimmune myopathies include dermatomyositis (DM), polymyositis (PM), overlap-myositis, inclusion-body myositis and immune-mediated necrotizing myopathies (IMNM). Among them, DM-PM and IMNM may be associated with cancer [17]. They are clinically characterized by subacute proximal symmetric weakness, with muscle pain, elevated serum creatine kinase, and typical findings of an irritative myopathy on needle electromyography [17, 18]. DM is also defined by skin changes, which can be specific such as Gottron's papules and heliotrope rash, or non-specific such as periungual erythema and calcifications [18]. Prognosis is worse in paraneoplastic DM/PM than in non-paraneoplastic cases [17, 18]. The relative risk of cancer is 1.6 for PM and 5.5 for DM [19]. Different types of cancer are associated with DM and PM, but adenocarcinomas are globally the most common [20]. The risk is higher among males, patients older than 20 years, and within the first year after myositis diagnosis [19]. It remains increased in DM 5 years later, whereas it falls to normal values in PM [20]. Anti-Mi2 and anti-SAE (small ubiquitin-like modifier activating enzyme) antibodies are associated with absence and low prevalence (1-4%) of cancer in DM, respectively [18]. In contrast, anti-TIF1gamma (transcriptional intermediary factor 1 gamma) and anti-NXP2 (nuclear matrix protein 2) have increased malignancy rates in DM. Nearly 60-80% of adults with anti-TIF1gamma and 30% with anti-NXP2 have an underlying cancer. In

		%	
Antigen	Clinical syndromes	paraneoplastic	Associated tumors
ANNA-1/Hu [14, 51]	Autonomic neuronopathy Chronic gastrointestinal pseudo-obstruction Sensory neuronopathy Encephalomyelitis Cerebellar degeneration Limbic encephalitis	>80%	SCLC (>70%) Prostate cancer Gastrointestinal cancer
ANNA-2/Ri [114]	Encephalomyelitis Cerebellar degeneration Brainstem encephalitis Opsoclonus-myoclonus	>80%	Breast cancer Gynecologic cancer Lung cancer
ANNA-3 [115]	Sensory neuronopathy Encephalomyelitis Cerebellar degeneration	>80%	SCLC
PCA-1/Yo [125, 126]	Cerebellar degeneration	>80%	Breast cancer Gynecologic cancer Lung cancer
PCA-2/MAP1B	Encephalomyelitis Cerebellar degeneration	80%	SCLC
Ma2 [132, 134]	Brainstem and limbic encephalitis	>60%	Germ cell testicular tumor
Ma1 and Ma2 [132, 134]	Brainstem encephalitis Cerebellar degeneration	>60%	Non-SCLC
CV2/CRMP5 [52, 87]	Sensory neuropathy Necrotizing myelopathy Encephalomyelitis Chorea Retinopathy and optic neuritis	>80%	SCLC (75%) Thymoma
Amphiphysin [81, 100]	Sensory neuropathy Necrotizing myelopathy Encephalomyelitis Stiff-person syndrome	80%	Breast cancer SCLC
GAD [99, 159]	Stiff-person syndrome Cerebellar ataxia Limbic encephalitis	<10%	Lung cancer Breast cancer Thymoma
AGNA/SOX1 [37]	Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome	>90%	SCLC
Zic4 [117]	Cerebellar degeneration	>90%	SCLC
GFAP [94, 95]	Meningoencephalomyelitis	35%	Ovarian teratoma
Adenylate kinase 5 [172]	Limbic encephalitis without seizures	0%	None

 Table 3 Main autoantibodies associated with PNS and targeting an intracellular neural antigens.

 Clinical characteristics of the patients and main tumor associations

Antigen	Clinical syndromes % paraneoplastic		Associated tumors
Ach-R (ganglionic) [57, 59]	Autonomic neuropathy Somatic neuropathy	30%	Adenocarcinomas
Ach-R (muscle) [17, 25]	Myasthenia gravis	10–15%	Thymoma
VGCC [32, 33]	Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome Cerebellar degeneration	50-60%	SCLC
Caspr2 [13, 43]	Neuromyotonia Morvan syndrome Limbic encephalitis	20–25% 50% Usually none	Malignant thymoma
Netrin1-R [50]	Myasthenia gravis Neuromyotonia Morvan syndrome	100%	Malignant thymoma
LGI1 [13, 43]	Limbic encephalitis	10%	Different cancer
NMDA-R [11, 174]	Encephalitis with psychiatric and movement disorders	Up to 50% in young women	Ovarian teratoma
AMPA-R [148, 150]	Limbic encephalitis	50%	Lung cancer Breast cancer Thymoma
GABAb-R [154, 157]	Limbic encephalitis	50-80%	SCLC
GABAa-R [165, 167]	Refractory seizures Status epilepticus	40% of adults Usually none in children	Thymoma
mGluR1 [130, 131]	Cerebellar degeneration	60%	Hodgkin's lymphoma
mGluR5 [163, 164]	Ophelia syndrome	50%	Hodgkin's lymphoma
Glycine-R [107, 108]	PERM Opsoclonus-myoclonus	<10%	Thymoma Hodgkin's lymphoma
DPPX [112, 113]	Encephalitis with CNS hyperexcitability PERM	Just a few patients	B-cells neoplasms
Tr/DNER [128, 129]	Cerebellar degeneration	90%	Hodgkin's lymphoma
AQP4 [91]	Neuromyelitis spectrum disorder	<4%	Lung cancer Breast cancer
D2 [184]	Basal ganglia encephalitis	0%	None
IgLON5 [185]	Sleep disorder, bulbar dysfunction, ataxia, chorea	0%	None

 Table 4 Main autoantibodies associated with PNS and targeting cell surface neuronal antigens.

 Clinical characteristics of the patients and main tumor associations

children, the presence of these antibodies is not associated with a higher risk of cancer [18]. Anti-TIF1gamma patients are characterized by severe skin lesions with mild muscular involvement [21]; the pattern is quite the opposite in DM with anti-NXP2, although cutaneous calcinosis is more common [22]. In both conditions, dysphagia is more prevalent than in primary DM [21, 22]. The targets of these antibodies have been related to oncogenesis, directly in the case of TIF1gamma and through the activation of p53 (a well-known tumor suppressor) by NXP2 [18].

IMNM are rare and rapidly progressive immune-mediated myopathies without skin lesions. Unlike DM/PM, little or no inflammation is found in muscle biopsy [17]. Three types of IMNM are identified: anti-SRP (signal recognition particle), anti-HMGCR (3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme-A-reductase), and seronegative [18]. The latter two have increased rates of cancer, 11.5% and 21.4%, respectively [23]. No specific type of cancer is associated with IMNM [23]. Prognosis is poorer in paraneoplastic IMNM [23, 24]. Statin exposure may precede the development of anti-HMGCR IMNM, but it is not absolutely necessary [23, 24]. Similarly to antigens of paraneoplastic DM, HMGCR has been related to tumor proliferation and metastasis [18].

Neuromuscular Junction Disorders

Myasthenia gravis (MG) is characterized by fatigable weakness involving ocular and proximal limb muscles. Different autoantibodies against proteins located at the postsynaptic membrane of the neuromuscular junction can be found in MG. Antiacetylcholine receptor (AchR) antibodies are present in nearly 80% of generalized MG and 50% of ocular MG [25]. Paraneoplastic MG (10-15%) occurs in association with thymoma, and it is almost always generalized with the presence of circulating anti-AchR antibodies [17]. Isolated cases of paraneoplastic MG related to other tumors have been reported [26–28]. Malignant thymomas are more frequent among late-onset MG, whereas thymic hyperplasia is predominant in early-onset MG [25]. High levels of striated-muscle antibodies (titin and ryanodine) are associated with malignant thymoma and with poor prognosis [29-31]. Anti-titin and antiryanodine antibodies are detected in 95% and 70% of paraneoplastic MG, respectively. They also occur in nearly 50% of non-paraneoplastic late-onset MG [30, 31]. Thus, they represent more useful biomarkers for tumor in younger patients. Other antibodies present in MG, such as anti-muscle specific kinase (MusK) and low-density lipoprotein receptor 4 (LRP4), are not associated with malignant thymoma [25].

LEMS is defined by the triad of proximal weakness, areflexia, and autonomic dysfunction. Clinical and electromyographic postexercise facilitation are key signs to distinguish LEMS from MG [17, 25]. An underlying cancer is found in 50–60% of LEMS patients. SCLC is by far the most frequent, followed by other lung tumors, lymphomas-leukemias, and prostate carcinomas [32, 33]. LEMS usually precedes cancer diagnosis, with a median interval of 6 months. Nearly 90% of associated

cancers are diagnosed within the first year after LEMS onset [32]. Paraneoplastic LEMS patients are older (approximately 60 years old versus 50), are predominantly male (70% versus 50%), and are more commonly smokers as compared to nonparaneoplastic patients [32, 33]. Clinical presentation is similar, but progression is faster in paraneoplastic LEMS [33]. A prediction score for SCLC in LEMS called DELTA-P (Dutch-English LEMS Tumor Association Prediction) has been developed based on the presence of bulbar involvement, erectile dysfunction, loss of weight $\geq 5\%$, tobacco use, age ≥ 50 years, and Karnofsky score < 70 (one point for each parameter). Scores above 3 points indicate a SCLC risk greater than 80%, reaching 100% when score is 6 [34]. Antibodies against P/O-type voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCC) are present in 85–90% of all LEMS [25]. Antibodies are pathogenic: they induce VGCC cross-linking and internalization at the presynaptic membrane [25]. Lack of these antibodies is usually related to non-paraneoplastic LEMS [35]. In contrast, anti-glial nuclear antibodies (AGNA) are strongly associated with SCLC [36]. They are directed against SOX, a nuclear protein implicated in neural development, and therefore unlikely play a pathogenic role [37]. Nevertheless, detection of AGNA antibodies is very useful to distinguish LEMS related to SCLC from idiopathic cases, as they show a sensitivity of 67% and a specificity of 95% [38]. They can be also found at lower titers in nearly 30% of SCLC patients with and without other PNS [36–38].

Peripheral nerve hyperexcitability (PNH) are a group of disorders caused by instability of the distal motor axon leading to spontaneous motor activity. They include cramp-fasciculation syndrome, Isaacs' syndrome (also known as acquired neuromyotonia), and Morvan syndrome. PNH are thought to be immune-mediated by its relationship with VGKC-complex antibodies [39]. Cramp-fasciculation syndrome is characterized by cramps and myalgia without weakness. Needle EMG reveals fasciculations and after-discharges evoked by low-frequency repetitive nerve stimulation; 16–24% of patients are anti-VGKC positive. Most cases are non-paraneoplastic, but a few malignant thymomas have been reported [40, 41]. Isaacs' syndrome patients present with generalized muscle stiffness, pseudomyotonia, myokymia, muscle hypertrophy, prominent dysautonomia (hyperhidrosis, tachycardia, postural hypotension, urinary and gastrointestinal symptoms), and neuropathic pain. Fasciculations and myokymic and neuromyotonic discharges can be detected in EMG. Anti-VGKC positivity may be as high as 54% [41–43]. Anti-Caspr2 antibodies are more related to acquired neuromyotonia than anti-LGI1 [13, 43-45]. Isaacs' syndrome may appear with myasthenia gravis (anti-AchR positive) in the same patient, and an underlying tumor is detected in approximately 20-26%. Malignant thymoma is the most common tumor associated with neuromyotonia, followed by lung cancer (especially SCLC) and thyroid and prostate carcinomas [13, 41–43, 46]. Morvan syndrome (MoS) is clinically very close to Isaacs' syndrome, but it also involves the central nervous system. Both affect middle-to-late-aged males more frequently. Along with symptoms and signs of neuromyotonia, MoS patients present weight loss, neuropathic pain, and autonomic disturbances (mainly hyperhidrosis and cardiovascular instability). Encephalopathy consists of sleep disorders (insomnia is the commonest) and psychiatric features (confusion, agitation, hallucinations) [13, 43, 47]. Pain may be due to peripheral small fiber involvement and responds better to immunotherapy than to symptomatic treatment [48]. Caspr2 antibodies are found more frequently and at higher titers than LGI1, but they may appear together [43, 47]. As it occurs in Isaacs' syndrome, malignant thymoma (the main associated tumor) and MG are common in MoS patients (40–60% and 30–46%, respectively) [43, 47–49]. Recently, a new antibody directed against Netrin1-receptor has been shown to predict malignant thymoma in neuromyotonia/MoS and MG with a specificity of 100%. Caspr2 antibodies were as specific as Netrin-1R antibodies predicting malignant thymoma in MG (100%) but slightly less in neuromyotonia/MS (70%) [50].

Dysautonomia

Dysautonomia may appear combined with other PNS, as it has been mentioned in LEMS or in acquired neuromyotonia. It can also occur in sensory neuronopathy and encephalomyelitis associated with anti-Hu [14, 51] or anti-CV2/CRMP5 antibodies [52, 53]. Chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction is the most frequent isolated presentation, but it is also common within other PNS [7]. Patients usually present with weight loss, nausea and vomiting, early satiety, constipation, and abdominal pain. Onset is acute and symptoms progress rapidly. Imaging studies find enteric dilatation without evidence of obstruction [54–56]. Most patients have an underlying SCLC and may be anti-Hu positive [54–56], although association with other onconeural antibodies has been reported [54]. Histopathological studies show myenteric plexus infiltration with plasma cells and lymphocytes, which lead to neuronal degeneration and finally gastrointestinal dysmotility [55].

Autonomic autoimmune neuronopathy or ganglionopathy is a much uncommon disorder. It is characterized by subacute dysfunction of both sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems. Common symptoms include orthostatic hypotension, fixed heart rate, anhydrosis, dry mouth, impaired pupillary response, as well as gastrointestinal and genitourinary manifestations [57, 58]. Antibodies against ganglionic acetylcholine-receptor are detected in 50% of patients [57]. Although these antibodies are not specific, high titers are correlated with dysautonomia of autoimmune origin [57-59]. In such cases, autonomic disturbances are often multiple and severe, compared to those with lower titers who present mild autonomic symptoms or none [58, 59]. Ganglionic AchR positivity has been associated with cancer in 30% of cases, mainly adenocarcinomas. Nevertheless, most paraneoplastic patients had low titers and clinical presentation was different from dysautonomia [59]. In a more recent series, only 2 of 95 patients were diagnosed with cancer after detection of ganglionic anti-AchR antibodies, but none had dysautonomia. No paraneoplastic case was identified among 21 autonomic autoimmune ganglionopathy [58].

Vasculitic Neuropathies

Paraneoplastic vasculitic neuropathy is an uncommon disorder that appear mainly in SCLC patients, but it has been also reported in association with lymphomas, lung adenocarcinomas, malignant thymomas, gastrointestinal, and other solid tumors [60–63]. It may account for 15% of all vasculitic neuropathies [60]. It is a non-systemic vasculitis that usually presents in a subacute and progressive manner. Most patients are men older than 50 years [61, 62]. Two phenotypes are recognized: the more frequent asymmetric sensorimotor polyneuropathy and the typical mononeuritis multiplex [60, 61]. Pain is common [61, 63]. Electromyography shows an axonal pattern, and nerve biopsy finds histopathological features of vasculitis [60–63]. No antibody has been detected in isolated vasculitic neuropathies, but erythrocyte sedimentation rate and other inflammatory markers are generally elevated [61, 62].

Paraneoplastic Demyelinating Neuropathies

The relationship between Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) and malignancy is controversial. A higher risk of cancer than expected has been shown in GBS [64, 65], although cases do not fulfill current PNS diagnostic criteria [16]. GBS patients with cancer seem to be older, with male predominance, and higher mortality [64, 65]. Hodgkin lymphoma and SCLC are the most frequent reported tumors [66]. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) has been described in association with lymphomas, mainly non-Hodgkin and particularly those with monoclonal gammopathy [66–68]. Melanoma is the second most common tumor [67]. Some clinical features should raise suspicion of a possible paraneoplastic CIDP: severe ataxia, distal or upper limb predominance, cranial or respiratory involvement, and autonomic dysfunction [67]. In addition, a few cases of neuropathies resembling multifocal motor neuropathy with conduction block have been reported in association with adenocarcinomas and non-Hodgkin lymphoma [69, 70].

Polyneuropathies Associated with Monoclonal Gammopathies

More than 50% of osteosclerotic myelomas are preceded by a CIDP-like polyneuropathy that may be part of the POEMS syndrome (polyneuropathy, organomegaly, endocrinopathy, monoclonal component – IgG or IgA – and skin changes). Compared with classic CIDP, it is usually severe and distal, with prominent ataxia or motor involvement and early axonal changes [66, 71]. Multiple myeloma-associated neuropathies are diverse and of different origins, including secondary amyloidosis [71]. Small fiber involvement is typical of early primary amyloidosis neuropathy, but it usually develops sensory large fiber, motor; and autonomic features in later stages [71]. Monoclonal gammopathy of unknown significance and Waldenström macroglobulinemia can develop a demyelinating, sensorimotor,

chronic, distal polyneuropathy associated with monoclonal IgM against myelinassociated glycoprotein (MAG) [66, 71].

Sensory Neuronopathy and Peripheral Neuropathy Associated with Onconeural Antibodies

Sensory neuronopathy (SNN) is considered as a classical PNS and is the most frequent PNS of the peripheral nervous system [7, 16]. SNN is more commonly associated with cancer compared to other neuropathies. For instance, carcinoma was diagnosed in 47% of SNN, meanwhile in only 10% of CIDP, 4.5% of axonal polyneuropathy, and 1.7% of GBS [72]. The term neuronopathy refers to the location of the primary damage in neuronal cell bodies of the dorsal root ganglia [16]. Along with paraneoplastic SNN, other known causes are cisplatin toxicity, HIV infection and Sjögren syndrome [73]. Diagnostic criteria for paraneoplastic SNN include: subacute onset with modified Rankin score (mRS) \geq 3 before 12 weeks of evolution, onset characterized by numbness and pain with asymmetric distribution, marked proprioceptive loss, involvement of the upper limbs in a non-lengthdependent manner, and electrophysiological studies showing severe alteration of sensory nerve action potentials (SNAP) with at least one of them absent [16]. Mild motor involvement may also appear and does not rule out SNN diagnosis [16].

In order to improve SNN diagnosis (regardless of its etiology), a score has been proposed based on the presence of ataxia in the lower or upper limbs (+3.1 points), asymmetrical distribution (+1.7), sensory loss not restricted to the lower limbs at full development (+2), ≥ 1 absent SNAP or 3 SNAP <30% of the lower limit in the upper limbs (+2.8), and <2 nerves with abnormal motor nerve conduction studies in the lower limbs; SNN is possible with a score > 6.5 [73]. Sensitivity and specificity have been found to be 95% [74]. In predominant painful paraneoplastic SNN (25%), SNAP may be relatively well preserved, and therefore the score may be less useful [74, 75]. An underlying cancer must be suspected especially in males over 60 years of age and if SNN onset is acute or subacute, only the upper limbs or all four limbs are involved with early pain, and if CSF and motor nerve conduction studies abnormalities are observed [73, 76]. Paraneoplastic SNN accounts for 30–40% of all SNN [73, 76]. It can present with signs and symptoms of involvement of the central nervous system (being part of paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis) and dysautonomic dysfunction [16].

Approximately 90% of paraneoplastic SNN have onconeural antibodies [66, 71, 73, 76]. Anti-Hu is by far the most common [72, 73, 75]. SNN is the predominant presentation of anti-Hu syndrome, but pure SNN (without involvement of other areas of peripheral or central nervous system) is present in only 25% of patients [14]. Autonomic neuropathy occurs in 25% of SNN [14, 51, 77]. Recent series have demonstrated that clinical and/or electrophysiological (sometimes important) motor involvement, symmetrical distribution, and progressive course are not infrequent

[51, 77]. Nerve conduction studies usually show an axonal pattern [51, 77]. Most patients are male, the median age is 60 years, and SCLC is present in >70% [14, 51, 77]. Prostate and gastrointestinal cancers are the second most common tumors [14, 51, 77, 78].

Anti-CV2/CRMP5 (collapsing response-mediator protein 5) antibodies are the second most frequent among SNN patients and may appear in combination with anti-Hu [53, 79, 80]. Sex distribution is more uniform than in anti-Hu patients, but SCLC is again the most common cancer (75%), followed by malignant thymoma (up to 15%) [52, 53, 79]. Initial series reported that anti-CV2/CRMP5 neuropathy was more frequently sensorimotor and with axonal-demyelinating pattern compared to anti-Hu SNN [79, 80]. Upper limb involvement and pain were less common and associated central nervous disorders (mainly cerebellar ataxia) were more typical of CV2/CRMP5 [79]. Nevertheless, in a very recent study, the most common phenotype of anti-CV2/CRMP5 neuropathy was described as a painful, axonal, asymmetric polyradiculoneuropathy with less dysautonomia and more motor electrophysiological involvement than anti-Hu SNN [53]. Prognosis is usually better in anti-CV2/CRMP5 patients than in those with double-positive (CV2/CRMP5 plus Hu) or anti-Hu patients [53, 79].

Many other antibodies against intracellular and cell surface antigens have been related to SNN and peripheral neuropathy, mainly sensorimotor neuropathy with anti-amphiphysin [73, 81] and medium and low titers of anti-ganglionic AchR [59].

Motor Neuron Disease

Paraneoplastic motor neuron disease is controversial, but several cases meeting definite diagnostic criteria for PNS have been described. They are mainly women and the median age is 60 years. Onset is often subacute and lower motor neuron syndrome (also called motor neuronopathy) with predominant upper limb involvement is the most common [82, 83]. No bulbar dysfunction has been reported [82]. Other non-motor neurological features, including subclinical sensory neuronopathy on electrophysiological studies, may be a clue to suspect a paraneoplastic etiology [82, 84]. Some patients have inflammatory abnormalities in the CSF [82, 83, 85]. Paraneoplastic motor neuron disease has been reported in association with Hodgkin's lymphoma [6, 85] and different solid tumors, principally breast cancer [82-84]. Onconeural antibodies have been only described with solid cancers: anti-Hu is the most frequent, followed by anti-Ma2, anti-Ri/ANNA-2, anti-Yo/PCA-1, and anti-CV2/CRMP5 [82-84]. Exclusively motor involvement represents nearly 5% of anti-Hu-associated neuronopathies [51, 77]. Motor neuron disease associated with anti-Ma2 antibodies usually presents with both upper and lower motor neuron signs, and bulbar involvement may occur [86]. It may appear isolated or preceded by typical features of anti-Ma2 syndrome [86].

Paraneoplastic Myelopathy

Isolated paraneoplastic myelopathy is uncommon, less than 1% of all PNS [7]. It occurs more often within multifocal involvement of the peripheral and central nervous system. Isolated myelopathy may have a subacute or insidious course, and is usually severe with significant disability [87, 88]. Median age at onset is approximately 60 years and women are more frequently affected [87, 88]. Lung and breast cancers are the most commonly detected [87, 88]. Nearly 80% of patients have onconeural antibodies, mainly anti-amphiphysin, or anti-CV2/CRMP5 [87]. A few cases of myelopathy with optic neuritis, resembling Devic's disease, have been identified with anti-CV2/CRMP5 [89, 90]. Paraneoplastic neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder with anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies has been also reported [91–93]. It accounts for less than 4% of all cases [92, 93]. Compared to autoimmune idiopathic patients, those with associated cancer (principally lung and breast) are older and there is greater proportion of men (although women are still more frequently affected) [93]. An underlying tumor should be suspected if there is severe brainstem involvement at onset (nausea, vomiting) and in men older than 45 years presenting with longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis [93]. Finally, among the recently discovered autoimmune glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) astrocytopathy, myelopathy is a common feature, usually in combination with meningitis or encephalitis [94, 95]. Isolated myelitis occurs in nearly 10% and may appear associated with optic neuritis [94, 95]. An underlying cancer is found in approximately 35% of all GFAP astrocytopathies, ovarian teratoma being the most frequent [94, 95].

Stiff-Person Syndrome

Stiff-person syndrome (SPS) is more frequent in women, and the mean age at onset is 35 years [96]. The main symptoms are muscular stiffness with painful muscular spasms. Stiffness is caused by coactivation of agonist and antagonist muscles (which can be shown by electromyography), especially in the trunk and lower limbs, and therefore hyperlordosis and gait disturbances are common complaints. Spasms are often triggered by external sensorial stimuli [96, 97]. Stiff-limb syndrome is the focal form of SPS [97]. Nearly 80% of SPS have antibodies against glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 (GAD65) [96], although recent series have reported 34% of seronegative patients [98]. GAD65-SPS is usually non-paraneoplastic, but it may appear in association with malignant thymoma and breast cancer [99]. Frequency of paraneoplastic GAD65-SPS is unknown, but it is probably less than 6% [99]. In contrast, SPS associated with anti-amphiphysin antibodies is almost always paraneoplastic [81, 100–103]. It has a strong association with breast cancer [81, 100–102], but it has been also described in SCLC [103] and may account for approximately 10% of all SPS [100]. Compared to non-paraneoplastic GAD65-SPS, amphiphysin-SPS patients are even more frequently women, older, with predominant neck and upper limb involvement, and more electrophysiological abnormalities [100]. Paraneoplastic SPS has also been reported in association with anti-gephyrin and mediastinal carcinoma [104], as well as anti-Ri and lung and bladder cancer [105, 106].

Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM) is part of the SPS spectrum [97]. PERM is mainly associated with glycine-receptor (Gly-R) antibodies [107]. Onset is often subacute, and rigidity and spams are usually preceded or accompanied by sensory or brainstem symptoms. Severe myoclonus, corticospinal signs, cerebellar ataxia, hyperekplexia, and dysautonomic dysfunction are other hallmarks of the disease, which can even lead to death [97, 108]. Encephalopathy and epilepsy are especially common at the peak of illness [108]. Sexes are equally affected and the median age at onset is 50 years [108]. Less than 10% of PERM are paraneoplastic [108]. PERM has been associated with malignant thymoma and Hodgkin's lymphoma [108–111]. Antibodies against dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein-6 (DPPX) have been identified in a few patients with PERM syndrome [112, 113]. Interestingly, DPPX may also present as an encephalitis with prominent central nervous system hyperexcitability (seizures, myoclonus, agitation, tremor), diarrhea, and weight loss [113]. Most patients with DPPX antibodies have no underlying cancer, but some B-cell neoplasms have been reported [113].

Encephalomyelitis

This term must be used in patients with clinical signs and symptoms of multiple levels of the central and peripheral nervous system, when none of them is predominant. It may include chronic gastrointestinal pseudo-obstruction, sensory neuronopathy, myelitis, cerebellar degeneration, and brainstem or limbic encephalitis [16]. Encephalomyelitis is mainly associated with SCLC or breast cancer and anti-Hu, anti-CV2/CRMP5, anti-amphiphysin, and anti-Ri/ANNA-2 [14, 52, 81, 114]. Multifocal involvement has been also reported in small series of patients with anti-ANNA-3, PCA-2/MAP1B (microtubule associated protein 1B), and Zic4 antibodies [115–117]. SCLC is the most frequent associated cancer in these patients [115–117]. Different combinations of meningoencephalomyelitis also appear in 80% of encephalitis associated with anti-GFAP antibodies [94, 95].

Opsoclonus-Myoclonus Syndrome

This is a rare disease characterized by opsoclonus, which are involuntary, arrhythmic, and multidirectional saccades; and action myoclonus involving limbs, trunk, and head. Onset is acute or subacute [118]. Cerebellar ataxia and encephalopathy may also occur [119]. The two main etiologies are idiopathic (immune-mediated and sometimes thought to be parainfectious) and paraneoplastic [119]. Among children, 50% of opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome (OMS) are paraneoplastic, most of them associated with neuroblastoma and below 2 years of age [120]. No autoantibodies are usually detected [120]. Adult-onset OMS may be also paraneoplastic, but its frequency is probably lower [119, 120]. SCLC and breast cancer are the most common associated tumors [119, 121, 122]. Anti-Ri/ANNA-2 is the onconeural autoantibody most related to paraneoplastic adult-onset OMS (especially in breast cancer context), but it is found in less than 20% of patients [114, 121]. Several anti-bodies against neuronal cell surface antigens have been also reported in a few cases, including anti-glycine-receptor and anti-NMDA-R antibodies [121]. Compared to non-paraneoplastic OMS, paraneoplastic patients are older (mean 60 years), develop encephalopathy more frequently and have poorer prognosis with more relapses [121, 122].

Paraneoplastic Cerebellar Degeneration

This is defined as a pancerebellar syndrome developed subacutely within less than 12 weeks, without radiological evidence of cerebellar atrophy or metastasis [16]. Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration (PCD) is severe, disabling, and may be accompanied by non-cerebellar involvement [16]. PCD is the most frequent PNS of the central nervous system [7]. PCD may appear in association with several autoantibodies [123, 124]. Anti-Yo/PCA-1 is the most common, and it is related to gynecological cancers (breast and ovary) [123-126]. Anti-Yo PCD may develop brainstem and corticospinal dysfunction [125, 126]. In contrast to other PNS, anti-Yo PCD is commonly diagnosed in patients with already known cancer [123, 126]. Anti-Hu is the second most frequent antibody, but anti-Hu PCD is usually part of a larger paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis [14, 123]. SCLC is the most common cancer in anti-Hu PCD [123, 124]. PCD in SCLC patients may present with other antibodies, such as those against Zic4, VGCC, and AGNA/SOX [117, 127]. Anti-ANNA-2/Ri are also frequently associated with PCD and may also develop brainstem dysfunction or opsoclonus-myoclonus, and it is usually associated with breast cancer [114, 123, 124]. Anti-Tr/DNER (delta/notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor) and anti-mGluR1 (metabotropic glutamate receptor type 1) are two autoantibodies identified in PCD with Hodgkin's lymphoma [128-130], but anti-mGluR1 cerebellar ataxia may be also non-paraneoplastic [131]. As it occurs with anti-Yo patients, those with anti-Tr and anti-mGluR1 always develop cerebellar ataxia, whereas PCD is only present in nearly 18% of anti-Hu patients [123]. Cerebellar ataxia (isolated or not) is also frequent in patients with anti-CV2/ CRMP5, anti-amphiphysin, PCA-2, and anti-Ma2 [52, 81, 116, 124, 132]. Anti-GAD cerebellar ataxia is more frequently non-paraneoplastic, but it may appear in association with lung and breast cancer [99]. Approximately 18% of PCD are seronegative [124]. Breast and gynecological cancers are still the most common among women with seronegative PCD, but its relative frequency is lower, whereas the

opposite occurs with lymphomas [124]. Men with seronegative PCD have more commonly non-SCLC and genitourinary cancers than seropositive patients [124].

Brainstem Encephalitis

Brainstem encephalitis (BE) has been widely seen as a typical presentation of PNS associated with anti-Ma antibodies [132]. In fact, most patients (80-90%) develop a combination of BE, limbic encephalitis (LE), and diencephalic involvement [132– 135]. BE may present with eve movement abnormalities (especially, vertical gaze paresis), dysarthria, dysphagia, jaw dystonia, or atypical parkinsonism [132]. Hypothalamic dysfunction is mainly characterized by daytime sleepiness and other features resembling narcolepsy, along with abnormal weight gain, hyperthermia, and endocrine abnormalities [132]. Two subgroups of anti-Ma autoimmunity can be distinguished depending on the reactivity of the antibodies. First, patients with only anti-Ma2 antibodies are mainly young men (approximately 35-40 years of age), with predominant LE and testicular germ-cell tumors [132–135]. Secondly, patients with both anti-Ma1 and anti-Ma2 antibodies are older (median age 60 years), with similar distribution of sexes, more brainstem and cerebellar involvement, and association with several different types of cancer, non-SCLC being one of the most common [132-135]. Prognosis is better in patients with only anti-Ma2 antibodies [132–135].

BE is also the predominant feature in 6% of anti-Hu paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis [14]. Isolated anti-Hu BE has also been reported [136]. Unlike anti-Ma BE, which principally involves the mesencephalon, anti-Hu BE affects mainly the medulla: 50% at first evaluation and almost all during the progression of the disease [136]. As it occurs with other anti-Hu PNS, SCLC is the most common cancer [136]. Brainstem involvement is also a prominent feature of anti-Ri/ANNA-2 PNS, reaching 70% [114]. It may also appear with PCA-2, ANNA-3, and CV2/CRMP5 but at much lower rates [52, 115, 116]. Brainstem dysfunction is very frequent (75%) among DPPX autoimmunity, but as mentioned before, it is usually a nonparaneoplastic disorder [113].

Limbic Encephalitis and Related Syndromes

Limbic encephalitis (LE) is one of the most typical PNS that can be defined by subacute development (< 12 weeks) of seizures, short-term memory loss, and psychiatric symptoms suggesting involvement of the limbic system [16]. Several autoimmune encephalitis clinically close to LE have been described, but they have a wider involvement that surpasses the limbic system [137]. Recently, diagnostic criteria for autoimmune LE have been proposed, in order to improve early recognition and to make easier the differential diagnosis (Table 5) [137]. Differential diagnosis includes

Possible	Definite		
Subacute onset (<3 months) of working memory deficits, altered mental status or psychiatric symptoms	Subacute onset (<3 months) of working memory deficits, seizures or psychiatric symptoms suggesting involvement of the limbic system		
At least one of the following: New focal CNS findings Seizures not explained by a previously seizure disorder CSF pleocytosis MRI features suggestive of encephalitis	Bilateral brain abnormalities on T2-FLAIR MRI (or FDG-PET) highly restricted to the medial temporal lobes, and at least one of the following: CSF pleocytosis Epileptic or slow-wave activity on EEG involving temporal lobes		
Exclusion of alternative causes	Exclusion of alternative causes		
Adapted from Graus et al. [137]			

Table 5 Diagnostic criteria for autoimmune limbic encephalitis

Definite diagnosis can be also made with the detection of autoantibodies against onconeural or cell-surface antigens, and at least two of : suggestive clinical picture, imaging or other (CSF, EEG) ancillary tests

several disorders such as infectious LE (especially herpes simplex encephalitis, HSE), gliomas, or epilepsy of other etiology [137]. Autoimmune LE and HSE are clinically very similar, but there are some clues that can differentiate them: acute (< 7 days) onset, fever, and aphasia are more suggestive of HSE; meanwhile, psychiatric symptoms support autoimmune LE diagnosis [138]. Nearly 90% of autoimmune LE are positive for either onconeural antibodies or antibodies against cell surface antigens [139, 140]. Some years ago, paraneoplastic and non-paraneoplastic were thought to be approximately equally frequent [139]. Nowadays, due to the description and characterization of novel autoantibodies against neuropil antigens, nonparaneoplastic LE is thought to be more common, especially because anti-LGI1 and anti-Caspr2 LE are usually not related to cancer [3, 5, 140]. GABAb-R (gammaaminobutyric acid-B receptor) and AMPA-R (alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor) antibodies follow anti-LGI1 in frequency [140], but nearly 50% of patients with such antibodies have an underlying cancer [3, 5]. Anti-Hu and anti-Ma2 are the most common onconeural antibodies associated with paraneoplastic LE, usually with associated SCLC and testicular germ-cell tumors, respectively [140–142]. Antibody-negative LE is paraneoplastic in 40% of cases, but no main cancer has been identified [140]. The disorder is characterized by prominent cognitive impairment with mild or no seizures, or psychiatric symptoms, compared to antibody-positive LE [140].

Anti-LGI1 LE is more frequent in men and the median age is 60 years [13, 143]. Facio-brachial dystonic seizures (FBDS) are the hallmark of anti-LGI1 LE [144, 145]. They occur in up to 60% of patients, usually preceding the cognitive impairment [144, 145]. FBDS are brief episodes lasting seconds, often triggered by emotions, noises, or movements, and may appear many times a day [144, 145]. They consist of ipsilateral face and arm posturing, sometimes also involving the leg [144, 145]. Sensory aura is common [144, 145]. A contralateral frontal wave can be detected in electroencephalogram before muscle artifacts caused by FBDS [145].

Many other types of seizures have been described in anti-LGI1 LE, usually originated from the temporal lobe, and including cognitive and autonomic symptoms [145, 146]. Paroxysms-dizziness-spells are other specific events of anti-LGI1 LE [45]. Nearly 60% of patients develop hyponatremia, and sleep disturbances appear in approximately 30% [13, 45, 146]. Only 10% of anti-LGI1 LE are paraneoplastic, particularly associated with malignant thymoma [45, 143].

Anti-Caspr2 LE is also more common in men older than 60 years [49]. LE patients with anti-Caspr2 antibodies are usually non-paraneoplastic [45, 49]. Conversely, MoS patients with anti-Caspr2 antibodies usually develop malignant thymoma [45, 49]. Unlike neuromyotonia or MoS, Caspr2-antibodies are present in the CSF of LE patients [49]. Extralimbic involvement may occur, the most common being cerebellar ataxia [49]. Cerebellar ataxia may be permanent or episodic [147].

AMPA-R LE is more frequent in middle-to-late-aged women [148–153]. Seizures seem to be less common than in other LE. Isolated epilepsy onset is rare [149, 150]. By contrast, psychiatric symptoms are frequent, and acute psychosis may be the sole clinical presentation [149–151]. Some patients may present with a more diffuse encephalopathy and even develop a fulminant form with severe brain atrophy and poor prognosis [149, 150, 152]. Approximately 50% of AMPA-R LE are paraneoplastic: lung, thymus, and breast cancer are the most common [148–153].

GABAb-R LE is characterized by prominent seizures and commonly status epilepticus [154–157]. Extralimbic involvement or presentation may also occur, especially cerebellar ataxia [155–157]. SCLC is found in nearly 50% of GABAb-R LE [154–157]. In fact, 70% of LE associated with SCLC and without onconeural antibodies are positive for GABAb-R antibodies [158]. Paraneoplastic patients are often male and older than 60 years of age [154–158].

LE with glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) autoantibodies was described as typical of young women, usually non-paraneoplastic and clinically characterized by predominant seizures [159]. Nevertheless, LE has been identified as the most frequent PNS among a recent series of GAD patients, commonly in association with neuronal cell surface autoantibodies (mainly GABAb-R) and lung cancer [98, 158].

Ophelia syndrome was initially reported as a LE associated with Hodgkin's lymphoma [160]. Later, antibodies against metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) were detected in a few Ophelia syndrome patients and in one patient with a nonparaneoplastic LE [161–163]. A recent series has better defined the clinical profile of encephalitis with anti-mGluR5 antibodies [164]. Most patients are younger than 50 years of age. Psychiatric and cognitive symptoms are the most frequent, followed by sleep disturbances, seizures, altered mental status, and movement disorders [164]. Hodgkin's lymphoma is by far the most common related cancer (80%), but in almost half of the series, no tumor association could be demonstrated [164].

GABAa-R (gamma-aminobutyric acid-A receptor) autoimmunity is defined by a rapidly progressive encephalopathy with refractory seizures that often progress to status epilepticus (50%) [165–167]. Epilepsia partialis continua has been reported [167]. Cognitive, psychiatric, and movement disorders are also common [166, 167]. GABAa-R encephalitis patients are usually young: up to 40% may be under 18 years of age [165, 167]. Children usually do not have an underlying neoplasm; mean-

while, nearly 40% of adult patients have tumors, mainly malignant thymoma [167–169].

DPPX encephalitis is more frequent in middle-aged men [113, 170, 171]. Weight loss and diarrhea precede neurological symptoms in most patients [113, 170, 171]. Onset may be subacute or more frequently progressive for several months [113, 171]. Cognitive and psychiatric disorders are the core of the clinical picture, but central nervous system hyperexcitability is the most typical feature of DPPX encephalitis [113, 170, 171]. It may present as myoclonus, hyperekplexia, tremor, or seizures [113, 170, 171]. Sleep disturbances and brainstem and cerebellar dysfunction are also common [113, 171]. DPPX encephalitis is usually non-paraneoplastic, but a few patients with B-cell neoplasms have been reported [113].

Encephalitis with anti-adenylate kinase 5 antibodies is an uncommon nonparaneoplastic disorder [172, 173]. Patients are often old men with subacute, commonly isolated, cognitive dysfunction [172, 173]. Behavior changes may also appear [172, 173]. Unlike classical LE, no seizures have been reported [172, 173]. Depression, asthenia, and anorexia with weight loss may precede the development of anterograde amnesia [173].

NMDA-R Encephalitis

NMDA-R encephalitis was first reported in young women with ovarian teratoma and a stereotyped clinical presentation characterized by psychiatric symptoms, memory impairment, seizures, and decreased level of consciousness [174]. Later series have expanded the phenotype and described in detail the clinical features [11, 175, 176]. Nearly 80% of NMDA-R encephalitis are women and the median age is approximately 20 years; the disorder is strongly associated with ovarian teratomas (nearly 50% of women) [11, 175, 176]. It is also common in children (up to 37% of patients are under 18 years of age). In children and in patients older than 45 years of age, there is an equal proportion of male and female cases [11]. Tumors other than teratomas (especially carcinomas) are more commonly detected in older patients [11, 177]. Prodromal flu-like symptoms such as headache and fever may appear 2 weeks before the onset of neurological disease [175, 176]. Psychiatric symptoms (such as hallucinations, depression, acute psychosis) and memory loss are the main presenting symptoms in adults, whereas seizures and movement disorders are more frequent in children [11]. Patients older than 45 years of age have less frequently prodromal symptoms and cognitive impairment predominate over seizures [177]. Seizures are also more common as the presenting symptom in men than in women [178, 179]. Nevertheless, most patients develop the full syndrome within the first 4 weeks, regardless of their age [11, 175]. This is defined by six categories of symptoms: abnormal (psychiatric) behavior and cognitive dysfunction; speech dysfunction (pressured speech, verbal reduction, mutism); seizures; movement disorders (orofacial dyskinesias, rigidity, abnormal postures); decreased level of consciousness; and dysautonomia (cardiac dysrhythmias, hyperpirexia, labile blood pressure) or central hypoventilation [137]. Only 1% remain mono-symptomatic [11]. NMDA-R encephalitis is a severe disease that may need intensive care support in up to 77% of cases [11]. Along with MRI and CSF (see below: diagnosis), EEG may show a typical pattern called "extreme delta brush" in 30% of patients, that can be described as delta activity with beta rhythm superimposed [180]. Diagnostic criteria for NMDA-R encephalitis have been newly proposed (Table 6) [137].

Recently, herpes simplex virus has also been identified as a trigger of NMDA-R encephalitis [4]. Up to a third of HSV encephalitis will develop NMDA-R encephalitis [181, 182]. Herpes simplex PCR in CSF is negative at the time of NMDA-R encephalitis [4, 181, 182]. Young children usually present with choreoathetosis and decreased level of consciousness within the first month after HSV encephalitis [181, 182]. In contrast, older children, adolescents, and adults generally develop behavior and cognitive abnormalities, sometimes in a progressive manner over 6 weeks [181, 182].

Movement Disorders

Movement disorders may appear accompanying other clinical features in PNS, as mentioned before in NMDA-R encephalitis and other limbic and extralimbic encephalitis. Isolated movement disorders as PNS are very uncommon (1%) [183]. Subacute symmetric choreoathetosis is the most frequent presenting form, usually in association with SCLC and anti-CV2/CRMP5 antibodies [183]. Basal ganglia encephalitis with antibodies against dopamine-2 receptor is a non-paraneoplastic

Table 6 Diagnostic criteria for NMDA-R encephalitis

Possible NMDA-R encephalitis can be diagnosed when all the following criteria have been met ^a :
1. Rapid onset (< 3 months) of at least four of the six following major groups of symptoms:
Abnormal (psychiatric) behavior or cognitive dysfunction
Speech dysfunction (pressured speech, verbal reduction, mutism)
Seizures
Movement disorders, dyskinesias, or rigidity/abnormal postures
Decreased level of consciousness
Autonomic dysfunction or central hypoventilation
2. At least one of the following:
Abnormal EEG (focal or diffuse slow disorganized activity, epileptic activity or extrema delta brush)
CSF pleocytosis or oligoclonal bands
3. Exclusion of alternative causes
^a Alternatively in the presence of three of the major groups of symptoms and systemic teratoma
Definite NMDA-R encephalitis: one or more of the six major groups of symptoms and IgG anti-GluN1 antibodies

Adapted from Graus et al. [137]

disease that appears exclusively in children who develop movement and psychiatric disorders [184]. In contrast, the median age of IgLON5 disease is 65 years [185, 186]. Patients present with a complex sleep disorder, gait instability, chorea-parkinsonism, and bulbar and cognitive dysfunction [185, 186]. Pathology shows taupathy features [184]. No association with cancer has been reported with anti-IgLON5 antibodies [185, 186].

Pathogenesis

PNS are now well clinically defined autoimmune disorders. A role of the immune system is supported by the detection of antibodies or T cells against neuronal antigens that are also expressed by tumor cells, indicating that PNS are the result of a misdirected response of the immune system to cancer, which also explain why many tumors associated with PNS are confined to the primary organ [187–189]. The underlying pathogenesis of PNS is strongly related to the type of accompanying autoantibodies. These can be classified depending on the location of their antigens [187–189].

Antibodies Against Intracellular Antigens

These antibodies target a nuclear or a cytoplasmic antigen that are almost exclusively expressed in the nervous system (Table 7) [189]. They are closely associated with cancer and are therefore also called onconeural antibodies. As intracellular antigens cannot be reached by the antibodies in most cases, they are thought to be non-pathogenic [187-189]. This is supported by passive transfer of anti-Hu antibodies that did not produce neurological disorders in mice; meanwhile, immunization with Hu protein led to antibody synthesis and immune response to tumor, but without PNS [190, 191]. Although they can be detected in patients with cancer without PNS (e.g., 15% of SCLC patients have circulating anti-Hu antibodies), they are more frequently present at higher titers and show intrathecal synthesis in PNS [16, 192, 193]. Along with this humoral response, a strong cellular response has been demonstrated in patients with onconeural antibodies and it is thought to be the main immune effector. Several anatomopathological studies have shown prominent inflammatory infiltrates, particularly of cytotoxic T cells, which lead to neuronal death, explaining the poor response to immunotherapy [187–189]. Furthermore, specific CD8+ T lymphocytes activated against peptides of Hu or Yo proteins have been detected in PNS patients with anti-Hu or anti-Yo antibodies, respectively [194–196]. Recently, new research findings have proposed that loss of immune tolerance to these antigens expressed in tumor cells is important to develop the neurological syndrome, and T CD4+ lymphocytes may also play a major role in PNS pathogenesis [197-199].

Antibody	Antigen	Cellular location	Function
ANNA1/anti-Hu	Hu proteins (mainly HuD)	Nuclear	RNA-binding proteins
ANNA2/anti-Ri	Nova-1 and Nova-2	Nuclear	RNA-binding proteins
ANNA3	Unknown	Nuclear	Unknown
AGNA	SOX1	Nuclear	Transcription factor
Anti-Ma	Ma1 y 2	Nucleolus	Apoptosis
Anti-PCA1/Yo	CDR2	Cytoplasmic	Transcription factor
Anti-PCA2/ MAP1B	MAP1B	Cytoplasmic	Microtubule-binding protein
Anti-CV2	CRMP5	Cytoplasmic	Signaling of axon guidance and neurite outgrowth
Anti-ZIC4	Zinc finger protein 4	Cytoplasmic	Brain development
Anti-AK5	Adenylate kinase 5	Cytoplasmic	Adenine nucleotide homeostasis
Anti- amphiphysin	Amphiphysin	Cytoplasmic (synapsis)	Synaptic vesicle recycling
Anti-GAD	GAD (mainly GAD65)	Cytoplasmic (synapsis)	Synthesis of GABA from glutamate

 Table 7 Characteristics of intracellular onconeuronal antigens [188, 189]

Two intracellular antigens related to synapsis have particular characteristics: amphiphysin and GAD65. Amphiphysin is involved in the recycling of synaptic vesicles, whereas GAD65 is the rate-limiting enzyme for the synthesis of GABA and is attached to the membrane of the synaptic vesicles in GABAergic neurons [187–189]. Thus, although intracellular, both can be exposed to antibodies during exo- and endocytosis [187–189]. Passive transfer of anti-amphiphysin IgG has been reported to induce a stiff-person syndrome phenotype in rats [200, 201]. These antibodies were internalized by neurons, disrupting the recycling of inhibitory synaptic vesicles [201]. GAD65-antibodies from SPS have shown to reduce GABA synthesis, and those from GAD65-associated cerebellar ataxia may alter synaptic vesicle exocytosis [202, 203]. Although there is some evidence that antibodies against intracellular synaptic antigens may play a pathogenic role, other studies (including anatomopathological ones) support that the pathogenesis is mediated by a T-cell response [188].

Antibodies Against Cell Surface Antigens

In contrast to patients with associated antibodies targeting intracellular antigens, those with antibodies directed against cell surface antigens develop less frequently cancer and the antibodies are suspected to be pathogenic. First, antigens can be easily reached by the antibodies on the cell surface. Second, most of the associated neurological disorders respond to immunotherapies that remove antibodies, suggesting that neurological dysfunction is reversible and not related to neuronal cell death [204]. Furthermore, inflammatory infiltrates are mainly composed of B rather than T lymphocytes, and IgG deposits are common [189]. Third, genetic or pharmacological disruption of these antigens often induces similar phenotypes in humans or in animal models, as it has been demonstrated with NMDA-R, LGI1, Caspr2, GABAb-R, or Gly-R proteins [205–210]. Finally, in vitro studies have shown the effects of some autoantibodies on their antigens, usually receptors or proteins related to them, involved in synapse functions (Table 8) [108, 130, 165, 204, 211–217]. In vivo evidence of a direct role of circulating autoantibodies in neuronal dysfunctions only exists for anti-mGluR1 and anti-NMDA-R antibodies [130, 218].

Antibody	Antigen	Epitope	In vitro effects
NMDA-R	Ionotropic glutamate receptor	GluN1 subunit	Crosslink and internalization, reducing NMDA-R at synapsis
AMPA-R	Ionotropic glutamate receptor	GluA1 or GluA2 subunits	Crosslink and internalization, reducing AMPA-R at synapsis
GABAa-R	Ligand-gated ion channel	$\alpha 1$ and $\beta 3$ subunits	Reduction of GABAa-R density
GABAb-R	G protein-coupled receptor	B1 subunit	Receptor antagonist
LGI1	Secreted glycoprotein, interacts with ADAM23 (presynaptic) and ADAM22 (postsynaptic), organizes Kv1.1 potassium channels and AMPA-R	Epitempin and leucine-rich domain	Inhibition of interaction with ADAM
Caspr2	Transmembrane protein, clusters Kv1.1/Kv1.2 potassium channels at juxtaparanodal region	Discoidin and laminin G1 domains	Alteration of gephyrin clusters at inhibitory synaptic contacts
mGluR1	Metabotropic glutamate receptor	Amino-terminal extracellular domain	Reduction of basal activity of Purkinje cells
mGluR5	Metabotropic glutamate receptor	Unknown	Unknown
Gly-R	Chloride channel receptor	α 1 subunit	Internalization
DPPX	Membrane glycoprotein, regulated Kv4.2 potassium channels	Unknown	Hyperexcitability of enteric neurons, decrease of DPPX expression in hippocampal neurons
Tr/DNER	Delta/notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor	Glycosylated epitopes of the extracellular domain	Unknown

 Table 8
 Brain effects of autoantibodies recognizing cell surface antigens [188, 189, 204]

Genetics

Why some patients with a certain cancer develop PNS and others not may be a result of genetic predisposition. For example, human leukocyte antigen (HLA) serotypes DQ2 and DR3 for anti-Hu PNS, or HLA class II haplotypes DRB1*13:01-DQA1*01:03-DQB1*06:03 for anti-Yo PCD in ovarian cancer have been reported as haplotypes of susceptibility [219, 220]. Although anti-Hu and anti-Yo syndromes are thought to be mainly mediated by T CD8+ lymphocytes, their particular HLA associations (involving major histocompatibility complex (MHC) classes I and II) suggest that CD4+ T cells and humoral response may also be involved in the pathophysiology [219, 220]. Likewise, HLA-DR7 (DRB1*07:01) is strongly associated with LGI1-encephalitis, a commonly non-paraneoplastic disorder without known trigger [221–223]. MHC class II association is in accordance with the presumed antibody-mediated pathogenesis of LGI1 encephalitis [221]. No tight relationship has been reported so far between HLA and NMDA-R encephalitis [222, 223]. Thus, knowing genetics of PNS may help us to understand their pathogenesis and could be used as biomarkers of the disease.

Diagnosis

Once a neurological syndrome is suspected to be paraneoplastic based on its clinical presentation, ancillary tests such as imaging or CSF studies may help to exclude other possibilities or to reinforce the PNS suspicion [2, 3, 5]. The following step to achieve a correct PNS diagnosis is to establish the presence of a known antibody. Combining the clinical syndrome and the associated autoantibody allows appropriate tumor screening, which should be undertaken as soon as possible [2, 3, 5].

Finally, diagnostic criteria have been defined in order to improve the accuracy of PNS diagnosis [16]. They mainly take into account the clinical syndrome (classical and nonclassical, Table 1) and the type of the antibody (classified as *well-characterized onconeural antibodies*, anti-Hu, Yo, CV2/CRMP5, Ri, Ma2, amphiphysin, SOX1, Tr/DNER, GAD; and *partially characterized onconeural antibodies*, ANNA-3, PCA-2, Zic4, mGluR1) and if a cancer has been detected [16, 224]. According to these three items, PNS diagnosis may be (Algorithm 1) [16, 224]:

- 1. Definite PNS:
 - (a) Classical PNS and cancer within 5 years of the PNS diagnosis.
 - (b) Nonclassical PNS that resolves or improves after cancer treatment.
 - (c) Nonclassical PNS with onconeural antibodies (irrespective of type) and cancer within 5 years of the PNS diagnosis.
 - (d) PNS (irrespective of type) and well-characterized onconeural antibodies, without cancer.



Algorithm 1 Diagnostic criteria for PNS. (Adapted from Graus et al. [16] and Peterson et al. [125])

- 2. Possible PNS:
 - (a) Classical PNS without onconeural antibodies nor cancer, but with high oncological risk (e.g., > 40 years of age and smoker).
 - (b) PNS (irrespective of type) with partially characterized onconeural antibodies, without cancer.
 - (c) Nonclassical PNS without onconeural antibodies, but cancer within 2 years of the PNS diagnosis.

Imaging

Imaging is often normal in PNS, but it is helpful to exclude other diseases or cancer complications such as metastasis [2]. Nevertheless, there are some exceptions in which neurodiagnostic testing, mainly brain MRI, is important to suspect a PNS disorder or even to diagnose it [2, 3, 5, 137].

Paraneoplastic myelopathy is mainly characterized as longitudinally extensive tract-specific signal changes (up to 65% of patients), resembling Devic's disease (Fig. 1) [87–90]. Lateral columns are the most commonly affected and contrast enhancement may be seen in a half of those with abnormal MRI [87, 88]. Myelopathy associated with GFAP astrocytopathy also presents as a longitudinally extensive myelitis, whereas patients with meningoencephalitis may show a linear perivascular enhancement in brain MRI, extending in a radial manner from the lateral ventricles to the cortex [95].

Limbic encephalitis (irrespective of the autoantibody) is characterized by T2-weighted fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) hyperintensity signal that affects the medial temporal lobes bilaterally (Fig. 2) [15, 49, 132, 137, 140, 141, 148, 154, 156, 173]. Initial MRI may be normal in LGI1 encephalitis, especially



Fig. 1 Cervical (sagittal T2) and thoracic (sagittal STIR) spinal MRI, from a patient with paraneoplastic (lung cancer) myelopathy, showing longitudinally extensive abnormality resembling Devic's disease



Fig. 2 Axial FLAIR brain MRI from a patient with limbic encephalitis associated with antiadenylate kinase 5 antibodies, showing bilateral hypersignal in the medial temporal lobes. Coronal FLAIR brain MRI from the same patient 1 year later, showing hippocampal atrophy

when FBDS are the only clinical manifestation, but approximately 75% of patients will show a typical LE MRI, and later half of them will develop hippocampal sclerosis [144–146]. AMPA-R encephalitis may present as LE with typical MRI or as a more diffuse encephalopathy with extralimbic involvement; some patients develop a fulminant form with severe and rapidly progressive brain atrophy (Fig. 3) [149, 150].

Anti-Ma encephalitis generally presents with brainstem, diencephalic, and limbic features, and these are accompanied by prominent MRI abnormalities involving
the symptomatic areas [132–135]. Contrast enhancement is frequent and may mimic lymphoma or glioma tumors [132–135]. GABAa-R encephalitis usually shows a distinctive pattern of severe multifocal, bilateral, cortical, and subcortical lesions, usually asynchronous and without contrast enhancement [165, 167]. NMDA-R encephalitis brain MRI is abnormal in nearly 30% of patients, showing multiple but mild hyperintensity signals that sometimes are transient and may have contrast enhancement [11, 174, 175]. Encephalitis with D2-R antibodies may show basal ganglia abnormalities (Fig. 4) [184].

Positron Emission Tomography with 18F-Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG-PET)

Recently, FDG-PET has been demonstrated to be more sensitive than MRI to show abnormalities in autoimmune encephalitis [225, 226]. Thus, FDG-PET can be a use-ful test, especially when MRI is normal, to detect limbic or even extralimbic changes [225, 226]. Mesiotemporal hypermetabolism is the common finding in limbic encephalitis, but it can evolve to hypometabolism when hippocampal atrophy establishes [225, 226]. In NMDA-R encephalitis, hypermetabolism in frontal and temporal regions and hypometabolism in occipital lobes have been described as a characteristic pattern [227].



Fig. 3 Axial FLAIR brain MRI from a patient with fulminant AMPA-R encephalitis at onset (left) and 2 months after (right), showing the development of severe and diffuse atrophy

Fig. 4 Axial FLAIR brain MRI from a patient with basal ganglia encephalitis with anti-D2 R antibodies



CSF Abnormalities

More than 90% of PNS associated with onconeural antibodies have CSF abnormalities [228]. They may have lymphocytic pleocytosis, hyperproteinorachia, elevated IgG index, or positive oligoclonal bands (OCB) [228]. Cell count and protein concentration are slightly elevated, usually with median values less than 100 cells/L or mg/dL [3]. OCB may be the only abnormality in nearly 10% of patients, and should therefore never be forgotten [228].

CSF findings are similar for most of the PNS associated with cell surface antibodies, but a normal CSF does not exclude diagnosis as frequency of these findings is quite variable [2, 3]. For example, NMDA-R encephalitis shows CSF abnormalities in 80–90% of patients [11, 175], but LGI1 encephalitis usually presents normal CSF [144–146]. As it occurred in PNS with onconeural antibodies, OCB may appear isolated; for example, in NMDA-R encephalitis, they are detected later in the course of the disease, once pleocytosis has normalized [176].

Antibody Testing

PNS may be not associated with autoantibodies, but their detection in a suitable clinical setting is diagnostic [16]. Thus, antibody investigation is the most important ancillary test in PNS diagnosis. Overall, one clinical syndrome may be associated

with several antibodies, so a panel of tests is generally used. Nevertheless, once a positive result is obtained, it is mandatory to evaluate whether:

- 1. There is a known relationship between the antibody and the clinical syndrome. Otherwise, the antibody may not be responsible for the PNS, and we should expand the investigation [2, 3, 5].
- 2. Antibody titers are highly enough to consider the result as specific. Low titers of some antibodies (e.g., anti-Hu) may appear in cancer patients without PNS, and other antibodies (GAD, VGKC) may also appear in healthy population [2, 3, 5].
- 3. Antibody test has been conducted by an accurate technique on the correct sample:
 - (a) Serum is almost always highly sensitive for onconeural antibody testing [2]. In contrast, CSF is usually more sensitive and specific than serum for most of the antibodies against cell surface antigens [2, 3, 5, 137], with probably the exception of LGI1 LE and Caspr2 MoS and neuromyotonia [45, 47, 146]. To avoid doubtful results, it is recommended to always test paired CSF and serum samples [2, 3, 5].
 - (b) The accurate test depends on the type of antibody [137, 229]:
 - (i) Tissue-based assays, using indirect immunofluorescence or immunohistochemistry, should be used as a screening method for onconeural and cell surface antibodies (with the exception of anti-GlyR).
 - (ii) Immunoblot is the confirmation test for antibodies against intracellular antigens (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5 TBA (rat cerebellum) and dot-blot positive for anti-Hu antibody

- (iii) Cell-based assays (transfected HEK cells expressing the antigen) are the confirmation tests for antibodies against cell surface antigens, because their epitopes are usually conformational (unlike linear epitopes of onconeural antibodies) and need to be presented to the antibodies in their native structure (Fig. 6).
- (iv) ELISA is the preferred test to quantify antibody titers.

It is currently not recommended to take treatment decisions based on the evolution of antibody titers [5, 137]. Unless some studies have reported changes of anti-NMDA-R antibody titers (especially in CSF) accompanying clinical improvement and relapses, many patients have persistent positivity after clinical recovery [176, 230–232]. Even less evidence exists for the serial evaluation of LGI1-antibody titers [144].



Fig. 6 TBA of rat hippocampus (left) and cerebellum (right) positive for anti-NMDAR antibody. Bottom, CBA: HEK cells expressing recombinant NMDAR subunit 1 (left), after addition of patient CSF with anti-GluN1 IgG (center); and overlay (right)

Tumor Screening

When a PNS is suspected, tumor screening should be promptly undertaken. It is important not only to better establish PNS diagnosis, but also to improve neurological outcome by cancer treatment. The work-up should search for the most common tumors associated with the PNS-antibody combination (Tables 3 and 4), but also taking into account possible symptoms and signs of the underlying neoplasm. If a type of tumor not usually associated with the patient's PNS or antibody is detected, then screening should continue. If PNS appears or deteriorates in a patient with a known cancer, tumor recurrence should be suspected. Ideally, tumor screening should be conducted by a multidisciplinary team [2, 5, 233]. Recommendations according to each type of tumor are the following [5, 233]:

- 1. SCLC and malignant thymoma: CT thorax followed by FDG-PET or integrated FDG-PET/CT.
- 2. Breast cancer: mammography, followed by MRI-breast. If negative, FDG-PET/ CT.
- 3. Ovarian teratoma: transvaginal ultrasound (US), followed by MRI-pelvis/abdomen. If negative, CT thorax searching for extra-pelvic teratomas.
- Ovarian carcinoma: transvaginal US, followed by MRI-pelvis/abdomen or FDG-PET/CT. If negative in post-menopausal women with anti-Yo, exploratory surgery or preventive ovarian removal.
- 5. Testicular tumors: US, followed by CT of the pelvic region. Biopsy is recommended in men <50 years old with microcalcifications on US.
- 6. Hodgkin's lymphoma: full-body CT or FDG-PET/CT. Abnormal lymph nodes should be biopsied.

Seronegative PNS may be studied searching for the most common associated cancer according to the clinical picture, and if initial work-up is negative, a total-body FDG-PET is recommended. Adult patients with dermatomyositis should be tested by CT thorax/abdomen, colonoscopy (>50 years old), mammography and pelvis US for women, and testicular US for men [233]. If first screening is negative, screening should be done every 6 months for 4 years in PNS with onconeural antibodies, with the exception of LEMS, in which 2 years is sufficient [2, 233]. In PNS associated with antibodies against cell surface antigens, less frequently related to cancer, screening every 6 months for at least 2 years is recommended [2, 5].

Treatment and Prognosis

Only few clinical trials have been published on PNS treatment and current treatment recommendations are mainly based on retrospective case series and expert opinions. PNS treatment has two principles: tumor removal and immunosuppression [2, 3, 5]. Both of them should be started as soon as possible in order to avoid irreversible

effects caused by neural death. PNS with onconeural antibodies usually have a progressive course, with severe disability at diagnosis and worse response to immunotherapy than PNS with antibodies against cell surface antigens [2, 3, 5].

Immunotherapy used in PNS and related non-paraneoplastic neurological syndromes is usually divided into (1) first-line therapies, including corticosteroids (CC), intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG), and plasma exchange (PEX), and (2) second-line therapies, mainly rituximab and cyclophosphamide (Table 9). First-line treatments may be used in combination, for example, IVIG and CC. Second-line treatment should be considered if deterioration or no response after 10–14 days (especially in limbic encephalitis); monthly cyclophosphamide generally follows rituximab administration [234, 235]. For autoimmune encephalitis, immunotherapy should be started as soon as diagnosis is suspected, once infectious etiologies have been reasonably excluded; waiting for antibody test results is not recommended (Algorithm 2) [137].

Initial reports described very low rates of improvement among PNS with onconeural antibodies, early cancer treatment being the best predictor of clinical improvement or stabilization [14, 81, 125, 126, 236]. Many patients died because of

Drug	Dosage	
Methylprednisolone	500-1000 mg/day for 3-5 days	
Intravenous immunoglobulins	0.4 g/kg/day for 5 days	
Plasma exchange	1 volume every other day for 5 sessions	
Rituximab	375 mg/m ² of body surface every week for 4 weeks, or 1 g twice 2 weeks apart	
Cyclophosphamide	1 g (or 750 mg/m ² of body surface) over one day every month	

 Table 9
 Main drugs used as immunotherapy in PNS [234, 235]



Algorithm 2 Management of autoimmune encephalitis. (Adapted from Graus et al. [137])

complications of the PNS [14, 125, 126]. In Hu-PNS, mortality was associated with age, greater mRS at diagnosis, multifocal involvement, and absence of treatment [14]. Anti-Hu PNS generally have shorter survival than anti-CV2/CRMP5 PNS [53, 79]. Anti-Ri and anti-Ma PNS usually have better outcomes. Improvement has been reported in up to 70% of anti-Ri patients after treatment (oncological and/or immunotherapy) [114]. Among anti-Ma patients, prognosis is better in young males with only anti-Ma2 antibodies and testicular tumors that respond completely to oncological treatment; rates as high as 100% of stabilization or improvement have been reported in this subgroup [132–135]. Nevertheless, more recent series have shown that immunotherapy may also play a role in classical PNS, especially when it is used promptly (<3 months after PNS onset) and in non-severe disabled patients (mRS <4) [237–239]. High-dose intravenous CC, IVIG, PEX, rituximab, and cyclophosphamide have shown stabilization or improvement in 50–65% of patients with PNS associated with anti-Hu, anti-Yo, and anti-CV2/CRMP5 [53, 237–240].

Most information about PNS with antibodies against cell surface antigens is based on NMDA-R encephalitis experience. Nearly 50% of anti-NMDA-R encephalitis patients do not respond to first-line therapy (IVIG+CC) and need the second one (rituximab+cyclophosphamide) [11]. Most anti-NMDA-R patients improve progressively for 24 months or more, 80% reaching mRS < 2 [11]. Prognosis is better in patients who do not need intensive care, treated early (immunotherapy and tumor removal), and with mild disease within the first month [11]. Relapses may appear in 12% of patients, especially in non-paraneoplastic patients and in those who did not receive second-line treatment for the first episode [11]. LGI1encephalitis usually responds better to first-line treatment than anti-NMDA-R (80% of patients), particularly to CC [146]. Early immunotherapy may control FBDS (usually refractory to anti-epileptic drugs) and prevent the development of cognitive dysfunction [144]. Relapses are common (up to 35%) and memory deficits may be responsible for impaired mRS scores (67% mRS <2) [146]. Nearly 70% of anti-Caspr2 encephalitis patients improve after immunotherapy, but 40% of them may experience relapses [49]. AMPAR-encephalitis presents a much lower rate of relapses with a similar rate of response, but patients with the fulminant form have a poor prognosis [149, 150]. Anti-GABAbR encephalitis responds to oncological and/or immunological treatment in nearly 50% of patients; relapses are infrequent [154, 156].

Conclusion

PNS are immune-mediated disorders associated with cancer. Onset is often subacute and they may affect any level of the nervous system. They almost always develop before cancer identification, and therefore diagnosis should lead to tumor screening according to the neurological syndrome, the age and the associated antibody. Prompt tumor removal and immunotherapy are important to achieve better outcomes. Two major groups are recognized depending on the associated antibodies. Antibodies against intracellular antigens (onconeural antibodies) are thought not to be pathogenic but are good markers of cancer. PNS associated with onconeural antibodies are likely to be mediated by cytotoxic T-cells, so they respond to immunotherapy less frequently and usually have worse prognosis. Antibodies against synaptic and cell surface proteins may be detected in several neurological syndromes, with and without cancer. The antibodies alter the location or function of their antigens, generating a neuronal dysfunction that causes the clinical picture. As there is no neural death, at least in the early stages of the disease, immunotherapy can reverse the antibody effects leading to full recovery if treatment is initiated early. Future fields in PNS research include furthering the understanding of pathogenesis (especially the immune mechanisms and the role of genetic predisposition) and to establish treatment protocols based on clinical trials.

References

- 1. Darnell RB, Posner JB. Paraneoplastic syndromes involving the nervous system. N Engl J Med. 2003;349:1543–54.
- Rosenfeld MR, Dalmau J. Paraneoplastic neurologic syndromes. Neurol Clin. 2018;36:675–85.
- Bradshaw MJ, Linnoila JL. An overview of autoimmune and paraneoplastic encephalitides. Semin Neurol. 2018;38:330–43.
- Armangué T, Leypoldt F, Málaga I, Raspall-Chaure M, Marti I, Nichter C, et al. Herpes simplex virus encephalitis is a trigger of brain autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2014;75(2):317–23.
- 5. Lancaster E. Paraneoplastic disorders. Continuum. 2017;23(6):1653-79.
- Graus F, Ariño H, Dalmau J. Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes in Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Blood. 2014;123(21):3230–8.
- Giometto B, Grisold W, Vitaliani R, Graus F, Honnorat J, Bertolini G. Paraneoplastic neurological syndrome in the PNS Euronetwork Database. Arch Neurol. 2010;67(3):330–5.
- Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Lennon VA. Anti-neural nuclear autoantibody type 2: paraneoplastic accompaniments. Ann Neurol. 2003;53:580–7.
- Dubey D, Pittock SJ, Kelly CR, McKeon A, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Lennon VA, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis epidemiology and a comparison to infectious encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2018;83:166–77.
- Gable MS, Sheriff H, Dalmau J, Tilley DH, Glaser CA. The frequency of autoimmune N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptor encephalitis surpasses that of individual viral etiologies in young individuals enrolled in the California Encephalitis Project. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54(7):899–904.
- 11. Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangué T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate (NMDA) receptor encephalitis: a cohort study. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12:157–65.
- Granerod J, Ambrose HE, Davies NW, Clewley JP, Walsh AL, Morgan D, et al. Causes of encephalitis and differences in their clinical presentations in England: a multicentre, population-based prospective study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2010;10(12):835–44.
- Irani SR, Alexander S, Waters P, Kleopa KA, Pettingill P, Zuliani L, et al. Antibodies to Kv1 potassium channel-complex proteins leucine-rich glioma inactivated protein 1 and contactinassociated protein-2 in limbic encephalitis, Morvan's syndrome and acquired neuromyotonia. Brain. 2010;133:2734–48.

- 14. Graus F, Keime-Guibert F, Reñe R, Benhahia B, Ribalta T, Ascaso C, et al. Anti-Hu-associated paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis: analysis of 200 patients. Brain. 2001;124:1138–48.
- 15. Honnorat J, Didelot A, Karantoni E, Ville D, Ducray F, Lambert L, et al. Autoimmune limbic encephalopathy and anti-Hu antibodies in children without cancer. Neurology. 2013;80:2226–32.
- Graus F, Delattre JY, Antoine JC, Dalmau J, Giometto B, Grisold W, et al. Recommended diagnostic criteria for paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004;75:1135–40.
- 17. Sharp L, Vernino S. Paraneoplastic neuromuscular disorders. Muscle Nerve. 2012;46(6):841–50.
- Aussy A, Boyer O, Cordel N. Dermatomyositis and immune-mediated necrotizing myopathies: a window on autoimmunity and cancer. Front Immunol. 2017;8:992. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00992.
- 19. Yang Z, Lin F, Qin B, Liang Y, Zhong R. Polymyositis/dermatomyositis and malignancy risk: a metaanalysis study. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(2):282–91.
- Hill CL, Zhang Y, Sigurgeirsson B, Pukkala E, Mellemkjaer L, Airio A, et al. Frequency of specific cancer types in dermatomyositis and polymyositis. A population-based study. Lancet. 2011;357:96–100.
- Fiorentino DF, Kuo K, Chung L, Zaba L, Li S, Casciola-Rosen L. Distinctive cutaneous and systemic features associated with antitranscriptional intermediary factor-1γ antibodies in adults with dermatomyositis. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2015;723:449–55.
- Rogers A, Chung L, Li S, Casciola-Rosen L, Fiorentino DF. The cutaneous and systemic findings associated with nuclear matrix protein-2 antibodies in adult dermatomyositis patients. Arthritis Care Res. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.23210.
- Allenbach Y, Keraen J, Bouvier AM, Jooste V, Champtiaux N, Hervier B, et al. High risk of cancer in autoimmune necrotizing myopathies: usefulness of myositis specific antibody. Brain. 2016;139:2131–5.
- Kadoya M, Hida A, Hashimoto Maeda M, Taira K, Ikenaga C, Uchio N, et al. Cancer association as a risk factor for antiHMGCR antibody-positive myopathy. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3(6):e290. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000290.
- Cetin H, Vincent A. Pathogenic mechanisms and clinical correlations in autoimmune myasthenic syndromes. Semin Neurol. 2018;38:344–54.
- Ohira M, Jeong D, Oh SJ. Seropositive myasthenia gravis associated with small-cell lung carcinoma. J Clin Neurol. 2011;7:43–6.
- Simonsen M, Miyabe MM, Ouki HT, Galvao ACR, Leite D, Murayama BAR, et al. Myasthenia as a paraneoplastic manifestation of ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2018;25:35–6.
- Fratalia L, Larner AJ. Late onset myasthenia gravis and carcinoid tumour: paraneoplastic syndrome? Br J Hosp Med. 2017;78(10):588–9.
- Vernino S, Lennon VA. Autoantiboy profiles and neurological correlations of thymoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10:7270–5.
- 30. Romi F. Thymoma in myasthenia gravis: from diagnosis to treatment. Autoimmune Dis. 2011;2011:474512. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/474512.
- Romi F, Skeie GO, Gilhus NE, Aarli JA. Striational antibodies in myasthenia gravis: reactivity and possible clinical significance. Arch Neurol. 2005;62(3):442–6.
- 32. Wirtz PW, Smallegange TM, Wintzen AR, Verschuuren JJ. Differences in clinical features between the Lamber-Eaton myasthenic syndrome with and without cancer: an analysis of 227 published cases. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2002;104:359–63.
- Titulaer MJ, Verschuuren JJ. Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: tumor versus nontumor forms. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2008;1132:129–34.
- 34. Titulaer MJ, Maddison P, Sont JK, Wirtz PW, Hilton-Jones D, Klooster R, et al. Clinical Dutch-English Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS) tumor association prediction score accurately predicts small-lung cancer in the LEMS. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(07):902–8.

- Nakao YK, Motomura M, Fukudome T, Fukuda T, Shirashi H, Yoshimura T, et al. Seronegative Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: study of 110 Japanese patients. Neurology. 2002;59(11):1773–5.
- Graus F, Vincent A, Pozo-Rosich P, Sabater L, Saiz A, Lang B, et al. Anti-glial nuclear antibody: marker of lung cancer-related paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;165:166–71.
- 37. Sabater L, Titulaer M, Saiz A, Verschuuren J, Gure AO, Graus F. SOX1 antibodies are markers of paraneoplastic Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome. Neurology. 2008;70:924–8.
- Titulaer MJ, Klooster R, Potman M, Sabater L, Graus F, Hegeman IM, et al. SOX antibodies in small-cell lung cancer and Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: frequency and relation with survival. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:4260–7.
- Sawlani K, Katirji B. Peripheral nerve hyperexcitability syndromes. Continuum. 2017;23(5):1437–50.
- 40. Liewluck T, Klein CJ, Jones LK. Cramp-fasciculation syndrome in patients with and without neural autoantibodies. Muscle Nerve. 2014;49:351–6.
- Vernino S, Lennon VA. Ion channel and striational antibodies define a continuum of autoimmune neuromuscular hyperexcitability. Muscle Nerve. 2002;26:702–7.
- 42. Hart IK, Maddison P, Newsom-Davis J, Vincent A, Mills KR. Phenotypic variants of autoimmune peripheral nerve hyperexcitability. Brain. 2002;125(8):1887–95.
- 43. Vincent A, Pettingill P, Pettingill R, Lang B, Birch R, Waters P, et al. Association of leucinerich glioma inactivated protein 1, contactin-associated protein 2 and contactin 2 antibodies with clinical features and patient-reported pain in acquired neuromyotonia. JAMA Neurol. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.2681.
- 44. Klein CJ, Lennon VA, Aston PA, McKeon A, O'Toole O, Quek A, et al. Insights from LGI1 and CASPR2 potassium channel complex autoantibody subtyping. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(2):229–34.
- 45. Gadoth A, Pittock SJ, Dubey D, McKeon A, Britton JW, Schmeling JE, et al. Expanded phenotypes and outcomes among 256 LGI1/CASPR2-IgG positive patients. Ann Neurol. 2017;82(1):79–92.
- 46. Rubio-Agusti I, Perez-Miralles F, Sevilla T, Muelas N, Chumillas MJ, Mayordomo F, et al. Peripheral nerve hyperexcitability: a clinical and immunological study of 38 patients. Neurology. 2011;76:172–8.
- Irani SR, Pettingil P, Kleopa KA, Schiza N, Waters P, Mazia C, et al. Morvan syndrome: clinical and serological observations in 29 cases. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(2):241–55.
- Laurencin C, André-Obadia N, Camdessanché JP, Maugière F, Ong E, Vukusic S, et al. Peripheral small fiber dysfunction and neuropathic pain in patients with Morvan syndrome. Neurology. 2015;85:2076–8.
- 49. Joubert B, Saint-Martin M, Noraz N, Picard G, Rogemond V, Ducray F, et al. Characterization of a subtype of autoimmune encephalitis with anti-contactin-associated protein-like 2 antibodies in the cerebrospinal fluid, prominent limbic symptoms and seizures. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73:1115–24.
- Torres-Vega E, Mancheño N, Cebrián-Silla A, Herranz-Pérez V, Chumillas MJ, Morís G, et al. Netrin-1 receptor antibodies in thymoma-associated neuromyotonia with myasthenia gravis. Neurology. 2017;88:1–8.
- Camdessanché JP, Antoine JC, Honnorat J, Vial C, Petiot P, Convers P, et al. Paraneoplastic peripheral neuropathy associated with anti-Hu antibodies. A clinical and electrophysiological study. Brain. 2002;125:166–75.
- Yu Z, Kryzer TJ, Griesmann GE, Kim KK, Benarroch EE, Lennon VA. CRMP-5 neuronal autoantibody: marker of lung cancer and thymoma-related autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2001;49:146–54.
- Dubey D, Lennon VA, Gadoth A, Pittock SJ, Flanagan EP, Schmeling JE, et al. Autoimmune CRMP5 neuropathy phenotype and outcome defined from 105 cases. Neurology. 2018;90:e103–10. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000004803.

- Lee HR, Lennon VA, Camilleri M, Prather CM. Paraneoplastic gastrointestinal motor dysfunction: clinical and laboratory characteristics. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:373–9.
- Badari A, Farolino D, Nasser E, Mehboob S, Crossland D. A novel approach to paraneoplastic intestinal pseudo-obstruction. Support Care Cancer. 2012;20:425–8.
- 56. Taverna JA, Babiker HM, Yun S, Bishop MC, Lau-Braunhut S, Meyer PN, et al. The great masquerader of malignancy: chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction. Biomarker Res. 2014;2:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40364-014-0023-y.
- Vernino S, Lox PA, Fealey RD, Stewart JD, Farrugia G, Lennon VA. Autoantibodies to ganglionic acetylcholine receptors in autoimmune autonomic neuropathies. N Engl J Med. 2000;343:847–55.
- Li Y, Jammoul A, Mente K, Li J, Shields RW, Vernino S, et al. Clinical experience of seropositive ganglionic acetylcholine receptor antibody in a tertiary neurology referral center. Muscle Nerve. 2015;52:386–91.
- McKeon A, Lennon VA, Lachance DH, Fealey RD, Pittock SJ. Ganglionic acetylcholine receptor autoantibody: oncological, neurological and serological accompaniments. Arch Neurol. 2009;66(6):735–41.
- Zivkovic SA, Ascherman D, Lacomis D. Vasculitis neuropathy-electrodiagnostic findings and association with malignancies. Acta Neurol Scand. 2007;115:432–6.
- Oh SJ. Paraneoplastic vasculitis of the peripheral nervous system. Neurol Clin. 1997;15:849–63.
- 62. Choi HS, Kim DH, Yang SN, Sung HJ, Choi SJ. A case or paraneoplastic vasculitic neuropathy associated with gastric cancer. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2013;115:218–21.
- Kannan ME, Challa S, Kandadai RM, Uppin MS, Jabeen SA, Borgohain R. Series of paraneoplastic vasculitic neuropathy: a rare, potentially treatable neuropathy. Neurol India. 2015;63:30–4.
- 64. Vigliani MC, Magistrello M, Polo P, Mutani R, Chiò A. Risk of cancer in patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS). A population-based study. J Neurol. 2004;251:321–6.
- Hiew FL, Rajabally YA. Malignancy in Guillain-Barré syndrome: a twelve-year single-center study. J Neurol Sci. 2017;375:275–8.
- 66. Graus F, Dalmau J. Paraneoplastic neuropathies. Curr Opin Neurol. 2013;26:489-95.
- Rajabally YA, Attarian S. Chronic inflammatory demyelinatin polyneuropathy and malignancy: a systematic review. Muscle Nerve. 2018;57(6):875–83.
- Briani C, Vitaliani R, Grisold W, Honnorat J, Graus F, Antoine JC, et al. Spectrum of paraneoplastic disease associated with lymphoma. Neurology. 2011;76:705–10.
- Stern BV, Baehring JM, Kleopa KA, Hochberg FH. Multifocal motor neuropathy with conduction block associated with metastatic lymphoma of the nervous system. J Neurooncol. 2006;78:81–4.
- Rigamonti A, Lauria G, Stanzani L, Piamarta F, Agostoni E. A case of multifocal motor neuropathy with conduction block associated with gastric and lung adenocarcinoma. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2012;17:226–8.
- Antoine JC, Camdessanché JP. Paraneoplastic neuropathies. Curr Opin Neurol. 2017;30(5):513–20.
- Antoine JC, Mosnier JF, Absi L, Convers P, Honnorat J, Michel D. Carcinoma associated paraneoplastic peripheral neuropathies in patients with and without anti-onconeural antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1999;67:7–14.
- Camdessanché JP, Jousserand G, Ferraud K, Vial C, Petiot P, Honnorat J, et al. The pattern and diagnostic criteria of sensory neuronopathy: a case-control study. Brain. 2009;132:1723–33.
- 74. Antoine JC, Robert-Varvat F, Maisonobe T, Créange A, Franques J, Mathis S, et al. Testing the validity of a set of diagnostic criteria for sensory neuronopathies: a francophone collaborative study. J Neurol. 2014;261:2093–100.
- 75. Oki Y, Koike H, Iijima M, Mori K, Hattori N, Katsuno M, et al. Ataxic vs painful form of paraneoplastic neuropathy. Neurology. 2007;69:564–72.

- Camdessanché JP, Jousserand G, Franques J, Pouget J, Delmont E, Créange A, et al. A clinical pattern-based etiological diagnostic strategy for sensory neuronopathies: a French collaborative study. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2012;17:331–40.
- Oh SJ, Gürtekin Y, Dropcho E, King P, Claussen GC. Anti-Hu antibody neuropathy: a clinical, electrophysiological and pathological study. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005;116:28–34.
- Storstein A, Raspotnig M, Vitaliani R, Giametto B, Graus F, Grisold W, et al. Prostate cancer, Hu antibodies and paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. J Neurol. 2016;263(5):1001–7.
- Honnorat J, Cartalat-Carel S, Ricard D, Camdessanché JP, Carpentier AF, Rogemond V, et al. Onconeural antibodies and tumour type determine survival and neurological symptoms in paraneoplastic neurological syndromes with Hu or CV2/CRMP5 antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80(4):412–6.
- 80. Antoine JC, Honnorat J, Camdessanché JP, Magistris M, Absi L, Mosnier JF, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-CV2 antibodies react with peripheral nerve and are associated with a mixed axonal and demyelinating peripheral neuropathy. Ann Neurol. 2001;49:214–21.
- Pittock SJ, Luchinetti CF, Parisi JE, Benarroch EE, Mokri B, Stephan CL, et al. Amphiphysin autoimmunity: paraneoplastic accompaniments. Ann Neurol. 2005;58:96–107.
- Mélé N, Berzero G, Maisonobe T, Salachas F, Nicolas G, Weiss N, et al. Motor neuron disease of paraneoplastic origin: a rare but treatable condition. J Neurol. 2018;265(7):1590–9.
- Verschueren A, Gallard J, Boucraut J, Honnorat J, Pouget J, Attarian S. Paraneoplastic subacute lower motor neuron syndrome associated with solid cancer. J Neurol Sci. 2015;358:413–6.
- Younger DS, Graber J, Hayakawa-Yano Y, Parveen S, Frank M, Darnell RB. Ri/NOVA geneassociated paraneoplastic subacute motor neuronopathy. Muscle Nerve. 2013;47(4):617–8.
- Flanagan EP, Sandroni P, Pittock SJ, Inwards DJ, Jones LK. Paraneoplastic lower motor neuronopathy associated with Hodgkin lymphoma. Muscle Nerve. 2012;46:823–7.
- Vogrig A, Joubert B, Maureille A, Thomas L, Bernard E, Streichenberger N, et al. Motor neuron involvement in anti-Ma2-associated paraneoplastic neurological syndrome. J Neurol. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-018-9143-x.
- Flanagan EP, McKeon A, Lennon VA, Kearns J, Weinshenker BG, Krecke KN, et al. Paraneoplastic isolated myelopathy: clinical course and neuroimaging clues. Neurology. 2011;76:2089–95.
- 88. Flanagan EP, Keegan BM. Paraneoplastic myelopathy. Neurol Clin. 2013;31:307-18.
- Cross SA, Salomao DR, Parisi JE, Kryzer TJ, Bradley EA, Mines JA, et al. Paraneoplastic autoimmune optic neuritis with retinitis defined by CRMP-5-IgG. Ann Neurol. 2003;54:38–50.
- Ducray F, Roos-Weil R, Garcia PY, Slesar J, Heinzlef O, Chatelain D. Devic's syndrome-like phenotype associated with thymoma and anti-CV2/CRMP5 antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78(3):325–7.
- Pittock SJ, Lennon VA. Aquaporin-4 antibodies in a paraneoplastic context. Arch Neurol. 2008;65(5):629–32.
- Beauchemin P, Iorio R, Traboulsee AL, Field T, Tinker AV, Carruthers L. Paraneoplastic neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: a single center cohort description with two cases of histological validation. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2018;20:37–42.
- 93. Sepúlveda M, Sola-Valls N, Escudero D, Rojc B, Barón M, Hernandez-Echebarría L, et al. Clinical profile of patients with paraneoplastic neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder and aquaporin-4 antibodies. Mult Scler. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458517731914.
- 94. Fang B, McKeon A, Hinson SR, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Aksamit AJ, et al. Autoimmune glial fibrillary acidic protein astrocytopathy: a novel meningoencephalomyelitis. JAMA Neurol. 2006;73(11):1297–307.
- 95. Flanagan EP, Hinson SR, Lennon VA, Fang B, Aksamit AJ, Morris PP, et al. Glial fibrillary acidic protein immunoglobin G as a biomarker of autoimmune astrocytopathy: analysis of 102 patients. Ann Neurol. 2017;81(2):298–309.
- Alexopulos H, Dalakas MC. A critical update on the immunopathogenesis of stiff person syndrome. Eur J Clin Invest. 2010;40(11):1018–25.

- 97. Meinck HM, Thompson PD. Stiff man syndrome and related conditions. Mov Disord. 2002;17(5):853–66.
- Martínez-Hernandez E, Ariño H, McKeon A, Iizuka T, Titulaer MJ, Simabukuro MM, et al. Clinical and immunologic investigations in patients with stiff-person spectrum disorder. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73(6):714–20.
- Ariño H, Hötberger R, Gresa-Arribas N, Martínez-Hernandez E, Armangué T, Kruer MC, et al. Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes and glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(8):874–81.
- 100. Murinson BB, Guarnaccia JB. Stiff-person syndrome with amphiphysin antibodies: distinctive features of a rare disease. Neurology. 2008;71:1955–8.
- 101. Faissner S, Lukas C, Reinacher-Schick A, Tannapfel A, Gold R, Kleiter I. Amphiphysinpositive paraneoplastic myelitis and stiff-person syndrome. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3(6):e285. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000285.
- Vinjam MR, Shanmugarajah P, Ford HL. Ophthalmoplegia heralding the onset of antiamphiphysin related paraneoplastic stiff person syndrome. J Neurol. 2016;263(5):1017–8.
- Nguyen-Huu BK, Urban PP, Schreckenberger M, Dieterich M, Werhahn KJ. Antiamphiphysinpositive stiff-person syndrome associated with small cell lung cancer. Mov Disord. 2006;21(8):1285–7.
- 104. Butler MH, Hayashi A, Ohkoshi N, Villmann C, Becker CM, Feng G, et al. Autoimmunity to gephyrin in stiff-man syndrome. Neuron. 2000;26:307–12.
- 105. McCabe DJH, Turner NC, Chao D, Leff A, Gregson NA, Womersley HJ, et al. Paraneoplastic "stiff person syndrome" with metastasic adenocarcinoma and anti-Ri antibodies. Neurology. 2004;62:1402–4.
- Albóndiga-Chindurza A, Riva E, Jiménez-Huete A, Graus F, Franch O. Paraneoplastic stiff person syndrome with small cell carcinoma of the bladder and anti-Ri antibodies. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2018;173:194–5.
- 107. Hutchinson M, Waters P, McHugh J, Gorman G, O'Riordan S, Connolly S. Progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity and myoclonus: a novel glycine receptor antibody. Neurology. 2008;71:1291–2.
- Carvajal-González A, Leite MI, Waters P, Woodhall M, Coutinho E, Balint B, et al. Glycine receptor antibodies in PERM and related syndromes: characteristics, clinical features and outcomes. Brain. 2014;137:2178–92.
- Uehara T, Murai H, Yamasaki R, Kikuchi H, Shigeto H, Ohyagi Y, et al. Thymoma-associated progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity and myoclonus successfully treated with thymectomy and intravenous immunoglobulin. Eur Neurol. 2011;66:328–30.
- Clerinx K, Breban T, Schrooten M, Leite MI, Vincent A, Verschakelen J, et al. Progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity and myoclonus: resolution after thymectomy. Neurology. 2011;76:303–4.
- 111. Borellini L, Lanfranconi S, Bonato S, Trezzi I, Franco G, Torretta L, et al. Progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity and myoclonus associated with anti-GlyR antibodies and Hodgkin's lymphoma: a case report. Front Neurol. 2017;8:401. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2017.00401.
- 112. Balint B, Jarius S, Nagel S, Haberkorn U, Probst C, Blöcker IM, et al. Progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity and myoclonus: a new variant with DPPX antibodies. Neurology. 2014;82:1521–8.
- 113. Tobin WO, Lennon VA, Komorowski L, Probst C, Clardy SL, Aksamit AJ, et al. DPPX potassium channel antibody: frequency, clinical accompaniments, and outcomes in 20 patients. Neurology. 2014;83:1797–803.
- Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Lennon VA. Anti-neuronal nuclear autoantibody type 2: paraneoplastic accompaniments. Ann Neurol. 2003;53:580–7.
- 115. Chan KH, Vernino S, Lennon VA. ANNA-3 anti-neuronal nuclear antibody: marker of lung cancer-related autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2001;50:301–11.
- 116. Gadoth A, Kryzer TJ, Fryer J, McKeon A, Lennon VA, Pittock SJ. Microtubule associated protein 1B: novel paraneoplastic biomarker. Ann Neurol. 2017;81:266–77.

- 117. Bataller L, Wade DF, Graus F, Stacey HD, Rosenfeld MR, Dalmau J. Antibodies to Zic4 in paraneoplastic neurologic disorders and small-cell lung cancer. Neurology. 2004;62(5):778–82.
- 118. Pike M. Opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome. Handb Clin Neurol. 2013;112:1209-11.
- 119. Klaas JP, Ahlskog E, Pittock SJ, Matsumoto JY, Aksamit AJ, Bartleson JD, et al. Adult-onset opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome. Arch Neurol. 2012;69(12):1598–607.
- Pranzatelli MR, Tate ED, McGee NR. Children with opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome: a cross-sectional study. Front Neurol. 2017;8:468. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2017.00468.
- 121. Armangué T, Sabater L, Torres-Vega E, Martínez-Hernández E, Ariño H, Petit-Pedrol M, et al. Clinical and immunological features of opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome in the era of neuronal cell surface antibodies. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73(4):417–24.
- 122. Bataller L, Graus F, Saiz A, Vilchez JJ. Clinical outcome in adult onset idiopathic or paraneoplastic opsoclonus-myoclonus. Brain. 2001;124:437–43.
- 123. Shams'ili S, Grefkens J, de Leeuw B, van den Bent M, Hooijkaas H, van der Holt B, et al. Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration associated with antineuronal antibodies: analysis of 50 patients. Brain. 2003;126:1409–18.
- 124. Ducray F, Demarquay G, Graus F, Decullier E, Antoine JC, Giometto B, et al. Seronegative paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration: the PNS euronetwork experience. Eur J Neurol. 2014;21:731–5.
- Peterson K, Rosenblum MK, Kotanides H, Posner JB. Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration: a clinical analysis of 55 anti-Yo antibody-positive patients. Neurology. 1992;42:1931–7.
- McKeon A, Tracy JA, Pittock SJ, Parisi JE, Klein CJ, Lennon VA. Purkinje-cell cytoplasmatic autoantibody type 1 accompaniments. Arch Neurol. 2011;68(10):1282–9.
- 127. Sabater L, Höftberger R, Boronat A, Saiz A, Dalmau J, Graus F. Antibody repertoire in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration and small cell lung cancer. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e60438. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060438.
- 128. Graus F, Dalmau J, Valldeoriola F, Ferrer I, Reñé R, Marin C, et al. Immunological characterization of a neuronal antibody (anti-Tr) associated with paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration and Hodgkin's disease. J Neuroimmunol. 1997;74:55–61.
- 129. Bernal F, Shams'ili S, Rojas I, Sanchez-Valle R, Saiz A, Dalmau J, et al. Anti-Tr antibodies as markers of paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration and Hodgkin's disease. Neurology. 2003;60:230–4.
- 130. Sillevis Smitt P, Kinoshita A, de Leeuw B, Moll W, Coesmans M, Jaarsma D, et al. Paraneoplastic cerebellar ataxia due to autoantibodies against glutamate receptor. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(1):21–7.
- 131. Marignier R, Chenevier F, Rogemond V, Sillevis Smitt P, Renoux C, Cavillon G, et al. Metabotropic glutamate receptor type 1 autoantibody-associated cerebellitis: a primary autoimmune disease? Arch Neurol. 2010;67(5):627–30.
- 132. Dalmau J, Graus F, Villarejo A, Posner JB, Blumenthal D, Thiessen B, et al. Clinical analysis of anti-ma-2 associated encephalitis. Brain. 2004;127:1831–44.
- 133. Rosenfeld MR, Eichen JG, Wade DF, Posner JB, Dalmau J. Molecular and clinical diversity in paraneoplastic immunity to Ma proteins. Ann Neurol. 2001;50:339–48.
- 134. Hoffmann LA, Jarius S, Pellkofer HL, Schueller M, Krumbholz M, Koenig F, et al. Anti-Ma and anti-Ta associated paraneoplastic neurological syndrome: 22 newly diagnosed patients and review of previous cases. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2008;79:767–73.
- Ortega-Suero G, Sola-Valls N, Escudero D, Saiz A, Graus F. Síndromes neurológicos paraneoplásicos asociados a anticuerpos anti-Ma y anti-Ma2. Neurologia. 2018;33(1):18–27.
- 136. Saiz A, Bruna J, Stourac P, Vigliani MC, Giometto B, Grisold W, et al. Anti-Hu-associated brainstem encephalitis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80:404–7.
- 137. Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(4):391–404.
- 138. Oyanguren B, Sánchez V, González FJ, de Felipe A, Esteban L, López-Sendón JL, et al. Limbic encephalitis: a clinical-radiological comparison between herpetic and autoimmune etiologies. Eur J Neurol. 2013;20(12):1566–70.

- Graus F, Saiz A, Lai M, Bruna J, López F, Sabater L, et al. Neuronal surface antigen antibodies in limbic encephalitis: clinical-immunologic associations. Neurology. 2008;71:930–6.
- 140. Graus F, Escudero D, Oleaga L, Bruna J, Villarejo-Galende A, Ballabriga J, et al. Syndrome and outcome of antibody-negative limbic encephalitis. Eur J Neurol. 2018;25(8):1011–6.
- 141. Gultekin SH, Rosenfeld MR, Voltz R, Eichen J, Posner JB, Dalmau J. Paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis: neurological symptoms, immunological findings and tumour association in 50 patients. Brain. 2000;123:1481–94.
- 142. Bataller L, Kleopa KA, Wu GF, Rosenfeld MR, Dalmau J. Autoimmune limbic encephalitis in 39 patients: immunophenotypes and outcomes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78:381–5.
- 143. Lai M, Huijbers MGM, Lancaster E, Graus F, Bataller L, Balice-Gordon R, et al. Investigation of LGI1 as the antigen in limbic encephalitis previously attributed to potassium channels: a case series. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(8):776–85.
- 144. Irani SR, Stagg CJ, Schott JM, Rosenthal CR, Schneider SA, Pettingill P, et al. Faciobrachial dystonic seizures: the influence of immunotherapy on seizure control and prevention of cognitive impairment in a broadening phenotype. Brain. 2013;136:3151–62.
- 145. Navarro V, Kas A, Apartis E, Chami L, Rogemond V, Levy P, et al. Motor cortex and hippocampus are the two main cortical targets in LGI1-antibody encephalitis. Brain. 2016;139:1079–93.
- 146. van Sonderen A, Thijs RD, Coenders EC, Jiskoot LC, Sanchez E, de Bruijn MAAM, et al. Anti-LGI1 encephalitis: clinical syndrome and long-term follow-up. Neurology. 2016;87:1–8.
- 147. Joubert B, Gobert F, Thomas L, Saint-Martin M, Detestret V, Convers P, et al. Autoimmune episodic ataxia in patients with anti-CASPR2 antibody-associated encephalitis. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflam. 2017;4:e371. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000371.
- 148. Lai M, Hughes EG, Peng X, Zhou L, Gleichman AJ, Shu H, et al. AMPA receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis alter synaptic receptor location. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(9):424–34.
- 149. Höftberger R, van Sonderen A, Leypoldt F, Houghton D, Geschwind M, Gelfand J, et al. Encephalitis and AMPA receptor antibodies: novel findings in a case series of 22 patients. Neurology. 2015;84:2403–12.
- 150. Joubert B, Kerschen P, Zekeridou A, Detestret V, Rogemond V, Chaffois MO, et al. Antibodies against the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor: case series and review of the literature. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(10):1163–9.
- 151. Graus F, Boronat A, Xifró X, Boix M, Svigelj V, García A, et al. The expanding clinical profile of anti-AMPA receptor encephalitis. Neurology. 2010;74:857–9.
- 152. Wei YC, Liu CH, Lin JJ, Lin KJ, Huang KL, Lee TH, et al. Rapid progression and brain atrophy in anti-AMPA receptor encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2013;261:129–33.
- 153. Bataller L, Galiano R, García-Escrig M, Martínez B, Sevilla T, Blasco R, et al. Reversible paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis associated with antibodies to the AMPA receptor. Neurology. 2010;74:857–9.
- 154. Lancaster E, Lai M, Peng X, Hughes E, Constantinescu R, Raizer J, et al. Antibodies to the GABA(B) receptor in limbic encephalitis with seizures: case series and characterization of the antigen. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(1):67–76.
- 155. Jeffery OJ, Lennon VA, Pittock SJ, Gregory JK, Britton JW, McKeon A. GABA(B) receptor autoantibody frequency in service serologic evaluation. Neurology. 2013;81:882–7.
- 156. Höftberger R, Titulaer MJ, Sabater L, Dome B, Rózsás A, Hegedus B, et al. Encephalitis and GABA(B) receptor antibodies: novel findings in a new case series of 20 patients. Neurology. 2013;81:1500–6.
- 157. Dogan Onugoren M, Deuretzbacher D, Haensch CA, Hagedorn HJ, Halve S, Isenmann S, et al. Limbic encephalitis due to GABA(B) and AMPA receptor antibodies: a case series. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86:965–72.
- 158. Boronat A, Sabater L, Saiz A, Dalmau J, Graus F. GABA(B) receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis and anti-GAD-associated neurologic disorders. Neurology. 2011;76:795–800.

- 159. Malter MP, Helmstaedter C, Urbach H, Vincent A, Bien CG. Antibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase define a form of limbic encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2010;67:470–8.
- 160. Carr I. The Ophelia syndrome: memory loss in Hodgkin's disease. Neurology. 1982;1:844-5.
- 161. Lancaster E, Martinez-Hernandez E, Titulaer MJ, Boulos M, Weaver S, Antoine JC, et al. Antibodies to metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 in the Ophelia syndrome. Neurology. 2011;77:1698–701.
- 162. Mat A, Adler H, Merwick A, Chadwick G, Gullo G, Dalmau JO, et al. Ophelia syndrome with metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antibodies in CSF. Neurology. 2013;42(suppl 5):7–8.
- 163. Prüss H, Rothkirch M, Kopp U, Hamer HM, Hagge M, Sterzer P, et al. Limbic encephalitis with mGluR5 antibodies and immunotherapy-responsive prosopagnosia. Neurology. 2014;83:1384–6.
- 164. Spatola M, Sabater L, Planaguma J, Martinez-Hernandez E, Armangué T, Prüss H et al. Encephalitis with mGluR5 antibodies: symptoms and antibody effects. Neurology 2018;0:1– 9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000005614.
- 165. Petit-Pedrol M, Armangue T, Peng X, Bataller L, Cellucci T, Davis R, et al. Encephalitis with refractory seizures, status epilepticus and antibodies to the GABA(A) receptor: a case series, characterisation of the antigen, and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13:276–86.
- 166. Pettingill P, Kramer HB, Coebergh JA, Pettingill R, Maxwell S, Nibber A, et al. Antibodies to GABA(A) receptor α1 and 2 subunits. Neurology. 2015;84:1233–41.
- 167. Spatola M, Petit-Pedrol M, Simabukuro MM, Armangue T, Castro FJ, Barcelo-Artigues MI, et al. Investigations in GABA(A) receptor antibody-associated encephalitis. Neurology. 2017;88:1012–20.
- Ohkawa T, Satake S, Yokoi N. Identification and characterization of GABA(A) receptor autoantibodies in autoimmune encephalitis. J Neurosci. 2014;34:8151–63.
- 169. Simabukuro MM, Petit-Pedrol M, Castro LH, Nitrini R, Lucato L, Zambon AA, et al. GABA(A) receptor and LGI1 antibody encephalitis in a patient with thymoma. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2015;2:e73. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000073.
- 170. Boronat A, Gelfand JM, Gresa-Arribas N, Jeong HY, Walsh M, Roberts K, et al. Encephalitis and antibodies to DPPX, a subunit of Kv4.2 potassium channels. Ann Neurol. 2013;73(1):120–8.
- 171. Hara M, Ariño H, Petit-Pedrol M, Sabater L, Titulaer MJ, Martinez-Hernandez E, et al. DPPX antibody-associated encephalitis: main syndrome and antibody effects. Neurology. 2017;88:1340–8.
- 172. Tüzün E, Rossi JE, Karner SF, Centurion AF, Dalmau J. Adenylate kinase 5 autoimmunity in treatment refractory limbic encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;186(1–2):177–80.
- 173. Do LD, Chanson E, Detestret V, Joubert B, Ducray F, Brugière S, et al. Characteristics in limbic encephalitis with anti-adenylate kinase 5 autoantibodies. Neurology. 2017;88:514–24.
- 174. Dalmau J, Tüzün E, Wu H, Masjuan J, Rossi JE, Voloschin A, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Ann Neurol. 2007;61(1):25–36.
- 175. Dalmau J, Gleichman AJ, Hughes EG, Rossi JE, Peng XP, Meizan L, Dessain SK, et al. Anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(12):1091–8.
- 176. Irani SR, Bera K, Waters P, Zuliani L, Maxwell S, Zandi MS, et al. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. Brain. 2010;133:1655–67.
- 177. Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Iizuka T, Kawachi I, Bataller L, et al. Late-onset anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Neurology. 2013;81:1058–63.
- 178. Viaccoz A, Detestret V, Ducray F, Picard G, Cavillon G, Rogemond V, et al. Clinical specificities of adult male patients with NMDA receptor antibodies encephalitis. Neurology. 2014;82:556–63.

- 179. Titulaer MJ, Dalmau J. Seizures as first symptom of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis are more common in men. Neurology. 2014;82:550–1.
- Schmitt SE, Pargeon K, Frechette ES, Hirsch L, Dalmau J, Friedman D. Extreme delta brush: a unique EEG pattern in adults with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Neurology. 2012;79:1094–100.
- 181. Armangué A, Morís G, Cantarín-Extremera V, Conde CE, Rostasy K, Erro ME, et al. Autoimmune post-herpes simplex encephalitis of adults and teenagers. Neurology. 2015;85:1736–43.
- 182. Armangue T, Spatola M, Vlagea A, Mattozzi S, Cárceles-Cordon M, Martinez-Heras E, et al. Frequency, symptoms, risk factors and outcomes of autoimmune encephalitis after herpes simplex encephalitis: a prospective observational study and retrospective analysis. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17(9):760–72.
- 183. Vigliani MC, Honnorat J, Antoine JC, Vitaliani R, Giometto B, Psimaras D, et al. Chorea and related movement disorders of paraneoplastic origin: the PNS EuroNetwork experience. J Neurol. 2011;258:2058–68.
- 184. Dale RC, Merheb V, Pillai S, Wang D, Cantrill L, Murphy TK, et al. Antibodies to surface dopamine-2 receptor in autoimmune movement and psychiatric disorders. Brain. 2012;135:3453–68.
- 185. Sabater L, Gaig C, Gelpi E, Bataller L, Lewerenz J, Torres-Vega E, et al. A novel NREM and REM parasomnia with sleep breathing disorder associated with antibodies against IgLON5: a case series, pathological features, and characterization of the antigen. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(6):575–86.
- 186. Gaig C, Graus F, Compta Y, Högl B, Bataller L, Brüggermann N, et al. Clinical manifestations of the anti-IgLON5 disease. Neurology. 2017;88:1736–43.
- Graus F, Saiz A, Dalmau J. Antibodies and neuronal autoimmune disorders of the CNS. J Neurol. 2010;257:509–17.
- 188. McKeon A, Pittock SJ. Paraneoplastic encephalomyelopathies: pathology and mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;122:381–400.
- Lancaster E, Dalmau J. Neuronal autoantigens-pathogenesis, associated disorders and antibody testing. Nat Rev Neurol. 2012;8(7):380–90.
- Sillevis Smitt PA, Manley GT, Posner JB. Immunization with the paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis antigen HuD does not cause neurological disease in mice. Neurology. 1995;45:1873–8.
- 191. Carpentier AF, Rosenfeld MR, Delattre JY, Whalen RG, Posner JB, Dalmau J. DNA vaccination with HuD inhibits growth of a neuroblastoma in mice. Clin Cancer Res. 1998;4(11):2819–24.
- 192. Dalmau J, Furneaux HM, Gralla RJ, Kris MG, Posner JB. Detection of the anti-Hu antibody in the serum of patients with small cell lung cancer: a quantitative western blot analysis. Ann Neurol. 1990;27(5):544–52.
- 193. Stich O, Jarius S, Kleer B, Rasiah C, Voltz R, Rauer S. Specific antibody index in cerebrospinal fluid from patients with central and peripheral paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;183:220–4.
- 194. Roberts WK, Deluca IJ, Thomas A, Fak J, Williams T, Buckley N, et al. Patients with lung cancer and paraneoplastic Hu syndrome harbor HuD-specific type 2 CD8+ T cells. J Clin Invest. 2009;119:2042–51.
- 195. Albert ML, Darnell JC, Bender A, Francisco LM, Bhardwaj N, Darnell RB. Tumor-specific killer cells in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. Nat Med. 1998;4:1321–4.
- 196. Albert ML, Austin LM, Darnell RB. Detection and treatment of activated T cells in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. Ann Neurol. 2000;47:9–17.
- DeLuca I, Blachère NE, Santomasso B, Darnell RB. Tolerance to the neuron-specific paraneoplastic HuD antigen. PLoS One. 2009;4:e5739.

- 198. Blachère NE, Orange DE, Santomasso BD, Doerner J, Foo PK, Herre M, et al. T cells targeting a neuronal paraneoplastic antigen mediate tumor rejection and trigger autoimmunity with humoral activation. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(11):3240–51.
- 199. Gebauer C, Pignolet B, Yshii L, Mauré E, Bauer J, Liblau R. CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are both needed to induce paraneoplastic neurological disease in a mouse model. Oncoimmunology. 2016;6(2):e1260212. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2016.1260212.
- 200. Sommer C, Weishaupt A, Brinkhoff J, Biko L, Wessig C, Gold R, et al. Paraneoplastic stiffperson syndrome: passive transfer to rats by means of IgG antibodies to amphiphysin. Lancet. 2005;365:1406–11.
- 201. Geis C, Weishaupt A, Hallermann S, Grünewald B, Wessig C, Wultsch T, et al. Stiff person syndrome-associated autoantibodies to amphiphysin mediate reduced GABAergic inhibition. Brain. 2010;133:3166–80.
- Manto MU, Laute M-A, Aguera M, Rogemond V, Pandolfo M, Honnorat J. Effects of antiglutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies associated with neurological diseases. Ann Neurol. 2007;61:544–51.
- 203. Manto MU, Hampe CS, Rogemond V, Honnorat J. Respective implications of glutamate decarboxylase antibodies in stiff person syndrome and cerebellar ataxia. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6:3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-6-3.
- Dalmau J, Geis C, Graus F. Autoantibodies to synaptic receptors and neuronal cell surface proteins in autoimmune diseases of the central nervous system. Physiol Rev. 2017;97:839–87.
- 205. Weiner AL, Vieira L, McKay CA, Bayer MJ. Ketamine abuser presenting to the emergency department: a case series. J Emerg Med. 2000;18(4):447–51.
- Belforte JE, Zsiros V, Sklar ER, Jiang Z, Yu G, Li Y, et al. Postnatal NMDA receptor ablation in corticolimbic interneuron confers schizophrenia-like phenotypes. Nat Neurosci. 2010;13:76–83.
- 207. Morante-Redolat JM, Gorostidi-Pagola A, Piquer-Sirerol S, Sáenz A, Poza JJ, Galán J, et al. Mutations in the LGI1/Epitempin gene on 19q24 cause autosomal dominant lateral epilepsy. Hum Mol Genet. 2002;11:1119–28.
- Strauss KA, Puffenberger EG, Huentelman MJ, Gottlieb S, Dobrin SE, Parod JM, et al. Recessive symptomatic focal epilepsy and mutant contactin-associated protein-like 2. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:1370–7.
- Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Mosbacher J, Gassmann M. Molecular structure and physiological function of GABA(B) receptors. Physiol Rev. 2004;84:835–67.
- 210. Shiang R, Ryan SG, Zhu YZ, Hahn AF, O'Connel P, Wasmuth JJ. Mutations in the α 1 subunit of the inhibitory glycine receptor cause the dominant neurological disorder, hyperekplexia. Nat Genet. 1993;5:351–8.
- 211. Hughes EG, Peng X, Gleichman AJ, Lai M, Zhou L, Tsou R, et al. Cellular and synaptic mechanisms of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. J Neurosci. 2010;30:5866–75.
- 212. Peng X, Hughes EG, Moscato EH, Parsons TD, Dalmau J, Balice-Gordon RJ. Cellular plasticity induced by anti-alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor encephalitis antibodies. Ann Neurol. 2015;77:381–98.
- 213. Jain A, Lancaster E, Dalmau J, Balice-Gordon RJ. Autoantibodies in the CSF of anti-GABA receptor encephalitis patients block activation of GABA receptors in vitro. Ann Neurol. 2015;78:S77.
- 214. Ohkawa T, Fukata Y, Yamasaki M, Miyazaki T, Yokoi N, Takashima H, et al. Autoantibodies to epilepsy-related LGI1 in limbic encephalitis neutralize LGI1-ADAM22 interaction and reduce synaptic AMPA receptors. J Neurosci. 2013;33:18161–74.
- Pinatel D, Hivert B, Boucraut J, Saint-Martin M, Rogemond V, Zoupi L, et al. Inhibitory axons are targeted in hippocampal cell culture by anti-Caspr2 autoantibodies associated with limbic encephalitis. Front Cell Neurosci. 2015;9:265. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00265.
- 216. Piepgras J, Holtje M, Michel K, Li Q, Otto C, Drenckhahn C, et al. Anti-DPPX encephalitis: pathogenic effects of antibodies on gut and brain neurons. Neurology. 2015;85:890–7.

- 217. de Graaff E, Maat P, Hulsenboom E, van den Berg R, van den Bent M, Demmers J, et al. Identification of delta/notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor as the Tr antigen in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. Ann Neurol. 2012;71:815–24.
- Planaguma J, Leypoldt F, Mannara F, Gutierrez-Cuesta J, Martin-Garcia E, Aguilar E, et al. Human N-methyl D-aspartate receptor antibodies alter memory and behaviour in mice. Brain. 2015;138:94–109.
- de Graaf MT, Beukelaar JW, Haasnoot GW, Levering WH, Rogemond V, Didelot A, et al. HLDA-DQ2+ individuals are susceptible to Hu-Ab associated paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;226:147–9.
- Hillary RP, Ollila HM, Lin L, Detestret V, Rogemond V, Picard G, et al. Complex HLA association in paraneoplastic cerebellar ataxia with anti-Yo antibodies. J Neuroimmunol. 2018;315:28–32.
- 221. van Sonderen A, Roelen DL, Stoop JA, Verdijk RM, Haasnoot GW, Thijs RD, et al. Anti-LGI1 encephalitis is strongly associated with HLA-DR7 and HLA-DRB4. Ann Neurol. 2017;81(2):193–8.
- 222. Kim T-J, Lee S-T, Moon J, Sunwoo J-S, Byun J-L, Lim J-A, et al. Anti-LGI1 encephalitis is associated with unique HLA subtypes. Ann Neurol. 2017;81(2):183–92.
- Mueller SH, Färber A, Prüss H, Melzer N, Golombeck KS, Kümpfel T, et al. Genetic predisposition in anti-LGI1 and anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2018;83(4):863–9.
- 224. Zoccarato M, Gastaldi M, Zuliani L, Biagioli T, Brogi M, Bernardi G, et al. Diagnostic of paraneoplastic neurological syndromes. Neurol Sci. 2017;38(2):237–42.
- Baumgartner A, Rauer S, Mader I, Meyer PT. Cerebral FDG-PET and MRI findings in autoimmune limbic encephalitis: correlation with autoantibody types. J Neurol. 2013;260:2744–53.
- Heine J, Prüss H, Bartsch T, Ploner CJ, Paul F, Finke C. Imaging of autoimmune encephalitisrelevance for clinical practice and hippocampal function. Neuroscience. 2015;309:68–83.
- 227. Leypoldt F, Buchert R, Kleiter I, Marienhagen J, Gelderblom M, Magnus T, et al. Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography in anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate recetr encephalitis: a distinct pattern of disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83(7):681–6.
- Psimaras D, Carpentier AF, Rossi C. Cerebrospinal fluid study in paraneoplastic syndromes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2010;81:42–5.
- Höftberger R, Dalmau J, Graus F. Clinical neuropathology practice guide 5-2012: updated guideline for the diagnosis of anti-neuronal antibodies. Clin Neuropathol. 2012;31(5):337–41.
- Gresa-Arribas N, Titulaer MJ, Torrents A, Aguilar E, McCraken L, Leypoldt F, et al. Diagnosis and significance of antibody titers in anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, a retrospective study. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(2):167–77.
- Alexopoulos H, Kosmidis ML, Dalmau J, Dalakas MC. Paraneoplastic anti-NMDAR encephalitis: long term follow-up reveals persistent serum antibodies. J Neurol. 2011;258:1568–70.
- Hansen H-C, Klingbeil C, Dalmau J, Li W, Weissbrich B, Wandinger K-P. Persistent intrathecal antibody synthesis 15 years after recovering from anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(1):117–9.
- 233. Titulaer MJ, Soffietti R, Dalmau J, Gilhus NE, Giometto B, Graus F, et al. Screening for tumours in paraneoplastic syndromes: report of an EFNS Task Force. Eur J Neurol. 2011;18(1):19–e3. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.03220.x.
- 234. Antoine JC, Camdessanché JP. Treatment options in paraneoplastic disorders of the peripheral nervous system. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2013;15(2):210–23.
- 235. Dalmau J, Lancaster E, Martinez-Hernandez E, Rosenfeld MR, Balice-Gordon R. Clinical experience and laboratory investigations in patients with anti-NMDA-R encephalitis. Lancet Neurol. 2011;10(1):63–74.
- 236. Keime-Guibert F, Graus F, Fleury A, René R, Honnorat J, Broet P, et al. Treatment of paraneoplastic neurological syndromes with antineural antibodies (anti-Hu, anti-Yo) with combination of immunoglobulins, cyclophosphamide and methylprednisolone. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2000;68:479–82.

- 237. Vernino S, O'Neill BP, Marks RS, O'Fallon JR, Kimmel DW. Immunomodulatory treatment trial for paraneoplastic neurological disorders. Neuro Oncol. 2004;6(1):55–62.
- 238. Shams'ili S, de Beukelaar J, Gratama JW, Hooijkaas H, van den Bent M, van't Veer M, et al. An uncontrolled trial of rituximab for antibody associated paraneoplastic syndromes. J Neurol. 2006;253:16–20.
- 239. Lee W-J, Lee S-T, Byun J-I, Sunwoo J-S, Kim T-J, Lim J-A, et al. Rituximab treatment for autoimmune limbic encephalitis in an institutional cohort. Neurology. 2016;86:1–9.
- Berzero G, Karantoni E, Dehais C, Ducray F, Thomas L, Picard G, et al. Early intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in paraneoplastic neurological syndromes with onconeural antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2018;89:789–92.

Multiple Sclerosis



Jun-ichi Kira and Noriko Isobe

Abstract Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease that targets myelin in the central nervous system (CNS), with relative sparing of axons. MS affects more than 2.5 million people worldwide and more commonly affects females. MS is prevalent in people of Caucasian descent living in the temperate regions of Europe, North America, and Australia, while it is relatively rare in Asians and Africans, indicating clear racial and geographical differences. Most MS patients initially have a relapsing-remitting phase with a mean age of onset around 30 years of age. This is termed relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS). In its natural course, after 10–20 years, about half of RRMS patients develop a secondary progressive phase with or without superimposed relapses, which is termed secondary progressive MS (SPMS). Approximately 10–20% of MS patients exhibit a relentlessly progressive course from the onset, termed primary progressive MS (PPMS).

MS is assumed to be an autoimmune disease but this is not yet proven. In addition to major effects of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II genes (such as *HLA-DRB1*15:01*), genome-wide association studies have revealed many susceptibility genes for MS with modest effect size. The functions of these genes are mostly immune-related, supporting the autoimmune hypothesis. T helper (Th)1/Th17 cell involvement in acute relapse and acute MS lesion formation is supported by perivascular lymphocyte cuffing consisting mainly of CD4⁺ T cells, increased numbers of T cells showing inter- and intra-molecular epitope spreading against myelin proteins, increased cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of interferon (IFN) γ , interleukin (IL)17 and downstream proinflammatory cytokines, exacerbation of disease following IFN γ administration, and increased percentages of Th1 cells secreting IFN γ and of Th17 cells secreting IL-17 at relapse. Clonal expansion of CD8⁺ T cells and abundant infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells suggest a contribution of cytotoxic T cells,

N. Isobe

J.-i. Kira (🖂)

Department of Neurology, Neurological Institute, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan e-mail: kira@neuro.med.kyushu-u.ac.jp

Department of Neurological Therapeutics, Neurological Institute, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_15

presumably by acute axonal transection. Although B cell infiltration in the CNS parenchyma is not prominent, ectopic lymphoid follicles that appear to have a close correlation with subpial demyelination are often detected in the meninges. Their existence indicates an involvement of B cells in MS. The efficacy of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy also supports a B cell contribution to MS, probably through B–T cell interaction and proinflammatory cytokine production. However, no specific autoantibodies for MS have been discovered. Although our understanding of MS pathogenesis has increased remarkably in recent years, its etiology remains to be established. Recently developed disease-modifying drugs (DMDs) can efficiently suppress MS relapse but disability still progresses even with these drugs. Only one DMD is modestly effective for PPMS. The mechanism of the progressive phase remains unknown, and its elucidation and control by novel drugs are major challenges for the future.

Keywords Multiple sclerosis \cdot Demyelination \cdot Magnetic resonance imaging \cdot Epidemiology \cdot Environment \cdot Gene \cdot Neuropathology \cdot Disease-modifying drug

Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) that preferentially affects young adults. MS is putatively an autoimmune disease that targets CNS myelin antigens, although this is not yet conclusively proven. The mechanism of MS remains elusive although conspicuous advances from genetic, environmental, and therapeutic studies have provided important clues for deciphering the pathophysiology of MS. Recently developed disease-modifying drugs (DMDs) targeting specific molecules or steps in neuroinflammation are highly efficacious for suppressing MS relapse, and this helps to clarify the inflammatory cascade involved in MS. By contrast, these drugs have no or only modest benefit for the relentless progression of disability in progressive MS. Therefore, a huge unmet medical need still exists for halting the neurodegenerative process and repairing neural damage in MS. This chapter describes the epidemiology, clinical manifestations, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of MS.

Epidemiology

The concordance rate for MS in monozygotic twins is 30.8%, which is much higher than that of dizygotic twins (4.7%) [1]. This indicates that a genetic contribution is important and that environmental factors play bigger roles than genetic factors in the development of the disease.

Prevalence, Age at Onset, and Sex Ratio

Prevalence of MS varies worldwide from 30–150/100,000 in high-prevalence areas to 5–30/100,000 in medium-prevalence areas and to less than 5/100,000 in low-prevalence areas (Fig. 1) [2]. MS is prevalent in people of Caucasian descent living in the temperate regions of Europe, North America, and Australia/New Zealand, whereas it is relatively rare in Asians and Africans, indicating clear geographical and racial differences [3]. MS prevalence increases with distance from the equator; higher latitude is positively correlated with higher prevalence. In countries having long north-to-south dimensions, like Japan, MS prevalence shows a significant positive correlation with latitude [3]. These findings indicate that the development of MS is influenced by environmental factors related to latitude. The average age at onset for RRMS is approximately 30 years of age, with onset occurring between 15 and 50 years in most patients. However, MS can also develop during childhood or in elderly people. The male to female ratio is about 1:2–4 in relapse-onset MS. By contrast, the average onset of PPMS is later in life (around 40 years old), and the sex ratio is more balanced.

Migration Study Results

Based on migration studies, migration before puberty from high-prevalence areas to low-prevalence areas reduces MS risk, while migration in the reverse direction increases MS risk [4–9]. However, migration study results should be carefully



Fig. 1 Geographical distribution of MS prevalence. (The figure is from the Atlas of MS 2013, MS International Federation (http://www.atlasofms.or))

interpreted because migrants may tend to have more genetic admixture, which may increase or decrease MS risk [10]. These observations indicate that the geographical location where one is born and raised until puberty is critical in the occurrence of MS.

Changes in MS Prevalence

MS incidence and prevalence have increased worldwide, especially in women [11– 13]. This remarkable increase does not seem to be solely attributable to newer diagnostic criteria or the availability of better diagnostic techniques such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Although MS prevalence in Japan is much lower than in Western countries, it has increased from 1.4/100,000 to 7.7/100,000 over the past 30 years [14]. At the same time, the peak age of onset shifted from the early 30s in 1989 to the early 20s in 2003, while the female-to-male ratio increased from 1.7:1 in 1972 to 2.9:1 in 2003 [14]. In Canada, the female-to-male ratio increases rapidly with advancing birth year [15, 16]. Although the increase in MS prevalence appears to be partly attributable to improved case ascertainment, the worldwide increase in the number of female MS patients [11-13], as well as the younger age of onset in some countries, cannot be fully explained by improved case ascertainment [17]. These observations indicate that MS susceptibility has markedly increased among younger women who have grown up in a Westernized environment, resulting in anticipation of age at onset. It is possible that women are more likely to be exposed to changes in potential MS environmental factors, or that women are more responsive to exposure to environmental factors that have recently changed. Of note, the recent increase of MS incidence has reduced the north-to-south gradient of MS prevalence in some countries [11-13], indicating that the effects of latitude and environmental changes related to modernization may converge in MS disease cascades.

Clinical Manifestations

Clinical Symptoms and Signs

The onset of MS is usually acute or subacute while some patients exhibit insidious onset. A variety of clinical symptoms and signs can develop depending on the sites involved. These symptoms and signs are usually attributable to white matter lesions in the CNS. Sensory impairment, paresthesia, limb weakness, visual impairment, and double vision are common initial manifestations.

Spastic hemiparesis, paraparesis, and quadriparesis are frequent manifestations of pyramidal tract involvement and are accompanied with hyperreflexia, pathological

reflexes, and ankle and patellar clonus. Posterior column and spinothalamic tracts of the spinal cord are also frequently involved, presenting with decreased position sense and vibratory sense, hypesthesia, hypalgesia, thermal hypesthesia, and paresthesia below a horizontal line on the body (sensory level). Romberg's sign is occasionally seen because of posterior column involvement. Lhermitte's sign (an electric shock-like sensation on the back and lower limbs on neck flexion) is occasionally experienced because of cervical posterior column lesions. An unpleasant tightly wrapped sensation (girdle sensation) of the torso and limbs sometimes afflicts MS patients. Demyelinating lesions in the cerebral hemisphere or thalamus often cause sensory impairment of the hemicorpus including the face. Various kinds of pain are also common in MS.

Optic neuritis, manifesting as blurred vision, decreased color perception and visual field defect, is also common in MS. Funduscopic tests show normal (retrobulbar neuritis) or hyperemic disc swelling (papillitis), which is followed by temporal pallor because of papillomacular bundle damage or pallor of the whole optic disc (optic atrophy). Pain on ocular movement is frequently accompanied with optic neuritis.

Limb and truncal ataxia, gaze-evoked nystagmus, and scanning speech are common manifestations of cerebellar damage. Brainstem involvement often presents with diplopia, internuclear ophthalmoplegia, trigeminal neuralgia, facial muscle weakness, facial myokymia, decreased taste sensation, vertigo, tinnitus, hearing impairment, and dysarthria.

Bladder dysfunction is common, and interferes with daily activities. Detrusor hyperreflexia causes urinary urgency, nocturia, and uncontrolled bladder emptying. Detrusor sphincter dyssynergia manifests as difficulty initiating urination, interruption of urination, urinary retention, and overflow incontinence. Most patients exhibit a combination of both types of bladder dysfunction. Both can lead to complications including recurrent urinary tract infections, skin ulceration and infection, nephrolithiasis and, rarely, renal failure. Bowel dysfunction often manifests as constipation, while fecal urgency or incontinence can also occur. Sexual dysfunction, such as decreased libido, impaired genital sensation, diminished vaginal lubrication, and impotence in men, are also frequently seen.

Damage in the cerebrum, including the hippocampus, produces cognitive dysfunction, such as impaired attention, difficulties in executive function, slowness in information processing, and memory impairment in up to 30–50% of MS patients. Mood dysfunctions, such as depression, and euphoria, are encountered in more than half of MS patients. Fatigue is quite common in MS and is often disabling. Patients experience the classical sense of fatigue that is often triggered by little exercise and can be overwhelming.

MS patients frequently show heat sensitivity; elevation of body temperature induces worsening of already present symptoms (Uhthoff's sign), such as visual blurring and limb weakness. Paroxysmal symptoms seen in MS, other than trigeminal neuralgia, are glossopharyngeal neuralgia, hemifacial spasm, and painful tonic spasm (tonic spasm of one or two limb muscles about 1 minute in duration without consciousness disturbance due to spinal cord lesions). Symptoms and signs derived from gray matter involvement, such as severe cortical dementia, Parkinsonism, severe muscle atrophy, and epileptic seizures are rare in MS.

Clinical Course

Most MS patients initially have a relapsing-remitting phase with a mean age of onset of around 30 years of age. This is termed relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) (Fig. 2). MS patients who have only one symptomatic episode and do not fulfill the current diagnostic criteria for MS (Table 1) are diagnosed with clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), which has a high probability of eventually developing into MS. In the early course of the disease, complete or substantial recovery occurs over the weeks to months following initial onset, while recovery from relapse later becomes less evident and residual disability accumulates. In a natural course, about a half of RRMS patients develop a secondary progressive phase with or without superimposed relapses at 10–20 years after onset. This phase is termed secondary progressive MS (SPMS) [18]. At this stage, patients suffer from progressive deterioration of neurological function that is unassociated with relapses. The conversion rate from RRMS to SPMS is estimated to have decreased to about 20% in the era of disease-modifying therapy [19]. Approximately 10-20% of MS patients exhibit a relentlessly progressive course from onset, termed primary progressive MS (PPMS). Progressive MS (SPMS and PPMS) preferentially involves distal portions of the pyramidal tracts and the cerebellum, thereby producing a sustained worsening of spastic paraparesis and/or cerebellar ataxia.



Fig. 2 Representative clinical course of MS

For patients with an attack at the onset			
Number of attacks	Number of lesions with objective clinical evidence	Additional data needed for a diagnosis of MS	
\geq 2 clinical attacks	≥ 2	None	
\geq 2 clinical attacks	1 (as well as clear-cut historical evidence of a previous attack involving a lesion in a distinct anatomical location)	None	
\geq 2 clinical attacks	1	Dissemination in space demonstrated by an additional clinical attack implicating a different CNS site <i>or</i> by MRI	
1 clinical attack	≥2	Dissemination in time demonstrated by an additional clinical attack or by MRI <i>or</i> demonstration of CSF-specific OCBs	
1 clinical attack	1	Dissemination in space demonstrated by an additional clinical attack implicating a different CNS site or by MRI Dissemination in time demonstrated by an additional clinical attack or by MRI <i>or</i> demonstration of CSF-specific OCBs	
For patients with	h insidious onset	·	
Clinical	Additional data needed for a diagnosis of MS		

Table 1 The 2017 McDonald criteria for MS diagnosis

For patients with insidious onset		
Clinical evidence	Additional data needed for a diagnosis of MS	
1 year of disease progression	Plus two out of the three following criteria: ≥ 1 T2-hyperintense lesions characteristic of MS in one or more of the following brain regions; periventricular, cortical or juxtacortical, or infratentorial ≥ 2 T2-hyperintense lesions in the spinal cord Presence of CSE-specific OCBs	

Dissemination in space demonstrated by MRI:

 \geq 1 T2 lesions on MRI in at least two out of four MS-typical lesions of the CNS; periventricular, cortical or juxtacortical, or infratentorial, and spinal cord.

Dissemination in time demonstrated by MRI:

Simultaneous presence of gadolinium-enhancing and non-enhancing lesions at any time point or by a new T2-hyperintense or gadolinium-enhancing lesion on follow-up MRI, with reference to a baseline scan, irrespective of the timing of the baseline MRI.

CSF cerebrospinal fluid, MRI magnetic resonance imaging, OCBs oligoclonal IgG bands

Laboratory Tests

Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MRI is highly sensitive for detecting MS lesions in the CNS. Demyelinating lesions in MS appear as high signal intensity on T2-weighted, fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR), and proton-density-weighted images, and as low signal intensity on T1-weighted images. Clinical relapse is often accompanied or even preceded by the emergence of gadolinium-enhanced lesions on T1-weighted images, indicating disruption of the blood-brain barrier (BBB). Recent 7-T MRI studies clearly showed the presence of vessels in the center of MS lesions [20], which is in accord with the pathological finding that perivascular lymphocytic infiltration is common in active MS lesions. Thus, it is conceivable that clinical relapse is caused by peripheral blood-borne inflammation around the blood vessels. MS lesions in the brain are frequently oriented perpendicular to the lateral ventricular surface (ovoid lesion or Dawson's fingers) (Fig. 3). This configuration of typical MS lesions is explained by the fact that post-capillary venules, from which T cells migrate into the CNS parenchyma, radiate perpendicularly from the lateral ventricles. As gadolinium enhancement of acute lesions disappears within 2–3 months, the coexistence of gadolinium-enhanced (new) and gadolinium-unenhanced (old) lesions on the same MRI scans indicates dissemination in time (a relapsing-remitting course) (Fig. 4) [21]. Although MS lesions rarely expand to more than 3 cm in diameter, such large lesions, resembling a brain tumor, are named tumefactive demyelinating lesions or tumefactive MS (or Marburg variant MS) (Fig. 5). When such lesions contain lamellar structures of alternating layers of demyelination and preserved myelin, a diagnosis of Baló's concentric sclerosis is made (Fig. 5). Low signal intensity areas on T1-weighted images (T1 black hole) reflect demyelination and edema in the acute phase, and irreversible axonal loss in the chronic phase. Thus, accumulation of chronic T1 black holes relates to disability progression. Most brain MRI lesions are asymptomatic. Therefore, MS-like lesions are incidentally discovered in asymptomatic individuals, and such cases are termed radiologically isolated symptoms (RIS) [22]. The prescription of DMDs to patients with RIS is currently a matter of debate.



Fig. 3 Examples of MRI lesions suggestive of MS



Fig. 5 Tumefactive MS and Baló's concentric sclerosis lesions. Examples of atypical presentation of MS. Tumefactive demyelinating lesions are rarely encountered at the onset of MS and may be followed by a typical relapsing-remitting course of MS. Concentric demyelinating lesions are extremely rare. MRI of Baló's concentric sclerosis lesions is courtesy of Professor Xiaomu Wu (China)

Recent development and application of double inversion recovery imaging enables cortical lesions to be detected much more frequently in MS, which is consistent with the demonstration of abundant cortical demyelinating lesions in autopsied MS brains (Fig. 3) [23, 24]. The presence of such cortical lesions is associated with disability progression and poor prognosis [24, 25]. As the disease progresses, brain volume is successively lost (more than 0.4% per year) [26], resulting in brain atrophy and enlargement of ventricles.

MS lesions in the spinal cord are also detectable by MRI. Typical spinal MS lesions involve the peripheral white matter of the spinal cord and occupy less than half of transverse spinal cord area (Fig. 3). MS preferentially affects the dorsal column of the cervical spinal cord, although the underlying mechanism is yet to be

determined. The length of MS lesions in the sagittal plane is typically fewer than three vertebral segments and is almost always fewer than two vertebral segments. Longitudinally extensive spinal cord lesions spanning three or more vertebral segments indicate neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders or other inflammatory diseases.

Cerebrospinal Fluid

At acute relapse, CSF shows mild mononuclear pleocytosis (5–50 cells/µl) and normal or mildly elevated protein levels (40–100 mg/dl). As the disease progresses, more plasma cells and B cells infiltrate intrathecally and CSF IgG levels increase. One formula to calculate intrathecal IgG production rates is the IgG index, which expresses the ratio of IgG to albumin in the CSF divided by the same ratio in the serum. An IgG index >0.73 indicates intrathecal IgG synthesis. Isoelectric focusing of CSF can detect two or more oligoclonal IgG bands (OCBs) in the gammaglobulin region in more than 90% of Caucasian MS patients and about 60% of Asian MS patients [3]. OCBs may not be present at onset but may appear later, and the number of OCBs may increase with time. Myelin basic protein (MBP) levels elevate at acute relapse, reflecting myelin destruction. However, increased MBP levels are not specific for MS. Acute destruction of CNS tissues, as a consequence of stroke, for example, may also cause MBP levels in CSF to increase.

Evoked Potentials

EPs are useful in detecting demyelinating lesions in certain pathways of the CNS. EPs include visual evoked potentials (VEPs), somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs), brainstem auditory evoked potentials (BAEPS), and motor evoked potentials (MEPs), which test visual, posterior column sensory, auditory, and pyramidal pathways, respectively. A marked delay in the latency of a specific EP without a marked decrease of amplitude is suggestive of demyelination in the relevant pathway. EP abnormalities are not specific for MS, and MRI surpasses EPs for detecting asymptomatic lesions and providing evidence of dissemination in space; therefore, the clinical usefulness of EPs is relatively limited, with the exception of VEPs.

Blood Tests

Peripheral blood tests usually show no disease-specific abnormalities in MS. However, it is necessary to rule out other diseases by autoantibody testing of peripheral blood. In particular, anti-aquaporin 4 (AQP4) antibodies for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders and anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibodies for anti-MOG antibody disease should be carefully excluded by cellbased antibody assays. These diseases may occasionally present with MS-like clinical and MRI features but are nevertheless refractory to MS DMDs. In addition, collagen-vascular diseases masquerading as MS should be differentiated by autoantibody testing.

Pathogenesis

MS is thought to be caused by a complex interplay between genetic and environmental factors: genetic factors account for roughly 30% and environmental factors for approximately 70% of MS risk (Fig. 6) [4].

Pathology

White Matter Pathology

MS predominantly involves the CNS white matter where myelin is abundant. The lesions appear as sharply demarcated plaques, within which axons are relatively spared. A number of histological classification systems have been used for MS lesions [27]. The following is a recently proposed, simple classification of MS lesions based on the presence or absence and distribution of macrophages/microglia (inflammatory activity) and the presence or absence of ongoing demyelination (demyelinating activity) (Fig. 7) [28]. *Active lesions* are characterized by macrophages/microglia throughout the lesion area, while *mixed active/inactive lesions* have a hypocellular lesion center with macrophages/microglia limited to the lesion



Fig. 6 MS is caused by a complex interplay between genes and the environment



Fig. 7 Active, mixed active/inactive and inactive MS lesions. Recent classification of MS lesions based on the presence or absence and distribution of macrophages/microglia and the presence or absence of ongoing demyelination [28]

border. *Inactive lesions* almost completely lack macrophages/microglia. Active and mixed active/inactive lesions are further subdivided into *demyelinating lesions*, where myelin destruction is ongoing (macrophages contain myelin degradation products), and *post-demyelinating lesions*, where macrophages are still present but the destruction of myelin has ceased (macrophages do not contain myelin degradation products). Active demyelinating lesions are accompanied by perivascular lymphocyte cuffing, mainly consisting of CD4⁺ T cells, while clonally expanded CD8⁺ T cells dominantly infiltrate the parenchyma [29].

Remission results from the resolution of acute inflammation, partial remyelination, and redistribution of ion channels along demyelinated axons. Even in normalappearing white matter, a mild global inflammation characterized by microglial activation and a diffuse low-level T cell infiltration can be seen that is more prominent in SPMS and PPMS than RRMS. In chronic MS plaques, leakage from the BBB is absent, corresponding to a paucity of gadolinium-enhanced lesions in PPMS and SPMS. Accordingly, compartmentalized glial inflammation behind the BBB is postulated as one of the mechanisms for the chronic progressive phase.

Demyelination in the MS brain and spinal cord can be followed by variable remyelination [30–32]. Remyelination is more prominent in early stages of the disease, while chronic lesions have less or no remyelination. Infiltration of fewer inflammatory cells and more remyelination are observed in PPMS brains compared with in SPMS brains [33]. Oligodendroglia are sensitive to oxidative stress because the cells contain a large pool of iron but only have a low capacity antioxidation system [34]. Oligodendroglia are vulnerable to glutamate toxicity and may be damaged by glutamate secreted by activated microglia. However, oligodendroglia progenitor cells (OPCs) exist even in chronic MS lesions [35, 36]. Therefore, failure of remyelination is not attributed to the absence of OPCs but rather to blocked differentiation of OPCs into myelinating oligodendroglia. The differentiation of OPCs into myelinating oligodendroglia can be inhibited by LINGO1 on astrocytes and macrophages [37, 38], PSA-NCAM that is abnormally expressed on demyelinated axons [39], myelin debris [40], and aggregated fibronectin [41].

Acute damage can be detected by the presence of accumulated amyloid precursor protein (APP)-positive spheroids, which reflects impaired axonal transport [42]. APP-positive spheroids are most extensive during the first year after disease onset and decrease with increasing disease duration [43]. The extent of axonal loss correlates well with numbers of CD8⁺ T cells and macrophages/activated microglia existing in close proximity [43]. Numerous CD8⁺ T cells that have infiltrated the CNS parenchyma can transect axons, possibly through major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I-mediated self-antigen recognition [44]. In addition, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species as well as proinflammatory cytokines secreted by these cells may suppress axonal functions and cause mitochondrial damage [45].

Gray Matter Pathology

Gray matter lesions have captured much recent attention because they closely correlate with disability progression. MRI T2 lesion burdens in the white matter only modestly correlate with disability, while double inversion recovery imaging demonstrated that cortical lesions are present from the early stage of RRMS and become more prominent in SPMS [46-49]. Cortical lesion loads and cortical and spinal cord atrophy are significantly associated with clinical progression, whereas white matter atrophy does not correlate with increasing disability [25, 47, 50, 51]. Thus, cortical lesions may play a major role in the development of both physical and cognitive disability [52]. Pathologically, demyelination exists to varying degrees in the cerebral and cerebellar cortex, in the deep gray matter, including the thalamus, basal ganglia, and hypothalamus, and in the spinal cord central gray matter [53, 54]. Frontal and temporal cortices, the cingulate gyrus, and hippocampus are most frequently affected [33], which may explain the correlation between cognitive impairment and cortical pathology. Cortical demyelination does not correlate with severity of underlying white matter lesions [53], indicating that independent mechanisms are involved. Cortical lesions demonstrate increased levels of activated microglia without evident inflammatory infiltrates or significant leakage of plasma proteins, indicating a preserved BBB [33, 53-55]. Meningeal lymphoid follicles consisting of CD20⁺ B cells and CD35⁺ dendritic cells are present in approximately 40% of autopsied MS cases and are located predominantly in the deep cortical sulci of the temporal, frontal, cingulate, and insular cortices [56]. In extensive subpial demyelination, increased numbers and activation status of microglia and increased axonal injury and neuronal loss are greatest close to the pial surface [55, 57]. In autopsied meninges from MS patients, expression of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IFNy, TNF, and CXCL13 (B lymphocyte chemoattractant), was upregulated, and similar increases in cytokines/ chemokines were also detected in the CSF of MS patients with high levels of cortical gray matter damage at diagnosis [58]. Collectively, secretion of proinflammatory cytokines into the CSF from lymphocytes in the meningeal follicles may cause such cortical demyelinating lesions. Diffuse cortical neuronal loss was also found even in normal-appearing gray matter [55]. Neuronal apoptosis and mitochondrial damage are assumed to be responsible for the neuronal loss [33, 45, 59], while demyelination and neuronal loss may not be directly linked in the gray matter lesions [33].

Glial Pathology

In the white matter, active lesions and mixed active/inactive lesions are accompanied by macrophages and activated microglia. In the cortical gray matter, diffuse microglial activation is present without visible inflammatory infiltrates. In addition to CNS tissue damage and repair, macrophages and resident microglia are thought to play major roles in demyelinating lesion formation through re-stimulation of T cells within the CNS. In the CNS, perivascular and meningeal macrophages act as major antigen-presenting cells to restimulate T cells. Without re-stimulation by relevant antigens, T cells do not invade into the CNS parenchyma via disruption of the glia limitans perivascularis. The recruitment of monocytes/macrophages is mediated by CCL2-CCR2 signaling. Hypertrophic astrocytes in active MS lesions produce CCL2, while its receptor, CCR2, is expressed on monocytes/macrophages [60]. Thus, macrophages play major roles in antigen presentation and tissue destruction. Activated microglia produce numerous proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines, growth factors, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species via oxidative burst and inducible nitric oxide synthase, thereby causing tissue damage. Alternatively, microglia can exert neuroprotective functions by phagocytizing tissue debris and producing neurotrophic substances.

In acute MS lesions, numerous hypertrophic astrocytes with increased expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), vimentin, and nestin are present. Such activated astroglia secrete many proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL1, IL6, IL12, IL15, IL23, IL27, IL33, CCL2 (MCP1), CCL5 (RANTES), CXCL8 (IL8), CXCL10 (IP10), and CXCL12 (SDF1). Moreover, astroglia produce inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), leading to the production of superoxide anions and peroxynitrite, which can damage oligodendrocytes with low antioxidant levels [61, 62]. Astroglia can also produce a variety of growth factors that promote oligodendrocytes to form myelin by influencing OPCs [63, 64]. IL6 and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β produced by activated astrocytes may promote neuroprotection [65]. In chronic MS lesions, astrogliotic scars are formed, which may prevent axonal growth and tissue repair. However, ablation of proliferating astroglia exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, an animal model of MS, and is associated with a massive infiltration of macrophages and T cells [66], indicating critical roles of astroglia in preventing the expansion of inflammation. These observations indicate that astroglia can play proinflammatory as well as neuroprotective roles in MS.

Genetic Factors

Recent genome-wide association studies (GWASs) have identified more than 200 susceptibility loci for MS with modest effect size. This is in addition to HLA genes, which have major effects on MS susceptibility [67]. Most of these loci are intergenic and have immune-related functions, supporting the autoimmune nature of the disease. In addition, these GWASs found no significant differences in risk genes

between RRMS and progressive MS [68], indicating that these two disease types could be distinct manifestations of the same disease.

In Caucasians of Northern European descent, the DR15 haplotype (DRB1*15:01-DOA1*01:02-DOB1*06:02), especially HLA-DRB1*15:01, is most strongly associated with MS risk [69], while the DR3 (DRB1*03:01-DOA1*05:01-DOB1*02:01) and DR4 (DRB1*04:05-DOA1*05:01-DOB1*03:01) haplotypes confer susceptibility to MS in Sardinians [70, 71]. Recent high-resolution mapping of the MHC region in cohorts of European ancestry identified multiple HLA alleles independently associated with MS susceptibility. After HLA-DRB1*15:01, the alleles conferring the highest MS risk are HLA-DRB1*03:01, HLA-DRB1*13:03, and HLA-DRB1*08:01 from the MHC class II region, while alleles such as HLA-A*02:01, HLA-B*44:02, HLA-B*38:01, and HLA-B*55:01 from the MHC class I region are reported to be protective [72]. These HLA alleles associated with disease susceptibility also contribute to the disease course. For example, HLA-DRB1*15:01 is associated with younger age of onset, increased brain white matter lesion volume, reduced normalized brain parenchymal volume, and cognitive impairment [73]. Moreover, as the number of genetic loci discovered to be associated with MS risk has increased, cumulative risk statistics have been developed to quantify the collective effects of disease susceptibility variants in single scores. HLA genetic burdens (HLAGB), calculated according to the roster of MS-associated HLA alleles, correlated well with younger age of onset and atrophy of the subcortical gray matter fraction in female relapsing MS in a cohort of Northern European ancestry [74].

In the Japanese population, HLA-DRB1*15:01 and DRB1*04:05 are two major risk alleles for MS (odds ratio, 1.97 and 1.93, respectively). Carriers of the HLA-DRB1*04:05 susceptibility allele comprised around 40% and those carrying DRB1*15:01 around 30% of all MS patients in a Japanese MS series [75]. Japanese MS patients with *HLA-DRB1*15:01* have a high frequency of CSF OCBs and a high brain MRI lesion load, similar to that in Western MS patients, while those with DRB1*04:05 are characterized by an earlier age of onset, milder disability, lower frequencies of brain MRI lesion loads, and lower frequencies of OCBs [75]. Frequency of HLA-DRB1*04:05 in the general population is high in a few isolated island countries, such as Japan, Sardinia, and Papua New Guinea. It is interesting to note that HLA-DRB1*04:05 is a susceptibility allele in both Japanese and Sardinian populations, both of which recently demonstrated marked increases in MS incidence [76]. A shift toward a younger peak age at onset was also reported in Sardinia [77]. These observations collectively indicate that recent environmental changes may enhance MS susceptibility in populations carrying certain HLA alleles [14]. By contrast, the frequency of HLA-DRB1*09:01 is significantly lower in MS patients compared with that in healthy controls [75, 78]. A recent meta-analysis of Chinese populations also indicated that this allele is protective against MS [79]. The HLA-DRB1*09:01 allele is more frequently observed in Asians than in European ethnic groups (30% of Japanese vs. 1% of Caucasians) [80]. Therefore, the lower prevalence of MS in Asian countries may, in part, be attributable to the relatively high frequency of the HLA-DRB1*09:01 allele in the region.

Although a substantial proportion of MS heritability is assigned to the MHC region, more than 200 non-MHC MS-associated variants have been identified through international collaborative meta-analyses of GWAS, which included data from more than 47,000 cases and 68,000 controls of European origin [67]. Compared with the effect size of MS-associated HLA alleles (e.g., the effect size of *HLA-DRB1*15:01* in European MS is 3.41-3.92 [72, 74],), the non-MHC risk alleles have a relatively mild effect size with a median value of 1.111, ranging from 1.06 to 2.06 [67]. Although most of the novel MS-associated genetic loci have been found in European populations, some approaches have been made to assess trans-ethnic transferability. European MS variants were generally relevant in African American populations although allelic heterogeneity was observed for some of the loci. Additionally, association studies of European MS variants in Japanese and Indian cohorts replicated the association of a missense SNP in *ILTR* [81, 82], indicating that the functional annotation of variants that contribute to bigger odds ratios (effect size) has an impact on whether the association of the variant is replicated or not.

Environmental Factors

Environmental factors can influence MS susceptibility during three periods: the intrauterine period, during puberty, and around attacks (Fig. 8) [83]. First, as mentioned above, migration before adolescence from a low- to a high-prevalence area increases MS risk, indicating that the childhood environment exerts significant effects on MS susceptibility [4-9]. Second, MS concordance rates are higher in dizygotic twins (5.4%) than in full siblings (2.9%), indicating that a shared intrauterine environment may confer MS risk [84]. The importance of the intrauterine environment is also supported by a well-known month-of-birth effect; in the Northern hemisphere, more MS patients than expected are born in April and May, while fewer are born in October and November [85]. This month-of-birth effect is dependent on the latitude; i.e., it is significant in high-latitude areas but not in lowlatitude areas [85]. Because vitamin D is produced mainly in the skin on exposure to sunlight, the month-of-birth effect can be explained by the maternal deficiency of vitamin D during winter pregnancy. As mentioned below, low vitamin D increases MS risk. Third, MS attacks occur two to three-fold more often in association with upper respiratory tract infection than without infection, indicating that non-specific infection can trigger MS relapse [86].

Representative environmental MS risk factors include high latitude, low sunlight exposure, vitamin D deficiency, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection, and smoking (Fig. 6) [4, 87, 88]. Decreased levels of vitamin D have been reported in Western as well as Asian MS patients, and they are related to more severe disability [4, 87–89]. Low sunlight exposure in high latitude areas decreases vitamin D production in the skin. Vitamin D downregulates pathogenic type 1 T helper (Th1) cells and potentiates anti-inflammatory Th2 and regulatory T cells [90]. If vitamin D is not supple-


When do environmental factors influence MS susceptibility?

Fig. 8 The timing of environmental factors influencing MS susceptibility. The lifelong clinical course of MS is schematically shown. The vertical axis indicates the expanded disability status scale of Kurtzke (EDSS) scores. (From Kurtzke [152])

mented by diet, for example, by fish, low vitamin D may increase MS risk through Th1 cell over-activation. Vitamin D is not the sole mechanism of the latitude effect because sunlight also affects MS through other mechanisms. However, these three factors are related to each other. Cigarette smoking not only increases the risk for MS but also accelerates the transition from RRMS to SPMS [87, 89]. However, taking snuff is not a risk factor for MS [91], indicating that airway inflammation is important in recruiting autoreactive T cells via pulmonary lymph nodes to the CNS tissues.

The "hygiene hypothesis" argues that improved hygiene in childhood leads to development of not only autoimmune disease but also atopic/allergic inflammation [92]. In line with this hypothesis, it is well known that frequent childhood infections reduce MS susceptibility [93, 94]. More than ten studies performed in various Eastern and Western countries as well as two meta-analyses collectively indicate that the Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection rate is significantly lower in patients with MS than in healthy controls [95, 96]. H. pylori infection occurs in infancy, when the mucosal barrier of the stomach is immature, and persists for life [97]. Thus, the *H. pylori* infection rate reflects sanitary conditions during childhood [98], when MS susceptibility is acquired. The protective effects of *H. pylori* could be explained according to the hygiene hypothesis; repeated childhood infection induces maturation of regulatory immune systems, whereas improved sanitation and the resulting scarcity of childhood infections hamper its development [92]. This subsequently leads to an inability of regulatory immune systems to suppress both autoimmune and allergic inflammation in adulthood [92, 99, 100]. Therefore, improved sanitary conditions in infancy, as reflected by a lower H. pylori infection rate, may facilitate the development of MS.

EBV infection is more prevalent in MS patients than in healthy controls in Western countries [101, 102], where a more hygienic environment during childhood predisposes individuals to later EBV infection [103]. This delay in EBV infection increases MS risk, because a history of infectious mononucleosis, a common manifestation of EBV infection in adolescence or adulthood, is associated with occurrence of MS. [100, 103] The risk of MS is extremely low in EBV-seronegative individuals, with an odds ratio of 0.06 [100]. MS susceptibility gene, *HLA-DRB1*15:01*, and EBV infection additively increase MS risk [104]. Individuals with *HLA-DRB1*15:01* have higher anti-EB nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA-1) antibody titers compared with those without the risk allele [105], and a high EBNA IgG titer is associated with increased risk of MS. [100] Some studies report molecular mimicry between EBV proteins and myelin antigens [106, 107].

MS is more often transmitted to the next generation by mothers than fathers. This parent-of-origin effect indicates epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone deacetylation, to be operative in MS development (Fig. 6) [108]. Major environmental risk factors, such as vitamin D deficiency and EBV infection, are also known to exert epigenetic effects. Characterization of epigenetic factors in MS is ongoing and may help to decipher the mechanism of MS.

Immune Mechanism of MS

T cell involvement in MS is supported by the following findings: (1) an increased frequency of autoreactive T cells showing inter- and intra-molecular epitope spreading against myelin proteins; (2) elevated levels of IFNy, IL17, and downstream proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines in the CSF at relapse; (3) increased frequency of Th1 cells secreting IFNy and Th17 cells secreting IL17 at relapse [69, 94, 166]; and finally (4) exacerbation of disease following the administration of IFN γ , a representative Th1 cytokine [109-112]. Myelin antigen-specific CD4⁺ Th1 and Th17 cells can transfer experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis to naïve animals; therefore, it is hypothesized that naïve T cells are first sensitized by myelin antigens in the peripheral lymph nodes, such as the deep cervical and hilar lymph nodes, and differentiate into myelin antigen-specific Th1 or Th17 cells in MS. At acute relapse, these peripherally activated Th1 or Th17 cells express increased amounts of adhesion molecules that allow them to pass through the BBB (Fig. 9). Activated T cells can firmly adhere to the surface of vascular endothelial cells lining the BBB via interactions between $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin expressed on activated T cells and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) on endothelial cells. These T cells can then egress from postcapillary venules (high endothelial venules), either transcellularly or paracellularly, to reside in the perivascular space (Virchow-Robins space) delineated by the endothelial basement membrane and the glial basement membrane, which is an extension of the subarachnoid space [113, 114]. Antigen presentation by perivascular macrophages to autoreactive T cells is indispensable for these T cells to further invade into the CNS parenchyma across the glia limitans



T cells egressed from post-capillary venules initiate neuro-inflammation

Fig. 9 Hypothesized mechanism of T cell-mediated neuroinflammation in MS. Insert: laminin immunostaining demonstrating the perivascular space between endothelial and parenchymal basement membranes

perivascularis. This promotes the secretion of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and metalloproteinase-9, which disrupt the basement membrane leading to destabilization of astrocyte end-feet anchored to the parenchymal basement membrane [113–115]. Perivascular macrophages continuously repopulated from the peripheral bloodstream can engulf CNS antigens in the perivascular space where myelin antigens are conveyed from the CNS parenchyma via the "glymphatic" system and CSF flow pathway into the subarachnoid space. Once in the CNS parenchyma, T cells secrete proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines, which further recruit effector cells such as macrophages, activated microglia, and neutrophils to destroy parenchymal tissues. However, there is a report describing oligodendroglial apoptosis without lymphocyte infiltration in autopsied cases with very early MS. [116] Whether T cell infiltration is a primary event or secondary to oligodendroglial apoptosis and subsequent microglial activation remains to be elucidated.

B cells are rare in the CNS parenchyma, whereas they exist in the perivascular areas and leptomeninges during all disease stages [57]. Plasma cells are few during the early stages of MS but become increasingly prominent in the CNS with time. As a result, the prevalence of CSF OCBs also increases as disease duration increases [117]. The importance of B cells in MS is directly shown by the fact that anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies, such as rituximab, ocrelizumab, and ofatumumab, that target B cells but not plasma cells, are highly effective in MS. [118–120] As B cell numbers but not total antibody levels decrease in parallel with a reduction in the number of relapses, B-T cell interactions, such as antigen presentation and proinflammatory cytokine secretion by B cells, are assumed to be the critical step

depressed by anti-CD20 therapy. Immunoglobulin and complement deposits are found in lesions from about 50% of autopsied MS patients [121], suggesting that antibody and complement-mediated myelin phagocytosis might become the dominant mechanism in established MS lesions [122]. The significance of anti-glycolipid antibodies and a recently described autoantibody against KIR4.1, an ATP-sensitive inward rectifying potassium channel expressed in astroglial end-feet and oligodendroglia [123], need further confirmation in large-scale independent cohorts.

However, acute relapses have only a weak effect on disability progression [124]. In both relapse onset (SPMS) and insidious onset (PPMS) patients, a progressive phase was retrospectively found to develop at approximately 40 years of age and to then proceed at a similar rate, irrespective of the initial disease course [125], indicating that common pathogenic mechanisms may underlie clinical disability progression. At the progressive stage of MS, none of the recently developed DMDs, except for the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody ocrelizumab, are effective, even though they have high efficacy for reducing both annualized relapse rates and new MRI lesions. Thus, the mechanism of the chronic progression of disability may be distinct from that of acute relapse, which is closely associated with BBB disruption induced by peripheral immunocytes. The absence of noticeable peripheral immunocyte-mediated inflammation by contrast-enhanced MRI and neuropathology in progressive MS indicates that compartmentalized glial inflammation behind the BBB and neurodegeneration may play key roles in chronic progressive MS.

Diagnosis

There is still no specific diagnostic test for MS. MS diagnosis is thus based on both spatial (two or more lesions as documented by neurological examination, MRI and EPs) and temporal (two or more episodes of symptoms) evidence of multiplicity and exclusion of other causes of disease. According to the most recent diagnostic criteria (2017 McDonald criteria, Table 1) [21], cases with ≥ 2 clinical attacks and ≥ 2 lesions shown by neurological examination can be diagnosed as MS when other diseases are ruled out. Cases with ≥ 2 clinical attacks but 1 lesion require an additional attack that implicates a different CNS site or MRI evidence of dissemina*tion in space* (presence of typical MS lesions in ≥ 2 regions among four CNS sites, including periventricular, cortical or subcortical, infratentorial, and spinal cord lesions). Cases with only one clinical attack usually require waiting for an additional clinical attack; however, to diagnose MS as early as possible such that DMDs can be administered, the 2017 McDonald criteria allow the second episode to be substituted by MRI evidence of dissemination in time or even by the presence of CSF-specific OCBs. Cases with 1 clinical attack but ≥ 2 lesions require dissemination in time shown by an additional clinical attack or by MRI (emergence of new T2 lesion or gadolinium-enhanced lesion, or even coexistence of gadolinium-enhanced and un-enhanced lesions) or CSF OCBs. Cases with one clinical attack and one lesion require dissemination in space shown by an additional clinical attack implicating a different CNS site or by MRI and dissemination in time shown by an additional clinical attack or by MRI or CSF OCBs.

In applying the new diagnostic criteria, various conditions mimicking MS (Table 2) should first be carefully excluded by disease-specific tests. As mentioned above, anti-AQP4 antibodies and anti-MOG antibodies should be examined in cases presenting atypical features for MS, such as longitudinally extensive spinal cord lesions, bilateral optic neuritis, horizontal visual field loss, intractable hiccups, marked CSF pleocytosis (\geq 50 cells/µl) and CSF neutrophilia, especially in Asians. In patients with only one clinical attack, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) should be carefully ruled out, because not all lesions are always uniformly contrast-enhanced in ADEM, which may be erroneously interpreted as evidence of dissemination in time. These latest criteria should not be used for suspected pediatric cases of ADEM.

Prognosis

As there is no curative treatment, once patients succumb to MS, the disease persists throughout the patient's life. Average life expectancy is not remarkably shortened and may be about 10 years shorter than that of normal populations [126]. Generally, RRMS patients require assisted walking by 20-25 years after onset and are wheelchair-bound by about 35 years after onset [127]. PPMS shows more rapid progression than relapse onset MS. Essentially, MS is a progressive disease, although several long-term follow-up studies report that 22% of cases were nonprogressive after 40 years, and 14% were non-progressive even after 50 years [128]. MS patients with expanded disability status scale of Kurtzke (EDSS) scores $\leq 2-3$ after 10 years may be regarded as having benign MS. A benign course is predicted by, being female, a younger age at onset, no motor symptoms at onset, fewer than two relapses in the first years of illness, absence of OCBs, minimal disability 5 years after onset, and low brain MRI lesion loads 5 years after onset [129]. By contrast, poor prognosis is suggested by male sex, older onset age, presence of motor symptoms at onset, presence of cerebellar ataxia, presence of sphincter disturbance, short relapse intervals, frequent relapses in the early course of the disease, residual symptoms from the beginning, multiple functional system involvement, high disability 5 years after onset, a progressive course, high brain MRI lesion load 5 years after onset, presence of brain atrophy and cortical lesions, and presence of spinal cord atrophy [129]. During pregnancy, relapse rates decrease but in the puerperal period (within 3 months after delivery) relapse rates increase [130]. However, overall, the disease course is unaffected by pregnancy [131].

Differential diagnosis	Key features useful for differentiating each disease from MS
Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD)	Anti-aquaporin 4 antibodies, longitudinally extensive spinal cord lesions, optic chiasma lesions, area postrema lesions, bilateral hypothalamic lesions, cloud-like enhancement, bright spotty lesions in the spinal cord, absence of MS-like brain lesions
Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM)	Monophasic (multiphasic ADEM has encephalopathy), encephalopathy, bilateral white matter lesions (could be asymmetric), deep gray matter involvement, uniform gadolinium enhancement of all lesions (the same disease stage)
Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody disease	Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies, longitudinally extensive spinal cord lesions, sacral spinal cord lesions, focal cortical encephalitis
Primary and secondary CNS vasculitis	Headache, seizure, confusion, stroke-like episodes, microbleeds, intracranial hemorrhage, ischemic lesions, vessel stenosis on angiography, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies
Neurosarcoidosis	Cranial nerve involvement, headache, seizure, meningeal enhancement, raised intracranial pressure, peripheral neuropathy, serum and CSF angiotensin-converting enzyme and lysozyme, bilateral hilar lymphadenopathy, CD4/CD8 ratio in broncho-alveolar lavage
Neuro-Behçet's disease	Brainstem symptoms, cognitive impairment, meningoencephalitis, basal ganglia lesions, predominant brainstem lesions, oral and genital ulcers, uveitis, HLA-B51, CSF IL6, CSF pleocytosis, cerebral venous sinus thrombosis
Neuro-sweet disease	Meningoencephalitis, headache, consciousness disturbance, seizure, cognitive impairment, painful erythematous plaques, dermal infiltration of neutrophils on skin biopsy, HLA-B54, HLA-Cw1, CSF pleocytosis, CSF IL6
Connective tissue diseases (e.g., Sjögren syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus)	Neuropsychiatric symptoms, seizure, ischemic stroke, serum autoantibodies (including anti-nuclear antibody, anti-SS-A/B antibody), systemic organ manifestations, absent CSF OCBs, brain infarct and hemorrhage, peripheral neuropathy
Susac's syndrome	Headache, encephalopathy, visual loss, sensorineural hearing loss, snowball lesions in corpus callosum, leptomeningeal enhancement
Chronic lymphocytic inflammation with pontine periventricular enhancement responsive to steroids (CLIPPERS)	Brainstem and cerebellar symptoms, multiple punctate gadolinium-enhanced lesions in the pons and cerebellum
CNS lymphoma	Headache, raised intracranial pressure, cognitive and consciousness impairment, psychomotor slowing, mass effect, dense enhancement by gadolinium, lymph node swelling, skin rash, ¹⁸ F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) PET
Cerebral small vessel disease	Stroke, cognitive impairment, focal neurological signs, lacunar infarct, microbleeds, sparing U fibers, diabetes mellitus and other vascular risk factors, absence of CSF OCBs
HTLV-1-associated myelopathy (HAM)/tropical spastic paraparesis (TSP)	Chronic progressive spastic paraparesis, anti-HTLV-1 antibodies in serum and CSF, thoracic spinal cord atrophy on MRI

 Table 2
 Major differential diagnosis of multiple sclerosis

Table 2	(continued)
---------	-------------

Differential diagnosis	Key features useful for differentiating each disease from MS
Cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy (CADASIL)	Migraine, stroke, dementia, depression, Parkinsonism, lacunar infarct, microbleeds, temporal pole and external capsule lesions, widespread confluent white matter lesions, <i>NOTCH3</i> gene mutation, absence of CSF OCBs
Congenital leukodystrophy (adrenoleukodystrophy, metachromatic leukodystrophy, hereditary diffuse leukoencephalopathy with spheroid)	Chronic progressive course, cognitive impairment, peripheral nerve involvement, widespread confluent white matter lesions, CSF protein increase without pleocytosis, absence of CSF OCBs, relevant gene mutation

CSF cerebrospinal fluid, *HTLV-1* human T cell lymphotropic virus type-1, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *OCBs* oligoclonal IgG bands, *PET* positron emission tomography

Treatment

Therapy for MS has three purposes: (1) to decrease the severity of acute relapse and accelerate recovery from acute relapse, (2) to reduce relapse frequency and prevent disability progression by disease-modifying therapy, and (3) to alleviate residual symptoms (symptomatic therapy).

Treatment of Acute Relapse

Acute relapse that limits the activity of daily life is treated with corticosteroids. Generally, intravenous, high dose (1000 mg/day) methylprednisolone (IVMP) for three consecutive days (2–5 days) is administered. A short course of oral corticosteroids (around 1 mg/kg/day) with gradual taper usually follows post IVMP. However, because corticosteroids have no effects on preventing relapse or disability progression, oral corticosteroids should not be continued for a long time, except in atypical cases. IVMP may be repeated once or twice when recovery from acute relapse is insufficient. In cases of corticosteroid-resistant relapse, plasma exchanges can be effective, especially when patients present large demyelinating lesions. For patients with methylprednisolone allergy, intramuscular adrenocorticotropic hormone or plasma exchanges may be beneficial.

Treatment with Disease-Modifying Drugs

Various kinds of DMD effectively reduce relapses in RRMS and are approved for patients with RRMS (Table 3). However, these DMDs mainly target the peripheral immune system and are of little benefit for chronic progression in SPMS and PPMS [132].

	Route, dose,	Efficacy on	
Generic name	and schedule	relapse rate	Side effects (rare but serious)
Interferon β-1b	250 μg, SC, every other day	-34%	Influenza-like symptoms, injection site reactions, increased liver enzymes, (liver toxicity)
Interferon β-1a	30 μg, IM, once a week	-32%	Influenza-like symptoms, injection site reactions, increased liver enzymes, (liver toxicity)
Glatiramer acetate	20 mg, SC, every day	-29%	Injection site reactions, post-injection general reaction, lipoatrophy
Dimethyl fumarate	240 mg, PO, twice a day	-51%	Flushing, diarrhea, abdominal pain, lymphopenia (PML)
Fingolimod	0.5 mg, PO, once a day	-52%	Bradycardia and heart conduction block at first dose, lymphopenia, increased liver enzymes (macular edema, generalized herpes zoster infection, herpes simplex encephalitis, PML)
Natalizumab	300 mg, IV, once every 4 weeks	-68%	Hypersensitivity reactions, (PML)

Table 3 Widely used disease-modifying drugs for RRMS

C subcutaneous, *IM* intramuscular, *IV* intravenous, *PML* progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, *PO* per oral

DMDs for RRMS

First-line DMDs for RRMS include interferon-beta (IFN β)-1a and IFN β -1b, glatiramer acetate (GA), and dimethyl fumarate (DMF) [129, 133]. IFNβ and GA have similar efficacy: about 30% reduction of RRMS relapse rates, and 50% reduction of new and enlarging lesions on MRI. However, about 30% of RRMS patients are nonresponders to these injected drugs. These drugs correct a Th1/Th17 shift, suppress antigen presentation and T cell proliferation, and restore immune-regulatory functions. Both drugs have long been used for RRMS without serious adverse events except for rare liver toxicity. Both IFNß and GA frequently show injection site reactions while IFNB is commonly associated with influenza-like symptoms on injection. Oral DMF decreases the relapse rate by 50% and new and enlarging MRI lesions by up to 80% [134, 135]. DMF reduces proinflammatory cytokine production, corrects a Th1/Th17 shift, suppresses T cell infiltration into the CNS via activation of the hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 2 (HCAR2) pathway, and exhibits antioxidant effects via activation of the nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf-2) pathway. DMF frequently causes facial flushing and gastrointestinal symptoms such as diarrhea and abdominal pain, especially within 1 month of initiation of the drug. DMF occasionally produces severe lymphopenia (<500/µl). Sustained lymphopenia is a risk factor for a rare but serious complication of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) mediated by John-Cunningham virus (JCV) (occurrence is about 1:50,000) [136]. For MS patients with mild disease activity, $\ensuremath{\mathsf{IFN}\beta}\xspace,\ensuremath{\mathsf{GA}}\xspace,\ensuremath{\mathsf{or}}\xspace$ DMF is reasonable therapy. In people with CIS or RRMS who have not had relapses in the preceding 2 years and do not have active new lesions on recent MRI, it is possible to closely follow up with serial MRI at least annually for the first 5 years rather than initiating DMDs [133]. If MS patients experience one or more relapses, two or more new MRI lesions, or increased disability on examination over a 1-year period of using the first-line DMD, they are regarded as non-responders [133]. In this case, a direct switch to another first-line DMDs is one option.

When first-line DMDs are ineffective or the patient has highly active disease, second-line DMDs are considered. Commonly used second- to third-line DMDs include fingolimod and natalizumab, while teriflunomid, cladribine, and alemtuzumab are less commonly used [129, 133]. Fingolimod, an oral DMD for RRMS, is an antagonist of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P₁) and has a unique mechanism of action; it down-modulates S1P₁, which is essential for lymphocyte egress from lymph nodes. Thus, fingolimod traps central memory T cells homing to lymph nodes, thereby preventing autoreactive T cells from circulating in the bloodstream. Fingolimod effectively reduces relapse rates 60% and new and enlarging brain MRI lesions 80% [137, 138]. The first dose of fingolimod frequently causes bradycardia and occasionally conduction block via S1P₁. Lymphocytopenia is also common, and drug holidays are recommended when lymphocyte counts decrease to <200/µl. Macular edema and liver dysfunction are occasionally encountered in patients taking fingolimod. Fingolimod confers an increased risk of infection and patients may rarely develop generalized varicella zoster infection, herpes encephalitis, or PML (1:12,000) [136, 139]. In comparison with first-line DMFs, suppression of brain atrophy progression has been shown only for fingolimod [140]. Because fingolimod does not deplete autoreactive T cells but just traps them inside lymph nodes, cessation of the drug could induce a rebound phenomenon (flare-up of disease activity).

Natalizumab, an anti- α 4 β 1 integrin antibody, effectively blocks the interaction between vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1) on vascular endothelial cells and very late antigen 4 (VLA4) consisting of $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin on lymphocytes, thereby suppressing firm adhesion of T cells on vessel walls. Thus, T cell migration into CNS tissue is highly effectively blocked [141]. Natalizumab suppresses relapse rate 70% and new and enlarging brain MRI lesions 90% [142]. The ability of natalizumab to markedly suppress relapses supports the critical importance of T cell inflammation in the CNS at relapse. However, because natalizumab almost completely blocks T cell migration into CNS tissues, T cell surveillance of the CNS is severely impaired, which allows the occurrence of JCV-mediated PML (4.19/1000) [136]. The risk factors for PML under natalizumab treatment are long-term use (>2 years), prior use of immunosuppressants, and high anti-JCV antibody index (>1.5) [143]. When natalizumab-PML emerges, rapid withdrawal of natalizumab by PE may cause massive infiltration of lymphocytes into the CNS (immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome; IRIS), resulting in severe tissue destruction and residual disability. When JCV antibody is negative and the patient has highly active disease, natalizumab can be a good choice.

Alemtuzumab is a humanized anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody that causes longlasting T and B cell depletion. Alemtuzumab markedly reduces relapse rates and prevents new and enlarging brain MRI lesions (>90% decrease), although the drug can frequently induce autoimmune diseases (>40%), such as Graves' disease, autoimmune thyroiditis, immune thrombocytopenic purpura, and autoimmune hemolytic anemia [144, 145]. Alemtuzumab may be considered for those who have not responded to at least two DMDs. Teriflunomide is a cytostatic drug that inhibits de novo pyrimidine synthesis from carbamoyl phosphate and aspartate by suppressing dihydro-orotate dehydrogenase, thereby limiting rapidly proliferating T and B cells without affecting resting and homeostatically proliferating cells. Teriflunomide has modest efficacy, similar to IFN β . For early MS, teriflunomide effectively decreased relapse risk or new MRI lesions (around 35% reduction) [146]. Cladribine, a synthetic deoxyadenosine analog, is a cytotoxic drug that depletes T and B cells. Cladribine reduced relapse rates by 60% and decreased MRI brain lesions, while the drug causes lymphocytopenia and increases the risk for infection, such as for tuberculosis and PML [147].

DMDs for Progressive MS

For SPMS patients with active disease, IFN β is in part beneficial but it is not effective for those without active disease. Recently, siponimod [148] and ozanimod [149], novel S1P₁ antagonists, were found to be effective for preventing disability progression in SPMS. These drugs, besides inhibitory effects on lymphocyte egress from secondary lymphoid organs, may directly act on glial cells harboring S1P₁, such as microglia and astroglia [150, 151]. For PPMS, only one DMD, ocrelizumab (anti-CD20 humanized monoclonal antibody), significantly decreases disability progression [120]. Ocrelizumab depletes circulating B cells but not plasma cells that do not express CD20. Therefore, interruption of B-T cell interaction, including antigen presentation, and suppression of proinflammatory cytokine secretion from B cells, are assumed to be the mechanisms of ocrelizumab action rather than decreasing autoantibody production. Ocrelizumab reduced the annualized relapse rate by about 50% and prevented new MRI lesions by 95% in RRMS. For PPMS, ocrelizumab decreased clinical disability progression by 24% [120].

Symptomatic Therapy and Management

Spasticity

Spasticity is best managed by a combination of anti-spastic drugs and physiotherapy. Some degree of spasticity is often useful for patients in standing and walking, while an overdose of antispastic drugs may worsen patients' locomotive ability. Baclofen, tizanidine, and gabapentin are used as first-line drugs. Dantrolene is a second-line drug, especially for non-ambulatory patients with spasticity. Benzodiazepines can be helpful, particularly taken as a nighttime dose. To avoid side effects, including weakness, sleepiness, lightheaded sensation, fatigue and hypotension, it is necessary to gradually increase the doses of these agents. An intrathecal baclofen pump can be tried for oral anti-spastic drug-resistant cases, while repeated local injections of botulinum toxin may be helpful for alleviating focal spasticity.

Sphincter Disturbance and Sexual Dysfunction

For urinary urgency, long-acting anticholinergic drugs or tricyclic antidepressants are useful if there is not excessive urinary retention while nasal desmopressin spray is efficacious for nocturia. An alpha-adrenergic blocker can be used for difficulty with urination and urinary retention. When urinary retention reaches a post-voiding residual urine volume > 100-150 ml, intermittent self-catheterization, or an indwelling or suprapubic catheter may be considered. In some cases, intravesical botulinum toxin injection or sacral electrical stimulation will be useful. Laxatives are used for constipation while fecal incontinence is difficult to treat. Although physiotherapy for the pelvic floor may be helpful, a bowel training program and bowel management permit patients to better manage their lives. For impotence, phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors, intrapenile suppositories, or injections of prostaglandin are helpful for men. Sexual dysfunction is common but under-appreciated; therefore, counseling of couples is important.

Fatigue, Mood Disturbance, and Cognitive Impairment

Fatigue due to exercise and work may be improved with rest and naps. Amantadine, modafinil, and fampridine can be helpful for fatigue. Depression can usually be treated with antidepressant medications (selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, and tricyclics antidepressants) and counseling. Cognitive impairment is very difficult to treat. Donepezil, an ace-tylcholinesterase inhibitor, and memantine may be useful in some cases, although efficacy has not been confirmed by randomized controlled trials. Cognitive rehabilitation and occupational therapy are also worth doing.

Other Symptomatic Therapies and Management of General Health

Pain is common in patients with MS. Trigeminal and glossopharyngeal neuralgia and other neurogenic pain can be treated with anticonvulsants, such as carbamazepine, pregabalin, gabapentin, and topiramate. Painful tonic spasm is effectively treated with low-dose carbamazepine. Band-like sensations (girdle sensation) is difficult to treat and requires a combination of drugs, such as anticonvulsants, analgesics, and muscle relaxants. Spasticity induces pain in muscles while abnormal posture and gait may accentuate musculoskeletal pain. Depending on the cause, antispastic drugs, analgesics, and antidepressants should be selected. Although anticonvulsants are applied for persistent numbness, it is hard to resolve. Tremor and ataxia are also difficult to treat and drugs for essential tremor such as betaadrenergic blockers and clonazepam have only limited efficacy. Use of wrist weights may reduce action tremor in the hand or arm in some patients. 4-Aminopyridine and a sustained release form, dalfampridine, may improve power, endurance, and ambulation in some patients.

Discontinuation of tobacco smoking and supplementation of vitamin D are recommended. Exercise programs as tolerated are also useful for improving mood, fatigue, ambulation, and pain. In disabled patients, prevention of pressure sores and contractures, as well as nutrition and avoiding aspiration, are important in daily care.

Conflict of Interest Statement Jun-ichi Kira has received consultancy fees, speaking fees and/or honoraria from Novartis Pharma, Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma, Boehringer Ingelheim, Teijin Pharma, Takeda Pharmaceutical Company, Otsuka Pharmaceutical, Astellas Pharma, Pfizer Japan, and Eisai Co. Dr. Isobe is supported by a grant from JSPS KAKENHI (Grant No. 18 K07529), and received grant support from Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma, Osoegawa Neurology Clinic, Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd., and Japan Blood Products Organization.

Funding This study was supported in part by a Health and Labour Sciences Research Grant on Intractable Diseases (H29-Nanchitou (Nan)-Ippan-043) from the Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare, Japan, by the "Practical Research Project for Rare/Intractable Diseases" from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED, 17ek0109115h0003), Japan, by a research grant from the Japanese Multiple Sclerosis Society, by a research grant from the Japan Intractable Disease Research Foundation, by "Glial Assembly" Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research on Innovative Areas (MEXT KAKENHI Grant Number 25117012) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan, by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) (JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 16H02657) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science, Japan.

References

- Sadovnick AD, Armstrong H, Rice GP, et al. A population-based study of multiple sclerosis in twins: update. Ann Neurol. 1993;33:281–5.
- Browne P, Chandraratna D, Angood C, Tremlett H, Baker C, Taylor BV, Thompson AJ. Global perspectives. Neurology. 2014;83:1022–4. (MS International Federation. Atlas of MS 2013. http://www.atlasofms.org)
- 3. Kira J. Multiple sclerosis in the Japanese population. Lancet Neurol. 2003;2:117–27.
- 4. Ebers GC. Environmental factors and multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7:268-77.
- Kurtzke JF, Kurland LT, Goldberg ID. Mortality and migration in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1971;21:1186–97.
- Detels R, Visscher BR, Haile RW, Malmgren RM, Dudley JP, Coulson AH. Multiple sclerosis and age at migration. Am J Epidemiol. 1978;108:386–93.
- Elian M, Nightingale S, Dean G. Multiple sclerosis among United Kingdom-born children of immigrants from the Indian subcontinent, Africa and the West Indies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1990;53:906–11.
- 8. Dean G, Elian M. Age at immigration to England of Asian and Caribbean immigrants and the risk of developing multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1997;63:565–8.

- 9. Hammond SR, English DR, McLeod JG. The age-range of risk of developing multiple sclerosis: evidence from a migrant population in Australia. Brain. 2000;123:968–74.
- Sánchez JL, Palacio LG, Uribe CS, Londoño AC, Villa A, Jiménez M, et al. Clinical features of multiple sclerosis in a genetically homogeneous tropical population. Mult Scler. 2001;7:227–9.
- 11. Noonan CW, Kathman SJ, White MC. Prevalence estimates for MS in the United States and evidence of an increasing trend for women. Neurology. 2002;58:136–8.
- Barnett MH, Williams DB, Day S, Macaskill P, McLeod JG. Progressive increase in incidence and prevalence of multiple sclerosis in Newcastle, Australia: a 35-year study. J Neurol Sci. 2003;213:1–6.
- 13. Wallin MT, Page WF, Kurtzke JF. Multiple sclerosis in US veterans of the Vietnam era and later military service: race, sex, and geography. Ann Neurol. 2004;55:65–71.
- Osoegawa M, Kira J, Fukazawa T, Fujihara K, Kikuchi S, Matsui M, et al. Temporal changes and geographical differences in multiple sclerosis phenotypes in Japanese: nationwide survey results over 30 years. Mult Scler. 2009;15:159–73.
- Kennedy J, O'Connor P, Sadovnick AD, Perara M, Yee I, Banwell B. Age at onset of multiple sclerosis may be influenced by place of residence during childhood rather than ancestry. Neuroepidemiology. 2006;26:162–7.
- Orton S-M, Herrera B, Yee IM, Valdar W, Ramagopalan SV, Sadovnic AD, et al. Sex ratio of multiple sclerosis in Canada: a longitudinal study. Lancet Neurol. 2006;5:932–6.
- 17. Kira J. Genetic and environmental backgrounds responsible for the change in the phenotype of MS in Japanese subjects. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2012;1:188–95.
- Tremlett HY, Zhao Y, Devonshire V. Natural history of secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2008;14:314–24.
- Scalfari A, Neuhaus A, Daumer M, Muraro PA, PA EGC. Onset of secondary progressive phase and long-term evolution of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;85:67–75.
- 20. Mistry N, Dixon J, Tallantyre E, Tench C, Abdel-Fahim R, Jaspan T, et al. Central veins in brain lesions visualized with high-field magnetic resonance imaging: a pathologically specific diagnostic biomarker for inflammatory demyelination in the brain. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70:623–8.
- Thompson A, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17:162–73.
- Okuda DT, Mowry EM, Beheshtian A, et al. Incidental MRI anomalies suggestive of multiple sclerosis: the radiologically isolated syndrome. Neurology. 2009;72:800–5.
- 23. Bo L, Vedeler CA, Nyland HI, et al. Subpial demyelination in the cerebral cortex of multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2003;62:723–32.
- 24. Calabrese M, Battaglini M, Giorgio A, et al. Imaging distribution and frequency of cortical lesions in patients with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2010;75:1234–40.
- Shinoda K, Matsushita T, Nakamura Y, et al. HLA-DRBI*04:05 allele is associated with intracortical lesions on 3-dimensional double inversion recovery images in Japanese patients with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2018;24:710–20.
- 26. De Stefano N, Stromillo ML, Giorgio A, et al. Establishing pathological cut-offs of brain atrophy rates in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2016;87:93–9.
- Lassmann H, Raine CS, Antel J, Prineas JW. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis: report on an international meeting held at the institute of neurology of the University of Vienna. J Neuroimmunol. 1998;86:213–7.
- Kuhlmann T, Ludwin S, Prat A, Antel J, Bruck W, Lassmann H. An updated histological classification system for multiple sclerosis lesions. Acta Neuropathol. 2017;133:13–24.
- 29. Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A, et al. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. J Exp Med. 2000;192:393–404.
- Patrikios P, Stadelmann C, Kutzelnigg A, et al. Remyelination is extensive in a subset of multiple sclerosis patients. Brain. 2006;129:3165–72.

- 31. Patani R, Balaratnam M, Vora A, Reynolds R. Remyelination can be extensive in multiple sclerosis despite a long disease course. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2007;33:277–87.
- Prineas JW, Barnard RO, Revesz T, Kwon EE, Sharer L, Cho ES. Multiple sclerosis. Pathology of recurrent lesions. Brain. 1993;116:681–93.
- 33. Reynolds R, Roncaroli F, Nicholas R, Radotra B, Gveric D, Howell O. The neuropathological basis of clinical progression in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;122:155–70.
- Benarroch EE. Oligodendrocytes. Susceptibility to injury and involvement in neurologic disease. Neurology. 2009;72:1779–85.
- Chang A, Nishiyama A, Peterson J, Prineas J, Trapp BD. NG2-positive oligodendrocyte progenitor cells in adult human brain and multiple sclerosis lesions. J Neurosci. 2000;20:6404–12.
- Chang A, Tourtellotte WW, Rudick R, Trapp BD. Premyelinating oligodendrocytes in chronic lesions of multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:165–73.
- Satoh J, Tabunoki H, Yamamura T, Arima K, Konno H. TROY and LINGO-1 expression in astrocytes and macrophages/microglia in multiple sclerosis lesions. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2007;33:99–107.
- Mi S, Miller RH, Lee X, et al. LINGO-1 negatively regulates myelination by oligodendrocytes. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8:745–51.
- 39. Charles P, Reynolds R, Seilhean D, et al. Re-expression of PSA-NCAM by demyelinated axons: an inhibitor of remyelination in multiple sclerosis? Brain. 2002;125:1972–9.
- Kotter MR, Li WW, Zhao C, Franklin RJ. Myelin impairs CNS remyelination by inhibiting oligodendrocyte precursor cell differentiation. J Neurosci. 2006;26:328–32.
- 41. Stoffels JM, de Jonge JC, Stancic M, et al. Fibronectin aggregation in multiple sclerosis lesions impairs remyelination. Brain. 2013;136:116–31.
- Ferguson B, Matyszak MK, Esiri MM, Perry VH. Axonal damage in acute multiple sclerosis lesions. Brain. 1997;120:393–9.
- 43. Kuhlmann T, Lingfeld G, Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Brück W. Acute axonal damage in multiple sclerosis is most extensive in early disease stages and decreases over time. Brain. 2002;125:2202–12.
- 44. Trapp BD, Peterson J, Ransohoff RM, Rudick R, Mörk S, Bö L. Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:278–85.
- 45. Dutta R, McDonough J, Yin X, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction as a cause of axonal degeneration in multiple sclerosis patients. Ann Neurol. 2006;59:478–89.
- Fisniku LK, Chard DT, Jackson JS, et al. Gray matter atrophy is related to long-term disability in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2008;64:247–54.
- 47. Fisher E, Lee JC, Nakamura K, Rudick RA. Gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. Ann Neurol. 2008;64:255–65.
- 48. Kutzelnigg A, Lucchinetti CF, Stadelmann C, et al. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2005;128:2705–12.
- Vercellino M, Plano F, Votta B, Mutani R, Giordana MT, Cavalla P. Grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2005;64:1101–7.
- Bonati U, Fisniku LK, Altmann DR, et al. Cervical cord and brain grey matter atrophy independently associate with long-term MS disability. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2011;82:471–2.
- Geurts JJ, Pouwels PJ, Uitdehaag BM, Polman CH, Barkhof F, Castelijns JA. Intracortical lesions in multiple sclerosis: improved detection with 3D double inversion-recovery MR imaging. Radiology. 2005;236:254–60.
- 52. Calabrese M, Filippi M, Gallo P. Cortical lesions in multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010;6:438–44.
- 53. Bö L, Vedeler CA, Nyland H, Trapp BD, Mörk SJ. Intracortical multiple sclerosis lesions are not associated with increased lymphocyte infiltration. Mult Scler. 2003;9:323–31.
- Peterson JW, Bö L, Mörk S, Chang A, Trapp BD. Transected neurites, apoptotic neurons, and reduced inflammation in cortical multiple sclerosis lesions. Ann Neurol. 2001;50:389–400.
- Magliozzi R, Howell OW, Reeves C, et al. A Gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2010;68:477–93.

- 56. Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2011;134:2755–71.
- 57. Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. Brain. 2007;130:1089–104.
- Magliozzi R, Howell OW, Nicholas R, et al. Inflammatory intrathecal profiles and cortical damage in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2018;83:739–55.
- 59. Campbell GR, Ziabreva I, Reeve AK, et al. Mitochondrial DNA deletions and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2011;69:481–92.
- 60. Mahad DJ, Ransohoff RM. The role of MCP-1 (CCL2) and CCR2 in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Semin Immunol. 2003;15:23–32.
- 61. Saha RN, Pahan K. Regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase gene in glial cells. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2006;8:929–47.
- Antony JM, van Marle G, Opii W, et al. Human endogenous retrovirus glycoprotein-mediated induction of redox reactants causes oligodendrocyte death and demyelination. Nat Neurosci. 2004;7:1088–95.
- 63. Moore CS, Abdullah SL, Brown A, Arulpragasam A, Crocker SJ. How factors secreted from astrocytes impact myelin repair. J Neurosci Res. 2011;89:13–21.
- Gallo V, Armstrong RC. Myelin repair strategies: a cellular view. Curr Opin Neurol. 2008;21:278–83.
- Allaman I, Bélanger M, Magistretti PJ. Astrocyte-neuron metabolic relationships: for better and for worse. Trends Neurosci. 2011;34:76–87.
- 66. Voskuhl RR, Peterson RS, Song B, et al. Reactive astrocytes form scar-like perivascular barriers to leukocytes during adaptive immune inflammation of the CNS. J Neurosci. 2009;29:11511–22.
- 67. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Patsopoulos N, Baranzini SE, Santaniello A, et al. The Multiple Sclerosis Genomic Map: role of peripheral immune cells and resident microglia in susceptibility. BioRxiv. 2017;10.1101/143933.
- 68. Baranzini SE, Oksenberg JR. The genetics of multiple sclerosis: from 0 to 200 in 50 years. Trends Genet. 2017;33:960–70.
- Nischwitz S, Müller-Myhsok B, Weber F. Risk conferring genes in multiple sclerosis. FEBS Lett. 2011;585:3789–97.
- Marrosu MG, Murru MR, Costa G, et al. DRB1-DQA1-DQB1 loci and multiple sclerosis predisposition in the Sardinian population. Hum Mol Genet. 1998;7:1235–7.
- Marrosu MG, Sardu C, Cocco E, et al. Bias in parental transmission of the HLA-DR3 allele in Sardinian multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2004;63:1084–6.
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics C, International IBDGC, International IBDGCI. Class II HLA interactions modulate genetic risk for multiple sclerosis. Nat Genet. 2015;47:1107–13.
- Okuda DT, Srinivasan R, Oksenberg JR, et al. Genotype-Phenotype correlations in multiple sclerosis: HLA genes influence disease severity inferred by 1HMR spectroscopy and MRI measures. Brain. 2009;132:250–9.
- Isobe N, Keshavan A, Gourraud PA, et al. Association of HLA genetic risk burden with disease phenotypes in multiple sclerosis. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73:795–802.
- Yoshimura S, Isobe N, Yonekawa T, et al. South Japan Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium. Genetic and infectious profiles of Japanese multiple sclerosis patients. PLoS One. 2012;7:e48592.
- Marrosu MG, Cocco E, Lai M, Spinicci G, Pischedda MP, Contu P. Patients with multiple sclerosis and risk of type 1 diabetes mellitus in Sardinia, Italy: a cohort study. Lancet. 2002;359:1461–5.
- Cocco E, Sardu C, Lai M, Spinicci G, Contu P, Marrosu MG. Anticipation of age at onset in multiple sclerosis: a Sardinian cohort study. Neurology. 2004;62:1794–8.
- Matsushita T, Matsuoka T, Isobe N, et al. Association of the *HLA-DPB1*0501* allele with anti-aquaporin-4 antibody positivity in Japanese patients with idiopathic central nervous system demyelinating disorders. Tissue Antigens. 2008;73:171–6.

- Qiu W, James I, Carroll WM, Mastaglia FL, Kermode AG. HLA-DR allele polymorphism and multiple sclerosis in Chinese populations: a meta-analysis. Mult Scler. 2010;17:382–8.
- Fujisao S, Matsushita S, Nishi T, Nishimura Y. Identification of HLA-DR9 (DRB1*0901)binding peptide motifs using a phage fUSE5 random peptide library. Hum Immunol. 1996;45:131–6.
- Pandit L, Ban M, Sawcer S, et al. Evaluation of the established non-MHC multiple sclerosis loci in an Indian population. Mult Scler. 2011;17:139–43.
- Fang L, Isobe N, Yoshimura S, et al. Interleukin-7 receptor alpha gene polymorphism influences multiple sclerosis risk in Asians. Neurology. 2011;76:2125–7.
- Handel AE, Giovannoni G, Ebers GC, Ramagopalan SV. Environmental factors and their timing in adult-onset multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010;6:156–66.
- Willer CJ, Dyment DA, Risch NJ, Sadovnick AD, Ebers GC, Canadian Collaborative Study Group. Twin concordance and sibling recurrence rates in multiple sclerosis. Proc National Acad Sci USA. 2003;100:12877–82.
- Dobson R, Giovannoni G, Ramagopalan S. The month of birth effect in multiple sclerosis: systematic review, meta-analysis and effect of latitude. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84:427–32.
- 86. Panitch HS. Influence of infection on exacerbations of multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 1994;36 Suppl:S25–8.
- Ascherio A, Munger KL. Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. Part II: noninfectious factors. Ann Neurol. 2007;61:504–13.
- Ramagopalan S, Dobson R, Meier U, Giovannoni G. Multiple sclerosis: risk factors, prodromes, and potential causal pathways. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9:727–39.
- Niino M, Sato S, Fukazawa T, Masaki K, Miyazaki Y, Matsuse D, et al. Decreased serum vitamin D levels in Japanese patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol. 2015;279:40–5.
- 90. O'Gotmsn C, Lucas R, Taylor B. Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis: a review with a focus on molecular mechanisms. Int J Mol Sci. 2012;13:11718–52.
- Hedstrom AK, Baarnhielm M, Olsson T, Alfredsson L. Tobacco smoking, but not Swedish snuff use, increases the risk of multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2009;73:696–701.
- Yazdanbakhsh M, Kremsner PG, van Ree R. Allergy, parasites, and the hygiene hypothesis. Science. 2002;296:490–4.
- Leibowitz U, Antonovsky A, Medalie JM, Smith HA, Halpern L, Alter M. Epidemiological study of multiple sclerosis in Israel. Part II. Multiple sclerosis and level of sanitation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1966;29:60–8.
- 94. Ponsonby AL, van der Mei I, Dwyer T, et al. Exposure to infant siblings during early life and risk of multiple sclerosis. JAMA. 2005;293:463–9.
- 95. Li W, Minohara M, Su JJ, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection is a potential protective factor against conventional multiple sclerosis in the Japanese population. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;184:227–31.
- Pedrini MJ, Seewann A, Bennett KA, et al. Helicobacter pylori infection as a protective factor against multiple sclerosis risk in females. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86:603–7.
- 97. Graham DY. Helicobacter pylori: its epidemiology and its role in duodenal ulcer disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 1991;6:105–13.
- Horiuchi T, Ohkusa T, Watanabe M, Kobayashi D, Miwa H, Eishi Y. Helicobacter pylori DNA in drinking water in Japan. Microbiol Immunol. 2001;45:515–9.
- 99. Liu AH, Murphy JR. Hygiene hypothesis: fact or fiction? J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;111:471–8.
- Ascherio A, Munger KL. Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. Part I: the role of infection. Ann Neurol. 2007;61:288–99.
- Levin LI, Munger KL, O'Reilly EJ, Falk KI, Ascherio A. Primary infection with the Epstein-Barr virus and risk of multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2010;67:824–30.
- Lünemann JD, Tintoré M, Messmer B, et al. Elevated EBNA immune responses predict conversion to multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2010;67:159–69.

- 103. Lucas RM, Hughes AM, Lay MLJ. Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2011;82:1142–8.
- 104. Xiao D, Ye X, Zhang N, et al. A meta-analysis of interaction between Epstein-Barr virus and HLA-DRB1*15:01 on risk of multiple sclerosis. Sci Rep. 2015;5:18083. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep18083.
- 105. Sundströom P, Nyströom L, Jidell E, Hallmans G. EBNA-1 reactivity and HLA DRB1*1501 as statistically independent risk factors for multiple sclerosis: a case-control study. Mult Scler. 2008;14:1120–222.
- 106. Lünemann JD, Jelcić I, Roberts S, Lutterotti A, Tackenberg B, Martin R, Münz C. EBNA1specific T cells from patients with multiple sclerosis cross react with myelin antigens and co-produce IFN-gamma and IL-2. J Exp Med. 2008;205:1763–173.
- 107. Gabibov AG, Belogurov AA Jr, Lomakin YA, et al. Combinatorial antibody library from multiple sclerosis patients reveals antibodies that cross-react with myelin basic protein and EBV antigen. FASEB J. 2011;25:4211–21.
- 108. GC E, Sadovnick AD, Dyment DA, Yee IM, Willer CJ, Risch N. Parent-of-origin effect in multiple sclerosis: observations in half-siblings. Lancet. 2004;363:1773–4.
- Panitch HS, Hirsch RL, Haley AS, Johnson KP. Exacerbations of multiple sclerosis in patients treated with gamma interferon. Lancet. 1987;1:893–5.
- 110. Minohara M, Ochi H, Matsushita S, Irie A, Nishimura Y, Kira J. Differences between T-cell reactivities to major myelin protein-derived peptides in opticospinal and conventional forms of multiple sclerosis and healthy controls. Tissue Antigens. 2001;57:447–56.
- Ishizu T, Osoegawa M, Mei FJ, et al. Intrathecal activation of the IL-17/IL-8 axis in opticospinal multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2005;128:988–1002.
- 112. Durelli L, Conti L, Clerico M, et al. T-helper 17 cells expand in multiple sclerosis and are inhibited by interferon-beta. Ann Neurol. 2009;65:499–509.
- 113. Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:623–35.
- 114. Bechmann I, Galea I, Perry VH. What is the blood-brain barrier (not)? Trends Immunol. 2007;28:5–11.
- 115. Tran EH, Hoekstra K, van Rooijen N, Dijkstra CD, Owens T. Immune invasion of the central nervous system parenchyma and experimental allergic encephalomyelitis, but not leukocyte extravasation from blood, are prevented in macrophage-depleted mice. J Immunol. 1998;161:3767–75.
- 116. Barnett MH, Prineas JW. Relapsing and remitting multiple sclerosis: pathology of the newly forming lesion. Ann Neurol. 2004;55:458–68.
- 117. Meinl E, Krumbholz M, Hohlfeld R. B lineage cells in the inflammatory central nervous system environment: migration, maintenance, local antibody production, and therapeutic modulation. Ann Neurol. 2006;59:880–92.
- 118. Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:676–88.
- 119. Sorensen PS, Lisby S, Grove R, et al. Safety and efficacy of ofatumumab in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2 study. Neurology. 2014;82:573–81.
- Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, et al. ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:209–20.
- 121. Stadelmann C, Wegner C, Brück W. Inflammation, demyelination, and degeneration recent insights from MS pathology. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1812:275–82.
- 122. Breij EC, Brink BP, Veerhuis R, et al. Homogeneity of active demyelinating lesions in established multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2008;63:16–25.
- 123. Srivastava R, Aslam M, Kalluri SR, et al. Potassium channel KIR4.1 as an immune target in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:115–23.
- 124. Confavreux C, Vukusic S, Moreau T, Adeleine P. Relapses and progression of disability in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2000;343:1430–8.
- 125. Kremenchutzky M, Rice GP, Baskerville J, Wingerchuk DM, Ebers GC. The natural history of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study 9: observations on the progressive phase of the disease. Brain. 2006;129:584–94.

- Lunde HMB, Assmus J, Myhr KM, Bø L, Grytten N. Survival and cause of death in multiple sclerosis: a 60-year longitudinal population study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2017;88:621–5.
- 127. Confavreux C, Vukusic S. Age at disability milestones in multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2006;129:595–605.
- Skoog B, Runmarker B, Winblad S, Ekholm S, Andersen O. A representative cohort of patients with non-progressive multiple sclerosis at the age of normal life expectancy. Brain. 2012;135:900–11.
- 129. Thompson A, Barranzini S, Geurts J, Hemmer B, Ciccarelli O. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2018;391:1622–36.
- 130. Confavreux C, Hutchinson M, Hours MM, Cortinovis-Tourniaire P, Moreau T. Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:285–91.
- 131. Poser S, Poser W. Multiple sclerosis and gestation. Neurology. 1983;33:1422-7.
- 132. Ontaneda D, Fox RJ, Chataway J. Clinical trials in progressive multiple sclerosis: lessons learned and future perspectives. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14:208–23.
- 133. Rae-Grant A, Day GS, Marrie RA, et al. Practice guideline recommendations summary: disease-modifying therapies for adults with multiple sclerosis: report of the Guideline Development, Dissemination, and Implementation Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology. 2018;90:777–88.
- 134. Gold R, Kappos L, Douglas MD, et al. Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:1098–107.
- 135. Fox RJ, Miller DH, Theodore Phillips J, et al. Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 or glatiramer in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:1087–97.
- Berger JR. Classifying PML risk with disease modifying therapies. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2017;12:59–63.
- 137. Kappos L, Radue EW, O'Connor P, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of oral fingolimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:387–401.
- Cohen JA, Barkhof F, Comi G, et al. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:402–15.
- Arvin AM, Wolinsky JS, Kappos L, Morris MI. Varicella-zoster virus infections in patients treated with fingolimod: risk assessment and consensus recommendations for management. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72:31–9.
- 140. De Stefano N, Tomic D, Radue EW, Sprenger T, Meier DP, Hàring D, Sormani MP. Effect of fingolimod on diffuse brain tissue damage in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2016;7:98–101.
- 141. Coisne C, Mao W, Engelhardt B. Cutting edge: natalizumab blocks adhesion but not initial contact of human T cells to the blood-brain barrier in vivo in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2009;182:5909–13.
- 142. Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:899–910.
- 143. Plavina T, Subramanyam M, Bloomgren G, et al. Anti-JC virus antibody levels in serum or plasma further define risk of natalizumab-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Ann Neurol. 2014;76:802–12.
- 144. Coles AJ, Compston DA, Selmaj KW, et al. Alemtuzumab vs. interferon beta-1a in early multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:1786–801.
- 145. Cossburn M, Pace AA, Jones J, et al. Autoimmune disease after alemtuzumab treatment for multiple sclerosis in a multicenter cohort. Neurology. 2011;77:573–9.
- 146. Miller AE, Wolinsky JS, Kappos L, et al. Oral teriflunomide for patients with a first clinical episode suggestive of multiple sclerosis (TOPIC): a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13:977–86.
- 147. Giovannoni G, Comi G, Cook S, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of oral cladribine for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:416–26.

- 148. Kappos L, Bar-Or A, Cree BA, et al. Siponimod versus placebo in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (EXPAND): a double-blind, randomised, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2018;391:1263–73.
- 149. Cohen JA, Arnold DL, Comi G, et al. Safety and efficacy of the selective sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulator ozanimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis (RADIANCE): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15:373–81.
- 150. Choi JW, Gardell SE, Herr DR, et al. FTY720 (fingolimod) efficacy in an animal model of multiple sclerosis requires astrocyte sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P1) modulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:751–6.
- 151. O'Sullivan SA, O'Sullivan C, Healy LM, Dev KK, Sheridan GK. Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors regulate TLR 4-induced CXCL 5 release from astrocytes and microglia. J Neurochem. 2018;144:736–47.
- 152. Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). Neurology. 1983;33:1444–52.

Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder



Samira Saadoun, Vincent T. W. Chang, and Marios C. Papadopoulos

Abstract Neuromyelitis optica (NMO) is an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system, also known as Devic's syndrome, that typically manifests with optic neuritis and transverse myelitis and, like other antibody-mediated autoimmune diseases, primarily affects women. Most NMO cases are caused by a circulating autoantibody termed NMO-IgG or AQP4-IgG that targets the astrocytic water channel protein aquaporin-4 (AOP4). Some NMO cases are caused by a circulating autoantibody against the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein termed MOG-IgG. A small proportion of NMO cases, termed seronegative NMO, are not associated with an autoantibody. AOP4-IgG binds extracellular conformational epitopes on AOP4, activates complement, which in turn causes inflammatory cell infiltration, demyelination and pan-necrosis. Acute NMO exacerbations are treated with methylprednisolone or plasmapheresis. Some drugs used to treat multiple sclerosis, such as interferon beta and natalizumab, exacerbate NMO. Maintenance treatment options include prednisolone, mycophenylate, mitoxantrone, cyclophosphamide, azathioprine, rituximab, tocilizumab and eculizumab. The discoveries of AQP4-IgG and MOG-IgG have shown that NMO is a distinct entity from multiple sclerosis with fundamentally different pathophysiology and treatment.

Keywords AQP4-IgG \cdot Aquaporin-4 \cdot MOG-IgG \cdot Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein \cdot Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders \cdot NMO-IgG \cdot Optic neuritis \cdot Transverse myelitis

Introduction

Neuromyelitis optica (NMO) is a rare, antibody-mediated autoimmune disorder of the central nervous system (CNS) that primarily affects the optic nerves and the spinal cord. We discuss the history of NMO, the seminal discovery of NMO-IgG,

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

S. Saadoun $(\boxtimes) \cdot V$. T. W. Chang \cdot M. C. Papadopoulos

Academic Neurosurgery Unit, St. George's, University of London, London, UK e-mail: ssaadoun@sgul.ac.uk

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_16

the concepts of seronegative NMO and NMO spectrum disorders, as well as the epidemiology and clinical manifestations of NMO. We then review the cellular mechanisms that are responsible for the pathogenesis of NMO. Finally, the diagnostic criteria, clinical features as well as current and future treatments will be covered.

History of NMO Whilst this field of research has seen great advancements in the past two decades, following the discovery of the NMO-IgG autoantibody, its history dates back to the early nineteenth century. In 1804, Antoine Portal, first physician to Louis XVIII and founding president of the Académie Nationale de Médecine, reported spinal cord inflammation coupled with visual loss in a patient without brain pathology; this is the oldest known account of its kind in Western literature [1]. Following that report, various clinicians recorded similar cases, including the Genoese physician Giovanni Battista Pescetto in 1844, the British physician Christopher Mercer Durant in 1850 and the British neurologist Jacob Augustus Lockhart Clarke in 1862 [1]. In 1894, the name *neuromyélite optique* was given to this syndrome characterized by acute myelitis and optic neuritis by the French neurologist Eugène Devic; Devic's contribution to the identification of this disease is still recognized since NMO is also termed *Devic's disease*.

NMO-IgG Though Devic insisted that NMO was a disease in its own right, over the years, NMO had been regarded by most neurologists as a variant of multiple sclerosis (MS) and has been treated as such [2]. In 2004, Vanda Lennon and colleagues at the Mayo Clinic identified a serum autoantibody, termed NMO-IgG, that was present in NMO patients but was absent from those with MS. After testing serum samples of North American and Japanese patients with suspected NMO and MS, they detected the autoantibody in 73% of those diagnosed with NMO as well as 46%high-risk candidates for NMO; importantly, NMO-IgG was not found in any patient with classic MS or other miscellaneous autoimmune/paraneoplastic neurological disorder [3]. The discovery of NMO-IgG revolutionized our understanding of NMO and conclusively established NMO as distinct entity from MS. In 2005, a water channel protein expressed in the end-feet of astrocytes, termed aquaporin-4 (AQP4), was identified as the target of NMO-IgG and thus NMO-IgG also became known as AQP4-IgG [4]. A subsequent study showed that AQP4-IgG is IgG₁ subclass and, therefore, after binding to AQP4, AQP4-IgG may activate complement via the classical pathway causing plasma cell membrane lysis [5]. Though initially the emphasis was on the inflammation and demyelination as the two characteristic histological features of NMO, the discovery of AQP4 as the target protein, which is expressed in astrocytes, but not neurons or oligodendrocytes, established NMO as an astrocytopathy. The sites of AQP4 expression in the CNS are shown in Fig. 1a. There is now evidence that AQP4-IgG binds at these sites including astrocyte foot processes, subependymal astrocytes and glia limitans and activates complement [6, 7].

Since AQP4-IgG plays a key role in NMO pathogenesis, it became important to revisit the diagnostic criteria so as to incorporate AQP4-IgG. Beginning in 2006, a diagnosis of NMO required the following: optic neuritis, acute myelitis and at least



Fig. 1 Sites of expression of AQP4 and MOG in the CNS. (a) AQP4 (green circles) is expressed in astrocytes foot processes (blood-brain barrier), the basolateral surface of the ependymal and subependymal astrocytes (brain-CSF barrier) and glia limitans astrocyte processes (brain-CSF barrier). (b) MOG (purple) is expressed on the surface of myelin in the central nervous system. Other myelin proteins include MBP (myelin basic protein). The myelin is anchored to the axon at the node of Ranvier by caspr

two of three supportive criteria (contiguous spinal cord MRI lesion extending over three or more vertebral segments known as longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (LETM); brain MRI not meeting the criteria for MS; AQP4-IgG seropositive status) [8]. The diagnostic criteria for NMO have since been updated and will be discussed later in this chapter. Since 2006, the pathogenicity of AQP4-IgG has been firmly established [5, 9–11]. It thus became clear that AQP4-IgG⁺ patients with incomplete or atypical NMO presentations are no different from patients fulfilling the 2006 diagnostic criteria. To incorporate these incomplete or atypical patients who are AQP4-IgG⁺, the term NMO spectrum disorder (NMOSD) is now preferred, rather than NMO, as the name of the disease [12]. Seronegative NMO Some NMO patients do not have circulating AQP4-IgG; their disease is termed seronegative NMO. Serum antibodies against the oligodendrocyte protein myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) have been detected in some seronegative NMO patients [13–16]. MOG is a transmembrane glycoprotein situated on the cell surface of oligodendrocytes that plays a key role in the myelination of CNS neurons including the adhesion of myelin fibres, the modulation of oligodendrocyte microtubule stability and the regulation of the interaction between the immune system and myelin by the complement pathway [17]. The sites of MOG expression in the CNS, which are targets of MOG-IgG, are shown in Fig. 1b. The discovery of AQP4-IgG and MOG-IgG suggests that other, as yet unidentified, autoantibodies may be pathogenic in some cases of AQP4-IgG⁻ and MOG-IgG⁻ NMO.

Epidemiology

Due to the rare incidence of NMO, the relative paucity of good-quality population studies, the variable diagnostic accuracy of AQP4-IgG detecting tests, the misdiagnosis of NMO for MS and vice versa and the variability of NMO between populations, it is difficult to produce exact epidemiological figures. In a review of several studies, NMO prevalence rates from 38 countries ranged from 0.05 per 100,000 in Kenya and Iraq to 4.4 per 100,000 in Denmark [18]. Though it had previously been assumed that NMO was more prevalent in Asians and Afro-Caribbeans than Caucasians, recent studies have suggested that prevalence in Caucasians may be higher than previously reported [18]. It is now well-established that up to 80–90% of NMO patients are female, which is characteristic of antibody-mediated autoimmune diseases [19]. Several risk factors for NMO have been proposed, including previous history of head trauma, low dairy, seafood, fruit and vegetable intake, and low heavy physical activity [20], though the validity of these studies is questionable.

Clinical Manifestations

NMO typically presents with optic neuritis and transverse myelitis [12]. The optic neuritis causes visual loss often associated with eye pain when moving the eyes. In NMO, optic neuritis is often bilateral or rapidly sequential. Transverse myelitis typically causes symmetric limb weakness, loss of sensation and loss of voluntary urinary bladder and anal sphincter control. Symptoms that suggest brainstem lesions include intractable nausea, vomiting or hiccups, due to involvement of the area postrema, excessive daytime somnolence or narcolepsy, due to involvement of the midbrain, as well as neuro-endocrine abnormalities due to involvement of the hypothalamus. Limited forms of the disease (forme fruste) have also been described including isolated unilateral optic neuritis or isolated transverse myelitis.

NMO association with other autoimmune diseases About 35–50% of NMO patients exhibit clinical signs or laboratory findings of other organ-specific or systemic autoimmune disorders (e.g. systemic lupus, autoimmune thyroid disease, or Sjögren's syndrome) [21]. A link between myasthenia gravis (MG) and NMO has received particular attention. Given the rarity of MG and NMO, their coexistence is unlikely to be coincidental. A retrospective study concluded that MG precedes NMO in most cases, often by more than a decade, and that a history of thymectomy poses a risk factor for later development of NMO [22]. Familial existence is more common than would be expected from its prevalence in the general population [23] and association between the HLA-DRB1*03 and HLA-DPB1*05 allele groups with NMO has been demonstrated [24, 25]. These findings suggest that genetic factors may play a role in the manifestation of NMO, though the contribution of genetics is relatively minor.

NMO outside the CNS AQP4 is expressed in peripheral organs outside the CNS such as the kidney (collecting duct principal cells, basolateral membranes of distal tubules), skeletal muscle (sarcolemma of fast-twitch type II fibres), stomach (basolateral membranes of parietal cells) and placenta (syncitiotrophoblast mid-gestation) [26-30]. Though AOP4-IgG binds AOP4 in peripheral organs [4], AOP4-IgGmediated cell damage outside the CNS is rare. No cases of gastric or renal inflammation associated with NMO have been reported and there are only isolated reports of NMO myopathy confirmed by muscle biopsy [31, 32]. One study found elevated serum creatinine kinase in only 0.4% of AOP4-IgG⁺ NMO patients [33]. Two mechanisms have been proposed to explain why the CNS is so vulnerable to AOP4-IgGmediated damage, but these AOP4-expressing peripheral organs are largely spared. One possibility is that circulating AQP4-IgG binds the peripheral AQP4-expressing cells but fails to activate the complement, whereas in the CNS, AOP4-IgG binding readily causes complement-mediated damage. This is supported by immunohistochemical studies showing that astrocytic end-feet in the brain lack the complement regulators CD46, CD55 and CD59 and are thus vulnerable to AOP4-IgG and complement-mediated damage [34]. In contrast, the skeletal muscle, stomach and kidney co-express at least one or more of these regulators with AOP4 thus inhibiting complement activation following AQP4-IgG binding, in the peripheral organs [34]. Another, less likely possibility is that the supramolecular aggregation of AOP4 is greater in peripheral organs compared with the CNS, thus allowing more AOP4-IgG to bind near each other, in turn facilitating complement activation [35].

NMO and pregnancy Since the majority of NMO patients are young females, it is important to explore how NMO affects pregnancy. Studies of patients from the UK, Japan and Mexico show high miscarriage rate, of 13–50%, in women with NMO compared with the general population [36]. Women who develop NMO and have other autoimmune disorders are at higher risk of pre-eclampsia. In humans and mice, AQP4 is not found in the sperm or the female reproductive tract, but is transiently expressed in the human and mouse placental syncitiotrophoblast midgestation [30]. In a mouse passive transfer study done mid-gestation, AQP4-IgG

induced miscarriage by binding placental AQP4 and activating the classical complement pathway as evidenced by C5b-9 deposits in the plasma membrane of placental syncytiotrophoblast, which resulted in leucocyte infiltration leading to placental necrosis and subsequent foetal death [30]. These findings suggest that high placental vulnerability to AOP4-IgG may be at mid-gestation, whereas at conception and in the early and late gestational phases, pregnancy may not be affected by AOP4-IgG. Several studies showed that the relapse rate of NMO is elevated in the three months after pregnancy [36–42]. A French study of 124 patients suggested that epidural analgesia and breastfeeding do not influence disease activity and have no effect on NMO exacerbation [43]. The high miscarriage rate in NMO women and the possibility of placentitis and the higher NMO relapse rate postpartum suggest that close monitoring and immunosuppressive treatment are required. Currently, there are no guidelines on the treatment of NMO in pregnancy. Before producing guidelines, further research is required to determine the effect of AQP4-IgG and of anti-NMO immunosuppressive medication on the foetus and neonate. With regard to pregnancy, the US Food and Drug Administration labels drugs as Category A (no evidence of risk to human foetuses), Category B (no evidence of risk to animal foetuses), Category C (harmful to animal foetuses but unknown in humans), Category D (harmful to human foetuses) and Category X (harmful to both human and animal foetuses) [44]. Methylprednisolone and rituximab are classified as category C for pregnancy purposes; thus these treatments should only be continued if potential benefits outweigh risks. Azathioprine and mycophenolate are category D and should be suspended in pregnancy. Since the frequency of relapses increases postpartum, immediate start of prophylactic treatment is advised [44].

Pathogenesis

Aquaporin-4 Aquaporins are integral membrane proteins that selectively facilitate the osmotic flow of water via passive transport [45]. Of the 13 known aquaporins, AQP4 is the most abundant in the CNS where it is expressed in the perimicrovessel astrocyte foot processes, glia limitans and ependyma [46], i.e. at the borders between the CNS and major fluid compartments such as blood and cerebrospinal fluid. In addition to allowing water movement into and out of the brain and spinal cord, AQP4 plays key roles in enhancing astroglial cell migration during glial scar formation [47], in modulating neuronal excitability and in determining the size of the extracellular space [48-51]. AQP4 comprises four monomers, each with six helical transmembrane domains and two short helical segments surrounding an aqueous pore [52]. AQP4 has two isoforms, produced by alternative splicing: M1, a fulllength isoform with translation initiation at Methionine-1, and M23, a shorter isoform with translation initiation at Methionine-23 [53]. A key functional difference between these isoforms is that M23 forms supramolecular arrays termed orthogonal arrays of particles (OAPs). M1 isoforms do not form OAPs on their own, but do so when be co-assembled with M23 and the size of the arrays depends on the M23:M1



Fig. 2 Structure of AQP4. (a) *(Top)* AQP4 has six membrane spanning domains (1–6) linked by aminoacid loops A–E. There is a hemipore between 2 and 3 and another hemipore between 5 and 6. *(Bottom)* The membrane spanning domains, loops, and hemipores assemble to form an AQP4 monomer. (b) Four AQP4 monomers are linked to form an AQP4 tetramer. Tetramers assemble into higher-order structures termed orthogonal arrays

ratio [53]. AQP4-IgG binds more avidly to cells expressing M23 than M1, which suggests that AQP4-IgG preferentially targets OAPs [2]. AQP4-IgG recognizes conformational epitopes involving the extracellular AQP4 loops A, C and E [54]. The structure of AQP4 is shown in Fig. 2.

Complement AOP4-IgG is IgG_1 subclass, which can activate complement, and binds AQP4 extracellular conformational epitopes, i.e. immunolabels nonpermeabilized cultured AOP4-expressing cells [5]. The presence of AOP4 OAPs allows multiple AQP4-IgG to bind in close proximity, thus leading to complement activation. Samira Saadoun showed that, in mouse brain, passive transfer of AOP4-IgG produces lesions only when co-injected with human complement, since human IgG_1 does not effectively activate mouse complement. The mouse NMO lesions had the characteristic features of human NMO lesions including loss of AOP4 and GFAP expression, indicating astrocyte death, demyelination, inflammatory cell infiltration and perivascular deposition of the activated complement components C5b-9 [11]. Though both complement-dependent (CDC) and antibody-dependent cell-mediated (ADCC) cytotoxicities feature in NMO pathogenesis [55], CDC is thought to be the principal mechanism. CDC is significantly enhanced in AQP4 channels assembled as OAPs and thus cells expressing M23-AQP4 are more prone to AQP4-IgGmediated destruction than M1-AQP4 expressing cells [56, 57]. ADCC involving natural killer cells is not dependent on OAP formation and thus occurs equally in M23- and M1-expressing cells [57], though the role of natural killer cells in NMO is unclear. In a clinical trial of 14 AOP4-IgG⁺ women with aggressive NMO, eculizumab, a monoclonal IgG that neutralizes the complement protein C5, reduced attack frequency and stabilized or improved neurological disability. The therapeutic efficacy of eculizumab also supports the essential role of complement activation in NMO pathogenesis.

CNS inflammation At perivascular astrocytic end-feet, activation of the classical complement pathway leads to a cascade of downstream effects [2]. Complement causes astrocyte lysis by deposition of the C5b-9 membrane attack complex channels into the astrocyte plasma cell membrane. Activated complement recruits and activates neutrophils, eosinophils and macrophages. In a passive transfer NMO mouse model, the first cells to enter the CNS are neutrophils and eosinophils, which infiltrate the perivascular (Virchow-Robin) spaces and glia limitans; these granulocytes damage the CNS, as the neutrophils release elastase and the eosinophils release basic granule proteins such as eosinophil-derived neurotoxin, MBP, eosinophil peroxidase and eosinophil cationic protein [7]. In a mouse NMO model, the neutrophil elastase inhibitor sivelestat [58] and the anti-eosinophil histamine antagonist cetirizine [59] reduced AQP4-IgG-mediated brain damage. Macrophages generate local proteases, cytokines and free radicals, resulting in pan-necrosis, i.e. the destruction of white and grey matter including not only astrocytes but also neuronal axons and oligodendrocytes [7]. Since oligodendrocytes are responsible for the myelination of axons in the CNS, their loss explains the demyelinating feature of NMO. Though demyelination is a major histological feature of NMO, it is not the primary pathological event. Axonal destruction ultimately leads to neuronal cell death [7]. Since AQP4 facilitates astrocyte migration, destruction of AQP4 impairs the formation of a glial scar that normally provides the barrier that excludes circulating leucocytes from entering the CNS [60, 61]. Figure 3 summarizes key events responsible for AQP4-IgG⁺ NMO pathogenesis.

AQP4-IgG production The triggers responsible for AQP4-IgG production are unclear. One possibility is infection-induced cross-reactivity between human AQP4 and bacterial proteins such as aquaporin-Z [62] or Clostridium perfringens adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter permease [63]. Some reports proposed an association between SLE and NMO, even suggesting a direct causal link between SLE onset and AQP4-IgG production [64, 65]. Some NMO is paraneoplastic: NMO has been described in the setting of several cancer types, with thymoma and breast



carcinoma the most common [66]. AQP4 is abnormally expressed at high levels in certain tumours [66], perhaps prompting the patients' immune response against the tumour to generate IgG that binds tumoural AQP4.

AOP4-IgG crossing the blood-brain barrier AOP4-IgG is produced in the periphery and enters the CNS secondarily as evidenced by the high blood:CSF AOP4-IgG ratio [67]. How does AOP4-IgG cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) to access AQP4 in the CNS? One route for CNS entry is through the microvasculature of the circumventricular organs (CVOs, i.e. area postrema, subfornicial organ, pituitary gland), which express high levels of AOP4 and where the microvascular endothelium lacks tight junctions. The CVO lack BBB allowing AOP4-IgG to cross into the brain from the bloodstream. This explains why NMO lesions are frequently found in the periaqueductal brainstem and hypothalamus thus causing diencephalic symptoms or area postrema symptoms with intractable nausea and vomiting [68]. The involvement of CVOs in NMO is now recognized in the 2015 NMO diagnostic criteria, which are summarized in Table 1. Another proposed route for AQP4-IgG entry from the periphery into the CNS is by direct transit across the BBB; this route requires autoantibodies against glucose-regulated protein 78 to open the BBB [68] or interleukin-6 production by astrocytes that signals BBB endothelial cells to decrease BBB function [69, 70]. AOP4-IgG does not have a direct effect on the endothelial cells to permeabilize the BBB [70], which explains why some patients may have circulating high titres of AQP4-IgG without developing CNS lesions [71]. The frequent involvement of the spinal cord in AOP4-IgG-mediated damage cannot be explained by a lack of blood-spinal cord barrier; perhaps another as yet unidentified event occurs to transiently open the blood-spinal cord barrier and allow the AQP4-IgG to cross from the bloodstream into the cord.

MOG-IgG NMO MOG proteins, whilst only making up <0.5% of the myelin sheath in the CNS, are highly immunogenic [17]. There are major differences between the pathophysiology of AOP4-IgG- and MOG-IgG-mediated NMO. The hallmark of AQP4-IgG NMO is astrocyte damage, with secondary oligodendrocyte damage; on the other hand, astrocyte damage seems to be absent in MOG-IgG cases [17]. Myelin basic protein (MBP), but not the astrocyte marker GFAP (glial fibrillary acidic protein), is elevated in patients with MOG-IgG when compared to those with AOP4-IgG [72]. This finding suggests that the main mechanism of MOG-IgG-induced CNS damage is oligodendrocyte damage rather than astrocyte damage. Classified under 'seronegative NMO', the MOG-IgG patients possess a different phenotype from those with AQP4-IgG NMO that has more similar clinical and demographic profiles to acute demyelinating encephalomyelitis (ADEM) [73]. Visual impairment and axonal damage in the retina after optic neuritis in MOG-IgG-positive patients are as severe as AQP4-IgG-positive patients [74]; episodes are more severe in the MOG-IgG⁺ group, but MOG-IgG⁺ are more likely to be monophasic, and recovery is usually better [73]. Whilst AQP4-IgG seropositivity is more common in females, males comprise the majority of the MOG-IgG⁺ NMO group [73].

Table 1 The 2015 diagnostic criteria for NMO spectrum disorder

NMOSD with AQP4-IGG

At least 1 core clinical characteristic

Positive test for AQP4-IgG using best available detection method

Exclusion of alternative diagnoses

NMOSD without AOP4-IGG or unknown AOP4-IGG status

At least two core clinical characteristics occurring as a result of one or more clinical attacks and meeting all of the following requirements

At least one core clinical characteristic must be ON, acute TM with LETM, or area postrema syndrome

Dissemination in space (two or more core clinical characteristics)

Fulfilment of additional MRI requirements, as applicable

Negative test for AQP4-IgG using best available detection method, or testing unavailable

Exclusion of alternative diagnoses

Core clinical characteristics

ON

Acute TM

Area postrema syndrome: episode of otherwise unexplained hiccups or nausea and vomiting

Acute brainstem syndrome

Symptomatic narcolepsy or acute diencephalic clinical syndrome with NMOSD-typical diencephalic MRI lesions

Symptomatic cerebral syndrome with NMOSD-typical brain lesions

Additional MRI requirements for NMOSD without AQP4-IGG or unknown AQP4-IGG status

Acute ON requires brain MRI showing (a) normal findings or only nonspecific white matter lesions or (b) optic nerve MRI with T2-hyperintense lesion or T1-weighted gadoliniumenhancing lesion extending over 1/2 optic nerve length or involving optic chiasm

Acute TM requires associated intramedullary MRI lesion extending over three or more

contiguous segments (LETM) or three or more contiguous segments of focal spinal cord atrophy in patients with history compatible with acute TM

Area postrema syndrome: requires associated dorsal medulla/area postrema lesions

Acute brainstem syndrome: requires associated periependymal brainstem lesions

LETM longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis, NMOSD NMO spectrum disorder, ON optic neuritis, TM transverse myelitis

Seronegative NMO About 20% of NMO patients test negative for AOP4-IgG and MOG-IgG [75]. The pathophysiology of seronegative NMO remains unclear. One possibility is that current antibody assays are not sensitive enough to detect low levels of AQP4-IgG or MOG-IgG. AQP4-IgG assay sensitivity has improved to $\sim 90\%$ [73], but there are still patients who are falsely classified 'seronegative' even though they have AOP4-IgG. Another possibility is that patients may have antibodies against astrocyte targets other than AQP4 or MOG [2]. There are also several diseases that clinically mimic NMO (i.e. with optic nerve and spinal cord inflammation) but are immunologically distinct [73] and, therefore, some seronegative NMO patients are probably misdiagnosed. Diseases that can mimic NMO include multiple sclerosis, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, systemic lupus erythematosus, neurosarcoidosis, Sjögren's syndrome, varicella zoster infection and certain paraneoplastic diseases.

Diagnosis

The most recent diagnostic criteria for NMO are from 2015 (Table 1) [12]. Revision was necessary due to rapid advancements in NMO research that had rendered the 2006 diagnostic criteria inadequate. To diagnose NMO spectrum disorder, in addition to optic neuritis and acute myelitis, four other core clinical characteristics of NMO include: area postrema syndrome (unexplained hiccups or nausea and vomiting), acute brainstem syndrome, narcolepsy or acute diencephalic clinical syndrome, and cerebral syndrome [12]. Current diagnostic criteria differ depending on the presence of the AOP4-IgG antibody. In order for an NMO diagnosis to be confirmed in a seropositive patient, only one core clinical characteristic is required. Conversely, if AQP4-IgG is undetectable, the requirements for a diagnosis are more stringent: two core clinical characteristics and additional MRI features must be present. Approximately a third of MOG-IgG-positive patients fulfil the diagnostic criteria for seronegative NMO [17]. Due to the association of MOG-IgG to a wider clinical phenotype, it has been debated whether MOG-IgG⁺ patients should be treated differently from those with NMO; the term MONEM (MOG-IgG-associated optic neuritis, encephalitis and myelitis) has been proposed [17].

NMO versus MS Whilst a number of clinical and radiological features (e.g. transverse myelitis and spinal cord lesions) are shared between NMO and MS [1], there are many differences; in general, NMO manifests later in life; the average age of onset for NMO is 39 years old compared to 29 for MS. [19] 80-90% of patients with NMO experience relapsing episodes of optic neuritis and myelitis, with little recovery from each attack. In NMO, the transverse myelitis is largely longitudinally extensive, i.e. the signal change on MRI spans at least three vertebral levels. NMO has a relapsing course with median time to first relapse at 8-12 months [76]. In contrast, most MS patients experience attacks of milder severity that usually recover well; only 15% of MS cases are primary-progressive [19]. NMO tends to cause substantial and irreversible damage to the CNS after every episode, eventually resulting in permanent visual, motor, sensory and urinary bladder defects. The degree of deterioration in NMO can be predicted by the number of relapses within the first 2 years of disease onset, the age at disease onset and the severity of the first episode. NMO fatality commonly follows neurogenic respiratory failure and mortality rates range from 25% to 50%.

Cerebrospinal fluid Cerebrospinal fluid analysis differs markedly between NMO and MS. Prominent cerebrospinal fluid pleocytosis (>50x10 [6] leucocytes/L) with a high proportion of neutrophils is characteristic of NMO-specific myelitis, whereas MS attacks usually involve milder pleocytosis with more lymphocytes and no neutrophils. Excessive IgG oligoclonal bands in the cerebrospinal fluid, which indicates intrathecal immunoglobulin synthesis, are detected in only 15–30% of NMO patients, compared to 85% of patients with MS. [19].

MRI features Clinical features and serological findings alone are adequate for a diagnosis of AQP4-IgG⁺ NMO. Nonetheless, MRI investigations are instrumental in aiding the diagnosis of NMO regardless of AQP4-IgG status. The 2015 set of diagnostic criteria list MRI features characteristic of NMO involving the spinal cord, optic nerve, dorsal medulla, pons, dorsal midbrain, area postrema, thalamus, hypothalamus, corpus callosum, cerebrum and corticospinal tract [12]. The MRI hallmark of NMO is LETR that involves at least three vertebral levels. There are, however, additional MRI features of NMO not mentioned in the diagnostic criteria such as diencephalic lesions surrounding the third ventricles and cerebral aqueduct, as well as the anterior border of the midbrain [77]. Current research using high-field 7 T MR scanners [78] and advanced MRI techniques, such as MR diffusion and MR spectroscopy [79, 80], may shed further light on characteristic imaging features that distinguish AQP4-IgG⁺ NMO, MOG-IgG⁺ NMO, seronegative NMO and MS.

AQP4-IgG diagnostic assay Different assay methods are currently being used for the detection of AQP4-IgG, tissue-based indirect immunofluorescence assay (IIF), ELISA-R, GFP-AQP4 fluorescence immunoprecipitation assay (FIPA), visual fluorescence-observation cell-based assay (CBA) and quantitative flow cytometry (fluorescence-activated cell sorting assay). Of those, the fluorescence-activated cell sorting technique (FACS) has the highest detection rate [81] of up to 87% [82]. The FACS assay works when human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293) are transfected with a plasmid encoding the M23 isoform of AQP4; then, FcR blocking reagent and patient serum are added, followed by incubation and washing. Finally, anti-human IgG tagged with fluorescent dye is added, and the cells are washed, fixed and examined by flow cytometer. Binding of a patient's IgG to the AQP4-transfected cells is then measured in terms of the intensity of the fluorescent dye [82]. Transfection of target cells using M23-AQP4 (that forms OAPs) rather than M1-AQP4 has increased the sensitivity of the AQP4-IgG assay [83].

MOG-IgG diagnostic assay MOG-IgG autoantibodies can now be identified with high precision [17]. Similar to the FACS assay for detecting AQP4-IgG, MOG-IgG cell-based assays involve the transfection of human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293) with full-length human MOG [84]. This assay is a vast improvement from previous techniques such as western blotting (which detected false denatured MOG epitopes) and ELISA (which could not distinguish specific antibodies against conformational MOG epitopes) [17].

Treatment

Acute attacks Most acute attacks of NMO are treated with high dose methylprednisolone [2]. If there is response to methylprednisolone, plasmapheresis (plasma exchange) is used [2]. Plasmapheresis removes blood from the patient, with the plasma subsequently replaced; this technique removes circulating AQP4-IgG or MOG-IgG antibodies, but the plasma cells that produce these antibodies remain. There is substantial evidence that plasmapheresis is both immediately beneficial and also in the long-term [85]. Other treatments for acute NMO include intravenous immunoglobulin (which has multiple mechanisms of action that suppress harmful inflammation) and cyclophosphamide (which forms DNA cross-links at guanine N-7 positions thus inhibiting mitosis and causing apoptosis in rapidly dividing cells) [44].

Maintenance treatments These treatments aim to prevent relapses and currently include general immunosuppressants such as corticosteroids, azathioprine, mycophenolate and mitoxantrone (type II topoisomerase inhibitor) [2]. Azathioprine inhibits purine synthesis; mycophenolate inhibits inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase (which is essential for the synthesis of guanosine-5'monophosphate) and mitoxantrone, which is a type II topoisomerase inhibitor that disrupts DNA synthesis and DNA repair. Anti-B-lymphocyte treatments are also being used including rituximab, which is a genetically engineered chimeric murine/ human monoclonal antibody against CD20, a differentiation antigen found on normal and mature B lymphocytes, but not plasma cells. Interleukin-6-dependent plasmablasts also seem to play a role in AQP4-IgG antibody production in NMO [86, 87]; interleukin-6 receptor blockade using the humanized monoclonal antibody tocilizumab reduces relapse rate and volume of spinal cord lesions in NMO [88]. Eculizumab, a monoclonal antibody that neutralizes complement protein C5, has been shown to significantly reduce attack frequency [89] and is an emerging treatment for NMO. Currently used NMO treatments are summarized in Table 2. Though there is now a variety of treatments for NMO, the optimum treatment is unknown and may vary between patients. Some patients respond well to some treatments, though in other patients, who are on the same treatment, NMO may progress leading to death [87].

Interferon beta and natalizumab exacerbate NMO The MS therapy, interferon beta [2], exacerbates NMO and increases relapse frequency, most likely by increasing B-cell activating factor and augmenting Th17-mediated inflammation and demyelination [2]. Another MS treatment, natalizumab that inhibits the entry of leucocytes into peripheral organs, is also known to exacerbate NMO, even after only a single dose [90]. These observations reinforce the importance of making an accurate diagnosis and the dangers of misclassifying NMO as MS.

Future treatments and challenges Currently, there is no cure for NMO and prognosis is poor; therefore, the development of novel therapeutic agents is a priority. Possible future therapeutic approaches include inhibiting the binding of AQP4-IgG to AQP4 (aquaporumab is in its developmental stage), inhibition of complement proteins (e.g. eculizumab, which works by inhibiting C5), inactivation of the AQP4-IgG antibody using bacterial enzymes and reducing permeabilization of the bloodbrain barrier [44]. Aquaporumab is a non-pathogenic monoclonal antibody treatment that competitively inhibits AQP4-IgG by selectively binding to AQP4

Treatment	Typical dose	
Acute attack		
Methylprednisolone	1 g daily i.v. for 3–5 days	
Plasma exchange	5–7 cycles	
i.v. immunoglobulin	0.7 g/kg for 3 days, treatment period 8 weeks	
Cyclophosphamide	2 g daily for 4 days	
Maintenance		
Prednisolone	2–20 mg/day	
Mycophenylate	750–3000/day	
Cyclosporine	2–5 mg/kg/day	
Axathioprine	1–3 mg/kg/day	
Methotrexate	7.5–25 /week	
Mitoxantrone	Start 12 mg/m ² /month for 3–6 months, maintenance with 6–12 mg/m ² every 3 months; maximum cumulative dose of 120 mg/m ²	
Rituximab	For example, 1 g at day 1 and day 14, repeat every 6 months (optional: monitoring of CD19 counts)	
Tocilizumab	6–8 mg/kg monthly injection	
Eculizumab	600 mg i.v. each week for 4 weeks, then 900 mg i.v. at the fifth week, then 900 mg every 2 weeks	
i.v. IgG	0.7 g/kg for 3 days, treatment period 8 weeks	
Treatments that may exacerbate NMO		
Interferon beta	N/A	
Natalizumab	N/A	
Fingolimod	N/A	

Table 2 Currently used NMO treatments

i.v. intravenous, N/A not applicable

without causing complement activation [44]. Given its high AQP4 selectivity and Fc mutation, which eliminates its CDC and ADCC cytotoxic effects, aquaporumab is predicted not to cause immunosuppression or toxicity, and seems to be a promising future NMO treatment [44]. Several existing treatments (developed initially for other diseases) targeting neutrophils, eosinophils and complement proteins are under evaluation to be repurposed for NMO [44]. Tolerization of the immune system to AQP4 has also been proposed as a cure, but there is no published data regarding the efficacy of such an approach in NMO [91, 92]. At present, no NMO treatment has been proven to be safe and effective in randomized controlled trials [93]. There is an obvious need for more interventional studies to be done; unfortunately, conducting a clinical trial for NMO poses major challenges. Given the small patient population, recruitment is an issue as is competition between trials for NMO patients. The severity and frequency of NMO attacks are suitable endpoints for clinical trials, thus strict definition of relapses must be followed [93]. The most challenging aspect of implementing randomized controlled trials relates to the ethics of administering placebo to patients with such a dangerous condition; innovative approaches such as shared placebo groups may facilitate the investigative pipeline [93].

Conclusions

The NMO field has progressed rapidly due to the discoveries of NMO-IgG and MOG-IgG. It is now evident that NMO pathophysiology is distinct from that of MS and, therefore, NMO is no longer considered to be a variant of MS. Despite the rapid progress, several unanswered questions remain including what causes AQP4-IgG production, what triggers an NMO attack in an asymptomatic patient who has had circulating AQP4-IgG for many years and what causes seronegative NMO.

References

- 1. Jarius S, Wildemann B. The history of neuromyelitis optica. J Neuroinflammation. 2013;10:8.
- 2. Papadopoulos MC, Verkman AS. Aquaporin 4 and neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol. 2012;11:535–44.
- Lennon VA, Wingerchuk DM, Kryzer TJ, et al. A serum autoantibody marker of neuromyelitis optica: distinction from multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2004;364:2106–12.
- Lennon VA, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Verkman AS, Hinson SR. IgG marker of optic-spinal multiple sclerosis binds to the aquaporin-4 water channel. J Exp Med. 2005;202:473–7.
- 5. Hinson SR, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, et al. Pathogenic potential of IgG binding to water channel extracellular domain in neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. 2007;69:2221–31.
- 6. Guo Y, Weigand SD, Popescu BF, et al. Pathogenic implications of cerebrospinal fluid barrier pathology in neuromyelitis optica. Acta Neuropathol. 2017;133:597–612.
- Lucchinetti CF, Mandler RN, McGavern D, et al. A role for humoral mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Devic's neuromyelitis optica. Brain. 2002;125:1450–61.
- Wingerchuk DM, Lennon VA, Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Weinshenker BG. Revised diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. 2006;66:1485–9.
- 9. Bradl M, Misu T, Takahashi T, et al. Neuromyelitis optica: pathogenicity of patient immunoglobulin in vivo. Ann Neurol. 2009;66:630–43.
- 10. Takahashi T, Fujihara K, Nakashima I, et al. Anti-aquaporin-4 antibody is involved in the pathogenesis of NMO: a study on antibody titre. Brain. 2007;130:1235–43.
- Saadoun S, Waters P, Bell BA, Vincent A, Verkman AS, Papadopoulos MC. Intra-cerebral injection of neuromyelitis optica immunoglobulin G and human complement produces neuromyelitis optica lesions in mice. Brain. 2010;133:349–61.
- Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Neurology. Hagerstown, MD. 2015;85:177–89.
- Jurynczyk M, Messina S, Woodhall MR, et al. Clinical presentation and prognosis in MOGantibody disease: a UK study. Brain. 2017;140:3128–38.
- 14. Chang T, Waters P, Woodhall M, Vincent A. Recurrent Optic Neuritis Associated With MOG Antibody Seropositivity. Neurologist. 2017;22:101–2.
- Kim SM, Woodhall MR, Kim JS, et al. Antibodies to MOG in adults with inflammatory demyelinating disease of the CNS. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2015;2:e163.
- Waters P, Woodhall M, O'Connor KC, et al. MOG cell-based assay detects non-MS patients with inflammatory neurologic disease. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2015;2:e89.
- Dos Passos GR, Oliveira LM, da Costa BK, et al. MOG-IgG-Associated Optic Neuritis, Encephalitis, and Myelitis: Lessons Learned From Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder. Front Neurol. 2018;9:217.
- Etemadifar M, Nasr Z, Khalili B, Taherioun M, Vosoughi R. Epidemiology of neuromyelitis optica in the world: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mult Scler Int. 2015;2015:174720.

- Wingerchuk DM, Lennon VA, Lucchinetti CF, Pittock SJ, Weinshenker BG. The spectrum of neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6:805–15.
- Eskandarieh S, Nedjat S, Abdollahpour I, et al. Environmental risk factors in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: a case-control study. Acta Neurol Belg. 2018;118:277–87.
- Jarius S, Wildemann B, Paul F. Neuromyelitis optica: clinical features, immunopathogenesis and treatment. Clin Exp Immunol. 2014;176:149–64.
- 22. Jarius S, Paul F, Franciotta D, et al. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders in patients with myasthenia gravis: ten new aquaporin-4 antibody positive cases and a review of the literature. Mult Scler. 2012;18:1135–43.
- 23. Matiello M, Kim HJ, Kim W, et al. Familial neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. 2010;75:310-5.
- 24. Brum DG, Barreira AA, dos Santos AC, et al. HLA-DRB association in neuromyelitis optica is different from that observed in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2010;16:21–9.
- 25. Wang H, Dai Y, Qiu W, et al. HLA-DPB1 0501 is associated with susceptibility to anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies positive neuromyelitis optica in southern Han Chinese. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;233:181–4.
- 26. Misaka T, Abe K, Iwabuchi K, et al. A water channel closely related to rat brain aquaporin 4 is expressed in acid- and pepsinogen-secretory cells of human stomach. FEBS Lett. 1996;381:208–12.
- 27. Mobasheri A, Marples D, Young IS, Floyd RV, Moskaluk CA, Frigeri A. Distribution of the AQP4 water channel in normal human tissues: protein and tissue microarrays reveal expression in several new anatomical locations, including the prostate gland and seminal vesicles. Channels (Austin). 2007;1:29–38.
- Wakayama Y, Jimi T, Inoue M, et al. Reduced aquaporin 4 expression in the muscle plasma membrane of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Arch Neurol. 2002;59:431–7.
- Hasegawa H, Ma T, Skach W, Matthay MA, Verkman AS. Molecular cloning of a mercurialinsensitive water channel expressed in selected water-transporting tissues. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:5497–500.
- Saadoun S, Waters P, Leite MI, Bennett JL, Vincent A, Papadopoulos MC. Neuromyelitis optica IgG causes placental inflammation and fetal death. J Immunol. 2013;191:2999–3005.
- Malik R, Lewis A, Cree BA, et al. Transient hyperCKemia in the setting of neuromyelitis optica (NMO). Muscle Nerve. 2014;50:859–62.
- Guo Y, Lennon VA, Popescu BF, et al. Autoimmune aquaporin-4 myopathy in neuromyelitis optica spectrum. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71:1025–9.
- Suzuki N, Takahashi T, Aoki M, et al. Neuromyelitis optica preceded by hyperCKemia episode. Neurology. 2010;74:1543–5.
- Saadoun S, Papadopoulos MC. Role of membrane complement regulators in neuromyelitis optica. Mult Scler. 2015;21:1644–54.
- 35. Rosito S, Nicchia GP, Palazzo C, et al. Supramolecular aggregation of aquaporin-4 is different in muscle and brain: correlation with tissue susceptibility in neuromyelitis optica. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22:1236–46.
- Nour MM, Nakashima I, Coutinho E, et al. Pregnancy outcomes in aquaporin-4-positive neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. Neurology. 2016;86:79–87.
- Borisow N, Hellwig K, Paul F. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders and pregnancy: relapse-preventive measures and personalized treatment strategies. EPMA J. 2018;9:249–56.
- 38. Banwell B, Marrie RA. Increased relapse rate during pregnancy and postpartum in neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. 2017;89:2220–1.
- Huang Y, Wang Y, Zhou Y, et al. Pregnancy in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: A multicenter study from South China. J Neurol Sci. 2017;372:152–6.
- 40. Shimizu Y, Fujihara K, Ohashi T, et al. Pregnancy-related relapse risk factors in women with anti-AQP4 antibody positivity and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. Mult Scler. 2016;22:1413–20.
- Jurewicz A, Selmaj K. Relapse of neuromyelitis optica during pregnancy--treatment options and literature review. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2015;130:159–61.

- 42. Kim W, Kim SH, Nakashima I, et al. Influence of pregnancy on neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. Neurology. 2012;78:1264–7.
- 43. Bourre B, Marignier R, Zephir H, et al. Neuromyelitis optica and pregnancy. Neurology. 2012;78:875–9.
- Papadopoulos MC, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Treatment of neuromyelitis optica: state-of-theart and emerging therapies. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10:493–506.
- Papadopoulos MC, Verkman AS. Aquaporin water channels in the nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013;14:265–77.
- 46. Saadoun S, Papadopoulos MC. Aquaporin-4 in brain and spinal cord oedema. Neuroscience. 2010;168:1036–46.
- Saadoun S, Papadopoulos MC, Watanabe H, Yan D, Manley GT, Verkman AS. Involvement of aquaporin-4 in astroglial cell migration and glial scar formation. J Cell Sci. 2005;118:5691–8.
- Zador Z, Magzoub M, Jin S, Manley GT, Papadopoulos MC, Verkman AS. Microfiberoptic fluorescence photobleaching reveals size-dependent macromolecule diffusion in extracellular space deep in brain. FASEB J. 2008;22:870–9.
- Papadopoulos MC, Kim JK, Verkman AS. Extracellular space diffusion in central nervous system: anisotropic diffusion measured by elliptical surface photobleaching. Biophys J. 2005;89:3660–8.
- Papadopoulos MC, Binder DK, Verkman AS. Enhanced macromolecular diffusion in brain extracellular space in mouse models of vasogenic edema measured by cortical surface photobleaching. FASEB J. 2005;19:425–7.
- Binder DK, Papadopoulos MC, Haggie PM, Verkman AS. In vivo measurement of brain extracellular space diffusion by cortical surface photobleaching. J Neurosci. 2004;24:8049–56.
- 52. Verkman AS, Phuan PW, Asavapanumas N, Tradtrantip L. Biology of AQP4 and anti-AQP4 antibody: therapeutic implications for NMO. Brain Pathol. 2013;23:684–95.
- Jin BJ, Rossi A, Verkman A. Model of Aquaporin-4 Supramolecular Assembly in Orthogonal Arrays Based on Heterotetrameric Association of M1-M23 Isoforms. Biophys J. 2011;100:2936–45.
- 54. Pisani F, Mola MG, Simone L, et al. Identification of a point mutation impairing the binding between aquaporin-4 and neuromyelitis optica autoantibodies. J Biol Chem. 2014;289:30578–89.
- 55. Nishiyama S, Misu T, Nuriya M, et al. Complement-dependent and -independent aquaporin 4-antibody-mediated cytotoxicity in human astrocytes: Pathogenetic implications in neuromyelitis optica. Biochem Biophys Rep. 2016;7:45–51.
- 56. Kitley J, Woodhall M, Leite MI, Palace J, Vincent A, Waters P. Aquaporin-4 antibody isoform binding specificities do not explain clinical variations in NMO. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2015;2:e121.
- Phuan PW, Ratelade J, Rossi A, Tradtrantip L, Verkman AS. Complement-dependent cytotoxicity in neuromyelitis optica requires aquaporin-4 protein assembly in orthogonal arrays. J Biol Chem. 2012;287:13829–39.
- Saadoun S, Waters P, MacDonald C, et al. Neutrophil protease inhibition reduces neuromyelitis optica-immunoglobulin G-induced damage in mouse brain. Ann Neurol. 2012;71:323–33.
- Zhang H, Verkman AS. Eosinophil pathogenicity mechanisms and therapeutics in neuromyelitis optica. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:2306–16.
- 60. Burda JE, Sofroniew MV. Reactive gliosis and the multicellular response to CNS damage and disease. Neuron. 2014;81:229–48.
- Bush TG, Puvanachandra N, Horner CH, et al. Leukocyte infiltration, neuronal degeneration, and neurite outgrowth after ablation of scar-forming, reactive astrocytes in adult transgenic mice. Neuron. 1999;23:297–308.
- 62. Ren Z, Wang Y, Duan T, et al. Cross-immunoreactivity between bacterial aquaporin-Z and human aquaporin-4: potential relevance to neuromyelitis optica. J Immunol. 2012;189:4602–11.
- Cree BA, Spencer CM, Varrin-Doyer M, Baranzini SE, Zamvil SS. Gut microbiome analysis in neuromyelitis optica reveals overabundance of Clostridium perfringens. Ann Neurol. 2016;80:443–7.
- 64. Adawi M, Bisharat B, Bowirrat A. Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) Complicated by Neuromyelitis Optica (NMO – Devic's Disease): Clinic-Pathological Report and Review of the Literature. Clin Med Insights Case Rep. 2014;7:41–7.
- 65. Kovacs KT, Kalluri SR, Boza-Serrano A, et al. Change in autoantibody and cytokine responses during the evolution of neuromyelitis optica in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: A preliminary study. Mult Scler. 2016;22:1192–201.
- 66. Iorio R, Rindi G, Erra C, Damato V, Ferilli M, Sabatelli M. Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder as a paraneoplastic manifestation of lung adenocarcinoma expressing aquaporin-4. Mult Scler. 2015;21:791–4.
- 67. Jarius S, Franciotta D, Paul F, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid antibodies to aquaporin-4 in neuromyelitis optica and related disorders: frequency, origin, and diagnostic relevance. J Neuroinflammation. 2010;7:52.
- 68. Shimizu F, Ransohoff RM. GRP78 autoantibodies initiate the breakdown of the blood-brain barrier in neuromyelitis optica. Oncotarget. 2017;8:106175–6.
- 69. Uchida T, Mori M, Uzawa A, et al. Increased cerebrospinal fluid metalloproteinase-2 and interleukin-6 are associated with albumin quotient in neuromyelitis optica: Their possible role on blood-brain barrier disruption. Mult Scler. 2017;23:1072–84.
- Takeshita Y, Obermeier B, Cotleur AC, et al. Effects of neuromyelitis optica-IgG at the bloodbrain barrier in vitro. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2017;4:e311.
- Nishiyama S, Ito T, Misu T, et al. A case of NMO seropositive for aquaporin-4 antibody more than 10 years before onset. Neurology. 2009;72:1960–1.
- Kaneko K, Sato DK, Nakashima I, et al. Myelin injury without astrocytopathy in neuroinflammatory disorders with MOG antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. England. 2016;87:1257–9.
- 73. Levy M. Does aquaporin-4-seronegative neuromyelitis optica exist? JAMA Neurol. United States. 2014;71:271–2.
- 74. Pache F, Zimmermann H, Mikolajczak J, et al. MOG-IgG in NMO and related disorders: a multicenter study of 50 patients. Part 4: Afferent visual system damage after optic neuritis in MOG-IgG-seropositive versus AQP4-IgG-seropositive patients. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13:282.
- 75. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Wildemann B, et al. Contrasting disease patterns in seropositive and seronegative neuromyelitis optica: A multicentre study of 175 patients. J Neuroinflammation. 2012;9:14.
- Pandit L, Asgari N, Apiwattanakul M, et al. Demographic and clinical features of neuromyelitis optica: A review. Mult Scler. 2015;21:845–53.
- Kim HJ, Paul F, Lana-Peixoto MA, et al. MRI characteristics of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: An international update. Neurology. Hagerstown, MD. 2015;84:1165–73.
- 78. Sinnecker T, Schumacher S, Mueller K, et al. MRI phase changes in multiple sclerosis vs neuromyelitis optica lesions at 7T. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3:e259.
- Duan Y, Liu Z, Liu Y, et al. Metabolic changes in normal-appearing white matter in patients with neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis: a comparative magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Acta Radiol. 2017;58:1132–7.
- 80. de Seze J, Blanc F, Kremer S, et al. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy evaluation in patients with neuromyelitis optica. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2010;81:409–11.
- 81. Waters P, McKeon A, Leite M, et al. Serologic diagnosis of NMO: A multicenter comparison of aquaporin-4-IgG assays. Neurology. Hagerstown, MD. 2012;78:665–71.
- Jiao Y, Fryer JP, Lennon VA, et al. Updated estimate of AQP4-IgG serostatus and disability outcome in neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. Hagerstown, MD. 2013;84:1197–204.
- Crane JM, Lam C, Rossi A, Gupta T, Bennett JL, Verkman AS. Binding affinity and specificity of neuromyelitis optica autoantibodies to aquaporin-4 M1/M23 isoforms and orthogonal arrays. J Biol Chem. 2011;286:16516–24.
- 84. Jarius S, Ruprecht K, Stellmann JP, et al. MOG-IgG in primary and secondary chronic progressive multiple sclerosis: a multicenter study of 200 patients and review of the literature. J Neuroinflammation. 2018;15:88.

- 85. Kim SH, Kim W, Huh SY, Lee KY, Jung IJ, Kim HJ. Clinical Efficacy of Plasmapheresis in Patients with Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder and Effects on Circulating Anti-Aquaporin-4 Antibody Levels. J Clin Neurol. 2013;9:36–42.
- Chihara N, Aranami T, Sato W, et al. Interleukin 6 signaling promotes anti-aquaporin 4 autoantibody production from plasmablasts in neuromyelitis optica. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:3701–6.
- 87. Cabre P, Mejdoubi M, Jeannin S, et al. Treatment of neuromyelitis optica with rituximab: a 2-year prospective multicenter study. J Neurol. 2018;265:917–25.
- Ringelstein M, Ayzenberg I, Harmel J, et al. Long-term Therapy With Interleukin 6 Receptor Blockade in Highly Active Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72:756–63.
- Pittock SJ, Lennon VA, McKeon A, et al. Eculizumab in AQP4-IgG-positive relapsing neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders: an open-label pilot study. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12:554–62.
- 90. Kitley J, Evangelou N, Kuker W, Jacob A, Leite MI, Palace J. Catastrophic brain relapse in seronegative NMO after a single dose of natalizumab. J Neurol Sci. 2014;339:223–5.
- Bar-Or A, Steinman L, Behne JM, et al. Restoring immune tolerance in neuromyelitis optica: Part II. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3:e277.
- Steinman L, Bar-Or A, Behne JM, et al. Restoring immune tolerance in neuromyelitis optica: Part I. Neurol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3:e276.
- Weinshenker BG, Barron G, Behne JM, et al. Challenges and opportunities in designing clinical trials for neuromyelitis optica. Neurology. Hagerstown, MD. 2015;84:1805–15.

Atypical Inflammatory Demyelinating Syndromes of the Central Nervous System



Todd A. Hardy

Abstract The atypical demyelinating syndromes are a group of conditions, characterised pathologically by demyelination, that form part of the differential diagnosis of multiple sclerosis (MS) but differ from it due to variations in clinical presentation, MRI appearance, pathology, and response to treatment. The potential for some of these syndromes to overlap with conventional MS means that diagnostic uncertainties are common and therapeutic decision-making often focuses on whether to commence MS disease-modifying therapies (DMTs) or other immunosuppression. In this chapter, the spectrum of atypical demyelinating diseases is reviewed. I discuss the difficulties in diagnosing and distinguishing between conditions such as acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), tumefactive demyelination, Baló's concentric sclerosis, Marburg's multiple sclerosis, and Schilder's diffuse myelinoclastic sclerosis and contrast these conditions with conventional MS. Advances in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and immunobiology may prove useful in our future understanding of these conditions.

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{l} \textbf{Keywords} \quad \text{Neuroinflammation} \cdot \text{AHL} \cdot \text{Hurst's} \cdot \text{Myelin oligodendrocyte} \\ \text{glycoprotein} \cdot \text{MOG} \cdot \text{Haemorrhagic leukoencephalitis} \cdot \text{CNS} \end{array}$

Introduction

The diagnosis of multiple sclerosis (MS) is rarely challenging in patients who present with a typical clinical history, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) appearance, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) findings. It is more difficult when patients present with findings consistent with demyelination, but standard diagnostic criteria for a

T.A. Hardy (🖂)

Department of Neurology, Concord Hospital, University of Sydney, Concord, NSW, Australia

Neuroimmunology Clinic, Concord Hospital, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Brain & Mind Centre, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: thardy@med.usyd.edu.au

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_17

conventional clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), or MS, are not fulfilled [1]. Classical scenarios are when there is a single, large demyelinating MRI lesion in the brain or cord, or conversely, when there are multiple, simultaneously gadoliniumenhancing demyelinating lesions in a patient who is deteriorating rapidly. Sometimes these atypical presentations correspond with a previously described atypical syndrome such as neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD), acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), tumefactive demyelination (TD), Baló's concentric sclerosis (BCS), Marburg's MS, or Schilder's diffuse myelinoclastic sclerosis (Table 1).

The rarity of these forms of demyelination means that clinical experience with them, and knowledge of their overlap with traditional MS, and with each other, remains limited. The discovery of the association between NMOSD and aquaporin-4 (AQ4) antibody, as well as a greater appreciation of imaging findings, clinical presentation and response to treatment, has meant that NMOSD, once considered an atypical form of MS, is now considered a separate disease to MS [2, 3]. While ADEM appears to be a distinct disease from MS, the difficulty in distinguishing it from a first attack of MS highlights the need for better validated diagnostic criteria [4]. It is also not clear whether other atypical demyelinating syndromes, such as tumefactive demyelination or BCS, should be thought of as MS variants, distinct diseases, or patterns of injury that can occur in different demyelinating diseases [5].

The aim of this chapter is to review the growing knowledge regarding the spectrum of acquired CNS atypical inflammatory demyelinating syndromes, with attention to nosology, clinical findings, immunopathogenesis, and treatment.

Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis (ADEM)

Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) is a rare, multifocal demyelinating disorder of the CNS, mostly seen in children from 5 to 8 years of age [6, 7], which very rarely occurs in adults. Incidence in the paediatric population is in the range 0.2–0.6 per 100,000 patient-years [7, 8]. Neurologic deficits include myelopathy, optic neuritis, seizures, and encephalopathy. Symptoms are rapidly progressive, often accompanied by a fever, and usually peak within days of onset [6]. Unlike other demyelinating diseases, ADEM occurs more commonly in males [6, 7]. ADEM often arises in the weeks following an antigenic challenge from a respiratory or gastrointestinal infection, or vaccination. A greater incidence occurs in winter and spring, in keeping with increased seasonal rates of infection [9].

Diagnosis It can be difficult to distinguish ADEM, which is generally a monophasic illness, from an atypical first presentation of relapsing-remitting MS. Encephalopathy, including behavioural change and an altered level of consciousness (LOC) or coma, is thought to be particularly discriminatory in distinguishing ADEM from MS. The 2013 International Pediatric Multiple Sclerosis Study Group (IPMSSG) diagnostic criteria require encephalopathy not due to intercurrent fever, as well as a polyfocal

	Clinical	Radiology	Pathology
Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM)	Monophasic Polysymptomatic Encephalopathy Often reduced level of consciousness Seizures Fever Focal neurological signs MOG-IgG	MRI brain T2/FLAIR signal Bilateral Asymmetric Patchy Grey matter Juxtacortical and deep white matter Thalamus Basal ganglia Corpus callosum Infratentorial Often lesions >1 cm with poorly defined margins May enhance with gadolinium T1 black holes rare Lesions forming after 3 months from onset suggest alternative diagnosis <i>MRI spine</i> T2 signal Intramedullary Confluent May enhance with gadolinium	Perivenular demyelination Relative axonal sparing Perivenular inflammation Intracortical microglial aggregates Subpial microglial activation and demyelination Diffuse meningeal inflammation
Acute naemorrhagic leukoencephalitis (AHL)	As for ADEM but rapidly progressive	haemorrhage in some or all lesions	with: More axonal damage, oedema, and haemorrhage Astrocytopathy may precede demyelination
Tumefactive demyelination (TD)	Headache Seizures Encephalopathy Focal neurological signs	MRI brain T2/FLAIR Lesions >2 cm with minimal to moderate surrounding oedema for size Rim of T2 hypointensity DWI Peripheral restriction ADC Peripheral hypointensity Gadolinium enhancement Open-ring most characteristic but any pattern of enhancement possible including venular pattern	Similar to MS: Confluent macrophages admixed with reactive astrocytes and Creutzfeldt cells May have other pathology when occurred in different contexts, e.g. NMOSD or ADEM

 Table 1
 The atypical inflammatory demyelinating syndromes of the CNS

	Clinical	Radiology	Pathology
Baló's concentric sclerosis (BCS)	Headache Seizures Encephalopathy Focal neurological signs	MRI brain T2/FLAIR Concentric rings of hyperintensity alternating with rings of isointensity Minimal oedema DWI Peripheral restriction Gadolinium enhancement Often at lesion edge	Alternating rings of demyelination and relatively preserved myelination
Marburg's multiple sclerosis	Monophasic Polysymptomatic Encephalopathy Often reduced level of consciousness Seizures Multifocal neurological signs	MRI brain and spine T2/ FLAIR signal Periventricular Juxtacortical Deep white matter Rarely infratentorial Rarely cord Lesions of different ages Often TD Gadolinium enhancement	Similar to MS but: Tendency to be more destructive Axonal injury Necrosis Cavitation
Schilder's diffuse myelinoclastic sclerosis (SD)	Headache Seizures Encephalopathy Focal neurological signs	MRI brain T2/FLAIR signal White matter; confluent, mostly symmetrical in frontoparietal lobes Centrum semiovale Often corpus callosum DWI Restriction when acute Gadolinium enhancement Minimal	'Identical' to typical MS

Table 1 (continued)

Key: *ADC* apparent diffusion coefficient, *AQP4* aquaporin 4, *DWI* diffusion weighted imaging, FLAIR fluid attenuated inversion recovery *gad* gadolinium, *IgG* immunoglobulin G, *LETM* longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *MOG* myelin oligodendrocyte, *MS* multiple sclerosis, *ON* optic neuritis

CNS onset, for a diagnosis of ADEM [10], but the need for encephalopathy and polyfocal symptoms as a requirement for diagnosis in all patients has been questioned [7].

The IPMSSG criteria use multiphasic ADEM to describe new episodes of clinical or radiological inflammatory disease activity, in the same or different parts of the CNS, separated from the first episode by 3 months. Further attacks beyond this invalidate the diagnosis of ADEM and suggest alternative demyelinating diseases such as MS or NMOSD. Appreciation that ADEM can relapse beyond 3 months further complicates the distinction from MS but relapsing ADEM appears to be a rare phenomenon [11–13].

MRI is helpful in diagnosing ADEM, although MRI cannot absolutely distinguish ADEM from other demyelinating syndromes. Typical brain findings in ADEM are bilateral, asymmetric patchy areas of hyperintensity on T2-weighted images within white and grey matter (Fig. 1) [14]. Lesion size is variable, but many patients have large (>1 cm) uniform lesions with poorly defined margins [11]. Gadolinium enhancement of lesions occurs in up to 30% of cases [6]. Apparent diffusion coefficient values are often increased in children with ADEM related to lesional vasogenic oedema [15]. In contrast to MS, ADEM tends to be associated with relative sparing of the periventricular white matter and affects the juxtacortical and deep white matter [16]. Involvement of the thalamus and basal ganglia particularly



Fig. 1 Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. (a) Axial T2 MRI showing patchy, ill-defined, confluent lesions throughout the deep and juxtacortical white matter with relative sparing of periventricular regions. (b) Axial fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) images from another patient showing bilateral patchy, ill-defined, thalamic hyperintensities. (c) Sagittal T2 image showing patchy lesions throughout the thoracic cord with involvement of at least three segments of the distal cord and conus medullaris, where these is considerable oedema, in a patient who was MOG-IgG negative. (d) Sagittal T1 image showing the cord lesions enhance with gadolinium. (e). Sagittal FLAIR image showing diffuse brainstem and cerebellar hyperintensities in a patient who later died from biopsy-confirmed acute haemorrhagic encephalomyelitis. (f) Axial T1 image shows gadolinium enhancement of the brainstem lesion. (g) Axial susceptibility weighted imaging (SWI) sequence shows hypointense areas of haemorrhage within the brainstem lesion

favours ADEM. T1 hypointense 'black holes' seen commonly in MS are rare in ADEM. The optic nerves, corpus callosum, brainstem, cerebellum and spinal cord can all be affected. Spinal cord lesions in ADEM are intramedullary and tend to be confluent and longitudinally extensive.

In most cases, follow-up imaging reveals partial or complete resolution of lesions without development of new lesions [11, 17–19]. This is unlike MS where lesions tend to have more clearly defined margins, complete resolution of lesions is rare, and the development of new lesions is common [11, 18]. Features that may indicate a monophasic course include the absence of a clinical flare following the initial symptoms, the absence of new MRI lesions, and marked resolution of lesions on MRI in the early phase [19]. Performing a re-baselining MRI scan at 3 months after ADEM for comparison with future MRIs might help to distinguish ADEM from MS [20].

Serum myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) IgG has been measured in children and adults with ADEM. Persistent seropositivity following a clinical episode appears to indicate a worse prognosis than if MOG antibodies are only transitorily positive [21]. It is not clear if MOG antibodies in these patients have a pathogenic role, or are an epiphenomenon reflecting tissue damage. MOG antibodies are associated with recurrent ADEM and ADEM followed by optic neuritis [13, 20, 22]. Tumefactive demyelinating lesions can occur in ADEM, and simultaneous large, enhancing lesions, makes multifocal primary CNS lymphoma an important differential diagnosis.

CSF examination in ADEM commonly shows a mild mononuclear pleocytosis of $50/\mu$ L (range $0-270/\mu$ L). CSF protein may be normal or elevated. CSF-restricted oligoclonal bands may be transitorily present but are absent in most cases [6, 11].

Pathology The pathology of ADEM is very different to that of typical MS. Lesion borders in ADEM are less distinct, with the hallmark being numerous perivenular 'sleeves' of demyelination accompanied by macrophage-predominant inflammatory infiltrates with comparatively fewer T and B lymphocytes [23]. Perivenular lesions may coalesce leading to large areas of pathology, but the broad zones of demyelination with macrophage infiltrates seen in MS are not present, although overlap cases have been described [24]. Lesions are of a similar age to each other and, as in other demyelinating diseases, there is relative axonal sparing. Unique to ADEM over MS are distinct, multifocal, intracortical microglial aggregates occurring patchily throughout the cortex but particularly associated with cortical layer three [24]. Subpial microglial activation, diffuse meningeal inflammation, and demyelination are also recognised [23, 24].

Treatment Treatment of ADEM is with intravenous corticosteroids initially, with plasma exchange (PLEX), or less often, intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg), used in patients who fail to respond [25]. Oral corticosteroid taper of less than 3 weeks is associated with an increased risk of relapse [11]. Early PLEX may be beneficial in patients at risk of complications from cerebral oedema and raised intracranial pressure (ICP), but neurosurgical decompression is required in some. Although mortal-

ity from ADEM in adults approximates 12%, those patients who survive often recover well over several months, and mortality is much lower (1%) in children [26]. About 33% of children will have ongoing minimal or residual disability [7].

Acute Haemorrhagic Leukoencephalitis (AHL)

Acute haemorrhagic leukoencephalitis (AHL), also known as Hurst's disease, or Weston Hurst's disease, is a rare form of demyelinating disease usually regarded as a fulminant form of ADEM [27], comprising 2% of paediatric ADEM cases [6]. Patients present with rapidly progressive severe encephalopathy and polyfocal symptoms in the CNS usually leading to death within 1 week of onset. The MRI appearance of lesions in AHL is reminiscent of those in ADEM, except that haemorrhage, best seen on susceptibility weighted imaging and T2* sequences, can be seen in some or all lesions [28, 29]. Cases with isolated brainstem involvement have been reported [30] (Fig. 1).

The pathology of AHL has similarities to ADEM. There is perivenous demyelination in conjunction with inflammatory changes including in the meninges but also fibrinoid vascular necrosis, granulocyte infiltration, and perivenous microhaemorrhages [31]. Evidence that an astrocytopathy may precede demyelination comes from the observation that, in areas free of demyelination or substantial oligodendrocyte damage, there can be end-feet swelling and degeneration of astrocytic processes and cell bodies [31]. Perivascular inflammation comprises both mononuclear cells and neutrophils, often with a neutrophil predominance in the early days, and CSF examination often reveals neutrophils. Axonal damage, haemorrhage, and oedema reflect that AHL is a more significant pathological insult than occurs in typical ADEM.

Acute necrotising encephalopathy (ANE) is a genetic condition, most commonly seen in children, which can mimic AHL and which is associated with missense mutations in the nuclear pore gene Ran-binding protein 2 (RANBP). The condition has a predilection to affect the thalamus bilaterally. A family history of encephalopathy with fevers, and a lack of inflammatory activity in CSF or brain tissue favours ANE, as neutrophilic infiltrates are also frequently seen in the CSF and brains of patients with AHL [32].

Treatment of AHL does not differ from treatment for 'standard' ADEM, with the mainstay of therapy being early use of corticosteroids and PLEX.

Tumefactive Demyelination

Tumefactive demyelination (TD) is usually defined as any large inflammatory demyelinating lesion of the brain of a size greater than 2 cm. Patients present with symptoms and signs related to the size and location of the lesion including seizures,

impaired consciousness, cognitive deficits or focal neurological signs [33]. When these lesions occur singly, they can be difficult to diagnose with certainty and initially may be mistaken on MRI for a neoplasm. Other differentials include cerebral abscess, ischaemia, or other infections, and a careful workup to exclude these possibilities is often required.

TD can be diagnosed most confidently when it occurs in a patient with an established diagnosis of MS, but dual pathology is possible, and patients should be followed closely once a lesion is identified. One study of 31 patients found that as many as 6.5% of patients with biopsy-proven TD were later re-diagnosed as having a cerebral neoplasm [34]. TD lesions are not only associated with MS, occurring in as many as 1.4–8.6% of MS patients [35, 36], but may also be seen in ADEM and in aquaporin-4 antibody and MOG antibody seropositive NMOSD [11, 37, 38]. Hence, TD may not strictly be a separate demyelinating disease, but rather a final common lesion type that reflects different but related disease processes. The international magnetic resonance imaging in MS (MAGNIMS) collaboration has identified four different subtypes of TD lesion depending on their MRI appearance: infiltrative, ring-enhancing, Baló-like, and megacystic lesions [39, 40]. TD lesions can occur multiply at onset, and very rarely, patients may develop relapsing tumefactive disease [41–43].

Tumefactive demyelination is the preferred term to tumefactive MS as it does not imply an underlying disease process. Also, tumefactive MS is imprecise and could mean variously that a lesion has occurred in the context of established MS, that a patient with a solitary lesion will later develop MS, or that a patient has relapsing TD.

Diagnosis MRI clues that support TD include open-ring enhancement, minimal surrounding oedema, a rim of T2 hypointensity, peripheral restriction on diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI), and venular enhancement [44–46] (Fig. 2). Rapid ADC changes at the edge of TD lesions evolve dynamically over time which is unlike the more static DWI findings of abscesses or tumours. Also, in ring-enhancing TD lesions, peripheral DWI restriction favours TD over tumours or abscesses, whereas central DWI restriction favours an abscess [47]. CT findings of hypodensity corresponding to MRI areas of enhancement in these lesions may also predict TD over neoplasm [48].

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) for diagnosing TD lesions is promising, but its role is yet to be fully defined [49]. Changes in MRS metabolites can occur according to lesion age, whether short or intermediate echo time proton MRS (TE 1H-MRS) is used, and due to a lack of standardised studies comparing between relevant differential diagnoses on a single type of scanner. Increased glutamate/ glutamine peaks on short TE 1H-MRS may favour TD [49]. An increase in choline to N-acetyl-aspartate (NAA) ratio on either short or intermediate TE 1H-MRS is commonly seen in TD lesions but does not reliably distinguish TD from tumour [50, 51]. CT-PET may also be helpful in distinguishing TD from neoplasms, which have greater metabolic activity than TD [52]. However, some inflammatory disorders such as neurosarcoidosis may also be hypermetabolic on CT-PET [53]. In future, the combined use of MRS and CT-PET may be sufficiently sensitive to distinguish TD from neoplasm [52].



Fig. 2 Tumefactive demyelination. (a) Axial FLAIR image showing a tumefactive demyelinating lesion in the left parietal peripheral white matter with minimal surrounding oedema. (b) The axial post-gadolinium T1 image demonstrates 'open-ring' enhancement of the lesion. (c) Diffusion-weighted image (DWI) and (d) apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) sequences show restricted diffusion at the periphery of the lesion

CSF examination in patients with TD lesions is usually normal or yields a slightly elevated protein and/or cell count [46]. The presence of CSF-restricted OCBs can be an important clue that favours MS-related TD over alternative pathology, such as a neoplasm, but OCBs are only positive 50–70% of the time in patients with TD lesions, so negative OCBs do not exclude demyelination [43, 54]. Conversely, positive oligo-clonal bands have been detected in the CSF of patients with lymphoma [55].

Pathology Biopsy of TD lesions is not usually necessary, unless atypical features cast doubt on the diagnosis [33]. The pathology of TD lesions is reminiscent of typical MS lesions and consists of confluent areas of demyelination with relative axonal sparing (although widespread axonal damage can occur), reactive astrocytes and lesional and perivascular inflammatory infiltrates – particularly foamy macrophages [45].

Creutzfeldt cells, classically associated with demyelinating disease, should not be mistaken for mitotic glia more indicative of malignancy, but glioblastomas, in which Creutzfeldt cells and mitotic glia co-existed, have been reported [56].

Treatment The prognosis of patients with TD lesions is variable and reflects the underlying disease process when this is known, e.g. MS, NMOSD, or ADEM. Some patients may acutely experience a fulminant course unresponsive to immunotherapies. In one large series, more than 50% of patients made a full recovery from a TD lesion [57]. Indeed, there is some evidence that patients presenting with isolated, diagnostically undifferentiated TD lesions may have an overall better prognosis than patients with conventional MS [58, 59], but data regarding long-term follow-up of TD patients are limited.

Treatment of patients with an acute presentation of TD is based on limited reports and series and is usually with corticosteroids, with second-line treatment being PLEX [33], although in patients with fulminant or rapidly evolving TD the two can be used simultaneously at the outset. Decompressive craniectomy is considered a last resort when brainstem herniation either due to direct mass effect or raised ICP appears imminent [60].

When lesions are evolving more slowly, cyclophosphamide and rituximab may be reasonable options and have the benefit of medium-to-longer term immunosuppression. In patients with TD lesions in the context of established demyelinating diseases such as MS or NMOSD, then standard immunotherapies should be considered [33]. Case report-level evidence supports natalizumab as an effective therapy in relapsing TD [61]. Reports of TD lesions occurring in the context of fingolimod therapy mean that some caution should be applied before using fingolimod in MS patients with TD [62-65]. TD lesions can also occur following withdrawal of fingolimod therapy as a 'rebound' phenomenon suggesting that the mechanism by which fingolimod affects compartmentalisation of lymphocyte subsets in the CNS and the periphery may be relevant to TD lesion formation [65, 66]. Further support for lymphocyte involvement in TD lesion formation comes from the observation of a TD lesion in a patient following their first course of the anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody MS therapy, alemtuzumab, an agent which depletes peripheral B and T lymphocytes but following which there is a more rapid and differential reconstitution of B lymphocytes over T lymphocytes [67].

Baló's Concentric Sclerosis

Baló's concentric sclerosis (BCS) refers to a lesion or lesions in the CNS composed of alternating rings of demyelination and relatively preserved myelin [68]. Patients may present with focal neurological signs and symptoms of MS accompanied by features reflecting a cerebral mass lesion such as headache, reduced LOC, cognitive dysfunction or seizures. A prodromal illness of fevers and headache occurs in some

patients [69]. Females are affected more often than males [68, 70]. BCS is rare but may be more common in patients of Han Chinese and Filipino descent in whom more traditional forms of MS are less common than in Caucasians [71].

BCS lesions can be large and, as with TD, patients may undergo biopsy in the mistaken belief that they are primary brain tumours [70]. Although simultaneous BCS lesions can occur at different sites in the brain [5], relapsing BCS is rarely reported [69, 72]. In those patients who present with an initial isolated BCS lesion, approximately 40% go on to develop more typical MS [73], but the precise relationship of BCS to MS is not well studied, as the rarity of the condition means that data are from small case series. BCS lesions may also occur in aquaporin-4 seropositive and seronegative NMOSD [71, 74], and have been described in children, occurring multiply, as part of an ADEM-like presentation [75].

Diagnosis The typical 'onion ring' or 'target' appearance of BCS on MRI occurs when concentric rings of T2 and/or FLAIR hyperintensity and T1 hypointensity alternate with rings of isointensity. Often there is minimal surrounding oedema for lesion size [68] (Fig. 3). DWI changes and gadolinium enhancement are often noticeable at the lesion edge but may also occur in concentric layers. In as many as 55% of patients, there may be other typical MS lesions on MRI at the time of presentation which, when present, are a helpful clue to diagnosis [73].

CSF examination in patients with BCS is usually bland with as many as 82% of the patients negative for OCBs, which some authors have argued indicates that BCS is an immunologically distinct disease from conventional MS, in which the frequency of CSF-restricted OCB approaches greater than 95% [76].



Fig. 3 Baló's concentric sclerosis. (a) Axial T2 image showing a large, demyelinating lesion with concentric rings in the white matter of the left frontoparietal lobe. There are additional, smaller and more typical demyelinating lesions in the white matter of both cerebral hemispheres. (b) The rings of the Baló lesion are observable on the ADC sequence where there is true restricted diffusion at the lesion edge. (c) The Baló lesion demonstrates open gadolinium enhancement of its outermost ring

Pathology The pathology of BCS is described as a variant of MS immunopathological pattern III, characterised by cerebral white matter oligodendrocyte apoptosis and loss of myelin-associated glycoprotein within demyelinated areas. The demyelinated rings of BCS occur around a central perivenular demyelinated zone and contain foamy macrophages, activated microglia, reactive astrocytes and areas of axonal loss, as in typical MS [23].

The reason for the concentricity of BCS lesions has long been debated. One hypothesis is that lesions arise from this central venule, where the BBB is 'leaky', allowing certain chemical mediators to spread radially in successive waves from that point inducing macrophage-mediated demyelination [77]. According to the ischaemic preconditioning hypothesis (IPH), at the leading edge of each successive wave, certain hypoxia-inducible factors are expressed which confer neuroprotection such that there is partial preservation of myelination in these areas leading to the overall concentric appearance of the lesions. IPH is supported by pathological evidence of upregulated iNOS in macrophages and microglia of active lesions, and increased expression of hypoxia-inducible proteins such as hsp70, HIF-1 α , and D-110 at lesion borders [77].

It is not clear whether a chemical mediator might induce demyelination directly or via its action on microglia and macrophages causing them to produce nitric oxide intermediates and oxygen radicals locally and inducing hypoxia through impairment of mitochondrial function [77]. Modified biophysical modelling of Liesegang ring formation suggests concentric rings could also be explained by nonlinear chemotaxis of macrophages and microglia toward a chemoattractant which is inhomogeneously and radially distributed [78].

Oxidative stress in BCS lesion formation has plausibility, as HIF-1 has been shown to be upregulated in glial cells beyond the edge of demyelinating layers, but is also found in increased amounts in hypertrophic astrocytes on the inner aspect of lesions, and in oligodendrocytes in non-demyelinating layers [72]. As these astrocytes express CC motif chemokine 2 and/or interleukin-1b, which are inducible by hypoxia-inducible factor-1a, they have the potential to be the neuronal cell type responsible for inducing demyelination [72] – a hypothesis supported by the observation by some, but not all authors, of extensive loss of aquaporin-4 in glial fibrillary acidic protein-positive hypertrophic astrocytes in BCS lesions in AQP4 antibody-negative patients (Fig. 4) [71, 79]. Indeed, disruption of astrocyte and oligodendrocyte interactions contributing to BCS lesion formation is also suggested by the lack of staining for the gap junction protein, connexin 43, which connects astrocytes to oligodendrocytes [71, 80].

The centrifugal enlargement of BCS lesions is supported by the temporal evolution of lesions seen on standard serial MRI sequences [72, 81–83] and by evolving changes in different lesion layers seen on DWI, ADC, and MRS [72, 84, 85]. DWI restriction initially forms at lesion edges to be followed by layers of gadolinium enhancement at their inner aspect. As gadolinium enhancement is lost, lesions become T2 hyperintense as demyelination occurs [72]. New diffusion-restricted layers then emerge in a new ring around the initially affected area and the lesion continues to expand radially in the same manner [72].



Fig. 4 A proposed scheme for the immunopathogenesis of Baló's concentric sclerosis

The existence of Baló-like lesions which have some features consistent with BCS but manifest in a more limited way, as well as recent cases of BCS and TD occurring in the same patient, and BCS evolving from an apparent TD lesion, all suggest possible overlaps in the mechanisms underlying the development of these BCS and more typical MS and TD lesions, and in this regard, BCS lesions can be considered a subtype of TD [86–88].

Treatment The prognosis of BCS was originally based on post-mortem diagnosis in patients who deteriorated and died rapidly over days to weeks from onset [89]. Fortunately, the use of MRI to investigate neurological symptoms in the modern era means that a fuller picture of the clinical spectrum of BCS can be appreciated, and it is now understood that many patients make a full recovery – presumably due to earlier detection and treatment [68].

Anecdotal evidence suggests that treatment of acute BCS lesions should be with corticosteroids, with the use of immunosuppression reserved for more extreme cases, with no evidence beyond occasional case reports to guide immunotherapy [68]. PLEX is often used as an adjunct to corticosteroids but a recent retrospective review of PLEX in the treatment of demyelinating disease has indicated that pattern III MS lesions, such as BCS, may not respond as well to PLEX as other subtypes of demyelination [90].

Evidence is limited regarding longer term treatment with DMTs in patients whose BCS lesion occurs as part of established MS, or when the BCS lesion occurs as part of the fulfilment of dissemination in space and time leading to an MS diagnosis [68]. Injectable MS disease-modifying therapies (DMTs) such as interferonbeta and glatiramer acetate have a good safety profile, although their efficacy is uncertain in patients with Baló lesions as part of their MS.

Baló's concentric sclerosis

Marburg's Variant of Multiple Sclerosis

Marburg's MS is the name applied to a fulminant form of demyelinating disease with high morbidity and mortality that was first described post-mortem by Marburg in 1906 [91]. Patients can present polysymptomatically with seizures, headache, bilateral ON, and gait disturbance with hemi- or quadriparesis with symptoms progressing rapidly either in a stepwise manner, as successive relapses occur, or as a relentless monophasic decline. Encephalopathy raises the possibility of ADEM but does not exclude Marburg's MS and, indeed, it may be difficult to distinguish the two conditions at onset. A standard definition of Marburg's MS is that patients die within 1 year of onset, although cases living beyond 1 year are reported [92], and it may be that advances in the management of acute demyelination and in intensive care mean that the mortality for this condition is improving. When patients survive, they are usually left with significant neurological morbidity. Death is usually due to lesional brainstem involvement or brainstem herniation related to raised ICP [93].

Diagnosis In Marburg's MS, the typical MRI appearance is of multifocal demyelinating lesions in the periventricular, juxtacortical, and deep white matter, brainstem, cerebellum, and spinal cord. Perilesional oedema and gadolinium enhancement are often present (Fig. 5). Lesions of different ages favour Marburg's MS over ADEM. In many cases, lesions will be confluent or frankly tumefactive and so Marburg's MS is often also synonymous with fulminant multifocal TD.



Fig. 5 Marburg's MS. (a-d) Axial FLAIR images showing large demyelinating lesions throughout the cerebral white matter involving the corpus callosum and (e) brainstem. (f) The lesions ring-enhance with gadolinium. (g, h) DWI and ADC sequences are consistent with facilitated diffusion, mainly at the lesion edges

In Marburg's MS, CSF is usually unremarkable without pleocytosis or OCBs [94]. In one case of autopsy-proven Marburg's MS, pretreatment CSF showed elevated Th2 cytokines/chemokines such as eotaxin, interleukin-5, and interleukin-10, distinct from the Th-1-dominant cytokine profile of prototypic MS [95].

Pathology Lesional pathology resembles typical but more destructive MS, with marked macrophage infiltration, axonal injury, necrosis, and areas of focal or confluent hypercellular demyelination [23]. Hypertrophic and giant astrocytes may also feature. Cavitating lesions, often infiltrated by neutrophils and eosinophils, can occur, bearing in mind that historical descriptions of pathological findings do not always adequately exclude conditions such as NMOSD. Cases in which demyelination is accompanied by fibrinoid necrosis and a perivascular mixed cell infiltrate have raised the possibility that at least some cases may overlap with cerebral vasculitis [96, 97]. Meningeal inflammation and grey matter lesions and predominantly B-cell-rich inflammatory infiltrates and perivascular inflammation have also been described [95].

The reason for the destructive course in Marburg's MS compared to typical MS is not understood. A less cationic, and therefore probably less compact, isoform of myelin basic protein (MBP) has been found in Marburg's MS patients which indicates that some individuals may be intrinsically predisposed to more aggressive MS [98, 99]. It is also possible that the fulminant disease course could reflect an inhibition of normal neurogenesis at lesion sites as, in one autopsy patient, lesional expression of neural stem cell markers GFAPδ, SOX2, and PAX6 were low, as were markers of proliferation such as Ki-67, and intermediate precursors such as NG2 [100].

Treatment Treatment of Marburg's MS is challenging. As with other fulminant forms of atypical demyelination, intravenous corticosteroids, often followed by PLEX, are the first-line treatment. Older literature suggests treatment with mitoxantrone as a viable next step [101], and high-dose cyclophosphamide has been used with success in a single patient [102]. There is little published experience of the use of higher efficacy MS DMTs, but alemtuzumab has been shown to arrest the decline of a patient with Marburg's MS [103].

Schilder's Diffuse Myelinoclastic Sclerosis (Schilder's Disease)

Schilder's disease (SD) is a controversial diagnosis, as there is very limited evidence to suggest that demyelinating lesions occurs as the result of a separate disease process from what might be better described as bilateral, simultaneous TD or, in some cases, ADEM. The disease is described in children and young adults and may be defined as 'one, or more commonly, two roughly symmetrical bilateral plaques measuring at least 3×2 cm in two of the three dimensions, involving the centrum semiovale of the cerebral hemispheres' [104]. It is said to occur slightly more commonly in males [105]. The clinical phenotype is of a monophasic course

characterised by focal neurological signs and symptoms consistent with typical MS or, depending on the size and location of the lesions, with symptoms of a mass lesion or lesions, including encephalopathy and seizures [106].

Attempts to review the literature on SD are also complicated by the fact that the term has been applied historically to what we now recognise as distinct disease processes. The confusion stems from the fact that Schilder first described an inflammatory demyelinating condition in 1912 but then subsequently described cases in 1913 and 1924 which are now recognised to be due to adrenoleukodystrophy and subacute sclerosing panencephalitis, respectively [104]. Hence, the published literature on SD includes cases of both demyelinating and non-demyelinating diseases, and leukodystrophies are sometimes referred to eponymously as SD.

Diagnosis Criteria were developed by Poser and colleagues to make the diagnosis more restrictive and hence to try to identify typical cases [104]. These Poser criteria specify that lesions must be absent from elsewhere in the CNS, that the peripheral nervous system is not involved, and that patients have normal adrenal function and fatty acid carbon-chain length. Updated versions of the criteria attempt to exclude ADEM-like features such as fever or prodromal infection, and emphasise the *bilateral* large lesions atypical from MS and negative OCBs [107]. However, even updated criteria do not easily distinguish multifocal presentations of TD or ADEM, complicating attempts to recognise SD as a separate form of atypical demyelination. Diagnostic criteria for SD were also devised prior to the availability of testing for AQP4-IgG and MOG-IgG, and it may be that some historic cases would now be reclassified as NMOSD or MOG antibody-associated demyelination if found to be antibody positive.

MRI descriptions are plagued by nosological difficulties, but favour features that might suggest typical or tumefactive demyelination over neoplasm. In some MRI cases, there is confluent, mostly symmetrical T2 and FLAIR hyperintensity in the white matter of the frontoparietal lobes involving the centrum semiovale and often the CC [108] (Fig. 6). These lesions are minimally enhancing, demonstrate restricted



Fig. 6 Schilder's variant of MS. (**a**) Axial FLAIR images showing discrete ovoid area of increased signal involving the right parietal white matter with an asymmetric, smaller area of high signal in a similar region in the left hemisphere. (**b**) Axial T1 image showing the lesions do not enhance with gadolinium (**c**). DWI sequence shows that the lesion is associated with facilitated diffusion

diffusion when acute, and when chronic can resemble the confluent demyelination seen in leukodystrophies. Other published cases resemble the more discrete, ovoid, ring-enhancing lesions of TD or ADEM, or are bilateral but asymmetrical [106]. The radiological phenotype also extends to incorporate symmetrical 'butterfly' lesions in the parieto-occipital lobes, with or without posterior CC involvement, but this pattern can be seen in other demyelinating conditions such as TD, ADEM, and MS. There may be a role for MRS and PET imaging in SD but this has not been well defined [109].

CSF examination is usually negative for pleocytosis and oligoclonal bands [106].

Pathology The pathology of SD, when obtained, is said to be 'identical' to MS [104], including well-defined lesion regions of demyelination with reactive gliosis, relative axonal sparing, perivascular lymphocytic infiltration, foamy macrophages, and GFAP-positive astrocytes [108]. It is difficult to comment more on specific distinguishing features, because pathological descriptions in the literature incorporate a diverse group of demyelinating lesions.

Treatment Early treatment with corticosteroids may be beneficial and the addition of IVIg has been beneficial in some patients [110, 111]. Prognosis is variable and the disease can be fatal or disabling in a subset of patients, but many exhibit complete recovery.

Discussion

The atypical CNS inflammatory demyelinating diseases are represented by a spectrum of clinical presentations, MRI and pathological lesion types which overlap with MS, and with each other, but which are distinct enough that they may be separate, but related, demyelinating diseases. They occur infrequently enough that it is difficult for clinicians to gain experience with the diseases, and very difficult to accumulate enough cases for research or for clinical trials. When they do occur, however, they can have a devastating impact on patients, and they can provoke anxiety in the treating clinician who may harbour concern about whether they have made the correct diagnosis, and whether a particular treatment pathway is appropriate. Diagnostic uncertainty means that patients with atypical demyelination often undergo more investigations than patients with typical MS, resulting in greater costs to the healthcare system, and a greater risk of iatrogenic complications.

The nosological classification of the atypical demyelinating conditions of the CNS is complicated by the fact that the diseases are often ill-defined and many cases, overlap with each other and with MS. Many of these conditions were first described as pathological entities but the capacity to see these types of demyelinating lesions and syndromes using MRI has changed our appreciation of the full spectrum of these lesions and their clinical consequences. Patients are now less likely to have biopsies and instead to have their conditions followed with serial MRI to assess treatment response, and so clinicians reach diagnoses based strongly on clinical

features and MRI appearance, but it is not always clear how accurately MRI appearance reflects underlying pathology.

When an atypical demyelinating event occurs in a patient, questions arise such as is it merely an unusual lesion occurring in the context of otherwise typical MS, is it how MS presents in susceptible individuals, or is it a manifestation of a unique disease process? In the case of TD and BCS, for example, it is not clear whether the radiological and pathological differences between them mean they should be very clearly defined as separate diseases or merely different manifestations of demyelination of any cause. Even their very distinction from typical MS or ADEM is not defined, and both lesion types can occur in NMOSD. BCS and TD lesions, therefore, are not exclusive to MS and could represent a pattern of injury common amongst demyelinating lesions. The very existence of SD as a separate form of atypical demyelination is questionable, and whether Marburg's MS is merely the name given to the most aggressive cases on the normal spectrum of MS, or a separate but similar disease is not known.

The discovery of aquaporin-4 antibodies as a diagnostic marker in most cases of NMOSD serves as an exemplar as to why research into different atypical forms of demyelination is needed as the capacity to confidently distinguish new diseases from each other can lead to changes in prognosis and treatment. The emergence of MOG antibodies as a potential discriminator of yet further subtypes of NMOSD, and ADEM, has been a promising recent development, and highlights the importance of identifying new biomarkers which can help to further refine atypical demyelination disease definitions, and provide important information regarding prognosis.

While short-term therapies for acute demyelinating attacks tend to favour corticosteroids and/or PLEX, the more difficult question is judging when a condition is likely to be monophasic and when it is likely to relapse. When a tendency to relapse is suspected, the next questions are when to use standard MS DMTs and when to use other forms of immunosuppression, and whether treatment duration needs to be lifelong or can be withdrawn after a period of disease remission.

To clarify these important clinical questions, ongoing advances in MR imaging, serological biomarkers, immunogenetics and pathology will be important, as will the scrupulous collection of clinical data and outcomes after longer term follow-up. Rare disease registries are a particularly promising strategy to advance knowledge in the field. Only through a full understanding of the immunopathogenesis of these different atypical forms of demyelination will it be possible to help distinguish between them, or in other cases unify them, and to refine understanding of their clinical course, prognosis, and treatment.

Acknowledgements, Competing Interests, and Funding TAH: Has received honoraria or travel sponsorship from Bayer-Schering, Novartis, Biogen Idec, Merck-Serono, Teva, Roche, Alexion and Genzyme.

This work received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- 1. Brownlee WJ, Hardy TA, Fazekas F, Miller DH. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: progress and challenges. Lancet. 2017;389(10076):1336–46.
- Wingerchuk DM, Lennon VA, Lucchinetti CF, Pittock SJ, Weinshenker BG. The spectrum of neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6(9):805–15.
- Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, Cabre P, Carroll W, Chitnis T, de Seze J, Fujihara K, Greenberg B, Jacob A, Jarius S, Lana-Peixoto M, Levy M, Simon JH, Tenembaum S, Traboulsee AL, Waters P, Wellik KE, Weinshenker BG. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Neurology. 2015;85(2):177–89. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000001729. Epub 2015 Jun 19
- Hardy TA. How should we diagnose acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2018;60(11):1070. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.13940. Epub 2018 Jun 21
- Hardy TA, Reddel SW, Barnett MH, Palace J, Lucchinetti CF, Weinshenker BG. Atypical inflammatory demyelinating syndromes of the CNS. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(9):967–81.
- Tenembaum S, Chamoles N, Fejerman N. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: a longterm follow-up study of 84 pediatric patients. Neurology. 2002;59(8):1224–31.
- Boesen MS, Blinkenberg M, Koch-Henriksen N, Thygesen LC, Uldall PV, Magyari M, Born AP. Implications of the International Paediatric Multiple Sclerosis Study Group consensus criteria for paediatric acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: a nationwide validation study. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2018;60(11):1123–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.13798. Epub 2018 May 10
- Xiong CH, Yan Y, Liao Z, Peng SH, Wen HR, Zhang YX, Chen SH, Li J, Chen HY, Feng XW, Yao HQ, Huang L, Zhang L. Epidemiological characteristics of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in Nanchang, China: a retrospective study. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:111.
- Tenembaum S, Chitnis T, Ness J, Hahn JS, International Pediatric MS Study Group. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Neurology. 2007;68(16 Suppl 2):S23–36.
- Krupp LB, Tardieu M, Amato MP, Banwell B, Chitnis T, Dale RC, Ghezzi A, Hintzen R, Kornberg A, Pohl D, Rostasy K, Tenembaum S, Wassmer E, International Pediatric Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. International Pediatric Multiple Sclerosis Study Group criteria for pediatric multiple sclerosis and immune-mediated central nervous system demyelinating disorders: revisions to the 2007 definitions. Mult Scler. 2013;19(10):1261–7.
- 11. Dale RC, de Sousa C, Chong WK, Cox TC, Harding B, Neville BG. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, multiphasic disseminated encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis in children. Brain. 2000;123(Pt 12):2407–22.
- Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Husson B, Suissa S, Tardieu M, Neuropediatric KIDSEP Study Group of the French Neuropediatric Society. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis cohort study: prognostic factors for relapse. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2007;11(2):90–5.
- Duignan S, Wright S, Rossor T, Cazabon J, Gilmour K, Ciccarelli O, Wassmer E, Lim M, Hemingway C, Hacohen Y. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein and aquaporin-4 antibodies are highly specific in children with acquired demyelinating syndromes. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2018;60(9):958–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.13703. Epub 2018 Feb 22
- Marin SE, Callen DJ. The magnetic resonance imaging appearance of monophasic acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: an update post application of the 2007 consensus criteria. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 2013;23(2):245–66.
- Zuccoli G, Panigrahy A, Sreedher G, Bailey A, Laney EJ 4th, La Colla L, Alper G. Vasogenic edema characterizes pediatric acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Neuroradiology. 2014;56(8):679–84.
- Richer LP, Sinclair DB, Bhargava R. Neuroimaging features of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in childhood. Pediatr Neurol. 2005;32(1):30–6.
- Hynson JL, Kornberg AJ, Coleman LT, Shield L, Harvey AS, Kean MJ. Clinical and neuroradiologic features of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in children. Neurology. 2001;56(10):1308–12.

- Atzori M, Battistella PA, Perini P, Calabrese M, Fontanin M, Laverda AM, Suppiej A, Drigo P, Grossi P, Rinaldi L, Gallo P. Clinical and diagnostic aspects of multiple sclerosis and acute monophasic encephalomyelitis in pediatric patients: a single centre prospective study. Mult Scler. 2009;15(3):363–70. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458508098562. Epub 2008 Nov 5
- 19. Koelman DLH, Benkeser DC, Klein JP, Mateen FJ. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: prognostic value of early follow-up brain MRI. J Neurol. 2017;264(8):1754–62.
- 20. Wong YYM, Hacohen Y, Armangue T, Wassmer E, Verhelst H, Hemingway C, van Pelt ED, Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Hintzen RQ, Deiva K, Lim MJ, Rostásy K, Neuteboom RF. Paediatric acute disseminated encephalomyelitis followed by optic neuritis: disease course, treatment response and outcome. Eur J Neurol. 2018;25(5):782–6.
- 21. López-Chiriboga AS, Majed M, Fryer J, Dubey D, McKeon A, Flanagan EP, Jitprapaikulsan J, Kothapalli N, Tillema JM, Chen J, Weinshenker B, Wingerchuk D, Sagen J, Gadoth A, Lennon VA, Keegan BM, Lucchinetti C, Pittock SJ. Association of MOG-IgG serostatus with relapse after acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and proposed diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated disorders. JAMA Neurol. 2018;75(11):1355–63. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.1814.
- Huppke P, Rostasy K, Karenfort M, Huppke B, Seidl R, Leiz S, Reindl M, Gärtner J. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis followed by recurrent or monophasic optic neuritis in pediatric patients. Mult Scler. 2013;19(7):941–6.
- Popescu BF, Lucchinetti CF. Pathology of demyelinating diseases. Annu Rev Pathol. 2012;7:185–217.
- 24. Young NP, Weinshenker BG, Parisi JE, Scheithauer B, Giannini C, Roemer SF, Thomsen KM, Mandrekar JN, Erickson BJ, Lucchinetti CF. Perivenous demyelination: association with clinically defined acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and comparison with pathologically confirmed multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2010;133(Pt 2):333–48.
- Keegan M, Pineda AA, McClelland RL, Darby CH, Rodriguez M, Weinshenker BG. Plasma exchange for severe attacks of CNS demyelination: predictors of response. Neurology. 2002;58(1):143–6.
- 26. Ketelslegers IA, Visser IE, Neuteboom RF, Boon M, Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Hintzen RQ. Disease course and outcome of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is more severe in adults than in children. Mult Scler. 2011;17(4):441–8.
- 27. Hurst EW. Acute hemorrhagic leukoencephalitis: a previously undefined entity. Med J Aust. 1941;2:1–6.
- Kao HW, Alexandru D, Kim R, Yanni D, Hasso AN. Value of susceptibility-weighted imaging in acute hemorrhagic leukoencephalitis. J Clin Neurosci. 2012;19:1740–1.
- Sarbu N, Shih RY, Jones RV, Horkayne-Szakaly I, Oleaga L, Smirniotopoulos JG. White matter diseases with radiologic-pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2016;36(5):1426–47.
- Abou Zeid NE, Burns JD, Wijdicks EF, Giannini C, Keegan BM. Atypical acute hemorrhagic leukoencephalitis (Hurst's disease) presenting with focal hemorrhagic brainstem lesion. Neurocrit Care. 2010;12(1):95–7.
- Robinson CA, Adiele RC, Tham M, Lucchinetti CF, Popescu BF. Early and widespread injury of astrocytes in the absence of demyelination in acute haemorrhagic leukoencephalitis. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2014;2:52. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-5960-2-52.
- 32. Neilson DE. The interplay of infection and genetics in acute necrotizing encephalopathy. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2010;22(6):751–7.
- Hardy TA, Chataway J. Tumefactive demyelination: an approach to diagnosis and management. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(9):1047–53.
- Tremblay MA, Villanueva-Meyer JE, Cha S, Tihan T, Gelfand JM. Clinical and imaging correlation in patients with pathologically confirmed tumefactive demyelinating lesions. J Neurol Sci. 2017;381:83–7.
- 35. Patriarca L, Torlone S, Ferrari F, Di Carmine C, Totaro R, di Cesare E, Splendiani A. Is size an essential criterion to define tumefactive plaque? MR features and clinical correlation in multiple sclerosis. Neuroradiol J. 2016;29(5):384–9.

- 36. Sánchez P, Meca-Lallana V, Barbosa A, Manzanares R, Palmí I, Vivancos J. Tumefactive demyelinating lesions of 15 patients: clinico-radiological features, management and review of the literature. J Neurol Sci. 2017;381:32–8.
- 37. Ramanathan S, Prelog K, Barnes EH, Tantsis EM, Reddel SW, Henderson AP, Vucic S, Gorman MP, Benson LA, Alper G, Riney CJ, Barnett M, Parratt J, Hardy TA, Leventer RJ, Merheb V, Nosadini M, Fung VS, Brilot F, Dale RC. Radiological differentiation of optic neuritis with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibodies, aquaporin-4 antibodies, and multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2016;22(4):470–82.
- Jeong IH, Kim SH, Hyun JW, Joung A, Cho HJ, Kim HJ. Tumefactive demyelinating lesions as a first clinical event: clinical, imaging, and follow-up observations. J Neurol Sci. 2015;358(1–2):118–24.
- 39. Seewann A, Enzinger C, Filippi M, Barkhof F, Rovira A, Gass A, Miller D, Montalban X, Thompson A, Yousry T, Tintore M, de Stefano N, Palace J, Rovaris M, Polman C, Fazekas F. MAGNIMS network. MRI characteristics of atypical idiopathic inflammatory demyelinating lesions of the brain: a review of reported findings. J Neurol. 2008;255(1):1–10.
- 40. Wallner-Blazek M, Rovira A, Fillipp M, Rocca MA, Miller DH, Schmierer K, Frederiksen J, Gass A, Gama H, Tilbery CP, Rocha AJ, Flores J, Barkhof F, Seewann A, Palace J, Yousry T, Montalban X, Enzinger C, Fazekas F. Atypical idiopathic inflammatory demyelinating lesions: prognostic implications and relation to multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. 2013;260(8):2016–22.
- Selkirk SM, Shi J. Relapsing-remitting tumefactive multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2005;11(6):731–4.
- 42. Häne A, Bargetzi M, Hewer E, et al. Recurrent tumefactive demyelination without evidence of multiple sclerosis or brain tumour. J Neurol. 2011;258(2):318–20.
- 43. Altintas A, Petek B, Isik N, et al. Clinical and radiological characteristics of tumefactive demyelinating lesions: follow-up study. Mult Scler. 2012;18(10):1448–53.
- 44. Lucchinetti CF, Gavrilova RH, Metz I, Parisi JE, Scheithauer BW, Weigand S, Thomsen K, Mandrekar J, Altintas A, Erickson BJ, König F, Giannini C, Lassmann H, Linbo L, Pittock SJ, Brück W. Clinical and radiographic spectrum of pathologically confirmed tumefactive multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2008;131(Pt 7):1759–75.
- Hu W, Lucchinetti CF. The pathological spectrum of CNS inflammatory demyelinating diseases. Semin Immunopathol. 2009;31(4):439–53.
- 46. Kiriyama T, Kataoka H, Taoka T, et al. Characteristic neuroimaging in patients with tumefactive demyelinating lesions exceeding 30 mm. J Neuroimaging. 2011;21(2):e69–77.
- 47. Abou Zeid N, Pirko I, Erickson B, Weigand SD, Thomsen KM, Scheithauer B, Parisi JE, Giannini C, Linbo L, Lucchinetti CF. Diffusion-weighted imaging characteristics of biopsyproven demyelinating brain lesions. Neurology. 2012;78(21):1655–62.
- 48. Kim DS, Na DG, Kim KH, et al. Distinguishing tumefactive demyelinating lesions from glioma or central nervous system lymphoma: added value of unenhanced CT compared with conventional contrast-enhanced MR imaging. Radiology. 2009;251(2):467–75.
- Cianfoni A, Niku S, Imbesi SG. Metabolite findings in tumefactive demyelinating lesions utilizing short echo time proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2007;28(2):272–7.
- 50. Given CA 2nd, Stevens BS, Lee C. The MRI appearance of tumefactive demyelinating lesions. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;182(1):195–9.
- Lu SS, Kim SJ, Kim HS, Choi CG, Lim YM, Kim EJ, Kim DY, Cho SH. Utility of proton MR spectroscopy for differentiating typical and atypical primary central nervous system lymphomas from tumefactive demyelinating lesions. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2014;35(2):270–7.
- 52. Takenaka S, Shinoda J, Asano Y, Aki T, Miwa K, Ito T, Yokoyama K, Iwama T. Metabolic assessment of monofocal acute inflammatory demyelination using MR spectroscopy and (11) C-methionine-, (11)C-choline-, and (18)F-fluorodeoxyglucose-PET. Brain Tumor Pathol. 2011;28(3):229–38.
- Bolat S, Berding G, Dengler R, Stangel M, Trebst C. Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) is useful in the diagnosis of neurosarcoidosis. J Neurol Sci. 2009;287(1–2):257–9.

- 54. Balloy G, Pelletier J, Suchet L, Lebrun C, Cohen M, Vermersch P, Zephir H, Duhin E, Gout O, Deschamps R, Le Page E, Edan G, Labauge P, Carra-Dallieres C, Rumbach L, Berger E, Lejeune P, Devos P, N'Kendjuo JB, Coustans M, Auffray-Calvier E, Daumas-Duport B, Michel L, Lefrere F, Laplaud DA, Brosset C, Derkinderen P, de Seze J, Wiertlewski S, Société Francophone de la Sclérose en Plaques. Inaugural tumor-like multiple sclerosis: clinical presentation and medium-term outcome in 87 patients. J Neurol. 2018;265(10):2251–9.
- Herrlinger U, Schabet M, Bitzer M, Petersen D, Krauseneck P. Primary central nervous system lymphoma: from clinical presentation to diagnosis. J Neurooncol. 1999;43(3):219–26.
- 56. Ballester LY, Boghani Z, Baskin DS, Britz GW, Olsen R, Fuller GN, Powell SZ, Cykowski MD. Creutzfeld astrocytes may be seen in IDH-wildtype glioblastoma and retain expression of DNA repair and chromatin binding proteins. Brain Pathol. 2018;28(6):1012–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12604. Epub 2018 Apr 25
- 57. Nagappa M, Taly AB, Sinha S, Bharath RD, Mahadevan A, Bindu PS, Saini JS, Prasad C, Shankar SK. Tumefactive demyelination: clinical, imaging and follow-up observations in thirty-nine patients. Acta Neurol Scand. 2013;128(1):39–47.
- Wattamwar PR, Baheti NN, Kesavadas C, Nair M, Radhakrishnan A. Evolution and long term outcome in patients presenting with large demyelinating lesions as their first clinical event. J Neurol Sci. 2010;297(1–2):29–35.
- 59. Siri A, Carra-Dalliere C, Ayrignac X, Pelletier J, Audoin B, Pittion-Vouyovitch S, Debouverie M, Lionnet C, Viala F, Sablot D, Brassat D, Ouallet JC, Ruet A, Brochet B, Taillandier L, Bauchet L, Derache N, Defer G, Cabre P, de Seze J, Lebrun Frenay C, Cohen M, Labauge P. Isolated tumefactive demyelinating lesions: diagnosis and long-term evolution of 16 patients in a multicentric study. J Neurol. 2015;262(7):1637–45.
- Munarriz PM, Castaño-Leon AM, Martinez-Perez R, Hernandez-Lain A, Ramos A, Lagares A. Tumefactive multiple sclerosis requiring emergency craniotomy: case report and literature review. Neurocirugia (Astur). 2013;24(5):220–4.
- Nakamura M, Itani K, Miyake K, Kunieda T, Kaneko S, Kusaka H. Natalizumab is effective for the treatment of relapsing-remitting tumefactive multiple sclerosis. Intern Med. 2017;56(2):211–4.
- 62. Nealon N. Severe multiple sclerosis relapse on Fingolimod. Risk management for diseasemodifying treatments 1. 2011. 5th Joint triennial congress of the European and Americas Committees for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis. 19.10.2011 – 22.10.2011.
- Visser F, Wattjes MP, Pouwels PJ, et al. Tumefactive multiple sclerosis lesions under fingolimod treatment. Neurology. 2012;79(19):2000–3.
- 64. Pilz G, Harrer A, Wipfler P, Oppermann K, Sellner J, Fazekas F, Trinka E, Kraus J. Tumefactive MS lesions under fingolimod: a case report and literature review. Neurology. 2013;81(19):1654–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000435293.34351.11. Epub 2013 Oct 4. Review. Erratum in: Neurology. 2014;82(17):1569
- 65. Sánchez P, Meca-Lallana V, Vivancos J. Tumefactive multiple sclerosis lesions associated with fingolimod treatment: report of 5 cases. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2018;25:95–8.
- 66. Giordana MT, Cavalla P, Uccelli A, Laroni A, Bandini F, Vercellino M, Mancardi G. Overexpression of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors on reactive astrocytes drives neuropathology of multiple sclerosis rebound after fingolimod discontinuation. Mult Scler. 2018;24(8):1133–7.
- Barton J, Hardy TA, Riminton S, Reddel SW, Barnett Y, Coles A, Barnett MH. Tumefactive demyelination following treatment for relapsing multiple sclerosis with alemtuzumab. Neurology. 2017;88(10):1004–6.
- 68. Hardy TA, Miller DH. Baló's concentric sclerosis. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(7):740-6.
- 69. Tabira T. Chapter 105: Concentric sclerosis (Balo's disease). In: Lisak RP, Truong DD, Carroll WM, Bhidayasiri R, editors. International neurology: a clinical approach: Blackwell Publishing; 2009. isbn:978-1-4051-5738-4.
- 70. Agarwal M, Ulmer JL, Klein AP, Mark LP. Why is this auntminnie a diagnostic conundrum?: a knowledge-based approach to Balo's concentric sclerosis from reports of 3 cases and pooled data from 68 other patients in the literature. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2018 Jan 6. pii: S0363-0188(17)30191-3. doi: 10.1067/j.cpradiol.2017.12.008. [Epub ahead of print].

- 71. Kira J. Astrocytopathy in Balo's disease. Mult Scler. 2011;17(7):771–9.10.
- Takai Y, Misu T, Nishiyama S, Ono H, Kuroda H, Nakashima I, Saito R, Kanamori M, Sonoda Y, Kumabe T, Mugikura S, Watanabe M, Aoki M, Fujihara K. Hypoxia-like tissue injury and glial response contribute to Balo concentric lesion development. Neurology. 2016;87(19):2000–5.
- 73. Chaodong W, Zhang KN, Wu XM, et al. Baló's disease showing benign clinical course and co-existence with multiple sclerosis-like lesions in Chinese. Mult Scler. 2008;14:418–24.
- 74. Masuda H, Mori M, Katayama K, Kikkawa Y, Kuwabara S. Anti-aquaporin-4 antibodyseronegative NMO spectrum disorder with Baló's concentric lesions. Intern Med. 2013;52(13):1517–21.
- 75. Bhoi S, Naik S, Kalita J, Misra UK. Multifocal Balo's concentric sclerosis in children: report of a case and review of literature. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2017;8(Suppl 1):S136–8.
- 76. Jarius S, Würthwein C, Behrens JR, Wanner J, Haas J, Paul F, Wildemann B. Baló's concentric sclerosis is immunologically distinct from multiple sclerosis: results from retrospective analysis of almost 150 lumbar punctures. J Neuroinflammation. 2018;15(1):22.
- 77. Stadelmann C, Ludwin S, Tabira T, et al. Tissue preconditioning may explain concentric lesions in Balo type of multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2005;128:979–87.
- Khonsari RH, Calvez V. The origins of concentric demyelination: self organization in the human brain. PLoS One. 2007;2(1):e150.
- Masaki K, Suzuki SO, Matsushita T, Matsuoka T, Imamura S, Yamasaki R, Suzuki M, Suenaga T, Iwaki T, Kira J. Connexin 43 astrocytopathy linked to rapidly progressive multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):e72919.
- Masaki K, Suzuki SO, Matsushita T, Yonekawa T, Matsuoka T, Isobe N, Motomura K, Wu XM, Tabira T, Iwaki T, Kira J. Extensive loss of connexins in Baló's disease: evidence for an antibody-independent astrocytopathy via impaired astrocyte-oligodendrocyte/myelin interaction. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(6):887–900.
- Kavanagh EC, Heran MK, Fenton DM, Lapointe JS, Nugent RA, Graeb DA. Diffusionweighted imaging findings in Balo concentric sclerosis. Br J Radiol. 2006;79(943):e28–31.
- Lindquist S, Bodammer N, Kaufmann J, König F, Heinze HJ, Brück W, Sailer M. Histopathology and serial, multimodal magnetic resonance imaging in a multiple sclerosis variant. Mult Scler. 2007;13(4):471–82.
- Kreft KL, Mellema SJ, Hintzen RQ. Spinal cord involvement in Balo's concentric sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. 2009;279:114–7.
- 84. Chen F, Liu T, Li J, Xing Z, Huang S, Wen G, Lu G. Eccentric development of Balo's concentric sclerosis: detected by magnetic resonance diffusion-weighted imaging and magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Int J Neurosci. 2015;125(6):433–40.
- Ripellino P, Khonsari R, Stecco A, Filippi M, Perchinunno M, Cantello R. Clues on Balo's concentric sclerosis evolution from serial analysis of ADC values. Int J Neurosci. 2016;126(1):88–95.
- 86. Hardy TA, Beadnall HN, Sutton IJ, Mohamed A, Jonker BP, Buckland ME, Barnett MH. Baló's concentric sclerosis and tumefactive demyelination: a shared immunopathogenesis? J Neurol Sci. 2015;348(1–2):279–81.
- 87. Hardy TA, Lucchinetti CF. Exploring the overlap between multiple sclerosis, tumefactive demyelination and Baló's concentric sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2016;22(8):986–92.
- Hardy TA, Corboy JR, Weinshenker BG. Baló concentric sclerosis evolving from apparent tumefactive demyelination. Neurology. 2017;88(22):2150–2.
- Courville CB. Concentric sclerosis. In: Vinken P, Bruyn GW, editors. Handbook of clinical neurology. Amsterdam: North Holland; 1970. p. 437–51.
- 90. Stork L, Ellenberger D, Beißbarth T, Friede T, Lucchinetti CF, Brück W, Metz I. Differences in the responses to apheresis therapy of patients with 3 histopathologically classified immunopathological patterns of multiple sclerosis. JAMA Neurol. 2018;75(4):428–35.
- 91. Marburg O. Die sogenannte "akute Multiple Sklerose". J Psychiatr Neurol. 1906;27:211-312.
- 92. Turatti M, Gajofatto A, Rossi F, Vedovello M, Benedetti MD. Long survival and clinical stability in Marburg's variant multiple sclerosis. Neurol Sci. 2010;31(6):807–11.

- Mendez MF, Pogacar S. Malignant monophasic multiple sclerosis or "Marburg's disease". Neurology. 1988;38(7):1153–5.
- Zettl UK, Stüve O, Patejdl R. Immune-mediated CNS diseases: a review on nosological classification and clinical features. Autoimmun Rev. 2012;11(3):167–73.
- Suzuki M, Kawasaki H, Masaki K, Suzuki SO, Terada T, Tsuchida T, Tokuyama T, Kono S, Komori T, Baba S, Kira J, Miyajima H. An autopsy case of the Marburg variant of multiple sclerosis (acute multiple sclerosis). Intern Med. 2013;52(16):1825–32.
- Bitsch A, Wegener C, da Costa C, Bunkowski S, Reimers CD, Prange HW, Brück W. Lesion development in Marburg's type of acute multiple sclerosis: from inflammation to demyelination. Mult Scler. 1999;5(3):138–46.
- Elenein RG, Sharer LR, Cook SD, Pachner AR, Michaels J, Hillen ME. A second case of Marburg's variant of multiple sclerosis with vasculitis and extensive demyelination. Mult Scler. 2011;17(12):1531–8.
- Wood DD, Bilbao JM, O'Connors P, Moscarello MA. Acute multiple sclerosis (Marburg type) is associated with developmentally immature myelin basic protein. Ann Neurol. 1996;40(1):18–24.
- Beniac DR, Wood DD, Palaniyar N, Ottensmeyer FP, Moscarello MA, Harauz G. Marburg's variant of multiple sclerosis correlates with a less compact structure of myelin basic protein. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun. 1999;1(1):48–51.
- 100. Oreja-Guevara C, Gómez-Pinedo U, García-López J, Sánchez-Sánchez R, Valverde-Moyano R, Rabano-Gutierrez A, Matías-Guiu JA, González-Suárez I, Matías-Guiu J. Inhibition of neurogenesis in a case of Marburg variant multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2017;18:71–6.
- 101. Jeffery DR, Lefkowitz DS, Crittenden JP. Treatment of Marburg variant multiple sclerosis with mitoxantrone. J Neuroimaging. 2004;14(1):58–62.
- Nozaki K, Abou-Fayssal N. High dose cyclophosphamide treatment in Marburg variant multiple sclerosis. A case report. J Neurol Sci. 2010;296(1–2):121–3.
- 103. Gobbin F, Marangi A, Orlandi R, Richelli S, Turatti M, Calabrese M, Forgione A, Alessandrini F, Benedetti MD, Monaco S, Gajofatto A. A case of acute fulminant multiple sclerosis treated with alemtuzumab. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2017;17:9–11.
- 104. Poser CM, Goutières F, Carpentier MA, Aicardi J. Schilder's myelinoclastic diffuse sclerosis. Pediatrics. 1986;77(1):107–12. Erratum in: Pediatrics 1986;78(1):138
- 105. Rust RS Jr. Diffuse sclerosis. Medscape. Updated April 14, 2016.
- 106. Maraş Genç H, Kara B, Uyur Yalçın E, Sakarya Güneş A, Deniz A, Anık Y. Long-term clinical and radiologic follow-up of Schilder's disease. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2017;13:47–51.
- 107. Poser S, Lüer W, Bruhn H, Frahm J, et al. Acute demyelinating disease. Classification and non-invasive diagnosis. Acta Neurol Scand. 1992;86(6):579–85.
- 108. Miyamoto N, Kagohashi M, Nishioka K, Fujishima K, Kitada T, Tomita Y, Mori K, Maeda M, Wada R, Matsumoto M, Mori H, Mizuno Y, Okuma Y. An autopsy case of Schilder's variant of multiple sclerosis (Schilder's disease). Eur Neurol. 2006;55(2):103–7. Epub 2006 Apr 21
- 109. Bacigaluppi S, Polonara G, Zavanone ML, Campanella R, Branca V, Gaini SM, Tredici G, Costa A. Schilder's disease: non-invasive diagnosis? A case report and review. Neurol Sci. 2009;30(5):421–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-009-0113-z. Epub 2009 Jul 17
- 110. Pretorius ML, Loock DB, Ravenscroft A, Schoeman JF. Demyelinating disease of Schilder type in three young South African children: dramatic response to corticosteroids. J Child Neurol. 1998;13(5):197–201.
- 111. Kraus D, Konen O, Straussberg R. Schilder's disease: non-invasive diagnosis and successful treatment with human immunoglobulins. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2012;16(2):206–8.

Autoimmune Limbic Encephalitis



Shahar Shelly, Ram Narayan, and Divyanshu Dubey

Abstract Autoimmune encephalitis is now being widely recognized as a common and potentially treatable cause of encephalitis. The majority of the autoimmune encephalitis cases clinically present with limbic system dysfunction. Many neural autoantibody biomarkers of autoimmune limbic encephalitis have been described, and novel antibodies are being recognized every year. These antibodies are either directed against cell surface epitopes or intracellular antigens. Learning about the specific clinical presentations of autoimmune encephalitides, their pathophysiology, and cancer association is crucial for patient care. We highlight the typical clinical and radiological features of autoimmune limbic encephalitides. We also describe the treatment strategies and immunotherapy agents utilized.

Keywords Limbic Encephalitis · Paraneoplastic Syndromes · Anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Encephalitis · Antibodies · Immunotherapy

Introduction

Autoimmune encephalitis is now being widely recognized as a common and potentially treatable cause of encephalitis [1]. A considerable proportion of the paraneoplastic or autoimmune encephalitis cases clinically present with limbic system dysfunction. The concept of limbic system was first introduced by Pierre Paul Broca (1878), and further characterized via functional studies by Klüver and Bucy (1937) [2, 3]. It is comprised of hippocampus, amygdala, hypothalamus, cingulate gyrus, and the limbic cortex. MacLean named these cortical and subcortical connections as

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

S. Shelly \cdot D. Dubey (\boxtimes)

Department of Neurology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA e-mail: dubey.divyanshu@mayo.edu

R. Narayan Deapartment of Neurology, Barrows Neurological Institute, Phoenix, AZ, USA

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_18



Fig. 1 Autoantibodies associated with autoimmune encephalitis. Key: 1, detailed description of autoimmune limbic encephalitis; 2, glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 Kd IgG; 3, ANNA-1, antineuronal nuclear antibody type-1 (ANNA-1, a.k.a. anti-Hu) IgG; 4, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) IgG; 5, amphiphysin; 6, Ma-1 and Ma-2 IgGs; 7, collapsin response-mediator protein 5 (CRMP5) IgG; 8, Purkinje cell cytoplasmic type 2 (PCA-2) IgG; 9, voltage-gated potassium channel-complex (VGKCc) IgG; 10, aquaporin 4; 11, anti-neuronal nuclear antibody type-2 (ANNA-2) IgG; 12, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA-R) IgG; 13, adenylate kinase 5 (AK5) IgG; 14, glycine receptor IgG; 15, amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic receptor; 16, leucine-rich, glioma-inactivated-1; 17, contactin-associated protein-like 2; 18, gamma-aminobutyric acid type B (GABA-B) receptor IgG; 19, metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGlur5) IgG; 20, dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein 6 (DPPX) IgG; 21, gamma-aminobutyric acid type A (GABA-A) IgG; 22, glial fibrillary acidic-α (GFAPα) IgG; 23, neurexin 3-α; 24, neurofilament light chain IgG

the "limbic system" [4]. Furthermore, Papez elucidated the association of complex emotions and motivational processes with the limbic lobe [2, 3].

Many neural autoantibody biomarkers of autoimmune encephalitis have been described, and new antibodies are being recognized every year (Fig. 1). Immunofluorescence assays continue to play a critical role in clinical testing as well as discovery of neural-specific autoantibodies (Fig. 2). Few neural-specific antibodies directed against cell surface epitopes are pathogenic, whereas those targeting intracellular antigens are biomarkers of autoimmunity and/or underlying cancer (Fig. 3) [5]. Learning about the specific clinical presentations of autoimmune encephalitides, their pathophysiology and cancer association is crucial for patient care. In this review, we highlight the typical clinical and radiological features of autoimmune limbic encephalitides. We also describe the treatment strategies and immunotherapy agents utilized in the management.



Fig. 2 Unique indirect immunofluorescence assay on mouse brain with antihuman IgG staining. Key: NMDA-R, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (1a,b); GABA-BR, γ -aminobutyric acid-B receptor (2a,b); ANNA-1, anti-neuronal nuclear antibody type-1 (a.k.a. anti-Hu, 3a,b); GL, granular layer; hippo, hippocampus; ML, molecular layer

Epidemiology

Although it was initially thought to be relatively rare, there is growing consensus that autoimmune encephalitis is responsible for considerable proportion of encephalitis syndrome previously considered idiopathic [1]. A recent population-based epidemiology study of autoimmune encephalitis in Olmsted county, Minnesota [1], showed that autoimmune encephalitis had prevalence of 13.7/100,000. Antibodypositive definite autoimmune encephalitis as per the proposed autoimmune encephalitis diagnostic criteria was the most prevalent category; the next was acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) [6]. The most frequently identified neural autoantibody specificities were myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) and glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65) [1]. Furthermore the incidence of autoimmune encephalitis is increasing over time from 0.4/100.000 person-years in 1995– 2005 to 1.2/100,000 person-years in 2006-2015. This is mostly attributable to increased detection of autoantibody-positive cases (Fig. 1, Table 1). A prospective study based in the United Kingdom that enrolled encephalitis patients from 24 hospitals over a period of 2 years found 21% had autoimmune encephalitis. In their study ADEM and NMDA-R encephalitis were the most common subcategories [7]. Moreover, relapsing nature of some of these syndromes imposes a significant disease burden and morbidity [1].



Fig. 3 Pathophysiological mechanisms for paraneoplastic neurological disorders. Tumor-targeted immune responses are initiated by onconeural proteins expressed in the plasma membrane, nucleus, cytoplasm, or nucleolus of certain cancers. These antigens are also expressed in neurons or glia and thus are coincidental targets. Antibodies directed at neural cell surface antigens (e.g., N-methyl-D-aspartate [NMDA] receptors) are effectors through multiple mechanisms. In contrast, intracellular antigens are not accessible to immune attack in situ, but peptides derived from intracellular proteins are displayed on upregulated major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules after breakdown in the proteasome and in turn are targeted by peptide-specific cytotoxic T cells. Antibodies (e.g., anti-Hu) targeting these intracellular antigens are not pathogenic but serve as diagnostic markers in clinical practice of a T-cell-predominant immune response Key: green triangle, intracellular antigen; red triangle, cell surface antigen; Ag, Antigen; ADCC, antibody dependent cellularcytotoxicity; MHC, major histocompatibility complex

Clinical Manifestation

Even though autoimmune encephalitis subtypes might have some difference in clinical presentations, behavioral changes, seizure, and/or focal neurologic deficits are the predominant manifestations among the majority of these cases (Table 1) [8]. Autonomic dysfunction (e.g., orthostatic intolerance, cardiac rhythm dysfunction, hyper- or hypothermia) can be a part of the neurological syndrome. CSF analysis may mimic viral etiologies, with lymphocytic pleocytosis and elevated CSF protein being common abnormalities [9]. However, nearly half of the cases may have noninflammatory CSF studies [10]. Diagnostic criteria, as a part of expert consensus for autoimmune encephalitis, have been proposed [6]. These criteria may help the

			Cancer	
Antibody	Naunala si sal musa sutati su s	Ducia MDI	association	Specific cancer
Antibody NMDA-R	Neurological presentations Oral dyskinesia, catatonia, neuropsychiatric dysfunction, autonomic dysfunction, refractory epilepsy (EEG: extreme delta brush)	Normal or non-specific cortical and/or subcortical changes	(3+, 2+, 1+)	ovarian teratoma
AMPA-R	Limbic encephalitis	Cortical atrophy, deep gray nuclei FLAIR hyperintensity	2+	Thymoma, small cell lung cancer, breast adenocarcinoma
LGII	FBDS, piloerection seizures, limbic encephalitis, paroxysmal dizzy spells	Medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity, T1 basal ganglia hyperintensity (FBDS cases)	1+, 2+ª	Thymoma
CASPR2	Neuromyotonia, Morvan's syndrome, limbic encephalitis, refractory epilepsy, sleep disorder	Normal or medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity	1, 2+	Thymoma
Glycine	SPS, PERM	Normal or non-specific cortical and/or subcortical changes	Rare (<5%)	Thymoma
DPPX	Diarrhea, hyperekplexia, ambiguous sleep, parasomnias, PERM,	Normal or non-specific cortical and/or subcortical changes	Rare (<10%)	Lymphoma
GABA-A	SE, autoimmune encephalitis	Multifocal cortical and subcortical hyperintensity	1+	Thymoma
GABA-B	SE, limbic encephalitis	Medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity	2+	Small cell lung cancer
GAD65	SPS, hyperekplexia, brain-stem encephalitis (especially African Americans)	Multifocal cortical and subcortical hyperintensity or brainstem hyperintensity	1+	Thymoma

 Table 1
 Clinical features of specific neural autoantibody-associated syndromes

(continued)

			Cancer	
Antibody	Neurological presentations	Brain MRI	association $(3+2+1+)$	Specific cancer
mGluR5	Encephalopathy, mood changes, movement disorder, and seizures, SE in children.	Normal in 50%, limbic/cortical FLAIR changes	2-3+	Hodgkin lymphoma
MOG	ADEM, ON, TM	Multifocal demyelination, involvement of corpus callosum, deep gray nuclei	-	_
ANNA-1/Hu	Limbic encephalitis, sensory neuronopathy, autonomic dysfunction, rarely SE	Normal or medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity	3+	Associated with history of 80–90% SCLC and neuroendocrine tumors
ANNA-2/Ri	Stridor, laryngospasm, jaw dystonia, opsoclonus myoclonus	Brainstem FLAIR hyperintensity and/or atrophy	3+	Small cell lung cancer, breast cancer
Ma-1/Ma-2	Limbic encephalitis, brainstem encephalitis	Brainstem FLAIR hyperintensity or medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity	3+	Testicular germ cell tumor ^b , small cell lung cancer ^c
Amphiphysin	SPS, PERM, transverse myelitis, limbic encephalitis can occur in up to 30% of patients	Normal or non-specific cortical and/or subcortical changes	2+	Small cell lung cancer, breast cancer
GFAPα	Meningo- encephalomyelitis, tremor, ataxia, autonomic dysfunction	Peri-radial/ patchy enhancement or diffuse subcortical hyperintensity	1+	Ovarian teratoma
CRMP5	Choreo-athetosis, optic neuritis, retinitis, limbic encephalits, ataxia, transverse myelitis, polyradiculoneuropathy	Normal or medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity	3+	Small cell lung cancer, thymoma

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Antibody	Neurological presentations	Brain MRI	Cancer association (3+, 2+, 1+)	Specific cancer type
IgLON5	Parasomnias, REM and NREM dysfunction, brainstem dysfunction, hyperexcitability disorder, rarely associated with nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy	Normal or non-specific cortical and/or subcortical changes	Unknown	_
Neurexin-3a	Prodrome: fever, headache GI symptoms followed by encephalopathy and seizures	Normal	_	_
Adenylate kinase 5	Limbic encephalitis	Bilateral medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity	-	_

Table 1 (continued)

Key: 1+, 10–30%; 2+, 30–60%; 3+, >60%; *ADEM* acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, *AMPA-R* amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic, *ANNA-1* anti-neuronal nuclear antibody-1, *ANNA-2* anti-neuronal nuclear antibody-2, *CBA* cell-based assay, *CASPR2* contactin-associated protein-like 2, *CRMP5* collapsin response-mediator protein 5, *DPPX* dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein-6, *EMG* electromyography, *FLAIR* fluid-attenuated inversion recovery, *GABA-A* gamma-aminobutyric acid type A, *GABA-B* gamma-aminobutyric acid type B, *GAD65* glutamic acid decarboxylase 65, *GFAP* glial fibrillary acidic protein, *LGI1* leucine-rich, glioma-inactivated-1, *MOG* myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein, *NMDA-R* N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, *ON* optic neuritis, *PERM* progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus, *REM* rapid eye movement, *SPS* stiff person syndrome, *TM* transverse myelitis

^aCoexisting LGI1 and CASPR2 antibodies

^bMa2 antibodies

°Ma1 antibodies with or without Ma2 antibodies

clinicians to diagnose autoimmune encephalitis at the time of initial presentation. Predictive model based on clinical features and initial neurological assessment (Antibody Prevalence in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy [APE2] score) may aid in the identification of these patients as well. Furthermore, scoring systems for response to immunotherapy (Response to Immunotherapy in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy [RITE2] score) may also be utilized for immunotherapy trials (Table 2). APE2 score \geq 4 was found to be a sensitive and specific predictor of neural-specific antibody positivity, whereas RITE2 score \geq 7 was a predictor for initial immunotherapy response. Familiarity with various types of antibodies can help with the diagnosis. In the following section, we will elaborate in detail various neural-specific antibody subtypes.

1A: Antibody Prevalence in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy (APE2 score)	Value	1B: Response to Immunotherapy in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy score (RITE2 score)	Value
New onset, rapidly progressive mental status changes that developed over 1–6 weeks or new onset seizure activity (within 1 year of evaluation)	(+1)	New onset, rapidly progressive mental status changes that developed over 1–6 weeks or new onset seizure activity (within 1 year of evaluation)	(+1)
Neuropsychiatric changes; agitation, aggressiveness, emotional lability	(+1)	Neuropsychiatric changes; agitation, aggressiveness, emotional labiality	(+1)
Autonomic dysfunction [sustained atrial tachycardia or bradycardia, orthostatic hypotension ($\geq 20 \text{ mmHg}$ fall in systolic pressure or $\geq 10 \text{ mmHg}$ fall in diastolic pressure within 3 minutes of quiet standing), hyperhidrosis, persistently labile blood pressure, ventricular tachycardia, cardiac asystole or gastrointestinal dysmotility] ^a	(+1)	Autonomic dysfunction [sustained atrial tachycardia or bradycardia, orthostatic hypotension ($\geq 20 \text{ mmHg}$ fall in systolic pressure or $\geq 10 \text{ mmHg}$ fall in diastolic pressure within 3 minutes of quiet standing), hyperhidrosis, persistently labile blood pressure, ventricular tachycardia, cardiac asystole or gastrointestinal dysmotility] ^a	(+1)
Viral prodrome (rhinorrhea, sore throat, low-grade fever) to be scored in the absence of underlying systemic malignancy within 5 years of neurological symptom onset	(+2)	Viral prodrome (rhinorrhea, sore throat, low-grade fever) only to be scored in the absence of underlying malignancy within 5 years of neurological symptom onset	(+2)
Faciobrachial dystonic seizures	(+3)	Faciobrachial dystonic movements	(+3)
Facial dyskinesias, to be scored in the absence of faciobrachial dystonic seizures	(+2)	Facial dyskinesias, to be scored in the absence of faciobrachial dystonic seizures	(+2)
Seizure refractory to at least to two antiseizure medications	(+2)	Seizure refractory to at least to two antiseizure medications	(+2)
CSF findings consistent with inflammation ^b (elevated CSF protein >50 mg/dL and/or lymphocytic pleocytosis >5 cells/mcL, if the total number of CSF RBC is <1000 cells/ mcL)	(+2)	CSF findings consistent with inflammation ^b (elevated CSF protein >50 mg/dL and/or lymphocytic pleocytosis >5 cells/mcL, if the total number of CSF RBC is <1000 cells/ mcL)	(+2)
Brain MRI suggesting encephalitis ^b (T2/FLAIR hyperintensity restricted to one or both medial temporal lobes or multifocal in gray matter, white matter, or both compatible with demyelination or inflammation)	(+2)	Brain MRI suggesting encephalitis ^b (T2/FLAIR hyperintensity restricted to one or both medial temporal lobes or multifocal in gray matter, white matter, or both compatible with demyelination or inflammation)	(+2)
Systemic cancer diagnosed within 5 years of neurological symptom onset (excluding cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, basal cell carcinoma, brain tumor, cancer with brain metastasis)	(+2)	Systemic cancer diagnosed within 5 years of neurological symptom onset (excluding cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, basal cell carcinoma, brain tumor, cancer with brain metastasis)	(+2)

Table 2 Components of the APE2 score (1A) and RITE2 score (1B). The assigned APE² and RITE² scores are the sum of values for all components

(continued)

1A: Antibody Prevalence in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy (APE2 score)	Value	1B: Response to Immunotherapy in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy score (RITE2 score)	Value
	Total (max: 18)	Immunotherapy initiated within 6 months of symptom onset	(+2)
		Neural plasma membrane autoantibody detected (NMDA-R, GABA-AR, GABA-BR, AMPA-R, DPPX, mGluR1, mGluR2, mGluR5, LGI1, IgLON5, CASPR2, MOG)	(+2)
			Total (max, 22)

Table 2 (continued)

Key: *AMPA-R* amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic, *ANNA-1* anti-neuronal nuclear antibody-1, *ANNA-2* anti-neuronal nuclear antibody-2, *ANNA-3* anti-neuronal nuclear antibody-3, *CASPR2* contactin-associated protein 2, *CRMP5* collapsin response-mediator protein-5, *DPPX* dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein 6, *FLAIR* fluid-attenuated inversion recovery, *GAD65* glutamic acid decarboxylase-65, *GABA-BR* γ -aminobutyric acid-B receptor, *GFAPa* glial fibrillary acidic protein, *LGI1* leucine-rich glioma-inactivated-1protein, *MOG* myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein, *NMDA-R* N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, *PCA-1* Purkinje cell cytoplasmic antibody type 1, *PCA-2* Purkinje cell cytoplasmic antibody type 2

^aScored only if no history of autonomic dysfunction prior to onset of suspected autoimmune syndrome and the autonomic dysfunction not attributable to medications, hypovolemia, plasmapheresis, or infection

^bPatients scored zero if MRI of the brain or CSF analysis not performed

Cell Surface, Ion Channels, and Other Surface Epitopes

There are four IgG isotypes (IgG1–4) which have different ability to activate the complement system. Antibodies of the IgG1–3 subtypes are able to cross-link the antigens because of their bivalent nature, whereas IgG4 subtypes are hetero-bivalent but behave as monovalent antibodies in most situations [11]. They lose their cross-linking ability after the Fab-arm links with other unrelated IgG4 molecules. Cross-linking autoantibodies are believed to bring the antigens close together on the cell membrane and promote the degradation of the ligand–receptor complex [11]. IgG1–3 can activate the complement system by forming the membrane attack complex (MAC) and leading to membrane damage of targeted cells [6].

N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor (NMDA-R) IgG

NMDA-R encephalitis is an important diagnosis to consider especially in young patients (<40 years) with autoimmune encephalitis. The California Encephalitis Project found that the number of young patients in the study with NMDA-R encephalitis was greater than those with any single viral etiology (51). NMDA-R IgGs are

predominantly IgG1–3 subtype and target the NR1 subunit in the receptor complex. It leads to reduced number of the synaptic and extra synaptic receptors, causing decreased synaptic plasticity and transmission (Fig. 4) [12]. Clinical presentation usually begins with a prodrome of a headache or fever, followed by psychiatric manifestations including delusions, hallucinations, mania-like episodes, and alternating episodes of extreme agitation and catatonia. Patients may then progress to develop seizures, encephalopathy, stereotyped movements (orofacial dyskinesias, chorea, ballismus, or myoclonus), rigidity, or opisthotonos and autonomic dysfunction. Seizures in NMDA-R encephalitis are usually focal non-motor seizures that might progress to refractory status epilepticus [13, 14]. Nearly 12–20% of cases have clinical relapses [15].

Majority of NMDA-R encephalitis patients have normal brain MRI (Magnetic resonance imaging) on initial presentation [16, 17]. Among the subset of patients with MRI abnormalities, the changes are usually non-specific [18, 19]. "Extreme delta brush" (EDB) was initially considered specific electroencephalography (EEG) findings for anti-NMDA-R encephalitis [20]. However, recent studies have described EDB with other metabolic and structural encephalopathies [21].

In about half of the patients with NMDA-R encephalitis, an immunogenic "trigger" can be identified. The two main triggers are the presence of ovarian teratoma [22] and a history of herpes simplex virus (HSV) encephalitis [23, 24]. Approximately two-third of adult women between ages 18 and 45 years with NMDA-R encephalitis have been reported to have ovarian teratoma [25]. In the case of ovarian teratoma, the tumor itself contains mature or immature neural tissue [26]. Ovarian teratomas in association with NMDA-R encephalitis are extremely rare in children younger than 12 years or older adults (\geq 45 years) [18].

Leucine-Rich, Glioma-Inactivated-1 (LGI1) Immunoglobulin G (IgG)

Voltage-gated potassium channels (VGKCs), typically formed by four different α subunits, each associated with a β subunit [12, 27]. Typically, tetramers of four α subunits arranged as a ring formation, creating the transmembrane K+ pore. Additionally, there are other associated proteins like LGI1, contactin-associated protein-like 2 (Caspr2), Contactin 2, a disintegrin and metalloproteinase protein 22 (ADAM22), and a disintegrin and metalloproteinase protein 23 (ADAM23), all of which can affect the function of VGKC (Fig. 4) [28]. In 2010 the discovery of auto-antibodies against the extracellular proteins LGI1 and Caspr2 facilitated a change of view regarding the clinical importance of VGKC complex antibodies [29].

LGI1 encephalitis seems to be more prevalent in older individuals especially men [30]. However, few pediatric cases have also been described as well [31]. Typical clinical presentations include seizures and memory deficits [31]. About 60% of the patients will have hyponatremia [32], and some patients have preceding or concomitant myoclonic-like jerks involving the face, arm, or leg—described as faciobrachial dystonic or tonic seizures (FBDS). These are focal dystonic motor seizures and are usually brief, and they occur multiple times a day [33]. They have


Fig. 4 Pathophysiological mechanism for glutamatergic synapses that represent major primary excitatory neurotransmitter at almost all synapses in the central nervous system. Leucine-rich glioma-inactivated-1 (LGI1) IgG and/or contactin-associated protein-like 2 (Caspr2) IgG are present in a subset of patients with voltage-gated potassium channel-complex (VGKCc) antibodies. LGI1 interacts with presynaptic ADAM23 and postsynaptic ADAM22 forming a complex that includes presynaptic Kv1.1 potassium channel and postsynaptic α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor. LGI1 IgG effects this complex, potentially altering postsynaptic AMPA receptors and presynaptic Kv1 channels, leading to increased neuronal excitability. N-methyl-D-aspartate [NMDA] receptor IgG in the autoimmune encephalitis cases predominantly bind to an epitope on NR1 subunit. NMDA receptor IgG binding disrupts the interaction between NMDA receptor and EphB2, and causes internalization of the NMDA receptor

a characteristic stereotypic contraction of the face, arm, and leg [33]. FBDS usually has no ictal EEG correlate, but preceding contralateral frontotemporal electrodecrement or sharply contoured rhythmic delta activity has been reported in few cases [34].

Another, characteristic seizure semiology is unilateral piloerections episodes [35]. More recently, paroxysmal dizzy spells have also been described in a subset of patients [30]. These "dizzy spells" or "out of body experiences" may precede encephalopathy by several months. Recognition and treatment of these seizures with immunotherapy may lead to better clinical and cognitive outcome [33, 36, 37].

CASPR2 IgG is found in a minority of VGKCc IgG-positive cases. These patients seem to have predominant peripheral nervous system involvement. Two clinical syndromes which have been described in association with antibodies are Isaacs' syndrome (neuromyotonia) and Morvan's syndrome (neuromyotonia, myokymia, or dysautonomia). In a considerable proportion of these cases, CSF analysis and brain MRI are usually normal or with non-specific findings. A subset of cases (10–20%) may have thymoma, and the risk is significantly higher among patients with coexisting LGI1 IgG (20–40%) [30].

α -Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methyl-4-Isoxazole
propionic Acid Receptor (AMPA-R) IgG

AMPA-R encephalitis was initially described in 2009 [38]. Median age of onset is around 60 years (range, 23–81 years), and it occurs more frequently in females (64%) [39]. Typical presentation includes anterograde and/or retrograde memory deficits, mood changes, and temporal lobe seizures. Recent studies have supported direct antibody-mediated pathogenicity [40, 41]. The majority (60–70%) of the patients have underlying malignancy, mainly small cell lung cancer or thymoma [38, 42]. In a series of ten patients (nine women), seven had thymoma or cancer of the lung or breast. A considerable proportion of patients have a refractory course and go on to develop diffuse cortical atrophy [40, 41, 43]. It is thought that the antibodies are directed against GluR1 and GluR2 subunits (Fig. 5) causing downregulation of the receptor and decrease of its synaptic clustering [40, 44].

γ-Aminobutyric Acid Type A (GABA-A) Receptor IgG

GABA receptors are ionotropic receptors (Fig. 5) [45]. There are several subunit isoforms (α , β , and γ) for the GABA-A receptor, which determine the receptor's agonist affinity, chance of opening, conductance, and other properties [46]. For GABA-A autoimmunity varied clinical features have been described (Table 1) [47]. One study reported six patients with encephalitis and refractory status epilepticus [48]. Brain MRI abnormalities are common and have been reported in up to 88% of the patients, showing multifocal, asynchronous, cortical–subcortical T2/FLAIR abnormalities predominantly involving temporal (95%) and frontal (65%) lobes

Fig. 5 Pathophysiological mechanism for y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) synapses and represents the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the CNS. Mediates its action via two classes of receptors, ionotropic GABA-A and metabotropic GABA-B receptors seen here. GABA-A receptors are ligand-gated ion channels, whereas GABA-B receptors are guanine nucleotide-binding (G) protein-coupled receptors that modulate calcium (Ca2+) and potassium (K+) channels and elicit both presynaptic and slow postsynaptic inhibition



[49, 50]. Age of symptom (median age, 40 years) onset tends to be younger than cases with GABA-B encephalitis [51]. Even though the disorder is severe, most patients respond to treatment [50].

γ-Aminobutyric Acid Type B (GABA-B) Receptor IgG

GABA-B receptors are metabotropic transmembrane receptors that are linked to G-protein-gated potassium channels (Fig. 5) [52]. There are two GABA-BR subtypes, GABA-B1R and GABA-B2R, assembling into functional heterogenic complexes [53]. A significant proportion of GABA-B receptor IgG-positive cases have detectable or occult small cell lung cancer (SCLC) [54]. The clinical features of GABA-BR IgG-positive patients are variable, but the usual presenting symptoms are seizure, confusion, disorientation, memory loss, or behavioral changes consistent with limbic encephalitis [55]. Few cases of refractory status epilepticus have also been described [39, 56]. The median age of symptom onset is 61 years old (16–77 years) and tends to occur more common in men [51]. MRI of the brain usually demonstrates unilateral or bilateral medial temporal FLAIR hyperintensity. However, the initial MRI of the brain may be normal in some cases [17].

Dipeptidyl-Peptidase-Like Protein 6 (DPPX) IgG

DPPX is a part of the VGKC complex. It is a cell surface auxiliary subunit of the Kv4.2 potassium channel family [57]. Most patients have both IgG4 and IgG1 DPPX antibody subtypes [39, 57]. Reported median age of symptom onset is 57 years [58]. The clinical syndrome usually includes prodromal symptoms, weight loss, and diarrhea followed by cognitive dysfunction, memory deficits, CNS hyper-excitability (hyperekplexia, myoclonus, and tremor), seizures, and brainstem or cerebellar dysfunction [58]. Tumor screening is usually negative; there is one report of mantle cell lymphoma associated with DPPX autoimmunity [58, 59].

Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor 5 (mGluR5) IgG

Anti-mGluR5 limbic encephalitis has also been referred to as the "Ophelia syndrome" [60, 61]. The syndrome is named after a character from Shakespeare's play *Hamlet*. Patients usually present with subacute onset of encephalopathy, mood changes, movement disorder, and seizures [62]. Status epilepticus has been commonly reported in pediatric cases [60]. The clinical syndrome is associated with Hodgkin's lymphoma.

Intracellular Epitopes

These clinical syndromes are mediated by a cellular immune response. Many of these biomarkers have strong paraneoplastic associations [63]. Additionally, these patients tend to have a refractory clinical course in comparison to patients with antibodies against extracellular epitopes [64].

Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase (65 kd, GAD65) IgG

GAD65 antibodies target the synaptic isoform of the enzyme necessary to synthesize GABA. It is known to be associated with diverse clinical conditions including type 1 diabetes, stiff person syndrome (SPS), progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM), autoimmune epilepsy, cerebellar ataxia, and limbic encephalitis [65, 66]. Higher titers ($\geq 20 \text{ nmol/L}$) have a more specific association with neurological autoimmunity. The median age of symptom onset is 30 years (range, 5–80 years). Patients with SPS present with muscle rigidity and spasms that may occur spontaneously or triggered tactile stimuli, auditory stimuli, or emotional disturbances. The disorder predominantly affects axial and proximal muscles of the extremities. Electromyography (EMG) of the involved muscles shows continuous motor unit activity as a result of dysfunction of the inhibitory GABAergic system. Few patients with limbic encephalitis associated with GAD65 IgG have also been reported. T-cell-mediated cytotoxicity has been hypothesized to contribute to the refractory nature of the disease.

Anti-Neuronal Nuclear Antibody Type-1 (ANNA-1, a.k.a. Hu) IgG

ANNA-1 or "anti-Hu" has a strong association with small cell carcinoma (pulmonary or extrapulmonary) and childhood neuroblastoma (Figs. 2 and 3) [67–69]. Additionally, small cell lung cancer patients (~15–20%) without paraneoplastic neurological syndrome also have antibodies to HuD antigen [70]. Some studies have identified HuD-specific T cells among these patients with paraneoplastic autoimmunity. However, two different kinds of HuD-specific T-cell responses have been reported, either a classical IFN- γ -producing cytotoxic T-cell response or T cells producing type 2 cytokines such as IL-13 and IL-5 that lacked cytolytic activity [71]. The clinical presentation is with various central and peripheral nervous system manifestations such as sensory neuronopathy and autonomic dysfunction, especially gastroparesis [5]. However, a considerable proportion (10–17%) of cases present with limbic encephalitis or refractory seizures. Both temporal and extratemporal localization of the seizures have been reported [72].

Ma1 or Ma2 IgG Antibodies

Antibodies to Ma1 and Ma2 proteins are associated with paraneoplastic disorder that affects the limbic system, brainstem, and cerebellum [73, 74]. Anti-Ma2 encephalitis (with or without anti-Ma1 antibodies) should be suspected in patients with limbic diencephalic or brainstem dysfunction common symptoms are visual or eye movement deficits: diplopia, opsoclonus, difficulty opening the eyes, memory deficits; confusional state and decline of cognitive function [75]. Up to 70% of patients will have MRI abnormalities in these regions, and inflammatory changes in the CSF. Anti-Ma2 antibodies are strongly associated with testicular tumors in

young men and small cell lung cancer or breast cancer in older patients [75]. Clinical presentation mimicking motor neuron disease has also been described in associated with Ma2 IgG seropositivity [76]. Male gender, younger age (<45 years), presence of testicular tumor with complete response to treatment, and absence of anti-Ma1 antibodies have been associated with better clinical outcomes [75].

Collapsin Response-Mediator Protein-5 (CRMP5) IgG

CRMP5 is a paraneoplastic biomarker of small cell lung cancer or thymoma [77]. Patients with CRMP5 IgG usually manifest with various neurologic signs including chorea, cranial neuropathy, dementia, cerebellar ataxia, myelopathy, and peripheral neuropathy [49, 78, 79]. Among patients with choreiform movement disorder prominent T2/FLAIR hyperintense lesions in the striatum have been described. Management of underlying malignancy and early initiation of immunotherapy may be associated with favorable outcome [80].

Adenylate Kinase 5 (AK5) IgG

AK5 IgG is a rare autoimmune limbic encephalitis biomarker. So far just 12 patients have been described in the literature, with detailed clinical data on 10 of them [81]. The median age of symptom onset was 64 years (range 57–80 year), and majority of these (7/10) were men. Subacute anterograde amnesia was common among all the ten cases. A prodromal state was present in five patients, which consisted of depression (5/10), asthenia (4/10), anorexia (3/10), or headache (1/10). None of the patients had a detectable malignancy [81, 82].

Hashimoto's Encephalopathy (HE) or Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy with Autoimmune Thyroiditis (SREAT)

Clinical characteristics of HE include encephalopathy, seizures, stroke-like episodes, and myoclonus [5]. These patients typically have thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibodies but may or may not have history of thyroiditis. Seizure presentations are variable including new onset refractory status epilepticus or progressive myoclonic epilepsy [83, 84]. Triad of encephalopathy, evidence of thyroid autoimmunity (clinically or serologically), and a favorable response to steroids have been traditionally utilized for identification of these cases [6].

Pathogenesis

Pathophysiology and Triggers of Autoimmunity

Tumors: Paraneoplastic neurological disorders are a rare and heterogeneous group of disorders caused by immune response against cancer, rather than an effect of tumor itself, nutritional or metabolic deficits. This immune response is misdirected toward shared neural target antigens causing an immune-mediated neurological syndrome [85]. Lately with the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors, the frequency of these syndromes has relatively increased. Due to the difference in immunogenic autoantigens expressed by various tumors, antibody response seems tumor-specific. Malignancies which are commonly associated with these autoantibodies are small cell lung cancer, thymomas, ovarian teratomas or adenocarcinomas, breast adenocarcinomas, and testicular germ cell tumors. Paraneoplastic neurological symptoms often occur prior to tumor detection; the diagnosis may aid in the identification of the underlying cancer (Table 1) [86].

Infections: Infection may also serve as an initial trigger of autoimmune neurological syndrome. Several mechanisms have been suggested including molecular mimicry, epitope spreading and bystander activation. Some proteins expressed by the pathogens share structural or amino-acid sequence homology with a selfantigen. This may elicit cross-reactive immune response implicated in neurological autoimmunity. This phenomenon is referred to as molecular mimicry. In other instances host cells may be damaged by the infection, leading to the release of selfantigen and triggering an autoimmune response. In bystander activation, infection leads to activation of antigen-presenting cells and/or pre-primed autoreactive lymphocytes, which can then evoke an autoimmune disorder [86].

Mechanisms of Antibodies Targeting Neuronal Surface Antigens

Internalization of receptors: Antibodies can cross-link to two adjacent receptors via their Fab fragments. These antibody-linked receptors can be endocytosed, internalized, and degraded. A good example is NMDA-R encephalitis. NMDA-R IgGs recognize an extracellular, conformation-dependent epitope region on the GluN1 subunit of the NMDA-R. Binding of the autoantibody does not interfere with glutamate binding, but cross-links NMDA-R, thereby initiating the internalization of the receptor. The reduced NMDA-R density on the neuronal surface results in neuronal dysfunction. It is important to note that this process is reversible and, after removal of NMDA-R IgGs, we see a good recovery of the synaptic function [87, 88].

Agonistic effects: Direct agonistic effect is another mechanism of antibodymediated neuronal dysfunction. GluR1 and GluR2 have been reported to be the common antigenic target among patients with AMPA encephalitis [40, 44]. However, in a subgroup of patients, the antigenic target has been reported to be the GluR3 subunit [89]. Binding of antibodies to GluR3 leads to opening of the ion channel receptors. This allows excessive Ca2+ influx through the receptor-operated cation channels causing exocytotic neural death [90, 91].

Ion channel deficiency: Antibodies such as LGI1 IgG might cause their pathogenic effect by ion channel dysfunction. Disruption of LGI1-ADAM22 interaction may lead to reduce synaptic AMPA receptor function in rat hippocampal neurons. Additionally in epileptic LGI1 knockout mouse model, levels of AMPA receptor are greatly reduced. By affecting AMPA receptor function (Fig. 4), LGI1 IgG might lead to disrupted calcium influx [92, 93]. This antibody-mediated ion channel dysfunction results in increased excitability, which results in seizures and some of the other neurological manifestations [94].

Diagnosis

The differentials for autoimmune limbic encephalitis are varied. The most important groups are summarized in Table 3. Autoimmune and viral encephalitides can resemble one another, and sometimes autoimmune encephalitis may have parainfectious associations such as post-HSV infection NMDA encephalitis. Among immunocompromised individuals, infectious etiologies should be higher as a differential. The presence of meningeal signs is usually more suggestive of infectious etiologies, only exception being GFAP α IgG which is frequently associated with meningoencephalitis. Human herpes virus-6 (HHV-6) encephalitis that is usually seen in immunocompromised patients may be difficult to differentiate from autoimmune limbic on brain MRI. Temporal lobe gliomas may also have a radiological appearance similar to limbic encephalitis [95].

Treatment

General Principles

The current evidence for the treatment of autoimmune encephalitis is primarily based on experience from retrospective case series, case reports, and expert opinions. Efforts are underway for designing randomized control trials for this condition although there are many challenges in this regard as discussed later in this section. Treatment of a patient with autoimmune encephalitis can be broadly conceptualized as immunotherapy (main stay of treatment), removal of an immunologic trigger, such as a tumor, when applicable and symptomatic therapy to manage comorbidities associated with this condition (Table 4).

	CSF		
Disorder	pleocytosis	Distinctive features	Diagnostic tests
Herpes simplex virus encephalitis (HSE)	Yes	Fever (>38 °C) MRI showing hemorrhagic lesions, medial temporal lobes involvement	HSV DNA in CSF Can be negative if done too early (≤24 hours) or too late (after 10–14 days) Consider determination of intrathecal HSV antibody synthesis for atypical or protracted cases
HHV-6 encephalitis	Occasional	Common in immunocompromised patients	HHV-6 DNA PCR in CSF
Neurosyphilis	Yes	Common in immunocompromised patients Meningeal signs and cranial nerve involvement common Sequela of other organ involvements due of syphilis	CSF treponemal antibody tests
Whipple disease	Yes	Systemic symptoms (polyarthralgia and intermittent diarrhea) Oculomasticatory myorhythmia	<i>T whipplei</i> DNA PCR in CSF
HIV	Yes	Low CD4 cell count	Positive HIV serology.
Status epilepticus	Occasional	History of seizure, alternative etiology for epilepsy, antiseizure medication non-compliance	Reversible diffusion weighted images restriction Mesial temporal sclerosis in some cases
Gliomas	No	Contrast enhancement and mass effect on MRI brain, usually unilateral lesion	Brain lesion biopsy

 Table 3 Differential diagnosis of autoimmune limbic encephalitis

Key: *CSF* cerebrospinal fluid, *LE* limbic encephalitis, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *FLAIR* fluid-attenuated inversion recovery, *CT* computed tomography, *DNA* deoxyribonucleic acid, *HSV* herpes simplex virus, *HHV-6* herpes simplex virus-6, *PCR* polymerase chain reaction

The principles in the management of autoimmune encephalitis in the acute, maintenance, and chronic phases:

- 1. Achieving maximal clinical recovery at the lowest risk of exposure of such therapy. An aggressive approach during the initial phase followed by titration it to the least effective dose to maintain remission is recommended.
- 2. Early commencement of immunotherapy is commonly associated with a better outcome [6]. Treatment should start as soon as alternative etiologies are excluded. This said, initiating treatment on the grounds of convincing clinical, radiological, and serological findings after a preliminary exclusion of common mimics is very reasonable. In this regard, since infectious encephalitis like herpes simplex virus (HSV) encephalitis is a very close mimic of autoimmune encephalitis, it is not unreasonable to consider an empiric course of antiviral agents like acyclovir (or antibiotics in suspected cases of bacterial meningoencephalitis) until preliminary testing comes back negative.

Table 4 First-line and	l second-line imr	nunothe	rapy agents for manag	ement of autoimmune encep	halitis	
Medication	Dose	Route	Frequency	Mechanism	Adverse effects	Safety monitoring
Methylprednisolone	1000 mg (30 mg/kg)	IV	3-5 days for acute phase treatment	Acts on nuclear glucocorticoids receptors to reduce cytokine and chemokine production, Reduces migration of leukocytes to the target tissue	Insomnia, increased appetite, psychiatric disturbance (psychosis), diabetes, cataracts, osteoporosis, hip avascular necrosis, delayed wound healing	CBC, electrolytes, blood pressure. Glucose. PJP prophylaxis, proton pump inhibitors. Osteoporosis prevention
Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG)	2 g/Kg over 3-5 days	IV	3-5 days for acute phase treatment, maintenance, $1-2$ g/ kg every $3-4$ weeks	Interaction with antigen binding fragment on the antibodies and/or crystallizable fragment on the antibodies or the antigen-presenting cells	Headache, aseptic meningitis, deep venous thrombosis, renal failure, pulmonary edema	IgA levels prior to administration. Electrolytes and renal function
Plasma exchange (PLEX)	5–7 exchanges	IV	10–14 days for acute phase treatment (one exchange every other day)	Extracorporeal blood filtration designed to remove large molecular weight molecules, including immunoglobulins, immune complex, and complements	Hypotension, electrolyte imbalance, perioral paresthesia (hypocalcemia), coagulopathy, central IV catheter-related infection, hemorrhage, thrombosis, and pneumothorax	PT, INR, PTT, Fibrinogen
Rituximab	1000 mg followed by same dose at 2 weeks or 375 mg/m ² weekly x4 doses	2	Every 6 months (Approximately) or based on CD 19 counts; goal <0.1	Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody. B-cell depletion by antibody- and complement-dependent mechanisms	Infusion reactions, rash, pruritus, edema, hypertension, fever, fatigue, chills, headache, diarrhea, cytopenias, neutropenic fever, liver toxicity, hepatitis B reactivation	Hepatitis B and tuberculosis screening. Periodic CBC

Vomiting, diarrhea, hypertension, creatinine elevation, edema, lymphoma, myelotoxicity, teratogenicityCBC, renal function, pregnancy test prior. CBC weekly first month, increasi interval thereafter. Limit su dermatology evaluation at least yearly	Nausea, vomiting, alopecia, infertility, mucositis, hemorrhagic cystitis, myelotoxicityCBC, liver and kidney function test, urinalysis at month, interease interval if stable. Patient should not receive live vaccines while this treatment. PJP	c Fever, malaise, myalgias, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea ads TMPT/pregnancy testing nausea, vomiting, diarrhea brior to first dose. CBC, LF weekly for the first month, weekly for the first month, increase interval thereafter. ads Leukopenia, anemia, thrombocytopenia, myelotoxicity, liver Limit sun and ultraviolet lig exposure. Therapeutic targe of five-unit increase in mea corpuscular volume from baseline. Discontinue for leukopenia	(continue
Inhibition of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenass-mediate guanosine nucleotide synthesis	Alkylating agent with interferes with DNA synthesis	Converted to cytotoxic 6- thioguanine nucleotides, which leac to incorporation as a fa base into DNA inducin lymphocyte apoptosis	
Twice a day	Monthly (IV), daily (PO)	BID	
Dd /	PO IV/	Dd	
500–300 mg day (renal adjustment necessary)	500–1000 mg. m²/mo (IV) 1–2 mg/kg/ day (PO) (renal adjustment necessary)	1-3 mg/kg/ day	
Mycophenolate mofetil	Cyclophosphamide	Azathioprine	

Medication	Dose	Route	Frequency	Mechanism	Adverse effects	Safety monitoring
Methotrexate	7.5–20 mg (gradually titrated)	PO/ SC/ IM	Once a week	Irreversibly binds to and inhibits dihydrofolate reductase resulting in inhibition of purine synthesis and interfering with DNA synthesis, repair, and cellular replication	GI intolerance, stomatitis, oral ulcers, abnormal liver enzymes, rash, alopecia, headache, fever, hematological abnormalities	CBC, liver enzymes, renal function, Hep B and C screening, periodic screening for neuropathy. Leucovorin/ folic acid rescue

Table 4 (continued)

Key: BID twice a day, CBC complete blood count, DNA deoxyribonucleic acid, GI gastrointestinal, IM intramuscular, IV intravenous, PO per oral, PT pro-thrombin time, PTT partial thromboplastin time, INR international normalized ratio, SC subcutaneous

- 3. Immunotherapy should not be delayed while waiting confirmatory testing for antibodies in the serum or CSF [18].
- 4. The main goals of the acute phase treatment are to reduce acute inflammation to prevent or minimize irreversible neurological sequela and to restore normal neuronal function and enable maximum clinical recovery as early as possible [96].
- 5. The main goals of the maintenance phase treatment are to prevent immunemediated disease progression and to prevent relapses (as applicable in select antibody-mediated disorders) and adverse effects of steroids (steroid spearing).
- 6. Treatment should be guided by clinical improvement. Currently there are no reliable biomarkers to measure treatment response in AE. Antibody titers are not reliable markers of disease severity and are not used to measure treatment response in most instances. They, however, have been shown to predict relapses in few NMDA-R IgG encephalitis cases (antibody titers in CSF) and hence potentially guide long-term immunotherapy [87].
- 7. If there is lack of response to an adequate immunotherapy regimen, it should prompt a detailed evaluation for alternative etiologies (infectious, metabolic, genetic, neurodegenerative, etc.) before escalating immunosuppression [97].
- 8. Lack of response or more often, partial response to immunotherapy (especially in the setting of onconeural antibodies) should also prompt comprehensive work-up for neoplasms.
- 9. It is important for the treating clinician to have an understanding of the likely underlying immune mechanism in each patient. In general, T-cell-mediated mechanisms are primarily implicated in paraneoplastic encephalitides that involve intracellular antigen targets where the classic "onconeural" antibodies are not directly causative to the patient's clinical picture. These conditions are poorly responsive to immunotherapy. Broad-spectrum immunosuppressive agents like cyclophosphamide and mycophenolate are preferentially used over targeted B-cell therapies. In autoimmune encephalitis related to neuronal surface antigens, B-cell- and plasma cell-mediated mechanisms are primarily implicated, and the response to immunotherapy is generally good (and robust in specific antibody-mediated disorders), and in these conditions, targeted B-cell therapies are preferred.
- 10. Lastly, patients with autoimmune encephalitis also tend to have multiple comorbidities including seizures, cognitive impairment, psychiatric symptoms, speech and language impairment, spasticity, dystonia, tremors, gait and balance difficulties, ataxia, disordered sleep, fatigue, and autonomic dysfunction. Some patients also tend to have non-neurological symptoms like gastrointestinal dysfunction, sphincter disturbances, and cancer-related comorbidities. It is important to identify and address these comorbidities as they significantly affect the quality of life.

Acute Phase Treatment (Table 2)

High-dose intravenous corticosteroid therapy, plasma exchange (PLEX), and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) is commonly used first-line therapies in the acute phase treatment of autoimmune encephalitis. An initial course of IV methylprednisolone (IVMP) at 30 mg/kg (~1000 mg) per day for 5 consecutive days combined with or followed by PLEX (5–7 cycles; one exchange every other day spread over 10–14 days) or IVIG (0.4 g/kg per day for 5 consecutive days) is recommended. If PLEX and IVIG are both used, it is highly recommended that PLEX should precede IVIG therapy and not be given concurrently with IVIG or shortly after a course of IVIG as it can remove the immunoglobulins from circulation and render IVIG therapy ineffective.

In a study of 472 patients with NMDA-R encephalitis, first-line treatment along with tumor removal, if applicable, resulted in improvement in 53% of the patients within the first 4 weeks of therapy, and 97% of these patients showed a good outcome at 24-month follow-up (modified Rankin Scale score 0–2) [18].

Response time varies based on the antibody type; for NMDA-R encephalitis, this is typically 2 weeks to a few months, whereas with LGI1 and GFAP α encephalitis, response to steroid therapy is robust and is seen in a few days. Early and sustained response to therapy is considered a good prognostic sign. If the response is unsatisfactory at 10–14 days, second-line immunotherapy can be considered. In the NMDA-R encephalitis study of 472 patients mentioned above, 47% of patients failed to respond to first-line immunotherapy at 4 weeks, and such patients tended to have better outcomes when treated with second-line treatments. A systematic review of treatment in autoimmune encephalitis concluded that patients who received second-line immunotherapy during the initial episode of encephalitis had fewer relapses and a better outcome [98].

Commonly used second-line immunotherapy agents in clinical studies include rituximab (1000 mg IV given as one time dose or as two doses 2 weeks apart for a total of 2000 mg) and cyclophosphamide (750 mg/m² IV given monthly for 3–6 months) [18]. Clinical response is assessed at 2–3 weeks after the administration of these agents, and if the response is still unsatisfactory (as noted in a small number of patients), third-line agents like bortezomib, inebilizumab, and tocilizumab are considered [99–101]. These agents have not been validated in clinical studies but have been used on an anecdotal basis only.

In the case of onconeural antibody-mediated paraneoplastic encephalitis, a major component of the acute phase treatment is the prompt removal of the potential immunogenic source, i.e., neoplasm. If this is not possible, concurrent treatment of the underlying malignancy and autoimmune encephalitis with an immunosuppressant like cyclophosphamide has been shown to be beneficial. Mycophenolate mofetil (at the dose of 1000–4000 mg per day) has also been used in such cases with reasonable success.

During the acute phase of treatment, supportive care and interdisciplinary care is crucial. A longer intensive care unit stay is considered a predictor of poor response to therapy. Seizures should be treated aggressively with antiepileptic medication and if required even with instituting a pharmacological coma.

Maintenance Phase

Maintenance therapy in the treatment of autoimmune encephalitis is variable and is mostly based on the specific antibodies identified. The utility of instituting maintenance immunotherapy after the initial treatment phase in all patients is yet to be studied. In most instances, maintenance therapy is initiated based on clinical response to the initial therapy. For instance, maintenance therapy is initiated in a patient who tends to have worsening symptoms during a corticosteroid taper or if early relapses occur when off immunotherapy. Commonly used immunosuppressive medications in the maintenance phase include rituximab, mycophenolate, azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, IVIG, and even PLEX in a few patients (Table 4). One suggested approach is to begin maintenance therapy with rituximab in patients with antibodies against neural cell surface antigens and with mycophenolate or cyclophosphamide in the cases of autoimmune encephalitis associated with antibodies against intracellular neural antigen targets. In the case of starting therapy with mycophenolate or azathioprine, an overlapping prolonged steroid taper over 2–3 months is advisable until these agents take effect.

Although the clinical utility of following antibody titers after the initial phase is unclear, persistent antibody titers or rebound antibody positivity (after an initial phase of seroconversion) in an appropriate clinical setting can be useful in guiding maintenance therapy. In one study of patients with NMDA-R encephalitis, an early decrease in antibody titers from CSF correlated with improved outcome, but this was not statistically significant [87]. In general, the current recommendation is to tailor treatments according to the patient's clinical status rather than antibody levels.

There are typically no guidelines regarding the duration of treatment, and the decision on this has been made after weighing the risk of prolonged immunosuppression with the risk of a relapse or clinical worsening. Antibody titers in certain diseases can be useful to guide decision on discontinuing therapy. In a study, persistent NMDA-R antibody titers in the CSF predicted a relapse [87]. Similarly, persistent MOG antibody titers have been associated with relapses in ADEM [102]. It is reasonable to consider maintenance therapy for a period of about 3 years after clinical stability is achieved or earlier if antibody titers are undetectable and if the patient is clinically stable.

In patients with cancer risk factors and in a setting where they have paraneoplastic encephalitis from onconeural antigens, periodic cancer surveillance (at least once in 5 years or more frequently depending upon antibody) is advised during the maintenance phase. This is both in lieu of the underlying autoimmune condition and in a setting of prolonged exposure to immunosuppressive therapy. Finally the need for frequent lab monitoring of complete blood counts and liver function cannot be overemphasized.

Vaccination

Live vaccines are contraindicated during treatment with immunosuppressive medications especially rituximab, mycophenolate, and azathioprine. Inactivated influenza vaccines and pneumococcal vaccines are recommended prior to the initiation of chronic immunosuppressive therapy [31].

Implications of Pregnancy

Treatment of autoimmune encephalitis during pregnancy can be challenging. The mainstay of treatment is corticosteroids, IVIG, and PLEX. Search for teratoma and prompt removal results in significant improvement. In patients refractory to first-line therapy, rituximab is a potential option [103]. In a case series of 102 pregnancies in patients with multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica where rituximab was used within 6 months of conception, no major safety signal was observed. B-cell counts were low in 39% of newborns and normalized within 6 months [104].

Clinical Trials in Autoimmune Encephalitis

Designing clinical trials in autoimmune encephalitis is an urgent need. This is however fraught with many concerns. Firstly, given the heterogeneity of various autoimmune encephalitis syndromes, it is challenging to develop unifying outcome measures. It is important to validate objective clinical tools for monitoring treatment response like brain MRI, PET, formal neuropsychological assessment, EEG, seizure diaries, etc. Secondly, given that serum and CSF antibody titers do not necessarily correlate with clinical severity, we would have to rely on clinical outcomes which are very variable across the spectrum of autoimmune encephalitis. Thirdly, given the rarity of the condition and the potential rates of drop out in the event of complete return to baseline after initial therapy, powering a study would be difficult. A multicenter trial might help overcome this problem. Fourthly, there are a sizable proportion of patients with seronegative autoimmune encephalitis and it is only a matter of time before novel antibodies are identified. This might affect the inclusion/exclusion parameters of a clinical trial. Finally, the testing of antibodies has to be standardized to minimize variability of testing across centers. At this point, there is enough evidence to render a placebo-controlled randomized trial in autoimmune encephalitis to be unethical; however a randomized controlled trial of first-line therapy versus early combination of first-line and second-line therapy would be a potential option [98].

Conclusion and Future Directions

Despite the significant growth in field of autoimmune neurology over the last two to three decades, we continue to face many challenges. Many more autoantibodies with specific clinical and/or oncological associations are likely to be discovered over the coming years. The use of metagenomics, proteomics, and phage immunoprecipitation sequencing techniques may accelerate the rate of discovery. Future research is likely to improve our understanding of the mechanisms of antibodymediated and cytotoxic T-cell-mediated syndromes. Hopefully greater insight in the etiopathogenesis of autoimmune encephalitides will help us choose individual-specific therapeutic approaches and will allow us to more accurately predict the disease prognosis.

References

- 1. Dubey D, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis epidemiology and a comparison to infectious encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2018;83(1):166–77.
- 2. Papez JW. A proposed mechanism of emotion. 1937. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 1995;7(1):103–12.
- Bucy PC, Kluver H. An anatomical investigation of the temporal lobe in the monkey (Macaca mulatta). J Comp Neurol. 1955;103(2):151–251.
- 4. Mac LP. Psychosomatic disease and the visceral brain; recent developments bearing on the Papez theory of emotion. Psychosom Med. 1949;11(6):338–53.
- Dubey D, Toledano M, McKeon A. Clinical presentation of autoimmune and viral encephalitides. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2018;24(2):80–90.
- Graus F, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(4):391–404.
- Granerod J, et al. Causes of encephalitis and differences in their clinical presentations in England: a multicentre, population-based prospective study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2010;10(12):835–44.
- Venkatesan A, et al. Case definitions, diagnostic algorithms, and priorities in encephalitis: consensus statement of the international encephalitis consortium. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;57(8):1114–28.
- 9. Dubey D, et al. Predictors of neural-specific autoantibodies and immunotherapy response in patients with cognitive dysfunction. J Neuroimmunol. 2018;323:62–72.
- 10. Dubey D, et al. The spectrum of autoimmune encephalopathies. J Neuroimmunol. 2015;287:93–7.
- 11. Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. IgG subclasses and allotypes: from structure to effector functions. Front Immunol. 2014;5:520.
- 12. Jezequel J, et al. Dynamic disorganization of synaptic NMDA receptors triggered by autoantibodies from psychotic patients. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):1791.
- Johnson N, et al. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis causing prolonged nonconvulsive status epilepticus. Neurology. 2010;75(16):1480–2.
- Viaccoz A, et al. Clinical specificities of adult male patients with NMDA receptor antibodies encephalitis. Neurology. 2014;82(7):556–63.
- 15. Gabilondo I, et al. Analysis of relapses in anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Neurology. 2011;77(10):996–9.

- Irani SR, et al. N-methyl-D-aspartate antibody encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. Brain. 2010;133(Pt 6):1655–67.
- Kelley BP, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis: pathophysiology and imaging review of an overlooked diagnosis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2017;38(6):1070–8.
- Titulaer MJ, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(2):157–65.
- Armangue T, Leypoldt F, Dalmau J. Autoimmune encephalitis as differential diagnosis of infectious encephalitis. Curr Opin Neurol. 2014;27(3):361–8.
- Schmitt SE, et al. Extreme delta brush: a unique EEG pattern in adults with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Neurology. 2012;79(11):1094–100.
- 21. Baykan B, et al. Delta brush pattern is not unique to NMDAR encephalitis: evaluation of two independent long-term EEG cohorts. Clin EEG Neurosci. 2018;49(4):278–84.
- 22. Mitra AD, Afify A. Ovarian teratoma associated Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: a difficult diagnosis with a favorable prognosis. Autops Case Rep. 2018;8(2):p. e2018019.
- 23. Armangue T, et al. Frequency, symptoms, risk factors, and outcomes of autoimmune encephalitis after herpes simplex encephalitis: a prospective observational study and retrospective analysis. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17:760.
- Hacohen Y, et al. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antibodies in post-herpes simplex virus encephalitis neurological relapse. Mov Disord. 2014;29(1):90–6.
- Acien P, et al. Ovarian teratoma-associated anti-NMDAR encephalitis: a systematic review of reported cases. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2014;9:157.
- 26. Dalmau J, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Ann Neurol. 2007;61(1):25–36.
- Morales MJ, et al. A novel beta subunit increases rate of inactivation of specific voltage-gated potassium channel alpha subunits. J Biol Chem. 1995;270(11):6272–7.
- Gutman GA, et al. International Union of Pharmacology. LIII. Nomenclature and molecular relationships of voltage-gated potassium channels. Pharmacol Rev. 2005;57(4):473–508.
- van Sonderen A, et al. The value of LGI1, Caspr2 and voltage-gated potassium channel antibodies in encephalitis. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13(5):290–301.
- Gadoth A, et al. Expanded phenotypes and outcomes among 256 LGI1/CASPR2-IgGpositive patients. Ann Neurol. 2017;82(1):79–92.
- Lopez-Chiriboga AS, et al. LGI1 and CASPR2 neurological autoimmunity in children. Ann Neurol. 2018;84(3):473–80.
- McQuillan RF, Bargman JM. Hyponatraemia caused by LGI1-associated limbic encephalitis. NDT Plus. 2011;4(6):424–6.
- Irani SR, et al. Faciobrachial dystonic seizures precede Lgi1 antibody limbic encephalitis. Ann Neurol. 2011;69(5):892–900.
- Aurangzeb S, et al. LGI1-antibody encephalitis is characterised by frequent, multifocal clinical and subclinical seizures. Seizure. 2017;50:14–7.
- 35. Bakpa OD, Reuber M, Irani SR. Antibody-associated epilepsies: clinical features, evidence for immunotherapies and future research questions. Seizure. 2016;41:26–41.
- 36. Andrade DM, et al. Tonic seizures: a diagnostic clue of anti-LGI1 encephalitis? Neurology. 2011;76(15):1355–7.
- 37. Irani SR, et al. Faciobrachial dystonic seizures: the influence of immunotherapy on seizure control and prevention of cognitive impairment in a broadening phenotype. Brain. 2013;136(Pt 10):3151–62.
- Hoftberger R, et al. Encephalitis and AMPA receptor antibodies: novel findings in a case series of 22 patients. Neurology. 2015;84(24):2403–12.
- Dalmau J, Geis C, Graus F. Autoantibodies to synaptic receptors and neuronal cell surface proteins in autoimmune diseases of the central nervous system. Physiol Rev. 2017;97(2):839–87.

- 40. Lai M, et al. AMPA receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis alter synaptic receptor location. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(4):424–34.
- 41. Haselmann H, et al. Human autoantibodies against the AMPA receptor subunit GluA2 induce receptor reorganization and memory dysfunction. Neuron. 2018;100:91.
- 42. Shelly S, et al. Thymoma and autoimmunity. Cell Mol Immunol. 2011;8(3):199–202.
- 43. Joubert B, et al. Clinical Spectrum of encephalitis associated with antibodies against the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor: case series and review of the literature. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(10):1163–9.
- 44. Gleichman AJ, et al. Antigenic and mechanistic characterization of anti-AMPA receptor encephalitis. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2014;1(3):180–9.
- 45. Watanabe M, et al. GABA and GABA receptors in the central nervous system and other organs. Int Rev Cytol. 2002;213:1–47.
- 46. Sigel E, Steinmann ME. Structure, function, and modulation of GABA(A) receptors. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(48):40224–31.
- 47. Lancaster E. The diagnosis and treatment of autoimmune encephalitis. J Clin Neurol. 2016;12(1):1–13.
- 48. Petit-Pedrol M, et al. Encephalitis with refractory seizures, status epilepticus, and antibodies to the GABAA receptor: a case series, characterisation of the antigen, and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(3):276–86.
- 49. Quek AML, O'Toole O. Autoimmune epilepsy: the evolving science of neural autoimmunity and its impact on epilepsy management. Semin Neurol. 2018;38(3):290–302.
- Spatola M, et al. Investigations in GABAA receptor antibody-associated encephalitis. Neurology. 2017;88(11):1012–20.
- 51. Dalmau J, Graus F. Antibody-mediated encephalitis. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(9):840-51.
- 52. Kaupmann K, et al. Human gamma-aminobutyric acid type B receptors are differentially expressed and regulate inwardly rectifying K+ channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(25):14991–6.
- 53. Emson PC. GABA(B) receptors: structure and function. Prog Brain Res. 2007;160:43-57.
- 54. Rosenfeld MR, Titulaer MJ, Dalmau J. Paraneoplastic syndromes and autoimmune encephalitis: five new things. Neurol Clin Pract. 2012;2(3):215–23.
- Boronat A, et al. GABA(B) receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis and anti-GADassociated neurologic disorders. Neurology. 2011;76(9):795–800.
- 56. Dubey D, et al. Effectiveness of multimodality treatment for autoimmune limbic epilepsy. Epileptic Disord. 2014;16(4):494–9.
- 57. Boronat A, et al. Encephalitis and antibodies to dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein-6, a subunit of Kv4.2 potassium channels. Ann Neurol. 2013;73(1):120–8.
- Hara M, et al. DPPX antibody-associated encephalitis: Main syndrome and antibody effects. Neurology. 2017;88(14):1340–8.
- 59. Bressers AA, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis due to mantle cell lymphoma. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd. 2016;160:D394.
- 60. Spatola M, et al. Encephalitis with mGluR5 antibodies: symptoms and antibody effects. Neurology. 2018;90(22):e1964–72.
- 61. Mat A, et al. Ophelia syndrome with metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antibodies in CSF. Neurology. 2013;80(14):1349–50.
- 62. Lancaster E, et al. Antibodies to metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 in the Ophelia syndrome. Neurology. 2011;77(18):1698–701.
- 63. McKeon A, Pittock SJ. Paraneoplastic encephalomyelopathies: pathology and mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;122(4):381–400.
- 64. Dubey D, et al. Evaluation of positive and negative predictors of seizure outcomes among patients with immune-mediated epilepsy: a meta-analysis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2016;9(5):369–77.
- Pittock SJ, et al. Glutamic acid decarboxylase autoimmunity with brainstem, extrapyramidal, and spinal cord dysfunction. Mayo Clin Proc. 2006;81(9):1207–14.

- 66. Peltola J, et al. Autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase in patients with therapyresistant epilepsy. Neurology. 2000;55(1):46–50.
- Lucchinetti CF, Kimmel DW, Lennon VA. Paraneoplastic and oncologic profiles of patients seropositive for type 1 antineuronal nuclear autoantibodies. Neurology. 1998;50(3):652–7.
- Eggers SD, et al. Paraneoplastic and metastatic neurologic complications of Merkel cell carcinoma. Mayo Clin Proc. 2001;76(3):327–30.
- 69. Fisher PG, Wechsler DS, Singer HS. Anti-Hu antibody in a neuroblastoma-associated paraneoplastic syndrome. Pediatr Neurol. 1994;10(4):309–12.
- 70. Dalmau J, et al. Detection of the anti-Hu antibody in the serum of patients with small cell lung cancer--a quantitative western blot analysis. Ann Neurol. 1990;27(5):544–52.
- Roberts WK, et al. Patients with lung cancer and paraneoplastic Hu syndrome harbor HuDspecific type 2 CD8+ T cells. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(7):2042–51.
- Rudzinski LA, et al. Extratemporal EEG and MRI findings in ANNA-1 (anti-Hu) encephalitis. Epilepsy Res. 2011;95(3):255–62.
- 73. Voltz R, et al. A serologic marker of paraneoplastic limbic and brain-stem encephalitis in patients with testicular cancer. N Engl J Med. 1999;340(23):1788–95.
- Rosenfeld MR, et al. Molecular and clinical diversity in paraneoplastic immunity to Ma proteins. Ann Neurol. 2001;50(3):339–48.
- Dalmau J, et al. Clinical analysis of anti-Ma2-associated encephalitis. Brain. 2004;127(Pt 8):1831–44.
- Waragai M, et al. Anti-Ma2 associated paraneoplastic neurological syndrome presenting as encephalitis and progressive muscular atrophy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(1):111–3.
- 77. Yu Z, et al. CRMP-5 neuronal autoantibody: marker of lung cancer and thymoma-related autoimmunity. Ann Neurol. 2001;49(2):146–54.
- Dubey D, et al. Autoimmune CRMP5 neuropathy phenotype and outcome defined from 105 cases. Neurology. 2018;90(2):e103–10.
- Vernino S, et al. Paraneoplastic chorea associated with CRMP-5 neuronal antibody and lung carcinoma. Ann Neurol. 2002;51(5):625–30.
- Quek AM, et al. Autoimmune epilepsy: clinical characteristics and response to immunotherapy. Arch Neurol. 2012;69(5):582–93.
- Tuzun E, et al. Adenylate kinase 5 autoimmunity in treatment refractory limbic encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;186(1–2):177–80.
- Ng AS, et al. Clinico-pathological correlation in adenylate kinase 5 autoimmune limbic encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2015;287:31–5.
- Arya R, Anand V, Chansoria M. Hashimoto encephalopathy presenting as progressive myoclonus epilepsy syndrome. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2013;17(1):102–4.
- 84. Britton J. Autoimmune epilepsy. Handb Clin Neurol. 2016;133:219-45.
- Tocut M, Brenner R, Zandman-Goddard G. Autoimmune phenomena and disease in cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Autoimmun Rev. 2018;17(6):610–6.
- Fujinami RS, et al. Molecular mimicry, bystander activation, or viral persistence: infections and autoimmune disease. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2006;19(1):80–94.
- 87. Gresa-Arribas N, et al. Antibody titres at diagnosis and during follow-up of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a retrospective study. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(2):167–77.
- Ngankam L, Kazantseva NV, Gerasimova MM. Immunological markers of severity and outcome of traumatic brain injury. Zh Nevrol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova. 2011;111(7):61–5.
- 89. Mantegazza R, et al. Antibodies against GluR3 peptides are not specific for Rasmussen's encephalitis but are also present in epilepsy patients with severe, early onset disease and intractable seizures. J Neuroimmunol. 2002;131(1–2):179–85.
- Bien CG, et al. Immunopathology of autoantibody-associated encephalitides: clues for pathogenesis. Brain. 2012;135(Pt 5):1622–38.
- Basile AS, et al. IgG isolated from LP-BM5 infected mouse brain activates ionotropic glutamate receptors. Neurobiol Dis. 2001;8(6):1069–81.

- Ohkawa T, et al. Autoantibodies to epilepsy-related LGI1 in limbic encephalitis neutralize LGI1-ADAM22 interaction and reduce synaptic AMPA receptors. J Neurosci. 2013;33(46):18161–74.
- Aysit-Altuncu N, et al. Effect of LGI1 antibody-positive IgG on hippocampal neuron survival: a preliminary study. Neuroreport. 2018;29(11):932–8.
- 94. Lai M, et al. Investigation of LGI1 as the antigen in limbic encephalitis previously attributed to potassium channels: a case series. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(8):776–85.
- Vogrig A, et al. Glioblastoma as differential diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. J Neurol. 2018;265(3):669–77.
- 96. Tobin WO, Pittock SJ. Autoimmune neurology of the central nervous system. Continuum (Minneap Minn). 2017;23(3, Neurology of Systemic Disease):627–53.
- 97. Toledano M, et al. Utility of an immunotherapy trial in evaluating patients with presumed autoimmune epilepsy. Neurology. 2014;82(18):1578–86.
- Shin YW, et al. Treatment strategies for autoimmune encephalitis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2018;11:1756285617722347.
- 99. Lee WJ, et al. Tocilizumab in autoimmune encephalitis refractory to rituximab: an institutional cohort study. Neurotherapeutics. 2016;13(4):824–32.
- 100. Zhang C, et al. Safety and efficacy of bortezomib in patients with highly relapsing neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. JAMA Neurol. 2017;74(8):1010–2.
- 101. Chen D, et al. Inebilizumab, a B cell-depleting anti-CD19 antibody for the treatment of autoimmune neurological diseases: insights from preclinical studies. J Clin Med. 2016;5(12). pii: E107
- Lopez-Chiriboga AS, et al. Association of MOG-IgG serostatus with relapse after acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and proposed diagnostic criteria for MOG-IgG-associated disorders. JAMA Neurol. 2018;75:1355.
- Vodopivec I, et al. A neurologist's guide to safe use of immunomodulatory therapies. Semin Neurol. 2014;34(4):467–78.
- 104. Das G, et al. Rituximab before and during pregnancy: a systematic review, and a case series in MS and NMOSD. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2018;5(3):e453.

Autoimmune Ataxias



Marios Hadjivassiliou, Hiroshi Mitoma, and Mario Manto

Abstract The dramatic progress to genetically characterise the ataxias, using next-generation sequencing (NGS), has also facilitated our appreciation that a substantial number of sporadic ataxias are not due to genetic defects but likely to be immune-mediated. At the same time, the recent identification of an increasing number of antibodies linked to sporadic ataxias has aided the diagnostic pathway for immune-mediated cerebellar ataxias (IMCAs). However, the diagnosis of IMCA remains problematic if it is solely dependent on the serological screening for such antibodies and also because there is significant phenotypic overlap with non-immune forms of ataxia. In the majority of cases, serological screening for known antibodies associated with IMCA may not be readily available. In others no specific antigenic trigger or associated antibodies have been identified as yet. Therefore, recognition of IMCA relies on clinical expertise, indirect evidence of autoimmunity (additional autoimmune diseases or family history of autoimmune disease) and appropriate investigations. It is imperative to consolidate quickly such a diagnosis as therapeutic interventions can be effective in preserving the cerebellar reserve.

Keywords Immune-mediated cerebellar ataxias (IMCAs) · Gluten ataxia · Anti-GAD ataxia · Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration · Opsoclonusmyoclonus ataxia syndrome · Anti-DPPX ataxia · Anti-MAG ataxia · CLIPPERS syndrome · Sjogren's ataxia · Lupus ataxia

M. Hadjivassiliou (🖂)

H. Mitoma Medical Education Promotion Center, Tokyo Medical University, Tokyo, Japan

M. Manto Department of Neurology, CHU-Charleroi, Charleroi, Belgium

Department of Neurosciences, University of Mons, Mons, Belgium

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Academic Department of Neurosciences, Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Sheffield, UK e-mail: m.hadjivassiliou@sheffield.ac.uk

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_19

Introduction

Immune-mediated cerebellar ataxias (IMCAs) are increasingly recognised as a group of cerebellar ataxias which can be treated successfully if therapies are administered early enough. IMCAs can be divided into two groups – first group where the antigenic stimulus is known (e.g. paraneoplastic cerebellar, gluten ataxia) and second group where the antigenic stimulus is as yet lacking. Certain antibodies may be present in the serum of patients with progressive cerebellar ataxia and may serve as a marker of IMCA (e.g. GAD antibodies). The presence of other organ-specific autoantibodies in the context of a progressive cerebellar ataxia (e.g. thyroid antibodies) may not necessarily define a disease entity or imply direct antibody-mediated pathogenicity, but simply raise the suspicion of an IMCA, given the propensity for autoimmune diseases to cluster. Similarly, a family history of autoimmune diseases in a patient with progressive sporadic ataxia may be a pointer to IMCA.

In a consecutive series of 1500 patients with progressive IMCAs accounted for about 25%, the commonest of which were gluten ataxia (20%), paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration (2%), anti-GAD-associated ataxia (2%) and opsoclonusmyoclonus ataxia syndrome (1%) [1]. In about 20% of the 1500 cases, a precise diagnosis of the cause of ataxia was not possible despite extensive investigations (the term idiopathic adult-onset sporadic cerebellar ataxia (IAOSCA) has been used to describe such cases). Whilst the aetiology of the ataxia within this group is likely to be heterogeneous, extensive genetic testing using next-generation sequencing (NGS) panel of ataxia genes (175 genes in total) has confirmed genetic ataxia in only 15%. Patients with degenerative forms of ataxia such as cerebellar variant of multiple system atrophy (MSA type C) were excluded from this cohort. This suggests that a substantial number of this group of patients may have IMCA. The term primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia (PACA) has been proposed to describe this entity [2]. This chapter will cover IMCAs that have a well-characterised antigenic stimulus (gluten ataxia), anti-GAD ataxia as well as primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia (PACA) (Table 1). In addition the chapter will also cover some less common immune ataxias with and without immunological markers.

Gluten Ataxia

Epidemiology

Gluten ataxia (GA) is defined as sporadic ataxia with positive antigliadin antibodies (AGA) [3]. It accounts for 20% of all patients with ataxia and 51% of all otherwise idiopathic sporadic ataxias. This is by far the commonest immune-mediated ataxia and one of the few where the antigenic stimulus is known (gluten proteins).

Table 1	Summary	of	autoimmune	and	clinical	features	in	representative	immune-mediated
ataxias									

	Gluten ataxia	Anti-GAD ataxia	Primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia	Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration
Prevalence amongst all progressive cerebellar ataxias	20%	2%	Unknown (amongst 20% of idiopathic sporadic ataxias)	3%
Clinical manifes	tations			
Time course	Insidious and chronic	Insidious and chronic, or subacute	Insidious and chronic	Subacute and acute
Age and gender	50s, female (55%)	60s, female (mostly)	50s	50–60s
Dominant symptoms of cerebellar involvement	Gait ataxia	Gait ataxia	Gait ataxia	Pancerebellar ataxia In acute onset, mimicking stroke with dizziness, associated with diplopia and gait ataxia
Associated neurological symptoms	Cortical myoclonus in some, neuropathy	Stiff person syndrome, epilepsy, impairments in ocular movements	-	-
Associated autoimmune diseases	Coeliac disease (47%),	Thyroid, type 1 diabetes, pernicious anaemia	Thyroid, Sjogren's, type 1 diabetes, primary biliary cirrhosis, pernicious anaemia, vitiligo	-
Abnormality in cerebrospinal fluid	Generally no	Sometimes; CSF oligoclonal bands	Not studied	Frequently; elevation in WCCs and protein, oligoclonal bands
Cerebellar atrophy on MRI	Present depending on duration of ataxia before diagnosis	Present depending on duration of ataxia	Present depending on duration of ataxia	Not at onset but may develop rapidly
Autoimmune bac	kgrounds for a	liagnosis		
Trigger of autoimmunity	Gluten ingestion	Unknown	Unknown	Cancer (ovarian, breast, Hodgkin's lymphoma, uterus, small-cell lung carcinoma, and others)

(continued)

	Gluten ataxia	Anti-GAD ataxia	Primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia	Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration
HLA	Type DQ2 or DQ8	-	Type DQ2	-
Well- characterised autoantibodies	Anti-gliadin (IgG/IgA), Anti-TG2, TG6	Anti-GAD65 (high titer)	No	Anti-Yo, Anti-Hu, Anti-CV2, Anti-Ri, Anti-MA2
Less well- characterised autoantibodies	-	-	Anti-cerebellum (immunohistochemistry) Anti-GAD65 (low titre), anti-VGCC, Anti-Homer3, Anti-Glu62, Anti-Ca/ ARHGAP26, Anti-DPPX, and many more	Anti-Tr, Anti- VGCC, Anti- SOX1, Anti-ZIC4, PCA-2, Anti- Homer3, Anti-CARP VIII, Anti-PKCγ, Anti-Ca/ ARHGAP26, Anti-mGluR

 Table 1 (continued)

Prevalence is cited from a study by Hadjivassiliou et al. [1]

Clinical Manifestations

GA usually presents as pure cerebellar ataxia, sometimes associated with an axonal neuropathy or rarely as ataxia in combination with cortical myoclonus [4]. The ataxia is usually of insidious onset and of slow progression. Rarely it can be rapidly progressive (in less than 5% of cases) mimicking paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration or even acute cerebellitis. Of 500 patients with GA assessed so far at the Sheffield Ataxia Centre, 55% were female. Mean age at presentation was 52 (range 16–95), and mean duration of ataxia was 13. Mild ataxia (walk unaided) affected 74%, moderate ataxia (walking aid) 18% and severe ataxia (wheelchair bound) 8%. Enteropathy was seen in 47% and peripheral neuropathy in 8%. There are no gastrointestinal or neurological features that distinguish those patients with gluten ataxia who have an enteropathy from those who do not. MRI and MR spectroscopy of the cerebellum showed primarily vermian involvement [5].

Pathogenesis

Gluten ataxia belongs to a spectrum of gluten-related diseases with diverse manifestations. Coeliac disease (CD), also known as gluten-sensitive enteropathy, is an autoimmune disease triggered by the ingestion of gluten. The autoantigen responsible for CD has been shown to be tissue transglutaminase 2 (TTG2) [6]. Another disease within this spectrum is Dermatitis Herpetiformis (DH). DH is characterised by an itchy vesicular rash affecting primarily the extensor surfaces of limbs. Like CD, DH responds to strict gluten-free diet (GFD). In 2002 Sardy and

colleagues demonstrated that the epidermal transglutaminase TG3 was the autoantigen in DH [7]. In 2008, patients with GA were shown to have circulating autoantibodies recognising a novel neuronal transglutaminase, TG6 [8]. TG6 is primarily expressed in the central nervous system but shares common characteristics with TG2 and TG3. All three transglutaminases share 65% homology, may deamidate gliadin and are eliminated from the serum by strict adherence to gluten-free diet (GFD). It is therefore possible that depending on the antigenic target, patients with gluten sensitivity may develop a range of manifestations that may affect the gut, the skin or the nervous system [9]. However, there is considerable overlap between such manifestations. For example, 40% of patients with CD presenting to gastroenterologists have TG6 antibodies. Such patients appear to have significantly reduced regional grey matter (cerebellum and thalamus) when compared to those CD patients who do not have TG6 antibodies. Similarly patients with DH have evidence of enteropathy on duodenal biopsy even if they do not have much in the way of gastrointestinal symptoms. Additional pathophysiological findings based on post mortem data, demonstrate an inflammatory perivascular infiltrate within the cerebellum, IgA deposition against TG2 and TG6 in brain vessels and neural tissue and cross-reactivity between antigliadin and transglutaminase antibodies and Purkinje cells [9].

Diagnosis

Endomysium and transglutaminase 2 antibodies alone are not sufficient to diagnose GA as 53% of patients without enteropathy would be negative for these antibodies [9]. Antigliadin antibodies (AGA) remain the most reliable test in the diagnosis of GA. However, the type of AGA assay used and in particular the serological cut-off for AGA positivity requires adjustment for GA patients [10]. GA patients without enteropathy have a primarily CNS-based immunological response often resulting in low serum levels of AGA. Novel biomarkers of GA are currently being developed and in particular TG6 antibodies. Transglutaminase antibody type 6 (TG6) has already been shown to be present in up to 72% of patients labelled as having GA on the basis of positivity for AGA [11]. Patients with GA primarily have gait ataxia, and MR spectroscopy shows primarily involvement of the cerebellar vermis. This is a pattern distinct to what is often observed in genetic ataxias where cerebellar involvement is much more global. MR spectroscopy of the cerebellum can therefore be a useful additional diagnostic clue [5].

Treatment

The response to treatment with gluten-free diet (GFD) depends on a number of factors: firstly the duration of the ataxia and extent of cerebellar damage prior to the diagnosis of GA. Prompt diagnosis and treatment is more likely to result in improvement or stabilisation of the ataxia [12]. Secondly, response to treatment depends on the strictness of the gluten-free diet. A recent MR spectroscopy study showed that only those patients with strict adherence to a gluten-free diet with complete elimination of AGA antibodies improve (increase of NAA/Cr ratio) [5]. Since NAA/Cr ratio reflects metabolic activity of neurones, such an increase implies improved cell functioning and can be a useful monitoring tool. Those patients not on diet deteriorate and those on partial diet (persistently positive AGA) also deteriorate but at a slower rate [5].

Most reports on the effect of GFD concern patients with established CD who then develop neurological symptoms. These studies suggest overall favourable responsiveness to a GFD. A small, uncontrolled study used intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIgs) in the treatment of four patients with GA without enteropathy [13]. All patients improved. Another study reported three patients treated with IVIgs whose ataxia and neuropathic pain (small fiber neuropathy) were resistant to strict gluten-free diet [14]. All patients responded to IVIg. Another study reported a transient response to IVIg in two patients with GA [15]. These results suggest that continuous immunosuppression may be necessary in GA patients. However, in all of these reports, strict adherence to the GFD was assumed but no serological evidence of elimination of AGA and other serological markers of gluten sensitivity was provided. Only one systematic study of the effect of gluten-free diet on a cohort of patients presenting with ataxia and gluten sensitivity, with or without enteropathy, has been published [16]. This is the only study that also reported serological evidence of elimination of the AGA as a confirmation of strict adherence to the diet. Forty-three patients with GA were enrolled. Twenty-six adhered strictly to the gluten-free diet, had serological evidence of elimination of AGA and comprised the treatment group. Fourteen patients refused the diet and comprised the control group. Patient and control groups were matched at baseline for all variables (age, duration of ataxia). There was no significant difference in the baseline performance for each ataxia test between the two groups. There was significant improvement in performance in test scores and in the subjective global clinical impression scale in the treatment group when compared to the control group. The improvement was apparent even after excluding patients with an enteropathy. The study concluded that strict gluten-free diet is an effective treatment for GA. This study also demonstrated for the first time that patients with cerebellar ataxia with positive AGA without enteropathy also benefit from strict GFD and should be treated the same way as patients who have CD. Indeed a large study comparing patients with GA with and without enteropathy concluded that there are no clinical or radiological differences between these two groups (with or without enteropathy) [17]. More importantly both groups responded to the GFD.

The current recommendation is that patients presenting with progressive cerebellar ataxia should be screened for gluten sensitivity using validated IgG and IgA AGA assays, anti-TG2 antibodies (some centres still use endomysium antibodies which is an immunofluorescent method for detecting TG2) and if available antiTG6 antibodies. Patients positive for any of these antibodies with no alternative cause for their ataxia should be offered dietetic advice for a strict GFD with regular follow-up to ensure that the antibodies are eliminated (usually between 6 and 12 months). Stabilisation or improvement of the ataxia (both on clinical and/or on MR spectroscopy assessments) at 1 year would be a strong confirmation that the patient suffers from gluten ataxia. By far the commonest reason for lack of response is poor compliance with the diet. If patients on strict GFD (after repeat dietetic review) and elimination of antibodies, continue to progress, it is important in the first instance to revisit the diagnosis of gluten ataxia (e.g. may be dealing with a degenerative ataxia such as cerebellar variant of multisystem atrophy). Secondly it would be important to rule out refractory CD by repeating the gastroscopy and the duodenal biopsy [4]. The use of immunosuppressive medication such as mycophenolate should be considered for those patients who are strict with their diet but still show evidence of progression and/or ongoing inflammation on duodenal biopsy after ruling out other causes. It could be argued that these cases may in fact have primary autoimmune cerebella ataxia and that the gluten sensitivity is a coincidental additional autoimmune disease.

Anti-GAD Ataxia

Epidemiology

Anti-GAD ataxia is a rare form of IMA. Amongst 1500 patients with different types of progressive ataxia, there were 30 (2%) patients with high titres of anti-GAD antibodies [1]. This means that anti-GAD-associated ataxia accounted for 9% of all sporadic, otherwise idiopathic ataxias.

Clinical Manifestations

Anti-GAD ataxia has a slight preponderance for women and it is a late onset ataxia (over 50). The presentation is usually subacute or chronic sometimes with significant fluctuations. Patients often have other autoimmune diseases (e.g. thyroid disease, type 1 diabetes, pernicious anaemia) or are at risk of developing other autoimmune diseases. The ataxia is usually pure and may follow a variable course, sometimes with prolonged periods of stability, even without any treatment, but ultimately these patients accumulate disability over time. Clinical characteristics are of mainly gait ataxia, mild dysarthria and less commonly nystagmus and limb ataxia. Brain imaging may show mild atrophy of the cerebellum with preferential involvement of the vermis, as is often the case in immune-mediated ataxias.

Pathogenesis

Glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) is the rate-limiting enzyme in the synthesis of the inhibitory neurotransmitter gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA). GAD is found in both the central and peripheral nervous systems as well as in the pancreatic beta cells [18]. There are two isoforms of GAD, GAD65 and GAD67. GAD65 is associated with the cytosolic face of GABA-containing vesicles at nerve terminals and is involved in the synthesis and the packaging of GABA. Anti-GAD65 (anti-GAD) antibodies were first identified in type 1 diabetes, and subsequently found in patients with stiff person syndrome and then in some patients with idiopathic late onset ataxia [19]. Anti-GAD antibodies are a marker of multiple autoimmunity as one or more additional autoimmune disorders are present in 60% of anti-GAD positive patients with SPS versus 6% in anti-GAD negative patients [20]. Thus the finding of high prevalence of anti-GAD antibodies in patients with idiopathic sporadic ataxia may signify that the ataxia is autoimmune in origin. In 2001 Honorat et al. collected 14 cases of patients with idiopathic ataxia and positive anti-GAD antibodies establishing this entity as a specific form of immune-mediated ataxia [21]. As a result of the diversity of the neurological phenotypes seen in the context of anti-GAD positivity (e.g. SPS, ataxia), the issue of the role of these antibodies in the pathogenesis of the ataxias has been questioned. Interestingly, most patients with SPS (the other group of patients where anti-GAD is present) have a degree of cerebellar atrophy and/or abnormal MR spectroscopy of the cerebellum on MR imaging, but in these patients it is the stiffness and spasms that tend to be the presenting features. Recent neurophysiological studies make a compelling case in favour of anti-GAD pathogenicity [22, 23]. This is based on both in vivo and in vitro studies: intracerebellar administration of CSF from anti-GAD positive patients impairs cerebellar modulation in rats and also decrease the release of GABA from GABAergic neurones. Absorption of GAD antibodies using recombinant GAD65 diminishes the above effects. Finally monoclonal human GAD65 antibodies mimic the effects of the CSF both in vivo and in vitro, and these effects disappeared in GAD65 knockout mice. These studies show that binding of GAD65 by GAD65 antibodies impairs GABA release, leading to the development of cerebellar dysfunction (Fig. 1). A possible explanation for the diversity of neurological manifestations is the epitope specificity of GAD antibodies [23].

Diagnosis

As anti-GAD antibody testing is readily available in most immunology labs, the diagnosis of anti-GAD-associated ataxia is feasible as compared to other autoimmune ataxias where associated antibodies if already identified and described are not always readily available in everyday clinical practice. Still, it is important to ensure that there is no other cause for the ataxia in patients with anti-GAD antibodies,



Fig. 1 Mechanisms underlying anti-GAD65 Ab-induced impairments at GABA synapses [31, 34]. Anti-GAD65 Ab is internalised into cerebellar neurons, presumably by exo- or endocytosis. Anti-GAD65 Ab disturbs the association of GAD65 with vesicles, which results in impairments in two release mechanisms, the GABA packaging and the shuttling of vesicles to the release site

particularly if intending to treat with immunosuppression. The circulating anti-GAD antibody titres usually exceed the levels seen in the context of type 1 diabetes by 100-fold.

Treatment

Treatment studies suggest that early intervention (even when the patient is well) may be associated with better long-term outcome. A retrospective cohort study reported a series of 34 patients with anti-GAD antibodies of which 9 had SPS, the

remaining 25 having primarily cerebellar ataxia [24]. Twenty patients with longterm follow-up data received immunotherapy (IVIgs, corticosteroids, azathioprine, mycophenolate). Seven patients (35%) improved. Predictors of good clinical response included subacute onset and prompt introduction of immunotherapy, at a stage where the cerebellar reserve is moderately affected. There was no specific immunotherapy recommendation, but examples include intravenous immunoglobulins, plasma exchange and rituximab and maintenance therapies using azathioprine or mycophenolate. As most patients with anti-GAD ataxia follow a subacute course, the authors favour the use of mycophenolate, a drug that is well tolerated and with minimal long-term side effects. For a comprehensive review of the treatment of anti-GAD ataxia, see "Guidelines for the treatment of immune-mediated cerebellar ataxias" by Mitoma et al. [25].

Primary Autoimmune Cerebellar Ataxia (PACA)

Introduction

PACA is the proposed term used to describe immune-mediated ataxia where no obvious external or internal antigenic trigger factor is known as yet. The evidence in support of PACA comes from a number of observations: Firstly, the Human Lymphocyte Antigen (HLA) type DO2 is significantly overrepresented in patients with idiopathic sporadic ataxia, 74% vs 35% in the healthy population [26]. The HLA DO2 has been shown to have a strong association with autoimmune diseases. Secondly it has been shown that there is a significantly higher prevalence of one or more autoimmune diseases in patients with idiopathic sporadic ataxia when compared to the general population and to patients with genetic ataxias, 47%, 3% and 5%, respectively [26]. Thirdly it has been shown that cerebellar antibodies can be present in at least 60% of patients with idiopathic sporadic ataxia by contrast to 5% in patients with genetic ataxias [26]. Four different staining patterns were observed in this study, three resembling those seen in patients with gluten ataxia (cytoplasmic with processes, cytoplasmic alone, nuclear) and the fourth showing staining of the granular layer of the cerebellum. Finally, studies have shown that idiopathic sporadic cerebellar ataxia can be associated with the presence of a number of different autoantibodies such as anti-GAD (see section above), anti-Voltage Gated Calcium Channel, antibodies against Homer 3 protein, glutamate receptor ∂ 2, ARHGAP26, DPPX and many more [25]. It remains debatable currently if the presence of any of the above antibodies in the context of a progressive ataxia defines a specific disease entity or if such ataxia should come under the umbrella of PACA. To some extent this will depend on the demonstration of pathogenicity of such antibodies as has been the case with anti-GAD ataxia (see section above).

Epidemiology

Epidemiological data are difficult to gather, primarily because there is no single serological or other marker that defines PACA. In a study of 1500 patients with progressive ataxia, 20% were labelled as having late onset idiopathic sporadic ataxia despite extensive investigations [1]. Even after applying extensive genetic testing using next-generation sequencing with a panel of ataxia genes (>170), the pick-up rate for a genetic cause was just 5%. This suggests that amongst the 20% of patients labelled as idiopathic sporadic there is a substantial number that may have PACA.

Clinical Manifestations

Like with other immune-mediated ataxias, PACA is a late-onset ataxia (early 50s) that primarily affects gait, less commonly causing limb ataxia, nystagmus and dysarthria. The ataxia in general tends to be slowly progressive but not as slow as in some genetic ataxias. There is gradual development of cerebellar atrophy with disproportional involvement of the vermis. In a few cases, there may be a rather more acute onset (a picture not dissimilar to that seen in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration). In fact some of these patients may have originally been diagnosed as having "post-infectious" cerebellitis [27]. Subsequently, however, such patients follow a progressive course by contrast to patients with true post-infectious cerebellitis who tend to make a full recovery.

Pathogenesis

The ever-increasing identification of new antibodies implicated in immune ataxias confirms the immune-mediated pathogenesis of this entity. Nevertheless, some of these antibodies may simply be markers of an immune ataxia rather than being directly pathogenic. It has been shown that cerebellar antibodies can be present in at least 60% of patients with idiopathic sporadic ataxia by contrast to 5% in patients with genetic ataxias [26]. Four different staining patterns were observed in this study, three resembling those seen in patients with gluten ataxia (cytoplasmic with processes, cytoplasmic alone, nuclear) and the fourth showing staining of the granular layer of the cerebellum. As more studies on ataxias associated with specific autoantibodies (e.g. DPPX) are ongoing, it is likely that we will gain more insight into the pathogenesis of PACA.

Diagnosis

The diagnosis of PACA requires several clues and no single test is enough to secure a diagnosis. As the HLA DQ2 is found in up to 35% of healthy individuals, this test alone cannot serve as a sole marker for patients with autoimmune ataxia. Furthermore not all PACA cases are HLA DQ2-positive. The presence of additional autoimmune diseases in either the patient or their first-degree relatives may be another clue. The presence of antibodies implicated in immune-mediated ataxias is also a helpful clue. Ultimately characterisation and easy accessibility to laboratory testing of the various cerebellar antibodies in patients with idiopathic sporadic ataxia may prove to be a useful additional biomarker for PACA. MR spectroscopy of the cerebellum may also provide some useful clues as most immune-mediated ataxias primarily involve the vermis (hence the phenotype of gait ataxia), unlike most genetic ataxias where the cerebellar involvement is more global.

Treatment

A review of small case series showed that immunotherapy (IVIgs, prednisolone, plasma exchange or rituximab) was associated with good response in 4/6 patients treated early as opposed to 9/19 in patients with chronic disease. Another small series of patients with idiopathic sporadic ataxia showed benefit with the use of intravenous immunoglobulins [28]. A retrospective study looked at 118 patients with immune-mediated ataxias, 55 of which had non-paraneoplastic ataxia. All patients had received some form of immunotherapy, and neurological improvement was reported in 54 patients. Regression analysis revealed that improvements were significantly more common amongst patients with non-paraneoplastic ataxias. Interestingly the study also showed that progression to wheelchair dependence occurred significantly faster in those patients with neuronal nuclear and/or cytoplasmic antibody than those patients with plasma membrane protein antibody positivity [29].

Paraneoplastic Cerebellar Degeneration

Introduction

Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes (PNS) are a group of immune-mediated neurological disorders triggered by cancer which is often occult. In the last 20 years or so, the discovery of specific antibodies that are present in the serum of patients with such syndromes resulted in better identification and clinical characterisation of PNS. Such syndromes are divided into classic and non-classic on the basis of how strong is their association with cancer. Classic PNS comprise subacute or acute cerebellar ataxia, limbic encephalitis, ospsoclonus-myoclonus, encephalomyelitis, Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome, sensory neuronopathy, dermatomyositis and rarely intestinal pseudo-obstruction. In this section we will concentrate on paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration (PCD).

Epidemiology

PNS are rare neurological disorders. Based on laboratory data from serological screening of patients suspected of having PNS, only 0.9% of patients had paraneoplastic antibodies. By contrast, in a more specialised centre with a particular interest in both clinical and serological characterisation of patients suspected of having PNS, 25% were positive for such antibodies [30]. Not all patients with PNS have such antibodies. There are certain types of cancer that are more commonly associated with PNS such as small-cell lung cancer. Up to 5% of patients with this type of cancer develop PNS. In the case of PCD, the commonest types of cancer implicated are ovarian, breast and lymphomas. In a series of 1500 patients with progressive ataxias, PCD accounted for just 2%.

Clinical Manifestations

PCD usually presents in an acute/subacute manner but is characterised by a rapid progression unlike any other disorder seen in the context of progressive cerebellar diseases. Acute presentations may mimic stroke with sudden onset of "dizziness," sometimes associated with diplopia and gait ataxia. The patient quickly becomes disabled and wheelchair bound. Other prominent cerebellar signs include slurred speech, truncal and limb ataxia. Initial brain imaging tends to be normal despite the severity of the clinical signs. MR spectroscopy of the cerebellum, however, reveals severely reduced NAA/Cr ratio implying reduced cellular metabolic activity [31]. Such presentation is so typical of PCD that the management should be that of a neurological emergency in terms of investigation for cancer.

Pathogenesis

The best evidence for immune pathogenesis comes from the demonstration of antineuronal antibodies in both the serum and the CSF of patients with PNS. These antibodies react with neuronal proteins that are usually expressed by the tumour. Patients with PNS often have lymphocyte pleiocytosis in the CSF and oligoclonal bands detected by isoelectric focussing of CSF. The target antigen can be either exposed on the cell membrane or be intracellular. Some antibodies seem to have a direct pathogenic role in causing PNS. However a pathogenic role of other paraneoplastic antibodies has not been proven as transfer of these antibodies into animal models failed to induce disease [32]. Circumstantial evidence of T-cellmediated pathogenesis in these syndromes comes from studies on patients with anti-Hu and anti-Yo antibodies where antibody-specific T cells have been identified in both serum and CSF [33]. The same researchers reported a role for cytotoxic T cells in the autoimmune destruction of Purkinje cells in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. T cells in the CSF were predominantly Th1 cells. Further support for T-cell-mediated mechanisms includes the fact that it is difficult to treat these disorders with immunosuppression directed against humoral immune response and that there is evidence of extensive T-cell infiltration in the CNS of patients with PNS.

Diagnosis

This should be suspected based on the rather dramatic and in some respects unique presentation outlined above. Whole-body PET scan has to be used if initial imaging does not identify any obvious malignancy. Whole-body PET scan has been shown to improve the diagnostic yield of malignancy in patients clinically suspected of having PNS [34].

Treatment

If the malignancy is treatable, treatment such as oophorectomy and mastectomy that may also include chemotherapy and radiotherapy has to be given urgently to avoid permanent and often severe neurological disability. Immunosuppression has been used in all of the PNS but with very limited benefit, particularly when the cancer cannot be fully eradicated. Because of the rapidity of progression, many patients remain disabled even after complete eradication of the cancer. Such patients eventually end up with significant cerebellar atrophy on subsequent imaging.

Other Immune-Mediated Ataxias

Introduction

As discussed in the PACA section, there are an ever-increasing number of antibodies that have been associated with suspected immune-mediated ataxias. The term PACA encompasses a heterogeneous group of immune-mediated ataxias where no specific antibody has been implicated in its pathogenesis. Here we discuss some entities that are increasingly being recognised as immune-mediated ataxias. Whether these entities should come under the spectrum of PACA remains a subject for debate. The authors are currently of the opinion that PACA should include all entities where no pathogenic antibody has been described but also those ataxias where a link with an antibody has been made but no clear pathogenic mechanism has been elucidated.

The list is by no means exhaustive but we have selected these additional aetiologies as they highlight the diversity of the immunological insults that can result in cerebellar ataxia. The authors also propose that immune-mediated ataxias should include not only aetiologies that damage the cerebellum alone, but also aetiologies that impair the cerebellar afferents/efferents.

Opsoclonus-Myoclonus Ataxia Syndrome (OMAS)

OMAS, sometimes referred to as dancing eye syndrome, is characterised by subacute onset of opsoclonus (involuntary saccades that occur at random directions and are usually associated with oscillopsia), ataxia and myoclonus. It affects children under the age of 2 years with an incidence of 0.18 cases per million per year in the UK [35]. In 50% of children with OMAS, the aetiology is paraneoplastic usually due to a neuroblastoma. In some of the remaining cases, the aetiology is thought to be post-infectious although other autoimmune aetiologies such as gluten sensitivity should be considered [36, 37]. The aetiology of OMAS in adults is very similar and can broadly be divided into three categories: paraneoplastic, post-infectious and idiopathic. The prevalence of OMAS amongst patients with adult onset progressive ataxia was 12/1500 (0.8%) [1]. Paraneoplastic OMAS is associated with poor prognosis unless the underlying cancer is treatable. Post-infectious OMAS is usually self-limiting, and the prognosis is good.

In a retrospective series of 24 patients reported by the Spanish OMAS collaborative group, 10 patients had idiopathic OMAS [38]. The age at onset in the idiopathic group was 40, and all patients had evidence of predominantly truncal ataxia. No obvious trigger factors were identified and all patients had normal imaging at presentation. Eight of the 10 patients had what appeared to be a monophasic illness and five of them made a full recovery. The three patients who did not recover had received steroids and/or intravenous immunoglobulins. The two remaining patients followed a relapsing course and appeared to respond to immunomodulation during the relapses. The spontaneous recovery observed in some patients with idiopathic OMAS makes the condition difficult to study in terms of long term treatment.

The aetiology of idiopathic OMS remains obscure but an autoimmune aetiology seems likely. Some autoantibodies have been found in patients with OMAS but the majority of cases have no detectable serum antibodies. There are no reports of passive transfer of OMAS to animals. In view of this, a predominantly cell-mediated pathogenesis has been proposed [39]. Despite normal CSF cell counts, CSF from
patients with OMAS was shown to exhibit expansion of CD19 B-cell and gammadelta T-cell subsets which persisted even years after disease onset. A study used a combination of rituximab, ACTH and IVIgs in 12 children with OMAS [40]. There was significant improvement of the opsoclonus and the myoclonus. The ataxia improved more slowly.

A practical approach to a patient presenting with OMAS would be to look for malignancy preferably using whole-body PET scan and check for paraneoplastic antibodies. If malignancy has been excluded, then it may be worth keeping a close observation looking for stabilisation or improvement even without any intervention (particularly in suspected post-infectious OMAS). Symptomatic treatment of the myoclonus should be used if the patient is troubled by the tremor. If the patient appears to be progressing, then immunosuppression should be considered, but the drug choice is currently unclear.

Anti-DPPX Ataxia

In 2013, dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein-6 (DPPX), a subunit of Kv4.2 potassium channels, was identified as the target autoantigen in four patients with encephalitis of unclear aetiology [41]. Symptoms included agitation, mild confusion, myoclonus and ataxia. There was also a history of profound weight loss associated with diarrhoea often preceding the onset of the neurological symptoms. A further series of three patients published in 2014 highlighted a distinct syndrome involving hyperekplexia, prominent cerebellar ataxia and trunk stiffness [42]. The authors suggested that this was a variant of DPPX associated with progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM) thus expanding the aetiology of PERM. DPPX-associated encephalopathy therefore belongs to the CNS hyperexcitability spectrum. A series of 20 patients with DPPX antibodies was published in 2014 [43].

The majority of patients had some cognitive/psychiatric complaints including memory deficits, delirium, psychosis and depression. Ataxia was a prominent feature in almost half of these cases. The weight loss can be striking and a useful diagnostic clue. One of the authors has seen DPPX patients referred to the Sheffield Ataxia Centre with progressive ataxia but minimal additional (cognitive) features other than the myoclonus. Startle is also a very prominent feature. As this entity may present with ataxia, DPPX antibody testing, if available, should be part of routine testing for patients with suspected autoimmune progressive ataxia, particularly when myoclonus and weight loss are present.

Anti-MAG Ataxia

Myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG) is a glycoprotein specific to Schwann cells in the peripheral nervous system and also plays a role in maintenance of myelin integrity and inhibition of axonal regeneration in cerebellar neurons in the CNS. Anti-MAG antibodies are commonly associated with distal acquired demyelinating sensory and motor (DADS) neuropathy in patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathy of unknown significance (MGUS). These patients exhibit sensory disturbances resulting in sensory ataxia. Recently, a series of five patients (four males and one female, 60-80 years of age) with MGUS and anti-MAG-associated cerebellar ataxias were reported [44]. These patients presented with severe gait ataxia, mild limb ataxia, and gaze-evoked nystagmus. Four of these five patients also had peripheral neuropathy (DADS). The cerebellar origin of their ataxia was identified using MR spectroscopy that showed reduction in vermian N-acetylaspartate (NAA) to creatine (Cr) ratio in all patients, which correlated with treatment-induced (retiximab) improvement of the ataxia. It should be acknowledged that patients with sensory ganglionopathy show no abnormalities on cerebellar MR spectroscopy. MRI showed no cerebellar atrophy. Three of these patients showed improvement following treatment with rituximab, although in the other two patients, rituximab was discontinued due to drug-induced vasculitis (in one) and refusal of treatment in another patient. The therapeutic response to rituximab supports an immunemediated mechanism.

CLIPPERS Syndrome

Chronic lymphocytic inflammation with pontine perivascular enhancement responsive to steroids (CLIPPERS) is characterised by marked perivascular T-cell inflammation mainly in the pons with compatible perivascular gadolinium enhancement on MRI, which is responsive to corticosteroids [45, 46]. The lymphocytic infiltration, mainly CD4-dominant T cells, is mostly seen in perivascular lesions, but also shows more diffuse parenchymal distribution in the white matter. The perivascular infiltration is mainly in the pons and adjacent rhombencephalic structures, such as the cerebellar peduncles, cerebellum, medulla, and the midbrain.

According to a review of 56 reported cases, there are considerable differences regarding age at presentation, ranging from 13 to 86 years (mean age at onset 52.4 years), with male comprising 67% of the patients [45]. Patients show subacute onset of varying neurological symptoms related to the brainstem pathology, frequently including pancerebellar ataxias, dysarthria, dysphagia, dysgeusia, oculomotor abnormalities, altered facial sensation, facial nerve palsy, and vertigo. Pyramidal signs and sensory disorders are also observed. MRI shows a characteristic change, which reflects perivascular lymphocyte infiltration, in the pons and peripontine lesions. The hallmark feature is multiple "punctate" and/or "curvilinear" gadolinium-enhancing lesions resulting in "peppering" of the pons with or without peripontine lesions. CSF examination is either normal or shows mild to moderate rise in protein levels with mild elevation of white cells. Early intervention with corticosteroids results in clinical improvement and often requires longterm maintenance with reducing doses [46]. It is recommended that the initial treatment with intravenous methyl prednisolone is followed by maintenance immunotherapy using the combination of oral prednisolone and corticosteroidsparing immunosuppressants (azathioprine, methotrexate and rituximab). Withdrawal of corticosteroids results in disease exacerbation thus, long-term maintenance therapy is required.

Sjogren's Ataxia

Primary Sjogren's syndrome (PSS) is one of the commonest autoimmune diseases affecting up to 4% of the population. It has a female to male ratio of 9:1. The onset of the disease is usually in the fourth or fifth decades, but it can affect younger individuals. It is characterised by lymphocytic infiltration of the exocrine glands leading to distraction of the glands and clinically manifesting with dry mouth and dry eyes. PSS can be associated with other organ involvement including lungs (pneumonitis), kidneys, pancreatitis, myositis and occasionally lymphoma. The most recent diagnostic criteria have been published in 2012 [47]. The diagnosis relies on the presence of 2 out of 3 of the following criteria: (a) positive serum antibodies known to be associated with PSS (anti-Ro and anti-La) (b) demonstration of xerophthalmia using a special ocular staining score and (c) labial salivary gland biopsy showing focal lymphocytic sialadenitis.

The interest in the neurological manifestations of PSS started in the 80s following the publication of a series of papers by a group of researchers based at the John Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore USA. The same group came up with a figure of prevalence for neurological involvement of 20%. As PSS is a common disease often associated with other autoimmune diseases, the coexistence of PSS with common autoimmune neurological diseases such as multiple sclerosis (MS) has to also be considered. The concept that PSS may mimick MS was first put forward by the same Baltimore group in 1986 when the authors described a range of neurological signs in patients with PSS including optic neuritis, intranuclear ophthalmoplegia, cerebellar ataxia and pyramidal weakness [48, 49].

By far the most common and better characterised form of peripheral nerve involvement in PSS is that of sensory ganglionopathy. This is a form of asymmetrical purely sensory peripheral nerve involvement that affects the dorsal root ganglia. It is often associated with sensory ataxia and can often be the presenting feature of PSS. In a series of 92 patients with PSS-associated neuropathy, 93% were diagnosed with PSS after neuropathic symptoms appeared [50]. The commonest form of peripheral neuropathy was sensory neuronopathy (59%). Sensory ganglionopathy in PSS is slowly progressive but ultimately disabling because of the severe sensory ataxia. In addition to sensory ataxia, Sjogren's syndrome can be associated with cerebellar ataxia with the first such report published in 1961 [51]. The largest series of patients with PSS and cerebellar ataxia was published in 2018 by Yang and colleagues [52]. They retrospectively identified 13 patients with PSS and ataxia. 9/11 had abnormal CSF, and 11 had cerebellar atrophy on MR imaging. Twelve patients received steroids, three cyclophosphamide and one mycophenolate. During a median follow-up time of 9 months, only two patients progressed.

Our own experience is with a group of 27 patients with PSS who underwent MR imaging because of complaining of loss of balance. Of these 18 (67%) had abnormal MR spectroscopy of the cerebellum with 41% showing evidence of cerebellar atrophy. These patients were recruited from a dedicated rheumatology/neurology clinic run by one of the authors, based at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Sheffield, UK.

It is currently unclear if such cerebellar involvement is along the lines of PACA with Sjogren's syndrome representing an additional autoimmune disease or if Sjogren's ataxia is a distinct entity. Immunotherapies have been used in small uncontrolled and retrospective cases using intravenous immunoglobulins, steroids and cyclophosphamide.

A potential role for anti-Ro antibodies in the pathogenesis of neurological involvement comes from some in vitro studies where serum from patients with PSS containing anti-Ro antibodies was shown to stain the cytoplasm and cell membranes of endothelial cells derived from umbilical vein and from brain tissue [53].

Lupus Ataxia

Neuropsychiatric manifestations are common in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Cerebellar ataxia has been reported in SLE, presenting especially with a subacute cerebellar syndrome and thus raising first the possibility of a PCD [54–55]. Ataxia of acute onset is a differential diagnosis of cerebellitis [56]. Cerebellar ataxia may develop in adolescence or in adulthood, and is rare in kids.

Some patients harbour positive anticardiolipin antibodies and lupus anticoagulants. The mechanisms of ataxia are multiple: cerebral vascular infarction or ischaemia, vasogenic oedema, vasculitis and antibody-mediated cerebral vasculopathy. There is a debate regarding the pathogenicity of antibodies. A specific pattern of antibody production is not established. Therefore the concept of "lupus ataxia" is still ambiguous.

Cerebellar ataxia responds to high doses of steroids. Pulses of cyclophosphamide may be considered in refractory cases.

Conclusion

The cerebellum is endowed with capacities for compensation and restoration, which is defined as cerebellar reserve [22, 23, 57]. The multiple forms of synaptic plasticity and the redundant inputs of sensory information would constitute the cerebellar reserve. Thus, immunotherapies should be introduced during a period when the cerebella reserve is preserved. In this regard, we argue that every effort should be made to reduce the diagnostic delay and the loss of therapeutic opportunities [57].

References

- Hadjivassiliou M, Martindale J, Shanmugarajah P, et al. Causes of progressive cerebellar ataxia: prospective evaluation of 1500 patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2016;88:301. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2016-314863.
- Hadjivassiliou M. Primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia (PACA). Adv Clin Neurosci Rehabil. 2010;9:8–11.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Grunewald RA, Chattopadhyay AK, et al. Clinical, radiological, neurophysiological and neuropathological characteristics of gluten ataxia. Lancet. 1998;352:1582–5.
- 4. Sarrigiannis PG, Hoggard N, Aeschlimann D, et al. Myoclonus ataxia and refractory coeliac disease. Cerebellum Ataxias. 2014. www.cerebellumandataxias.com/content/1/1/11
- Hadjivassiliou M, Grunewald RA, Sanders DS, Shanmugarajah P, Hoggard N. Effect of gluten-free diet on MR spectroscopy in gluten ataxia. Neurology. 2017;89:1–5.
- Dietrich W, Ehnis T, Bauer M, et al. Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease. Nat Med. 1997;3:797–801.
- Sárdy M, Kárpáti S, Merkl B, Paulsson M, Smyth N. Epidermal transglutaminase (TGase3) is the autoantigen of dermatitis herpetiformis. J Exp Med. 2002;195:747–57.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Aeschlimann P, Strigun A, Sanders DS, Woodroofe N, Aeschlimann D. Autoantibodies in gluten ataxia recognise a novel neuronal transglutaminase. Ann Neurol. 2008;64:332–43.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Sanders DS, Grunewald RA, Woodroofe N, Boscolo S, Aeschlimann D. Gluten sensitivity: from gut to brain. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9:318–30.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Grunewald RA, Sanders DS, et al. The significance of low titre antigliadin antibodies in the diagnosis of gluten ataxia. Nutrients. 2018;10:1444. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nu10101444.
- 11. Hadjivassiliou M, Aeschlimann P, Sanders DS, et al. Transglutaminase 6 antibodies in the diagnosis of gluten ataxia. Neurology. 2013;80:1–6.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Sanders DS, Aeschlimann D. The neuroimmunology of gluten intolerance. In: Constantinescu C, et al., editors. Neuro-immuno-gastroenterology: Springer; 2016. Springer. International Publishing Switzerland
- 13. Bürk K, Melms A, Schulz JB, Dichgans J. Effectiveness of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in cerebellar ataxia associated with gluten sensitivity. Ann Neurol. 2001;50:827–8.
- Souayah N, Chin RL, Brannagan TH, et al. Effect of intravenous immunoglobulin on cerebellar ataxia and neuropathic pain associated with celiac disease. Eur J Neurol. 2008;15:1300–3.
- Nanri K, Okita M, Takeguchi M, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy for autoantibodypositive cerebellar ataxia. Intern Med. 2009;48:783–90.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Davies-Jones GAB, Sanders DS, Grunewald RA. Dietary treatment of gluten ataxia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74(9):1221–4.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Rao DG, Grunewald RA, et al. Neurological dysfunction in coeliac disease and non-coeliac gluten sensitivity. Am J Gastroenterol. 2016;111:561. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ajg.2015.434.
- 18. Kerr DIB, Ong J. GABA receptors. Pharmacol Ther. 1995;67:187-246.
- Solimena M, Piccolo G, Martino G. Autoantibodies directed against gabaminergic nerve terminals in a patient with idiopathic late-onset cerebellar ataxia and type 1 diabetes mellitus. Clin Neuropathol. 1998;7.(Suppl:211.
- Ellis TM, Atkinson MA. The clinical significance of an autoimmune response against glutamic acid decarboxylase. Nat Med. 1996;2:148–53.
- Honnorat J, Saiz A, Giometto B, et al. Cerebellar ataxia with antiglutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies. Arch Neurol. 2001;58:225–30.
- Mitoma H, Manto M, Hampe CS. Pathogenic roles of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 autoantibodies in cerebellar ataxias. J Immunol Res. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2913297.
- Manto M, Mitoma H, Hampe CS. Anti-gad antibodies and the cerebellum: where do we stand? Cerebellum. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1007/s12311-0180986.

- Arino H, Gresa-Arribas N, Blanco Y, et al. Cerebellar ataxia and glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies; immune profile and long-term effect of immunotherapy. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(8):1009–16.
- Mitoma H, Hadjivassiliou M, Honnorat J. Guidelines for treatment of immune-mediated ataxias. Cerebellum Ataxias. 2015;2:14.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Boscolo S, Tongiorgi E, et al. Cerebellar ataxia as a possible organ specific autoimmune disease. Mov Disord. 2008;23(10):1270–377.
- Mitoma H, Adhikari K, Aeschlimann D, et al. Consensus paper: neuroimmune mechanisms of cerebellar ataxia. Cerebellum. 2015;15:213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12311-015-0664-x.
- 28. Takeguchi M, Nanri K, Okita M, et al. Efficacy of intravenous immunoglobulin for slowly progressive cerebellar atrophy. Rinsho Shinkeigaku. 2006;46:467–74.
- Jones AL, Flanagan EP, Pittock SJ, et al. Responses to and outcomes of treatment of autoimmune cerebellar ataxia in adults. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72:1304–12.
- 30. Dalmau J, Rosenfield MR. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7:327-40.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Currie S, Hoggard N. MR spectroscopy in paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. J Neuroradiol. 2013;40:310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurorad.2012.08.003.
- Graus F, Dalmau J. Autoantibodies and neuronal autoimmune disorders of the CNS. J Neurol Sci. 2010;257:509–17.
- Albert ML, Austin LM, Darnell RB. Detection and treatment of activated T cells in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration. Ann Neurol. 2010;47:9–17.
- Hadjivassiliou M, Alder SJ, Van Beek EJR, et al. PET scan in clinically suspected paraneoplastic neurological syndromes: a six year prospective study in a regional neuroscience unit. Acta Neurol Scand. 2009;119:186–93.
- 35. Pang KK, De Sousa C, Lang B, et al. A prospective study of the presentation and management of dancing eye syndrome/opsoclonus myoclonus syndrome in the UK. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2009;14:156–61.
- Blackburn DJ, Forbes M, Unwin Z, Hoggard N, Hadjivassiliou M, Sarrigiannis PG. Exaggerated startle in post-infectious opsoclonus myoclonus syndrome. Clin Neurophysiol. 2018;129:1372–3.
- Deconinck N, Scaillon M, Segers V, et al. Opsoclonus-myoclonus associated with celiac disease. Pediatr Neurol. 2006;34:312–4.
- Bataller L, Graus F, Saiz A, Vilchez JJ. Clinical outcome in adult onset idiopathic or paraneoplastic opsoclonus-myoclonus. Brain. 2001;124:437–43.
- Pranzatelli MR, Travelstead BS, Tate ED, et al. B and T-cell markers in opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome. Neurology. 2004;62:1526–32.
- 40. Pranzatelli MR, Tate ED, Swan JA, et al. B cell depletion therapy for new-onset opsoclonus myolconus. Mov Disord. 2010;25:238–42.
- Boronat A, Gelfand JM, Gresha-Arribas N, et al. Encephalitis and antibodies to DPPX, a subunit of Kv4.2 potassium channels. Ann Neurol. 2013;73:120–8.
- 42. Balint B, Jarius S, Nagel S, et al. Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus: a new variant with DPPX antibodies. Neurology. 2014;82:1521–152869.
- 43. Tobin WO, Lennon VA, Komorowski L, et al. DPPX potassium channel antibody; frequency, clinical accompaniments and outcomes in 20 patients. Neurology. 2014;83:1797–803.
- Zis P, Rao DG, Hoggard N, et al. Anti-MAG associated cerbellar ataxia and response to rituximab. J Neurol. 2018;265:115–8.
- Pittock SJ, Debruyne J, Krecke KN, et al. Chronic lymphocytic inflammation with pontine perivascular enhancement responsive to steroids (CLIPPERS). Brain. 2010;133:2626–34.
- 46. Dudesek A, Rimmele E, Tesar S, et al. CLIPPERS: chronic lymphocytic inflammation with pontine perivascular enhancement responsive to steroids. Review of an increasingly recognized entity within the spectrum of inflammatory central nervous system disorders. Clin Exp Immunol. 2014;175:385–96.
- 47. Shiboski SC, Shiboski CH, Criswell LA, et al. American College of Rheumatology Classification Criteria for Sjogren's syndrome: a data-driven, expert consensus approach in the Sjogren's International Collaborative Clinical Alliance Cohort. Arthritis Care Res. 2012;64:475–87.

- Alexander GE, Stevens MB, Provost TT, et al. Sjogren's syndrome: central nervous system manifestations. Neurology. 1981;31:1391–6.
- 49. Alexander EL, Malinow K, Lejewski JE, et al. Primary Sjogren's syndrome with central nervous system disease mimicking multiple sclerosis. Ann Intern Med. 1986;104:323–30.
- Mori K, Lijima M, Koike H, et al. The wide spectrum of clinical manifestations in Sjogren's syndrome-associated neuropathy. Brain. 2005;128:2518–34.
- 51. Attwood W, Poser CM. Neurologic complications of Sjogren's syndrome. Neurology. 1961;11:1034-41.
- 52. Yang H, Sun Y, Zhao L, Zhang X, Zhang F. Cerebellar involvement in patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome: diagnosis and treatment. Clin Rheumatol. 2018;37:1207–13.
- Alexander EL, Ranzenbach MR, Kumar AJ, et al. Anti-Ro autoantibodies in central nervous system disease associated with Sjogren's syndrome: clinical, neuroimaging and angiographic correlates. Neurology. 1994;44:899–908.
- Casciato S, Mascia A, Quarato PP, D'Aniello A, Scoppetta C, Di Gennaro G. Subacute cerebellar ataxia as presenting symptom of systemic lupus erythematosus. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2018;22(21):7401–3.
- 55. Manto MU, Rondeaux P, Jacquy J, Hildebrand JG. Subacute pancerebellar syndrome associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 1996;98(2):157–60.
- 56. Chattopadhyay P, Dhua D, Philips CA, Saha S. Acute cerebellar ataxia in lupus. Lupus. 2011;20(12):1312–5.
- 57. Mitoma H, Manto M, Hampe CS. Time is cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2018;17:387-91.

Stiff-Person Syndrome Spectrum Disorders



José Fidel Baizabal-Carvallo and Marlene Alonso-Juarez

Abstract Stiff-person syndrome was first described in 1956; its further characterization as an autoimmune neurological disorder occurred more than 30 years later with the discovery of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) antibodies (Abs), frequently coexisting in these patients. In the following years, clinical variants of SPS have been characterized, and a paraneoplastic presentation was also recognized, the latter mainly associated with amphiphysin antibodies. Although the presence of GAD-Abs has led to theorize that these antibodies cause disinhibition of the central nervous system through decreased production of the inhibitory neurotransmitter (GABA), the pathogenic role of GAD-Abs has not been demonstrated, although the evidence suggests that antibodies directed against amphiphysin and glycine receptor α 1 are likely pathogenic. The treatment aims to attenuate the immunological response through immunotherapy, control the symptoms, mainly with GABAergic drugs, and remove an underlying tumor, if present. The course is usually chronic and the prognosis is frequently poor.

Keywords Stiff-man syndrome \cdot Stiff-person syndrome $\cdot \gamma$ -aminobutyric acid \cdot Glutamic acid decarboxylase \cdot Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus \cdot PERM \cdot Paraneoplastic stiff-person syndrome \cdot Amphiphysin \cdot Myoclonus \cdot Glycine receptor \cdot GAD antibodies

Introduction

Stiff-man syndrome is the original name used by Moersch and Woltman in 1956 to describe a group of 14 individuals with progressive and fluctuating rigidity [1]. The disorder was latter named stiff-person syndrome (SPS) to avoid gender bias. The disorder was associated with the presence of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD)

M. Alonso-Juarez National Polytechnic Institute, Mexico City, Mexico

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. F. Baizabal-Carvallo (🖂)

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Guanajuato, Guanajuato, Mexico

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_20

antibodies (Abs) since 1988 by Solimena and colleagues [2, 3]; however, soon after, it became clear that not all patients with SPS have positive serum GAD-Abs and some of them may show a different set of antibodies and variable clinical presentations [4]; therefore, the term SPS spectrum disorder is currently used to refer to this group of patients.

The enzyme GAD is the rate-limiting step in the synthesis of γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), which is the main inhibitory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS) [5]. It has been theorized that GAD-Abs inhibit the activity of GAD in the central nervous system of patients with SPS spectrum disorders; however, this has not been unquestionably demonstrated in vivo, and the role of such antibodies in the pathogenesis of this group of disorders is still controversial as discussed in this chapter.

Epidemiology

SPS is an acquired disorder that usually appears between the third and sixth decades of life [6-8]. It has an estimated prevalence of 1-2 cases per million; women outnumber men (2:1); there is no ethnic predilection [9].

Children may also present with SPS, they represented 5% of patients evaluated during a 40-year period in a tertiary care center [10]. The mean age at onset was 11 years (range 1–14 years). Although classical SPS is observed in children, a literature review pointed to progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM) as the most common presentation in this age group [10]. SPS is not considered a hereditary disorder, although rare family cases of SPS have been described in the literature [11].

Clinical Manifestations

Classification

There is not a universal agreement regarding the classification of SPS spectrum disorders. Classifications may use the distribution of the stiffness, the presence of associated neurological manifestations, the presence or absence of GAD-Abs and other Abs. Patients may also be classified according to the occurrence of an underlying neoplasm (Table 1). The following section describes the clinical features of different SPS presentations.

Tuble 1 Clussification of still person syndrome spectrum disorder	Table 1	Classification	of stiff-person	syndrome s	spectrum disorde	ers
--	---------	----------------	-----------------	------------	------------------	-----

According to distribution of stiffness
Classical stiff-person syndrome (involves axial muscle and lower limbs)
Focal or segmental stiff-person syndrome or stiff-limb syndrome (involves limbs without
axial involvement)
Axial (spinal) stiff-person syndrome (involves only axial muscles)
According to associated manifestations
Myoclonus
Jerking-stiff-person syndrome
Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM)
Epilepsy or cerebellar ataxia
Overlapping syndromes: stiff-person syndrome + cerebellar ataxia or epilepsy
Brainstem manifestations and/or encephalitis
Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM)
According to presence or absence of tumor
Paraneoplastic stiff-person syndrome (usually associated with amphiphysin Abs)
Non-paraneoplastic stiff-person syndrome (usually GAD-Abs)
According to serological response to GAD-Abs
Seropositive stiff-person syndrome (+ GAD-Abs)
Seronegative stiff-person syndrome (- GAD-Abs)

Classical Stiff-Person Syndrome

Patients with classical SPS usually have an insidious onset with aching and stiffness of axial muscles, which progress and spreads to the proximal and then to the distal muscles of the limbs [12]. Co-contraction of agonist and antagonist muscles underlies the stiffness. The axial stiffness usually may lead to a characteristic hyperlordosis affecting the lumbar spine and muscle hypertrophy (Fig. 1) [12, 13]. In some instances, patients may develop a kyphotic posture with bilateral shoulder elevation and prominent limitation for head movements [14]. When chest and abdominal muscles are prominently affected, there may be dyspnea, poor exercise tolerance, inability to swim underwater and early satiety. The distal extremities and cranial muscles may be involved particularly in untreated patients. Limb rigidity asymmetry may also be observed and should not be confused with corticobasal degeneration [15]. The stiffness is usually relieved by sleep, but such improvement may be lost in advanced stages; at that point patients require general anesthesia or neuromuscular blocking agents to relieve the muscle stiffness [16].

The stiffness is accompanied by paroxysms of transient but usually intense superimposed muscle spasms. The spasms have variable duration ranging from seconds to hours and may be quite painful. The paroxysms are usually triggered by external stimuli such as noise and manipulation as well as emotional stimuli and sudden movement [4]. Spasms occurring while walking may cause falls and in extreme cases, joint dislocations and hip fractures [17]. Apneic episodes from muscle spasms may lead to acute respiratory failure [18]. Muscle spasms affecting the laryngeal muscles may lead to a spasmodic dysphonia-like presentation [19]; cricopharyngeus muscle spasms may result in total esophageal obstruction [20], whereas



Fig. 1 (a) Patient with severe stiffness involving the thoracic and lumbar muscles; there is marked hypertrophy of affected muscles; (b) typical hyperlordosis observed in patients with classical stiffperson syndrome

dysphagia due to abnormal esophageal and gastric motility may be a more common phenomenon. Urinary retention requiring bladder catheterization, abnormal anal relaxation with anorectal spams causing constipation are recently recognized features of SPS [21].

Autonomic symptoms may accompany the paroxysms of superimposed muscle spasms with tachycardia, hypertension, hyperthermia, increased respiratory rate, pupillary dilation, profuse diaphoresis, and dysphoria [22]. Sudden death due to autonomic failure has been reported [22]. Psychiatric comorbidity is common in SPS patients and includes depression, anxiety, phobias, and chronic alcoholism [23, 24]. Phobias (particularly fear to fall) were perceived by ten patients as a realistic risk owing to motor symptoms related to SPS rather than an inherent phobic neurosis [25].

The neurological examination between spasms usually reveals "rock hard" spinal, abdominal, and proximal limb muscles [4, 12]; abnormal axial postures along with muscle hypertrophy makes possible for the examiner to bury the hand in the furrow between the paraspinal muscles in severe cases plus a paucity of movements that may resemble parkinsonism; voluntary movements are restricted in range, for example, the patient may be unable to bend at the waist to touch her or his toes or kneel. Gaze-holding nystagmus, ocular misalignment, abnormalities in ocular pursuit, and increased latency of ocular saccades may be recorded in patients with SPS [26, 27]; abnormal eye movements and vertical nystagmus may be present in some patients with positive GAD-Abs and ataxia without stiffness [28, 29]. The head retraction reflex is hyperactive in SPS patients and may be elicited by tapping the glabella, nasal ridge, upper lip, or the chin, resulting in a backward jerk of the head sometimes with truncal retropulsion [30]; generalized hyperreflexia with plantar flexion responses is also observed. Gait may be spastic, slow, and wide-based [14]. Sensory examination is within normal limits.

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM1) is the most common associated autoimmune endocrine condition, present in about 35% of patients with SPS [31]; however, other autoimmune disorders may coexist with SPS, including autoimmune thyroiditis, autoimmune adrenal or ovarian failure, pernicious anemia, vitiligo, myasthenia gravis, anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA-R) encephalitis, autoimmune retinopathy, and systemic lupus erythematosus; all together these autoimmune disorders are comorbid with SPS in up to 80% of cases [31–35].

Focal or Segmental Stiff-Person Syndrome

Focal or segmental SPS (also known as stiff-leg or stiff-limb syndrome) is probably less common than classical SPS. In a series of 121 patients with SPS spectrum disorders, stiff-limb syndrome represented 20% of cases [36]. These patients usually present with stiffness and superimposed painful spasms affecting one or two legs or arms [37, 38]. Hiccup and vomiting have been reported with focal SPS, attributed to diaphragmatic spasms [39]. EMG shows the characteristic continuous motor unit activity at rest that involves agonist and antagonists muscles. Central nervous system hyperexcitability, failure of reciprocal inhibition of antagonist muscles, and altered exteroceptive reflexes can also be observed in patients with focal/segmental SPS, restricted to the affected limb [40]. The frequency of positive GAD-Abs and coexistent autoimmune syndromes seems less common than in patients with classical SPS. Amphiphysin Abs and alpha 1-glycine receptor (GlyR α 1) Abs are rarely positive in individuals with focal SPS [41, 42]. Although the majority of patients with focal SPS do not have an associated cancer, an underlying malignancy is more commonly present than in patients with classical SPS. Lung cancer, breast cancer, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and multiple myeloma are among the most common associated neoplasms [42, 43]. Unfortunately, the disorder has a protracted course with poor response to pharmacological therapy [38].

Jerking Stiff-Person Syndrome

This is a rare variant of SPS characterized by the presence of rapid and violent myoclonic jerks that may involve the axial and proximal appendicular muscles and may be nocturnal or diurnal. The myoclonus may appear years into the course of the disease and may occur either spontaneously, or it may be stimulus-sensitive, for example, following the touch of the perioral region, or stretch of head and neck muscles [44–46]. Patients usually have symptoms that are otherwise not different to classical SPS; it is unclear whether these patients represent a continuum within the spectrum of SPS and PERM or a distinct clinical variant. Myoclonic jerks usually respond to benzodiazepines. It is uncertain why the number of reported cases of jerking SPS has dramatically decreased in the last decades, but a possible explanation is that these patients are being reclassified into another SPS spectrum disorder.

Progressive Encephalomyelitis with Rigidity and Myoclonus [PERM]

Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM) is considered within the spectrum of SPS; it is also known as stiff-person plus syndrome in some cases. However, this condition differs in several clinical and immunological aspects with respect to classical SPS. The disorder was probably first described by Campbell and Garland in 1956, under the name "subacute myoclonic spinal neuronitis" [47]. PERM distributes roughly equal between men and women [48]. DM1 is much less frequent than in classical SPS.

Muscle stiffness, myoclonus, and prominent brainstem manifestations with cranial nerve involvement are cardinal manifestations in patients with PERM; other prominent features include severe dysautonomia, corticospinal signs, gait ataxia, seizures, hypersomnia, pruritus, and behavioral changes [48–51]. The disorder is more commonly associated with GlyR α 1-Abs; but about 20% of patients have positive GAD-Abs [48]. Although the term "progressive" is used in the acronym of the syndrome, a substantial proportion of patients have a relapsing-remitting course that may be fatal if left untreated. Pathological samples are dominated by inflammatory infiltrates with prominent involvement of Purkinje cells, hippocampal and pyramidal neurons, with loss of ventral horn and spinal interneurons with relative spearing of the neocortex [34, 52, 53]. Non-specific hyperintensities in the MRI are observed in about one third of cases involving the brain and spinal cord [48].

A condition resembling PERM has been associated with Abs against dipeptidylpeptidase-like protein-6 (DPPX), which is a regulatory subunit of the neuronal potassium channel (Kv4.2) [54]. The median age at onset is 53 years, with both genders equally affected. A prominent initial manifestation is gastrointestinal tract dysfunction that manifests more commonly with diarrhea, although gastroparesis and constipation have also been described [55, 56]. This is followed by a myriad of neurological manifestations, including eye-movement disturbances, tremor, myoclonus, rigidity, exaggerated startle, hyperreflexia, hyperventilation, neuropsychiatric symptoms, and seizures [55, 56]. An underlying lymphoma or leukemia has been reported in some cases [55].

Paraneoplastic Stiff-Person Syndrome

Paraneoplastic SPS is mostly observed associated with Abs directed against the presynaptic protein amphiphysin. Patients are usually females with breast cancer; other reported malignancies are small-cell lung cancer, thymoma, and ovarian cancer [57]. These patients represent about 5% of cases with SPS [58]. A predominant upper-limb distribution of the stiffness was reported in a single study of paraneoplastic SPS [57]. However this finding has not been informed in other reports. Ophthalmoplegia and opsoclonus have also been recognized in patients with paraneoplastic SPS associated with amphiphysin antibodies [59, 60]. Comorbid DM1 is uncommon in these patients [57].

Despite the well-known association between stiffness and amphiphysin Abs, these Abs are not specific for paraneoplastic SPS, as they may be present in some patients suffering limbic encephalitis, dysautonomia, neuropathy, and cerebellar dysfunction but without stiffness; some of these patients may have underlying cancer [61]. In few cases, these disorders may coexist with stiffness; for example, a case of paraneoplastic SPS and limbic encephalitis associated with amphiphysin antibodies has been described [62]. In another study, amphiphysin Abs were positive in various paraneoplastic disorders, including neuropathy and encephalopathy; however, these patients showed positivity to other antibodies such as anti-Hu [63]. Patients that show positivity only to amphiphysin Abs, but not to other onconeural antibodies, usually presented with myelitis or SPS phenomena [63]. Recognizing paraneoplastic SPS is important, as tumor removal and chemotherapy may result in marked clinical improvement.

The paraneoplastic variant of SPS may rarely be associated with high titers of GAD-Abs; whether the association of classical SPS with underlying cancer is coincidental or not is uncertain [8, 31, 64]. However, the risk of underlying malignancy in patients with SPS is higher with older age, male gender, and positive neuronal cell-surface Abs, including GABA-B Abs and GlyR α 1-Abs coexisting with GAD-Abs [65]. Anti-gephyrin Abs has been described in a single patient with paraneoplastic SPS associated with a malignant thymoma, but this finding has not been reproduced in other studies [66]. Anti-Ri (also known as anti-neuronal nuclear antibodies: ANNA-2) antibodies have been observed in patients with SPS phenomena and some malignancies [67], but such association may not be specific.

Overlapping Syndromes

Some patients with SPS may present with other neurological manifestations associated with GAD-Abs. In a retrospective study of 121 patients with SPS spectrum disorders, 8.3% were diagnosed as having an overlapping syndrome, i.e., classical or focal SP syndrome with ataxia, epilepsy, or encephalitis [36]. Among these syndromes, cerebellar ataxia is probably the most commonly associated with SPS [68, 69]. Gait ataxia is the most common manifestation followed by limb ataxia and dysarthria [70]. The so-called brainstem attacks, characterized by transient episodes of cranial nerve, cerebellar, and long tract dysfunction preceding the onset of progressive cerebellar ataxia, are observed in about 25% of cases [71, 72]. Epilepsy may occur in few cases of SPS and it is suspected to have an autoimmune pathophysiology [2].

Pathophysiology

Increased muscle tone or hypertonia is the "*sine qua non*" condition of SPS. Muscle tone can be defined as the resistance to passive stretch of a joint. The degree of stiffness is assessed by the amount of force required to get a movement. Hypertonia can result from three different mechanisms: (1) altered mechanical properties of the muscle or joint; (2) increase in reflex response to the stretch opposing the movement, and (3) co-contraction of muscles acting on the joint [73]. The latter is the main mechanism explaining stiffness in subjects with SPS.

The increased activity of agonists and antagonists muscles in SPS is probably related to CNS disinhibition. The questions are as follows: (1) What are the molecular and neurophysiological correlates underlying such disinhibition? (2) What is the role of GAD and other Abs in the pathogenesis of SPS? (3) Where does the disinhibition originate within the nervous system? and finally (4) How can the autoimmune process be attenuated and the symptoms controlled? Currently, there are not definitive answers for these questions, but established knowledge and recent advances are provided in this chapter to better understand the pathophysiology and pathogenesis in this group of disorders.

Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase Enzymes

The enzyme GAD is specifically localized within GABAergic neurons in the central nervous system. However, an immunologically identical enzyme is present in pancreatic beta cells, the epithelium of fallopian tube, and spermatozoa [74]. The enzyme GAD is the rate-limiting step in the production of GABA. The enzyme GAD exists in 2 isoforms, one of 67 kD (GAD67) and one of 65 kD (GAD65); these enzymes are codified by two different genes [75]. GAD67 is localized in the soma of neurons and is constitutively active, providing neurons with a steady supply of GABA. On the other hand, GAD65 localizes in the cytoplasmic surface of synaptic vesicles, it provides pulses of GABA in situations requiring rapid synthesis and release of the neurotransmitter [3, 5, 74]. GAD65 is the main target of Abs in patients with SPS, but GAD67 Abs are found in the serum and CSF in a proportion of patients with SPS.

Role of GAD-Abs in the Pathogenesis of SPS Spectrum Disorders, Experimental Models

As GAD has an eminent role in the production of GABA, it can be anticipated that Abs directed against these enzymes would block the production of GABA potentially leading to disinhibition. However, GAD enzymes are intracellular which limits the interaction with pathogenic Abs. Early in vitro experiments demonstrated decreased production of GABA in crude rat cerebellar extracts, exposed to Abs obtained from the serum or CSF of patients with SPS and positive GAD-Abs [76]. Moreover, a significant increase in the frequency of post-synaptic inhibitory potentials was registered in cultured hippocampal neurons of rats after being exposed to the serum of epileptic patients with positive GAD-Abs, while no effect was observed using sera from negative controls [77]. More recently, internalization of monoclonal GAD65 Abs was shown in cultured cells, and epitope-dependent pathogenic actions of GAD65 Abs were shown in slice (normal components are preserved) and in vivo preparations [78]. Although lack of GAD-Abs internalization into cultured hippocampal rat neurons was observed in another study [79], GAD-Abs have been shown to coexist with Abs that bind to the cell surface of GABAergic neurons, but the underlying antigen was not identified [80]. Passive transfer to experimental animals of Abs directed against GAD from patients suffering SPS or cerebellar ataxia has been carried out with mixed results. Continuous motor activity with repetitive muscle discharges [81], and impaired cerebellar function due to altered motor and spatial procedural behaviors has been observed following intracerebellar and/or paraspinal administration of Abs with anti-GAD activity [82] as well as an increase in glutamate levels in cerebellar nuclei and inhibition of GAD activity [83]; stiffnesslike behavior with impaired walking and decreased grip strength of the upper limbs along with postural and sensory-motor dysfunction was reported in another study following intra-lateral ventricle injection of a purified IgG fraction of an SPS patient into mice [84]. Despite this evidence, other studies have not shown the core features of SPS in mice models exposed to Abs from SPS patients but rather increased activity [80], anxious behavior or agoraphobia [85].

In Vivo Evidence of GABAergic Dysfunction

Studies in humans have demonstrated evidence of CNS disinhibition from the cerebral cortex to the spinal cord in patients with SPS. Hyperexcitability of the motor cortex was recorded using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) in patients with SPS, suggesting an imbalance between inhibitory and excitatory intracortical circuits; moreover, the degree of disinhibition seems to correlate with the titer of GAD-Abs [86, 87]. Brainstem hyperexcitability has also been documented by an abnormal recovery cycle in the R2 component of the blink reflex and abnormalities in the masseter and glabellar reflexes [88, 89]. Brain magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) has shown reduced levels of GABA in the sensorimotor and posterior occipital cortex in patients with SPS [90], and imaging of GABA-A receptor with PET-CT revealed large areas of decreased binding of 11C-flumazenil in the bilateral premotor cortex, motor cortex, and right supplementary motor cortex in few patients with SPS, suggesting downregulation of GABA-A receptors [91, 92]. These evidences suggest the possibility of supra-spinal disinhibition as the cause of muscle stiffness [93]. However, stimulation of peripheral nerves released myoclonic bursts in the trunk muscles after 60–70 ms, such phenomenon was called "spasmodic reflex myoclonus," and the recruitment order of the muscles suggested a spinal origin in the Renshaw cells or the gamma motor system [94].

Differences in Immunological Profile Between DM1 and SPS and Triggers of the Autoimmune Response

There are several quantitative and qualitative differences regarding the humoral response between patients with DM1 and SPS. GAD-Abs are observed in about 60-80% of patients with classical SPS but in a lower proportion in subjects with DM1. These Abs can also be positive in Batten disease, autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1, and occasionally some neurodegenerative disorders [4]. GAD-Abs are increased 100-1000 times in patients with SPS, whereas in DM1 such increase is usually not beyond 10 times the reference range [93]. The distribution of GAD-Abs is also different; they can be found in the serum and CSF in patients with SPS, but only in the serum in patients with DM1 [4]. Epitope recognition also differs; patients with SPS have Abs recognizing linear epitopes in the N-terminal segment of GAD proteins that are not observed in patients with DM1 [95, 96]; this segment of GAD is exposed during synaptic transmission, but the pathogenic role of these GAD-Abs is unknown [97]. SPS patients also have conformational GAD-Abs that recognize discontinuous segments of the middle and C-terminal part of GAD65, some of these antibodies block the enzymatic activity of the protein [98]. Although patients with DM1 also have conformation Abs against the middle and C-terminal segments of GAD, they do not block the activity of the enzyme, and the epitope recognition is also different [76, 99]. GAD-Abs isotype is IgG1 in patients with DM1, whereas IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, IgG4, and IgE are detected in patients with SPS [5, 100].

The role of T cells in the pathogenesis of SPS has not been clarified, but activation outside the CNS followed by crossing the blood-brain barrier is possible [4]. The stimuli that trigger the T-cell response are unclear, but viral infections, including West Nile virus, coxsackievirus, and cytomegalovirus, may precede the onset of SPS [101]. Clonal CD4(+) T cells can recognize a derived epitope of the human cytomegalovirus (hCMV) processed by dendritic cells, and show cross-reactivity with GAD65 and hCMV major DNA-binding protein [102]. This evidence indicates that T cells are involved in the loss of tolerance to GAD enzymes possibly through molecular mimicry, but this remains to be confirmed. T cells are activated in peripheral lymphoid organs, and although some of these cells cross the blood-brain barrier, it is likely that only those T cells reactivated in the CNS remain intrathecal (Fig. 2); patients with SPS and DM1 have T cells showing overlap reactivity to diverse GAD65 epitopes [103–105]; but only lymphocytes from SPS patients seem to produce a mixed Th1 and Th2 response contrasting with the Th1 response in patients with DM1 [104, 106]; Th1 response leads to cell-mediated immunity, whereas the Th2 response through interleukin-4, driven by a group of T-cell clones, facilitates switching of B-cell isotype, which seems to sustain the secretion of oligoclonal bands in the CSF of patients with SPS [104, 107]. Whether T cells mediate damage to the nervous system is unclear in classical and focal/segmental SPS, and it seems more likely to occur in patients with PERM; mice possessing monoclonal T cells against GAD65 can develop encephalomyelitis-like manifestations [108].



Fig. 2 (a) Cellular events occurring in patients with stiff-person syndrome; a set of oligoclonal GAD antibodies is produced, although how the autoimmune response is sustained within the central nervous system is unclear; (b) synapsis of inhibitory neurons shows the main molecular targets for antibodies found in patients with stiff-person syndrome spectrum disorders. (From Baizabal-Carvallo J.F. & Jankovic J. Reproduced with permission of BMJ Publishing Group Limited.)

Pathogenic Roles of Other Antibodies: Amphiphysin, Glycine Receptor, and DPPX

Despite the ongoing controversy about the pathogenic role of GAD-Abs, other Abs observed in SPS seem to have a more definitive role in its pathogenesis. Amphiphysin is a presynaptic protein involved in clathrin-mediated endocytosis. These Abs can be internalized into neurons by an epitope-specific mechanism and colocalize with presynaptic vesicular proteins [109]. Experimental studies have demonstrated that exposure to human anti-amphiphysin Abs provokes a depletion of the resting pool vesicles, trapping of releasable vesicular pool proteins at the presynaptic plasma membrane of GABAergic neurons with activation of alternative endocytic pathways [110]. Moreover stiffness and spasms have been induced following intraperitoneal injection of purified IgG Abs against amphiphysin from a patient with SPS and breast cancer, along with encephalitogenic T-helper lymphocytes to disrupt the blood-brain barrier, allowing Abs reaching the CNS [111]. Intrathecal passive transfer of the same type of Abs can also induce anxious behavior in rats [112]; a similar phenomenon has been documented with GAD-Abs (see above section).

By means of cell-based assays, binding of GlyRα1 IgG Abs was shown at 4 °C in controls, whereas antigen endocytosing (modulation) at 37 °C was observed in patients with SPS spectrum disorders [113]. Moreover, immunotherapy has been reported more effective in patients with positive serology to GlyRa1 IgG Abs than in seronegative patients supporting a direct pathogenic role of such Abs [114]. Abs directed against DPPX increase the excitability and action potential frequency of guinea pig and human enteric nervous system neurons; this may explain the typical diarrhea observed in patients with positive DPPX Abs; moreover decreased expression of DPPX and Kv4.2 has been observed in hippocampal neuron exposed to DPPX Abs [54-56]. Other Abs have been detected in patients with SPS spectrum disorders. Abs directed against the postsynaptic GABA-A receptor-associated protein were detected in about 70% of patients with SPS spectrum disorders in a single study [115]. However, this finding has not been yet replicated by other investigators. Abs directed to the GABA-A receptor have been associated with SPS spectrum disorders, some patients with positivity to such Abs, may present with seizures or limbic encephalitis [116]. Patients with SPS-like phenotype have low titers of GABA-A receptor Abs, whereas high titers are related to severe encephalitis [116]. Antibodies against the enzyme 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 4 have been identified in few patients with SPS, but their pathogenic role is unknown [117].

Pathology

There are a relative small number of pathological studies in patients with SPS spectrum disorders. It was initially suggested that neuropathological changes were scarce in patients with SPS, and the clinical features were related to functional impairment of neurons. However, more recent pathological studies have demonstrated loss of cerebellar GABAergic cells, anterior horn cells, and spinal interneurons (Renshaw cells), in some cases associated with perivascular inflammatory changes with cytotoxic T-cell infiltration, microglia infiltration, and gliosis [118, 119]. A reduction up to 70% in the spinal cord density of neurons with central chromatolytic changes has been reported in patients with SPS [120]. Vacuolation of motor neurons in the caudal segments of the spinal cord was demonstrated in a 69-year-old man with SPS and positive GAD-Abs; such vacuoles were lined by a membrane and contained invaginations with cytoplasmic matter [121]. Lipofuscincontaining lysosomes observed by electron microscopy were common in affected cells [121]. Macrophage infiltration along with neuronal cell loss in the dorsal root ganglion was also observed [121]. Affected muscles may show neurogenic atrophy [120]. Perivascular lymphocytic cuffing and parenchymal infiltrates of CD8+ lymphocytes were observed in a patient with paraneoplastic SPS and positive amphiphysin Abs [122].

Diagnosis

Diagnostic Criteria

The diagnosis of classical SPS is based on the presence of insidious onset and progressive course of muscle stiffness in the spinal and proximal lower limbs muscles secondary to co-contractions of agonist and antagonist muscles, with superimposed muscle spasms and increased exteroceptive reflexes, [123]. The diagnosis is supported by neurophysiological demonstration of continuous motor activity in the involved muscles at rest demonstrated by EMG that is usually abolished during sleep, except in advanced cases, as well as other neurophysiological features plus the absence of other neurological disorder that can explain the symptoms (Table 2). The diagnosis is also supported by the presence of high serum titers of GAD-Abs; however, negative serology does not rule out the diagnosis, particularly in patients with focal/segmental SPS; on the other hand, patients with DM1 may have low levels of GAD-Abs that should not be considered supportive of the diagnosis of SPS. In case of suspicion of paraneoplastic SPS or PERM, assessment of amphiphysin or GlyR α 1 Abs should be considered, unfortunately the latter is carried out mainly in research laboratories. Secretion of GAD-Abs within the central nervous system strongly supports the diagnosis of SPS spectrum disorders.

Clinical
Gradual onset and slow progression of muscle stiffness
Stiffness is related to persistent contraction of paraspinal, abdominal, and limb muscles
Abnormal postures, including hyperlordosis of the lumbar spine
Stiffness is usually abolished by sleep
Superimposed stimulus-sensitive painful spasms
Dysautonomia
Neurophysiology
Continuous motor unit activity at rest demonstrated by EMG
EMG activity abolished by sleep, peripheral nerve block, spinal or general anesthesia
Altered exteroceptive reflexes and reciprocal inhibition
Exaggerated startle reflex
Normal peripheral nerve conduction
Immunological
High serum titers of GAD65 antibodies
Intrathecal production of GAD65 antibodies

 Table 2
 Criteria for the diagnosis of stiff-person syndrome

Diagnosis Workup

As previously discussed, the cornerstone of the diagnostic workup in patients with SPS spectrum disorders is the electromyographic (EMG) demonstration of continuous motor unit activity that can be abolished with the administration of benzodiazepine or anesthetics. EMG shows no signs of denervation and peripheral motor and sensory nerve conduction velocity are usually within normal limits. Ultrasonography may be used as a non-invasive method to assess for impaired relaxation of involved muscles but its specificity for the diagnosis of SPS spectrum disorders is probably low [124]. Other abnormalities that can be recorded in neurophysiologic tests include brainstem myoclonus, exaggerated startle reflex, and non-habituating exteroceptive or cutaneomuscular reflexes [125].

For detection of GAD-Abs, radioimmunoassay has 96% sensitivity and 95% specificity when compared with immunocytochemistry [126]. A newly sensitive proximity ligation assay can detect GAD levels as low as 0.65 pg/ml and GAD-anti-GAD immune complexes [127]. Detection of GAD-Abs in the CSF may be important when low levels of serum GAD-Abs are present in a patient with unclear neurological diagnosis and autoimmune endocrine disorder. CSF may show positive oligoclonal bands, but this finding is not specific. It can be assessed with the following formula, GAD-Abs CSF/GAD-Abs serum/albumin (mg/L) CSF/albumin (mg/l) serum, and a result of ≥ 1 supports intrathecal production of GAD-Abs.

Patients with SPS may show positivity for other organ- and non-organ-specific Abs, including antinuclear, anti-smooth muscle, anti-mitochondrial, antithyroid microsomal, anti-thyroglobulin, anti-parietal cell Abs, etc. [128, 129]. Systematic evaluation for underlying cancer is not indicated in patients with classical SPS; however, in male patients or those with predominant upper limb and cervical stiffness, and coexistent neuronal cell-surface Abs, a search for underlying malignancy should be considered [65]. Neuroimaging studies are usually unnecessary in patients with SPS, except in cases displaying signs of encephalomyelitis, where a proportion of cases may show non-specific MRI abnormalities.

Differential Diagnosis

The stiffness observed in patients with SPS spectrum disorders should be differentiated from other forms of hypertonic muscles, such as spasticity, parkinsonian rigidity, tetanus, or dystonia. Spasticity has a different distribution of increased muscle tone, with velocity-sensitive resistance to muscle stretch, not observed in SPS; there is absence of superimposed muscle spasms, lack of associated weakness and pathological reflexes. Moreover patients with spasticity do not show exaggerated, nonhabituating exteroceptive or cutaneomuscular reflexes or increased startle reflex as patients with SPS.

Parkinson's disease and other extrapyramidal disorders present with muscle rigidity, a form of hypertonia that is not velocity-sensitive to muscle stretch, and it usually does not lead to abnormal fixed postures as observed in patients with SPS. In patients with early progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP), rigidity predominates in the axial muscles, but the characteristic hyperlordosis of SPS is not seen; other neurological manifestations such a supranuclear ophthalmoplegia and cognitive decline distinguish PSP from SPS. Members of a family affected by spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 have been described with progressive trunk and abdominal muscle stiffness, along with myokymia, painful spasms, and EMG showing continuous motor unit activity [130]. Chronic tetanus can be confused with SPS; however, trismus is more common in the former and the spasms are abrupt in onset and resolution, the syndrome lasts weeks to months, rather than years as it occurs in SPS [131]. Interestingly, a lockjaw has been reported in a patient with SPS and positive GlyR α 1-Abs [132].

SPS spectrum disorders should also be differentiated with disorders associated with continuous muscle activity such as myotonia and Isaac's and Morvan's syndrome. Myotonia characterizes by delayed muscle relaxation following a voluntary contraction and it is not present at rest. Moreover, myotonia may be observed with a number of hereditary muscle disorders including dystrophies. Isaac's syndrome is characterized by the presence of spontaneous and continuous motor unit discharges with a high intraburst frequency known as neuromyotonia, often accompanied by stiffness, cramps, fasciculations, and myokymia (irregular wave-like rippling of

muscles or motor unit discharges in doublets or triplets). The latter are not observed in patients with SPS. EMG shows continuous motor activity that persists during sleep (contrasting with SPS) [73]. The distribution of muscle contraction is mostly distal, in contrast with the axial and proximal muscle involvement of SPS. Morvan's syndrome is characterized by the presence of neuromyotonia plus neuropsychiatric features, dysautonomia, and neuropathic pain; it occurs almost exclusively in males, and it is frequently associated with an underlying thymoma [133]. The disorder is caused by the presence of CASPR2 (contactin-associated protein 2) Abs and less commonly due to LGI11 (leucine-rich glioma inactivated 1) Abs, rather than Abs directed to the voltage-gated potassium channel (VGKC) [8, 134].

Treatment

Treatment of SPS spectrum disorders is divided into four main lines of action: (1) suppression of the autoimmune process with immunotherapy, (2) symptomatic control of rigidity, spasms and other neurological, psychiatric and dysautonomic manifestations, (3) tumor removal in case of underlying neoplasm, and (4) rehabilitation and support. As SPS is an uncommon disorder, there are few randomized controlled trials comparing different therapies used in SPS. Therapeutic decisions are mostly based on previous experience coming from isolated cases, small case series, and expert opinion (Fig. 3).

Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy is divided into "first line," used to achieve a relative rapid immunosuppression in order to induce remission, but it can be continued as a maintenance therapy, and "second line," which includes drugs with slower onset of action and possibly less efficacy compared to first-line therapies; however they are easier to administer providing a more sustained benefit.

First-line therapy includes intravenous immune globulin (IVIg), plasma exchanges, and steroids. In a randomized, placebo-controlled crossover study of IVIg vs. placebo in 16 patients with SPS with each therapy provided during 3 months, a significant improvement in stiffness and heightened-sensitivity scale was observed when patients were receiving IVIg, accompanied by a decrease in GAD-Abs titer [135]. This effect may result in improvement in quality of life [136, 137]. The mechanism of action of IVIg may include suppression or neutralization of Abs, inflammatory cytokines, and activated complement; blockade of leukocyte adhesion proteins; restoration of idiotypic-anti-idiotypic networks; and modulation of dendritic cell activity, among others [138]. Potential drawbacks of chronic use of IVIg are side effects (anaphylaxis) and high costs. IVIg has also provided benefit in



Fig. 3 Algorithm for treatment of stiff-person syndrome spectrum disorders

open trials and isolated reports [139, 140]. Plasma exchange has been used with variable success in patients with SPS spectrum disorders with transient improvements of neurological symptoms observed in 42% of cases in a meta-analysis of 26 patients treated with this therapy [141]. Monthly use of plasmapheresis has been used to maintain initial clinical benefit, but high costs and potential side effects limit this therapeutic strategy [142]. Corticosteroids (oral or pulse IV therapy) can provide variable benefit, but their use should be very cautious in patients with DM1, which is a frequent comorbid disorder in patients affected with SPS.

Second-line therapy includes rituximab, cyclophosphamide, and other immunosuppressants. Rituximab has been used as rescue therapy in patients with SPS with respiratory failure due to severe stiffness of thoracic muscles [143, 144]. However, a randomized placebo-controlled trial in 24 patients with SPS showed lack of improvement of pre-specified 50% in stiffness scores and heightened sensitivity at 6 months [145]. Quality of life improved in both groups at 3 months but not at 6 months suggesting a placebo effect [145]. Relapses are possible following initial response of rituximab [146]. Other immunosuppressants such as azathioprine, tacrolimus, cyclophosphamide, mycophenolate mofetil, and methotrexate have proved benefit in some cases [4, 147]. Transplantation of autologous hematopoietic stem cells provided sustained clinical remission on two patients with SPS, although titers of GAD-Abs remained positive and long-term benefit is unknown [148]. Patients with PERM and GlyR α 1-Abs usually benefit with immunotherapy, although relapses are not uncommon [48]; if DPPX-Abs are implicated, a robust response following immunotherapy has been reported [55]. Cerebellar ataxia related to GAD-Abs may benefit from immunotherapy; in this regard corticosteroids and IVIg have shown the best results [69]. Improvement has been reported in one third of cases; subacute onset and rapid treatment initiation are the most accurate clinical predictors of response [71].

Symptomatic Control

Medications with GABAergic effect are the mainstay of symptomatic therapy aimed to decrease the rigidity and superimposed muscle spasms. Benzodiazepines are considered the first-line therapy; among these drugs, diazepam and clonazepam are among the most frequently used and possibly some of the most effective drugs to treat stiffness and spasms in patients with SPS, but clinical trials are lacking [14, 149]. The dose of benzodiazepines can be progressively escalated but are usually limited by side effects such as drowsiness or sedation. Oral baclofen is another potentially effective drug with less side effects that can be used alone or with benzodiazepines in order to achieve a combined effect on GABA receptors: type A (benzodiazepines) and type B (baclofen) [150].

Other medications with GABAergic effect or muscle relaxants have been reported useful in single case reports or small case-series of patients with SPS. Levetiracetam showed benefit in a small blinded crossover trial, but confirmation of its efficacy is needed [151, 152]. Valproic acid, clonidine, vigabatrin, tiagabine, gabapentin, and pregabalin can also be considered [153–156]. Dantrolene, tetrahydrocannabinol, cannabidiol, and other cannabis derivatives available in spray have also been reported useful [157, 158]. The role of all these drugs is not established, but they can be used as "add-on" medications in patients with incomplete response to muscle relaxants or in substitution of benzodiazepines or baclofen in case of prominent side effects from these medications, although they are probably less effective than the former. Evaluation of therapy is usually difficult in patients with SPS due to the fluctuating nature of the disorder and lack of well-validated clinical scales showing reproducibility.

In case of severe nonresponsive muscle spasms, intrathecal baclofen has been used as rescue therapy [159]. Small trials and retrospective studies demonstrated that intrathecal baclofen provides improvement in muscle stiffness evaluated by EMG or clinical assessments [160–163]. The therapy is useful for patients with SPS and PERM, although complete remissions are unlikely [161]. However, several complications may be observed with this therapy, including spasm-induced rupture of the catheter, catheter dislocation causing radicular symptoms, and inaccurate dosage administration due to pump malfunction; catheter dysfunction can be associated with severe symptomatic withdrawal and death [160, 161, 164]. Propofol and

midazolam administered intravenously are other drugs that can be used as rescue therapy in cases of frequent or prolonged muscle spasms (spasmodic storm) and dysautonomia complicated with respiratory failure, rhabdomyolysis, and myoglobinuria with acute renal lesion [165, 166]. Botulinum toxin injections may be helpful particularly in patients with focal SPS that show a lack of response to oral pharmacological therapies or to control pain in cervical muscles and reduce stiffness in facial muscles [167, 168]. Spinal cord stimulation has been reported to improve the spasms observed in cases of stiff-limb syndrome, but confirmatory studies are lacking [169].

Psychiatric manifestations, particularly anxiety, panic attacks, and phobias, can improve with the use of benzodiazepines; clinicians should be aware that medications commonly used for depression and anxiety such as serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors and tricyclic antidepressants may potentially aggravate the motor symptoms of SPS and they should be avoided whenever possible in patients with SPS [170].

Tumor Removal

Treatment of underlying cancer is of paramount importance in cases where such condition is detected. In patients with paraneoplastic SPS, tumor removal is usually mandatory before starting immunotherapy. Dramatic improvement has been documented in patient with positive GlyR α 1-Abs following removal of underlying thymoma and immunotherapy [171, 172].

Special Situations, Anesthesia, and Pregnant Patients

There is concern that patients with SPS exposed to inhalational (volatile) agents and neuromuscular blockers may suffer prolonged and severe hypotonia following anesthesia which may lead to respiratory failure with prolonged intubation. Although some patients are anesthetized with volatile agents and neuromuscular blockers develop this side effect [173], it is believed that this side effect results from the enhancement of GABA action on synapsis by medications with agonist GABAergic effect [174]. Due to this potential side effect, the TIVA technique which does not require neuromuscular blockage has been proposed for SPS patients [175]. Regional anesthetic techniques may also be used to avoid exposure to muscle relaxants [174]. Total intravenous anesthesia instead of inhalation anesthetics with close monitoring of respiratory drive and use of electrical nerve stimulator when neuromuscular blockers are used are also recommended [176].

There are few reports of patients with SPS during pregnancy, for these patients, medication adjustments to use low levels of benzodiazepines or baclofen can be tried to reduce side effects [177, 178], while immunotherapy should be withheld.

Some patients may experience transitory improvement during pregnancy [179]. Cesarean section is the preferred method of delivery but there are reports of successful vaginal delivery [178, 179]. Although newborn babies may have positive GAD-Abs until the age of 24 months, they do not seem to develop SPS phenomenology [180].

Prognosis

Patients with SPS spectrum disorders have a chronic evolution despite treatment with immunotherapy and muscle relaxants. The quality of life has been investigated in 24 patients with SPS through the Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) showing decreased (worse) scores compared with normal controls; a strong correlation of SF-36 scores with the extent of the disease and degree of depression was observed [181].

Conclusions

SPS spectrum disorders are a group of conditions characterized by CNS disinhibition that causes muscle stiffness, spasms, and enhanced exteroceptive reflexes. Although major advances have shown that amphiphysin and GlyR α 1 Abs are likely pathogenic in patients with paraneoplastic SPS and PERM, respectively, this has not been the case with GAD-Abs, and the pathogenesis of classical and focal/segmental SPS is still to be clarified; as the disorders partially respond to IVIg, plasmapheresis, and rituximab, an autoimmune humoral response is likely. Further studies should help to elucidate the pathogenesis of this group of disorders to develop better treatment strategies.

References

- Moersch FP, Woltman HW. Progressive fluctuating muscular rigidity and spasm (stiff-man syndrome): report of a case and some observations in 13 other cases. Mayo Clin Proc. 1956;31:421–7. PMID 13350379.
- Solimena M, Folli F, Denis-Donini S, et al. Autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase in a patient with stiff-man syndrome, epilepsy, and type I diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1988;318:1012–20.
- Solimena M, Folli F, Aparisi R, Pozza G, De Camilli P. Autoantibodies to GABA-ergic neurons and pancreatic beta cells in stiff-man syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1990;322:1555–60. PMID 2135382.
- 4. Baizabal-Carvallo JF, Jankovic J. Stiff-person syndrome: insights into a complex autoimmune disorder. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86(8):840–8. PMID 25511790.

- Ali F, Rowley M, Jayakrishnan B, Teuber S, Gershwin ME, Mackay IR. Stiff-person syndrome (SPS) and anti-GAD-related CNS degenerations: protean additions to the autoimmune central neuropathies. J Autoimmun. 2011;37(2):79–87. PMID 21680149.
- Gershanik OS. Stiff-person syndrome. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2009;15(Suppl 3):S130– 4. PMID 20082974.
- McKeon A, Robinson MT, McEvoy KM, et al. Stiff-man syndrome and variants: clinical course, treatments, and outcomes. Arch Neurol. 2012;69(2):230–8. PMID 22332190.
- Baizabal-Carvallo JF, Jankovic J. Autoimmune and paraneoplastic movement disorders: an update. J Neurol Sci. 2018;385:175–84.
- 9. Dalakas MC. Stiff person syndrome: advances in pathogenesis and therapeutic interventions. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2009;11(2):102–10. PMID 19210912.
- Clardy SL, Lennon VA, Dalmau J, et al. Childhood onset of stiff-man syndrome. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(12):1531–6. PMID 24100349.
- Burns TM, Jones HR, Phillips LH 2nd, Bugawan TL, Erlich HA, Lennon VA. Clinically disparate stiff-person syndrome with GAD65 autoantibody in a father and daughter. Neurology. 2003;61(9):1291–3. PMID 14610143.
- 12. Blum P, Jankovic J. Stiff-person syndrome: an autoimmune disease. Mov Disord. 1991;6(1):12–20. PMID 2005917.
- Stayer C, Meinck HM. Stiff-man syndrome: an overview. Neurologia. 1998;13(2):83–8. PMID 9578675.
- 14. McEvoy K. Stiff-man syndrome. Mayo Clin Proc. 1991;66:300-4. PMID 1672174.
- Bowen LN, Subramony SH, Heilman KM. Apraxia in anti-glutamic acid decarboxylaseassociated stiff person syndrome: link to corticobasal degeneration? Ann Neurol. 2015;77(1):173–6. PMID 25100431.
- Meinck HM, Ricker K, Conrad B. The stiff-man syndrome: new pathophysiological aspects from abnormal exteroceptive reflexes and the response to clomipramine, clonidine, and tizanidine. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1984;47:280–7. PMID 6707674.
- Baizabal-Carvallo JF, Jankovic J. Movement disorders of autoimmune origin. In: Poewe W, Jankovic J, editors. Movement disorders in neurologic and systemic diseases. United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; 2012. p. 179–242.
- Jachiet V, Laine L, Gendre T, Henry C, Da Silva D, de Montmollin E. Acute respiratory failure in a patient with stiff-person syndrome. Neurocrit Care. 2016;25(3):455–7. PMID 27430873.
- Rana AQ, Masroor MS, Ismail B. Spasmodic dysphonia like presentation of stiff person syndrome. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2014;5(3):322–3. PMID 25002795.
- Sulway MJ, Baume PE, Davis E. Stiff-man syndrome presenting with complete esophageal obstruction. Am J Dig Dis. 1970;15:79–84. PMID 5262665.
- Dumitrascu OM, Tsimerinov EI, Lewis RA. Gastrointestinal and urologic sphincter dysfunction in stiff person syndrome. J Clin Neuromuscul Dis. 2016;18(2):92–5. PMID 27861223.
- Mitsumoto H, Schwartzman MJ, Estes ML, et al. Sudden death and paroxysmal autonomic dysfunction in stiff-man syndrome. J Neurol. 1991;238(2):91–6. PMID 1649913.
- Black JL, Barth EM, Williams DE, Tinsley JA. Stiff-man syndrome. Results of interviews and psychologic testing. Psychosomatics. 1998;39(1):38–44. PMID 9538674.
- Henningsen P, Meinck HM. Specific phobia is a frequent non-motor feature in stiff man syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74(4):462–5. PMID 12640064.
- Ameli R, Snow J, Rakocevic G, Dalakas MC. A neuropsychological assessment of phobias in patients with stiff person syndrome. Neurology. 2005;64(11):1961–3.
- Economides JR, Horton JC. Eye movement abnormalities in stiff person syndrome. Neurology. 2005;65:1462–4. PMID 16275836.
- Oskarsson B, Pelak V, Quan D, et al. Stiff eyes in stiff-person syndrome. Neurology. 2008;71:378–80. PMID 18663186.

- Vale TC, Pedroso JL, Alquéres RA, Dutra LA, Barsottini OG. Spontaneous downbeat nystagmus as a clue for the diagnosis of ataxia associated with anti-GAD antibodies. J Neurol Sci. 2015;359(1–2):21–3. PMID 26671081.
- Baizabal-Carvallo JF, Alonso-Juarez M. Vertical nystagmus associated with glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies responding to cyclophosphamide. J Neuroimmunol. 2018;317:5–7.
- Hadavi S, Noyce AJ, Leslie RD, Giovannoni G. Stiff person syndrome. Pract Neurol. 2011;11(5):272–82. PMID 21921002.
- 31. Dalakas MC, Fujii M, Li M, McElroy B. The clinical spectrum of anti-GAD antibody-positive patients with stiff-person syndrome. Neurology. 2000;55(10):1531–5. PMID 11094109.
- Aso Y, Sato A, Narimatsu M, et al. Stiff-man syndrome associated with antecedent myasthenia gravis and organ-specific immunopathy. Intern Med. 1997;36(4):308–11. PMID 9187573.
- Steffen H, Menger N, Richter W, et al. Immune-mediated retinopathy in a patient with stiffman syndrome. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 1999;237(3):212–9. PMID 10090584.
- Turner MR, Irani SR, Leite MI, Nithi K, Vincent A, Ansorge O. Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus: glycine and NMDA receptor antibodies. Neurology. 2011;77(5):439–43. PMID 21775733.
- Baizabal-Carvallo JF, Bonnet C, Jankovic J. Movement disorders in systemic lupus erythematosus and the antiphospholipid syndrome. J Neural Transm. 2013;120(11):1579–89. PMID 23580159.
- Martinez-Hernandez E, Ariño H, McKeon A, et al. Clinical and immunologic investigations in patients with stiff-person spectrum disorder. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73(6):714–20. PMID 27065452.
- Barker RA, Revesz T, Thom M, Marsden CD, Brown P. Review of 23 patients affected by the stiff man syndrome: clinical subdivision into stiff trunk (man) syndrome, stiff limb syndrome, and progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1998;65(5):633–40. PMID 9810930.
- Bartsch T, Herzog J, Baron R, Deuschl G. The stiff limb syndrome a new case and a literature review. J Neurol. 2003;250(4):488–90. PMID 12760383.
- Misra UK, Maurya PK, Kalita J, Gupta RK. Stiff limb syndrome: end of spectrum or a separate entity? Pain Med. 2009;10(3):594–7.
- Iwata T, Shigeto H, Ogata K, Hagiwara K, Kanamori Y, Uehara T, Ohyagi Y, Tobimatsu S, Kira J. Hyperexcitability restricted to the lower limb motor system in a patient with stiff-leg syndrome. J Clin Neurosci. 2011;18(12):1720–2.
- Chamard L, Magnin E, Berger E, Hagenkötter B, Rumbach L, Bataillard M. Stiff leg syndrome and myelitis with anti-amphiphysin antibodies: a common physiopathology? Eur Neurol. 2011;66(5):253–5. PMID:21986240.
- Derksen A, Stettner M, Stocker W, Seitz RJ. Antiglycine receptor-related stiff limb syndrome in a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. BMJ Case Rep. 2013;2013. pii: bcr2013008667. https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2013-008667.
- Schiff D, Dalmau J, Myers DJ. Anti-GAD antibody positive stiff-limb syndrome in multiple myeloma. J Neuro-Oncol. 2003;65(2):173–5.
- 44. Martinelli P, Pazzaglia R, Montagna P, et al. Stiff-man syndrome associated with nocturnal myoclonus and epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1978;41:458–62. PMID 660210.
- Leigh PN, Rothwell JC, Traub M, Marsden CD. A patient with reflex myoclonus and muscle rigidity: "jerking stiff-man syndrome.". J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1980;43:1125–31. PMID 7217959.
- 46. Alberca RA, Romero M, Chaparro J. Jerking stiff-man syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1982;45:1159–60. PMID 7161612.
- Campbell AM, Garland H. Subacute myoclonic spinal neuronitis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1956;19:268–74.
- Carvajal-González A, Leite MI, Waters P, et al. Glycine receptor antibodies in PERM and related syndromes: characteristics, clinical features and outcomes. Brain. 2014;137(Pt 8):2178–92. PMID 24951641.

- Hutchinson M, Waters P, McHugh J, Gorman G, O'Riordan S, Connolly S, Hager H, Yu P, Becker CM, Vincent A. Progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity, and myoclonus: a novel glycine receptor antibody. Neurology. 2008;71(16):1291–2.
- Piotrowicz A, Thümen A, Leite MI, Vincent A, Moser A. A case of glycine-receptor antibodyassociated encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM): clinical course, treatment and CSF findings. J Neurol. 2011;258(12):2268–70.
- Mas N, Saiz A, Leite MI, et al. Antiglycine-receptor encephalomyelitis with rigidity. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2011;82(12):1399–401. PMID 21148607.
- 52. Whiteley AM, Swash M, Urich H. Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity. Brain. 1976;99(1):27-42.
- Howell DA, Lees AJ, Toghill PJ. Spinal internuncial neurones in progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1979;42(9):773–85.
- 54. Boronat A, Gelfand JM, Gresa-Arribas N, Jeong HY, Walsh M, Roberts K, Martinez-Hernandez E, Rosenfeld MR, Balice-Gordon R, Graus F, Rudy B, Dalmau J. Encephalitis and antibodies to dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein-6, a subunit of Kv4.2 potassium channels. Ann Neurol. 2013;73(1):120–8.
- Tobin WO, Lennon VA, Komorowski L, et al. DPPX potassium channel antibody: frequency, clinical accompaniments, and outcomes in 20 patients. Neurology. 2014;83(20):1797–803. PMID 25320100.
- Piepgras J, Höltje M, Michel K, Li Q, Otto C, Drenckhahn C, Probst C, Schemann M, Jarius S, Stöcker W, Balint B, Meinck HM, Buchert R, Dalmau J, Ahnert-Hilger G, Ruprecht K. Anti-DPPX encephalitis: pathogenic effects of antibodies on gut and brain neurons. Neurology. 2015;85(10):890–7.
- Murinson BB, Guarnaccia JB. Stiff-person syndrome with amphiphysin antibodies: distinctive features of a rare disease. Neurology. 2008;71(24):1955–8.
- Folli F, Solimena M, Cofiell R, et al. Autoantibodies to a 128-kd synaptic protein in three women with the stiff-man syndrome and breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 1993;328:546–51.
- Wessig C, Klein R, Schneider MF, Toyka KV, Naumann M, Sommer C. Neuropathology and binding sites in anti-amphiphysin-associated stiff-person syndrome. Neurology. 2003;61(2):195–8. PMID 12874398.
- Vinjam MR, Shanmugarajah P, Ford HL. Ophthalmoplegia heralding the onset of antiamphiphysin related paraneoplastic stiff person syndrome. J Neurol. 2016;263(5):1017–8. PMID 26946498.
- Moon J, Lee ST, Shin JW, Byun JI, Lim JA, Shin YW, Kim TJ, Lee KJ, Park KI, Jung KH, Jung KY, Lee SK, Chu K. Non-stiff anti-amphiphysin syndrome: clinical manifestations and outcome after immunotherapy. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;274(1–2):209–14. PMID 25087755.
- Krishna VR, Knievel K, Ladha S, Sivakumar K. Lower extremity predominant stiff-person syndrome and limbic encephalitis with amphiphysin antibodies in breast cancer. J Clin Neuromuscul Dis. 2012;14(2):72–4. PMID 23172386.
- Pittock SJ, Lucchinetti CF, Parisi JE, et al. Amphiphysin autoimmunity: paraneoplastic accompaniments. Ann Neurol. 2005;58(1):96–107. PMID 15984030.
- Graus F, Saiz A, Dalmau J. Antibodies and neuronal autoimmune disorders of the CNS. J Neurol. 2010;257(4):509–17. PMID 20035430.
- Ariño H, Höftberger R, Gresa-Arribas N, et al. Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes and glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(8):874–81. PMID 26099072.
- Butler MH, Hayashi A, Ohkoshi N, et al. Autoimmunity to gephyrin in stiff-man syndrome. Neuron. 2000;26:307–12. PMID 10839351.
- Thümen A, Moser A. An uncommon paraneoplastic Ri-positive opsoclonus-myoclonus-like syndrome and stiff-person syndrome with elevated glutamate/GABA ratio in the cerebrospinal fluid after breast cancer. J Neurol. 2010;257(7):1215–7. PMID: 20177693.
- Rakocevic G, Raju R, Semino-Mora C, Dalakas MC. Stiff person syndrome with cerebellar disease and high-titer anti-GAD antibodies. Neurology. 2006;67(6):1068–70.

- Baizabal-Carvallo JF, Alonso-Juarez M. Cerebellar disease associated with anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies: review. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2017;124(10):1171–82. PMID 28689294.
- Saiz A, Blanco Y, Sabater L, et al. Spectrum of neurological syndromes associated with glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies: diagnostic clues for this association. Brain. 2008;131(Pt 10):2553–63. PMID 18687732.
- Ariño H, Gresa-Arribas N, Blanco Y, et al. Cerebellar ataxia and glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies: immunologic profile and long-term effect of immunotherapy. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(8):1009–16. PMID 24934144.
- Matsumoto S, Kusuhara T, Nakajima M, Ouma S, Takahashi M, Yamada T. Acute attacks and brain stem signs in a patient with glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;73(3):345–6. PMID 12185181.
- Hallett M. Chapter 11: Stiffness syndromes. In: Fahn S, Jankovic HM, editors. Principles and practice of movement disorders: Elsevier Saunders; 2011. p. 250–8.
- 74. Solimena M, DeCamilli P. Autoimmunity to glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) in stiff-man syndrome and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Trends Neurosci. 1991;14(10):452–7. PMID 1722364.
- Erlander MG, Tillakaratne NJ, Feldblum S, Patel N, Tobin AJ. Two genes encode distinct glutamate decarboxylases. Neuron. 1991;7:91–100. PMID:2069816.
- Dinkel K, Meinck HM, Jury KM, Karges W, Richter W. Inhibition of gamma-aminobutyric acid synthesis by glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies in stiff-man syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1998;44(2):194–201. PMID: 9708541.
- 77. Vianello M, Bisson G, Dal Maschio M, Vassanelli S, Girardi S, Mucignat C, Fountzoulas K, Giometto B. Increased spontaneous activity of a network of hippocampal neurons in culture caused by suppression of inhibitory potentials mediated by anti-gad antibodies. Autoimmunity. 2008;41(1):66–73. PMID: 18176866.
- Manto M, Honnorat J, Hampe CS, Guerra-Narbona R, López-Ramos JC, Delgado-García JM, Saitow F, Suzuki H, Yanagawa Y, Mizusawa H, Mitoma H. Disease-specific monoclonal antibodies targeting glutamate decarboxylase impair GABAergic neurotransmission. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:78.
- Gresa-Arribas N, Ariño H, Martínez-Hernández E, et al. Antibodies to inhibitory synaptic proteins in neurological syndromes associated with glutamic acid decarboxylase autoimmunity. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0121364. PMID 25774787.
- Chang T, Alexopoulos H, McMenamin M, Carvajal-González A, Alexander SK, Deacon R, Erdelyi F, Szabó G, Lang B, Blaes F, Brown P, Vincent A. Neuronal surface and glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies in Nonparaneoplastic stiff person syndrome. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(9):1140–9. PMID 23877118.
- Manto MU, Laute MA, Aguera M, Rogemond V, Pandolfo M, Honnorat J. Effects of antiglutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies associated with neurological diseases. Ann Neurol. 2007;61(6):544–51. PMID 17600364.
- Hampe CS, Petrosini L, De Bartolo P, Caporali P, Cutuli D, Laricchiuta D, Foti F, Radtke JR, Vidova V, Honnorat J, Manto M. Monoclonal antibodies to 65kDa glutamate decarboxylase induce epitope specific effects on motor and cognitive functions in rats. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2013;8:82. PMID:23738610.
- Manto MU, Hampe CS, Rogemond V, et al. Respective implications of glutamate decarboxylase antibodies in stiff person syndrome and cerebellar ataxia. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6:3.
- 84. Hansen N, Grünewald B, Weishaupt A, Colaço MN, Toyka KV, Sommer C, Geis C. Human Stiff person syndrome IgG-containing high-titer anti-GAD65 autoantibodies induce motor dysfunction in rats. Exp Neurol. 2013;239:202–9. PMID: 23099416.
- 85. Geis C, Weishaupt A, Grünewald B, et al. Human stiff-person syndrome IgG induces anxious behavior in rats. PLoS One. 2011;6(2):e16775. PMID 21346811.

- Sandbrink F, Syed NA, Fujii MD, Dalakas MC, Floeter MK. Motor cortex excitability in stiff-person syndrome. Brain. 2000;123:2231–9. PMID 11050023.
- Koerner C, Wieland B, Richter W, et al. Stiff-person syndromes: motor cortex hyperexcitability correlates with anti-GAD autoimmunity. Neurology. 2004;62:1357–62. PMID 15111674.
- Molloy FM, Dalakas MC, Floeter MK. Increased brainstem excitability in stiff-person syndrome. Neurology. 2002;59(3):449–51. PMID 12177385.
- Khasani S, Becker K, Meinck HM. Hyperekplexia and stiff-man syndrome: abnormal brainstem reflexes suggest a physiological relationship. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004;75:1265–9. PMID 15314112.
- Levy LM, Levy-Reis I, Fujii M, Dalakas MC. Brain gamma-aminobutyric acid changes in stiff-person syndrome. Arch Neurol. 2005;62(6):970–4. PMID 15956168.
- Perani D, Garibotto V, Moresco RM, et al. PET evidence of central GABAergic changes in stiff-person syndrome. Mov Disord. 2007;22(7):1030–3. PMID 17575583.
- Galldiks N, Thiel A, Haense C, Fink GR, Hilker R. 11C-flumazenil positron emission tomography demonstrates reduction of both global and local cerebral benzodiazepine receptor binding in a patient with Stiff Person Syndrome. J Neurol. 2008;255(9):1361–4. PMID 18574617.
- Levy LM, Dalakas MC, Floeter MK. The stiff-person syndrome: an autoimmune disorder affecting neurotransmission of gamma-aminobutyric acid. Ann Intern Med. 1999;131:522– 30. PMID 10507962.
- Meinck HM, Ricker K, Hulser PJ, Solimena M. Stiff man syndrome: neurophysiological findings in eight patients. J Neurol. 1995;242(3):134–42. PMID 7751855.
- Daw K, Ujihara N, Atkinson M, Powers AC. Glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies in stiff-man syndrome and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus exhibit similarities and differences in epitope recognition. J Immunol. 1996;156:818–25. PMID 8543838.
- 96. Kim J, Namchuk M, Bugawan T, et al. Higher autoantibody levels and recognition of a linear NH2-terminal epitope in the autoantigen GAD65, distinguish stiff-man syndrome from insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Exp Med. 1994;180:595–606.
- Richter W, Shi Y, Baekkeskov S. Autoreactive epitopes defined by diabetes-associated human monoclonal antibodies are localized in the middle and C-terminal domains of the smaller form of glutamate decarboxylase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:2832–6.
- Butler MH, Solimena M, Dirkx R Jr, et al. Identification of a dominant epitope of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD-65) recognized by autoantibodies in stiff-man syndrome. J Exp Med. 1993;178:2097–106.
- 99. Raju R, Foote J, Banga JP, et al. Analysis of GAD65 autoantibodies in stiff-person syndrome patients. J Immunol. 2005;175(111):7755–62. PMID 16301686.
- 100. Cheramy M, Hampe CS, Ludvigsson J, Casas R. Characteristics of in-vitro phenotypes of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 autoantibodies in high-titre individuals. Clin Exp Immunol. 2013;171(3):247–54. PMID 23379430.
- Hassin-Baer S, Kirson ED, Shulman L, et al. Stiff-person syndrome following West Nile fever. Arch Neurol. 2004;61:938–41. PMID 15210535.
- 102. Hiemstra HS, Schloot NC, van Veelen PA, Willemen SJ, Franken KL, van Rood JJ, de Vries RR, Chaudhuri A, Behan PO, Drijfhout JW, Roep BO. Cytomegalovirus in autoimmunity: T cell crossreactivity to viral antigen and autoantigen glutamic acid decarboxylase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(7):3988–91. PMID:11274421
- Schloot NC, Batstra MC, Duinkerken G, et al. GAD65-Reactive T cells in a non-diabetic stiff-man syndrome patient. J Autoimmun. 1999;12:289–6.
- 104. Lohmann T, Hawa M, Leslie RD, Lane R, Picard J, Londei M. Immune reactivity to glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 in stiffman syndrome and type 1 diabetes mellitus. Lancet. 2000;356(9223):31–5. PMID 10892762.
- 105. Hänninen A, Soilu-Hänninen M, Hampe CS, et al. Characterization of CD4+ T cells specific for glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65) and proinsulin in a patient with stiff-person syndrome but without type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2010;26:271–9.

- 106. Lohmann T, Londei M, Hawa M, Leslie RD. Humoral and cellular autoimmune responses in stiff person syndrome. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2003;998:215–22. PMID 14592879.
- Skorstad G, Hestvik AL, Vartdal F, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid T cell responses against glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 in patients with stiff person syndrome. J Autoimmun. 2009;32(1):24– 32. PMID 19027267.
- Burton AR, Baquet Z, Eisenbarth GS, et al. Central nervous system destruction mediated by glutamic acid decarboxylase-specific CD4+ T cells. J Immunol. 2010;184:4863–70.
- Geis C, Weishaupt A, Hallermann S, et al. Stiff person syndrome-associated autoantibodies to amphiphysin mediate reduced GABAergic inhibition. Brain. 2010;133(11):3166–80. PMID 20884644.
- Werner C, Pauli M, Doose S, et al. Human autoantibodies to amphiphysin induce defective presynaptic vesicle dynamics and composition. Brain. 2016;139(Pt 2):365–79. PMID 26582558.
- 111. Sommer CA, Wishaupt A, Brinkoff J, et al. Paraneoplastic stiff-person syndrome: passive transfer to rats by means of IgG antibodies to amphiphysin. Lancet. 2005;365(9468):1406– 11. PMID 15836889.
- 112. Geis C, Grünewald B, Weishaupt A, et al. Human IgG directed against amphiphysin induces anxiety behavior in a rat model after intrathecal passive transfer. J Neural Transm. 2012;119(8):981–5. PMID 22331304.
- 113. Hinson SR, Lopez-Chiriboga AS, Bower JH, Matsumoto JY, Hassan A, Basal E, Lennon VA, Pittock SJ, McKeon A. Glycine receptor modulating antibody predicting treatable stiff-person spectrum disorders. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2018;5(2):e438. PMID 29464188.
- 114. McKeon A, Martinez-Hernandez E, Lancaster E, et al. Glycine receptor autoimmune spectrum with stiff-man syndrome phenotype. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(1):44–50. PMID 23090334.
- 115. Raju R, Rakocevic G, Chen Z, et al. Autoimmunity to GABAA-receptor-associated protein in stiff-person syndrome. Brain. 2006;129(Pt 12):3270–6. PMID 16984900.
- 116. Petit-Pedrol M, Armangue T, Peng X, et al. Encephalitis with refractory seizures, status epilepticus, and antibodies to the GABAA receptor: a case series, characterisation of the antigen, and analysis of the effects of antibodies. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(3):276–86. PMID 24462240.
- 117. Dinkel K, Rickert M, Möller G, et al. Stiff-man syndrome: identification of 17 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 4 as a novel 80-kDa antineuronal antigen. J Neuroimmunol. 2002;130:184–93.
- 118. Warich-Kirches M, VonBossanyi P, Treuheit T, et al. Stiff-man syndrome: possible autoimmune etiology targeted against GABA-ergic cells. Clin Neuropathol. 1997;16(4):214–9. PMID 9266148.
- Holmoy T, Skorstad G, Alvik KM, Vartdal F. Stiff person syndrome associated with lower motor neuron disease and infiltration of cytotoxic T cells in the spinal cord. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2009;111:708–12. PMID 19616370.
- 120. Ishizawa K, Komori T, Okayama K, Qin X, Kaneko K, Sasaki S, Iwata M. Large motor neuron involvement in Stiff-man syndrome: a qualitative and quantitative study. Acta Neuropathol. 1999;97(1):63–70. PMID: 9930896.
- 121. Witherick J, Highley JR, Hadjivassiliou M. Pathological findings in a case of stiff person syndrome with anti-GAD antibodies. Mov Disord. 2011;26(11):2138–9. PMID 21611984.
- 122. Poh MQ, Simon NG, Buckland ME, Salisbury E, Watson S. Evidence of T-cell mediated neuronal injury in stiff-person syndrome with anti-amphiphysin antibodies. J Neurol Sci. 2014;337(1–2):235–7. PMID 24405658.
- 123. Dalakas MC. Clinical symptomatology of stiff-person syndrome. In: Levy LM, moderator. The stiff-person syndrome: an autoimmune disorder affecting neurotransmission of gammaaminobutyric acid. Ann Intern Med. 1999;131:522–30. PMID 10507962.

- 124. Hoshino Y, Nishioka K, Kanai K, et al. Utility of ultrasonography in evaluating muscle contractions in stiff-person syndrome. J Neurol Sci. 2016;367:361–2. PMID 27423620.
- 125. Rakocevic G, Floeter MK. Autoimmune stiff person syndrome and related myelopathies: understanding of electrophysiological and immunological processes. Muscle Nerve. 2012;45(5):623–34. PMID: 22499087.
- Chang T, Lang B. GAD antibodies in stiff-person syndrome. Neurology. 2004;63:1999–2000. PMID 15596739.
- 127. Gu Urban GJ, Friedman M, Ren P, et al. Elevated serum GAD65 and GAD65-GADA immune complexes in stiff person syndrome. Sci Rep. 2015;5:11196. PMID 26080009.
- 128. Gorin F, Baldwin B, Tait R, et al. Stiff-man syndrome: a GABAergic autoimmune disorder with autoantigenic heterogeneity. Ann Neurol. 1990;28:711–4. PMID 2260859.
- 129. Grimaldi LM, Martino G, Braghi S, et al. Heterogeneity of autoantibodies in stiff-man syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1993;34:57–64. PMID 8517681.
- 130. Berciano J, Infante J, Garcia A, et al. Stiff man-like syndrome and generalized myokymia in spinocerebellar ataxia type 3. Mov Disord. 2006;21(7):1031–5. PMID 16552763.
- 131. Berkowitz AL. Tetanus, botulism, and diphtheria. Continuum (Minneap Minn). 2018;24(5, Neuroinfectious Disease):1459–88.
- 132. Doppler K, Schleyer B, Geis C, et al. Lockjaw in stiff-person syndrome with autoantibodies against glycine receptors. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2015;3(1):e186. PMID 26767190.
- 133. Irani SR, Pettingill P, Kleopa KA, Schiza N, Waters P, Mazia C, Zuliani L, Watanabe O, Lang B, Buckley C, Vincent A. Morvan syndrome: clinical and serological observations in 29 cases. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(2):241–55. PMID: 22473710.
- 134. Binks SNM, Klein CJ, Waters P, Pittock SJ, Irani SR. LGI1, CASPR2 and related antibodies: a molecular evolution of the phenotypes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2018;89(5):526–34. PMID: 29055902.
- 135. Dalakas MC, Fujii M, Li M, Lutfi B, Kyhos J, McElroy B. High-dose intravenous immune globulin for stiff-person syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(26):1870–6. PMID 11756577.
- Dalakas MC. Intravenous immunoglobulin in autoimmune neuromuscular diseases. JAMA. 2004;291(19):2367–75. PMID 15150209.
- Gerschlager W, Brown P. Effect of treatment with intravenous immunoglobulin on quality of life in patients with stiff-person syndrome. Mov Disord. 2002;17(3):590–3. PMID 12112212.
- Gelfand EW. Intravenous immune globulin in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(8):777. PMID 23425181.
- 139. Amato AA, Cornman EW, Kissel JT. Treatment of stiff-man syndrome with intravenous immunoglobulin. Neurology. 1994;44(9):1652–4. PMID 7936291.
- 140. Souza-Lima CF, Ferraz HB, Braz CA, Araujo AM, Manzano GM. Marked improvement in a stiff-limb patient treated with intravenous immunoglobulin. Mov Disord. 2000;15:358–9. PMID 10752598.
- 141. Pagano MB, Murinson BB, Tobian AA, King KE. Efficacy of therapeutic plasma exchange for treatment of stiff-person syndrome. Transfusion. 2014;54(7):1851–6. PMID 24527774.
- 142. De la Casa-Fages B, Anaya F, Gabriel-Ortemberg M, Grandas F. Treatment of stiff-person syndrome with chronic plasmapheresis. Mov Disord. 2013;28(3):396–7. PMID 23239368.
- 143. Qureshi A, Hennessy M. Stiff person syndrome (SPS) complicated by respiratory failure: successful treatment with rituximab. J Neurol. 2012;259(1):180–1. PMID 21647727.
- 144. Fekete R, Jankovic J. Childhood stiff-person syndrome improved with rituximab. Case Rep Neurol. 2012;4(2):92–6. PMID 22740823.
- 145. Dalakas MC, Rakocevic G, Dambrosia JM, Alexopoulos H, McElroy B. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of rituximab in patients with stiff person syndrome. Ann Neurol. 2017;82(2):271–7. PMID 28749549.
- 146. Dupond JL, Essalmi L, Gil H, Meaux-Ruault N, Hafsaoui C. Rituximab treatment of stiffperson syndrome in a patient with thymoma, diabetes mellitus and autoimmune thyroiditis. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17(3):389–91. PMID 20071184.

- 147. Nakane S, Fujita K, Shibuta Y, et al. Successful treatment of stiff person syndrome with sequential use of tacrolimus. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(10):1177–80. PMID 23715915.
- 148. Sanders S, Bredeson C, Pringle CE, et al. Autologous stem cell transplantation for stiff person syndrome: two cases from the Ottawa blood and marrow transplant program. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(10):1296–9. PMID 25155372.
- 149. Jog MS, Lambert CD, Lang AE. Stiff-person syndrome. Can J Neurol Sci. 1992;19:383–8. PMID 1393849.
- 150. Miller F, Korsvik H. Baclofen in the treatment of stiff-man syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1981;9:511–2. PMID 7271246.
- Sechi G, Barrocu M, Piluzza MG, Cocco GA, Deiana GA, Sau GF. Levetiracetam in stiffperson syndrome. J Neurol. 2008;255(11):1721–5. PMID 18769864.
- 152. Ruegg SJ, Steck AJ, Fuhr P. Levetiracetam improves paroxysmal symptoms in a patient with stiff-person syndrome. Neurology. 2004;62:338. PMID 14745090.
- 153. Spehlmann R, Norcross K, Rasmus SC, Schlageter NL. Improvement of stiff-man syndrome with sodium valproate. Neurology. 1981;31:1162–3. PMID 6791051.
- 154. Prevett MC, Brown P, Duncan JS. Improvement of stiff-man syndrome with vigabatrin. Neurology. 1997;48(4):1133–4. PMID 9109919.
- Murinson BB, Rizzo M. Improvement of stiff-person syndrome with tiagabine. Neurology. 2001;57:366. PMID 11468338.
- 156. Squintani G, Bovi T, Ferigo L, et al. Efficacy of pregabalin in a case of stiff-person syndrome: clinical and neurophysiological evidence. J Neurol Sci. 2012;314(1–2):166–8. PMID 22082988.
- 157. Schreiber AL, Vasudevan JM, Fetouh SK, Ankam NS, Hussain A, Rakocevic G. Atypical clinically diagnosed stiff-person syndrome response to dantrolene--a refractory case. Muscle Nerve. 2012;45(3):454–5. PMID 22334188.
- 158. Vicente-Valor MI, Garcia-Llopis P, Mejia Andujar L, et al. Cannabis derivatives therapy for a seronegative stiff-person syndrome: a case report. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2013;38(1):71–3. PMID 22726074.
- 159. Seitz RJ, Blank B, Kiwit JC, Benecke R. Stiff-person syndrome with anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies: complete remission of symptoms after intrathecal baclofen administration. J Neurol. 1995;242(10):618–22. PMID 8568521.
- 160. Silbert PL, Matsumoto JY, McManis PG, et al. Intrathecal baclofen therapy in stiff-man syndrome: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Neurology. 1995;45(10):1893–7. PMID 7477988.
- 161. Stayer C, Tronnier V, Dressnandt J, Mauch E, Marquardt G, Rieke K, Müller-Schwefe G, Schumm F, Meinck HM. Intrathecal baclofen therapy for stiff-man syndrome and progressive encephalomyelopathy with rigidity and myoclonus. Neurology. 1997;49(6):1591–7. PMID: 9409352.
- 162. Bardutzky J, Tronnier V, Schwab S, Meinck HM. Intrathecal baclofen for stiff-person syndrome: life-threatening intermittent catheter leakage. Neurology. 2003;60(12):1976–8. PMID: 12821743.
- 163. Abbatemarco JR, Willis MA, Wilson RG, Nagel SJ, Machado AG, Bethoux FA. Case series: intrathecal baclofen therapy in stiff-person syndrome. Neuromodulation. 2018; https://doi. org/10.1111/ner.12765. PMID: 29532593.
- 164. Kumar MV, Savida P. Pediatric stiff-person syndrome with renal failure. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2016;7(1):147–9. PMID: 26933366.
- 165. Hattan E, Angle MR, Chalk C. Unexpected benefit of propofol in stiff-person syndrome. Neurology. 2008;70(18):1641–2. PMID 18172065.
- 166. Vernino S, McEvoy K. Propofol for stiff-person syndrome: learning new tricks from an old dog. Neurology. 2008;70(18):1584–5. PMID 18443308.
- Davis D, Jabbari B. Significant improvement of stiff-person syndrome after paraspinal injection of botulinum toxin A. Mov Disord. 1993;8(3):371–3. PMID 8341305.

- Pakeerappa PN, Birthi P, Salles S. Botulinum toxin a injection to facial and cervical paraspinal muscles in a patient with stiff person syndrome: a case report. PM R. 2015;7(3):326–8. PMID:25459656.
- 169. Ughratdar I, Sivakumar G, Basu S. Spinal cord stimulation to abort painful spasms of atypical stiff limb syndrome. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2010;88(3):183–6. PMID 20431330.
- 170. Benavides DR, Newsome SD. Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors may exacerbate stiff-person syndrome. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3(5):e281. PMID:27606356.
- 171. Uehara T, Murai H, Yamasaki R, Kikuchi H, Shigeto H, Ohyagi Y, Kira J. Thymomaassociated progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus successfully treated with thymectomy and intravenous immunoglobulin. Eur Neurol. 2011;66(6):328–30.
- 172. Clerinx K, Breban T, Schrooten M, Leite MI, Vincent A, Verschakelen J, Tousseyn T, Vandenberghe W. Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus: resolution after thymectomy. Neurology. 2011;76(3):303–4. PMID: 21242500.
- 173. Cassavaugh JM, Oravitz TM. Multiple anesthetics for a patient with stiff-person syndrome. J Clin Anesth. 2016;31:197–9. PMID: 27185709
- 174. Elkassabany N, Tetzlaff JE, Argalious M. Anesthetic management of a patient with stiff person syndrome. J Clin Anesth. 2006;18(3):218–20.
- 175. Yagan O, Özyilmaz K, Özmaden A, Sayin Ö, Hanci V. Anesthesia in a patient with Stiff Person Syndrome. Braz J Anesthesiol. 2016;66(5):543–5.
- 176. Marín T, Hernando D, Kinast N, Churruca I, Sabate S. Anaesthetic management of Stiff Man syndrome. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. 2015;62(4):222–7.
- 177. Goldkamp J, Blaskiewicz R, Myles T. Stiff person syndrome and pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;118(2 Pt 2):454–7. PMID 21768852.
- 178. Cerimagic D, Bilic E. Stiff-person syndrome first manifesting in pregnancy. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2009;67(2):134–6.
- 179. Weatherby SJM, Woolner P, Clarke CE. Pregnancy in stiff-limb syndrome. Mov Disord. 2004;19(7):852-4.
- Nemni R, Caniatti LM, Gironi M, Bazzigaluppi E, De Grandis D. Stiff person syndrome does not always occur with maternal passive transfer of GAD65 antibodies. Neurology. 2004;62:2101–2. PMID 15184624.
- Gerschlager WA, Schrag A, Brown P. Quality of life in stiff-person syndrome. Mov Disord. 2002;17(5):1064–7. PMID 12360560.
Central Nervous System Vasculitis and Related Diseases



Hiroshi Mitoma, Mario Manto, and Jordi Gandini

Abstract Central nervous system (CNS) vasculitis can be classified into (1) primary vasculitis limited to the CNS and (2) secondary CNS vasculitis which is either a manifestation of systemic vasculitis or a complication associated with certain specific pathologies, such as infection (viral, bacterial, fungal), neoplasm, drug, connective tissue diseases (e.g., systemic lupus erythematous, rheumatoid arthritis, Sjögren syndrome), and sarcoidosis. Isolated vasculitis limited to the CNS is known as primary angiitis of the CNS (PACNS). PACNS is associated with various clinical neurological symptoms. There is no specific test for PACNS at present, rendering the diagnosis difficult. The diagnosis is currently based on the following features: (1) exclusion of other pathologies associated with CNS vasculitis, such as infection, neoplasm, drug, and systemic disease-mediated vasculitis; (2) identification of segmental arterial wall narrowing "vessel beading," followed by poststenotic dilatation; and (3) the pathological findings of granulomatosis, lymphocytic, or acute necrotizing patterns. The first line of induction therapy is the combination of corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide, followed by maintenance therapy using mycophenolate mofetil, azathioprine, and methotrexate. Involvement of larger or proximal cerebral vessels requires aggressive treatment. The diagnosis of secondary vasculitis in the CNS implies the identification of exogenous agents or conditions. Withdrawal/removal of the agents or treatment of the underlying conditions often leads to improvements in vasculitis. Due to phenotypic overlap between the various CNS vasculitis, a comprehensive work-up is often required.

H. Mitoma (🖂)

Department of Neurosciences, University of Mons, Mons, Belgium

J. Gandini Department of Neurology, CHU-Charleroi, Charleroi, Belgium

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_21

Medical Education Promotion Center, Tokyo Medical University, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: mitoma@tokyo-med.ac.jp

M. Manto Department of Neurology, CHU-Charleroi, Charleroi, Belgium

Keywords Central nervous system vasculitis · Primary angiitis of the central nervous system · Primary central nervous vasculitis · Systemic vasculitis · Neuropsychiatric SLE · CNS sarcoidosis

Introduction

Vasculitis is defined as an inflammation of the blood vessel wall [1]. Various conditions can be complicated by the development of vasculitis in the central nervous system (CNS). Vasculitis of the CNS can be classified into (1) primary angiitis of the CNS (PACNS), in which the clinical manifestation is not associated with known etiologies, and (2) secondary vasculitis of the CNS associated with systemic vasculitis or certain etiologies, such as infection (viral, bacterial, fungal), neoplasm, drug, connective tissue diseases (systemic lupus erythematous, rheumatoid arthritis, Sjögren syndrome), and sarcoidosis (Table 1) [1–5]. Calabrese et al. (1997) defined secondary CNS vasculitis as "a result of an exogenous influence" [2]. In secondary vasculitis, removal of the specific inciting agent or control of the associated systemic disease can relieve CNS vasculitis-induced symptoms [2].

CNS vasculitis is characterized by infiltration of immune cells around the wall of the blood vessels, leading to its destruction [3–6]. The inflammatory reaction commonly elicits two opposite changes: thickening of the vessel wall with stenosis, resulting in ischemic lesions, and weakness of the vessel wall, causing dilatation

Table 1 Classification of CNS vasculitis

and rupture [6]. These inflammatory, ischemic, and hemorrhagic lesions result in focal CNS symptoms or meningeal signs, depending on the lesion site, extension, and time course of inflammation. Therefore, although various etiologies can induce CNS vasculitis, there is usually an overlap in the clinical manifestations and imaging findings. The aim of this chapter is to review specific clinical manifestations and describe the therapeutic strategies in each etiology from the overlapping features. Behçet's syndrome is discussed in Chap. 22 by Uygunoglu and Askel, and Sjögren syndrome is discussed in Chap. 23 by Annunziata.

Primary Angiitis of the Central Nervous System (PACNS)

In 1922, Harbitz described isolated vasculitis limited to the CNS as an unknown form of angiitis in the CNS [7]. The term granulomatous angiitis of the CNS was used earlier, based on the histopathological findings [2]. More recently, the terminology of PACNS [8] or primary central nervous vasculitis (PCNV) [9] has been applied. There is a consensus on the terms PACNS and PCNV, since both reflect the predominant site of pathology, and this terminology is not limited by histopathological features [2].

PACNS is a rare disease. However, since the publication of the diagnostic criteria of PACNS proposed by Calabrese and Mallek (1988) [10], several reports have been published. Especially, Salvarani et al. reported details of the clinical and pathological features based on the management of 101 patients at the Mayo Clinic [9]. Although PACNS is associated with CSF inflammatory changes, MRI abnormalities, and segmental arterial wall narrowing, these features are not specific, and there is a lack of specific autoimmune markers [9, 11–13]. Thus, to differentiate PANCS from secondary CNS angiitis, a careful work-up is necessary. The identification of multiple clinical and pathological subtypes is suggestive of a PACNS spectrum [3].

Clinical Manifestations

Typical clinical features Patients show variable and multiple clinical manifestations. PACNS equally affects males and females of all ages, with the onset of the disease typically in the late 40s [12, 13]. The excellent review by Salvarani et al. (2007) highlighted the presence of the following common clinical features: head-ache (63%), altered cognition (50%), hemiparesis (44%),visual symptoms (42%; visual field defect in 21%), aphasia (28%), nausea and vomiting (25%), ataxia (19%), seizures (16%), diplopia (16%), dysarthria (15%), and blurred vision or decreased visual acuity (11%) [9]. These features develop insidiously and show a slow and progressive course, although hyperacute onset also occurs in some patients [14]. Stroke and transient attacks are common, affecting 30–50% of the patients [2, 9]. Status epilepticus as the presenting manifestation has been reported [15].

Constitutional symptoms, such as weight loss and night sweat, are less commonly observed in PACNS [11]. Instead, these symptoms are suggestive of underlying systemic vasculitides [11].

Heterogeneous nature PACNS is a variable syndrome that appears to consist of several subsets of heterogeneous diseases [9]. Notably, the response to immuno-therapy differs among these subtypes, confirming the heterogeneous nature of auto-immunity in PACNS. Table 2 shows the major differences in autoimmunity among the subtypes.

Epidemiology

Salvarani et al. (2007) reported that the incidence of PACNS was 2.4 cases per 1,000,000 person-years [9].

Subtype	Clinical/para-clinical features	Therapeutic response
Angiography negative, biopsy positive	Cognitive impairment Greater CSF inflammatory abnormalities Angiography: Negative Meningeal and parenchymal enhancing lesions on MRI Histopathology: Granulomatous lesions	Good
Meningeal enhancement in MRI	Predominantly males Cognitive impairment Prominent leptomeningeal enhancement Angiography: Negative Histopathology: Granulomatous lesions	
Intracranial or subarachnoid hemorrhage	Predominantly female Intracranial or subarachnoid hemorrhage on MRI Histopathology: Necrotizing features	
Amyloid-β-related cerebral angiitis	Older age, predominantly males Cognitive impairment Enhanced meningeal lesions on MRI Pathology: Granulomatous lesions with β-amyloid deposition in vessel walls	Usual
Spinal cord involvement	Spinal cord symptoms associated with cerebral manifestations Enhanced spinal cord on MRI Angiography negative Histopathology: Necrotizing features	
Rapidly progressive	Rapidly progressive clinical course Bilateral, multiple infarctions on MRI and multiple vessel lesions on angiogram	Poor, often fatal outcome

Table 2Subtypes of PACNS

Modified from Beuker et al. (2018) [4]

Pathogenesis

Pathology The characteristic pathology of PACNS is transmural inflammation with subsequent destruction of the vessel wall [16]. The inflammatory pathological pattern is granulomatous inflammation, lymphocytic cellular infiltration, and acute necrotizing vasculitis [16, 17]. The prevalence of these pathological patterns according to one review article was 56% for granulomatous inflammation, 20% for lymphocytic cellular infiltration, and 22% for acute necrotizing vasculitis [6].

Granulomatous inflammation is characterized by a vasculocentric destructive mononuclear infiltration with well-formed granulomas and multinucleated giant cells [6]. Granulomatous inflammation is sometimes associated with β -A4 amyloid deposition in the vessel walls, which is termed amyloid- β -related angiitis [18]. Interestingly, the association of granulomatous inflammation with meningeal enhancement and cerebral amyloid angiopathy has also been described [18, 19]. In lymphocytic vasculitis, lymphocytes infiltrate with variable numbers of plasma cells, histiocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils [6]. Necrotizing vasculitis shows acute inflammation and acute transmural fibrinoid necrosis of the vessel walls, both of which cause dilatation and rupture of the vessels [6].

Cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA) is sometimes associated with angiocentric inflammatory cell infiltration, which is also known as CAA-related inflammation [20]. The variability in the severity of infiltration, from little or no inflammation to marked granulomatous angiitis, is based on the extent or intensity of the inflammatory reactions to amyloid β [20]. Thus, amyloid β -related angiitis is indistinguishable from CAA-related inflammation [21].

Immunology Although an immune-mediated pathogenesis has been proposed [4], the underlying mechanism remains uncertain. The predominant infiltration of CD45R0+ T cells around the vessel wall [22] suggests the involvement of memory T cells in the process of antigen-specific autoimmunity in the wall of arteries [4]. Molecular mimicry to preceding infectious agents, such as varicella-zoster virus and mycoplasma, has also been suggested [23–25].

Diagnosis

The development of PACNS is associated with the appearance of various neurological features, but so far, there is no specific diagnostic test for this condition [5]. Other etiologies can mimic the clinical manifestations, inflammatory CSF findings, and MRI abnormalities [5]. As a result, it is sometimes difficult to establish the diagnosis and provide the appropriate therapy. Limaye et al. (2018) reported that the diagnosis in their series of patients was eventually confirmed in only 39% of the suspected cases [5]. At present, the characteristic features of PACNS on angiography are commonly used for the diagnosis. However, it should be noted that even these PACNS-related angiographic findings may occur in patients with normal biopsy findings and also in other conditions [9]. Positive findings in brain biopsies are still considered the "gold standard" [4, 9]. Calabrese and Mallek (1988) proposed the following diagnostic criteria for cerebral vasculitis [10]: (1) history of acquired but otherwise unexplained neurological deficits, (2) presence of classic angiographic or histopathologic features of angiitis within the CNS, and (3) no evidence of systemic vasculitis or any other disorder that could cause or mimic the angiographic or pathologic findings. Almost 10 years later, Birnbaum et al. (2009) proposed modified diagnostic criteria [11]. They introduced two levels of diagnosis of PACNS: "definite" when the presence of vasculitis is confirmed by brain biopsy and "probable" in the presence of high probability of angiographic abnormalities together with CSF and MRI abnormal findings, in the absence of pathological confirmation [11].

Laboratory tests In the majority of patients, blood tests show normal leukocyte count and CRP level. Furthermore, serological tests are often negative for disease-specific antibodies [9]. Detection of antinuclear antibody, rheumatoid factor, or antineutrophil antibody suggests underlying autoimmune systemic vasculitis [4]. Tests for isolation of bacteria, fungi, and viruses are needed to rule out infectious-related vasculitis [4].

CSF examination CSF examination typically shows mild lymphomonocytic pleocytosis and high protein level, occasionally with the presence of oligoclonal bands and immunoglobulins (IgGs) in 80–90% of the patients [4, 9]. Furthermore, abundant presence of IL17-producing CD4+ T cells in the CSF was reported [26]. The absence of inflammatory changes instigates considerations for differential diagnosis [4].

MR imaging MRI is a highly sensitive imaging modality [4]. More than 90% of the PACNS patients show abnormalities on MRI [9, 11]. Infarction is the most common type (about 50%) [9]. Typical MRI findings are multifocal and bilateral T2 or FLAIR sequence abnormalities in the cortical and subcortical structures and in the deep gray-white matter [3, 9]. Stenosis and dilatation of multiple large and small vessels sometimes co-exist with ischemic lesions [4]. The ischemic lesions show variable patterns: a large-artery distribution, a branch-artery distribution, and a small-artery pattern showing multiple subcortical infarctions [9]. Hemorrhages occur in the subarachnoid space and intraparenchyma [2] in about 10% of the patients [9]. Gadolinium enhancement is observed in the parenchymal lesions and the leptomeninges in about 40% of the patients [9, 19].

Although these changes are not specific to PACNS [4], high-resolution contrastenhanced MRI (HR-MRI) may help establish a definite diagnosis of PACNS. HR-MRI exhibits a characteristic finding around the walls of intracranial vessels, thickening, and wall enhancement [27–29]. *Clues to suspect PACNS* Although there are no specific neurological symptoms in PACNS, the following clinical presentations should lead to suspect PACNS: (1) cerebral ischemia affecting different vascular territories with distribution over time, in association with the appearance of inflammatory changes in the CSF; (2) sub-acute or chronic headache with cognitive impairment or chronic aseptic meningitis; and (3) exclusion of post-infection chronic meningitis and neoplastic disorders in such patients [3].

Digital subtraction angiography and MR angiography A typical feature of PACNS is "vessel beading," which is characterized by multiple areas of narrowing and dilatation or multilocular occlusions of intracranial vessels [30]. Other features include fusiform arterial dilatation, collateral circulation, and delayed contrast enhancement [3]. On the other hand, imaging studies have shown lack of long stenotic segments, complete occlusion, and microaneurysms in PACNS [31]. In this regard, conventional angiography is more sensitive in detecting these changes compared with MR angiography, but noninvasive MR angiography is recommended for follow-up studies during the disease course [4]. Black-blood angio-MRI (arterial wall imaging) may be helpful for the diagnosis of vasculitis. The typical pattern is characterized by thickening and enhancement of vascular wall. A typical enhancement pattern was described for several diseases of vessel wall, so this kind of imaging may become crucial for the differential diagnosis [27, 29, 32]. The forthcoming improvements of this technique should represent an opportunity to make a noninvasive diagnosis of cerebral vasculitis.

It should be noted that the "vessel beading" feature is not specific and can be observed in various noninflammatory vasculopathies, such as arteriosclerosis, following radiation, neurofibromatosis, atrial myxoma, infections, and vasospasms [17, 33, 34]. Furthermore, such inflammatory changes are invisible on standard angiography, especially in small arteries of <500 μ m diameter [35]. The false-positive and false-negative nature of angiography highlights the need for a comprehensive assessment of both the CSF and MRI findings in addition to confirmation with brain biopsy [9, 12, 36].

Nuclear medicine Positron emission tomography with [11C]-PK11195 can detect vascular inflammation in patients with an important cerebral vasculitis. This technique should be utilized in patients with inconclusive imaging results [37].

Brain biopsy Brain biopsy and histopathological examination are the gold standard procedures for a definite diagnosis of PACNS. Typical findings include transmural inflammation and injury of the vessel wall [16]. The inflammatory changes encompass granulomatous inflammation, lymphocytic cellular infiltration, and acute necrotizing vasculitis [16, 17].

Due to the segmental distribution of vascular inflammation, the false-negative rate in brain biopsy is 53–74% [38, 39]. Thus, targeting the affected area based on imaging findings is recommended, in order to increase the chance of sampling from

the affected area and reduce the false-negative rate [38]. However, a definite pathological evidence cannot be made in some cases even in patients with CSF abnormalities and positive MRI and angiography findings [9]. Several groups have recommended to obtain biopsies from the nondominant frontal lobe with overlapping leptomeninges especially in cases where abnormal lesions are difficult to access surgically [21, 40].

Differential Diagnosis

RCVS The imaging findings in reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome (RCVS) are similar to those of PACNS, including infarction and hemorrhage on MRI and multifocal segmental vasoconstriction on angiography [41–43]. However, RCVS is known to affect 40–50-year-old females more frequently [41–43], and the symptoms include sudden and recurrent attacks of severe headache (usually thunderclap) coupled with seizures associated with or without neurological deficits [41– 43]. The attack is sometimes triggered by exposure to vasoactive medications, migraine, hypertension, and eclampsia or during the postpartum period [41, 43]. CSF examination in RCVS is mostly negative [3]. On MRI, cerebral infarctions exhibit characteristic distribution: in the superficial border zone, watershed regions, associated with cortical subarachnoid hemorrhage and lobar intracerebral hemorrhage [44]. The vasoconstriction also shows the following specific features: (1) it is rarely associated with normal parenchymal imaging in PACNS, whereas severe vasoconstriction can occur with or without parenchymal lesions in RCVS [3], (2) dissection or intact unruptured aneurysms are more frequently seen in RCVS than in PACNS [44], (3) RCVS shows short stenosis without or with only moderate wall thickening (these vessel wall changes are well observed in black-blood MRI) [45, 46], and (4) vasoconstriction often shows partial or even complete improvement after 12-week follow-up [43]. Since treatment with corticosteroids could worsen RCVS, it is important to distinguish RCVS from PACNS before treatment [4].

PRES Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES), first described by Hinchey et al. in 1996 [47], is a neurotoxic syndrome occurring due to the susceptibility of the posterior circulation to variations in blood pressure. It is classically characterized by a symmetric parieto-occipital white matter edema. Clinical features of PRES range from headache, altered mental status, seizures, and loss of vision to even loss of consciousness. The term describes potentially reversible imaging findings and symptomatology that is shared by a diverse group of diseases, such as hypertension, glomerulonephritis, eclampsia, preeclampsia, and drug intoxication.

The pathogenesis of PRES is unknown. Several authors postulate a vascular mechanism: a severe hypertension leads to failed autoregulation and endothelial vasogenic edema or vasoconstriction. This causes brain ischemia and subsequent

vasogenic edema. Cytotoxic agents can cause PRES in a normotensive environment. In this case, the disruption of brain-blood barrier is suspected to be a major pathogenic factor [48]. The most commonly described MRI abnormalities in PRES consist of symmetrical cortical and subcortical hyperintense signals on T2 and FLAIR-weighted MR images in the parieto-occipital lobes of both hemispheres. These areas are frequently hypointense on corresponding T1-weighted MR images and have a decreased attenuation on CT scans. Similar areas of altered signal intensity can also be seen in other locations such as the frontal lobes, cerebellum, brainstem, and basal ganglia [49]. The central variant of PRES with an isolated involvement of the basal ganglia and brainstem sparing the subcortical white matter was found in 4% of cases in the study by McKinney et al. There may be a mild mass effect with sulcal effacement and mild contrast-enhancement in some cases.

A rapid withdrawal of the triggers factors can induce a complete recovery and avoid further complications. Aggressive blood pressure management, withdrawal of immunosuppressive treatments, and delivery (in case of eclampsia) can rapidly improve the clinical status [50].

Arteriosclerosis Arteriosclerosis is associated with multiple infarctions and "beading vessel" appearance, similar to PACNS [3, 4]. However, arteriosclerosis more commonly affects older people with various risk factors, such as diabetes mellitus and hypertension, and shows no inflammatory changes on CSF examination. The infarction is specifically limited to a single vascular territory, and imaging studies show focal artery stenosis with calcification and irregularity [3, 4].

CADASIL Cerebral autosomal-dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy (CADASIL) is an autosomal-dominant disease characterized by the development of infarction in early adulthood [51]. Thus, the clinical course of CADASIL overlaps with that of PACNS [3, 4, 51]. Affected patients also present with headache, migraine, psychiatric and cognitive disturbances, and motor disorders in early adulthood, which are induced by infarctions. However, history of strokes or dementia is specifically found in first-degree relatives of patients with CADASIL, and the infarctions are found bilaterally in the external capsule and anterior temporal lobe [3, 4, 51]. Definite diagnosis of CADASIL is established by histopathological identification of deposits of granular osmiophilic material on skin blood vessels and mutations in *notch 3* on genome examination [51].

Fabry disease Fabry disease (FD) is a multiorgan X-linked lysosomal storage disorder caused by mutation in the GLA gene, which encodes for the α -galactosidase A (α -GalA) enzyme [52–55]. Defective enzymatic activity leads to intracellular accumulation of glycosphingolipids, mainly globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) [56]. In brain tissue, Gb3 storage primary occurs in endothelium and vascular smooth muscle cells [57], but it is also responsible for glial deposition and neuronal ballooning in cortical regions and deep nuclei [58–60]. CNS symptoms can vary from very mild to severe, including manifestations related to acute cerebrovascular events and posterior circulation alterations, along with neuropathic pain, cochleovestibular

dysfunction, and a various degree of cognitive impairment and psychiatric symptoms [61]. The involvement of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) is mainly expressed by neuropathic pain [62, 63]. In addition, patients undergo a large spectrum of extraneurological signs: cardiomyopathy, progressive renal failure, and skin changes (in particular angiokeratomas) [62–64]. MRI is the reference imaging technique to evaluate possible brain damage in FD. Modern conventional MRI allows for a proper and accurate estimation of the pattern and the degree of brain alterations in patients with or without a clinical evidence of focal neurological impairment.

The radiological pattern is characterized by four pathological findings:

- Ischemic stroke [61]
- White matter hyperintensities [65]
- Dilatative arteriopathy of the vertebrobasilar system [66]
- Unilateral or bilateral hyperintensities of the thalamic pulvinar on unenhanced T1-weigthed MRI [67]

The definitive diagnosis is established through the dosage of the enzymatic activity of alpha-galactosidase [68]. Enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) is available since 2001 for FD and is the only therapeutic option till present [64, 69, 70].

MELAS MELAS syndrome is a rare inherited disorder of intracellular energy production that typically presents prior to age 40. Eighty percent of cases are associated with the mitochondrial transfer RNA A3243G point mutation [71, 72]. As with other mitochondrial disorders, MELAS syndrome displays maternal inheritance with relative penetrance based on the degree of heteroplasmy. Thus, phenotype expression and severity of disease are related to the proportion of mutant DNA and residual activity of respiratory chain complexes in mitochondria within each cell. The disease activity, penetrance, and severity can be correlated to clinical presentation and characteristic imaging findings [73, 74].

MRI is the gold standard for diagnosis and monitoring. MRI reveals global changes in gray-white differentiation, multifocal cortical and subcortical lesions that cross vascular territories, and varying degrees of generalized cerebral and cerebellar atrophy. Encephalomalacia may also be present in previously affected areas. Diffusion-weighted MRI shows a cortical ribbon-like high-intensity signal consistent with diffusion restriction. During attacks, restricted diffusion may be present in the cortex, subcortical white matter, and basal ganglia.

Advanced MRI sequences aid in the diagnosis of MELAS syndrome and provide additional insight into the mechanism of disease. Multivoxel MRS demonstrates a lactate peak in acutely abnormal brain regions associated with oxygen deficiency of cells in affected cortical areas. Several studies describe the potential value of nonanatomic MRI techniques—such as contrast-enhanced perfusion studies, blood-oxygen-level-dependent imaging, oxygen extraction fraction, arterial spin labeling, and MRS—in identifying metabolic changes within lesion foci in the acute setting [75–78].

Intravascular lymphoma (IVL) IVL is a subtype of extranodal diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, characterized by intravascular proliferation of lymphoma cells with a predilection for the CNS and skin. IVL is an important differential diagnosis of primary vasculitis of central nervous system (CNS) [79].

Treatment

Large-scale prospective and randomized clinical trials are still lacking probably due to the small number of patients diagnosed with PACNS. Thus, current treatment recommendations are based on retrospective studies, small series, or case reports. Table 3 lists the main side effects of drugs. Immunosuppressive agents increase the risk of infectious disease and malignancy.

Induction therapy There are two options with regard to the initial induction therapy. In the first option, corticosteroids are used initially. Steroids should be switched to cyclophosphamide if the patient shows resistance to glucocorticoid therapy or develops a relapse [5]. The second option is a combination therapy of corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide [4]. In a retrospective cohort study, Salvarani et al. reported the therapeutic benefits of the combination therapy with corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide compared with corticosteroids in monotherapy [13]. In addition, a multicenter cohort study showed that the combination therapy significantly improved daily life disabilities in most patients [80]. Thus, the combination therapy of corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide is recommended, especially in patients with severe and rapidly progressive symptoms [4]. The commonly used dosage regimen is either as oral prednisolone at 1 mg/kg body weight/day or as intravenous methylprednisolone at 1000 mg daily for 3–5 days [4]. Although the

Treatment	Therapeutic effects	Side effects
Glucocorticoids	T-cell depletion, eosinophil apoptosis, macrophage dysfunction	Cushingoid syndrome, obesity, osteoporosis, dyslipidemia, hyperglycemia, cutaneous atrophy, glaucoma, cataract, gastric ulcer
Cyclophosphamide	DNA impairment and proapoptotic effect	Bladder toxicity, gonadal toxicity, malignancy, leukopenia, pulmonary toxicity
Azathioprine	Interference with de novo purine synthesis	Bone marrow suppression, gastrointestinal intolerance, hepatotoxicity, nausea, lethargy, indigestion, asthma worsening, malignancy
Mycophenolate mofetil	Inhibition of guanine synthesis	Bone marrow suppression, gastrointestinal intolerance, malignancy, teratogenicity
Methotrexate	Interference with metabolism of folic acid	Renal dysfunction, myelosuppression, mucositis, hepatotoxicity
Rituximab	B-cell depletion	Fever, pruritus, nausea, urticaria/angioedema bronchospasm, hypotension, arrhythmias, lymphopenia

 Table 3
 Side effects of immunosuppressive drugs

latter scheme has been used in cases showing rapidly progressive clinical course, evidence is lacking for any advantage at present. The cyclophosphamide dosage used in the corticosteroid-cyclophosphamide combination therapy is either as an oral dose of 2 mg/kg body weight/day for 3–6 months or as intravenous pulse of 750 mg/m² body surface area/month for 6 months. However, relapse has been reported in a few patients [4]. Salvarani et al. (2007) also described relapses in 26 of their 101 patients [9].

Several other reports also highlighted the therapeutic benefits of methotrexate, azathioprine, and mycophenolate [5]. Recent studies have also shown that biological agents (rituximab and tumor necrosis factor- α blockers) have equal therapeutic benefits to induce remission when used with the corticosteroid-cyclophosphamide combination therapy [81–83]. The combination regimen of rituximab and cyclophosphamide was also recommended recently [4]. However, large-scale studies are needed to assess the therapeutic benefits of biological agents.

Maintenance therapy The aim of maintenance therapy is to maintain remission and to avoid disease worsening and relapses. Disease-modifying therapies include mycophenolate mofetil (1–2 g/day), azathioprine (1–2 mg/kg body weight/day), and methotrexate (20–25 mg/week) [5]. One cohort study of 14 children with PNSCA showed that maintenance therapy of mycophenolate mofetil was associated with less adverse events compared with azathioprine [84]. Maintenance therapy is usually administrated for 6–12 months based on the response to immunotherapies [5]. However, there are no convincing data on the effectiveness of this form of therapy at present. Careful clinical observations and periodic MR imaging and CSF examinations (every 3–4 months during maintenance therapy) are recommended for the assessment of autoimmunity [5].

Prognostic Factors

Old age, large and extensive infarctions, presence of cognitive symptoms, and involvement of large or proximal cerebral vessels are associated with a high mortality rate in PNSCA [9, 13]. Meningeal gadolinium enhancements on MRI and seizures are associated with increased risk of relapse [13]. Patients with these poor prognostic factors require a more aggressive treatment [12].

Systemic Vasculitis

Systemic vasculitis is classified based on the affected blood vessels into large-vessel vasculitis, medium-vessel vasculitis, and small-vessel vasculitis [1]. Depending on the affected vessels, each type is associated with specific CNS involvement. Constitutional symptoms and other organ involvements can provide clues for diagnosis (Table 4).

Affected vessels	Disease	Neurological manifestations	Specific other organ involvement	Autoimmune markers	
Large arteries	Takayasu vasculitis	Headache, confusion, cognitive impairment, stroke, meningitis, seizure	Affecting before 50 years; hypertension, cardiovascular (aneurysm)	No specific autoantibodies	
	Giant cell vasculitis	Headache, blindness	Affecting older than 50 years	No specific autoantibodies	
Medium- to-small arteries	Polyarteritis nodosa	Mostly subclinical	Hypertension, multisystemic, especially the skin (tender, erythematous nodules, purpura, ulcer) and mononeuritis multiplex	No specific autoantibodies	
Small-to-	ANCA-associated vasculitis				
medium vessels	Microscopic polyangiitis	Ischemic infarction and intracranial hemorrhage, hypertrophy of leptomeninges, inflammation of the pituitary, spinal cord involvement	(rapidly) glomerulonephritis, pulmonary hemorrhage/ interstitial pneumonia, mononeuritis multiplex, skin; leukocytoclastic angiitis	MPO-ANCA	
	Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis		Asthma, mononeuritis multiplex, skin; leukocytoclastic angiitis	MPO-ANCA, eosinophilia and high IgE	
	Granulomatosis with polyangiitis		Chronic sinusitis, otitis media and mastoiditis. Lung nodulus, (rapidly) glomerulonephritis, mononeuritis multiplex, skin; leukocytoclastic angiitis	PR3-ANCA	

Table 4Systemic vasculitis

Takayasu Arteritis

Takayasu arteritis (TA) is characterized by granulomatous lesions in the aorta and/ or its major branches [1]. Cell-mediated autoimmunity, CD8+ T cells, and autoantibodies, such as anti-endothelial antibodies, are assumed to be involved in the autoimmune inflammation.

About 20% of patients with TA show CNS involvement at disease onset [85]. The most common neurological symptoms are severe headache, confusion, cognitive impairments, stroke, meningitis, and seizure [85]. Aggressive treatment is recommended to ensure satisfactory outcome [85] and includes the combination of corticosteroids/methotrexate/cyclophosphamide followed by the combination of corticosteroids/methotrexate/tocilizumab [85].

Giant Cell Arteritis

Giant cell arteritis (GCA) affects large vessels, the aorta, and/or its major branches [1]. Histopathologically, GCA is characterized by infiltration of giant cells, lymphocytes, and macrophages, often forming granulomatous lesions. A decrease in blood flow induced by inflammation of the ophthalmic artery can induce ischemic anterior optic neuropathy leading to monocular blindness. Headache is a common symptom. Corticosteroids are used for the treatment of GCA [86].

Polyarteritis Nodosa

Polyarteritis nodosa (PAN) is a necrotizing vasculitis of medium or small arteries [1]. PAN is not associated with glomerulonephritis or antineutrophilic cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA) [1]. The presence of defective Treg and predominance of Th1 suggest the involvement of cell-mediated autoimmunity [87].

Although clinically evident CNS involvement is rare, the presence of small infarcts and hemorrhagic lesions has been reported in 2–28% of the cases [88]. Corticosteroids represent a first line of therapy, although the combination of corticosteroids and immunosuppressants has been used in cases with critical organ involvement [88].

ANCA-Associated Vasculitis

ANCA-associated vasculitis (AAV) is a systemic small-vessel vasculitis [1] and is divided into three subtypes: microscopic polyangiitis (MPA), eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (EGPA), and granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA). Two histopathological features characterize AAV: (1) necrotizing vasculitis affecting small-to-medium vessels and (2) granulomatosis with inflammatory cell infiltration [89, 90]. ANCA plays a pathogenic role in the development of angiitis [89] (Fig. 1). ANCA, which is produced following molecular mimicry to bacteria, binds to antigens—PR3 (proteinase 3) and MPO (myeloperoxidase)—on the neutrophils. This binding results in the activation of neutrophils, leading to their transmigration to the vessel wall, degranulation, and formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) followed by their apoptosis and necrosis [89, 90]. NETs are further augmented through the complement pathways. Monocytes are also recruited at sites of acute inflammation [90].

CNS involvement is observed in less than 15% of patients with AAV. Typical CNS involvements are ischemic infarction and intracranial hemorrhage, hypertrophy of leptomeninges, inflammation of the pituitary (with hypophyseal hypofunction), and spinal cord involvement [90]. MPO-ANCA is positive in MPA and EGPA, and PR3-ANCA is positive in MPA. The combination of corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide is the first line of therapy [91].



Fig. 1 Possible mechanisms underlying ANCA-associated vasculitis

Neuropsychiatric SLE (NPSLE)

Lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic relapsing-remitting autoimmune disease [92]. Systemic inflammation elicits injury of various organs, including the skin, kidneys, heart, lungs, and nervous system. SLE with involvement of the latter is termed neuropsychiatric SLE (NPSLE) [92, 93]. Diverse and specific autoimmune mechanisms underlying NPSLE have been clarified recently. Antiphospholipids autoantibodies, which are generated through systematic autoimmunity, elicit a hypercoagulable state, which in turn could lead to thrombosis in the CNS. On the other hand, peripheral lymphocytes infiltrate the blood-CSF and blood-brain barriers where they secrete various proinflammatory cytokines, which trigger inflammation within the CNS. The recruitment of other immune cells and parenchymal infiltration accelerate the inflammatory process, leading to pathogenic autoantibodies- and microglia-mediated degeneration and demyelination. These inflammationrelated processes are sometimes enhanced by the leakage of complements from the systemic circulation, leading to worsening of tissue damage. It is considered that vasculitis, which is characterized by focal narrowing and beading, is a rare cause for focal and diffuse symptoms in NPSLE [92, 93].

Clinical Manifestations

Various neuropsychiatric clinical features (NPs) appear during the course of this chronic disease. The first described feature was coma in 1875 [94]. In 1979, Kassan and Lokshin proposed the classification criteria for these divergent NPs [95]. In their classification, they stressed the need to include "a change from a prior state" as NP [95]. Thus, the secondary clinical features elicited by the associated infections and therapy-related events were excluded. They defined eight manifestations for NPs,

CNS		
Focal manifestations	Diffuse manifestations	PNS
Cerebrovascular disease	Depression	Cranial neuropathy
Seizures	Cognitive dysfunction	Autonomic neuropathy
Aseptic meningitis	Mood and anxiety disorders	Mononeuropathy (single/multiplex)
Movement disorders	Psychosis	Polyneuropathy
Myelopathy	Acute confusional state	Plexopathy
Demyelinating syndrome	Headaches	Myasthenia gravis
		Acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy

 Table 5
 American College of Rheumatology case classification of neuropsychiatric manifestations

 in the central nervous system (CNS) and peripheral nervous system (PNS)

which include seizure, disturbance of consciousness, disturbance of mental function, neuropathy, motor disorders, movement disorders, meningitis, and encephalitis [95].

In 1999, the American College of Rheumatology (ACR ad hoc committee) recognized 19 wide-range NPs [96] (Table 5). NPs are classified into three categories: CNS focal, CNS diffuse, and peripheral nervous system (PNS) manifestations [96]. In this classification, the CNS focal manifestations can be attributed to responsible anatomic structures, while the responsible structures are difficult to identify in the CNS diffuse manifestations [92].

The reported prevalence of NPs manifestations ranges from 12 to 95% of SLE patients [93], and the reported prevalence of each clinical feature is as follows: (1) cognitive impairment (6.6–80%), mood disorders (7.4–65%), anxiety disorders (6.4–40%), headache (12.2–28%), psychosis (0.6–11%), and acute confusion state (0.9–7%) for the CNS diffuse manifestations; (2) seizures (7–20%), cerebrovascular diseases (8–15%), demyelinating syndrome (0.9–2.7%), aseptic meningitis (0.3–2.7%), and movement disorders (0.9%) for the CNS focal manifestations; and (3) mononeuropathy (single or multiple) (0.9–6.9%) and polyneuropathy (1.5–5.4%) for the PNS manifestations [93]. Clinical evidence suggest that the severity of NPs correlates with the SLE morality rate [97]. The wide variability in the prevalence of clinical manifestations according to the 1999 ACR nomenclature probably reflects differences in the patients' selection criteria and the lack of consensus in the definition of impairment and selection of cognitive tests [92, 94].

Pathogenesis

Systemic autoimmune inflammation Antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL Abs) include lupus coagulant, anticardiolipin Abs, and anti- β 2-glycoprotein I [93]. aPL Abs are associated with antiphospholipid syndrome (APS), which is characterized

by thrombosis of the venous and arterial circulation [93]. APS is associated with SLE (10–44% of SLE patients), although it can occur in isolation [98]. The risk of stroke in less than 50 years of age is eightfold higher in aPL Abs-positive individuals than in aPL Abs-negative individuals [99]. Among SLE patients, those who are positive for aPL Abs are twice more likely to develop NPSLE as aPL Abs-negative patients [100]. Thus, stroke-related NPs are attributed to aPL Abs-induced infarcts.

Leakage or peripheral lymphocytes infiltration The brain is a privileged immune site due to the presence of tightly regulated blood-brain barrier (BBB), blood-CSF barrier (choroid plexus), and meningeal barrier (Fig. 2) [92, 93]. However, the functions of these barriers are impaired in NPSLE [92, 93].

Two mechanisms have been assumed. The first encompasses leakage through the above barriers [93]. For example, the presence of serum albumin within the CNS suggests serum leakage into the brain parenchyma [101]. Leakage may be due, at least in part, to mechanical disruption caused by cerebrovascular diseases



Fig. 2 Structure of blood-brain barrier

[102–106]. It has been assumed that increased permeability of these barriers allows the entry of pathogenic serum-derived autoantibodies into the parenchyma [93].

The second mechanism is inflammatory cell infiltration through these barriers [92, 93]. Direct evidence for peripheral lymphocyte infiltration through the choroid plexus into the CNS was demonstrated in MRL/lpr mice [107]. Furthermore, CD3+ T cells, including effecter CD4+ cells and inactive CD8+ cells, have been identified in many brain areas [108–110]. Differentiation of CD4+ cells into T follicular helper cells (Tfh) was also confirmed [110]. These studies suggest that CD4+ cells increase the production/release of proinflammatory cytokines upon the detection of brain-derived self-antigens, which facilitates the recruitment of other immune cells and parenchymal infiltration [111]. Consistent with this notion, deletion of CD4+ T cells attenuates CNS manifestations in mice [112].

Specific proinflammatory cytokines Clinical studies have confirmed the presence of proinflammatory cytokines secreted by infiltrating lymphocytes through the analysis of CSF samples obtained from NPSLE patients [92, 93]. For example, high intrathecal levels of IL-6, which is linked to diffuse NPSLE, have been found in NPSLE patients with acute confusion and psychosis [113–115]. IL-6 stimulates B cells to produce autoantibodies and promotes differentiation of Th17 cells [93].

On the other hand, IFN- α is implicated in NPSLE, similar to its role in SLE [116, 117]. High levels of IFN- α were found in NPSLE patients with depression, psychotic features, confusion, seizures, and neurological defects [116, 117]. In vitro studies have also shown that antibodies harvested from CSF of SLE patients induced IFN- α production [118]. Furthermore, inhibition of IFN- α resulted in improvement of psychiatric abnormalities in mice [119]. In SLE, IFN- α secreted by plasmacytoid dendritic cells stimulates B-cell proliferation and facilitates the development of memory CD8+ cells and Th17 cells, and tissue damage accelerates its production in a positive feedback fashion [120].

High levels of IL-8 and IFN- γ also correlate with the development of NPSLE [121–123]. IL-8, which is secreted by activated endothelial cells, chemoattracts neutrophils and IFN- γ , which are secreted by Th1 cells, and activates microglia [93].

Pathogenic actions of autoantibodies Various autoantibodies (Abs) have been identified in NPSLE. The pathogenic roles of anti-NMDA Abs, antiribosomal P Abs, and anti-aquaporin 4 Abs have so far been confirmed both in in vitro and in vivo preparations.

Anti-double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) Ab is characteristic for SLE. A subset of anti-dsDNA Abs cross-reacts with NR2A and NR2B subunits of NMDA receptors (NMDARs) [124, 125]. The binding of these antibodies to NMDARs induces exaggerated calcium entry, which leads to excitotoxicity and, finally, cell death [124, 125]. The CSF titer of anti-NMDAR Abs is higher in patients with active diffuse NPSLE than those with focal NPSLE or noninflammatory CNS patients [126, 127]. After experimental disruption of BBB in BALA/c mice, administration of sera containing anti-NMDAR Abs obtained from SLE patients or immunization with the NMDAR-derived DWEYS pentapeptide elicited NPSLE-like symptoms [128, 129].

Antiribosomal P protein Abs are found in up to 46% of SLE patients [130], and high titers of these Abs are associated with depression, seizure, coma, traverse myelopathy, and aseptic meningitis [131, 132]. The antigens are represented by the carboxy-terminal regions of three ribosomal P proteins (P1, P2, P0) [133]. Antiribosomal P protein Abs cross-react with the P peptide on the neuronal surface P protein (NSPA) [134]. NPSA is ubiquitin ligase that regulates NMDARs and synaptic transmission/plasticity [134]. Passive transfer of antiribosomal P protein Abs elicited depression and memory impairment in mice [135]. Consistent with these results, immunoreactivities were observed in the limbic system, hippocampus, cingulate cortex, and piriform cortex, which are brain areas involved in these affective and cognitive functions [132].

Aquaporin 4 is a water channel expressed on astrocyte foot processes that surround brain-blood vessels [136]. In neuromyelitis optica (NMO), the binding of these Abs to aquaporin 4 activates both the complement and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), leading to inflammation and demyelination [136–138]. In this regard, there is an overlap between NMO and SLE [139]. One study reported that demyelination was observed in 27% of the patients [139]. However, it should be acknowledged that some patients with anti-aquaporin 4 Abs-positive SLE showed no neurological symptoms, including NMO, for many years [140].

Association of anti-endothelial Abs, anti-microtubule-associated protein 2, and anti-suprabasin antibodies has been identified [141–144]. However, these autoantibodies have not yet been thoroughly characterized.

Complement activities Local activation of the complement cascade within the CNS has been reported in some patients [145]. High levels of C3 of systemic origin have been found in patients with acute confusion [115, 150]. The presumed mechanisms responsible for the high levels of complements include intrathecal production and leakage from systemic circulation [93].

Microglia-mediated autoimmunity In NPSLE, it is assumed that resident microglias, which are activated by type I interferons, are the predominant immune cells, acting as potent cytokine producers [93]. Consistently, suppression of microglial activation attenuated NPSLE-like symptoms in MRL/lpr mice [119, 146, 147]. Microglia are also involved in synaptic pruning [92, 93]. Thus, the binding of anti-neuronal Abs (e.g., anti-NMDAR Abs) is recognized by the complement factor C1q, leading to the production of C3b, and C3b expressed on the dendrite is recognized by IFN- α -activated microglia, which results in the elimination of the synaptic spines [92].

Diagnosis

CSF studies CSF studies often show normal cell count and protein levels in many patients [148]. However, inflammatory changes are sometimes observed in CSF. Identification of high IgG ratio and oligoclonal bands helps in the suspicion of NPSLE [148].

MRI It should be acknowledged that about half of the patients with NPSLE have normal MRI, especially those with diffuse syndromes, such as headache, mood disorders, and psychiatric disease [149, 150]. The other half of the patients show four types of MRI abnormalities, vascular abnormalities affecting large and small blood vessels, inflammatory-type lesions, and myelopathy [149].

Large-vessel disease elicits large infarct with vascular territory distribution, involving both gray and white matters [149]. Large-vessel infarcts, which elicit stroke, occur in 13–15% of patients aged 35–40 years [151]. The middle cerebral artery is the most commonly affected [149]. Infarction is not common as the initial event in SLE. However, there have been accumulating case reports of this type of manifestation, suggesting that infarction as the initial event can occur in young females (age, 31.7 ± 8.5 years), especially in the vertebrobasilar territory [152]. Since infarction in NPSLE requires the combination of immunotherapy and anticoagulation for early secondary stroke prevention, clinicians should suspect the occurrence of infarction in the vertebrobasilar territory in young females as potentially the initial manifestation of SLE [152].

Small-vessel disease encompasses lacunar stroke, recent small subcortical infarcts, microbleeds, and brain atrophy [149]. White matter hyperintensity is the most widespread type of small-vessel disease in NPSLE [149]. The two most frequent MRI abnormalities in NPSLE are multiple small-vessel lesions (30–75%) and cortical atrophy (15–20%) [151, 153, 154]. Notably, white matter hyperintensities correlate with not only cerebrovascular disease but also cognitive impairment and seizures [151].

NPSLE shows other types of stroke phenotypes on MRI, including transient cerebral ischemia, infarction, intraparenchymal hemorrhage, subarachnoid hemorrhage, and cerebral venous thrombosis [152]. These stroke types are generally attributed to thromboembolic occlusion induced by SLE-related hypercoagulable state, which correlate with high titers of autoantibodies to phospholipids [155].

Less frequently, the MRI finding in some NPSE patients is inflammatory-type lesions [92, 149]. The reported prevalence of these types of lesions is 5–10% of the patients [156]. The inflammatory-type of lesion exhibits the following specific features on MRI: hyperintensity in T2 and FLAIR, medium- or large-sized, involving the gray and white matters, with some showing contrast enhancement or diffusion restriction, without vascular territory distribution, nor clinical features of clinical and radiological features of infarction [149]. Notably, the presence of these lesions correlates with low complement levels and reversibly relieved by immunotherapy using corticosteroids [149]. These results suggest that the inflammatory-type of lesion is probably caused by inflammation-induced injury, which include disruption of the BBB, high titers of pathogenic autoantibodies, activation of the complement system, and the induction of proinflammatory cytokines [92].

Myelopathy occurs in 1-5% of the patients and is a severe condition known to elicit paralysis, sensory loss, and sphincter dysfunction [149, 157]. In half of the patients with myelopathy, myelopathy appears within 5 years of diagnosis with SLE [158]. SLE myelopathy is transverse myelopathy across one level of the spinal cord,

rather than longitudinal myelopathy involving more than four levels of the spinal cord [157]. Transverse myelitis shows swelling and focal enlargement on MRI. Enhancement is absent or poor and patchy in the most active lesion [149].

Treatment

Treatments for thrombosis Lifelong anticoagulation with warfarin is the first line of therapy for antiphospholipid-related thrombosis, using international normalized ratio (INR) of 2.5–3.0 [159]. Statins are simultaneously used to protect against endothelial cell activation secondary to antiphospholipids [160]. In patients with NPSLE and catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome, pulse corticosteroids, intravenous immunoglobulin, and/or plasmapheresis are recommended [161].

Principles in immunotherapies for SLE Gatto et al. (2019) concluded that "corticosteroids have been the mainstay of treatment of patients with SLE for 60 years" [162]. Fava et al. (2019) added support to this: "high dose or 'pulsed' corticosteroids are important to rapidly ablate the autoimmune response in life or organ threatening manifestations in SLE" [163]. Although the duration of treatment and dosage of corticosteroids for severe manifestations have not been established [164], pulsed therapy using intravenous methylprednisolone (200–1000 mg intravenously daily for 3 days) has been recommended along with cyclophosphamide or mycophenolate mofetil for induction therapy [163]. Importantly, there is no consensus on oral corticosteroid maintenance therapy [165, 166]. Oral corticosteroid might not be necessary for the control of severe lupus manifestations [167]. On the other hand, it has been reported that a dose of 10–20 mg/day can elicit cardiovascular events and any dose above 6 mg to induce organ damage in 50% of the patients [168, 169].

Immunotherapies for NPSLE Oral prednisolone or, in severe cases, intravenous methylprednisolone has been used as the first line of induction therapy in NPSLE [170, 171]. Schwartz et al. (2019) recommended the use of high dose of corticosteroids combined with cyclophosphamide, mycophenolate mofetil, and azathioprine and stressed that "the specific choice of the steroid-sparing agent is based on the clinician's assessment of disease severity and their clinical experiences" [93].

Only one randomized controlled trial study of 32 patients with severe NPSLE compared the effects of monthly intravenous cyclophosphamide infusion versus bimonthly intravenous methylprednisolone, following induction treatment with intravenous methylprednisolone [172]. The results showed better response and outcome in patients treated with cyclophosphamide [172]. Another study of 13 patients with psychosis symptoms confirmed the effectiveness of 6-month combination induction therapy of oral prednisolone and oral cyclophosphamide followed by maintenance therapy using azathioprine [173]. As in the above studies, cyclophosphamide was widely used for induction and maintenance therapies for NPSLE [163].

However, cyclophosphamide has been lately replaced with less toxic agents, such as mycophenolate mofetil or rituximab [163]. One study examined the efficacy of rituximab during the refractory period in 10 patients [171]. After treatment with corticosteroids followed by certain immunosuppressants, these patients still showed diffuse CNS manifestations. Treatment with rituximab resulted in rapid improvement in these manifestations.

Rheumatoid Vasculitis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic, progressive, systemic, inflammatory disease in which joints are the primary target. The rate of occurrence of cerebral vasculitis in RA patients is 1–8%. Cerebral vasculitis is usually associated with prominent extra-articular manifestations and minimal joint inflammation [174]. The clinical manifestations include headache, hemiplegia, partial epilepsy, cranial nerve involvement, visual impairment, cognitive impairment, confusion, and altered consciousness.

MRI shows hyperintense lesions in T2-weighted images [175]. Rheumatoid vasculitis usually responds to glucocorticoid therapy. Azathioprine [176], intravenous immunoglobulin [177], and cyclophosphamide [178, 179] are proposed in patients with corticosteroid-resistant vasculitis.

CNS Sarcoidosis

Sarcoidosis is a common granulomatous disease, affecting the lungs, heart, and skin [180]. On the other hand, the rate of CNS involvement is estimated to be 5% of cases. The basal meninges, cranial nerves, hypothalamus, and pituitary glands are the most frequently affected regions, from the early stages of the disease [180]. Granulomatous lesions sometimes elicit space-occupying focal signs [180]. Notably, the pathological findings include perivascular and vascular infiltration of meningeal and cerebral vessels by granulomatous lesions, but clinically ischemic attacks are rare and subclinical [180]. Corticosteroids form the main therapy [180], though infliximab and mycophenolate mofetil have been used in nonresponders [181].

Infection-Associated Vasculitis

Various pathogens have been reported to induce CNS vasculitis [3, 4] (Table 6). In most cases, the pathogens invade the endothelium, leading to its destruction [182]. However, infection-induced immune reactions have also been reported to elicit vessel wall damage in some cases [182].

<i>Virus:</i> Varicella-zoster virus, cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, hepatitis C virus, human immunodeficiency virus
<i>Bacteria:</i> Syphilis, <i>Borrelia burgdorferi</i> , <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> , and various types of bacteria
Rickettsiae: Rocky mountain spotted fever, typhus
Fungi: Aspergillus, Coccidioides

Varicella-zoster virus (VZV)-associated vasculitis causes vascular damage, including aneurysm and dissection, cerebral/spinal cord infarction, and cerebral hemorrhage [183–185]. Angiography often shows segmental constriction, often with poststenotic dilatation [179]. The affected arteries can be both the large and small arteries (50%), large arteries only (37%), or the small arteries alone (13%) [185]. Diagnosis of VZV-vasculitis is based on the detection of anti-VZV IgG anti-body and amplified VZV DNA [177–179]. Administration of intravenous acyclovir at 10–15 mg/kg body weight three times daily for a minimum of 14 days is recommended [185].

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) can elicit inflammation of vascular wall through two different mechanisms: recurrent cryoglobulin precipitation with complement activation and direct induction of innate mechanism of complement activation [186].

The clinical expression is polymorphic: fatigue, depression, and cognitive impairment are often reported. Stroke episodes, transient ischemic attacks, and lacunar infarction have also been described [187].

Several authors recommend an aggressive immunosuppressive therapy (plasmapheresis, intravenous methylprednisolone followed by oral prednisone, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab). The antiviral therapy can be delayed for 2–4 months [188].

Three scenarios have been described in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)related vasculitis. First, due to the existing immunodeficiency, concurrent vessel infection by other pathogens (e.g., par-VZV, CMV, and EBV) can occur in some patients [189]. The second scenario is a direct invasion by HIV. This type of HIV-associated vasculitis is rare, with an estimated incidence of 1% [189, 190]. CNS vessels are one of the targets.

Treponema pallidum invades the CNS early in the course of syphilis [191]. In most cases, *T. pallidum* is destroyed by appropriate antibiotics. However, *T. pallidum* can persist in the CNS without neurological symptomatic manifestations of neurosyphilis in some cases, which is followed by the stage of early meningeal syphilis (within 1 month), meningovascular syphilis (within 5–12 years), general paresis, and tabes dorsalis (15–25 years) [191]. Meningovascular syphilis is characterized by widespread endarteritis, causing thrombosis and infarction [191]. The most commonly affected arteries are the cerebral artery, mainly the middle cerebral artery and its branches, and their involvement elicits hemiparesis, hemianesthesia, homonymous hemianopsia, and aphasia. The recommended treatment for neurosyphilis is 18–24 MU of intravenous aqueous penicillin G daily, either as a continuous infusion or divided every 4 h, for 10–14 days [192].

Conclusion

CNS vasculitis is a group of severe but treatable conditions. The clinical manifestations can be polymorphic and aspecific. The knowledge of the pathogenesis of these disorders is crucial to make a correct diagnosis and to choose the appropriate treatment.

Although various different etiologies elicit CNS vasculitis, there is often an overlap in the clinical manifestations and MRI/angiography findings. Therefore, even in the presence of "segmental vascular constriction" on angiography, clinicians should suspect various etiologies, from primary to secondary vasculitis. The notion of "divergent etiologies and overlapping phenotypes" suggests that inflammatory destruction of the vessel wall is a final common pathway in some CNS autoimmunity disorders. With the exception of ANCA, the pathogenic process of autoimmunity remains unclear. Further studies are needed to explore the roles of innate and adaptive immune cells in invasion of the vessel wall.

Regarding the treatment of CNS vasculitis, there is no international consensus. Further trials are necessary to establish an optimal therapeutic approach.

References

- 1. Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, et al. 2012 revised international chapel Hill conference nomenclature of vasculitides. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65:1–11.
- 2. Calabrese LH, Duna GF, Lie JT. Vasculitis in the central nervous system. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40:1189–201.
- 3. Hajj-Ali RA, Singhal AB, Benseler S, et al. Primary angiitis of the CNS. Lancet Neurol. 2011;10:561–72.
- 4. Beuker C, Schmidt A, Strunk D, Sporns PB, Wiendl H, Meuth SG, Minnerup J. Primary angiitis of the central nervous system: diagnosis and treatment. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2018;11:1756286418785071.
- 5. Limaye K, Samaniego EA, Adams HP Jr. Diagnosis and treatment of primary nervous system angiitis. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2018;20:38.
- Giannini C, Salvarani C, Hunder G, et al. Primary central nervous system vasculitis: pathology and mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123:759–72.
- Harbitz F. Unknown forms of arteritis, with special reference to their relation to syphilitic arteritis and periarteritis nodosa. Am J Med Sci. 1922;163:250–71.
- Molloy ES, Hajj-Ali RA. Primary angiitis of the central nervous system. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2007;9:169–75.
- Salvarani C, Brown RD Jr, Christianson T, et al. Primary central nervous system vasculitis: analysis of 101 patients. Ann Neurol. 2007;62:442–51.
- Calabrese LH, Mallek JA. Primary angiitis of the central nervous system: report of 8 new cases, review of the literature, and proposal for diagnostic criteria. Medicine. 1988;67:20–39.
- 11. Birnbaum J, Hellmann DB. Primary angiitis of the central nervous system. Arch Neurol. 2009;66:704–9.
- Salvarani C, Brown RD Jr, Christianson T, et al. An update of the Mayo Clinic cohort of patients with adult primary central nervous system vasculitis: description of 163 patients. Medicine. 2015;94:e738.

- Salvarani C, Brown RD, Christianson TJ, et al. Adult primary central nervous system vasculitis treatment and course: analysis of one hundred sixty-three patients. Arthritis Rheum. 2015;67:1637–45.
- Berlit P, Kraemer M. Cerebral vasculitis in adults: what are the steps in order to establish the diagnosis? Red flags and pitfalls. Clin Exp Immunol. 2014;175:419–24.
- Matar RK, Alshamsan G, Alasaleh S, et al. New onset refractory status epilepticus due to primary angiitis of the central nervous system. Epilepsy Behav Case Rep. 2017;8:100–4.
- 16. Miller DV, Salvarani C, Hunder GG, et al. Biopsy findings in primary angiitis of the central nervous system. Am J Surg Pathol. 2009;33:35–43.
- 17. Alrawi A, Trobe JD, Blaivas M, Musch DC. Brain biopsy in primary angiitis of the central nervous system. Neurology. 1999;53:858.
- 18. Scolding NJ, Joseph F, Kirby PA, et al. Aβ-related angiitis: primary angiitis of the central nervous system associated with cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Brain. 2005;128:500–15.
- Salvarani C, Brown RD, Calamia KT, et al. Primary central nervous system vasculitis with prominent leptomeningeal enhancement: a subset with a benign outcome. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:595–603.
- Eng JA, Frosch MP, Choi K, Rebeck GW, Greenberg SM. Clinical manifestations of cerebral amyloid angiopathy-related inflammation. Ann Neurol. 2004;55:250–6.
- Hajj-Ali RA, Calabrese LH. Diagnosis and classification of central nervous system vasculitis. J Autoimmun. 2014;48:149–52.
- Iwase T, Ojika K, Mitake S, et al. Involvement of CD45RO+ T lymphocyte infiltration in a patient with primary angiitis of the central nervous system restricted to small vessels. Eur Neurol. 2001;45:184–18.
- Thomas L, Davidson M, McCluskey RT. Studies of PPLO infection. J Exp Med. 1966;123:897–912.
- Arthur G, Margolis G. Mycoplasma-like structures in granulomatous angiitis of the central nervous system. Case reports with light and electron microscopic studies. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 1977;101:382–7.
- Nagel MA, Cohrs RJ, Mahalingam R, et al. The varicella zoster virus vasculopathies. Clinical, CSF, imaging, and virologic features. Neurology. 2008;70:853–60.
- Thom V, Schmid S, Gelderblom M, et al. IL-17 production by CSF lymphocytes as a biomarker for cerebral vasculitis. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3:e214.
- 27. Küker W, Gaertner S, Nägele T, et al. Vessel wall contrast enhancement: a diagnostic sign of cerebral vasculitis. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2008;26:23–9.
- Swartz RH, Bhuta SS, Farb RI, et al. Intracranial arterial wall imaging using high resolution 3-tesla contrast-enhanced MRI. Neurology. 2009;72:627–34.
- Mandell DM, Matouk CC, Farb RI, et al. Vessel wall MRI to differentiate between reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome and central nervous system vasculitis: preliminary results. Stroke. 2012;43:860–2.
- Berlit P. Primary angiitis of the CNS-an enigma that needs world-wide efforts to be solved. Eur J Neurol. 2009;16:10–1.
- 31. Zuccoli G, Pipitone N, Haldipur A, et al. Imaging findings in primary central nervous system vasculitis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2011;29:S104.
- Swartz RH, Bhuta SS, Farb RI, et al. Intracranial arterial wall imaging using highresolution 3-tesla contrast-enhanced MRI. Neurology. 2009;72:627–34.
- Alhalabi M, Moore PM. Serial angiography in isolated angiitis of the central nervous system. Neurology. 1994;44:1221.
- Duna GF, Calabrese LH. Limitations of invasive modalities in the diagnosis of primary angiitis of the central nervous system. J Rheumatol. 1995;22:662–7.
- 35. Zuber M. Isolated angiitis of the central nervous system. Uncom Cau Stroke. 2001:1.
- 36. Kadkhodayan Y, Alreshaid A, Moran CJ, et al. Primary angiitis of the central nervous system at conventional angiography. Radiology. 2004;233:878–82.

- Pugliese F, Gaemperli O, Kinderlerer AR, et al. Imaging of vascular inflammation with [11 C]-PK11195 and positron emission tomography/computed tomography angiography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;56:653–61.
- Calabrese LH, Furlan AJ, Gragg LA, et al. Primary angiitis of the central nervous system: diagnostic criteria and clinical approach. Cleve Clin J Med. 1992;59:293–306.
- 39. Kraemer M, Berlit P. Primary central nervous system vasculitis: clinical experiences with 21 new European cases. Rheumatol Int. 2011;31:463–72.
- 40. Schmidley JW. 10 questions on central nervous system vasculitis. Neurologist. 2008;14:138.
- Singhal AB, Hajj-Ali RA, Topcuoglu MA, et al. Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndromes: analysis of 139 cases. Arch Neurol. 2011;68:1005–112.
- 42. Ducros A, Boukobza M, Porcher R, et al. The clinical and radiological spectrum of reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome. A prospective series of 67 patients. Brain. 2007;130:3091–101.
- 43. Ducros A. Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome. Lancet Neurol. 2012;11:906-17.
- 44. Singhal AB, Topcuoglu MA, Fok JW, et al. Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndromes and primary angiitis of the central nervous system: clinical, imaging, and angiographic comparison. Ann Neurol. 2016;79:882–94.
- 45. Elstner M, Linn J, Müller-Schunk S, et al. Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome: a complicated clinical course treated with intraarterial application of nimodipine. Cephalalgia. 2009;29:677–82.
- Mandell DM, Matouk CC, Farb RI, et al. Vessel wall MRI to differentiate between reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome and central nervous system vasculitis. Stroke. 2012;43:860–2.
- 47. Stevens CJ, Heran MKS. The many faces of posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome. Br J Radiol. 2012;85:1566–75.
- Sugimoto S, Yammamoto SL, Nagahiro S, Diksic M. Permeability change and brain tissue damage after intracarotid administration of cisplatin studied by double-tracer autoradiography in rats. J Neuro-Oncol. 1995;24:229–40.
- 49. Mckinney AM, Bharathi Jagadeesan BD, Truwit CL. Central variant posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome: brain stem or basal ganglia involvement lacking cortical or subcortical cerebral edema. Am J Roentgenol. 2013;201:631–8.
- Hobson EV, Craven I, Blank SC. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome: a truly treatable neurologic illness. Perit Dial Int. 2012;32:590–4.
- 51. Davous P. CADASIL: a review with proposed diagnostic criteria. Eur J Neurol. 1998;5:219–33.
- Rigoldi M, Concolino D, Morrone A, et al. Intrafamilial phenotypic variability in four families with Anderson-Fabry disease. Clin Genet. 2014;86:258–63.
- Tuttolomondo A, Pecoraro R, Simonetta I, et al. Neurological complications of Anderson-Fabry disease. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19:6014–30.
- Tuttolomondo A, Pecoraro R, Simonetta I, Miceli S, Pinto A, Licata G. Anderson-Fabry disease: a multiorgan disease. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19:5974–96.
- 55. Germain DP. Fabry disease. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2010;5:30.
- Alroy J, Sabnis S, Kopp JB. Renal pathology in Fabry disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002;13(Suppl 2):S134–8.
- Rozenfeld P, Feriozzi S. Contribution of inflammatory pathways to Fabry disease pathogenesis. Mol Genet Metab. 2017;122:19–27.
- deVeber GA, Schwarting GA, Kolodny EH, Kowall NW. Fabry disease: immunocytochemical characterization of neuronal involvement. Ann Neurol. 1992;31:409–15.
- Kaye EM, Kolodny EH, Logigian EL, Ullman MD. Nervous system involvement in Fabry's disease: clinicopathological and biochemical correlation. Ann Neurol. 1988;23:505–9.
- 60. Okeda R, Nisihara M. An autopsy case of Fabry disease with neuropathological investigation of the pathogenesis of associated dementia. Neuropathology. 2008;28:532–40.
- Fellgiebel A, Müller MJ, Ginsberg L. CNS manifestations of Fabry's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2006;5:791–5.

- 62. Biegstraaten M, ArngrõÂmsson R, Barbey F, et al. Recommendations for initiation and cessation of enzyme replacement therapy in patients with Fabry disease: the European Fabry Working Group consensus document. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2015;10:S 3733.
- 63. El-Abassi R, Singhal D, England JD. Fabry's disease. J Neurol Sci. 2014;344:S 5-19.
- 64. Albano LM, Rivitti C, Bertola DR, Honjo RS, Kelmann SV, Giugliani R, et al. Angiokeratoma: a cutaneous marker of Fabry's disease. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2010;35:505–8.
- 65. Rost NS, Cloonan L, Kanakis AS, et al. Determinants of white matter hyperintensity burden in patients with Fabry disease. Neurology. 2016;86:1880–6.
- 66. Fellgiebel A, Keller I, Martus P, et al. Basilar artery diameter is a potential screening tool for Fabry disease in young stroke patients. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2011;31:294–9.
- Takanashi J, Barkovich AJ, Dillon WP, Sherr EH, Hart KA, Packman S. Tl hyperintensity in the pulvinar: key imaging feature for diagnosis of Fabry disease. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2003;24:916–21.
- Pistone G, Rizzo D, Bongiorno MR. Cutaneous complications of Anderson-Fabry disease. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19:6031–6.
- 69. Boggio P, Luna PC, Abad ME, Larralde M. Fabry disease. An Bras Dermatol. 2009;84:367-76.
- Martins AM, D'Almeida V, Kyosen SO, Takata ET, Delgado AG, Gonçalves AM, et al. Guidelines to diagnosis and monitoring of Fabry disease and review of treatment experiences. J Pediatr. 2009;155:S19–31.
- 71. Goto Y, Nonaka I, Horai S. A mutation in the tRNA (Leu)(UUR) gene associated with the MELAS subgroup of mitochondrial encephalomyopathies. Nature. 1990;348:651–3.
- Wang YX, Le WD. Progress in diagnosing mitochondrial myopathy, encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes. Chin Med J. 2015;128:1820–5.
- 73. Sproule DM, Kaufmann P. Mitochondrial encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes: basic concepts, clinical phenotype, and therapeutic management of MELAS syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2008;1142:133–58.
- 74. Nesbitt V, Pitceathly RD, Turnbull DM, et al. The UK MRC Mitochondrial Disease Patient Cohort Study: clinical phenotypes associated with the m.3243A>G mutation—implications for diagnosis and management. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84:936–8.
- 75. Ito H, Mori K, Kagami S. Neuroimaging of stroke-like episodes in MELAS. Brain and Development. 2011;33:283–8.
- 76. Xie S. MR OEF imaging in MELAS. Methods Enzymol. 2014;547:433-44.
- Yu L, Xie S, Xiao J, Wang Z, Zhang X. Quantitative measurement of cerebral oxygen extraction fraction using MRI in patients with MELAS. PLoS One. 2013;8:e79859.
- Li R, Xiao HF, Lyu JH, J J Wang D, Ma L, Lou X. Differential diagnosis of mitochondrial encephalopathy with lactic acidosis and stroke-like episodes (MELAS) and ischemic stroke using 3D pseudocontinuous arterial spin labeling. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2017;45:199–206.
- Dutra LA, de Souza AWS, Grinberg-Dias G, et al. Central nervous system vasculitis in adults: an update. Autoimmun Rev. 2017;16:123–31.
- Boysson H, Zuber M, Naggara O, et al. Primary angiitis of the central nervous system: description of the first fifty-two adults enrolled in the French cohort of patients with primary vasculitis of the central nervous system. Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:1315–26.
- 81. Salvarani C, Brown RD, Calamia KT, et al. Efficacy of tumor necrosis factor α blockade in primary central nervous system vasculitis resistant to immunosuppressive treatment. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;59:291–6.
- Salvarani C, Brown RD, Huston J, et al. Treatment of primary CNS vasculitis with rituximab: case report. Neurology. 2014;82:1287–8.
- De Boysson H, Arquizan C, Guillevin L, et al. Rituximab for primary angiitis of the central nervous system: report of 2 patients from the French COVAC cohort and review of the literature. J Rheumatol. 2013;40:2102–3.
- Hutchinson C, Elbers J, Halliday W, et al. Treatment of small vessel primary CNS vasculitis in children: an open-label cohort study. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9:1078–84.
- 85. Russo RA, Katsicas MM. Takayasu arteritis. Front Pediatr. 2018;6:265.

- Albarrak AM, Mohammad Y, Husain S, Husain S, Muayqil T. Simultaneous bilateral posterior ischemic optic neuropathy secondary to giant cell arteritis: a case presentation and review of the literature. BMC Ophthalmol. 2018;18:317.
- Ozen S. The challenging face of polyarteritis nodosa and necrotizing vasculitis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2017;13:381–6.
- Hernández-Rodriguez J, Alba MA, Prieto-González S, Cid MC. Diagnosis and classification of polyarteritis nodosa. J Autoimmun. 2014;48-49:84–9.
- Jennette JC, Falk RJ. Pathogenesis of antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody-mediated disease. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2014;10:463–73.
- 90. Zheng Y, Zhang Y, Cai M, et al. Central nervous system involvement in ANCA-associated vasculitis: what neurologists need to know. Front Neurol. 2019;9:1166.
- Yates M, Watts RA, Bajema IM, Cid MC, Crestani B, Hauser T, et al. EULAR/ERA-EDTA recommendations for the management of ANCA-associated vasculitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75:1583–94.
- Bendorius M, Po C, Muller S, Jeltsch-David H. From systemic inflammation to neuroinflammation: the case of neurolupus. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19.
- Schwartz N, Stock AD, Putterman C. Neuropsychiatric lupus: new mechanistic insights and future treatment directions. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2019; https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41584-018-0156-8.
- Vivaldo JF, de Amorim JC, Julio PR, de Oliveira RJ, Appenzeller S. Definition of NPSLE: does the ACR nomenclature still hold? Front Med. 2018;5:138.
- Kassan SS, Lockshin MD. Central nervous system lupus erythematosus. The need for classification. Arthritis Rheum. 1979;22:1382–5.
- 96. ACR ad hoc committee. The American College of Rheumatology nomenclature and case definitions for neuropsychiatric lupus syndromes. Arthritis Rheum. 1999;42:599–608.
- Zirkzee E, Huizinga T, Bollen E, et al. Mortality in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus (NPSLE). Lupus. 2014;23:31–8.
- Schreiber K, Sciascia S, deGroot PG, et al. Antiphospholipid syndrome. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4:18005.
- Kittner SJ Gorelick PB. Antiphospholipid antibodies and stroke: an epidemiological perspective. Stroke. 1992;23:I19–22.
- Ho RC, Thiaghu C, Ong H, et al. A meta-analysis of serum and cerebrospinal fluid autoantibodies in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmun Rev. 2016;15:124–38.
- 101. Salahuddin TS, Kalimo H, Johansson BB, Olsson Y. Observations on exudation of fibronectin, fibrinogen and albumin in the brain after carotid infusion of hyperosmolar solutions. An immunohistochemical study in the rat indicating long-lasting changes in the brain microenvironment and multifocal nerve cell injuries. Acta Neuropathol. 1988;76:1–10.
- Merali Z, Huang K, Mikulis D, Silver F, Kassner A. Evolution of blood-brain barrier permeability after acute ischemic stroke. PLoS One. 2018;12:e0171558.
- 103. Kuntz M, Mysiorek C, Pétrault O, et al. Stroke-induced brain parenchymal injury drives blood–brain barrier early leakage kinetics: a combined in vivo/in vitro study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2014;34:95–107.
- 104. Knowland D, Arac A, Sekiguchi K, et al. Stepwise recruitment of transcellular and paracellular pathways underlies blood-brain barrier breakdown in stroke. Neuron. 2014;82:603–17.
- 105. Rochfort KD, Cummins PM. The blood-brain barrier endothelium: a target for proinflammatory cytokines. Biochem Soc Trans. 2015;43:702–6.
- Dimitrijevic OB, Stamatovic SM, Keep RF, Andjelkovic AV. Absence of the chemokine receptor CCR2 protects against cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury in mice. Stroke. 2007;38:1345–53.
- 107. Gelb S, Stock AD, Anzi S, Putterman C, Ben-Zvi A. Mechanisms of neuropsychiatric lupus: the relative roles of the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier versus blood-brain barrier. J Autoimmun. 2018;91:34–44.
- Ma X, Foster J, Saki'c B. Distribution and prevalence of leukocyte phenotypes in brains of lupus-prone mice. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;179:26–36.

- 109. Morawski PA, Qi CF, Bolland S. Non-pathogenic tissue-resident CD8+ T cells uniquely accumulate in the brains of lupus-prone mice. Sci Rep. 2017;7:40838.
- 110. Jain S, Stock A, Macian F, Putterman C. A distinct T follicular helper cell subset infiltrates the brain in murine neuropsychiatric lupus. Front Immunol. 2018;9:487.
- 111. Kim SJ, Lee K, Diamond B. Follicular helper T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1793.
- 112. O'Sullivan FX, Vogelweid CM, Besch-Williford CL, Walker SE. Differential effects of CD4+ T cell depletion on inflammatory central nervous system disease, arthritis and sialadenitis in MRL/lpr mice. J Autoimmun. 1995;8:163–75.
- 113. Katsumata Y, Harigai M, Kawaguchi Y, et al. Diagnostic reliability of cerebral spinal fluid tests for acute confusional state (delirium) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: interleukin 6 (IL-6), IL-8, interferon-alpha, IgG index, and Q-albumin. J Rheumatol. 2007;34:2010–7.
- Hirohata S, Kanai Y, Mitsuo A, et al. Accuracy of cerebrospinal fluid IL-6 testing for diagnosis of lupus psychosis. A multicenter retrospective study. Clin Rheumatol. 2009;28:1319–23.
- 115. Asano T, Ito H, Kariya Y, et al. Evaluation of blood-brain barrier function by quotient alpha2 macroglobulin and its relationship with interleukin-6 and complement component 3 levels in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0186414.
- 116. Shiozawa S, Kuroki Y, Kim M, Hirohata S, Ogino T. Interferon-alpha in lupus psychosis. Arthritis Rheum. 1992;35:417–22.
- 117. Fragoso-Loyo H, Atisha-Fregoso Y, Llorente L, Sanchez-Guerrero J. Inflammatory profile in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with headache as a manifestation of neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2013;52:2218–22.
- 118. Santer DM, Yoshio T, Minota S, Moller T, Elkon KB. Potent induction of IFN-α and chemokines by autoantibodies in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with neuropsychiatric lupus. J Immunol. 2009;182:1192–201.
- 119. Bialas AR, Presumey J, Das A, et al. Microglia-dependent synapse loss in type I interferonmediated lupus. Nature. 2017;546:539–43.
- 120. Eloranta ML, Rönnblom L. Cause and consequences of the activated type I interferon system in SLE. J Mol Med (Berl). 2016;94:1103–10.
- 121. Yoshio T, Okamoto H, Kurasawa K, et al. IL-6, IL-8, IP-10, MCP-1 and G-CSF are significantly increased in cerebrospinal fluid but not in sera of patients with central neuropsychiatric lupus sera of patients with central neuropsychiatric lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2016;25:997–1003.
- 122. Ichinose K, Arima K, Ushigusa T, et al. Distinguishing the cerebrospinal fluid cytokine profile in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus from other autoimmune neurological diseases. Clin Immunol. 2015;157:114–20.
- 123. Fragoso-Loyo H, Richaud-Patin Y, Orozco-Naváez A, et al. Interleukin-6 and chemokines in the neuropsychiatric manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:1242–50.
- 124. DeGiorgio LA, Konstantinov KN, Lee SC, et al. A subset of lupus anti-DNA antibodies cross-reacts with the NR2 glutamate receptor in systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Med. 2001;7:1189–93.
- 125. Faust TW, Chang EH, Kowal C, et al. Neurotoxic lupus autoantibodies alter brain function through two distinct mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2010;107:18569–74.
- Arinuma Y, Yanagida T, Hirohata S. Association of cerebrospinal fluid anti-NR2 glutamate receptor antibodies with diffuse neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:1130–5.
- 127. Brimberg L, Mader S, Fujieda Y, et al. Antibodies as mediators of brain pathology. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:709–24.
- 128. Kowal C, DeGiorgio LA, Nakaoka T, et al. Cognition and immunity; antibody impairs memory. Immunity. 2004;21:179–88.
- 129. Kowal C, DeGiorgio LA, Lee JY, et al. Human lupus autoantibodies against NMDA receptors mediate cognitive impairment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103:19854–9.

- 130. Eber T, Chapman J, Shoenfeld Y. Anti-ribosomal P-protein and its role in psychiatric manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus: myth or reality? Lupus. 2005;14:571–5.
- 131. Yoshio T, Masuyama J, Ikeda M, et al. Quantification of antiribosomal P0 protein antibodies by ELISA with recombinant P0 fusion protein and their association with central nervous system disease in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 1995;22:1681–7.
- 132. Moscavitch SD, Szyper-Kravitz M, Shoenfeld Y. Autoimmune pathology accounts for common manifestations in a wide range of neuro-psychiatric disorders: the olfactory and immune system interrelationship. Clin Immunol. 2009;130:235–43.
- Elkon KB, Parnassa AP, Foster CL. Lupus autoantibodies target ribosomal P proteins. J Exp Med. 1985;162:459–71.
- 134. Segovia-Miranda F, Serrano F, Dyrda A, et al. Pathogenicity of lupus antiribosomal P antibodies: role of cross-reacting neuronal surface P antigen in glutamatergic transmission and plasticity in a mouse model. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67:1598–610.
- 135. Katzav A, Solodeev I, Brodsky O, et al. Induction of autoimmune depression in mice by antiribosomal P antibodies via the limbic system. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:938–48.
- 136. Lennon VA, Kryzer TJ, Pittock SJ, Verkman AS, Hinson SR. IgG marker of optic-spinal multiple sclerosis binds to the aquaporin-4 water channel. J Exp Med. 2005;202:473–7.
- 137. Dellavance A, Alvarenga RR, Rodrigues SH, et al. Anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies in the context of assorted immune-mediated diseases. Eur J Neurol. 2012;19:248–52.
- Verkman AS, Phuan PW, Asavapanumas N, Tradtrantip L. Biology of AQP4 and anti-AQP4 antibody: therapeutic implications for NMO. Brain Pathol. 2013;23:684–95.
- 139. Mader S, Jeganathan V, Arinuma Y, et al. Understanding the antibody repertoire in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: do they share common targets? Arthritis Rheumatol. 2018;70:277–86.
- 140. Alexopoulos H, Kampylafka E, Fouka P, et al. Anti-aquaporin-4 autoantibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus persist for years and induce astrocytic cytotoxicity but not CNS disease. J Neuroimmunol. 2015;289:8–11.
- 141. Conti F, Alessandri C, Bompane D, et al. Autoantibody profile in systemic lupus erythematosus with psychiatric manifestations: a role for anti-endothelial-cell antibodies. Arthritis Res Ther. 2004;6:R366–72.
- 142. Nara H, Okamoto H, Minota S, Yoshio T. Mouse monoclonal anti-human thrombomodulin antibodies bind to and activate endothelial cells through NF-κB activation in vitro. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54:1629–37.
- 143. Williams RC Jr, Sugiura K, Tan EM. Antibodies to microtubule-associated protein 2 in patients with neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50:1239–47.
- 144. Matsui T, Hayashi-Kisumi F, Kinoshita Y, et al. Identification of novel keratinocyte secreted peptides dermokine-alpha/–beta and a new stratified epithelium-secreted protein gene complex on human chromosome 19q13.1. Genomics. 2004;84:384–97.
- 145. Cohen D, Rijnink EC, Nabuurs RJ, et al. Brain histopathology in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: identification of lesions associated with clinical neuropsychiatric lupus syndromes and the role of complement. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2017;56:77–86.
- 146. Menke J, Hsu MY, Byrne KT, et al. Sunlight triggers cutaneous lupus through a CSF-1dependent mechanism in MRLFas(lpr) mice. J Immunol. 2008;181:7367–79.
- 147. Chalmers SA, Wen J, Doerner J, et al. Highly selective inhibition of Bruton's tyrosine kinase attenuates skin and brain disease in murine lupus. Arthritis Res Ther. 2018;20:10.
- 148. Hirohata S, Miyamoto T. Elevated levels of interleukin-6 in cerebrospinal fluid from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and central nervous system involvement. Arthritis Rheum. 1990;33:644–9.
- 149. Sarbu N, Bargalló N, Cervera R. Advanced and conventional magnetic resonance imaging in neuropsychiatric lupus. Version 2. F1000Res. 2015 Jun 23 [revised 2015 Jan 1]. 4:162. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.6522.2. eCollection 2015
- Al-Obaidi M, Saunders D, Brown S, et al. Evaluation of magnetic resonance imaging abnormalities in juvenile onset neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Rheumatol. 2016;35:2449–56.

- 151. Sarbu N, Alobeidi F, Toledano P, et al. Brain abnormalities in newly diagnosed neuropsychiatric lupus: systematic MRI approach and correlation with clinical and laboratory data in a large multicenter cohort. Autoimmun Rev. 2015;14:153–9.
- 152. Ioannidis S, Mavridis M, Mitsias PD. Ischemic stroke as initial manifestation of systemic lupus erythematosus: a case report and review of the literature. eNeurologicalSci. 2018;13:26–30.
- 153. Csepany T, Bereczki D, Kollar J, et al. MRI findings in central nervous system systemic lupus erythematosus are associated with immunoserological parameters and hypertension. J Neurol. 2003;250:1348–54.
- 154. Toledano P, Sarbu N, Espinosa G, et al. Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus: magnetic resonance imaging findings and correlation with clinical and immunological features. Autoimmun Rev. 2013;12:1166–70.
- Brey RL, Gharavi AE, Lockshin MD. Neurologic complications of antiphospholipid antibodies. Rheum Dis Clin N Am. 1993;19:833–50.
- 156. Bertsias GK, Boumpas DT. Pathogenesis, diagnosis and management of neuropsychiatric SLE manifestations. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2010;6:358–67.
- 157. Hamming L, van der Meulen R, Vergouwen A, Sigert C. Myelopathy in systemic lupus erythematosus: a case report and a review of the literature. Neth J Med. 2015;73:290–2.
- 158. Kovacs B, Lafferty TL, Brent LH, DeHoratius RJ. Transverse myelopathy in systemic lupus erythematosus: an analysis of 14 cases and review of the literature. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000;59:120–4.
- Hanly JG. In: Lahita RG, editor. Systemic lupus erythematosus. 5th ed. Elsevier, San Diego; 2005. p. 727–46.
- 160. Meroni PL, Raschi E, Testoni C, et al. Statins prevent endothelial cell activation induced by antiphospholipid (anti-β2-glycoprotein I) antibodies: effect on the proadhesive and proinflammatory phenotype. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;44:2870–8.
- 161. Cervera R. CAPS registry. Lupus. 2012;21:755-7.
- 162. Gatto M, Zen M, Iaccarino L, Doria A. New therapeutic strategies in systemic lupus erythematosus management. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2019 Jan;15:30–48.
- 163. Fava A, Petri M. Systemic lupus erythematosus: diagnosis and management. Autoimmunity. 2019;96:1–13.
- 164. Merrill JT, Manzi S, Aranow C, et al. Lupus community panel proposals for optimising clinical trials: 2018. Lupus Sci Med. 2018;5:e000258.
- 165. Hahn BH, McMahon MA, Wilkinson A, et al. Grossman, American College of Rheumatology guidelines for screening, treatment, and management of lupus nephritis. Arthritis Care Res. 2012;64:797–808.
- 166. Bertsias GK, Tektonidou M, Amoura Z, et al. Joint European League Against Rheumatism and European Renal Association-European Dialysis and Transplant Association (EULAR/ ERAEDTA) recommendations for the management of adult and paediatric lupus nephritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71:1771–82.
- 167. Condon MB, Ashby D, Pepper RJ, et al. Prospective observational single-centre cohort study to evaluate the effectiveness of treating lupus nephritis with rituximab and mycophenolate mofetil but no oral steroids. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72:1280–6.
- 168. Magder LS, Petri M. Incidence of and risk factors for adverse cardiovascular events among patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176:708–19.
- Thamer M, Hernán MA, Zhang Y, Cotter D, Petri M. Prednisone, lupus activity, and permanent organ damage. J Rheumatol. 2009;36:560–4.
- 170. Trevisani VF, Castro AA, Neves Neto JF, Atallah AN. Cyclophosphamide versus methylprednisolone for treating neuropsychiatric involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus (Cochrane review). In: The Cochrane library, Issue 4; 2003.
- 171. Tokunaga M, Saito K, Kawabata D, et al. Efficacy of rituximab (anti-CD20) for refractory systemic lupus erythematosus involving the central nervous system. Ann Rheum Dis. 2007;66:470–5.

- 172. Barile-Fabris L, Ariza-Andraca R, Olguin-Ortega L, et al. Controlled clinical trial of IV cyclophosphamide versus IV methylprednisolone in severe neurological manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64:620–5.
- 173. Mok CC, Lau CS, Wong RW. Treatment of lupus psychosis with oral cyclophosphamide followed by azathioprine maintenance: an open-label study. Am J Med. 2003;115:59–62.
- 174. Mrabet D, Meddeb N, Ajlani H, Sahli H, Sellami S. Cerebral vasculitis in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis. Joint Bone Spine. 2007;74:201–4.
- 175. Akrout R, Bendjemaa S, Fourati H, et al. J Med Case Rep. 2012;6:302.
- 176. Singleton JD, West SG, Reddy VV, Rak KM. Cerebral vasculitis complicating rheumatoid arthritis. South Med J. 1995;88:470–4.
- 177. Kiss G, Kelemen J, Bely M, Vertes P. Clinically diagnosed fatal cerebral vasculitis in longstanding juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Virchows Arch. 2006;448:381–3.
- 178. Rodriguez Uranga JJ, Chinchon Espino D, Serrano Pozo A, Garcia Hernandez F. Pseudotumoral central nervous system vasculitis in rheumatoid arthritis. Med Clin (Barc). 2006;127:438–9.
- Cupps TR, Moore PM, Fauci AS. Isolated angiitis of the central nervous system. Prospective diagnostic and therapeutic experience. Am J Med. 1983;74:97–105.
- Delaney P. Neurologic manifestations in sarcoidosis. Review of the literature, with a report of 23 cases. Ann Intern Med. 1977;87:226–45.
- Moravan M, Segal BM. Treatment of CNS sarcoidosis with infliximab and mycophenolate mofetil. Neurology. 2009;72:337–40.
- 182. Calabrese LH, Duna GF. Drug-induced vasculitis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 1996;8:34-40.
- Sigal LH. The neurologic presentation of vasculitic and rheumatologic syndromes: a review. Medicine. 1987;66:157–80.
- 184. Kleinschmidt-DeMasters BK, Gilden DH. Varicella-Zoster virus infections of the nervous system: clinical and pathologic correlates. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2001;125:770–80.
- 185. Gilden D, Cohrs RJ, Mahalingam R, et al. Varicella zoster virus vasculopathies: diverse clinical manifestations, laboratory features, pathogenesis, and treatment. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8:731–40.
- 186. Nemni R, Sanvito L, Quattrini A, Santuccio G, Camerlingo M, Canal N. Peripheral neuropathy in hepatitis C virus infection with and without cryoglobulinaemia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74:1267–71.
- 187. Tembl JI, Ferrer JM, Sevilla MT, Lago A, Mayordomo F, Vilchez JJ. Neurologic complications associated with hepatitis C virus infection. Neurology. 1999;53:861–4.
- Kamar N, Rostaing L, Alric L. Treatment of hepatitis C-virus-related glomerulonephritis. Kidney Int. 2006;69:436–9.
- 189. Chetty R. Vasculitis associated with HIV infection. J Clin Pathol. 2001;54:275-8.
- 190. Guillevin L. Vasculitis in the context of HIV infection. AIDS. 2008;22(Suppl 3):S27-33.
- 191. Ghanem KG. Neurosyphilis: a historical perspective and review. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2010;16:e157–68.
- 192. Workowski KA, Berman SM. Sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55:1–94.

Behçet's Syndrome and the Nervous System Involvement



Ugur Uygunoglu and Aksel Siva

Abstract Behçet's syndrome (BS), a distinct disease with orogenital ulceration and uveitis known as the triple-symptom complex, is an idiopathic chronic relapsing multisystem vascular-inflammatory disease of unknown origin. The neurological involvement of BS is termed as neuro-Behçet's syndrome (NBS). Direct neurological involvement of BS may be classified into two forms: (1) parenchymal (p-NBS) and (2) vascular involvement. p-NBS with the rate of 75% among neurological involvements of BS usually presents with an acute-subacute brain stem syndrome. Headache, cranial neuropathy, dysarthria, ataxia, and hemiparesis are the most prominent symptoms. The most common areas affected in p-NBS are the mesodiencephalic junction (MDJ), pons, and medulla oblongata. MDJ lesions tend to extend upward to involve the diencephalic structures and downward to involve the pontobulbar region which is the most common radiological finding observed in p-NBS. The only drug that has been shown to be effective based on the Class IV evidence is infliximab for the treatment of p-NBS.

Keywords Behçet's syndrome \cdot Parenchymal neuro-Behçet's syndrome \cdot Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis \cdot Bagel Sign \cdot Infliximab

Introduction

Behçet's syndrome (BS) was originally described in 1937 by the Turkish dermatologist Hulusi Behçet as a distinct disease with orogenital ulceration and uveitis known as the triple-symptom complex. BS is an idiopathic chronic relapsing multisystem vascular-inflammatory disease of unknown origin [1]. Due to the lack of specific laboratory, radiologic, or histologic findings of BS, accurate diagnosis of BS depends on clinical features. According to International Study Group (ISG)'s classification for a diagnosis, recurrent oral ulcerations plus two of the following are

U. Uygunoglu · A. Siva (⊠)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Istanbul University, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, Department of Neurology, Istanbul, Turkey

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_22

required: (a) recurrent genital ulcerations, (b) skin lesions, (c) eye lesions, and (d) positive pathergy test [2]. Given that the BS affects many organs and systems implying a "syndrome" rather than "disease," we will use the term Behçet's syndrome (BS) in this chapter [3].

Epidemiology

While BS is more prevalent in the regions along the "Silk Road," prevalence tends to increase in Western countries over the past few years due to the increased migration from some of these countries to Western countries. The estimated prevalence of BS is variable across Europe, being low in the northern part of Europe compared to the south [4]. The prevalence of BS in Turkey is between 20 and 421 in 100,000 with the highest rate across the Silk Road, giving a high rate in the Anatolia. These findings support the environmental hypothesis on BS pathogenesis [5]. Another finding supporting the environmental hypothesis is that no patient was diagnosed as BS in Hawaii where the population of Japanese (genetically susceptible) is high [6]. On the other hand, the higher prevalence of BS among Turkish immigrants living in Germany compared to Turkey, suggests that genetic influences are stronger than environmental factors in the disease etiology [7]. Furthermore, the positive family history up to 12% and a sibling risk ratio ranging from 11.4 to 52.5 support the genetic hypothesis of BS similar to complex gene disorders [8].

Around 50–80% of BS patients along the "Silk Road" carry HLA-B51, whereas the frequency of this allele is ~25% in the general population. However, in the regions where the BS is uncommon, the HLA-B51 positivity ratio is similar to the general population, and this distribution of HLA-B5 and its HLA-B*51 subtype positivity differing among the countries may give a clue of disease origin [9]. The positivity of HLA-B51 was significantly higher in the hospital-based studies, so it can be argued that the HLA-B51 is probably related not with the disease itself but with its severity [10].

The usual onset of BS is in the third or fourth decade of life. However, onset in children has also been reported, although this is rare [11]. While BS shows equal frequency between each sex, males have a more severe disease course. Interestingly, there is no relationship between age at immigration and the risk of BS [12].

Clinical Manifestations of BS

Clinical manifestations of BS are highly variable among the patients.

Mucocutaneous Symptoms

Mucocutaneous manifestations in BS are common and include oral and genital ulcerations, papulopustular skin lesions, erythema nodosum (EN)-like skin lesions, pathergy reaction, and other rare skin lesions. Recurrent aphthous stomatitis is the hallmark of the syndrome. Aphtous lesions are usually small, round, or oval painful [13]. External genital ulcers usually occur on the scrotum in men and on the labia in women. They are deep and very painful and leave scars, producing an objective sign even in the absence of active lesions [14]. The pathergy phenomenon is a non-specific hypersensitivity reaction of the hyperirritable skin seen in BS and is produced by inserting a 20-gauge needle into the dermis of the forearm (skin pathergy test). The reaction is considered positive if a papule or pustule is formed at the site of the puncture within 48 hours [2].

Ocular Involvement

Ocular involvement is one of the most disabling complications of BS causing progressive vision loss in half of the patients if not treated properly [15]. Anterior uveitis, posterior uveitis, cells in the vitreous on a slit-lamp examination, and/or retinal vasculitis are the primary clinical features, but optic neuritis may also be present in extremely rare instances [16].

Gastrointestinal Involvement

The most common symptoms indicating gastrointestinal involvement are right upper quadrant abdominal pain, diarrhea, and gastrointestinal bleeding, respectively. Any part of the gastrointestinal tract, especially the distal ileum and cecum, may have ulcers, and at times it may be difficult to distinguish inflammatory bowel disease from BS [17].

Arthritis

Nonerosive, nonmigrating, oligoarticular involvement of large joints, especially the knees, ankles, and wrists, is reported in 35–50% of patients and resolves spontaneously within a few weeks [18].

Neurological Involvement in BS

The neurological involvement of BS is termed as neuro-Behçet's syndrome (NBS). While there is no biomarker for NBS, the diagnosis is mainly based on the clinical and neuroimaging features. NBS is not included in the current criteria of International Study Group. Considering the rate of 5–10% neurological involvement among BS patients and taking into account the increased atypical presentation of neurological involvement especially over the last years, the importance of NBS is increasing [19, 20]. Therefore, ISG criteria need to be reevaluated in terms of neurological involvement. The criteria of NBS can be summarized as: "The occurrence of neurological symptoms and signs in a patient who meets the International Study Group Criteria for BS, when those symptoms/signs are not otherwise referable to any other known systemic or neurological disease, or treatment thereof, and in whom objective abnormalities consistent with NBS are evident either on neurological examination or MRI, or upon cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis [19]."

The neurological involvement may be observed either directly or indirectly which is due to the complications of systemic involvement of BS or related with the drugs used in BS [21]. Neurological involvement developing indirectly includes increased intracranial pressure secondary to superior vena cava syndrome and cerebral emboli secondary to cardiac involvement. Central nervous system (CNS) neurotoxicity caused by cyclosporine and peripheral neuropathy secondary to thalidomide or colchicine use are neurological complications associated with BS treatment [21].

Direct neurological involvement of BS may be classified into two forms: (1) parenchymal (p-NBS) and (2) vascular involvement.

p-NBS

p-NBS with the rate of 75% among neurological involvements of BS usually presents with an acute-subacute brain stem syndrome characterized by headache, cranial neuropathy, dysarthria, ataxia, and hemiparesis as the most prominent symptoms [19]. While the headache is also the cardinal symptom of vascular involvement, differentiation of the neurologic type should be done cautiously together with the MRI features as the long-term treatment differs between these two types of neurological involvement [22]. Regarding the clinical phenotype p-NBS, it may be classified as four subtypes similar to multiple sclerosis (MS): (1) single attack, (2) relapsing form, (3) secondary progressive, and (4) primary progressive [23]. One of the main clinical differences between p-NBS and MS is that patients with the relapsing form of MS usually recover well, while those with the relapsing form of p-NBS do not [24]. The other difference between MS and NBS relies on laboratory findings: while CSF cell counts are typically within normal limits and oligoclonal bands are present in MS, pleocytosis is frequently observed, and oligoclonal bands are rarely detected in p-NBS [25].
Besides clinical features of p-NBS, MRI patterns are of utmost importance of distinguishing the p-NBS from the other disorders mimicking p-NBS (Fig. 1). The most common areas affected in p-NBS are the mesodiencephalic junction (MDJ), pons, and medulla oblongata. MDJ lesions tend to extend upward to involve the diencephalic structures and downward to involve the pontobulbar region which is the most common radiological finding observed in p-NBS (Fig. 1) [26]. Brainstem lesions extending into the diencephalic and basal ganglia during acute disease may exert mass effects caused by vasogenic edema and thus resemble tumors. Some tumefactive lesions have been confused with primary or metastatic tumors, but only a few were located in structures other than the brainstem and deep hemispheric structures such as the frontoparietal or temporal lobe or the cerebellum [27].

Out of the brainstem, spinal cord involvement is also observed in p-NBS. A long segment myelopathy occurs in most cases, which mimics neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) antibody-associated disorders (MOGSD) [28–30]. However, the recently described "Bagel Sign" pattern of spinal cord involvement in BS may be helpful for



Fig. 1 Cranial magnetic resonance imaging patterns in Behçet's syndrome. (**a**) Axial T2W, axial Gd+T1W images during the episode #1. Axial T2W reveals pontine lesion and weakly gadolinium enhancement in axial Gd+T1W. (**b**) Axial T2W, axial Gd+T1W images 6 months after the episode #1. The lesion was resolved with a sequela on T2W and hypo-intensity is observed in axial Gd+T1W. (**c**) Axial T2W, axial Gd+T1W images during the episode #2, 1 year after the episode #1. Axial T2W reveals lesion in the medulla oblongata and gadolinium enhancement in the corresponding area. (**d**) Axial T2W, axial Gd+T1W images during the episode #3, 1 month after episode #2 while the patient was on oral steroid after the administration of intravenous methylprednisolone daily for 7 days. Axial T2W reveals lesion in the medulla oblongata and prominent gadolinium enhancement in the corresponding area

differentiating NMOSD and MOG antibody-associated disorders from p-NBS as this pattern has not been observed in these disorders so far [28]. "Bagel Sign" pattern is characterized by a central lesion with a hypo-intense core and a hyper-intense rim, with or without contrast enhancement.

Neuro-psycho-Behçet syndrome may be expressed with a number of symptoms such as euphoria, loss of insight, disinhibition, indifference to the disease, psychomotor agitation, or retardation with paranoid attitudes, and obsessive concerns may be seen in BS with or without cognitive impairment [31, 32].

Given that the subacute progressive presentation of the clinical findings, the distribution of the lesions prominently in the area where the venous anastomosis is few, the significant resolution of the perilesional edema with some small residue, and the pathological findings regarding p-NBS support that the venous pathogenesis plays a major role in the development of p-NBS.

Peripheral nervous system involvement is extremely rare in BS. Mononeuritis multiplex, polyradiculoneuritis, sensorimotor axonal neuropathy, or recurrent episodes of myositis had been reported in BS. However, peripheral neuropathy is much more observed in BS as a result of thalidomide or colchicine treatment rather than the direct involvement of BS [40].

Vascular Involvement

The main type of vascular involvement is cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) associated with a better prognosis than p-NBS. The clinical manifestations vary by the site and extension of venous thrombosis [33]. Major vascular involvement other than CVST includes aneurysm and/or dissection. The sites of involvement include the common carotid, internal carotid, middle cerebral, superior cerebellar, anterior cerebral, anterior communicating, and vertebral arteries [34].

CVST occurs in up to 20% of BS patients with neurological involvement. In such patients, the principal clinical features (severe headache, papilledema, and sixthnerve palsy on neurological examination) are compatible with intracranial hypertension [19]. Most studies show that BS-associated CVST has a good prognosis in contrast to other etiologies causing CVST. The systemic features of BS in CVST patients, especially those living in endemic regions, should be looked for. CVST is usually subacute or chronic; only about 25% of cases exhibit clinical features for more than 1 month [35]. Hemiparesis, impaired consciousness, and epileptic seizures are uncommon in CVST patients with NBS. This may be explained by the extremely low probability of seeing hemorrhagic venous infarcts associated with NBS-CVST. Cranial MRI and magnetic resonance venography (MRV) will show that the most commonly involved dural venous sinuses are the superior and transverse sinuses, followed by the sigmoid and straight sinuses [33, 36]. Single-sinus occlusion is more frequent than multiple occlusions [36]. However, if treatment is delayed because of misdiagnosis, multiple sites may be affected in the later stages of BS-CVST and, in a few, may compromise the optic nerves, resulting in blindness.

Additionally, clinicians should be aware that cranial MRI and MRV scans may not show sinus thrombosis, even if the clinical findings strongly suggest its presence. In such situations, MRV of the thoracic and cervical venous structures should be evaluated. Irrespective of whether the neuroimaging data are abnormal or normal, we generally perform a spinal tap to study CSF pressure and contents in the suspected cases. Two case series found that CVST was more common in younger patients, supporting the idea that age is important in terms of NBS presentation [37, 38]. Interestingly, despite the observation of an elevated opening pressure, the CSF is free of inflammatory changes in BS-CVST patients.

Vascular involvement other than CNS includes deep venous thrombosis, thrombophlebitis, and pulmonary artery aneurysm, and pulmonary artery aneurysm is a serious cause of morbidity and mortality in BS [39].

The differential diagnosis for NBS is summarized in Table 1 [40].

Pathogenesis

Both innate and adaptive immune systems are thought to play roles in the pathogenesis of BS [3]. Increased Th1, CD4+ and CD8+ T cell, $\gamma\delta$ + T cell, and neutrophil activities have been found both in the serum and in inflamed tissues of BS patients, suggesting the involvement of innate and adaptive immunity in the pathogenesis of BS [41, 42]. However, the exact pathogenesis of the disease remains unknown, but an autoimmune vasculitis predisposed by genetic determinants triggered by exogenous factors is suspected [43].





Microbial infections were thought to trigger BS either directly (streptococci and viruses) or indirectly (via heat shock proteins or molecular mimicry), since the first description of BS [44]. Although laboratory results, including the proliferation of T cells induced by heat shock proteins (HSP) associated with *Streptococcus sanguinis, Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, and a variety of autoantibodies support autoimmune processes as the cause of BS, it is currently thought that these antibodies are the result of tissue injury rather than the cause of BS [3].

The HLA-B51 allele located in the major histocompatibility (MHC) locus on chromosome 6p21 is strongly associated with BS and is positive in 50-80% of BS patients. However, the HLA-B51 positivity rates differ substantially among regions, and the specificity of HLA-B51 decreases in the population living along the Silk Road [45]. A recent meta-analysis revealed that HLA-B51/B5 is associated with significantly increased disability [46]. The MICA (an MHC class I related gene) and TNF genes were also found to be associated with disease susceptibility when they are present in a MHC locus other than HLA-B51. Nevertheless, it is unclear whether these genes are primarily related to the disease or the result of linkage disequilibrium with HLA-B51 [47]. Moreover, genome-wide association studies did not find an independent association between MICA and BS [48]. In addition to HLA, other candidate BS genes have also been studied. Although polymorphisms in coagulation factor V, endothelial nitric oxide synthase, and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 were found to be associated with BS, the contribution of these genetic variants to disease susceptibility remains unclear due to the limited number of cases in these studies [48]. Recently, a robust genetic association of PSORS1C1 with B and an independent genetic association of HLA-Cw*1602 with BS, with genome-wide significance, were identified in two independent cohorts [49].

Given the presence of prolonged inflammation (i.e., pathergy), both the innate and adaptive immune systems are thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of BS [50]. Nonetheless, whether this hyperactivity results from autoimmune or autoinflammatory processes remains controversial [51]. Several autoantigens are part of the inflammatory response in BS, including anti-endothelial antigen, retinal S antigen, heat shock proteins (HSP), killer immunoglobulin-like receptors, co-stimulatory molecules, tropomyosin, and oxidized low-density lipoprotein. However, it is unclear whether these are truly pathogenic or the result of the inflammation of BS during disease activation [3]. Recently, *Lule* et al. identified antibodies to human and mouse neurofibrils that cross-react with bacterial HSP-65, which supports the autoimmune disease theory [52].

Several cytokines are known to be elevated isn BS, including IL-1 β , tissue necrosis factor α (TNF α), IL-6, IL-10, and IL-23. IL-1 β is the principal proinflammatory cytokine, and it leads to the expression of many chemokines and secondary mediators of inflammation and upregulates innate immunity in response to infectious agents. Gül et al. strongly implicated IL-1 β in BS and observed significant improvements in patients with uveitis treated with IL-1 β -regulating antibody [53]. TNF α is another pro-inflammatory cytokine that has been widely investigated in BS. The elevated TNF α levels in BS and significant association between TNF α polymorphisms and BS susceptibility suggest that the treatment of BS with TNF α blockers is reasonable [54]. IL-6 was also found to be elevated in active BS patients compared with inactive BS and healthy controls. Although tocilizumab, an agent that blocks IL-6 signaling, has shown promising results in treating the neurological involvement of BS, the effectiveness of the drug in other forms of BS is controversial [55, 56].

In contrast to other autoimmune disorders, common autoantibodies (e.g., antinuclear antibody), female predominance, and comorbid autoimmune diseases are not observed in BS [50]. Most of the clinical features of BS satisfy some of the clinical criteria of autoinflammatory diseases, such as the self-limited nature of the disease, variable recurrence rate, and spontaneous healing of its lesions without scarring. Other factors argue against it being an autoinflammatory disease, such as the involvement of the retina, vascular structures, and central nervous system during episodes causing permanent damage, the later age of onset, the presence of vasculitis, and the ineffectiveness of IL-1 β treatments in BS [3]. Nevertheless, autoinflammatory diseases should be included in the differential diagnosis of BS. Recently, McGonagle et al. proposed a new term called "MHC-I-opathy A" in a group of disease sharing immunopathogenetic basis [57]. This group of disorder mainly consists of BS and clinically distinct spondyloarthropathies whereas they are all associated with MHC Class I alleles, such as HLA-B*51, HLA-B*27, and HLA-C*0602, and epistatic endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase 1 (ERAP-1) interactions.

As BS involves both venous and arterial vessels of all sizes, it has been classified as a "variable vessel vasculitis" in the 2012 International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference on the Nomenclature of Vasculitides [58]. The infiltrates in BS are predominantly constituted of neutrophils and lymphocytes. Elevated concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-8, INF- γ , and TNF α , may be the reason for the neutrophil infiltrates [59]. Unlike the histology of other systemic vasculitides, in BS, these cells are localized around the vessels rather than inside the vessel wall. This histological "perivascular" pattern of BS, which is more similar to neutrophilic dermatosis than to classical systemic vasculitides, has been demonstrated in tissues, especially in mucosal and ocular inflammatory lesions and in pulmonary aneurysms. Similarly, skin pathergy testing reveals perivascular infiltrates of neutrophils and lymphocytes at different time points, however, without the typical features of a "true" vasculitis [60].

CSF Findings

During the acute phase of p-NBS, the CSF shows inflammatory changes in most cases of p-NBS with an increased number of cells, up to a hundred and sometimes more per ml, neutrophils being mostly the predominating cells and modestly elevated protein levels. However, an early lymphocytic pleocytosis is not an exception. When the neutrophilic pleocytosis is the case, it is later replaced by lymphocytes. The oligoclonal band positivity rate is low at a rate of 20% or less [25].

An elevated concentration of IL-6 in the CSF of patients correlating with disease activity has also been reported in p-NBS [61–63]. More recently, an increase of CSF IL-10 and CSF/serum matrix metallopeptidase-9 ratio (increased in serum and decreased in CSF compared to multiple sclerosis) was reported and suggested to be a discriminative marker between NBS and multiple sclerosis [64, 65].

Diagnosis

The diagnostic flowchart of NBS is illustrated in Table 2.

Prognosis

Brain stem or spinal cord involvement, frequent relapses, early disease progression, and high CSF pleocytosis are the poor prognostic features for NBS, which was pointed out by International Consensus Recommendation (ICR) [66]. Initiation





BS Behçet's syndrome, *CSF* cerebrospinal fluid, *CVST* cerebral venous sinus thrombosis, *ISG* International Study Group, *MDJ* mesodiencephalic junction, *NBS* neuro-Behçet's syndrome, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *MRV* magnetic resonance venography, *NEU* neutrophil, *p-NBS* parenchymal neuro-Behçet's syndrome

with severe disability, primary or secondary progressive course, fever at onset, relapse during steroid tapering, meningeal signs, and bladder involvement are possible association with poor outcome. Gender, accompanying systemic features, and age onset do not change the prognosis of NBS [67].

Treatment

Due to multisystemic involvement of BS, long-term treatments should be decided by multidisciplinary team. The first goal of the treatment in NBS is to suppress the acute episode in order to shorten the recovery time with minimal disability, and the second goal is to prevent from further attacks. However, as there are no controlled trials for the management of neurological involvement, long-term treatments depend on the clinical experience rather than trials. In this regard, prognostic factors should be taken into account for choosing the appropriate treatment together with the patients' age, gender, and patient preferences.

High-dose intravenous methylprednisolone (IVMP) pulse therapy for 5–10 days, followed by a slow oral tapering, is the first choice for treating acute episodes. The dose and duration of steroid treatment vary among centers. Colchicine, azathioprine, cyclosporine, cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, chlorambucil, thalidomide, interferon alpha, anti-TNF agents, and IL-6 blockers are among the drugs used for the preventive treatment of the systemic features of BS, which were tried for CNS involvement as well [40].

Currently, the only drug that has been shown to be effective based on the Class IV evidence is infliximab for the treatment of p-NBS [68, 69]. Although that the efficacy of azathioprine is not clear in NBS, there are a few reports suggesting that it may be effective. Due to the risk of activating latent tuberculosis among patients using infliximab, tuberculosis screening should be conducted prior to the administration of infliximab, and isoniazid prophylaxis (300 mg/day) should be prescribed for 6 or 9 months in patients with latent tuberculosis. In many centers, azathioprine is the first-line drug to be initiated once patients develop p-NBS as also suggested by the 2018 updated European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) recommendations [69]. We tend to start infliximab in patients in whom azathioprine fails and sometimes as a first-line therapy in patients who present with a severe acute attack of p-NBS and who have poor prognostic factors [68]. Given that the cyclosporine-A is associated with the increased risk of neurological involvement, it should be avoided in patients having NBS and immediately stopped in patients developing NBS under cyclosporine-A [40].

Since the recurrence of CVST is very rare, the duration of azathioprine treatment in CVST is contradictive. In our practice, we usually use azathioprine at least 5 years, and before cessation of azathioprine, we consult the patient with rheumatologists and neuro- ophthalmologist whether AZA is required for systemic features of BS other than CVST. Mycophenolate mofetil might be reasonable in NBS if gastrointestinal intolerance occur under AZA treatment. The addition of anticoagulant medication to steroids is controversial, as BS patients with CVST are more likely to have systemic large vessel disease, including pulmonary and peripheral aneurysms that carry a high risk of bleeding [69]. The complication rate with warfarin should be considered. Results of anticoagulation treatment in BS are controversial in CVST. Recurrence rate of deep vein thrombosis is more likely to decrease with an immunosuppressant; therefore, the use of immunosuppressants in the treatment of CVST should be the priority.

References

- 1. Behçet H. [Uber residivierende, aphtöse, durch ein virus verursachte Geschwüre am Mund, am Auge und an den Genitalien.] Dermatol Woschenscr. 1937;105:1152–7 (In German).
- 2. Criteria for diagnosis of Behçet's disease. International Study Group for Behçet's disease. Lancet. 1990;335:1078–80.
- Yazici H, Seyahi E, Hatemi G, Yazici Y. Behçet syndrome: a contemporary view. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14(2):107–19.
- Salvarani C, Pipitone N, Catanoso MG, et al. Epidemiology and clinical course of Behçet's disease in the Reggio Emilia area of Northern Italy: a seventeen-year population-based study. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;57(1):171–8.
- Yurdakul S, Günaydin TY, Tankurt N, Pazarli H, Ozyazgan Y, Yazici H. The prevalence of Behçet's syndrome in a rural area in northern Turkey. J Rheumatol. 1988;15(5):820–2.
- Hirohata T, Kuratsune M, Nomura A, Jimi S. Prevalence of Behçet's syndrome in Hawaii. With particular reference to the comparison of the Japanese in Hawaii and Japan. Hawaii Med J. 1975;34(7):244–6.
- Papoutsis NG, Abdel-Naser MB, Altenburg A, et al. Prevalence of Adamantiades-Behçet's disease in Germany and the municipality of Berlin: results of a nationwide survey. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2006;24(5 Suppl 42):S125.
- Gül A, Inanç M, Ocal L, Aral O, Koniçe M. Familial aggregation of Behçet's disease in Turkey. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000;59(8):622–5.
- Moore SB, O'Duffy JD. Lack of association between Behcet's disease and major histocompatibility complex class II antigens in an ethnically diverse North American Caucasoid patient group. J Rheumatol. 1986;13(4):771–3.
- Yazici H, Akokan G, Yalçin B, Müftüoğlu A. The high prevalence of HLA-B5 in Behçet's disease. Clin Exp Immunol. 1977;30(2):259–61.
- 11. Yazici Y, Yurdakul S, Yazici H. Behçet's syndrome. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2010;12:429-35.
- 12. Yurdakul S, Yazici H. Behcet's syndrome. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2008;22(5):793–809.
- 13. Esatoglu SN, Kutlubay Z, Ucar D, Hatemi I, Uygunoglu U, Siva A, et al. Behçet's syndrome: providing integrated care. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2017;10:309–19.
- 14. Mat MC, Goksugur N, Engin B, Yurdakul S, Yazici H. The frequency of scarring after genital ulcers in Behcet's syndrome: a prospective study. Int J Dermatol. 2006;45(5):554–6.
- Cunningham ET Jr, Tugal-Tutkun I, Khairallah M, Okada AA, Bodaghi B, Zierhut M. Behçet Uveitis. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2017;25(1):2–6.
- Akdal G, Toydemir HE, Saatci AO, et al. Characteristics of optic neuropathy in Behçet disease. Neurol Neuroinflamm. 2018;5(5):e490.
- Hatemi I, Hatemi G, Çelik AF. Gastrointestinal involvement in Behçet disease. Rheum Dis Clin N Am. 2018;44(1):45–64.
- 18. Bicer A. Musculoskeletal findings in Behcet's disease. Pathol Res Int. 2012;2012:653806.
- Siva A, Kantarci OH, Saip S, et al. Behçet's disease: diagnostic & prognostic aspects of neurological involvement. J Neurol. 2001;248:95–103.

- Siva A, Esatoglu SN, Uygunoglu U, et al. Could neurological involvement in Behçet's disease occur atypically? (P5.410). Neurology. 2018;90(15 Supplement).
- Siva A, Saip S. The spectrum of nervous system involvement in Behcet's syndrome and its differential diagnosis. J Neurol. 2009;256:513–29.
- 22. Saip S, Akman-Demir G, Siva A. Neuro-Behçet syndrome. Handb Clin Neurol. 2014;121:1703–23.
- Uygunoğlu U, Siva A. Behçet's syndrome and nervous system involvement. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2018;18:35.
- 24. Siva A. Common clinical and imaging conditions misdiagnosed as multiple sclerosis: A Current Approach to the Differential Diagnosis of Multiple Sclerosis. Neurol Clin. 2018;36(1):69–117.
- 25. Saruhan-Direskeneli G, Yentür SP, Mutlu M, Shugaiv E, Yesilot N, Kürtüncü M, et al. Intrathecal oligoclonal IgG bands are infrequently found in neuro-Behçet's disease. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2013;31(3 Suppl 77):25–7.
- Kocer N, Islak C, Siva A, et al. CNS involvement in neuro-Behcet's syndrome: an MR study. Am J Neuroradiol. 1999;20:1015–24.
- Cohen-Aubart F, Psimaras D, Galanaud D, et al. Cerebral pseudo-tumoral neuro-Behcet: histological demonstration of an inflammatory and vascular disease. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2017;161:48–50.
- Uygunoglu U, Zeydan B, Ozguler Y, et al. Myelopathy in Behçet's disease: the Bagel sign. Ann Neurol. 2017;82:288–98.
- Lee HS, Kim do Y, Shin HY, Choi YC, Kim SM. Spinal cord involvement in Behcet's disease. Mult Scler. 2016;22:960–3.
- 30. Uygunoglu U, Pasha M, Saip S, Siva A. Recurrent longitudinal extensive transverse myelitis in a neuro-Behcet syndrome treated with infliximab. J Spinal Cord Med. 2015;38:111–4.
- 31. Siva A, Özdoğan H, Yazıcı H, Yurdakul S, Yardım M, Akyatan N, et al. Headache, neuropsychiatric and computerized tomography findings in Behçet's syndrome. In: Lehner T, Barnes CG, editors. Recent advances in Behçet's disease. London: Royal Society of Medicine Service; 1986. p. 247–54.
- 32. Gündüz T, Emir Ö, Kürtüncü M, Mutlu M, Tumaç A, Akca S, et al. Cognitive impairment in neuro-Behcet's disease and multiple sclerosis: a comparative study. Int J Neurosci. 2012;122(11):650–6.
- Aguiar de Sousa D, Mestre T, Ferro JM. Cerebral venous thrombosis in Behçet's disease: a systematic review. J Neurol. 2011;258(5):719–27.
- 34. Kizilkilic O, Albayram S, Adaletli I, et al. Endovascular treatment of Behçet's disease-associated intracranial aneurysms: report of two cases and review of the literature. Neuroradiology. 2003;45:328–34.
- 35. Yesilot N, Bahar S, Yilmazer S, Mutlu M, Kurtuncu M, Tuncay R, et al. Cerebral venous thrombosis in Behçet's disease compared to those associated with other etiologies. J Neurol. 2009;256(7):1134–42.
- 36. Uluduz D, Midi I, Duman T, et al. Behçet's disease as a causative factor of cerebral venous sinus thrombosis: subgroup analysis of data from the VENOST study. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2019;58(4):600–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/key153.
- Uluduz D, Kürtüncü M, Yapıcı Z, et al. Clinical characteristics of pediatric-onset neuro-Behçet disease. Neurology. 2011;77(21):1900–5.
- 38. Shi J, Huang X, Li G, Wang L, Liu J, Xu Y, Zeng X, Zheng W. Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis in Behçet's disease: a retrospective case-control study. Clin Rheumatol. 2018;37(1):51–7.
- Hamuryudan V, Yurdakul S, Moral F, et al. Pulmonary arterial aneurysms in Behçet's syndrome: a report of 24 cases. Br J Rheumatol. 1994;33(1):48–51.
- Uygunoglu U, Saip S, Siva A. Chapter 28: Behcet's syndrome and nervous system involvement. In: Lisak RP, Truong DD, Carroll WM, et al., editors. International neurology, vol. 2016. 2nd ed. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. p. 88–93.
- Alpsoy E. Behçet's disease: a comprehensive review with a focus on epidemiology, etiology and clinical features, and management of mucocutaneous lesions. J Dermatol. 2016;43(6):620–32.

- Direskeneli H, Fujita H, Akdis CA. Regulation of T_H17 and regulatory T cells in patients with Behçet disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011;128(3):665–6.
- 43. Davatchi F, Shahram F, Akbarian M, et al. Behçet disease: analysis of 3443 cases. APLAR J Rheumatol. 1997;1:2–5.
- Zierhut M, Mizuki N, Ohno S, et al. Immunology and functional genomics of Behçet's disease. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2003;60(9):1903–22.
- 45. Yazıcı H, Fresko I, Yurdakul S. Behçet's syndrome: disease manifestations, management, and advances in treatment. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol. 2007;3:151–5.
- 46. Maldini C, Lavalley MP, Cheminant M, de Menthon M, Mahr A. Relationships of HLA-B51 or B5 genotype with Behcet's disease clinical characteristics: systematic review and metaanalyses of observational studies. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012;51(5):887–900.
- 47. Marshall SE. Behçet's disease. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2004;18(3):291-311.
- Mizuki N, Meguro A, Ota M, Ohno S, Shiota T, Kawagoe T, et al. Genome-wide association studies identify IL23R-IL12RB2 and IL10 as Behçet's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet. 2010;42:703–6.
- 49. Hughes T, Coit P, Adler A, et al. Identification of multiple independent susceptibility loci in the HLA region in Behçet's disease. Nat Genet. 2013;45(3):319–24.
- Direskeneli H. Autoimmunity vs autoinflammation in Behcet's disease: do we oversimplify a complex disorder? Rheumatology (Oxford). 2006;45(12):1461–5.
- 51. Gul A. Behcet's disease as an autoinflammatory disorder. Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy. 2005;4:81–3.
- Lule S, Colpak AI, Balci-Peynircioglu B, et al. Behçet disease serum is immunoreactive to neurofilament medium which share common epitopes to bacterial HSP-65, a putative trigger. J Autoimmun. 2017;84:87–96.
- 53. Gül A, Tugal-Tutkun I, Dinarello CA, et al. Interleukin-1β-regulating antibody XOMA 052 (gevokizumab) in the treatment of acute exacerbations of resistant uveitis of Behcet's disease: an open-label pilot study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71:563–6.
- Arida A, Fragiadaki K, Giavri E, Sfikakis PP. Anti-TNF agents for Behçet's disease: analysis of published data on 369 patients. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2011;41:61–70.
- Addimanda O, Pipitone N, Pazzola G, Salvarani C. Tocilizumab for severe refractory neuro-Behçet: three cases IL-6 blockade in neuro-Behçet. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2015;44:472–5.
- 56. Deroux A, Chiquet C, Bouillet L. Tocilizumab in severe and refractory Behcet's disease: four cases and literature review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2016;45:733–7.
- McGonagle D, Aydin SZ, Gül A, Mahr A, Direskeneli H. 'MHC-I-opathy'-unified concept for spondyloarthritis and Behçet disease. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2015;11:731–40.
- Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, Basu N, Cid MC, Ferrario F, et al. 2012 revised International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference Nomenclature of Vasculitides. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(1):1–11.
- 59. Neves FS, Spiller F. Possible mechanisms of neutrophil activation in Behçet's disease. Int Immunopharmacol. 2013;17(4):1206–10.
- 60. Ergun T, Gurbuz O, Harvell J, Jorizzo J, White W. The histopathology of pathergy: a chronologic study of skin hyperreactivity in Behcet's disease. Int J Dermatol. 1998;37:929–33.
- Hirohata S, Isshi K, Oguchi H, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-6 in progressive neuro-Behçet s syndrome. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1997;82(1):12–7.
- 62. Akman-Demir G, Tuzun E, Icoz S, et al. Interleukin-6 in neuro-Behçet s disease: association with disease subsets and long-term outcome. Cytokine. 2008b;44(3):373–6.
- 63. Hirohata S, Kikuchi H. Changes in biomarkers focused on differences in disease course or treatment in patients with neuro-Behçet's disease. Intern Med. 2012a;51(24):3359–65.
- 64. Aldinucci A, Bonechi E, Biagioli T, et al. CSF/serum matrix metallopeptidase-9 ratio discriminates neuro Behçet from multiple sclerosis. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2018;5(4):493–8.
- Belghith M, Bahrini K, Kchaou M, Maghrebi O, Belal S, Barbouche MR. Cerebrospinal fluid IL-10 as an early stage discriminative marker between multiple sclerosis and neuro-Behçet disease. Cytokine. 2018;108:160–7.
- 66. Kalra S, Silman A, Akman-Demir G, et al. Diagnosis and management of neuro-Behcet's disease: international consensus recommendations. J Neurol. 2014;261:1662–76.

- 67. Al-Araji A, Kidd DP. Neuro-Behçet's disease: epidemiology, clinical characteristics, and management. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8:192–204.
- Zeydan B, Uygunoglu U, Saip S, et al. Infliximab is a plausible alternative for neurologic complications of Behçet disease. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2016;3(5):e258.
- 69. Ozguler Y, Leccese P, Christensen R, et al. Management of major organ involvement of Behçet's syndrome: a systematic review for update of the EULAR recommendations. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018;57(12):2200–12.

Neuroinflammation and Sjogren's Syndrome



Pasquale Annunziata

Abstract Sjogren's syndrome (SS) is a chronic organ-specific autoimmune disease mainly involving exocrine glands such as lacrimal and salivary glands. SS may also involve central and peripheral nervous system with variable prevalence due to differences in diagnostic criteria and in time length to reach diagnosis. Clinical features of the central nervous involvement share similarities with multiple sclerosis (MS) and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD), two major neuroimmune disorders. SS may even coexist with MS or NMOSD. Sensory neuropathy, chronic polyradiculoneuropathy, cranial neuropathies as well as small fibre neuropathy are the main manifestations of the peripheral nervous system involvement. The pathogenic mechanism underlying neuro-SS is unclear even though molecular mimicry and epitope spreading have been hypothesized for central nervous involvement. Treatment is mainly based on immunosuppressive therapies requiring a close cooperation between neurologists and rheumatologists to achieve the best management.

Keywords Sjogren's syndrome · Multiple sclerosis · NMOSD · Polyneuropathy · Autoimmunity

Introduction

Sjogren's syndrome (SS) is a chronic organ-specific autoimmune disease that is characterized by lymphocytic infiltrate and progressive degeneration of the exocrine glands such as lacrimal and salivary glands. This disorder may present with both an isolated syndrome named primary SS (PSS) and a secondary SS in association with other connective tissue diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus and systemic sclerosis (reviewed in [1]). SS may also involve central/

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

P. Annunziata (🖂)

Department of Medicine, Surgery and Neurosciences, Clinical Neuroimmunology Unit, University of Siena, Siena, Italy e-mail: annunziata@unisi.it

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_23

peripheral nervous system (CNS/PNS) and likely represents the connective disorder with most intriguing features (mainly regarding the central nervous system manifestations) that, sometimes, raise doubts in diagnosis and thus in treatment for both rheumatologists and neurologists.

Epidemiology

Data on the prevalence of PSS are heterogeneous, ranging from 0.2% in a Danish population to 3.9% in a population-based study in United States (reviewed in [2]). However, the prevalence of PSS coexisting with CNS clinical features and consistent with the diagnosis of inflammatory nervous disorders such as multiple sclerosis (MS) is questionable ranging from 0% to 16.7% [3–7]. Conversely, the prevalence of peripheral nervous system (PNS) features in SS ranges from 25% to 59% of PSS patients [8–10]. This heterogeneity is due to a number of reasons including the criteria used in performing diagnosis of SS as well as the long time needed to reach a diagnosis of SS sometimes requiring an average of 10 years [11]. Table 1 summarizes the most relevant epidemiological findings.

Clinical Manifestations

Clinical Features of Sjogren's Syndrome

The classical clinical features of PSS involve lacrimal and salivary glands and are part of the 'sicca syndrome complex' including xerophthalmia and xerostomia as well as recurrent salivary gland enlargement. However, the disease may involve other organs and systems such as the lung, liver, kidney and circulation [12]. Respiratory symptoms such as cough or rarely interstitial pneumonitis and fibrosis may be present [13]. Mild hepatitis or intestinal malabsorption occurs, while glomerulonephritis, rarely progressing towards a nephrotic syndrome, may develop [14]. SS may occur in association with other connective disorders such as

Table 1 Epidemiology ofSjogren's syndrome withnervous involvement

	Prevalence	References
CNS	5.8%-38%	[9, 20, 21]
MS	0%-16.7%	[3–7]
PNS	25%-59%	[8-10]
	1.8%ª	[27]

CNS central nervous system, *MS* multiple sclerosis, *PNS* peripheral nervous system ^asupported by electrophysiological findings

rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus and systemic sclerosis consisting with secondary SS. Arthralgias and myalgias occur in 53% and 22% of patients, respectively [12]. The severity of clinical features is variable extending from benign course characterized by clinical remission stages up to rare severe manifestations when being associated with peripheral blood alterations such as purpura, reduced complement levels and monoclonal cryoglobulinemia that may increase mortality [15]. Other secondary symptoms are part of the various SS clinical scenario. Fatigue is present in nearly 50% of PSS patients, sometimes debilitating, and often associated with hypothyroidism [16]. Another symptom is pain that may represent one characterizing sign of fibromyalgia detected in more than 20% of PSS [17]. A mild Raynaud's phenomenon also occurs in nearly 30% of SS patients, and different skin alterations such as dryness or burning are detected. When skin ulcerations are present, vasculitis of small- or medium-sized vessels is observed [18].

Clinical Features of Central Nervous Involvement

The neurological involvement in SS consists of symptoms and signs affecting both PNS and CNS [19], but it is still matter of discussion whether central or peripheral nervous involvement may be predominant. Isolated CNS involvement was found to vary between 5.8% and 38% of PSS patients [9, 20, 21]. Brain, spinal cord and optic nerve may be affected in percentages variable and not necessarily in the same patient. The clinical features are secondary to location of inflammatory lesions in the brain and spinal cord white matter and include aphasia, hemiparesis, cerebellar symptoms, brainstem symptoms, sensory impairment, acute myelitis, chronic myelopathy, aseptic meningitis as well as optic neuritis [9, 20, 22]. The neurological manifestations in SS occur in various times developing prior to or after SS onset (reviewed in [1]) and thus leading to delay in diagnosis assessment. However, CNS involvement preceding SS diagnosis seems to be predominant ranging from 52% to 80% of subjects [9, 20, 22].

Two major inflammatory nervous disorders characterizing central nervous involvement in SS are MS and neuromyelitis optica (NMO). Clinical and laboratory features of PSS may develop during the course of MS with various diseases duration ranging from 9.3 to 13 years [5, 6] and with higher prevalence in progressive MS supporting the need to perform screening for SS in all patients with primary progressive MS [7]. An important issue is the occurrence of clinical signs or symptoms of sicca syndrome in the course of MS. This issue was addressed in a large multicentre study in Italy. Sicca syndrome occurred in 9.6% of MS patients and was detected at onset of disease in 2.3% of cases [4]. However, the presence of sicca syndrome was not related to SS development and tended to arise in progressive forms of MS patients displaying a higher disability and higher frequency of cognitive disturbances with a low inflammatory disease activity as assessed at magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). This finding suggests a different pathogenic mechanism underlying xerophthalmia and xerostomia in MS from that known in SS, linking the

Table 2Clinical features ofcentral nervous involvementin Sjogren's syndrome

Optic neuritis
Aphasia
Hemiparesis
Brainstem symptoms
Cerebellar symptoms (ataxia, dysmetria)
Acute transverse myelitis
Aseptic meningitis
Sensory impairment

development of sicca complex symptoms in MS to autonomic dysfunction involving both parasympathetic and sympathetic systems, previously demonstrated in this disorder [23]. Moreover, PSS may develop during MS course under immunomodulatory therapy with Interferon beta, both in non-responder and in good responder patients after a few months from MS onset [24] or after a very long time up to 29 years from MS onset [25]. Currently, a pathogenic role of immunomodulatory therapies in developing SS in course of MS has not been demonstrated. SS was found to be part of clinical onset of NMO and is currently included in NMO spectrum disorders appearing as acute transverse myelitis with MRI lesions involving one or more spinal cord segments [26]. The main clinical features are paraparesis, hypoesthesia or anaesthesia with cervical or thoracic sensory level associated or not with sphincter dysfunction. Table 2 summarizes the most frequent clinical features of central nervous involvement in SS.

Clinical Features of Peripheral Nervous Involvement

PNS involvement based on clinical assessment ranges from 25% to 59% of PSS patients [8–10]. This frequency dramatically decreased when electrophysiological assessment was used showing the prevalence of peripheral neuropathy reaching only 1.8% in a large cohort of patients with PSS [27]. The most common neuropathies reported in PSS patients include sensory neuropathy with or without ataxia, sensory-motor neuropathy, mononeuritis multiplex, chronic polyradiculoneuropathy, cranial neuropathies as well as small fibre neuropathy [8–10]. The neuropathy is mainly axonal. These patients may have extraglandular manifestations including purpura and vasculitis and laboratory features such as monoclonal cryoglobulinemia. The related clinical features include distal symmetric sensory loss, sensory ataxia due to loss of proprioceptive large fibres associated with ganglionopathy and painful dysesthesias characterizing small fibre sensory neuropathy and due to degeneration of cutaneous axons. Table 3 summarizes the main clinical features of peripheral involvement in SS.

Sensory neuropathy with or without ataxia (dysesthesias in arms or legs, with or without pain)
Sensory-motor neuropathy (dysesthesias or hypoesthesias, limb weakness)
Mononeuritis multiplex
Cranial neuropathies (facial or oculo-motor neuropathies)
Small fibre neuropathy (painful dysesthesias)
Chronic polyradiculoneuropathy (progressive limb weakness, gait impairment with or without dysesthesias)

Table 3 Clinical features of peripheral nervous involvement in Sjogren's syndrome

Pathogenesis

Immunopathogenesis of Sjogren's Syndrome

Currently, there is a wide agreement on the concept that a combination of genetic susceptibility and environmental factors may account for the pathogenesis of SS (reviewed in [1]). The role of several viral infections in the SS induction has been investigated. The list of viruses includes cytomegalovirus (CMV) and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). An association with retroviruses such as HTLV-1 and HIV has also been reported (reviewed in [28]). Dendritic and epithelial cells of the salivary glands could be activated by viral antigens, leading to upregulation of pro-inflammatory and anti-viral genes resulting in presentation of the MHC class 2 molecules and secretion of several pro-inflammatory cytokines, mainly type-1 interferon (IFN-1) but also including B-cell-activating factor (BAFF), interleukin (IL)-6, IL-21 and IL-12 (reviewed in [1]). This strong inflammatory response results in the breakdown of innate response leading to activation of the adaptive immune response involving both T- and B-lymphocytes. These cells could migrate from peripheral blood entering the salivary gland parenchyma where they interact with antigen-presenting cells (APCs). It is likely that SSA and SSB represent the most important antigens presented by APCs. A second step of the pathogenic pathway is characterized by infiltration of lacrimal and salivary glands by CD4⁺ but also CD8⁺ T cells playing a role in the glandular injury. B-cell immunity also participates in the glandular injury through production of autoantibodies against M3 muscarinic receptors largely expressed on salivary gland epithelial cells (reviewed in [1]).

Immunopathogenesis of Nervous Involvement

The pathogenesis of the nervous system involvement in SS remains unclear and, to date, is mainly speculative. However, two major immunological mechanisms could be hypothesized to play a role: molecular mimicry and epitope spreading. T- and B-cell response could be triggered by a putative molecular mimicry mechanism between glandular epithelium antigens and CNS antigens that remain to be identified. This molecular mimicry could lead activated T-cell clones recognizing salivary

and lacrimal gland antigens to also recognize any putative nervous myelin antigen or, alternatively, any cerebral endothelial antigen at the blood-brain barrier (BBB) facilitating their passage into the brain parenchyma. B-lymphocytes also significantly contribute to intrathecal immune response producing antibodies reacting with specific myelin antigens. However, although IgG oligoclonal bands may be rarely detected in cerebrospinal fluid of SS patients, there is still no clear evidence for any myelin antigen recognized by these IgGs in SS. The passage of T and B cells across BBB could also be due to an epitope spreading mechanism [2] leading, in a subject with MS or SS, the immune response to extend from the peripheral blood compartment and salivary glands, respectively, to brain parenchyma. These concepts appear less appropriate for explaining the PNS involvement in SS. SS patients with clinical evidence of neuropathy do not display any circulating antibody directed against anti-myelin antigen [8]. However, vasculitis involving neural vessels is rarely present in SS patients and mainly, when peripheral blood alterations including purpura or cryoglobulinemia are found [12]. Moreover, alterations of the endoneural microvessels were observed in SS patients with neuropathy [29]. Figure 1 shows the main mechanisms underlying central nervous involvement in SS.



Fig. 1 Pathogenesis of the central nervous involvement in Sjogren's syndrome

Diagnosis

Currently, SS is diagnosed based on the presence of ocular and/or oral symptoms and ocular signs according to the items listed by the American-European Consensus Group (AECG) for SS as classification criteria [30]. These items also comprise a number of laboratory tests such as serum anti-Ro (SSA) and SSB antibodies as well as instrumental diagnostic tests including testing for dry eye (Schirmer's test), salivary test and minor salivary gland biopsy. The diagnosis of neurological involvement in course of SS does not appear clear at any time as due to various temporal intervals elapsing from the onset of neurological features to the SS diagnosis. This interval may take out up to 5 years [9]. Further problems come from detection of subclinical cerebral white matter lesions at MRI in PSS with no appearance of clear clinical neurological features. These lesions are not easily distinguishable from those typical of MS and thus nurture further pathogenic questions [31]. Another question is raised when, in definite MS, sicca syndrome signs and symptoms occur supporting the hypothesis of SS development. However, serum anti-Ro (SSA) and SSB antibodies are not sufficient for establishing a diagnosis even though a low frequency (7% only) of SSA antibodies has been detected in MS patients [32]. If pathogenic tests for diagnosing MS in the course of SS are lacking, more help is available for NMO diagnosis in the course of SS based on the identification of serum NMO-IgG antibody binding to aquaporin-4 (AQP4), as reliable laboratory biomarker of the NMO spectrum disorders (NMOSD) [26]. Recently, a diagnostic algorithm helping for practical managing of SS and MS has been proposed [33]. Search for sicca symptoms (xerophthalmia and xerostomia) should be performed in all patients with MS. In the presence of these symptoms, diagnostic tests (Schirmer's test) and serological screening (serum anti-SSA and anti-SSB antibodies) for SS are recommended. In case of positive findings, the diagnostic work-up should be concluded with a biopsy of minor salivary glands (Fig. 2). Conversely, in patients with PSS, a brain MRI is useful to search for any white matter lesions (mainly active as suggested by gadolinium enhancement) that should lead to perform evoked potentials and cerebrospinal fluid analysis. The positivity of these tests could support MS diagnosis according to the current revised diagnostic criteria (reviewed in [34]). Moreover, the detection of spinal cord lesions at MRI in patients with PSS requires serum anti-aquaporin-4 antibody assay to exclude a diagnosis of NMO spectrum disorder (reviewed in [35]) (Fig. 2).

On the other hand, the diagnosis of peripheral nervous involvement in course of PSS appears easier, based on clinical and neurophysiological parameters. Clinical features of PNS involvement such as sensory disturbances associated or not with pain may account for a suspected neuropathy. Electrophysiology tests such as nerve conduction studies and somatosensory evoked potentials could confirm the clinical suspicion.



Treatment

Treatment of CNS and PNS involvement in SS aims to reduce signs and symptoms related to both SS and definite neurological disorders appearing in the course of or pre-existing to SS development. When sicca syndrome occurs in MS patients, symptomatic treatment is based on the same recommendations as PSS such as hydration, avoiding anticholinergic drugs and artificial tears. Rarely, sicca symptoms are severe in the course of MS and do not require the use of muscarinic agonists employed in PSS such as pilocarpine or cevimeline [36]. When the central nervous involvement satisfies the criteria of MS, the first-line disease-modifying therapies including intramuscular or subcutaneous interferon beta 1a or beta 1b are the established choice. Due to their well-known gastrointestinal side effects, oral immunomodulators such as dimethylfumarate appear not suitable. However, in case of MS diagnosis in the course of PSS, the treatment resembles that of definite MS and the acute clinical relapses occurring during the disease are treated with standard high-dose intravenous methylprednisolone (IVMP). In central nervous involvement not satisfying the diagnostic criteria for definite MS, clinical features may be treated with oral corticosteroids or, more frequently, with IVMP. Cyclophosphamide has been used in resistant cases. When adverse events occur or in case of low efficacy, intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG) may be employed. In the presence of frequent relapses, other immunosuppressive drugs such as azathioprine or methotrexate have been used. In SS with severe systemic symptoms such as recurrent severe arthralgias, rituximab, an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, can be administered. In SS occurring in the course of NMO, IVMP could be efficacious at the first clinical manifestations. However, in the presence of relapses, azathioprine or, in case of inefficacy, rituximab may be used (reviewed in [37]). In SS patients with sensory neuropathy, dysesthesias and pain may be treated with gabapentin/pregabalin or with IVIG in absence of response. Chronic polyradiculoneuropathy is treated with

Clinical feature	Drug	Administration route	Dose
CNS	Prednisone	Os	1 mg/kg/die
	IVMP	Intravenous	1 g/die per 3-5 days
	IVIG	Intravenous	0.4 g/kg die 5 days
	Cyclophosphamide	Os	50-100 mg/die
	Rituximab	Intravenous	750 mg on day 1 and day 15
MS	Interferon beta 1a	Subcutaneous	22-44 µg (3 days a week)
	Interferon beta 1a	Intramuscular	30 µg/week
	Interferon beta 1b	Subcutaneous	250 µg each other day)
	IVMP	Intravenous	1 g/die per 3–5 days (for relapses)
NMO	IVMP	Intravenous	1 g/die per 3-5 days
	Azathioprine	Os	2 mg/kg/die
	Rituximab	Intravenous	750 mg on day 1 and day 15
PNS	Prednisone	Os	1 mg/kg/die
	Gabapentin	Os	900–1600 mg/die
	Pregabalin	Os	300-600 mg/die
	IVIG	Intravenous	0.4 g/kg die 5 days

Table 4 Treatment of Sjogren's syndrome with nervous involvement

CNS central nervous system, *MS* multiple sclerosis, *NMO* neuromyelitis optica, *PNS* peripheral nervous system, *IVMP* intravenous methylprednisolone, *IVIG* intravenous immunoglobulins

oral corticosteroids or with IVIG in severe or relapsing cases. An efficacious treatment of SS with nervous involvement requires a close cooperation between neurologists and rheumatologists to achieve the best management of all symptoms and signs appearing in the course of the related disorders. Table 4 summarizes the main treatments and related doses in SS with nervous involvement.

References

- 1. Peri Y, Agmon-Levin N, Theodor E, Shoenfeld Y. Sjögren's syndrome, the old and the new. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2012;26:105–17.
- Vanderlugt CL, Miller SD. Epitope spreading in immune-mediated diseases: implications for immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2:85–95.
- Noseworthy JH, Bass BH, Vandervoort MK, et al. The prevalence of primary Sjögren's syndrome in a multiple sclerosis population. Ann Neurol. 1989;25:95–8.
- 4. Annunziata P, De Santi L, Di Rezze S, et al. Clinical features of Sjogren's syndrome in patients with multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2011;124:109–14.
- 5. Mirò J, Peña-Sagredo JL, Berciano J, Insùa S, Leno C, Velarde R. Prevalence of primary Sjögren's syndrome in patients with multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 1990;27:582–4.
- Sandberg-Wollheim M, Axell T, Hansen B, et al. Primary Sjögren's syndrome in patients with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1992;42:845–7.
- 7. de Seze J, Devos D, Castelnovo G, et al. The prevalence of Sjögren syndrome in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2001;57:1359–63.
- Sène D, Jallouli M, Lefaucheur JP, et al. Peripheral neuropathies associated with primary Sjögren syndrome: immunologic profiles of nonataxic sensory neuropathy and sensorimotor neuropathy. Medicine (Baltimore). 2011;90:133–8.

- 9. Delalande S, de Seze J, Fauchais AL, et al. Neurologic manifestations in primary Sjögren syndrome: a study of 82 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2004;83:280–91.
- Gono T, Kawaguchi Y, Katsumata Y, et al. Clinical manifestations of neurological involvement in primary Sjögren's syndrome. Clin Rheumatol. 2011;30:485–90.
- Manthorpe R, Asmussen K, Oxholm P. Primary Sjogren's syndrome: diagnostic criteria, clinical features, and disease activity. J Rheumatol. 1997;24(suppl):8–11.
- Kassan SS, Moutsopoulos HM. Clinical manifestations and early diagnosis of Sjogren syndrome. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164:1275–84.
- 13. Papiris SA, Maniati M, Constantopoulos SH, et al. Lung involvement in primary Sjogren's syndrome is mainly related to the small airway disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 1999;58:61–4.
- 14. Bailey RR, Swainson CP. Renal involvement in Sjogren's syndrome. N Z Med J. 1986;99:579–80.
- 15. Skopouli FN, Dafni U, Ioannidis JP, Moutsopoulos HM. Clinical evolution, and morbidity and mortality of primary Sjogren's syndrome. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2000;29:296–304.
- Kassan SS. Managing dry eyes and dry mouth in Sjogren's syndrome. Am J Manag Care. 2001;7(suppl):S444–50.
- 17. Ostuni P, Botsios C, Sfriso P, et al. Prevalence and clinical features of fibromyalgia in systemic lupus erythematosus, systemic sclerosis, and Sjogren's syndrome. Minerva Med. 2002;93:203–9.
- Tsokos M, Lazarou SA, Moutsopoulos HM. Vasculitis in primary Sjogren's syndrome: histologic classification and clinical presentation. Am J Clin Pathol. 1987;88:26–31.
- Lafitte C. Neurologic manifestations of primary Gougerot-Sjögren syndrome. Rev Neurol. 1998;154:658–73.
- 20. Massara A, Bonazza S, Castellino G, et al. Central nervous system involvement in Sjögren's syndrome: unusual, but not unremarkable-clinical, serological characteristics and outcomes in a large cohort of Italian patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2010;49:1540–9.
- Alexander EL, Arnett FC, Provost TT, Stevens MB. Sjögren's syndrome: association of anti-Ro(SS-A) antibodies with vasculitis, hematologic abnormalities, and serologic hyperreactivity. Ann Intern Med. 1983;98:155–9.
- 22. Alexander GE, Provost TT, Stevens MB, Alexander EL. Sjögren syndrome: central nervous system manifestations. Neurology. 1981;31:1391–6.
- Flachenecker P. Autonomic dysfunction in Guillain-Barré syndrome and multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. 2007;254:96–101.
- Tsai KY, Tsai CP, Liao N. Sjögren's syndrome with central nervous system involvement presenting as multiple sclerosis with failure response to beta-interferon. Eur Neurol. 2001;45:59–60.
- 25. De Santi L, Costantini MC, Annunziata P. Long time interval between multiple sclerosis onset and occurrence of primary Sjögren's syndrome in a woman treated with interferon-beta. Acta Neurol Scand. 2005;112:194–6.
- Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Neurology. 2015;85:177–89.
- Pavlakis PP, Alexopoulos H, Kosmidis ML, et al. Peripheral neuropathies in Sjogren syndrome: a new reappraisal. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2011;82:798–802.
- 28. Yamamoto K. Pathogenesis of Sjögren's syndrome. Autoimmun Rev. 2003;2:13-8.
- 29. Gemignani F, Marbini A, Pavesi G, et al. Peripheral neuropathy associated with primary Sjogren's syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1994;57:983–6.
- 30. Vitali C, Bombardieri S, Jonsson R, et al. Classification criteria for Sjögren's syndrome: a revised version of the European criteria proposed by the American-European Consensus Group. Ann Rheum Dis. 2002;61:554–8.
- 31. Coates T, Slavotinek JP, Rischmueller M, et al. Cerebral white matter lesions in primary Sjogren's syndrome: a controlled study. J Rheumatol. 1999;26:1301–5.
- 32. De Andrés C, Guillem A, Rodriguez-Mahou M, et al. Frequency and significance of anti-Ro (SSA) antibodies in multiple sclerosis patients. Acta Neurol Scand. 2001;104:83–7.
- Masi G, Annunziata P. Sjogren's syndrome and multiple sclerosis: two sides of the same coin? Autoimmun Rev. 2016;15:457–61.

- Milo R, Miller A. Revised diagnostic criteria of multiple sclerosis. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13:518–24.
- 35. Drori T, Chapman J. Diagnosis and classification of neuromyelitis optica (Devic's syndrome). Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13:531–3.
- Psianou K, Panagoulias I, Papanastasiou AD, et al. Clinical and immunological parameters of Sjogren's syndrome. Autoimmun Rev. 2018;17:1053–64.
- Bruscolini A, Sacchetti M, La Cava M, et al. Diagnosis and management of neuromyelitis optica disorders – an update. Autoimmun Rev. 2018;17:195–200.

Guillain-Barré Syndrome



Yhojan Rodríguez, Christopher Chang, Diana C. González-Bravo, M. Eric Gershwin, and Juan-Manuel Anaya

Abstract Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) is an autoimmune acute peripheral polyneuropathy, which often follows an infectious process. The most common microorganisms associated with GBS are the bacteria Campylobacter jejuni and Mycoplasma pneumoniae. Viruses such as cytomegalovirus and the Zika virus have also been associated with GBS. The incidence of GBS ranges between 0.5 and 2 cases per 100,000 population per year. The pathophysiology of GBS most likely involves molecular mimicry, in which an autoantibody against a microorganism cross-reacts with host molecules, such as GD1a, GM1, and GM1/GD1 complex located at the terminal nerves and anterior roots, and GO1b located on oculomotor nerves and primary sensory neurons. The classical complement system has also been implicated in facilitating the development of GBS. GBS usually presents with numbness, paresthesia, and progressive weakness, but there are several clinical variants, including acute motor axonal neuropathy (AMAN), acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (AIDP), acute motor and sensory axonal neuropathy (AMSAM), Miller-Fisher syndrome (MFS), a pharyngeal-cervical-brachial variant, a paraparetic variant, and others. Treatment of GBS mostly targets the immune response through the use of IVIg, plasma exchange, and other forms of immunomodulatory therapy.

C. Chang

Division of Pediatric Immunology and Allergy, Joe DiMaggio Children's Hospital, Hollywood, FL, USA

M. E. Gershwin (⊠)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Y. Rodríguez · D. C. González-Bravo · J.-M. Anaya

Center for Autoimmune Diseases Research (CREA), School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universidad del Rosario, Bogota, Colombia

Division of Rheumatology, Allergy and Clinical Immunology, University of California Davis, School of Medicine, Davis, CA, USA

Division of Rheumatology, Allergy and Clinical Immunology, University of California Davis, School of Medicine, Davis, CA, USA e-mail: megershwin@ucdavis.edu

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_24

Keywords Guillain-Barré syndrome · Acute motor axonal neuropathy · Acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy · Genetics · Major histocompatibility complex · Molecular mimicry · Complement · Immunotherapy · Intravenous immunoglobulins · Plasma exchange

Introduction

Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) is an autoimmune acute peripheral polyneuropathy with an incidence between 0.5 and 2 cases per 100,000 cases per year and a male predominance [1]. In many cases, an infectious episode precedes the onset of neurological symptoms, suggesting that molecular mimicry may play a role in pathogenesis [2]. Through this mechanism, an infectious agent can generate a loss of immunological tolerance against the axon, leading to the acute motor axonal neuropathy (AMAN) variant of GBS, or an immunologic reaction targeting myelin, which results in the acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (AMSAM) variant. A third variant, the acute motor and sensory axonal neuropathy (AMSAM) variant, results from a simultaneous response against motor and sensory neurons.

The clinical spectrum of the disease varies among patients but is typically characterized by a progressive bilateral motor and sensory involvement in the extremities, associated with autonomic dysfunction, cranial nerve involvement, radicular pain, and respiratory dysfunction [3]. Besides the most typical clinical variants, other variants have been described, depending on the location of the neurological deficits generated by the immune response. Among the most important are the paraparetic variant, pharyngeal-cervical-brachial weakness, and bifacial weakness with paresthesias [4]. In addition, one of the most common variants of GBS is the Miller-Fisher syndrome (MFS), which can present as acute ataxic neuropathy, acute ophthalmoparesis, acute ptosis, acute mydriasis, and Bickerstaff's brainstem encephalitis [4]. The diagnosis of the disease is generally clinical; however, diagnostic tools such as cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis and nerve conduction studies are useful.

The management of patients with GBS involves immunomodulatory treatment, physical therapy, pain, and autonomic dysfunction management. Immunomodulatory management focuses on the use of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg), plasma exchange (PE), and other immune therapies directed against the autoimmune basis of the disease [3, 5]. The prognosis depends on the age of the patient, the clinical variant, and the response to treatment.

Epidemiology

After the eradication of poliomyelitis through vaccination, GBS became the main cause of flaccid paralysis. The prevalence increases with age reaching up to 26 per 100,000 inhabitants [1], with a male predominance [6, 7]. The incidence varies depending on the geographical location. In Europe, the incidence is between 0.84 and 1.91 per 100,000 people [8, 9], while in the United States, it is between 0.48 and

0.73 per 100,000 people [10]. In Latin America, it is between 0.46 and 1.37 per 100,000 people [11–14]. A history of recent infection is present about 40–70% of patients [15]. With regard to electromyographic variants, AIDP is the most common in America and Europe [16–18], whereas AMAN is usually the most common variant in Asia [19].

Clinical Manifestations

Characteristic symptoms of GBS include numbness and paresthesias, with the development of rapidly progressive limb weakness and decreased reflexes or areflexia [16]. Weakness usually starts in the lower extremities and in hours or days involves the upper extremities and respiratory and facial muscles [16]. Additionally, patients may experience sensory symptoms, ataxia, autonomic dysfunction, and neuropathic pain [3]. About one-third of patients can develop complications of GBS, such as respiratory failure [20], sepsis, and aspiration pneumonia [3].

Autonomic dysfunction may be observed in up to 65% of patients with GBS. Its presence usually affects patients with severe muscle weakness and respiratory failure. This condition is due to alterations in the autonomic system, generating hypertension, hypotension, bradycardia, bladder and bowel dysfunction, and abnormalities of sweating [21]. Of these, paroxysmal hypertension is usually the most frequently documented [3], generated by elevated renin levels and afferent baroreflex abnormality. Hypotension occurs in near 10% of the patients. It is observed mainly in patients with cranial nerves IX and X involvement, respiratory failure, and quadriplegia [22] and may be due to a "functional sympathectomy causing failure of reflex arteriolar and venous constriction, accentuated in some patients by inability to increase heart rate" [3]. Cardiac arrhythmias are the most ominous manifestation of autonomic dysfunction [3], due to uncontrolled vagal activity. The deficit in vagal activity generates tachyarrhythmias such as atrial fibrillation, sinus tachycardia, and ventricular tachycardia [3].

There are clinical variants of GBS, such as the pharyngeal-cervical-brachial variant which involves bulbar, cervical, and upper limb weakness [23]. Other variants include the paraparetic variant [20], those with bifacial weakness, paresthesias, and distal limb sensory disturbance [24]. Among the most important clinical variants of the GBS is MFS, which is characterized by the presence of ophthalmoplegia, cerebellar-like ataxia, and areflexia [25]. Bickerstaff's brainstem encephalitis presents with an altered state of consciousness [26].

Etiology: Genetic Factors

Genetic risk factors include certain HLA and non-HLA associations. Tables 1 and 2 [27–58] describe the genes associated with the development of GBS. Genetic risks related to HLA loci reinforce the autoimmune origin of a disease [59]. An

Genes	Population	HLA association	References
HLA-A	United	Slight reduction in HLA-A11 frequency in GBS than in	[27]
	States	controls	
	China	HLA-A33 associated with AIDP	[28]
	Egypt	HLA-A3 more frequent in GBS patients	[54]
HLA-B	Australia	HLA-Bw4/Thr80 frequently seen in subjects with GBS	[39]
	Japan	HLA-B39 associated with MFS	[50]
	Japan	HLA-B35 associated with GBS and anti-GM1 antibodies	[53]
	Egypt	HLA-B8 more frequent in GBS patients	[54]
	China	HLA-B15 and HLA-B35 associated with AMAN	[28]
HLA-C	Australia	HLA-C2 more frequent in GBS patients than in controls	[39]
HLA- DQA1	China	No association with GBS, however HLA-DQA1*03 was associated with GM1 antibodies	[55]
HLA-	Germany	HLA-DQB1*05:01 allele associated with severe GBS	[56]
DQB1	England	HLA-DQB1*0301 in patients with GBS and previous <i>C. jejuni</i> infection	[57]
HLA-DQ	India	Increased HLA-DQ*06 in GBS	[58]
	China	DQ beta epitopes were associated with AIDP	[29]
HLA-DQ5	China	Association with AIDP	[28]
HLA- DRB1	Iraq	HLA-DRB1*03:01, HLA-DRB1*07:01, and HLA- DRB4*01:01 were associated with GBS risk	[30]
	Tunisia	HLA-DRB1*14 and DRB1*13 associated with GBS	[31]
	India	HLA-DRB1*0701 associated with GBS with preceding infection	[58]
	Japan	HLA-DRB1*0803 in GBS patients with previous <i>C. jejuni</i> infection and positive anti-GM1 antibodies	[32]
	China	Increased HLA-DRB1*13 frequency in patients with AIDP	[33]
	China	DRB1 epitopes associated with AIDP	[29]
HLA-DR6	Iraq	HLADR6 could be associated with protection of GBS	[30]
HLA-DR15	China	Association with AIDP	[28]
HLA-DR3	Mexico	Increased in GBS patients	[34]

Table 1 Studies of HLA genes in Guillain-Barré syndrome

Modified from Blum et al. and *Rodríguez* et al. [17, 18]

GBS Guillain-Barré syndrome, AIDP acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy, MFS Miller-Fisher syndrome, AMAN acute motor axonal neuropathy, C. jejuni Campylobacter jejuni

association between HLA-A11 and HLA-A3 and GBS has been documented [27, 54]. Additionally, HLA-A33 was associated with the subphenotype AIDP [28]. There has also been reported an association between HLA-Bw4 and HLA-B8 with GBS [7, 9]. Interestingly, HLA-B35 is associated with the presence of anti-GM1 antibodies, while HLA-B15 and HLA-B35 are frequently associated with AMAN [28].

Gene	Protein	Population	References
SERPINA1	Alpha1 antitrypsin	Australia	[35]
CD1A	CD1a	Italy	[36]
CD1E	CD1e	Italy	[36]
FAS	Fas (CD95)	Netherlands	[37]
FCGR2A	FcγRIIa	India	[58]
FCGR3A	FcγRIIIa	India, the Netherlands	[38, 58]
FCGR3B	FcγRIIIb	Norway	[40]
FCRL3	FcR-like 3	China	[41]
NRC31	Glucocorticoid Receptor	Netherlands	[42]
IGHG1	G1M marker	Australia	[43]
IGHG2	G2M marker	Australia	[43]
IGHG3	G3M marker	Australia	[43]
IL 10	Interleukin 10	Norway	[44]
IGKC	KM marker	Japan	[45]
MBL2	MBL	Netherlands	[46]
MMP9	MMP9	Netherlands	[47]
TNF	TNF alpha	Netherlands, China, India	[47-49, 51]
TLR4	Toll-like receptor 4	India	[52]

Table 2 Non-HLA genes in Guillain-Barré syndrome

Modified from Blum et al. [17]

HLA-DQB1*05:01 has been associated with severe GBS [57]. Concerning non-HLA genes, some polymorphisms at *FCGR3A* and *TNF* genes are the most strongly associated [38, 47–49, 51, 58]. However, others at *FCGR3B*, *NRC31*, *IL10*, and *TLR4* have been also described [40, 42, 52].

Etiology: Triggering Factors

Like other autoimmune diseases (ADs), environmental factors may play a role in the development of GBS. Several infections have been documented as triggers of GBS (Table 3) [60–88], including *Campylobacter jejuni* (*C. jejuni*), *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* (*M. pneumoniae*), cytomegalovirus (CMV), and more recently the Zika virus (ZIKV). These infections generate an aberrant immune response through several mechanisms of which molecular mimicry (Fig. 1) is one of the most important. Molecular mimicry facilitates an immune response against epitopes within the axon and myelin in the peripheral nervous system. Among the main functions of these antigen-presenting cells (APCs) is the presentation of antigens obtained from external agents such as infections through the expression of MHC-II and the presentation of its own antigens through MHC-I [89].

C. jejuni or *M. pneumoniae* are the most common microorganisms found to precede GBS, with *C. jejuni* implicated in up to 40% of cases [90]. This bacterium is

Table 3 Infect	ions associated with Guillain-Barré syndrome	a			
Agent	Pathogen	Associated electrophysiological subphenotype(s)	Anti- ganglioside antibodies identified	Pathophysiological mechanism	References
Salmonella spp.	GBS related to enteric fever caused by Salmonella typhi (typhoid fever) or S. paratyphi (paratyphoid fever)	AIDP, MFS, and BBE	Anti-GQ1b (BBE)	It is unclear whether molecular mimicry plays a role in Salmonella-related GBS	[60, 61, 72, 82, 83]
Brucella	Involvement of gastrointestinal, hepatobilliary, and skeletal systems	AIDP, AMAN	Anti-GM1	Suggests that <i>B. melitensis</i> can induce autoimmunity through molecular mimicry	[84–88]
Bartonella henselae	Red bumps on the skin, fatigue, and discomfort lymph nodes near the lesion may become inflamed	AMAN	Not described	Pathogenic mechanisms have not been studied	[62, 63]
Helicobacter pylori	Various upper gastrointestinal diseases and extra digestive vascular conditions	AIDP, AMAN, MFS, and BBE	Not described	Molecular mimicry through VacA can induce myelin damage and GBS	[64, 65]
Borrelia spp.	Cutaneous involvement (e.g., "bull's eye" lesions) and systemic manifestations (i.e., neuritis, carditis, arthritis)	AIDP	Not described	Unclear whether molecular mimicry plays a role in <i>Borrelia</i> - related GBS	[66–71]
Rickettsia spp.	Exanthema, fever, headache, inoculation scar, and multisystem organ failure	AIDP	Not described	Unclear whether molecular mimicry plays a role in <i>Rickettsia</i> - related GBS	[73–76]
Ehrlichia chaffeensis	Flu-like symptoms, fever, myalgia, arthralgia, headaches, occasional rash	NA	Not described	Pathogenic mechanisms have not been studied	[77]
Coxiella burnetii	Flu-like disease, pneumonia, and hepatitis	AIDP	Not described	Pathogenic mechanisms have not been studied	[78]
Francisella tularensis	Ulceroglandular compromise, typhoidal symptoms	AIDP/AMAN?	Not described	Pathogenic mechanisms have not been studied	[79–81]
Modified from	Jasti A et al. [161] 3arré condrome AIDP acute inflammatorry de	emvelinating nolvradioulone	uronathy MFC N	filler-Fisher syndrome AMAN acuts	e motor avonal

716

2 2 20 neuropathy, *BBE* Bickerstaff's brainstem encephalitis



Fig. 1 Molecular mimicry. Immunological mechanism associated with the presence of Guillain-Barré syndrome related to previous infections. APC antigen-presenting cell, MCH I major histocompatibility complex I, MCH II major histocompatibility complex II, Ab antibody

usually associated with the presence of food-borne enteritis, which is transmitted by the ingestion of undercooked food. It has been observed that *C. jejuni* expresses epitopes capable of stimulating the immune system. Epitopes of *C. jenuni* that may stimulate the immune systems include glycoconjugates within the glycocalyx that are mainly formed by lipopolysaccharides [91, 92] The host gangliosides, composed of glycolipids which contains one or more sialic acid residues [92], are the main molecules associated with cross-reactivity between *C. jejuni* and the host [93], given its similarity with the lipopolysaccharides [94]. The main gangliosides associated with the immune response resulting from the cross-reactivity are GD1a, GM1, and GM1/GD1 complex located at the terminal nerves and anterior roots and GQ1b located on oculomotor nerves and primary sensory neurons [93].

Regarding *C. jejuni* genes associated with immune activity, the loci A, B, and C, which are related to the synthesis of lipooligosaccharides are crucial for the induction of ganglioside-like structures [94, 95]. Loci A and B are associated with *C. jejuni* sialyltransferase gene (Cst-II) [96]. This is relevant since the presence of Cst-II (Thr51) favors the synthesis of GM1-like, GM2-like, and GD1a-like lipooli-

gosaccharides, while Cst-II (Asn51) facilitates the synthesis of GT1a-like and GD1c-like lipooligosaccharides that can mimic GQ1b [97, 98].

M. pneumoniae is one of the main causes of respiratory infections. *M. pneumoniae* may also be a cause of GBS through molecular mimicry [99]. It has been proposed that the main host antigenic target is galactocerebroside (Gal-C), which is the main glycolipid associated with the formation of myelin [100]. Sensitization to Gal-C generates demyelinating neuropathy. It has been reported that up to 12% of patients with GBS and preceding infection with *M. pneumoniae* may present with anti-Gal-C antibodies [100]. In animal models, rabbit anti-Gal-C antibody bound to several glycolipids of *M. pneumoniae* and to Gal-C, suggesting a role of molecular mimicry between the glycolipids of myelin and *M. pneumoniae* [101].

Viral infections have also been associated with GBS, and again, molecular mimicry is among one of the main mechanisms. Among the main antigens associated with CMV is GM2, which is found in peripheral nerves [102]. The presence of anti-GM2 and anti-GalNAc-GD1a has been reported in patients with GBS with previous infection by CMV [103]. The envelope of CMV is formed largely by glycoproteins, some of which may cross-react with neural antigens [104]. Irie et al. demonstrated a decrease in IgM and IgG GM2 titers in the sera of patients with GBS and previous infection with CMV, supporting the interaction of anti-GM2 with cells infected by CMV. In addition, reactivity to gangliosides with a terminal GalNAc-Gal structure was described in this group of patients [102]. This was confirmed by Tsukaguchi et al., who described cross-reactivity between GalNAc-GD1a and GM2 in the host and glycoproteins of CMV as a possible mechanism of molecular mimicry occurring in CMV-associated GBS [105].

A different mechanism may be present in other viral infections such as hepatitis, where it has been suggested that the deposition of immune complexes (HBsAg-ICs) in the nerve can trigger an immune response culminating in the development of GBS [106]. In Zika virus infection, similar epitopes between the virus and neuronal antigens have been studied [107], demonstrating the presence of cross-reactivity which can lead to activation of the immune system against neuronal antigens. In fact, a number of peptides shared between the virus and proteins associated with demyelination and axonal neuropathy are present in epitopes that have been classified as immune-positive in the human host [107].

Pathogenesis

After activation of the innate immune system by an infection, the adaptive immune response is directed against the neuronal components such as the axon or myelin. In this sense, the clinical course of GBS will depend on which of these two components is mainly affected, thus generating two typical subphenotypes of the disease, AIDP and AMAN. In AIDP, the demyelination process is caused mainly by the presence of CD4+ T-cell macrophage. Unlike AIDP, AMAN is characterized by a

greater axonal involvement, the autoimmune mechanism driven by the presence of a humoral immune response against gangliosides [108].

Macrophages and Complement

The presence of endoneurial macrophages that express complement receptors, MHC-I, and MHC-II has been described [109] (Fig. 2). Additionally, these cells release proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-12, and molecules such as inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9), that enable the expression of adhesion molecules, extending the inflammatory process, inducing damage in blood-nerve barrier, and damaging the myelin and axon [110–112]. On the one hand, it has been observed that macrophages have the ability to phagocytose myelin and axon components [113], generating segmented demyelination and axonal loss [114]. On the other hand, the activation of Th1 cells promoted by the presence of macrophages facilitates further activation of proinflammatory macrophages by the release of proinflammatory cytokines [115].

In addition, a repair process by macrophages has been described, promoting apoptosis of T cells [116] and facilitating the release of IL-10 and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) [108, 117]. It seems that the phenotype adopted by macrophages depends on the presence of TNF- α . In murine models, experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN) is characterized by the presence of TNF--, which induces proinflammatory macrophages. However, the deficiency of this cytokine induces the production of anti-inflammatory macrophages with reparative functions [112].

Activation of the classical complement pathway is crucial in the development of neuronal damage in GBS (Fig. 2) [118–120]. Complement activation is generated by antiganglioside antibodies, such as anti-GQ1b antibodies, especially IgG3 or IgG1, since these antibodies have the ability to fix the complement in neuronal terminals [121]. In addition, monoclonal anti-GQ1b IgM antibody has the capacity to block nerve terminals through deposition of IgM and C3c [122]. Although the three complement pathways can all be associated with the pathophysiology of GBS, recent studies have shown that the classical pathway is the most important. This pathway allows membrane-attack complex (MAC) formation, which has been observed in experimental GBS models [123, 124]. In experimental c6 deficiency mouse models, monoclonal anti-GQ1b IgM antibody did not facilitate the formation of MAC at the nerve terminals. In mice deficient in Mac-inhibitory protein (CD59-/-), greater damage was observed in Schwann cells and neurofilament nerve terminals [123]. Inhibition of MAC formation by Ca2+-free Ringer failed to induce damage in the neurofilaments of nerve terminals. This demonstrates the importance of the classical pathway in the pathophysiology of GBS, since this pathway is dependent on Ca2+[123].



Fig. 2 Pathophysiology of Guillain-Barré syndrome. APC antigen-presenting cell, MCH II major histocompatibility complex II, Th2 T helper 2, Th1 T helper 1, TCR T-cell receptor, IFNγ interferon gamma, TNFα tumor necrosis factor alpha, TGFβ transforming growth factor beta, BNB blood-nerve barrier, NO nitric oxide, MMPs matrix metalloproteinases, MAC membrane-attack complex

Cellular Immune Response

Autopsies of patients with GBS have demonstrated the presence of inflammatory infiltrates in perivascular and endoneurial regions. These infiltrates have been observed in nerves, plexuses, and roots and are secondary to the presence of macrophages [125]. After the passage of macrophages through the blood-brain barrier, cytokines are released, thus increasing vascular permeability and facilitating the passage of activated T cells (Fig. 2) [126]. Moreover, there is an increase in the levels of IL-2 and soluble IL-2 receptor in the serum of patients during the acute phase, indicating the activation of T cells [127, 128]. Lymphocytes from patients with GBS cultured in myelinated axons generally destroy myelin directly (Fig. 1) [125]. The role of a cellular immune response mediated by T cells has been observed in murine [129, 130]. This activation of lymphocytes, such as CD8, can be generated by the entry of these cells through the permeable BNB. Upon admission, they are activated, thanks to stimulating factors released by macrophages, contributing to the autoimmune response [131].

Humoral Immune Response: AMAN

One of the main targets of the humoral immune response in the GBS is the axon gangliosides, specifically in the Ranvier node [132]. The gangliosides are anionic molecules of glycolipids that contain ceramide. This molecule is linked to residues of sialic acid and are important in the molecular structure of the peripheral nerves. GM1, GD1a, GT1a, and GQ1b differ in the number and position of sialic acids, where M, D, T, and Q represent mono-, di-, tri-, and quadrisialosil groups [132]. As previously discussed, the antibodies associated with axonal damage in AMAN facilitate complement fixation, especially the subclasses IgG1 and IgG3, which bind to the gangliosides GM1 and GD1a [133]. In animal models, it has been identified that in addition to complement fixation, the presence of these antibodies facilitates the recruitment of macrophages and the formation of MAC in the axolemma [134].

The presence of the gangliosides GM1 and GD1a is found in motor and sensory neurons [135]. These gangliosides seem to be found in a greater proportion in motor neurons, which explains their main association with the AMAN variant. On the other hand, other antibodies have been associated with the different clinical variants of GBS. This is the case of antibodies against GQ1b and GT1a, which are associated with MFS and its variant in the central nervous system, Bickerstaff's brainstem encephalitis [136, 137]. GQ1b is found in trochlear, abducens, and oculomotor nerves, as well as in muscle spindles in the limbs [137, 138]. Pharyngeal-cervical-brachial weakness is associated with the presence of anti-GT1a and GQ1b and anti-GD1a antibodies [139]. The gangliosides GT1a and GQ1b are found in glossopharyngeal and vagus nerves, which are associated with the characteristic symptoms in this variant [138]. This generates an alteration in the anatomical integrity at the level of the Ranvier node, thus blocking the nerve conduction, which is reversible in mild cases, but in aggressive cases it may lead to permanent axonal damage.

Humoral Immune Response: AIDP

In AIDP, the presence of a humoral immune response against antigens of myelin has been described [119]. Among the possible antigens are galactocerebrosides, such as LM1, and GD1b [140–144]. However, in murine EAN models, the inoculation of myelin proteins such as P0 and P2 has also been demonstrated to be associated with AIDP [18, 36]. Nevertheless, the pathogenic role of these antigens is not completely understood [145, 146]. Additionally, damage in voltage-gated sodium channels (Nav) clusters in EAN models immunized with peripheral myelin has been observed, and recently it has been shown that demyelination is associated with disruption of the Nav channel clusters in the nodes and commitment of Kv1 channels at paranodes and nodes [39, 40].

Another component of myelin that may be associated with the development of AIDP is neurofascin-186, which is found in Schwann cells. This molecule is altered after damage from Nav channel and demyelination [148, 149]. The presence of antibodies against this protein has been described in EAN models, suggesting that these antibodies may be associated with an alteration of the node in the absence of complement [149]. P2 protein may also be a target of the humoral immune response in GBS as demonstrated by the changes observed in the nodal region after immunizing rats with this peptide in an EAN model [147].

Diagnosis

Diagnostic criteria of GBS are shown in Table 4 [20] and the differential diagnosis in Table 5 [150]. The clinical course of the disease allows for early diagnosis. However, a definitive confirmation of the diagnosis requires diagnostic tools, such as CSF analysis and electrodiagnostic modalities. The presence of cytoalbuminological dissociation (normal cell count with increased protein levels) in the CSF is usually found. The first alterations in nerve conduction studies may usually be seen 2 weeks after the onset of symptoms. This tool allows differentiating between an axonal pattern and a demyelinating pattern (Fig. 3). The axonal pattern is characterized by a decrease in motor and/or sensory amplitudes, whereas the demyelinating pattern is characterized by reduced nerve conduction velocity, prolonged F-wave latency, prolonged distal motor latency, and conduction blockage (Table 6) [151].

Neuroimaging may be a useful diagnostic tool for GBS. Nerve ultrasound, 1 to 3 days after the appearance of the symptoms, may provide useful information in relation to nerve damage [152]. Morphological changes can be observed with this

	Leve	l of diag	nostic	
	certa	inty		
Diagnostic criteria	1	2	3	4
Bilateral and flaccid weakness of limbs	+	+	+	+/-
Decreased or absent deep tendon reflexes in weak limbs	+	+	+	+/-
Monophasic course and time between onset-nadir 12 h to 28 days	+	+	+	+/-
CSF cell count 550/ml	+	+	-	+/-
CSF protein concentration > normal value	+	+/a	-	+/-
NCS findings consistent with one of the subtypes of GBS	+	+/a	-	+/-
Absence of alternative diagnosis for weakness	+	+	+	+

 Table 4
 Diagnostic criteria for Guillain-Barré syndrome

Taken from Fokke et al. [20]

NCS nerve conduction studies, GBS Guillain-Barré syndrome

^aIf CSF is not collected or results not available, nerve electrophysiology results must be consistent with the diagnosis Guillain-Barré syndrome

Table 5Differentialdiagnostics of GBS

Motor neuron disease
Acute form of spinal muscular atrophy
Progressive (amyotrophic lateral
sclerosis)
Bulbar form (dysarthria, dysphagia, and tongue denervation)
Acute viral poliomyelitis
Other neurotropic viruses (coxsackie, echovirus, enterovirus, West Nile virus)
Polyneuropathy
Copper deficiency
Polyneuropathy of the seriously ill in intensive care
Porphyria
Vasculitis
Neurotoxicity due to metals (arsenic, lead, thallium)
Lyme disease
Disorders of neuromuscular transmission
Myasthenia gravis
Paraneoplastic myasthenic syndrome
Botulism
Hypermagnesemia
Aminoglycosides
Neuromuscular blocking agents
(pancuronium or vecuronium)
Muscle and metabolic disorders
Acute hypokalemic paralysis
Hyperkalemic periodic paralysis
Necrotizing myopathies
Acid maltase deficiency
Mitochondrial myopathy
Modified from van Doorn [150]

technique, especially in the proximal nerve segments at the level of the cervical nerve roots [152–154]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings include post-gadolinium enhancement of peripheral nerve roots and cauda equine in up to 95% of patients. MRI may also rule out myelopathy and brain lesions [155]. Although both nerve ultrasound and MRI are promising tools for the diagnosis of GBS, further studies are needed in order to standardize protocols and to integrate them into the work-up of these patients.





Fig. 3 Electrodiagnostic patterns in GBS. (a) Normal patterns of latency and velocity waves in electrodiagnostic studies (EDx). (b) Acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (AIDP). Abnormal wave patterns and signs of demyelinating neuropathy. (c) Acute motor axonal neuropathy (AMAN). Abnormal wave patterns and signs of axonal neuropathy. MUP motor unit potential

Novel Therapeutic Strategies

The treatment of GBS is integrative, involving immunomodulatory management of GBS and treatment of complications. The most widely used immunomodulatory treatments for the management of GBS include PE and IVIg. Although effective for the treatment of most patients, there are cases in which neither of these are effective, and treatment then extends to other immunomodulatory agents.

IVIg is a pooled blood product containing mostly IgG [156]. This compound is obtained from healthy donors, so that it is enriched with antibodies directed to different pathogens, foreign antigens, and autoantigens [156]. The mechanism of action of IVIg in the treatment of GBS is unclear, but IVIg appears to neutralize or diminish immune activity against nervous system components in GBS. One proposed mechanism is the neutralization of complement pathways through the inhibition of the formation of the MAC and inhibition of C3b and C4b [156, 157]. In addition, IVIg regulates the production of proinflammatory cytokines, especially tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and IL-1 [158]. IVIg modulates signaling through Fc receptors expressed on B cells and phagocytes, thus inhibiting demyelination induced by these cells [156, 157].

One of the most important mechanisms of IVIg is the neutralization of autoantibodies by binding to their variable regions, negatively impacting T-B cell interactions which lead to antigen presentation [159]. Several studies over the past years have been able to demonstrate the clinical efficacy of both PE and IVIg in the man-
AIDP	AMAN	AMSAN	Unexcitable Equivocal	
At least one of the	None of the AIDP	Same criteria of	Distal CMAP	Abnormal
following in at least	features in any nerve	AMAN in	absent in all	findings
two nerves:	(demyelinating	motor nerves,	nerves (or however not	
MCV <70%	features allowed in	plus SNAP	present in only	fitting criteria
LLN	one nerve if dCMAP	amplitudes	one with distal	specific for
DML > 130%	<20% LLN)	<50% LLN in	CMAP <10%	other
ULN	And at least one of	at least two	LLN)	subtypes
dCMAP duration	the following in each	nerves		
>120% ULN	of two nerves:			
pCMAP/dCMAP	dCMAP<80% LLN			
duration	pCMAP/dCMAP			
ratio > 130%	amplitude			
F-response	ratio < 0.7			
latency>120%	(excluding tibial			
ULN	nerve)			
Or one of the above	Isolated F-wave			
in one nerve, plus:	absence (or < 20%)			
Absent F waves	persistence)			
in two nerves				
with dCMAP				
>20% LLN				
Abnormal ulnar				
SNAP amplitude				
and normal sural				
SNAP amplitude				

Table 6 Criteria set employed for electrodiagnosis of GBS subtypes

Modified from Uncini and Kuwabara [151]

AIDP acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy, AMAN acute motor axonal neuropathy, AMSAN acute motor and sensory axonal neuropathy, ULN upper limit of normal, LLN lower limit of normal, DML distal motor latency, MVC motor conduction velocity, CMAP compound muscle action potential, dCMAP distal compound muscle action potential, pCMAP/dCMAP ratio between proximal and distal amplitude compound muscle action potential, SNAP sensory nerve action potential

agement of GBS. A 2012 Cochrane systematic review established the relative safety of IVIG and PE, with similar efficacies and a low rate of adverse effects [160]. IVIg is the preferred option in children and patients with hemodynamic issues [161].

PE is widely used in GBS due to its ability to remove immune complexes, autoantibodies, cytokines, and complement, through the use of filtration membranes [159]. The volume extracted by PE is replaced with albumin or congested fresh plasma [162]. An advantage of PE in the management of GBS is that patients can be treated with repeated exchanges to counteract the renewal of autoantibodies that can occur resulting from persistent antigenic stimulation [159]. While there is a slight but significant risk of relapse in the first year, most patients experience a complete recovery of muscle strength. The number of PE sessions usually ranges from 2 for mild illness to 4 for more severe presentations [163].

Other studies that sought to compare the efficacy and safety between PE and IVIg did not find significant differences [164, 165]. However, the ease of IVIg

administration makes it the preferred option [160]. Although the use of PE and IVIg is widely used with high rates of efficacy and safety, there are refractory patients in whom the use of other therapies such as cerebrospinal fluid filtration (CSFF), corticosteroids, biological drugs, and immunomodulatory drugs are viable options.

Given the important role of macrophages in both AIDP and AMAN [166], a mechanism of action of corticosteroids could involve inhibition of the migration and infiltration of macrophages in the peripheral nerves. However, this may also lead to an inhibition of M2 macrophages which are responsible for the repair of damaged neuronal tissue [166]. Some studies have shown no beneficial effects of corticosteroids on the clinical course of GBS [166, 167]. Moreover, two systematic reviews that compared corticosteroids with placebo found no significant differences [168, 169]. In addition, a Cochrane systematic review did not show significant differences between patients treated with corticosteroids and non-treated patients in relation to the degree of physical disability. Additionally, no difference was found between the two groups in relation to secondary endpoints such as time of ventilation recovery, unaided walking, death, and adverse events [170].

CSFF is an innovative therapy based on a high concentration of inflammatory mediators such as IL-6 and TNF- α and complement and antiganglioside autoantibodies in the CSF [171]. The mechanism involves the removal of these proinflammatory mediators that contribute to GBS and modulation of nerve demyelination [171]. This treatment has shown improvements in cell counts and protein concentrations [172]. Clinical trials have shown satisfactory clinical results with few adverse events [172, 173].

It is clear that the role of the complement in the pathophysiology of GBS is crucial, especially through the activation of the classical pathway [149]. Eculizumab, an anti-c5 monoclonal antibody used for the treatment of paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria, may be beneficial in GBS as well [174]. Eculizumab binds to C5, blocking its cleavage into proinflammatory molecules C5a and C5b and inhibiting the formation of MAC [174]. This has been shown to occur in animal models of MFS [174, 175]. In a phase II randomized clinical trial, eculizumab was shown to be efficacious and safe for the treatment of GBS [176].

rEV576 is a recombinant protein taken from the saliva of a soft tick and has the ability to inhibit complement [177]. The mechanism of action of this protein involves binding to C5 and blocking its cleavage to C5a and C5b, thereby inhibiting the classical and alternative pathway of complement [18, 23]. In vitro studies of MFS showed that rEV576 successfully inhibited MAC formation and mitigated damage to motor nerve endings [178].

Nafamostat mesilate is a synthetic serine protease inhibitor used in disseminated intravenous coagulation and acute pancreatitis [149]. Its mechanism involves inhibition of C5-convertase serine proteases, C1r, C1s, C3-convertase, and factors B and D [174, 179]. Nafamostat has been shown to prevent damage to Nav in animal models of AMAN [179].

Mirococept (APT070) is a complement regulator used in animal models of rheumatoid arthritis that can prevent complement-mediated tissue injury through the inhibition of C3/C5 convertase, thus blocking the formation of MAC [123, 149]. Human soluble complement receptor type 1 (sCR1), a cofactor of the serum protease-I, is expressed in polymorphonuclear cells, monocytes, B cells, T cells, and erythrocytes [180] and has the capacity to indirectly degrade C3b and C4b and inhibit the activation of the classic and alternative pathways of complement [181]. In animal models, sCR1 has been shown to inhibit neuronal tissue damage by blocking demyelination [180, 182].

IFN- β is an immunomodulatory cytokine which blocks antigen presentation, regulates the activity of macrophages, and inhibits the production of TNF- α . The production of IFN- β is facilitated by the presence of Treg cells and the production of TGF- β [183]. Additionally, it has been observed that IFN- β inhibits the production of IL-12, which blocks activation of the Th1 response, facilitates the activation of Treg cells through the production of IL-10, and inhibits the cellular migration to neuronal tissue [183, 184]. In animal models, IFN- β suppresses the activity of the disease by inhibiting both the cellular and humoral immune responses [184].

The use of biologic modifiers such as rituximab can play a role in the management of GBS. Rituximab binds CD20, a molecule expressed on the cell surface of B cells, facilitating lysis of these cells [74]. Rituximab modulates the immune response mediated by complement and autoantibodies through suppression of B-cell activity [74]. Although clinical trials have not been carried out to evaluate its efficacy and safety in GBS, a case report showed the recovery of a patient with GBS after treatment with rituximab [185].

Other immunomodulatory drugs such as cyclophosphamide and mycophenolate mofetil have also been considered. Cyclophosphamide is an antineoplastic and immunomodulatory agent that causes cross-linking of tumor cell DNA, interfering with the growth of rapidly proliferating cells [186]. Although clinical trials of cyclophosphamide in GBS have not been performed, a case series showed clinical improvement in 15 patients with GBS [187]. In murine models, cyclophosphamide prevented the development of EAN, accompanied by a decrease in proinflammatory cytokines in nervous tissue and a decrease in symptoms [188]. Mycophenolate mofetil is an anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive medication used in other ADs and in autoimmune neurological diseases such as Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP).

CIDP is an autoimmune disease characterized by neurological symptoms and signs of progressive weakness, paresthesias, and sensory dysfunction. Other symptoms include reduced or absent tendon reflexes, cranial nerve involvement, autonomic symptoms, ataxia, and neuropathic pain. Unlike other autoimmune diseases, CIDP generally affects older individuals and has a male predominance. The onset is generally insidious and can take up to 8 weeks with a relapsing-recovery pattern [189, 190].

Mycophenolate inhibits guanine synthesis and the proliferation of T cells and B cells, as well as adhesion of molecules to cell surfaces [191]. One study evaluated the efficacy of methylprednisolone, IVIg plus mycophenolate mofetil compared to methylprednisolone and IVIg in patients with GBS. The results did not find differences between the two groups; however, this result could be attributed to the low doses of mycophenolate mofetil used [192].

Conclusions

Guillain-Barré syndrome is an autoimmune acute peripheral polyneuropathy with several clinical variants. The mechanism of action is not completely elucidated; however, molecular mimicry plays a significant role. Treatment of GBS mostly targets the immune response through the use of IVIg, plasma exchange, and other forms of immunomodulatory therapy. Corticosteroids are not useful for GBS. Immunosuppressives such as cyclophosphamides and mycophenolate mofetil have been used with moderate success, and the use of biological modifiers that target B-cell activity warrants a clinical trial. Eculizumab and other biological agents are promising new drugs for the treatment of GBS.

References

- 1. Winner SJ, Evans JG. Age-specific incidence of Guillain-Barre syndrome in Oxfordshire. Q J Med. 1990;77:1297–304.
- Ercolini AM, Miller SD. The role of infections in autoimmune disease. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009;155:1–15.
- Chalela JA. Pearls and pitfalls in the intensive care management of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Semin Neurol. 2001;21:399–405.
- Wakerley BR, Yuki N. Mimics and chameleons in Guillain-Barre and Miller fisher syndromes. Pract Neurol. 2015;15:90–9.
- 5. Restrepo-Jimenez P, Rodriguez Y, Gonzalez P, Chang C, Gershwin ME, Anaya J-M. The immunotherapy of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2018;18:619–31.
- 6. Bogliun G, Beghi E. Incidence and clinical features of acute inflammatory polyradiculoneuropathy in Lombardy, Italy, 1996. Acta Neurol Scand. 2004;110:100–6.
- Van Koningsveld R, Van Doorn PA, Schmitz PI, Ang CW, Van der Meche FG. Mild forms of Guillain-Barre syndrome in an epidemiologic survey in the Netherlands. Neurology. 2000;54:620–5.
- Govoni V, Granieri E, Manconi M, Capone J, Casetta I. Is there a decrease in Guillain-Barre syndrome incidence after bovine ganglioside withdrawal in Italy? A population-based study in the local Health District of Ferrara, Italy. J Neurol Sci. 2003;216:99–103.
- 9. Kinnunen E, Junttila O, Haukka J, Hovi T. Nationwide oral poliovirus vaccination campaign and the incidence of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Am J Epidemiol. 1998;147:69–73.
- Rantala H, Cherry JD, Shields WD, Uhari M. Epidemiology of Guillain-Barre syndrome in children: relationship of oral polio vaccine administration to occurrence. J Pediatr. 1994;124:220–3.
- 11. Dias-Tosta E, Kuckelhaus CS. Guillain Barre syndrome in a population less than 15 years old in Brazil. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2002;60:367–73.
- 12. Hart DE, Rojas LA, Rosario JA, Recalde H, Roman GC. Childhood Guillain-Barre syndrome in Paraguay, 1990 to 1991. Ann Neurol. 1994;36:859–63.
- Olive JM, Castillo C, Castro RG, de Quadros CA. Epidemiologic study of Guillain-Barre syndrome in children <15 years of age in Latin America. J Infect Dis. 1997;175(Suppl):S160–4.
- Molinero MR, Varon D, Holden KR, Sladky JT, Molina IB, Cleaves F. Epidemiology of childhood Guillain-Barre syndrome as a cause of acute flaccid paralysis in Honduras: 1989-1999. J Child Neurol. 2003;18:741–7.
- McGrogan A, Madle GC, Seaman HE, De Vries CS. The epidemiology of Guillain-Barré syndrome worldwide: a systematic literature review. Neuroepidemiology. 2009;32:150–63.

- van Doorn PA, Ruts L, Jacobs BC. Clinical features, pathogenesis, and treatment of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7:939–50.
- Mahecha MP, Ojeda E, Vega DA, Sarmiento-Monroy JC, Anaya J-M. Guillain-Barre syndrome in Colombia: where do we stand now? Immunol Res. 2017;65:72–81.
- Dourado ME, Felix RH, da Silva WKA, Queiroz JW, Jeronimo SMB. Clinical characteristics of Guillain-Barre syndrome in a tropical country: a Brazilian experience. Acta Neurol Scand. 2012;125:47–53.
- McKhann GM, Cornblath DR, Griffin JW, Ho TW, Li CY, Jiang Z, Wu HS, Zhaori G, Liu Y, Jou LP. Acute motor axonal neuropathy: a frequent cause of acute flaccid paralysis in China. Ann Neurol. 1993;33:33–42.
- Fokke C, van den Berg B, Drenthen J, Walgaard C, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC. Diagnosis of Guillain-Barre syndrome and validation of Brighton criteria. Brain. 2014;137:33–43.
- Yamamoto K, Sobue G, Iwase S, Nagamatsu M, Mano T, Mitsuma T. Skin sympathetic nerve activity in Guillain-Barre syndrome: a microneurographic study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1997;63:537–41.
- Ropper AH, Wijdicks EFM, Truax B. Clinical features of the typical syndrome. In: Guillain-Barré Syndrome. Philadelphia; 1991. F. A Davis Company. p. 73–105.
- 23. Wakerley BR, Yuki N. Pharyngeal-cervical-brachial variant of Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85:339–44.
- Susuki K, Koga M, Hirata K, Isogai E, Yuki N. A Guillain-Barre syndrome variant with prominent facial diplegia. J Neurol. 2009;256:1899–905.
- 25. Rocha Cabrero F, Morrison EH. Miller fisher syndrome. 2018.
- Bickerstaff ER. Brain-stem encephalitis; further observations on a grave syndrome with benign prognosis. Br Med J. 1957;1:1384–7.
- Kaslow RA, Sullivan-Bolyai JZ, Hafkin B, Schonberger LB, Kraus L, Moore MJ, Yunis E, Williams RM. HLA antigens in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology. 1984;34:240–2.
- Guo L, Wang W, Li C, Liu R, Wang G. The association between HLA typing and different subtypes of Guillain Barré syndrome. Zhonghua nei ke za zhi. 2002;41:381–3. Chinese.
- 29. Magira EE, Papaioakim M, Nachamkin I, Asbury AK, Li CY, Ho TW, Griffin JW, McKhann GM, Monos DS. Differential distribution of HLA-DQ /DR epitopes in the two forms of Guillain-Barre syndrome, acute motor axonal neuropathy and acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (AIDP): identification of DQ epitopes associated with susceptibility to and pro. J Immunol. 2003;170:3074–80.
- Hasan ZN, Zalzala HH, Mohammedsalih HR, Mahdi BM, Abid LA, Shakir ZN, Fadhel MJ. Association between human leukocyte antigen-DR and demylinating Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurosci. 2014;19:301–5.
- Fekih-Mrissa N, Mrad M, Riahi A, Sayeh A, Zaouali J, Gritli N, Mrissa R. Association of HLA-DR/DQ polymorphisms with Guillain-Barré syndrome in Tunisian patients. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2014;121:19–22.
- Ma JJ, Nishimura M, Mine H, et al. HLA and T-cell receptor gene polymorphisms in Guillain-Barré syndrome. Neurology. 1998;51:379–84.
- Monos DS, Papaioakim M, Ho TW, Li CY, McKhann GM. Differential distribution of HLA alleles in two forms of Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Infect Dis. 1997; https://doi. org/10.1086/513786.
- 34. Gorodezky C, Varela B, Castro-Escobar LE, Chávez-Negrete A, Escobar-Gutiérrez A, Martínez-Mata J. HLA-DR antigens in Mexican patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 1983;4:1–7.
- McCombe PA, Clark P, Frith JA, Hammond SR, Stewart GJ, Pollard JD, McLeod JG. Alpha-1 antitrypsin phenotypes in demyelinating disease: an association between demyelinating disease and the allele PiM3. Ann Neurol. 1985;18:514–6.
- 36. Caporale CM, Papola F, Fioroni MA, Aureli A, Giovannini A, Notturno F, Adorno D, Caporale V, Uncini A. Susceptibility to Guillain-Barre syndrome is associated to polymorphisms of CD1 genes. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;177:112–8.

- 37. Geleijns K, Laman JD, van Rijs W, Tio-Gillen AP, Hintzen RQ, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC. Fas polymorphisms are associated with the presence of anti-ganglioside antibodies in Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;161:183–9.
- van Sorge NM, van der Pol W-L, Jansen MD, et al. Severity of Guillain-Barre syndrome is associated with fc gamma receptor III polymorphisms. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;162:157–64.
- 39. Blum S, Csurhes P, Reddel S, Spies J, McCombe P. Killer immunoglobulin-like receptor and their HLA ligands in Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;267:92–6.
- Vedeler CA, Raknes G, Myhr KM, Nyland H. IgG fc-receptor polymorphisms in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology. 2000;55:705–7.
- Sang D, Chen Q, Liu X, Qu H, Wei D, Yin L, Zhang L. Fc receptor like 3 in Chinese patients of Han nationality with Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2012;246:65–8.
- 42. Dekker MJHJ, van den Akker ELT, Koper JW, et al. Effect of glucocorticoid receptor gene polymorphisms in Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2009;14:75–83.
- Feeney DJ, Pollard JD, McLeod JG, Stewart GJ, De Lange GG. Gm haplotypes in inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathies. Ann Neurol. 1989;26:790–2.
- 44. Myhr K-M, Vagnes KS, Maroy TH, Aarseth JH, Nyland HI, Vedeler CA. Interleukin-10 promoter polymorphisms in patients with Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2003;139:81–3.
- 45. Pandey JP, Koga M, Yuki N. Immunoglobulin KM allotypes are associated with the prevalence of autoantibodies to GD1a ganglioside, but not with susceptibility to the disease, in Japanese patients with Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurogenetics. 2005;6:225–8.
- 46. Geleijns K, Roos A, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, van Rijs W, Tio-Gillen AP, Laman JD, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC. Mannose-binding lectin contributes to the severity of Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Immunol. 2006;177:4211–7.
- 47. Geleijns K, Emonts M, Laman JD, van Rijs W, van Doorn PA, Hermans PWM, Jacobs BC. Genetic polymorphisms of macrophage-mediators in Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;190:127–30.
- Zhang J, Dong H, Li B, Li C, Guo L. Association of tumor necrosis factor polymorphisms with Guillain-Barre syndrome. Eur Neurol. 2007;58:21–5.
- Prasad KN, Nyati KK, Verma A, Rizwan A, Paliwal VK. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha polymorphisms and expression in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Hum Immunol. 2010;71:905–10.
- Yuki N, Sato S, Tsuji S, Ogawa K, Miyatake T. Human leukocyte antigens in Fisher's syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1993;33:655–7.
- Jiao H, Wang W, Wang H, Wu Y, Wang L. Tumor necrosis factor alpha 308 G/a polymorphism and Guillain-Barre syndrome risk. Mol Biol Rep. 2012;39:1537–40.
- 52. Nyati KK, Prasad KN, Verma A, Singh AK, Rizwan A, Sinha S, Paliwal VK, Pradhan S. Association of TLR4 Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile polymorphisms with Guillain-Barre syndrome in northern Indian population. J Neuroimmunol. 2010;218:116–9.
- Yuki N, Sato S, Itoh T, Miyatake T. HLA-B35 and acute axonal polyneuropathy following campylobacter infection. Neurology. 1991;41:1561–3.
- Hafez M, Nagaty M, Al-Tonbary Y, El-Shennawy FA, El-Mongui A, El-Sallab S, Attia S. HLA-antigens in Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurogenet. 1985;2:285–90.
- Li H, Yuan J, Hao H, Yan Z, Wang S. HLA alleles in patients with Guillain-Barre syndrome. Chin Med J. 2000;113:429–32.
- Schirmer L, Worthington V, Solloch U, et al. Higher frequencies of HLA DQB1*05:01 and anti-glycosphingolipid antibodies in a cluster of severe Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Neurol. 2016;263:2105–13.
- Rees JH, Vaughan RW, Kondeatis E, Hughes RAC. HLA-class II alleles in Guillain-Barré syndrome and Miller fisher syndrome and their association with preceding campylobacter jejuni infection. J Neuroimmunol. 1995;62:53–7.
- Sinha S, Prasad KN, Jain D, Nyati KK, Pradhan S, Agrawal S. Immunoglobulin IgG fcreceptor polymorphisms and HLA class II molecules in Guillain-Barré syndrome. Acta Neurol Scand. 2010;122:21–6.
- Rose NR, Bona C. Defining criteria for autoimmune diseases (Witebsky's postulates revisited). Immunol Today. 1993;14:426–30.

- 60. Nahata MC. Ophthalmoplegia following enteric fever. J Indian Med Assoc. 1961;37:134-5.
- 61. Nager F, Regli F. Polyneuritis with flaccid tetraplegia in typhoid fever. Schweiz Med Wochenschr. 1963;93:1030–3. German.
- Massei F, Gori L, Taddeucci G, Macchia P, Maggiore G. Bartonella henselae infection associated with Guillain-Barre syndrome. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2006;25:90–1.
- 63. Carman KB, Yimenicioglu S, Ekici A, Yakut A, Dinleyici EC. Co-existence of acute transverse myelitis and Guillain–Barré syndrome associated with Bartonella henselae infection. Paediatr Int Child Health. 2013;33:190–2.
- 64. Kountouras J, Zavos C, Deretzi G, Gavalas E, Polyzos S, Vardaka E, Kountouras C, Giartza-Taxidou E, Koutlas E, Tsiptsios I. Helicobacter pylori may play an important role in both axonal type Guillain-Barré syndrome and acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2011;113:520.
- 65. Kountouras J, Deretzi G, Zavos C, Karatzoglou P, Touloumis L, Nicolaides T, Chatzopoulos D, Venizelos I. Association between helicobacter pylori infection and acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Eur J Neurol. 2005;12:139–43.
- Von Linstow ML, Andersen J. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated to infection with Borrelia burgdorferi: a case report. J Pediatr Infect Dis. 2007;2:247–50.
- 67. Durovska J, Bazovska S, Pancak J, Zaborska M, Derdakova M, Traubner P. Infection with B. Burgdorferi s.L., and the CNS demyelinating disease. A case report. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2011;32:411–4.
- Shapiro EE. Guillain-Barre syndrome in a child with serologic evidence of Borrelia burgdorferi infection. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1998;17:264–5.
- Bouma PA, Carpay HA, Rijpkema SG. Antibodies to Borrelia burgdorferi in Guillain-Barré syndrome. Lancet. 1989;2:739.
- Patel K, Shah S, Subedi D. Clinical association: Lyme disease and Guillain-Barre syndrome. Am J Emerg Med. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2017.07.030.
- 71. Stadsvold C. Guillain-Barré syndrome in the setting of acute CNS Lyme disease: a case report. PM&R. 2010;2:S113.
- Samantray SK, Johnson SC, Mathai KV, Pulimood BM. Landry-Guillain-Barre-Strohl syndrome. A study of 302 cases. Med J Aust. 1977;2:84–91.
- Toerner JG, Kumar PN, Garagusi VF. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with Rocky Mountain spotted fever: case report and review. Clin Infect Dis. 1996;22:1090–1.
- 74. de Galan BE, van Kasteren BJ, van den Wall Bake AW, Vreugdenhil G. A case of Guillain-Barré syndrome due to infection with rickettsia conorii. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 1999;18:79–80.
- 75. Evangelista T, Pimentel J, Luis Mde L. Acute polyradiculoneuritis associated with boutonneuse fever. Acta Medica Port. 1994;7:437–9. Portuguese
- Popivanova N, Hristova D, Hadjipetrova E. Guillain-Barré polyneuropathy associated with mediterranean spotted fever: case report. Clin Infect Dis. 1998;27:1549.
- 77. Zhu H, Arukala V, Sheikh S, Uprety A, McCrary D, Silverman T, Cranston H. Human monocytic ehrlichiosis presenting as guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology. 2017;88:P3.315.
- Grapperon AM, Wybrecht D, Pons S, Landais C, Alla P, Faivre A. Guillain-Barré syndrome heralding acute query fever. Rev Neurol (Paris). 2013;169:269–74. French.
- 79. Mushinski JF, Taniguchi RM, Stiefel JW. Guillain-Barre syndrome associated with Ulceroglandular Tularemia. Neurology. 1964;14:877–9.
- Syrjälä H, Kujala P, Myllylä V, Koskela P. Guillain-barré syndrome and tularemia pleuritis with high adenosine deaminase activity in pleural fluid. Infection. 1989;17:152–3.
- Ylipalosaari P, Ala-Kokko TI, Tuominen H, Syrjälä H. Guillain–Barré syndrome and ulceroglandular tularemia. Infection. 2013;41:881–3.
- Osuntokun BO, Bademosi O, Ogunremi K, et al. Neuropsychiatric manifestations of typhoid fever in 959 patients. Arch Neurol. 1972;27:7–13.
- Khan FY, Kamha AA, Abbas MT, Miyares F, Elshafie SS. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with salmonella paratyphi a. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2007;109:452–4.
- Namiduru M, Karaoglan I, Yilmaz M. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with acute neurobrucellosis. Int J Clin Pract. 2003;57:919–20.

- 85. Marzetti S, Carranza C, Roncallo M, Escobar GI, Lucero NE. Recent trends in human Brucella canis infection. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis. 2013;36:55–61.
- 86. Al-Eissa YA, Al-Herbish AS. Severe hypertension: an unusual presentation of Guillain-Barre syndrome in a child with brucellosis. Eur J Pediatr. 1996;155:53–5.
- Watanabe K, Kim S, Nishiguchi M, Suzuki H, Watarai M. Brucella melitensis infection associated with Guillain-Barré syndrome through molecular mimicry of host structures. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2005;45:121–7.
- Babamahmoodi A, Babamahmoodi F. Brucellosis, presenting with Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Glob Infect Dis. 2011;3:390.
- Pollard JD, Baverstock J, McLeod JG. Class II antigen expression and inflammatory cells in the Guillain-Barre syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1987;21:337–41.
- Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, Petersen I, Islam A, Hayward A, O'Brien SJ. Incidence of Guillain-Barre syndrome among patients with campylobacter infection: a general practice research database study. J Infect Dis. 2006;194:95–7.
- Phongsisay V. The immunobiology of campylobacter jejuni: innate immunity and autoimmune diseases. Immunobiology. 2016;221:535–43.
- 92. Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, et al. Essentials of glycobiology. Cold Spring Harbor: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2015.
- 93. Yuki N. Ganglioside mimicry and peripheral nerve disease. Muscle Nerve. 2007;35:691-711.
- 94. Godschalk PCR, Heikema AP, Gilbert M, et al. The crucial role of campylobacter jejuni genes in anti-ganglioside antibody induction in Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:1659–65.
- Phongsisay V, Perera VN, Fry BN. Exchange of Lipooligosaccharide synthesis genes creates potential Guillain-Barré syndrome-inducible strains of campylobacter jejuni. Infect Immun. 2006;74:1368–72.
- Koga M, Yuki N. Campylobacter jejuni cst-II polymorphisms and association with development of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology. 2007;69:1727–8; author reply 1728
- Nachamkin I, Liu J, Li M, Ung H, Moran AP, Prendergast MM, Sheikh K. Campylobacter jejuni from patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome preferentially expresses a GD(1a)-like epitope. Infect Immun. 2002;70:5299–303.
- 98. Gilbert M, Karwaski M-F, Bernatchez S, Young NM, Taboada E, Michniewicz J, Cunningham A-M, Wakarchuk WW. The genetic bases for the variation in the lipo-oligosaccharide of the mucosal pathogen, campylobacter jejuni. Biosynthesis of sialylated ganglioside mimics in the core oligosaccharide. J Biol Chem. 2002;277:327–37.
- 99. Susuki K, Odaka M, Mori M, Hirata K, Yuki N. Acute motor axonal neuropathy after mycoplasma infection: evidence of molecular mimicry. Neurology. 2004;62:949–56.
- Kusunoki S, Chiba A, Hitoshi S, Takizawa H, Kanazawa I. Anti-gal-C antibody in autoimmune neuropathies subsequent to mycoplasma infection. Muscle Nerve. 1995;18:409–13.
- 101. Kusunoki S, Shiina M, Kanazawa I. Anti-gal-C antibodies in GBS subsequent to mycoplasma infection: evidence of molecular mimicry. Neurology. 2001;57:736–8.
- 102. Irie S, Saito T, Nakamura K, Kanazawa N, Ogino M, Nukazawa T, Ito H, Tamai Y, Kowa H. Association of anti-GM2 antibodies in Guillain-Barre syndrome with acute cytomegalovirus infection. J Neuroimmunol. 1996;68:19–26.
- 103. Kaida K, Kusunoki S, Kamakura K, Motoyoshi K, Kanazawa I. Guillain-Barre syndrome with IgM antibody to the ganglioside GalNAc-GD1a. J Neuroimmunol. 2001;113:260–7.
- Britt W. Virus entry into host, establishment of infection, spread in host, mechanisms of tissue damage. 2007.
- 105. Tsukaguchi M, Tagawa Y, Takeuchi H, Yuki N. IgM anti-GM2 antibody in a patient with Guillain-Barre syndrome subsequent to cytomegalovirus hepatitis cross reacts with N-acetylgalactosaminyl GD1a. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1998;65:407–8.
- 106. Penner E, Maida E, Mamoli B, Gangl A. Serum and cerebrospinal fluid immune complexes containing hepatitis B surface antigen in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Gastroenterology. 1982;82:576–80.

- 107. Lucchese G, Kanduc D. Zika virus and autoimmunity: from mycrocephaly to Guillain-Barré syndrome, and beyond. Autoimmun Rev. 2016;15:801–8.
- 108. Lu M-O, Zhu J. The role of cytokines in Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurol. 2011;258:533-48.
- Monaco S, Gehrmann J, Raivich G, Kreutzberg GW. MHC-positive, ramified macrophages in the normal and injured rat peripheral nervous system. J Neurocytol. 1992;21:623–34.
- 110. Zhang H-L, Zheng X-Y, Zhu J. Th1/Th2/Th17/Treg cytokines in Guillain-Barre syndrome and experimental autoimmune neuritis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2013;24:443–53.
- 111. Kiefer R, Kieseier BC, Stoll G, Hartung HP. The role of macrophages in immune-mediated damage to the peripheral nervous system. Prog Neurobiol. 2001;64:109–27.
- 112. Zhang H-L, Hassan MY, Zheng X-Y, Azimullah S, Quezada HC, Amir N, Elwasila M, Mix E, Adem A, Zhu J. Attenuated EAN in TNF-alpha deficient mice is associated with an altered balance of M1/M2 macrophages. PLoS One. 2012;7:e38157.
- 113. Griffin JW, Li CY, Ho TW, Xue P, Macko C, Gao CY, Yang C, Tian M, Mishu B, Cornblath DR. Guillain-Barre syndrome in northern China. The spectrum of neuropathological changes in clinically defined cases. Brain. 1995;118(Pt 3):577–95.
- 114. Prineas JW. Pathology of the Guillain-Barre syndrome. Ann Neurol. 1981;9(Suppl):6-19.
- Kiefer R, Kieseier BC, Bruck W, Hartung HP, Toyka KV. Macrophage differentiation antigens in acute and chronic autoimmune polyneuropathies. Brain. 1998;121(Pt 3):469–79.
- 116. Zettl UK, Gold R, Hartung HP, Toyka KV. Apoptotic cell death of T-lymphocytes in experimental autoimmune neuritis of the Lewis rat. Neurosci Lett. 1994;176:75–9.
- 117. Zhu J, Bai XF, Mix E, Link H. Cytokine dichotomy in peripheral nervous system influences the outcome of experimental allergic neuritis: dynamics of mRNA expression for IL-1 beta, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, TNF-alpha, TNF-beta, and cytolysin. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1997;84:85–94.
- 118. Willison HJ, Halstead SK, Beveridge E, Zitman FMP, Greenshields KN, Morgan BP, Plomp JJ. The role of complement and complement regulators in mediating motor nerve terminal injury in murine models of Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;201–202:172–82.
- 119. Hafer-Macko CE, Sheikh KA, Li CY, Ho TW, Cornblath DR, McKhann GM, Asbury AK, Griffin JW. Immune attack on the Schwann cell surface in acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Ann Neurol. 1996;39:625–35.
- 120. Wanschitz J, Maier H, Lassmann H, Budka H, Berger T. Distinct time pattern of complement activation and cytotoxic T cell response in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Brain. 2003;126:2034–42.
- 121. Willison HJ, Veitch J. Immunoglobulin subclass distribution and binding characteristics of anti-GQ1b antibodies in Miller fisher syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 1994;50:159–65.
- 122. Goodyear CS, O'Hanlon GM, Plomp JJ, et al. Monoclonal antibodies raised against Guillain-Barre syndrome-associated campylobacter jejuni lipopolysaccharides react with neuronal gangliosides and paralyze muscle-nerve preparations. J Clin Invest. 1999;104:697–708.
- 123. Halstead SK, Humphreys PD, Goodfellow JA, Wagner ER, Smith RAG, Willison HJ. Complement inhibition abrogates nerve terminal injury in Miller fisher syndrome. Ann Neurol. 2005;58:203–10.
- 124. Halstead SK, O'Hanlon GM, Humphreys PD, Morrison DB, Morgan BP, Todd AJ, Plomp JJ, Willison HJ. Anti-disialoside antibodies kill perisynaptic Schwann cells and damage motor nerve terminals via membrane attack complex in a murine model of neuropathy. Brain. 2004;127:2109–23.
- 125. Dalakas MC. Pathophysiology of autoimmune polyneuropathies. Presse Med. 2013;42: e181–92.
- 126. Yuki N, Hartung H-P. Guillain-Barre syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2294-304.
- 127. Astrom KE, Webster HD, Arnason BG. The initial lesion in experimental allergic neuritis. A phase and electron microscopic study. J Exp Med. 1968;128:469–95.
- 128. Hughes RA, Kadlubowski M, Gray IA, Leibowitz S. Immune responses in experimental allergic neuritis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1981;44:565–9.
- 129. Wang F-J, Cui D, Qian W-D. Therapeutic effect of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells amplified in vitro on experimental autoimmune neuritis in rats. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2018;47:390–402.

- 130. Yang M, Peyret C, Shi XQ, Siron N, Jang JH, Wu S, Fournier S, Zhang J. Evidence from human and animal studies: pathological roles of CD8(+) T cells in autoimmune peripheral neuropathies. Front Immunol. 2015;6:532.
- 131. Yang M, Shi XQ, Peyret C, Oladiran O, Wu S, Chambon J, Fournier S, Zhang J. Effector/ memory CD8(+) T cells synergize with co-stimulation competent macrophages to trigger autoimmune peripheral neuropathy. Brain Behav Immun. 2018;71:142–57.
- 132. Varki A, Sharon N. Historical background and overview. In: Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Bertozzi CR, Hart GW, Etzler ME, editors. Essentials glycobiology. 2nd ed. Cold Spring Harbor: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2009. p. 1–22.
- 133. Jacobs BC, Koga M, van Rijs W, Geleijns K, van Doorn PA, Willison HJ, Yuki N. Subclass IgG to motor gangliosides related to infection and clinical course in Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;194:181–90.
- 134. McGonigal R, Rowan EG, Greenshields KN, Halstead SK, Humphreys PD, Rother RP, Furukawa K, Willison HJ. Anti-GD1a antibodies activate complement and calpain to injure distal motor nodes of Ranvier in mice. Brain. 2010;133:1944–60.
- 135. Lopez PH, Zhang G, Zhang J, Lehmann HC, Griffin JW, Schnaar RL, Sheikh KA. Passive transfer of IgG anti-GM1 antibodies impairs peripheral nerve repair. J Neurosci. 2010;30:9533–41.
- 136. Ito M, Kuwabara S, Odaka M, Misawa S, Koga M, Hirata K, Yuki N. Bickerstaff's brainstem encephalitis and fisher syndrome form a continuous spectrum: clinical analysis of 581 cases. J Neurol. 2008;255:674–82.
- 137. Chiba A, Kusunoki S, Obata H, Machinami R, Kanazawa I. Serum anti-GQ1b IgG antibody is associated with ophthalmoplegia in Miller fisher syndrome and Guillain-Barre syndrome: clinical and immunohistochemical studies. Neurology. 1993;43:1911–7.
- Liu J-X, Willison HJ, Pedrosa-Domellof F. Immunolocalization of GQ1b and related gangliosides in human extraocular neuromuscular junctions and muscle spindles. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2009;50:3226–32.
- 139. Nagashima T, Koga M, Odaka M, Hirata K, Yuki N. Continuous spectrum of pharyngealcervical-brachial variant of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Arch Neurol. 2007;64:1519–23.
- Hahn AF, Feasby TE, Wilkie L, Lovgren D. Antigalactocerebroside antibody increases demyelination in adoptive transfer experimental allergic neuritis. Muscle Nerve. 1993;16:1174–80.
- 141. Saida T, Saida K, Dorfman SH, Silberberg DH, Sumner AJ, Manning MC, Lisak RP, Brown MJ. Experimental allergic neuritis induced by sensitization with galactocerebroside. Science. 1979;204:1103–6.
- 142. Yako K, Kusunoki S, Kanazawa I. Serum antibody against a peripheral nerve myelin ganglioside, LM1, in Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurol Sci. 1999;168:85–9.
- 143. Miyazaki T, Kusunoki S, Kaida K, Shiina M, Kanazawa I. Guillain-Barre syndrome associated with IgG monospecific to ganglioside GD1b. Neurology. 2001;56:1227–9.
- 144. Schmidt B, Toyka KV, Kiefer R, Full J, Hartung HP, Pollard J. Inflammatory infiltrates in sural nerve biopsies in Guillain-Barre syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 1996;19:474–87.
- 145. Kwa MS, van Schaik IN, Brand A, Baas F, Vermeulen M. Investigation of serum response to PMP22, connexin 32 and P(0) in inflammatory neuropathies. J Neuroimmunol. 2001; 116:220–5.
- Gabriel CM, Gregson NA, Hughes RA. Anti-PMP22 antibodies in patients with inflammatory neuropathy. J Neuroimmunol. 2000;104:139–46.
- 147. Lonigro A, Devaux JJ. Disruption of neurofascin and gliomedin at nodes of Ranvier precedes demyelination in experimental allergic neuritis. Brain. 2009;132:260–73.
- 148. Novakovic SD, Levinson SR, Schachner M, Shrager P. Disruption and reorganization of sodium channels in experimental allergic neuritis. Muscle Nerve. 1998;21:1019–32.
- 149. Kaida K, Kusunoki S. Guillain-Barre syndrome: update on immunobiology and treatment. Expert Rev Neurother. 2009;9:1307–19.
- 150. van Doorn P. Acute flaccid paralysis. Contin Lifelong Learn Neurol. 2003;9.
- 151. Uncini A, Kuwabara S. Electrodiagnostic criteria for Guillain-Barre syndrome: a critical revision and the need for an update. Clin Neurophysiol. 2012;123:1487–95.

- 152. Telleman JA, Grimm A, Goedee S, Visser LH, Zaidman CM. Nerve ultrasound in polyneuropathies. Muscle Nerve. 2018;57:716–28.
- 153. Mori A, Nodera H, Takamatsu N, Maruyama-Saladini K, Osaki Y, Shimatani Y, Kaji R. Sonographic evaluation of peripheral nerves in subtypes of Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurol Sci. 2016;364:154–9.
- 154. Berciano J, Sedano MJ, Pelayo-Negro AL, Garcia A, Orizaola P, Gallardo E, Lafarga M, Berciano MT, Jacobs BC. Proximal nerve lesions in early Guillain-Barre syndrome: implications for pathogenesis and disease classification. J Neurol. 2017;264:221–36.
- 155. Zuccoli G, Panigrahy A, Bailey A, Fitz C. Redefining the Guillain-Barre spectrum in children: neuroimaging findings of cranial nerve involvement. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2011;32:639–42.
- 156. Bayry J, Thirion M, Misra N, Thorenoor N, Delignat S, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Bellon B, Kaveri S, Kazatchkine MD. Mechanisms of action of intravenous immunoglobulin in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Neurol Sci Off J Ital Neurol Soc Ital Soc Clin Neurophysiol. 2003;24(Suppl 4):S217–21.
- 157. Durandy A, Kaveri SV, Kuijpers TW, Basta M, Miescher S, Ravetch JV, Rieben R. Intravenous immunoglobulins – understanding properties and mechanisms. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009;158 Suppl:2–13.
- 158. Jacobs BC, O'Hanlon GM, Bullens RWM, Veitch J, Plomp JJ, Willison HJ. Immunoglobulins inhibit pathophysiological effects of anti-GQ1b-positive sera at motor nerve terminals through inhibition of antibody binding. Brain. 2003;126:2220–34.
- 159. Lehmann HC, Hartung H-P. Plasma exchange and intravenous immunoglobulins: mechanism of action in immune-mediated neuropathies. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;231:61–9.
- Hughes RAC, Swan AV, van Doorn PA. Intravenous immunoglobulin for Guillain-Barre syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(7):CD002063.
- 161. Jasti AK, Selmi C, Sarmiento-Monroy JC, Vega DA, Anaya J-M, Gershwin ME. Guillain-Barre syndrome: causes, immunopathogenic mechanisms and treatment. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2016;12:1175–89.
- 162. Bouget J, Chevret S, Chastang C, Raphael JC. Plasma exchange morbidity in Guillain-Barre syndrome: results from the French prospective, randomized, multicenter study. The French cooperative group. Crit Care Med. 1993;21:651–8.
- 163. Chevret S, Hughes RA, Annane D. Plasma exchange for Guillain-Barre syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;2:CD001798.
- 164. Ortiz-Salas P, Velez-Van-Meerbeke A, Galvis-Gomez CA, Rodriguez QJH. Human immunoglobulin versus Plasmapheresis in Guillain-Barre syndrome and myasthenia gravis: a metaanalysis. J Clin Neuromuscul Dis. 2016;18:1–11.
- 165. Trial, Plasma Exchange/Sandoglobulin, Guillain-Barré Syndrome, Group. Randomised trial of plasma exchange, intravenous immunoglobulin, and combined treatments in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Plasma exchange/Sandoglobulin Guillain-Barre syndrome trial group. Lancet (London England). 1997;349:225–30.
- 166. Wang Y-Z, Lv H, Shi Q-G, Fan X-T, Li L, Yi Wong AH, Hao Y-L, Si C-P, Li C-L, Yuki N. Action mechanism of corticosteroids to aggravate Guillain-Barre syndrome. Sci Rep. 2015;5:13931.
- Goodall JA, Kosmidis JC, Geddes AM. Effect of corticosteroids on course of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Lancet (London, England). 1974;1:524–6.
- 168. Hughes RAC, Swan AV, Raphael J-C, Annane D, van Koningsveld R, van Doorn PA. Immunotherapy for Guillain-Barre syndrome: a systematic review. Brain. 2007;130:2245–57.
- 169. Hughes RAC. Systematic reviews of treatment for inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy. J Anat. 2002;200:331–9.
- 170. Hughes RA, Brassington R, Gunn AA, van Doorn PA. Corticosteroids for Guillain-Barre syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;10:CD001446.
- 171. Wollinsky KH, Hulser PJ, Brinkmeier H, et al. CSF filtration is an effective treatment of Guillain-Barre syndrome: a randomized clinical trial. Neurology. 2001;57:774–80.

- 172. Wollinsky KH, Hulser PJ, Westarp ME, Mehrkens HH, Kornhuber HH. Cerebrospinal fluid pheresis in Guillain Barre syndrome. Med Hypotheses. 1992;38:155–65.
- 173. Wollinsky KH, Weindler M, Hulser PJ, Geiger P, Matzek N, Mehrkens HH, Kornhuber HH. Liquorpheresis (CSF-filtration): an effective treatment in acute and chronic severe autoimmune polyradiculoneuritis (Guillain-Barre syndrome). Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 1991;241:73–6.
- 174. Pilch KS, Spaeth PJ, Yuki N, Wakerley BR. Therapeutic complement inhibition: a promising approach for treatment of neuroimmunological diseases. Expert Rev Neurother. 2017;17:579–91.
- 175. Halstead SK, Zitman FMP, Humphreys PD, Greenshields K, Verschuuren JJ, Jacobs BC, Rother RP, Plomp JJ, Willison HJ. Eculizumab prevents anti-ganglioside antibody-mediated neuropathy in a murine model. Brain. 2008;131:1197–208.
- 176. Davidson AI, Halstead SK, Goodfellow JA, Chavada G, Mallik A, Overell J, Lunn MP, McConnachie A, van Doorn P, Willison HJ. Inhibition of complement in Guillain-Barre syndrome: the ICA-GBS study. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2017;22:4–12.
- 177. Hepburn NJ, Williams AS, Nunn MA, Chamberlain-Banoub JC, Hamer J, Morgan BP, Harris CL. In vivo characterization and therapeutic efficacy of a C5-specific inhibitor from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:8292–9.
- 178. Halstead SK, Humphreys PD, Zitman FMP, Hamer J, Plomp JJ, Willison HJ. C5 inhibitor rEV576 protects against neural injury in an in vitro mouse model of Miller fisher syndrome. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2008;13:228–35.
- 179. Phongsisay V, Susuki K, Matsuno K, Yamahashi T, Okamoto S, Funakoshi K, Hirata K, Shinoda M, Yuki N. Complement inhibitor prevents disruption of sodium channel clusters in a rabbit model of Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;205:101–4.
- Danielsson C, Pascual M, French L, Steiger G, Schifferli JA. Soluble complement receptor type 1 (CD35) is released from leukocytes by surface cleavage. Eur J Immunol. 1994;24:2725–31.
- 181. Walgaard C, Jacobs BC, van Doorn PA. Emerging drugs for Guillain-Barre syndrome. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs. 2011;16:105–20.
- 182. Jung S, Toyka KV, Hartung HP. Soluble complement receptor type 1 inhibits experimental autoimmune neuritis in Lewis rats. Neurosci Lett. 1995;200:167–70.
- 183. Creange A. A role for interferon-beta in Guillain-Barre syndrome. BioDrugs. 2000;14:1–11.
- 184. Zou LP, Ma DH, Wei L, van der Meide PH, Mix E, Zhu J. IFN-beta suppresses experimental autoimmune neuritis in Lewis rats by inhibiting the migration of inflammatory cells into peripheral nervous tissue. J Neurosci Res. 1999;56:123–30.
- Ostronoff F, Perales M-A, Stubblefield MD, Hsu KC. Rituximab-responsive Guillain-Barre syndrome following allogeneic hematopoietic SCT. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2008;42:71–2.
- 186. FDA. Cyclophosphamide Tablets, USP. FDA. In: FDA. 2012. https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/drug%0Asatfda_docs/label/2012/012141s089lbl.pdf. Accessed 18 Oct 2018.
- Rosen AD, Vastola EF. Clinical effects of cyclophosphamide in Guillain-Barre polyneuritis. J Neurol Sci. 1976;30:179–87.
- 188. Mangano K, Dati G, Quattrocchi C, Proietti L, Mazzarino C, Di Marco R, Bendtzen K, Greco B, Zaratin P, Nicoletti F. Preventive and curative effects of cyclophosphamide in an animal model of Guillain Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;196:107–15.
- 189. Blum S, McCombe PA. Genetics of Guillain-Barre syndrome (GBS) and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP): current knowledge and future directions. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2014;19:88–103.
- 190. Rodriguez Y, Rojas M, Pacheco Y, Acosta-Ampudia Y, Ramirez-Santana C, Monsalve DM, Gershwin ME, Anaya J-M. Guillain-Barre syndrome, transverse myelitis and infectious diseases. Cell Mol Immunol. 2018;15:547–62.
- 191. Xiao J, Simard AR, Shi F-D, Hao J. New strategies in the management of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2014;47:274–88.
- 192. Garssen MPJ, van Koningsveld R, van Doorn PA, et al. Treatment of Guillain-Barre syndrome with mycophenolate mofetil: a pilot study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78:1012–3.

Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyneuropathy



Miki Suzuki and Gérard Said

Abstract Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) is an autoimmune disease that targets the myelin sheaths of peripheral nerves. Lacking a specific diagnostic test, CIDP is diagnosed on the basis of the clinical presentation and demonstration of demyelination by electrodiagnostic or nerve biopsy studies. There are many phenotype variants of CIDP. Typical CIDP involves motor and sensory nerve dysfunction, with motor deficits reported in up to 94% of patients and sensory deficits in up to 89%. Half to two-thirds of patients with CIDP display the typical phenotype. The three proven treatments for CIDP are intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG), corticosteroids, and plasma exchange. In the last years, a set of autoantibodies against proteins located at the node of Ranvier has been identified in some patients with CIDP. IVIG treatment is not satisfactory in the majority of antibody-positive CIDP patients.

Keywords Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy · Intravenous immunoglobulin · Steroid · Paranode · Nerve biopsy

Introduction

Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) is an acquired demyelinating neuropathy that is presumed to be of autoimmune etiology. Its clinical presentation and course are extremely variable. CIDP should be considered in any patient with progressive symmetric or asymmetric demyelinating polyneuropathy, because it often responds well to treatment. CIDP is characterized morphologically by longstanding multifocal demyelination that predominantly affects spinal roots, major plexuses, and proximal nerve trunks [1–5]. The clinical and pathological variability of CIDP accounts for the many diagnostic problems encountered in this setting.

M. Suzuki (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Neurology, Tokyo Women's Medical University, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: suzuki.miki@twmu.ac.jp

G. Said Institut Arthur Vernes, Paris, France

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_25

Epidemiology

The prevalence of CIDP is estimated to be between 0.8 and 8.9 per 100,000 population [6], depending on the diagnostic criteria used [7]. In McLeod's study, its prevalence was higher in males than in females, and the age-specific prevalence reached a maximum of 6.7 per 100,000 population in the 70–79-year-old age group. The estimated crude annual incidence was 0.15 per 100,000 population. The mean age of onset was 47.6 years (median, 53.5 years) [8]. In a Japanese study, the prevalence rate per 100,000 was 1.61 in the total population, 2.01 in males, and 1.23 in females. The annual incidence rate was 0.48 per 100,000 population in the total population, 0.58 in males and 0.38 in females. The age-dependent incidence rate was 0.06 per 100,000 population in 0–15-year-olds, 0.04 in young adults (15–55-year-olds), and 0.73 in elderly persons (over 55-year-olds). These results were similar to reports in the Caucasian population [9].

In a retrospective study of disabling neuropathy in elderly persons, CIDP was the second most common cause, accounting for 14% of disabling neuropathy in this age group [10]. In another retrospective study of disabling neuropathy involving 100 patients over 80 years of age, CIDP was the most common cause, accounting for 32% of cases [11]. Most of these figures include cases of possible or probable CIDP. The stringent electrophysiological research criteria defined by the American Academy of Neurology Ad Hoc Subcommittee for the diagnosis of CIDP underestimate the actual incidence of CIDP [12].

Clinical Manifestations

The diagnosis of CIDP must be considered when a patient presents with a nonfiberlength-dependent demyelinating polyneuropathy that progresses over more than a month or has evolved chronically over many months. The subsequent course can be progressive or relapsing and remitting, often with a secondary progressive course [3, 4, 13–16]. Generally, weakness and ataxia as large-fiber abnormalities are predominant, whereas autonomic manifestations and pain as small-fiber abnormalities are less common [17]. The underlying demyelinating process is demonstrated by electrophysiological and, if needed, pathological studies.

Precipitating Factors

There is no identified genetically determined susceptibility to CIDP [18]. A history of an illness, mostly a nonspecific upper respiratory or gastrointestinal tract infection, or vaccination in the preceding 6 months was reported in 32% of cases [13].

A significantly increased risk of relapse has been documented in pregnancy. In a series of 100 patients, 16% noted an infectious event 6 weeks or less before the initial neurological manifestations; in seven patients, CIDP followed or was associated with viral hepatitis, since one patient had hepatitis A 6 weeks before the first neuropathic symptoms, and the others had chronic hepatitis B [15]. A flu-like syndrome was noted in the other patients. Three patients underwent a surgical procedure shortly before the onset of the neuropathy, and in one patient, neuropathic manifestations started during the postpartum period. Different patterns of CIDP, relapsing or progressive, have been observed at all stages of HIV infection. In most cases of HIV-CIDP, CSF pleocytosis is associated with increased protein content [19].

Age of Patients

CIDP occurs at any age [20]. In Bouchard's series of 100 adult patients with CIDP, the age of onset ranged from 10 to 82 (mean 52 ± 19 SD) years, in keeping with epidemiological studies [15]. Children can also be affected at any age from infancy [21, 22].

Neurological Manifestations at Onset

The manifestations at onset are variable. In the generalized pattern, numbress of the upper and lower extremities, spontaneous pains, and weakness progress gradually over several weeks. In some cases, a progressive sensory ataxia is the presenting manifestation, while in others, a predominantly or pure motor deficit is observed at onset. In most cases, the deficit is roughly symmetrical, both proximal and distal. In other cases, focal or multifocal involvement shows a multifocal demyelinating neuropathy with or without conduction blocks on electrophysiological testing. Some series required a motor deficit for the diagnosis [18, 23]. At onset, the incidence of motor deficit varied from 78% to 94% of cases in three large series [3, 13, 15]. In McCombe's series, a gradual onset of symptoms occurred in 84% of patients, while in 16%, the onset was acute, with the plateau of disability being reached within 4 weeks [13]. In many cases, the diagnosis of CIDP is made retrospectively because of the subsequent relapsing or progressive course or secondary involvement of other nerve territories. Pains were present at onset in 20-35% of the patients in the same series, and paresthesiae were present in 64-79% of the patients [3, 13, 15].

Neurological Manifestations at Referral or at Steady State

The clinical manifestations in the chronic phase, at steady state, or at referral reflect the symptomatic variety of CIDP. On average, a motor deficit occurs in 83–94% of patients, with sensory deficits in 72–89%. Facial palsy is observed in 4–15%, and there is loss of tendon reflexes in 86–94% of patients. Oculomotor palsy was present in 4–7% of patients [3, 13, 15]. Dysautonomia is not a feature of CIDP. In contrast to Guillain-Barré syndrome, autonomic symptoms are usually mild in CIDP [3, 13]. Autonomic dysfunction is not significant and mainly manifests as bowel and bladder complaints [24].

Increased CSF protein content is also seen in CIDP. Some authors required a CSF protein content of greater than 0.45 g/L for diagnosis, with less than 10 cells per mL [12]. In Bouchard's series, the CSF protein content was normal in 14% of patients, and cellularity was normal in all of them [15]. When the CSF is normal, it is mandatory to support the diagnosis with unequivocal demyelinative features on electrophysiological testing and/or pathological data.

Clinical Variants of CIDP

Clinical diversity in presentation and course is the most remarkable feature of CIDP. In this section, some of the most common or misleading manifestations at onset are reviewed.

Focal and Multifocal Neuropathies and CIDP

Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy presents in rare instances with focal or multifocal upper limb involvement. Gorson et al. reported the clinical and EMG findings in 10 such patients with upper limb CIDP, which they compared with patients with typical generalized CIDP (G-CIDP) and multifocal motor neuropathy (MMN). Symptoms began in one arm or hand in six patients and in both arms or hands in four and included numbness (n = 10), paresthesia (n = 9), weakness (n = 8), and pain (n = 6). Findings were initially restricted to the ulnar nerve distribution in three patients, and the median nerve and axillary nerve in one patient each, and they involved multiple nerves in five patients. Conduction block was detected in the forearm segment of 68% of the median and ulnar motor nerves tested; in contrast to MMN, 73% of the sensory nerves tested were abnormal, and none had anti-GM1 antibodies. Aside from the focal onset, there was no difference between the two groups. However, the magnitude of recovery following treatment was greater in patients with G-CIDP. The authors concluded that a multifocal variant of CIDP begins with upper extremity sensorimotor symptoms, simulates

isolated or multiple mononeuropathies, can be distinguished from MMN, and may have a less favorable response to treatment [25]. The multifocal variant of CIDP is also called multifocal acquired demyelinating sensory and motor (MADSAM) neuropathy, as well as Lewis-Sumner syndrome [26, 27]. The painful onset of upper limb multifocal deficits may mimic brachial neuritis [28].

Chronic Sensory Demyelinating Polyneuropathy

Some patients present with isolated sensory manifestations, including ataxia, pains, and paresthesiae of the lower extremities, which represent a subset of CIDP [29–31]. This atypical presentation, with only sensory symptoms and signs, may be seen in 6–15% of CIDP patients [32]. Two groups of patients can be identified among those presenting with isolated sensory manifestations: in the first group, sensory manifestations are followed after a variable period of time by motor deficit, which was the case in the series reported by van Dijk et al. [30]; and in the second group, the signs and symptoms remain purely sensory for years or decades.

We reviewed the data of 28 patients referred for a chronic sensory polyneuropathy, which was ascribed to a demyelinative process after electrophysiological and nerve biopsy findings and exclusion of all known causes of sensory neuropathies at referral and during follow-up: three patients developed motor deficits an average of 4.5 years after the onset of sensory symptoms [33]. They were classified as demyelinating and intermediate (some were in the demyelinating range) according to the AAN criteria. Sensory conduction velocities and motor conduction velocities in the demyelinating range were found in 3 and 2 cases, respectively. Motor and sensory conduction abnormalities in the demyelinating range were found in patients who developed weakness [34]. The AAN criteria for demyelination were a good predictor of the occurrence of secondary motor deficits in this population. Disability, mainly due to ataxia, was present at referral in 10 patients and at follow-up in 14 patients. Improvement was noted in 5/15 patients treated with oral prednisone and in 3/10 patients given intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) treatment [33]. In chronic sensory demyelinating polyneuropathy, demyelination may also be restricted to sensory nerves or dorsal roots [32, 35].

Katz et al. distinguished between patients with distal sensory or sensorimotor involvement, classified as distal acquired demyelinating symmetric (DADS) neuropathy, from those with proximal and distal weakness, who were classified as classic CIDP [36]. Patients with DADS present predominantly with sensory symptoms. When muscle weakness is observed, it is restricted primarily to distal muscle groups in a length-dependent fashion. Some patients with DADS neuropathy have IgM monoclonal gammopathies with anti-MAG antibodies [37] and typically do not respond to treatment with prednisone. In contrast, most patients with DADS and no IgM-protein respond readily to treatment with oral prednisone, plasma exchange, or IVIg [36].

Pure Motor Pattern

Pure motor patterns are observed in the same proportion of patients as pure sensory forms. Gorson et al. reported that about 10% of their CIDP patients showed a pure motor form [25]. A deleterious response to prednisone has been observed in pure motor CIDP [38, 39]. However, it is difficult to differentiate this worsening from lack of response to treatment with the natural progression of the neurological deficit.

CIDP in Childhood

CIDP is rarer in children than in adults, but the clinical aspects, course, and response to treatment are similar to those in adult onset CIDP [22, 40–43]. In a study comparing 12 children with idiopathic CIDP to 62 adults with idiopathic CIDP [44], the children often had more rapidly fluctuating courses than adults; a relapsing course was significantly more common in children than in adults. The recovery of children from each episode of deterioration was usually excellent and better, on average, than that of adults.

CIDP in Diabetic Patients

Patients with diabetes occasionally develop clinical and electrodiagnostic features suggestive of CIDP [45]. This diagnosis must be suspected when a predominantly motor and ataxic polyneuropathy occurs in a diabetic patient. In diabetic patients with CIDP, the nerve conduction studies showed more severe axonal loss and the degree of improvement following treatment was less in one study [46]. While some studies have suggested that diabetes mellitus occurs with increased frequency in patients with CIDP [46–48], other studies have shown that this increased prevalence of diabetes mellitus is better explained by a chance association [49].

Postural and Action Tremor in CIDP

Postural and action tremor can become very disabling in patients with CIDP. Such a tremor occurs in patients with minimal motor weakness regardless of the intensity of the sensory manifestations. It is attributable to increased physiological tremor by weakness with a possible role of decreased input from afferent large myelinated fibers [50].

Central Nervous System (CNS) Involvement in CIDP or CIDP and Multiple Sclerosis?

CIDP with CNS involvement has been reported [51–53]. CIDP was associated with symptomatic lesions of the CNS in 5% of cases in one series [15], and features of multiple sclerosis were found in the three patients who underwent MRI. All patients with CNS involvement were severely handicapped. Recently, antibodies to neurofascin 155 have been reported in some patients with combined CNS and peripheral nervous system inflammation; however, the clinical relevance of these findings is unknown [54].

Clinical Course and Prognosis

The long-term outcome of CIDP is unpredictable in the early stage of the disease. A variable proportion of cases follow a relapsing or chronic progressive course, with many patients starting with a relapsing course, followed by a secondary progressive course. In that respect, CIDP can be considered a peripheral analog of multiple sclerosis (MS). In addition, just as in MS, in which the pejorative prognostic marker of axonal degeneration has been recently stressed, loss of axons is the major pejorative prognostic marker identified in CIDP (p < 0.0001) [15].

In McCombe's series, two-thirds of patients followed a chronic relapsing course, and one-third had a progressive course. When reviewed after a mean interval of 10 years, six patients had died as a result of the disease, but 73% had made a good recovery; the prognosis was better in those with relapsing disease than in those with progressive disease [13].

Bouchard et al. [15] reviewed the follow-up data of 83 patients collected an average of 6 years after the first manifestations of neuropathy. Eight patients (10%) with relapsing forms were in remission, and 6 had relapsed at the time of evaluation. At evaluation, 38 patients were able to work, and 18 had retired without major disability. The outcome was good in 56% of the patients. Fourteen of the 83 patients died (17%), including nine as a result of progression of the neurological deficit to quadriplegia and respiratory and swallowing difficulty. The mean age of the patients who died was 67 years versus 49 years in Bouchard's cohort. Those who survived included 5 patients who were bedridden, 6 with severe, 11 with mild, and 23 with moderate handicaps, and 24 were fully autonomous. In Hahn's series, relapsing forms carried a better prognosis than progressive forms, in keeping with a better response of patients with acutely relapsing CIDP to IVIg treatment [55]. On the other hand, Van Doorn et al. [56] found no correlation between disease course and response to treatment. In Bouchard's series [15], 20 patients (24%), including the 9 patients who died as a consequence of their neurological deficits, were resistant to all treatment, despite a partial response for a few years.

In a study of 124 patients of different ages, Hattori et al. [57] found that half of the juvenile group had subacute progression initially, while most patients in the elderly group showed chronic insidious progression (p < 0.0001). Motor-dominant neuropathy was prominent in juveniles, while sensory-motor neuropathy was frequent in the elderly group (p < 0.0001). A relapsing and remitting course predominated in the juvenile group. Demyelinating and axonal degenerating features on sural nerve biopsy and on nerve conduction studies were common to the three age group studies. Functional recovery was common in all three age groups, but it was least apparent in the elderly group (p = 0.00062) [57].

A more recent study of 38 patients with CIDP found that, 5 years after the onset of treatment, 87% were able to walk and 26% experienced complete remission lasting for more than 2 years without treatment. Prognostic factors for complete remission were subacute onset, symmetrical symptoms, lack of muscle atrophy, good response to initial corticosteroid treatment, and a distal pattern on motor electrodiagnosis [58].

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of CIDP is incompletely understood and includes cell-mediated and several humoral mechanisms [59, 60]. The autoimmune etiology is supported by the efficacy of treatments that target the immune system, including IVIg, plasma exchange, and corticosteroids, and by evidence of an inflammatory response in the blood and peripheral nerves [60].

The presence of inflammatory infiltrations in sural nerve biopsies, changes in the frequencies/function of T-cell subsets, altered expression of cytokines, and other inflammatory mediators in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with CIDP indicate cellular immune mechanisms in the pathogenesis of CIDP [60]. T cells become activated, undergo clonal expansion, release inflammatory mediators, and cross the blood-nerve barrier (BNB). CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in variable proportions may be seen on examination of nerve biopsy specimens, but macrophages constitute the major cell component of the inflammatory infiltrate [15, 61]. During active phases of CIDP, the level of circulating tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) increases [62]. It must be noted, however, that inflammatory infiltration is not very common in nerve biopsy specimens, and myelin stripping by macrophages, as observed in Guillain-Barré syndrome, is a relatively rare finding in CIDP. Expressions of TNF- α , interferon- γ , and interleukin-2 (IL-2) in the perineurium and endoneurial blood vessels may be pertinent to the breakdown of the BNB associated with CIDP [63]. Increased permeability in PNS capillaries enables access of circulating antimyelin antibodies to the endoneurium, where they may bind to myelin sheaths and facilitate macrophage phagocytosis of myelin by Fc receptor mechanisms [64]. Activated resident and recruited macrophages, antigen presentation, and release of proinflammatory cytokines or toxic mediators play an active role in many aspects of the immune response [60]. Macrophages also have an important role in the end stages of demyelination by stripping away and phagocytosing myelin [65]. A recent study of the T-cell repertoire in patients with CIDP found a broader activation of cytotoxic CD8+ T cells than CD4+ T cells that was reduced after treatment with IVIg [66].

The efficacy of the plasma exchange in the treatment of CIDP indicates hormonal mechanisms. Concerning the antibody-mediated mechanisms, conflicting results have recently been reported. One group found that CIDP is not associated with the antibody-mediated response to major glycolipids or myelin protein antigens [67]. On the other hand, Yuki et al. [68] reported elevated titers of immunoglobulin M (IgM) antibodies to sulfated glucuronyl paragloboside in six patients. A role for anti-PMP22 antibodies has also been suggested [69]. Yan et al. [70] successfully passively transferred disease using sera and purified IgG from 4 of 12 CIDP patients responsive to plasma exchange by bypassing the blood-nerve barrier through intra-neural injection or by opening it by activated T cells. The sera from CIDP patients or purified IgG produced marked conduction block and demyelination, which supports a role for antimyelin/Schwann cell autoantibodies in the pathogenesis of CIDP, at least in some patients. Some studies have detected autoantibody responses to P0, P2 [71, 72], and connexin [73] in CIDP serum, but these were not confirmed by others [60]. On the other hand, while antibodies to gangliosides are frequently found in GBS, such autoantibodies are typically not found in CIDP [74].

In recent years, autoantibodies against protein of the paranodes (neurofascin 155 (NF155), contactin 1 (CNTN1), or contactin-associated protein 1 (Caspr)) and nodes of Ranvier (neurofascin 186 (NF186)) occur in approximately 10% of CIDP patients [54, 74] (Table 1). These autoantibodies target nodal and paranodal structures and typically have an IgG4 isotype [75]. These autoantibodies are only found in a small subset of patients with CIDP; however, they can be used to guide therapeutic decision-making, as these patients have a poor response to IVIg [74].

In summary, both cell-mediated and humoral processes may play roles, but this still needs clarification.

Location	Antigen	Clinical phenotype	
Paranode	Neurofascin 155 (NF155)	Distal motor involvement, sensory ataxia, tremor	
	Contactin-associated protein (Caspr1)	Subacute onset, pain	
	Contactin 1 (CNTN1)	Rapid severe onset, distal limb involvement, sensory ataxia, tremor	
Node of Ranvier	Neurofascin 186 (NF186)	Subacute onset, sensory ataxia	

Table 1 Antibodies in CIDP

Diagnosis

CIDP is diagnosed on the basis of the clinical presentation, evidence for demyelination on electrodiagnostic or nerve biopsy studies, and absence of other causes of demyelination [76]. In 1991, an Ad Hoc Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology proposed a set of diagnostic criteria for CIDP to be used for research purposes, and then several other criteria followed. The most recent widely accepted criteria were recommended by the European Federation of Neurological Societies and Peripheral Nerve Society (EFNS/PNS) in 2005 [77]. In this guideline, classical CIDP is categorized as "typical CIDP," and "atypical CIDP" includes multifocal acquired demyelinating sensory and motor neuropathy (MADSAM) or Lewis-Sumner syndrome/asymmetric CIDP, distal acquired demyelinating symmetric polyneuropathy (DADS), and pure motor or sensory CIDP. Multifocal motor neuropathy (MMN) and antimyelin-associated glycoprotein (anti-MAG) neuropathy were excluded from CIDP because of their different treatment responses.

Electrophysiological Data

Electrodiagnostic examinations are mandatory for the diagnosis of CIDP. The main purpose of electrophysiological studies in patients with suspected CIDP is to establish the presence of focal, multifocal, or diffuse demyelination, and to ascertain the anatomical extent and distribution of the abnormalities.

Furthermore, studies are needed to determine the degree of axonal loss, and EMG should therefore be included in the patient evaluation. In practice, the diagnosis of CIDP rests mainly on demonstration of an asymmetrical demyelinating process, and patients with an acquired demyelinating neuropathy often have differential slowing of conduction velocity when proximal and distal latencies of equivalent segments of two nerves in the same limb are compared. Uniform slowing of nerve conduction is suggestive of an inherited demyelinating polyneuropathy. Nonuniform slowing of nerve conduction, temporal dispersion, and conduction blocks are more common in acquired demyelinating polyneuropathies than in inherited disorders.

Due to the variability of phenotypes and the absence of specific biomarkers in CIDP [78], a large number of diagnostic criteria have been proposed to differentiate demyelinating from axonal neuropathy (for criteria review and discussion, see [79]), reflecting difficulties in the establishment of an accurate diagnosis. Most of these criteria have been developed while comparing to patients with typical axonal degeneration, such as ALS, and all revolve around the distinguishing features needed to identify demyelination as the central pathophysiological abnormality. Generalized demyelination also occurs in, for example, CMT type 1, and distinguishing features should include evidence of focal abnormalities such as conduction block or abnormal temporal dispersion [80]. Related to the multiple lesions, the

duration and dispersion of the distally evoked compound muscle action potential (CMAP) is increased in CIDP [79, 81].

Chronic inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy is typically characterized by a slowly progressive course with weakness and sensory loss in the legs and arms, and there is cranial nerve involvement in some patients. Nevertheless, the distribution of demyelinating lesions is multifocal, the disorder may have a variable clinical presentation, and the course may be relapsing [82]. Thus, the disease may have an acute initial phase and should in these cases be distinguished from Guillain-Barré syndrome, since the treatment differs in the two conditions [83]. Similarly, CIDP should be distinguished from other disorders with motor conduction block (MCB), including MMN, since steroids are effective in CIDP, but have no positive effect in MMN. Though demyelination is the main pathological lesion, axonal degeneration occurs to a variable extent and represents the main prognostic factor.

On nerve conduction study (NCS), unequivocal signs of demyelination include a reduction of motor nerve conduction velocity (MNCV) below 40% of the normal mean, along with relative preservation of CMAP amplitude [84–86], to exclude the effect of decreased conduction velocity due to loss of large myelinated fibers.

Sensory conduction studies usually do not have a prominent role in the diagnosis of CIDP, although it was demonstrated that slowing of sensory conduction is specific for demyelinating neuropathy [87]. On the other hand, the sensory conduction velocity (SNCV) was found to be less reduced than the MNCV over the same nerve segment [88], which indicates that motor and sensory myelinated fibers are affected to different degrees in CIDP. The pattern of abnormal median nerve versus normal sural sensory nerve action potential (SNAP) was found in 25–30% of cases in both AIDP and CIDP [89], and this differs from abnormalities in both hereditary demyelinating and in axonal neuropathies. Somatosensory evoked potentials can be useful to demonstrate abnormal proximal sensory conduction, particularly in sensory CIDP [35, 90].

The diagnostic criteria for CIDP have mainly been obtained by multicenter consensus discussions [91], and the sensitivity to include patients that may benefit from immunomodulating therapy has been questioned. Thus, for example, the criteria advocated by the American Academy of Neurology [12] have been found to be too restrictive [92], and more sensitive inclusion criteria have been derived by the Inflammatory Neuropathy Cause and Treatment group (INCAT) treatment studies [86]. The following criteria for CIDP have been obtained from various electrophysiological studies [12, 13, 93]:

- Motor conduction velocity less than 75% of the lower limit of normal values
- Distal motor latencies greater than 140% of normal values
- · Conduction block and/or temporal dispersion of the CMAP
- Increased F-wave latency to greater than 120% of normal

Currently, the most widely accepted electrodiagnostic criteria are those recommended by EFNS/PNS, and they require demonstration of demyelinating abnormalities in at least two nerves for the diagnosis of definite or probable CIDP, or in one nerve for possible CIDP [77] (Table 2).

Table 2	Electrodiagnostic	criteria of the	ENFS/PNS	CIDP guidelines [77]	1
I GINIC 2	Lieenoanagnostie	enterna or the	DI (1 0/1 1 (0	CIDI Suidennes [//	1

Table 2 Electrodiagnostic chieffa of the ENFS/FINS CIDF guidelines [//]
(1) Definite: at least one of the following:
A. Motor distal latency prolongation \geq 50% above the upper limit of normal values in two nerves (excluding median neuropathy at the wrist from carpal tunnel syndrome)
B. Reduction of motor conduction velocity \geq 30% below the lower limit of normal values in two nerves
C. Prolongation of F-wave latency \geq 30% above the upper limit of normal values in two nerves (\geq 50% if amplitude of distal negative peak compound muscle action potential (CMAP) < 80% of lower limit of normal values)
D. Absence of F-waves in two nerves if these nerves have amplitudes of distal negative peak CMAP amplitudes \geq 20% of lower limit of normal values + at least one other demyelinating parameter ^a in at least one other nerve
E. Partial motor conduction block: \geq 50% amplitude reduction of the proximal negative peak CMAP relative to distal, if distal negative peak CMAP \geq 20% of the lower limit of normal values, in two nerves, or in one nerve + at least one other demyelinating parameter ^a in at least one other nerve
F. Abnormal temporal dispersion (>30% duration increase between the proximal and distal negative peak CMAP) in at least two nerves
G. Distal CMAP duration (interval between onset of the first negative peak and return to baseline of the last negative peak) increase in ≥ 2 nerve (median ≥ 6.6 ms, ulnar ≥ 6.7 ms, peroneal ≥ 7.6 ms, tibial ≥ 8.8 ms) ^b + at least one other demyelinating parameter ^a in at least one other nerve
(2) Probable
\geq 30% amplitude reduction of the proximal negative peak CMAP relative to distal, excluding the posterior tibial nerve, if distal negative peak CMAP \geq 20% of the lower limit of normal values, in two nerves, or in one nerve + at least one other demyelinating parameter ^a in at least one other nerve
(3) Possible
As in (1) but in only one nerve
To apply these criteria, the median, ulnar (stimulated below the elbow), peroneal (stimulated below the fibular head) and tibial perves on one side are tested. If criteria are not fulfilled

below the fibular head), and tibial nerves on one side are tested. If criteria are not fulfilled, the same nerves are tested at the other side, and/or the ulnar and median nerves are stimulated bilaterally at the axilla and at Erb's point. Motor conduction block is not considered in the ulnar across the elbow and at least 50% amplitude deduction between Erb's point and the wrist is required for probable conduction block. Temperatures should be maintained to at least 33 °C at the palm and 30 °C at the external malleolus (good practice points)

^aAny nerve meeting any of the criteria (A-G) ^bIsose S, et al. (Isose et al., 2009) [81]

In Bouchard's series of 100 patients, the criteria also included morphological features of a demyelinating process in nerve biopsy specimens. Electrophysiological tests showed a typical demyelinating pattern in 74% of patients; 4 patients had only one criterion of demyelination on nerve conduction studies. Thirteen (14%) of the 91 patients had nerve conduction blocks. No isolated or predominant axonal electrophysiological pattern was found. In some patients, undetectable sural nerve action potentials contrasted with relative preservation of nerve fiber density [15].

Several attempts have been made to improve the yield and reliability of electrophysiological tests in CIDP [80, 94], which must be tested now on a large scale and compared to pathological data.

Electrophysiological tests, although crucial for the diagnosis of demyelinating polyneuropathies, do not yield clear-cut results in many cases, due to the mixture of axonal loss with demyelinative features in patients with primarily demyelinating neuropathies. Allen and Lewis proposed 4 electrophysiological patterns that caused neurologists to misdiagnose other neuropathies as CIDP: (1) a length-dependent axonal neuropathy with an equivocal degree of slowing conduction velocities being overinterpreted as demyelination; (2) deep peroneal nerve findings from small foot muscles (extensor digitorum brevis) being interpreted as focal demyelination; (3) mild conduction velocity slowing in motor neuron disease being interpreted as demyelination; and (4) conduction velocity slowing or conduction block at sites of common nerve compression being interpreted as inflammatory demyelination [95].

Nerve biopsy should be considered when a clinical suspicion of an inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy remains in patients who do not meet the proposed electrodiagnostic criteria for demyelination [31, 96–99]. However, to avoid much of the disappointment concerning the yield of nerve biopsy, it is advisable to biopsy a nerve affected by the neuropathic process, rather than indiscriminately perform a sural or a superficial peroneal nerve biopsy [100, 101]. Nerve biopsy also has its pitfalls because the demyelinating process is not homogeneous, is basically asymmetrical, and because marked inflammatory infiltrates are seldom present at the biopsy site. Nerve biopsy may show only nonspecific lesions when demyelination and inflammation are proximal to the site of the biopsy. Thus, each method has its limitations.

Neuroimaging

An increased signal intensity on T2-weighted imaging of the brachial plexus can be seen on MR imaging of the brachial plexus in patients with CIDP and in patients with MMN, which may be useful to differentiate MMN from lower motor neuron disease [102]. Another MRI study showed hypertrophy of cervical roots and the brachial plexus in eight of 14 cases, six of whom also had hypertrophy of the lumbar plexus. Of 11 patients who received gadolinium, six showed enhancement. All patients with hypertrophy had a relapsing-remitting course and a significantly longer disease duration [103]. However, it is good to know that increased signal intensity on T2-weighted imaging of the brachial plexus and of the sciatic nerve can occur in other conditions, including infiltrating malignant lymphoma and sciatica secondary to disk herniation, as we observed. Three-dimensional nerve-sheath signal increased with inked rest-tissue rapid acquisition of relaxation imaging (3D SHINKEI) is a new technique to suppress signals of blood vessels, muscles, and fat tissue using improved motion-sensitized driven equilibrium and spectral attenuated inversion recovery. 3D SHINKEI can visualize the brachial plexus with high spatial



Fig. 1 3D nerve-sheath signal increased with inked rest-tissue rapid acquisition of relaxation enhancement imaging (3D SHINKEI) shows enlargement of the brachial plexus of a patient with CIDP

resolution [104] (Fig. 1). Whole-body MR neurography with diffusion-weighted whole-body imaging and background body signal suppression was also introduced as another possible method for visualizing the PNS over long trajectories in a single examination of patients with CIDP [105].

Ultrasound imaging is an emerging method for visualizing peripheral nerve pathology [106]. It can identify peripheral nerve lesions that are not apparent on electrodiagnostic testing. Nerve enlargement is common in CIDP. Nerve ultrasonography can identify the degree and pattern of nerve enlargement in multiple regions from the roots to the distal trunks [107].

In vivo corneal confocal microscopy (CCM) is a noninvasive, high-resolution imaging technique that allows the visualization and quantification of the corneal nerve network formed by small caliber A δ and C fibers [108]. CCM has been demonstrated to quantify axonal loss in a variety of peripheral neuropathies including hereditary sensory and autonomic neuropathy, Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 1A, Fabry disease, and idiopathic small fiber neuropathy [109]. Loss of coronal nerve fiber has been also reported in CIDP patients [108, 109].

Morphological Findings

In patients with equivocal electrodiagnostic findings, pathological examination of nerve biopsies can help distinguish between primary demyelinating and axonal neuropathies [76].

The lesions consist of patchy lesions of demyelination and edema with variable inflammatory infiltration. Within nerve biopsy material, abnormalities can be associated with endoneurial edema, demyelinated fibers, macrophage-mediated demyelination, remyelination, Schwann cell proliferation with onion-bulb formation, inflammatory infiltration with mononuclear cells, axonal degeneration, and axon Fig. 2 Nerve biopsy of a patient with CIDP (the same patient as in Fig. 1). (a) 1-µm-thick crosssection of a sural nerve biopsy showing onionbulbs and an actively demyelinating nerve fiber (arrow). (b) Teased fiber preparations showing segmental demyelination. (c) Macrophage-mediated demyelination in CIDP. Electron micrograph of the same specimen to show forming onion-bulb and demyelinated axon surrounded by macrophages filled with myelin debris (arrow)



Fig. 3 Teased fiber showing segmental demyelination lesions. Normal myelin sheath is stained in black by osmium tetroxide

loss (Figs. 2, 3, 4). The presence of macrophage stripping of the myelin sheath is diagnostic of inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy [110, 111]. In a minority of cases, nerve biopsy shows variable numbers of mononuclear cells, including T cells, in the perivascular space or diffusely in the epineurium or perineurium [3, 15, 111–113]. Macrophages are the predominant inflammatory cell type. However, the demonstration

Fig. 4 Nerve specimen of a patient with CIDP showing active demyelination

of macrophage stripping of the myelin sheath and even of an inflammatory infiltrate is far from universal in nerve biopsy specimens.

In Bouchard's series, the teased fiber preparations from 95 nerve biopsy specimens showed purely demyelinative lesions in 68 patients, mixed axonal and demyelinative lesions in 20 patients, and predominantly axonal lesions in five patients. The nerve specimen was normal in two patients. Active demyelinating lesions were found in 25 nerve specimens. Endoneurial cellularity was increased in 18 samples with perivascular predominance, and only four specimens showed conspicuous inflammatory infiltration. In all cases, the inflammatory infiltration was made up of mononuclear cells. In the four specimens with marked inflammatory infiltration, immunolabeling showed a mixture of CD4 and CD8 T lymphocytes, macrophages, and a few B cells. In 17 nerve specimens, there were one or more "onion-bulb" formations per microscopic field at ×630 magnification. An important finding was that the density of myelinated fibers was below 50% of control values in 47% of patients [15]. Another study of sural nerve biopsies in 71 patients with CIDP and of motor neuron pathology following postmortem examination of the sural cords of nine patients who died of CIDP clearly confirmed the importance of axonal and neuronal involvement in this setting [114]. In this study, the overall decrease in myelinated fiber density was 65.4% of control values. Nerve biopsy may also be useful to exclude amyloidosis, vasculitis, sarcoidosis, and lymphomatous infiltration [115].

Autopsy studies in patients with CIDP show loss of spinal motor neurons, with demyelination and axonal degeneration. Focal lymphocytic infiltration, most prominently in the spinal roots and dorsal root ganglia, can be seen in approximately half of the cases [3, 114, 116].

In a morphological study recently performed by Koike et al. using electron microscopy, they observed detachment of terminal myelin loops from the axolemma at the paranodes in the neurofascin 155 antibody-positive patients that was not seen in antibody-negative CIDP patients [117].

Differential Diagnosis

Multifocal Motor Neuropathy (MMN)

MMN is a type of acquired demyelinating neuropathy different from CIDP. The main clinical features are weakness without objective sensory loss, a slowly progressive or stepwise progressive course, asymmetric involvement of two or more nerves, and absence of upper motor neuron signs [118, 119]. The presence of conduction blocks in motor nerve fibers is the hallmark of this disease. Elevated titers of IgM anti-GM1 antibodies are present in approximately 50% of patients with MMN. The distinction between LS-S and MMN could be made on the basis of IgM anti-GM1 antibody status [7]. Motor neuron disease is always considered in the differential diagnosis of this disease. The accepted treatment for MMN is IVIg [120]. In contrast to the response in CIDP, MMN does not usually respond to steroids or plasma exchange, and patients may worsen when they receive these treatments [121, 122].

Demyelinating Neuropathies Associated with Monoclonal Gammopathy

Monoclonal Gammopathy of Unknown Significance (MGUS) Polyneuropathy

The association of acquired demyelinating polyneuropathy with monoclonal gammopathy is relatively common. Monoclonal gammopathies are 10 times more frequent in patients with polyneuropathy than in age-matched controls, and 10% of adults with acquired polyneuropathy have a monoclonal gammopathy [123, 124]. The incidence of polyneuropathy among patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathy can be as high as 50%, implying that 50% of patients with IgM MGUS may have or develop polyneuropathy [123–125]. Protein electrophoresis and immunoelectrophoresis are always necessary in this setting. IgM monoclonal gammopathy of unknown significance (MGUS) polyneuropathy is usually slowly progressive, symmetrical, and predominates in the distal lower extremities. It is identified clinically and electrophysiologically by its fiber length distribution and its symmetry [126]. Morphologically, macrophage-mediated demyelination is seldom observed in MGUS-associated demyelinating neuropathy, but a widening of myelin lamellae occurs in myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG)-positive cases. On serological testing, 50% of patients with MGUS-P have anti-MAG IgM antibodies [127, 128]. The major difference between patients with MGUS polyneuropathy and CIDP is the risk of malignancy in the following years. An increased risk of malignant transformation exists for patients with any MGUS, but it is highest for those with IgM MGUS polyneuropathy [129].

Occasionally, low levels of monoclonal IgA or IgG are found in otherwise classical CIDP patients [130, 131].

Polyneuropathy, Organomegaly, Endocrinopathy, M-Protein, and Skin Changes (POEMS) Syndrome

POEMS syndrome is a paraneoplastic syndrome due to an underlying plasma cell neoplasm [132]. It is necessary to consider the diagnosis of POEMS syndrome when a progressive sensorimotor demyelinating polyneuropathy is associated with monoclonal gammopathy and other uncommon manifestations, including skin pigmentation, hepatosplenomegaly, papilledema, enlarged lymph nodes, endocrinopathy, edema, thrombocytosis, and elevated vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). The most disabling feature of POEMS is the demyelinating neuropathy, frequently misdiagnosed as CIDP. Neuropathy in POEMS syndrome is typically symmetrical, sensorimotor, length-dependent, and painful [133]. Neurophysiological findings in POEMS syndrome fulfill the diagnostic criteria for CIDP in 70% of cases [134]. Conduction block and temporal dispersion are uncommon when compared to CIDP [133]. A total body scan must be performed to detect sclerotic bone lesions. This syndrome often responds well to specific treatment for plasmacytoma.

Light Chain Amyloid Neuropathy

In this setting, the occurrence of autonomic disturbances, in association with the monoclonal gammopathy, in a patient with progressive acquired demyelinating polyneuropathy suggests the development of light chain amyloid neuropathy with a very poor prognosis due to progressive axonal degeneration of the majority of the peripheral nerve fibers and multi-organ failure. Patients with late onset, sporadic cases of transthyretin-related familial amyloid polyneuropathy may be mistaken and treated for CIDP for months or years [135]. Endoneurial deposits of amyloid can induce demyelination of neighboring fibers, which can be responsible for a polyneuropathy that may mimic a case of progressive CIDP for a long period of time.

Early-Onset CIDP and the Dejerine-Sottas Phenotype

Onset of generalized CIDP during infancy or early childhood can induce a neuropathic pattern with Charcot-Marie-Tooth atrophy, which can be clinically indistinguishable from the so-called Dejerine-Sottas disease. In a series of 15 patients with the Dejerine-Sottas phenotype, the clinicopathological findings along with the absence of an identified mutation suggested the diagnosis of CIDP of infancy onset in five patients, including two who had a relapsing course. The important point to note is that such patients may respond to treatment with corticosteroids [136].

Acute or Subacute Exacerbation in Demyelinating Charcot-Marie-Tooth Disease (CMT)

CIDP can develop in some patients with CMT; this overlap should be suspected when a patient with CMT shows an unusual pace of disease progression, because in contrast to the underlying CMT, deterioration due to CIDP can improve with immunotherapy [137].

Patients with demyelinating CMT occasionally experience acute or subacute exacerbation of the neuropathy with superimposed inflammatory features, which may respond to corticosteroids [138].

Another recent study in CMT patients found an association with CIDP that was greater than would be expected by chance and stressed the importance of looking out for unexpected clinical deterioration in CMT patients, because immunotherapy may relieve these exacerbations [139].

Treatment

The first-line treatments for CIDP include corticosteroids [140], IVIg [141], and plasma exchange [55, 142]. These are all effective in about 70–80% of CIDP cases [143]. Comparative trials showed the short-term equivalent efficacy of IVIg and plasmapheresis [142] and of IVIg and prednisolone [144].

Corticosteroids are much more widely available than IVIg, they are cheaper and easier to use [145], and they may lead to long-term remission in CIDP [146]. The generally accepted prednisolone dosage is 60 mg/day or 1.5 mg/kg bodyweight on alternate days for induction, with maintenance therapy slowly tapering over months to years.

IVIg may contain anti-idiotypic antibodies and lead to inhibition of maturation and altered function of dendritic cells, as well as modulation of T- and B-cell activation, differentiation, and effector functions [147]. The efficacy of IVIg has been shown in several studies [55, 141, 148–150]. The initial dosage of IVIg is usually 0.4 g/kg bodyweight for 5 days. However, approximately two-thirds of patients with CIDP need long-term IVIg [151].

To follow the response to treatment in individual patients, several standardized outcome measures such as the Hughes functional grading scale, Medical Research Council (MRC) muscle score, hand grip strength, INCAT (inflammatory neuropathy cause and treatment) disability score, walking test, and R-ODS (Rasch-build Overall Disability Scale) have been proposed [152].

A relapse rate of approximately 45% was reported for responders who were switched from IVIg to placebo [141]. Because the benefit of IVIg is short-lived, treatment needs to be repeated at intervals and doses that need to be judged on an individual basis [153].

Subcutaneous immunoglobulin (SCIg) has been evaluated as an alternative to IVIg [154]. One recent large study supported a weekly SCIg dose range of

0.2–0.4 g/kg and showed that SCIg can be used as maintenance treatment for CIDP patients [151].

Other immunosuppressive agents, including cyclophosphamide, cyclosporine, mycophenolate mofetil, azathioprine, methotrexate, interferon- β 1a, interferon- α , and rituximab, have been reported to be useful in patients refractory to conventional treatment, but none has been studied rigorously in a randomized, controlled trial [155].

CIDP patients with autoantibodies have a specific clinical phenotype that is distinct from CIDP without antibodies [54]. They typically respond poorly to IVIg, but they may benefit from plasmapheresis and rituximab [54, 156]. In patients with nodal and paranodal antibodies, corticosteroids are reported to be effective in approximately 40–60% of cases [75].

For preventing secondary axon loss and improve prognosis, early and aggressive therapy is required [15].

Conclusions

CIDP is a treatable syndrome presenting with variable manifestations. The diagnosis is based on the clinical presentation, electrodiagnostic findings, laboratory tests, and nerve biopsy in some cases. First-line treatments for CIDP include corticosteroids, IVIg, and plasmapheresis. The diagnosis should be reconsidered in patients who do not respond to one of the first-line therapies. Many questions remain unanswered regarding the pathophysiology, management, and treatment of CIDP, which is still a disabling and sometimes life-threatening disorder.

References

- 1. Harris W, Newcomb WD. A case of relapsing interstitial hypertrophic polyneuritis. Brain. 1929;52:108–16.
- Austin JH. Recurrent polyneuropathies and their corticosteroid treatment; with five-year observations of a placebo-controlled case treated with corticotrophin, cortisone, and predvisone. Brain. 1958;81:157–92.
- Dyck PJ, Lais AC, Ohta M, Bastron JA, Okazaki H, Groover RV. Chronic inflammatory polyradiculoneuropathy. Mayo Clin Proc. 1975;50:621–37.
- 4. Prineas JW, McLeod JG. Chronic relapsing polyneritis. J Neurol Sci. 1976;27:427-58.
- Thomas PK, Lascelles RG, Hallpike JF, Hewer RL. Recurrent and chronic relapsing Guillain-Barre polyneuritis. Brain. 1969;92:589–606.
- Mahdi-Rogers M, Hughes RA. Epidemiology of chronic inflammatory neuropathies in Southeast England. Eur J Neurol. 2014;21:28–33.
- Rajabally YA, Simpson BS, Beri S, Bankart J, Gosalakkal JA. Epidemiologic variability of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy with different diagnostic criteria: study of a UK population. Muscle Nerve. 2009;39:432–8.

- McLeod JG, Pollard JD, Macaskill P, Mohamed A, Spring P, Khurana V. Prevalence of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy in New South Wales, Australia. Ann Neurol. 1999;46:910–3.
- Iijima M, Koike H, Hattori N, Tamakoshi A, Katsuno M, Tanaka F, et al. Prevalence and incidence rates of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy in the Japanese population. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2008;79:1040–3.
- Chia L, Fernandez A, Lacroix C, Adams D, Planté V, Said G. Contribution of nerve biopsy findings to the diagnosis of disabling neuropathy in the elderly. A retrospective review of 100 consecutive patients. Brain. 1996;119:1091–8.
- 11. Suzuki M, Lacroix C, Lozeron P, Said G. Clinical features of neuropathy over 80 years: a retrospective study of 100 patients. J Neurol. 2006;253(Suppl 2):1185–6.
- 12. Ad Hoc Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology AIDS Task Force. Research criteria for the diagnosis of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP). Report from an Ad Hoc Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology AIDS Task Force. Neurology. 1991;41:617–8.
- McCombe PA, Pollard JD, McLeod JG. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. A clinical and electrophysiological study of 92 cases. Brain. 1987;110:1617–30.
- Maisonobe T, Chassande B, Vérin M, Jouni M, Léger JM, Bouche P. Chronic dysimmune demyelinating polyneuropathy: a clinical and electrophysiological study of 93 patients. J Neurol Neruosurg Psychiatry. 1996;61:36–42.
- Bouchcard C, Lacroix C, Planté V, Adams D, Chedru F, Guglielmi JM, et al. Clinicopathologic findings and prognosis of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology. 1999;52:498–503.
- Sapperstein DS, Katz JS, Amato AA, Barohn RJ. Clinical spectrum of chronic acquired demyelinating polyneuropathies. Muscle Nerve. 2001;24:311–24.
- Dyck PJ, Tracy JA. History, diagnosis and management of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Mayo Clin Proc. 2018;93:777–93.
- Hahn AF, Hartung HP, Dyck PJ. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. In: Dyck PJ, Thomas PK, editors. Peripheral neuropathy, vol. 2. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier/ Saunders; 2005. p. 2221–53.
- Said G, Saimot AG, Lacroix C. Neurological complication of HIV and AIDS. In: Warlow CP, van Giin J, editors. Major problems in neurology. London: W.B. Saunders; 1997. p. 1–24.
- Notermans NC, Wokke JH, Franssen H, van der Graaf Y, Vermeulen M, van den Berg LH, et al. Chronic idiopathic polyneuropathy presenting in middle or old age: a clinical and electrophysiological study of 75 patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1993;56:1066–71.
- McMillan HJ, Kang PB, Jones HR, Darras BT. Childhood chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: combined analysis of a large cohort and eleven published series. Neuromuscul Disord. 2013;23:103–11.
- Sladky JT, Brown MJ, Berman PH. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy of infancy: a corticosteroid-responsive disorder. Ann Neurol. 1986;20:76–81.
- Barohn RJ, Kissel JT, Warmolts JR, Mendell JR. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Clinical characteristics, course, and recommendations for diagnostic criteria. Arch Neurol. 1989;46:878–84.
- Figueroa JJ, Dyck PJ, Laughlin RS, Mercado JA, Massie R, Sandroni P, et al. Autonomic dysfunction in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Neurology. 2012;78:702–8.
- Gorson KC, Ropper AH, Weinberg DH. Upper limb predominant, multifocal inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 1999;22:758–65.
- 26. Lewis RA, Sumner AJ, Brown MJ, Asbury AK. Multifocal demyelinating neuropathy with persistent conduction block. Neurology. 1982;32:958–64.
- 27. Oh SJ, Claussen GC, Kim DS. Motor and sensory demyelinating mononeuropathy multiplex (multifocal motor and sensory demyelinating neuropathy): a separate entity or a variant of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy? J Peripher Nerv Syst. 1997;2:362–9.

- Misra VP, Walker RW. Acute-onset painful upper limb multifocal demyelinating motor neuropathy. J Neurol. 2000;247:949–54.
- Oh SJ, Joy JL, Kuruoglu R. Chronic sensory demyelinating neuropathy: chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy presenting as a pure sensory neuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1992;55:677–80.
- 30. van Dijk GW, Netermans NC, Franssen H, Wokke JH. Development of weakness in patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy and only sensory symptoms at presentation: a long-term follow-up study. J Neurol. 1999;246:1134–9.
- Ohkoshi N, Harada K, Nagata H, Yato M, Shoji S. Ataxic form of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: clinical features and pathological study of the sural nerves. Eur Neurol. 2001;45:241–8.
- 32. Chin RL, Latov N, Sander HW, Hays AP, Croul SE, Magda P, et al. Sensory CIDP presenting as cry ng polyneuropathy: a study of 28 cases with nerve biopsy. J Neurol. 2003; 250 (Suppl 2):1; Ptogenic sensory polyneuropathy. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2004; 9:132–7.
- Ferreira A, Lozeron P, Lacroix C, Adams D, Said G. Sensory chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathies. J Neurol. 2003;250(Suppl 2):147.
- 34. Lozeron P, Ferreira A, Lacroix C, Adams D, Said G. Electrophysiological findings in clinical pure sensory chronic demyelinating polyneuropathies. J Neurol. 2003;250(Suppl 2):68.
- Sinnreich M, Klein CJ, Daube JR, Engelstad J, Spinner RJ, Dyck PJ. Chronic immune sensory polyradiculopathy: a possible treatable sensory ataxia. Neurology. 2004;63:1662–9.
- Katz JS, Saperstein DS, Gronseth G, Amato AA, Barohn RJ. Distal acquired demyelinating symmetric neuropathy. Neurology. 2000;54:615–20.
- Miescher GC, Latov N, Steack AJ. Dysglobulinemic neuropathies. In: Antel J, Birnbaum G, Hartung HP, editors. Clinical immunology. London: Blackwell Science; 1998. p. 307–15.
- Sabatelli M, Madia F, Mignogna T, Lippi G, Quaranta L, Tonali P. Pure motor chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol. 2001;248:772–7.
- 39. Busby M, Donaghy M. Chronic dysimmune neuropathy. A subclassification based upon the clinical feature of 102 patients. J Neurol. 2003;250:714–24.
- 40. Korinthenberg R. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy in children and their response to treatment. Neuropediatrics. 1999;30:190–6.
- Nevo Y, Pestronk A, Kornberg AJ, Connolly AM, Yee WC, Iqbal I, et al. Childhood chronic inflammatory demyelinating neuropathies: clinical course and long-term follow-up. Neurology. 1996;47:98–102.
- Hattori N, Misu K, Koike H, Ichimura M, Nagamatsu M, Hirayama M, et al. Age of onset influences clinical features of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Sci. 2001;15:57–63.
- Ryan MM, Grattan-Smith PJ, Procopis PG, Morgan G, Ouvrier RA. Childhood chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: clinical course and long-term outcome. Neuromuscul Disord. 2000;10:398–406.
- 44. Simmons Z, Wald JJ, Albers JW. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy in children: II. Long-term follow-up, with comparison to adults. Muscle Nerve. 1997;20:1569–75.
- 45. Stewart JD, McKelvey R, Durcan L, Carpenter S, Karpati G. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) in diabetics. J Neurol Sci. 1996;142:59–64.
- 46. Gorson KC, Ropper AH, Adelman LS, Weinberg DH. Influence of diabetes mellitus on chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 2000;23:37–43.
- Lozeron P, Nahum L, Lacroix C, Ropert A, Guglielmi JM, Said G. Symptomatic diabetic and non-diabetic neuropathies in a series of 100 diabetic patients. J Neurol. 2002;249:569–75.
- Sharma KR, Cross J, Farronay O, Ayyar DR, Shebert RT, Bradley WG. Demyelinating neuropathy in diabetes mellitus. Arch Neurol. 2002;59:758–65.
- Laughlin RS, Dyck PJ, Melton LJ 3rd, Lerbson C, Ransom J, Dyck PJ. Incidence and prevalence of CIDP and the association of diabetes mellitus. Neurology. 2009;73:39–45.
- 50. Said G, Bathien N, Cesaro P. Peripheral neuropathies and tremor. Neurology. 1982;32:480-5.

- Thomas PK, Walker RW, Rudge P, Morgan-Hughes JA, King RH, Jacobs JM, et al. Chronic demyelinating peripheral neuropathy associated with multifocal central nervous system demyelination. Brain. 1987;110:53–76.
- 52. Mills KR, Murray NM. Neurophysiological evaluation of associated demyelinating peripheral neuropathy and multiple sclerosis: a case report. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1986;49:320–3.
- 53. Di Trapani G, Carnevale A, Cioffi RP, Massaro AR, Profice P. Multiple sclerosis associated with peripheral demyelinating neuropathy. Clin Neuropathol. 1996;15:135–8.
- Vural A, Doppler K, Meinl E. Autoantibodies against the node of Ranvier in seropositive chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: diagnostic, pathogenic, and therapeutic relevance. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1129. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01029.
- 55. Hahn AF, Bolton CF, Zochodne D, Feasby TE. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over study. Brain. 1996;119:1067–77.
- 56. Van Doorn PA, Vermeulen M, Brand A, Mulder PG, Busch HF. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Clinical and laboratory characteristics associated with improvement. Arch Neurol. 1991;48:217–20.
- Hattori N, Misu K, Koike H, Ichimura M, Nagamatsu M, Hirayama M, et al. Age of onset influences clinical features of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Sci. 2001;184:57–63.
- 58. Kuwabara S, Misawa S, Mori M, Tamura N, Kubota M, Hattori T. Long term prognosis of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: a five year follow up of 38 cases. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77:66–70.
- Dalakas MC. Advance in the diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment of CIDP. Nat Rev Neurol. 2011;16:507–17.
- Mathey EK, Park SB, Hughes RA, Pollard JD, Armati PJ, Barnett MH, et al. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: from pathology to phenotype. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86:973–85.
- Schmit B, Toyka KV, Kiefer R, Full J, Hartung HP, Pollard J. Inflammatory infiltrates in sural nerve biopsies in Guillain-Barré syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 1996;19:474–87.
- 62. Misawa S, Kuwabara S, Mori M, Kawaguchi N, Yoshiyama Y, Hattori T. Serum levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology. 2001;56:666–9.
- 63. Mathey EK, Pollard JD, Armati PJ. TNF alpha, IFN gamma and IL-2 mRNA expression in CIDP sural nerve biopsies. J Neurol Sci. 1999;163:47–52.
- Pollard JD. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. In: McLeod J, editor. Inflammatory neuropathies: Bailliere's clinical neurology, vol. 3. London: WB Saunders; 1994. p. 107–27.
- 65. Kiefer R, Kiesseier BC, Stoll G, Hartung HP. The role of macrophages in immune-mediated damage to the peripheral nerve system. Prog Neurobiol. 2001;64:109–27.
- 66. Mausberg AK, Dorok M, Stettner M, Muller M, Hartung HP, Dehmel T, et al. Recovery of the T-cell repertoire in CIDP by IV immunoglobulins. Neurology. 2013;80:296–303.
- Melendez-Vasquez C, Redford J, Choudhary PP, Gray IA, Maitland P, Gregson NA, et al. Immunological investigation of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyraduculoneuropathy. J Neuroimmunol. 1997;73:124–34.
- Yuki N, Tagawa Y, Handa S. Autoantibodies to peripheral nerve glycosphingolipids SPG, SLPG and SGPG in Guillain-Barré syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neuroimmunol. 1996;70:1–6.
- Gabriel CM, Gregson NA, Hughes RA. Anti-PMP22 antibodies in patients with inflammatory neuropathy. J Neuroimmunol. 2000;104:139–46.
- Yan WX, Taylor J, Andrias-Kauba S, Pollard JD. Passive transfer of demyelination by serum or IgG from chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy patients. Ann Neurol. 2000;47:765–75.

- Khalili-Shirazi A, Atkinson P, Gregson N, Hughes RA. Antibody responses to P0 and P2 myelin proteins in Guillain-Barre syndrome and chronic idiopathic demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neuroimmunol. 1993;46:245–51.
- 72. Inglis HR, Csurhes PA, McCombe PA. Antibody responses to patients of peripheral nerve myelin proteins P0 and P2 in patients with inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78:419–22.
- Kwa MS, van Shchaik IN, Brand A, Baas F, Vermeulen M. Investigation of serum response to PMP22, connexin 32 and P0 in inflammatory neuropathies. J Neuroimmunol. 2001;116:220–5.
- Querol L, Deveax J, Rojas-Garcia R, Illa I. Autoantibodies in chronic inflammatory neuropathies: diagnostic and therapeutic implications. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13:533–47.
- Illa I. ARTHUR ASBURY LECTURE: chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: clinical aspects and new animal models of auto-immunity to nodal components. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2017;22:418–24.
- Latov N. Diagnosis and treatment of chronic acquired demyelinating polyneuropathies. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10:435–46.
- 77. European Federation of Neurological Societies/. Peripheral Nerve Society Guideline on management of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: report of a joint task force of the European Federation of Neurological Societies and the Peripheral Nerve Society—first revision. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2010;15:1–9.
- Hughes RA. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Ann Neurol. 2001;50:281–2.
- 79. Bromberg MB. Review of the evolution of electrodiagnositc criteria for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 2011;43:780–94.
- Nicolas G, Maisonobe T, Le Forestoer N, Léger JM, Bouche P. Proposed revised electrophysiological criteria for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 2002;25:26–30.
- Isose S, Kuwabara S, Kokubun N, Sato Y, Mori M, Shibuya K, et al. Utility of the distal compound muscle action potential duration for diagnosis of demyelinating neuropathies. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2009;14:151–8.
- Kuwabara S, Ogawara K, Misawa S, Mori M, Hattori T. Distribution patterns of demyelination correlate with clinical profiles in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;72:37–42.
- Ruts L, Drenthen J, Jacobs BC, van Doom PA. Dutch GBS Study Group. Distinguishing acute-onset CIDP from fluctuating Guillain-Barre syndrome: a prospective study. Neurology. 2010;25:1680–6.
- Albers JW, Kelly JJ Jr. Acquired inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathies: clinical and electrodiagnostic features. Muscle Nerve. 1989;12:435–51.
- 85. Ho TW, Li CY, Comblath DR, Gao CY, Asbury AK, Griffin JW, et al. Patterns of recovery in the Guillain-Barre syndromes. Neurology. 1997;48:695–700.
- Hughes R, Bensa S, Willison H, Van den Bergh P, Comi G, Illa I, et al. Randomized controlled trial of intravenous immunoglobulin versus oral prednisolone in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Ann Neurol. 2001;50:195–201.
- Bragg JA, Benatar MG. Sensory nerve conduction slowing is a specific marker for CIDP. Muscle Nerve. 2008;38:1599–603.
- Krarup C, Trojaborg W. Sensory pathophysiology in chronic acquired demyelinating neuropathy. Brain. 1996;119:257–70.
- Bromberg MB, Albers JW. Patterns of sensory nerve conduction abnormalities in demyelinating and axonal peripheral nerve disorders. Muscle Nerve. 1993;16:262–6.
- Yiannikas C, Vucic S. Utility of somatosensory evoked potentials in chronic acquired demyelinating neuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 2008;38:1447–54.
- Fuglsang-Frederiksen A, Pugdahl K. Current status on electrodiagnostic standards and guidelines in neuromuscular disorders. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122:440–55.
- 92. Sander HW, Latov N. Research criteria for defining patients with CIDP. Neurology. 2003;60(Suppl 3):8–15.
- 93. Lewis RA, Sumner AJ. The electrodiagnostic distinctions between chronic familial and acquired demyelinative neuropathies. Neurology. 1982;32:592–6.
- 94. Van den Bergh PYK, Pieret F. Electrodiagnostic criteria for acute and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 2004;29:565–74.
- Allen JA, Lewis RA. CIDP diagnostic pitfalls and perception of treatment benefit. Neurology. 2015;85:498–504.
- Haq RU, Fries TJ, Pendlebury WW, Kenny MJ, Badger GJ, Tandan R. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: a study of proposed electrodiagnostic and histologic criteria. Arch Neurol. 2000;57:1745–50.
- 97. Latov N. Diagnosis of CIDP. Neurology. 2002;59:S2-6.
- Vallet JM, Tabaraud F, Magy L, Torny F, Bernet-Bernady P, Macian F, et al. Diagnostic value of nerve biopsy for atypical chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: evaluation of eight cases. Muscle Nerve. 2003;27:478–85.
- 99. Allen JA, Ney J, Lewis RA. Electrodiagnostic errors contribute to chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy misdiagnosis. Muscle Nerve. 2018;57:542–9.
- Molenaar DS, Vermeulen M, de Haan R. Diagnostic value of sural nerve biopsy in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Nerrosurg Psychiatry. 1998;64:84–9.
- 101. Bosboom WM, van den Berg LH, Franssen H, Giesbergen PC, Flach HZ, van Putten AM, et al. Diagnostic value of sural nerve demyelination in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Brain. 2001;124:2427–38.
- 102. Van Es HW, van den Berg LH, Franssen H, Witkamp TD, Ramos LM, Notermans NC, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the brachial plexus in patients with multifocal motor neuropathy. Neurology. 1997;48:1218–24.
- 103. Duggins AJ, McLeod JG, Pollard JD, Davies L, Yang F, Thompson EO, et al. Brain. 1999;122:1383–90.
- 104. Hiwatashi A, Togao O, Yamashita K, Kikuchi K, Ogata H, Yamasaki R, et al. Evaluation of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: 3D nerve-sheath signal increased with inked rest-tissue rapid acquisition of relaxation enhancement imaging (3D SHINKEI). Eur Radiol. 2017;27:447–53.
- Ishikawa T, Asalura K, Mizutani Y, Ueda A, Murate K, Hikichi C, et al. MR neurography for the evaluation of CIDP. Muscle Nerve. 2017;55:483–9.
- 106. Zaidman CM, Al-Lozi M, Pestrouk A. Peripheral nerve size in normal and patients with polyneuropathy: an ultrasound study. Muscle Nerve. 2009;40:960–6.
- 107. Sugimoto T, Ochi K, Hosomi N, Takahashi T, Ueno H, Nakamura T, et al. Ultrasonographic nerve enlargement of the median an ulnar nerves and the cervical nerve roots in patients with demyelinating Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease: distinction from patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol. 2013;260:2580–7.
- Schneider C, Bucher F, Cursiefen C, Fink GR, Heihdl LM, Lehmann HC. Corneal confocal microscopy detects small fiber damage in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2014;19:322–7.
- Stettner M, Hinrichs L, Guthoff R, Bairov S, Petropoulos IN, Warnke C, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2015;3:88–100.
- 110. Prineas JW. Pathology of inflammatory demyelinating neuropathies. Baillieres Clin Neurol. 1994;3:1–24.
- 111. Sommer C, Koch S, Lammens M, Gabreel-Festen A, Stoll G, Toyka KV. Macrophage clustering as a diagnostic marker in sural nerve biopsies of patients with CIDP. Neurology. 2005;65:1924–9.
- 112. Rizzuto N, Morbin M, Cavallaro T, Ferrari S, Fallahi M, Galiazzo-Rizzuto S. Focal lesions area feature of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP). Acta Neuropathol. 1998;96:603–9.

- 113. Vital C, Vital A, Lagueny A, Ferrer X, Fontan D, Barat M, et al. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: immunopathological and ultrastructural study of peripheral nerve biopsy in 42 cases. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2000;24:363–9.
- 114. Nagamatu M, Terao S, Misu K, Li M, Hattori N, Ichimura M, et al. Axonal and perikaryal involvement in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1999;66:727–33.
- 115. England JD, Gronseth GS, Franklin G, Carter GT, Kinsella LJ, Cohen JA, et al. Practice parameter: evaluation of distal symmetric polyneuropathy: role of autonomic testing, nerve biopsy, and skin biopsy (an evidence-based review). Report of the American Academy of Neurology, American Association of Neuromuscular and Electrodiagnostic Medicine, and American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. Neurology. 2009;72:177–84.
- Oh SJ, LaGanke C, Powers R, Wolfe GI, Quinton RA, Burns DK. Multifocal motor sensory demyelinating neuropathy: inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Neurology. 2005;65:1639–42.
- 117. Koike H, Kadoya M, Kaida KI, Ikeda S, Kawagashira Y, Iijima M, et al. Paraodal dissection in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy with anti-neurofascin-155 and anticontactin-1 antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2017;88:465–73.
- 118. Pestronk A, Cornblath DR, Ilyas AA, Baba H, Quarles RH, Griffin JW, et al. A treatable multifocal motor neuropathy with antibodies with antibodies to GM1 ganglioside. Ann Neurol. 1988;24:73–8.
- 119. Joint Task Force of EFNS and the PNS. European Federation of Neurological Societies/ Peripheral Nerve Society guideline on management of multifocal motor neuropathy. Report of a joint task force of the European Federation of Neurological Societies and the Peripheral Nerve Society---first revision. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2010;15:295–301.
- 120. Hahn AF, Beydoun SR, Lawson V. IVIG in MMN Study Team, Oh M, Empson VG, et al. A controlled trial of intravenous immunoglobulin in multifocal motor neuropathy. J Perpher Nerv Syst. 2013;18:321–30.
- 121. Donaghy M, Mills KR, Boniface SJ, Simmons J, Wright I, Gregson N, et al. Pure motor demyelinating neuropathy: deterioration after steroid treatment and improvement with intravenous immunoglobulin. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1994;57:778–83.
- 122. Carpo M, Cappellari A, Mora G, Pedotti R, Barbieri S, Scarlato G, et al. Deterioration of multifocal motor neuropathy after plasma exchange. Neurology. 1998;50:1480–2.
- 123. Kelly JJ. Peripheral neuropathies associated with monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance. Rev Neurol Dis. 2008;5:14–22.
- 124. Dalakas MC. Advances in the diagnosis, immunopathogenesis and therapies of IgM-anti-MAG antibody-mediated neuropathies. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2018;11:1756285617746640.
- Latov N, Hays AP, Sherman WH. Peripheral neuropathy and anti-MAG antibodies. Clit Rev Neurobiol. 1988;3:301–32.
- 126. Kaku DA, England JD, Sumner AJ. Distal accentuation of conduction slowing in polyneuropathy associated with antibodies to myelin-associated glycoprotein and sulphated glucuronyl paragloboside. Brain. 1994;117:941–7.
- 127. Dalakas MC. Pathogenesis and treatment of anti-MAG neuropathy. Curr Treat Opt Neurol. 2010;12:71–83.
- Magy L, Kabore R, Mathis S, Lebeau P, Ghorab K, Caudie C, et al. Heterogeneity of polyneuropathy associated with anti-MAG antibodies. J Immunol Res. 2015;2015:1. https://doi. org/10.1155/2015/450391.
- Eurelings M, Notermans NC, Van de Donk N, Lokhorst HM. Risk factors for hematological malignancy in polyneuropathy associated with monoclonal gammopathy. Muscle Nerve. 2001;24:1295–302.
- 130. Bleasel AF, Hawke SH, Pollard JD, McLeod JG. IgG monoclonal paraproteinaemia and peripheral neuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1993;56:52–7.

- 131. Simmons Z, Albers JW, Bromberg MB, Feldman EL. Long-term follow-up of patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy, without and with monoclonal gammopathy. Brain. 1997;118:359–68.
- 132. Dispenzieri A. POEMS syndrome: 2017 update on diagnosis, risk stratification, and management. Am J Hematol. 2017;92:814–29.
- 133. Keddie S, Lunn MP. POEMS syndrome. Curr Opin Neurol. 2018;31:551-8.
- 134. Nasu S, Misawa S, Sekiguchi Y, Shibuya K, Kanai K, Fujimaki Y, et al. Different neurological and physiological profiles in POEMS syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinative polyneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83:476–9.
- 135. Pranté-Bordeneuve V, Ferreira A, Lalu T, Zaros C, Lacroix C, Adams D, Said G. Diagnostic pitfalls in sporadic transthyretin familial amyloid polyneuropathy (TTR-FAP). Neurology. 2007;69:693–8.
- 136. Planté-Bordeneuve V, Parman Y, Guiochon-Mantel A, Alj Y, Deymeer F, Serdaroglu P, et al. The range of chronic demyelinating polyneuropathy of infancy: a clinic-pathological and genetic study of 15 unrelated cases. J Neurol. 2001;248:795–803.
- Dyck PJ, Swanson CJ, Low PA, Bartleson JD, Lambert EH. Predonisone-responsive hereditary motor and sensory neuropathy. Mayo Clin Proc. 1982;57:239–46.
- 138. Bird SJ, Sladsky JT. Corticosteroid-responsive dominantly inherited neuropathy in childhood. Neurology. 1991;41:437–9.
- Ginsberg L, Malik O, Kenton AR, Sharp D, Muddle JR, Davis MB, et al. Coexistent hereditary and inflammatory neuropathy. Brain. 2004;127:193–202.
- 140. Dyck PJ, O'Brien PC, Oviatt KF, Dinapoli RP, Daube JR, Bartleson JD, et al. Prednisone improves chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy more than no treatment. Ann Neurol. 1982;11:136–41.
- 141. Hughes RA. Intravenous immune globulin (10% caprylate-chromatography purified) for the treatment of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (ICE study): a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7:136–44.
- 142. Dyck P, Litchy WJ, Kratz KM, Suarez GA, Low PA, Pineda AA, et al. A plasma exchange versus immune globulin infusion trial in chronic inflammatory demyelinationg polyradiculoneuropathy. Ann Neurol. 1994;36:838–45.
- Van Doorn PA. Treatment of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Curr Opin Neurol. 2004;17:607–13.
- 144. Hughes RA. Randomized controlled trial of intravenous immunoglobulin versus oral predonisilone in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Ann Neurol. 2001;50:195–201.
- 145. Oaklander AL, Lunn MP, Hughes RA, van Schaik IN, Frost C, Chalk CH. Treatment for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP): an overview of systematic reviews. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017:CD10369. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.
- 146. Eftimov F, Vermeulen M, van Doorn PA, Brusse E, van Schaik IN. PREDICT. Long-term remission of CIDP after pulsed dexamethasone or short-term prednisolone treatment. Neurology. 2012;78:1079–84.
- 147. Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Immunomodulation of autoimmune and inflammatory disease with intravenous immunoglobulin. N Engl J Med. 2001;345:747–55.
- 148. Vermeulen M, van Doorn PA, Brand A, Strengers PF, Jennekens FG, Busch HF. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: a double blind, placebo controlled study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1993;56:36–9.
- 149. Van Doorn PA, Brand A, Strengers PF, Meulstee J, Vermeulen M. High-dose intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: a doubleblind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. Neurology. 1990;40:209–12.
- Mendell JR, Barohn RJ, Freimer ML, Kissel JT, King W, Nagaraja HN, et al. Randomized controlled trial of IVIg in untreated chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Neurology. 2001;56:445–9.

- 151. van Schail IN, Bril V, van Geloven N, Hartung HP, Lewis RA, Sobue G, et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin for maintenance treatment in chronic inflammatory in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (PATH): a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17:35–46.
- 152. Vanhoutte EK, Latov N, Deng C, Hanna K, Houghes RAC, Bril V, et al. Vigorimeter grip strength in CIDP: a responsive tool that rapidly measures the effect of IVIG and the ICE study. Eur J Neurol. 2013;20:748–55.
- 153. Kuitwaard K, van Doorn PA. Newer therapeutic options for chronic inflammatory demyelinationg polyradiculoneuropathy. Drug. 2009;69:987–1001.
- 154. Jolles S, Orange JS, Gardulf A, Stein MR, Shapiro R, Borte M, et al. Current treatment options with immunoglobulin G for the individualization of case in patients with primary immunodeficiency disease. Clin Exp Immunol. 2015;179:146–60.
- 155. Mahdi-Rogers M, van Doorn PA, Hughes RA. Immunomodulatory treatment other than corticosteroids. Immunoglobulin and plasma exchange for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(14):CD003280.
- 156. Devaux JJ, Miura Y, Fukami Y, Inoue T, Manso C, Belghazi M, et al. Neurofascin-155 IgG4 in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology. 2016;86:800–7.

Myasthenia Gravis and Other Immune-Mediated Disorders of the Neuromuscular Junction



Nils Erik Gilhus

Abstract Myasthenia gravis (MG), Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS) and neuromyotonia represent the three autoantibody-mediated disorders at the neuromuscular junction. They give muscle weakness and fatigability as their dominating symptoms. The weakness has usually a preferred localization to some but not all muscles. MG subgroups reflect pathogenesis and direct therapy. Patients should always be classified according to type of antibody, thymus pathology, age at symptom onset and generalized versus pure ocular symptoms. LEMS and neuromyotonia are subgrouped according to paraneoplasia or not. All conditions have well-defined autoantibodies that bind in vivo and directly induce the muscle weakness. Therapy includes symptomatic drugs influencing the acetylcholine receptor activity in the postsynaptic membrane and immunosuppressive treatment influencing the pathogenic autoantibodies. This immunoactive treatment is not yet specific for the disease-inducing antigen-antibody interaction. Treatment is usually effective, and most patients obtain mild symptoms only or a full clinical remission. Comorbidities need to be treated, especially a thymoma in paraneoplastic MG or neuromyotonia and a lung cancer in paraneoplastic LEMS. Supportive therapy is important, and a well-adapted daily training program is recommended. Severe exacerbations (myasthenic crisis) with the need for respiratory support are rare, occur mainly together with infections, and need immediate intensive care.

Keywords Myasthenia gravis · Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome · Neuromyotonia · Neuromuscular junction · Autoimmunity

Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

N. E. Gilhus (🖂)

Department of Neurology, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway e-mail: nils.gilhus@uib.no

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_26

Introduction

The neuromuscular junction is a predilection site for disease. The site is crucial for muscle function, and disorders at this junction lead to weakness in the muscle. The disorders can be immune-mediated through the action of autoantibodies. In addition, genetic disorders and toxins can interfere with neuromuscular transmission. More than 100 mutations have been detected in either presynaptic or postsynaptic molecules, most commonly in the postsynaptic acetylcholine receptors (AChR) [1]. Such mutations usually lead to a stable generalized weakness with symptom debut during the first couple of years after birth. Rarely congenital myasthenia due to genetic disorders can be misdiagnosed as immune-mediated disease, and vice versa. The neuromuscular junction is a predilection site for animal and plant toxins. The induction of muscle paralysis is an excellent strategy both for attacking a potential prey and for defence. Botulinum toxin binds presynaptically, whereas curare and α -bungarotoxin are examples of postsynaptic toxins binding to the AChR.

Action potentials in the motor nerve lead to the release of acetylcholine from the presynaptic terminal. This release acts through the activation of voltage-gated calcium channels in the presynaptic cell membrane, allowing calcium to enter the neuron and triggering vesicles containing acetylcholine to fuse with the cell membrane. The acetylcholine traverses the synaptic cleft and binds to AChR. AChR serve as ligand-gated ion channels, so that binding of acetylcholine opens the central pore, sodium ions flow into the muscle cell, and this generates the muscle depolarization that eventually results in muscle contraction. Autoantibodies specific for immunemediated disorders interfere with various parts of this cascade, all leading to impaired function and muscle weakness.

There are three main immune-mediated disorders of the neuromuscular junction: myasthenia gravis (MG), Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS) and neuromyotonia. These disorders should be further subgrouped according to clinical and non-clinical biomarkers (Table 1) [2–6]. The three main diseases are characterized by their clinical picture, autoantibodies and neurophysiological characteristics. The MG subgroups are less distinct. Some patients with debut after 50 years can have thymic hyperplasia, a thymoma can be detected some years after MG debut, or a patient can have purely ocular symptoms for many months before progressing into generalized muscle weakness. Such patients challenge the formal subgroup classification. The absence of antibodies in seronegative MG depends on the sensitivity of the applied tests [7]. In ocular MG, the muscle weakness is clinically restricted to the ocular muscles. This is common early in the disease, but applies to only around 10% after 2 years [8].

Both LEMS and neuromyotonia can be paraneoplastic, associated most commonly with small-cell lung carcinoma and thymoma, respectively. The disease with and without cancer is otherwise clinically indistinguishable.

This chapter will give updated information on all aspects of the immune-mediated disorders at the neuromuscular junction, but with focus on therapeutic strategies and aspects that influence therapy. MG as by far the most common of the diseases will be described most detailed.

Myasthenia Gravis and Other Immune-Mediated Disorders of the Neuromuscular Junction 767

 Table 1
 Immune-mediated diseases at the neuromuscular junction with the clinically important subgroups of myasthenia gravis (MG) and Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS). Circulating autoantibodies against acetylcholine receptors (AChR), muscle-specific kinase (MuSK) and lipoprotein-related peptide 4 (LRP4) are the most important biomarkers for diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment

Disease	Antibody	Onset age	Thymus/Cancer	
MG Early onset	AChR	<50 years	Thymus hyperplasia	
MG Late onset	AChR	>50 years	Thymus atrophy	
MG Thymoma	AChR	Any	Thymoma	
MuSK MG	MuSK	Any	No	
LRP4 MG	LRP4	Any	No	
MG Seronegative	None detected	Any	Thymus hyperplasia or no	
MG Ocular	AChR or none	Any	Thymus hyperplasia or no	
LEMS non-paraneoplastic	VGCC	Any	No	
LEMS paraneoplastic	VGCC	Any	Lung cancer	
Neuromyotonia	VGKC	Any	Thymoma, cancer or no	

Epidemiology

MG has a prevalence of approximately 150 per million in most populations, and an annual incidence of around 10 per million [4, 9, 10]. In most Western populations, there is one peak of incidence around age 30 years, and then a gradually increase from age 50 years, at least until age 80 years. In China, there is an additional incidence peak in children around age 5 years. This juvenile MG in the Far East is usually mild and often ocular and otherwise resembles early-onset MG with AChR antibodies [11]. In MG with AChR antibodies and symptom debut before age 50, there is a clear preponderance of females, a two- to three-fold increase compared to males. Late-onset MG is more common in males. This means that in the total MG population the sex ratio is near to one. In countries with a young population, MG is more common in females.

MG prevalence has increased gradually for many decades. This does not necessarily mean that the risk for getting the disease has increased [12]. Prevalence depends on disease prognosis. Today, with the improved treatment, only a slight increase in mortality will lead to a higher prevalence compared to the situation before any effective treatment with perhaps a 50% mortality after 10 years. A second reason for the reported increase in MG prevalence is an improved case-finding. Previously MG was a clinical diagnosis, and thus given only to patients with the typical clinical picture, and recognized by the responsible doctor. Today the diagnosis relies for a large part on highly specific autoantibody analyses. Such antibody tests are performed with increasing frequency, and also in individuals with atypical or mild muscle weakness and fatigue with only a minimal clinical suspicion of MG. The number of neurologists has increased and access to specialists for the whole population has improved in most countries. All this has led to a better casefinding and therefore a higher MG prevalence. Studies using well-organized national patient registries and with a detailed examination of defined cohorts are expected to find more cases than previous and old reports from single or multiple hospital charts only. Finally, population demographics influence MG prevalence. Especially in Western countries, the ageing of the population leads to a higher prevalence of MG since MG has the highest incidence in the older age groups (Fig. 1).

MG incidence has similarly been reported higher in recent years than previously, and also when adjusted for population demographics. Improved case-finding may explain this increase. A modest and real increase in MG in elderly people has been suggested but not proven. There are no known reasons for a potential increase in MG incidence. The incidence of thymomas has not increased, but again case-finding is better, this being due to more widespread use of thoracal CT or MR. Many thymomas are detected as a coincidence at such examinations, and some few patients turn out to have a mild undiagnosed MG with AChR antibodies.

MuSK MG has a particular geographic pattern. It has a much higher prevalence in the Mediterranean area than in the Scandinavian countries, and with a clear tendency for a south-north divide [13]. However, in China the south-north divide seems to be inverse with the highest frequency in the north [14]. The geographical difference is for a large part, or entirely, explained by genetic population differences, especially HLA gene variation.

Any occurrence of MG clusters in location and time should help in finding etiologic MG factors. No such clusters have been reported in epidemiological studies. Migration studies would help in differentiating between hereditary and environmental factors causing MG. However, MG is a rare disease and good studies with sufficient statistical power are lacking. Studies support the genetic influence, whereas



Fig. 1 Illustration of the relative prevalence of the various MG subgroups in European and North American populations. The size of the seronegative group without detectable muscle antibodies depends on the sensitivity of the assays used

no new potential environmental factors have been put forward [15]. Best estimates have hypothesized that environmental and genetic factors might be equally important in causing MG [16].

LEMS is much rarer than MG. It has been reported with a prevalence of 2-3 per million that is fifty times less common than MG [17]. The annual incidence was 0.5 per million, which was fourteen times less than MG. Approximately one half of new patients with LEMS have a small-cell lung carcinoma. These patients have a poor prognosis for survival, which explains the discrepancy between prevalence and incidence figures when LEMS and MG are compared [18]. LEMS occurs in 0.5-3% of all patients with small cell lung carcinoma and is probably not always recognized as a distinct comorbidity in these patients. The lowest incidence figures reflect what is observed in clinical practice, whereas the highest occur in prospective studies with clinical, neurophysiological and immunological follow-up of all patients. Younger patients with small cell lung carcinoma are more prone to develop LEMS than the older ones, a ten-year age difference in patients with and without LEMS [17, 19]. LEMS can occur in all age groups, but very rarely in children. Mean age at debut in a European cohort was 58 years, definitely higher than for MG. LEMS without carcinoma is equally common in males and females, whereas LEMS with small-cell lung carcinoma reflects smoking habits in the population.

Neuromyotonia is a very rare disease, much rarer than LEMS. No reliable epidemiological data exist, only small series of single patients. In up to one-third of patients, neuromyotonia co-exist with a thymoma and is paraneoplastic.

Clinical Manifestations

MG is characterized by muscle weakness. This muscle weakness is similar for all MG subgroups. Typical for MG is variation over time. The muscles are often strong in the morning and before being used. The weakness increases after repetitions and sustained use, so that fatigue is common. Patients experience this as a chronic muscle weakness, with variation over time, and with a reduced ability for physically demanding tasks. Symptoms can be matched by weakness measured by formal testing [20], but such testing is not always feasible.

The muscle weakness in MG is localized to some but not all muscles and muscle groups. It is confined to skeletal muscle. Most MG patients experience a distinct weakness in extraocular muscles. This leads to two symptoms; diplopia and ptosis. These manifestations can be observed by clinical examination. The ocular muscle weakness is often markedly asymmetrical, with ptosis on one eye only, and divergent eye movements. The asymmetry makes the clinical diagnosis easier. Eye muscle weakness is often a debut symptom of MG. In 15% of patients, the eye muscle weakness persists as the only MG symptom and sign [8]. In 90% of MG patients with eye symptoms only after 2 years, the disease will remain as a pure ocular MG.

Most MG patients have a more generalized weakness. Difficulties with swallowing and chewing and a weak voice are typical ("bulbar symptoms"). Neck and shoulder muscles are often weak, and problems with lifting the arms above the head are common. Trunk muscles are often weak, whereas muscles distally in the extremities, in hands, fingers and feet, usually have a normal strength. Apart from the eye muscles, the weakness is usually symmetrical. Variation over time is the same for all muscle groups.

Respiratory muscle weakness is the life-threatening symptom of MG. The diaphragm is usually not involved in MG. However, this can occur, especially during infections or after other triggering events such as surgery with narcosis. Aspiration due to weak swallowing, infection and respiratory muscle weakness is a feared combination. MG crisis with the need of respiratory support is rare, but a significant proportion of patients experience it, even in a well-treated cohort. Unexplained need for respiratory support, for example, during a pneumonia, can be a manifestation of an undiagnosed MG.

MG patients do not develop muscle atrophy. They do not experience muscle pain. They have no weakness in smooth muscle, and usually no cardiac muscle abnormalities.

MG muscle weakness is always reversible. Even if the paresis has lasted for a long time, one should not give up, but continue and intensify the immunosuppressive treatment to induce an improvement. This is especially important during a myasthenic crisis. Respiratory support should be maintained long term if necessary, and the weakness will improve with optimal treatment.

The clinical manifestations for early-onset MG and late-onset MG with AChR antibodies are similar. Early-onset patients tend to have a milder disease and with a better response to therapy [4, 21]. Juvenile MG with debut age below 15 years is rare in Western countries, and has the same manifestations as early onset MG in general [22]. However, the subgroup with MG onset before age 7 in China and other Far East countries usually have a mild disease, often with ocular manifestations only and with a good prognosis [11].

Thymoma MG constitutes 10% of all MG patients. They tend to have a more severe MG, and hardly ever with a spontaneous remission. Thymoma can in the same patient be associated with other rare autoimmune manifestations including neuromyotonia and the POEMS syndrome [23].

MG with MuSK antibodies has usually pronounced weakness in facial and bulbar muscles. The patients tend to have a more severe disease, with insufficient response to symptomatic treatment and with the need for long-term immunosuppression [13]. MuSK MG sometimes leads to modest muscle atrophy. This disease also tends to have less variation in muscle strength during the day. Limb weakness is uncommon, and some patients do not have any symptoms from eye muscles. Respiratory weakness can occur. MG with LRP4 antibodies is rare, and appears even rarer because most centres do not test for this antibody. The clinical manifestations are usually mild, often with ocular symptoms being the most prominent [24].

The seronegative MG group is highly heterogeneous. We only include patients with generalized symptoms in this group, as MG patients with pure ocular symptoms and no antibodies should be categorized as ocular MG. One-third to one half of ocular MG patients do not have antibodies by standard tests. The seronegative, generalized patients include several with antibodies against AChR, MuSK or LRP4 when tested with assays that are more sensitive [7, 25]. The clinical manifestations in these patients are similar to those with detectable antibodies in routine tests, although as a group somewhat milder. Atypical clinical manifestations and no detection of muscle antibodies should always lead to a critical re-examination of the MG diagnosis.

Ocular MG is characterized by ptosis and diplopia, often intermittently and with asymmetry. These symptoms occur early, and shortly after debut, ocular MG is common. During the next weeks and months, most patients develop distinct non-ocular manifestations as well. However, if the disease is purely ocular 2 years after onset, it will remain as an ocular MG in 90% of the patients [8].

LEMS has muscle weakness as a hallmark. This weakness is usually most pronounced in the legs, leading to difficulties in walking. The weakness is usually mostly proximal, and up to 80% of the patients experience proximal weakness in both legs and arms [18]. Facial and bulbar muscle weakness is common, as well as eve muscle complaints. Some patients have also distal muscle weakness. There is little variation during the day and no fatigue as in MG. On the contrary, some patients experience an improvement of muscle strength during repetitive activity after an initial weakness. LEMS patients with small cell lung carcinoma tend to have more severe muscle weakness, and often with a gradual progression. LEMS also affects respiratory muscles. Both symptomatic and immunosuppressive treatment has a more variable effect in LEMS compared to MG, and especially so in paraneoplastic LEMS [5, 26]. Absence of tendon reflexes is typical in LEMS. LEMS patients have also autonomic dysfunction. Dry mouth, dry eyes, erectile dysfunction, constipation and reduced sweating represent common symptoms in LEMS. The autonomic symptoms are mild to moderate, and they have less significance for the patients than the muscle weakness.

Neuromyotonia has less distinct muscle weakness, but rather a feeling of fatigue and stiffness in affected muscles. This combines with muscle cramps and muscle twitching, often resembling gross fasciculations. Neuromyotonia implies a reduced capacity for using the muscles, most common being walking difficulties. The symptoms occur most commonly in the legs but can also affect the trunk, arms, face, and neck muscles. A minority of the patients experience mild sensory symptoms [27, 28].

Pathogenesis

MG, LEMS and neuromyotonia are all caused by antibodies against proteins at the neuromuscular junction (Fig. 2). These antibodies bind in vivo and thereby induce the clinical manifestations of the disorders.

AChR antibodies bind to many epitopes on the extracellular part of the receptor, and to all AChR subunits [3, 16, 29]. There is a major immunogenic region, a predilection site for antibody binding. The IgG antibodies inhibit receptor function by destruction or by blocking for acetylcholine binding. Destruction is more important than blockade and is induced either by cross-linking of AChR or by complement activation. Blockade occurs either directly or through conformational AChR changes. New synthesis of AChR is not inhibited by AChR antibodies and takes place with increased speed in MG. AChR half-life is markedly reduced in MG patients, usually to less than half the normal. This explains the great restorative potential in MG.

MuSK and LRP4 are proteins that functionally and anatomically link to AChR in the postsynaptic membrane. Binding of IgG antibodies to these membrane proteins inhibits their function, and thereby the function of AChR [4, 30, 31]. MuSK antibodies are monovalent so they do not cross-link MuSK molecules, nor do they activate complement. LRP4 antibodies are believed to interfere with the AChR-mediated neuromuscular transmission via an interaction with agrin.

MG patients can have circulating antibodies against other muscle proteins. Whereas AChR, MuSK and LRP4 antibodies very rarely occur together in the same patient, these additional antibodies are present together with AChR antibodies. They are specific or semi-specific for MG. Antibodies against titin are detected in 20–30% of MG patients [16, 32]. In thymoma MG, they appear in nearly 100% of patients; in late-onset MG, they are frequent, whereas they are seen only rarely in other MG sub-



Fig. 2 The neuromuscular junction with the key molecules instrumental in the autoimmune disorders MG, LEMS and neuromyotonia. Antibodies against AChR, MuSK and LRP4 postsynaptically and against voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCC) and voltage-gated potassium channels (VGKC) presynaptically cause the muscle weakness and dysfunction

groups. Ryanodin receptor antibodies are frequent in thymoma MG, rare in late-onset MG, and very rare in the other MG subgroups [33]. Antibodies against titin and ryanodine receptor indicate a more severe disease, with a higher need for long-term immunosuppressive therapy, and in sufficient doses [32]. These antibodies are directed against intracellular antigens, and it is not known if they bind in vivo or if they are merely biomarkers. Antibodies against the membrane molecule agrin have been detected in some MG patients, and in patients both without and with other antibodies [34]. No pathogenetic role has yet been defined. Antibodies against the voltage-gated K⁺-channel K_v1.4 in skeletal muscle are seen in many AChR MG patients. In Japanese patients, they reflect a more severe disease and often with cardiac complications [35]. This was not found in a North-European cohort [36]. Any pathogenic effect of these antibodies remains to be proven.

Thymus plays a pathogenic role in some but not all MG patients (Fig. 3). This is most obvious in those 10% of MG patients with a thymoma. One-third of all patients with a thymoma develop MG, and even more have AChR antibodies. Thymoma cells express muscle-like antigens, and they are able to present these antigens for developing thymocytes [37]. T lymphocytes that are capable of inducing antibody production against AChR and other muscle antigens are exported from the thymus with a thymoma [38]. The antibodies are produced in plasma cells/B lymphocytes in activated lymphoid tissue throughout the body. MG with a thymoma is therefore a true paraneoplastic disease. Early-onset MG patients have typically thymus hyperplasia. Thymus is enlarged, and it has a high number of lymphoid follicles. This thymus exports AChR-antibody-inducing T lymphocytes. T cells with this reactivity



Fig. 3 MG with AChR antibodies has a pathogenesis that involves the neuromuscular junction, thymus, genetic predisposing factors and unknown triggering or causative factors. In thymoma MG, the thymic tumour represents this causative event

have been stimulated inside thymus, and they have escaped the normal intrathymic mechanisms to control autoimmunity. Myoid muscle-like cells and epithelial antigen-presenting cells probably both play a role in this AChR sensitization [16, 38]. Most late-onset MG patients with AChR antibodies and some of those with early onset have what appears as a normal thymus. In some of these, pathological biomarkers similar to those of the hyperplastic thymus can be found, and the pathogenesis is probably the same. However, in most such patients, no pathology has been identified [39]. Thus, it is questionable if thymus represents a pathogenic element in all MG patients with AChR antibodies. Ocular MG can have thymus hyperplasia, and this means an increased risk for generalization of symptoms. It is not known what triggers the immunization against AChR in the hyperplastic thymus. Virus infection has been proposed as a potential factor. Although Epstein-Barr virus was claimed to appear in MG thymus some years ago [40], no signs of infection causing MG have been convincingly shown [41]. It is therefore completely unknown why some individuals start to develop thymic hyperplasia, with MG as the consequence. MuSK MG and LRP4 MG do not have any thymus pathology.

Genetic factors are important in the development of MG. First-degree relatives have a 10–100 times increased risk [42]. Three to seven per cent of MG patients have a first- or second-degree relative with MG [43, 44]. Specific HLA alleles correlate to early-onset MG, late-onset MG, thymoma MG and MuSK MG [45]. Additional genes regulating immune processes increase or decrease the risk for MG [46]. In nearly all such studies, the MG patients have not been defined by subgroup. Some of the risk genes are common for several autoimmune disorders and not specific for MG, particularly in the early-onset MG subgroup [47]. The genetics seem to account for less than fifty per cent of the MG risk.

Neither epidemiological, clinical nor experimental studies have succeeded to identify the external factors that lead to MG. The geographical variation can be explained by genetic influence, and good migration studies are lacking. Those undertaken have failed to come up with potential external factors.

MuSK MG represents a separate disease, with separate genetic and non-genetic causative factors [25]. Thymus is not involved. HLA and non-HLA gene susceptibility is specific for MuSK MG, but explains only a modest part of the total disease risk, similar to the other MG subgroups.

LEMS is caused by antibodies to voltage-gated calcium channels in the presynaptic nerve terminal. These channels are located in the cell membrane, where their calcium transport is necessary for the release of acetylcholine after receiving the triggering nerve signal. The antibodies reduce the number of active channels, they block channel activity, and the calcium influx into the cell is reduced. The consequence is that the quantal release of acetylcholine becomes lower than it should have been [48, 49]. Most antibodies bind to the alpha-1 channel subunit, but the exact pattern of epitope reactivity varies between patients. Voltage-gated calcium channel antibodies are found in at least 85% of all LEMS patients [18]. Whether all the remaining patients have undetectable antibodies against the same channel or there are alternative disease mechanisms is not known. Small-cell lung carcinoma represents a trigger for the autoantibody production in LEMS through molecular mimicry. Structures antigenically very similar to normal voltage-gated calcium channels appear as tumour-related neoantigens in small-cell lung carcinoma. LEMS usually starts early in tumour development. Most patients with small-cell lung carcinoma and the relevant neoantigens do not develop LEMS. However, some of them have the antibodies without any symptoms. LEMS can rarely be a paraneoplastic manifestation of other cancers [18]. No triggers have been identified for LEMS patients without a cancer. These patients do not have an increased risk for malignancies. LEMS patients without cancer have a proven genetic disposition shown by a linkage to specific HLA-patterns [50]. This is similar to other autoimmune disorders. LEMS patients with small-cell lung carcinoma do not have this pattern, reflecting the difference in etiology. The reason why some but not all patients with small-cell lung carcinoma develop LEMS is unknown. Some differences in the tumours with and without LEMS have been found, but non-tumour aspects are probably more important [19].

Neuromyotonia is caused by antibodies to voltage-gated potassium channels in the presynaptic nerve terminal at the neuromuscular junction, or by antibodies to the channel complex proteins. These antibodies bind to extracellular parts of the channels in vivo and reduce the ionic transport through the channels [51]. There seems to be a correlation between antibody concentration, channel function, and symptom severity [52]. The reduced potassium transport across the neuronal membrane leads to a hyperexcitability. Thymoma is found in 20% of patients with neuromyotonia, and also other neoplasms are associated with neuromyotonia. Antibodies generated against tumour antigens cross-react with the neuronal voltage-gated potassium channels. The same antibodies can bind in the central nervous system and give an autoimmune encephalitis. Some patients may have concurrent autoimmune paraneoplastic manifestations due to a spectrum of autoantibodies [6, 53]. The majority of neuromytonia patients do not have a paraneoplastic condition. The cause of the disease in these patients is not known.

Diagnosis

MG can in most patients be diagnosed clinically. The clue is to consider the disease when relevant. This means to evaluate the possibility in all patients with diplopia, with ptosis, and with otherwise unexplained muscle weakness. In elderly patients, stroke is a common diagnosis at referral, whereas young patients are sometimes believed to have unspecific fatigue conditions. Clinical testing can be normal. One should examine strength in the symptomatic muscles after exercise, for example, as a ptosis test or after continued arm elevation.

AChR antibody testing has a diagnostic sensitivity of 75% and a specificity of near 100% for the best commercial tests [2, 3]. Thus, it is well suited as a screening test, recommended in all patients with a suspicion of MG. The lack of false-positive results is a huge advantage. MuSK antibodies should be tested in samples without

AChR antibodies and where MG is still suspected. Sensitivity and specificity for the best commercial MuSK antibody tests are similar to those for AChR antibodies [25]. There are not yet any commercial assays for LRP4 antibodies, so such testing is done mostly for research [24]. More sensitive assays have been developed both for AChR and MuSK antibodies [7]. This shows that a proportion of patients regarded as seronegative indeed belong to one of the other MG subgroups. It is not yet sufficiently clear if these sensitive assays have the same disease specificity. They are not yet commercially available. With a strong suspicion of MG and negative tests, retesting should be done after 6–12 months.

AChR and MuSK antibody concentrations do not reflect MG severity. Some patients with mild disease and a good prognosis have high titres, and patients with low antibody concentrations can have severe MG. There is a tendency for antibody concentrations to fluctuate in parallel with disease development in the same patient [54]. Therefore, repeated AChR and MuSK antibody measurements can be helpful when considering adjustments in ongoing immunosuppressive therapy, and also when considering if a deterioration in function is due to MG or comorbidity.

Titin antibodies are a sensitive marker for thymoma, but with low specificity [32, 55]. Combined with imaging of the mediastinum, it gives an optimal test result. Presence of titin antibodies makes early-onset MG with thymic hyperplasia unlikely. Titin antibodies also indicate a more severe MG, with a long-term need for immunosuppressive treatment. Ryanodine receptor antibodies are in a similar way associated with thymoma, and with a higher specificity, but is not available as a commercial kit.

Imaging of the mediastinum should be performed in all MG patients. It is important to identify the thymoma that is present in 10% of the patients. Both sensitivity and specificity are far from 100%. CT and MR seem to be similar. However, new MR protocols are in development [56, 57]. This should improve thymoma diagnostics, and also lead to a more reliable diagnosis of thymic hyperplasia by imaging. Standard imaging often reveals only an enlarged thymus that could be due to hyperplasia, neoplasia or represent a normal variant. Specialized pathological examination of the removed thymus is important, and for both microtumours, lymphoid follicles and other hyperplasia markers [38]. In most patients with late-onset MG, histological examination of the thymus does not reveal any pathology [39].

Neurophysiological tests can be used to diagnose MG. Repetitive nerve stimulation has a suboptimal sensitivity but a good specificity. Single-fibre EMG has a higher sensitivity but lower specificity. These tests are important diagnostic tools in patients where antibodies cannot be detected or where such tests are unavailable [4]. In patients who already have a clinical and antibody diagnosis, neurophysiological tests are usually unnecessary to perform. However, in MG with purely ocular symptoms, it may be of interest to examine if there are electrophysiological signs of generalization. The selection of muscles for testing is always crucial.

Comorbidity risks should be evaluated both at time of diagnosis and during follow-up. Relevant tests should be performed [58, 59]. The same is true for potential side effects of MG treatment. LEMS and neuromyotonia are diagnosed based on clinical suspicion, positive tests for the relevant antibody, and typical results at specific neurophysiological tests. Both voltage-gated calcium channel and voltage-gated potassium channel antibody test assays have very high specificity and high sensitivity. Repetitive nerve stimulation at the optimal frequency shows a diagnostic increment in LEMS, reflecting improved channel function and increased release of acetylcholine after multiple stimulations.

Once LEMS or neuromyotonia have been diagnosed, one should search for a small-cell lung carcinoma (LEMS), a thymoma (neuromyotonia) or another cancer (both disorders). Smokers and non-smokers should follow the same examination program, although the risk for lung cancer differs markedly. PET examination should be included if a tumour has not already been detected. In LEMS without a detected small-cell carcinoma at diagnosis, one should follow-up with PET or other sensitive techniques every 6 months for the next 2 years [19].

Treatment

MG responds to symptomatic therapy and to immunosuppression [2, 4, 60, 61] (Table 2). Acetylcholine esterase inhibition leads to symptom relief as long as the drug is active. Pyridostigmine is the favoured drug. Ambenonium chloride and

Drug	Action	Dose
Pyridostigmine	Acetylcholine esterase inhibition	Single dose 10–120 mg Daily dose 40–600 mg
Prednisolone	Complex immunomodulation	Induction 40–80 mg daily Stable 5–20 mg daily, alternate days an alternative
Azathioprine	Suppression B and T cells	50–250 mg
Mycophenolate mofetil	Suppression B and T cells	1.5–2 g
Rituximab	Suppression B cells	0.5–1 g Repeat after 2 weeks Can be repeated at 6 months
Methotrexate	Folate metabolism inhibition	20 mg per week
Cyclosporine	Suppression T and natural killer cells	100–500 mg
Tacrolimus	Suppression T and natural killer cells	3 mg
Cyclophosphamide	Suppression B and T cells	50–500 mg every 4 weeks
Intravenous immunoglobulin	Complex immunomodulation, neutralization of autoantibodies	2 g per kg, over 2–5 days

Table 2 Most frequently used drugs for MG treatment

neostigmine are usually less effective but represent alternatives. 3,4 diaminopyridine increases the amount of acetylcholine in the synapse by increasing its presynaptic release. This drug has little or no effect in most MG patients. Pyridostigmine should be given as first-choice drug to all MG subgroups. However, patients with MuSK MG have usually a limited effect of cholinergic treatment [13]. The optimal dose is decided from effect and cholinergic side effects. These are most commonly gastro-intestinal, but also from other parts of the autonomic nerve system. Dose can vary from day to day, reflecting variation in patient needs and tasks. Patients can self-administer their optimal dose, regarding both single dose and dose frequency. Some patients become symptom free on pyridostigmine and do not require further drug therapy.

Most MG patients should be treated with immunosuppressive drugs. The combination of prednisolone and azathioprine is regarded as first-choice immunosuppressive treatment. Prednisolone dose should be increased gradually over a few weeks. After obtaining a remission, prednisolone dose should be gradually reduced. It is usually wise to keep a small dose long term, even if a remission seems stable. Prednisolone as MG treatment is given by many centres every second day. This gives a satisfactory effect and may reduce the side effects. Azathioprine takes some months before a clinical effect appears. This drug represents long-term treatment. Most patients tolerate azathioprine without any side effects. Patients can be tested for thiopurine methyl transferase activity before treatment. This is low in 10% of the population, which increases the risk for intolerance to azathioprine. The main reason for immunosuppressive treatment is to control present symptoms. An additional indication should be to prevent deterioration and the development of a more severe MG. This has especially been discussed for ocular MG, if early treatment with prednisolone and azathioprine can prevent generalization [8]. Data indicate that this can be true for some patients.

If the first-choice immunosuppressive drugs fail, there are several options. Failure can be due to lack of effect or side effects. One should be ambitious in the immunosuppressive MG treatment, not accepting symptoms of functional significance or side effects influencing quality of life. Often, second-line immunosuppressive drugs are combined with prednisolone or azathioprine.

Rituximab is recommended as an effective drug in MG. It binds selectively to the CD20 antigen on B lymphocytes and should therefore be well suited for antibodymediated diseases such as MG. No controlled trials have so far been published, but widespread experience from series of patients with moderate and severe MG shows a therapeutic effect [62]. The optimal treatment schedule has not been defined, but most centres use the same induction schedule as for rheumatic disease and multiple sclerosis. Follow-up treatment depends on the clinical MG development. JC virus-related progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy is a very rare side effect with rituximab, occurring in perhaps 1 in 30,000 patients [63]. There is no need to check for JC virus before starting with rituximab.

Mycophenolate mofetil is often used for mild to moderate MG. Clinical experience favours the use of this drug, together with uncontrolled study reports. However, two prospective and controlled studies failed to reach the primary end points [64, 65]. This could be due to weakness of the studies, but indicates that this drug is not very potent in MG. Alternative second-line immunosuppressive drugs for MG include methotrexate, cyclosporine, tacrolimus and cyclophosphamide. Neither MG subgroup nor any other MG biomarkers favour one of these immuno-suppressive drugs more specifically. However, rituximab seems to be particularly well suited for MuSK MG treatment [66].

Thymectomy should be undertaken early in the course of MG. Patients with early-onset MG have a well-proven effect on MG disease development that comes early and increases during several months after surgery. Thymoma patients should have their thymus removed together with the tumour. It is crucial that the surgeon removes all thymus tissue. This can be done by thoracoscopic, minimally invasive techniques or by traditional sternotomy. The key factor is access and visibility to the mediastinum so that all thymus tissue can be identified and removed. It is not always easy to decide whether a patient should be thymectomized. Patients with generalized MG debut before age 50 and AChR antibodies should definitely have surgery [67]. The same is true for older patients with an enlarged thymus at imaging, being suspected of thymic hyperplasia or even a thymoma. Patients up to the age 60-65 with a normal imaging result are also sometimes thymectomized, but probably not if they have titin antibodies as an indicator of late-onset MG. Patients without any detectable antibodies represent a challenge as we know that some of them in fact have AChR antibodies and thymic hyperplasia. For this group, we recommend specialized imaging of the mediastinum and sensitive antibody tests. For ocular MG, a benefit of thymectomy has not been proven [8]. However, in the presence of AChR antibodies, an enlarged thymus on imaging and neurophysiological signs of generalization, we recommend thymectomy. Even with negative imaging and a pure ocular disease after extensive tests, there are data showing a reduced risk of MG generalization after thymectomy [8]. Thymectomy should not be done in patients with MuSK or LRP4 antibodies, and not in the oldest patients.

Many therapeutic monoclonal antibodies have immunosuppressive actions. Several of them influence autoantibodies: their production, transport and binding, as well as consequences of their binding to the antigen. They might well have a benefit in MG, but the great majority have not been tested properly. Ocrelizumab is a humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody and ofatumumab is a fully humanized antibody against the same antigen. These drugs should be at least as good as ritux-imab for MG, are very much more expensive, and have not yet been tested. Eculizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody against the terminal complement protein C5. This drug has a proven but moderate effect in MG [68, 69]. Cost-benefit considerations make it prohibitive for MG patients now as it is extremely expensive, but in the future complement will probably be a target for immunotherapy in MG.

Intravenous immunoglobulin (IvIg) is a well-proven treatment for MG. The effect appears after a few days and is often remarkable. It lasts for approximately 3 months. IvIg is the treatment of choice for MG exacerbations, for severe MG periods, and before surgery or other challenges that could deteriorate their MG. IvIg (or alternatively plasma exchange) should always be given in myasthenic crisis when the patients have a need for respiratory support. The response rate is around 80%

[70]. Long-term treatment with IvIg is unusual, but remains an alternative in patients responding well to the other immunosuppressive treatments. IvIg treatment should be combined with immunosuppressive drugs, often in a higher dose than before, or in a combination with new and more potent drugs. IgG can be given subcutaneously. This treatment has not been tested systematically in MG, but it may be an alternative for medium- to long-term treatment [71]. There are ongoing trials using modified IgG molecules or IgG-modifying agents as long-term MG treatment [72].

Plasma exchange has the same indications as IvIg in MG treatment. The therapeutic effect is similar, and is well proven. The frequency of side effects is also similar, but the risk for severe side effects may be higher for plasma exchange. The choice between plasma exchange and IvIg usually depends on local availability, experience and organization. In some patients, one of the treatments is clearly superior. This means that both IvIg and plasma exchange should be available at centres treating patients with severe MG.

For myasthenic crisis, respiratory support and intensive care are crucial. Any infections precipitating or complicating the crisis should be treated vigorously. The patients should be mobilized as soon as possible. A myasthenic crisis is always reversible.

Patients with MG should have a daily physical exercise program. Exercise improves muscle strength also in MG patients. The program should be adapted to their disease, regarding intensity, duration and variation in strength between muscle groups [73]. The exercise program should be combined with sufficient rest. Overweight should be avoided.

MG patients with persisting diplopia and ptosis may benefit from assistive devices, or even local surgery [8]. Most patients should continue to work full time, although physically demanding occupations should be avoided. MG patients tolerate most drugs. However, both patient and doctor should be aware of the possibility of a drug-induced MG exacerbation when initiating a new drug treatment. Muscle relaxants, penicillamine, fluoroquinolones, macrolides and aminoglycosides should be avoided in MG. Statins should be initiated at the same indications with and without MG, but if MG aggravates or is unmasked, the statins should be withdrawn.

LEMS treatment includes symptomatic and immunosuppressive drugs [5, 26]. 3,4 diaminopyridine is the drug preferred to facilitate the cholinergic transmission. Most patients experience a marked and long-lasting effect of such treatment. The effect is better in patients without a small-cell lung carcinoma. Pyridostigmine usually has less effect, adds nothing but side effects in combination with 3,4 diaminopyridine, but can be tried as an alternative in LEMS patients with an inadequate response to 3,4 diaminopyridine. Most LEMS patients need also immunosuppressive drugs. There are no controlled studies, so treatment guidelines rely mostly on clinical practice. The drugs used are the same as for MG: with prednisolone and azathioprine as the first choice, rituximab and mycophenolate mofetil as second choices and several other drugs with an expected effect. IvIg and plasma exchange can be used as in MG but have a usually only a moderate effect. Treatment of the cancer is essential in those with small-cell lung carcinoma. Effective cancer treatment will sometimes improve also the LEMS.

Neuromyotonia treatment includes symptomatic and immunosuppressive measures [28, 52]. Antiepileptic drugs and botulinum toxin can improve muscle stiffness, spasms and pain. The immunosuppressive drugs to be tried are the same as for MG, but experience is limited due to the rarity of this condition. Potential treatment includes IvIg or plasma exchange for exacerbations, severe disease and critical situations.

MG, LEMS and neuromyotonia patients all need optimal treatment of any comorbid conditions. It is important to identify such conditions and to separate them from the neuromuscular disease [58, 59]. Especially in elderly patients, this can be difficult. Specialists tend to care and take responsibility only for one condition. That is a challenge for the patient and even pose a threat for the total care. The neurologist should take responsibility as others usually do not dare to interfere with the treatment for these rare neuromuscular conditions. Cardiovascular disease and respiratory disease are highly relevant, and many patients have additional autoimmune disorders. Insomnia and mild anxiety are common, as in the general population [74].

MG females in reproductive age should get specific information about pregnancy and giving birth [75, 76]. Pyridostigmine, prednisolone and azathioprine are regarded as safe during pregnancy and should be continued if they are needed for MG. IvIg and plasma exchange are also safe and represent effective treatment for exacerbations during pregnancy. Methotrexate, mycophenolate mofetil and cyclophosphamide are teratogenic, whereas rituximab should not be given during the last 6 months before conception because risk of B-cell depletion in the baby. Most patients with MG give birth in an ordinary way, but the percentage with caesarean section is somewhat higher than in women without MG [77]. Neonatal myasthenia due to transfer across placenta of mother's IgG antibodies occurs in 10-15% of the newborn babies. This can occur for both AChR and MuSK MG, and for LEMS. Neonatal myasthenia lasts for days or a few weeks, until mother's antibodies disappear. The baby does not produce any muscle antibodies. The risk for neonatal myasthenia means that all females with MG shall give birth at institutions with experience in intensive neonatal care including respiratory support. AChR antibodies induce in rare cases permanent changes in the developing child in utero [78]. Such persistent myopathy can be mild but also severe and with arthrogryposis. This is so uncommon that MG women should be supported in their wish to have children. Breastfeeding is recommended, except in the rare cases where the mother is treated with methotrexate, mycophenolate mofetil or cyclophosphamide.

References

- 1. Beeson D. Congenital myasthenic syndromes: recent advances. Curr Opin Neurol. 2016;29:565-71.
- 2. Gilhus NE. Myasthenia Gravis. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:2570-81.
- Gilhus NE, Skeie GO, Romi F, Lazaridis K, Zisimopoulou P, Tzartos S. Myasthenia gravis – autoantibody characteristics and their implications for therapy. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12:259–U291.

- Gilhus NE, Verschuuren JJ. Myasthenia gravis: subgroup classification and therapeutic strategies. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14:1023–36.
- Titulaer MJ, Lang B, Verschuuren J. Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: from clinical characteristics to therapeutic strategies. Lancet Neurol. 2011;10:1098–107.
- Lang B, Makuch M, Moloney T, et al. Intracellular and non-neuronal targets of voltage-gated potassium channel complex antibodies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2017;88:353–61.
- 7. Hong Y, Zisimopoulou P, Trakas N, et al. Multiple antibody detection in 'seronegative' myasthenia gravis patients. Eur J Neurol. 2017;24:844–50.
- Kerty E, Elsais A, Argov Z, Evoli A, Gilhus NE. EFNS/ENS Guidelines for the treatment of ocular myasthenia. Eur J Neurol. 2014;21:687–93.
- 9. Heldal AT, Owe JF, Gilhus NE, Romi F. SEROPOSITIVE MYASTHENIA GRAVIS: A NATIONWIDE EPIDEMIOLOGIC STUDY. Neurology. 2009;73:150–1.
- 10. Carr AS, Cardwell CR, McCarron PO, McConville J. A systematic review of population based epidemiological studies in Myasthenia Gravis. BMC Neurol. 2010;10:46.
- 11. Hong Y, Skeie GO, Zisimopoulou P, et al. Juvenile-onset myasthenia gravis: autoantibody status, clinical characteristics and genetic polymorphisms. J Neurol. 2017;264:955–62.
- Pedersen EG, Hallas J, Hansen K, Jensen PEH, Gaist D. Late-onset myasthenia not on the increase: a nationwide register study in Denmark, 1996-2009. Eur J Neurol. 2013;20:309–14.
- Guptill JT, Sanders DB, Evoli A. ANTI-MuSK Antibody myasthenia gravis: clinical findings and response to treatment in two large cohorts. Muscle Nerve. 2011;44:36–40.
- Hong Y, Li HF, Skeie GO, et al. Autoantibody profile and clinical characteristics in a cohort of Chinese adult myasthenia gravis patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2016;298:51–7.
- Boldingh MI, Maniaol A, Brunborg C, et al. Prevalence and clinical aspects of immigrants with myasthenia gravis in northern europe. Muscle Nerve. 2017;55:819–27.
- Romi F, Hong Y, Gilhus NE. Pathophysiology and immunological profile of myasthenia gravis and its subgroups. Curr Opin Immunol. 2017;49:9–13.
- 17. Wirtz PW, Nijnuis MG, Sotodeh M, et al. The epidemiology of myasthenia gravis, Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome and their associated tumours in the northern part of the province of South Holland. J Neurol. 2003;250:698–701.
- Titulaer MJ, Wirtz PW, Kuks JBM, et al. The Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome 1988-2008: A clinical picture in 97 patients. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;201:153–8.
- Titulaer MJ, Maddison P, Sont JK, et al. Clinical Dutch-English Lambert-Eaton Myasthenic Syndrome (LEMS) Tumor Association Prediction Score Accurately Predicts Small-Cell Lung Cancer in the LEMS. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:902–8.
- Vinge L, Andersen H. Muscle strength and fatigue in newly diagnosed patients with myasthenia gravis. Muscle Nerve. 2016;54:709–14.
- Andersen JB, Gilhus NE, Sanders DB. Factors affecting outcome in myasthenia gravis. Muscle Nerve. 2016;54:1041–9.
- Popperud TH, Boldingh MI, Rasmussen M, Kerty E. Juvenile myasthenia gravis in Norway: Clinical characteristics, treatment, and long-term outcome in a nationwide population-based cohort. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2017;21:707–14.
- 23. Antoine JC, Camdessanche JP. Paraneoplastic neuropathies. Curr Opin Neurol. 2017;30:513–20.
- Zisimopoulou P, Evangelakou P, Tzartos J, et al. A comprehensive analysis of the epidemiology and clinical characteristics of anti-LRP4 in myasthenia gravis. J Autoimmun. 2014;52:139–45.
- Tsonis AI, Zisimopoulou P, Lazaridis K, et al. MuSK autoantibodies in myasthenia gravis detected by cell based assay - A multinational study. J Neuroimmunol. 2015;284:10–7.
- 26. Keogh M, Sedehizadeh S, Maddison P. Treatment for Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev. 2011.
- Kucukali CI, Kurtuncu M, Akcay HI, Tuzun E, Oge AE. Peripheral nerve hyperexcitability syndromes. Rev Neurosci. 2015;26:239–51.
- 28. Maddison P. Neuromyotonia. Clin Neurophysiol. 2006;117:2118-27.

- Binks S, Vincent A, Palace J. Myasthenia gravis: a clinical-immunological update. J Neurol. 2016;263:826–34.
- Koneczny I, Stevens JAA, De Rosa A, et al. IgG4 autoantibodies against muscle-specific kinase undergo Fab-arm exchange in myasthenia gravis patients. J Autoimmun. 2017;77:104–15.
- 31. Zhang B, Tzartos JS, Belimezi M, et al. Autoantibodies to lipoprotein-related protein 4 in patients with double-seronegative myasthenia gravis. Arch Neurol. 2012;69:445–51.
- 32. Romi F, Skeie GO, Gilhus NE, Aarli JA. Striational antibodies in myasthenia gravis Reactivity and possible clinical significance. Arch Neurol. 2005;62:442–6.
- Skeie GO, Mygland A, Treves S, Gilhus NE, Aarli JA, Zorzato F. Ryanodine receptor antibodies in myasthenia gravis: Epitope mapping and effect on calcium release in vitro. Muscle Nerve. 2003;27:81–9.
- Gasperi C, Melms A, Schoser B, et al. Anti-agrin autoantibodies in myasthenia gravis. Neurology. 2014;82:1976–83.
- 35. Suzuki S, Baba A, Kaida K, et al. Cardiac involvements in myasthenia gravis associated with anti-Kv1.4 antibodies. Eur J Neurol. 2014;21:223–30.
- 36. Romi F, Suzuki S, Suzuki N, Petzold A, Plant GT, Gilhus NE. Anti-voltage-gated potassium channel Kv1.4 antibodies in myasthenia gravis. J Neurol. 2012;259:1312–6.
- Gilhus NE, Willcox N, Harcourt G, et al. Antigen presentation by thymoma epithelial-cells from myasthenia-gravis patients to potentially pathogenic t-cells. J Neuroimmunol. 1995;56:65–76.
- Marx A, Pfister F, Schalke B, Saruhan-Direskeneli G, Melms A, Strobel P. The different roles of the thymus in the pathogenesis of the various myasthenia gravis subtypes. Autoimmun Rev. 2013;12:875–84.
- Myking AO, Skeie GO, Varhaug JE, Andersen KS, Gilhus NE, Aarli JA. The histomorphology of the thymus in late onset, non-thymoma myasthenia gravis. Eur J Neurol. 1998;5:401–5.
- 40. Cavalcante P, Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, et al. Epstein-Barr Virus persistence and reactivation in myasthenia gravis thymus. Ann Neurol. 2010;67:726–38.
- 41. Gilhus NE. Myasthenia and the neuromuscular junction. Curr Opin Neurol. 2012;25:523-9.
- Avidan N, Le Panse R, Berrih-Aknin S, Miller A. Genetic basis of myasthenia gravis A comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 2014;52:146–53.
- 43. Pirskanen R. Genetic aspects in myasthenia-gravis family study of 264 finnish patients. Acta Neurol Scand. 1977;56:365–88.
- 44. Salvado M, Canela M, Maria J, et al. Study of the prevalence of familial autoimmune myasthenia gravis in a Spanish cohort. J Neurol Sci. 2016;360:110–4.
- Lisak RP, Barcellos L. New Insights Into the Genetics of Autoimmune Myasthenia Gravis An Evolving Story. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72:386–7.
- Renton AE, Pliner HA, Provenzano C, et al. A Genome-Wide Association Study of Myasthenia Gravis. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72:396–404.
- 47. Bach JF. The etiology of autoimmune diseases: the case of myasthenia gravis. In: Wolfe GI, Meriggioli MN, Ciafaloni E, Ruff RL, editors. Myasthenia Gravis and Related Disorders I. Boston: Wiley Periodicals; 2012. p. 33–9.
- Verschuuren J, Strijbos E, Vincent A. Neuromuscular junction disorders. Handbook of clinical neurology. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2016;133:447–466..
- Takamori M. Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome: Search for alternative autoimmune targets and possible compensatory mechanisms based on presynaptic calcium homeostasis. J Neuroimmunol. 2008;201:145–52.
- Titulaer MJ, Verschuuren J. Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome Tumor versus nontumor forms. In: Kaminski HJ, Barohn RJ, editors. Myasthenia gravis and related disorders: 11th international conference; 2008. p. 129–34.
- 51. Fleisher J, Richie M, Price R, Scherer S, Dalmau J, Lancaster E. Acquired neuromyotonia heralding recurrent thymoma in myasthenia gravis. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70:1311–4.
- 52. Song J, Jing SS, Quan C, et al. Isaacs syndrome with CASPR2 antibody: A series of three cases. J Clin Neurosci. 2017;41:63–6.

- Irani SR, Pettingill P, Kleopa KA, et al. Morvan syndrome: clinical and serological observations in 29 cases. Ann Neurol. 2012;72:241–55.
- Heldal AT, Eide GE, Romi F, Owe JF, Gilhus NE. Repeated acetylcholine receptor antibodyconcentrations and association to clinical myasthenia gravis development. PLoS One. 2014;9:e114060.
- Stergiou C, Lazaridis K, Zouvelou V, et al. Titin antibodies in "seronegative" myasthenia gravis - A new role for an old antigen. J Neuroimmunol. 2016;292:108–15.
- 56. Priola AM, Priola SM, Giraudo MT, et al. Chemical-shift and diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging of thymus in myasthenia gravis usefulness of quantitative assessment. Investig Radiol. 2015;50:228–38.
- 57. Priola AM, Priola SM, Gned D, Giraudo MT, Fornari A, Veltri A. Comparison of CT and chemical-shift MRI for differentiating thymoma from non-thymomatous conditions in myasthenia gravis: value of qualitative and quantitative assessment. Clin Radiol. 2016;71:E157–69.
- Gilhus NE, Nacu A, Andersen JB, Owe JF. Myasthenia gravis and risks for comorbidity. Eur J Neurol. 2015;22:17–23.
- 59. Nacu A, Andersen JB, Lisnic V, Owe JF, Gilhus NE. Complicating autoimmune diseases in myasthenia gravis: a review. Autoimmunity. 2015;48:362–8.
- Sanders DB, Wolfe GI, Benatar M, et al. International consensus guidance for management of myasthenia gravis: Executive summary. Neurology. 2016;87:419–25.
- Skeie GO, Apostolski S, Evoli A, et al. Guidelines for treatment of autoimmune neuromuscular transmission disorders. Eur J Neurol. 2010;17:893–902.
- 62. Iorio R, Damato V, Alboini PE, Evoli A. Efficacy and safety of rituximab for myasthenia gravis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurol. 2015;262:1115–9.
- 63. Randall KL. Rituximab in autoimmune diseases. Aust Prescr. 2016;39:131-4.
- 64. Sanders DB, McDermott M, Thornton C, et al. A trial of mycophenolate mofetil with prednisone as initial immunotherapy in myasthenia gravis. Neurology. 2008;71:394–9.
- Sanders DB, Hart IK, Mantegazza R, et al. An international, phase III, randomized trial of mycophenolate mofetil in myasthenia gravis. Neurology. 2008;71:400–6.
- 66. Evoli A, Alboini PE, Damato V, et al. Myasthenia gravis with antibodies to MuSK: an update. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2018;1412:82–9.
- 67. Wolfe GIKH, Aban IB, Minisman G, et al. Randomized trial of thymectomy in myasthenia gravis. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:511–22.
- 68. Howard JF, Barohn RJ, Cutter GR, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase II study of eculizumab in patients with refractory generalized myasthenia gravis. Muscle Nerve. 2013;48:76–84.
- 69. Gilhus NE. Eculizumab: a treatment option for mysthenia gravis? Lancet Neurol. 2017;16:947-8.
- Gajdos P, Chevret S, Toyka KV. Intravenous immunoglobulin for myasthenia gravis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2012.
- Beecher G, Anderson D, Siddiqi ZA. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin in myasthenia gravis exacerbation A prospective, open-label trial. Neurology. 2017;89:1135–41.
- 72. Kiessling P, Lledo-Garcia R, Watanabe S, et al. The FcRn inhibitor rozanolixizumab reduces human serum IgG concentration: A randomized phase 1 study. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9:eaan1208.
- 73. Rahbek MA, Mikkelsen EE, Overgaard K, Vinge L, Andersen H, Dalgas U. Exercise in myasthenia gravis: a feasibility study of aerobic and resistance training. Muscle Nerve. 2017;56:700–9.
- 74. Andersen JB, Owe JF, Engeland A, Gilhus NE. Total drug treatment and comorbidity in myasthenia gravis: a population-based cohort study. Eur J Neurol. 2014;21:948–55.
- Hoff JM, Daltveit AK, Gilhus NE. Myasthenia gravis in pregnancy and birth: identifying risk factors, optimising care. Eur J Neurol. 2007;14:38–43.
- Norwood F, Dhanjal M, Hill M, et al. Myasthenia in pregnancy: best practice guidelines from a UK multispecialty working group. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85:538–43.

Myasthenia Gravis and Other Immune-Mediated Disorders of the Neuromuscular Junction 785

- Hoff JM, Daltveit AK, Gilhus NE. Myasthenia gravis Consequences for pregnancy, delivery, and the newborn. Neurology. 2003;61:1362–6.
- Hacohen Y, Jacobson LW, Byrne S, et al. Fetal acetylcholine receptor inactivation syndrome A myopathy due to maternal antibodies. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflammation. 2015;2:e57.

Myositis



Liliana R. Santos and David Isenberg

Abstract Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies are a heterogeneous group of chronic autoimmune disorders that mainly affect the proximal muscles. The most common types include dermatomyositis (DM), polymyositis (PM), necrotizing autoimmune myopathy (NAM), and sporadic inclusion body myositis (sIBM). Patients typically present with progressive, proximal weakness and functional impairment. Extramuscular manifestations may also be present. Laboratory investigations with raised serum creatine kinase (CK) and myositis-specific antibodies (MSA) may help in diagnosis, differentiating the clinical phenotype and confirming the myositis subtype. The major goals of treatment are to eliminate the inflammation, restore muscle performance, reduce mortality, and improve quality of life.

Keywords Myositis · Polymyositis · Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies · Necrotizing myopathy · Inclusion body myositis · Myositis-specific antibodies

Introduction

Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies (IMMs) are a heterogeneous group of diseases collectively named "myositis." IMMs share symmetrical proximal skeletal muscle weakness and raised serum levels of muscle enzymes (e.g., creatinine kinase). They may or may not also have skin and extramuscular organ involvement [1]. The IMM are most often subclassified based on patterns of presentation, age of onset, immunohistopathologic features, and response to treatment.

L. R. Santos

D. Isenberg (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Internal Medicine Service, Hospital Santa Maria, Lisbon Academic Medical Center, Lisbon, Portugal

Centre for Rheumatology, Division of Medicine, University College of London, London, UK e-mail: d.isenberg@ucl.ac.uk

H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1_27

The major types of IMM are dermatomyositis (DM), polymyositis (PM), necrotizing autoimmune myopathy (NAM), and sporadic inclusion body myositis (sIBM). Table 1 summarizes the main features of each type of myositis.

The diagnosis may not be straightforward. In 1975, Bohan and Peter published the first widely accepted criteria that some still use today [2]. They divided the IMMs into five groups: primary idiopathic polymyositis (PM), primary idiopathic dermatomyositis (DM), DM/PM associated with neoplasia, childhood DM/PM associated with vasculitis, and DM/PM with associated collagen vascular disease [2, 3]. Bohan and Peter criteria are very simple and very sensitive (Fig. 1); however, several limitations including the lack of IBM as a subgroup have been identified.

In 1991, Dalakas proposed a new set of IMM criteria and revised it in 2003. Three groups were defined: PM, DM, and amyopathic based on the presence of myopathic muscle weakness, electromyographic findings, muscle enzymes, muscle biopsy findings, and rash or calcinosis [4, 5]. The diagnostic criteria of Targoff and collaborators published in 1997 included muscle-specific antibodies and maintained sensitivity of diagnosis but improved specificity from 23 to 62% [6]. In 2005, Troyanov et al. took into account the discovery of myositis-specific and myositis-associated autoantibodies and proposed another set of clinico-serological criteria [7]. This classification had a broader inclusion than previous ones. However, it requires signs of an inflammatory myopathy for a patient to be classified as having IMM (Fig. 1).

Recently, the European League Against Rheumatism and American College of Rheumatology (EULAR/ACR) proposed a new scheme for subgrouping IMM [8]. Two models, with or without muscle biopsy results, were developed to reflect better clinical settings such as pediatrics, where performing muscle biopsy is not standard of care. Based on a complex but robust method, 16 variables deemed to provide better discrimination for IMM cases were weighted and included in a final criteria set presented in Fig. 1. These criteria allow the classification in IMMs in definite (probability cutoff >90%), probable (probability >55%), possible (probability >50% but<55%), and improbable (when probability is <50%). There, following categories were included: dermatomyositis, polymyositis, amyopathic dermatomyositis, juvenile dermatomyositis, and sporadic inclusion body myositis [8].

These criteria have several novelties compared with previous sets. The practical implication of the probability model and the different weight each variable contributes means that one needs to test only enough variables to reach a predefined probability providing flexibility for the classification criteria. The presence of anti-Jo1 autoantibodies gives the highest score among the variables in the new criteria, supporting a high level of specificity for this single criterion. With the new EULAR-ACR classification criteria, patients with dermatomyositis without clinical muscle weakness can also be classified as having IMM [8]. Criticisms of these criteria have been published because no account is taken of the antibodies to other tRNA synthetase enzymes [9]. The identification of the IMM subtype and the distinction of these conditions from mimics are fundamental because each subtype has a different prognosis and expected therapy response [10, 11].

	Pattern of muscle			Antibodies	
	weakness	СК	Biopsy	profile	Prognostic
DM	Proximal symmetric weakness + Skin rash	CK may be up to 50> ULN	Perivascular, perimysial, and perifascicular inflammation Necrotic fibers in wedge-like infarcts Perifascicular atrophy Reduced capillaries <i>No vacuole</i> <i>formation</i>	Anti-MDA 5 Anti- Mi-2 Anti-TIF-1 Anti-NXP2	Good 5-year survival rate around 70%
PM	Proximal symmetric weakness	CK may be up to 50> ULN	CD8+ cells invading healthy fibers Wide spread expression of MHC class I antigen. <i>No vacuole</i> <i>formation</i>	Anti- synthetase antibodies	Good 5-year survival 70%
NAM	Proximal and severe weakness	Very high; May be more than 50 times ULN in early active disease	Scattered necrotic fibers with macrophages No CD8+ cells Deposits of complement on capillaries <i>No vacuole</i> <i>formation</i>	Anti-SRP Anti- HMGCR	Good response to treatment
IBM	Proximal and distal weakness Atrophy of quadriceps and forearms; mild facial muscle weakness	Up to 10 times the ULN; can be normal or slightly elevated	CD8+ cells invading healthy fibers Cytochrome – oxidase negative Widespread expression of MHC class I antigen Ragged-red or ragged blue fibers Congophilic amyloid deposits <i>Vacuole formation</i> (Autophagic vacuoles)	Anti-cN1A	Poor even with treatment Increased functional disability

Table 1 Summary of the different features of Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies (IMM) subtypes

MHC major histocompatibility complex, *ULN* upper limit of Normal, *DM* dermatomyositis, *PM* polymyositis, *NAM* necrotizing autoimmune myopathy, *IBM* Inclusion body myositis, *CK* creatinine Kinase



Fig. 1 Sequence of classifications and diagnostic criteria for idiopathic inflammatory myopathies proposed over time

In this chapter, we have tried to reflect the current knowledge of these conditions, updating not only the clinicopathological features of IMM but also the fundamental aspects on disease mechanisms and therapy.

Epidemiology

IMM are rare and good epidemiological studies are scarce. Between 1947 and 1990, the annual incidence of IMM ranged from 0.4–1.0 cases per 100,000 cases using older diagnostic criteria [12]. The overall annual incidence of IMM appeared to be rising [13].

Nowadays, the incidence of DM and PM combined is around 6–10 per million, affecting more women (ratio 2:1) with a peak incidence of 60–69 years in DM and 50–59 years in PM [14, 15]. A Mayo Clinic Study showed PM to be the most common clinical phenotype [16]. Others consider that sIBM is the most frequent acquired myopathy after 50 years of age [13].

Overall, myositis prevalence was estimated at 14/100,000 inhabitants (95% CI 12.84, 15.46) between 1982 and 2010 [17, 18]. The estimated total number of patients with PM/DM and the prevalence rate in Japan in 2010 were 17,000 and 13.2 per 100,000 population, respectively [18]. In South Australia, between 1980 and 2009, three hundred fifty-two biopsy-proven cases of IMM were identified [13].



Fig. 2 World incidence of myositis (per million per year); IMM inflammatory myopathies; sIBM sporadic inclusion body myositis; JM juvenile myositis

Different studies reported the prevalence of myositis in five continents and verified that there were disparities, but no clear geographical differences were found when taking into account methodological variations (Fig.2) [17]. Regarding ethnicity, according to the Sultan SM and collaborators, in a UK study 69.6% of patients were Caucasian, 13% Afro-Caribbean, 13% Asian, and 4.3% others [19].

Clinical Manifestations

In virtually all forms of IMM, the common feature is symmetrical, bilateral muscle weakness, presenting in 84% of the patients while myalgia is present in up to 75% at the initial presentation [14]. The patients have difficulty in performing tasks like getting up from a chair, lifting objects, and climbing steps [1, 4, 5, 20]. In sIBM, patients experience more distal muscle weakness and early have difficulties in tasks like holding objects, shaking hands, or buttoning up a shirt. Falling is also common due to the precoce involvement of the quadriceps muscle and weakness of foot extensors. Facial muscles are affected in the sIBM form and less common in DM or PM [20]. In all subtypes, neck extensor and pharyngeal muscle can be involved, resulting in head drop and/or dysphagia. Extramuscular symptoms notably fever, arthralgia, Raynaud's phenomenon, and cardiac arrhythmias may also occur.

Dermatomyositis Typically, DM presents as an acute or progressive proximal weakness. The skin manifestations may be simultaneous or precede muscle weakness. The typical skin rashes (Fig. 3) include red or heliotrope rash, most prominent on the upper eyelids, face, upper trunk, knees, elbows, anterior chest (often in a V pattern), or shoulders (shawl sign), and violaceous eruption on the knuckles known as Gottron's rash [21, 22]. The lesions are photosensitive and may be aggravated by



Fig. 3 Clinical features of myositis: (a) Heliotropic rash. (b) Fibrosing alvolitis shown on a CT scan of a patient with DM. (c) Distal unilateral gastrocnemius muscle wasting. (d) Striking proximal weakness of arms and legs. (e) Gottron's papules. (f) Perioral sparing of the facial rash in a patient with DM [22]. (Reproduced with the kind permission of Oxford University Press)

ultraviolet radiation. Some patients develop dyspnea related to interstitial lung disease (ILD) or ventilatory muscle weakness. Dysphagia due to esophageal or pharyngeal involvement, congestive heart failure or arrhythmia from myocarditis, and gastrointestinal bleeding due to vasculopathy of the gut may also be present [23]. Also, other characteristic features of DM are the "mechanic's hands," dilated capillary loops at the base of the fingernails, and irregular and thickened cuticles. Clinical features of DM may overlap with other autoimmune diseases such as systemic sclerosis or undifferentiated autoimmune rheumatic diseases [24].

Several variants of DM are known. Amyopathic DM is characterized by the presence of cutaneous manifestations without the muscle involvement [25]. Juvenile dermatomyositis (JDM) affects children. Multisystem involvement is common in JDM and is associated with calcinosis cutis and vasculopathy affecting the gastrointestinal tract [26]. Dermatopathic DM is characterized by weakness and histological signs which are similar to DM but without the inflammatory lesions of the skin [27].

Polymyositis PM is rare with an estimated prevalence of 5% of all cases, often misdiagnosed, and remains a diagnosis of exclusion [28]. It is best defined as a subacute proximal myopathy in adults who do not have rash, a family history of neuromuscular disease, and exposure to myotonic drugs (like statins, penicillamine, and zidovudine). It presents typically with progressive neck flexor and symmetric proximal limb muscle weakness which develops over weeks to months. Myalgias and tenderness are common complaints. Dysphagia occurs in one-third of patients. The most common extramuscular involvement is ILD and myocarditis [28, 29].

Inclusion body myositis The disease starts insidiously and develops over a period of years, sometimes asymmetrically. Inclusion body myositis may be suspected when a patient's presumed polymyositis does not respond to therapy. However, there are several features that can lead to an early clinical diagnosis including the early involvement of distal muscles notably the foot extensors and finger flexors; atrophy of the forearms and quadriceps muscles; frequent falls due to weakness in quadriceps muscles; and mild facial muscle weakness. Dysphagia occurs in more than 50% of the patients and may present as the initial symptoms [30].

Necrotizing autoimmune myositis Necrotizing autoimmune myositis (NAM) is a clinicopathologically distinct form. It accounts for up to 19% of all inflammatory myopathies [31]. A few years ago, NAM was thought to be a rare IMM, but is now being recognized more frequently. After the identification of two antibodies seen in around 60% of patients, one against the signal recognition particle (SRP) and other against 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coA-reductase (HMGCR), the incidence rate seems to be increasing [32]. NAM can occur at any age but it is more commonly seen in adults. NAM presents with a subacute progressive proximal muscle weakness without a rash. The weakness in NAM generally develops more rapidly than in patients with pure PM [31]. Swallowing difficulties may occur. NAM may occur alone or may be associated with viral infections, with cancer, or other autoimmune diseases namely autoimmune rheumatic disorders or even in patients taking statins [33].

Antisynthetase syndrome Patients with ASS often have very specific features linked to the antibody present in their serum, anti-Jo1 being the most widely associated. This syndrome is characterized by myositis with prominent pathologic changes at the periphery of the fascicles and the perimysial connective tissue, ILD, arthritis, Raynaud's phenomenon, fever, and mechanic's hands [26].

Etiology and Pathologic Mechanisms

The etiopathogenesis of IMMs remains unknown, although much work has been done to identify the cause; a complete understanding remains elusive. It seems to be a multifactorial disorder where genetic and hormonal risk factors linked to immune responses against undefined environmental agents have been proposed (Fig. 4) [26].



Fig. 4 Generic pathways in IMM phenotypes including polymyositis (PM), dermatomyositis (DM), necrotizing myopathy (NAM), and inclusion body myositis (sIBM) resulting from the interaction between genetic risk factors and environmental ones. ER endoplasmic reticulum, C4A complement 4A, ROS reactive oxygen species

Environmental factors As with other autoimmune diseases, the study of environmental risk factors involved in IMM has been based on animal models, case reports, and/or cases series suggesting variable roles in different IMM phenotype. Increased incidence of DM in low latitude areas (close to the equator) probably because of increased ultraviolet light exposure was reported. Viral, bacterial, and parasitic infections, foods and dietary supplements, and chemicals and drugs were commonly associated with IMM phenotypes. Specific infectious agents have been implicated, namely, infection with hepatitis B virus in PM and DM, hepatitis C virus in sIBM, HIV in PM, DM, and sIBM; *Toxoplasma* spp. and *Borrelia* spp. in PM and DM; and influenza, picornavirus, and echovirus in PM, DM, and JDM [34].

Severe case reports have documented associations after exposures to drugs or medical devices: D penicillamine in PM and DM and anti-TNF agents in DM are known examples. An increased risk of developing anti-HMGCR antibody-positive immune-mediated necrotizing myopathy (IMNM in patients with HLA:DRB1:11*01 who were taking statins) has also been reported. Vaccines have been implicated in IMM pathogenesis, notably diphtheria typhoid pertussis; measles, mumps and rubella; Bacillus Calmette-Guerin; influenza; and hepatitis A/B [36]. Recently, an increased frequency of anti-Jo-1 antibodies in patients who are current or previous smokers was reported, highlighting the importance of environmental risk factors in the development of IMM [34].

Genetic factors Although no one gene has been identified as an underlying cause of IMM, genetic risk factors are likely to be associated with IMM. However, there are few reports of familial occurrence where the precise heritability of IMM is unknown. A nationwide study in Taiwan that investigated co-aggregation of autoimmune disease in the families of individuals with systemic lupus erythematous and

with C4A deficiency [37].

systemic sclerosis identified a higher relative risk of IMM in these families than in the general population [35]. A national study in China suggested that relatives of patients with systemic sclerosis have an increased risk of IMM. This aggregation pattern strongly suggests a shared genetic background. Genome-wide studies either in adults or juvenile individuals with DM or PM identified the strongest disease associations with the MHC region on chromosome 6. The Myositis Genetics Consortium conducted the largest genetic study which included 2566 patients with IMM. The study demonstrated the clear association with alleles of the HLA 8.1 ancestral haplotype – HLA DRB1*03:01 and HLA B*08:01 in PM and DM, respectively. Polymorphisms in the tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a) gene coding region are correlated with a longer disease course and increased disease severity [36]. Several non-HLA loci have been associated with IMM. PTPN22 was associated with PM but not with DM. Other genes including STATA4, TRAF6, and UBE2L3 were associated with different subtypes of IMM. One study linked the complement

IMM pathogenesis seems to be mediated by both adaptive and innate immune pathways. In DM, the main feature is a complement-mediated vasculopathy of small vessels. The complement C5b-9 membrane attack complex is activated before the destruction of muscle fibers and deposits on the endothelial cells leading to necrosis, reduction of the density of endomysial capillaries, ischemia, and muscle fiber destruction. The action of membrane attack complex may trigger the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. This release may also up regulate adhesion molecules on endothelial cells and helps in migration of activated lymphocytes including B cells and plasmocytoid dendritic cells to the perimysial and endomysial spaces. Histologically, there are mononuclear inflammatory cell infiltrates mainly B cells and CD4⁺ T cells in the muscle fibers in the perivascular and perifascicular areas (Fig. 5). A specific subtype is juvenile dermatomyositis, where maternal chimeric cells may contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease [38]. The typical histological findings on skin biopsy are vacuolar interface dermatitis with vacuolar changes of the epidermal basal layer, apoptosis, necrotic keratinocytes and perivascular lymphocytic infiltrate, and mucin deposition in the dermis [39].

4A deficiency to an increased risk of juvenile dermatomyositis, although the strongest risk factor identified in the study was the presence of HLA-DRB1*03:01 along

In PM and inclusion body myositis (Fig. 6), CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells surround and invade healthy non-necrotic muscle fibers that aberrantly express MHC class I [40]. This expression is absent in normal muscle fibers and is probably induced by cytokines secreted by activated T cells. The CD8-MHC class I complex is characteristic of PM and inclusion body myositis, and its detection is helpful in confirming the histological diagnosis. In fact, CD8+ T cells contain perforin granules directed toward the surface of the muscle fibers, which cause necrosis of the muscle and release [41]. B-cell activation also occurs most prominently in inclusion body myositis [42]. The main muscle biopsy features are fiber size variability, cellular invasion of non-necrotic muscle fibers.



Fig. 5 Pathogenesis in dermatomyositis. Activation of the complement, component 3 (C3) that leads to the C3b formation and MAC (membrane attack complex) activation which are deposited on the endothelial cell wall of the endomysial capillaries. This leads to the destruction of capillaries mostly in the periphery of the fascicles. Cytokines released by activated complement lead to the activation of CD4+ T cells, macrophages, B cells, and plasmocytoid dendritic cells. They enhance the expression of vascular and intercellular cell adhesion molecules on the endothelial cell wall and lead to migration of lymphoid cells into endomysial tissue



Fig. 6 Pathogenesis mechanisms underlying polymyositis and inclusion body myositis

Diagnosis

The diagnosis of IMM subtypes is based on the clinical history, time of disease progression, pattern of evolution, muscle involvement, muscle enzyme levels, electromyographic findings, muscle biopsy analysis, and presence of autoantibodies.

Complete blood tests including full blood count, urea and electrolytes, liver and thyroid function tests, and 25-OH-vitamin D should also be performed. Serum creatine kinase (CK) is elevated in all subtypes, and it is the most sensitive indicator of inflammatory myopathy, but does not necessarily correlate with the severity of the symptoms. It often improves with treatment. In necrotizing autoimmune myositis, it may be as high as 50 times the upper normal level, although in inclusion body myositis, it rarely exceeds 10 times the upper limit of the normal. Along with the creatine kinase, aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase levels, although less sensitive, may also be elevated. Aldolase levels in serum may also be elevated specially in fascia involvement myositis. Neither the erythrocyte sedimentation rate nor C-reactive protein levels are reliable indicators, as they are usually normal or only mildly elevated [23].

Electrophysiology studies: An electromyogram (EMF) should be done to rule out a neuropathic process and confirm the presence of a typical myopathic process, namely, myopic motor unit potentials (short-duration, low-amplitude polyphasic units on voluntary activation) and positive sharp waves which are important to determine whether myopathy is active or chronic. The EMG must be done on one side of the body and the muscle biopsy on the other side.

Muscle biopsy is the most important tool for the diagnosis of polymyositis, overlap myositis, necrotizing autoimmune myositis, and inclusion body myositis. It is most useful when the biopsy site is carefully chosen. Although generally safe and well tolerated, open muscle biopsy is relatively costly and requires the assistance of a surgeon, an operating theater, and local or regional anesthetics. In contrast, various techniques of "percutaneous" needle muscle biopsy (NMB) offer a more convenient and cost-effective means of obtaining adequate muscle specimens. However, most NMB techniques require a small skin incision that leaves a scar (though much smaller than that left by an open biopsy) and an adequately sized tube that may utilize suction to deliver the muscle into the tube before it is guillotined. A technique using a spring-activated 14-gauge needle is minimally traumatic and may be capable of obtaining diagnostic results historically comparable with more invasive techniques [16, 43].

In terms of histological evaluation, DM the inflammation is perivascular and is most prominently located in the interfascicular septa or at the periphery of fascicles. In PM and inclusion body myositis, the inflammation is perivascular and is most typically concentrated in multiple foci within the endomysium. In necrotizing autoimmune myositis there are abundant necrotic fibers invaded and surrounded by macrophages [23].
Our understanding of IMM has changed considerably over the last decades. One of the most exciting recent developments has been the identification of autoantibodies in IMM patients, many of which can be linked to different phenotypes and outcomes.

Autoantibodies are currently detected in up to 60% of the patients with myositis. It is especially important in necrotizing autoimmune myositis diagnosis and also for the classification of distinct subtypes and systemic organ involvement. These antibodies include those against aminoacyl tRNA syntheses which are detected in 20–30% of patients. They have been classified into two main categories: myositis-specific autoantibodies (MSAs) which can be found in IMMs exclusively and myositis-associated autoantibodies (MAAs) which can also be found in other conditions. The latter are present in around 20% of the patients and have a lower positive predictive value or indicate another related comorbid (or overlap) autoimmune rheumatic condition [44].

Both MSAs and MAAs are summarized in Tables 2, 3, and 4. There are several methods to test for MSAs and MAAs (indirect immunofluorescence on HEp-2 cells, counterimmunoelectrophoresis, immunodiffusion, and immunoenzymatic assays such as ELISA) with variable sensitivity, specificity, costs, complexity, and feasibility in clinical and research settings [44].

Differential Diagnosis

Given the myriad of possible clinical features and investigation findings, there are many potential diagnoses to consider actively while assessing a patient with myositis hypothesis. Systemic causes such as thyroid dysfunction, electrolyte disturbance,

Antibody	Antigen	Clinical association
MAAs		
Anti-PM-Scl	Exosome protein complex (PM/Sc175/100)	Overlap PM/SSc
Anti-C1D	Exosome-associated protein	Overlap PM/SSc
Anti-U1-RNP	U1 small nuclear RNP	MTCD
Anti-fibrillarin (anti-U3-snRNP)	Fibrillarin	SSc
Anti-Ku	DNA-PK regulatory subunit	PM/SSc. Potentially severe ILD
Anti-Ro52	Ro-52/TRIM21	ILD. Frequently coupled with other MSA
Anti-Ro60/SSA	Ro60/SS-A	SjS; SLE
Anti-La/ SSB	SS-B	SjS; SLE
Anti-cN-1A (anti-Mup44)	Cytosolic 5'nucleotidase 1A	sIBM

Table 2 Myositis-associated autoantibodies (MAAS)

Antibody	Antigen	Clinical association
MSAs		
Anti- Jo-1	Histidyl-tRNA synthetase	Classic anti-synthetase syndrome with more frequent muscle involvement
Anti- PL-7	Threonyl-tRNA synthetase	Anti-synthetase syndrome with prevalent ILD
Anti-PL-12	Alanyl-tRNA synthetase	Anti-synthetase syndrome with prevalent ILD
Anti-EJ	Glycy-tRNA synthetase	Anti-synthetase syndrome
Anti-OJ	Isoleucyl-tRNA synthetase	ILD or Anti-synthetase syndrome
Anti-KS	Asparaginyl-tRNA synthetase	ILD or Anti-synthetase syndrome
Anti-Zo	Phenylalanyl-tRNA synthetase	Myositis
Anti-YRS7HA	Tyrosyl-tRNA synthetase	Myositis
Anti-Mi2	Nucleosome remodeling deacetlyase	Classical DM
Anti-SAE	Small ubiquitin like modifier activating enzyme	Severe cutaneous disease that classically precede DM with severe dysphagia and systemic symptoms.
Anti-MDAS (anti-CADM140)	Melanoma differentiation- associated gene 5 (MDA5)	Hypo-amyopathic, ILD with possible RP-ILD, and severe and peculiar skin involvement
Anti-TIF1 y/a (anti p155/p140)	Transcription intermediary factor 1	Juvenile DM. Cancer-associated hypo- myopathic DM
Anti- TIF 1beta	Transcription intermediary factor 1Beta	DM
Anti-NXP2 (anti-MJ)	Nuclear matrix protein (NXP-2)	Juvenile DM, diffused calcinosis. Cancer- associated DM
Anti-SRP	Signal recognition particle	IMNM with frequent esophageal involvement. Possible ILD
Anti-HMGCR	HMG-CoA reductase	IMNM with or without history of statin exposure

 Table 3
 Myositis-specific antibodies (MSAS)

and drug-related myotoxicity should be ruled out in each patient. Noninflammatory myopathies must be excluded including late onset muscular dystrophy, limb girdle dystrophy, and myotonic dystrophy type 2. Other conditions like mitochondrial myopathies which also can present with proximal muscle weakness and a raised CK, muscle biopsy should be done in order to do the differential diagnosis. Metabolic myopathies are associated with carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Examples are the known carnitine deficiency and myoadenylate deaminase deficiency (Table 5).

Antibody	Antigen	Clinical association
Miscellaneous		
Anti-RuvBL1/2	RuvBL1/2 complex	SSc, PM, Morphea
Anti-Su/Ago2	Argonaute 2	ILD in the absence of cancer. frequently coupled with MSA, Ro-52, and other antibodies
Anti-SMN	Survival of motor neuron	PM/SSc
Anti-NUP	Nup358/RanBP2, gp210, Nup90, p200/p130, Nup62	Subgroup of PM/SSc patients (so-called NUP-syndrome). PBC
Anti-mitochondrial (AMA-M2)	Branched chain alpha ketoacid dehydrogenase complex	Long-lasting myositis with muscle atrophy and cardiac involvement. PBC
Anti-KJ	Translocation factor	Anti-synthetase-like syndrome
Anti-Fer (anti-eEF1)	Eukaryotic elongation factor	Anti-synthetase-like syndrome
Anti-Wa		Anti-synthetase-like syndrome
Anti-Mas	Selenocysteine seryl-tRNA- protein complex	Non-immune-mediated rhabdomyolysis. Autoimmune hepatitis
Anti-PMS	DNA repair mismatch enzyme (PMS1, PMS2, MLH1)	Mild myositis
Anti-cortactin	Cortactin	PM. myasthenia graves
Anti-FHL1	Four and a half LIM domain 1	Myositis and muscular atrophy with severe systemic

 Table 4
 Antibodies in a miscellaneous

	Differential diagnosis
Inherited	Muscular dystrophies; myotonic dystrophies; channelopathies
Metabolic	Mitochondrial; glycogen storage disorders; fatty acid oxidation defects
Endocrinologic	Hyper/hypothyroidism; Cushing's syndrome; Addison's syndrome; acromegaly
Toxic	Corticosteroids; statins; antimalarials; colchicine; penicillamine; antiretrovirals; alcohol
Infective	HIV, acute viral or bacterial infections; trichinellosis
Neuromuscular junction	Myasthenia graves; Lambert-Eaton syndrome
Miscellaneous	Malignant hyperthermia, motor neurone disease, neuropathies, diabetic amyotrophy, sarcoidosis, amyloidosis, neuroleptic malignant syndrome, chronic graft versus host disease

Cancer Screening

The association between DM and cancer is well established. All forms of myositis except IBM have been associated with 2–7-fold increased risk of cancer. Leatham and collaborators demonstrated that undiagnosed malignancy is present in <10% of

USA patients at the time of dermatomyositis onset. Around 25% of DM patients develop a cancer after 0–5 years of disease onset. In PM, the association rounds 10–15% [47]. Most of the diagnoses are made within 1 year but can take up to 3 years. The cancer is often not associated with suspicious signs or symptoms. The risk factors include male gender, older age at disease onset, extensive skin or muscle involvement, elevated inflammatory markers, and negative ANA and MSAs. The most frequent IMM-associated malignancies are breast and ovary in women, lung and prostate in men, as well as pancreatic, gastric, colorectal, bladder cancer, and non-Hodgkin lymphoma [45, 46].

However, there is little consensus about the methods of cancer screening modalities in patients with IMM. Effective malignancy screening of dermatomyositis patients often requires evaluation beyond a history, physical examination, and "ageappropriate" cancer screening – these data may help to inform future guidelines for malignancy screening in this population. The European Federation of Neurological Societies recommended that DM patients have computed tomography of chest/ abdomen, pelvic ultrasound and mammography in women, ultrasound of testes in men, and colonoscopy in men and women over 50. If primary screening is negative, repeat screening is recommended after 3–4 months; thereafter screening is recommended every 6 months for years [23].

18F-Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG PET) is a standard tool for detecting malignancies. PET has the advantage that only a single test is needed, making it a more conventional approach for the patients.

Treatment

As with many autoimmune diseases, managing IMM continues to be challenging for the physician. The main aims of treatment are to suppress inflammation and to improve muscle power preventing chronic complications and/or extramuscular involvement. As IMM are rare conditions, very few large treatment trials are available to guide clinicians (Fig. 7) [23].

Conventional therapies include glucocorticoids, and it is generally agreed that it should remain the anchor drug in IMM although there is a lack of controlled clinical trials. The starting dose is approximately 0.5 mg/kg of prednisolone, but the many side effects of steroids encourage a reducing regime over the first 2 months. Oddis and Aggarwal (2018) reported on their experience using a dose initially of about 1 mg per kg per daily with an average dose of 60 mg daily. If a patient has a severe myositis or extramuscular involvement, intravenous methylprednisolone at a dose of 500 mg to 1 g daily for 3 days, prior to switching to an oral dose of prednisolone can often be administered. These patients may require a slower steroid reduction, dropping by 20–25% of dose monthly with the goal of achieving a low daily dose of prednisone of 5–10 mg daily in 6 months. Glucocorticoids have a high relapse and commonly cause adverse effects (infection, osteoporosis, diabetes, hypertension, among others) and because of this, they are rarely used alone [23].



Fig. 7 Step wise approach to remission induction and maintenance therapy in myositis - update. IVIg intravenous immunoglobulins

A Cochrane analysis compared all case studies available with immunosuppressants including methotrexate (MTX), azathioprine (AZA), or mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) and other agents in myositis, and no significant efficacy was identified [47]. Methotrexate and azathioprine are often used as first-line diseasemodifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDS). Retrospective studies support the use of methotrexate either orally or subcutaneously with a dose of up to 25 mg weekly [48, 49], followed by 5-10 mg folic acid, 5 days of week. In 2016, a placebocontrolled, multicenter trial of juvenile dermatomyositis demonstrated that treatment with MTX in combination with prednisone resulted in a better response than prednisone alone [50]. Comparative studies have suggested that MTX and AZA have similar efficacies [48]. As azathioprine is a prodrug that is converted into the active metabolite, 6-mercaptopurine, the thiopurine methyltransferase levels should be checked prior to screening for enzyme deficiency. Those that are deficient have an increased chance of myelosuppression. If the enzyme activity is on normal range, AZA can be started at orally 50 mg/day for the first week and then increased every week up to 2–2.5 mg per kg daily, given orally once a day or divided into three doses [51]. In patients with reduced TPMT activity, an initial dose of 25 mg should be used. AZA and MTX can also be used in combination where either agent alone has not proved effective [52].

Myositis

Mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) is also a prodrug of mycophenolic acid that inhibits purine synthesis impairing B- and T-cell proliferation and consequently leading to immunosuppression. The potential use of MMF is limited to case series generally involving doses of 2000–3000 mg daily, orally. It is known that improvements in skin disease and muscle strength are seen in patients who have not responded to conventional treatment [53, 54]. In an open label study involving seven patients with refractory PM and DM, all the patients achieved complete remission with MMF combined with intravenous immunoglobulin therapy [55]. Small studies have suggested that MMF also benefits pulmonary function tests in patients with DM and ILD [56]. Later, a large cohort of 125 patients with ILD were treated for a period of 897 days, and MMF was associated with improvement in the forced vital capacity and diffusing capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide [57].

Cyclophosphamide, an alkylating agent, is reserved for the treatment of patients with severe myositis and patients with rapid progressive ILD or overlapping systemic vasculitis or patients refractory to several other therapeutic options [58]. Cyclophosphamide can be administered orally or intravenously; typically 500–750 mg is given in monthly doses up to 6 months. Its use is limited due to its toxicity and increased risk of malignancy [59].

Cyclosporine is a calcineurin inhibitor that blocks the production and release of IL2 [60]. *Tacrolimus* is a second-generation calcineurin inhibitor that binds to an intracellular protein (peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase FKBP112) leading to inhibitor of T-cell activation [61]. In a Japanese study of 16 patients with PM and 15 patients with DM, treatment with tacrolimus led to an improvement in muscle scores and a substantial decrease in serum creatine kinase levels [62]. Cyclosporine and tacrolimus have a role in the treatment of IMM with ILD [63].

A range of biologic therapies have been investigated for the treatment of myositis.

Rituximab depletes CD20+ B cells, and has been shown to be effective in patients with refractory disease. RTX is reported to be well tolerated. The most common side effects were infections mainly involving respiratory tract [64]. A randomized double-blind (RIM trial) and placebo phase study included 195 individuals, 75 with PM, 72 with DM, and 48 with juvenile dermatomyositis that were refractory to glucocorticoids and at least one immunosuppressive agent. These patients received infusion of RTX (1 g) either at baseline or 8 weeks later, and 83% of the patients met DOI which incorporates the International Myositis Assessment and Clinical Studies (IMACS's) six core set measures of disease activity [65]. Recently, a rate of response to RTX of 78.3% was found in a review of 48 studies which included 458 patients with myositis treated with RTX. The authors concluded that these results support the idea that off-label use of RTX in patients with refractory myositis [64].

Anti-TNF therapies. Although there is expected beneficial role of this potential drug in autoimmune diseases, the results in myositis seem to show little benefit. A number of case reports and case series have reported good responses to infliximab in patients with myositis. However, in a double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial using infliximab in 12 patients (PM and DM), the response rate was below 33% after 14 weeks [66]. Nowadays, the use of anti-TNF therapy cannot be fully

approved due to the fact that these agents might cause myositis. But in patients with arthropathy, anti-TNF therapy might be considered [67].

Abatacept is a full human fusion protein of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte protein 4 (CTLA 4) and the Fc portion of human IgG1 that inhibits T-cell co-stimulation. A randomized open label trial including 20 patients with refractory dermatomyositis (n = 11) and polymyositis (n = 9) was conducted, and nearly the half (42%) of the patients achieved the primary end point. The therapy was well tolerated, and these encouraging results led to an ongoing phase III clinical trial (US National library of Medicine Clinical Trials gov).

The future of myositis treatment is likely to include biologic new therapies. However, to assess the therapeutic effect, outcome measures to gauge treatment responses effectively are necessary. The International Myositis Assessment and Clinical Studies Group have suggested core measures to monitor inflammatory myositis. These include global activity, muscle strength, physical function, laboratory assessment, and extramuscular disease. The American College of Rheumatology and European League Against Rheumatism has developed a set of criteria to monitor response based on six core set measures (physician, patient, extramuscular global activity, muscle strength, health assessment questionnaire, and muscle enzyme levels), with a total improvement score classifying patients into minimal, moderate, and major improvement groups. Although mainly designed for trials, they can also help guide therapeutic response and the need for intervention [68].

Physiotherapy is mainly advised in the acute phase to maintain a full range of joint movement. It is encouraged as patients start to recover, and full remission is not required for active therapy [67].Intensive exercise could even be considered in patients with PM and DM as an anti-inflammatory treatment. Strength training or aerobic and resistance training may reduce inflammation by decreasing fat mass and improving cardiovascular fitness and reducing levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines [69]. Recently, new methods for strength assessment have been reviewed [70].

Outcome and Conclusions

Most patients respond well to immunotherapy, but do not usually return to full strength with monotherapy and may require long-term immune-targeted treatment. So far, mortality in IMM in general has improved over the last decades, and this may be due to a better understanding of the disease and effective treatment modalities. In fact, before corticosteroids and immunosuppressives were introduced, the mortality rate was as high as 50–70%. Older series reported 5-year survival rates as low as 52% or 65% with survival rates at 7 and 8 years of 53% and 72.8%. In a retrospective study, Isenberg D and collaborators (2016) reported an estimated cumulative proportion survival at 5,10, 15, and 20 years of 94%, 82,2%, 72,1%, and 66.1, respectively [71]. The cumulative 2-year rate in a Norwegian study was 87% compared with 96% in age- and gender-matched controls and survival rates continues to be significantly below matched controls at 5- and 10-year intervals [72].

However, despite intensive treatment regimes, irreversible muscle damage with fibrosis or fat replacement still occurs, contributing for an elevated morbidity in all myositis subtypes.

References

- Dalakas M. Inflammatory muscle diseases. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1734–47. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMra1402225.
- Bohan A, Peter JB. Polymyositis and dermatomyositis (first of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1975;292(7):344–7. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM197502132920706.
- Bohan A, Peter JB. Polymyositis and dermatomyositis (second of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1975;292(8):403–7. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM197502202920807.
- Dalakas MC. Polymyositis, dermatomyositis and inclusion body myositis. N Engl J Med. 1991;325:1487–98. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199111213252107.
- 5. Dalakas MC, Hohlfeld R. Polymyositis and dermatomyositis. Lancet. 2003;362:971–82. PMID: 14511932. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14368-1.
- Linklater H, Pipitone N, Rose MR, Norwood F, Campbell R, Salvarani C, et al. Classifying idiopathic inflammatory myopathies: comparing the performance of six existing criteria. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2013;31:767–9. PMID:23806844
- Troyanov Y, Targoff IN, Tremblay JL, Goulet JR, Raymond Y, Senécal JL. Novel classification of idiopathic inflammatory myopathies based on overlap syndrome features and autoantibodies: analysis of 100 French Canadian patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2005;84(4):231–49.. PMID:16010208
- Lundberg IE, Tjarnlund A, Bottai M, Werth VP, Pilkington C, Visser M, et al. European league against rheumatism/American College of Rheumatology classification criteria for adult and juvenile idiopathic inflammatory myopathies and their major sub- groups. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76(12):1955–64. PMID: 29079590. PMCID: PMC5736307. https://doi.org/10.1136/ annrheumdis-2017-211468.
- Castañeda S, Cavagna L, González-Gay MA; AENEAS (American-European NEtwork of Antisynthetase Syndrome) collaborative group members. Comments on the "2017 Classification Criteria for Adult and Juvenile Idiopathic Inflammatory Myopathies and Their Major Subgroups". Points of concern Arthritis Rheumatol 2018 70. https://doi.org/10.1002/ art.40478.www.google.
- 10. Leclair V, Lunberg IE. New myositis classification criteria What we have learned since Bohan and Peter. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2018;20:18.
- Lundberg IE, Visser M, Werth V. Classification of myositis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14:269. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2018.41.
- 12. Dimachkie MM, Barohn RJ. Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. Semin Neurol. 2012;32(3):227–36. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1329201.
- Tan JA, Roberts Thomson PJ, Blumbergs P, Hakenforf P, Cox SR, Limaye V. Incidence and prevalence of idiopathic inflammatory myopathies in South Australia: a 30-year epidemiologic study of histology-proven cases. Int J Rheum Dis. 2013;16(3):331–8. PMID: 23981756. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-185X.2011.01669.x.
- Dobloug C, Garen T, Bitter H, Stjarne J, Stenseth G, Grøvle L, et al. Prevalence and clinical characteristics of adult polymyositis and dermatomyositis; data from a large and unselected Norwegian cohort. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74:1551–6. PMID: 24695011. https://doi. org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-205127.
- Furst DE, Amato AA, Iorga SR, Gajria K, Fernandes AW. Epidemiology of adult idiopathic inflammatory myopathies in a U.S. managed care plan. Muscle Nerve. 2012;45:676–83. PMID:22499094. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.23302.

- Chahin N, Engel AG. Correlation of muscle biopsy, clinical course and outcome in PM and sporadic IBM. Neurology. 2008;70(6):1273–9. PMID: 17881720. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000277527.69388.fe.
- Meyer A, Meyer N, Schaeffer M, Gottenberg JE, Geny B, Sibilia J. Incidence and prevalence of inflammatory myopathies: a systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2015;54(1):50–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/keu289. Epub 2014 Jul 26.
- Ohta A, Nagai M, Nishina M, Tomimitsu H, Kohsaka H. Prevalence and incident of polymyositis and dermatomyositis in Japan. Mod Rheumatol. 2014;24(3):477–80. PMID:24252012. https://doi.org/10.3109/14397595.2013.844308.
- Sultan SM, Ioannou Y, Moss K, Isenberg DA. Out-come in patients with idiopathic inflammatory myositis: morbidity and mortality. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2002;41:22–6. PMID:11792875
- Dalakas MC. Review: an update on inflammatory and autoimmune myopathies. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2011;37:226–42. PMID: 21155862. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2990.2010.01153.x.
- Sontheimer RD. Cutaneous features of classic dermatomyositis and amyopathic dermatomyositis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 1999;11(6):475–82.. PMID:10551671
- Morrow J, Nelson JL, Watts R, Isenberg DA. Autoimmune rheumatic disease. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. 174.
- Malik A, Hayat G, Kalia JS, Guzman MA. Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies: clinical approach and management. Front Neurol. 2016;7:64. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2016.00064.
- Balbir-Gurman A, Denton C, Nichols B, Knight C, Nahir A, Martin G, Black C. Non-invasive measurement of biomechanical skin properties in systemic sclerosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2002;61(3):237–41. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.61.3.237. PMCID: PMC1754026
- Euwer RL, Sontheimer RD. Amyopathic dermatomyositis: a review. J Investig Dermatol. 1993;100(1):124–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.1993.35.
- 26. Rider LF, Miller FW. Deciphering the clinical presentations, pathogenesis and treatment of idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. JAMA. 2011;305:183–90. PMID:21224460. PMCID:PMC4047218. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.1977.
- Iaccatino L, Ghirardello A, Bettio S, Zen M, Gatto M, Punzi L. The clinical features, diagnosis and classification of dermatomyositis. J Autoimmm. 2014;48-49:122–7. PMID:24467910. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2013.11.005.
- Marie I, Hachulla E, Chérin P, Dominique S, Hatron PY, Hellot MF, Devulder B, Herson S, Levesque H, Courtois H. Interstitial lung disease in polymyositis and dermatomyositis. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;47(6):614–22.. PMID:12522835
- Yazici Y, Kagen LJ. Clinical presentation of the idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. Rheum Dis Clin N Am. 2002;28(4):823–32. PMID:12506774
- Sekul EA, Dalakas MC. Inclusion body myositis: new concepts. Semin Neurol. 1993;13(3):256– 63. PMID:8272596
- van der Meulen MFG, Bronner IM, Hoogendijk JE, Burger H, van Venrooij WJ, Voskuyl AE, et al. Polymyositis: an overdiagnosed entity. Neurology. 2003;61(3):316–21. https://doi. org/10.1212/WNL.61.3.316.
- Dalakas M. Myositis. Are autoantibodies pathogenic in necrotizing myopathy? Nat Rev Rheum. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2018.54. PMID:29651118.
- Miller FW, Lamb JA, Schmidt J, Nagaraju K. Risk factors and disease mechanisms in myositis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14:255–68. PMID:29674613. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrrheum.2018.48.
- Reed AM, Ytterberg SR. Genetic and environmental risk factors for idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. Rheum Dis Clin N Am. 2002;28:891–916. PMID:12506777
- 35. Kuo CF, Grainge MJ, Valdes AM, See LC, Luo SF, Yu KH, Zhang W, Doherty M. Familial aggregation of systemic lupus erythematosus and coaggregation of autoimmune diseases in affected families. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(9):1518–26. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.3528.

- Reed AM, Stirling JD. Association of the HLA- DQA1*0501 allele in multiple racial groups with juvenile dermatomyositis. Hum Immunol. 1995;44:131–5. PMID: 8666549
- 37. Lintner KE, Patwardhan A, Rider LG, Abdul-Aziz R, Wu YL, Lundström E, Padyukov L, Zhou B, Alhomosh A, Newsom D, White P, Jones KB, O'Hanlon TP, Miller FW, Spencer CH, Yu CY. Gene copy-number variations (CNVs) of complement C4 and C4A deficiency in genetic risk and pathogenesis of juvenile dermatomyositis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(9):1599–606. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-207762.
- Wedderburn LR, Rider L. Juvenile dermatomyositis: new developments in pathogenesis, assessment and treatment. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2009;23(5):665–78. PMID:19853831. PMCID:PMC2774891. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2009.07.007.
- Santmyire-Rosenberger B, Dugan EM. Skin involvement in dermatomyositis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2003;15(6):714–22. PMID:14569200
- Rowe DJ, Isenberg DA, McDougall J, Beverley PC. Characterization of polymyositis infiltrates using monoclonal antibodies to human leucocyte antigens. Clin Exp Immunol. 1981;45(2):290–8. PMID:7032768
- Goebels N, Michaelis D, Engelhardt M, et al. Differential expression of perforin in muscle infiltrating T cells in polymyositis and dermatomyositis. J Clin Invest. 1996;97:2905–10. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118749. PMC507387
- Bradshaw EM, Orihuela A, McArdel SL, et al. A local antigen driven humoral response in present in the inflammatory myopathies. J Immunol. 2007;178:547–56. https://doi.org/10.4049/ jimmunol.178.1.547.
- Campellone JV, Lacomis D, Giuliani MJ, Oddis CV. Percutaneous needle muscle biopsy in the evaluation of patients with suspected inflammatory myopathy. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40(10):1886–91. PMID:9336426. https://doi. org/10.1002/1529-0131(199710)40:10<1886::AID-ART24>3.0.CO;2-J.
- 44. McHugh N, Tansley SL. Autoantibodies in myositis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14:290-302.
- Hill CL, Zhang Y, Sigurgeirsson B, Pukkala E, Mellemkjaer L, Airio A, et al. Frequency of specific cancer types in dermatomyositis and polymyositis: a population-based study. Lancet. 2001;357:96–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03540-6.
- Leatham H, Schadt C, Chisolm S, Fretwell D, Chung L, Callen JP, Fiorentino D. Evidence supports blind screening for internal malignancy in dermatomyositis: Data from 2 large US dermatology cohorts. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018 Jan. 2018;97(2):e9639. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MD.000000000009639.
- 47. Gordon PA, Winer JB, Hoogendijk JE, Choy EH. Immunosuppressant and immunomodulatory treatment for dermatomyositis and polymyositis. In: Gordon PA, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons Ltd; 2012. p. CD003643.
- 48. Joffe M, et al. Drug therapy of the idiopathic inflammatory myopathies, predictors of response to prednisone, azathioprine and methotrexate and a comparison of their efficacy. Am J Med. 1993;94:379–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(93)90148-I.
- 49. Newman E, Scott DW. The use of low dose methotrexate in the treatment of polymyositis and dermatomyositis. J Clin Rheumatol. 1995;1:99–102.. PMID:19077954.
- Ruperto N. Prednisone versus prednisone plus ciclosporin versus prednisone plus methotrexate in new onset juvenile dermatomyositis: a randomized trial. Lancet. 2016;387:671–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01021-1.
- Ernste FC, Reed AM. Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies: current trends in pathogenesis, clinical features, and up-to-date treatment recommendations. Mayo Clin Proc. 2013;88:83– 105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2012.10.017.
- 52. Villalba L, Hicks JE, Adams EM, Sherman JB, Gourley MF, Leff RL, et al. Treatment of refractory myositis: a randomized crossover study of two new cytotoxic regimens. Arthritis Rheum. 1998;41:392–9.
- Edge JC, Outland JD, Dempsey JR, Callen JP. Mycophenolate mofetil as an effective corticosteroid- sparing therapy for recalcitrant dermatomyositis. Arch Dermatol. 2006;142:65–9. https://doi.org/10.1001/archderm.142.1.65.

- Pisoni CN, Cuadrado MJ, Khamashta MA, Hughes GRV, D'Cruz DP. Mycophenolate mofetil treatment in resistant myositis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46:516–8. https://doi. org/10.1093/rheumatology/kel336.
- Danieli MG. Intravenous immunoglobulin as add on treatment wit mycophenolate mofetil in severe myositis. Autoimmune Rev. 2009;9:124–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. autrev.2009.04.003.
- Morganroth PA, Kreider ME, Werth VP. Mycophenolate mofetil for interstitial lung disease in dermatomyositis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62:1496–501. https://doi.org/10.1002/ acr.20212.
- Fischer A. Mycophenolate mofetil improves lung function in connective tissue disease associated interstitial lung disease. J Rheumatol. 2013;40:640–6. https://doi.org/10.3899/ jrheum.121043.
- Yamasaki Y, Yamada H, Yamasaki M, Ohkubo M, Azuma K, Matsuoka S, et al. Intravenous cyclophosphamide therapy for progressive interstitial pneumonia in patients with polymyositis/dermatomyositis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46:124–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/ rheumatology/kel112.
- 59. Oddis CV, Aggarwal R. Treatment in myositis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14:279-89.
- Oddis CV, Sciurba FC, Elmagd KA, Starzl TE. Tacrolimus in refractory polymyositis with interstitial lung disease. Lancet. 1999;353:1762–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(99)01927-3.
- Qushmaq KA, Chalmers A, Esdaile JM. Cyclosporin A in the treatment of refractory adult polymyositis/dermatomyositis: population based experience in 6 patients and literature review. J Rheumatol. 2000;27:2855–9. PMID:11128676
- 62. Mitsui T, et al. The effects of FK506 on refractory inflammatory myopathies. Acta Neur Belg. 2011;111:188–94. PMID:22141281
- 63. Vencovský J, Jarosová K, Machácek S, Studýnková J, Kafková J, Bartůnková J, et al. Cyclosporine A versus methotrexate in the treatment of polymyositis and dermatomyositis. Scand J Rheumatol. 2000;29:95–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/030097400750001897.
- Fasano S, Gordon P, Hajji R, Loyo E, Isenberg DA. Rituximab in the treatment of inflammatory myopathies: a review. Rheumatology. 2017;56:26–36. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/ kew146.
- 65. Oddis CV. Rituximab in the treatment of refractory adult and juvenile dermatomyositis and adult polymyositis: a randomized placebo-phase trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65:314–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.37754.
- 66. Schoffenbaeur A. A randomized, double blind placebo controlled trial of infliximab in refractory polymyositis and dermatomyositis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2017;47(6):858–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.10.010.
- 67. Riolo G, Towheed TE. Anti-tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapy induced dermatomyositis and fasciitis. J Rheumatol. 2012;39:192–4.
- 68. Aggarwal R, Rider LG, Ruperto N, Bayat N, Erman B, Feldman BM, et al. 2016 American college of rheumatology/european league against rheumatism criteria for minimal, moderate, and major clinical response in adult dermatomyositis and polymyositis: an international myositis assessment and clinical studies group/paediatric rheumatology international trials organisation collaborative initiative. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69:898–910. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.40064.
- Alexanderson H. Physical exercise as a treatment for adult and juvenile myositis. J Intern Med. 2016;280(1):75–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12481.
- Rider LG, Aggarwal R, Machado PM, Hogrel JY, Reed AM, Christopher-Stine L, Ruperto N. Update on outcome assessment in myositis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14:303–18. PMID:29651119. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2018.33.
- Silva MA, Cogollo E, Isenberg DA. Why do patients with myositis die? A retrospective analysis of a single centre cohort. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2016;34(5):820–6. PMID:27494511
- 72. Parker M, Lilleker J, Roberts M, Chinoy H. Idiopathic Inflammatory myopathies. Medicine. 2018.

Index

A

Acanthamoeba castellanii, 215 Acetoacetylation, 66 Acetylcholine (ACh), 120 Acetylcholine receptors (AChR), 368, 766-768, 770-776, 779, 781 Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), 8, 9, 18, 26, 431, 432, 507, 544, 569 anti-MOG antibodies, 179 CNS. 179 CSF, 180 diagnosis, 544, 546, 548 MOG and MBP, 180 multifocal demyelinating disorder, 544 neurologic deficits, 544 pathogenesis, 179 pathology, 179, 548 treatment, 548 Acute haemorrhagic leukoencephalitis (AHL) ADEM, 549 Acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (AIDP), 435, 712-714, 718, 721, 722, 724, 726 Acute motor and sensory axonal neuropathy (AMSAM), 712 Acute motor axonal neuropathy (AMAN), 435, 712-714, 718, 721, 724, 726 Acute necrotising encephalopathy (ANE), 549 Acute phase treatment, 590 Acute-subacute brain stem syndrome, 686 Acute transverse myelitis attacks, 144 Adaptive immune responses CTLs, 212, 213 ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, 211, 212

immune cell infiltration, 212 infiltrating lymphocytes, 212, 213 Adenylate kinase 5 (AK5), 582 Alemtuzumab, 399, 511 Alpha 1-glycine receptor (GlyRa1), 625–627, 632, 633, 635, 638-640 Alzheimer's disease (AD), 14, 39, 41, 144.372 biometal dyshomeostasis, 93 neuropathogenesis, 93 oxidative stress, 93 pathogenesis, 93 pro-inflammatory cytokines, 94 ROS levels, 94 Th17-mediated mechanisms, 94, 95 American-European Consensus Group (AECG), 705 α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), 122 α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPA-R), 578 Amoebic Encephalitis A. castellanii, 215 B. mandrillaris, 215 neurotropic parasites, 216 Amphiphysin, 461, 627, 632, 633, 640 Amyopathic DM, 792 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), 14, 39,40 Anaerobic glycolysis., 321 Anaphylatoxins, 120 ANCA-associated vasculitis (AAV), 664 Angiopoietin (ANG)-1, 201

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 H. Mitoma, M. Manto (eds.), *Neuroimmune Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19515-1 Anti-acetylcholine receptor (AchR), 446-448, 451 Anti-AQP antibody, 25, 26 Anti-AQP4 IgG, 202 Anti-aquaporin 4 (AOP4), 7, 9, 25, 26, 496 Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytolysis (ADCC), 121, 398, 529 Antibody-mediated autoimmune disorder, 523 Antibody Prevalence in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy (APE2) score, 573 Anti-CD20 antibodies, 398 Anti-CV2/CRMP5 neuropathy, 451 Anti-double-stranded DNA (dsDNA), 668 Anti-GAD ataxia autoimmune diseases, 605 brain imaging, 605 diagnosis, 606 GAD, 606 GAD65 antibodies, 606 IMA, 605 treatment, 607 Anti-GAD65 antibody, 26 Antigen-presenting cells (APCs), 25, 32, 65, 199, 318, 334, 360, 390, 715 Anti-GFAP, 339 Anti-glial nuclear antibodies (AGNA), 447 Anti-inflammatory effects, 404 Anti-MOG antibody, 26 Antimyelin-associated glycoprotein (anti-MAG), 741, 746, 753 Anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), 496 Anti-neuronal nuclear antibody type-1 (ANNA-1), 12, 581 Antineutrophilic cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA), 664 Antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL Abs), 666 Antiribosomal P protein Abs, 669 Antisynthetase syndrome, 793 Anti-Yo antibodies, 112 Anti-α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), 12 Aquaporin-4 (AQP4), 200, 202, 335, 337, 524, 528, 544, 560, 669 Aquaporins, 335 Aquaporumab, 536 Arteriosclerosis, 659 Astrocytes, 6, 10, 11, 14–17, 19, 23, 25, 29, 38, 40, 42, 43, 146 autoimmune disorder, 340 autoimmune encephalitis, 338 biological functions, 333

cell-surface-expressed neuronal/glial proteins, 339 central nervous system (CNS), 340, 341 cvtoplasmic/membrane markers, 332 encephalomyelitis, 338 glial cells, 331 homogeneous neurologic spectrum, 339 hypotheses, 331 immune regulations, 334, 335 immunohistochemistry techniques, 332 infectious diseases, 340, 341 intrathecal antibody synthesis, 339 meningoencephalitis, 339 microenvironment, 331 morphology and location, 331 mouse nervous system, 338-339 origins, 332 physiological and gene expression studies, 331 RE, 341, 343, 344 Astrocytopathy, 524 Atacicept, 410 Autism spectrum disorder (ASD), 8, 41, 117, 118 Autoantibodies (Abs), 668 ADDC, 121 antigen-reactive T cells, 6 anti-Ri/ANNA-2, 454 in ASD, 41, 42 associated autoantibodies and caner, 113 BBB and CSF. 111 brain effects, 462 CDC, 119, 121 cell-mediated immune mechanisms, 9 clinical syndrome, 443, 463 CNS, 111 enzyme inhibition, 124 fetal brain, 117 GAD, 457 Ig isotypes and IgG subclasses, 125 immune complexes, 121 infections agents, 114, 115 infectious agents, 114 injuries, CNS, 115, 116 intracellular antigens, 37 limbic encephalitis, 464 maternal IgG antibodies, 117 maternal pathogenic, 117 mimicry-induced, 31 myelin antigens, 24 neurological autoimmune disorders, 118, 130 neurotransmitter receptors, 26-28 neurotransmitter receptors/ion channels, 37

onconeural, 12 paraneoplastic, 32 paraneoplastic neurological diseases, 33-36 parenchyma, 111 pathogenic effects CIDP. 126 epitope specificity, 124 Ig Isotypes and IgG subclasses, 125 IgA antibodies, gluten ataxia, 126 IgE antibodies, 126 IgG subclasses, 126 IgM autoantibodies, 127 PCD with Hodgkin's lymphoma, 454 PNS, 112, 113 and cell surface neuronal antigens, 445 and intracellular neural antigens, 444 postsynaptic membrane, neuromuscular junction, 446 primary autoimmune disorders, 118, 119 protective and reparative anti-idiotype antibodies, 128 autoimmune neurological disorders, 127 IgG4 subclass, 128 natural IgM, 127 Th2 cytokine, 31 treatment, 128-130 Autoantibodies against aquaporin 4 (AOP4), 364 Autoimmune demyelination, 7, 12, 15, 17, 19.23 Autoimmune diseases (ADs), 88, 93, 404, 527, 715, 727 Autoimmune encephalitis (AE), 144, 370, 395 abnormalities, 466 incidence and prevalence, 441 management, 471 Autoimmune limbic encephalitis agonistic effects, 583 clinical trials, 592 diagnosis, 584 differential diagnosis, 585 epidemiology, 569 immunotherapy agents, 586-588 internalization of receptors, 583 ion channel deficiency, 584 leucine-rich, 576, 578 Ma1/Ma2 IgG antibodies, 581 neural autoantibody-associated syndromes, 571-573 neural autoantibody biomarkers, 568 NMDA-R, 575, 576 pathophysiology and triggers, 583

treatment implications of pregnancy, 592 maintenance phase, 591 principles, 584, 589 vaccination, 592 Autoimmune myopathies, 443, 446 Autoimmune regulator (AIRE), 393 Autoimmunity, 370, 392–394, 774 Autoinflammatory diseases, 691 Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (aHSCT), 399, 400 Autonomous nervous system (ANS), 5, 9 Autoreactive T cells, 9, 15, 20, 24, 25, 28, 37, 42 Azathioprine (AZA), 44, 401, 535, 802

B

B- and T-cell receptors (BCR and TCR), 390 Bacillus anthracis, 207 Baclofen, 512, 638, 639 Bagel Sign, 687 Balamuthia mandrillaris, 215 Baló's concentric sclerosis (BCS), 8, 494, 495.544 diagnosis, 553 focal neurological signs and symptoms, 552 pathology, 554, 555 treatment, 555 Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), 201 **BBB** disruption CNS autoimmunity, 202-204 cytoarchitectural modulations, 201 neuroinfectious diseases, 204-216 B-cell activating factor (BAFF), 334 B-cell depletion, 129 B-cell lymphoma-extra large (Bcl-xL), 401 Behçet's syndrome (BS), 365-367 arthritis, 685 CSF findings, 691, 693, 694 epidemiology, 684 gastrointestinal involvement, 685 mucocutaneous symptoms, 685 multisystem vascular-inflammatory disease, 683 neurological involvement, 686 Ocular involvement, 685 pathogenesis, 689-691 p-NBS, 686, 688 vascular involvement, 688, 689 Belimumab, 410 Benzodiazepines, 626, 638, 639 Bickerstaff's brainstem encephalitis (BBE), 712, 713, 721

Biomarkers, 112 Blood-brain barrier (BBB), 5, 6, 9–11, 13, 16-19, 25, 26, 28, 29, 38, 41, 42, 86, 87, 89, 91, 94, 98, 111, 145, 174, 238, 307, 308, 333, 531, 667, 704 CNS. 198 CSF, 199 CXCL12, 199 disruption (see BBB disruption) ECM, 198 junctional integrity, 198 Mfsd2a, 199 NVU, 200-201 RhoGTPases, 199 TJ and AJ. 198 Blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB), 6 Blood-nerve barrier (BNB), 5, 6, 744 characteristics, 239 human endoneurial endothelial cells, 239 human peripheral nerves, 238 Bortezomib, 410, 590 Brain biopsy, 657 Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 312 Brain microvascular endothelial cells (BMECs), 200 Brainstem auditory evoked potentials (BAEPS), 496 Brainstem encephalitis (BE), 455 Breast carcinoma, 12

С

California Encephalitis Project, 575 Campylobacter jejuni, 395, 434, 435 Carbamazepine, 513 Caveolin-1 (Cav-1), 199 C-C Chemokine Receptor type-6 (CCR6), 85-87,98 CD4+ T cells, 15-17, 19-24, 29, 37, 65, 498 CNS autoimmunity, 20 CNS inflammation and autoimmunity, 21 - 22CD4+ T helper (Th) cells, 64, 65, 67-70 CD8+ cells, 69, 70 CD8+ T cells, 12, 15, 17, 23, 24, 29, 37, 64, 65, 68–70, 498, 499 Celiac disease (CD), 126 Cell-based assay (CBA), 534 Cell surface synaptic antigens, 440 Central nervous system (CNS), 64, 65, 67, 68, 70-72, 111, 305, 331, 361, 523, 686 accesses, 216 Alzheimer's disease, 144 anthrax, 207

antigen-specific tolerance, 157, 158 astrocyte function and demyelination, 144 autoimmune neurodegeneration, 156 autoimmunity, 202 CD4+ T lymphocytes, 144 defective function of Treg cells, 154 disease-modifying treatments, 155 ECs, 209, 211 Foxp3, 152, 153 glatiramer acetate treatment, 155 H. influenzae, 207 IFN-1a-beta treatment, 155 IFNAR signaling, 212 immune system, 144 inflammasome activity, 211 inflammatory cytokines, 215 L. monocytogenes, 207 microglia, 210 MS, 202, 203 N. meningitidis, 208 parenchyma, 199, 204 peripheral immune tolerance mechanisms, 149, 150 PG, 198 posttranslational modifications, 155-157 PRRs, 210 S. pneumoniae, 206 T regulatory cells, 151, 152 T. brucei, 215 T. gondii, 214 TJs. 204 vasculature, 199 Central nervous system vasculitis blood tests, 656 CD45R0+ T cells, 655 characterization, 652 clinical manifestations, 653 CSF examination, 656 definition, 652 features, 658 granulomatous inflammation, 655 MRI abnormalities, 653 MRI findings, 656 PACNS, 655 PACNS and PCNV, 653 pathology, 655 symptoms, 654 syndrome, 654 Cerebellar ataxia (CA), 129, 617 Cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA), 655 Cerebral autosomal-dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy (CADASIL), 659 Cerebral blood flow (CBF), 200

Cerebral malaria antigen-specific CD8 T cells, 214 ECM, 214 iRBC, 213 P. falciparum, 213 Cerebral oedema, 548 Cerebral vasculitis, 672 Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST), 688 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), 6, 7, 12-14, 17-19, 23-26, 28, 31, 32, 42, 43, 88, 94-97, 111, 394, 426, 435, 496, 499, 504-507, 533, 543, 712, 722,726 acute and subtle changes, 201 anti-AQP4 IgG, 202 compartment, 199 gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, 204 interstitial spaces, 199 WNV, 209 Cerebrospinal fluid filtration (CSFF), 726 Chemokines, 394 Chikungunya virus (CHIKV), 214 Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs), 198, 346 Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP), 7, 125, 370.371 active demyelination, 752 age of patients, 739 antibodies, 745 classical, 746 clinical course and prognosis, 743, 744 CMT. 755 CNS involvement, 743 Dejerine-Sottas phenotype, 754 diabetic patients, 742 diagnosis, 746 electrodiagnostic criteria, ENFS/PNS, 737-756 electrophysiological data, 746, 747, 749 epidemiology, 738 focal and multifocal neuropathies, 740, 741 large-fiber abnormalities, 738 light chain amyloid neuropathy, 754 MGUS polyneuropathy, 753 MMN, 753 morphological findings, 750, 752 nerve biopsy of patient, 751 neuroimaging, 749, 750 neurological manifestations, 739, 740 pathogenesis, 744, 745 POEMS syndrome, 754 postural and action tremor, 742 precipitating factors, 738, 739

pure motor patterns, 742 subsequent course, 738 symmetric/asymmetric, 737 teased fiber, segmental demyelination lesions, 751 3D nerve-sheath signal, 750 treatments, 755, 756 Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP), 290 Chronic lymphocytic inflammation with pontine perivascular enhancement responsive to steroids (CLIPPERS), 615 Chronic polyradiculoneuropathy, 706 Cladribine, 401, 512 Classical SPS, 623, 625 Clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), 174, 492, 510, 544 Clonidine, 638 CNS autoimmunity anti-AQP4 IgG, 202 BMECs activation, 202 CXCL12, 203 gd-MRI, 204 NMOSD and MS, 202 **RRMS**, 202 TJs stabilization, 203 Collapsin response-mediator protein-5 (CRMP5), 582 Complement, 719, 721, 722, 724–727 Complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC), 119, 121, 398, 529 Compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs), 435.747 Connexins (Cx), 333 Contactin-associated protein 1 (Caspr), 125 Conventional DCs (cDCs), 24 Convulsions, 7 Corneal confocal microscopy (CCM), 750 Corticosteroids (CC), 128, 471, 671, 726, 744, 754-756, 804 Creutzfeldt cells, 552 Cricopharyngeus muscle spasms, 623 CRISPR/Cas9 technology, 375 Cryptic antigens, 114 Cx3Cr1CreER:IDTR system, 307 Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase-stimulator of interferon genes (cGAS-STING), 29 Cyclophosphamide (CYC), 44, 129, 402, 552, 672, 706, 803 Cyclosporine, 803 Cypin, 118 Cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis, 171 Cytokines, 361, 390, 394

Cytomegalovirus (CMV), 715, 718 Cytotoxic T cells (CTLs), 212, 213 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte protein 4 (CTLA 4), 804

D

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 6, 10, 14, 334 Dancing eye syndrome, 613 Dejerine-Sottas disease, 754 Del Rio Hortega cells, 306 Delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH), 89 Demyelinating diseases, 559 Demyelination, 146 Baló's concentric sclerosis, 494 cerebral and cerebellar cortex, 499 EP abnormalities, 496 MS brain and spinal cord, 498 Dermatitis Herpetiformis (DH), 602 Dermatomyositis (DM), 788, 790-792, 794-797, 800, 801, 803, 804 Devic's disease, 176 Diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI), 550 Dimethyl fumarate (DMF), 402 Dipeptidyl-peptidase-like protein-6 (DPPX), 453, 580, 614 Direct cytotoxicity, 173 Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDS), 802 Disease-modifying drugs (DMDs) in neuroinflammation, 488 patients with RIS, 494 progressive MS, 512 RRMS, 509-512 Disease-modifying therapies (DMTs), 555, 662 Distal acquired demyelinating symmetric (DADS), 741, 746 Doublecortin-like kinase 2 (DCLK2), 371 Double-stranded ribonucleic acid (dsRNA), 210 D-prostanoid receptor 1(DP1), 211 Drosophila Stardust-Disc lost-Crumbs complex, 201

E

Early-onset MG (EOMG), 369 Eculizumab, 403, 535, 726, 728, 779 Edema toxin (ET), 216 Efgartigimod, 410 Electroencephalography (EEG), 576 Electromyography (EMG), 581, 625, 633–636, 638, 797 Electron microscopy studies, 335 Encephalomyelitis, 453 Endomysium, 603 Endoneurial endothelial cells, 238, 240 Endoneurial macrophages, 243 Endoneurial microvascular endothelial cells, 243 Endoneurium, 237, 238 Endothelial cells (ECs), 211 Endothelial venules, 504 Enzyme inhibition, 124 Enzyme replacement therapy (ERT), 660 Eosinophils, 337 Ephrins (EPH), 347 Epilepsy, 581, 582 Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), 11-13, 15, 31, 426, 502, 504 Epstein-Barr virus-induced gene 3 (Ebi3), 173 Estrogen receptor ligand β (ER β) ligands, 73 European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) recommendations, 693 European League Against Rheumatism and American College of Rheumatology (EULAR/ACR), 788 Excitatory amino acid transporter-2 (EAAT2), 25, 337 Expanded disability status scale of Kurtzke (EDSS), 503, 507 Experimental allergic neuritis (EAN), 31 Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), 64-70, 72, 73, 145, 317, 432 dorsal and dorsolateral funiculus, 149 encephalomyelitis, 147 GM-CSF receptor, 149 mononuclear inflammatory infiltration and demyelination, 149 movement disorder, 148 pertussis toxin, 147 spinal cord, 147 spinal cord homogenates/peptides, 147 Th1/Th17 cells, 148 Theiler's virus, 148 Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model, 334 Experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN), 296.719 Experimental cerebral malaria (ECM), 214 Expression quantitative trait locus (eQTL), 372 Extracellular matrix (ECM), 198, 205, 209, 346 Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases 1 and 2 (ERK1/2), 209 Extreme delta brush (EDB), 576

F

Fabry disease (FD), 659 Faciobrachial dystonic or tonic seizures (FBDS). 576 Fc gamma receptors (FcyR), 368 ¹⁸F-Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG PET), 801 Fibromeningeal cells, 346 Fingolimod, 92, 403, 511 Fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR), 493 Fluorescence-activated cell sorting technique (FACS), 534 Fluorescence immunoprecipitation assay (FIPA), 534 Focal/segmental SPS, 625 Fractalkine (CX3CL1), 313 Frontotemporal lobar dementia (FTLD), 14

G

Gabapentin, 512, 513, 638 Gadolinium enhancement, 656 y-aminobutyric acid (GABA), 119, 622, 628-630, 632, 638, 639 γ-aminobutyric acid type A (GABA-A) receptor, 578 γ-aminobutyric acid type B (GABA-B) receptor, 579 Ganglionopathy, 448 Generalized CIDP (G-CIDP), 740 Genetics, 713 Genome-wide association studies (GWASs), 359, 500 Giant cell arteritis (GCA), 664 Glatiramer acetate (GA), 66, 73, 404 Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), 332, 452, 500 Glial scar, 346, 347 Glioma-inactivated-1 (LGI1), 576, 578 Glucocorticoid therapy, 661 Glucocorticosteroids (GCS), 388, 404, 405 Glucose, 321 Glutamate decarboxylase-65 (GAD65), 119 Glutamate-glutamine cycle, 315 Glutamate receptor 3 (GluR3), 342 Glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), 371, 606, 621, 622, 624-634, 636-638 Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 (GAD65), 452, 569, 581 Gluten ataxia (GA) AGA, 604

cerebellar ataxia, 604 definition, 600 DH. 602 GFD. 604 gluten-free diet, 604 neuropathy, 602 TG2 and TG6, 603 TG6 antibodies, 603 treatment, 603 Gluten-free diet (GFD), 603 Gluten-sensitive enteropathy, 602 Glycine receptor, 632 Glycoconjugates, 717 Glycosaminoglycan (GAG), 346 Gottron's papules, 443 Granuloadipose cells, 306 Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), 400 Granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), 84, 87, 89, 91-93 Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS), 7, 12, 30, 31, 44, 128, 367, 368, 395, 434, 435, 449, 740, 745, 747 cellular immune response, 720 clinical manifestations, 713 clinical spectrum, 712 corticosteroids, 728 diagnosis, 722, 723 differential diagnosis, 723 electrodiagnosis, 725 electrodiagnostic patterns, 724 epidemiology, 712 etiology genetic risk factors, 713, 715 triggering factors, 715, 717, 718 HLA genes, 714 humoral immune response, 721, 722 immunological tolerance, 712 infections, 716 macrophages and complement, 719 management, 712 MFS, 712 molecular mimicry, 717 non-HLA genes, 715 novel therapeutic strategies, 724, 726, 727 pathogenesis, 718 pathophysiology, 720 treatment, 728 Guselkumab, 93 Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), 388

H

Haemophilus influenzae, 207 Hashimoto's encephalopathy (HE), 582 HBV surface antigen (HBsAg), 31 Heat shock proteins (HSP), 361, 690 Hematogenous leukocyte trafficking, 242 Hematopoietic progenitor cells, 400 Hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), 400 Hemicerebellitis, 429 Hemiparesis, 490 Heparan sulfate (HS), 198 Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG), 198 Hepatitis C virus (HCV), 11, 31, 673 Herpes simplex virus (HSV), 576, 585 Herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1), 115 Herpes simplex virus-2 (HSV-2), 10, 12, 31 HLA class II molecules, 293 HLA genetic burdens (HLAGB), 501 HSV encephalitis (HSVE), 115 Human African trypanosomiasis (HAT), 215 Human BNB CD11b, 294 CD49d and VCAM-1 antibodies, 296 CD58, 294 endoneurial macrophages, 243 GBS and CIDP, 292 Schwann cells, 242 systemic immune system activation, 292 TEER, 242, 291 trafficking model, 292 transcriptome, 241, 244-268, 294 voltohmmeter, 242 Human BNB transcriptome, 269-289 Human cerebral malaria (HCM), 213 Human cytomegalovirus (hCMV), 630 Human herpes virus-6 (HHV-6), 584 Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), 11, 13, 28, 31, 208 Human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs), 216 Human leukocyte antigen (HLA), 9, 31, 360, 500-502,608 Human peripheral nerves central nervous system, 236 compartments, 236 epineurium, 237 perineurium, 237 Huntington's disease (HD), 14, 39, 40 Hurst's disease, 549 Hyaluronan, 346 Hydraulic conductivity, 242 Hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 2 (HCAR2) pathway, 510

I

Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies (IMMs), 787, 788, 790, 791, 793, 794, 798 Immune regulation, polvendocrinopathy, enteropathy, and X-linked inheritance (IPEX) syndrome, 152 Immune-mediated cerebellar ataxias (IMCAs) aetiology, 600 antigenic stimulus, 600 cerebellar ataxia, 600 Immune-mediated disorders, 766 Immune-mediated necrotizing myopathies (IMNM), 443, 446, 794 Immune-mediated neurological diseases, 373 Immunoglobulin G (IgG), 576, 578 Immunological memory, 390 Immunopathogenesis, see Alzheimer disease (AD), see Multiple sclerosis (MS), see Parkinson disease (PD), see Schizophrenia disease Immunosuppressive functions, 169 Immunotherapy autoimmune encephalitis, 471 FBDS, 472 PNS treatment, 440 PNS, drugs, 471 Inclusion body myositis, 793, 795, 797 Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), 320 Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), 24, 39, 344, 500, 719 Inebilizumab, 590 Infected RBC (iRBC), 213 Inflammation-related processes, 665 Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), 172 Inflammatory Neuropathy Cause and Treatment group (INCAT), 747, 755 Infliximab, 693 Influx and efflux transporters, 240 Innate and adaptive immune systems, 689 Innate immune responses astrocytes, 211 DP1, 211 dsRNS and ssRNA, 210 IL-16 and IL-18, 210 NLR, 210 **PAMPs**, 210 **RLRs**, 210 viral-induced inflammasome activation, 211 Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, 202, 207, 211-215 Intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), 28 Intercellular tight junction formation, 240

Interferon beta (INFB), 388, 405, 406 Interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8), 370 Interferons (IFNs), 210, 211 Interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs), 29, 341 Interferon-y (IFN-y), 84–90, 92, 94, 98 Interleukin-2 receptor a (IL2RA), 363 Interleukin-7 receptor α (IL7RA), 363 Interleukin 17A (IL-17A), 146 International Consensus Recommendation (ICR), 692 International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC), 362 International Myositis Assessment and Clinical Studies (IMACS's), 803 International Study Group (ISG), 683, 686 Interstitial lung disease (ILD), 792 Intracranial pressure (ICP), 548 Intrathecal autoantibody production, 112 Intravascular lymphoma (IVL), 661 Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg), 406, 407, 435, 471, 548, 636, 638, 640, 706, 712, 724, 725, 727, 728, 741, 743-745, 753, 755, 756, 779 Intravenous methylprednisolone (IVMP), 693.706 Isaacs' syndrome, 578 Ischaemic preconditioning hypothesis (IPH), 554 IV methylprednisolone (IVMP), 590 Ixekizumab, 92

J

Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED), 514 Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), 10, 13, 28, 205, 208–212 Jerking stiff-person syndrome, 625 John-Cunningham virus (JCV), 510, 511

K

Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), 360

L

La Crosse virus, 211 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), 118 Lambert–Eaton Myasthenic Syndrome (LEMS), 123, 440–442, 446–448, 470, 611, 766, 767, 769, 771, 772, 774, 775, 777, 780, 781 Large-vessel disease, 670 Leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1 (LGI1), 370 Leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptors (LILRs), 360 Leukocyte-specific transcript 1 (LST1) genes, 362 Leukocyte trafficking, 290 Level of consciousness (LOC), 544 Lhermitte's sign, 491 Limbic encephalitis (LE), 9, 26-28, 441, 453, 455-458, 466, 471 Limbic system, 568 Linkage disequilibrium (LD), 359 Lipooligosaccharides (LOS), 30, 717 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 30, 41 Lipoprotein-related protein 4 (LRP4), 368 Listeria monocytogenes bacterial proteins, 207 intracellular bacterium, 207 LLO. 207 Listeriolysin O (LLO), 207 Longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (LETM), 525 Long-term potentiation (LTP), 313 Low-density lipoprotein receptor 4 (LRP4), 446 Lumbar puncture, 435 Lung carcinoma, 12 Lupus ataxia, 617 Lupus erythematosus (SLE), 665 Lymphatic vessels, 237 Lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG3), 171 Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV), 212

М

Macrophages, 146 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 203, 490, 493, 494, 496, 543, 576, 723 Magnetic resonance imaging in MS (MAGNIMS), 550 Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), 550 Magnetic resonance venography (MRV), 688 Maintenance therapy, 662 Major facilitator superfamily domaincontaining protein 2a (Mfsd2a), 199 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 203, 358, 359, 361, 690, 717, 720 Marburg's MS, 8, 556, 557 Mastectomy, 612 Maternal autoantibody-related (MAR), 118 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), 209, 334 **MELAS**, 660 Membrane attack complex (MAC), 575

Membrane-spanning 4 domains subfamily A member 6A (MS4A6A), 39 Meningococcal serine protease (Msp), 208 Meningovascular syphilis, 673 Mesodiencephalic junction (MDJ), 687 Metabolic disruption, 171 Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5), 580 Methotrexate (MTX), 44, 802 MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence B (MICB), 362 Microbial infections, 690 Microglia, 9, 11, 14-17, 19-23, 25, 29, 30, 39-43 Microglia activation, 319 Microglial cells, 343 Miller-Fisher syndrome (MFS), 430, 431, 712, 713, 721, 726 Minocycline, 321 Mitochondrial anti-viral sensors (MAVS), 29, 210 Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), 205, 209 Mitoxantrone, 407 Modified Rankin score (mRS), 450, 472 Molecular mimicry, 712, 715, 717, 718, 728 Monoclonal anti-GQ1b IgM antibody, 719 Monoclonal gammopathy of unknown significance (MGUS), 753 Monocyte-derived DCs (mo-DCs), 24 Morvan syndrome (MoS), 447, 448, 457, 468 Morvan's syndrome, 578, 635, 636 Motor conduction block (MCB), 747 Motor evoked potentials (MEPs), 496 Motor nerve conduction velocity (MNCV), 747 Motor neuron disease, 451 Mouse adenovirus type-1 (MAV-1), 208 Mouse hepatitis virus (MHV), 11, 211 Movement disorders, 459 Mucocutaneous symptoms, 685 Multifocal acquired demyelinating sensory and motor (MADSAM), 741, 746 Multifocal motor neuropathy (MMN), 128, 740, 741, 746, 747, 749, 753 Multiple sclerosis (MS), 7, 8, 174, 202, 394, 524, 543, 686, 706 abnormal adaptive immune cells, 86 active, mixed active/inactive and inactive, 498 aetiology, 174 astrocytes, 344 autoreactive T lymphocytes, 145 brain and spinal cord, 146 CD4+ T cells, 146

CD8+ T cells, 68-70, 146 chronic disease, 145 chronic stage, 345-347 clinical course, 492 clinical symptoms and signs, 490-492 CNS infiltration, 87 CNS myelin antigens, 488 complex interplay, genes and environment, 497 conflict of interest statement, 514 diagnosis, 506, 507 differential diagnosis, 508-509 disease exacerbation, 174 disease-modifying drugs, 510 drugs, 145 EAE, 67-73, 175 environmental factors, 502-504 epidemiology incidence and prevalence, 490 migration studies, 489 prevalence, 489 fatigue, mood disturbance and cognitive impairment, 513 functional interpretation, 364 funding, 514 genetic factors, 500-502 glatiramer acetate, 73 glial pathology, 500 gray matter pathology, 499 healthy controls, 176 HLA, 362 IL-17,89 IL-22, IL-23 and GM-CSF, 91, 92 immune cell infiltration, 145 immune mechanism, 504-506 lymphocytes, 344 MCAM/CD146 expression, 86 MOG and MBP, 146 MRI, 493-497 neurodegeneration and demyelination, 70 - 73neurodegenerative disease, 145 neuroinflammation, 488 neurological function, 174 nitric oxide and peroxynitrite, 344, 345 non-MHC variants, 363 oligodendrocyte differentiation, 176 permanent neurological disability, 73 prevalence, 489 prognosis, 507 pro-inflammatory cytokines, 88 purine/pyridine metabolites, 345 RRMS, 175, 176 spasticity, 512

sphincter disturbance and sexual dysfunction, 513 **SPMS**, 86 symptomatic therapies and management, 513, 514 T cell-mediated neuroinflammation, 505 Th1/Th2 balance, 65-67 Th17 cell plasticity, 88, 89 Th17 cells, 64, 67 Th17-related inflammation and neuronal apoptosis, 90, 91 therapeutic applications, 92, 93 treatment acute relapse, 509 DMD, 509-512 tumefactive, 495 type 1 diabetes, 66 white matter pathology, 497, 499 Muscle-specific kinase (MuSK), 368, 395 Myasthenia gravis (MG), 120-122, 368-370, 395, 446-448 clinical manifestations, 769-771 diagnosis, 775-777 epidemiology, 767-769 pathogenesis, 772-775 subgroups, 766, 767 treatment, 777-781 Mycophenolate mofetil (MMF), 402, 407, 590, 778, 803 Mycophenolic acid (MPA), 407 Myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), 9, 24, 554, 614 Myelin basic protein (MBP), 9, 24, 146, 496, 531, 557 Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), 144, 526, 548, 569, 687 Myelopathy, 670 Myoadenylate deaminase deficiency, 799 Myoclonus, 622, 625, 626, 630, 634 Myoglobinuria, 639 Myopathies, 443, 446 Myositis and amyopathic, 788 anti-Jo1 autoantibodies, 788 clinical features, 792 clinical manifestations, 791, 793 corticosteroids, 804 diagnosis, 797, 798, 801 epidemiology, 790, 791 etiology and pathologic mechanisms, 793, 795 EULAR/ACR, 788 IMMs, 787 maintenance therapy, 802

pathogenesis, 796 treatment, 801, 803, 804 Myositis-associated autoantibodies (MAAs), 798

N

N-acetyl-aspartate (NAA), 550 Narcolepsy, 182 Natalizumab, 155, 408, 511 Natural killer (NK) cells, 360 Necrotizing autoimmune myopathy (NAM), 788, 793, 794 Needle muscle biopsy (NMB), 797 Neisseria meningitidis, 208 Nerve biopsy, 741, 744, 746, 748-752, 756 Nerve conduction studies (NCS), 435, 747 Neuro-Behçet's syndrome (NBS), 686, 692 Neuroblastoma, 12 Neurodegenerative diseases, 145 autoimmunity AD. 39 ALS, 40 HD, 40 innate immune responses, degenerative diseases, 40, 41 misfolded protein, 39 PD. 40 neuroinflammation, 39 neuronal DAMPs, 38 Neurodegenerative disorder, 85, 86, 93, 95, 96 Neuroimmune diseases, 316, 318 anti-AQP antibody, 25, 26 anti-GAD65 antibodies, 26 anti-MOG antibody, 26 association, 7 autoantibodies, neurotransmitter receptors, 26.28 autoantibody- and cell-mediated immune mechanisms, 9 autoimmunity triggered infections, 11, 12, 30, 31 neoplasms, 12 B cells, 24, 25 BBB breakdown, 17, 18 BBB/BNB. 16 biological mechanisms, 359 breakdown, immune tolerance, 15 CD4+ T cells, 20 Class I MHC locus and CD8+ T cells, 23, 24 common variant-common disease paradigm, 358 control of excessive neuroinflammation, 30 dendritic cells, 24

Neuroimmune diseases (cont.) divergence and convergence, 5 divergent immune mechanisms, 8 divergent infectious strategies, 28, 29 genetic and environmental factors, 8 HIV-1.11 humoral immune response, 18 immune system and degenerative/ psychiatric diseases, 14, 15 immunotherapies, 42 lesion-dependent neurological symptoms, 7 linkage disequilibrium (LD), 359 Mendelian disorders, 359 meningeal tertiary lymphoid structures, 16 microglial cells and astrocytes, 16 molecular markers, 358 molecular mechanisms, 358 multifocal lesions, 7, 8 neurodegenerative diseases (see Neurodegenerative diseases) neuroinflammation, 29, 30 neuroinflammation-induced recovery processes, 43 neuroinflammatory cascades, 9, 10 neurologic conditions, 358 neuronal autoimmunity, 15 neuropsychiatric diseases (see Neuropsychiatric diseases) neurotransmitter receptors, 27 neurotrophic infections and neurodegenerative processes, 13 oxidative stress and tissue damage, 15 paraneoplastic diseases (see Paraneoplastic diseases) paraneoplastic neurologic diseases, 43, 44 regional heterogeneity, 29 T cell-mediated immune response, 17 Th1 and Th17 cells, 19, 23 therapeutic strategies, 6 Tregs, 23 vascular inflammatory diseases (see Vascular inflammatory diseases) Neuroimmunological disorders, 388 Neuroinfectious diseases bacteria B. anthracis, 207 CNS parenchyma, 204 H. influenzae, 207 L. monocytogenes, 207 N. meningitidis, 208 S. pneumoniae, 206 parasites cerebral malaria, 213-214

toxoplasmosis, 214 trypanosomiasis, 215-216 viruses adaptive immune responses, 211-213 HIV-1 Tat, 209 innate immune responses, 210-211 MAV-1, 208 MMPs, 209 PKB/Akt, 209 properties, 208 ROS, 208 Neuroinflammation, 5, 6, 11, 13, 14, 16, 17, 19, 23-25, 30, 32, 38, 40-42, 44 inflammatory cytokines, 94 lacking GM-CSF fail, 92 pathogenesis, 99 PD-associated, 96 schizophrenia, 98 Th17 cells, 85 Th1-mediated, 89 Neuroinflammatory disorders, 99 Neurological autoimmune diseases, 128 Neurological autoimmune disorders, 124 Neurological autoimmunity, 64 Neurological diseases immune system, 388, 390 Neurological disorders, 120, 320 Neuromuscular disorders (NMD), 442 Neuromuscular junction (NMJ), 120, 446-448 animal and plant toxins, 766 autoimmune disorders, 772 immune-mediated disorders, 766 presynaptic nerve terminal, 775 Neuromyelitis optica (NMO), 121, 144, 335, 364.365 animal models, 178 AOP4, 177 clinical manifestations autoimmune diseases, 527 CNS. 527 optic neuritis and transverse myelitis, 526 and pregnancy, 527 CNS, 176 diagnosis AQP4-IgG, 534 cerebrospinal fluid, 533 clinical characteristics, 533 MOG-IgG, 534 MRI features, 534 vs. MS, 533 epidemiology, 526 features, 176 history, 524

NMO. 177 NMO-IgG, 524 NMOSD, 178 pathogenesis, 178 AOP4, 528, 529 AQP4-IgG production, 530 BBB, 531 CNS inflammation, 530 complement, 529 MOG-IgG, 531 seronegative, 532 peripheral blood, 178 seronegative, 526 treatment acute attacks, 534 challenges, 535, 536 interferon beta and natalizumab, 535 maintenance, 535 Treg cells, 177 Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD), 7-9, 16, 18, 25, 26, 42, 44, 202, 335, 337, 394, 687 Neuromyotonia, 447, 448, 468, 766, 769-772, 775, 777, 781 Neuronal autoimmune diseases, 114 Neuropathic pain syndrome, 124 Neuropathology, 429, 506 Neuropsychiatric diseases ASD autoantibodies, 41, 42 neuroimmune mechanisms, 41 peripheral autoimmunity, 42 Neuropsychiatric SLE (NPSLE), 665 Neurosarcoidosis, 550 Neurosteroids, 333 Neurotransmitter receptors, 315 Neurotransmitters, 123 Neurotropic parasites, 216 Neurotropic viral infections, 341 Neurovascular unit (NVU) astrocytes, 200 BMECs. 200 PAR3-PAR6-APKC, 201 *Pdgfb* and *Pdgfr* β , 200 signaling pathways, 201 Neutrophil hyperfunction, 366 Next-generation sequencing (NGS), 359 Nipah and Hendra viruses (NiV and HeV), 209 NMDA-R encephalitis, 458, 459 N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor (NMDAR), 115 N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), 123, 180, 575, 576 antagonists, 181

anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 181 CSF, 181 potassium channels, 181 symptoms, 180 NMO spectrum disorders (NMOSD), 705 NOD-like receptor 3 (NLRP3), 14, 39, 40 Nogo receptor (NgR), 71 Nongenomic effects, 404 Non-suppressive CD4+ T cells, 169 Normal peripheral nerve function, 240 Nucleotide oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), 210

0

Ocrelizumab, 398, 505, 506, 512, 779 Ofatumumab, 505, 779 Oligoclonal IgG bands (OCBs), 496, 505-507 Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs), 346 Oligodendrocyte-myelin glycoprotein (OMgp), 71 Oligodendrocytes, 11, 29-31, 38, 43, 343, 346 Oligodendroglia progenitor cells (OPCs), 498 Onconeural antibodies, 395 anti-amphiphysin/anti-CV2/CRMP5, 452 anti-Hu and anti-Ma2, 456 autoimmune LE, 456 classical PNS, 464 description, 460 nonclassical PNS, 463 sensory neuronopathy and peripheral neuropathy, 450, 451 Oophorectomy, 612 Ophelia syndrome, 580 Ophthalmoplegia, 627 Opsoclonus, 627 Opsoclonus-myoclonus ataxia syndrome (OMAS), 613 Opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome (OMS), 454 Optic neuritis, 144 Orexins, 182 Orthogonal arrays of particles (OAPs), 528 Osteopontin (OPN), 211 Overlapping syndromes, 627, 628

Р

Papillitis, 491 Paraneoplastic, 567, 580, 581, 583, 589–591 Paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration (PCD), 112, 441, 454, 455, 463 Paraneoplastic diseases autoantibodies intracellular antigens, 37 neurotransmitter receptors/ion channels, 37 pathological role, 33-36 breakdown of immune tolerance, 32, 37 neoplasm and neuroinflammation and autoimmunity, 32 Paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis (PEM), 441, 450, 454, 455 Paraneoplastic myelopathy, 452 Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes (PNS), 112, 113 antibodies, 440 anti-D2 R antibodies, 467 anti-Hu antibody, 468 autoimmune encephalitis, 471 autoimmune limbic encephalitis, 456 brain effects, cell surface antigens, 462 brainstem encephalitis, 455 breast and lymphomas, 611 cell surface antigens, 461, 462 cell surface neuronal antigens, 445 cerebellar ataxia, 611 cervical and thoracic spinal MRI, 465 clinical approach, 441 clinical syndrome, 442, 443 diagnosis antibody testing, 469 clinical syndrome, 463 CSF abnormalities, 467 definite PNS, 463 FDG-PET. 466 imaging, 464, 466 possible PNS, 464 tumor screening, 470 drugs, immunotherapy, 471 dysautonomia, 448 encephalomyelitis, 453 epidemiology, 441 fulminant AMPA-R encephalitis, 466 genetics, 463 intracellular antigens, 460, 461 intracellular neural antigens, 444 intracellular onconeuronal antigens, 461 laboratory data, 611 limbic encephalitis, 455, 457, 458, 465 monoclonal gammopathies, 449 motor neuron disease, 451 movement disorders, 459 myopathies, 443, 446 nervous system, 440 neurological disorders, 611

neuromuscular disorders, 442 neuromuscular junction disorders, 446-448 NMDA-R encephalitis, 458, 459 NMDAR-R encephalitis, 459 onconeural antibodies, 450, 451, 473 opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome, 454 paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration, 454, 455 paraneoplastic demyelinating neuropathies, 449 paraneoplastic myelopathy, 452 pathogenesis, 460, 473, 611 patients with cancer, 440 presentations, 611 SPS, 452, 453 treatment, 612 treatment and prognosis, 470, 472 vasculitic neuropathies, 449 Whole-body PET scan, 612 Paraneoplastic SPS, 627 Paranode, 745, 752 Paraparesis, 490, 492 Parkinson's disease (PD), 14, 38-40, 372 CSF and brains, 95 histopathological hallmark, 95 neurodegenerative and motor system disorder, 95 neuroprotective and neurotoxic effects, 96 pro-inflammatory cytokines, 96 Th17 cells, 96, 97 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 210, 334 Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), 210.334 Perineurial cells, 238 Perineurium, 237 Peripheral nerve autoimmune disorders, 239 Peripheral nerve hyperexcitability (PNH), 447 Peripheral nerve vasculitis, 294 Peripheral nervous system (PNS), 371, 688 Peripheral neuropathy, 127, 450, 451 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-y $(PPAR\gamma), 40$ Phagocytosis, 311, 318 Phospholipase C (PLC), 216 Plasma exchange (PE), 406, 408, 471, 548, 712, 724, 725 Plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), 24 Plasmapheresis, 129 Plasmodium falciparum, 213, 340 Platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR), 205, 207, 208 Platelet-derived growth factor BB (PDGF-BB), 200

Index

Platelet-derived growth factor receptor ß (PDGFR_β), 200 Polyarteritis nodosa (PAN), 433, 664 Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR), 206, 208 Polymyositis (PM), 788, 790, 791, 793-795, 797, 801, 803, 804 Polyneuropathy, organomegaly, endocrinopathy, M-protein and skin changes (POEMS) syndrome, 449,754 Positron emission tomography (PET), 320 Postcapillary venules, 504 Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES), 658 Postinfectious autoimmune process, 426 immune system, 425, 426 Postinfectious cerebellitis (PIC), 426, 430 Pregabalin, 513, 638 Primary angiitis of the CNS (PACNS) autoimmunity, 654 CSF, 658 diagnosis, 657 feature, 657 pattern, 657 vessel beading, 657 Primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia (PACA) definition, 608 diagnosis, 610 epidemiological data, 609 immune-mediated ataxias, 609 immunotherapy, 610 pathogenesis, 609 Primary central nervous vasculitis (PCNV), 653 Primary progressive MS (PP-MS), 8, 16, 43 Primary Sjogren's syndrome (PSS), 616 APCs, 703 BBB, 704 central nervous involvement, 702, 704 clinical and laboratory features, 701 clinical assessment, 702 clinical features, 700 CNS and PNS, 706 concept, 703 dendritic and epithelial cells, 703 epidemiological findings, 700 inflammatory nervous disorders, 701 intestinal malabsorption, 700 nervous system involvement, 703 neurological involvement, 705 neuropathy, 702 NMO, 702

peripheral nervous involvement, 705 PNS and CNS, 701 secondary symptoms, 701 skin ulcerations, 701 treatments, 707 Progenitor cells, 388 Progressive encephalomyelitis with rigidity and myoclonus (PERM), 453, 622, 626, 631, 633, 638, 640 Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), 11, 28, 44 Progressive relapsing MS (PR-MS), 8, 43 Proinflammatory cytokines, 668 Prostaglandin D2 (PGD2), 211 Protein interaction networks (PIN), 373 Protein kinase B (PKB/Akt), 209 Protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22 (PTPN22), 369 Proteoglycans (PG), 198 Psychiatric symptoms, 395 Purkinje cell cytoplasmic antibody 2 (PCA-2), 12 Pyridostigmine, 777, 778, 780, 781

Q

Quadriparesis, 490 Quantitative flow cytometry, 534

R

Rabies virus (RABV), 210, 211 Radiological pattern, 660 Radiologically isolated symptoms (RIS), 494 Ramon y Cajal's staining techniques, 306 Ran-binding protein 2 (RANBP), 549 Ras homolog gene family, member A (RhoA), 198, 199, 203, 206, 209, 210 Rasch-build Overall Disability Scale (R-ODS), 755 Rasmussen's encephalitis (RE), 122, 341, 343, 344 Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate (Rac1), 198, 199 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 208 Receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE), 344 Recovery and remission multiple sclerosis (RRMS), 202, 203 Red blood cells (RBCs), 213 Regulatory T (Treg) cells allergy and asthma, 172 APCs, 169 CD4+ T cells, 171

Regulatory T (Treg) cells (cont.) CNS, 173, 174 CTLA4, 170 DCs. 170 EAE, 174, 175 FoxP3. 169 granzyme, 173 IL-10, 172 IL-35, 172 IL-6.171 immune responses, 169 LAG3. 171 maturation, 169 mechanism, 171, 172 MS. 174 role, 175 TGF-β, 172 Relapsing-remitting MS (RR-MS), 8, 16, 23, 44, 489, 492, 498, 499, 501, 503, 507, 509-512 Repulsive guidance molecule (RGM), 72 Resident macrophages activation, 310 AMPA and NMDA receptors, 315 CNS, 305 infiltrating macrophages, 308 interstitial cells, 306 macrophages, 308 mesodermal origin, 306, 307 monocyte-derived macrophages, 307 morphological modification, 310 morphology, 309 pathological conditions, 310 peripheral macrophages, 307 phenotype, 310 physiological role angiogenic effect, 312 apoptotic neurons, 312 CX3CR1, 313 IL-16. 313 mouse dorsolateral striatum, 313 neuronal activity, 315 neuronal networks, 312 phagocytosis, 311 synapses, 312 synaptic transmission, 313 physiopathological roles acquisition, 316 BBB, 316 cytokines, 317 homeostasis, 316 immune defence, 315 iPSCs, 321 neurodegeneration, 317

pathological context, 316 phenotypes, 316 TNF- α and IL-1 β , 317 **TREM2, 318 TSPO**, 320 protocols, 308 staining techniques, 306 TNF-α, 313 Response to Immunotherapy in Epilepsy and Encephalopathy [RITE2] score, 573 Restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs), 358 Retinoic acid-inducible gene-like receptors (RLRs), 210, 341 Retinoic acid-related orphan receptor (RORC), 84.92 Retrobulbar neuritis, 491 Retrospective cohort study, 661 Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome (RCVS), 658 Rhabdomyolysis, 639 Rheumatoid arthritis (RA), 10, 14, 42, 44, 672 Rheumatoid vasculitis, 672 Rho-associated coiled-coil-containing protein kinase (ROCK), 72 Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitor (RhoGDI), 71 Rituximab, 398, 505, 552 Romberg's sign, 491

S

Sarcoidosis, 672 Satralizumab, 410 Schilder's diffuse myelinoclastic sclerosis, 8 Schilder's disease (SD) cerebral hemispheres, 557 diagnosis, 558 focal neurological signs and symptoms, 558 pathology, 559 treatment, 559 Schizophrenia disease dopamine abnormalities, 98 etiopathology, 97 innate and adaptive immunities, 98 neuroinflammation, 97 pathogenicity, 97 Th17 cells, 98 Schwann cells, 30, 237 Sciatic nerve, 238 Secondary progressive MS (SP-MS), 8, 16, 492, 498, 506, 509, 512 Secukinumab, 92 Seizures, 7, 9-11, 14, 27, 28

Sensory ganglionopathy, 616 Sensory nerve action potentials (SNAPs), 435, 450, 747 Sensory neuronopathy (SNN), 450, 451 Sequence-tagged sites (STSs), 359 Signal molecules, 345, 346 Simple sequence length polymorphisms (SSLPs), 358 Single- and double-stranded RNA molecules (dsRNS and ssRNA), 210 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 359 Sjogren's syndrome (SS), 450, 653, 699 Sleeping sickness, 215 Small cell lung cancer (SCLC), 12, 440, 441, 446-449, 451-457, 459, 460, 470, 580 Small myelin protein-derived peptides (SUMPPs), 126 Small-vessel disease, 670 Soluble CD40L (sCD40L), 209 Somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs), 496 Spasmodic storm, 639 Spasticity, 512 Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), 203 Spinal cord injury (SCI), 115, 116 Sporadic inclusion body myositis (sIBM), 788, 790, 791, 794 Steroid-responsive encephalopathy with autoimmune thyroiditis (SREAT), 582 Steroids, 661 Stiff-man syndrome (SMS), 370, 371, 621 Stiff-person syndrome (SPS), 26, 119, 452 anesthesia and pregnant patients, 639, 640 antibodies, 632 autoimmune response, 630, 631 classical. 623-625 classification, 622, 623 diagnosis workup, 634, 635 diagnostic criteria, 633 differential diagnosis, 635, 636 epidemiology, 622 experimental models, 629 focal/segmental, 625 GABAergic dysfunction, 629, 630 GAD. 628 GAD-Abs, 622, 640 immunotherapy, 636-638 jerking, 625 oligoclonal GAD antibodies, 631 overlapping syndromes, 627, 628 paraneoplastic, 627 pathology, 633 pathophysiology, 628

PERM. 626 prognosis, 640 symptomatic therapy, 638, 639 thoracic and lumbar muscles, 624 treatment, 636, 637 tumor removal, 639 Streptococcus pneumoniae adhesion protein, 206 anaerobic bacteria. 206 macrophages, 206 neutrophils and lymphocytes, 206 Stress-induced phosphoprotein 1 (STIP1), 118 Subarachnoid space (SAS), 199 Synaptic plasticity, 315 Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), 10, 14, 38, 42, 44, 117, 617 Systemic vasculitis GCA, 664 PAN. 664 TA, 663

Т

Tachyarrhythmias, 713 Tacrolimus, 803 Takayasu arteritis (TA), 663 T cell receptor (TCR), 360 Teriflunomide, 409, 512 Th17 cells Alzheimer disease (see Alzheimer disease (AD)) encephalitogenicity, 92 GM-CSF, 92 IL-17 and IFN-y, 84 inflamed CNS, 88 MHC and co-stimulatory molecules, 90 MS patients, 92 multiple sclerosis, 86, 87 Parkinson disease (see Parkinson disease (PD)) pathophysiology, 99 plasticity, 88, 89 polarization, 91 pro-inflammatory cytokines, 99 pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-23, 85 Schizophrenia disease (see Schizophrenia disease) targeted-therapy, 99 Th1 and Th2, 84 Th17/Treg interplay, 99 transcription factor. 84 Theiler's murine encephalitis virus (TMEV), 11, 205, 211, 212

T helper cells (Th), 390 Thiopurine S-methyltransferase (TPMT), 401 Thymectomy, 779 Thymoma, 12, 32 Thymoma MG, 770, 772, 773 Thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibodies, 582 Tiagabine, 638 Tight junctions (TJs) A. castellanii, 215 alterations, 201, 204 astrocytes, 200 BMECs, 200, 210 CXCL12, 203 cytoskeleton and localization, 212 disruption, 201, 203, 207 IFN-y, 212 integrity, 201, 216 MAV-1, 208 MerTK, 211 MMPs, 209 neurotropic parasites, 216 proteins, 209 ROS. 208 stabilization. 203 Tildrakizumab, 93 Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), 334 Tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs), 209 Tissue necrosis factor α (TNF α), 690 Tizanidine, 512 TNFAIP3-interacting protein 1 (TNIP1) gene, 369 Tocilizumab, 409, 590 Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 13, 14, 29, 210, 341 Topiramate, 513 Toxoplasma gondii, 214, 216, 340 Toxoplasmosis leukocyte-endothelium interaction, 214 T. gondii, 214 Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), 629 Transcriptional intermediary factor 1 gamma (TIF1gamma), 443 Transcriptome analysis, 335 Transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER), 202, 242 Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), 151, 719 Traumatic brain injury (TBI), 115 Treg cell function, 169 Treg cell-mediated immunosuppression, 169 Treg cells, 183

Treg dysfunction, 178 Treg-mediated immunosuppression, 170 T regulatory (tTreg) cells, 151, 152 Tremors, 7 Trigger protease-activated receptors (PARs), 215 Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2), 14, 39 Trypanosoma brucei, 206, 215 Trypanosomiasis HAT, 215 infiltrating lymphocytes, 215 PARs. 215 T. brucei, 215 Tumefactive demyelination (TD), 544 diagnosis, 550 neoplasm, 550 pathology, 551, 552 treatment, 552 Tumor necrosis factor receptor super family 1A (TNFRSF1A), 364 Tumor necrosis factors (TNF), 202, 206 Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), 211, 361, 724, 744 Type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM1), 625-627, 630, 631, 633, 637 Type I IFN receptor (IFNAR), 210-212

U

Uhthoff's sign, 491 Uridine monophosphate (UMP), 409 Ustekinumab, 93

V

Varicella-zoster virus (VZV), 10-12, 31 Varicella-zoster virus (VZV)-associated vasculitis, 673 Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), 504 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 200-202, 212, 213, 754 Vascular inflammatory diseases **BBB** inflammation, 38 CNS vasculitis, 37 SLE patients, 38 Vasculitic neuropathies, 449 Vasculitis, 433, 434 Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV), 205, 208, 209, 212 Very late activating antigen-4 (VLA-4), 408 Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), 211

Index

Vigabatrin, 638 Visual evoked potentials (VEPs), 496 Voltage-gated potassium channels (VGKCs), 441, 576

W

Waldenström macroglobulinemia, 449 Water channels proteins, 335 Welcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (WTCCC2), 363 West Nile virus (WNV), 10, 13, 28, 29, 205, 208–210 Whole-body PET scan, 612

Y

Y-box-binding protein, 118

Z

Zika virus (ZIKV), 11, 29, 715